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atgiolattIn %Wealthy. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 1. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

THURSDAY, 31 JANUARY, 1861. 
No. I. 

WAYS AND MEANS. 
(Resolution proposed on Financial Statement.) 

Question proposed,—That the following Resolution be agreed to, viz.:— 
(1.) Resolved, That it is the opinion of this Committee that, in lieu of the 
duties now payable under the Act 19 Vic., No. 14, on the several descriptions 
of imported spirits, there shall be levied duties on spirits or strong waters of 
any strength not exceeding the strength of proof by Syke's Hydrometer, and 
so in proportion for any greater or less strength than the strength of proof, at 
the following rates for every gallon that is to say :—Brandy, Gin, Whisky, 
Rum, and all other spirits—Ten Shillings. 
On spirits, cordials, liqueurs or strong waters sweetened or mixed with any 
article so that the strength ;hereof cannot be ascertained by Syke's Hydro-
meter, for every gallon—Ten Shillings. 
On perfumed spirits, for every gallon—Ten Shillings. 
On wine containing more than 25 per cent. of Alcohol, of a specific gravity of 
-825 at the temperature of 60 degrees of Fahrenheit's Thermometer, for every 
gallon in proportion to strength—Ten Shillings. 
That the duties on spirits, made or distilled in the Colony from imported 
sugar, shall be for every gallon—Nine Shillings and five-pence. 
That the duties on spirits, when made or distilled from grain or other 
material not subject to duty, shall be for every gallon—Ten Shillings. 
That in lieu of the duties of Customs now chargeable on Tea imported into 
this Colony the following duties shall be charged, that is to say,—upon 
every pound of Tea, from and after the 31 March, 1861, to 30 September, 
1861, inclusive,—Two-pence. 
From and after 30 September, 1861, to 31 December, 1861, inelusive,—One 
penny. 
After which date the duties on Tea shall cease and determine. (Mr. Weekes.) 

Motion made, and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee 
57— 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 16. 

Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Rusden, • 
Mr. Harwell, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Scott, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Wimleyer, 1. Tellers.  
Mr. Lucas, 

Noes, 37. 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. nett, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junior, 

Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Ryan, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Ray, 
Mr O'Brien, 
Mr. Love, 1 Tellers. 

Original Question put. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 30. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Most on, 
Mr. Weekos, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. O'Brien, Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. PolsIcy, 

Love, 	Mr. Laycook, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Driver, 
Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Wilson, 	t Tellers. junior, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Leary, 
Resolution reporied,—to sit again. 

Noes, 23. 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Scott, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Emden, 	Mr. Maoleay, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mi. Parkes, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Ctunmings, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Hanne11, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Daniol, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Lucas, 

 

). Tellers. 

Sydney : Thomas Richards, Government Printer.-1861. 

[Price, id.] 
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ILtgilatiUt actorniblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES 

No. 2. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FR OH THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

WEDNESDAY, 6 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

No. 1. 
DUTIES OF CUSTOMS BILL ot• 1861. 

SCHEDULE. 
s. 	U. 

"Brandy," "Gin," Whiskey, Rum, and all other Spirits—for every gallon 
thereof 	... 	... 	... 	... 	... 	... 	... 	... 	10 	0 

Spirits, Cordials, Liqueurs, or Strong Waters, sweetened or mixed with 
any article so that the strength thereof cannot be ascertained by 

	

Sykes' Hydrometer—for every gallon thereof 	... 	... 	
••• 	0 0  Perfumed Spirits—for every gallon thereof 	... 	... 	... 	11 0 

.. 	

0 
Wine containins.

b 
 more than 25 per cent. of Alcohol, of a specific gravity 

of .825 at the temperature of 60 degrees of Fahrenheit's Thermo- 
meter—for every gallon in proportion to strength ... ... ... 10 0 

Wine not containing more than 25 per cent. of Alcohol of a specific 
gravity of .825 at the temperature of 60 degrees of Fahrenheit's 
Thermometer—for every gallon thereof ... ... ... 9 0 

Ale, Porter, and Beer of all sorts in wood—for every gallon thereof 	0 1 
Ale, Porter, and Beer of all sorts in bottle—for every gallon thereof 	0 2 
Tea—for every pound thereof— 

Until the " 31st " day of March next 	... 	... ••• 	•0 	3 
Thereafter, and until the 30th day of September next .•. 	0  •. 	0 2 . 

	

Thereafter, and until the 31st day of December next 	 1 

	

Sugar—Refined and Candy—" for every hundredweight" 	 ••• 	6 8 
Unrefined—for every hundredweight •••• 	53  04  

Treacle and Molasses—for every hundredweight... 
Coffee and Chicory—for every pound 	... .••0 2 
Cigars—for every pound ... 	... 	... 	

••• 	
3 0 

Tobacco and Snuff—for every pound 	... ••• 	2 0 
(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Schedule as read stand the Schedule to the Bill. 
(Mr 1Yeekes.) 

66— 	 Amendme at 
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Amendment proposed,—That the word "and" be inserted in line 1 thereof, 
between the word " Brandy " and the word "Gin." (Mr Parka.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Windcyer, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Hatton, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr, Emden, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Maeleav, 
Mr. Hanna 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Raper, 

Ayes, 19. 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Walker, I Tellers. 

Noes, 30. 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Haworth, 

• Mr. Love, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Atkinson. 

Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Buehtman, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. '1'. Garrett, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Tellers. 

No. 2. 
Original Question stated. 
Amendment proposed,—That the date " 31st," in line 15 thereof, be omitted, with 

a view to the insertion in its stead of the date "30th." (Mr Parka.) 
Question put,—That the date proposed to be omitted stand part of the Schedule. 
Committee divided. 

Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr- O'Brien, 
Mr. Monice, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Cald 
Mr. Morton, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Layeock, 

Ayes, 34. 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Eckford, 
Mr, C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Cray, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Mott, 

Mr.lBiertarkinljilann% , Tellers  

Noes, 17. 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Kgau, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Parkes. 
Mr. Hannan, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dal gleis 1, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Cummings. 
31r. Shepherd, 
Mr. Lackey. 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Lucas, Tellers. 

No. 3. 
Original Question stated. 
Amendment proposed,—That the words "for every hundredweight," in line 18 

thereof, be omitted, with a view to the insertion in their stead of the words 
and figures,— 
" Until 1st day of March ... 	 6 8 

30th „ September 	 4 6 
31st 	„ December 	 2 3" 

(Mr. .Lucas.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Schedule. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 33. 	 Noes, 15. 
Mr. Wilson, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
My Stewart, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Driver, 

Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. }lett, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Retbnim, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Belford, 
Mr. C. Cowper ,  

junr., 
Mr. Robertson, 1 Tellers. 
Mr. Arnold, 

Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Wi»deyer, 

. 
Rusden, Tellers, Mr Watt, 

(e 

C' 

No. 
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Original Question put. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 35. 	 Noes, 10. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Weckes, 	• Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. Rodman, . Mr. Flett, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr, Allen, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. J. Garrett, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Buchanan. 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	junr., 	Tellers. 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Bill reported without amendment. 

Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Cummings, 

 Lucas, 	' Tellers. 

 

TIIURSDA 1', 7 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

No. 5. 

CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL OF 1861. 

Clause VI. Crown Lands held under lease or promise of "lease" issued or made 
previously to the twenty-second day of February one thousand eight hundred 
and "fifty-eight" shall during the currency of such lease be exempt from sale 
under this Act except where such lands have been or may hereafter be lawfully 
withdrawn from the holding of the lessee in accordance with the Orders in 
Council Provided that the lessee may be permitted to exercise a pre-emptive 
right of purchase over one portion and no more of an area not exceeding six 
hundred and forty acres out of each block of twenty-five square miles and at a 
value to be determined by appraisement not being less than one pound per 
acre Provided that such appraisenient shall not include any value for 
improvements. (Read.) 

• Question proposed,—That the Clause as read stand part of the Bill. 	Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "lease," down to the 

words "fifty-eight," inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Ration.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 

Committee divided. 

Ayes, 36. 	 Noes, 21. 

 

Weekes, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Hanna 
Mr, Parkes, 
Mr. Mott, 
Mr. Mortice, 
Mr, Leary, 
Mr. Dickson, 

Mr. Hoskins. 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Dalgleisli, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Peisky, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lek lord, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Dick, Tellers. Mr. Driver, 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Egan, Mr. Walker, 
Ir. Watt, 

Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lord, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Mackay, 

Tellers. 

  

No. 6. 

    

Motion made, and Question put,—That the Chairman do DOW leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mr. Dickson.) 

Debatd ensued. 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnight.— 

FRIDAY, 
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FRIDAY, 8 FEBRUARY, 1861, A.M. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes 39. 

Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Peisky, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Ranch, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. nett, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. flannel!, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Mate, 

	I 
Mr. Dickson, 	Tellers. 

Mr. Rusdcn, 
Progress reported,—to sit again. 

• So in Teller. ' List. 

FRIDAY, 8 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
No. 7. 

COMPENSATION TO THE FAMILY OF THE LATE MRS. DE COUROY. 
Question proposed,—That the Committee agree to the following Resolution :— 
Resolved,—That an Address be presented to the Administrator of the Governments 

praying that His Excellency will cause to be placed upon the Supplementary 
Estimates for 1861, a sum not exceeding "£104," in addition to the sum 
already placed upon the Estimates-in-Chief, as compensation to the family 
of the late Mrs. De Courey, to be continued for five years. (Mr. Hart.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the figures " 104 " be omitted, with a view of insert-
ing in their stead the figures " 62." (Hr. Parkes.) 

Question put,—That the figures proposed to be omitted stand part of the Resolution. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 7. 	 Noes, 40. 
Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Robertson, Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Raper, 	 Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Mackay. 
Mr. Dick, 	 Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Lord, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	 Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Murriee, 
Mr.Markham,

liClierS' 	
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Happen, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. .1. T. Ryan, Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Elea, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. 3leston, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. lloskins, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Watt, Tellers. 

Question put,—That the figures proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 39. 	 Noes, 9. 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Rape], 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Dick, 
Mr, Markham, Mr. Hitt, 
Mr. Lord, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. flannel], 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr..Flett, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr' Lucas ' 	1 Tellers, Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Morris. 
Mr. Driver, 
Resolution, as amended, reported. 

Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Mesta'', 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr a . Rotton. Tellers. Mr. W 

[Ptice,ld3 . 
	Sydney: ThC11139 Itlellaro, Government l'anter.-18CL 

Noes 10. 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Watt, 	Tellers. 

No. 8. 
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itegiolatibe Remaly. 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 3. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

TUESDAY, 12 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
No. 1. 

CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL OP 1861. 
Clause O. Crown Lands held under lease or promise of lease issued or made pre-

viously to the twenty-second day of February one thousand eight hundred and 
fifty-eight shall during the currency of such lease be exempt from sale under 
this Act except where such lands have been " or may hereafter be" lawfully 
withdrawn from the holding of the lessee in accordance with the Orders in 
" Council" Provided that the lexiee may be permitted to exercise a pre-emp-
tive right of purchase over one portion and no more of an area not, exceeding 
six hundred and forty acres "out of each block of twenty-five square miles 
and" at a " value to be determined by appraisement not being less than" one 
pound per " acre" Provided that such appraisement shall not include any 
value for " improvements." (Read.) 

(And the obtuse having beec amended by omitting the words "or may hereafter be," 
and the insertion after the word " Conned" of the words " or may hereafter 
be lawfully withdrawn from such hobling")— 

Motion made,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Robert-
son.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the words "out of each block of twenty-five square 
miles and" be omitted. (Mr. lirindeyer.) 

Debate ensued. 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnight,— 

WEDNESDA Y, 13 FEBRUARY, 1861, A.M. 
Question put,—That the words proposed 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 30. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Flctt, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. WeAkes, 	junr., 
Mr. 'Morrie°, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Day, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr, Daniel, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Meston, 	N r. Allen, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Ensden, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Dick, ). Tellers. Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Layeoek, 

to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 

Noes 15. 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Driver, 	M r. Cunneon, 
Mr. Dalgloish, 	Mr. Rutin:Hand, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Hoskins, 	Tellera. Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Stewart, 

No. 2. 
Amendment negatived. 

83—A 
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No. 2. 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (31;.. 

Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the following proviso be inserted after the words 

" miles and"—" Provided also that not more than one such portion shall be 
sold to any lessee holding two or more such blocks contiguous to each other." 
(Mr. Windeyer.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 15. 	 Noes, 28. 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Stewart, 	 ; Mr. Robertson, Mr. T. Ganttt, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Sutherland, 	i Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Cunneen, 	 I Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Hoskins, 	 Mt Watt, 	Mr. Mott, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Kr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Parkes, 	} llers 	Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Atkinson, Tellers . , Mr. Love, 	Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	 Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Irving, 

Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Allen, ' 
Mr. Stator, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Rusdeu, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Cummings, Mr. Morris, 

Amendment negatived. 
No. 3. 

• Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Amendment propo.sed,—That the words "a value to be determined by appraise-
ment not being less than" be omitted. (Mr. Dickson.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 20. 	 Noes, 17. 

No. 4. 

Mr. Brookes, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Mott, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. T. Ganttt, Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Paisley, 	Mr, Morris, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Windeyer, i  Tellers. : Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Lucas, 
.Amendment  negatived. 

Mr. Rotten, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Gray, Mr. 'linden, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Mcston, 

}; Tellers. 

No, 5. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand Ilan of the Bill. (Mr. 
. Robertson.) 

And the Clause having been further amended by inserting after the word " acre," 
the words " Provided nevertheless that any land .purchased under the Orders 
" in Council previously to the passing of this Act shall be estimated in the 
"six hundred and forty acres aforesaid and"— 

Amendment proposed,—That there be inserted after the words "aforesaid and," in 
the last amendment, the words " Provided that such purchase shall contain 
" improvements the property of such lessee to the value at least of twenty 
" shillings per acre." (Mr. Lucas.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 17. 	 Noes, 22. 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Driver, 	 , Mr. Robertson, Mr. Atonic°, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Sutherland, 	; Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Allen, 	 1 Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Raper, 	 I Mr. Watt, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Lucas, 	} Tellers. I; Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 	 Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Gray,  
Mr. Cunneen, I

I 
Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Piddington, 

Mr. Parkes, 	 Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Daltgleish, 	 I Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Atkinson, Mr. 

R
E

rsd
n

e
,
n, } Tellers. Mr. Hoskins, 	 Mr. Daniel, 	Mr.   

Amendment negatived. 

Question .proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill, (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,--That there be added after the word "improvements," the 
words "And provided that every application for the purchase of lad under 
"these conditions shall be advertised in the Government G. azetic for the 
" period of one calendar month before the sale is completed." (Mr. •oskins.) 

..Question 
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Question put,—That the words proposed to be added be so added. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 22. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lewis,. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. reiSiey, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. I loskins, 	I Tell rs 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Driver, 	) 	° 

Noes, 16 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Hamlett, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Monies, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Irving, 

Mr. Pidclington, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Hay, Tellers. 

No. 6 

Mr. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the 
Bill. (Mr. Rub(rtson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, '25. 

Mr. Weckes, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. 'I'. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. l'arkes, 
Mr. Roper, 	Mr Gray, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. husden, 
Mr. Male, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. nett, 
Clause, as amended, carried. 

No.?. 
NEW SOUTH WALES CENSUS BILL FOR 1861. 

Clause 6. Schedules shall be prepared under the direction of the Colonial Secretary 
for the purpose of being filled up by or on behalf of the several Occupiers 
of Dwellings as hereinafter provided with particulars of the Name Sex 
Age "Religion " Education Rank Profession or Occupation Condition 
Relation to Head of Family and Birth Place of every living Person who 
abode in every Dwelling on the night of the said seventh day of April one 
thousand eight hundred and sixty-one and also whether any were Blind or 
Deaf and Dumb Aud the Enumerators shall in the course of the week 
ending on Saturday the sixth day of April one thousand eight hundred 
and sixty-one leave or cause to be left at every Dwelling within their 
respective districts one or more of such Schedules for the Occupier or 
Occupiers thereof or of any part thereof and upon every such Schedule 
shall be plainly expres.sed that it is to be filled up by the Occupier of such 
Dwaing (or whore such Dwelling is let in different stories or apartments 
and occupied distinctly by different persons or families then by the Occupier 
of each such distinct story or apartment) and that the Enumerator or 
Collector will collect all such Schedules on the Monday then next following 
And every Occupier of any Dwelling or of any distinct story or apartment 
in any Dwelling with or for whom any such Schedule shall have been left 
as aforesaid shall fill up the said Schedule to the best of his or her know-
ledge and belief so far as relates to all persons abiding in the dwelling story 
Or apartment occupied by him or her and shall sign his or her name there-
unto and shall deliver the Schedule so filled up or cause the same to he 
delivered to the Enumerator or Collector when required so to do.—(Read.) 

Motion made,—That the Clause as read stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Cowper) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word "Religion " be omitted. (ifs. Wilson.) 
Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Buchanan, 

Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Lord, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. 3TcArthur, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Oa ien, 	Mr. Parkes, 	1 Tellers. 

Ayes, 36. 	 Noes 11. 
Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Weekes, 	 Mr. Love, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Arnold, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Watt, 	 Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Robertson, 	 Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Tarry, 	Mr. Cowper, 	 Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. 'Nadel], 	Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Smart, 	 Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Rotten, 	 Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Allen, 	 Mr. Dickson, 

Mr. Walsh, 	
Mr. Wilson • 	Ttilrv. Mr. Ryan, 	 Mr. Windeyer, 1 

	e 

Amendment carried. 

Mr. Dick, 
Allen, n, Tellers. 

Noes, 14. 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Windeyer, Tellers. Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Day, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hoskins, 

AmentIment negatived. 	
No. 8. 
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No. 8. 
CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL OF 1861. 

Clause 11. The Governor may with the like advice by a memorandum in writing 
under his hand declare that any reservation of any water frontage or land 
adjoining such frontage contained in any Crown grant shall be rescinded 
wholly or to such extent as shall be specified in such memorandum and subject 
to such conditions or restrictions as shall be therein specified and such 
reservation shall be so rescinded accordingly and the land shall by virtue and 
according to the terms of such memorandum on payment of an adequate 
money consideration to be determined by appraisement being not less than 
the minimum upset price per acre of the class of land as set forth in section 
twenty of this Act become vested in the owner of the land conveyed in such 
Crown grant Provided that nothing in this clause contained shall empower 
the Governor to interfere with any land heretofore used as a public thoroughfare 
or with any land already set apart and dedicated for any public purpose 
Provided also that for four consecutive weeks notice shall be given in the 
Gazette previous to issuing such memorandum.—(Rend.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause as read stand part of the Bill. 
(Mr. Robertson.) 

Committee divided. 

Ayes, 41. 	 Noes, 14. 

Mr. Robertson, Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Eaton, 

junr.. 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lord, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. !Boston, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Lesley-, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. (Bay, 
Mr. Peislev, 	Mr. I loskins, 
Mr. MeArihur, Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Egan, 	Teller Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Windeyer, 

  

Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Deaden, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Walsh, Tellers. Mr. Mortis, 

  

No. 9 
" Clause" 12. " Crown Lands" within the first or second class Settled Districts 

or which have been or may be legally withdrawn from lease or promise of 
lease within the Unsettled Districts and not " being" town lands or suburban 
lands and not being within a proclaimed Gold Field and not being within 
areas bounded by lines bearing north cast south and west and distant ten miles 
from the outside boundary of any city or town containing according to the 
then last Census ten thousand inhabitants or five miles to the outside boundary 
of any town containing according to the then last Census five thousand 
" inhabitants" or two miles from the outside boundary of any town or village 
containing according to the then last Census one hundred inhabitants and not 
reserved for the site of any town or village or for the supply of " water or" 
for any "other" public purpose and not containing improvements and not 
excepted from sale under "section" six of this Act shall be open for con-
ditional sale by selection in the manner following that is to say Any person 
inay upon any Land Office day tender to the Land Agent a written application 
for the conditional purchase of any such lands not less than forty acres nor 
more than three hundred and twenty acres at the price of twenty shillings per 
acre and may pay to such Land Agent a deposit of twenty-five per centum of 
the purchase money "thereof" And if no other like application and deposit 
for the same land be tendered at the same time such person shall be declared 
the conditional purchaser thereof at the price aforesaid Provided that if 
more than one such application and deposit for the same land or any part 
thereof shall be tendered at the same time to the Land Agent he shall unless 
all such applications but one be immediately withdrawn forthwith proceed to 
determine by lot in such manner as may he prescribed by regulations made 
under this Act which of the applicants shall become the purchaser.—(Read.) 

Amendment proposed,—Tbat all the words after the words " Crown Lands," down 
to the word " being," inclusive, be omitted, with the view of inserting in their 
stead the words " other than." (Mr. Robertson.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 

Committee 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 11. 

Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lord, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Rotton, 

Burden, 
Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

Noes, 44. 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Monies, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Smart, 

Mr, Markham, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Allen. 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. C. Cowper, junr., 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr; Love, I Tellers. Mr. Dick, 

Amendment carried. 
And the Clause being further amended, by the insertion of the words "other than," — 

also, by inserting after the word "inhabitants," the words "or three miles from 
" the outside boundary of any town containing according to the then last 
" census one thousand inhabitants,"—also, by inserting after the words 
" water or" the words" from sale,"—and by the omission of the word "other." 

No. 10. 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 

Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word "section" be omitted, with the view of 

inserting the word "sections." (Afr. Rattan.) 
Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 43. Noes, 6. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Wcekes, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Irving, 

Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Lewis. 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Redman. 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mn C. Cowper, 
Mr. Layeock, 	junr., 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Dalglemh, 	Mr. Egan, Tellers. Mr. Mestou, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Amendment negatived. 

No. 11. 
Motion made and Question put,---That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mit Ration.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 13, 	 Noes, 35. 

Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lord, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Egan, I Tellers. 

Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Wcekes, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Sutherland, 

Mr. Ryan, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Dalghsish, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. C. Cowper," Tellers. 

junr., 
No. 12. 
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Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Hr. Rotton.) 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnight,— 
THURSDAY, 14 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 16. 

Mr. Raton, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Leaky, 
Mr. Lord, 
Mr. Atonic°, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Walsh, 	} Tellers. Mr. Walker, 

FEBRUARY, 1861, A. M. 

No. 13. 
Motion made and Question put,—That 

report progress, and ask leave to sit 
Committee divided. 

Aye; 18, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Wilson, } T Mr. Morrice, 	 ellers. Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Reston, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Hay, 

Noes, 34. 
Mr. Robdrtson, Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Weeket, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Flett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. J. 'I'. Ryan, Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. C. Cowper, junr., 
Mr. Buchanan, Mr. Driver, Tellers. Daigteisli, Mr. Morris, 

the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
again to-morrow. (Mr. Walsh.) 

Noes, 28. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Weckes, 	mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Etat, 
Mr. O'Brien. 	Mr. Lackey. 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Buchanan, Mr. Gray, 

• Mr. Caldwell, 

• Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Douglas, 

Mr. Parkes, 
	Mr. T. Garrett, 

Mr. C. Cowper, Tellers. 

Mr. Lesley, 

junr., 
Mr. Sutherland, 

And a further Motion, that the Chairman do now leave the Chair, having been put 
and negatived, the Chairman, on motion of Ah• 1A,bertson, left the Chair to 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. 

THUR SDAY, 14 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
Same Bill :— 

No. 14. 
Motion made,—That Clause 12, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Me. Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That there be inserted after the word " thereof," the 

words " and the balance if the land has been previously surveyed within one 
" year from the date of selection otherwise on the completion of the survey 
" of such selection Provided that the survey thereof shall be made by the 
" Government within one year from the date of selection Provided neverthe-
" less that if within one year from the date of selection the selector or his 
" alienee shall have cleared and cultivated one-half of the land or made 
" improvements thereon to the value of fifteen shillings per acre to be deter-
" mined by appraisement the balance of the purchase money shall be remitted." 
(Mr. Rettin.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

• Aye; 3. 	 Noes, 27. 
*111.kir. Piddington, 

Mr. Rotton, 	1 T  
Mr. Watt 	j C 

'Amendment negatived. 

Mr. Robertson, Mr, !Aycock, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Lesley. 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mn Monice, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Leary, Mr. M'Arthur, 
Mr. Mott, 	Mr. Love, M 

	} Tellers. 
Mr. Terry, 

No. 15. 
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No. 16. 
Clause 15. If at the time of conditional purchase of any Crown Land under 

sections twelve and thirteen of this Act such land shall not have been sur-
veyed by the Government temporary boundaries thereof "may" be determined 
by the conditional purchaser who shall within "one month" occupy the land 
And any dispute between such purchaser and any other "person" claiming 
any interest therein respecting such boundaries shall be settled by "arbitra-
tion."—(Read.) 

Motion made,—That the Clause as read stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Robertson.) 
(And the Clause having been amended by substituting the word "shall" for the 

word " may'')— 
Amendment proposed,—That the words "one month" be omitted, with the view 

of inserting the words "six months." (Mr. Sutherland.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 37. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Laycoek. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. trying, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. 3feston, 
Mr. North:A:, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. 3. T. Ryan, 	Arr. Suttor, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Morris. 
Mr. Leery, 	Mr. !Institut, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lackey, 

Tellers. 

Noes, 16. 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Sutherland. 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 

No. 16. 
Motion made,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 

Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That there be inserted after the word "person," the words 

"other than a bolder in fee or his alience." (Mr. Walsh.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 29. Noes, 9. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Parkes,  Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Viteekes, 	Mr. Hay, 1Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Smart, 	 Mr. Redman, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Ur. Suttee., 	 Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Gray, 	 Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Caldwell  }. Tellers. Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Egan, 	 Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Cowper, junr., 
Mr. Rotton, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Lesley, 	AIL Leary, 

1  Mr. 	 w Mr. Dickson, 	T ll Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Walker, 	e era. 
Mr. Masten, 
Clause, after further amendment, carried. 
Progress reported—to sit again. 

Sydney: Thomas filebardrOloveramenrlirintu.-1861. 
[Price, 2d.] 
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1861. 

Regiolatibe Silooemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 4. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

WEDNESDAY, 20 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

NO. 1. 
SUPPLY.—ESTIMATES-IN-CHIEF 

Department of Public Works. 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£4,167 (being less than Estimate by £700—reduction in Salary of Under 
Secretary and Commissioner for Internal Communication), to defray the 
Salaries and Contingencies of the Department of Public Works, for the year 
1861. (Mr. Arnold.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £1,500, for Salary to Secretary 
for Public Works, be reduced by £300. (Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 8. 

Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Love. 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dalgleish,
Mr. Lucks, 1 Tellers. 

t 

Noes, 34. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Haunch, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. '1'. Garrott, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Peisloy, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Fled, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	Mr. C. Cowper, ) 
Mr. Douglas, 	junr.,j Tellers. 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Morrice, 

Question, as first proposed, put and carried. 

No. 2. • 
Department of Internal Communisation. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£3,620 (being less than Estimate by £100—reduction in Salary of the 
Accountant), to defray the Salaries and Contingencies of the General Estab-
lishment of the Railway Branch, for the year 1861. (Mr. Arnold.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £500, as reduced, for Salary for 
the Accountant, be further reduced by the sum of £100. (Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee 
99— - 



Committee divided. 
Ayes, 21. 

Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Haigh:Isla, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Lesley, - 
Mr. Luckey, 
Mr. Leary; • 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, - 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Paper, 

Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Love, 	.1 Tellers ' 
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Noes, 29 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. 
Mr. Redman, Mr. 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. 
Mr. Markham, Mr. 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. 

Laycock, 
Morrice, 
Hart, 
Walker, 
Rusden, 
Lord, 
Roam, 
Morris, 
Dickson, 
C. Cowper, 
junr., 
Cummings. 
Douglas, 

} Tellers. Wiadcyer,  

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 12. 

Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Dalgleish, I Tellers. 
Mr. Lucas, 	) 

Question, as first proposed, put and carried. 
No. 3. 
'Ekisting Lines—Establishments. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£44,725 (being less than Estimate by £200 for one Goods Clerk, and 
£13,000 for materials and general stores, firewood, oil and waste), to defray 
Salaries and Contingencies of Existing Lines—Establishments, for the year 

. 18613. (Mr. Arnold.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the item £350, Salary for Traffic Inspector, 

Southern and Western Lines, be omitted. (Mr .Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 25. 

Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Pcis 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Hanna, 
Mr. Walker. 
Mr. Cammings, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Hoskins, 

Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Witideyer, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Wilson, 

 

Mr. Arnold, 
Mt. Weekes, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Redman, 
Dlr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Mcston, 
Mr. Markham, 

Flett, 
Laycock, 

Mr. Morrie°, 

Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Ilotton, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

Mr. Watt, 
. Mate.• 

Mr. Atkinson, } Tellers. 
Mr. Lackey, 

}Tellers. 

  

Whereupon the Chairman gave his casting vote with the Ayes, and the item was 
accordingly omitted. 

Question, as amended, proposed. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the item £500, contingent bum to cover 

1 per cent, on net receipts to Managers, be omitted. (Mr. Caldwell.) 

Noes, 25. 

Noes, 23. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Grgtyl 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Hannell, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Redman, Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morrie°, Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	jolly, 	Tellers. 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Layeock, 

Question, as previously amended, put a ul carried. 

THURSDAY, 21 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

.1: No,, 5.. 
:INTEttntr. COMMUMGATION. 

, .1Y-sto Work s . 

• 

Motion made and Question put,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, for the 
service of the year .  1861, a sum not exceeding £20,000, for extension of 
Northern Railway Terminus at Morpeth. (Mr. Arnold.) 

Committee 
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. ' ;Cornmittee divided. 
Ayes, 15. 	 Noes, 35. 

Mr. Robertson, 	 ,-- Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Watt, 
• Mr. Arnold, 	 Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. HoAcins, — 

Mt. Douglas, - 	 - Mr. McArthur, ' Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Rustle% 	 'Mr. Suttor, ' Mr. Hay, .  
Mr. O'Brien, _ _ 	 Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Raper, 	--4  
Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Rotton. 	--- 
Mr. Lore, 	 ---4 Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Cummings, -- 
Mr. Caldwell, 	 — Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Lucas, • •--. • 

*Mr. Morrice, 	 •••-• Mr. Terry,. 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Parke, - 	 -- •Mr. Merrier), 	Mr. Ctumeen,t 
Mr. Allen,4 	 --.. Mr. Atkinson 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Layeoek, 	Mr. Smart, 	•—• 
Mr. Driver, 	 Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Dickson, 

- - Mr. Blake, 
} Tellers.  

' Mr., Wilson, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Irving, 	tMr. Stator, 

Mr. Lord, Mr. Allen, 	 --..... 

Mr. Maeleac, -  
..,„ ....— 	Mr. Piddington, Mr. Dalgleish, 1 Tellers. 

*So in Tellers List. 	 t So in Tellers' List. 
Motion NCgatiVed. 

No. 6. 
Public Building. 

Question proposed,--That there be granted to Her. Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£58,202 (being less than Estimate by item £750 for the erection of a 
Custom House at Albury, and item £750 for the erection of a Custom House 
at Moatna,—withdrawn), to defray the cost of Erection and Repairs of Public 
Buildings, for the year 1861. (Mr. Arnold.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £25,000, for providing Court 
Houses, Lock-ups, and Gaols, under the District Courts Act, be postponed. 
(Mr. Hart.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 6. 

Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Hart, } Tellers. 

' 	Noes, 25. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Ms. T. Garrett. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Redtnan, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Dalgleisb, 	Mr. LIMAS, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Markham, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	McHannell, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Driver 
Mr. Stator, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Daniel; 	junr.. 
Mr. Lewis, ' 	Mr. Rotton, 	. 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. HoskinS, ,• 

1 • T'Ik ) 	Cre  ' 
Amendment negatived. 

No. 7. 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnight,— 
FILTDAP; 22 FEBRUARY, 1861, A.M. 

Question again stated. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again at a later period of the day. (Mr. 
Hart.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 9. 

Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Parkes, 	1 
Mr. windeyer,  ,r Teller.S. 

Noes, 17. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Hannell, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Cowper, 	• 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Peisley, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lewis, 

) T 	Il• • .1 	C 	us ' 

Motion negatived.—And the item £6,000, for Addition to Lunatic Asylum, Turban 
Creek, having been withdrawn, Question—that £52,202 be granted—put and 
carried. 

Progress reported ; to sit again. 
No. 8. 

CHURCH AND SCHOOL LANDS BILL or 1861. 
Clause 1. All the Lands originally granted to the Church and School Corporation 

and known as the "Church and School Lands" shall be deemed to be and 
are and shall he Public Lands of the Crown to all intents and purposes in like 
manner as if the same had never been granted as aforesaid or granted or 
dedicated to any Corporation or person or to or for any public or other pur-
pose whatsoever anything in the said Charter or in any Act or other instru-
ment or document to the contrary notwithstanding.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Wilson) 	• 

Amendment 
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Amendment proposed,—That the following proviso be added at the end of the 
Clause, "Provided that nothing herein contained shall be held to affect 
existing contracts." (Mr. Bottom.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Friday next. (Mr. Dickson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 29. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Allen, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Hatton, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Elett, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Suttor, 	. 
Mr. Dickson, . 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Emden, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Love, 

) Tellers. 

Noes, 15. 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Parkes, ). Tellers. 

Progress reported ; to sit again. 
• 

Sydney: Thomas Riebarde,Goterntriant Yrinter.-2801. 

[Price, ld.) 
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SESSION OF 1861. 

WEDNESDAY, 27 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

No. I. 

SUPPLY—ESTIMATES-IN-CHIEF. 	 • 

Harbors and River Navigation—Public Works—(To 
Question proposed,—That there be granted 

.01,615, to defray the cost of Public 
and River Navigation (to be provided 
(Mr. Arnold) 

Motion made and Question put,—That 
Wolloomooloo Bay, be omitted. 	(Mr. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 7. 

Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. O'Brien. 
Mr. Dickson, 	Tellers , 

be provided for by Loan.) 
to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

Works in the Department of Harbors 
for by Loan), for the year 1861. 

the item £15,265, for new Wharf at 
Dickson.) 

Noes, 37. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Poisley, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Ms. Daniel, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 	Mr. Buchanan, 

junr., 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Irving, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Watt, 

	
Mr. Layeock, 

Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Matt, 
Mr. Tony, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. Wilson, 
MI. Stewart, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Leary. 	Mr. Piddingtou, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Hannah, 	Mr. Rotton, 	Tellen. Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Egan, 

Original Estimate put and carried. 

No. 2. 
Dry Dock Establishment. 

Question proposed,--That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£8,135, to defray salaries, works, and materials for the Fitz Roy Dock 
Establishment, for the year 1861. (Mr. Arnold.) 

Debate ensued. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Estimate be postponed. (Mr. Arnold) 

108— 	 Committee 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 18. • 

Mr. Robertson, Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Arnold, Mr. Lucas, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Love, 
Mr. O'Brien, Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	lir. Driver, Tll Mr. McArthur, Mr. Egan, 	1 e era.  
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Paisley, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Hart, 

Noes, 23. 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr..Flett, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. &Atm, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Emden, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Hanna11, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Windeyer, 

junr., 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Rotton, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Layeock, 	Mr. Daniel, 

 

 

t Tellers. 

Original Estimate put and carried. 

No. 3. 
CROWN LANDS ALTERATION BILL. 

Clause XVI. Crown Lands conditionally purchased under sections twelve and 
thirteen of this Act shall if measured previously to such purchase be taken 
in portions as measured if not exceeding three hundred and twenty acres and 
if unmeasured and having frontage to any river creek road or intended road 
shall if within the first class Settled Districts have a depth of not less than 
twenty chains and otherwise shall have a depth of not less than forty chains 
and shall have their boundaries other than the frontages dfrected to the 
cardinal points by compass and if having no frontages as aforesaid shall be 
measured in square blocks and with boundaries directed to such cardinal 
points Provided that should it seem to the Minister to be expedient the 
boundaries of portions having frontages may be made approximately at right 
angles with the frontage and otherwise modified anti the boundaries of portions 
having no frontages may be modified and necessary roadways and water 
reserves excluded from such measurement.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. • (Mt. 
Robertson.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 29. 	 Noes, 16. 

Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Piddingtbn, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Egan, 

Mr. Moston, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. HannaII, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Suttor, 
"Ur. Hay, 
Mr Markham, 
Mr. Rusden, Tellers. Mr. Morris, 

Mr. Robertson, Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Rotten, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. 'Aycock. 
Mr. Paisley, 	Mr. nett, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr, Dalgleish ' 1 Tellers. Mr. Buchanan, Mr. T. Garrett, 

No. 4. 

PITT-STREET TRAMWAY BILL OF 1861. 

Clause IV. For the purposes of this Act so much of the surface of the land over 
which the said Tramroad shall pass as is required for the construction repair 
and completion thereof together with all necessary rights of ingress and 

• 'regress for all such purposes shall by virtue of this Act and without any 
other assurance in the law vest in the said Commissioner of Railways for the 
time being.—Read. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr Arnold.) 
Afterwards proposed,—That the Clause be amended by adding at the end thereof 

the following proviso :—" Provided that nothing herein contained shall prevent 
" the Municipal Council of the City of Sydney from entering on the said 
" land and making excavations for the purpose of laying maintaining repairing 
" and making of any sewers water mains or pipes or other works under the 
" manageinent or control of the said Municipality being thereunder Provided 
" also that the said Municipality shall at their cost and charges restore such 
" surface to its state and condition before such entry Provided also that no 
" such entry shall be made unless twenty-four hours notice in writing of 
" such intended entry shall have been previously given to the said Corn-
" missioner of Railways." (Mr. Frindeyer.) 

Motion 
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Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Wednesday next. (Mr. Windeger ) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 22. 	 Noes, 25. 

Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Mate, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Windeyor, Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Cummings Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr.O'Brien, 
Mr. Hannan, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Driver, Tellers. 

Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

jum 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Flett, 

Laycock, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Floskins, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Hay, Tellers. Mr. Morris, 

Debate on proposed amendment resumed ;— 
And a Motion, That the Chairman. do now leave the Chair, having been put and 

negatived,— 
Notion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Wed rsesday next. (Mr. Dalyleish.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 24. 	 Noes, 26. 

No. 5. 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr Lewis, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Hannon, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Rustic% 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. Love, Tll Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Caldwell, I. o Cl  

Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Dick, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr Leary, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Walt, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Flett, 

Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Lackey. 
Mr. Rotton. 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Morris. 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Hoskins, Tellers. Mr. T. Garrett, 

After further Debate, progresnwortecl,—to sit again. 

No. 6. 
COMMISSIONER AT NEWCASTLE APPOINTMENT BILL. 

Clause 1. It shall be lawful for the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court to appoint 
from time to time by Commission under his hand and the Seal of the said 
Court some fit " person" residing at Newcastle or within five miles thereof to 
he a Commissioner of the said Court for the purposes of this Act which Cons-
thissioner shall at the instance of any Plaintiff have power to issue Writs of 
Summons and of Copies ad respondendunz in the said Court against ally 
Defendant about to depart out of the Colony from the said Port of Newcastle 
in cases where by law an arrest upon mesas process is now allowed in an action 
in the said Court and every such Writ of eapias shall (except where hereby 
otherwise provided) have the same force and effect as an ordinary Writ of 
Capias ad respondendurn issued out of the said Court at Sydney directed to 
the Sheriff.—(Rend.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Walsh.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 

(Mr. Hart.) 
Cummitte divided. 

Ayes, 11. 	 Noes, 23. 

No. 7. 

Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Buchanan 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Driver, ). Tellers. 

Mr. Robertson, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr: Meston, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. SMUT, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Hamel], 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. C. Cowper, j Tellers. 
Mr. Lackey, 	junr., 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Walsh.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word " person " be omitted, with the view of 

inserting the word " persons." (Hr. T. Garrett.) 
Question—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause—put 

and carried in the negative. • 
Question—That the word proposed to be inserted be so inserted—put. 

Committee 
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Committee divided.. 
Ayes, 19. 

Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Arnold, 	junr., 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Mate, 	

Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Caldwell, 

Hannah, Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Hann 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Hay, 

fl Tellers. 

Noes, 12. 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Driver, / Tellers. 

And the Clause being further amended, extending its operations to the Port of Eden 
and the Town of Albany,— 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the 
Bill. (//k. Walsh.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 16. 	 Noes, 12. 

Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr Gray, 
Mr, Markham, Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Driver, 

	Tellurs. 

And the Bill having been further amended in Clause 2, and in the Preamble, and 
the Title having been altered,— 

Notion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, and 

" sioncrs to issue Writs of Summons and Arrest at Newcastle Eden and 
amended, so as to read thus :—" A Bill to authorize the appointment of Commis-
report the Bill with amendments, and specially that the Title had been 

" Alborg." (Mr. Walsh.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 31. 	 Noes, 3. 

Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Shepherd, 	 Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Hoskins, 	 j Mr. Egan, 	1 Tellers. 
Ur. Mate, 	Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Layeoek, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Cvddwell, 	Mr. Terry, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. 11 . Garrett, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Hannon, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dick, 	Tellers. 
Mr. Leary, 

The Chairman left the Chair accordingly. 

No. 10. 
CHURCH AND SCHOOL LANDS BILL, 1861. 

Clause 1 All the Lands originally granted to the Church and School Corporation 
and known as the "Church and School Lands" shall be deemed to be and are 
and shall be Public Lands of the Crown to all intents and purposes in like 
manner as if the same had never been granted as aforesaid or granted or 
dedicated to any Corporation or person or to or for any public or other purpose 
whatsoever anything in the said Charter or in any Act or other instrument 
or document to the contrary notwithstanding. (Read.) 

And the following proviso, on motion of Mr. Holton, having been added to the 
Clause, viz. Provided that nothing herein contained shall be held to sleet 
" existing contracts." 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the 
Bill. (Mr. Wilson.) 

No S. 

No. 9. 

Mx. Robertson, Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Reopen, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Walsh, 	} 
Mr. Smart, Tellers  IMr. Lesley, 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 32. 

Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Rotton, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Mackay. 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Piddingtun, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Haunch,Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Peisley, Mr. Murray, 
Mr. J. 1'. Ryan, Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. 'Weston, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Dab° eish, 
Mr. Klett, 	Mr. Caldwell, } Tellers. 

Noes, 4. 
Mr. Terry. 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Egan, 	} Tellers. Mr. Smart, 

Bill reported with Amendments. 

Sydney : Thomas Richards, Government l'nuter.-1861. 

[Price, 2d.] 
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1861. 

fLegtolatibe clootmblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 6. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

WEDNESDA Y, 6 MARCH, 1861. 

No. 1. 
CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL OF 1861. 

Clause 17. At the expiration of three years from the date of conditional purchase 
of any such land as aforesaid or within three months thereafter the balance of 
the purchase money shall be tendered at the office of the Colonial Treasurer 
together with a declaration under the Act "twentieth" Victoria number nine 
to the effect that "permanent improvements have been made upon such land" 
to the value of at least per centum of the entire cost price thereof and 
that such land has been from the date of occupation "the bona . fide" 
" residence" either continuously of the original purchaser or of some silence 
Or successive alienees of his whole estate and interest therein and that no such 
alienation has been made by any bolder thereof until after the bond fide 
residence thereon of such holder for one whole year at the least And upon 
the Minister being satisfied by such declaration and the certificate of the 
Lands Sales Agent or other proper officer of the facts aforesaid the " Colonial 
" Treasurer shall receive and acknowledge the remaining purchase money and 
" a grant of the fee simple" but with reservation of any minerals which the 
land may contain shall be made to the then rightful owner Provided that 
should interest at the rate of per ,centum on the balance of the pur-
chase money be paid within the said three mouths to the Colonial Treasurer 
the payment of such balance may be deferred to a period within three months 
of the first day of January then next ensuing and may be so deferred from 
"year to year" by payment of such interest during the first quarter of each 
year But on default of a compliance with the requirements of this section 
the land shall revert to Her Majesty and be liable to be sold and the deposit 
shall be forfeited Provided that when any such sale shall result in payment 
to the Government of more money than would have been payable under the 
original conditions of purchase the surplus after paying the expenses of sale 
shall be paid to the party who was entitled to purchase without competition.— 
(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the -  Bill. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

And the Clause having been amended by substituting the word" ninth" for the word 
" twentieth,"— 

Amendment proposed,—That the words "permanent improvements have beea. 
made upon such land" be omitted. (Mr. Lucas.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
117—A 	 Committee 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 36. Noes, 11. 

Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Hanna 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Mashies, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr., Buchanan, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Dickson, 

Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. WaLsb, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
MI% Watt, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Emden, Tellers. 

Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mx. Wilson 
Mr. Elett, 	Mr. Raper, 

Laycock, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Dick, Tellers. 

And the Clause haying been further amended by omitting the words o. to the value 
of at least 	ye;' cesium of the entire cost price thereoj,"— 

t 	. 	- 	• 	 . 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. 

Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word "in" be inserted before the words " the 

bona fide" with a view of afterwards substituting the word " occupation" 
for the word "residence." (Mr. Rusden.) 

Question put,—;-That the word proposed to be inserted be so inserted, 
Committee 'divided. 

Ayes, 5. 	 Noes, 36. 
Mr. Driver. 	 Mr. Robertson, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Terry, 	 Mr. Weekes, ' Mx. Allen, 
Mr. Piddinot, on, 	 Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Raper. 
Mr. Hannon, L1 , 	 Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Riot, – int ,  — 	 Mr:mato, 	Capt. Moriarty, 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mrat T. Ryan, 
Mr. Lackey, 

Wilson, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mx. Walker, 
Ait. Leary, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Monica, 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the words "Colonial Treasurer shall receive 
"and acknowledge the remaining purchase money and a grant of the 
" fee simple" be omitted, with a view of inserting, after further amendment 
in a subsequent part of the Clause, the words "balance of purchase money so 
" tendered shall thereupon be remitted, and the grant of the fee simple shall 
" be made to the then rightful owner, without any other condition whatever." 
(Mr. .Parkes.) 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after Midnight,— 

TBV72.SDAY, 7 JUROR; 1861, a. 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 39. Noes, 11. 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Dick, 	 Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Weekes, 	 Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Robertson, 	 Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Walsh, 	 Mr. Gray, 

Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Markham, Ma Douglas, 

Mr. Hoskin., 	Mr. Allen, 	 Mr. Sutherland. 
Mr. Haworth, Mr. Bunnell, 	 Mr. Burden, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Leary, 	 Mr. Diokson, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Wilson,  
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Mortice, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Redman; • Mr. Suttor, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. J. T. Ryan, I Tellers. 
Mx. O'Brkn, 	Mx. Love, 

(Mr 

N . 0 . 

Mr. Arnold, • 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Driver, 	} Tellers. 

Tellers. 

Mr. Arnold, 
No. 4. 
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No. 4. 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. 

Robertson.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the words "but with reservation of any minerals 

which the laud may contain' be omitted. (Mr. Dick.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 32. 	 Noes, 19. 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Capt. Mdriarty, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Eayeock, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Love, 
Mt. T. Garrett, 

Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Flat, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Hart 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Morns, 
Mr. Sutter, 

Mr . Dalgletl.h , } Tell's' 

Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mt Hay, 
Mr.-Mate, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. flannel], 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 

r. Driver, 
Mr. Piddington, 

Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Walsh. 
Mr. Rusden, Tellers. 

And the Clause Jutting been further amended by filling up the blank by the insertion 
of the word "five, — 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand 
Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,—That there be inserted after the w 
words "during ten years from the date of selection." 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted be 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 19. 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Lesley, . 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Settor, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hay. 
Mr. Dickson, 

} 	ellers. T  

Noes , 31. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Cunneen, 

r. M 	Weokes, 	Mr. Fled, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Hannell, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Gray, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr, Markham, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. LUCAS, 

Mr. Leary. 	Mr. Buchanan, } Tellers. Mr. Redman, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Love, 

And the Clause, as amended, having beei put, and carried,— 

No. 5. 
part of the Bill. (Mr. 

ords "year to year," the 
(Mr. Walsh.) 

so inserted. 

No. 6. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again at a later hour of the day. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 33. 	 Noes, 13. 

Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lesley 
Mr. T. Garrett. 
M. Bettor, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Rennet!, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Driver, 	Tellers. Mr.Piddington, 

Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Monies, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Layeak, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Flett, 	Capt. Moriarty, I_ Tellers.  
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Caldwell, 5 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Progress reported ;—to sit again. 

THURSDAY, 
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THURSDAY, 7 MARCH, 1861. 
No. 7. 

Same Bill. 
Clause 20. Crown Lands intended to be sold without conditions for residence and 

improvement shall be put up for public auction in lots not exceeding three 
hundred and twenty acres each at such places and times as the Minister shall 
direct to be notified by advertisement in the Gazette And the upset prices 
per acre shall not be lower than for Town Lands Eight pounds—Suburban 
Lauds Two pounds—" good" Lands "having frontage" One pound-
" inferior and back Land Five shillings" Provided that the upset price may 
be respectively fixed at any higher amounts.—Read. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr./?ohertaon.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word "good" be omitted, with a view of inserting 

in its stead the word "other." (Mr. Rusden.) 
Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 24. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Flat, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Mouton, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Watt, 

Piddington, 	Mr. Lesley', Tellers. 

Noes, 26. 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Layesek, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Parkes, 	r. DicK, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Morrice, Tellers. 

Question,—That the word proposed to be inserted be so inserted—put and carried. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,--That the words "having frontage" be omitted. (Mr Lucas.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 23. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Lackey. 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Watt, 	• 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Flea, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Mouton, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Tforrice, 
Mr. Piddington, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Shepherd, • 

1  Tellers, 

Noes, 28. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Hannon, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. *him-leen, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr' Hoskins' Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Morris, I Tellers. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the words "inferior and back Land MO shillings" 

• 

be omitted. 	(.1/r. Lucas.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 21. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Lackey, 	I Tellers. Mr. Walker, 	Mr. lllorrice, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mx. Meston, 
Mr. Mate, 

to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 

Noes, 30. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr, Hannell, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Smart, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Dalgkish, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Love, 	Tellers. 

No. 8. 

No. 0. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the 
Bill. (Ab. Robertson.) 

Committee 

No. 10. 



Clause 28. This Act shall commence on the 	of 	next And 
shall be styled and may be cited as the " Crown Lands Alienation Act of 
1861 "—(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended by filling the first blank by the insertion of 
the word "_first,"— 

Motion made and Question put,—That the second blank be filled by the insertion 
of the word "January." (Mr. Robertson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 35. 	 Noes, 5. 

Mr. Robertson, Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	 Mr. Terry, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Leary, 	 Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Wilson, 	 Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Dalgloish, Mr. Laycock, 	 Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Ilannell, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Cummings, Ms. Driver, 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Flett, Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Cunneen, Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Wirt, 
Mr. Morrie% Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Dick, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Clause, as amended, carried. 

Tellers. 

Tellers. 
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Committee divided. 
' Ayes, 33, 

Mr. Weckes, 	Mr. MeAitluir, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. 2. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Love. 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Dalgleish, ' 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Manuel], 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Cummings, 

Noes, 18. 
Mr. Mestcm, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Rusdcn, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Morrie% 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. liCaIIIRD, 
Mr. Walker, Tellers, 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after Midnight,— 

No. 11. 
	 FRIDA Y, 8 MARCH, 1861, A.M. 

No. 12. 
Postponed Clause. 

1. The following terms within inverted commas shall for the purposes of this Act 
unless the context otherwise indicate bear the meanings set against them 
respectively- 

" Crown Lands "—All Lands vested in Her Majesty which have not been 
dedicated to any public purpose or which have not been granted or 
lawfully contracted to be granted to any person in "fee simple." 

"Town Lands "—Crown Lands in any City Town or Village or set apart 
as a site for the same. 

"Suburban Lands "—Crown Lands declared in the Gazette to be 
Suburban by the Governor and Executive Council. 

"Orders in Council"—The Orders in Council and Regulations or some 
or one of them from time to time issued under the Imperial Act 
ninth and tenth Victoria chapter one hundred and four. 

"Minister "—The Minister for the time being charged with the adminis-
tration of the Public Lands. 

"Land Agent"—Any person duly appointed to sell Crown Lands. 
"Laud Office Days "—Days notified in the Gazette upon which Land 

Agents shall attend at the Land Offices of their Districts respectively. 
"Appraisement"—Settlement of price value dr damage by appraisers. 
"Arbitration "—Settlement of boundaries by arbitrators. 
"Improvements "—Improvements on Crown Lands to the value to be 

determined by appraisement if disputed in Town and Suburban 
lands of not less than twice the upset price of the allotment or 
portion on which the improvements may stand and in other lands of 
not less than one pound per acre. 

"Frontage "—Frontage to any river stream or watercourse which accord 
ing to the practice of the Survey Department ought to form a 
boundary between different sections or lots of land.—(Read.) 

Amendment 
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Amendment proposed,—That after the words "fee simple," there be inserted the 
words "or which had not been vested in the Corporation of the Trustees of 
" the Clergy and School Lands which was dissolved by an .Order in Council 
" dated the 4th day of February 1833." (J.fr. Robertson.) 

Debate ensued. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Tuesday nest. (Mr. Robertson.) 

• 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 36. 

Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Hannall, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan. 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Watt, 	• 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien. 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Moriarty, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Sotto'', 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. thunmings, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Morricc, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Stewart. 	Mr. Dalgleish, 

1 
• ers  Tellers . 

Noes, 3. 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mt Terry, } Tellers. 

Progress reported; to sit again. 

Sydney • Thomas Richards, Government Printer.--11361. 

[Price, 2d.] 
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1861. 

iLegiolatiOe aosettiblp. 

NEW .SOUTH WALES. 

No. 7. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 

IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED PROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

TUESDAY, 12 MARCH, 1861. 
No. 1. 

CHINESE LMMIGRATION REGULATION BILL. 

Clause 3. If any ship shall arrive in any port of New South Wales having on 
board "a greater number of passengers officers and crew than in proportion 
of one " person to every " seven " tons of the tonnage of such ship and any 
such " passengers " shall be Chinese the Owner Charterer or Master of such 
ship shall be liable upon conviction to a penalty not "exceeding" Twenty 
Pounds for each passenger "so carried" in excess.—(Read.) . 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Lucas.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the words "a greater number of passengers officers 

and crew than in proportion of one" be omitted. (Capt. Moriarty.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 33. 	 Noes, 2. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Cunneen, 	 Mr. Redman, 

Capt. moriarty, 1' Mr. Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hannan, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Stewart, 	junr., 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Donglas, 	Mr. Layeenk, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. 'McArthur, Mr. Signor, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Hoskins, 	Tellers. Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Dick, 
And the Clause have been amended by substituting " twenty" for " aeven," —by 

inserting " officers or crew" after "passengers," and by inserting "one 
hundred pounds nor less than" after "exceeding, 

136— 	 No. 2. 
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No. 2. 

2 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (MP. 
Lucas.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the words "so carried" be omitted with a view of 
inserting in their stead the words "landed in the Colony." (Ur. Redman.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 19. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Weeket, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Terry, 	junr., 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Alien, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mrituchanan, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Cunneon, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Dick, 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again this day fortnight. (Mr. Dick.) 

Caltaittee divided. 
Ayes, 5. 

Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mt. Dick, Tellers, 

Noes, 26. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Mamma 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	junr., 
Mr. Morriee, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Love, 

} Tellers. 

Clause, as amended, put and carried. 

No. 3. 

Noes, 12 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Haunch, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Lackey, 

, Mr. Laycock, 
. Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Raper, 

Tellers. 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 

Tellers. 

No. 4. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Friday next. (Mr Lucas.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 14. 
Mr. torn. 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Wilson, 

Noes, 16 
Mr. Robertson, 

, Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Dick, 
D
A

T
Ir
r.

. 
 Cummings, } Tellers. 

Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Douglas, 

Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Egan, 
Me. Caldwell, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Hannon, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Cunneen, 

Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. T. Garrett, } Tellers. 
Mr. Driver, 

No. 5. 
Same Bat. 

'Clause 4. On arrival in any port of New South Wales of any ship having any 
"male" Chinese on board before any such "male" Chinese are permitted to 
land and before making any entry the Master shall pay to the Collector of 
Customs a rate of " Ten" Pounds for every such "male" Chinese and no 
entry shall be deemed to have been legally made or to have any legal effect 
whatsoever until such payment shall have been "made" and upon the pay-
ment of the before mentioned rate by the Master of any ship the Collector of 
Customs or other authorized Officer shall deliver to each male Chinese 
passenger a parchment Certificate which shall bear on the face of it the date 
of delivery the name of Chinese the signature of Collector of Customs and all 
other matters which the Government shall deem "necessary" and if any 
Master shall neglect to pay such rate aforesaid or shall land or permit any 
such male Chinese to land at any port in New South Wales before any such 
payment shall have been made and with the intent of evading the payment of 
any such rate such Master shall upon conviction be liable to a penalty not 
exceeding Twenty Pounds for each male Chinese so landed or permitted to 
land in addition to the amount of such rate and in every such case in addition 
to the pecuniary fine hereby imposed upon the Master the ship shall be 
forfeited and may be seized condemned and, disposed of in the same manner as 
ships forfeited for a breach of any law relating to the Customs of the Colony. 
—(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended by omitting (twice) the word " male" in the 
second line of die clause,— 

Question 
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Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Lucas.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the word " Ten" be-omitted with a view of inserting 
in its stead the word "Twenty" (Mr. Terry.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Commitee divided. 

Ayes, 16. 	 Noes, 9. 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Hannon, 	 Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Love, 
Mi. Weckes, 	Mr. Laycock, 	 Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Douglas, 	 Mr. T. Garrott, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Iloskins, 	 Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dick, 	I Tellers. 	 Mr. Cowper, junr., 
Mr. Lackey, 	 Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Parkes, 	 Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Cummings, 	 Mr. Lewis, 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnight,— 

WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH, 1861, A.M. 

And the Clause having been further amended by omitting the word " 

No. 6. 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 

Lucas.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "made" down to the 

word " necessary," inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Weekes.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, report 

progress, and ask leave to sit again on Friday next. (Arr. Tawas) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 13. 	 Noes, 10. 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Douglas, 	 Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morricc, 	Mr. Cummings, 	 Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Sutherland, 	 junr., 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. hoary, 	Mr. Weekes, 	 Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Lewis, Tellers. Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Hoskins, 	 Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Hannell, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, 
Progress reported,—to sit again. 

THURSDAY, 14 MARCH, 1861. 
No. 7. 

CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL OF 1861. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, and 

ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mr. Weekes.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 24. 	 Noes, 11. 
Mr. Watt, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Weans, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. 3. T. Ryan, Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Morris, 

No. 8. 
SIIPPLY.---ESTIMATES-IN-CTORP. 

Treasuty. 

Tellers. I 

Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Walsh, 1 Tellers. 

 Mr. llannell,  

) Tellers. 

{Tellers. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£6,182, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Treasury Department, 
for the year 1861. (Mr. IYeekes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £350, for salary of Clerk, be 
reduced by £25. (Mr Dickson.) 

Committee 



Noes, 10. 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Week-es, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Mott, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Watt. 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Morris, ). Tellers. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£23,410 (being less than Estimate by £384—salaries for Boatmen at Albury 
and Moama—withdrawn), to defray the salaries and contingencies of the 
Customs Department, for the year 1861. (Mr. Weekes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £530, for salary of Chief Clerk, be 
omitted. (Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 6. 

Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Dikleish, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Hart, 	Tellers. 

Noes, 33. 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Weeku, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Hamm% 
Mr. Morriee, 

. Love, Mr. .gan, 	} Teller s. Mr. Piddington, Mr. Suttor, 

Mr. Stewart, 
Mc Cunneen, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Walker, 
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No 

.4 
• Committee divided. • 

Ayes, 28. 
, Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Walker, 

Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Pidding-ton, Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Layeoek, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Harwell, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Walsh, 	1. Tellers. Mr. Cummings, Mr. Wilson, 
Estimate, after further reduction, carried. 

Customs. 

No. 10. 
Original Question stated. 	 . 
Afterwards proposed, That the item £530, for salary of Chief Clerk, be reduced 

by £80. (Ali.. Terry.) 
find the Chairman objecting to receive this motion, on the ground that the Committee 

had decided that the item should not be omitted,— 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair and 

report the point of Order to the House. (Mr. Terry.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 20. 	 Noes, 18. 
Mr. Mortice, 	Mr. Raper, 	 Mr Robertson, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Cummings, 	 Mr. Week-es, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Stewart, 	 Mr. 'I'. Garrett, 	junr., 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 	 Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Lucas, 	 Capt. Moriarty, Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Leary, 	 Mr. Stator, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Douglas, 	 Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Hannell, 	Mr. Watt, 	 Mr. Love, 	Mr. Mato, 	1. Tellers. Mr. Laycoek, 	Mr. Driver, 	 Mr. Markham Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Dickson, 	). Tellers. 	Mr. Flott, 

* 	* 	* 	* 	* 	* 	* 

No. 11. 
And the Committee having resumed,— 

Original Question stated. 
Motion made and Question put,—That t 

reduced by £80. (Mr. Terry.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 7. 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Caldwell, ll Mr. Dalgleish, 	Te ers.  

Noes, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. 
Mr. Weekey, 	Mr. 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Watt, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. 3. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Morrice, 

he item £530, for salary of Chief Clerk, be 

32. 
Laycock, 
Pidding-ton, 
Haworth, 
Hannell, 
C. Cowper, junr., 
Hoskins, 
Raper, 

Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Tellers.  
Mr. Morris, 	f 

No. 12. 
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No. 12. 
Original Question stated. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the item £530; for salary of Cashier, be 

reduced by £80. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, G. 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lubas, 
Mr. Caldwell, 

(Mr. Terry.) 

Tellers. 

Noes, 33. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Weukes, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hanne11, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Lackey, 	jinn, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. Stator. 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. 'Weston, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Morriee, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Wilson, 11. Tellers. 

No. 13. 
And several lien:8 of the Estimate having been reduced,— 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£23,240, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Customs Department, 
for the year 1861. (Mr. Makes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £200, for salary of (Additional) 
Clerk, be omitted. 	(Air. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 3. 

Mr. Dalgleisb, 
Mr. Terry, 	} Tellers. Mr. Driver, 

Noes, 40. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Weeke,s, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Capt, Moriarty, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Raper. 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. Maikham, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. flannel], 	Mr. Setter, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Hay,. 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Wilson. 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr.-Dickson, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Piddington, 	Mr. 1'. Garrett,' Tellers  
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Egan, un 	

. 

And several further items of the Estimate having been reduced,— 
No. 14. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£22,860, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Customs Department, 
for the year 1861. (Mr. Weekes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £400, for salary of Warehouse 
Keeper, be reduced by £50. (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 23. 

Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mir. Raper, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Hr. Douglas, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Leary, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Hannon, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Piddington, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Hay, 

Tam.  
f 

Noes, 18. 
Mr. Reston, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. 1Veckes, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Love. 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Morriec, 
Mr. Plat, 
Mr. Gray, 

1. Tellers. 

No. 15. 
Question proposed,—Tbat there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£22,810, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Customs Department, 
for the year 1861. (Air. Weekes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £175, for salary of thirteenth 
Locker, be omitted. (Mr. Dalgleish ) 

Committee 
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6 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 3. 

Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Redman, 

1 Tellers.  
J 

Noes, 27. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. flannel], 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mott, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Leary, 

} Tellers. 

No. 16. 

And the Estimate having been furthe • reduced by the postponement of the items 
for salary of Sub-Collectors at Albury and Moama,— 

• 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£22,210, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Customs Department, 
for the year 1861. (Mr. lireekes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £52, for salary to Acting 
Customs Officer, Richmond Fiver, be omitted. (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 8. 

Mr. Moriarty, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Dalgleisb, 
Mr, Caldwell, 
Mr. Lucas, 

Tollers, 
I Tellers. 

Noes, 21. 
Mr. Weekes, 	• Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Hanna, 

Estimate, £22,210, carried. 
No. 17. 

Colonial Distilleries. 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£2,100, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Department of the 
Colonial Distilleries, for the year 1861. (Mr. Wickes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £500, for salary of Chief Inspector 
and Accountant, be reduced by £400. (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 2. 	 Noes, 28. 

Mr. Terry, 	Tellers,  

No. 18. 

Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Dell, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Stewart, 

311111%, Mr. Caldwell, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Layeock, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Hannell, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Allen, 

Mr. Dalgleish, 

Tellers. 

Original Question stated. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the item £1,200, for 3 Inspectors at £400, 

be reduced by £400. (Aft. Stewart.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 4. 	 Noes, 28. 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry. 
Mr. Lucas,. 	I Tellers. Mr. Dalgleish,  

Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr, Hannell, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Stewart, 

Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr- Egan, 	} Tellers, Mr. Morris, 

Original Estimate carried. 	
No. 19. 



Committee divided. 
Ayes, 25, 

Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Tent, 
Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Mcston, 

Layeock, 

Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Menne11, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Gray; 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lucas, Tellers. 

Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
No. 22. 

Noes, 15. 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Tenni. Mr. Walsh, 
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No. 19. 
Sydney Branch of the Royal Mint. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£14,032, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Department of the 
Sydney Branch of the Royal Mint, for the year 1861. (Mr. Weekes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £530, for salary of (Second) 
Assayer, be reduced by £13. 	(Mr. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 9. 	. 

Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Tony, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 1. Tellers.  
Mr. Lucas, 	I 

Lucas.) 

Noes, 25. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Watt 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. flannel!, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Douglas, 	jour., 
Mr. Monies, 	Mr. Hoskins. 
Mr. Fled, 	Mr. Morris, 1 Tellers. 

And items in the Estimate having been reduced,— 
No. 20. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£13,957, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Department of the 
Sydney Branch of the Royal Mint, for the year 186L (Mr. Weekes) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £240, for salary of Clerk, be 
reduced by £40. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 10. 

Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Lucas, 

(Mr. Lucas.) 

} Tellers. 

Noes, 23. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Walker, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Layeoek, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Watt. 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hannell., 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morrice. 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Mont, 
Mr. Markham, 

Tellers. 1 

Estimate, £13,957, carried. 

FRIDAY, 15 MARCH, 1861. 

No; 21. 
IMPOUNDING BILL 02 1861. 

Clause 4. " The" majority of the Justices in Petty Sessions assembled in and for 
any district in which any Pound established under this Act may be situate 
"shall" select and appoint some fit and proper person as and to be Pound-
keeper of any such "Pound" Provided that until such appointments 
respectively all Pounds and Poundkeepers established or appointed at the time 
of passing this Act shall be deemed to be Pounds and Poundkeepers established 
and appointed under this Act and subject to the provisions hereof—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Watt.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the first word " The" down to the 

word "shall" be omitted, with the view of inserting in their stead the words 
"Governor with the advice of the Executive Council shall." (Arr. Hoskins.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
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No. 22. 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 

Watt.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, and 

ask leave to sit again " this day six months." (Mr. Dalgleish.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 18. 	 Noes, 21. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Layceek, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Driver, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Caldwell, 

Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Markham, 	junr., 

Mr. C. Cowper, 
Tellers. 

Mr. Allen, 

Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Smart, 

No. 23. 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Raper 	Mr. Cunneen 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Hannell, 	Mr. nett, 

I Mr. Suttor, 	-Mr. Egan, 	} Tellers. ' Mr. Mackay, 	Mr.Pidding,ton, 
Mr. Leary, 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Afr. 
Watt.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the following proviso be inserted after the word 
"Pound," viz :—" Provided always that where any such Pound shall be 
" within the limits of any Municipality established under the Municipalities 
" Act of 1858 such appointment shall be made by the Council of the Muni-
" cipality." (Mr. Walsh.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 20. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. CUIllleell, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr, Weekes, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Gray, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Hoskins. 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr, Dalg,leish, 	Mr. T. Garrott, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Smart, 	junr., 	• 
Mr. Hannell, 

- Clause, as amended, carried. 

Tellers. 

Mr. Raper, - 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Flea, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Leary, 

Noes, 19. 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Watt, 

Moston, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Ur. Egan, 

• Mr. Lackey, ). Tellers- 

No, 24. 
Clause 5. If at any time any such Poundkeeper shall be guilty of any neglect or 

offence under tins Act or shall not perform the duties of Poundkeeper to the 
satisfaction of such Justices such Poundkeeper shall be removed from such 
Pound and any vacancy caused by such removal or the death or resignation 
of any Poundkeeper shall be filled in the manner hereinbefore provided for 
the appointment of Poundkeepers Provided always that the order for the 
removal of any such Pountlkeeper shall be made by the majority of such 
Justices in Petty Sessions assembled.—(Read) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. 
(Mr. 1Vatt.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 24. 

Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hanna, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Morrie% 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Cray, 
Mr. Laycock, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. :Nett, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Watt, Tellers, 

Noes, 12. 
Mr. Robeitson, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Caldwell. 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Cowper, junr., 
Mr. Markham, Sellers, Mr. T. Garrett, 

No. 25. 
Motion made and Question put,--That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 

. (Mr Dalgleish.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 3. 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Walsh, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Dalgleish, 

Noes, 19. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr, Raper, 	. 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Parkes, ' 
Mr. Lear, 	Mr. Mate, 	.. 
Mr. Piddington, 	Mr. MeSton, 
Mr. Smart, 	' 	Mr. Lucas 	. 
Mr. Terry. 
Mr, Morrice, 	

Mr. 	'  } Tellers. 

No. 26. 



467 
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No 27. 

No. 28 

9 

Clause 7. It shall be lawful for the Governor "of the Colony" to advance and 
issue if required any sum not exceeding thirty pounds " each" for the erection 
of " such" Pounds as he may deem necessary such advance to be repaid to 
the Treasury out of the proceeds of such stock as may be sold out of such 
Pound and not claimed by the owner or his agent according to the provisions 
of this Act and every Pound shall be kept in good repair by the keeper 
thereof at his proper cost and charge and shall be delivered up by such 
keeper upon the termination of his office by removal or otherwise in like 
order to such persons as shall be appointed by such Justices in such behalf 
and every Pound erected as aforesaid shall be properly fenced and "enclosed" 
and adapted as far as may be for keeping stock infected with any contagious 
disease separate and apart from those in " health" and if any Poundkeeper 
shall not keep up and maintain the said enclosures in proper repair or shall 
knowingly keep or permit to be kept any stock infected with any contagious 
disease in the same enclosure with stock not so infected or shall not keep the 
said Pound clean and in good order and the stock which from time to time 
shall be impounded therein.supplied with a sufficiency of wholesome food and 
water every such Poundkeeper shall upon conviction of any such neglect 
forfeit and pay a sum not "exceeding Five" Pounds.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Watt.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the words "of the Colony" be omitted, with the 

view of inserting the words " with the advice of the Executive Council." 
(Mr. Lucas.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 16. 	 Nees, 18. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Parkes, 	 Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Rennet 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Stewart, 	 Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Laycock, 	 Mr. Piddington, Mr. Meston, , 
Mr. Morriee, 	Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. O'Brien, 

Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Hoskins, I 	Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Watt, Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Caldwell, 	 Mr. Leary, 

Mr. Redman, 	Mr. C. Cowper„' Telle 
junr., 	i 	

Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Terry. 	 : Mr. Maeleay, 	Mr. Cummings, 1 
Mr. Smart, 	 Mr. Stator, 	Mr. Walsh, 	Tellers. 

And the Clause having been further amended by omitting the word "each," and by 
inserting the words "each of" before the word" such",— 

Question proposed,—That the Clause as amended stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Walt.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "enclosed" down to 
the word "health," inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Walsh.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 13. 	 Noes, 25. 
336 Lucas, 	 Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	 Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Lackey, 	 Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Flea, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	 . Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Cummings, 	 Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Laymick, 
Mr. Paddington, junr., 	Mr. Lertiy, 
Mr. Stator, 	 Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Sutherland. 
Mr. Cunneen, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Mackay. 
Mr. Irving, 	 Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Moriarty, 
Mr. Raper, 	 1 Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Caldwe I, 
Mr. Hannon,  
Mr. Watt, 	Tellers. 	, Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Hoskins, 

' Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Redman, } Tellers. 
1  

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Watt.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the words "exceeding Five" be omitted, with the 
view of inserting the words "less than Two pounds nor more than Ten." 
(Mr. Redman.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 32. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Stewart. 
Mr. Robertson, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. LIRAS, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hannell, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. nett, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Paddington, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Watt, } Tellers. 

Noes, 7. 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Monica, 
Mr. Bay, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Walsh, } Tellers. 

• 
Clause, as amended, carried. 

136-13 	 No. 29. 
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Clause 8. The keeper of every Pound legally constituted by virtue of this Act 
may demand and receive Pound fees for the stock of the several descriptions 
which shall be impounded therein the several and respective sums following 
that is to say For the first or only head of horses cattle goats or swine the 
sum of sixpence and for every additional head of horses cattle goats or swine 
impounded at the same time and upon the same account the sum of three. 
.pence each and for the first or only sheep four-pence and for every additional 
sheep impounded at the same time and upon the same account the sum of one 
farthing "each ".—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Walt.) 
Amendment proposed,—That there be added after the word " each " the words 

" And all such Pound fees shall be paid over to such person and at such 
" times as the Governor with the advice of the Executive Council shall 
" appoint and shall be applied to the Public uses of the said Colony and in 
" support of the Government thereof." (Mr. Walsh ) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be added he so added. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 18. 	 Noes, 18. 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Shepherd, i Mr: Hoskins, 	Mr. }Nett, 
Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Hart, 

jour., 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Driver, 	 ! 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Mortice, 	Mr. Walsh, 	1 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. T. Garrett, Tellers. 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	 ! 

The Chairman gave the Casting Vote with the Noes. 
No, 30. 

Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Roper, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Terry. 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Buchanan, 

Mr. Mackay. 
Mr. Allen,  
Mr. Sa ttor, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Cummings."( 'Fe llers.  Mr. CMIIICCII, f  

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. 
(Air. Watt.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 24. Noes, 16. 

Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. M.aeleay, 
Mr, Dick, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Raper, 

Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
M. Allen, 
Mr. Hannell, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Watt, j Tellers.  

Mr. Mestmt, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

Mr. Lewis. 
Mr. Morrie% 

Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. '1'. Garrett, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr Hoskins, 
Mr. Driver, 1 Tellers. 

NO. 31. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman leave the Chair, report 

progress, and ask leave to sit again this day fortnight. (Mr. C. Carper, friar.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 15. 	 Noes, 23. 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Smart, 	 Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Lewis, 	 I Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Dalgleish, 	 Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. 0. Cowper, Mr. Flett, 	 Mr. Raper, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 

junr., Mr. Buchanan, 	 1 Mr. Meston, Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Garrett, 	Mr. Laycock, Mr. Piddington, Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Caldwell, Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Hoskins, } Tellers Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Driver, 

Mr. Parkes. 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Lucas. 	I Tenors.  
Mr. Mori iec, 	Mr. Leary, 	l 
Mr. Cunneen, 

Clause 9, read and carried—progress reported—to sit again. 

Sydney: Thomas Richards, Gurenuncat Printer.-1861. 

[Price, 3d.] 
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1861. 

Lq$øiatiUc gifffientbly. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 8. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. ,  
(EXTRACTED FR ON THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

TIRDNESDAY, 20 MARCH, 1861. 
No. 1. 	 • 

CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL OF 1861. 
Original Clause 1 having been omitted, with a view of introducing a new Clause to 

follow Clause 1,— 
Proposed new Clause 2. On and from the day of the commencement of this Act 

the Orders in Council shall be repealed Provided that nothing herein shall 
prejudice or affect anything already lawfully done or commenced or contracted 
to be done thereunder respectively or to prevent the several provisions of the 

• said Orders in Council from being carried into effect with reaped to lands 
under lease or promise of lease "made" previously to the twenty-second day 
of February one thousand eight hundred and "fifty-eight"- daring the 
currency of such leases as fully as if the same had not been hereby repealed. 
—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the proposed new Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill, 
to follow Clause 1. (Ali'. Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word " made " down to the 
word "fifty-eight" be omitted. (17h% Suttor.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 28. 	 Noes, 12. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 1. 
Mr. Redman, 	in or., 	Tellers. 
Mr. Allen, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Cunneen, 

145— 

Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

No. 2. 

•4 i 
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No. 2. 
Proposed new Clause :—Every Adult Immigrant who shall come to this Colony 

direct from Great Britain and Ireland otherwise than at the expense of the 
Colony or the person who sindl; pay for the passage of any such Immigrant 
shall be entitled to a Land Order for the sum of 420 and after such Immi-
grant shall have resided in the __Colony for two years continuously a further 
Laud Order for the sum of £10 "provided' that children between the ages 
of four and fourbaddynitekhall'ibt s ertitled to half the above rates and 
"provided" also that every Immigrant claiming such Land Orders shall have 
complied with) and oball be. pf the class \ opropised within the Immigration 
Regulations in forcein the Colony for the time being.—Read. 

Question proposcd,—That the proposed new Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill, 
to follow Clause 12,Glir. Ruscien.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "provided" down to 
the subsequent word "provided" inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Morris.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 25. 	 Noes, 6. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Math, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Lucas, . 	, 	 tr. Piddington, 

.11E4 Wii.oles,4 1111Cuntioint, ) 	r1'j-I ', i ' 	I, . }Terry:, 	) A :1i T, 
Bit O'Brien, 	Mr. Leary, 	 Mi. Cummings, 
Mr. Rape; 	Mr. Lackey, 	 Mr. Basun, 
Mr. Monier, 	Mr. Allen, 	 Mr. Morris, 	). Tellers. 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Buchanan, 	r. 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Laycoek, 	 1 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Driver, 	 . 

, Mr. Stoi4titi 	iXii.Di44ltiql.r 	1 1 I I ' 	': i ) 1' 	1 il I  titirt ltst.t." 	;Mr" C. Gowpet,} t 
Mr. Hoskins, 	junr., 	Tellers. 
Mr. Love, 	Capt. Moriarty, 

1 '  f 	r.. 0 • 

No. 3. 	 (h . ' ' 	ytt , i y , ‘t . 	, 	t,  ,Y .  i ••) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the proposed new Clause, as read, stand 

part of the Bill, to follow Clause 12. (Mr. Rusden.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 7. 
Mr. Menthe, 	r 8 8 I 10  1 citi.i6o4pir, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Piddington, 	 , Mr Robertson, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Mato, 	 j Mr. Weckes, 	Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. Cummings, 	• 	i Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Terry, 	 I Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Leary, 

„ Mr. Rusdent  , a ,ren e t.„, 	, ( 	 Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Morris, 	f 	 i ' ISetritien, ' ' Mr. Buchanan, 

1 Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Caldwell, 	, r. 
Mr. Sutherland, 	tr. T.,Carrutt. ), .i. ,". 
Mr. Love, 	' Capt. Moriarty'',  

5, 	 Mr., Hoskins, . Mx.. Raper, ' 
Mr. Winde,yer, 	Mt 4"P'si . } Tellers. Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 

' ,ly imli HI. 	 I. - ,,, .. 	 Mr. Lewis, . 

Noes, 26. 

146. ' 	. P. 	• 
A 

%SM. \LAWS OCCUPATION BELL OF 1061. 
1), •.1 •. Maw 20., The Governor with the advice aforesaid may grant leases for purposes 

„.. of mining for any metal or mineral excepting gold to any person of any 
Ctiran Lands not exceeding three hundred and twenty aoreS for coal mining 

r  kat an not exceeding eighty acres for other mineral lots for any period not 
exceeding fourteen years and with a right of renewal for a further period not 
exceeding fourteen years upon the next following conditions on the breach 
of any of which 'by any lessee the leasc,may be cancelled by the Governor 
with the advice of the ! Executive Council 

(I.) Persons may on application to the Minister obtain authority in writing 
to select on Crown Lands within twelve months from the date thereof 

. coal or other teincrallots and may take possession of such lots and 
hold them for the period mentioned in such, authority but the right 
shall be reserved to determine the boundaries of any such lots and to 

• make provision for reservation of water supply Provided that applica-
tions made prior to the passing of this Act may be accepted under it 
and-shall stake precedence in the order at their date. 

(2.) Thh rent, shall he five shillings per acre paykble annually in advance 
atetbe Colonial Treasury the first payment to be made on application 

1 .for authority to select and thereafter within the month of September 
for:eanh nosuing year and leases shall in acases end OA the thirty-
first i tlay of December. 

(3.) Lessees /hall expend at the rate of five pounds sterling per acre 
• annually on their lots. 

(4.) Lessees may determine their leases by giving to the ,Minister three 
months notice of their desire to do so hut no rent shall •in Any such 
case be refunded. 

(5.) 



Noes, 32. 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Itobertson, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr, Love, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Lewis, 

Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Layeook, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Leaky, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Allen, 	) Tacit.  
Capt. Moriarty./ 

471 

3 

(5.) Lessees may on application to the Minister in writing during the 
thirteenth year of their leases obtain• a renewal of the same for a 
further period not exceeding fourteen " years " and the fine to be paid 
on such renewal not being less than two pounds ten shillings per acre 
shall be determined by appraisement and full information of the 
working and returns of the mine shall be afforded to the appraisers by 
the,lessees on pain of forfeiting their claim to " renewal". 

(6.) If any lease be forfeited or not renewed the lessee.shall be at liberty 
within six months from the termination of his lease to remove or 

, otherwise dispose of all machinery and improvements and the minerals 
brought to the surface during the term of his leste.-1-(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of :  the Bill. (Mr. 
Robertson.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words in Section 5 after the word "years," 
down to the word " renewal " inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Allen.) 

Question 190,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 23. 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Redman, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Leary, 

Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mn Suttor, 
Mr. Dal& •ish, } Tellers. Mr. Morris, 

Noes, 4. 
'Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Allen, Tellers.. Mr. Lucas, 

THURSDA Y, 21 MARCH, 1861. 

No. 5. 
SUPPLY. 

Harbours, Light-houses, and Pilot Department. 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£2,752, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Steam Navigation and 
Pilot Board, and Harbour Masters, for the year 1861. (Mr. Wakes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That. the item £250, for salary of Harbour 
Master at Twofold Bay, be omitted. (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 2. 

Mr. Dalgleish, 1  ,reller  
Mr. Driver, 	f 

Original Question put and earned. 
.No. 6. 

Internal Communication. 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£62,175 (being less than Estimate by £12,000 withdrawn, viz.:—£4,000 
for the construction of a Road down the Araluen Mountain, by way Dirty 
Butter Creek ; £4,000 for the construction of a Road from Menge on the 
Clyde River to Queanbeyan Road and Bredbo River ; and £4,000 for special 
Works on the Road from Eden to Chalkers), for the construction and 
maintenance of Roads, other than Main Roads, and Ferries, for the year 1861. 
(Mr. Robertson.) 

Debate ensued. 
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And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnightc  

FRIDAY, 22 MARCH, 1861, A.m. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Tuesday next. (Mr. Wilson.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 9. 	 Noes, 22. 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Tellers .   
Mr. T. Garrett, f.  

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Rohertson, Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Maeleay, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Watt, 	3D. Lucas, 
Mr. Cummings, N r.Piddington, ITellers.  
Mr. Markham, Mr. Hoskins, ) 

Original Question put and carried. 
Progress reported,—to sit again. 

FRIDAY, 22 MARCH, 1881. 
No. 7. 

IMPOUNDING BILL OF 1861. 
Clause 11. All horses cattle sheep goats or swine impounded under the provisions 

of this Act shall be sent to the public Pound nearest to the land where the 
same were " trespassing " and the person impounding any stuth stock shalt 
in a written memorandum specify to the keeper of the Pound the number 
and kinds of the horses cattle sheep goats or swine impounded and the name 
of the owner if he be known or supposed owner or otherwise state that he is 
wholly unknown to the person impounding the place where the said horses 
cattle sheep goats or swine were trespassing and the amount of damage 
claimed for the trespass and driving "separately " Provided that horses or 
cattle used for work shall not be impounded off any land not enclosed with a 
good substantial fence and the Poundlceeper shall not receive :inch working 
horses and cattle unless such animals have been on such land more than three 
days consecutively without being used for work by the owner or other 
authorized person provided they were not prevented being used for work by j I I 	• 
floods or other unavoidable causes and if any owner of land or occupier or other 
authorized person shall impound any horses cattle sheep goats or swine in 
any manner contrary to the directions and provisions hereof every person so 
offending shall upon conviction forfeit and pay a fine not exceeding ten 
pounds for every such offence.—(Recul.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Watt.) 
And the Clause having been amended by inserting after the word "nearest" the 

the words "by .a practicable road Or highway," and by inserting after the 
word " trespassing" the words "or in the event of such land being equi-distant 
"from two Pounds the person impounding may have the option in which of the 
" said Pounds the said cattle .cheep goats or swine ?nay be impounded." 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word " trespassing," down to 
• 	the word "separately " inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Arnold.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Mr. Hat 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mi. Parkes, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Watt, 

Ayes, 20. 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Plett, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. 'Lesley, 
Mr. C. Coupe",) 

JUDI', 	I Tellers. 
Mr. Wilson, 

Noes, 16. 
Mr. Cowper, 	NY. Buchanan, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Sutherland, 

Tell 
L
,
ee- ) 

Clause, after further amendment, carried. 

Clause 12. It shall be lawful for the owner of any land or occupier or agent of 
such owner or occupier to charge and receive for trespass on such land and 
the Poundkeeper shall demand and receive on account of such person from 
the owner or his agent of such horses cattle sheep goats or pigs as may be 
impounded or if no owner or agent claiming such stock then out of the 
proceeds of the sale of the said stock the "following" on lands not enclosed 
with a good substantial fence for each and every head of horses cattle pigs 

and 

No 8. 
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and goats sixpence for each and every sheep one "farthing" on lands enclosed 
with a good substantial fence double the foregoing stated amount and for 
trespass in any garden uncut meadow or growing crop of any kind enclosed 
by a good substantial and sufficient fence eight times the " above" stated 
amount or the occupier of such land or his agent may demand from the owner 
(or his agent) of such stock trespassing in garden uncut meadow or growing 
crop or may sue for and recover at the nearest Court of Petty Sessions such 
further damage as such crop in the opinion of two or more Justices of the 
Peace assembled may have received Provided that in case any horses cattle 
sheep goats or swine shall be impounded off the said land more than once 
within three months the person so impounding may legally claim and obtain 
double the amount of damages for trespass so fixed.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Ma. Watt) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "following," down to 

the word "farthing" inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Hoskins.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 20. 	 Noes, 19. 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Morrico, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Wilson 
Mr. Flat, 	Mr. Lucas, 	I Tellers. Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Lesley, 

Mr. Meet:es, 	' Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. C. Cowper, Mr. Parkes, 

junr., 	Mr. love, 
, Leary, 	Mr. Douglas, 

Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. J. 'I'. Ryan, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Dalgleish,1_ „, „ 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Hoskins. I i.e 

And a point of order having arisen as to the right of an Honorable Member to vote 
with thaHoes after having given his voice with the Ayes, 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, to 
report the point of order to the House. (Al". Wilson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 17. 	 Noes, 22. 

Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Raper, 	 i Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Love, 	 Mr. Meston, 	Copt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Mackay, 	 Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Douglas. 	 , Mr. Cummings, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 	 Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. C, Cowper, 	 Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	jam., 	 j Mr. Plot, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Sutherland. Mr. T. Garrettl ,,, 	Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Slitter, s ellers. 	...- ,, , Mr. Buchanan, Mr. W n, 	 m ilso 	 r. rames, 	Mr. Lewis, 

Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Piddington, j 1, 
cL 
41,i

's ' Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Lucas, 	5  

No. 9. 

No. 10. 
Question proposed,—That the clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Watt) 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after midnight,—

SATURDAY 23 MARCH, 1861, A. M. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Friday next. (Mr. Wilson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 8. 	 Noes, 31. 

Mr. T. Garrott, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Markham, I 

 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr, Lucas, 	Mr. Windeyor, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. J. T. Ryon, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Watt, 1   Mr. Monica, 	Mr. Morri, 	j Tellers. 
Mr. Mackay, 

 

 

  

No. 



474 

NO. 11. 
Motion made and Question put,—That Clause 12 be :postponed. (Mr Redman.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 8. 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. T. Garrett, } Tellers. 
Mr. Dalgleish, 

Noes, 31. 
Mr. Parkes, 	. Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Downer, 	Mr, Wilson, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. atm.*, 	Mr. Islett, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 

M Mr. Mesten, 	r. Irving,  
Mr. Crunming,s, Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Mate,  
Mr. Hay, 	' Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Egan, Mr. Watt, 	} Tellers. Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dick,  
Mr. Morrice, 

And the Clause having been amended by inserting the word "first" before the toord 
" above,"— 

No. 12. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the 
Bill. (ilfr. liratt.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 21. 	 Noes, 12. 

 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Windeyor, 
Mr Irving, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Mortice, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Leary, 

 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. C. Cowper, jeer., 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Dalgleish, I Tellers. Mr. Redman, 

 

I Tellers. 

No. 13. 
Clause 13 having been read,— 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Watt.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. (Mr. 

Hoskins.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 9. 	 Noes, 24. 
Mr. Cowper, 	 Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. 1Veekes, 	 Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Leary. 
Mr. Hoskins, 	 Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Redman, 	 Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Lewis, 	 Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 	 Mr. Cummings, Mr. Windeyer, 

junr., 	 Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Wilson, 	 Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 1 Tensys 	 Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Markham, / 	''''' 	 Mr. Mackay, 	Mr. Sutherland, I Tellers.  

Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Morris, 	5 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Morrice, 

No. 14. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, report 

progress, and ask leave to sit again on Friday next. 	(Mr. Hoskins.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 13. 	 Noes, 20. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr, Dalgleish, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Markham, } Tellers. 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

jour., 
Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Mortice, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Egan, 

Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Rutter, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Morris, } Tellers. 

Progress subsequently reported,—to sit again. 
No. 15. 
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No. 15. 

WAHOUNTAIX MURRAY BRIDGE COMPANY'S BILL. 

Clausel having been read,— 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Hay.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Tuesday next. (Mr. Hoskins.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 5. 
Mr. p. Cowper, 

jeer., 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis. 
Mr. Hoskins, } Tellers. 

Noes, 23. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Wee es, 	Mr. Mourne, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Piddington, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Windeyer, 

} Tellers. 

Sydney : Thomas Richards, Government Printer.-1961. 
[Price, 2d.] 
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1861. 

argiolatthe ctooemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 9. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

TUESDAY, 26 MARCH, 1801. 
No. 1. 

SUPPLY. 
Legislative Council. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£5,975, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Legislative Council 
Department, for the year 1861. (..Ife. Cowper.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £800, for salary of Clerk of the 
Council, bo reduced by £100. 	(Mr. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 22. 

Mr. Lucas. 	i‘Ir. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Wilson,  
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Pei.ley, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Windeycr, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Sutherland,1 Tenors  
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dickson, 	1 	' 

cfrindeyer.) 

Noes, 19. 
I 	Mr. Cowper, 	]Tr. Markham, 
1 	Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Buchanan, 

Mr. Rustion, 	Mr. Gray, 
I 	Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Hart, 

Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Raper, 

I 	Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Mate. 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mortice, 

, 	Mr. Flat, 
l 	Mr, Litycock, 

} Tellers. 

No. 2. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the item £500, for salary of Short-hand 

Writer, be reduced by £100. (Mr. Dalgleisk.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 18. 	 Noes, 24. 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Estimate, as reduced, carried. 

166— 

T  ellers. } 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Haworth, 

Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Platt, 
Mr. Slitter, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Egan, 

Dalgleish, Tellers, 

No. 3. 



Noes, 18. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Morrie°. 
Mr. Rnsden, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Mostink 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Love, 

Tellers. Mr. Suitor, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, 
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No. 3. 
Legislative Council and Assembly. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£2,165, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Joint Department of 
the Legislative Council and Assembly, for the year 1861. (Mr. Comper.) . 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item 4300, for salary of Assistant 
Librarian, be reduced by £50. 	(Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 	 . 
Ayes, 20. 	 Noes, 21. 

Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morrice. 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Dalgkisb, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Paisley, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lewis, 

1Mr, Caldwell, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. nett, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lucas, } Tellers. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekcs, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Daniels, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Lesley 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Mate. 
Mr. Morris, ). Tellers. 

No. 4. 
Chief Secretary's Department. 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 
£4,754, to defray the salaries and contingencies of the Chief Secretary's 
Department, for the year 1861. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £650, for salary of Chief Clerk, 
be reduced by £50. (Mk Terry.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 17. 	 Noes, 25. 

Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Pidding,ton, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Windeycr, Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Parkes, 
,Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Leary, 

} Tellers. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Hart. 
Mr. Rnsdeu, 	Mr. Nemec, 
Mr. Robertson, Mr. Blake, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr nett, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Haworth 
Mr. Mcston, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Sotto'', 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. CUMIllingS, Mr. Morris, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 

 

} Tellers. 

   

Motion made and Question put,—That 'tern 4450, for salary of Clerk, be reduced 
by £50. (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 14. 

Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Hoskins, Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Lucas, 

Piddiugton, Mr. Dick, 
Tellers. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item£1,200, for salary for 3 Clerks, be 
reduced by £75. (Mr. Bay.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 19. 	 Noes, 10. 

No. 5. 

No. 0. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Robertson, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Lesley, 

Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Capt. Moriarty 
Mr. 

	ereilem 
Mr. Morris, 

Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Morrie, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dickson, 1 Tellers.  
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Dalgleish, ) 
Mr. Hoskins, 

Estimate, after further reduction, carried. 

THURSDAY, 28 MARCH, 1861. 

Public Buildings. 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, for the 

service of the year 1861, to be provided for by Loan, a sum not exceeding 
410,000, for the eulargement of the Australian Museum. (Afe. Cowper.) 

Committee 

No. 7. 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 29. Noes, 7. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Sinart, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Cain, Moriarty, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Hay, 

Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Hannell, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. bleu, 
Mr. Watt, Tellers. 

Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Dalgleksh, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Wilson, Tellers. } 

Mr. Hart, 

C113/07718 . 

Motion made and Question put,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not 
exceeding £300 (postponed item), for salary of Sub-Collector at Albury, fur 
the year 1801. 	(Mr. Weekes.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 23. 

Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Stuart, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Driver, 	Tellers. 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 

Noes, 5. 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. S9 ttor, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

Customs. 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum 

not exceeding £300 (postponed item), for salary of Sub-Collector at Mourns, 
for the year 1861.. 	(Mr. Weekes.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 32. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Hamlet], 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hoskins; 	Mr Irving, 

Peisley, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Laveock, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Driver, 	Tellers , Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 

Noes, 7. 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, } Tellers. 

No. 10. 
Administration of Justice. (Explanatory Memorandum.) 

Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, an additional sum not 
exceeding £233, to defray salaries for the Department of the Law Officers of 
the Crown, for the year 1861. (Mr. Cowper.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £50, increase to Clerk from £200 
to £250, be omitted. 	(Arr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 21. 

Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Peislcy, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutherland,J Tellers. 
Mr. Hay, 

Noes, 9. 
Mr. Coaper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Laycocls, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Tellers. I 

No. 11. 

bio 8 

.No, 9. 
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No. 11. 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, an 

additional sum not exceeding ,C183, to defray the salaries for the Department 
of the Law Officers of the Crown, for 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 9. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekcs, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Caldwell, 1 Toilers. 

  Mr. T. Garrett,  

the year 1861. 	(Mr. Cowper.) 

Noes, 22. 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. lien, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Paisley, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. PiddinFton, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dalgleish ' } Tellers. Mr. Mato, 	Mr. Windeyer, 

Progress reported,—to sit again. 

[Price, lelj 
	 Sydney : Thomas Richards, Government Priutet --MGT 
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itegiolatibe 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 10. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRA C TED FR OM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

TUESDAY, 2 APRIL, 1861. 
No. 1. 

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL BILL OF 1861. 
Clause 3. At and after the next dissolution of the Legislative Asserfibly the 

present Legislative Council shall be dissolved And thenceforth a Legislative 
" Council " shall be constituted and composed solely of Members to be elected 
as hereinafter " prescribed" And the Governor may then forthwith and 
thereafter from time to time as occasion shall require in Her Majesty's name 
by instrument under the Great Seal of the Colony summon and call together 
a Legislative Council in and for the "Colony" And such Legislative Council 
shall meet for the dispatch of business on the same day as the Legislative 
" Assembly " Prodded that it shall be lawful for the Governor by Pro-
clamation or otherwise to dissolve any Legislative Council elected under this 
Act whenever he shall deem it expedient.—(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended by omitting all the words down to the word 
" Council" inclusive, and by inserting instead thereof the words "it shall be 
" lawful for the Governor at such place and at such time not being later than 
"six months after the day on which this Act shall come into operation and 
" thereafter from time to time as occasion shall require in Her .21fajesty's name 
" by Instrument under the Great Seal of the Colony to summon and call 
" together a Legislative Council in and for the Colony which"; and further by 
omitting all the words after the word "prescribed" down to the word" Colony" 
inclusive. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Cowper.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word " Assembly" to the end 
of the Clause be omitted. 	(Mr. Parkes.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 20. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. °Trion, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 	Mr. Dick, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Love, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lucas, 	, 
Mr. Peislev, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 

to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 

Noes, 28. 
Mr. Piddington, 	Mr. Leary, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Terry, 
M r. Watt, 	Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Mate, 	

Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Hay, 
	

Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Sutter, 	Mr. Smart, 	, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Macleay, 	., 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Douglos, 
Mr. :Heston, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Marine]],. 	, Mr. Egan,, 	. 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Park, 	} Tellers. 

Clause, as amended, carried. 	 No. 2. 
189— 
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Colony shall be divided " into,". the following Council Districts :— 
Bourke 	 Mulgua 
G ipps 	 Roxburgh 
The Efamletv it nal rt ji 	., Macquarie 
Cumberland 	 Phillip 
Petersha 	 i 	• ... 	Wellesley 
West Camden ' 	 Clinton 
East Camden 	 Nelson 
Wolloodilly 	 Maitland 
Auckland 	 Campbell 
St. Vincent 	 Brisbane 
King 	 Denison 
Darling 	 Namoi 
Vv'yuyard 	 Armidale 

p  • 1, , Cook ; 	 "Richmond" 	 r 
And 'elm Lid Cobncil Districts shall respectively comprise and consist of the 
several Assembly Districts and shall respectively return the number of 
Members set against the names of such Council Districts respectively in the 
Schedule hereto marked A.—(Read.) 

Ayes, 37. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Layeeek, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Markham, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Faunal', 

, 	\ Mr—O'Brien, , 	Mr. Hatt, 
1  Mr.• Redman, 	Mr. 'Egan. 

tv.  • ' 	16. Lewis, 	• 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 

Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. S. N. Ryan, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Outnmings, Mr. Meston, 

• Mr. ,Peisley, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Terry, 
Clause, as read, carried. 

. 

}  Tellers. 

Noes, 16. 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Dickson. 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mx. Rotten, 
Mr. Header), 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Moths, } Tellers. 

WEDNESDAY, 3 APRIL, 1861. 
' 

'Same Bill. 
Clause 6. Every person qualified to be elected a Member of the Legislative 

'Assembly and registered on the Council Roll and being of the full age of 
thirty." five" years shall be qualified to be elected a Member of the Legis-
lative Council Provided that no person being a Member of the Legislative 
Assembly shall be capable of being elected a Member of the Legislative 
Council--(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill.' (Jib'. Cowper.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word "five" be omitted. (Mr. Terry.) 
Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 25. 
Yr. Cowper, 	Mr Irving, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. 3forlice, 	Mr. Gras, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, Mr. 'Wilson, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. Button, 
Mn Dick, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Karam', 	Mr. Deaden. 

•I Mn Witt, 
Tale's. 

Noes, 7. 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
3Ir. Cunneen, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Hoskins, Tellers. 

No. 4. 

No. 2. 
Same Bill. 

Clause 5. For the Election of Members to serve in the Legislative Council the 

— 

11 0 

Qflepiett pl4psed,,2-7That tie Clause, •as read, stand part of the Bill. Ofr. Camper.) 
Atinendinedt i  proposed,—That all the words after the word "into" down to the 

word " Richmond" inclusive be omitted, with a view of inserting the words 
"Eight Electoral Provinces which shall be designated by the following 
"names :—Sydney Somers Hampden Milton Raleigh Nelson Peel Brougham." 
(AB. Parkes.) 

Question put,.—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 
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No. 4. 
Motion made and Question put,—That 

words " And who shall have resided 
"less than three years." 	(Mr. Parkes.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 13. 

Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Morris, 	i. Tellers. 
Mr. Whatleyer, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Clause, as read, carried. 

V 	4 

there be inserted after the word 'years, the 
within the Colony for a period of not 

Noes, 21. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. T. Gal-1,0BI. Tellers. Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. E N. Ryan, 

No. 6. 
Same Bill. 

Clause 7. livery person " qualified" to vote at the Election of a Member to serve 
in the Legislative Assembly and none other shall -be entitled to be registered 
on a Council Roll and qualified to vote as hereinafter enacted at the Election 
of Members to serve in the Legislative Council.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Cowper.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be inserted after the word " qualified " 

the words " otherwise than by reason of residence only." (Mr. Rotten.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 7. N 2 
Capt. Moriarty, 	 Arr. Cowper, 

oes, 
 Mr. 

Cunneen, 

Mr. Piddington, 	 Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Haworth, 	 Mr. Driver, 	Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Watt, 	 Mr. Markham, Mr. Morrie°, 
3Ir. Rotton, 	T llers. 	 Mr. Iloskins, 	Mr. Dick, ) Mr. Rustler', 	e 	 Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Lackey, 

Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Windeycr, Mr. Dalgloish, } Tcuers.  
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Love, 

Progress reported,—to sit again. 

THUR SD A Y, 4 APRIL, 1861. 
No. 6. 

Same Bill. 
Clause 7 having been carried, after amendment, to read thus:—" Every person duly 

" registered on a Council Roll shall be gualbled to vote at the Election of 
" Members to serve in the Legislative Council,"— 

Clause 8. The Returning Officers of the several Council Districts shall respectively 
register in one Alphabetical Roll all the Electors registered in the several 
Rolls of the Assembly Districts comprised in such respective Council "Districts" 
and such Alphabetical Rolls shall respectively be the Council Rolls for such 
Council Districts respectively And to this end the Returning Officer of 
every Assembly District shall within one month after the passing of this Act 
and thereafter on or before the Twelfth day of May in every year deliver 
a copy of the Roll of his Assembly District to the Returning Officer of the 
Council District of which it forms a part But nothing herein shall affect 
any provision of the Electoral Act of 1858 relating or incidental to the 
preparation or completion of any Assembly Roll.—(1?ead.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. ( Mr. Cowper.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be inserted after the word "Districts" 

the words " And all Gold Miners in said Districts who have held a Miner's , 
Right for sir months." 	(4M.. Wilson.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 12. 

Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Peisloy, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Buchanan. 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Tellers. 

Clause, as read, carried. 

Noes, 38. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Madan, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Hanna, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morriee, 	Mr. Rotto», 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Doug/M, 
Mr. Mackay, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

No. 7. 
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No. 7. 
• Sante Bill. 

• Clause 15. The eighteenth and nineteenth sections of the Constitution Act and the 
several Enactments of the Electoral Act of 1858 which relate to the appoint-
ment and duties of Presiding Officers—to the course of Proceeding respecting 
the Ballot and otherwise before and at and after Elections—to the answering 
of questions and making the declaration of Electors and the consequences of 
making false answers or declarations—to the transmission of Ballot Papers 
after the Election—to the not questioning or avoiding of Elections for 
defects—to the Remedy for informalities—to Bribery and its consequences—
to any misconduct of Returning and other Officers—to the Committee of 
Elections and Qualifications and Petitions ae.ainst Returns—and all other the 
Enactments of the said Act—so far as any such Enactments as aforesaid are 
or can be made applicable to the purposes of this Act and so far as the same 
are not repealed or varied hereby—shall apply to and be deemed to be hereby 
again enacted for the purposes of this Act and be acted upon accordingly 
Provided that the said sections and other Enactments so far as they apply to 
the Legislative Assembly or to the Speaker thereof shall for the purposes of 

• this Act apply respectively to the Legislative Council and to the "President" 
• Provided also that every Ballot Paper under this Act shall be in the form of 

the Schedule hereto marked C and that the Declaration of Scrutineers under 
this Act shall be in the form of the Schedule hereto mark.ed "D."—(Read.) 

And the Clause haring been amended by inserting after the word •' President" the 
words "and so far as they apply to the Electoral Districts and Electoral Rolls 
" shall for the purposes of this Act apply respectively to Council Districts 
" and Council Rolls.' 

Question proposed,—That the following Provisoes be added after the letter D, at the 
end of the Clause (3fr. Cowper.) 
" Provided also that during the Polling no Candidate shall be present in 

" any Polling Booth or Polline
° 
 Place or in any compartment or Ballot 

" Room 'thereof' Provided further that if any person being able to 
" read and write shall state to the Presiding Officer at any Election that 
" he is not so able and shall thereupon express his wish to have the 
" names of certain candidates struck out from his ballot paper such 
" person shall be deemed guilty of 'misdemeanor' And provided 
" lastly that whenever in accordance with the 43rd section of the said 
" Electoral Act it shall be the duty of the Presidint,  Officer himself to 
" strike out from the ballot paper of any Elector unable to read or blind 
" the names of such Candidates as such Elector shall express his wish 
" to have struck out such Presiding Officer shall do so openly in the 
" presence of all persons then lawfully present in the booth or polling 
" place." 

Debate ensued. 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after Midnight,— 
FRIDAY, 5 APRIL, 1861, A.M. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Tuesday next. (Afr Dick) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 20. 	 Noes, 24. 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Layeock, Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Peisley, ; Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Stewart, 	 I Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Wilson, 	 ' Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Irving, 	 ; Mr. Cummings, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Hay, 	 ' Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Gray, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Rotton, 	 I Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Dick, Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Morris, 	1 Tellers. ! Mr. Love, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Mackay, 	 I Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Douglas, I Mr. Meston. 	 Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	 ,r Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Hormel!, 	 i Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 

The Conttnittee leavitw decided to consider the several Provisoes seriatim,—and the 
,first Proviso, ending wills the word Cr  thereof," having been carried,— 

Motion made and Question put,—That the second Proviso, ending with the word 
" misdemeanor," stand part of the Clause. (Mk Coupes.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 22. 

Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mn Cowper, 	Mn Sutherland, 
Mr. T. Garrett, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. l'cisley, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Morrie° 	Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Dalgleish, I Mem, Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Dick, 

Noes, 20. 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Douglas, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Mackay, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Hannell, 

 

Tellers. 

No. 8. 
) Tellers. 

No. 9. 
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No. 9. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 

report progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mr. Egan.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 6. 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Walker, Tellers. 

Noes, 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Lucas 

38. 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Hanna 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Temley, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Male, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. trying, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. T. Garrett,  Tellers.   

Mr. Cummings, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Markham, 

And the third Proviso having been cars' ed,— 
Clause, as amended, carried. 
Progress reported,—to sit again. 

Ns. 10. 
CHINESE IMMIGRATION REGULATION BILL. 

Clause 4. On arrival in any port of New South Wales of any ship having any 
"male" Chinese on board before any such "male" Chinese are permitted to 
land and before making any entry the master shall pay to the Collector of 
Customs a rate of Ten Pounds for every such "male" Chinese and no entry 
shall be deemed to have been legally made or to have any legal effect whatso-
ever until such payment shall have been made and upon the payment of the 
before-mentioned rate by the Master of any ship the Collector of Customs or 
other authorized Officer shall deliver to each "male" Chinese passenger a 
parchment Certificate which shall bear on the face of it the date of delivery 
the name of Chinese the signature of Collector of Customs and all other 
matters which the Government shall deem necessary and if any Master shall 
neglect to pay such rate aforesaid or shall land or permit any such "male" 
Chinese to land at any part in New South Wales before any such payment 
shall have been made and with the intent of evading the payment of any such 
rate such Master shall upon conviction be liable to a penalty not exceeding 
"Twenty" Pounds for each "male" Chinese so lauded or permitted to land 
in addition to the amount of such "rate" and in every such case in addition 
to the pecuniary fine hereby imposed upon the Master the ship shall be 
forfeited and may be seized condemned and disposed of in the same manner 
as ships forfeited for a breach of any law relating to the Customs of the 
Colony.—(Read.) 

And, the Clause having been amended by omitting the word "male" three several 
times,— 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Lucas.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Afr. Patton.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 4. 	 Noes, 20. 

Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Piddington,j Tellers.  

Mr. Wcekes, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
AR. Love, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
AR. Terry, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Markham, 

Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Atonic°, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hannon, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lucas, 	I Tellers. Mr. Delgleish, 

 

 

FRIDAY, 5 APRIL, MM. 

No. 11. 
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No. 11. 
And the Clause having been further amended by twice omitting the word" male,"— 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be inserted before the words "twenty" 

the words "one hundred pounds nor less than." (Mr. Terry.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 25. 	 Noes, 3. 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Piddington, } Teller,. Mr. Limas, 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Hoskins, } Tellers. 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Markham, 

No. 12. 

No. 13. 

And the Clause having been further amended by omitting the word " male "— 
Question proposed— 

	

,That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. 	(Mr. 
Lucas.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "rate," down to the end 
of the Clause, be omitted. (Mr. Redman.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 21. 	 Noes, 6. 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Mate, 	I Talon. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the 
Bill. (Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 22. 	 Noes, 4. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Weekcs, 	Mr. Cummings, 	 Mr. Mate, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Wituleyer, Mr. 3Ieston, 	 Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dalgleish, } Tellers. 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Lucas, 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Dalg,leish, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Lucas, 1. Tellers. 
Mr. Sutherland, 

Tellers. 

No. 14. 
Same Bill. 

Clause 5. No Master of any ship shall be liable for any rate for any female 
Chinese that may arrive in his ship and the Master of any ship in which such 
female Chinese may arrive shall be entitled to the remission of any rate which 
he is required to pay under this Act for the one male Chinese under whose 
protection such female Chinese may arrive Provided the male Chinese be the 
father or husband of the female Chinese.—(Read.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. 
(Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 4. 	 Noes, 21. 

Mr. Atkinson, 	 Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Meston, 	 Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Rotten, 	 Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Hoskins, ll Mr. Piddington,} Te ers. 	 Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Gray, 

Mr. Love, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. J. T. Ryan,} Tenors.  
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Stewart, 

No. 15 



Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekos, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Allen, 

Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr, Paisley, 
Mr. Markham, 
Dlr. Parkes, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Dalgleish, } Tellers. Mr. Lucas, 
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No. 15. 
Same Bill. 

Clause 6. Any "male' Chinese who shall come into this Colony by land front 
any other of the Australian Colonies or elsewhere shall pay into the hands 
of the Registrar nearest the place where such Chinese entered the Colony 
the sum of " Fifteen" Pounds and if any Chinese shall neglect or try to 
evade the payment longer than may be necessary to go from the place where 
he entered the Colony to the nearest Registrar he shall be liable to a penalty 
of any sum not less than "Fifteen" Pounds nor exceeding " Twenty-five" 
" Pounds" and in default of immediate payment to be imprisoned for any 
period not less than three nor exceeding six months.—(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended by omitting the word " male",— 
Notion made and Question put,--That the first blank "Fifteen" be filled by inserting 

the word " Fifteen." (Mr. Lucas.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 20. 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Sutherland, 

Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Parkas, 
Mr. Paisley, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr ' 	Tellers. Mr. Lucas, 

And the Committee having continued to sit until after Midnight,— 
SA TURDA F., 6 APRIL, 1861, A. M. 

No. 16. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekos, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Love, 
,Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Cunneen, 

Noes, 4. 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Rotten, 	I Tellers. Mr.Piddington, 

No. 17. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the second blank "Fifteen" be filled by 
inserting the word "Fifteen." (Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 20. 

Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
11D. Cowper, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Werkes, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Buchanan, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Peislcy, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Lay-cock, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Dalgleish, I Tellers. Mr. Cummings, Mr. Lucas 

Motion made and Question put,—That the third blank " Twenty-five" be filled 
by inserting the word "Twenty-five." (Mr. Lucas.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 20. 

Noes, 5. 
Mr. 'Weston, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Pidding-ton, } Tellers. 

Noes, 4. 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Rotten, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Piddington, 

No. 18. 
Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 

Lucas.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "Pounds" to the end 

of the Clause be omitted. (Mr. Rot/on.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 23. Noes, 3. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Weekcs, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Laycock, 

Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Rotton, 

I Teuere.  

Mr. Cunneen. 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Paisley, 	Mr. Lucas, 

}, Tellers.  

Mr. Cummings, 
Clause, as amended, carried. 
Progress reported,--to sit again. 

(Price, 2d.] 
	 Sydney; Thomas Richards, Gosarnmentrrluter.-1861. 
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1861: 

RegiotatiUt geoembIp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 11, 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES) . 

SESSION OF 1861. 

TUESDAY, 9 APRIL, 1861, 
NO. 1. 

CATTLE DISEASE PREVENTION BILL OF 1801. 
Clause 1. It shall be lawful for the Governor with the advice of the Executive 

Council by Proclamation to prohibit the importation or introduction into the 
Colony or into any Port thereof either wholly or from any " others' place "by 
name" and for any specified time of any horned Cattle and to authorize the 
destruction of any such Cattle as may be introduced contrary to such " pro-
hibition."—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Heston.) 
And the Clause having been amended, in line 9, by substituting the word " speqfied" 

for the word " other," and by omitting the words "by name,"— 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be added, after the word "prohibition;' 

the following words—" for the purpose of preventing the introduction of any 
"infectious or contagious disease among the Cattle of the said Colony." 
(Mr. Hart.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 2. 	 Noes, 33. 

Mr. Rotten, Te llers. 	 Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Markham, 

Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. .J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Lckford, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Hay, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Dalglcish, Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Windeycr, Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. lloskins, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Morris, 	Ira's,  
Mr. Layeoek,  

Muse, as amended, put and carried. 

WEDNESDAY, 10 AP.RIL, 1861. 
No. 2. 

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL BILL or 1861. 
Clause 17. Immediately after such Election of President and before proceeding to 

any other business the Legislative Council shall determine by Lot the order 
in which the names of the seicral Members shall be entered upon a Lit to be 

' 217— 	 called 

• 
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called The "Members' Roll" and at the end of Two years from the date of 
such determination and thereafter at the end of every succeeding Second year 
the " Ten" Members first on such .Roll shall vacate their seats and Ten 
Members shall be elected to supply such vacancies who shall immediately 
after taking their seats be plaeccbat the foot of such Roll in the order to be 
then also determined by Lot and in every case of a single Member elected to 
fill any vacancy his name Shall be planed last on the Members' Roll Provided 
that every Member going out in rotation or by reason of his accepting any 
office of profit under the Crown shall if not disqualified be capable of re-
election as a Member of the Legislative Council and of being placed at the 
foot of the said Roll—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Afr. 
Cowper.)  

Amendment proposed,—That the word " Ten" be omitted with the view of 
inserting the word " Fifteen." .(Mr. Hoskins.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 30. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Athol& ' Mr. Baked; 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Blake, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Laycoelt, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Morris._ 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Rottou,, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dray, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Caldwell, - Tellers.  
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. McArthur, f 

Noes, 11. 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Bayer, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Dalg/eish, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Hoskins, 1 Tellers, Mr. Lucas, 

And the following further proviso having been added, viz. :—" And provided 
" that every Member elected to fill any vacancy occasioned by  death resignation 
" or other extraordinary cauee shall be placed on the said Roll in the order in 
" which the Member creating such vacancy stood at the time of its occurrence,"— 

clause, as amended, carried. 
No. B. 

Sanit Bill. 
Clause 18. The presence of at least " Ten" Members of the Legislative Council 

shall he necessary for despatch of business And every question shall be 
decided by the majority of votes of the Members present exclusive of the 
President Provided that in case of equality of votes he shall decide the same 
by his casting vote.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Cowper.) 

And exception being taken to the blank " 
Motion made and Question put,—That the blank " Ten" be filled by inserting 

therein the word " Twelve." (Mr. Cowper.) 
Committee divided. 	• 

Ayes, 28. 	 Noes: 10.. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Blake. 	 Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Wilson, 	 I 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. RueInman, 	 Mr. Alcatel], 
Mr. Stuart, 	Mr. Suttor, 	 Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Daworth, 	Mr. Laycook, 	 Mr. Terry_ 
Mr. McArthur, , Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Marl:bum, Mr. Gray, 	 Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Hosbibs, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. [lotion, 	 Mr. Hay, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Egan, 	. Mr. Douglas, 	 Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. "...N. Ryan, Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Love, 

No. 4. 
Same Bill. 

Clause 23. All the enactments of the Constitution Act relating to the Legislative 
Council as constituted thereunder except as repealed or varied hereby shall 
apply to the Legislative Council as constituted under this Act And the said 
Council shall except as herein otherwise enacted possess and may exercise all 
the powers vested in the Legislative Council by the said Constitution " Act." 
—Read. 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Cowper.) 

} Tellers. , 

Motion 
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Motion made and Question put,—lhat there be added,cafter the word "Act," at the 
end of the Clause, the following proviso :—" Provided nevertheless that the . e: 
" said Legislative Council shall be• precluded from amending (otherwise than 
" verbally) any Bill for appropriating any part of the Public Revenue or for 
"the imposing of any rate Or tax." (Mr.:Mak:ins) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 20. 	 Noes, 25. 

Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mt Love, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Cunneen, 

Mr. Eelctbrd, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
'Mr. Hannan, Tellers. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Daniel, 

Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. 'Aycock, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Haworth 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Hart, 

.Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr- Egan, ' Mr. Sutter, 1 Tellers. 

THURSDAY, 11 APRIL, 1861. 

No. 5. 
INSOLVENCY COMMISSIONERS BILL or 1861. 

Clause 1. The Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates shall hold his office during 
ability and good behaviour and shall he paid an annual salary not less than 
the sum of " which" sum shall not be diminished during the 
continuanee of such person in the office of Chief CorathissiOner of Insolvent 
"Estates" But it shall he lawful for the Governor with the advice of the 
Executiee 'Council to remove' any such Commissioner for inability:yr Mb- 

: behaviour , Provided that. twelaty-one days at the least before such removal 
thetOnimiesioner shall have notice of the Intention to remove him and that 
he shall thereafter and before removal have the opportunity of being heard 
before the Governor and " Council" in his defence.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the.blaule in the third line be filled by inserting the 
words twelve hundred pounds.' (Mr. Cowper.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Mr. Rotten.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 2. 	 Noes, 27. 

Mr. Rotton, 	} Tellers. Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Weelses, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr.. Windeyer, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Hoy, 	Mr. Sutter, 

Mr. Mate, Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Stowell, 	Mr. Henna, 1 Tellers. Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Layeock, 

 

Motion made and Question put,—That the blank be filled by inserting the words 
"twelve hundred pounds." (MC% Cowper.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 11. 	 Noes, 19. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Smart, Mr. Hanna 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. WeChOH, 	Mr. Morris, 	/ l'ellers. 1 Mr. Cummings, Mr. Lap:sick. 
Mr. O'Brien, 	 i Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. McArthur, 

	

1 Mr. Dalgleisb, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Allen, 	 Mr. Dick„ 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Holroyd, 	 Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Hay, 	 . ?dr. Terry, ' 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Buchanan, ' 	 I Mr. Stewart 	Mr. Bottom, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Wilson, 	 I Mr. Lesley; 	Mr. Windeyer, 

3R. Raper, 
Clause, after being amended by insert ng in the blank the words ane thousand 

pounds,—by omitting all thnords thereafter, down to the 200.d "Estates," 
inclusive, and by inserting before the word es Cow,cir the word "Executive," 
carried. 

No. 6. 

FRIDAY, 
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FRIDAY, 12 APRIL, 1861. 
No. 7. 

CHINESE IMMIGRATION REGULATION BILL. 
Clause 13. In any proceedings under this Act evidence that any " person " arrived 

in New South Wales from c hina or its Dependencies or any of the Islands of 
the Chinese Seas shall be sufficient proof unless the contrary be shewn that 
such person is a Chinese within the meaning of this Aet.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Lucas.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That there be inserted after the word "person," 

the words "speaks the Chinese language and conforms to their habits and 
manners." (Mr. Dick.) . 

Committee divided. 

	

Ayes, 8. 	 Noes, 26. 

	

. Mr. Caldwell, 	 Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Wcekes, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Terry, Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Paisley, 	 Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Parkes, 	 Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Hay, 	 Mr. IIolreyd, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dick., 	I Tll 	 Mr. Cummings, Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	eers. 	 Mr. Love, Mr. C. Cowper, 

Mr. T. Garrett, 	jUnr., 
Mr. anne I, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Egan, 	I. Tellers. 
Mr. Buchanan, 

No. 8. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 19. 
Mr. Haunch, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Douglas, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Nr. Dick, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Ciddvrell, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Holroyd, 	I Tellers. Mr. Winileyer, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mx. Paisley, 

Clause (13) be postponed. 	(Mc. Parkes.) 

Noes, 14, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Rotten, 	Mr. hay, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Egan, }Tellers. Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. hIeston, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Sutter, 

No. 9. 
Same Bill. 

Clause 14. The Certificate mentioned in the sixth section of the Act, of Council 
eleventh Vietoria number thirty-nine shall not "hereafter" be issued or granted 
to any Chinese within the meaning of this Act.—(Read.) 

Question proppsed,— That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Lucas.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word "hereafter" be omitted, with the view of 

inserting the words "after twelve months from the passing of this Act." 
(Mr. Love.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

1. 

Ayes, 19. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Hannon. 

,Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. C. Cowper, 	Mr. Cunneen, 

Mr. Terry, 
Hoskins, 	Mr. Allen, 

Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Fokford, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 1Tellers. 
Mr. Peisley, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 

Noes, 10. 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Caldwell, 

Tellers.  
f 

No. 10. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Clause (14), as read, stand part of 

the Bill. (ilh.. Lucas.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 22. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Hanna 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mn Cummings, Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Parkas, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. McArthur, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr.. C. Coatper, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	junr., 
Mr. Peisley, 

Tellers. 

Noes, 7. 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Caldwell, Tellers.  

No, 11. 



Regulation" be inserted in the 
and Registration." 

Noes, 8. 
Mr. Morton, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Parkes. 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Peisley, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Lesley, } Tellers. 
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No. 11. 	- 
Same Bill. 

Clause 15. This Act shall come into operation from and after the first day of 
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one and may be cited as the " Chinese 
Tmmigration 'and Registration' Act of 1861." 

And the Clause having been amended by filing the blank by the insertion of the 
word " October", and the omission of the words " and Registration" with a 
view of inserting in their place the word " Regulation,"—d point of Order 
arose as to the right of offering an Amendment to the Question for inserting 
the word " Regulation" in the blank created by the omission of the words 
" and Registration." 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
and teport the point of Order to the House. (Hr. Dalgleish.) 

Ayes, 10. 	 Noes, 21. 
Sir. Arnold, 	 Mr. Weckes. 	Mr. McArthur, 
Sir. Cummings, 	 Mr. Love, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Gray. 	 Mr. Merton, 	Mr. Peislcy, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	 Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Douglas. 	 Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. I,esley, 	 Mr. Hannah!, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Rothm, 	 Mr. 'Perry, 	Mr. Eekford, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	 Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Allen, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 1 ,I,ellers. 	 Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Lewis, 	/ Tellers. M D r. aigle's!), j 	 Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Hoskins, 

Mr. Parkes, 
No. 13. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the word " 
blank created by the omission of the words " 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 23.* 

Sir, Weekes, 	Mr, Hannah, 
Sir. Hoskins, 	Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Cunneen, Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Love, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Sir. Arnold, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Balgleish, 	.r  

Mr. Terry, 	Mr. T. Garrett, J c ers' 
• Only 22 Names enumerated in Tellers' 

Clause, as amended, carried. 
List. 

No. 13. 
Postponed Clause. 

13. In any proceedings under this Act evidence that any "person arrived in 
" New South Wales from China or its Dependencies or any of the Islands of 
" the Chinese Seas" shall be sufficient proof unless the contrary be shewn that 
such person is a Chinese within the meaning of this "Aet."—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Jib.. Lucas.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word " person " down to the 

word "seas" inclusive be omitted, with the view of inserting the words "is 
by general repute known as a Chinese." (Mr. Windeyer.) 

And the Question—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the 
Clause—having been resolved in the negative,— 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 30. 	 Noes, 4.  
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr Lesley, 
Sir. Weekes, 	Mr. Layeock, 	 Mr. Mesten, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Holroyd, 	 Mr. Blake, 
Mr, T. Garrett, Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Dahrleish, 	Mr. Hart. 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Eckford, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. McArthur, Sir. Parkes, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Hoskins. 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Stewart 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Wintleyer, Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Hamad!, 	Mr. Cunneen, 	Tellers. 

And the Clause having been further amended by adding after the word "Act," 
at the end thereof, the following proviso :—" Provided always that any person 
" maliciously and without reasonable and probable cause taking any pro-
" ceedings under this Act against any person as a Chinese such person not 
" being a Chinese shall be guilty of a misdemeanour,"— 

Clause, as amended, carried. 

Sydney: Thomas Mellon's, GoTernmentrilictor.-1861. 

I Tellers. 

[Price, 2d.] 
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1861. 

AcgtelatOic assoemblv. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 12. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRA CITED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1881. 

WEDNESDAY,. 17 APRIL, 1861. 
No. 1. 

SUPPLY—A DDITIONAL ESTIMATES, 1861. 
Pension. 

Motion made and Question put,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, for the 
year 1861, a sum not exceeding £196 Os. 7d., to defray additional 
charge for Pensions not provided for by Schedule B to Schedule (No. 1) of the 
Act of the Imperial Parliament, 18 and 19 Viet., cap. 54, being Pension to 
II. II. Browne, late Agent for Immigration. (Mr. Coupes.) 

Committee divided. 

No. '2. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Week-es, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Fleet, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Lackey. 
Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Hay, 

Ayes, 14. 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Markham, / Te ll Mr. McArthur, )  

Noes, 19. 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. .1. Garrett, 
Mr. Park- es, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Moston, 	Mr. Lucas, 	I Tellers.  
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Raper, 

Miscellaneous Services. 
Question proposed,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, a sum not exceeding 

£1,408, to defray additional charge for Miscellaneous Services, for the year 
1861 (being less than original Estimate by item £165 withdrawn), for 
enlargement of Enclosure to Cricket Ground in Outer Domain. (Mr. Cowper.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item £208, for compensation to Mr. 
H. Danger, for fencing road passing through his land at Singleton, be 
omitted. 	(Mr. Bolton.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 10. 

Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Atkinson, 

Rotten, 
Mr. Dickson, Tellers. Mr. Dick, 

233— 

Noes, 25. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Week-es, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Gray, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Laycoelt, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	junr., 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. nett, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Hannell, } Tellers. 

No. 3. 
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No. 3. 
Motion made and Question put,—That the item £210, for the examination of the 

Sboalhaven and Snowy Rivers as to fitness for propagation of Salmon, be 
omitted. (AR Dalg 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 11. 

Mr. Cowl: , r, 
Mr. Weft:SUB. 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Af(i nom, 
Mr. Diel 
Nr. 
.11r. Bur.adfla, 
Ns. Rortmi. 
Mr. 0 - 13rien, 
Mr. It -„, LI, Tduan  

tRiate, us rropost.1, rorried. 
No. 4. 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLW WORKS. 

titila p ,fied,—That there he grantLd t • fief Maidav, :...daa not in •. ding 
Ea89 , td delny additional charde for ddi 'tie, and contingencka of the 
D.:par-Anent of PalaUe W urlis, for the year l 

Muria.: mad- 	..tin put,— Th.d 	.050, utiz.g eidf di to Hat) of 
Chief Clerk, be omitttd (Mf. Da/I,-:A.) 

Conanittt 

	

Ayes, U. 	 Noes, 26. 
Mr. Lewis, 

Prrl.. c. 
Mr. Wiadry: r, 
Mr. 
ale. Lot 

Mr. NI: Cif en, Mr. Hick, 
Mr. Drfv,.1, 
Mr. Cumming), 	jun f 
Mr. (le:Inc.:a, 	Mr. Dania, 
Mr. Ti-my, 	( :pt Moriarty, T  
Mr. Lle Mull, 	Mr. Walker. 	i 	"rs ' 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 

E., flood. , as pro' cd, C(0 riSK 

No. 5 
a la Se reic 

Question propo cd,—Tkat there he granted to Her Majesty, a sum not execedin ‘ t 
C204, to di-fray edditional charge for 3f6aellaneuta 8ervieer, for the fret' 
1801, Cir. An. 41) 

And the Committee continuing to :it until after Midnight,— 

THURSDA Y, 18 APRIL, 1861, A.m. 

Motion made and Question put,'—That- 	item 42252, for pa•side to England of 
Captain Nartiudnle it/A1 family, be owittcd. Qtr. il'odrs A) 

Commit: a divided. 
Ayer. 14. 	 Nor., 

"'tr. Pi:  
Mr. 	, 	Mr. L Thy, 
Mr. Sid!,  rl :ad, Mr. IL (tr.o, 
jr. IL 	. 	Mr. Le, 
NI%  1101,evo, 	Mr. D Iblcaso, 

P 
11, . Win yr: 
Mr. One: e, 
Mr. L lyeuelt, 

N Cowl) ,r, 
Mr. \V re fdes. 
Mr. Alaaki, 
Mr. C:ferliWt.' 
Mr. ACCill•slil• 
MU. 	ISI"7 11, 
Mr. J. Correll, 
Ni. S. Ater, 
Mr. Caldwell, 

Mr. oi• ly, 
Mr. Cuune,m, 
sir. Bock:wan, 
Mr. N.Irric, 
Me, lit•si,:, 

} Mr. C. C r owr, , 
loon, 	fellers. 

'Jr. Dick, 

Noes, 24. 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Markham, 
Capt. Moriarty. Mr. i lett, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Ilerj‘ins, 
Mr. Piddingtun, Mr. (fray, 
Mr. Wit on, 	Mr. L: :dy, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Wintleyor, Mr. -Jcp. r, 

P at:5, 	Mr. 1..ekry, 
Mr. -11-:te, 	Mr. if Iroyd, 
Mr. St iv sit. 	Mr. L y, ork, 
Mr. SIOtherk.31::: Mr. (' •nonines, 
llr. J. Gen) cc, Mr. hick, 

/ fellers. 

Mr. Co ,  per, 	Mr. Itorren, 
Mr. We lc: t, 	Mr. dickey. 
Mt. A( nold. 	Mr. Flehryd, 

M .rri( 
Mu M: to, 	Mr. C' delve 
Mr. Sr: "ran, 	Mr. ( ray, 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item be reducel to one shilling. 
&skins.) 

Committee divided. 

No 6 

Ayes, 17. 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr.J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Tfeyeuck, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Lesley, 

Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Dald° 	Tellers. leish 
Mr. Lucas, 

Noes, 17. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. W eekcs, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	junr., 
Mr. Nett, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 1 Tellers. 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Dick, 

Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Harwell, 

The 
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The numbers on either side being equal, the Chairman gave his casting vote with 
the Noes, assigning as his reason for so voting, that the Committee would have 
an opportunity of again dealing with this item when considering the Annual 
Appropriation Bill. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the item be reduced by .C251 Hs (Mr. 
Tiriodeyer.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 16. 	 Noes, 18. 

Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Satin:thud, 
Mr. Flo drins, 
Mr. Windoyer, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. ffolroyd, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. ffammli, 

Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Ryan, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Dul l ;kith, 	Tellers 3Ir. Wilson, 

' Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr Ellett, 
Mr. Wdwell, 
'Jr. Cunateu, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Gray, 

Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr, Morris, 
Mr. Sumo; 
Mr. C. Cowper, 

junr., 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Atkinson ' } Mo. J. Garrett, 

No. 7. 

No. 8. 

No, 9. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman du now leave the Chair, 
resort progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mr. Parkes.) 

Committee divided. 
Ajet, 16. 

•Mr. Sutherland, Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Dolgleith, Mr. Pichlimion, 
Mr. Lusioy, 	Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Huildna, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Lewis. 
Mr. Pridice, 
Mr. Ilolroyd, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
31r. Hannell, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Layitock, 

Motion made and Question put,—That 
(Me. Lyme.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 12, 

Mr. Sutiodlend, Mr. Wilson, 	I 
Mr. I. shy, 	Mr. Dalgloish, f Te llers. 
Mr. Windeyor, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Rued 4, 
Mr. Lo youth, 
Mr. d. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Tiddin ;i ton. 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Hutkins, 

Noes, 20. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Walktr, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Atkinson, Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. O'Brioa, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Driver, 	Stator, 
Mr. d. 	rr ett , Mr. Daniel, 
Mx. Cummings, Mr. Celdwell, 
Mr. Flett, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Cvnincen, 

Tellers. 

Progrt,v :otttetptottly reported —to sit again. 
No. 10. 

COMMISSIONER AT NEWCASTLE APPOINTMENT BILL. 

The f Poring 'T. -rote, from the Legislative Council, having been road :— 
" MR. SPEAKER. 

" The Logi:dal:lye Council dissgrecs to the Amendments made by the 
" Legislative Assembly in she Bill, intitinad 	 cuthorizt the cippvi.tt- 
4,  meat of a 	 issue {Veils of Sunarmv.I.4 cui-d A:71:4 (It Cl; 
" Poet sf Krawistle,' for the following reasons :— 

"Lt. Becamc, with the exceptiou of Sydney, Newesiatle, being .he only 
Port of Entry and Clearanee in the Colony or veisels arriving in .:nd 

" depirting therefrom, is largely reeDrted to, and debts ire Mourn 3 there, by 
writers of vessals and others connected therewith, which are not dischirved, 

" through the facilities of evading payment afforded by the opportunity of 
" leaving the Port after Clearance, and, therefore, a practical and urgent 
" necessity exists for the passing of such a measure as the present in reference 
" to that Port ; whereas no such necessity, as far as this Council is aware, 

• " exists in reference to other places. 
" 2nd. Because the measure is an experimental one, of great importance, 

" and it is desirable to see the effects of its operation at Newcastle (a place 
" where grievances now exist for want of such a law), before extending it to 
" other parts of the Colony where no such grievances, as far as this Council 
" is aware, exist. 

" 3rd. And further, as regards the proposed extension of the measure 
" to Albury, because, that being an inland border town, such a provision 
"would there be impracticable for any useful purpose. 
" Legislative Council Chamber, 	 "W. W. BURTON, 

" Sydney, 17 April, 1861." 	 "President." 
Question 

Noes, 20. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Atkins-n, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Flat, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	jour., 
Mr. Driver, 	Me. Daniel, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Cummings, ' T Mr. Walker, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Me. J. N. Ryan, 

the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
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Question proposed,—That the Committee agrees to the following resolution :— 
Resolved, That this Committee does not insist upon the amendments made by 
the Legislative Assembly in the Bill, intituled " An Act to authorize the 
" appointment of a Commissioner to issue Writs of Summons and Arrest at 
"the Port of Newcastle." (Mr. Walsh.) ....., -., 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Mr. Hart.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 9. 	 Noes, 26. 

Mr. Delp:leis'', 	 Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Love, 	 Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Paisley, 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Meston, 	 Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	 Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Windeyer 	 Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Dickson, T 	 Mr. Henna', 	Mr. J. N. Ryan, e ers. } 	ll Mr. Egan, 	 Mr. McArthur, Mr. O'Brien, 

Mr. Cummings, Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Mate, I Tellers. Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Walsh, 

Resolution 7.eported. 

Sydney : Thorns; Richards, Government Printer.--136L 

[Price, id.] 
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not exceeding £14,700, to defray 
Cowper.) 

Noes, 3. 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Lucas, } Tellers. 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 13. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. . 
(EXTRA TED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

WEDNESDAY, 24 APRIL, 1861. 

NO. 1. 
SUPPLY—ADDDITIONAL ESTIMATES, 1861. 

Miscellaneous Services. 
Motion made and Question put,— That the item £252, for passage to England of 

Captain Martindale and family, be reduced by £251 10s. , (Mr. Lucas.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 99. 	 Noes, 7. 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morrie°, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Lesley, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. 'Terry, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Morton, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dickson, 

Mr. Leary, 	• 
Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Hangar, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Bottom, 
Mr. J. Garrett, Telle rs.  

	

Mr. Tialgleish, 	f  

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Smart, 	} Moms,Tellers Mr. 	 , 

No. 2: 
PUBLIC WORKS.. 

Motion made and Question put,—That there be 
year 1861, to be provided for by Loan, a sum 
Additional Charge for Public Works. (Mr. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 22. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Hangar, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. J. Garrett, Mr. Piddington, 
Capt. Moriarty, Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Dalgleish, } Mars, Mr. Lesley, 	Mr. Morris, 

259— I'll-UR SD A 17, 
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THURSDAY, 25 APRIL, 1861. 

NO. 3. 
COAL FIELDS REGULATION BILL, 1861. 

Clause 17. The costs of every arbitration under this Act shall be defrayed and paid 
by the owners of the respective Collieries to which such arbitrations "relate." 
—(Read) 

Motion made and Question put, That there be added, after the word "relate," the 
words "or by the Government as the arbitrators may award." (if,. Redman.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 8. 	 Noes, 22. 

Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Irving, 
Mr. Hoskins, Tellers. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Flat, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Sutton 
Mr. Danger, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	ME. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. T. Garrett, I T ua a  
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Windeyer, I e   

  

And the Bill having been recommitted,— 

Clause 27. The wages of every person employed in every Colliery shall be " paid 
by his immediate employer to such person or his duly authorized repre-
sentative in money and not otherwise at an office and at fixed times to be 
determined for that purpose by the Special Rules for each Colliery And such 
office shall not be contiguous to any house where spirits wine beer or other 
spirituous liquors are sold And every owner or agent or such employer who 
shall pay or permit to be paid any wages to any person in his employ contrary 
to this enactment shall for every such Offence be liable to a penalty not 
exceeding Ten pounds.—(Read.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That there be inserted after the word "paid," 
the words "weekly in full." (.1fr. Buchanan.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 2. 	 Noes, 37. 

No. 4 

Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Buchanan, Tellers.  

Clause, as read, carried. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr, Hoskins, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Walsh,. 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Windever, 	Mr. Laveock, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Raton, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Mortice, 	Mr. Mate, }  Mr. Douglas. 	Mr. Morris, 	Tellers.  
Mr. T. Garrett, 

No 5. 
APPROPRIATION BILL, 1860-61. 

Motion made and Question put,—That out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund 
there shall and may be issued and applied, for the service of the year 1861, 
any sum or sums of money not exceeding £3,538 is. lid,, to supplement 
the Schedule to Schedule (I.) to the Act of the Imperial Parliament 18 and 
19 Victoria, chap. 54. (Mr. fireek-e8.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 18. 	 Noes, 12. 

Mr, Cowper, 	Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Mate, 

• Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Caldwell, 'Fellers. Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Walsh, 

Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lucas, 

Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Piddington,l Tellers. Mr. Hoskins, 

FRIDAY, 
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FRIDAY, 20 APRIL, 1861. 
No. 6. 

PROPOSED WHARF AT SHET.LHARROUR. 
Question proposed,—That the Committee agree to the following Resolution :— 

Resolved, That an Address be presented to the Administrator of the Govern-
ment, praying that His Excellency will be pleased to cause to be placed upon 
the Supplewentary Estimates for 1801, a sum uot exceeding X" 7" 00, for 
the purpose of constructing a Wharf at Shellharbour. (Mr. they.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the figure " 7 " be omitted, with the view of inserting 
the figure "2" in its stead. (Mr. Arnold.) 

Question put,—That the figure proposed to be omitted stand part of the Resolution. 
Committee divided 

Ayes, 35. Noes, 12. 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Windt:3'er, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Puisley, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. .1. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Cunneen, 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Mortice, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Rusden, } Tellers. 

Mr. Hulroyd, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Hutton, 
Mr. Heft, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Morris, Tellers. 
Mr. Douglas, 
Resolution, as read, agreed to. 

No 7. 
AssiS'rED IMMIGRATION. 

Question proposed,—That the Committee agree to the following Resolution (Hr. 
Rotton):—Re:iolved, That an Address be presented to His Excellency the 
Administrator of the Government, requesting that the sum of 450,000 may 
be placed upon the Supplementary Estimates for 1861, to be expended in 
promoting Assisted Immigration to this "Colony ". 

Motion made and Question put,—That there be added after the word " Colony," the 
words " from the Mother Country in proportion to the number of the Colonists 
who are natives of Great Britain, Ireland, and New South Wales respectively. 
(M'. Dolgteish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 4. 

1Slr. Redman, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dalgleish, t Tellers.  
Mr. Wilson, 	I 

Noes, 40. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Layenek, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Terry, 	M. Hart, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Sattnr, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr..Peisley, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. M rrice, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	Mr. Bolton, 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Morris, } Tellers ' 

No. 8. 
Original Resolution put. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 35. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 	Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Pcisley, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Allen, 

Tellers. 

Noes, 7. 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Wilson, 

Tellers.  
j 

No. 9. 
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No. 9. 
PROPOSED PENSION TO LADY MITCHELL. 

Question proposed,—That the Committee agree to the following Resolution :— 
Resolved, That an Address be presented to the Administrator of the Govern-
ment, requesting that His Excellency would he pleased to cause to be placed 
on the Supplementary Estimates for 1861, the sum of £200, as a Pension to 
Lady Mitchell, widow of the late Sir Thomas Mitchell, Surveyor General of 
New South Wales, in consideration of the eminent services rendered by him 
to the Colony in his official capacity. (ilfr. Irving.) 

Debate ensued. 

And the Committee continuing to sit until after Midnight,— 

SATURDAY, 27 APRIL, 1861, A.M., 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Tuesday next. (Mr. Dalgleisk.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 7. 	 Noes, 21. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Wcekes, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr' 'Perry,1.  Tellers, Mr, Dalgleish, 

No. 10. 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Irving, 
111r. Cummings, Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Sutherland, } Tell ers. Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Shepherd, 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Mr. Lewis.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 6. 	 Noes, 22. 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Dalgleish, } Tellers. Mr. Lewis, 

No. 11. 

Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Love, Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Morris,  Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Windeyer, I Tellers ' 

Original Resolution put. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 17. 	 Noes, 8. 
Ur. O'Brien, 	Mr. Mackay, 	 Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Rodman, 	Mr. Irving, 	 Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. :Reston, 	 I 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Walsh, 	 I 	Mr. Lemy, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Caldwell, Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	1 	Mr. Dickson, — 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Wilson, 1 	 . 1 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Bangor, 	Mr. Morris, 	Tellers 	 Mr. Driver, 	} Tellers. 
Mr. Daniel, 
Resolution reported. 

dney : Thomas Richards, Government Printer.-1561. 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 14. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRACTED FROM THE MINUTES.) 

SESSION OF 1861. 

WEDNESDAY, I MAY, 1861. 
No. 1. 

OLD FIELDS BILL, 1861. 
Clause 3. The Governor may with the advice of the Executive Council declare by 

Proclamation in the Gazette any Crown Lands to be Gold Fields within the 
meaning and for the purposes of this Act and may by the same or any other 
Proclamation declare any such Gold Fields or any portions thereof from year 
to year to be open to "Aliens" as hereinafter "provided ".—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Cowper.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the word " Aliens " be omitted, with the view of 

inserting in its stead, the word " Chinese." (Mr. 7'. Garrett.) 
Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 10. 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Neches, 
Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Morrie; 
Mr. Doughls,1 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Dalgleish,
Mr. Walsh, } Tellers. 

Noes, 24. 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. J. 1. Ryan, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Mcston, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Hannon, Tellers. 

No. 2. 
(Same Bill.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be inserted be so inserted. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 19. 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Danger, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Buchanan, 

} Tellers. 

Noes, 17. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Monice, 	Mr. Piddiugton, 
Mr. Walker, 	Douglas. 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Gray, 

I Tellers. 

297—A • 	 No. 3. 
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No. 3. 
(Same Bill.) 

Question proposed,—That Clause 3, as amended, stand part of the 	(Afk 
Cowper.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the following proviso be added after the word 
" provided," at the end of the clause, viz. :—" Provided that Chinese shall 
" not be excluded from any Gold Field which may after the passing of this Act 
" be discovered solely by Chinese." (Mr. Morris.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be added be so added. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 13. 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Terry, 

Tellers. 

Noes, 13. 
Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Lewis, 	- 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Cummings, 

Tellers. 

The Chairman gave his casting vote with the Noes. 
Nu 4. 

(Same Bill.) 
Question proposed,—That Clause 3, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 

Cowper.) 
Amendment proposed,—That the following proviso be added, after the word 

" provided," at the end of the Clause, viz. :—" Provided that such Gold Fields 
" or portions thereof so declared open to Chinese shall be for their exclusive 
"use for the period expressed in such Proclamation or until voluntary 
"abandonment thereof which ever shall first happen and none other than 
" Chinese shall be allowed to exercise the rights of miners on such Gold 
"Fields so set apart for Chinese occupation." (Mr. Redman.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be added be so added. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 2. 
Mr. Redman, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Piddington, 

Noes, 25. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. \ Veekes, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr, Walker, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Danger, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Lewis, 

} Tellers. 

Clause, as amended, read and carried. 
No. 5. 

(Same .Bill) 
Clan. e 4. The Governor with the advice aforesaid shall subject to the provisions of 

this Act and the Regulations to be made hereunder cause a " Miner's Right" 
to be granted to " any" British subject or naturalized subject of Her 
"Majesty" applying for the same between the first of January and the 
thirtieth of June upon payment of a fee of twenty shillings and after the last 
mentioned day in any year upon payment of a fee of ten shillings.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill, (Mr. 
Cowper.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "any" down to the 
word " Majesty" inclusive, be omitted, with the view of inserting in their 
stead, the word "person." (Mr. Dickson.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 2. 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr.Piddington, Tellers.  

} 
Noes, 29. 

Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr, Dickson, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Rustler), 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Redman; 	Mr. Windeyer 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Lucas, 	. 

I Tellers. 

And 



Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Morrie% 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Cunneen, 

Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
14r. Atkinson, 
Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Walsh, 	} Tellers. Mr. Sutherland, 

 

And the Clause having been further amended 
Clause, as amended, carried. 
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And the Clause having been further amended by inserting the word "person" in the 
place of the words omitted, and by the addition at the end thereof of the words 
" Provided that such fee shall during the remainder of the current year be 
"five shillings only." 

Clause, as amended, carried. 
No. 6. 

(Same Bill.) 
Clause 5. Every such "Miner's Right" shall be in force from the date thereof to 

the thirty-first day of December then next and shall during the said period 
authorize the holder to mine for gold upon any " Gold Fields" and to occupy 
(except as against Her Majesty) for the purpose of residence in connection 
with the object of mining so much land as may be prescribed under the 
Regulations aforesaid and every such holder shall during the continuance of 
such Miner's Right be deemed in law to be the owner of the claim which 
shall be occupied by virtue of such Miner's Right and during such continuance 
as aforesaid all gold then being in and upon the said claim shall be deemed in 
law to be the absolute personal property of such "holder."—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Cowper.) 
And the Clause having been amended by omitting the words " Gold Fields", and 

inserting in their stead the words " Waste Lands of the Crown ",—also by 
adding after the word "holder" at the end thereof the following proviso 

Provided always it shall be lawful for the Governor with the advice of the 
" Executive Council by Proclamation to order and declare that such Miner's 
" Right shall only authorize aliens described in such Proclamation to mine for 
" gold upon such Gold Fields or at such places as shall be named in such 
" Proclamation." 

Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 23. 	 Noes, 2. 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Dangar, 

No. 7. 

Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Windoyer, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Laycoek, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Haskins, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Dalgleish, j Tellers. 
Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Hannell, 1 Tellers. Mr.Piddington, 

  

(Same Bill.) 
Clause 6. The Governor with the advice aforesaid may subject to the provisions of 

this Act and the Regulations aforesaid cause a License to be granted to " any " 
British subject or naturalized subject of Her " Majesty" applying for the 
same between the two first mentioned days aforesaid on payment of a fee of 
",five" pounds and after the last mentioned day on payment of a fee of two 
pounds ten shillings " every" which License shall be in force till the then 
next thirty-first day of December and shall authorize the holder to occupy 
Lands for the purpose of carrying on business upon any Gold Field during 
such period.—(Read.) 

And the Clause haring been amended by omitting all the words after the word 
"any" down to the word "Majesty," inclusive, and by inserting in their stead, 
the word "person;' 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. 
Cowper.) 

Amendment proposed,—That the word "foe" be omitted with the view of insert-
ing the word "four." (Mr. Wilson.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 23. 	 Noes, 12. 
Mn Rusden, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Daugar, 
Mn Meston, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dick, Tellers. Mr. Wilson, 

by omitting the word "every,"— 

THURSDAY, 
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No. 8. 

(Same Bill.) 
Clause 8. No alien shall be entitled to a Miner's Right or a Business License but 

the Governor with the advice aforesaid may cause the issue and grant to any 
alien of a Mining Registration Ticket or a Business Registration Ticket 
on his paying fees the same in manner and amount respectively and for the 
like periods as are hereinbefore fixed for a Miner's Right or a Business License 
And such Tickets shall confer upon such aliens all like privileges as are 
conferred under this Act by any Miner's Right or Business License in and 
upon such Gold Fields or portions thereof as may be proclaimed open to aliens 
as hereinbefore provided And every such alien who shall mine for gold or-
become resident on any Gold Field so proclaimed and not possess such a Ticket 
shall be liable on conviction before a Justice of the Peace to a penalty not 
exceeding Five pounds for the first such offence and not exceeding Ten nor 
less than Five pounds for the second and subsequent offences And any Justice 
of the Peace or Police Constable may summarily arrest any alien who shall 
be so found upon any Gold Field without either Mining Registration Ticket 
or a Business Registration Ticket.—(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended so as to read thus :—Every alien not being 
an authorized person who shall mine for gold or become resident on any Gold 
Field without a Miner's Right as aforesaid shall be liable on conviction before 
a Justice of the Peace to a penalty not exceeding Five pounds for the first such 
offence and not exceeding Ten nor less than Five pounds for the second and 
subsequent offences And any Justice of the Peace or Police Constable may 
arrest any alien who shall be so found upon any Gold Field and forthwith take 
Aim before same Justice to be dealt with. 

Question put,—That the Clause, as amended, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Cowper.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 24. 	 Noes, 3. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Hannell, 	 Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Dangar, 	 Mr. Lucas, Tellers. Mr. Dalgleish, Mr. Shepherd, 	 Mr. Piddington, 
Mr, Lewis, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Dick, 	1 Tellers. Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Wilson, 

No. 9. 
(Same Bill.) 

Clause 10. Any person not holding a Mindr's Right " a " Lease or " any Regis-
tration Ticket" under this Act shall not mine for gold or possess any claim 
" or land" on any Gold Field and shall not "work" for any other person 
whether or not the lawful possessor of any such claim "or land" or as partner 
with any such person And every such lawful possessor by whom be shall be 
employed as partner or with whom he shall so work shall absolutely forfeit 
his claim "or land" unless such claim shall be held by virtue of a Business 
License "or Business Registration Ticket" or by a lease in which last-men-
tioned case the Governer may with the advice aforesaid remit such forfeiture.— 
(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended by omitting the letter "a," also by omitting 
the words "any Registration Ticket" and the insertion in their stead of the 
word " License," also by omitting the words "or land,"— 

Further Amendment proposed,—That the word " work " be omitted, with the 
view of inserting the words "mine or dig." (Mr. Rusden.) 

Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 14. 	 Noes, 10. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Shepherd, 	 Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr, Cunneen, 	 Mr. Irving, 	Mr. Rusden, 	} Tellers. 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Laycock, 	 Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. LUCAS, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Walsh, Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Dalgleish, } Tellers ' 	Mr. Windeyer, 
And the Clause having been further amended so as to read thus :—" Any person 

" not holding a Miner's Right Lease or License under this Act shall not mine 
"for gold or possess any claim on any Gold Field and shall not work for any 

other person whether or not the lawful possessor of any such claim or as 
"partner with any such person And every such lawful possessor by whom 
" he shall be employed as partner or with whom he shall so work shall 
" absolutely forfeit his claim unless such claim shall be held by virtue of a 
" Business License or by a lease in which last-mentioned ease the Governor 
" may with the advice aforesaid remit such forfeiture." 

Clause, as so amended, carried. 
No. 10. 
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No. 10. 
(Same Bill.) 

Clause 19. Such Justice and assessors upon the hearing of any complaint as afore-
said upon proof of any " gold " having been removed as aforesaid (of which 
any such finding as aforesaid shall be sufficient evidence) may cause any 
"gold" taken or removed from such claim to be summarily seized and 
delivered to the person encroached upon and may also " cause " the whole or 
any part of the damages ascertained as aforesaid to an amount not exceeding 
one hundred pounds to be paid by the person so having encroached or tres-
passed "as to such Justice and assessors shall seem just" to be recovered by 
distress and sale of the goods and chattels of such person in manner prescribed 
by law for the recovery of any sum adjudged by Justices of the Peace as a 
pecuniary penalty or compensation Provided that no person shall be imprisoned 
for default in payment of such damages for a longer period than thre9 
months.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Cowper. ) 
And the Clause having been amended by inserting the word "such" before the word 

" gold" in the second and fourth lines,— 
Amendment proposed,—That the word " cause " be omitted, with the view of 

inserting in its stead the word "adjudge." (Hr. Dick.) 
Question put,—That the word proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 22. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Weekos, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Allen, 	Mr. Stator, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Driver. 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hangar, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Lucas, 1 Tellers. 

Noes, 2. 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Dick, } Tellers. 

And the Clause hething been further amended by omitting the words " as to such 
Justice and Assessors shall seem just," and by adding at the end of the Clause 
the following proviso :—" Provided also that nothing herein contained shall 
"prejudice the right of any person to resort to any remedy which he may already 
" have at law or in equity,".— 

Clause, as so amended, carried. 

No. 11. 
ENFORCEMENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST TELE CROWN Bin, 

New Clause 14. The Colonial Treasurer shall pay the amount of any moneys and 
costs as to which a judgment or decree rule or order shall be given or made 
that the suppliant in any such Petition of Right is entitled and of which 
judgment or decree rule or order the tenor and purport shall have been so 
certified to him as aforesaid out of any "moneys" in his hands for the time 
being legally applicable thereto or which may be " hereafter " voted by 
Parliament for that purpose.—(Read.) 

Question proposed,—That the Clause, as read, stand part of the Bill. (Mr. Holroyd.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "moneys" down to the 

word "hereafter " inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Dick.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Clause. 

Ayes, 24. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Weeltes, 	Mr. Flett, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr, Cunneen, 
Mr. Walker, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Hangar, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Hart, 

I T ellers.  

Noes, 2. 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Dick, } Tellers. 

Clause, as read, carried. 

Sydney: Thomas Richazds, Government Printer.-1861. 

Committee divided. 

[Price, 2d.) 
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1861. 

Regiolatibt aosemblv. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 15. 

WEEKLY REPORT OF DIVISIONS 
IN 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
(EXTRA CTED FROM THE MINUTES) 

• 

SESSION OF 1861. 

MONDAY, 6 MA Y, 1861. 
No. 1. 

LOAN FOR ASSISTED IMMIGRATION. 
Resolution. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee agree to the following 
Resolution :— 

Resolved,—That there be granted to Her Majesty, to be provided for by Loan, a 
sum not exceeding £50,000, to be raised by the Sale of Debentures secured 
upon the Consolidated Revenue Fund of Now South Wales, and bearing 
interest at a rate not exceeding five per centum per annum, to provide for the 
expenditure of that amount in promoting Assisted Immigration to this 
Colony. (Mr. Melees) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 25. 	 Noes, 4. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Weekes 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr, Caldwell, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Monica, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Ryan, 	Mr. Walsh,. 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. nett, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Garrett, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Blake, 	1 Tellers.  
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Watt, 
Resolution repo; ted,—to sit again. 

Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. flannel], 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dalgleisli, 	Tellers. 

 

No. 2. 
MORPETH AND MAITLAND RAILWAY COMPANY'S BILL, 1861. 

Clause 1. The following persons that is to say Benjamin Lee junior " S. 	"S." 
Dickson John EalcesJames Taylor "Lewis Wolfe Levy" "Alexander Dodds" 
James Brand Ritchie Robertson Enoch Cobcroft Thomas " Cadall " Charles 
"B." Jaques John Scott William Henry Mullen "J. E. Wolfe" 
" Captain" Close Alexander Brown Portus Andrew Liddell Isaac Gorrick 
Robert Strachan Octavius E. Middleton P. O'Keefe W. Lipscomb 
D. 	Moffit Duncan Sim 
And all other persons who shall hereafter become shareholders in the said 
undertaking and their several and respective successors executors adminis- 
trators and assigns shall be and hereby are incorporated into a Company for 

constructing 
301—A 
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constructing maintaining and working the said Railway and such extensions 
thereof and all other works by this Act authorized subject to the rules 
regulations and provisions hereinafter mentioned and for these purposes shall 
be and are one body corporate by the name of " The Maitland and Morpeth 
Railway Company" and by that name shall have perpetual succession and a 
common seal and shall and may grant and receive and sue and be sued plead 
and be impleaded in all Courts whatsoever at law and in equity and shall 
have power and authority from and after the passing of this Act and at all 
times hereafter to purchase from the owners thereof and from all parties 
having an interest therein or enabled by this Act to sell and convey the 
same all the lands by this Act authorized to be taken and to hold such lands 
to them and their successors for the use of the said undertaking and works 
and generally for carrying into effect the provisions of this Act and also to 
sell dispose and deal with the said lands in manner by this Act directed 
without incurring any penalties or forfeitures.—(Read.) 

And the Clause having been amended by converting the initial letters " S." " S." 
into the words " Samuel," " Smith," by omitting the names of " Lewis Wolfe 
Levy" and "Alexander .Dodds," by changing the word " Cadall" into 
" Cadell," by converting the initial " E." into the word " Edmund," and 
by omitting the name of "J. E. Wolfe,"— 

Further amendment proposed,—That the word " Captain" be omitted, with the 
view of inserting the words "Edward Charles." (AD. Parkes.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, report 
progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 4. 	 Noes, 22. 

Mr. Lofton, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Hanna, 
Mr. Hoskins, 1 Tellers. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Weekcs, 	Mr, Markham, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. M mdeyer, Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Leary, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. J. Garrett, Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Morris, I Tellers. 

    

No 3.  
(Same Bill.) 

Question proposed,—That the word " Captain," proposed to be omitted, stand part 
of the Clause. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again on Tuesday next. (Al". lloskins.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 5. 	 Noes, 23. 

Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Monica, 
Mr. Harwell, 
Mr. Hoskins, I Tellers. 

Ur. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Cummings, 

Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Tellers. 

   

No 4.  
(Same Bill.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair. 
(Mr. Hoskins.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 6. 

Mr. Hairnet!, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Monica, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Hoskins, 

Tellers.  

Noes, 23. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr Dangar. 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr, Caldwell, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Suttor, 

I Tellers. 

No. 5. 
(Same Bill.) 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report progress, and ask leave to sit again to-morrow. (Mr. Parkes.) 

Committee 
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Committee divided. 

Ayes, 13. 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Dalgleish, ITellers. 
Mr. Piddington, Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Hannon, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Douglas, 

Noes, 22. 
Mr. Cowper. 	Mr. Danger, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Windcyer, 
Mr, Love, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. 'Weston, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Dick, 

 

I Tellers. 

  

And the Committee having continued to sit until after Midnight,— 
TUESDAY, 7 MAY, 1861, AM. 

No. 6. 
( Same Bill.) 

Question,—That the word " Captain," proposed to be omitted, stand part of the 
Clause,—put. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 3. 

Mr. Piddington, 

Mr. Dalgleish, 1. Tellers' 
Mr. Hoskins. 

Progress reported,—to sit again. 

TUESDAY, 7 MAY, 1861. 
No. 7. 

CROWN LANDS ALIENATION BILL, 1861. 
(References made to Council's Reprint.) 

Page 2, clause 2, lines 34 to 39. 	After 
Motion made and Question put,---That 

ment. 	(rr. Cowper.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 28. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Wookes, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Hannon, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Atka, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Lewis, 	} Tellers. Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Dalgleisb, 

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL'S AMENDMENTS. 

" respectively" omit remainder of clause. 
the Committee disagrees from this Amend- 

Noes, 20. 
Mr. Walsh, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Rotten, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Lackey, 	- 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Mate, 	Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Wilson,  Mr. Danger, 	Mr. Morris, 	Tellers.  I 

No. S. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 3, clause 7, 0, lines 28 to 33. Omit "issued or made previously to the twenty-
" second day of February one thousand eight hundred and fifty-eight"; 
insert "except in the first class Settled Districts and in the second class 
" Settled Districts when held in such districts respectively under lease or 
" promise of lease made since the twenty-second day of February one thousand 
" eight hundred and fifty-eight." 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend- 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 33. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Blake, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Garrett, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Paikes, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr.J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Dalgleish, I Tellers. 
Capt. Moriarty, 

Noes, 17. 
Mr. Heston, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Wilson, 
MT. Danger, 
Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. 3. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Egan, I Tellers. 

Noes, 18. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Gray. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Lore, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Cummings, Mr. Morris,1 Tellel-s. 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr, Dick, 

meats. (Mr. Cowper.) 

No. 9. 
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• 

No 9. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 5, clause 14. 42S lines 41 to 44. 	.Aftes 
" application for purchase at auction 
" the time of application a deposit of 

Motion made and Question put,—That the 
ment. 	(Mr. Cowper.) 

Ayes 29. 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Ballad], 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. haycock, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morrie°. 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. hove, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. Dolgleish, 1 T n rs  
Mr. Leary, 	Capt. Moriarty, f 	c e 	' 
Mr. Cunneen, 

" Act" insert "and not being under 
by persons who have paid or tendered at 
fifty per cent, upon the minimum price." 

Committee disagrees from this Amend- 

Noes, 18. 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Batton, 	Mr. Walsh, 	Tellers. 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Piddington, 

No. 10. 
A Question having been put and the voices given, attention was called to the circum-

stance, that an Honorable Member who had given his voice with the "Ayes" 
was dividing with the "Hoes,"—And the Chairman having ruled that that 
Member was bound to vote with the "Ayes,' 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Chairman do now leave the Chair, 
report the Point of Order for the determination of the Speaker, and ask 
leave to sit again as soon as the Point of Order shall be disposed of. (Mr. 
Morris.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 27. 

Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Button, 	Mr. Dangar, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. O'Brien, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. haycock, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Hannell, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mt. Mate, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. J. Is . Ryan, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Efolroyd, 

Tellers 

Noes, 22. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Wczkes, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Dalglcish, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. 3.'2. Ryan, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Terry. 
Mr. Gray, 

I Tellers, 

The Committee resumed. 
No. 11. 

(Same Bill.) 
Page 5, Clause 14, line 59. At the end of the Clause insert Provided further 

that any deposit paid by an applicant for sale by auction 
in manner beforementioned shall be forfeited if the land 
shall not be sold when the auction takes place but if sold to 
the applicant he shall be allowed credit for such deposit in 
the purchase of the land and if sold to any other person 
the applicant shall be entitled to receive back his deposit. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from this Amend- 
ment. 	(Mr. Cowper.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 40. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Dungar, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Mornee, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. haycock, 
Mr. Stewart, 	an Buchanan, 
Mr. Lackey, 	Mr. flannel], 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Cummings 	Mr. Dalgleisb, / Tellers, 

Noes, 5. 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Masten, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

No. 12. 
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No. 12. 
(Same Bill.) 

Proposed New Clause :— 
20. Crown Lands may be conditionally selected for the purposes 

of mining other than gold mining under section fourteen of 
this Act except that in such case the price shall be forty 
shillings per acre and except that in such case instead of 
the conditions applicable to other cases in regard to the 
declaration and certificate required a declaration shall be 
required only of the fact that not less that an average 
sum of Two pounds per acre has been expended in mining 
operations other than gold mining on the land And upon 
such conditions being satisfied as hereby altered and on 
payment of the balance of purchase money a grant in fee 
simple shall be made without reservation of minerals other 
than gold and the same may be made on satisfaction of 
such conditions and payment of such balance notwith-
standing the period of three years required in other cases 
shall not have " expired " TAnd a grant may be made in 
like manner of any portion (not  being less than forty acres) 
of a larger portion originally selected for purchase upon a 
declaration shewing an expenditure in such mining oper-
ations as aforesaid of an average sum of not less than Five / Pounds per acre on the land so to be granted And in that 
case the purchase of the remainder of the land selected shall 
be rescinded and Lily deposit paid thereon applied in or 

fyi th towards satis • g e balance of purchase money of the 
land "granted '. i  Provided further that if the Minister shall 
be dissatisfierwith any such declaration as aforesaid he 
may cause the fact of the expenditure required to authorize 
a grant to be referred to arbitration under this Act and the 
issue of a grant shall in that case be dependent on the 
award thereon.—(Rcad.) 

Question proposed,—That the Committee agrees to this Amendment. (W. Cowper.) 
Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word " expired " down to the 

word " granted," inclusive, be omitted. (Mr. Dick.) 
Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of proposed new 

Clause" 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 46. Noes, 2. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Botton, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Mate, 

Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Dick, ) Tellers. 

Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Haworth, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Rodman, 	Mr. Suttor, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Haunch, 
Mr. Holmyd, 	Mr, Parkes, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Morris, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Dangly., 	Mr. IVindeyer, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Cummings, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Walker. 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Meston, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Smart, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Watt, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Shepherd, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Atkinson, } Tellers. 

No. 13. 
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No. 13. 
(Same Bill.) 

Original Question put. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 33. 	 Noes, 15. 
Ms. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Haworth, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Blake, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Watt, 

Mr. Shepherd, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. 'Janne11, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Love, 
Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Dick, } Tellers. 

Mr. Lucas, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr, Sutherland, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Morrice, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Redman, -* 
Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Laveock, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Wilson, Telle 	r 

No. 14. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 9, Clause 29, 24, lines 38 to 49. Omit paragraph 4; insert 4. In any case 
where reference shall be made to arbitration as aforesaid the 
Supreme Court or a Judge shall have power at any time and 
from time to time to remit the matters referred or any or either 
of them to the reconsideration and redetermination of the 
said arbitrators or umpire as the case may be upon such 
terms as to costs and otherwise as to the said Court or 
Judge may seem proper. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend- 
ments. 	(Mr. Cowper.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 27. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Danger, 	Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Hamm11, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Dalglcish, 
Mr. Smart, 

Tellers. 

Noes, 18. 
Mr. Redman, 	Mr. Hart 
Mr. Holroyd, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Wilson, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Mate, 

Windeyer, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Meston, 

}. Tellers. 

" be lawful for any Judge of the Supreme Court on the 
" application of either party to such arbitration to." 

lines 21 to 23. Omit " And the award of the umpire shall 
" he binding final and conclusive upon all persons and to 
" all intents and purposes whatsoever." 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend- 
ments. 	(Afr. Cowper.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 32. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Gray, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Mortice, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Leary-, 	Mr. Douglas, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Lewis, 	• 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Hairnet', 	Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Egan, . Mr. Stewart 	Mr. Dalgleish, } Tellers, 

Noes, 14. 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Walker, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Windcyer, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Mackay, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Dick, Tellers. 

No. 16. 

No, 15. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 10, Clause 29. 26, lines 18 to 20. Omit " the Minister may "; insert " it shall 



515 

No. 16. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 11, Clause 32. 29, lines 19 to 21. After " neat " insert" Provided that an 
" Act intituled An Act for regulating the occupation of 
" Crown Lands' shall during the present session be passed 
" by the Legislature of this Colony." 

line 21. After " And" insert " this Act." 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend-

ments. (Mr. Cowper.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 38. 	 Noes, 10. 

1) 	 )1 

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Weekes, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Redman, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Gray, 
Mr. 3Iorricc, 
Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Raper, 
Mr. Danger, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Terry, 
Mr, flannel!, 
Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Stewart, 
The Chairman 
. 	others, of 

Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Windeyer, 	 Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Driver, 	 Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Piddington, 	 Mr. Watt, 
Mr. "Aycock, 	 Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	 Mr. Maeleay, 
Mr. Lackey, 	 Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Buchanan, 	 Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Hoskins, 	 Mr. Walker, 	Tellen. Mr. Douglas, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lewis, 
Mr. Atkinson, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mx. Love. 	). Tellers. Mr. Dalgleish, 

reported that the Commit cc had agreed to some, and disagreed from 
the Amendments made by the Legislative Council in this 

THURSDAY, 9 HAY, 1861. 

No, 17. 
CROWN LANDS OCCUPATION BILL, 1861. LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL's AMENDMENTS 

(References to Council's Reprint) 
Page 3, Clause 10.14, lines 29 and 30. After " Districts" omit " or"; insert 

" Five years and in." 
)1 	 „ 	line 30. Omit " Five "; insert "Ten." 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend- 
ments. 	(Hr. Cowper.) 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 30. Noes, 7. 

Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Raper, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 

Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Cummings, 
Mr. Danger, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Mcston, 
Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. Morris, Tellers. 

Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Laycock, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Gray. 
Mr. Dickson, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Hanna!, 	Mr. Dalgleish, 
Mr.  Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Love, 

'r 

No. 18. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 5, Clausen 1-2;  lines 10 to 13. After " cancel " omit remainder of Clause; 
insert " so much of the lease as relates to the land so sold and to three times 
" the area thereof adjoining thereto Provided that the lessee of the lands 
" from which such sale shall be made shall be at liberty either to retain the 
" remaining portion thereof paying however the same amount of rent as for 
"the whole section or surrender the same." 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee agrees to these Amendments. 
(Mr. Cowper.) 

Committee 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 15. 

Mr. Ration, 	Mr. Mestou, 
Mr. Leary, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Sutter, 
Mr. Daniel, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Dangar, 
1'Ir. rinsden, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Dick, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 

} Tellers. 

Noes, 26. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Caldwell, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr, Morricc, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. J. T. Ryan, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Dalgleish, Tellers. 

No. 19. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 5, Clause 12. Ili line 24. 	After " Leases of "5 	insert " existing." 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend-

ments. 	(Mr. Cowper.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 31. Noes, 10. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Piddingten, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Dalgleish, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Atkinson, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. 'Aycock, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Morrie°, 	Mr. Walsh, 

Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Suttor, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, } Tellers. 

• 
Mr. J. Garrett, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Leary, 	junr., 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Caldwell, Tellers. Mr. Dangar, 	Mr, Dick, 

No. 20. 

(Same Bill.) 	. 

Page 6, Clause 12. 13 line 5. 	Omit paragraph (3.) 
Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from this Amend- 

	

ment. 	(Mr. Cowper.) 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 33. Noes, S. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Di ck son, 
Mr. Lewis, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Markham, 	Mr. Leary, 

Mr. 'Weston, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, } Tellers. 

Mr. Dick, 	Mr. 'Aycock, 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Morrice, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Lucas, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Hatt 	junr., 
Mr. Raper, 	Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Dangar, 	Mr. Windeyer, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. DalFleish, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Atkinson, Tellers. 

No. 21. 
(Same Bill.) 

Page 9, Clause 20. 241 lines 43 to 46. Omit paragraph (4.) ; insert (4,) 
any case where reference shall be made to arbitration as 
aforesaid the Supreme Court or a Judge shall have power at 
any time and from time to time to remit the matters referred 
or any or either of them to the reconsideration and redetermi-
nation of the said arbitrators or umpire as the case may be 
upon such terms as to costs and otherwise as to the said Court 
or Judge may seem proper. 

Motion made and Question put,—That the Committee disagrees from these Amend-
ments. (Hr. Cowper.) 

Committee 



Noes, 12. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Woe es, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Rotton, 
Mr. J. Garrett, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Suttor, 	) Tellers. Mr. J. N. Ryan, Mr. Dalgleish, 

Tellers. 
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Committee divided. 
Ayes, 23. 

Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Stewart, 
Mr. Weekes, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. O'Brien, 	Mr. Layeock, 
Mr. Love, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. C. Cowper, 
Mr. Lewis, 	junr., 
Mr. Markham, Mr. Gray, 
Mr. Morriee, 	Mx. Atkinson, 
Mr. J. Garrett, Mr. Leary, 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Hoskins, 
Mr. Parkes, 	Mr. Caldwell, 1Tellers. 
Mr. Cunneen, 	Mr. DaMlemb, J 

Noes, 12. 
Capt. Moriarty, 
Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Lucas, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr, Windeyer, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Watt, 
Mr. Mate, Tellers. Mr. Morris, 

  

The Chairman reported that the Commi tee had agreed to some, and disagreed front 
others, of the Amendments muck by the Legislative Council in this Bill. 

FRIDAY, 10 MAY, 1861. 
No. 22. 

ALLOWANCE TO MOUNTED VOLUNTEER RIFLES FOR FORAGE, &c. 
Question proposed,—That the Committee agrees to the following Resolution :— 

Resolved,—That an Address be presented to the Administrator of the Govern-
ment, praying that His Excellency will cause to be placed upon the 
Supplementary Estimates for the year 1861, the sum " of " £2,500, for 
the Mounted Volunteer Rifles, to provide half forage for 100 horses, at 
£20 each, and £5 each towards shoeing horses, wear and tear of horse 
trappings, Lie., for 100 members. (Mr. Sutherland.) 

Amendment proposed,—That all the words after the word "of" he omitted, with 
the view of inserting in their stead "£1,000 to provide forage allowance, 
" and other expenses, for the Mounted Volunteer Rifles, when actually 
" employed on duty." (Mr. Dalgleish.) 

Question put,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the proposed 
Resolution. 

Committee divided. 
Ayes, 22. 

Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Caldwell, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. J. '1'. Ryan, Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Hart, Mr. Danger, 
Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Morriee, 	Mr. Driver, 
Mr. Al cbton, 	Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Tony, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Stuart, 	Mr. Love, 

No. 23. 
Original Question put. 
Committee divided. 

Ayes, 18. 
Mr. Blake, 	Mr. Mate, 
Mr. J. T. Ryan, 	Mr. Lackey, 
Mr. Hart, 	Mr. Dangar, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	Mr. Piddingtou, 
Mr. Stewart, 	Mr. Allen, 
Mr. Rusden, 	Mr. Cunneen, 
Mr. Reston, 	Mr. Holroyd, 
Mr. Terry, 	Mr. Love, 
Mr. Driver, 	Mr. Caldwell, Tellers. 

Noes, 16. 
Mr. Cowper, 	Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Weoltes, 	Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Arnold, 	Mr. Buchanan, 
Mr. Egan, 	Mr. Wilson, 
Capt. Moriarty, 	Mr. Rotten, 
Mr. Suttor, 	Mr. Walsh. 
Mr. Raper, 	Mr. Dalgleisb, 
Mr. J. N. Ryan, Mr. J. Garrett, / Tellers. 

Resolution reported. 

Syduey : Thomas Richards, Government Printer.-11,61. 
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Jan. 11 .. Mr. Blake ........ Certain Directors of the Colo-
nial Bank of Australasia.. J 

Praying for leave to introduce a 
Bill for the Incorporation of 
the Colonial Bank of Austral-
asia. 

(3) Three ..... 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 12 January, 1861. 

 

TOMPSON, 
Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
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RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
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NUMBER 
Of SIGNATURES. BY Wit OM PRESENTED ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

     

     

[Praying for leave to appear and 
be represented before the Select 
Committee, appointed on the 

1  17th instant, to inquire into and 
report upon his former Petition, 
of the 21st September, ihIl9, 
relative to the proposed Mini i-

t.  cipality of Shoelhaven. 

Jan. 18 	Alexander Berry, of the North 
Shore. near Sydney, in the 	„ n  
Colony of New South Wales, 	 '''''' • • • • • 
Esquire ...... 	..... 

Mr. Morris 	 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 CHA. TOMPSON, 
Sydney, 18 January, 180I. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
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522 



593 

1861. 

ittgislatine nootmtdp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 3. 

WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
OF 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 

BY THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

     

     

WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM Warm 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

     

(Fraying for leave to bring in a 
Bill to enable the Trustees of 

I a settlement made by Mr. 
Mr. parkes  k Joseph Wilson, of Land at Bal-

main, to sell the said Land, 
and to make provision for the 

: 	investment of the proceeds of 
I 	the sale thereof. 

I  (Representing that she is left with 
I I a young family in circumstan- 

„ 24 .. Mrs. Eliza Loayer 

• 

Jan. 23 .. John Campbell, of the City of 
Sydney. in the Colony of New (1) One 	 
South Wales, Esquire 	 

I 	 I 	ces of great pecuniary distress. 
t 	 II and praying a favorable eon- 

(I ) One ........ ..! Mr. Hart .. 	sideration of her case with 
ef 1 	irmperoerntanee to tpueleilritac inselrovnieg aieso4f1 

I 
I 	her late husband, as therein 

1 L set forth. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 ClIA. TOMPSON, 
Sydney, 25 January, 1861. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
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WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
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NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

James and Alexander Brown .. 

James Graham, Mayor of the 
Shea!haven Municipality f 

Francis Mitchell, and Francis} (4) Four 	 Clarke 	 ...... , 

John Piper Mackenzie, and 
George Cox   

Certain Members of the Uni-
tedChurch of England and 
Ireland in this Colony_ ... 

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trictof Wollongong, Dapto, 
and Charcoal..   

Praying for leave to introduce a 
Mr. Parkes .... 	Bill to amend the Minmi and 

Hexham Railway Act. 

Praying to be heard by Attorney { 
or Counsel before the Select 
Committee, now sitting, on the 
Shoalhaven Municipality. 

(-Praying  for leave to bring in a 
1 Bill to authorize the sale and 

Mr. Windeyer .... i exchange of property held in 
Trust for Mrs. Martha Foxlowe 
Masking and her issue. 

rTraying for leave to bring in a 
I Bill to confer powers to sell 

J and grant Building Leases upon 
-1 the Trustees of the Marriage 
I Settlement of William Henry 
I MiL01:0117.k, and Helen his wife. 

f Against the passing of the Church 
I and School Lands Bill. 

praying that a Lend Bill may he 
passed with the provisions in 
the Petition set forth. 

„ 

(1) One.. 	 

(1) One 	  Mr. J. Garrett .... 

(1) One 	...... .1 Mr. Windcyer 

(213) Two hundred} Mr. Douglas ... and thirteen.... i  

(2
E
1
tu
I

d
) T

fo
o
rt 

1
e
l
e
nn

I
d
_

re
.
d
i Mr' Arnold 

Certain Inhabitants of the His- I 
tricts of Broughton Creek, 
Fox Ground, and its vicinity ) 

Henry William Dudley 	 

(302) Three hun-I 
dred and two f 

(I) One 	 Mr. Parkes ... 

Similar prayer. 

i  Representing that he sustained 
certain disadvantages anti hard- 
ships, as in the Petition set 
forth, arising out of his connec- 
tion with the Railway A.utho-

1 titles, at the Lessee of the Rail-
1 way Refreshment Rooms, and 
I Praying relief. 

Mr. Arnold 	 

525 

1861. 

Regiolatibt Monthly. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 4. 

WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
OF 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 

BY THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 CHA. TOWSON, 
Sydney, 8 February, 1801. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 

[Pt ice, -id] 	07— 



r9r*-- e3,0 



ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

(Praying for leave to bring in a 
I Bill to enable him, as surviving 
I Trustee of certain Land situated 

1  in the Town of West Maitland, 
to sell the said land, and to pro-
vide for the appropriation of 
the proceeds of such sale. 

(Complaining of Biennia arrival, 

1  at the Burrangong Gold Fields, 
of several thousand Chinese, 
and praying that such a 

{ • measure may be passed by this 
[ ii Ou se as shall relieve them of 

all Chinauien who have occu-
pied or intend to occupy those 
Gold Fields. 

Praying that the Church and 
School Lands Bill may not be 
passed, and that the Petitioners 
may be heard by Counsel at 
the Bar of this House in support 
of their alleged vested interests 
and in opposition to the Bill. 

IPraying that he may be heard by 
Counsel against the Church 
and School Lands Bill, and 

I that the House will not pass 
(._ this Bill. 

f Praying that the Duties on Tea 
1 and Sugar may he repealed. 

Praying to be heard by himself, { 
his Counsel, or his Agent, 
against the Minini and Hexham 
Railway Act Amendment Bill. 
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• - 

Feb. 12 	.. 

12 

Bight Reverend William Tyr-
rell, Doctor in Divinity, Lord 
Bishop of Newcastle ...... 

Certain Miners 	and Others)  resident ou the Burrangong 
Gold Fields 	......... ..... 

(3,394) Three thou- 
three bun' 

dred and ninety-
four ..... 

Mr. Dick ..... 

Mr. Robertson .... 

12 	.. Archbishop, 	Vicars-General, 
Deans, and other Clergy of 
the Roman Catholic Church 
now assembled in Sydney 

, 
k 8) Eight 	...... 

13 	.. Right 	Reverend 	Frederic} 
Barker, 	D. D., 	Bishop 	of (1) One ............ 

• Sydney 	.......... 

13 	.. Certain 	Inhabitants 	of 
Broughton 	Creek, 	Fox 
Ground, Geringong, Kiama, 
Dapto, 	Shellharbour, 	and 

(468) Four hundred l 
and sixty-eight f Mr. Arnold • .... 

Wollongong 	...... ........ 

Henry Burton Bradley ...... Mr. Walsh .. , 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 CHA. TOMPSON, 
Sydney, 15 February, 1861. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
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22 .. 'i  Samuel Ilebblewhite ..........I (I) One 	  Mr. Piddington ..' { 	palities Act Amendment Bill 
of 1861, now muter the con- 

I [ sideralion of the House, or 
refuse to pass the iaid Bill 
altogether. 

(Praying that this House will 
either exempt the Randwiek 
and Onogee Roads Trust from 
the operation of the Munici- 
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BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

Feb 19 .. Certain Members of the Deno_) 
zninational School Board in 	(4) Four 	...... Mr. Cowper .... 
Now South Wales 	 

I 1 Praying that, for the reasons in 
j 	the Petition set forth, the House 

will not pass the Church and 
I 	School Lands Bill. 

„ 19 	Thomas Harrison 	  
' Complaining of Ids dismissal 

Mr. parkes 	 from office, under the circum- 
stances in the Petition set 
forth, and praying relief. 

hu Three 	m ..1 Certain Proprietors of Pro- 
petty, Householders, and 	(321) 

dred and twenty- ;  Mr. Arnold 	
 Praying that the House will 

others, residing in Pitt-street I, pass the Pitt-street Tramway 
and adjoining streets .• • 	four 	...... 	 Bill of 1861. 

certain obstructions to the per- 
20 Municipal Council of Newcastle !  (1) One   Mr Hannah! manent improvement of the 

jj City of Newcastle, and praying 
I relief. ' 

Edward Bell 	• • 

I 

I 

.• 	• 	(1) One 	 

I 	l 
, 

Mr. Wilson 	 , I 
, 

Praying that this House 	will, 
before coining to any decision 

I WI the subject either of Rat!.
way Extension on the present 
system, or of Tramways, Witisfy 
itself of the practicability and 
economy of the system of loco- 

t 	

motion projected by hint. 

Representing the existence of 

21 .. 

Sydney, 22 February, 1861. 
Q UA. TOMPSON, 

Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
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WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

N UM RE R 
OF SIGNATURES. 

ABSTRA(71 OF PRAYER. BY WHOM PRESENTED. 

(Praying that the Municipalities 
Mr. Lucas 	j Act Amendment Bill of 1861 

may pass. 

Mr. Sutherland 	5 Against the passing of the Pitt- 
street Tramway Bill of 1861. 

I 

 

(In favour of the Municipalities 
1 Act Amendment Bill of 1861. 

Mr. Lucas 	I Similar prayer. 

Feb. 27 

Mar. 1.... Municipal Council of Waverley 

„ 1.... Certain Ratepayers of Waverley 

Certain Freeholders, House. ; 
holders, Residents in Pitt-
street, and others 

Chairman and Councillors of 
the Municipality of Waterloo f (2) Two 

(44) Forty-four .... 

(2) Two .. 	 

(53) Fifty-three .... 

Mr. Lucas 	 
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NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

Mar. 5.... 

„ 	6.... 

„ 	7.... 

Samuel Anderson and John I 
Campbell 	  

Certain Inhabitants of the His- 
trict of Macdonald River 	 } 

Certain Inhabitants of Sydney.. 

(2) Two 	 

(72) Seventy-two 	 

(19) Nineteen 	 

Mr. Love .... „ .. 

Mr. Piddington .. 

Mr. Parkes .... 

(Alleging 	that they 	have sus 
tamed certain injuries arisim 

, 	out of a Judgment delivered b 
I  the Supreme Court, in th 

matter of Sempill (Official As 
signee) v. Anderson and Camp 
bell, in the insolvency of on 
Patrick Barron ; and praying , 

L consideration of their ease. 

(Representing that 	their opera 
tions and welfare are much hn 
peded by the want of prone 
roads in the District, and by th 

I 	
bad state of those which ar 
now in existence: and prayim 

L 	relief, 

(Representing that the Chines 
have been repeatedly subject, ii 
this Colony, to the grosses 
violence and outrage, as in tlu 
Petition particularized ; am 
praying that such measures ma: 
be taken as will secure protectioi 
to their persons and property. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 8 March, 1861. 

CHA. TOMPSON, 
Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
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WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

12 

12.. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES 

(106) One hundred } 	mc. Dickson  
and six .. 	 

(270) Two hundred } 
and seventy . 	Mr. U, skins 

(5) Five 	.. 

(1) One 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. Al35TRACT OF PR.INER. 

1.  

Representing that the Railway 
• Line, as constructed through the 

• 1 
Town of Maitland, has deprived 

5 them of reasonable access to the 
l Reserve for Gaol and Court 
1, Douse; and praying relief. 

Praying that a Bill may be passed 
providing for the payment of all 

	

... 	Members who may be elected to 
sit 	in 	the 	next 	Legislative 
Assembly of New South Wales. 

Praying for leave to introduce a 
f Bill to Incorporate the Clarence 

• • • 	Mr' nlrires  • • • • " 	and 	Richmond 	Rivers Steam 
Navigation Company. 

Praying for the passing of an 
Insolvency 	Act suited to the 
present 	requirements 	of 	the 
Colony. 

„ 

Inhabitants of the Township l 
of Maitland and its vicinity 	 

Certain 	Residents 	of 	the I 
Northern District  

Certain Directors of the Cla-
rence and Richmond Rivers ) 
Steam Navigation Company. ) 

Members of the Sydney Trade } 
Protection Society   

Mar. 12 
I 

12 

„ 	14 . Su Sun Sing Doh, a Chinaman ..1 (1) One 

(Representing that, in January 
last, he suffered certain aggres-
sions, as in the Petition set 
forth, from Europeans at the 
Lambing Flat Diggings, inclu-
ding the burning of his tent, 
whereby he sustained a loss to 
the extent of £300; and praying 
a consideration of his case. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 15 March, 1861. 
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Mar. 

WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

PROM WHO)! 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OP SIGNATURES. 

20 Certain Householders, Land-
owners, and Residents of 
Raymond Terrace, and its 
suburbs 

(279) Two hundredl.  
and seventy-nine. J 

„ 20 	.. Samuel Ward, of Camden (1) Ono... 	 

„ 20 .. Certain Residents in the Dis-
trict of Camden 	. 

(140) One hundredI 
and forty 	f 

21 	.. Certain blembers of the United 
Church 	of 	England 	and 
Ireland, 	in tho District of (30) Thirty 	 

„ 21 Congregation 	of 	the 	Scots 
Church in Pitt-street, Sydney J 	(1) One 	...... 

„ 22 Certain 	Merchants, 	Trades- 
men,and Citizens of Sydney 

(111) One hundred} 
f 	and eleven 	 

By WHOM PRESENTED. 

Mr. Windeyer 

Mr. Douglas 

Mr. Douglas .... 

Mr. Love .. 	 

 

ABSTRACT Or PRAYER. 

 

{

Representing that the Cattle 
Driving Act is prejudicial to the 
interests of their District ; and 
praying relict 

'

Complaining of the conduct of 
Mr. Justice Cary in a recent 
case in which the Petitioner was 

1 plaintiff, and one Alexander 
L Brand, defendant. 

{

Complaining of the judicial con-
duct of Mr. Justice Cary, 
generally. 

f Praying that the Church of 
I England Synods Bill may pass. 

Against the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill. 

Against the passing of the 
Chinese Immigration Regula-
tion Bill; and praying that any 
Chinese Immigration Regula-
tion Bill which may be enter-
tained may be deprived of all 
class legislation of an oppressive 
or prohibitory character, and be 
framed upon principles ofjustiee, 
to the mutual benefit of the 
Chinese and the Inhabitants of 
these Colonies. 

Mr. Hay 	 

 

 

    

537 

1861. 

ittgtollatibt i1tooemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 10. 

WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
OF 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 

BY THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 CHA. TOMPSON, 
Sydney, 22 March, 1861. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 

[Price, hi.] 	140— 



538 



ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

is proposed to recommend the 
mortgage and ultimate sale of 
the Common Lands of the Dis-
trict, of which he is a Trustee. 
for the purpose of defraying the 
expense of certain proposed 
Roads and Bridges to cross the 
Parramatta River and Iron Cove, 
and praying that no appropria-
tion of such lauds may be sanc-
tioned at variance with the 
intention as expressed in the 
original Grant. 

Praying for the establishment of 
{ a Steam Ferry at Raymond 

Terrace. 

Praying that the House will pass 
{ the Church of England Synods 

Bill, 

{

Praying that the License called 
'• Confectioners' License," may 
be no longer required by law. 

Praying that the Church of Eng-
I land Synods Bill may pass. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

(Praying that the House will pass 
Wilson's Settlement Investment 
Bill. 

Representing that he believes it 
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Mar. 26 

26 	.. 

27 .. 

27 

27 	.. 

27 	. 

25 	., 

Edward Drinkwater 

Inhabitants 	of 	Raymond} 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England in Windsor and 
its neighbourhood ..... 

New South Wales Alliance for 
the Suppression of Intem-
perance, and for the Social, 
Moral, and Intellectual 
Elevation of the People.... 

Certain Members of the United") 
Church of England and Ire- 
land, resident in the Parish 
of Prospect, and the District 
of the Seven Hills, in the 
County of Cumberland .... 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing atCastle 
Hill and Baulltham Hills .. 

Curt am Members of the Church 
of EnglandresidingatDooral 

Joseph Wilson ................ 

(1) cme.... ...... 

(481) Four hundred} 

(126) One hundredi 
and twenty-six.. 

(12) Twelve 

I 
(70) Seventy 

J 

(31) Thirty-one 

I 	(28) Twenty-eight.. 

Mr. Shepherd 

Mr. Windeyer 

Mr. Walker 

Mr. Parkes .. 

Mr. Laycock 

Mr. Laycock 

Ur. Layeeek 

Mr. Parkes ...... 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 TOMPSON, 
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Mr. Watt 	Similar prayer. 

Mr. Lackey ...... Similar prayer. 

( Against the passing of the Church 
1 of England Synods Bill. 

Mr. Wilson 	 

Mr. Dickson ., 

Mr. Parkes 	 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

Mr. Walker 

r  Representing that much incon-
venience and loss are occasioned 
to the steam-boats and vessels 
trading to and stopping at 
Windsor, and to passengers and 
others interested, by reason of 
there being no proper wharf or 
londing-plaec for passengers or 
goods ut that place; and praying 

1.  rL lief. 
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Certain Members of the I Tufted 
Church of England and Ire- 3) 	 . land in the District of Gaitipt 	(4 Forty-three  
belltown. .......... 

2 	Certain Member; of the Church 
of England resident, in Gout 	(12) Forty-two  
burn and the neighbourhood . 

2 	Certain Members of the Church ) 
of England resident in the lc  00) Ten.. 	 
District of Penrith 	..... ,) 

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis- 
trictof the Lachlan 	 (21) Twenty-onc  

Certain Members of the Church ) 
of England residing at Par- ; (90) Ninety 	 
ramatta . ......... 	, 	) 

The Minister and certain 
Elders and Deacons of the „ 
Scots Church, Pitt-street, 	(7) Seven 

Sydney ....... 	 , 

Certain Members of the 
Churches of England and (219) Two hun-1 
Scotland, Wesleyans, Con- 	deed and nineteen 
gregationalists,&e., in Sydney 

Members of theCongregational 
Church, and otlier inhabitants 	(33) Thirty-three 

• 
Members of the Church and 
Congregation meeting for 
Divine Worship in the Baptist l (93) Ninety-three.. 
Chapel, Bathurst-street, Syd- 
ney . 	  

Certain Inhabitants of the 1 (1.54) One bun- 
Town and District of Windsor f dred and fifty-four f 

April 2 

2 

2 

2 

  

  

Mr. Leary 

Mr. DoUglas 

Mr. Douglas .... 

f In favour of the passing of the 
-I Church of England Synods Bill. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

188- 



Mr. J. T. Ryan .. 

Mr. Wisdom 

Mr. Sutter 

Mr. Atkinson 

Mr. Smart ... 

Mr. Wincleyer .  

Mr. Parkes ...... 

Mr. Rotten 	 

Mr. Sutherland .. 

WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NCSIBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. BY WHOM PRESENTED. 

Members of the United Church I j 
of EngLand and Ireland re- 
siding in the Districts of 	(65) Sixty-five .... 
Mulgoa and Greendale...... 

Certain Members of the 
United Church of England 
and Ireland resident on the 
Western Gold Fields ...... 

Certain Members ofthe 
Church of England residing (30) Thirty 
in the Town of Kelso and the 
adjoining Districts ........ 

Certain Membersof the Church 
of England residing at Pen- (30) Thirty 
mint Hills 	  

Certain Members of the Church 
of England, Parishioners of 
St. Mark's, Alexandria, near 
Sydney   

Members holding Me Faith of 
the United Church of England 
and Ireland in the Colony   

Mun Cahn, a Chinaman 	 

April 3 _ 

i (155) One hundred 1 
and fifty-eight.. j 

(53) Fifty-three.... 

(212)Twohundred 
and twelve .... 

In favour of the passing of the 
I Church of England Synods Bill. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

( Against the passingof the Church 
of England Synods Bill. 

'

Representing that he suffered 
certain aggressions, as in the 
Petition set forth, from Euro-
peans at Lambing Flat, includ-
ing the burning of his tent, 

[

whereby he sustained a loss to 
the extent of £500; and praying 
relief. 

CertainMembers of the Church 
of England residing in the 
District of Hartley 

In favour of the passing of the 
1 Church of England Synods Bill. (54) Fifty-four .... 

• 
 I

Complaining of his dismissal 
from office, under the circum-
stances in the Petition set forth ; 
and praying relief. 

William Dixon 	  (I) One .... 	 
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(269) Two bun-} 
dred and fifty- 

I /Praying that the House will not 
I sanction any measure having for 
I its obieettheappropriation of the 

Mr. Shepherd ... , Common Leas RI the Field of 
i Mars for any other purpose than 

. I that for which they were origin- 
( ally intended. 

f In favour of the passing of the 
1 Church of England Synods Bill. 

Similar prayer. 

	

1 (25) Twenty-five .. 	dowthw  • 	. Similar.  piwyer. 
1 

	

1 

 (359) Three, hunl 	i 	. 
dred and fifty- ! Capt. Moriarty „I ,Sinfilar prayer. 
nine ....  	I 	

. 	 ...• 	• 

n  

}.(44)-ruartydam...,  - Isirarl4y- . . ... 4. .8/Inilar.PrAnc. 	— 

}

(126) One hun- 
dredand twenty  
five 	 

Mr. Cowper 

  

(59) Fifty-nine 	 I Mr. Cowper 
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COACH e aftftetriblp. 
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No. 13. 

r  WE E 	Y. ABSTItAGI 

ro 	ply '40 

OF 

PETITIONS -  RECEIVED 
BY TH 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 
ta 	• 

.L 4  
dITIIAN IF 

P. .1P‘cliirAD.4 
• , zeont.ovtwir 
4Pth ;WHEIHIq PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OP SIGNATURES. BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ire-
land in the Parishes of Narel-
Ian and Cool; 4...   

- 
Clergyman and certain Mem-
hers of the United Church of 
England and Ireland Con-
nected with the Church of St. 
Tfary..in thel'al'ish and Dis-

-r nti 	• 	triet of Warverloy 
ata s 
"-Pio' '9 .. Certain Members of the Mural 

	

:kb 	• of. Engthind in the Districts 
troof Rtmawidkrand Coogee 

,Certain .  Inhabitants of the 
'ToWit "pa 'District of Braid-

ri4ebod, 1nl4iding the Gold 
Fields ............. 

	

9 	Certain Members of the Church 
.of slEoglandtin-ththDiatrigat o ' 
Orange ....... 

APril 
	

Certaiit Landholders and others 
having interest in the Field 
of Mars C0111111011 ........ 

..r 	1r p9  
..3* I ;  

/Representing that in consequence 
•of neglect ; gild ' carelessness on 
the part of certain raffia ser-
vants he last a .. considerable 
quantity of Gold, left by him 

1 

	

Mr. Parke%  • • • • • • 	 v•ith Mr. Commissioner -John- 
son, at Stony Creek. and trans- 

' mitted by that officer under 
' t  eecort to Orange ; and praying 

L consideration. 

Mr. Haworth ....,In favour of the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill. 

Mr. Sutherland {Against the passing of the Church 

	

. 	of England Synods Bill.. 

ti d 

Samuel Robinson 	 

Reverend Thomas Campbell 
Ewing, Incumbent of St. 
Michael's, Wollongong ...... 

9 	Certain Inhabitants of Redfern. 
Chippendale, and neighbour-
hood . 

218— 

	

(1) One 	..... 

	

I (I) One 	 

(104) One hun-
dred and four 

„ 



FIRM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTFAL 

5 4 4 

2 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. 	ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

• Certain Residents of Campbell- } (71) Seventy-one .. 
town 

Certain Inhabitants of the I  
United Townships of Gunning) (37) Thirty-seven.. 
and Collector, with their r  

Certain 31=1)0esof the Chm•elt 	(109 ) One Inim of England resident in the 	(tied and two  .. 
newt District ....... 

Certain Members of the Church 

1/10nd and the neighbourhood.. 
of England residing in Rich- 	(15) Forty-five 	Mr. Piddington 

	Siniilar p 

Christopher Rispin, late Turn- ) 
key of Her Majesty's Gaol at (1) One 	 Mr. Parkes ... 
Darlinghurst 	  

The Clergyman and certain 
Members of the United Church 
of England and Ireland eon- 	(19) Forty-nine 	 ABM L . 
meted with the Parish of ) 
Canterbury 	  

WREN 
RECEIVED. 

Apfil 10 

10 

11 .. 

11 

11 .. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATUR 

.Mr. Douglas 

Mr. Leary .. 

On favour of the Church of 
Mr. Cowper • ; • • 1 England Synods Bill. 

I Against the passing of the Church 
. 	of England Synods Bill. 

• in favour of the passing of the 
' • • • 

I
I 1 Church of England Synods Bilk 

{ Complaining of his recent 
all 	.,dismissal hm office. u 	oce, 
and praying relief. 

In tar our of the pestling of the 
1 Church of England Synods Bid. 

12 .. The Clergyman and Parishion- 
ers of ChriSt Church, Bun- 	(65) Sixty-five 	Capt. Moriarty 
gonitt, Argyb 	; ..... .. 

12 ., The Clergyman and certain 
Members of the United Church 
of England ant I Ireland eon- 

' neeted with the Parish of St. 

Similar prayer. 
t 

.1 	. 	1  t a. 
1Representing that Ilwy suffer 

1 ..greaUnconvenienee from . itoy  
surrounded by so antlers, ilifo, 
holdingn pre.cmptitte right. pm •- 

I chase up- the available portions 

1 of land ; and prating the bUS-
; pension of the sale of all lands 

1  of Muswellbrook until the Land 
witliin twelve Milt% of the Town 

1, Bill shall have been pissed. /.. 

(106) Onellumh•ed' 1 mr. sothrriand  
I 

i 	• 	 , 
f in favour of the Church of 

k 	;1 " ........J 	
.. 	

England Synods Bill.  

i 

„ 12 .. • Inhabitants of the Town of 	Sixtvix  
I 	tiswellbrook 	......... 	I a ) 3fr. Cray 	 

The Clergyman and certain 
Members of the Church of 
England residing in the 
Ecclesiastical District at-
tached to the Incumbency of 
St. Luke's Church, Scone . 

ly (9(4) Ninety 	 Mr. Dwight 

1 

Similar prayer. 

John Ryan and Bryan Muguire, 
Refreshment Room Servants, 
engaged to attend on the 	(2) Two ...... 	Mr. Parkes 
Legislative Council and As-
sembly 

„ 12 I Certain Inhabitants of the 
District of Liverpool 	..... 

„ 12 	Certain Inhabitants of holds- 
worthy 	.........  

(Complaining of number of hours 
of employment daily, with' in- 
sufficiency of pay to enable them 1 to appear beforeauul wait upon 

I the House in arespectable attire; 
1 and praying relief. 

In favour of the passing of the 
I. Church of England Synods Bill. 

Similar prayer. 

I. (51) Fifty-one .... I  Mr. Layeock 

(IS) Eighteen .; 	Mr. Lityeek 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 12 April, 1861. 

CIIA. TOMPSON, 
Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 

"er 	 5 '•  

.  

I. . On.' I. Ini 	5td 
met 

1' 	• it .rft 	1.; eta' 
• •drill',1 	ht.st,tir(' 

gyanoy: Thomas nittiards,tiorcrumgot Prnatr.-1B61. 
4fr [Price, Id.] 



BY WHOM PRESENTED. NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES 

Certain Farmers, Settlers, aml 
others, residents within the I 
Municipality of Albury...... 

William Meadows Brownrigg.. 

545 

1861. 

aoonnulp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 14. 

WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
OF 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 

BY THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 
FROM WHOM 

AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

Certain Inhabitants of the 
Parishes of Pitt Town and 

„ 16 	Certain Members of the Church 
of England in the City of 
Sydney .................... 

Certsin Members of the Church ' 
of England in the District I 
if Molong ....... ...... • 

• 	Certain Clergymen and 31 cm. 
 of the Church of England • 

residing in the Town of ! 
Bathurst ........ , 

(51) Fifty-one 	Mr. Piticlington 

) (109) Ono 
ars and nine

limi- } Mr. Parkes  .. 

}. (1S) Eighteen .... Mr. Suttor 

(813) Eighty-eight.. Mr. Hart ..... 

ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

fIn favour of the passing of the 
I Church of England Synods Bill. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

Similar prayer. 

WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

April 16 .. 

1  (174) One hum1 
dredand seventy-
four   

(Representing that they are put 
I to great inconvenience and ex-

pense through the want of a 
Mr. Mate  Town Common appertinent to 

the Albury Municipality, and 
praying that such a Common 
may be granted. 

1  Complaining ofcertaingrievances, 
pecuniary and otherwise, in the 
Petition set forth, as sustained 

MI Parkes  , by him in his capacity as a 
I Licensed Surveyor under the 

Government, and praying in. 
I. quiry into his ease. 

[

Representing that lie suffered 
aggressions and losses, as in the 
Petition set forth, from 

Mr. Driver .. , 	 { Europeans at Lambing Flat, 
I including the burning of his 
I store and its contents, and L praying relief. 

Tn Lim Pow, Chinese Iterchant (1) One 

234- 



ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

(Setting forth certain losses which 
he will sustain if an Act he 
passed to compel the closing of 
all Tanyards within the boun-
daries of the City of Sydne), 

1 and praying relict' in the event L_ of such Act being passed. 

(Representing that they have been 
in a state of involuntary idle-
Rots lir Ditoy mOntiss, by which 
they have beta( reduced to desti-
tution, and praying that, as 
some nu Ant of remedying their 
sufferings, the Public Works 
of the Colony, now in abeyalicu, 

1 L luny be proceeded with. 

Praying for leave to introduce 
the II orpeth and Maitland Rail-
way Company's Bill. 

„ 19 

WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATLRES. 

   

April 16 	Ilercules Watt ......  	(1) One 	 

ir WHOM PRESENTED. 

J Mr. C. Cowper, 
( 	junr. 

Certain Mechanics and Lam  
homers of the City of Sydney (187)Cinellundred } Mr. Sutherland and cighty.soven 
and Suburbs 	..... 

Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
of the Morpeth and Maitland 	(2) Two . ...... 	Mr. Parkes ...... 
Railway Company ...... 

546 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 CITA. TOk1PSON, 
Sydney, 19 April, 1861. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 

Sydney: Thomas Richards,Ouve-inumia Er-Itwer.--1861. 

[Price, let] 
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1831. 

egiolatibe Roormlith. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 15, 

WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
• 

O F 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 

BY THE 

LEGISLATIVE -  ASSEMBLY. 

W /1EN 
EECE1VED. 

FROM W11031 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED, 

NUMBER 
OP SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

April 23 

„ 	23 .. 

„ 	23 .. 

„ 	23 , . 

„ 	20 .. 

Inhabitants of Mudgee .. 	.. 

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trict of Braidwoud .......... 

Hu Foe and Kylong, for them-
selves and other Chinamen } 

John Page 	..... ............. 

so 
Members of the Church of 

England in the Town and 
District of Albury ........ 

(3071 Throe hen- 1 
I 	died and seven.. f 

(1,664 ) One thou- 
i sand five hundred} 
t and sixty-four .4 

(43) Forty-three._ 

(1) One 	.......... 

(65) Sixty-five 	.... 

,,,, 	, ,,.. 
un' july'' " "" 

Captain Moriarty- 

Mr. Parkes   

Mr. Parkes • . • • • • 

Mr. Mate .....   

Against the passing of the Church 
of England Synods Bill. 

rPraying  fur a full and minute 
inquiry 	into and investigation 
of all the circumstances 	con- 
nected with the ease of Frederick 
Beer, a medical practitioner, 
who, in April, 1356, was sen-
tenced to ten years imprison. < 	 f having meat, on a charge o 	as Ing 
illegally 	administered 	bella- 
donna to one Phyllis Browne ; 
and who, in April last, received 
a ticket-of-leave, and 	is now 
practising 	his 	profession 	at 

1 _ Braidwood. 

l' Representing that the Petitioners 
suffered aggressions and losses, 

, as in the Petition set forth, from 
1 European and other diggers at 

1 	Lambing 	flat, 	and 	praying 
4 	relief. 

Representing  that, relying on the 
due enforcement of 'the Act 19 
Vie., No. 30, he abstained from 
establishing himself as a minim 
in Sydney, and opened a tanning 
establishment at St. Mary's, 

) 	South Creek ; 	but that, having 
S recently learned that tanneries 

are not discontinued in Sydney. 
he is desirous of the adoption ot 
measures which will have the 
effect of immediately discon- 
tinuing such establishments 
within the limits of exclusion. 

In favour of the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill 

• 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 CHA. TOMPSON, 
Sydney, 26 April, 1861. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly 

Sydney, Morons Eland; Government Printer.-1861. 

[Price, ld.] 	255— 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 
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WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
OF 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 
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LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 
WHEN 	 FROM 'WHOM 	 NUMBER 

RECEIVED. 	AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 	OF SIONATULER BY WHOM PRESENTED. 	ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

May 2.... 	Certain Inhabitants of Black 	 fPraying 	for the establishment Creek, in the Police District 	(70) Seventy ..... , 	Mr. Parkes  	I of a Court Rouse at Black Creek. 

(Setting forth that they had in-
curred considerable expenditure 
in the prosecution of their work, 
on the understanding that the 
Pyrmont 	Railway 	Terminus 

„ 	2.... 	Directors 	of 	the 	Pyrmon 	 ... (d) Five  	Mr. Parkes 	 J 	would, 	be 	completed 	by 	the 
Bridge Company 	........ 	 ; 	Government ; and praying that 

such 	Terminus 	and 	relative 
works 	should, 	with 	as little 
delay 	as 	possible, 	be 	coin. 
plated and made available foi 

_  

the public. 
Setting forth that lie, with the 
rest of his 	countrymen, were 

,, 	2... . 	Kew Loong Pow  	(1) One ..... ..... • 	Mr. Parkes  	driven from the Lambing Hat 
Diggings, 	and 	his 	property 
destroyed; and praying relief. 

(Setting forth that he had beer 
I 	struck off pay in the Genera: 
) 	Post Office, Sydney, in conse. 

„ 	2 „ ., 	Daniel Lynch ..... ....... ... 	(1) One 	Mr. Windeyer .... `i 	quence of illness contracted in 
I 	the discharge of a public duty , 
1„ and praying relief. 
Praying that such steps may be 
taken, without delay, as may 

„ 	2., ,, 	Certain Inhabitants of Sydney) 	(625) Six hundred } 
nod its neighbourhood .... J 	and Prouty-six 	 the speedy completion 	of 	the Mr. Sutherland 	. 	appear best calculated to lead ti 

Pyrmont Railway Terminus. 
' Setting forth her services in the 

capacity of late Office Claim' 
,. 

 
$.... 	Jane Cockburn 	....... ...... . 	(1) One 	...   	Mr. Driver  	employed in 	the h»migratior 

Department, without reenune 
I 	ratiou, and praying relief. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 3 May, 1861. 

For CHA. TOMPSON, 
Clerk of Legislative Assembly, 

F. ELDERSHAMT, 
Clerk Assistant. 

   

[Price, ld.] 	266— 
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WHEN 	 FROM WHOM 
RECEIVED. 	AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

{Setting forth the high price and 
detective supply of pure water 

Mr. Settled d .. 	to the Inhabitants of Sydney, 
and praying that steps may be 

I taken to remedy these evils. 

William Bland, as President 
of the Council of the Aims- 	(1) One 
tralian Medical Association 

May S.. 

1961. 

ilegielattbe asoemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

No. 17. 

WEEKLY ABSTRACT 
OF 

PETITIONS RECEIVED 

BY THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 For CHA. TOMPSON, 
Sydney, 10 May, 1861. 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly, 

F. ELDERSHAW, 
Clerk Assistant. 

[Price, id.] 	290- 
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Regiolatibt Ttformbip. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

PETITIONS. 

GENERAL SUMMARY of the Weekly Abstracts of PETITIONS received by the Legislative Assembly during 
the Session of 1861. 

WHEN 
'RECEIVED. 

FROM WHO)! 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM 
PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. WMETIIID 

PRINTED. 

fruited. I Printed.  

1 
1 
I 
}Printed. 

1 
I 

Print al. 
I 

J 

„,,ntc.d.  
' " 

}  Printed. 

1 Printed. 

Printid. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

) „ . „ 
f s rime"' 

0 
Feb. 8 .... 

„ 12 	.. 

„ 19 	_ 

March 21.. 

„ 	21.. 

„ 	27.. 

„ 	27 

„ 	27.. 

„ 	27.. 

kpril 	2_ 

	

1. Church and School Lands 	 
Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ireland 
in this Colony   

Archbishop, 	Vicars 	General 
Deans, and other Clergy of the 
Boman Catholic Church now 
assembled in Sydney ... 	 

Bight ReverendEn•derieBarker, 
D.D., Bishop of Sydney 	 

Certain Members of the Deno-
minational 	School 	Board 	in 
New South Wales 	... .. . _ 	 

2. Church of England 
Synods. 

Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ireland, 
in the District of Carcoar   

Congregation 	of 	the 	Scots 
Church in Pitt-street, Sydney 	 

Certain Members of the Church
of England in Windsor and its 
neighbourhood   

Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ireland, 
resident in the Parish of 
Prospect, and the District of 
the Seven Hills, in the County 
of Cumberland ..... ......   

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing at Castle 
Hill and 13aulkham Hills   

Certain Members of the Church 1.  
of England residing at Dooral. 

Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ireland 
in the District of Campbelltown 

f 

„  13 	., 

(2
a
13
n

) 	.11 
and 

Two h
tcen

u
t

e.i.1
) 

(8) Eight 	.......... 

1 (1) 	One ............ 

	

(4) Four ........... 	 

(30) Thirty 	 

I, 	, 1 . k ) One. 	 

= 

1 

, 
1 
t (70) 	Seventy 	 

J 

(31) Thirty-one 	_ 	 

(28) Twenty-eight 	 

(43) Forty-three 	 

(126)  

Mr. Douglas 	.. 

— Mr. Hart 	 

Mr. Cowper 	 

Mr. Cowper ... . 	' 

Mr. Watt 	 

Mr. Love 	 

Mr. Walker 	 

Mr. Layeock 	 

Mr. Laycock 	 

Mr. Laycock 	 

Mr. Leary 	 

( Against the passing of the Church 
1 	and School Lands Bill........  

(Praying that the 	Church 	and 
School Lands Bill may not be 
passed, and that the Petitioners 
may be heard by Counsel at 

I 	the Bar of this House in support 
1 	of their alleged vested interests 
L and in opposition to the Bill. .. 

Praying that be may he heard by 
Counsel against 	the 	Church 

I and 	School 	Lands 	Bill, 	and 
( that the House will not pass 

this Bill. 	  

Praying that, for the MMUS in 
the Petition set forth, the Howe 
will not pass the Church and 
School Lands Bill........   

;Praying that the 	Church 	of 
1 England Synods Bill may pass. 

f Against 	the 	passing 	of 	the 
1 Church of England Synods Bill 

that the House will pass 
the Church of England Synods 
Bill. ....... ...............   

Similar prayer ........... 	 

Similar prayer 	.... ........ 	 

Similar prayer_  . 

In favour of the passing of the 
{ Church of England Synods Bill. 

299— 



Members holding the Faith of 
the United Church of England 
and Ireland in the Colony 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing in the (54) Fifty-four   
District of Hartley 

Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ire. (12.5) One hundred) 
land in the Parishes of Narellan 	and twenty-five.. f 
and Cook 	......... . 

}

(212) Two hundred I 
and twelve f 

if Not 
I Printed. 

f Not 
1 Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

I Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 
• 

Printed. 

Printed, 

Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

I Printed. 

} Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

April 2 .. 

„ 2 .. 

„ 2.. 

„ 2.. 

„ 4.. 

„ 4.. 

9.. 

„ 9.. 

9 .. 
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WHEN 
WECIFIED. 

PROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OP SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM 
PRESENTED. 

WHETHER 
PRINTED. 

ABSTRACT OF PRATF.R. 

t (59) Fifty-nine 	 

Church of England Synods— 
continued. 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England resident in Goul-
burn and the neighbourhood .. 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England resident in the 
District of Penrith .......... 

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trict of the Lachlan ..... 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing at Par 
ramatta   

The Minister and certain Elders 
and Deacons of the Scots 
Church, Pitt-street, Sydney .. 

Certain Members of the 
Churches of England and 
Scotland, 1Vesleyans, Congre-
gationalists, Svc., in Sydney 

Members of the Congregational 
Church, and other Inhabitants 
of Newtown ...... 

Members of the Church and 
Congregation meeting for 
Divine Worship in the Baptist 
Chapel, Bathurst-street, Syd-
ney ..... ....... ........ 

Members of the United Church 
of England and Ireland residing 
in the Districts of Mulgoa and 
Greendale ...... ........., 

Certain Members of the United 
Church of England and Ireland 
resident on the Western Gold 
Fields  

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing in the 
Town of Kelso and the adjoin-
ing Districts .......... 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing at Pen-
nant Hills   

Certain Members of the Church 
of England. Parishioners of 
St. Mark's, Alexandria, near 

Clergymen and cerhin Members 
of the United Church of Eng-
land and Ireland connected 
with the Church of St. Mary,  
in the Parish and District o 

Ur. Douglas .. 

Mr. Douglas .. 

Mr. Lackey .... 

Mr. Leary .... 

Mr. Wilson .... 

Mr. Dickson . 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. J. T. Ryan.. 

Mr. Wisdom.... 

Mr. Sutter .... 

Mr. Atkinson .. 

Mr. Smart 

Mr. Windeyer 

Mr. Rotten .... 

Mr. Cowper.... 

Mr. Cowper.... 

f In favour of the passing of the 
I Church of England Synods Bill, 

Similar prayer 	  

Similar prayer 	  

Similar prayer .. 	  

f Against' the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill 

Similar prayer ................ 

Similar prayer . ...... .......... 

Similar prayer ......... ...... 

f In favour of tho passing of th 
I. Church of England Synods Bill 

Similar prayer... 	...... 

Similar prayer... ...... ........ 

( Against the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill 

In favour of the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill 

Similar prayer. 	..... 

I (42) Forty-two 

1. (10) Ten .......... 

(21) Twenty-one 

(90) Ninety 	 

(219) Two hundred).  
and nineteen .... f 

1 (33) Thirty-three .... 

i (93) Ninety-three.... 

I (65) Sixty-five ...... 

}

(158) One hundred.).  
and fifty-eight .. f 

} (30) Thirty 

I (30) Thirty 

j (53) Fifty-three 

Certnin Members of the Church 
n England in the Districts of (25) Twenty-five 
Randwick and Coogee........ 

Certain Inhabitants of the Town (359) Three hum- 
and District 4  if Brairlwood, in- 	drod and fifty- 
eluding the Gold Fields ......} 

	

nine ........ ... .  

Mr. Cowper. 	Similar prayer..... ..... ....... 

Capt. Moriarty .. Similar prayer 



„ 10 .. 

„ 10 .. 

„ 12 

„ 12 . 

„ 12 . 

• 

„ 12 

„ 16 _ 

• 16 .. 

„ 26 _ 

Jan. 21 . 

(Against the passing of the 
Church of England Synods Bill. 

Similar prayer 	....... 

Not 
f Printed. 

Printed- 

Not 
5 Printed. 

Not 
J Printed. 

I Printed. 

PriCnotted. 

Printed, 

Printed. 

Printed. rited- 

priNnot 

Not 
} 

priNnot 

I Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 
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'WREN 
;WETTED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

zcomnEn 
OF SIGNATURES. 

By WHOM 
PRESENTED. 

WIDLSITNE 
PRIN. 

ABSTRACT OF PRATER. 

T (106) One hundred) 
and six 	 

.1 

1 
.(90) Ninety 

I 
J 

} (51) Fifty-one ...... 

} (18) Eighteen ...... 

) i (51) Fifty-one ...... 

1  (109) One hundred) 
and nine .. 	 

I (18) Eighteen 	 
/ 

1 (88) Eighty-eight 	 

1 (307) Three hundred 1 
J and seven _ .... J 

1 (65) Sixty-five 	 

Mr. Peisley 

Mr. Haworth 

Mr.Sutherland.. 

ol‘fr. Leary 	 

Mr. Douglas 

Mr. Cowper. 

Mr. Piddington 

3. Grievances, 

Mrs. Eliza Lockyer 	...... 	(1) One 	  

Certain Residents of Campbell- 

Certain Inhabitants of the 
United Townships of Gunning 
and Collector, with their 
suburbs   

Certain Members of the Church 
of England resident in the 
Tuuaut District  

Certain Members of the Church 
of England residing in Rich-
mond and the neighbourhood.. 

The Clergyman and certain 
Members of the United Church 
of England and Ireland con-
nected with the Parish of  
Canterbury ................ 

The Clergyman and Parishion-
ers of Christ Church, Bungonia 
Argyle 

The Clergyman and certain 
Members of the United Church 
of England and Ireland con 
neeted with the Parish of St 
Paul's, Sydney .............. 

The Clergyman and certain 
Members of the Church of  
England residing in the Eccle 
siastical District attached to 
the Incumbency of St. Luke's 
Church, Scone ....   

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trict of Liverpool ...... 

Certain Inhabitants of Holds 
worthy .... 	 

Certain Inhabitants of the 
Parishes of Pitt Town and Wil-
berforce ................... 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England in the City of 
Sydney   .......... 

Certain Members ot the Church 
of England in the District of 
Molong .................... 

Certain Clergymen and Members 
of the Church of England resid-
ing in the Town of Bathurst.. 

Inhabitants of Mudgec.. 

Members of the Church of Eng-
land in the Town and District 
of Albury .................. 

I Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

1 Church of England Synods Bill 
In favour of the passing of the } Printed. 

In favour of the Church of Eng t  

(In favour of the passing of tin  
Church of England Synods Bill 

Similar prayer 	  

Similar prayer 	........ 

Similar prayer 	  

Similar prayer ................ 

Similar prayer ...............  

Against the passing of the Church 
1 of England Synods Bill ...... 

( In favour of the passing of the  
1 Church of England Synods Bill. 

/Representing that she is left with  

1  a young family in circumstances 
of great pecuniary distress, and 
praying a favourable considera-
tion of her case with reference 

i to certain long and important 
l public services of her late bus- 

band, as therein set forth 	 

April 9 _ 

Church of England Synods— 
continued. 

Certain Members of the Church 
of England in the District of 
Orange . ......... .......... 

Reverend Thomas Campbell 
Ewing, Incumbent of St 
Michael's, Wollongong   

Certain Inhabitants of Redfern, 
Chippendale, and neighbour-
hood 

1 (44) Forty-four ...... 

1 (101) One hundred 1 

). (71) Seventy-one .... 

I (37) Thirty-seven.... 

1  (102) One hundred ) 
and two 	 

1 (45) Forty-five 	 

} (49) Forty-nine 	 

1 (65) Sixty-five 

Mr. Lucas 

Capt. Moriarty .. 

Mr. Sutherland.. 

Mr. Douglas.... 

Mr. Laycock 

Mr. 'Aycock _ 

Mr. Piddington 

Mr. Parkes 

Mr. Sutter .... 

Mr. Hart .... 

Mr. Terry .... 

Mr. 3late   

In favour of the passing of the 
1 Church of England Synods Bill 

Similar prayer ........ ...... . 

I In favour of the Church of Eng 
1 land Synods Bill 	....... 

Similar prayer ........... . .. 

In favour of the passing of the 
1 Church of England Synods Bill. 



„ 12 .. 

Mar. 5 . 

„ 6.. 

„ 20 . 

April ,r3 

April 

Samuel Anderson and John 
Campbell ........... ..... 

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trict of Macdonald River 

Certain Inhabitants of Sydney.. 

Inhabitants of the Township of 
Maitland and its vicinity 

Su San Ling Doh, a Chinaman 

(72) Seventy-two.... 

(19) Nineteen 	 

(106) One hundred) 
f and six 	 

(1) One 	...... 

Certain Householders, Land-
owners, and Residents of Ray-
mond Terrace, and its suburbs / (279) Two hundred1 

and seveuty-nine f 

Certain Inhabitants of the Town 
and District of Windsor 

1 (151) One hundred' 
f and fifty-four .. f 

Mun Gram, a Chinaman (1) One 	 

  

Certain Miners and Others resi-
dent on the Bunungong Gold 
Fields ............. 

Thomas Harrison ............ 
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WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM 
PRESENTED. ABSTRACT OF PRAYED. Wilkins"  

PRINTED. 

1-Representing that he sustained 
I curtain disadvantages and hard- 1 
I ships, as in the Petition set 

< ' forth '  arisin tt out of his carmen-  • 	n , ton with the Railway Authori- is ninc"• 
I tics, as the Lessee of the Railway I 
I Refreshment Rooms, and praying 1 
L relief 	  J 

(Complaining of the recent arrival 
I at the Burrangong Gold Fields 
I of several thousand Chinese, i  
) and praying that such a measure 	Not 
I may be passed by this House as Printed. 
I shall relieve them of all China- 

menwho have occupied or intend 
L to occupy those Gold Fields 	 J 

t Complaining of his dismissal 
from office, under the circum-
stances in the Petition set forth, 
and praying relief ... ......   

Alleging  that they have sustained 

i certain injuries arising out of 
a Judgment delivered in the 
Supreme Court, in the matter of 
Sempill (Official Assignee) v. 
Anderson and Campbell, in the 
insolvency of one Patrick 
Barron ; and praying a con-

4, sideration of their case ........ 

Ropresentingthattheir operations 
and welfiffe arc much impeded 
by the want of proper roads in 
the District, and by the had 

, state of those which are now in 
L existence, and praying relief .. 

(Representing that the Chinese 
I have been repeatedly subject, in 
I this Colony, to the grossest vio- 

lence and outrage, as in the 
Petition on particularized ; and I praying that such measures may 
betaken as will secure protection L to their persons and property... 

fRepresenting that the Railway 
I Line, as constructed through the 

JTown of Maitland, has deprived 
'1 them of reasonable access to the 
I Reserve for Gaol and Court 
L House, and praying relief  

(Representing that, in January 1 
last, he suffered certain aggres-
sions, as in the Petition sot 
forth, from Europeans at the 

/ Lambing Flat Diggings, includ- }Milted- 
 ing the burning of his tent, 

whereby he sustained a loss to 
the extent of ±300; and praying 

t.  a consideration of his case .... 

Representing that the Cattle { 
Driving Act is prejudicial to the 
interests of their District ; and i Printed-
praying relief. ........... ..... 

(Representing that much incon-
venienceand loss are occasioned 1  1  to the steam-boats and vessels 
trading to and stopping at 
Windsor, and to passengers and 
others interested, by reason of 6rintod. 
there being no proper wharf or i 
landing-place for passengers or 
goods at that place; and praying 

[  

relief 	  J 

(Representing that he suffered 1 
certain aggressions, as in the 1 

 
Petition sot forth, from Euro-
peansat Lambing Flat, includ- 
ing the burning of his tent, Printed. 
whereby-  he sustained a loss to 
the extent of £500; and praying 

I, 
 
J 

Grievances—continued. 

Henry William Dudley........ (1) One ........ ..... . 

(3,394) Three thou-} 
sand three inn-
tired and ninety- 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. Robertson.. 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. Love ...... 

Mr. Piddington 

Mr. Parkes 

Mr. Dickson 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. M'indeyer 

Mr. Walker 

Mr. Parkes 

Printed. 

}Printed. 

Printed. 

Printed. 

tPrintcd. 



1  (174) One hundred ) 
and seventy-four.. J 

I Printed. 

1 Printed. 

1 

/ Not 
Printed. 

1 
I ,Printed. 1 

..1 

Printed. 
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5 

W1LEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

2MTBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM 
PRESENTED. 

WHETHER 
PRINTED. 

ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

Grievances—continued. 

William Dixon . 

Samuel Robinson 

Christopher Ttispin, late Turn 
hey of Her Majesty's Gaol at 
Darlingburst  

Inhabitants of the Town o 
Muswellbrook   

John Ryan and Bryan Maguire, 
Refreshment Room Setwants, 
engaged to attend on the Legis-
lative Council and Assembly.. 

Certain Farmers, Settlers, and 
others, residents within the 
Municipality of Albury 

William Meadows Brownrigg, 

Tu Lim Pow, Chinese Merchant 

Certain Mechanics and La-
bourers of the City of Sydney 
and Suburbs ..   

(I) Ono 	....... 

/ (187) One hundred .' 
and eighty-seven j• 

(43) Forty-three ..., 

(1) One „ .• 

Tin Foo and Kylong, for them-
selves and other Chinamen 

Kew Loong Pow ............ 

Daniel Lynch 	...... 

Complaining of his dismissal { 
from office, under the circum- 
stances in the Petition set forth. 
and praying relief...... ....... 

Representing that in consequence 
of neglect and carelessness on 
the part of certain Public ser 
vents he lost a considerable 
quantity of Gold, left by him 
with Mr. Commissioner John-
son, at Stony Creek, and trans-
mitted by that officer under 
escort to Orange ; and praying 

I„ consideration ..... .... ..... .... 

(Complaining of his recent 
alleged dismissal from office, 
and praying relief.... ...... ... 

(Representing that they suffer 

I great inconvenience from being 
surrounded by squItters, who, 
holding a pre-emptive right, pur-
chase up the available portions 

3 of land; and praying the sus- 

1  pension of the sale of all lands 
within twelve miles of the Town 
of Muswellbrook until the Land 

(_ Bill shall have been passed  

[

Complaining of number of hours 
of employment daily, with in-
sufficiency of pay to enable them I to appear before and wait upon 
the House in a respectable attire ; 
and praying relief... ......... . 

Representing that they are put 
to great inconvenience and ex-
pense through the want of a 
Town Common appertinent to 
the Albury Municipality, and 
praying that such a Common 

I, may be granted...... ........ . 

I Complainingof certaingrievances 

1  pecuniary and otherwise, in the 
Petition set forth, as sustained 
by him in his capacity as a 

{

Licensed Surveyor under the 
Government, and praying in-
quiry into his case ., . ...... ... 

(Representing that he suffered 

j aggressions and losses, as in the 
Petition set forth, from En-
ropeans at Lambing Flat, in. 

I eluding the burning of his store 
I and its contents, and praying 
I_ relief  

(Representing that they have been 

i in a state of involuntary idle-
ness for many months, by which 
they have been reduced to desti-
tution, and praying that as 
some means of remedying their 
sufferings, the Public Works 
of the Colony, now in abeyance. 

I may be proceeded with ...... . 
(Representing that the Petitioners 

suffered aggressions and losses 
as in the Petition set forth, from 
European and other diggers at 

I Lambing Flat, and praying 
L relief ..... ...... .........   

/ Setting forth that be, with the 
rest of his Countrymen, Were 
driven from the Lambing Fla 
Diggings, and his property des-
troyed ; and praying relief.   

(Setting forth that he had been 1 

I struck off pay in the General I 
Post Office Sydney, in conic- f Not 

, quence of illness contracted in ' Printed. 
I the discharge of a public duty;' 
L and praying relief .., ., . ....... I 

Mr. Sutherland. 

Mr. Parkes .. 

Mr. Parke 

Mr. Gray 

Mr. Parkes 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. Driver 

Mr. Sutherland.. 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. Windeyer 

1  Not IPrinted. 

1 

f Printed. 

4 

1 

1 Not 
; Printed. 
I J 

1 
1 

fPrinted. 

4 
1 
I '}, Printed. 

.1 

i Printed. 

April 5 .. 

12 .. 

„ 12 

• 16 .. 

„ 16 

.„ 16 .. 

„ 23 

May 2.... 



May 3.... 

March 12.. 

20.. 

, 20.. 

„ 22. 

„ 26.. 

Printed. 

1 Not 
J Printed. 

} Not 
Printed. 

1 

}Printed. 

} Printed. 

}Printed. 

}Printed. 

558 

6 

WHEN 
BEUEISZ  

PROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

By WHOM 
PRESENTED. 

ABSTRACT OP PRAYER. 
WHETHER 
PRINTED. 

Inhabitants of Raymond Terrace (481) Four hundred 1 
1 and eighty-one 	J 

New South Wales Alliance for 
the Suppression of Intem- 
perance, and for the Social, (12) Twelve 	 
Moral, and Intellectual Eleva- 
tion of the People 

1 (270) Two hundred ) 
f and seventy 	 

Mr. Arnold .... 

(1) One 	 Mr. Walsh .... 

Mr. Hoskins .. 

} (1) One ...... Mr. McArthur., 

Mr. Douglas .. 

Mr. Douglas .. j(140) One hundred' 
J and forty 

(I) One 	....... 

Mr. Driver .... 

Mr. Arnold .... 

Mr. Arnold .... 

Mr. Hay 

Mr. Shepherd .. 

Mr. Windeyer 

Mr. Parkes .... 

Mr. Parkes .... 

iSetting forth her services in the 
capacity of late Office Cleaner 
employed in the Immigration 
Department, without remunera-
tion, and praying relief. ...... 

(Praying that a Land Bill may be 
passed with the provisions in 
the Petition set forth .......... 

1 
Printed. 

1. Printed. 

Similar prayer ................ 

if Praying that the Duties on Te 
1 and Sugar may be repealed 

Praying to be heard by himself,  
his Counsel, or his Agent, 
against the Mimi and Mealier]] 
Railway Act Amendment Bill.. 

tPraying that a Bill may be passed 
providing for the payment of all 
Members who may be elected to 
sit in the next Legislative As-
sembly of New South Wales .. 

Praying for the passing of an 
Insolvency Act suited to the 
present requirements of the 
Colony ...   

(Complaining of the conduct of 
I Mr. Justice Cary in a recent ease 

/ in which the Petitioner was 
plaintiff; and one Alexander 

..  

Brand, defendant   

(Complaining of the judicial con- 
duct of Mr. Justice Cary, gene- 
rally 	  

(Against the passing of the ) 
Chinese Immigration Regula- 
tionBill ; and praying that any 
Chinese Immigration Regula- 
tion Bill which may be enter-

) tamed may be deprived of all 
1 class legislation of an oppressive 
I or prohibitory character, and be: 
I framed upon principles of j ustice,, 
1 to the mutual benefit of the 
I Chinese and the Inhabitants of , 
I. these Colonies  1 

(Representing that he believes it 1 
is proposed to recommend the 
mortgage and ultimate sale of 
the Common Lands of the Dis-
trict,of which he is a Trustee, 
for the purpose of defraying the 
expense of Certain proposed 
Roads and Bridges to cross the 
Parramatta River and Iron Cove, 

 praying that no appropria- 
tion of such lands may be sane-, 
firmed at variance with the 
intention as expressed in the 

I. original Grant ..... .... 	 . 

a Steam Folly at Raymond 1. Printed. 
Praying for the establishment of { 

(Praying that the License called I 
" 0011feCtiOlICVS' License," may' Printed. 
be  no longer required by law. .. 

{

Praying that the House will pass!)Not 
ilson's Settlement Investment Printed. 

„ 27.. 

Grievances—continued. 

Jane Cockburn 

4. Land Bill. 
Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trict of Wollongong, Dapto, 
and Charcoal   

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
tricts of Broughton Creek, Fox 
Ground, and its vicinity  

5. Miscellaneous, 
Certain Inhabitants of Brough-
ton Creek, Fox Ground, Gcrin-
gong, Eiama, Dapto, Shell-
harbour, and Wollongong   

Henry Burton Bradley 

Certain Residents of the Nor-
thern District .............. 

Members of the Sydney Trade 
Protection Society 	 

Samuel Ward, of Camden .... 

Certain Residents in the District 

Certain Merchants, Tradesmen 
and Citizens of Sydney ...... 

Edward Drinkwater 

Joseph Wilson 	...... 

1 (111) One hundred 1 
and eleven 	J 

(1) One ...... 

(214) Two hundred 1 
and fourteen .... 

(302) Three hundred 1 
and two ..... 	J 

(168) Four hundred' 
and sixty-eight 	J 

Printed. 

>Printed. 



ABSTRACT OF PRAYER. 

(Praying for the establishment of 
1 a Court House at Black Creek. 

(Setting forth the high price am,  
I defective supply of pare water h 
< the Inhabitants of Sydney, no( 
I praying that steps may be take'. 
L to remedy these evils. 

[

Praying for leave to appear and 
be represented before the Selem 
Committee, appointed on tin 

1  ' 
 

17th instant, to inquire into am 
report upon his former Petition, 
of the 21st September, 1859, 
relative to the proposed Muni-

( cipality of Shoalhaven ........ 

daries of the City of Sydney, 
I and praying relief in the event 
l. of such Act being passed. 

[

Praying for a full and minute 
inqui ,  y into and investigation of 
all the circumstances connected 
with the case of Frederick Beer, 
a medical practitioner, who, if 
April, 1850, was sentenced tx 

{ ten years imprisonment, on a 
charge of having illegally ad-
ministered belladonna to one 
Phyllis Browne ; and who, in 
April last, received a ticket-of. 
leave, and is now practising his 

L Profession at Braidwood ...... 

Representing that, relying on the 

( Praying that the House will not 
I sanction any measure having for 
I its object the appropriation of 
} the Common Lands at the Field 
I of Mars for any other purpose 
I than that for which they were 
l originally intended. 

(Setting for th certain losses which 
he will sustain if an Act be 

I  passed to compel the closing of 
all Tanyards within the boun- 

due enforcement of the Act 14 
Viet, No. 30, he abstained from 
establishing himself us a tanner 
in Sydney, and opened a tanning 
establishment at St. Mary's, 
South Creek ; but that, having 
recently learned that tanneries 
are not discontinued in Sydney, 
he is desirous of the adoption of 
measures which will have the 
effect of immediately discon-
tinuing such establishments 
within the limits of exclusion.. 
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WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM WHOM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY WHOM 
PRESENTED. 

April 9 	.. 

„ 	23 .. 

May 2 .... 

„ 	a.... 

Jan. 18 	.. 

Miscellaseous—continued. 
Certain Landowners and others 
having interest in the Field of 
Mars Common ...... 

Hercules Watt 	...... 

Certain Inhabitants of the Dis-
trict of Braidwood .......... 

John Page 	. ....... .......... 

Certain 	Inhabitants of Black 
Creek, in the Police District of  
Maitland 	  

William Bland, as President of 
the Council of the Australian 
Medical Association  

6. Municipalities. 
Alexander Berry, of the North 
Shore, near Sydney, in the 
Colony of New South Wales, 
Esquire   

James Graham, Mayor of the 
Shoalhaven Municipality 

Municipal Council of Newcastle 

(259) Two hundred} 
And fifty-nine .... 

} 

	

f

(1,564) 	One 	thou- 
sand five hundred 
and sixty-four 

	

(1) One 	  

). (70) Seventy ...... 

	

(1) One 	. ....... 	 

	

). (1) One 	 

Mr. Shepherd .. 

Mr. C. Cowper, 
junr. 	 

CaptainMoriarty 

Mr. Parkes 

Mr. Parkes 	 

Mr. Sutherland . 

Mr. Morris 

Mr. J Garrett 	 

Mr. Hannell.. 	 

„ 22.... Samuel Hebblewhite 	 Mr. Piddington.. 

Chairman and Councillors of the 
Municipality of Waterloo 	 1 (2) Two ............ ) 

Mar. 1.... Municipal Council of Wavorley 	(2) Two 	 Mr. Lucas 	 

„ 	1.... Certain Ratepayers of Waverley 	(53) Fifty-three 	 Mr. Lucas...... 

WHETHER 
PRINTED. 

1 
'Printed. 

1> 

1 

}Printed. 

/ 

Printed. 

Praying to be heard by Attorney { 
or Counsel b fore the Select 
Committee, now sitting, on the 
Shoalhaven Municipality 	 

( Representing the existence of 

I certain obstruct:0ns to the per-
manent i m pro ve men t of the Printed. 
City of Newcastle, and praying 

Printed. 

;Printed. 

F Printed. 

1 

} Not 
Printed. 

( Praying that this House will 
either exempt the Randwiek 
and Cougee Roads Trust from 
the operation of the Munici. 
panties Act Amendment Bill 

L of 1861. now under the con-
sideration of the H' use, or 
refuse to pass the said Bill 
altogether. .. ... ..   

{ 
mt 0 

Prasing that the Municipalities 
Am-mila Bill of 1861 

In favour of the Municipalities 
1 Act Amendment Bill of 1361._ 

Similar prayer ................ 

>Printed. 

1 

I Not 
Printed. 

Not 
Printed. 

1 Not 
Printed. , 
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WHEN 
RECEIVED. 

FROM FROM 
AND WHENCE PRESENTED. 

NUMBER 
OF SIGNATURES. 

BY \mom 
PRESENTED. 

ABSTRACT OP PRAYER. 
VIIURRYIV. 
PRINTED. 

Jan. n .. 

„ 	23 .. 

Feb. 	6 .. 

„ 	8 .. 

„ 	8 „ 

„ 	12 .. 

Mar. 12 .. 

April 19 .. 

Feb. 20 .. 

,, 	21 	.. 

„ 	27 .. 

May 	2 .. 

„ 	3 .. 

7. Private Bills. 
Certain Directors of the Cob- 
nial Bank of Australasia 	 

John Campbell, of the City of 
Sydney, in the Colony of New 
South Wales, Esquire   

James and Alexander Brown 	 

Trustees of Hosking's Estate 	 

Trustees of Mackenzie's Mar- 
riage Settlement ..... 	 . 

Right Reverend William Tyr- 
rell, Doctor in Divinity, Lord 
Bishop of Newcastle   

Certain Directors 	of the Cla- 
rence 	and 	Richmond Rivers 
Steam Navigation Company 	 

Chairman 	and Vice-Chairman 
of the ;Hornell and Maitland 
Railway Company .... 	 

S. Railways. 
Certain Proprietors of Property, 
Householders, and others. re- 
siding inin Pitt-street and adjoin  
lug streets 	  

Edward Bell 	.......  	 

Certain 	Freeholders. 	House- 
holders, Residents in Pitt-street 
and others 	  

Directors 	of 	the 	Pyrmont 

	

Company .. .... 	 

Certain Inhabitants of Sydney 
and its neighbourhood -------- 

(3) Three 	 

(1) One 	 

(1) One 	 

(4) Four .. ...... 	 

} (I) One 

1 
(1) One 	 

(5) Five .... 	 

(2) Two . ....... 	 

(321) Three hundred} 
and twenty-four .. 

(1) One ...... 	 

(44) Forty-four 	 

,o, 
Five 	

 ‘ 	r 

1 (626) 	Six hundred}, 
5 	and twenty-six ..  

Mr. Blake 	 

Mr. Parkes 	 

Mr. Parkes 	 

Mr. Windeyer 	 

Mr ' WinaVer • • 

Mr. Dick 	

Mr. Parkes 	 

Mr. Parkes 	 

Mr. Arnold 	 

Mr. Wilson 	 

	

Mr. Sutherland 	 

Ur. Parkes 	 

	

Mr. Sutherland 	 

Praying for leave to introduce a 
for ' the 	Incorporation' o 

the Colonial Bank of Austral 

(Praying for leave to bring in a 
1 	Bill to enable the Trustees of  
I 	a 	settlement 	made 	by 	Mr
' 	Joseph Wilson, of Land at Bal 
i main, to sell the said Land 

and to snake provision for the 
investment of the proceeds of 

I, 	m 

the sale thereof 	  

Praying for leave to introduce a 
Bill to amend the Mimi and 
Hexham Railway Act   

IPraying for leave to bring in n 
Bill to authorize the sale and 
exchange of property hold in 

 Trust for Mrs. Martha Foxlowe 
Hosking and her issue   

(Praying for leave to bring in n 
I 	Bill to confer powers to sell and 
l grant Building Leases upon the 

Trustees of the Marriage Settle- 
merit of William Henry Maeken- 
zie, and Helen his wife  

(Praying for leave to bring in a 
1 	Bill to enable him, as surviving 

Trustee of certain Land situated 
< in the Town of West Maitland, 

1 	to sell the said land, and to pro- 
1 	vide for the appropriation of the 
L proceeds of such sale 	 

Praying for leave to introduce a 
Bill to Incorporate the Clarence 
and Riehmond Rivers Steam 
Navigation Company 	 

Praying for leave to 	introduce 
the Morpeth and Maitland Rail-
way Company's Bill .. 	 

the Pitt-street Tramway Bill of 
Praying that the House will pass 

(Praying 	that 	this 	House will, 

1  before coming to any decision 
on the subject either of Rail- 
way Extension on the present 
system, or of Tramways, satisfy 
itself of the practicability and 
economy of the system of loco-
motion projected by him   

{Against the passing of the Pitt- 
 street Tramway Bill of 1861 	 

(Setting forth that they had in- 
• curred considerable expenditure 

in the prosecution of their work, 
on the Miderstanding that the 
Pyrmont Railway Terminus 
would be completed by the  
Government ; and praying that  
such Terminus and relative 
works 	should, 	with 	as 	little 
delay as possible, be completed 
and 	made 	available 	for 	the 

I.  public 	  

Praying that such steps may be 
taken, wit hout delay, 	as may 
appear best calculated to lead to 

\. the speedy completion of the 
Pynnont Railway Terminus 	 

Not 
Prink& 

i. 	Not  
r Print. I 

.1 

1 ( 	Not j printed.  
) 

1 
) 	Not plinth&  

-) 

Not 
Printed. 

1  
J 
1 

rtioNtoottt  

Not 
Printed. 

Not  

j Printed. 

) 
I 
1 
, v . 

m.
,,,,, 

e Printed. i 

) 	Not 
j Printed. 
) 
I 
i 

1  
J 

Printa. 
I 

..) 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 11 May, 1861. 

 

CHA. TOMPSON, 
Clerk of Legislative Assembly.. 

   

[Price, 2d.] 
	 Sydney : Thomas Richards, Clarannaent Printer.-18614 



1861, 

Regiolatibe assembly, 
NEW SOUTH WALES, 

No. 1. 
ALPHABETICAL REGISTER OF PUBLIC BILLS ORIGINATED IN THE ASSEMBLY DURING TilE SESSIO OF 1861. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 11 May, 1861. SOO- 1Price,lik] 

CHA. TOMPSON, 
Clerk of Legislative Age l 

SHORT TITLES. 
MY W11011 

LNITIATED, 

W
he

n  
or

de
re

d.
  

W
re

n!  

'PAN
IonnoP  R

ep
or

te
d.

  

R
ec

om
m

it
te

d.
  

R
ep

or
t.  

A
do

pt
io

n  
o f

 R
ep

or
t.  

R
ea

d
 3°

.  

Se
nt

 u
p  

to
  C

ou
nc

il
 fo

r  
co

nc
ur

re
nc

e.
  

A
gr

ee
d  

to
  

by
  

C
ou

nc
il 

w
it

ho
u
t A

m
en

dm
en

t.  

A
gr

ee
d
 to

  b
y
  C

ou
nc

il 
w

ith
 A

m
e n

dm
en

ts
.  

C
ou

nc
il

's  
A

m
en

dm
en

ts
  

ag
re

ed
 to

.  

A
ss

em
bl

y  
ag

re
es

  to
  so

m
e,

  
an

d  
d
is

a
g

re
es

  f
ro

m
,  

C
ou

nc
il.

  

A
ss

em
bl

y  
ag

re
es

  to
  so

m
e,

  
am

en
ds

  o
ne

,  a
n

d  
d

is
-

ag
re

es
  f

ro
m

  o
th

er
s,

  o
f 

th
e  

A
m

en
dm

en
ts

  m
ad

e  
by

  th
e  

C
ou

nc
il.

  

A
ss

en
t  R

ep
or

te
d.

  

N
um

be
r  o

f
 A

ct
.  

REMARICS, 

Appropriation smoseo-et ...... –, ...... 	, 
Capital Punishments Abolition Sill .....„, 
Careless Use of Fire Prevention Bill   
Cattle Disease Prevention Bill of 1861 ..„„ 
Cattle Hiving Act Amendment BM  „ 
Chinese Immigration Regulation Bill 	,t 	 

Church and School Lands Bill 	 i 	 

Coal Fields Regulation B111,1861 	•, 	3 .. ..... 

Colonial Spirits Duties Bill of 1861.. ... „, 	 0. ,..... 

Common Lavr Procedure Act Extennou 1321 „.... 

.. . Consolidated Revenue Fund Bill, 1881 	,„ .. 	. 
Cron Lands Alienation Bill of 1861 	,,,„...., 
Crown Lands Occupation Bill of 1861 ..1.„..., 
Customs Inland Bonding Bill, 1861 	..... 	„ .. ... . . 

; 
Duties of Customs Bill of 1861 	  

Gold Fields Bil1,1861 	 i  • Hawkers' Licenses Amendment/Bill ..„....f. . .... - 	 
Impounding Bill of 1861 	  

Insolvency Commissioner's Bill .o.f 1861 .... 	 
...„ Legislative Council Bill of 1861 	. 	..,.....5 

Liability of Mining Partnershi ps Limitatiom Bill 
Magistrates' Powers Limitation Bill 	 
Municipalities Act Amendment Bill of 1861 	 
Municipal Rates Enforcement Bill of 1861 .... 	 
Ordnance Land Act Amendment Bill . . .... . i „ 	 
Pitt-street Tramway Bill  	.. _... - , - .... 
Property Law and Trustees' Relief Bill of 1861 .., 
Public Ferries Law Amendment Bill ....... . . 4.„... 
Public Works Loan Bin, 1861 L., „ 
Publicans' Laws Amendment Bill of .1881 , 	 
Scab in Sheep Bill of 1861 	 „1„ .... 
Sydney Revenues Improvement Bill 	 
Tolls Amendment Ant Amendment Bill ....,„„„. 

Voluntary and Assisted Immigrationrund Mill 	 

 	Mr. Weekes 	. • . ... . „...., 
A ir. Parkes ...„ ... . .. „..,.. 

 	lir, Mate„ 	. . ..... . .... ,... Mr. blest= 	 
Mr. Wircleyer 	s„.„,..„, 
Mr. Lucas 	  

Din Wilson-. .., . 	, 

Mr. Cowper 	 

Mt Weekes „, „,..- ..., 

• Mr. Windeyer „,„„ 	 

ID. Weekes 	-., . . ..... , 	, 
Mn Robertson 	 

	

Mr, RobertsOn ..... „.„ 	 
Mn WeekeS 	. . .... ...„, 	 

Mr. 1 Teams 	 

Mr. Cowper..... ....,..„ 	 

	

Mr. Buchanan ..., .....  	 
Mr. Watt 	 

Mc Cowper.„.„.„, ..... 	 
Mr. Cowper. ..... . . ...,..„ 
Mr, Wilson 	 
Inn Buchanan ..... 	, 	 
Mr. Limas 	 
Mr. Cowper 	 
Mr Cowper 	 
Mr Arnold 	 
Mr, Blake 	.... 	 
Mr. Terry 	. .......... 	., 	 
Mr. Weekes 	,...., ...... „ 
Mr. Thisden 	 
Atr Morris 	 . 
Mr. Parkes 	 
5.h. Lucas 	,.. . . ...... ....„ 

Mr. WeekeS 	... „ , 	 

26 Apl. ..... . 

	

15 Jan . . 	 
12 f;ar 	 
S 	 pt A M 	 

	

3 Apt., A.m 	 
26 Fab. 	 

26 Tam 	 

	

17 Apt., Am 	 

	

6 Feb„ 	, 

15 Jan. „,,,,, 

24 Tan. 	 

16 Jan 	 
28 Ma 	 

6 Feb. 	 

17 Apl., AN. 

	

23 Apl, .. 	
29 Jan.,- - 

20 Mar...„ 
17 Jan 	 
12 Mn, 	 

	

27 Mar„am 	 

	

12 Feb....„ 	 
21 Ap 	 

14 Feb „ 
5 Feb. 	 , 

12 Mar 	 
1 May 	 

19 Feb., 	 
18 Jan. 	 

24 Apt ...... 
15 Jan 	 
12 Mar., 	 
3 Apl., 
3 Apt., A.m. 

	

26 Feb.. .., 	 

	

23Jan. „„ 	 

	

17 Apl., A.m 	 

	

6 Feb . ,,,, 	 

15Jan. 	 

17 Jam „ 	 
28 Max., 	• 

6Feb 	 

17 Apl., a m 2a Apl 	 
29 Jan 	 

21 Illar.,A.m 
17 Jan.. 	_ 

n., 	 
27 Man,am 
12 Feb, 	 
24 Apl. 	 

14 Feb 	, 
5 Feb 	 

	

12 Man.., 	 	 
1 May ...- 

19 Feb..... 
18 Jan....,. 

7 May ..„. 

26 API, am 

	

Apl 	, 
17 Apl., am. 
12 Mar..- . 

	

1 Feb 	 ... 

	

24 Apl. 	 

7 Fob., ea . 
24 Jan,,A,m, 

  21 Jan. ,...... 

31 Jan., A.. M. 

	

11 Apt. 	 

	

6 Fob..„. 	. 

	

24 Apl. 	 
.. ..... .... 

	

1 Ka 	 

	

11 AI 	 
24 Jam •.. 

	

15 Mar 	 

	

16 Apl. 	., 	 

26 Apl., AM 

	

28 Fob 	 

	

26 Feb. 	 

	

2 Macy 	 , 

8 Feb.._ 

7 May .. , 

26 Apl.,a5t. 

9 Apl. 	 

	

17 Apl., Ant 	 
12 Mar 	 

19 Feb..., 	 

24 Apl 	 

7 Feb., asm 

24 Tan.,A.m, 

24 Jan 	 

20 Man.- 
11 Apl 	 

6 Feb 	 

	

25 Apl. ..., 	 
- 	....... 

11 ApL 	 
2 Apl 	 

15 Mar 	 
19 Apl, 	 

gipTcliit, 

28 FeCb. 	 

2 May ...„ 
.... 

8 Fdb.. 

7 May 	 

„ 

26 Apl,,A.M. 	 

a Apl, ., 
17 Apt., A.M. 
12 Apl....... 

1 Mar 	 

7 Feb 	Mc ,A. 

24 Jan.,A.m. 

24 Jan. 	 

20 Mar , 	 

6 Feb 	 

2 May 	 

11 A pl  
11 Apl., ex 
17 Apl., am 
19 Apl... , 

2 May, A.M 

1 Mar 	 

2 May 	 

	 12 Feb . 	 

Feb 

7 May 	 

.. 

.„......,. 
1? Apt .. . 

...t.... 

( ...,-...... 
t 3 TM.. 

	... 

y 

	

11: Apl, ,... 	
. 

	

. 	... 

	

. 	 . . .... 

„,......... 

	

„.., 	.... 

	

. 	. „ 

	

....„ 	.. 	, 	

	

. 	. 

• ,,,...... 

.. 	, 	..... . 

...,....„,.. 
12 Apl...... 

.... 

A..- .. . . . 

. 	,..,„...., 
30-011. 	 

	' 
$.0 “ 9 	  

2 May „,.. 
... 	.... 	,, 

1 Apl.   

,„,........ 
..„ . .... 

... „,....„

„, „,,„, 
.., . .. .. ... 
..,.,. .... 
...  

26 Apl., A.m. 
,- .. 

9 Apl 	„ 
17 Apl., A.M. 
12 Apl..,..., 

7 Feb., a m 

24 Jau.... ( 
1 Feb. „. f 

20 Mem- . 
21 Mar ,a ts 

2 May ...„ 
.. 	• 

11 Apl 	 
 	11 Apt ... 

17 Apt., Am. 
19 Apt. 	 

2 May, A.M 	

2 May .„ 	 

12 Fob .. .. „ 

7 May 	

 	5 

returned 

1 May 

11 Apt, A.ox 

	

19 Apl. 	 

	

19 Apl. 	 

	 11 Apl 	 

  1.May  

A.N 7 Feb , 

5 Feb  

2' Mar am 
27 Mar ,A sr. 

... 

_ 3 May .. 

	

... 	. 

24 Apl....... 
11 Apl.....,. 
19 Apl. ,„  

	

, 	 

	

..... 	.. . .. 
2 May 

	

 	7 Mar 	 

.3 May 
, 	, ... 

	

14 Fob 	 

	

7 May 	

1 May 

11 Apl., am 
10 Apl...... 
19 A,p1.., ... 

11 Apt. 	 

7 Feb, AMC 

5 Feb 	 

27 Man ,A.51 
27 Mar ,A 	 x 

 	6 Feb 	 

3 May 	 
. 	... 

 	5 Mar 	 
24 ApL 	 
11 Apl. 
19 Apl. 	 
26 ApL 	 

. 	 
 	2 	y 

7 Mar 	.. 

3 May 

14 Feb 	 

7 May 	

Negatived, on motio n for and reading , 1 	oh. 

1 may 

	

11 ApL,A.X 	 
19 ApL 	 
19 Apt. 	 

11 Apl 	 

	

7 Feb.,A.m  	 

	 24 Jam ., , 

	

27 Mar ,am 	 
27Mar ,A.X 
,,, . ,• , 

3 May „,„ 
• „...,.... 
' - -- 

24 Apt •.,. 
11 Apl. 	 

	

19 Apt., .., 	 
26 Apl. 	 

	 2 May 	 

(cif; 	 
•.., 	..., 

	

 	3 May ... 

II.Yel, 	 

7 

 	$ May 

12 Apl. - ... 
6 May 	 

30 Jan. 

.... 	.. 	.. 

6 May 	 
9 May 	 

. 	...... 

II May, sas 

i ilar,A 	m.  

.,.. 
. 	.,, 

....... 

. 	• 7 ' 

	

 	. 

	

 	28 Feb„,... 

	

9 May „ . 	 
.. " . 

.. .... .4., 

9 May ,..,. 

 , 

, .....„....
c.,,  
. . 

1.1. 	..., 	 ...4L „„ 

„., 	 

14 Man 
„   	

	

, 	, 

. 	...„ 	. 

• " 

..... ....... 

1. Max  

.. .... ,. 

•.,.... ...... 

e May 

...... ...... 
24A.pl 	 

5 Mar 	 
.. 
-. 

• 

... 

. • 
•• 

•• 	.. 

• 

”' 	" 
8 1 	A.M. 	 

• 

. 	. 

.. 

• 
• 

.. 	• 

• • 
....... 	. 

• 
-. 

• .... .... 

, 	 

9 May 	 
•. 	.. ..•, 

.......,.... 

- 

.. 	. 

... 	,, 	.. 
 	27 Mar ... 

16 ApL 	 

.. . 1 	. •• 4.:  

  14 May  

... ....... ,. 

-....... 

....... .... 

.... 	. . t  

3.11 ay . 	 

..... ..... 

M VAC. 
23 

..... 

..; 

11 

....., 

...... 

6 

.- .. 

... 

.... 

2 2  01  .. 
25  

15 

- 
24 
. . 

9 

12 

Assent not repotted to the House. 
Negatived, on motion for 2nd reading, 26 Textuary, A.m. 

:1504uPesdaelr'tiih19:, APr Lis  
Not returned by Legislative Council. 	. 
Assent
D e  shear  :geltt:f 	 cidtiol lu:c1 out, on ;notion for 3n1 reading, 

8 March ; restored to Paper, 27 March, AN. 	Not returned bY 
egi Lslative Council. 

Not 	by Legislative Council. 
Standing Orders suspended (24 January) to Omit of Bill passing 
through all its stages in one day. bTot returned lay Legislative 
Council. 

( Standing Orders suspended (24 January), to admit of Bill passin g  
f 	through all its stages in one day. 

Not returned by Legislative CounciL 
Stopped by Prorogation. 
Discharged from Paper, 6 May. 
Standing Orders 	suspended 	(6 	February), to 	't of 	MR 

passing through all its stages in one day, 
Not returned by Legislative Council. 
Stopped by Prorogation. 
Discharged from Paper, 28 April. 
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t Assent not reported to the House. 

Not returned by Legislative Council. 
Pro folind Bill. 

Negatived, on motion for and reading, 15 March. 
Assent not reported to the House, 
Supersede* by Previous Question (16 April) On MOtionfor 20. 

Referred to Select Committee, 1 March 	(No Report) I 

ng Standing Orders suspended (6 May), to admit of All passi 
th through all its stages ill one day. Assent not reported to e 
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NI REMARKS. 
a( m.,.$ 
0 g 	I 
. gl c.) 	1:1 

Clarence and Richmond Rivers Steam Naviga- f, 
1 

Colonial Ba
Trust Bi
nk of Australasia ............ Fill 

ll 	
.. 

M
Hosking's 	

Marriage arriage Settlement Trustees Bill 	 
Alinmi and Ilexham Railway Act Amendment BM 
Morpeth and Maitland Railway CompantsBill 

Witligunyah Murray Bridge Company's Bill,  

West Maitland Church Land Sale Bill...„,,,, 	 
Wilson's Settlement Investment Bit .... . ..... 	 

ut ratios. 
 " 	- 

Mx. Blake 	  
Mr. Windeyer .,, 	 
Mr. Windeyet 	 
Mr. Parkes 	 
Mr. Parkes ......... .., 	 

Mr. Day (26 Oct 1863) 

Mr. Dick „., ... 	,.„ . 
Mr. Parkes .. . .... . . ..,...- 

15  mar 

15 Tan 	 
12 Feb 	 
12 Feb, 	 

	

7Feb., am 	 

	

24 ApL, A.M 	 

8 Feb, A 

9 Feb. , „ 
24 Jan. 	 

5 Tan. ..„ . 
2 Feb, ..., 

12 Feb...„ 
7 Feb....„, 

24 Apt, Am. 

	

8 Feb., A.M 	 

19 Sob 	 
25 Jam „.. 

	 27 Ilan, A 
18 Jan, 	 
19 Feb 	 
19 Feb... 	
12 Feb. 	 
24 Apl. 	 

19 Feb 	 

26 Feb 	 
29 Jan. ., 	 

3 Apl., a n 
8 Feb. 	 

11 Apl. 	 
3 Apl., An i 

22 Mar 	 
27 Apl., am, 

	

Mar.- 	 

20 Mar 	 
6 Feb 	 

17 Apt, LSI 

	

28 Feb 	 

	

16 Apt. 	 

	

p • 	 
8 Apl., am 
4 May, AM. 

23 Max., An 

3 Apl., am. 
13 Man, am. 

	

, 	M 	 17 Apt a 
16 Mar  
16 Apl... 

	

11 Apl. 	 
8 Apt, aar 
6 Slay

23Mar., am 

	

11 Apl. 	 
23 Mar AM 

17 Apl., aft 

16 Apl 	 
11 Apt ... 
17 Apl., A.N 

. 

231Tar., Ain 

11 ApL 	 
23 Kar.,A,m, 

... 	A 

.,„...„ , 
.... ..... .. 

...... „, 

1 (3 Apt ,,A 

-,...... 

.... ...... ,. 

• A ... 

..... 
. . 
Apt  

. ... 
AM 3 	, 

, 	.. • 
16 Apl........ 
11 Apl. 	 
17 Apt., am 	 
--.......... 

23 Mar., alf . 

27AApL 
ter.,A.m. k 

3 	j 

„......... 
19 Apt ..... 
18 Apl. 	.. 
19 ApL 	 
-  ..... ..... 

27 Mar AM 

11 ApL, am, 

...... „.... 
19 Apl. . . 
16 ApL .... 
19 Apl...... 

............ 

27 Man, AM. 

11 Apt, A.m. 

.„, .. 
19. Apt 	. 
16 Apl. 	 
19 ApI 

...... ...... 

27 Mar LM 

11 Apt, am, 

. 	. 
May A.M. 

m May, a... 

. ... . .. 

	

'May 	 

May 	 

IITay 	 

. 	. 	.... 
"''""" ........ 

9 May 	 

..., .... , . .. 
. .. 	„ ...... 

..„ ..... 	.. 

Assent not reported to the House. 
Discharged from Paper, 4 May am. 

I Assent not reported to the House. 

Stopped by Prorogation. 
5 60th Standing Order suspended (8 Feb., A, to admit of Bill 
1 	being introduced upon Petition presented

x.) 
 to Parliament on 

( 	26 Oct., 1860. 	Assent not reported to the House. 

t Lapsed, 13 March, am ; restored to Paper 16 March 	Assent not 
t 	reported to the House, 
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R.1111AB8. 	' 

FUMY; BILLS, YRIVATB BI8. 

Additional Judge's Appointment„ 	-. .. .. 
Barristers' Admission tot Amendment ' .,, 	 

Commissioner at Newcastle Appointment 	 
Coroners' Bail for Manslaughter 	„„„.. ,„ 	 
Criminal Lunatics Bill of 1861 	  

	

Enforcement of Chains against the Crown .....„ 	 
Members of Council Qualification 	  

	

Proof by Declaration Abolition Bill of 1861 „.„ 	 
Registration of Deeds affecting Real Estelle}   

Lac Amendment 	... .. . 	.. 	...... . ........ 
Supreme Court Verdicts and Judgments .... . . 	. 
Sydney University Incorporation AnAmencligeu-t 
Temporary Acts Continuanee 	  
The Nice South Wales Census Bill for 1861 	 

reh of 
S    ynods 	

Englan 

........ ,„... ...... ,.... 

. „,„ ..„ ... 
„ 	.. „. 	.. . ... 
„.„..........„.....„. 

„,....„ ....... ...„ ..... 
,....,,,,,. ........... " 

........ ............ ''"  

,.. 

., M.  
9 May, an 

17 Aphm , a. 

14 Fell ,A.m. 

	

8 Mann.m 	 
19 Apl 	 
19 Apl. „„ 
I May 	 
8 Mar., am 

14 Feb., AAL 
21 Feb.,A.m. 
28 Man 	 

	

8 1tar.,am 	 
30 Jan 	 

. ,, . . 	. ,„“ 
17 A.M ft 

14 Feb., A,M. 	 
8 Mar.,A.m. 	 

1 May 	 
I May  
8 Mer.,01, 

14 Feb., am.   
21 Feb., s h, 
28 Mat .., • 
8 Mar.,1m. 

30 Jam .. 

	

.,..- 	. 
. 	, 	. 	. 	

, 

..   ..... 

	

.... 	 

.... .......... 

• . 	.. 

... 	,. 

..... .... 

.. ..... . , 

..... 

22 Feb... 
H Apl 

  24 Apt , 
3 May .., 

11 Ap1 „. 

26 Feb.... 
11 Apt.... 
11 API.... 
13 Feb ., 

, 

1 Mar.- 
11 Apt... 
24 Apt, 
3 May 

.. 
11 Apl.... 

26 Feb-. 
11 Apl.... 

is Feb, 	. 

1 Mar... 
11 Apt, ... 
24 Apt._ 
3 May .,   

11 APL . 

26 Feb... 
11 Apl. ,.. 

13 Feb.. 

	

..... , 	 

	

..... 	 

24 Apl, 

.... 	 

	

..... 	 

... ... 

••• .. 

24-Apt.. 
• 

....- .. 

Apt.. 

11 Apt . 
1 Man... 

11 Apl. 	. 
11 Apl .. 
13 Feb. 

..... , 	.., 

23 ApL .. 

24 ApL ... 
(I Mar .. 

16 Apt ... 
24 AO..., 

Feb..., 

... 	.... . , 

. .4 	.. 

24 Apt.. ... 

....„..... 
24 Apl 	 
14 Feb 	 

24 API. 	 
25 Apl. - 

5 Man.., 

18 Apf. „.. 

24 Apt, ... 
25 Apt. ..,,, 

.... ..„ 
5Mat ..... , 

6 Apt . , .. 

' 	"^” •`• 

1 	' 	 May 
1 May ..., 

, 
... , 	..„ 

14 Ila 	 

19 Apl., 

.,., ...... „ 

• ' ... 	• 

. 	.. , 	.. 

....„ , ... 
.., ... ,........ 

	

.. 	,. 	4.. 
. 	, 	.. 

	

.. 	, 

.. 	.. 

. 	, 
3 Atay ... , .. 

20 Max 	 

 	21 Feb. ...... 

241r1e. 

18 
1g 
27 

16 
7 . 

17 
• 5 

Stopped by Prorogation. 
Superseded by Question of this day sir months' ,  26th April. 
Discharged from Paper, 13 April, AN. 

} Assent not reported to the Manse. 
Assent reserved. 
Discharged from Paper, 10 gay. 
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RECAPITULATION. 

Number of Public tills originated iri the LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY, as per Register 

Number of Private Bills 	do. 	 do. 	es per Register 

umber of Public Bills brought from the LE1sn4rifl Comeosi 	a per Register 

Number of Private Pills 	dit 	 do. 	 do. 

No. L.. 	.., 

No .3 .... 	a . 

No. 1  

... 	.4, 	.., 	.. 

a. 	.5 	... 	a. 

- 

Public. 

85 

• 9 
13 

58 

Total, 

Passed ansi Assented ,. 	.. 2.8 30 

Superseded by Question of ii this day six menthe" 	,, 	.... 	.., .„.. „. .). 	,, .„ 	_, 	,, „ 2 

Not returned by liegielatfie Council,  

--.„ 68 

_Legislative Assembly Offices, 
Sydney, 11 May, 1861. 

QUA. TOMPSQ 
Clerk of Levi Sive Assembly. ' 
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tegisslatibe 9.1ssormblg. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ALPHABETICAL REGISTERS . 

OF 

ADDRESSES AND ORDERS FOR PAPERS, 
AND OP 

ADDRE SSES 

(NOT BEING FOR PAPERS.) 

SESSION 1861. 

[Price, 2d.1 	 303—A 



00 
1-1 

N
E
W

 SO
U

T
H

 W
A

L
E

S
.  

—
  

V.
egt

ida
t ib

e  
g
o

sem
bIR

.  

--564 

AL
PH

AB
ET

IC
AL

  

I
P

 T
O

 B
E

 P
R

IN
T

E
D

.  

W
he

n  
de

liv
er

ed
 

fo
r  

P
ri

nt
in

g.
  

.4 • o i., cs ...• 	ifq 
V 	V 
0 	CO 

CI 

r-": 	*.t.  
it 	Vi. 
•11 	< 
0 	10 
V 	Cl 

D
at

e  
of

 O
rd

er
.  : 

• . • 
:1 

 

co  
" 

• • • . 
: 	: 

C11 	V 

CC d 

41 
41  5 
•C11 	'•1 
14 .9 
g 4 

CO 
tO 
CV --, 

co 

10 V CO 
CO 01 	.11 
CO -,11 	CI ------, ;:r 
c`a co 	co 

I-, 	0 
CO 	OD 
0, 	V -...„. 	--, 

co 	co 

M
ET

U
E

N
 T

O
 A

D
DR

ES
S 

on
  O

an
un

.  

.... 

< 
C7 

: 
: 

,.... 
t 
Q4. 

.-re■ 
77" t... 
:EL ea 
< V 

IA 

. 

: 
A 

CS 

tt). 

.... 
Pv 
< 
ell 
" 

;.. 
104 
< 
V1  
Cq 

PA
PE

R
S

 A
PP

LI
ED

  F
O

R.
  

B
y  

A
dd

re
ss

.  
B

y  
O

rd
er

.  

D
is

tr
ib

ut
io

n  
of

 R
el

ie
f t

o  
Su

tfe
rfa

s  
by

  l
as
t
 F

lo
od

)  

G
re

at
  N

or
th

 R
oa

d—
E

xp
en

di
tu

re
  o
f
 M

on
ey

  V
ot

e  
fo

r  R
ep

ai
rs

  o
f p

or
ti

on
  o

f.  

O
N

  W
II

O
SE

 M
O

TI
ON

,  

IV
LI

E
N

 PA
SS

ED
.  

V
ot

es
.  

E
nt

ry
.' 

CO CI t-.. 
104 

Cl 
CV 

001 CO 	tv 
V 	1-1 

0 co ts) e, cc,  c" co 
rl 1-1,11-,  1--i .-t 01 

a, 	•••• 
CV OV 

•olect  
 

. 	. 

til /0 

E:  ;
U r5.4Z 
.400 

	

. 	• 	 • • 

-1 	t 4 	. 	. c.  It  ' ' : 11 . 1 -1  '. • />: 	. 	. 	-4 
.4 	- 	q 	..• 9  5 •4  

e:7' 	•Car*R 
z z< 4 z zp544,--ttZ Z < 

	

0 10 CC Cl 	0 0 0 CO Of V.,  0 0 0 v• 
.-i 	cv 	.--, V 01 01 	,--, 	Cl 

VI ,. CO 
1-1 r-I V 

CO 
V 

1-.4C> 	..-1 	10 
C1 V, 	r-I 	V 

le CO CO .-I CP> CO 00 
004 	rl 	V CD 

.0 	1-• 
V V 



565 

D
at

e  
of

 O
rd

er
.  

g 
e ra 
P. PR 
0 M 
o o 
p 74 61

/4
42

 

61
/4

46
 

61
/1

54
 

61
/1

40
 

61
/1

76
 

61
/3

86
 

61
/4

45
 

61
/4

34
 

61
/3

15
 

61
/1

94
  

6 1
/2

3 3
 

RE
TU

R
N

 T
O

 A
DD

RE
SS

 
O

R
 OR

DR
R,

  

.
 

• 
• 

ro 4..: 
d 	4 

a, 	g -:2 
glzi 	cog 
P.c. 	. t..... 

Zgi;ZA 
0, 	y a 
7.17e..:.an 

1--; 
.r.,. 

2 frtiWg 	g... 
''' ° 'It d  •"A 

x1 ,4gglog 

A t .E c. 0 Js 
IF•,.4 .nNZ  9 ,=-1 
a -t 7. — 1?.    444 0 0 004g g 

o:•--- 
r,.. 
.... . 
4 

.9 

'ig, 
cn 
c) -...- 

.E 
Q 
-a 
• r 
'a' 
,g 
41 
o 

= a 

M 
o 
g 

141 

t 
ri" 
Elr' 

0 
.9 r, 

CII  

y; 

f, 
cl 

_o 
,.. 
T. 

c.....-7. 

4 

'art? 

 U".  0 
r d . ts 0 a. 
. rea 

° 
E 

<2 P 
t,. 

9 
5)9 

. 

g 
A 
4 

4 
be 

g 

.4 
g 
9 

• B
y  

A
dd

re
ss

.  

I: 
to 

"-J 
ca.; 

t . 
02  

	

.-,  	
dt°4": i 	  
a cg-g 	 
• g-c 	 
	 • 

	

0  O Q 	
73e 2 	 1-t 
E ;to 	  

0 0 

0 	0 

   ?Ag 

	

 	4 *F., 

	

   gm 	  ao 

	 C.SCQ 

	  i 2  

	 a -3 t 

P4 	11; 	 rococo  

rd 

., R., 

F:0" 22  
E 

	

   	=-37:  

91  8 9. CO 

• 

E.. 
'F.:  

,--^-•• 
C). 
-c ' ■• 	 

S o  
61 
530 —  	

rs' 
Cr. 
;-, 0 zg. 

I ie 
Eus 

g 

g 

0 

o - 

0 

...,...., 	  
• 

	

.. .. 	. 	. 	o 
'=“0 	' 	: :Tht 

.,, 	c.‘,, 	t 
4 Eilizigaz4f);--E-ca::-..o 
4 	4 4 4 4 4 s 4 	4 

tAZ•th-  t4 2 	hoa"Xeil r■ 

A 	
c , 4-i 0 d'-'.18 -a.9R  

''  • • 	 • , 	• 	• 	 0 	• . 
.8..o 	: 	g 	. o 

• r ea 

t  M g 	r g  
A 4  

R 	44 4=4 ■ ;+:4 :-. 
4 4 4 4 4 	4 	4 	4 	4 4 4 4 4 4 

*al  i'l 	It"427=Zne-l'A 

' 

2 " ' V ' 2 2..1 , 	9 t--  tc:1-ci 2 .4 . 1--  'Ili 4 X Lc' 7.-_.̀ '. 94 4 t- 

: 
 :t' 

7 	= CI r„,P p. 
xi 	0 	P. g C 8 -0 a 

<1 	 ,cx,47.6,4c.,:-.,0-1‘z•a• 	4 	c4 	43 	e ,5,742 .4::4 
Co oa"a0 A1Vgg'alei091--Ci°2 .̀ 4 ' " 2,1 -- c 	 ce.1 

-;,:,4  DS it c1:121"; 8 741Va ViZ", g3 a tz 4 74 	igit-..Z3.91, ' 



566 

'G
R

IN
IU

.T
 &

I  O
R

  A
I 

! D
at

e  
o
f
 O

rd
er

.  
I "

"
u"

 'B
r 

 er
ea

 
fo

r  
P

r i
n

ti
ng

.  

- 
e4 
V 

,:, 

.. 
c, 
ri 

441 
-4 
u. 
01 

7: 	u!"' 
a ig 0 

-.4 	 ,4 
V 	V 
.... 	. -  

.i.,.4•1 
z 
4 
, 

. 
4 
CO 

' 

ta 

0 
ra 

1-c 
0 
CO 

o 
co 

• • • • 

Ca 

• • 

0 

• 

 :

' • 

et 

. 	. 

ta 

10 0 

• • 

il 	• 

z c,i, 
2 0  

i-; 
0 00 

0 	• 
0 2 
cc  
;33 
14 P 

1:4 X 

V 
CO V 

V 

•1" —41 
- 	.> 

0 

07 
'JO 
CO 

.--1 
CO 

V 

V 
V CO 
CO 1-. 

V= 
---."  

CO  a) N., .... c., v.. 

0 VV00 

R
ET

U
R

N
 TO

 A
D

DR
ES

S 
O

R
 O

RD
ER

.  

.—'t 
V 
CO 
r' tr 

p, 

?..1  

. 

... 

: 

et 

0 

0 
g 

(0 CO 

' 
• 

8 
.a. 

op 
CO 

• 
• 

cc 	cc 
po 
CC 

b oo 
,--1 co 

t'  

: 

: 
' 

 a 	aL; 
a 
C 

CO 	1--. 

..g 
 

a 

to a a000 

. 

a'  

: Z 

71 

V 

g 

V 

PA
PE

R
S 

A
PP

LI
E D

 F
O

R.
  

B
y  

O
rd

er
.  

•

ssoappv  L
j 

M
r.

  m
ar

ti
n 
 

C
la

rk
 I

rv
in

g,
E

sq
.—

Pr
o-

e m
p

ti
ve

R
ig

ht
 e

xe
rc

is
ed

  I
  

0 Z 
9 2 
0 1,  

0 
14 
0 

W
H

E
N

 PA
SS

ED
.  

W
aw

a.  

•

Salua
 	

•o r
a
 

'01.1 

 

S
OU

T
H

 W
A

LE
S.

  

SU
PP

LE
M

EN
TA

RY
 RE

GI
ST

E
R

 O
F 

A
D

D
RE

SS
ES

  A
N

D
  O

RD
ER

S  
FO

R 
PA

PE
R
S

 DU
R

IN
G

 FO
RM

E
R

 SE
SS

IO
NS

.  

IL
eg

iss
la

t i
be

  
ao
ss
em

bl
y.

  

  



. Co 

• : 
>, a  
4,  0 

er, C. 

COO

1.  

• : 

o 	: 
c c, „ 

 
•

C. , •
.4 a 

474  
'Al  :54 	'Atr-i.tag ;01 

ts:  o. 0 

2  P .4 • 0 n o ,t1 
.4 ,ckl 

0 a) 
t- Of OD A CO 

Si 

CO 	09 

••• 

1.1 
Ca 	.10 

567 
• 

W
H

E
N

 A
N

D
 H

O
W

 A
N

SW
E

R
E

D
.  

27
 M

ar
ch

..  

W
H

E
N

 A
N

D
 H

O
W

 PR
E

SE
N

T
 

rf:1,  

4:1 

..sfastaa 

rzi 

to 

- ±-2 4' 
E 
o '45g, 
t o mmoz 

	g 
co 	CO 

co 

T
he

  S
pe

a k
er

  —
11

 61
 

2 b9 2 .7.- 	4 4  CIa,

a ct.). 
Co 711/1 CO U1 Co 

2 2 ! 2 2 2 2 2 
E'4 FCC:H p 

t t? a 44  
< 

0 0-I 1.0 Cl "TI A A 

:4; 
 . 	. 	. 

P P ,.., • ,..„ ,.. ,... 
O ro 44 ro reo 
'II 0 0 Fi CO CO co 
co co no 0 t- 
.11 CD 	.0 CO Co 

8,88-8118•77, •I.  o 
.14.4 a 4.^ 	.4 	.-. 	...X .4 
4  o 	 g 4 	7.5 4 	t4) 
0. .12  a. 	 0.4 
Co C®&CcCf,CoW 	Co Co 

O 0000000•C1 	S 0 
.17 E4tititiEmErl 	H 

• - 	• • 	: 	: 
•°,! ? ,17.5 .5.7 515, 15 CD' rl  Ft 0 0. 0 A 0 Co 0 0  A A al 0  CC 

,„-r1 	Po.ri 
4 lzr144 t4 .0 .4..4.1•4-4.c04 1-D 
0 Ch3-..0 0 .0 0  ▪ A c,1CI CA A 

tO 0 CD 0 0 0 aa 
C, .4 0 	Co to 

CO 

27
 M

ar
.,  

A
.M

  

.0 	0 0. 

C..1 CO CC Co 0 It CO 	 50 0 .-410 0 	A 0 1. 0 A A 	 i-I p-.1 A A 	al 

Co 

 

CO 

   

•. 	: 

    

     

       

    

0 

1:4 

1-1 

C.) 

CO 	CO 	3-- 41 co 0 CO 0 0 	co 0 .4 0 0 co co Ft Fi 	 C 	F. Ft A Saw a 

O
n  

w
ho

se
  M

o t
io

n.
  

8 
CC 

. 	• 
• >It 7,4 

lcC 
0 0 to 0.1 c-o 0 0  A ACC) 0 C.1 

4 
Co C• 

• Cot- 

II 

 
7-4 

o 0 at Co 4.1 up CC 0 C- "14  c., IA CO CO CO 
O 0 Cno 0 44  0 t- CI Co tO 10 0 0 0 1.0 Co 

: 

2... 
: 

iO  
g 

• 
: 

	 cd • 
	 Co 

.ti '74 
7. et s 

it'="7- 4 ; 	t.,•••• 
5 Ho  

4 	P 
a n. w

• 

	4,4 	0 : 
.93O 5 - C)  0 ,3 	0 8 	2 

	

Cl 	a P E.= 	c<FroS-.7;4:-..

▪ 

4a3 	ss o^"1:1 ° reo Ts :oc,o52.1...0 	4 .4 
5 4,1"4”-r• 	o 	rs'-,  

S U
B

JE
C
T

 O
F

 A
D

D
R

ES
S.

  

  

A
ss

is
te

d
 Im

m
ig

ra
tio

n  

0. *0 7 



568 



• ' 569 

W
H

E
N

 R
EP

O
B

TE
D

.  

CO°  r4 

vs 
o. 

9-1 r-I 
•40  
t. 
Iso 

CP LI 

, w  
otg 

P• co 
eg  0 ,, E  

.0 	0 r.40 .._...: 
to •.--,....—• 

■-8 

• § 

° Ei Cs 
E ',7?' .5 

. 
Olal  ...--,--t 

I.:. 

=  

I-- ,—, 

-5. 
.  

o 

N
il

m
B

EB
 O
F

 I
  N

o.
  o

p  
M

E
E

T
IN

G
S.

  W
u
N

u
n
s
  

m 
6+ 

• 

o c ..,:r  

• 

0 
X 

. 

 i 

X 

. 
.13 
0=  
X 

.-1 wel o 
..-1 

01 ...1 

lgO  

.-I is. o .--1 el 

P 
o 

• •-• 'el 

. 

. . 

0 

0 0. I 
w 
0 
-gr . , 

. . 

. . 

0 

g 
c. to 
0 

g_.• 

o 
C.> 

'. 

. 

.... .... 
0 

6 
p. 

' enatu(aic 

W
H

E
N

 A
N

D
 H

O
W

 A
PP

O
IN

T
ED

.  

15
 J

an
ua

ry
,  

18
E1

;  
V

ot
es

  4
,  E

nt
ry

  5
.  
I  

On
  m

ot
io

n  
of

  M
r.  

Co
wp

er
.)

  
•  

0  

O
 DE

SI
G

N
A

T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E.

  

Ca  

  

ST
AN

DI
N

G
 A

N
D

 S
E

LE
C T

 C
OM

M
IT

TE
ES

  A
PP

O
IN

TE
D 
 D

UR
IN

G
 T

II
E

 SE
SS

IO
N

 OF
 18

01
.  

 

SO
U

T
LI

 W
A

L
E

S.
  

Re
gi

al
at

(ll
e  

ao
sie

m
bl

v.
  

  

802— 



570 4 

W
H

E
N

 R
E

PO
R

TE
D

.  -e 
.• 

i41 co 
. - 

-., 
ca 

, 	f'2-  

-a. 
= , 

,-; 	 .I ce 
co 	 I 

2 	
I 
1  I 

o 

.1-
2 

,--: 	 I  

••• 	,-I t. 

'• 	0= 

• ?,0 
o 0  

4.1 

,21 
ce 
i•-• 

i.e. 

-a 
0 .- 

..th ,-, o .d 
9--1 Z 2 
e'er 9 

, 

— 
th 

0 0 -f-..1  aa ......, 
— 	.th 

0  lo 

r 

cl ;' p.7.1  w]., °' 

pl 0  0 _. 

2.,  

	

0' to 	vo = 

	

ol 	co 2 
4 

,-i 
co ' ,-, 

• t- 	! 
• 

i 	. 	p 

co 

CO . C.,-. 
 

bra,— 

•-• 

o 

 "*1 
u •-• 0 
14 

Ci, 
 ICt 

■ 
' 

. 

11,  

m
a

x
 t■ 

..„ 

A., 

4 

0; 	I 

1 

,-1 
,-I 

'LcVN
IITY

113
 

• smaulcafi: 

(D
lr.

  IV
in

dc
ye

r,  
M

r.  
Pa

rk
es

.  

. 

D
E

SI
G

N
A

T
IO

N
 O

P
 C

O
M

M
IT

T
E

E.
  

....--, 
. 0 

: 17: 
a 

o. _... 
.= 

, ..... 4 

...m ....., • 0 a 

, 	e 
:1 § 1 	0 " !-- 0 
0 

.= cm 
---- 

Tc  

i.:: 
/0 

0 0 
— 
lit,' 

FL.: • 

21 
C 
e 

2 . 
0 0 
•D 0 

It, act 
8 

9 0 
78 0  
0 

p4 

• 

• 
! 

02  

• 

• I 

.1 •
e 	c 

'a 
• 0 	' 

.... 

..a.  

- 

e 

	

tr. 	i 

--  

,-........ 
;., 

.2
to i 

i 	 0 
0,4 0  

0- 0. , 
C- C) 

0 0 

to .- 

0 . ., Ta 
E 

Io t- to 0 ,-1 



571 

3 

W
R

E
N

 RE
PO

RT
ED

.  . .0 — 
tif 

-a-  
C 

9; 

• 
• 

. 

_ 

. 
za . co -.4 - 
t., 
,.. 
a - 0 

1i- 

7 
,‘' 
10 

— -i 
— 	 ...; 
to 	. 	. op 	03 " 	— 	... 

.--; 
X 

co ! 	o 91 	- 

cc 	 0 0 	 la 
En 	go 

4 	I,  

ba 
01 :  

:. 	 , 
3; 0 a s-teri .. 
0 co 

c. " 
nu 

ea 

0 
E 
60 
0 

90 

. 
r.; 

2 
M 
o ea 

4 ai g 

J0 - 0 ol .-.i 

•sonm
asm

i 
a
o

 traanog
 

C
al

le
d.

  H
e

ld
.  
I
  

• I,- 01 , cc. 0 , 04 

• t- el •44 	 01 0.1 CO CD 04 

.'1‘.;101.1‘
.  ;

115  
. SU

Z
IK

3 N
 

'M
r.

  S
te

w
ar

t,  
M

r.  
W

ils
on

,  
M

r.  
D

al
gl

e i
sh

,  
M

r.  
H

ar
lin

gt
on

,  
1
 1 

M
r.  

Sh
ep

he
rd

,  
M

r.  
H

os
ki

ns
,  

,  M
r.

R
ot

te
n,

  
M

r.  
W

ee
ke

s, 
 

rl 
.:S

.Lr
.  M

or
r i

s,  
M

r.  
P

ar
ke

s.
  
J
  

"C
ap

t.  
M

or
ia

rt
y,

  
M

r.  
St

ew
ar

t,  
1

  
M

r.  
W

in
de

ye
r,  

M
r.  

L
uc

as
,  

t•
 1  

M
r.  

Lo
ve

,  
M

r
.
  L

ew
is

,  
K

r,
  W

a l
sh

,  
M

r.  
A

lle
n,

  
I
  

,M
r.  

D
ou

gl
a s

,  
M

r.  
D

al
gl

ei
sh

.  
J
 

adn
■a

s
e
,  

.W
IE

RN
 la
th

 po
w

 
li

E
SI

G
N

A
TI

O
N

 O
F

 O0
31

31
IT

TE
F.

  

' 

... 

= 
.:, 

. PC:I 

F. 
(4 

2 0 

C>- 	• 

0 
. e: ,:••• 

8 rz 	, 

ca, 

:F.-  
.... 

'2, 
0 
H ,... 0 
E 0 
al >, . 

ao 
. 

: 

•• 
• 

-2 
9  a-..„ 
o 0 
04 1...1 
f, 
,..., 0 
to 

: E 
. ;i. 

0 ,._.. 

• ,..-.  

' 
'I 

ft? 
PI 

4 , 
.-. 
at 
g 

1 

f i 	-s• 

.. 
onntutuopi 

Jo 4oli 
.-1 .1 . co 	 • io e: a. .-, 



572 

6 

US.  
FT; 

■•E:1 
ro 

r6 

0 

C-T4 

co 

4 

W
H

E
N

 R
EP

O
RT

ED
.  co 

on 
ri 

'ee: 
2 
co Cl 

. 

.C. 
cri 

,--1 ,o co ..-4 

d 
A
co 

A .-i 
A 
co 
on F 
a 

o Cl 

e 

Ei 

co 	 ,.:r 
on 	 co 
,-i 	 co ri 
-3 

Is 	 ,-+ .-1 	 .-1 

.--: . 
c 	 '-a.  

c 
a 7 	E4 

:4. < 
ro co F 
a 
■ 
4. 
C 
co 

A c 
c 

P S  i 

...• 
cc) co ..-i 

'8 
hlq. 
A 
a Cl 

C 

1 4 0 at cn ol co 

N
U

M
B 

M
E

ET
 

—
  
-
  

C
al

le
d.

  

2.(vdellIv113 
iguan a:a/c 

I  a
ir

.  i
tto

ce
rt

so
n,

-  
M

n  
a
 us

on
,  

i.M
r.  

E
ga

n,
  

M
r.  

D
ri

ve
r.  

J 
I
 Se

at
  il

et
ta

re
d  

vo
m

it,
  2

8 
-M

ar
ch

,  
18

61
.  

("
M

r.  
L

u
ca

s,
  

M
r.  

W
at

t,  
)
  

i  M
r.

  W
ils

on
,  

M
r.  

A
rn

o l
d,

  
i
 

{  
M

r.  
M

or
ri

s,  
M

r.  
R

o
be

rt
so

n,
  
>

  
I  M

r.  
M

at
e,

  
M

r
.
  f

la
y.

  
I 

i.,M
r.

  M
ac

ka
y,

  
1 

{
M

r.  
D

ic
k,

  
M

r.  
W

ils
on

,  

/ 
M

r.  
D

ri
ve

r,
  
M

r
.
  P

id
di

ng
to

n,
  

M
r.  

M
at

e,
  

M
r.  

W
iu

de
ye

r.
  

i 

Y
U

EN
 A

ND
  1

10
W

  A
PP

O
IN

TE
D.

  
D

ES
IG

N
AT

IO
N

 O
F

 CO
M

M
IT

TE
E.

  

,-. 
I.:2- 

.7.... 

g 
g 
Rd= 
4 •-• 
o 

ng rOv  c C o 

.4 
Lt. 
.7-a. 

p, 

> v. o 
I-o 

o 

ci 
t.2 

.4 
4 
4 
. rn° 
1=, 

8 

t 
no 

CC 
2 
"a 
t.-. 
o 
C 

cg 
to 

e 
A 

c  o 
et 

.g'  

S P  

3 

o 
CC 

FEI 

Co e 

62 

c 

- 0 to e 

A 
-.a th 

4 

o ,--, ..L, 

o 

.2 
ti 
Lb 

o 
to e 
t 
e ...4.--. 

A ry. 
PI 

..t, 

.2 3 o — 
4 	..2;  

1.1.&i 
El ..-. e-, 

S i; 
 

.--. 

o 
78 

PO 
C e 

i-4 
-4 o :-. - 

- 	.3 
0 
,-.,... 
ct! 

,..; 
.c. .2 o 
›- r- 

-4 

g 
t- 
2 
P. 
.g.  
o: 
2 
-4' o 
> o 
A 

..)- 
r7 
>n 

tit 

00421111C000 
JO '0 NI 

on ri 
co .-t 

ic 
Cu 

,--t 	co 
Cl 	 co co Cl "4 co 

)o 
ci 



573 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

  A
N

D
 SE

LE
C

T 
CO

M
M

IT
TE

ES
,  

&c
.—

  

TIZ
H

IG
IT

H
 K

NITM
.  

M 
.. " 

cora 

en 
ott 

rti 

..: 
co' 
a .r.,  

= 
41 

'co' " 

= 

.4 

m 
. 

g " 

i 
.1 

- 
0  

gi g - 2 	• 0 

2 

01 r.0 O. 

N
um

aE
a  

O
F 

I
1310TI  

ea 
0 a 
2 

1-1 01 Ci 

I
T

aEls0  

1.-- 
8 o 

'AP  
.-1 eq ea 1 	

*N
V

IT
U

IV
IID

 
- ottani - can/ 

M
r.  

M
ie

n,
  

M
r.  

L
ew

is,
  

I  M
r.  

C
al

dw
el

l,  
M

r
.
  S

m
ar

t,  
I  M

r.  
F

la
t,

  
M

r
.
  S

te
w

ar
t,  

M
r.  

H
an

ne
ll,

  
M

r
.
  P

ar
ke

s.
  

W
H

E
N

 A
N

D
  

H
O

W
 A

P
PO

IN
T

E
D

.  

ad 	 a: 
01 

b 	 b 
C 

;1q 	 fr• 1;;" 
ai 	c8 le; 

an -. az 
Psi ,-• 

o .4 
0 23 	›-,•-• 

— 	 ••1 a 
COW  L; 	C7 IS.  

CO E 
A 	

vi 0 

-gizz, 
r: 	 O a ea" 

ea 	 t•- ,-. 	 ea 

.4.  

.>1'21 

b 

FA 1 ..; 

a
re 4e p 	■•-- 
4 ei 

;IP- 

1.0 1-1 
..c:i V C., 
g --- 

'A' 
t- ca 

-6%.,-,  

.4 g  
CC -•.ci  

ti. 	C'i 
01 

b 

P.1 L.; 
-a c6 1- 
`42  —.- 	c g:';'; 
0 — 

10-2 	2F--• 

, 

CO  1-1 
....- 

	
a° '2 	al a 

-01 	-a 
an 	0.a 

D
E

SI
G

N
A

T
IO

N
 O

F  
CO

M
M

IT
TE

E,
  

2 
Ei 

>: 
Pc4 

1 
4.0 

a 
6 
3 

fx1 

to a 
D 
re 
g 
4 

g 
F1 

— 

,—,—., 

5 i .. 
50  r-• 

a0 p 
= - 0 g. 
a 
2 C.) g 
a ti 
g 1° 0 > 
Z a 

C.) 

to o 
I — . 

Pi 

-----, 

i 
A a 

g 
-ig 
g 
2 
;2 
4 rr... 
7 gpal 
0 ce .te 

t.9 '-• 
',. 	' • ) 	C9 

o 

aomunuoD 
p "oN 

I te ca t- ea 
co 
CI C1W 

05 
a) 

Sy
dn

ey
:  T

ho
m

as
  R

ich
ar

ds
,  G

ov
er

nm
en

t  T
ri

nt
eh
-

16
11

.  

Co 
CO 

••1-1 
a) 

;--) 

tr• 

on h..1 

T04.  



574 



575 

1861. 

Itegiølattut nosetriblp. 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

BUSINESS OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NEW SOUTH WALES, 
DURING THE SESSION OF 1861. 

1. New Writs issued 	_ 	 .• 	•• 	•• 	SO 	•• 

2. Select Committees :— 
On Public Bills 	.• 	 1 
On other Public Matters 	 17 
On Private Bills _ 	 9 

3. Standing Committees 	 „ 
4. Election Committee (number of cases) .. 
5. Public Bills :— 

Originated in the Assembly- 

	

ed the Royal Assent 	.. 
Reserved for signification of Her 

Majesty's Pleasure thereon 	j 
Dropped or otherwise disposed of 

Brought from the Council— 

	

Received the Royal Assent 	• 
Reserved for signification of Her 1 

Majesty's Pleasure thereon 	j 
Dropped or otherwise disposed of 

•• 	 1 

i4 
None. 

21 
35 

1 
3 

13 
.. 	18 

G. Private Bills :— 
Originated in the Assembly— 

Received the Royal Assent 	.. 	 7 
Dropped or otherwise disposed of 	 2 

Brought from the Council— 	 — 	9 
Received the Royal Assent 	.. 	None. 
Dropped or otherwise disposed of 	 1 

	

— 	1 

7. Petitions received :— 
Printed 	 081 
Not Printed 	 32 

8. Divisions :— 
In Whole House 
In Committee 

' • 9. Sittings :— 
Days of Meeting ., 	.. 	_ 	.. 	_ 	., 	.. 
Hours of Sitting (11 January, 1861, from 11 a.m. omitted) .. 	 • .460 hrs. 18 ruin. 
Hours of Sitting after Midnight 	•• 	•• 	•• 	•• 	 .. 59 hrs. 30 min, 
Daily Average 	_ 	., 	_ 	.. 	., 	.. 	 _ 8 hrs. 37 in in. 

Adjourned for want of a Quormn :— 
Before Commencement of Business 	 .• 	 4 
After Commencement of Business 	 2 

10. Votes and Proceedings 	• • 	. 	.. 	 69 
Entries in Votes and Proceedings :— 

Of Business done .. 	.. 	_ 	1,032 
Of Notices of Motion 	., 	.. 	1,501 
Of Ord...rs of the Day 	.. 	_ 	LOGG 
Of Questions 	.. 	.. 	.. 	 395 
Of Contingent Notices, tte. 	 214 

	

— 	• • 	 4,211 
Daily Average 	.. 	 • • 	.• 	 .. 61 

11. Orders for Papers 	. • 	.. 
12. Addresses for Papers _ i  _ 	 • • 	•• 	 _ 20 
13. Other Addresses 	.. 	_ 
14. Papers laid upon the Table :— 

By Message 	.. 	.. 	 10 
By Command 	_ 	.. 	 49 
In return to Orders 	.. 	_ 	.. 	10 
In return to Addresses 	.. 	.. 	17 
Reports from Select Committees , . 	.. 	26 
Proceedings of, and Evidence taken before 

ditto (of last Session) 	— 	.. 	3 
•• 

Ordered to be Printed 	.. 	 110 
Not Ordered to be Printed 

	
5 

.. 115 

• Exclusive of three Petitiune received d ,,5 last Session, making in all, 84. 
CHA. TOMPSON. 

Legislative Assembly Offices, 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
&piney, 11 May, 1861. 

„ 113 

1211 
199 

115 

[Price, it!.] 	 304- 



576 



577 

1861. 

flegiolgtVe 2cosemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

PROPOSED STANDING ORDERS. 

REPORT 

FROM THE 

STANDING ORDERS COMMITTEE, 

WITH THE 

PROPOSED STANDING ORDERS. 

ORDERED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY TO BE PRINTED, 

6 February, 1861. 

SYDNEY: 

THOMAS RICHARDS, GOVERNMENT PRINTER, 

1861. 
[Price, 3c1.] 	 58—A 
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EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES No. 4. TUESDAY, 15 JANUARY, 1861. • 

4. Standing Orders Committee :—Mr. Cowper moved, pursuant to notice, That the 
Standing Orders Committee for the present Session consist of the following Members, 
viz. :—The Speaker, Mr. Cowper, Mr. Arnold, Mr. Hart, Mr. Hay, Mr. Parkes, Mr. 
Piddington, Mr. Robertson, Mr. Scott, and Mr. Smart;—with an instruction to prepare 
such Standing Rules and Orders as shall appear best adapted for the orderly conduct 
of the business of this House, and to report the same with as little delay as possible ; 
and with leave to sit during any adjournment, and authority to confer upon subjects 
of mutual concernment with any Committee appointed for similar purposes by the 
Legislative Council. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES No. 16. WEDNESDAY, 6 FEBRUARY ;  1861. 

2. Proposed Standing Orders :—Mr. Piddington, on behalf of the Chairman, brought up, 
from the Standing Orders Committee, a Report, with the Draft Standing Orders 
prepared by that Committee, pursuant to an instruction referred to them on the 15th 
ultimo. 
Ordered to be printed. 
Whereupon Mr. Piddington moved, That the Proposed Standing Orders be considered 
in Committee of the Whole on Tuesday next. 
Question put and passed. 
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1861. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

STANDING RULES AND ORDERS. 

REPORT 
FROM 

THE STANDING ORDERS COMMITTEE 

OF THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY, 

WITH THE 

PROPOSED STANDING ORDERS. 

TIIE STANDING ORDERS COMMITTEE, IO whom was referred, 0111 the 15th 
ultimo, an Instruction "to prepare such Standing Rules and 
" Orders as shall appear best adapted for the orderly conduct of 
" the Business of this House, and to report the same with as little 
" delay as possible," have agreed to the following Report :— 

Your Committee, in accordance with the Instruction above recited, 
have prepared, and have now the honor to present to your Honorable 
House, the Draft of such Standing Rules and Orders as, in their opinion, 
ought to be adopted for the orderly conduct of the Business of your 
Honorable House. 

T. A. MURRAY, 
Chairman. 

Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Sydney, 5 February, 1861. 



530 



5E31 

PROPOSED 

STANDING RULES AND ORDERS 
OF THE 

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY 
OF 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

GENERAL CONDUCT OF BUSINESS. 

I. In all cases not specially provided for hereinafter, or by Sessional 
or other Orders, resort shall be had to the rules, forms, and usages of 
the Imperial Parliament, which shall be followed so far as the same can 
be applied to the proceedings of this House. 

2. Whenever the House shall be informed of the unavoidable absence of 
the Speaker, the Chairman of Committees shall take the Chair for that day 
only ; and in the event of the Speaker's absence continuing for more than 
one day, shall, if the House think fit and so order it, take the Chair in. 
like manner on any subsequent day during such absence. 

3. The Speaker shall take the Chair within half an hour after the time 
appointed for the meeting of the House, and if, at the expiration of such 
half hour there be not a quorum of Members present, shall adjourn the 
House to the next sitting day. 

4. If, at any time after the commencement of the business of the day, 
notice be taken that there is not a. quorum of Members present, the 
Speaker shall count the House, and, if there be not a quorum present, 
shall, by his own authority, adjourn the House to the next day of meeting. 

5. If, at any time after the commencement of the Business of the Day, 
notice be taken that there is not a quorum of Members present, the Serjeant-
at-Arms, by direction of the Speaker, shall ring the Division Bell before 
the Speaker proceed to count the House. 

6. Upon every occasion when the House is counted out, the names of 
Members present shall be taken down by the Clerk at the Table, and be 
inserted in the Journals. 

7. No Order for a Call of the House shall he made for any day earlier 
than twenty-one days from the day on which such Order shall have been 
made. 

S. Whenever a Division shall be demanded by any Member, the Members 
present shall take their seats, the Ayes on the right, the Noes on the 
left of the Chair, respectively ; and the Speaker shall appoint Tellers, 
two of each Party ; and shall declare which has the Majority, from lists 
of the Members voting on each side to be handed to him by the Tellers ; 
and, in the event of the Tellers not agreeing, the Speaker shall imme-
diately appoint other Tellers, and so from time to time until the Tellers 
shall have agreed. 

9. No Member shall be admitted to vote upon any division who shall be 
in either Gallery or above the Bar to the right or left of the Speaker's 
Chair, when the Doors are locked ; but no Member shall be allowed to: 
avoid voting, by retiring there after the Doors are locked. 

10. All Addresses to the Governor shall be presented by the Speaker,. 
unless otherwise ordered by the House. 

58-B 	 11. 
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11. Whenever the Previous Question shall be proposed upon any Ques-
tion consisting of a series of Resolutions, which have been brought under 
discussion or debate as one Motion, with the understanding that the 
Question be put on such Resolutions seriatim, the decision of the Previous 
Question, before putting the question on the first of such Resolutions, 
shall be taken and held to be conclusive, whether in the affirmative or 
negative, as regards the whole of such Resolutions. 

12. It shall be the duty of the Clerk to communicate to the Colonial 
Secretary all Orders for Papers made by this House ; and such Papers 
may be laid upon the Table by any Member of this House, being also a 
Member of the Government. 

13. The Clerk shall transmit to the Clerk of the Legislative Council, a 
. sufficient number of copies of all Papers printed by order of this House, 

for distribution to the Members of the Legislative Council. 
,14. The printed Votes and Proceedings shall include, and be deemed, 

held, and taken to be also the Journals of this House. 
15. The custody of the Journals and Records, and of all Papers and 

Accounts whatsoever presented to this House, shall be in the Clerk, who 
shall neither take, nor permit to be taken, any of such Journals, Records, 
Papers, or Accounts, from the Chamber or Offices, without the express 
leave or order of this House. 

PETITIONS. 
16. No Petition shall be presented after the House shall have proceeded 

to the Orders of the Day. 
17. -  It shall be incumbent on every Member presenting a Petition, to 

acquaint himself with the contents thereof, and to ascertain that it does 
not contain language disrespectful to any Branch of the Legislature. 

18. Every Member presenting a Petition shall affix his name at the 
beginning thereof. 

19. Every Petition must be in writing, and no printed or lithographed 
Petition shall be received. 

20. Every Petition must contain the prayer of Petitioners at the end 
•thereof. 

21. Every Petition must be signed, by at least one person, on the skin 
or sheet on which the Petition is written. 

22. Every Petition must be written in the English language. 
23. Every Petition must be signed by the parties whose names are 

appended thereto, with their names or marks written or made by them-
selves, and by no one else, except in cases of incapacity from sickness. 

24. No letters, affidavits
' 
 or other documents shall be attached to any 

Petition, except a Petition for a Private Bill, to which a printed copy of 
the Bill must be attached. 

25. No Petition shall make reference to any Debate in the House. 
26. No Petition shall, either directly or indirectly, pray for a grant of 

public money. 
27. Every Member presenting a Petition, not being a Petition for a 

Private Bill, or relating to a Private Bill before the House, shall confine 
himself to a statement of the parties from whom it comes—of the number 
of signatures attached to it—of the material allegations contained in it—
and to the reading of the prayer thereof ; and the only Question which 
shall be entertained by the House, on the presentation of any Petition 
shall be, " That the Petition be received." 

NOTICES AND MOTIONS. 
28. No Notice of Motion shall be received after the House shall have 

proceeded to the Orders of the Day. 
29. No Member shall make any motion, initiating a subject for discus-

sion, but in pursuance of Notice openly given at a previous sitting of the 
House, 
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House, and duly entered on the Notice Paper ; but it shall always be in 
order, on the presentation of any document, except a Petition, for the 
Member presenting it, to move, without previous notice, that it be printed, 
and that a day be appointed for its consideration. 

30. Unless otherwise directed by Sessional Order, Motions shall take 
precedence of Orders of the Day, and be moved, or postponed in the order 
in which they stand on the Notice Paper, or lapse. 

LAPSED QUESTIONS AND ORDERS. 
31. If a Debate on any Motion, moved and seconded, be interrupted 

by the House being counted out, such Debate may be resumed, at the 
point where it was so interrupted, on Motion upon Notice. 

32. If a Debate upon any Order of the Day be interrupted by the 
House being counted out, such Order may be restored to the Paper, for a 
future day, on Motion upon Notice ; and such Debate shall then be 
resumed at the point where it was so interrupted. 

33. If the discussion of any Question in a Committee of the whole 
House be interrupted for want of a quorum, the House may order the 
resumption of such Committee on a future day, on Motion upon Notice ; 
and the discussion of such Question shall then be resumed at the point 
where it was so interrupted. 

COMMITTEES OF THE WHOLE HOUSE. 
34. In Committees of the whole House, twenty Members, exclusive of 

the Chairman, shall be a Quorum. 
35. Lists of Divisions in Committees of the whole. House shall be 

printed weekly. 
36. Unless otherwise ordered by Sessional Order, the following Rules 

shall be observed in Committee of Supply :— 
(1.) When a Motion is made, in Committee of Supply, to omit or 

reduce any item of a Vote, it Question shall be proposed from 
the Chair for omitting or reducing such item accordingly ; and 
Members shall speak to such Question only, until it has been 
disposed of. 

(2.) When several Motions are offered, they shall be taken in the 
order in which the items to which they relate appear in the 
printed Estimates. 

(3.) After a Question for omitting or reducing any item has been 
disposed of, no Motion shall be made, or Debate allowed upon 
any preceding item. 

(4.) Where it has been proposed to omit or reduce items in a Vote, 
the Question shall be afterwards put upon the original Vote, or 
upon the reduced Vote, as the case may be, without amendment. 

(5.) When a general reduction of the amount of the Vote is proposed, 
comprising many items, the Question shall be first put upon the 
smaller sum, and, if that be negatived, then upon the next smaller 
sum, and so on until the Question is put upon the original Vote 
after failure of the several Motions for a general reduction thereof. 

(6.) It shall be held to be in order, at any time during the discussion 
of an Estimate or Item in an Estimate which has not been 
previously amended, to move the postponement of such Estimate 
or Item, provided such postponement be until the whole of the 
Estimates or Supplementary Estimate for the year for which the 
proposed Vote is intended to be taken, shall have been disposed of. 

SELECT .  
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SELECT COMMITTEES. 
37. No Select Committee shall consist of less than five or more than 

ten Members. - 
38. It shall not be compulsory on the Speaker Or Chairman of Com-

mittees- to serve on any Select Committee. 
39. Every Member proposing a Select Committee shall be one of the 

Committee without being named by the House. 
40. The Notice of Motion for the appointment of every Select Com-

mittee shall contain the names of the Members the Mover intends to 
serve with himself on such Committee. 

41. If upon any Motion for a Select Committee, any Member shall 
require it, such Committee shall be chosen by Ballot, in the manner 
following, viz. :—Each Member shall give in to the Clerk a list of the 
Members who he intends shall serve on the Committee, not exceeding the 
number proposed in such Motion ; and if any such list contain a larger 
number of names, it shall be void and rejected ; and the Members who 
shall be reported by the Clerk to have the greatest number of votes, shall 
be declared by the Speaker to be, with the Mover, the Members of such 
Committee; and in ally case of doubt, arising from two or more Members 
having an equality of Votes, the Speaker shall decide which shall serve 
on such Committee. 

42. Any Notice of Motion for discharging, adding, or substituting 
Members of a Select Committee shall contain the names of such Members. 

43. In all Select Committees three shall be a Quorum. 
44. Every Select Committee, previously to the commencement of busi-

ness, shall elect one of its Members to be the Chairman. 
45. At the request of any Member, or in his own discretion, the Chair-

man of any Select Committee shall order the withdrawal of strangers at 
any time. 

46. The Chairman of a Select Committee may summon or direct the 
Clerk of the House to summon the witnesses to be examined before such 
Committee. 

47. Every Select Committee shall have power to award payment to any 
professional or other witnesses they may deem it necessary to employ in 
furtherance of the inquiry with which the Committee is charged ; and the 
production of the Chairman's certificate by any such witness, with a copy 
of such award signed by the Clerk of Select Committees, shall entitle him 
to the Speaker's written order to the Clerk for payment of such sum as 
may be therein stated to be due to him for the special service to be therein 
named ; and such order, with the Chairman's certificate and the copy of 
the award thereto appended, shall be sufficient authority and discharge to 
the Clerk for making such payment out of any public moneys in his hands 
or by the ordinary course of public payments through the Colonial 
Treasury ; and every such award, with the sum awarded, the particulars 
of the service rendered, and the name of the party in whose favor made, 
shall be entered on the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Committee. 

48. Every Report of a Select Committee shall be signed by the Chair-
man thereof. 

PUBLIC BILLS. 
49. Every Bill for the paving, lighting, or cleansing of any City, Town, 

or Municipal District, or for supplying the same with water, promoted by 
the Municipal authorities of such City, Town, or District, shall be deemed 
and taken to be a Public Bill. 

50. Amendments merely of a verbal or formal nature may be made, on 
motion, in any part of a Bill, at any time during its progress through the 
House, or in Committee of the whole House. 

51. Clerical and typographical errors may be corrected in any part of a 
Bill, by the Chairman of Committees, before it is sent to the Legislative 
Council for its concurrence. 

52. 
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52. No clause, schedule, or Amendment in substance, shall be offered 
to be added to, or made in, any Bill in possession of this House, except 
in a Committee of the whole House. 

53. Before putting the Question "That this Bill do now pass? "the 
Speaker shall in every case report that the Chairman of Committees has 
certified that it is in accordance with the Bill as passed through all its 
previous stages in this House. 

54. When a Bill, originated in this House, shall have passed, the 
Clerk shall forthwith certify at the top of the first page that, "This Public 
"(or Private) Bill originated in the Legislative Assembly, and, having 
" this day passed, is now ready for presentation to the Legislative Council 
" for its concurrence." 

55. After a Bill shall be so certified by the Clerk, it shall be sent with 
a Message desiring the concurrence of the Legislative Council. 

56. The consideration of all amendments in Bills which shall have first 
passed this House, and of all amendments upon amendments which shall 
have been made by this House in any Bill which shall have first passed 
the Legislative Council, shall be in a Committee of the whole House ; and 
in every case where this House shall agree to such amendments, or amend-
ments upon their amendments, with or without amendments or further 
amendments of their own, the Clerk shall certify accordingly at the top of 
the first page of the Bill ; and in every case of agreement or disagreement 
to any such amendments the Legislative Council shall be informed thereof 
by Message. 

57. Every Bill originated in and passed by this House which shall pass 
the Legislative Council without amendment, and every such Bill which 
shall be returned to this House with amendments by the Legislative 
Council to which this House shall finally agree, shall be fair printed on 
Vellum or Parchment, and be by the Speaker presented to the Governor 
for Her Majesty's Assent, provided the Chairman of Committees shall 
have certified, in writing, on the Bill, that he has examined such fair print 
and found it to correspond in all respects with the Bill as finally passed 
by both Houses, and that at the top of the first page of such fair print the 
Clerk of this House shall have certified to its having finally passed both 
Houses. 

58. Bills coming to this House the first time from the Legislative 
Council, shall be proceeded with, in all respects, as Bills presented in 
pursuance of Orders of this House ; and every such Bill as shall finally 
pass this House shall be returned by Message to the Legislative Council, 
with the Clerk's Certificate at the top, that "the Legislative Assembly have 
" this day agreed to such Bill," " with'' or "without amendment," 
as the case may require. 

59. Every Public Bill, which shall have passed both Houses, and 
received Her Majesty's Assent, or been reserved for the signification of 
Her Majesty's pleasure thereon, shall be numbered at the top, by the 
proper Officer, in the order in which it shall have received such Assent, 
or been so reserved ; and shall have the date of such Assent or Reser-
vation following the words "Assented to," or "Reserved," (as the case 
may be) within parenthesis, immediately after the Title. 

PRIVATE BILLS. 
GO. Notice of the intention to apply for every Private Bill shall be 

published once a week, for four consecutive weeks, in the Government 
Gazette, in one or more public newspapers published in Sydney, and in 
one or more public newspapers published in or nearest to the District 
affected by the Bill, which notice shall contain a true statement of the 
general objects of the Bill. 

61. 
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61. No private Bill shall be initiated in this House but upon a Petition 
first presented and received, with a printed copy of the proposed Bill 
annexed ; and such Petition shall be signed by one or more of the parties 
applying for the Bill. 

62. Every Petition for a Private Bill shall commence by setting forth, 
that within the three months previously to its presentation to the House, 
the Public Notice required by Section 60 has been duly given of the 
general objects of and the intention to apply for such Bill, and shall con-
clude with a true statement of the general objects of the Bill, and a prayer 
for leave to introduce it ; and the production of the numbers of the 
Gazette and Newspaper or Newspapers containing such Notice, shall be 
sufficient proof of such Notice. 

63. When the Petition shall have been received, Notice of Motion for 
leave to bring in the Bill shall be given, and such Bill shall be introduced 
within thirty days from the receipt of such Petition. 

64. When leave to bring in a Private Bill shall have been obtained, 
and before it shall be read a first time, it shall be printed. at the expense 
of the parties applying for it, in the same form as Public Bills, and a 
sufficient number of copies of it shall be delivered to the Clerk, for the 
use of the House. 

65. Before a Private Bill shall be read a first time, the sum of twenty-
five pounds, to meet the expenses attendant on such Bill, shall be paid to 
the credit of the Consolidated Revenue of the Colony, and a Certificate of 
such payment shall be produced by the Member having charge of the Bill. 

66. When a Private Bill shall have been read a first time, it shall be 
referred to a Select Committee, to ho appointed on Motion upon Notice, 
and such Committee shall require proof of the allegations contained in 
the Preamble. 

67. Private Bills corning to this House the first time from the Legis-
lative Council, if accompanied by printed copies of the Reports and Pro-
ceedings of the Select Committees, to which they may have been referred, 
shall be proceeded with in all respects as Public Bills " presented " in 
pursuance of Orders of this House, unless the House shall otherwise order ; 
and every such Bill as shall finally pass this House shall be returned by 

r to the Legislative Council with the Clerk's Certificate at the top, 
that "the Legislative Assembly have this day agreed to such Bill," "with" 
or"without Amendment," as the case may require. 

68. Every Petition in opposition to a Private Bill shall distinctly. 
specify the grounds of such opposition ; and, if received, shall be referred 
to the Select Committee on the Bill. 

69. Every Select Committee on a Private Bill may, in its discretion, 
hear Counsel if it be desired ; and may also take such oral or other 
evidence as it may think requisite; and may decide on matters in issue 
between the persons conducting and opposing the Bill ; after which, the 
Question shall be put from the Chair, " That this Preamble stand part of 
the Bill ?" : And if the Question pass in the negative, it shall be fatal to 
the Bill, and the Committee shall report accordingly ; but if the Question 
pass in the affirmative, the several clauses of the Bill shall next be 
proceeded -with, and the Amendments, if any, carefully noted for report 
to the House, care being taken that no clause be inserted, or Amendment 
made in the Bill, which shall be foreign to the import of the notice 
required under Section 60 to be given by the party or parties applying 
for it. 

70. When a Select Committee shall have reported in favor of a Private 
Bill, such Bill shall be proceeded with as in the case of Public Bills, and 
a future day, subsequent to the distribution of the printed Report and 
Evidence, shall be appointed for the second reading. 

71. No Number shall be given to any Private Bill which shall have 
passed both Houses and received Her Majesty's Assent. 

MESSAGES 



587 

7 

MESSAGES FROM THE GOVERNOR. 
72. Whenever the House shall be informed that there is a Message 

from the Governor, the business under discussion shall forthwith be 
suspended, and the bearer of the Message, if a Member, shall deliver it 
to the Speaker, and if not a Member shall be admitted and conducted to 
the Speaker, to whom he shall deliver it and then withdraw : The Speaker 
shall then immediately read the Message, and, if necessary, the House 
shall fix a future day for taking, or forthwith take the same into con-
sideration. 

JOINT ADDRESSES TO THE GOVERNOR. 
73. Joint Addresses to the Governor, originating in this House, which 

shall not be ordered to be presented by both Houses, shall be borne by 
some Member of this House, to be named by the Speaker, who shall also 
report to this House the answer, if any be given. 

COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL. 
74. The modes of communication with the Legislative Council shall be- 

1. By Message, 
2. By Conference, 
3. By Joint Committees of the Legislative Council and Assembly, 
4. By Select Committees communicating with each other. 

Br MESSAGE. 

75. A Message to the Legislative Council shall be by two or more 
Members of this House, to be named by the Speaker, ordinarily from 
among those Members who have taken the most prominent interest in the 
Bill or subject to be communicated. 

76. This House will receive a Message from the Legislative Council by 
two or more of its Members. 

77. Every Message shall be in writing, and entered upon the Journals, 
with the answer thereto, if any be given. 

78. It shall be in order, at any time to move, without previous notice, 
that any passed Bill or Vote be communicated by Message to the Legis-
lative Council. 

79. This House will receive from the Legislative Council, in one 
Message, all Bills first communicated, all Bills returned without amend-
ment, and all Bills with the amendments of this House upon the Legis-
lative Council's amendments agreed to without amendment ; a list of such 
Bills, with a statement of the assent of the Legislative Council thereto, 
being delivered together with such Message and Bills. 

Br CONFERENCE. 

80. The Members appointed by this House to represent it at conferences 
with the Legislative Council, shall, in number, never be fewer than five 
at an ordinary conference, and ten at a free conference. 

81. Every demand for a conference with the Legislative Council shall 
be accompanied by a statement of the general objects of the conference 
demanded ; and no such demand shall be made in reference to any subject 
matter at that time in possession of the Legislative Council. 

82. In every Message communicating to the Legislative Council a 
demand for a conference, this House will state the number of Members it 
will appoint as its Managers at such conference. 

83. This House will name the time and place of holding every confer-
ence demanded of it by the Legislative Council. 

Br JOINT COMMITTEES. 

84. In every Message proposing to the Legislative 
ment of a Joint Committee, this House will state the 
it will appoint to serve on such Committee. 

Council the appoint- 
number of Members 

8 5. 



85. Whenever the Legislative Council shall agree to a proposal from 
this House for the appointment of a Joint Committee, the first meeting 
of such Committee shall be held at such time and place as shall be named 
by the Legislative Council ; and in every Message agreeing to a Proposal 
by the Legislative Council for the appointment of a Joint Committee, this 
House will name the time and place for the first meeting of such Committee. 

86. The presence of at least three of the Members appointed by this 
House to serve on a Joint Committee shall be necessary at every meeting 
of such Committee for the dispatch of Business. 

87. The proceedings of every Joint Committee shall be reported to this 
House by the Members it shall have appointed to serve on such Committee. 

By SELECT COMMITTEES COMMUNICATING WITH EACH OTHER. 

88. The report of every Select Committee of this House, put in com-
munication with a Select Committee of the Legislative Council, shall 
contain a clear statement of every matter intercommunicated, and of the 
action of the Committee thereupon. 

STRANGERS. 
89. The Speaker only shall have the privilege of admitting Strangers to 

the space above the Bar at the Speaker's Chair, or to the lower Gallery ; 
but every Member shall have the privilege of admitting, by orders, not 
transferable, two Strangers to the upper Gallery. 

90. On the request of any Member, or in his own discretion, the 
Speaker shall and may at any time order Strangers to withdraw, and 
such Strangers shall immediately withdraw accordingly. 

CONTEMPT. 
91. Any Member not attending in compliance with an Order for a Call 

of the House, without reasonable excuse, shall be held guilty of contempt. 
92. No Member shall absent himself during the Session for more than 

fourteen days at a time, without express leave of the House ; and any 
Member wilfully infringing this Order shall be held guilty of contempt. 

93. Any Member who shall wilfully disobey any lawful Order of the 
House, and any Member or other person who shall wilfully or vexatiously 
interrupt the orderly conduct of the business of the House, shall be guilty 
of contempt. 

94. Every Member adjudged by the House, for any of the causes 
hereinbefore mentioned, guilty of contempt, shall be committed by the 
Warrant of the Speaker, to the custody of the Serjeant-at-Arms, and shall, 
by the Serjeant-at-Arms, be detained in custody until released by an Order 
of the House, upon such conditions for payment of fees as to the House 
shall seem meet. 

95. Any person not being a Member who wilfully or vexatiously shall 
interrupt the orderly conduct of the Business of the House, or obstruct 
the approaches to the House, or occasion a disturbance within the precincts 
of the House, shall be, by the Warrant of the Speaker, committed to the 
custody of the Serjeant-at-Arms, and shall, by the Serjeant-at-Arms, be 
detained in custody until discharged by an Order of the House. 

SUSPENSION OF STANDING RULES AND ORDERS. 
96. Except in cases of urgent and pressing necessity, no Motion shall 

be made to dispense with any Sessional or Standing Order of this House, 
without due notice thereof. 

Sydney : Thomas Richerde, Government Fria:cr.-1861. 



589 

1861. 

itegiolatilic 2sombtv. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

REIMBURSEMENT TO LIBRARY FUNDS. 

REPORT 

FROM 

THE LIBRARY COMMITTEE. 

ORDERED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY TO BE PRINTED, 

22 February, 1861. 

SYDNEY: 

THOMAS RICHARDS, GOVERNMENT PRINTER PHILLIP-STREET. 

1861. 

• 

[Price, Id.] 	 93— 



590 

EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES No. 4. TUESDAY, 15 JANUARY, 1861. 
5. Library Committee :—Mr. Cowper moved, pursuant to notice, That the Library Com-

mittee for the present Session consist of the following Members, viz. :—The Speaker, 
Mr. Cowper, Mr. Arnold, Mr. Dick, Mr. Hay, Mr. O'Brien, Mr. Parkes, Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Windeyer, and .Mr. Wisdom ; with leave to sit during any adjournment, and 
authority to confer upon subjects of mutual concernment with any Committee 
appointed for similar purposes by the Legislative Council. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES No. 26. FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
2. Reimbursement to Library Funds :—Mr. O'Brien, on behalf of the Chairman, 

brought up a Report from the Library Committee, in reference to Reimbursement 
to Library Funds, which was read at length by the Clerk, by direction of the 
Speaker, as follows :— 

" The Library Committee of the Legislative Assembly, appointed on the 15th January 
" last, have agreed to the following Report :— 

" Your Committee beg to report to your Honorable House, that, having had 
" under consideration the reduction to which the Annual Votes for the Purchase of 
" Books for the Library have been subjected by the Expenses incurred in the 
" Collation, Binding, and Shipment of Parliamentary Reports and Papers presented 
" to the Library by the Speaker of the House of Commons, and the expediency of 
" requesting the Government to place on the Estimates a sum of money sufficient 
" to reimburse to the Library the amount so expended, your Committee deemed it 
" expedient to request a Conference with the Library Committee of the Legislative 
" Council on the subject. 

" This request having been acceded to, a Conference was accordingly held in 
" the Committee Room, No. 2, of the Legislative Council, on the 21st instant, the 
" result of which was, that the following Resolution was agreed to by the Library 
" Committees of the respective Houses:— 

" That the Government be requested to place on the Estimates the sum of five 
" hundred and seven pounds, to reimburse to the Library the amount of 
" the Reductions to which the Annual Votes for the Purchase of Books 
" have been subjected by the Expenses incurred in the Collation, Binding, 
" and Shipment of Parliamentary Reports and Papers presented to the 
" Library by the House of Commons. 

" And your Committee would now recommend the adoption of the said 
" Resolution by your Honorable House. 

"T. A. MURRAY, 
" Legislative Assembly Chamber, 	 " Chairman." 

" Sydney, 21 February, 1861." 	 ft 
Ordered, on motion of Mr. O'Brien, to he printed. 

4. 
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REIMBURSEMENT TO LIBRARY FUNDS. 

REPORT. 

THE LIBRARY CO)aRTTKE of the Legislative Assembly, appointed on the 
15th January last, have agreed to the following Report :— 

Your Committee beg to report to your Honorable House, 
that, having had under consideration the reduction to which the Annual 
Votes for the Purchase of Books for the Library have been subjected by 
the Expenses incurred in the Collation, Binding, and Shipment of 
Parliamentary Reports and Papers presented to the Library by the 
Speaker of the House of Commons, and the expediency of requesting 
the Government to place on the Estimates a sum of money sufficient to 
reimburse to the Library the amount so expended, your Committee 
deemed it expedient to request a Conference with the Library Committee 
of the Legislative Council on the subject. 

This request having been acceded to, a Conference was accordingly 
held in the Committee Room, No. 2, of the Legislative Council, on the 
21st instant, the result of which was, that the following Resolution was 
agreed to by the Library Committees of the respective Houses :— 

That the Government be requested to place on the Estimates the 
sum of five hundred and seven pounds, to reimburse to the 
Library the amount of the Reductions to which the Annual Votes 
for the Purchase of Books have been subjected by the Expenses 
incurred in the Collation, Binding, and Shipment of Parlia-
mentary Reports and Papers presented to the Library by the 
House of Commons. 

And your Committee would now recommend the adoption of the 
said Resolution. by your Honorable House. 

T. A. MURRAY, 
Legislative Assembly Chamber, 	 Chairman. 

Sydney, 21 February, 1861. 
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EXTRACTS:FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES No. 5. WEDNESDAY, 16 JANUARY, 1861. 

3. Committee of Elections and Qualifications :—The Speaker
' 
 pursuant to the requirement 

of the Electoral Act of 1858, laid upon the Table his Warrant appointing the Com-
mittee of Elections and Qualifications for the present Session, of which the following 
is a copy:— 

"LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

" By the Honorable the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 
" of New South Wales. 

"Pursuant to the power in that behalf vested in me, as Speaker of the Legislative 
"Assembly of New South Wales, by the Electoral Act of 1858, I do hereby appoint 

" William Maeleay, Esquire, 
" Charles Hamilton Walsh, Esquire, 
" Alexander Walker Scott, Esquire, 
"John Hay, Esquire, 
" James Dickson, Esquire, 
" Henry Parkes, Esquire, 
" John Garrett, Esquire, 

" being Members of the said Assembly, to be Members of the Committee of Elections 
" and Qualifications in the said Act referred to, during the present Session of the 
" Assembly aforesaid. 

• " Given under my Hand, at the Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
" Macquarie-street, Sydney, this sixteenth day of January, in the 
'year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one. 

"P. A. MURRAY, 
" Speaker." 

VOTES No. 9. THURSDAY, 24 JANUARY, 1861. 

Members of Committee of Elections and Qualifications sworn :—Ilenry Parkes, 
Alexander Walker Scott, Charles Hamilton Walsh, William Macleay, and James 
Dickson, Esquires, sworn at the Table, by the Clerk, as Members of the Committee 
of Elections and Qualifications, for the present Session, pursuant to the requirement 
of the 70th Section of the Electoral Act of 1858. 

8 First Meeting of Elections and Qualifications Committee :—Pursuant to the require-
ment of the 70th Section of the Electoral Act of 1858, the Speaker appointed the 
first Meeting of the Committee of Elections and Qualifications to take place at 
noon, on Tuesday next, the 29th instant, in Committee Room No. 2. 

VOTES No. 13. THURSDAY, 31 JANUARY, 1861. 
Member of Committee of Elections and Qualifications Sworn :—John Garrett, Esquire, 

sworn at the Table, by the Clerk, as a Member of the Committee of Elections and 
Qualifications, for the present Session, pursuant to the requirement of the 70th 
Section of the Electoral Act of 1858. 

VOTES 
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VOTES No. 15. TUESDAY, 5 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
Election Petition :—Mr. Robertson, by Command, laid upon the Table a Petition from 

William Palmer Moffat, of Balmain and Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, 
Solicitor, against the Election and Return of Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, as 
Member for the Electorate of The Glebe,—on the ground that the Petitioner himself 
had a right to have been returned or elected as such Member. 
Petition, on motion of Mr. Robertson, referred to the Committee of Elections and 
Q aalifi ca tions. 

VOTES No. 17. THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
10. Committee of Elections and Qualifications :—Tho Speaker, pursuant to the requirement 

of the Electoral Act of 1858, laid upon the Table his Warrant, appointing Thomas 
Garrett, Esquire to be a Member of the Committee of Elections and Qualifications 
for the present Session, of which the following is a copy :— 

"LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 
" By the Honorable the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 

" of Hew South Wales. 
" Pursuant to the power in that behalf vested in me, as Speaker of the Legislative 
" Assembly of New South Wales, by the Electoral Act of 1858, I do hereby appoint 

" Thomas Garrett, Esquire, 
" being a Member of the said Assembly, to be a Member of the Committee of Elm:- 
" tions and Qualifications in the said Act referred to, during the present Session of 
" the Assembly aforesaid. 

" Given under my Hand, at the Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
" Macquarie-street, Sydney, this eighth day of February, in the 
"year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one. 

"T. A. MURRAY, 
" Speaker." 

VOTES No. 19. TUESDAY, 12 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
4. Committee of Elections and Qualifications :—The Speaker, pursuant to the requirement 

of the Electoral Act of 1858, laid upon the Table his Warrant, appointing John 
Bowie Wilson, Esquire, to be a Member of the Committee of Elections and Quali-
fications for the present Session, of which the following is a copy :— 

" LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 
" By the Honorable the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 

" of New South Wales. 
" Pursuant to the power in that behalf vested in me, as Speaker of the Legislative 
" Assembly of New South Wales, by the Electoral Act of 1858, I do hereby appoint 

" John Bowie Wilson, Esquire, 
" being a Member of the said Assembly, to be a Member of the Committee of Elm-
" tions and Qualifications in the said Act referred to, during the present Session of 
" the Assembly aforesaid. 

" Given under my Hand, at the Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
" Macquarie-street, Sydney, this twelfth day of February, in the 
"year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one. 

"P. A. MURRAY, 
" Speaker." 

VOTES No. 20. WEDNESDAY, 13 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
4. Committee of Elections and Qualifications :—The Speaker informed the House that he 

had, on the 7th instant, received a letter from John Garrett, Esquire, resigning his 
appointment as a Member of the Committee of Elections and Qualifications, and that 
he had, on the 8th instant, laid upon the Table his Warrant appointing Thomas 
Garrett, Esquire, to fill the vacancy so created. Also, that he had, yesterday, received 
a letter from Alexander Walker Scott, Esquire, resigning his appointment as a 
Member of the same Committee, and had laid upon the Table his Warrant on the 
same day, appointing John Bowie Wilson, Esquire, to fill that vacancy. 

VOTDS 
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VOTES No. 21. THURSDAY, 14 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
8. Member of Committee of Elections and Qualifications Sworn :—Thomas Garrett, 

Esquire, sworn at the Table by the Clerk, as a Member of the Committee of Elec-
tions and Qoalifications for the present Session, pursuant to the requirement of the 
70th Section of the Electoral Act of 1858. 

VOTEs No. 24. WEDNESDAY, 20 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

Member of Committee of Elections and Qualifications :—John Bowie Wilson, Esq , 
sworn at the Table, by the Clerk, as a Member of the Committee of Elections and 
Qualifications for the present Session, pursuant to the requirement of the 70th Section 
of the Electoral Act of 1858. 

VOTES No. 26. FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
5. Committee of Elections and Qualifications :—Mr. Hay, as Chairman, brought up a 

Report from, and laid upon the Table the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence 
taken before, the Committee of Elections and Qualifications, to whom was referred, on 
the 5th February, 1861, a Petition from William Palmer Moffat, of Balmain and 
Sydney, against the Election and Return of Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, as Member 
for the Electoral District of The Glebe. 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ELECTION PETITION. 
(MOFFAT v. SMART.) 

REPORT FROM THE COMMITTEE OF ELECTIONS 
AND QUALIFICATIONS. 

THE Committee of Elections and Qualifications, duly appointed on the 
16th January, 1861, under the provisions of the Electoral Act of 
1858, to whom was referred, on the 5th February, 1861, a Petition, 
from William Palmer Moffat, of Balmain and Sydney, against 
the Election and Return of Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, as 
Member for the Electoral District of " The Cliche," have determined 
and do hereby accordingly declare :— 

1. That Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, the sitting Member, 
has been duly elected as Member for the Electoral 
District of "The Glebe." 

2. That the Petition of William Palmer Moffat is not frivolous 
or vexatious. 

JOHN HAY, 
Chairman. 

Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Sydney, 22 February, 1861. 
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MINUTES OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE OF 
ELECTIONS AND QUALIFICATIONS. 

In the matter of the Petition of William Palmer Moffat, Esquire, of Balmain and Sydney, 
in the Colony of New South Wales, Solicitor, complaining of the Election and Return 
of Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, as Member for the Electoral District of The Glebe, 
and praying "That the Return to the Writ for the said Election of a Hember to serve 
" in the Legislative Assembly, for the said Electoral District, may be amended, and 
" that your Petitioner may be declared duly elected." 

TUESDAY, 29 JANUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

Mr. Dickson, 	 1 	Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Walsh. 

In attendance,— 
The Clerk Assistant. 

There not being a quorum present 
the Committee adjourned, in accordance 
Electoral Act of 1858, till Friday next. 

one hour after the time appointed for meeting, 
with the provision of the 71st Section of the 

0. F. KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

FRIDAY, 1 FEBRUARY; 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

Mr. Scott, IMr. J. Garrett, 
Mr. Dickson, 	 Mr. Mackay. 

In attendance,— 
The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 

There not being a Quorum present one hour after the time appointed for meeting, 
the Committee adjourned till Thursday next. 

0. F. KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

:Ur. Parkes, 
Mr. Macleay, 

In attendance,— 
The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 

There not being a Quorum present 
the Committee adjourned till Wednesday next. 

0 F KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

WEDNESDAY, 13 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Parkes. 

In attendance,— 
The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 

There not being a Quorum present one hour after the time appointed for Meeting, 
the Committee adjourned till Tuesday next. 

0. F. KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

TUESDAY, 19 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

Mr. Parkes, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Dickson, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, 

In attendance,— 
	 Mr. Macleay. 

The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 

2. In the absence of the Chairman, Mr. Walsh took the Chair. 
1. On motion of Mr. Parkes, seconded by Ur. Dickson, Mr. Hay was elected to the Chair. 

8. 

THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. J. Garrett. 

one hour after the time appointed for meeting, 

Mr. Hay, 
Mr. Walsh, 
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3. The Clerk, by direction of the Chairman, read the Petition of William Palmer Moffat, 
Esquire, referred to the Committee on the5th February, 1861, complaining of the 
Election and Return of Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, as Member for the Electoral 
District of The Glebe, as follows :— 

To His Excellency the Administrator of the Government of New South Wales. 
The humble Petition of William Palmer Moffat, of Balmain and Sydney, in the 

Colony of New South Wales, Solicitor,— 
&JEWETT{ :— 

That an Election was held on the fourteenth day of December last, for the 
Electoral District of The Glebe. 

That the said Electoral District was composed of Balmain and the Glebe, at each of 
which places, on the said day of Election, a Polling Place was held, and a Poll taken. 

That Geoffrey Eager, Esq., Thomas Ware Smart, Esq., and your Petitioner were 
Candidates at the said Election to serve as Members of the Legislative Assembly, for the 
said Electoral District. 

That all the votes taken at said Election were not taken by ballot, inasmuch as the 
vote of Rowan Ronald, Esquire, Justice of the Peace, who can read, and is not blind, was 
taken openly and without his entering the Polling Booth. 

That other questions than those allowed by the forty-sixth section of the Electoral 
Act of one thousand eight hundred and fifty-eight were put by the Presiding Officer to 
persons entitled and claiming to vote at said Election, and inquiries as to the right of certain 
persons to vote was permitted contrary to the said Act, whereby certain persons were pre-
vented from voting who had a legal right to vote, although they said they were prepared to 
vote upon the qualification, and claimed a right to vote, and were positively refused, whereby 
also the result of said Election was affected. 

That a large number of votes duly recorded, as your Petitioner is informed and verily 
believes, in his favor on that day were rejected by the Presiding Officer in ascertaining the 
gross number of votes for each of said Candidates, whereby a great many persons were dis-
franchised—more than enough to have given your Petitioner a clear majority of votes, and 
the result of said Election deeply affected. 

That on the close of the Poll at Balmain on that day, before returns were had from 
the Glebe, it was announced, as it was afterwards declared to be true, that the said Thomas 
Ware Smart, Esquire, and your Petitioner, had in Balmain an equal number of votes in 
their favor at that Election. 

That on the close of the Poll at the Glebe on that day, the Presiding Officer received 
from the Poll Clerk a statement of the votes recorded in favor of each of said Candidates, 
when there appeared one hundred and ninety-three in favor of the said Thomas Ware Smart, 
one hundred and ninety-six in favor of your Petitioner, and one hundred and eight in favor 
of the said Geoffrey Eager, Esquire. 

That the said respective numbers were duly taken and recorded by the Presiding 
Officer at the Glebe, as your Petitioner is informed and believes, but were altered by erasure, 
and other numbers substituted by the Presiding Officer, whereby the Official Return of the 
Poll Clerks was ignore& a false Return made of the votes taken at that Polling Place, and 
the existing majority in favor of your Petitioner reduced to a minority. 

That, according to the votes actually returned by the Government Poll Clerks to the 
Presiding Officer, as recorded at the Glebe in your Petitioner's favor, your Petitioner had a 
clear majority of votes, and ought to have been declared returned as the Member for said 
Electorate. 

That the Returning Officer to whom the said Writ was duly issued, for the Election 
of Members to serve in the Legislative Assembly for the said Electoral District, on the 
fourteenth day of December :foresaid, declared Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, to be duly 
elected as such Member, and the said Returning Officer thereupon returned to the same Writ, 
that Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, was duly elected as aforesaid. 

That, by reason of the premises the said Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, was illegally 
and improperly returned, as the Member for the said Electoral District, and that by reason 
thereof your Petitioner ought to have been, and claims to be returned. 

That your Petitioner has paid into one of the Banks regulated by Act of Council, 
within the said Colony, namely, the Commercial Bank, the sum of One Hundred Pounds to 
the credit of the Speaker of the said Legislative Assembly, in relation to this Petition, as 
appears by the Bank deposit receipt hereto appended. 

Your Petitioner, therefore, humbly prays that the Election and Return of the said 
Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire as a Member of the Legislative Assembly for the said Elec-
toral District, may be declared to be wholly null and void, and that it may be declared that 
your Petitioner was thereby elected, and ought to have been returned instead of the said 
Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, and that the Return to the Writ, for the said Election of 
Members to serve in the Legislative Assembly for the said Electoral District, may be amended 
accordingly, and that your Petitioner may be declared duly elected. 

And your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray, 8m., &e. 
WILLIAM PALMER MOFFAT. 

Dated at Sydney this 4th day of 
February, A.D. 1861. 

4. 
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4. Committee deliberated as to their course of proceeding, and,— 
On motion of Mr. Macleay it was Resolved,—That the Petitioner be required to 
proceed in the first instance to support the allegations in his Petition affecting the 
validity of the Election— Carried. 
The Committee then adjourned till Wednesday next. 

WEDNESDAY, 20 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

Mr. Walsh, 	 Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. Parkes, 	 Mr. Mackay, 

Mr. T. Garrett. 
In attendance,— 

The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 
1. On motion of Mr. Maclerty, the Chair was taken by Mr. Dickson, in the absence of the 

Chairman. 
2. The Clerk having, by direction of the Chairman read the Minutes of previous Meetings, 

the same were confirmed. 
Present,— 

The Sitting Member. 
The Petitioner. 

At this stage of the proceedings the Chairman entered the room and took his place, 
Mr. Dickson having vacated the chair. 

3. The Petitioner addressed the Committee in favor of an adjournment, on the ground that 
the notice given him of this day's meeting was too short to enable him to communicate 
with his Counsel and Witnesses,—And, having withdrawn ; 
The Committee deliberated on the proposal, and, strangers being again admitted, 

Petitioner was informed that, in accordance with his request, the Committee had agreed to 
adjourn till 101- o'clock to-morrow, when he would be required to proceed with his case. 

The Committee adjourned till Thursday next. 	
0. P. KELLY, 

2nd Clerk Assistant. 

THURSDAY, 21 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
John Hay, Esquire, in the Chair. 

Mr. Parkes, 	 Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Walsh, 	 Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Dickson, 	 Mr. Wilson. 

In attendance,— 
The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 

1. The Clerk having, by direction of the Chairman, read the Minutes of last Meeting, 
the same were confirmed. 
Strangers being admitted— 

Present,— 
The Sitting Member. 
The Petitioner. 

The Petitioner addressed the Committee, particularizing the points upon which he 
desired to question the Election and Return of Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, as Member 
for the Electoral District of The Glebe. 

Charles Tompson, Esquire (Clerk of the Legislative Assembly), called in, sworn, and 
examined. 

The Witness handed in the following Documents :— 
1. Writ of Election for the Glebe Electorate. 
2. Balloting Papers 	ditto. 
3. Letter transmitting same. 
4. Oath taken by Sitting Member. 

James Shoobert, Esquire (Returning Offiter for The Glebe), called in, sworn, and 
examined; and— 

The 2nd Clerk Assistant having, by direction of the Chairman, opened the parcel 
purporting to contain the voting papers in this case, and strangers having withdrawn— 

The Committee deliberated upon the course to be pursued in reference to the 
numerous packages contained in the said parcel, as handed in by the Clerk of the Legislative 
Assembly, and the same having been marked,— 

Strangers were admitted, and the Witness being re•called, was further examined. 
Mr. C. F. Gorton (Poll Clerk), called in, sworn, and examined. 

0. P. KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

Mr. 



601 

9 

Mr. W. J. Langdon (Scrutineer), called in, sworn, and examined. 
E. Holloway, Esquire (Presiding Officer), called in, sworn, and examined. 
Mr. C. F. Gorton (Poll Clerk), called in and further examined. 
Strangers having withdrawn,— 
The Committee deliberated as to the further conduct of the Inquiry. 
Mr. R. L. Scrutton (Scrutineer), called in, sworn, and examined. 
3. Bradly, Esquire, (Presiding Officer), called in, sworn, and examined. 
The Petitioner, having informed the Committee that he had no further evidence to 

offer, addressed the Committee.. 
The Sitting Member then addressed the Committee, and the parties withdrew. 
The Committee deliberated as to their future proceedings, and decided on adjourning 

till to-morrow, with the view of considering the advisability of having a scrutiny of the 
Ballot Papers contained in the parcel marked 2 A, and endorsed as containing " Flring 
Ppers, Glebe." 

The Committee adjourned till to-morrow. 

FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

John Hay, Esquire, in the Chair. 
Mr. T. Garrett, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. 1Vilson, 	 Mr. Maeleay, 
Mr. Dickson, 	 Mr. Parkes. 

In attendance,— 
The 2nd Clerk Assistant. 

I. The Clerk, by direction of the Chairman, having read the Minutes of last Meeting, the 
same were confirmed. 
The Committee proceeded to deliberate upon the question under discussion at the last 

meeting, viz., as to the advisability of having a scrutiny of the Ballot Papers taken in the 
Booth A to L, at the Glebe, the correctness of the Return, with that exception, having 
been admitted by the parties. 

Mr. Macleay moved, and Mr. T. Garrett seconded the motion,— 
That the Committee do now proceed to a scrutiny of the Voting Papers, taken at 

the Polling Booth A to L, at the Glebe.—Carried. 
The Committee then proceeded to the scrutiny (the Petitioner haying entered the 

Room), at the conclusion of which, the Committee proceeded to deliberate with respect to 
the admissibility of certain Voting Papers. 

The Petitioner having withdrawn—and being re-admitted,— 
The Chairman declared the result of the scrutiny as follows :— 

Thomas Ware Smart, Esq. 	  116 
William Palmer Moffat, Esq. 	  109 
Geoffrey Eagar, Esq 	  56 

Showing a majority of 7 for the Sitting Member,— 
Five (5) Voting Papers having been rejected as informal. 
The Petitioner then withdrew. 
The Committee deliberated as to the substance of the Report to be laid before the 

House in this ease. 
Mr. Walsh moved, and Mr. Maeleay seconded the following Resolutions, viz.:— 
Resolved,— 

(I.) That Thomas Ware Smart, Esquire, the Sitting Member, has been duly 
elected. 

(2.) That the Petition of William Palmer Moffat is not frivolous or vexatious. 
. (3.) That the conclusions at which the Committee have arrived be embodied in a 

Report, to he drawn up by the Chairman, and presented to the Ilcuse.— 
Carried. 

The chairman instructed to ask leave of the House to adjourn the Sittings of the 
Committee sine die. 

Committee then adjourned until Thursday next. 

0. F. KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

0. F. KELLY, 
2nd Clerk Assistant. 

98—B 
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COMMITTEE 
OF 

ELECTIONS AND QUALIFICATIONS. 

THURSDAY, 21 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
PRESENT :— 

Mr. Dickson, 
Mr. T. Garrett, 
Mr. Hay, 

Mr. Macleay, 
Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Wilson. 

 

John Hay, Esq., in the Chair. 
W. P. Moffat, Esq , appeared in support of the Petition; T. W. Smart, the Sitting Member, 

appeared on his own behalf. 

Charles Tompson, Esq., called in, and, having been sworn, was examined :— 
1. By Mr. Moffat : You are Clerk of the Legislative Assembly ? Yes. C. Tompson, 
2. Do you produce the Writ of Election for the Glebe Electorate ? I do. I produce a Writ 	Esq. 
certifying to the return of Thomas Ware Smart, Esq., as a Member of the Legislative  
Assembly of New South Wales for the Electoral District of The Glebe. (The witness 21 Feb.,  
produced the same.) 
3. Did any papers connected with that Return accompany the Writ? This is the naked Writ. 	

1861. 

That Writ was transmitted to me by the Colonial Secretary, with a letter, dated 6th January, 
1861, enclosing a list, signed by the Governor, of all the Members who had been returned 
to serve in pursuance of the Writs issued for the General Election, in the usual course, after 
a General Election. It is something in the nature of what the Clerk of the Crown does in 
the British Parliament. The Governor certifies to all these names. 
4. By Mr. Walsh : You are the proper person to have the custody of this Writ, and you pro-
duce it ? I produce it. 
5. By Mr. Moffit : Did any paper accompany that Writ from the Returning Officer ? I 
received, subsequently, a parcel, indorsed "Voting Papers of the Electoral District of the 
Glebe," and signed by the Returning Officer, "I. Sheehan, dated December 14th, 1860." 
This parcel is in exactly the same state as I received it. I have never opened it. (The 
witness produced the same.) I also received this letter from the Returning Officer. 	(The 
witness read the same.) I presume in this letter he alludes to the bundle of papers I have 
just handed in, although they came to me separately. 
6. By Mr. Parkes : The letter accompanied the papers ? The letter came by post. The 
ballot papers I think came by private hand. The certificate that is on it I wrote at the 
moment I received it. 
7. By Mr. Moffat : Are there any papers in connection with this Return ? Not connected 
with the Return. I have the Oath taken by Mr. Smart, and also the Electoral Roll. 
8. I believe Mr. Smart was sworn in as a Member of the Assembly ? Yes. I produce the 
Oath taken by Mr. Smart as a Member of the Assembly. (The witness handed in the same.) 
9. On what day was that ? The 10th of January, on which day Mr. Smart took his 
Seat. I also produce the Electoral Roll, with Mr Smart's signature as Member for the 
Glebe. (The witness produced the same.) I have no other papers to produce. I may say in 
addition that Mr. Smart has frequently sat and voted since. 

J. Shoobert, Esq., called in, and, having been sworn, was examined :— 
10. By Mr. Ma/at: Were you the Returning Officer for the Glebe Electorate at the last J. Sboobert 
January Election ? Yes. 	 Esq. 
11. That is divided into two parts—the Glebe and Balmain ? Yes ; at least there are two 
polling-places. I do not know that it is necessarily considered as divided into two parts. 	21 Feb., 1861. 
12. There are two polling-places ? Yes. 
13. What was the result of the poll in Balmain as between Mr. Smart and me ? It was 
equal. 
14. Did you appoint a Presiding Officer in the Glebe? I did, two. 
15. Mr. Edward Holloway and Mr. James Bradley ? Yes. 
16. Did they make any written return to you at the close of the poll at the Glebe? Yes. 
17. In writing ? Yes. 
18. Do you produce it ? No, it is in the Council Chambers. 

19. 
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3. Fffiechert, 10. Did you transmit it with the balloting papers ? Yes. 
Es`k 	20. By the Chairman : To whom did you transmit it ? To the Clerk of the Council, as by 

kiwi provided. 
21 Feb., 1864 tn. IJy Air. 31,:g;it  To the Clerk of the Assembly ? To the Clerk of the Assembly. 

22. By the Chairman : It was addressed to the Clerk of the Assembly ? Yes. 
23. When you said Council you meant the Assembly? I beg pardon if I said Council, I 
meant Assembly. 
24. By jib, Moffat: Is that the parcel you returned (handing the parcel produced by Mr. 
Tompson, marked NO. 2) 	Yes. 

25. By Mr. Parkes : Is that your writing? Yes. 
2-6. The parcel is thst in the same state as when you forwarded it ? Yes, in just the same 
state. 
27. By Mr. Ma/fit: Excepting the indorsement on it ? Yes; it is indorsed by the Clerk as 
having been received by him. 
28. By Alt.. Parkes: The parcel has never been opened since you returned it? No. (The 
parcel was then opened by the 2nd Clerk Assistant, and a parcel taken therefrom, No. 2 41, 

• was handed to the witness.) Of course I know nothing of this, except that I enclosed the 
documents I received. I can say nothing of the contents of the documents-they were 
furnished inc from the Glel c. 

(The Committee hamng examined the contents of the parcel, selected a paper, 2 C, 
therefrom, which woo handed by the Chairman to Mr. Algal.) 

The Chairman to Mr. 'Wilt : This is the statement of the Presiding Officer and 
scrutineers, of the state of the poll in booth A tot, at the Glebe-I presume that is the 
paper you wish to put in Mr. Shoobert's hands? 

ilefTht : Yes, that is one of the documents. 
29. _By the Chairman : (Handing the paper 2 0 to witness) Is that the document which 
was ieceived by you as the statement of the Presiding Officer, countersigned by the poll clerk 
and scrutineers at the Glebe, at the poll-booth from A to J ? Yes, that is it. 
30. By Afr Abp.:: Do you discover any erasures there of the numbers? There has been 
some scratching there apparently. 
31. Can you tell from it as it stands now what alteration has been made ? No, but I see 
the words " sixteen " here and "twenty " on the top. 
32. By the Chairman: Sixteen altered to twenty ? Sixteen altered to twenty. 
33. Has there not also been an alteration (relining to the number attached to Mr. Moffat's 
name) above ? There seems to have been an alteration, but I could not pretend to say what 
it has been. 
34. Ba Mr. 	: Da you think it has been " one hundred and twenty"? Certainly 
not ; there is no room for the word " twenty" there, the last figure has apparently been a 
2-I should take it to have been a 12. 
35. By the Chairman : Does that correspond with this tally (referring to the tallies 
accompanying the certificate of return, 2 0) ? Yes, it corresponds with that, that has evi-
dently been 112. 
30. And the other has been 110? It appears so. 
37. By Mr. Mffia : Do you remember what was the majority ? No, I cannot say I do. 
38. Was it eleven ? I think it was eleven-I have no doubt the state of the poll is here. 
:W. Was there any other return you received from Mr. Holloway in connection with the 
Glebe election ? Not that I run aware of-whatever I received is here. 
40. By Mr Walsh: Did you receive a duplicate of that (Exhibit 2 C)? I am not aware; 
if I did it is here; I do not think so. 
41. By the Chairman : Will you examine this paper, and say whether there was a duplicate 
of this document ? (The witness examined Exhibit 2 C) No. 
42. Did you in any case receive duplicates of the statements of the Presiding Officers? I 
never have done nor do I believe I did in this ease; if I had, it would have been here; I 
believe T @lid not. 
43. Are you aware that by the 52nd Section of the Electoral Act it is directed that the 
Presiding Officer should transmit to the Returning Officer a duplicate statement signed by 
him and countersigned by the poll clerk and any of the scrutineers who may be present 
(The witnoss referred to the Act.) 
44. Were you aware of that ? I cannot say I was; I thought I was pretty well up in the 
Act. 
45. In point of fact you did not receive such duplicate ? No, I should say not, unless there 
is one sealed up with the Glebe papers, and that I received this ns a duplicate. 
40. By Mr. Pouts: That could not have been ? No; then I did not receive it. 
47. ity the Chairman : The Act specifies that he shall seal up all the ballot papers, and nt 
the same time transmit to you a written statement of the poll, and at the next possible 
opportunity to send you a duplicate? Yes. There seems to have been some neglect in the 
matter. 
4S. Did you make up your numbers from the numbers as they appear now to have been 
altered ? Yes, just as they appear here, No doubt I made my return from that. 
40. Namely, 120 for Mr. Smart, and 110 for Mr. Moffat? Yes. 
50. By Mr. Walsh : You have some papers in that parcel, I presume, which would give us 
the exact majority ? In the parcel. Yes, no doubt my papers will shew. I have no doubt 
the list is here ; scaled up here. (Referring to parcel No. 2.) 

Mr. Walsh inquired of Mr. Moffitt whether there was any dispute about the fact that 
the declared majority was eleven. 

Mr. Jilin replied that there was no dispute about that. 
Nr. 
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Shoobert: No doubt the paper is sealed up with the Ealtnain papers. I remora- J. Shoohert, 
ber the majority of the two places combined was eleven. 	 Esq. 
51. By Mr. Par/tee: The majority of Mr. Smart over Mr. Moffat ? The majority of 
Mr. Smart over Mr. Moffat. 	 21 Feb., 1861. 
52. Did you notice, looking at that paper, that the tallies-the pen strokes-did not agree 
with the numbers at the foot of them ? I never counted them till now. 
53. Have you counted them now ? Yes, I see now that the pen strokes in one column are 
116, while the number is 120, and the strokes in the other are 112 while the figures are 
110. But this is the return (referring to the certificate on the opposite side of the sheet of 
paper), and I do not think I even looked at that. 

Mr. Charles Frederick Gorton was called in, and, having been sworn, was examined :- 
54. By At. Moffitt : Were you one of the poll clerks at the Glebe during the last general Mr. C. F. 
election? Yes. 	 Gorton. 
55. In booth front A to I.? Yes. 
56. Did you take the usual declaration ? Yes. 	 21 Feb., 1861.  
57. Do you remember the result in your own polling booth at the close of the poll on the 
14th December last ? Yes, I believe it was-Mr. Moffat, 110; Mr. Smart, 112; and 
Mr. Hagar, 58. I think those were the numbers. 
58. By the Chairmen: Are you sure-you say Mr. Smart was how many ? I think I made 
Mr. 51offatt, 116; Mr. Smart, 112; and Mr. Eagar, 58. 
59. By Mr. Mcfat : On those numbers being given did the Presiding Officer do anything ? 
My numbers differed by four from the scrutineers. 
60. Will you answer my question-on the receipt of the numbers did the Presiding Officer 
do anything? lie desired me to put• down the scrutineers' numbers instead of my own, as 
they were three to one. 
61. Was any indorsement made upon any paper by the Presiding Officer of the numbers 
given by you-was any indorsement made by Mr. Holloway when you gave that return ? 
I think he signed the return at the first. 
62. Corresponding to the numbers you have stated ? Yes. 
63. At the time you made the return you presumed it to be correct ? I did. 
64. Subsequent to your giving that return was any count made by the Presiding Officer of 
the votes ? The Presiding Officer called out the numbers, and I took them down on the 
usual form. 
65. After that return by you was made did anything take place ? An alteration of four 
was made, because the scrutineers' numbers and mine differed. 
06. That was after these amounts had been indorsed ? I would not be positive whether 
Mr. Holloway signed before or after. 
67. 1 ask whether the numbers you gave were indorsed ? Yes. 
68. That was, 11.6 for myself, 112 for Mr. Smart, and 58 for Mr. Eager? I think those 
were the numbers. 
60. Will you state what took place? There were three differed from me, and made four 
more for Mr. Smart than I did; and Mr. Holloway said there was scarcely time to count the 
papers over again, as he had to take them over to 13almain, and that I had better take the 
numbers of the scrutineers, as there were three to one. I did as he desired me. 
70. Without any re-count ? Without any re-count. 
71. Will you look at th at (handing Exhibit 2 0 to witness-is that your name? Yes. 
72. By the Chairman : Your signature ? My signature. 
73. And you made these alterations ? I made these alterations. The number was 116 ; 
four were added, which made 120. 
74. Do you not remember that you told us just now that Mr. Moffat polled 116 and Mr. 
Smart 112-does that not shew that before the alteration was made the numbers were for 
Mr. Smart 116 and for Mr Moffat 112? It appears so here. 
75. Is that not the paper you signed as containing the correct numbers? Yes. 
76. By Mr. .3folia: Now are you prepared to say that the number of 58 for Mr. Eagar is 
correct? I did not take particular notice of the numbers at the time-this 581 might have 
made a mistake in, but this is the paper that was altered afterwards. 
77. That was wade up from your count in the first instance? Yes. 
78. Your count in the first instance appears to be 116 for Mr. Smart and 112 for Mr. 
Moffat ? Yes ; the " sixteen " is plain here. 
79. Will you look at the tallies 011 the other side of the paper-were these made by you? 
Yes, these are my tallies. 
80. Will you state how many tallies there are for Moffat ? 110 and these 2. 
81. How many did you make ? It is altered to 110. 
82. You any you, made these tallies-how many are there ? 112 and these 2 (referring to 
two strokes at the font of the tally) were taken out. 
83. How many for Smart ? 120. 
84. The number of tallies ? 116. 
85. Then when you said just now there were 116 votes for Mr. Moffat and 112 for Mr. 
Smart, were you right? No, I was not ; but I have not seen this paper since the day of 
election. 
86. Having refreshed your memory by referring to the tallies you made and the paper you 
signed, will you now say what were the numbers? The numbers were 112 for Mr. Moffat 
and 116 for Mr. Smart. 

87. 

• 
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Mr. C. F. 87. By Mr. Parka: Did you ever make any other count? Y. 
Gorton. 88. For this same election ? Yes. 

89. Then you abandoned your own count and adopted that of the scrutineers? Yes ; Mr. 
21 Feb., 1861 . Holloway desired me to do so. 

90. By the Chairman: You yourself wrote this with your own hand (referring to the altera-
tion)? I did. 
91. By Mr. Moffat: Were these names signed before you made the alteration ? No, 
because the scrutineers would not sign it at all before the alteration had been made. 
92. By the Chairman : Did Mr. Holloway sign before the alteration was made 	I will not 
be positive. 
93. By Mr. Moffat: Do you observe that Mr. Holloway's name is in different ink, and that 
it corresponds with the line above ? Yes. 
94. Did an altercation take place between the scrutineers and the poll clerk as to the 
number ? Yes. 
95. Did that take place before -Mr. Holloway signed that or after ? I could not say whether 
Mr. Holloway signed that before, or whether he was signing. He was about signing at the 
time the altercation took place. 

21/r.. Pm-keg: It would be better for Mr. Gortrn to state in his own way what did 
take place at the time of the altercation. 

Mr. Gorton : Two of the scrutineers anade four more for Mr. Smart than ray numbers 
shewed, and then the Presiding Officer said there would scarcely be time to count them over 
again, as he had to take the state of the poll from the Glebe to Bahrain. The two 
scrutineers refused to sign the certificate unless the alteration were wade; and he said, as 
there were two to one against me, be would take their two numbers instead of mine, and he 
desired me to alter mine. 
96. By Mr. Parkes: Who were the two scrutineers ? Mr. Serutton was one and Mr. 
Jabez Bunting the other. 
97. By Mr. Moffat : For whom were they the scrutineers? Mr. Scrutton was-I do not 
know whether he was for Mr. Smart ; one was for Mr. Smart and the other for Mr. Eagan 
98. By Mr. Wilson : Were there other two scrstineers? There were three scrutineers; 
one for each member. 
99. How did the three tally ? The third did not interfere. 
100. By the Chairman : Who was he-Mr. Langdon ? Yes. 
101. Were you the only poll clerk ? Yes. 
102. The difference was between you and the scrutineers? Yes. 
103. By Mr. Parka : You made these alterations in consequence of the scrutineers refusing 
to sign it ? Yes ; by desire of the Presiding Officer, under whose order I was. 
101. To settle the dispute ? Yes. 
105. By Mr. Smart: Did you not fill in the number and sign the return yourself, before 
you compared your numbers with the scrutineers' ? I think not. 
106. Is it not your duty to sign the return before the scrutineers are called upon to sign it ? 
Yes. 
107. Did you not present the return to the three scrutineers with the numbers filled in ? 
Yes. 
108. Are you quite sure that you signed this before you asked the scrutineers to sign it ? 
Yes. 
109. And before you signed it you filled in these numbers yourself ? Yes. 
110. Before you compared your additions with them ? Yes. 
111. And the scrutineers refused to sign ? Yes. 
112, The three scrutineers ? Yes. 
113. Did they not shew that they all agreed with their tallies? Yes. 
114. Did Mr. Langdon agree as to the numbers? Yes. 
115. You said just now that Mr. Langdon did not interfere ? Two of them called out their 
numbers, but Mr. Langdon did not wy anything. 
116. Did they not agree as to the numbers? Yes. 
117. And they refused to sign because they said your numbers were incorrect ? Yes. 
118. Did not Mr. Langdon ? I think not. 
119. At all events they all agreed to the numbers you afterwards put down ? Yes. 
120. Upon the recommendation of the Returning Officer you corrected the numbers according 
to the scrutineers' returns ? Yes. 

Mr. William Joseph Langdon called in, and, having been sworn, was examined :- 

Mr. W. J. 121. By Mr. Moffat: You were scrutineer on my behalf at the Glebe, at the last Election 
Landon. for the Glebe and Balrnain ? Yes. 
..---A.--, 122. In what polling-place--what booth ? A to L. 

21 Fob., 1861. 123. Where Mr. Gorton was poll clerk ? Yes. 
124. Do you remember the numbers that were given by the poll clerk at the close of the 
poll in that booth? I cannot exactly remember the numbers now, but I know there was 
some difficulty with the poll clerk and ourselves ; that he made it more than we made it. 
125. Do you remember whether Mr. Smart, Mr. Eagar, or myself had the majority as 
declared by the poll clerk at first ? I could not swear to that; I believe the poll clerk stated 
that you had the greatest number of votes, and we disagreed with him, and then he altered 
his paper to our number. 

126. 
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126. Have you any doubt whatever that the poll clerk returned me as having a majority to Mr.W. J.  
the Presiding Officer ? I would not swear. 	 Langdon. 
127. Have you any doubt of it ? I did not expect to come here, therefore the whole thing r ---"1/4-••■ 
has escaped out of my head. 	 21 'Feb., 1661. 
128. Have you any doubt that the poll clerk returned me to the Returning Officer as having 
the majority before this dispute took place? No, I have not; but I could not swear that 
he gave to the Returning Officer an account of the number in your favor any more- 
129. I am referring to what took place on the first occasion ; I am not referring to the 
erasure, or the effect of the erasure, I am referring to the first statement of the numbers by 
the poll clerk to the Presiding Officer on the close of the poll ? I could not say, for we had 
such a dispute about it at the time, I forget how the numbers stood; but I know the poll 
clerk made you more than we did. 
130. Do you believe he gave me the majority ? I could not swear to that. I know every 
body thought you were elected, according to Mr. Gorton, the poll clerk ; he made you more 
than we did. 
131. Have you any doubt in your mind that Mr. Gorton gave me a larger number of votes 
than Mr. Smart got, and that a dispute arose subsequently as to the difference of numbers, 
and that the Presiding Officer took the numbers of the scrutineers? No. 
132. There was a difference between the numbers given by the poll clerk and your numbers 
as scrutineers ? Yes, that was the dispute-as to the numbers. 
133. Will you briefly state your remembrance of what took place from the first statement 
of the numbers by the poll clerk to the Presiding Officer up to the time you all signed ? 
I recollect, after we had all gone over the ballot papers-I think it was Mr. Bunting-one of 
the other scrutineers, disagreed with us and the poll clerk, by one or two votes, but to make 
that all right he gave way. Then we had a dispute with the poll clerk, and he made Mr. 
Moffat more than we did ; but he was willing to take our numbers. 
134. Was that done ? Yes, it was ; I saw it done. 
135. Do you remember the time when Mr. Holloway, the Presiding Officer, signed the paper 
which you likewise signed? Yes. 
136. Do you remember whether he signed first, or did he sign after any of you? I think 
he signed it first. 
137. Do you remember whether he signed before the alteration was made ? No; after, 
I think. 
138. Will you swear he did? Yes. 
139. Will you tell us what circumstance brings that to your recollection? Because I recol-
lect the erasure of the numbers. 
140. Who erased them ? The poll clerk Ile then banded the paper to Mr. Holloway, and 
Mr. Holloway signed it, and I think I signed it last. I do not know whether my name is 
last or not. 
141. That is your impression'? Yes. 
142. If you look at that (Exhibit 2 C) you will see that you did not sign last-if you are 
mistaken on that point might you not be mistaken on the other? I see I have signed the third. 
143. Look at this writing-(handing Exhibit 2 C to witness)-is not that certificate written 
in different ink from the signature? Yes. 
144. Looking at that, do you think that "We, the undersigned" was written immediately 
upon the indorsement of the original number before the alteration took place? No, it was not. 
145. Do I understand you that there is a difference in the ink-that the name of the poll 
clerk, and of the three scrutineers

' 
 is much blacker than the signature of Mr. Holloway and 

the certificate? This was written after the numbers were made correct, and we all signed it. 
146. Did Mr. Holloway, the Presiding Officer, sign it as the Presiding Officer before he 
submitted it to you for your signature ? Yes; he inserted his name there. 
147. Is it the fact that after he submitted it to you, as so signed by him, you protested 
against the numbers as certified by him ? I could not swear to that. The fact of the matter 
is I could not swear positively about that, for this might have been altered before Mr. 
Holloway put his name or after, but I believe it was afterwards. 
148. You will not swear whether it was before or afterwards? No; not either. 
149. Your memory is not very good-you thought your name was at,the bottom of the 
return and you now find it is the third from the bottom ? Yes. 
150. But, at all events, the alterations, whatever they were, took place without any re-
counting of the votes ? Yes • there was DO counting over at all-Mr. Holloway put the 
papers on one aide and said "If you cannot agree, you must count them over yourselves." 
151. Do you remember the number of votes you had ? 110, I think-I gave you, my paper. 
152. Is that it (handing apaper to witness)? 	; that is not mine. 
153. Is that it (handing another paper to witness)? No. 
154. By Mr. Garrett : Was there a duplicate copy of this paper (Exhibit 2 C)? No; 
I do not know anything of any other. 
155. By the Chairman: You signed only one statement-you did not sign any duplicate? No. 
156. By Mr. Swart: Mr. Bunting, I believe, was my scrutineer? Yes. 
157. And he made his return one or two more than Mr. Scrutton in my favor ? Yes. 
158. But, to agree with your numbers, Ile struck the one or two out ? No; we bad an 
argument over it. 
159. However, he did so 	Yes. 
160. You and Mr. Scrutton agreed as to the final state of the poll 	Yes. 
161. That was before Mr. Gorton brought you this paper to sign ? Yes. 
162 When Mr. Gorton brought•you this paper to sign, did you refuse to sign it because 
you did not agree with him as to the numbers ? Yes. 

163. 

• 
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Mr. W. J. 163. Had you all previously agreed as to the numbers-as to the final state.of the poll? Yes. 
Eangdon. 164. As you refused to sign his paper, Mr. Gorton took your numbers ? Yes, by the 

tion of Mr. Holloway. 
21 Feb., 1861. 165. Did Mr. Gorton make the ensures after you had objected to his numbers ? Yes. 

166. And adopted your numbers as correct ? Yes. 
167. After he had made the corrections did you sign the paper ? Yes. 
168. Is that correct ? Yes. 
169. And the numbers were agreed upon by the three scrutineers ? Yes. 
170. Placing me how many a-head ? I do not remember. 
171: You were all agreed? Yes. 
172. By the Chairman: Will you look at this paper, and see what the numbers are there? 
Yes

' 
 they are 110, and 120. 

173. That was the number you made? 110 we made for Mr. Moffat, and 120 for Mr. 
Smart ; but the poll clerk made Mr. Moffat's more. 
174. How many more-will you say what was the number for Mr. Smart before Mr. Gorton 
made the erasure ? 116, I think ; it appears to have been a 6 this (referring to the 
erasure in the paper 2 C). 
175. Did the Presiding Officer count the number of votes in your presence ? No; they were 
counted-I think the poll clerk counted them, and we tallied them with the number, and 
they corresponded. 
176. They do not seem exactly to have corresponded? Our numbers, the scrutineers' 
numbers, did, but they did not come at all right with them. 
177. Who counted them ? I think it was Mr. Gorton, the poll clerk. 
178. Did you count the votes? No. 
179. Did any other of the scrutineers count the votes? No. 
180. Did the Presiding Officer ? I think not. 
181. Did he do so in your presence ? No. 
182. By  Mr. Walsh : Were the papers taken from the ballot-box in your presence ? Yes. 
183. Who took them out ? Mr. Holloway. 
184. Did he not count them ? 	; he took them out and put them on the file, and said 
Moffat-Smart-Eagar. 
185. Were they counted and put on three separate files ? No, all on one file. 
186. He called the name as he put it on the file ? Yes. 
187. And the poll clerk took the names down? We all took them down. 
188. By the Chairman : In point of fact, the Presiding Officer depended on the tally as 
taken down by the poll clerk and scrutineers ? Yes ; because when we wanted to go over 
them again, he pushed them on one side, and said, " If you do, you must count them your-
selves.' 
189. By Air. Garrett : When the Returning Officer took the papers out of the ballot-box, 
he said Moffat-Smart-Eagar, and put them on the file ? Yes; be took them out and put 
them on the file. 
190. Saying for whom the votes were ? Yes. 
191. By Mr. Wilson : You referred to the difference in the appearance of the ink, do you 
not think it might be caused by the difference of the pen ? It appears very much like it. 

Edward Holloway called in, and, haling been sworn, was examined :- 
E. Holloway. 192. By Mr. Arafat: You were one of the Presiding Officers at the Glebe election ? Yes. 

193. The poll closed on the 14th December last ? I think so ; it was closed at four o'clock. 
21 Feb.. 1861. 194. I refer to the election wherein Mr. Smart and myself were two candidates-do you 

remember who was your poll clerk ? Mr. Gorton. 
195. Do you remember at the close of the poll Mr. Gorton handing you in a return of the 
votes of Messrs. Smart and Eager, and myself ? He did not hand in a return ; I remember 
that he gave me a paper. 
196. Will you state to the Committee the particulars? At the close of the poll, I com-
menced with a Mr. Jibes Bunting, who was scrutineer for Mr. Smart. I said, " What do 
you make the number of the return ?" He answered, " So-and-so"--what they were I 
forget now. Then I went to Mr. Serutton, and then to Mr. Langdon, Mr. Moffat's scrutineer, 
and found that the scrutineers agreed. Mr. Gorton told me that some three or four votes did 
not agree. He said, "As three are against me, I presume they must be right, and that I 
am wrong." I thought so too. 
197. When the ballot-box was opened to take out the papers, in getting the number of votes 
did you not take out the papers, and call out each candidate's name ? Yes. 
198. And put it on the file? Yes I did-all of them. 
199. Just as you got them ? Yes. 
200. Each one of the scrutineers kept a tally ? Yes, of course, as I have explained. 
201. You kept no tally yourself? I took the usual course. 
202. Mr. Gorton, the poll clerk, kept a tally, and the scrutineers kept a tally ? Yes. 
203. When taking the papers out of the ballot-box, did you keep a tally yourself? I did 
not. 
204. Who kept a tally for you ? On all election occasions, it was kept by the poll clerk. 
My duty was to open the ballot-box, examine the votes, and give out the candidate's name 
for whom each voter recorded his vote. 
205. By the Chairman: The tally was taken by the poll clerk. Yes. 

206. 
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200. By Mr. ..1h1fut: Did you see Mr. Gorton indorse the statement on the back of his E. Holloway. 
paper ? I did; I saw him write on both papers. 
207. What paper ?A duplicate and the copy which you have. 	 21 Feb., 1201. 
208. Who signed the duplicate? All present; the same parties signed both papers. 
209. What did you do with that duplicate ? I have asked that question outside, and it 
appears it was locked up in a box with the other papers, and sealed up. 
210. Sealed up ? So Mr. Gorton says. There was great confusion at the time; there was 
anxiety and confusion-anxiety to get back to Balmain. 
211. By 31... Mash : You have no distinct recollection of the circumstances ? No distinct 
recollection; but I know there was a duplicate. 
212. By the Chairman: Are you sure there was a duplicate ? Quite sure. 
213. Signed by all the parties? Yes ; I did not write out the duplicate, it was written by 
Mr. Gorton. 
214. By Mr. Mayfat : You remember when Mr. Gorton signed the paper ? I do. 
21.5. When did you sign it? I signed the paper, to the best of my belief, after the scruti-
neers and Mr. Gorton signed it. I think so, I am not sure about that; but that I did sign 
it, I am quite convinced. 
210. Do you think you did not sign it before they did ? I think it was after ; T think so. 
217. Is your certificate before their names, or is it after their names? I really do not 
remember ; all that I remember is, that it is on the paper I signed. 
21$. Did a dispute arise as to the number given in ? The scrutineers agreed. 
219. Was there any dispute between the serutineers and the poll clerk as to the number 
given ? As to the number, I do not understand you; there was a discrepancy between the 
numbers of the three scrutineers and the poll clerk. 
20. Did any argument or dispute arise in consequence of that discrepancy ? I was very 

angry with the poll clerk. 
221. Never mind about that ? I think that is an answer, for that shews there must have 
been some words. I was annoyed that the votes did not exactly tally. 

22. In consequence of your anger, was there anything done by the poll clerk; was the 
difference reconciled, and how? Yes, it was. There were three gentlemen-opponents-
who were watching each other closely, and as they agreed, T felt convinced they must be 
right, and that the poll clerk was wrong. 
223, You did not say he felt convinced ? De told me so. 
224. Was the alteration made in the numbers? Yes, he tallies the numbers, and gives 
them in, convinced that lie had made a mistake. 
225. There was no re-counting ? No. 
226. You undertake to swear the mistake was not made by the three scrutineers ? Certainly 
not; it is possible, but not probable, that the mistake was made by them. 
227. By the Chair»tan : Was there any discrepancy among the scrutineers themselves as to 
the number ? There was only for a moment. Mr. Smart's scrutineer had one less for Mr 
Smart than he was entitled to, but he gave in at once. 
228. Then there were only two of the scrutineers that agreed ? The other one gave in. 
229. But still his count was one less for Mr. Smart ? Yes, it was one less. 
230. It did not agree with the count of the other two scrutineers ; in point of fact, there 
were only two out of four who agreed as to the number ? Just so. 
231. When you say you asked the scrutineers, one by one, what the tally was, what tally do 
you allude to 	I will explain. ( Witness illustrated the method adopted oat paper.) 
232. When was that tally taken ? As I open the box T say, " So and So, So and So," and 
put the papers on the file. 
233. Your duty was to count the number of votes for each of the candidates-did you depend 
upon yourself, or the tally of any one else, for the number ? I depended, as is usual on such 
occasions, upon the tally kept by the poll clerk. 
234. But you did not adopt the tally taken by the poll clerk ? No, I did not; because I 
believed it to be incorrect. 
235. Not from your own knowledge ? I believed it to be incorrect; from the agreement of 
he scrutineers. 

236. How many of the scrutineers? I believe all of the scrutineers ; I say that the one 
who did not agree with the others immediately gave way. 
237. Did he count the votes over in the meantime? I am not prepared to say that. 
238. Did you refer to the tally, and find that he had made a mistake? It was against him, 
the mistake was-or rather, against Mr. Smart. 
230. Are you prepared to swear that the number to which you put your name is the correct 
number ? The correct number, in the opinion of all the parties in the booth after Mr. 
Gorton had given way, and said-" There are three against me, I suppose I must be in 
error." 
240. Were ail agreed after Mr. Gorton had given way, and Mr. Smart's scrutineer had given 
way ? That difference did not last a second, 
241. You said you were very angry with the poll clerk ? Yes. 
242. Did you express that anger to him ? Yes. 
243. Do you think that it was in consequence of that, or in consequence of the poll clerk 
becoming convinced that be had made an erroneous count, that he gave in ? I firmly think 
that-I think that be must have been convinced .  that he had put the votes down wrong. 
lie had some new method of keeping the tally.. I believe he kept a wrong tally. The 
scrutineers were such thorough opponents, watching each other so closely. 
244. By Me. Pastes : Did your poll clerk at first express any desire to adhere to his own 
return ? I do not think he did when he found the others against him. 

98-0 	 245. 
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E. Holloway. 245. Ere unhesitatingly gave in ? Be did. 
246. Without any hesitation ? Yes; I suggested to him you had better say, "I certify, to 

21 Feb., 1861. the best of my belief, this is correct," instead of which he said "This is correct." 
247. By Me. Mofat : Who wrote the certificate ? That is written by Mr. Gorton. 
248. The certificate ? That is my writing. 
249. That is not written by Mr. Gorton ? No. Then it would be the other that was-
that is his doing. 
250. You wrote it (the certificate)? Yes; he is an old electioneering officer, and I suppose 
I wrote it from his dictation. 
251. Will you state why my name stands first on the list, if I have not the highest number 
of votes ? I really can't tell you. 
252. Will you swear that I have not the largest number of votes, as declared by the poll 
clerk to you ? I could not swear it. I do not think it, I really do not know. 
253. Is it not customary in footing up the votes on any occasion, especially at general elec-
tions, to write the name of the highest first, next the second, and so on ? I suppose it is, or 
should have been. 
254. Did you ever see any departure from that rule in any election matter ? I have had so 
little to do with elections that I can't say ; this is only the second occasion that I have 
presided at an election. 
255. Are you aware of any departure from that rule ? To be candid, I never heard the 
question put before. 
256. By Mk Walsh, Do you recollect how the names stood on the voting paper ? I do. 
257. How did the names stand on the voting paper ? William Palmer Moffat, Geoffrey 
Hagar, Thomas Ware Smart. 
258.. Is that one of the voting papers ? Yes; that is one. (A voting paper-vide 
Appendix 0-was handed in.) 
259. By the Chairman : Arc you aware that it was, under the Electoral Act, your duty to 
have a duplicate transmitted to the Returning Officer ? Yes. 
260. That was not done in this case ? You will find a duplicate on examining the contents 
of the box, similar to that (pointing to a paper). 
261. Was that transmitted after this ? That was left the next morning, the papers were all 
sealed and locked up in the box. That was the paper taken by me to Mr. Shoobert 
(referring to the paper already handed in-2 C). 
262. Was the other transmitted afterwards ? It was in the box in Mr. Shoobert's possession. 
263. Was it sealed up ? Mr. Gorton tells me it is sealed up; I have not the slightest doubt 
it. was sealed up. 
264. Was it not your duty to transmit it ? I had instructions from the Returning Officer 
to be, by six o'clock, at Balmain. 
265. Will you answer my question, whether it was not your duty to have transmitted both 
than documents ? It was my duty. 
266. Did you in reality transmit it ? It was placed, to the best of my recollection, in the 
box, and given to Mr. Shoobert, with all the papers belonging to the election. 
267. You say that in counting the number of votes you depended upon your poll clerk ? 
Upon the general agreement of both. 
268. You can't say of your own knowledge whether the numbers were correct ? I cannot say 
I counted them, but I examined them; I did what is done in nineteen out of twenty cases 
in electioneering matters-I took the poll clerk's statement. 
269. You did not take the poll clerk's ? I did not think it was correct. 
270. Is that done in nineteen cases out of twenty ? No ; I think the poll clerk seldom 
makes such an error. 
271. By Air. Walsh : When you say that this duplicate was scaled up, do you mean sealed 
up in a parcel with the voting papers ? It was placed with them, I depended upon Mr. 
Gorton as an efficient person, and I think it very likely you will find it. 
272. You took one with you to Mr. Shoobert ? Yes. 
273. And the other remained in the ballot-box with the voting papers ? Yes. 
274. And was sent the next day ? Yes. 
275. By the Chairman : Was that done of your own knowledge ? It was done. It was 
signed by all the parties. I could not say that it was sent, but I do not think it was left in 
the booth, for there was no furniture, and it would have been seen if it had been left. I 
think you will find it there. 
276. I may mention that the Returning Officer stated in evidence that he received no such 
duplicate ? Very likely it may be sealed up. 
277. One of the scrutineers stated that he did not sign such a paper ? I think you will find 
that be did. 
278. In the 52nd section of the Act it is stated that it is the duty of the Presiding 
Officer to count the number of the votes, then to seal up all the ballot papers; and, " with 
"the least possible delay deliver them or cause them to be delivered together with the Roll 
" supplied to him and signed by him and the poll clerk or clerks to the Returning Officer 
" And shall at the same time transmit to such Returning Officer a written statement signed 
" by such Presiding Officer and any scrutineers who may be present containing the number 
" in words as well as figures of the votes for each candidate so counted as aforesaid and shall 
" by the next possible opportunity thereafter also transmit a duplicate of such statement 
" signed and countersigned as aforesaid" ? I think that is for the Returning Officer to do. 
279. All these are the duties of the Presiding Officer ? I gave my box, with the contents, 
over the next day. On the night of the election there was very great confusion and press of 
time. As many as 800 people were waiting at Balmain for the return of the poll. 

Mr. 
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Mr. C. F. Gorton recalled, and re-examined by Mr. Moffat :- 

280. Look at that paper-(2 C)-this is your writing-the names of the candidates ? Yes. 'Airy. 	. 
281. And this-(Exhitit 2 C)-will you state why you placed the names in that way on " rnton' 
the list before you commenced to number ? I did so before I examined this list. 
282. Does it correspond with this-(Exhibit .D)? Yes. 	 21 Feb., 1861. 
283. Will you state why, if I had not the largest number of votes, you put my name first 
after you had counted up the number of votes ? I do not know. 
284. Will you explain to the Committee how it is that, while Moffat, Bagar

' 
 and Smart are 

put on the heading of the paper, my name is put first on the list to which the aggregate 
numbers are attached, Mr. Smart's second, and Mr. Eagar's third ? I do not kncnv any 
particular reason. 
285. You cannot account for it ? No. 
286. Do you remember making a copy of that,-(Exhibit 2 0)? Yes. 
287. When ? A copy of this was made, but not of my tallies. 
288. What did you make a copy of then ? I indorsed another paper which is sealed up, 
I believe. 
289. Did you show the alteration in the duplicate you sent ? It was copied from this. 
290. Not shewing the alteration ? No. 
291. The duplicate did not shew the alterations ? No. 
'292. Then it was not a duplicate ? It was not a fire simile but it was a duplicate. 
293. How much did the duplicate contain ? The other one contained merely the written 
numbers on that side (referring to the side of the paper containing the certificate). 
294. By the Chairman: Did it contain all upon that side ? Yes; including the signatures; 
but I rather think, in the duplicate, the scrutineers did not sign; they went away before it 
was written. It contained only the Presiding Officer's and my own signature-but I will 
not be positive. 
295. Is that according to the Act-should not the duplicate be signed by the scrutineers ? 
Yes, but the scrutineers will not wait in most cases; they run away to the Committees to 
give the result of the poll; we cannot compel them to remain. 
296. If you had the duplicate prepared before they signed the original-could you not get 
it signed that way ? Yes; we might pass the two together. It is not always done that way. 
297. By Mr. Mobt: Was anything on the duplicate except what appears on the face of 
that sheet ? No, I think not. 
298. Then unless it was explained by the other documents, no one could tell to what that 
referred ? It is marked at the top, I think, the state of the poll. 
299. I asked you just now, and you said there was nothing but what appeared on the face of 
the other ; if it were so could any one tell to what it referred ? No. I think there was also 
written down the correct state of the poll at the booth A to L, Glebe, at four p.m., on 
Friday, 14th December, 1860. 
300. How does your memory serve you to say that, when you said just now that that 
side was not sent ? I merely meant that the tallies were not taken down. 
201. When you adopted the number at the foot of your tally, did you think you were 
correct ? I did. 
302. By the Chairman : Do you recognize that paper (handing a parcel twivitness)? 2 B 
is the Presiding Officer's writing. 
303. Did you seal that paper? No, the Presiding Officer sealed it. 
304. You have spoken of tins duplicate having been transmitted in a sealed packet ? Yes; 
it was transmitted to the Returning Officer. I do not know whether this (2 C) was trans-
mitted to the Returning Officer, or the other. One was put in the box and the other was 
sent by hand. 
305. Was it enclosed along with these voting papers ? I believe so ; I handed them to the 
Returning Officer, who made them up. 
306. The Presiding Officer made them up ? Yes. 
307. By  Mr. 1TraM : If that parcel (pointing to one) be the parcel containing the voting 
papers in the Glebe from A to L, is it likely to contain the paper you refer to ? Yes. 
308. By the Chairman : Will you examine these papers at the table ? ( Witness examined 
some.) 
309. Are there any other papers but these? No. 

Mr. Robert Law Scruttou called in, and, having been sworn, was examined :- 
310. By Ale. 'mow: Were you Mr. Eagar's poll clerk at the last general election ? No, M r. It. ir„ 
his scrutineer. 	 &rattan. 
811. Who was the Presiding Officer in your booth ? Mr. Holloway. 
312. Mr. Gorton was what ? Poll clerk. 	 21 Feb., 1561. 
313. Do you remember the number on the first statement of the numbers given by the poll 
clerk to Mr. Holloway ? I have a memorandum on paper taken at the time. (Witness 
produced the same.) 
314. From A to L? Yes. 
31.5. Can you state how the numbers stand ? (Witness handed in a paper.) 
316. By the Chairman : Will you state the numbers for each candidate? I can't be very 
positive of these numbers, but I believe there were 116 for Mr. Moffat, 112 for Mr. Smart, 
and 58 for Mr. Eagar. 
317. By Hr. Meat: You cannot positively state that ? No, for I have not prefixed the 
names to these numbers. 

na. • 
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Mr. it le 318. Then you were doubtful about the candidates for whom the numbers were polled ? 
Stratton. Precisely. 
"---"ett 319. Did you ever give Mr. Eager a copy of the way the numbers stood ? Yes, I aid. 

21 Feb., 18S1. 320. Is that it (handing a paper to the witness)? No, it is not. 
321_ Is that (handing another paper to witness)? No, nor that. 
322. Whose handwriting is that ? I am not aware. 
223. Is it Mr. Eagar's ? I am not aware; I think it is like Mr. Eagar's. I think I have 
the paper in my pocket. ( Witness podueed a paper which he handed to Mr. Moifizt.) 
324. Does that correepond with the fact as it was in your own mind ? That was my first 
conception, but having no names on the paper, and having been informed to the contrary, 
my impression was shaken. 
325. At all events, at the close of the poll, had I a majority as declared by the polling clerk 
to the Presiding Officer in your booth at the Glebe ? Yes. 
326. Did any dispute arise subsequently to the giving of the numbers of the poll clerk to 
the Presiding Officer-did any dispute arise between the scrutineers and the poll clerk ? 
The scrutineers all differed, and we ai once stated that we differed, from the poll clerk. 
327. Did any altercation or argument take place, or was anything said as to the numbers 
given by the poll clerk to the Presiding Officer ? Yes, there was a statement inade to the 
effect that the Returning Officer was bound by ins poll clerk-that he was not to copy our 
returns; whereon he made out the lists in accordance with that view. When it was handed 
round to Mr. Smart's scrutineer, he objected, because he knew it to be wrong, and said he 
would not sign it. I said I would not sign what I believed to be incorrect, and then the 
Presiding Officer had the list altered to the scrutineers' numbers, I believe by a penknife. 
$28. At all events, do you say, whatever the numbers were, the first numbers given by the • 
poll clerk gave me a majority ? To the best of my belief. 
329. Have you any doubt ? My belief has been shaken. 
$30. Have you any doubt ? Yes. 
331. That the numbers were in my favor ? I believe that my impression was caused in 
consequence of the rotation of the names on my pencil memorandum, 
$32. Taking the itopression that lay in your mind had I a majority, as recorded by the poll 
clerk ? I had that impression at the time. 
333. That was subsequently altered ? Yes. 
:134. The numbers-were they subsequently altered ? Yes, they were. 
335. By the poll clerk ? Yes. 
336. Did any one direct him to do so! Yes, I think Mr. Holloway, but 1 did not hear dis-
tinctly what was said. 
337. By the alteration the original tally was altered entirely ? Yes. 
138. The poll clerk's tally was entirely laid aside, and the numbers given by the scrutineers 
adopted ? Yes. 
339. Do you remember what your number was, as the scrutineer of Mr. Eagar ? I have it 
on paper-56. 
$40. 56 or 58 ? :56; I made it two less than the others. 
341. Do you remember what Mr. Bunting made it ? 58. 
342. Do you remember what Mr. Langdon made it ? 58. 
$40. Did Mr. Langdou and Mr. Bunting correspond in the first instance ? With Mr. Eager? 
$44. No; I am speaking of themselves. Did Mr. Langdon and Mr. Bunting correspond ? 
Did they correspond for each eandidvte ? 
:345. Did the tally kept by Mr. Langdon, and the tally kept by Mr. Bunting, correspond ? 
Do you mean in every particular, or in respect to one candidate only ? 
:346. In the number for Mr. Smart-I will take Mr. Smart-do you remember whether the 
tally kept by Mr. Laogdon corresponded with the tally kept by Mr. Bunting for Mr. Smart? 
They did. 
317. Did they correspond for me ? They did not, by one. 
348. Wherein did the difference lie-was it One less ? Mr. Bunting-Mr. Smart's scru-
tineer-made it one less than your scrutineer. 
349. For me ? Mr. Bunting made it one less than Mr. Langdon. 
350. For whom ? Mr. Laugdon was for Mr. Moffat ; Mr. Bunting for Mr. Smart. 
331. Then was there any positive agreement as to the tally by the three scrutineers 7 Do 
you mean as to one? 
352. I mean as to the three candidates; was there a positive agreement in the numbers 
arrived at? I could not now tell which number was adopted-110 or 109. 
353. Before it was agreed to change the number given by the poll clerk to that given by the 
scrutineers? There was a general intimation given by the Returning Officer that the num-
ber of the scrutineers should be adopted. 
354. I do not ask that-was there any positive :Tremont in the numbers before they agreed 

-to adopt the numbers given by the scrutineers ? There was no positive agreement. 
355. They agreed to agree among themselves first? The Returning Officer said as the three. 
scrutineers agreed in their numbers the amount of the poll clerk must be altered. 
356. Did the scrutineers agree in the amount ? It was the act of signing that made the 
agreement-no other ; we had no conversation about it. 
3b7. Was there not an intimation that there was very little time to spare ? We all felt that. 
358. Was it intimated that as there was little time it was better not to count-that it was 
better to bring the matter to a close any way ? I do not know that there was any recom-
mendation in that way. I believe there was something said by the Presiding Officer to the 
effect that he would not go over the votes again. 
$59. But he would do what ? He said he would not go over them again. I think it termi-
nated there. 	 259. 
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360. But there was nothing done. You say a certain amount was given by the poll clerk ? Mr. 13. L. 
This was afterwards changed. 	 Seratton. 
361. Upon what principle was that changed-on the agreement of the scrutineers who 
tallied in the numbers ? We entered into no agreement. 	 21 Feb., 1Sc1. 
362. Then your numbers agreed? We had no conversation or no statement that we would 
agree to so and so. 
363. Then it was for convenience sake that a certain number was adopted, and the alteration 
made-Smart, so many-Moffat, so many-a sort of compromise ? There was no com-
parison; there was an understanding. 
:364. By Mr. Saran: : After the Returning Officer closed the poll, did you as Mr. Eagar's 
scrutineer make up the total-did you agree with my scrutineer and Mr. Moffat's as to the 
numbers polled for the three candidates? No, I did not. 
365. What was the difference ? There was a difference of one in one of the candidates votes, 
and of two in another's. 
366. How near did you agree-Mr. Bunting you say gave way in favor - ? In favor 
of Mr. Moffat. 
367. Within that one the scrutineers agreed ? No, I scored two less for Mr. Eagar. 
368. How many did you get as agreed upon by the scrutineers? 110 for Mr. Moffat, 120 
for Mr. Smart, and 56 for Mr. Eagan 
369. That was the final conclusion the scrutineers arrived at ? No, that was the total of 
my score. 
370. Did that duller from the others, or to what extent ? The poll clerk made it 116 for 
Mr. Smart. 
371. When the Deputy Returning Officer gave that return for signature, did you and the 
other scrutineers refuse to sign it ? Yes Mr. Bunting did. 
272. Why did you refuse to sign it ? Because it was incorrect. 
373. Did the other scrutineers agree for the same reason, because the poll clerk was incorrect ? 
One only did ; Mr. Langdon was silent. 
374. The scrutineers refused to sign because the poll clerk's return was not correct ? Yes, 
375. After the scrutineers had stated this return was not correct to the Returning Officer, 
what was the cause of the alteration ? I think it was made simply on the statement that we 
all tallied. 
376. The Deputy Returning Officer agreed to take the scrutineers' as the poll clerk's return ? 
Yes. 
377. Your final return was 110 for Mr. Moffat, 120 for Mr. Smart, and 56 for Mr. Hagar? 
Yes. 
378. By Mr. Mnfat Mr. Bunting gave 109 for me, did he not ? Yes. 
379. You gave 56 for Mr. Eagar, and Mr. Bunting gave 58? Yes. 
380. The poll clerk's return was 	? 116, I believe, or did, up to a few days since. 
281. By Mr. Walsh: That paper does not appear to be in your own handwriting (hanchny 
paper 10)? It is. 
:382. There has been one small addition in pencil ? 	 
383. By the Chairman : When did you make that out ? On the day following the election. 
384. Did you make it at the time? No, I did not. 
885. By Moffat: Did you make any other pencil memorandum 	Yes, I did. 
386. Where is that ? I have it not, I think I gave it to Mr. Eagan 

Mr. James Bradley called in, and, having been sworn, was examined :- 
387. By ..11r. Moffat: Were you the Presiding Officer at the last general election at the Ar ia.,,lley . 
Glebe ? Yes. 
388. In the booth "M to 21'? Yes. 	 21 Feb., 1801. 389. You remember that when the poll closed at four o'clock you were in the booth. where 
Mr. Holloway was? Yes, I just ran in; we had closed ours about a quarter of an hour before. 
390. Did you close a quarter before the hour, or a quarter after it ? We were about live 
minutes after. 
391. Will you state what passed under your observation while you were in the booth of Mr. 
Holloway ? A little bit of a dispute was going on, and I believe at that time some differed 
from the others. I did not know all their names. There was a majority read out-four for 
you, and afterwards I believe they rectified it. 
392. Did you see a penknife used ? Yes, Mr. Gorton was making some erasure at the time. 
:393. Are you positive of this-that I was declared to have a majority of four-that I was 
in ? They were expressing that at the time. 
894. By the Chairman.: Who ? I did not know. 
295. By Mr. Affat : Did any one deny it when you heard it stated openly ? Others said 
that they thought it was a mistake ; they could not tell, and they could not till they went 
over again. Mr. Holloway said they had better go over it again, and asked me to retire. 
396. By the Chairman : Were any other persons besides the poll clerk and the scrutineers 
present with the Returning Officer when you went in ? No, except my poll clerk. 
397. Did you examine the papers ? No; I looked over casually, and saw Mr. Gorton erasing 
figures, and there was a dispute about four votes, and Mr. Holloway said that he thought h. 
would be best to go over the papers again and count them over. 
$98. You did not examine the papers so as to see what was written? No; I was merely 
looking over them casually, because they asked me to retire, not to interrupt, and I went 
sway. 

Syaney: Thomas Ektiards, Government Printer.-18G1. 

98-D 
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1861. 

EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES, No. 47. WEDNESDAY, 3 APRIL, 1861. 

7. Privilege :—Mr. Gray moved, without notice,— 
(1.) That a Select Committee, with power to send for persons and papers, be appointed 
to inquire into and report upon certain language, reflecting upon the character of this 
House, reported to have been used by His Honor the Chief Justice, while judicially 
engaged in the Supreme Court of the Colony, on Tuesday, the 2nd instant. 
(2.) That such Committee consist of the Speaker, Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Hay, Mr. 
Parkes, Mr. Walsh, Mr. Wilson, Mr. Wisdom, Mr. Arnold, Mr. Piddington, and the 
Mover. 
Debate ensued. 
Mr. Rusden demanded that the said Committee be appointed by Ballot. 

And the House continuing to sit till after Midnight :— 

THURSDAY, 4 APRIL, 1861, .a. 
* 

Question then put,—(1.) That a Select Committee, with power to send for persons 
and papers, be appointed to inquire into and report upon certain language, reflecting 
upon the character of this House, reported to have been used by His Honor the 
Chief Justice, while judicially engaged in the Supreme Court of the Colony, on 
Tuesday, the 2nd instant. 
And Division called for ; but, there being no Member for the Noes, no Division could 
be had, and the Speaker declared the Question to have passed in the Affirmative. 
Whereupon the House proceeded to the Ballot, and the Speaker declared the 
following Members to be the Committee duly appointed :—Mr. Gray, Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Parkes, The Speaker, Mr. Wisdom, Mr. Wilson, Mr. Windeycr, Mr. Hay, Mr. 
Walsh, and Mr. Piddington. 

VOTES, No. 49. FRIDAY, 5 APRIL, 1861. 

5. Privilege :—Mr. Gray moved, without notice,— 
(1.) That the Select Committee on Privilege, appointed upon the 4th instant, have 

power to sit on Saturday the 6th, and Monday the 8th instant. 
Debate ensued. 
Question put and passed. 
(2.) That the following Message be carried to the Legislative Council :— 
MR. PRESIDENT, 

The Legislative Assembly having appointed a Select Committee " to inquire 
" into and report upon certain language, reflecting upon the character of this House, 
" reported to have been used by His Honor the Chief Justice, while judicially 
" engaged in the Supreme Court of the Colony, on Tuesday, the 2nd instant," and 
that Committee being desirous to examine the Honorable John Pletcher Hargrave, 
Esquire, Member of the Legislative Council, in reference thereto, requests that the 
Legislative Council will give leave to its said Member to attend accordingly on such 
day and days as shall be arranged between him and the said Committee. 
Legislative Assembly Chamber, 

Sydney, 5 April, 1861. 	 Speaker. 
Question put and passed. 

SA TURDAY; 
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SATURDAY, 6 APRIL, 1861, RM. 

12. Member of Legislative Council as Witness :—The Speaker reported that, while the 
House was in Committee on the Chinese Immigration Regulation Bill, the following 
Message had been received from the Legislative Council :— 
Mg. SPEAKER, 

In answer to the Message from the Legislative Assembly, dated the 5th day of 
April instant, requesting leave for the Honorable John Fletcher Hargrave, a Member 
of the Legislative Council, to attend and be examined before a Select Committee of the 
Legislative Assembly, appointed to inquire into and report upon certain language, 
reflecting upon the character of the Legislative Assembly, reported to have been 
used by His Honor the Chief Justice, while judicially engaged in the Supreme 
Court, the Council acquaints the Assembly that leave has been granted to its said 
Member to attend and be examined by the said Committee, if he think fit. 

	

Legislative Council Chamber, 	 IV. W. BURTON. 

	

Sydney, 5 April, 1861. 	 President. 

VOTES, No. 50. TUESDAY, 9 APRIL, 1861. 

1. Privilege :—Mr. Gray, on behalf of the Chairman, brought up the Report from, and 
laid upon the Table the Minutes of Proceedings of, and Evidence taken before, 
the Select Committee, appointed on the 4th instant, to inquire into and report upon 
certain language, reflecting upon the character of this House, reported to have been 
used by His Honor the Chief Justice, while judicially engaged in the Supreme Court 
of the Colony, on Tuesday, the 2nd instant,— 
Report read at length, by the Clerk, by direction of the Speaker. 
Ordered, That the Report and accompanying Documents be printed. 
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PRIVILEGE. 

REPORT. 

THE SELECT COMMIME of the Legislative Assembly, appointed on the 
4th instant, " to inquire into and report upon certain language, 
" reflecting upon the character of this House, reported to have been 
" used by His Honor the Chief Justice, while judicially engaged in 
" the Supreme Court of the Colony, on Tuesday, the 2nd instant,"— . 
" with power to send for persons and papers,"—and further empow-
ered, the day following, " to sit on 'Saturday the 6th, and Monday 
" the 8th instant,"—have agreed to the following Report :— 

Your Committee have examined the Attorney General, Mr. W. 
Bede Dailey, Mr. J. Williams, Crown Solicitor, MT. E. K. Sylvester and 
the Rev. William Ridley, Reporters of the two daily papers, and Mr. 
James Carroll, a Solicitor of the Supreme Court. These gentlemen 
were present on the occasion referred to. According to their evidence 
the language used was as follows :— 

A Prisoner arraigned for trial having been permitted to make 
some observations to the Court, said, " I object to being tried by Your 
Honor," addressing the Chief Justice, " because you have prejudicial 
feelings against me." On this, His Honor, mistaking the word 
" 

 
prejudicial" for " political," said, " Why should I have political feel-

ings against you,—are you a Member of Parliament ?" 

But it does not appear to your Committee that the Chief Justice 
had any intention to reflect upon the character of your Honorable 
House which renders it necessary to take further steps in the matter. 

T. A. MURRAY, 
Chairman. 

Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Sydney, 6 April, 1861. 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. 

FRIDAY, 5 APRIL, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

The Hon. the Speaker, 
Mr. Arnold, 
Mr. Gray, 

Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Windeyer. 

On motion of Mr. Gray, the Honorable the Speaker called to the Chair. 
Committee deliberated relative to the conduct of inquiry into certain language, used 

on the Bench by His Honor the Chief Justice, reflecting on the character of the House,— 
ordered on the 4th instant. 
It was Resolved :— 

That in order to enable an early completion of the inquiry, a motion be made in 
the House this day, that the Committee have power to sit on Saturday the 
6th, and Monday the 8th instant. 

Mr. Gray requested to move the same. 
It was further Resolved :— 

(1.) That the Honorable the Attorney General, Mr. W. B. Halley, 3lessrs. E. 
K. Sylvester and W. Ridley, Reporters to the Daily Papers, and Mr. J. Carroll, 
Solicitor, be examined before the Committee, at the next meeting. 

(2.) That a letter be addressed to His Honor the Chief Justice, informing of the 
appointment of the Committee, and the intention to commence the 
examination of the witnesses named To-morrow, at Ten o'clock—expressly 
affording His Honor the opportunity of being present. 

Motion to be made in the Home for transmission of a Message to the Legislative 
Council, requesting leave to the Honorable J. F. Hargrave, Esq., to attend and be examined. 

[Adjourned till to-morrow (Saturday), at Ten o'clock.] 

SA TURD-1Y 6 APRIL, 1801. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
The Honorable the Speaker in the Chair. 

Mr. Arnold, Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Gray, 	 Mr. Wilson. 

Order of the House, dated yesterday, empowering Committee to sit on Saturday the 
11th, and Monday the 8th instant,—before the Committee. 

The Honorable J. F. Hargrave, Esq., M.L.C., attending, pursuant to leave granted 
by the Legislative Council, examined. 

Witness withdrew. 
W. B. Dailey, Esq., Barrister-at-Law, called in and examined. 
Letter ordered by Committee yesterday (Separate Appendix A.), having beer. dis-

patched to the Chief Justice, His Honor's answer, dated Friday evening, addressed to the 
Clerk of the House, conveying acknowledgments to the Committee, and informing the 
Chairman of his not proposing to avail of the opportunity to be present (Separate Appendix 
B.), now received,—submitted through the Chairman. 

Committee proceeding to deliberate upon the propriety of a question suggested by 
Mr. Parkes,— 

Witness, by leave, retired. 
Committee having deliberated, and the suggested inquiry being waived,— 
Witness returned,— 
And no further examination being required,— 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. E. K. Sylvester, Reporter, S. N. Herald, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
hey. W. Ridley, Reporter, Empire, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
And Mr. J. Carroll, also summoned as a witness, not being yet in attendance,— 
And Mr. J. Williams, having been requested to attend,— 
.1. Williams, Esq., Crown Solicitor, attending accordingly, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
A Member of the House, not of the Committee, requested to withdraw—retiring 

accordingly. 
Committee deliberated upon the evidence already taken, and whether it would be 

needful to supplement the same in any respect. 
And Mr. J. Carroll, a witness, not having yet attended,— 
Committee further deliberated in reference to the conclusion of the inquiry, and 

suggested the nature of Draft Report. 
Remaining 
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Remaining witness being now in attendance,— 
J. Carroll, Esq., Solicitor of the Supreme Court, called in and examined. 
Witness excused his late attending, the same being consequent on receipt of summons 

only when recently arriving at his office. 
Witness withdrew. 
Committee having then deliberated upon the necessity or expediency of a further 

meeting, before the settlement of the Draft Report,— 
Consideration of Report resumed, 
And Draft read ;— 
When, on motion of Mr. Wilson, the Draft Report, as read, agreed to. 
Report ordered. 

LIST OF WITNESSES. 

SATURDAY, 6 APRIL, 1861. 
PAGE. 

The Hon. J. F. Hargrave, Esq., 15I.L.C., Attorney General 9 
W. B. DaBey, Esq., Barrister-at-Law .. 10 
E. K. Sylvester, Esq., Reporter, S. N. Herald 	.. 11 
Rev. W. Ridley, Reporter, Empire 	.. 11 
J. Williams, Esq., Crown Solicitor 12 - 
J. Carroll, Esq., Solicitor 13 

• 
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B. 
His Honor the Chief Justice to Clerk of the Legislative Assembly, 3 April, 1861 .. 11 
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1861. 

lbegidatiur 2109Setublg. 

NEW SOUTH WALES, 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 
TAKEN BEFORE 

THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

ON 

PRIVILEGE. 

SATURDAY, 6 APRIL, 1861. 

lira-inn:— 

Mn. ARNOLD, 	 Mu. MURRAY, 
Mn. GRAY, 	 Mn. PARKES, 

1In. WILSON. 

THE IIONOE.ABLE THE SPEAKER IN THE CHAIR. 

The Honorable John Fletcher Hargrave, Esq., called in and ext,mined :— 
1. By the Chairman: You are Attorney General ? Yes. The tion.J.F. 2. Were you in the Supreme Court on Tuesday last, the 2nd instant ? Yes, in the H arg„„, 
Criminal Court at Darlinghurst. 	 Esq. 
3. Were you there on the occasion of the trial of a man of the name of Clarke? Yes, I was 
there as Attorney General, to conduct the prosecution of Clarke, who was indicted for e April , 1961. 
burglary. 
4.. You conducted the prosecution? Yes. 
5. Did Clarke make any objection—did lie say anything at all on that occasion before the 
trial commenced? Yes, when he was called upon to plead, after having stood up to his 
name with the other prisoner, he asked the Ccurt whether he might be allowed to address a 
few observations; the Chief Justice hesitated—I did not see any reason to object on the 
part of the erown—and the Chief Justice said he might. Then he, having received per-
mission, said, "I with to object, Sir, to your Honor's trying me, as I think you have 
political feelings against me." This is as I beard the words. I was surprised, of course. 
The Chief Justice hesitated, and nothing was said in Court. After a minute, the Chief 
Justice said, "Political feelings what, are you a Member of Parliament ?" These were the 
words; and the man replied, "Not yet," in a loud tone, and I thought a threatening sort of 
tune. I said nothing, as I did not consider it my duty to interfere on the part of the Crown. 
The Crown Solicitor, Mr. John Williams, who was near me, on the part of the Crown to 
conduct the prosecution, said, 'The man said prejudicial, not political." I was about to 
rise and state that to the Court, when the Chief Justice caught the word himself from the 
Crown Solicitor, who addressed either Ids Honor or myself—however, he caught the word 
"prejudicial,"—and then he said to the prisoner, " What did you mean by prejudicial ?" or 
what you said. The prisoner then entered into a bog story about being tried by His Honor 
at I3athurst two years ago, and sentenced heavily by hint; and stated that, when His Honor 
was passing sentence, he expressed his regret that he was not able to sentence him to be 
hanged for that offence, That was all that took place, except that the prisoner entered into 
the detail of the trial in longer terms than I have used. Then the trial proceeded; the man 
having concluded his statement pleaded guilty. It was then out of my hands as Attorney 
General, and anything that was done could affect only the sentence and not the trial. 

191—B 	 G. 
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Theiron.J.F. 6. That was simply what occurred ? Yes. 
Ihrgrave,  7. There was no further allusion to Parliament in any way ? Not the slightest. I thought Esq. the prisoner was about to object to the jurisdiction of the Court, and I could not imagine in 

what way it could arise. It was evidently a mistake. Of course both the Chief Justice 
• 6 April, 1661. and myself were anxious to allow the prisoner on his trial every possible opportunity of 

objecting in any way—of protecting himself in any way he thought proper. 
8. By Mr. Parkes : I gather from your evidence that you understood the prisoner to say 
"political feeling" ? Yes, that was the way I heard it. 
9. You understood him as the Chief Justice understood him ? Yes ; I thought that was 
the word. 

W. B.
E 

 Dailey, 	 William Bede Dailey, Esq., called in and examined :— sq. 
10. By the Chairman : You are a barrister ? Yes. 

6 April, 1861. 11. Were you in the Supreme Court on Tuesday last? I was. 
12. When a person of the name of Clarke was placed on his trial ? Yes. 
13. Did any conversation pass between Clarke and His Honor the Chief Justice ? On being 
placed at the Bar, and asked to plead to the indictment which had been then read by the 
Associate, the prisoner, addressing the Court, said these words

' 
 " Before I record my plea 

" may I be permitted to make some observations to the Court." The Chief Justice answered, 
" The practice is irregular, but I have no objection to your doing so." The prisoner then 
said, addressing the Judge, " I object to Your Honor sitting as Judge in my ease, on account 
" of a prejudicial feeling which I believe you have against me." He pronounced the word 
"prejudicial" quickly, sharply. The Judge then said, "Are you a Member of Parliament?" 
To which the prisoner replied, "Not yet." I should have stated that His Honor first of 
all observed, "How can b have apolitical feeling against you ?" Upon which Mr. Williams, 
the Civil and Criminal Crown Solicitor, said the prisoner had used the word " prejudicial," 
not " political." His Honor begged pardon for mistaking the word, and the prisoner then 
went on to say, "On my trial before you two years ago at Bathurst you exhibited a preju-
dicial feeling against me." The Chief Justice having been furnished with a memorandum 
by the Criminal Crown Solicitor, observed to the prisoner, "I find you were tried by me 
"at Bathurst, in April, 1859, for robbery with firearms, and you were then sentenced to 
"transportation for life. This is the sentence the law empowered me to pass upon you, 
"and I presume, from the sentence, that your case was surrounded with aggravated circum-
"stances". The prisoner answered that there were no aggravating circumstances in his 
ease, and that he did not object to the Chief Justice doing all the law permitted him to do ; 
but he objected to his saying, at the time of passing sentence, he was sorry he could not 
hang him (the prisoner). The prisoner then went on to say that, after he was placed on 
Cockatoo Island, the Chief Justice addressed a letter to the authorities about him, from 
which he also inferred that the feeling of the Chief Justice was prejudicial in this case 
against him. The Chief Justice intimated that be had DO recollection of having written 
this letter. The prisoner then said he was prepared to state the contents of the letter 
to the Chief Justice if he desired it. The Chief Justice then told him that if he intended 
to plead guilty, before he was sentenced he would place the whole matter before one of his 
brother Judges, and that consequently the sentence would be the sentence of two Judges, 
and not of one ; on which the prisoner said he would plead guilty. 
14. And did so? And did so. 
15. No further conversation occurred? No further conversation occurred. 
16. There was no further allusion to Parliament ? No further allusion to Parliament. 
17. By Mr. flukes: Where were you sitting at the time this language proceeded from the 
prisoner ? I was sitting immediately beneath the dock—immediately in front of the dock—
about three feet from where the prisoner was standing. 
18. At the table in front of the dock ? Yes. 
19. Did you distinctly understand the word " prejudicial " when it was first uttered ? I 
did not distinctly understand the word prejudicial when it was first uttered. 	The prisoner 
uttered it sharply, quickly, and I think there may have been a possibility of misconception 
on the part of Ilis Honor, who was at a much more considerable distance from the prisoner 
than I. 
20. You stated in your evidence that the Chief Justice used these words, "How can I have 
a political feeling against you" ? I think those were the words used. 
21. Are we to understand these words before and in connection with the words " Are you 
" a Member of Parliament ?" or afterwards ? He used these words after he had asked the 
man " Are you a Member of Parliament ?" 
22. Then in fact lie asked two separate questions, other matter intervening, the first being, 
" Are you a Member of Parliament?" and then, " How can I have a political feeling 
" against you" ? Yes, as far as I recollect, it WAS in that way the language was used. 
It was after that it was intimated to His Honor by Mr. Williams that the word originally 
employed by the prisoner was " prejudicial," and not " political." 

- 23. 13y Mr. Gray: Where was the Civil Crown Solicitor, Mr. Williams, sitting ? I think 
he was standing by the table, the table at which the Attorney General usually sits, which 
was nearer to the Bench which His Honor occupied than I was placed. 
24. Then he must have heard the word distinctly ? He heard the word " prejudicial," I 
presume, from the circumstance of his correcting the Chief Justice. 
25. By Mr. Parkes Were the jurors sworn at the time ? The Jury are not sworn till the 

plea 
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plea of the prisoner is recorded, and in the event of pleading "Guilty," of course the NV, B. DalleY, 
functions of a Jury are superseded. The Jury were empanelled ; they were in the box. 	Esq. 
26. Was there anything which struck you particularly in the manner in which all this tol 6  c---L—NAprit 1861.  
place? 

(An objection was raised to Me questiou. 	The witness withdrew. The Com- 
mittee deliberated, and resolved," That the question be not put.") 

S 27. By the Chairman : You report for the Sydney H 	 E.K.ylvester Horning Herald? Yes. 	 Esq. 28. Were you in the Supreme Court, the Criminal Court, on Tuesday last ? Yes. 
29. Do you remember a prisoner of the name of Clarke being put upon his trial ? Yes. 	6 April, 1861. 30. Do you remember upon his being called upon to plead that he made any remarks? Yes. 
31. Will you be good enough to relate ta the Committee any conversation, or any remarks, 
that fell from him or any person in Court at that time ? On being called upon to plead, 
Clarke said, " Before I record my plea may I make a few remarks ?" The Chief Justice 
replied, " Well, it is very irregular, but I will not object to it; " and Clarke then proceeded 
to state that he had an objection to be tried or sentenced by His Honor the Chief Justice, 
and in a very vehement, and, as I considered it, a very insulting, manner. He never used 
the words " Your Honor," or "Sir," in any shape or way. He said as lie knew that he had 
a prejudicial feelitig against him—he did not use the word " prejudicial," but he used the 
word—as I reported it, or intended to report it, but I have not a copy of the Herald with 
me to refer to—" prejudical." He pronounced it " prejudical," or " prejudirical." I wrote 
it in my report " prejudical." When he came to this expression—and he meant prejudicial 
no doubt—the Chief Justice interrupted him, and said, "What possible political feeling 
can I have against you—are you a Member of Parliament?" Clarke replied, "Not yet." 
Mr. Williams, the Crown Prosecutor, then rose and quietly said to the Chief Justice, 
"I think your Honor has mistaken prejudicial' for 'political.'" The Chief Justice said, 
" Prejudicial was it 7—it was a mistake." That was all that passed. I am quite certain 
it was all that passed. 
32. No further conversation took place ? No, not till Clarke had completed the statement 
of his objection to the Chief Justice trying him. The Chief Justice did not say another 
word beyond what I have said in reply to Mr. Williams' suggestion. 
33. The prisoner ultimately pleaded guilty ? He afterwards pleaded guilty. He said he 
should plead guilty during the statement he made to His Honor, but several times the 
Chief Justice asked him whether he still intended to plead guilty, and cautioned him not 
to do so. He said it would not favour his case at all, but still the prisoner persisted in 
pleading guilty. 
34. By Afr. Wilson: You have stated that the Chief Justice asked hint what possible 
political feeling he could have against him—" Are you a Member of Parliament ? "—are you 
sure the words were placed in that order ? I am quite confident of it. I took them down 
at the time, they are on my notes, and in my report they are the same. I could have no 
knowledge that these proceedings would result. Why should I transpose the words in any 
shape or way. 

Rev. William Ridley called in and examined :— 
35. By the Chairman : You report for the Empire ? Yes. 
36. Were you in the Criminal Court on Tuesday last 7 I was. 
37. On the occasion of the trial of a man named Clarke ? David Clarke. 
38. Will you be good enough to state to the Committee what occurred on that occasion, 6 APril i 1861,  
when he was called on to plead ? When the prisoner Clarke was called upon to plead, he 
said, in effect,—" Before putting in my plea, I would ask leave to be allowed to make some 
remarks." The Chief Justice gave him permission. He then said he entered his protest 
against His Honor sitting as judge in his casa, on the ground that His Honor bad, on his 
trial, two years ago, at Bathurst, exhibited strong prejudicial feelings against him. I 
noticed that the prisoner pronounced the word "prejudicial." On this, His Honor inquired 
how it was possible that he could entertain political feelings against the prisoner, and then 
added, "Are you a Member of Parliament ?" I believe the prisoner said "Not yet," but I 
am not quite sure whether I beard the prisoner say so, or one who sat next me. I did not 
clearly understand the words, but I caught the words "Not yet." I 'could not, however, say 
of my own knowledge that the prisoner said the words. Then Mr. Williams, the Crown 
Solicitor, rose and remarked to His Honor that the prisoner had used the word " prejudicial," 
and not "political"; and Ms Honor then said that he had been under a mistake as to the 
word used. 
39. What followed ? Then the prisoner went on to say that His Honor had spoken very 
severely on that occasion, and had given him the severest punishment he could. The 
prisoner said, "Your Honor added you only wished you could hang me." His Honor then 
said he could not recollect the case at the time, but some one who was present in the Court, 
I did not observe who, handed His Honor a paper, intimating the character of the crime 
Clarke was charged with—robbery with firearms. Upon this, His Honor said, seeing the 
character of the crime, " I have no doubt I did use strong language, as I am in the habit 
of using strong language in speaking of crimes of that kind" ; and added, in explanation 
of the expression, that robbery with firearms was likely to lead to murder ; and therefore he 

thought 

E. K. Sylvester, Esq., called in and examined :— 



'626 

12 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE 

Bey. W. thought too strong an expression could not be used in denouncing such a crime. I may 
Maley.  observe, with regard to 'the whole conversation, that two ideas struck me as worthy of 

notice: the first was the singular audacity of the prisoner in protesting against being tried 
6 April, 1801. by the Chief Justice, and the second was the singular condescension of the Judge 

in promising, at the close of this singular dialogue, that he would not pass sentence himself 
without consulting another Judge, so as to dismiss from the prisoner's mind any idea of a 
prejudice being entertained against him. 
40. The man ultimately pleaded guilty ? He pleaded guilty. My only idea as to the 
questions His Honor put was that he wished to impress upon the prisoner the monstrous 
absurdity of supposing that a man in the prisoner's position could be affected by any political 
feeling on his part, and be contrasted him with those gentlemen in the country who stood in 
the most prominent position, and who might be the object of political feeling. He wished 
to draw a contrast, and selected those in high political station. That is my impression, from 
the manner of the Judge, of his object in putting it. 
41. By Mr. Arnold : I observe that you did not report this conversation in the Empire? 
No. 
42. Did it strike you as unimportant ? Yes, the question itself did not strike me as 
important. 
43. Your impression you reported ? Yes. 
44. But you did not report this language ? NTh. 
45. Did it appear to be looked upon as unimportant by those who beard it in Court—was 
there no apparent feeling in Court created by it ? I think I heard a remark made by some 
one near me. 
46. Did you forget all about it afterwards, or did it maintain an impression upon your mind? 
I heard it spoken of afterwards. 
47. By Mr. Parker: Did you hear it spoken of by many persons ? Not that day ; not till 
this notice of it in Parliament. 
42. By Mr. Arnold : It was not remarked upon much in Court ? I did not hear anything, 
except from one person who was sitting close beside me. 
49. By Mr. Parker: You would be sitting where you could not possibly hear remarks made 
in the body of the Court—in the reporter's box? I think I could have heard what was said. 
50. You could not hear what was said at a distance from you in an undertone? No. My 
instructions in reporting generally in the Court are to make my reports rather short, and I 
avoid noticing anything unnecessarily. 
51. By Mr. Arnold : I gather from what you say that the remarks did not strike you as 
improper, because you say the only impression that remained on your mind was the 
audacity of the prisoner, and the singular condescension of the Judge ? If I were to criticise 
the remark I might question its propriety, but there was nothing singular about it. 
52. Do you mean when you say there was nothing singular about it, that it was the sort of 
remark you would expect from the Chief Justice ? No, I would not say that. It did not 
strike one as improper at the time, nor did it strike me as singular. The only impression 
the question made was this, that His Honor seemed to aim to show the prisoner in some 
strong manner the absurdity of his supposing that he could be the object of any political 
feeling, and therefore contrasted him with those who stood in a high political position. 
53. By Mr. Parker: And who might be the object of political feeling ? 

John Williams, Esq., called in and examined:— 
J. Williams, 54. By the Chairman : Were you in the Criminal Court on Tuesday, the 2nd instant, on 

Esq. 	the occasion of the trial of a man named Clarke? Yes. 
55. Will you be good enough to relate to the Committee what took place between this Than 

6 April! 1861 . and His Honor the Chief Justice on that occasion ? When the man was called upon to 
plead be objected to being tried before His Honor, on the ground that His Honor was 
" opposed prejudicially" to him—I understood him to say—there was something before the 
word "prejudicial "—on a former occasion. My impression was that be said " opposed 
prejudicial." Whereupon the Chief said—"I do not think I have ever seen you before; 
opposed politically—political—political ; are you a Member of Parliament ?" I interposed, 
and said the prisener had said "prejudicially opposed." Upon which he said—" Prisoner, 
I beg your pardon—I misunderstood you—I beg your pardon." Something was said by the 
Chief that I could not understand, that was immediately before he said "Are you a Member 
of Parliament ?"; and then the Judge stated that in all probability the prisoner had come 
before him on some former occasion, and he had occasion, believing him to be a bad man, so 
to express himself. 
56. Nothing further took place ? Nothing particular. 
57. This was the only allusion that was made to the Legislature ? Entirely ; it came out 
just in the way I mention. It struck me, as I was standing midway between the Chief and 
the man, that he had misunderstood, and from his manner and tone that it was an expres-
sion of astonishment. It was, in fact, seeing thesChief had made a mistake, that I took the 
liberty of correcting him, and of telling him that the prisoner had said " prejudicial " and 
not " political." I may mention that the man afterwards stated that the Chief had written 
to the authorities at Cockatoo about him. He said he did not recollect it, and the man 
replied—" Every word I could repeat to your Honor." 
58. By Hr. Arnold : Are those the words he used—"I could repeat to your Honor"? Yes. 
50. Be did address the Judge as "your Honor "? Yes, I believe so—yes. 

60. 
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GO. Did it strike you that there was any thing intentionally offensive in the manner of the J. Williams. 
prisoner towards the Judge ? No; he was very grave, and very cool. 	 Bee.  
61. He did not strike you as singularly audacious? No; it struck me that the man was r —A---N 
expressing what he felt—that the Judge was unduly prejudiced against him. By the way, 6 A18-11, 1861 ' 
I should have mentioned that when the Chief said "Ave you a Member of Parliament?" 
the man answered "Not yet." He answered exceedingly coolly; it did not strike me as 
being in an insolent, but as in an indifferent manner. 
62. One of the witnesses—a reporter to a newspaper—states that the two ideas he derived 
from the whole conversation were, the singular audacity of the prisoner in addressing the 
Court, and the singular condescension of the Court towards the prisoner ? His manner did • 
not strike me as audacious, he was exceedingly cool, and not at all awed by his position. It 
struck me as singular that he should object to the Judge while he at the same time intimated 
his intention to plead guilty. 
63. Still there is considerable discretion in the Judge as to the sentence ? No doubt. 
64. It is not necessarily the case that the same sentence is pronouned by two judges for the 
same crime ? Under these circumstances there could not be the least doubt as to what 
would be the sentence, as the man was trebly convicted and there were no mitigating cir-
cumstances in his case. 
65. Did the Chief Justice necessarily know that he was a trebly-convicted prisoner ? Not 
then, unless he had recollected the prisoner, or his case—the fact of his being so came out 
afterwards. When the prisoner made reference to his former trial I obtained a paper con-
taining his police history, from the sergeant of police, for the Judge said he would look over 
his notes and see what he had said on the previous trial. My impression was that the 
Judge was astonished that a man in such a position could imagine that he was the object of 
a political prejudice. It did not strike me that the man's bearing was audacious it was cool 
and calm. He certainly spoke to the Chief Justice as if he were His Honor's equal, that 
might be considered audacious. 
66. Did the Chief Justice's remark strike you as singular, or as what you would expect ? I 
thought it unfortunate that he should have made use of that expression ; but it appeared to 
ane to convey a sense of astonishment at such a charge from such a man, and to be used for 
the purposo,of showing the impossibility that there could be any political feeling between 
the Judge and the prisoner. Of course I need not say that I have seen from the papers 
the interpretation put upon the expression here, but it did not so strike me at the time. 
There is a great deal in a man's tone and manner of saying a thing, and of course the 
circumstances under which it is said give meaning to an expression. 
67. Did it appear to occasion no surprise in the l'Court ? I do not know that I mentioned 
the matter to anybody except to Mr. Dailey on the afternoon of the same day. 
68. Was there no evidence of surprise in the Court at the time ? No. 
69. You did not think much of it yourself? I did not think much of it; I did not look 
at it in the light in which it has been regarded here. It did not strike me as so intended. 
70. By Mr. Parkes : In your conversations on the subject since, have you heard any surprise 
expressed on the part of others? Yes, naturally. Of course those who merely read an 
expression by itself are not aware of the circumstances or mode in which it is used—some 
take one view of the case, others may take another. 

James Carroll, Esq., called in and examined:— 
71. By the Chairman: Are you a Solicitor of the Supreme Court ? I am. 	 3. Carroll,. 
72. Were you present in the Criminal Court on Tuesday last engaged in the case of the 	Esq. 
Queen against Clarke ? No; I was engaged in the two following eases—I was watching. 
73. You were present on the occasion of his being arraigned? I was at the table. 	6 April, 1561, - 
74. Will you be good enough to state to the Committee whether any conversation took place 
upon that occasion between His Honor the Chief Justice and the prisoner Clarke ? Yes; 
when Clarke and Cavanagh were arraigned, the Chief Justice's son put the usual words to 
him and Clarke said "Before pleading, your Hottor"—I think he used the word "pleading" 
—"I beg to dissent from your Honor trying this ease." He then went into a lono

b 
 statement 

of reasons. Clarke has a sort of impeditnent—to my view something wrong with the palate 
of his mouth—sometimes he speaks loud, and then he drops his voice. I was very close to 
him, sitting at the table; the Chief Justice was further away. He made use of the word 
" prejudicial"—I believe that was the word he made use of at first, but it was so low that I 
really could not hear it. The Chief said, " Political ?—I am not aware—are you a Member of 
"Parliament ?" It was said very quickly. I certainly feel that in my opinion—with great 
respect to the Committee—if I were asked—that to my mind there was no time for the 
Chief to say anything with a design; it was said quite abruptly—in a moment—quite • 
sudden it was said in my opinion. 
75. Did anything follow ? Yes. Mr. Williams, the Crown Solicitor, stood up and said, 
" Your Honor, he did not say political"; he then told him what he did say. The Chief said, 
" I beg your pardon—I made a mistake," or something—in fact, I did not pay a great deal 
of attention to it. 
76. By Mr. Arnold: It did not strike you as anything peculiar? It did not. It struck me 
that perhaps the Judges here speak a little more than they do at home, where I served my 
time. I have often remarked that they hold a conversation. It did not strike me at all 
events as being 	 
77. You were not surprised ? I was not. I was surprised the next morning when I saw it 
was taken notice of in that light; then I began to think of it. 

78. 
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J. Carroll. 78. By Mi.. Gray; When you saw it reported in the paper next morning, you were surprised? 
MI 	I was. It did not strike me at the time—I did not know there was any reference to anything 

r—A---Th that had occurred—I was surprised then when I saw it noticed. 
G April, 1561- 79. Are you speaking of the notice taken of it in the House or of the words reported in 

the paper ? I read the Herald the next day—I saw that a motion had come on—I am not 
sure who made it. 
SO. By 31.. Wilson : Were you astonished that any notice was taken of it ? I will not say 
that. Ny impression was that the Chief Justice, if he had intended it, had not taken time 
enough, for he speaks very abruptly—very quickly. I do not think he took time enough to 
mean anything. I know if I intended to throw a slur I would think for a moment. I am 
positive, though I am very quick of hearing, I did not hear the word exactly ; there was a 
doubt upon my mind when Mr. Williams stood up and said it was " prejudicial," and the 
Chief Justice said directly, "I beg pardon, I made a mistake." I say this, that the prisoner 
throughout the whole of his conduct—and I was there the whole of the case—certainly 
seemed to have a strong feeling against the Chief Justice, and made use of very strong 
language, stronger than I ever heard a prisoner use when talking to a Judge. 
81. Bu Mr. Arnold: Did lie speak disrespectfully to the Judge ? Not what I call disre-
spectful, but the manner of the man. He spoke in a very high tone of voice, with a good 
deal of determination; • he did not seem at all to feel his, position; there was a sort of 
dietational way about the whole of his demeanour towards the Judge. He entered into a 
long statement of how the Chief Justice had written to the authorities at Cockatoo, and that 
he could do no more; and when the Chief Justice asked what sentence he had given, he 
said, c• You gave me all the law empowered you to give, and said you regretted you could not 
hang me." He was then referring to the case at liathurst. 
82. That the Chief Justice did not deny ? No. He said, " If I did write to the authorities 
" at Cockatoo it has escaped any recollection. Very probably I did, for I am one who when 
" I feel strongly speak strongly." 

SEPARATE APPENDIX. 

A. 
No. 61-28. 	 Legislative Assembly Offices, 

Sydney, 5 April, 1.861. 
Sir, 

I am directed by the Chairman of the Select Committee of the Legislative Assembly, 
appointed yesterday, "to inquire into and report upon certain language, reflecting upon the character of 

The  Hot  the  " this House, reported to have been used by His Honor the Chief Justice, while judicially engaged in 
torany-Generat " the Supreme Court of the Colony, on Tuesday, the 2nd instant, with power to send for persons and 

u. Daisey , " papers, and to sit on Saturday the 6th, and Monday the 8th instant"—to apprise you of the intention 
EN., Barrister- of the Committee to sit to-morrow, Saturday, the 6th instant, and commence with the examination Of 
at -law, 

the ge
ntlemen 
 

in namtnation 
 s forwarded 

i the margin at Ten o'clock. 
J. I`m.rroll, Et4 	 I tTle purpose of affording you the opportunity to he present 
Solicitor. 

71 	
during such examinations if you think fit. 

Repor,Er, S. AL
Tretor, 	

- 	 I have, 8:c., 
His Honor 	 CHN. TOMPSON, 

Rev. W. Ridley, 	Sir Alfred Stephen, Knight, Chief .Tustiec, 	 Clerk of Legislative Assembly. 
naparter,E.(re 	 Supreme Court. 

:::0.1 	

,hi, for  

B. 
Hyde Park, 

Friday Evening. 
Sir, 

On returning home from my Chambers at 5 o'clock tins afternoon, I had the honor of 
receiving your letter, apprising me that a Committee had been appointed by the Legislative Assembly, 
to inquire into certain language reported to have been used by me on Tuesday last, " reflecting " (so 
you cite the terms of the Resolution) "on the character of the House ;" that the Committee would sit 
to-morrow morning, for the examination of witnesses named by you; and that the object of your 
information was, to afford me the opportunity of being present, if I thought fit so to be. 

In reply, I beg you to convey my acknowledgments to the Committee, for the permission thus 
extended to me ; and to inform the Chairman, \vith many thanks for his courtesy, that I do not propose 
to avail myself of it. 

I have, &e., 
Chas, Tompson, Esq. 	 ALFRED STEPHEN. 

Sydney : Thomas Richards Covernmont, Printer —11341. 
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ILEgielatibe %Numbly. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

PROPOSED PAYMENT OF MEMBERS ME THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 
(RESIDENTS OF THE NORTHERN DISTRICT.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 14 March, 1861. 

The Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales, in Par lament assembled. 

The humble Petition of the undersigned Residents of the Northern District, in the 
Territory of New South Wales,— 

HliaIBLY SIIEWETII :— 

That your Petitioners, urged by the depressed state of this important British 
Province, evident by the stagnation which pervades every department of industry, in an 
increasing debt, and a decreasing revenue, while our overcrowded cities are teeming with an 
unemployed and poverty-stricken population, and our lands are unsettled and untilled, in 
consequence of the slow progress made during the late Sessions of your Honorable House in 
those measures of reform so urgently required for the prosperity of this Colony. 

We humbly beg to represent to your Honorable House that, in our opinion, the evils 
previously enumerated are principally owing to the preponderating influence of one class, 
restricting the advantages to be derived from the occupation of this vast and fertile territory 
to a few of its inhabitants, who possess no claim to a superiority over their fellow-colonists, 
either in intelligence, education, or in loyalty to the British Throne. At present no person, 
however lofty his intellect, great Ids attainments, and sterling his honesty, unless he be the 
possessor of wealth or paid by his constituents, can aspire to a scat in the House of Assembly, 
and thus the people are deprived of the services of men whom they would most confidingly 
trust and willingly delight to honour. Electors must, therefore, continue to entertain the 
idea that the franchise is incomplete until the man of their choice, however poor in purse, 
is enabled by the support of the State to represent them in Parliament. 

Your Petitioners would also humbly suggest that the high character of your Honor-
able House might likewise be enhanced by the infusion of the elements of intellectual wealth, 
should the principle now advocated by your Petitioners be established and become the law of 
the land, viz., that all persons who devote their time and energy to the public in the 
Legislative Assembly shall he remunerated for their services. 

Therefore, we, your Petitioners, humbly pray that your Honorable House will be 
pleased to pass a Bill providing for the payment of all Members who may be elected to sit in 
the next Legislative Assembly of New South Wales. 

And your Petitioners, as in duty bound, will ever pray, &c., &c., 

[here follow (270) two hundred and seventy Signatures] 

[Price, Id.] 	129— 
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— 
RegisTaunt assfsemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

REFRESHMENT ROOM SERVANTS. 
(PETITION FROM JOHN RYAN AND BRYAN MAGUIRE.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 16 April, 1861. 

To the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales, in Parliament assembled. 

The humble Petition of the Refreshment Room Servants, engaged to attend on 
the Honorable the Legislative Council and Legislative Assembly,— 

RESPECTFULLY SHEWET/I :— 
That your Petitioners are employed from seven o'clock in the morning until the 

rising of the House at uncertain hours of the night, with pay at the rate of six shillings and 
nine-pence per day, which your Petitioners respectfully state is insufficient to enable them 
to appear before and wait upon your Honorable House in a respectable attire for so long a. 
time 

Your Petitioners further most respectfully state, that, on the prorogation of your 
Honorable House, they will be discharged without any compensation such as has been 
already granted to the Extra Messengers for after-hour attendance. 

Your Petitioners, therefore, most humbly pray that your Honorable House will be 
pleased to take their case into humane consideration, and grant them such relief as your 
Honorable House may deem meet. 

And your Petitioners, as in duty bound, will for ever pray. 

JOHN RYAN, 
BRYAN MAGUIRE. 

Sydney, 9 April, 1861. 

[Price, ld.] 	 229— 
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1861. 

Regiolati?ie Ziogentblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

DEPARTURE OF GOVERNOR GENERAL FOR INDIA. 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 11 January, 1861. 

W. DENISON, 	 Message Nu. 1. 
Governor General. 

The Governor General lays before the Legislative Assembly a Despatch with 
which he has been honored by one of Her Majesty's Principal Secretaries of State, con-
veying to him the necessary authority for quitting New Stuth Wales without delay, in 
order to proceed to India to assume the Government of the Presidency of Madras. 

The Governor General is aware that some inconvenience may perhaps result from 
his departure at the commencement of the Session of Parliament, but it was necessary that 
Parliament should meet as early as possible, and it was equally necessary that no delay 
should take place in the assumption by His Excellency of the Government of Madras. 

The Governor General avails himself of this opportunity of expressing his confidence 
that the Members of the Assembly will be guided in their 'deliberations by an anxious desire 
to forward the best interests of the Colony. 

Covet nment House, 
Sydney, 11 January, 1861. 

[Despatch referred to in Message No. 11 

NM South Wales. 	 Downing-street, 
Separate. 	 26 October, 1860. 

Sift, 
I have much pleasure in conveying to you the necessary authority for quitting 

New South Wales, in the event of your accepting the offer, which has been made to you 
through the Secretary of State for India, of the Government of Madras, as you may find it 
expedient to repair to that Presidency without delay. 

I cannot allow the connection which has so long existed between you and this Depart-
ment to cease, without expressing the high sense which 11er Majesty's Government entertain 
of the energy and ability with which you have invariably performed the very responsible 
dutits intrusted to you, to the great advantage of the Colonies over which you have presided. 

1 have, Ste , 
CovEsson Sru, W. DENISON, 

Sze., 	 &c. 
J. RUSSELL. 

   

[Price, hdj . 	 * 17- 
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ttnisslatibt Casztinbltr. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

DEPARTURE OF THE GOVERNOR GENERAL. 
(ADDRESS IN REPLY TO MESSAOE ) 

REPORT FROM TIIE SELECT COMMITTEE 

APPOINTED TO PREPARE 

ADDRESS IN REPLY TO MESSAGE No. 1, 

IN REFERENCE TO THE 

DEPARTURE OF THE GOVERNOR GENERAL FOR INDIA;, 

TOGETHER WITH THE 

PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. 

ORDERED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY TO BE PRINTED, 
17 January, 1861. 

SYDNEY: 
THOMAS RICHARDS, GO1TERNMENT PRINTER, PHILLIP-STREET. 

1861. 
[Price, lid.] 	 28— 
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EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES No. 4. TUESDAY, 15 JANUARY, 1861. 

17 Approaching Departure of Ms Excellency Sir William Denison for India :—Mr. 
Cowper moved, pursuant to amended notice — 
(1.) That a Select Committee be appointed to prepare a reply to His Excellency's 
Message No. 1, in reference to his departure from this Colony. 
(2.) That such Committee consist of Mr. Douglas, Mr. Egan, Mr. Hart, Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. McArthur, Mr. Parkes, Mr. Robertson, Mr. Smart, Mr. Sutherland, and 
the Mover. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES No. 6. THURSDAY, 17 JANUARY, 1861, 
1. Approaching Departure of His Excellency Sir William Denison for India :— 

Mr. Cowper, as Chairman, brought up the Report from, and laid upon the Table the 
Minutes of Proceedings of, the Select Committee appointed on the 15th instant, to 
prepare a Reply to His Excellency's Message No. 1, in reference to his Departure 
from the Colony. 
Ordered to be printed. 

CONTENTS. 

PAGE. 

Extracts from the Votes and Proceedings 2 

Report 3 

(Draft Address) 	.. •• 4 

Trocc.edings of the Committee 5 
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1861. 

DEPARTURE OF THE GOVERNOR GENERAL. 
(ADDRESS IN REPLY TO MESSAGE.) 

REPORT. 

THE SELECT COMMITTEE Of the Legislative Assembly, appointed OR the 
15th instant, " to prepare a reply to His Excellency's Message No. 1, 
"in reference to his departure from this Colony," have agreed to the 
following Report :— 

Your Committee have considered the Message referred to 
them, and have now the honor to submit the Draft* of an Address to • Annexed. 

His Excellency the Governor General, in reply thereto 

CHARLES COWPER, 
Chairman. 

Legislative Assembly atamber, 
Sydney, 17 January, 1861. 
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To His Excellency SIR WILLIAM THOMAS DENISON, Knight Commander 
of the Most Honorable Order of the Bath, Governor General in and 
over all Her Majesty's Colonies of New South Wales, Tasmania, Victoria, 
South Australia, and Western Australia, and Captain-General and 
Governor-in-Chief of the Territory of New South Wales and its Depen-
dencies, and Vice-Admiral of the same. 

MAY IT PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY 

We, Iler Majesty's dutiful and loyal Subjects, the Members of the Legislative 
Assembly of New South Wales, desire to express our thanks for Your Excellency's 
Message announcing that Your Excellency has been appointed to the Government 
of the Presidency of Madras. 

We offer to Your Excellency our hearty congratulations upon this additional 
mark of favor from your Sovereign. 

We beg leave to approach Your Excellency, on the occasion of your departure 
for India, for the purpose of expressing our high sense of the able and impartial 
manner in which, for the period of six years, Your Excellency has presided over the 
Government of this Colony. 

During this period, the difficult and delicate duty of introducing Responsible 
Government has devolved upon Your Excellency ; and we desire to bear our testimony 
to the successful manner in which that duty has been performed, and to the very 
general approval which it has elicited. 

While acknowledging the benefit of Your Excellency's services in your Official 
capacity, we also gratefully recognize the advantages which the moral and social 
interests of the Colony have derived from the unsullied purity of Your Excellency's 
private life, and the active benevolence which has distinguished Your Excellency's 
patronage of every useful and charitable Institution. 

Allow us, in conclusion, to assure your Excellency that we shall always feel 
a deep interest in the welfare of your Excellency, Lady Denison, and family. And 
we pray that the great Disposer of Events may grant you length of days, and 
with them uninterrupted happiness. 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. 

WEDNESDAY, 16 JANUARY, 1861. 

MnirnEns PRESENT :— 

1 
Mr. Robertson. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
The Honorable Charles Cowper, Esquire, called to the Chair. 
Copies of Message (No. 1.) from His Excellency the Governor General, communicating 

a Despatch, authorizing the departure of His Excellency for India,—laid before Committee. 
Committee deliberated upon the points to be introduced into the proposed Address,— 
And having resolved thereupon, requested the Chairman to prepare a Draft for cow 

sideration to-morrow. 
[Adjourned till to-morrow, at 12 o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 17 JANUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

The Honorable Charles Cowper, Esquire, in the Chair. 
Mr. Smart, 
Mr. Parkes, 

Mr. Wilson. 
Committee having met,— 
The Chairman submitted a form of Draft Address in reply to 

Message, in reference to his Excellency's departure from the Colony. 
Draft Address read and agreed to, paragraph by paragraph. 
Motion made (Hr. Parkes,) and Question,—That the Draft now 

the Address prepared by this Committee,—agreed to. 
Report agreed to. 
Chairman requested to report to the House. 

Governor General's 

read be adopted as 

    

Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Egan, 
Mr. McArthur, 

Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Egan, 
Mr. Hart, 
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1861. 

Regislatibe arsombIn. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE GOVERNMENT. 
(ASSUMPTION OP, BY LIEUT. COL. KEMPT.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 23 January, 1861. 

JOHN FRAS. KEMPT, 	 Message No. I. 
Administrator of the Government. 

His Excellency Sir William Denison, having taken his departure from the 
Colony, on the 22nd instant, Lieutenant Colonel Kempt avails himself of the earliest 
opportunity to inform the Legislative Assembly, that, as the Senior Military Officer 
Commanding Her Majesty's Forces in New South Wales, he has assumed the Govern-
ment of the Colony, in virtue of the authority granted to him in that behalf, in a 
Warrant under Her Majesty's Royal Signet and Sign Manual, dated the 3rd of 
May, 1859. 

Lieutenant Colonel Kempt relies with confidence upon receiving, as Adminis-
trator of the Government, the cordial assistance of the Legislative Assembly. 

Government House, 
Sydney, 23rd January, 1861. 

[Price, id.] 	 37— 
	 4 
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1861. 

egiolatilie 2roat mblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE GOVERNMENT. 
(ASStilIPTION OF, BY TILE RIGHT TIONOLLBLE GIB JOILN YOUNG.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be evicted, 22 March, 1861. 

JOHN YOUNG, 	 Message No. 1. 
Administrator of the Guvernment. 

Sir John Young has the honor of informing the Legislative Assembly that, 
in virtue of a Commission from the Queen, which bears date Windsor, 18th January, 1861, 

authorizing him to administer the Government of New South Wales, he has assumed the 
Government of the Colony under the title of Administrator, pending the arrival, which may 

be expected by next Mail, of a Commission, under the Great Seal, conveying his formal 
appointment as Captain General and Governor-in-Chief. 

Government House, 
Sydney, 22 March, 1861. 

[Peice, le1.] 	141—,  
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1861. 

ftegiolatibt 200emblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

COMMISSION FOR ADMINISTRATION OF TIIE 
GOVERNMENT. 

(HIS EXCELLENCY SIR JOHN YOUNG.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 22 March, 1861. 

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE COLONIES to THE RIGHT HONORABLE SIR JOHN 
YOUNG, BART., K.C.B., G.C.M.G., 	&a 

(tic. 1.) 
Downing-street, 

19 January, 1861. 

I have the honor to transmit to you a Commission from the Queen, authorizing 
you to administer the Government of New South Wales, under the title of Administrator. 
This Commission is issued to you pending the preparation of the Commission under the 
Great Seal, conveying your formal appointment as Captain General and Governor-in-Chief 
in and over that Colony, which, together with the Royal Instructions, will be forwarded to 
you as soon as those Instruments can be completed. In the meantime, you will be guided 
by the Commission and Instructions issued to your predecessor, Sir William Denison. 

I have, &c., 
NEWCASTLE. 

COMMISSION appointing Sir John Yowls, Bart., 	G.C3I.Cli, A,Imini,trutvr of the Cowtattittit, 
New South Wales, 

VICTORIA R. 
VICTORIA, by the Grace of God, of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, 

Queen, Defender of the Faith, to Our Right Trusty and Well-beloved Councillor Sir 
John Young, Baronet, Knight Commander of Our Most Honorable Order of the Bath, 
Knight Grand Cross of Our Most Distinguished Order of Saint Irlichael and Saint 
George,— 

GREETING :— 
Whereas We did by certain Letters Patent, under the Great Seal of Our United Kingdom 

of Great Britain and Ireland, hearing date at Westminster, the eighth day of September, one thousand 
eight hundred and fifty-five, in the Nineteenth Year of Our Reign, constitute and appoint Our Trusty 
and Well-beloved Sir William Thomas Denison, Knight, to be, during Our pleasure, Our Captain 
General and Governor-in-Chief in and over Our Colony of New South Wales. And We did provide and 
declare Our pleasure that, in case of the death or absence out of Our said Colony of the said Sir 
William Thomas Denison, all and every the powers and authorities by Our said Commission to him 
granted, should be, and the same were thereby vested in such person as might be appointed by Warrant 
under Our Sign Manual to be Our Lieutenant Governor of Our said Colony ; or in such person or 
persons as might by Us be appointed in like manner to administer the Government of Our said Colony 
in such contingency. And whereas We did, by Our Warrant, dated at Windsor, the third day of May, 
one thousand eight hundred and fifty-nine, in the Twenty-second year of Our Reign, authorize and 
require that, upon the death of the said Sir William Thomas Denison, or during his absence out of Our 
said Colony, the Senior Military Officer, for the time being, commanding Our Land Forces in Our said 
Colony should, until Our further pleasure should he signified, administer the Government thereof. And 
whereas We havejudged it expedient to make other provision foradministering the said Government. We 
do therefore, by these presents, revoke and recall the said Warrant, except so far as the same revokes and 
determines a certain other previous Warrant therein mentioned ; and, in pursuance and exercise of the 
powers reserved to Us in the afore-mentioned Letters Patent, and of all other powers to Us belonging, 
We do hereby appoint you, the said Sir John Young, upon the death or absence out of Our said Colony 
of the said Sir William Thomas Denison, or until Our further pleasure be signified, to administer the 
Government of Our said Colony and its Dependencies, with the style and title of Administrator of the 
Government thereof ; and We do authorize and require you to execute and perform all and singular the 
powers and directions contained in Our said recited Commission to the said Sir William Thomas 
Denison, and all such further orders and instructions as you or he may hereafter receive from Us. And 
We do hereby Conunand all and singular Our Officers, Ministers, and loving Subjects in Our said Island, 
and alL others whom it may concern, to take due notice hereof, and to give their ready obedience 
accordingly. 

Given at Our Court at Windsor, this eighteenth day ofJatioary, 1861, in the Twenty-fourth 
year of Our Reign. 

By Her Majesty's Command, 
NEWCASTLE. 

[Price, U.] 	 14- 

Sac, 
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18 6 1. 

Thniolatibe Itoocniblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ESCHEATED LANDS OF THE LATE JOHN TAWELL. 
(AFFIXING GREAT SEAL OF THE COLONY TO GRANT OR) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 23 January, 1861. 

CORRESPOND PINCE between His Excellency Sir William Denison and the Colonial 
Secretary, relative to the affixing the Great Seal of the Colony to a Grant from the 
Crown of the escheated Lands of the late John Tatoell. 

No. 1. 

MY DEAR COWPER, 
I wish to have the copy of the Deed of Grant sent out by the Secretary of 

State as a guide to the Law Officers, so far as the form of Deed to the Trustees of Mrs. Tawell 
is concerned. I also want the copy of the Inquisition by which the Crown's title to the 
particular lands was ascertained. 

Yours truly, 
W. DENISON. 

No. 2. 
Government House, 

14 January, 1861. 
MY DEAR CI:PAYEE; 

I have received the accompanying Deed of Grant from Mr. Billyard, the 
Attorney of the Trustees of Mrs. Tawell, and having compared it with the draft sent out by 
the Law Officers in England, and with the descriptions given in the Inquisition, I find it to 
be correct; and in accordance, therefore, with the instructions I have received from the 
Secretary of State, I have signed it, and now send it you in order that it may have the 
Great Seal attached to it, after which I will deliver it to the Attorney of the Trustees, and 
thus get rid of a very disagreeable matter which has been long pending. 

Yours truly, 
W. DENISON. 

No. 3. 
Government House, 

' 	17 January, 1861. 
MY DEAR COWPER, 

Will you send back the Grant to Tawell's Trustees with the Seal attached to No.4 was des. 
it. I want to put my initial to an erasure which I perceived in it, and to hand it over to itrieterneecedpieortt. 
the Attorney for the Trustees before I go : let me have it therefore at once—for I have also this tote. 
to write a Despatch to the Secretary of State on the subject. 

Yours truly, 
W. DENISON. 

* 39 	 No. 4. 

Government House, 
10 January, 1860. 
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2 	ESCHEATED LANDS OF THE LATE JOHN TAWELL. 

NO. 4: 
16 January, 1861. 

111v DEAR SIR WILLIAM, 
Your Excellency's note of the day before yesterday, together with the Deed 

which accompanied it, have been delivered to me by Mr. Merewether. To that Deed Your 
Excellency desires me to have the Great Seal of the Colony affixed, in order that the instruc-
tions of the Secretary of State may be carried out, and a Grant be issued to the Attorney of 
the Trustees of Mrs. Tawe11, the widow of the late John Tawell, whose property became 
eseheated to the Crown upon his conviction in England, in the year 1845, for felony. 

It is with unfeigned regret that I have arrived at the conclusion, that I ought not 
to be a party in any way to the completion of this document. 

The transactions to which it has reference, have formed the subject of very lengthened 
and elaborate correspondence, between the Imperial and Colonial Governments; and, upon 
every occasion, the Law Officers of the Colonial Government have maintained, that the 
course which the Law Advisers of the Imperial Government have recommended, would be 
contrary to all Colonial precedent and practice, illegal, and unjust. In a letter dated the 
1st November, 1851, to the Colonial Secretary, the then Attorney and Solicitor General, 
Messrs. Plunkett and Mr. (now Sir W. 51.) Manning, thus stated the facts :— 

" On the 81st January, 1845, and prior, therefore, to the conviction of John Tawell, 
" his real and personal property in New South Wales was conveyed by him to Messrs. 
" Wm. Tawell. and Win. Bevan, in trust, to sell, if they should think fit, and to apply the 
" proceeds for the benefit of his wife and son, and certain other persons. 

" On the 30th December, 1847, John Tawell's real and personal estate in England, 
" and his chattel property in New South Wales, were, by the Queen's Warrant, granted to 
" the same Trustees upon the Trusts of the above Deed, and, from the terms of the Warrant 
" (which refers to the abovementioned conveyance of the 31st January, 1845, without impugn-
" ing it,) as well as from the Correspondence with, and Despatches of, the Secretary of State, 
" it is evident that Her Majesty entirely waived her claim by escheat to the real property in 
" New South Wales, and that the same was to be granted fur the benefit of the widow and 
" son of Tawell, as soon as the Crown's title to it should have been found by inquisition 
" held in the Colony. 

" On the 2fith January, 1848, Messrs. W. Tawell and Wm. Bevan executed and sent 
" out a power of attorney, which is now before us, and of which the enclosed copy has been 
" furnished to us, by which, after reciting the Conveyance of 31st January, 1845, 
" they appointed Messrs. Norton and G. C. Turner their Attorneys, and fully empowered 
" them, 'jointly and severally, for them the said W. Tawell and W. Bevan in their names 
"S or in the names of their said Attorneys, or either of them,' to sell and dispose of the 
" lands in question if the said Attorneys, or either of them, should think expedient,' and to 
" receive and give receipts for the purchase moneys, 'and in the names of the said W. 
" Tawell aud W. Bevan and as their acts and deeds, to make, sign, seal, execute and 
" deliver all such releases and discharges as should, or might, be necessary for effectually 
" releasing, conveying, and assuring such lands unto the purchaser or purchasers thereof.' 
" An Inquisition having been held in the Colony by which the title of the Crown 
" to the lands in question was found, Mr. Turner made sales of those lands to 
" various persons (by public auction we believe) under the authority of the above 
" power of attorney. He subsequently received the purchase money, and executed Convey- 

ances of these lands, and covenants to endeavour to procure Deeds of Grant in the names 
" of IV. Bevan and IV. Tawell. These acts were strictly within Mr. Turner's powers as 
" a several' Attorney of these Trustees. After the sales, applications were made to the 
" Colonial Government for Deeds of Grant in favor of the purchasers, and it is probable that 
"they would have been issued accordingly in 1849, bat for a difficulty which bad occurred 
" to ourselves in reference to another ease of escheat, as to the sufficiency of the terms of the 
" Governor's Commission. 

" It would now seem that, although some portions of the purchase moneys were 
" remitted to Messrs. W. Tawell and IV. Bevan, other portions were not so remitted, but have 
" been or are supposed to he lost, through Mr. Turner's reputed insolvency and emigration to 
tc California; and, on this ground, Messrs. Tawell and Bevan seek to repudiate the =dogs of 
" Mr. Turner on their behalf, and to give effect to such repudiation by obtaining grants from 
" the Crown to themselves. 

" It is, we need not say, greatly to be lamented that the widow and son of the 
deceased Tawell should suffer through the misplaced confidence reposed in Mr. Turner ; but 

"it appears to us, that, according to every principle of equity, it is right, that as the loss 
" must unfortunately fall somewhere, it should be borne by them rather than by equally 
" innocent purchasers, who had nothing to do with the selection of, nor any control over, the 
" Agent, who was regularly employed on their behalf. 

" According also to well known principles of the English Courts of Justice, we 
" think it plain, that if Messrs. Tavel' and Bevan were now to obtain a legal title to these 
4 ‘ lands, by means of a Grant from the Crown, they would be estopped in law from setting it 
4C  up, in derogation of Deeds which are legally as much theirs as if they had executed them 
4 ' person, and that, in equity, they would be compellable to convey to their vendees the 
" estate acquired from the Crown. It must be admitted, indeed, that, as the Crown has not yet 
"formally divested itself of its absolute power of disposing of the property as it may think fit, 
"the application of these principles of law and equity might be evaded, by changing the Trustees 
" or the Trusts with that view ; but of course the Crown would not lend itself to such a 
"scheme. 

" Having thus brought the facts of the ease, as far as they are known to us, under 
" the notice of the Governor General, we have now in conclusion to state, most respectfully, 

" that 
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" that in our judgment His Excellency ought not-to issue the proposed grants to Messrs. W. 
" Tawe11 and W. Bevan, but that the,whole matter should be laid again before the Secretary 
" of State, together with the counter applications made by the several purchasers." 

Subsequently, on the 14th September, 1854, referring to letters which had passed 
between the Colonial Secretary and the Law Officers, they again entered into a very full 
statement of the whole subject, and concluded that communication in the following words :— 

" With the strong opinion we entertain in favor of the claims of the purchasers, we do 
" not think it would be right to leave them to their supposed remedy in Equity, against 
"Mrs. Tawe11's Trustees as Grantees. Even if a proceeding in Equity could be made 
" practically effectual on either side, it should, in our opinion, be for the Trustees to 
" establish their repudiation of the acts of their agent; but we have reason now to entertain 
" doubts, founded upon high legal authority, whether the equity of the purchasers could be 
" established as against the proposed Crown Grants. If any such mode of deciding the 
" rights of the parties is to be resorted to, we think it should be by an enquiry preceding 
"the issue of the Grants. 

" Our apology for having ventured to trouble you at so very unusual a length upon 
" this matter, must be our humble but firm conviction that the Crown would be misled into 
"an act of clear injustice if the Grants were now to issue to Mrs. Tawell's Trustees, and that 
"we feel that the honor of the local Government, has, at the instance of the representative of 
" Mrs. Tawell and her Trustees, become pledged to the other claimants." 

Again, on the 15th February, 1856, after further time for consideration, and, in reply 
to another communication from the Colonial Secretary, they informed the Government, that 
they still retain to the fullest extent, the firm conviction expressed in a former letter, and 
which I have just quoted, and they respectfully requested to be relieved from the position of 
"apparent acquiescence and adoption, in which they should place themselves, if they were 
"to give instructions to the Civil Crown Solicitor to prepare a Deed of Grant of the property." 

The case was, during my former tenure of office, repeatedly under the consideration of 
my colleagues and myself, and we have never varied in the view taken by us; that view being 
entirely in accordance with the sentiments of the Colonial Law Officers, as stated in the letters 
of November, 1851, September, 1E54, and February, 1856. From its delicate and compli-
cated character, however, and from the pressure of other matters constantly occurring with 
the introduction of Responsible Government, no action was taken by us; but, by the Ministry 
which succeeded, the subject was brought before the then Crown Law Officers for advice. 
Those gentlemen, Mr. Wise, the then Attorney General, and now one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Court, and Mr. Hargrave, then Solicitor General, and now Attorney General, in very 
carefully drawn opinions, expressed their agreement in the law and equity of the case as 
originally given and maintained through a series of years, by Mr. Plunkett and Sir William 
Manning. They also call attention to another point of considerable importance, and state their 
opinion that, on the grounds therein fully given, "a grant of this escheated land would not 
" be within the powers possessed by His Excellency according to the law in force within the 
"Colony." They assert that the Constitution Act does not give him such powers, and that they 
arc not aware of any power vested in the Governor of the Colony by Common or 
Statute Law which would enable His Excellency to make Grants of Escheats. In reply 
to a suggestion in your Excellency's Minute of February,* 1860, that the opinion 
should be referred back to the Law Officers, with directions to consider and report upon the 
mode in which the instructions transmitted by Her Majesty may be carried into effect, so as 
to give to the persons who purchased the land from the Attorneys of the Trustees an 
opportunity of applying to a Court of Equity, to compel the Trustees to fulfil the engage-
ment entered into by their Attorney, to give to the purchasers at public auction a good title 
to the land so purchased, they state that " they consider the question for their consideration 
" is not whether the Queen can give instructions, but whether the existing documents, when 
" interpreted by fixed rules of legal construction and applied to the facts of the ease, have 
" clothed the Governor General with a legal power to grant the escheat in question "; and 
they adhere to their previously expressed opinion, that Your Excellency " does not possess 
" such legal power " ' • and upon being requested by Your Excellency to reconsider the subject, 
they also state

' 
 that they are clearly of opinion that, "as the matter now stands, nothing can 

" be done by Your Excellency to grant the lands to any one." 
I would respectfully submit to Your Excellency, that the present position of the case 

is this. A Deed, purporting to be a Grant from the Crown
' 
 of Lands in the Colony of New 

South Wales, has been prepared by a private practitioner without having passed through any 
Government Department, or having been verified in its details by any of those Officers of 
the Government through whose hands grants of land invariably pass. It is proposed to be 
issued by Your Excellency upon the authority simply of instructions from Her Majesty's 
Secretary of Stale for the Colonies. I respectfully submit, that if such a proceeding were to 
be in any way aided by the Colonial Authorities, it would be tantamount to an admission, 
that grants of land in New South Wales may be made, by direction of the Secretary of State 
for the Colonies, not only irrespective of the Colonial Government, but in direct opposition 
to the reiterated protests of the Crown Law Officers of successive Governments, during a long 
series of years. 

It is with great deference and respect, that I now submit for the consideration of Your 
Excellency, my views upon this very important matter, involving as it -does, in my humble 
judgment, the relative rights of the Imperial and Colonial Authorities. I assure Your 
Excellency that I deeply regret that such a question should have arisen at the present moment. 
Nothing but the strongest sense of what is due to the office which I have the honor to hold, 
and the trust reposed in me, would have induced me to raise it at a time when many questions 
of great moment must be claiming Your Excellency's anxious consideration. 

I beg to remain, &c., 
CHARLES COWPER. 

No. 5. 
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No. 5. • 
Government House, 

Sydney, 17 January, 1861. 
MY DEAR COWPER, 

The whole of the facts relating to the land belonging to Tawell, and escheated 
to the Crown, have been so thoroughly discussed, that it is altogether unnecessary for mc to 
enter upon the question again. 

I would simply observe, that the Law Officers of the Crown who have reported upon 
the case, appear to have assumed to themselves the power of deciding upon a matter which 
ought to be brought before a proper legal tribunal, and that the only mode in which this 
can properly be done, is by the issue of a Grant to the Trustees against whom the purchasers, 
under the power of attorney given to Turner, could institute a suit in Equity, in order to 
compel them to fulfil the covenant entered into at the sale as to the completion of the title 
of the purchasers. 

You say that the Law Officers of the Crown have been unanimous in their opinion 
on this ease; I may observe, that the same unanimity has prevailed among the Law 
Officers in England, and I must confess that I am more inclined to adopt the opinion of the 
latter than of the former. 

All this, however, is beside the case. I, having received specific and reiterated 
instructions on the part of Her Majesty to cause a Deed to be prepared according to a 
certain form, to which Deed I am also directed to cause the Great Seal of the Colony to be 
attached, shall not be justified, if upon the mere opinion of the Law Officers here, (an 
opinion contradicted by my own reading of the case, and at variance with that of the most 
experienced Lawyers in England,) I should refuse to comply with these instructions. I 
am bound, therefore, to insist that the Great Seal of the Colony, which by my Commission 
is entrusted to my charge, should be affixed to the document which has been prepared 
accordance with the form and directions sent from England. 

I have, however, no wish to make your refusal to affix this Seal a ground for disr 
turbing the present political arrangements. The case is an exceptional one and can never 
occur again. I shall not, therefore, unless actually compelled to do so, attempt to disturb your 
tenure of the office of Colonial Secretary, but shall come down to your office and there 
affix the Great Seal to the Deed in question. 

In this way it appears to me that I shall comply with the Queen's Instructions, and 
at the same time leave the political organization of the Government undisturbed. 

Believe me, 
Yours very truly, 

W. DENISO.N. 

No. 6. 
21 January, 1361. 

MY DEAR SIR WILLIAM, 
Referring to the interview with which Your Excellency honored me on 

Friday, I now beg respectfully to state the views of my colleagues and myself upon your 
communication of the 17th instant. 

Your Excellency intimates that the question regarding the escheated lands of the 
late John Tawell, has been 50 thoroughly discussed that you consider it unnecessary to open 
it again. And you announce your intention of coming down to the Colonial Secretary's 
Office and personally affixing the Great Seal of the Colony to the proposed Deed of Grant. 

My colleagues and myself have taken into our anxious consideration the position in 
which such a course of proceeding would place the Ministry; and we have reluctantly 
arrived at the conclusion, that so long as we remain Your Excellency's Advisers, we should 
be unable to divest ourselves of the responsibility of this as of all other acts of Government 
performed with our cognizance. 

While duly appreciating the expression of Your Excellency's desire that the political 
organisation of the Government should not be disturbed, and bearing in mind the serious 
embarrassment which, more especially at the present juncture of public affairs, would arise 
from a resignation of the Ministry, we feel that it would be inconsistent with a due sense of 
the responsibility properly attaching to us, that we should continue to hold office during the 
performance of an act of which we cannot but wholly disapprove, and which it is proposed 
to carry out by so unusual an exercise of power. 

The proposal which I submitted for Your Excellency's consideration, that the case 
should be referred back to the Court of Claims, still appears to me as the least objectionable 
course open for adoption. To that tribunal it was submitted, and I am not able to learn 
that it was ever formally withdrawn therefrom. And it may not be out of .place for me to 
accompany this communication with a memorandum which has been prepared by the 
Principal Under Secretary to the Government, a gentleman of long official experience, giving 
a history of the origin and constitution of that Court, and of the functions with which it is 
clothed. 

I remain, Sze., 
CHARLES COIVPER. 

[Enclosure.] 
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[Enclosure.] 
Some years ago the preparation of Deeds of Grant for lands promised by Governors of the 

Colony was greatly in anent The lands were held, or occupied, under letters or permissions to select, 
and in some cases, especially in Sydney, without any claim or title beyond that arising from 
occupation. 

2. These lands in many instances passed, by sale or otherwise, out of the possession of those who 
originally occupied them, or to whom they were plomisod, and owing to the death, incapacity, or absence 
of these parsons, questions arose as to the proper parties to receive Deeds from the Crown. 

3. The parties in.possession had no legal title to these lands, but it was the desire of the Govern-
ment of the day to issue Deeds to those who had fair claims to them,by purchase from the original holders, 
or by occupation ; and in order to decide on these, an Act was obtained by Sir Richard Bourke, in 1833, 
for the appointment of Commissioners to inquire into the whole circumstances of each case, and to 
determine, according to equity and good conscience, the persons to receive Deeds under the Great Seal 
of the Colony. This Act was revised by the existing law (5 Wm. 4th, No. 21—passed in 1835), and 
the latter contains a provision, that if the persons claiming the lands, or any part thereof, are 
entitled, in equity and good conscience, to hold the said lands, and to have a grant thereof made and 
delivered to them under the Great Seal of the Colony, they shall report the same, with the grounds 
thereof, to the Governor. 

4. On an application being made for a Deed by the parties in possession, if accompanied by a 
letter, properly authenticated, from persons known to the Government as having been promised the land, 
it has been usual to advertise the intended preparation of the Deeds, and, should there be no opposition to 
do so at the expiration of a month from the date of the notice ; but, in the absence of such a document, 
the decease of the original proprietors, or of counterclaims being made, the eases were referred to the 
CoMmissioners tor bigotry and report, as mentioned in paragraph 3. 

5. The Governor is not bound to adopt the recommendation of the COMUlifiSiellen,•the object 
of whose appointment is to assist the Government in arriving at a right decision as to the parties to 
receive the Deeds ; which, as the legal title to the lands is still in the Crown, (or since the passing of 
the Constitution Act in the name of the Crown for the Colony) may be considered to he issued as 
an act of grace, or of justice and fairness to the present holders, showing their equitable claims, 
rather than as that to which any persons have an absolute rtyht. 

G. in the case of Tawell, supposing the lands to he in this position, and that he had no legal 
title, either to hold or to sell, the property might be considered to he still in the Crown, on behalf of 
the Parliatnent of the Colony, which has now the control and disposal of Waste Lands (or what have 
not been alienated under the Seal of the Colony) and the question as to whom the Deeds slanild issue, 
one perhaps for the decision of the Colonial authorities, after inquiry and report by the Com-
missioners of Claims. If favorable to the persons ill possession and adopted by the Government, the 
Deeds would issue direct to them and in their names. 

7. But assuming the whale of the lands to have been granted under the Seal of the Colony, either 
to Tawell or others, and being forfeited by his conviction, or offence, to be now, in consequence thereof, 
at the disposal of the Crown, at its pleasure, it would still only be in accordance with the spirit of the 
Colonial law already referred to, and consistent with the course followed where questions have arisen on 
claims to grants for lands, not originally promised to, or held by, persons in possession of them, to deal 
in the same way with this ease, which affects property in the Colony, and the interests of Colonists. 
This would also seem proper if the Colonial Seal, and the record of the Deeds in a Colonial Office be 
necessary. 

S. There is another question connected with the issue of a Deed for Tawoll's property generally, 
that the inquisition includes land to which, under any circumstances, the parties seeking a title can 
have no claim. It has been stated that those to whom it belongs may otherwise establish their right. 
To do tins, however, would probably necessitate an expensive law suit, of which they would have 
grounds to complain. 

9. A question has also been raised as to the use of the Great Seal of the Colony. The custody 
of this is given by his Commission to tile Governor General, but in what respects the use of it should in 
any way be controlled, in eases in which the rights of the. Colony may be affected, has perhaps never 
been considered, with reference to the existing Constitution, and a Government responsible to a local 
Parliament. 

10. There are some provisions in the Commission and Instructions of the Governor, which it has 
been already admitted by the Secretary of State require alteration, and there are others obviously 
obsolete and not necessary—such as the directions for Land Offices, kw. It is very likely that some 
alteration will be found in the Commission and Instnictions of the new Governor—but not perhaps any 
relating to the Seal, and other things, which, in bringing into full operation the present Constitution, 
may require change, although from the comparatively recent introduction of the system of Responsible 
Government in tile Colonies, the necessity of such modifications has not hitherto become apparent. 

18 January, 1861. 

No. 7. 

MY DEAR COWPER, 
The course suggested by you in your letter is not in any way applicable to 

the matter in hand, inasmuch as the land escheated to the Crown, on the execution of 
Tawell, formed part of old Grants to Colonists, of the title to which there WAS no question ; 
in point of fact, the land in question is now the property of the Crown, and it is in order 
to bring it under the operation of the law that I issue, as directed by Her Majesty, the 
Grant to the Trustees of Mrs. Tavel!. 

I think you have decided unwisely, both in refusing to comply with my directions to 
affix the Great Seal to the Deed in question, as in so doing you act only in a ministerial 
capacity, and assume no responsibility, and also in making any net of mine, performed in 
consequence of positive orders from Iler Majesty, a reason for resigning your political 
position. Whatever course, however, you may decide to adopt, my duty is very clear, 
and that is to execute the Deed as directed. In order, then, that Piney do so, I must 
request that you will deliver the Great Seal to my Private Secretary, Mr. Merewether, who 
will call for it, and who will return it to the office of the Colonial Secretary as soon 
as I have attached the Seal to the Deed. 

I cannot but hope that you will think better of the course to be adopted by you. 
Your resignation, at the present instant, can only be productive of delay in carrying out the 
political arrangements of the Session ; it cannot change or alter them. 

Believe me, See., 
W. DENISON. 

Government House, 
21 January, 1861. 

• 

39—B 	 No. S. 
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No. S. 

MY DEAR SIR WILLIAM, 

The communication which I have just received from Your Excellency leaves 
me no other course to pursue but to tender my resignation as Colonial Secretary. 

In giving up the Great Seal of the Colony, in obedience to Your Excellency's com-
mands, for the purpose indicated, I feel that Your Excellency calls upon me at the same 
time to give up my office. 

My colleagues wish me to state that they concur in this view, and they beg also to 
tender their resignations to Your Excellency. 

I remain, &c., 
CHARLES COWPER. 

No. 9. 

MY DEAR COWPER, 
I return the Great Seal after having perfected the Grant to the Trustees of 

Mrs. Tau-ell. 
Having entire confidence in your political administration of the Colony, I cannot 

accept the resignation of yourself and your colleagues, and I trust you will not be so ill-
advised as to mix up a matter of a character exclusively private, with the general questions 
of interest to the Colony which are now pending ; the only effect of which would be to 
damage your administration, and diminish your usefulness. 

Believe me, 
Yours very truly, 

W. DENISON. 

21 January, 1861. 

Government House, 
21 January, 1861. 

Eyeluey : Thomas Richards, Government Priateti-186L 

IPvice, lid.] 
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1 8 61. 

Regtelatibe Roaemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ESCHEATED LANDS OF THE .LATE JOHN ,TAWELL. 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 26 April, 1861. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of 

New South Wales, dated 29th January, 1861, praying that His 

Excellency the Administrator of the Government would be pleased 

to cause to be laid upon the Table of this House,— 

" Copies of all Correspondence between the Imperial and Local 

" Governments, including all Opinions of the Law Officers, and 

" all communications from private parties having reference to 

"the proceedings of the Crown hi the matter of the property of 

" the late John Tawell." 

(Mr. Parkes.) 

219—A 
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No. 1. 
ATTORNEY GENERAL to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
26 August, 1846. 

SIR, 
I have the honor to transmit herewith, for the information of His Excellency 

the Governor, a copy of a letter addressed by Mr. Solicitor Norton to the Civil Crown 
Solicitor, respecting certain properties in this Colony which belonged to a person named 
!Mtn nivel!, who was in the last year tried, convicted, and executed, in Englund, for murder. 

The object of the letter, it will be seen, was to obtain a disclaimer from me, on the 
part of the Crown, of any right to the property in question, and I have the honor to transmit 
the reply I have given. 

The conveyance laid before me is drawn in regular form, on stamped parchment, dated 
31st January, 1813, conveying to trustees all his real and personal property in New South 
Wales in trust for his wife and child. 

The real properties are five acres of land at Double Bay, land at Woolloomooloo 
purchased from Mr. Laidley, an allotment in Sussex-street, Sydney, and the Quaker's Meeting 
House in Macquarie-street. The chattel property consists of 80 shares in the Bank of 
New South Wales, 10 shares of £100 each in the Commercial Bank, and 60 in the Sydney 
Alliance Company, which, I should say, is altogether worth upwards of £10,000. 

From the intimation in Mr. Norton's letter, I anticipate that a Bill in Equity may 
be filed shortly, and the Attorney General will necessarily be made aware* 

I cannot waive any rights which belong to the Crown, and twill, of course, insist on 
those rights; but I would suggest it to be advisable that the matter should he made known 
to the Home Government, with the view of ascertaining Her Majesty's pleasure in respect 
to it. 

I have, Sec., 
JOHN H. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 

[Enclosure 1 in Ho. 1.] 
Sydney, 11 August, 1846. 

Sir, 
The late John Tawell, previously to his trial and conviction in England, assigned and 

assured, amongst other things, his real and personal estate in this Colony to Mr. Bevan and another, as 
trustees, for the benefit of his wife and family. 

The chief part of this properly consists of stock in the New South Wales and Commercial Banks 
and in one of the Marine Assurance Companies in Sydney. 

In making the usual application to these institutions for a transfer of the stock to the trustees, 
I have been called upon for evidence that the Crown does not claim this property. 

I am not sure that I am bound to answer this inquiry, but, as I understand, if I do not offer some 
proof that the Crown will not claim the property, I shall be compelled to proceed aastinst the trustees 
at law. 

Under these circumstances, I have felt entitled to submit the case to you, in the hope that the 
Attorney General may grant such certificate as will satisfy the parties. 

I believe that it is not usual in any case for the Crown to claim the personal estate of a felon, at 
least that part which he converted or settled previously to his conviction, and I do not well sec how it 
would be possible for the Crown to identify the executed John Towel' with the property he had in this 

f ern, &c., 
Colony. 

George Cooper Tomer, Esq., 	 J. NORTON. 
Crown Solicitor. 

[Enclosure 2 in No. 1.] 
(Attorney General's reply to Mr. Hostess's letter.) 

I do not feel myself justified in doing what is required ill me in Mr. Norton's letter to the 
Crown Solicitor; I must therefore decline to Ore any such certificate. 

As the trial and conviction of John Tamen took place in England, the Colonial Government 
ought not, in my opinion, to interfere at all, except by direction of the Home Government, or unless 
the Attorney General, as the -Representative of the Crown, be made a party to any legal proceedings 
that may be instituted on behalf of those claiming the properties in question under the decd. 

In the latter event. I deem it right in candour to say, that I. am not satisfied the deed now 
before me is valid in law ; and, therefore. I would consider it my duty to claim this property on behalf 
of the Crown. 

219—B 
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assume, on the facts stated, that the deed was executed by 'Powell on the day it bears date 
(31st January, 1815), in contemplation of his trial or conviction, and though a conveyance under suck 
circumstances made bona fide for a valuable consideration, at any time before conviction, will be valid, 
I cannot allow that the consideration hero is sufficient ( Vide Shaw v. Bran, 1 Stack, 319; also, Jones 
a.Aturat Skew); in which case it appeared that o father lading in Norg;fte on a charge of, robbery 
modird bill of sale of goods tothe intent to make provision (or this 'eon. • The father was afterwards 
convicted and executed, and the son brought an action for the goods, and Holt, Chief Justice, held the 
sale was fraudulent, though admitting that a sale bona fide, and for valuable consideration, would he 
gond ; yet such a conveyance as the present could not be intended to any other purpose Man to precena a 
forfeiture and defraud the King, and that it was a fraud at Common Law. 

No. 2. 
GOVERNOR SIR CHAS. S. Fitz ROY to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

28 September, 1846. 

At the request of Her Majesty's Attorney General in this Colony, I have the 
honor to transmit the copy of a communication* (and of the enclosure referred to therein), 
'addressed by that officer to the Colonial Secretary, on the subject of an application which he 
tiad received from a Solicitor in Sydney, respecting certain properties in this Colony which 
belonged to the late John Tawell, who was, some time since, executed in England for murder. 

The Attorney General, as you will perceive, is anxious to learn Her Majesty's pleasure 
• In this matter. 

I have, &e., 
CHAS. A. FITZ ROY. 

• See preceding letter. 

No. 3. 
SECRETARY OF STATE to GOVERNOR SIR CHAS. A. FITZ ROY. 

Downing-street, 
29 January, 1848. 

I have received your Despatch, No. 21, of the 28th September, 1846, respecting the 
property in New South \Vales belonging to the late John Tawell, who was executed for murder. 

That Despatch having been brought under the consideration of the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury, I transmit to you, for your information and gnidanee, a copy of 
a letter from the Assistant Secretary to their Lordships' Board, and I have to request that 
you will afford any assistance in your power to the legal representatives in the Colony of the 
parties to whom this grant has ben made, including as it does the personal property possessed 
by John Tawell in New South Wales, for the benefit of Tawell's widow and family, upon 
certain trusts set forth in the grant. 

I have, &re., 
GREY. 

[Enclosure in No. 3] 
Treasury Chambers, 

25 January, 1848. 
Sir, 

With reference to Mr. Stephen's letter to the home Office, of the 23rd March, 1845, respect-
ing the property in New South Wales belonging to the late John 'Powell who was executed for murder, 
I am commanded by the Lords Commissioners of Ber Majesty's Treasury to acquaint you, for the 
information of Earl Grey, that Her Majesty has been pleased to grant the property of the said John 
Tawell, which was forfeited to the Crown upon his conviction, to trustees (Messrs. William Bevan and 
William Tawelk for the benefit of Towell's widow and family, upon certain trusts, particularly sot forth 
in the said grant. 

I am at the same time to transmit to you copy of a letter from Messrs. Bevan and Goodeve, 
solicitors to the trustees, and to state that, as the grant from the Crown includes the personal property 
in New South Wales alluded to by the solicitors, their Lordships see no objection to the said property 
king put into the possession of the trustees under the grant, or their legal representatives in New South 
Wales. 

With respect to the freehold property in New South Wales, their Lordships' solioitor has reported 
to them that it does not appear that any inquisition has been taken to find the Crown's title thereto, 
vIlich has generally beta required before any grant of Colonial property is made. 

I am, tea 
The Under Secretary of the 	 C. E. TREVELYAN. 

Colonial Department, 5r.c., (te. 

(Extract from a Letter front Afessrs. Bonen and COOCIPPC, dated G(h January, 1848.) 
Her Majesty having, with the advice of the Lords Commissioners of Ifer Treasury, been 

graciously pleased to grant the property of the late John Tawell to Messrs. William Devon and William 
'Powell, as trustees for the widow and family of the deceased, and part of such property, consisting of 
eighty shares in the Bank of New South Waled, and ten shares in the Commercial Bank of Sydney, and 
sixty shares in the Australian General Assurance Company, which the trustees are desirous of having 
truisferred into their names in tho books of the before-mentioned Companies, in order that they may 
he able to deal with them as may be found necessary, we have to request the favour of your communi-
esting the feet of the grant having been made to Earl Grey, and it would also lay the trustees under AIL 
additional obligation if you would at the same time add any further information which you may deem 
expedient, and request that the Governor of.the Colony of Now South Wales may be directed to give any 
assistance which may be necessary for carrying into effect the objects of the grant. 

We believe the solicitor to the Treasury has already reported respecting the proceedings which 
have taken place, and as the trustees are desirous of sending out instructions to their agent at Sydney 
Ly the next mail, it would be a-great favour if you-would have the kindnesa to-expedite-the matter us 
-far asTracticable. 

SIR 

San, 

No. 4. 
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No. 4. 
G. COOPER TURNER, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 9 June, 1848. 

I do myself the honor to request that you will inform me whether a despatch 
has been received by His Excellency the Governor from Earl Grey respecting the property 
forfeited to the Crown on the conviction of John Tawe11 ; and if so, favour me with a copy of 
the despatch and its enclosures. 

I have, Rm., 
G. COOPER TURNER, 

Solicitor for Messrs. Tawe11 and Bevan. 

SIR:, 
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 0th instant,. 

and to inform you, in reply to your request, that it would be contrary to official regulations 
to furnish you with a copy of the Secretary of State's despatch relative to the property in 
this Colony forfeited to the Crown on the conviction of John Towel]. 

I am, however, instructed to acquaint you, that Earl Grey has notified to the 
Governor that Tier Majesty has been pleased to grant the property of Tawell to trustees 
(Messrs. William Bevan and William Tawelp for the benefit of that person's widow and 
family, upon certain trusts, particularly set forth in the grant ; and instructed His 
Excellency to afford any assistance in Ms power to the legal representatives in New South 
Wales of the parties to whom such grant has been made, including as it does the personal 
property of Tawell in the Colony. 

With respect to the freehold property of John Tawell, it appears that no inquisition 
has been taken to find the Crown title thereto, which has generally been required before any 
grant of Colonial property is made. 

I have, Sze., 
E. PEAS THOMSON. 

No. 6. 
ATTORNEY GENERAL to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
13 June, 1848. 

SIR, 
Referring to my letter of the 26th August, 1846, respecting the property of 

John Tawell, convicted in England of murder, I beg leave to call your attention to an 
advertisement which has appeared in the Sydney Morning Herald, for some days past, to 
the effect, " that certain properties were to be sold, by order of J. Norton and G. C. Turner, 
Esquires, the attorneys of William Tawell and William Bevan, on the 21st instant." 

I was not a little surprised at Mr. Turner, the Crown Solicitor for Civil Business, 
having allowed such an advertisement, without any communication with the Government at 
the subject, which, he informs me on inquiry, he has not had. 

I dare say there may be some despatch on the subject from the Home Government, 
which will allow the sale for the benefit of Tawell's family, but, until I am apprised of it, I 
consider I am bound to cause public notice to be given that the property belongs to the 
Crown. 

Awaiting your early reply,— 
I have, &c., 

J. II. PLUNKETT, 
Attorney General. 

SIR, 

No. 7. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to ATTORNEY GENERAL. 

Colonial Secretary's Wee, 
Sydney, 13 'June, 1848. 

In acknowledging the receipt of your letter of this date, and referring to the 
correspondence on the same subject in 1846, I am directed by His Excellency the Governor 
to transmit to you the copy of a despatch, with its enclosures, from the Secretary of State 2.1 •TanuaTMEAL 
relative to the property of the late John Tassel 

I have, ke. 
W. KLYARD, JUNR. 

No. 5. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to G. COOPER TURNER, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's °bloc, 
Sydney, 22 June, 1848. 
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No. 8. 

G. COOPER TURNER, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRtARY. 

354, Castlereagh-street, 
Sydney, 19 March, 1849. 

With reference to you communication of the 22nd June last, acquainting me 
that Earl Grey had notified to Ills Excellency the Governor that Her Majesty had been 
pleased to grant the property of Tawell to trustees (Messrs. W. Bevan and W. Tawell) for 
the benefit of Tawell's widow and family, and also to instruct His Excellency the Governor 
to afford any assistance in his power to the legal representatives here of the parties to whom 
such grant has been made, and further stating that, with respect to the freehold property of 
John Tawell, that no inquisition had been taken to find the Crown's title thereto, which has 
generally been required before any grant of confiscated property is made,— 

I du myself the honor to state that, with the consent of the Honorable the Attorney 
General, a commission was issued out of the Supreme Court, and an inquisition held therein, 
finding the Crown's title to the freehold property of Terrell in this Colony, and to transmit 
a copy of the commission and inquisition; and, as the legal representative of 3lessrs. W. 
Tawell and Bevan in this Colony, I have the honor to request that His Excellency will be 
pleased to direct that a grant of a portion of the land contained in the inquisition—(a 
description whereof is herewith transrcitted)—may be issued in favour of Mr. Thomas Ware 
Smart. 

I have, &c., 
G. COOPER TURNER. 

[Enclosure 1 in No. 8.] 

In the Supreme Court of New South Wales. 
VICTORIA by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen 

Defender of the Faith and so forth. 
To Samuel Frederick Milford Barrister-at-law Esquire George Phillip Foster Gregory Protho-

notary .  of the Supreme Court George John Rogers and James Norton the Younger both 
of Sydney in our territory of New South Wales Solicitors— 

GREETING: 
Whereas at the Assizes hidden in and for the County of Buckingham in England on the 

tenth day of March in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-five John Tawell 
late of the Parish of Farnham Royal in our said County of Buckingham Gentleman a 1‘ he (barged with 
and convicted and attainted of the wilful murder of one Sarah Hart and shortly thereaft r suffered death 
for the same by reason whereof all his lauds tenements and hereditameuts escheated mod became 
forfeited to the Crown Therefore know ye that we very much trusting in your fidelity industry and 
care in transacting our affairs have assigned you our Commissioners and do by these presents give 
unto you any two or mule of you full power and authority to inquire es well by the °sibs of good and 
lawful men of our said Colony or otherwise by the testimony upon oath of the like good and lawful men 
by whom you may be well informed uoncerning the matters hereby inquired alter and by whom the 
truth of the premises may more plainly appear as by all ether ways means and methods whatsoever of 
what lands tenements and hereditaments and of what annual value and what estates within our Colony 
of New South Wales the said John 'Lovell or any other or others was or were seized to his use on the 
first day I If January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five being the day on which the .aid murder 
and felony was committed by the said John Tawell or ever afterwards who Mali since taken the IneNlle 
profits thereof and in whose peaataae011 the same th tlt were and of whom and by what serv ie.. or services 
and by what tenure the same were holden or are held And also what and what sort of leas4s or grants 
of lands tenements or hereditament* for any term or terms of years and what and what sort of anoint it 
or annual rents and what and what sort of goods and chattels and of what value and of what fLa ii wl tat 
sort of debts credits specialities and sums of money the said John Tawell or any other or others ha' his 
use had on the said tenth day of March one thousand eight hundred and forty-five on which day the said 
John Tan-ell was so convicted as aforesaid or at any time since and all other an ticks mattem and cir-
cumstances concerning the premises aforesaid or any of them whatsoever and the said lands tenements 
hereditaments goods chattels debts credits specialities and sums of money so as aforesaid to be found to 
enter upon sad seize unto our hands And we command you and any two or more of you that nit such 
day and place or days and places as yea shall appoint you diligently attend and make strict and effectual 
inquiry about the premises in manner aforesaid so that you have your inqu6ition thirly und openly 
taken thereupon before our Supreme Court at Sydney on the twenty-first day of September next ensuing 
to be then and there delivered with this our Commission into our said Court under your Seala or under 
the seals of such of you as shall take the same and under the seals of those persons hr whom you make 
the said inquisition And we also command our Sheriff of our said Colony and do hereby give him fa 
power and authority to cause to appear before you any two or more of you at the day and place or days 
and planes winch you shall appoint and whereof you shall give him notice any person or persons whom 
it may be proper to examine in the premises upon their oaths to he taken before you that this our 
command may he fully executed moreover we give to all and singular our Sheriff bailiffs constables and 
all other officers ministers and subjects whatsoever strictly in command by the tenor of these presents 
that they be aiding and assisting in the execution of these presents as becomes them upon peril that 
shall ensue thereon in ease of their neglect herein. 

Witness the Honorable Sir Alfred Stephen Knight our Chief Justice of our Supreme Court of 
New South Wales at Sydney aforesaid the fifth day of August in the twelfth year of our 
reign. 

G. P. F. GRF.GORY, Dos.) 
Dos.) ALFRED STEPHEIsi. 	 :Frothy. and Regr. of the Supreme Court. 

The execution of this Commission appears by the Inquisition hereunto annexed. 
SAML. FREDK. MILFORD. 
G. P. F. GREGORY. 
GEORGE J. ROGERS, 
JAMES NORTON, JUNR. 

SIR, 

[Enclosure 
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Kew South Wales (to wit). 
AN INQUISITION indented and taken at Sydney in the Colony of New South Wales on Tuesday the twenty-
second day of August in the twelfth year of the reign of our Sovereign Lady Victoria and in the year 
of our Lord ono thousand eight hundred and forty-eight before Samuel Frederick Milford George Phillip 
Foster Gregory GeorgeJohn Rogers and James Norton Junior Esquires by virtue of the annexed Commis-
sion of our said Lady the Queen and under the seal of the said Supreme Court of Nev South Wales bearing 
date the fifth day of August in the said twelfth year of the reign of our said Lady the Queen and before 
James Middleton (foreman) Jeremiah Murphy John Martyn Lewis Moore Albeit Mason joint Jimmy Myers 
Robert May John Marsh Isaac Moss Thomas Maguire Jeremiah Murphy John Wilson Mullen Thomas 
Moore being duly impannelled and returned by force of the said Commission and worn upon the Holy 
Evangelists to inquire find out and fully inform themselves of what lands tenements and tuned itaments 
and of what annual value and of what estates within the said Colony john Tawell in the said annexed 
Commission mentioned to have been attainted and convicted of felony or any other or others was or 
were seized to his use on the first day of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five or ever 
afterwards and who bath since taken the mieme profits thereof and of whom and by what service or 
services and by what tenure or tenures the same were holden and whether the same or any and which 
trf them or any and which of them had escheated and devolved and conic to Her Majesty and also what 
and what sort of leases or grants of lands tenements or hereditaments and what and what sort of 
annuities or annual rents and what and what sort of goods and chattels and of what value and what 
and what sort of debts credits specialities and sums of money the said john Tawell or my other or 
others for his rise had on the tenth day of March in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred 
and forty-five on which day the said John Tawell was convicted and attainted of felony as aforesaid or 
at any time since unlit' their oaths say that the said John Tawell was on the said first day of January 
one thousand eight hundred and forty-five or at some dine afterwards and previous to the day of taking 
this inquisition seized or possessed of or otherwise entitled to a good estate of inheritance in fee shnple 
in possession to him and his heirs in soeage tenure of in and to all that piece or parcel of land in the 
said County of Cumberland and Parish of Alexandria bounded on or towards the north by the estate of 
Mr. Justice Dowling one hundred and eight feet on or towards the east by the same estate thirty-four 
feet eleven inches on or towards the west by the same estate sixty-six feet ten inches and on or towards 
the south by William-street One hundred and seventeen feet six inches being part of the hereditaments 
comprised in the thercinbefure in part recited indentures and forming the said lot two together Ste. 
and also all that al lotment or parcel of land in our said territory containing by admeasurement eleven 
perches situated in the Town of Sydney Parish of Saint James County of Cumberland ollotment number 
eleven of section number forty-one and hounded on the east by the building line of Macquarie-street 
bearing north three degrees fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links on the north by allotment number 
twelve bearing west two degrees smith one hundred and sixty links on the west by allotment number 
twenty bearing south one degree cast fifty and a quarter links and on the south by allotment number 
ten bearing east five degrees thirty minutes north one hundred and sixty-two links being part of an 
allotment leased to Samuel Thornton by His Excellency Sir Thomas Brisbane on 30 June 1823 and now 
granted to the said John Tawell and also all that piece or parcel of land situate lying and being in the 
Parish of Saint Andrew in the Town of Sydney aforesaid bounded on the west by Sussex-street twenty-
four feet on the north by other part of the land comprised in the thereinbefore in part recited grant sold 
to John Barrio and Matthew Show riepeetively sixty-six that on the cast by a lane reserved for the use 
of the said .J1 ha Tawell his heirs and assigns in common with the occupiers of the other parts of the . 
thud comprised in the said grant forty-one fe t ten inches and on the south by a road leading into 
George-street also reserved for the 11, -e of the said John Tawell his heirs and assigns in common with 
the occupiers of the other parts o: the lands comprised in the said grant and also ail that piece or parcel 
of land situate lying rind being in the Parish of Saint Andrew aforesaid hounded on the west by Sussex-
street twenty-two feet on the north by the premises of Mn Knowles Bryant and others seventy-four 
faet two inches on the east by the reserved ham aforesaid twenty-two loot four inches and on the south 
by the said lands of the said John Byrne arid Matthew Shaw seventy feet one inch together with the 
use of the reserved lane and road hereinhefore mentioned and also all that piee.e or parcel of land or 
ground containing by admeasurement four acres two ronds and thirty-tive perches situate and being in 
the County of Cumberland and Parish of Alexandria aforesaid bounded on the cast by a private road of 
twenty feet width by a fine south six chains and seven links on the north by land belonging to Mr. 
James Barker by a fenced line east SlWell chains and eighty-four links on the west by the road leading 
from the South Beni to Sydney seven chains and forty-five links and on the south by land belonging to 
Mr. Henry Mace by a line west seven chains to the commencing corner together with the free nse oral 
enjoyment of the said private road in common with the owners and occupiers of the adjoining land and 
also with all houses Sm. and the said jurors 1111011 thee r oaths aforesaid say that the said lands tenements 
and 11 reditaments became and are eselmatial and forfeited to the use of Her said Majesty but as to who 
hada taken the mesne profits thereof and as to what and what sort of leases or grants of lands tenements 
or hereditaments for my term or t. inns of years and what and what sort of annuities or annual rents 
and what and what sort of goods and chattels and of what nature and what sort of debts credits 
specialities and sums of money the said John Taw II or any other or others to his use had on the tenth 
day of March one thousand eigl it hundred and forty-five ca which day he was convicted and atthinted 
of felony as aforesaid the jurors aforesaid are not informed In witness whereof the abovenamed Samuel 
Frederick Milford George Phillip Foster Grog,nry George John Rogers and James Norton junior 
and also the jurors aforesaid has ii to this inquisition taken the day and year first above mentioned set 
their hands and affixed their seals on the same day and year and at the place first above stated. 
(La.) SAML. FREDR. MILFORD. 	 (La) JAMES MIDDLETON. 
(as.) G. P. P. GREGORY. 	 (ca.) JEREMIAH MURPHY. 
(a.s.) GEORGE J. ROGERS. 	 (h.s.) JNO. MARTYN. 
(c.a.) JAMES NORTON, Juice. 	 (Ls.) LEWIS MOORE. 

(c.s.) ALBERT MASON. 
(c.s.) THOM. HENRY 11n-ERs. 
(ca.) ROUT. MAY. 
(as.) JOHN MARSH. 
(r..s.) ISAAC MOSS. 
(Ces.) TI-TO. MAGUIRE. 
(ca.) JETtEMIAll MURPHY. 
(ca.) J. W. MULLEN. 
(h.s.) THOS. MOORE. 

[Enclosure 3 in No. 8.] 
Am that piece or parcel of land in the said county of Cumberland and parish of Alexandria bounded 
on or towards the north by the estate of Mr. Justice Dowling one hundred and eight feet on or • 
towards the east by the same estate thirty-four feet eleven inches on or towards the west by the same 
estate sixty-six feet ten inches and on or towards the south by William-street one hundred and 
seventeen feet six inches. 

[Enclosure 2 in No. 8.] 

No. 2. 
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No. 9. 
G. COOPER TURNER, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 18 April, 1849. 

With reference to your communication of the 22nd June last, acquainting me 
that Earl Grey had notified to His Excellency the Governor that Her Majesty had been 
pleased to grant the property of Tawell to trustees (Messrs. W. Bevan and W. Tawell), for 
the benefit of Tawe11's wife and family, and also to instruct His Excellency the Governor 
to afford any asistance in his power to the legal representatives here of the parties to whom 
such grant has been made, and further stating that, with respect to the freehold property of 
John Tawell, no inquisition had been taken to find the Crown's title thereto, which has 
generally been required before any grant of confiscated property is made,—I do myself the 
honor to state that, with the consent of the Honorable the Attorney General, a commission 
was issued out of the Supreme Court, and an inquisition held thereon, finding the Crown's 
title to the freehold property of Tawell in this Colony (a copy of which commission and 
inquisition have been furnished to you); and, as the legal representative of Messrs. Win. 
Bevan and Wm. Tawell in this Colony, I have the honor to request, that His Excellency 
the Governor will be pleased to direct that a grant of a portion of the land contained in the 
inquisition (a description whereof is herewith transmitted) may be issued in favour of Mr. 
Hugh Dixson, of Sydney. 

I have, &c., 
G. COOPER TURNER, 

Attorney for Messrs. Tawell and W. Bevan. 

[Enclosure in No. 9.] 
DESTRIPTION of Lied, for:wly 	ifq Lb+, Ti.P131, ritr1•m ,e4 by IliyjD 

Ann that allotment or parcel of land in our said territory containing by admmonrement eleven perehes 
situated in the town of Sydney parish of Saint James county of Cumberland allotment No. eleven 
of section No. forty-one and bounded on the cast by the building line of Macquarie-street bearing north 
three degrees fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links on the north by allotment number twelve bearing 
west two de4rees south one hundred and sixty links on the west by allotment number twenty bearing 
south one degree cast fifty and a quarter links and on the mouth by allotment number ten bearing east 
five desrces thirty minutes north one hundred and sixty-two links. 

No. 10. 
G. COOPER TURNER, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

George-street, 
Sydney, 22 June, 1849 . 

With reference to my communication to you of the 19th March last, requesting 
that His Excellency the Governor would be pleased to direct that a grant of the land (a 
description whereof was therewith transmitted) might be issued in favour of Mr. T. W. 
Smart,—I do myself the honor to request, that a reply to my communication may be sent to 
Messrs. Carr and Owen, the solicitors for Mr. Smart. 

I have, &c., 
G. COOPER TURNER. 

No. 11. 
T. ICETON, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

354, Castlereagh-street, 
Sydney, 9 August, 1849. 

SIR, 
Sometime since my client, Mr. Hugh Dixson, purchased at public auction a 

property in Macquarie-street, formerly belonging to John Tawell, which had been escheated 
to the Crown, and which it was represented at the sale would, in conformity with instructions 
from the Right Honorable the Secretary of State, be granted to the legal representatives in 
this Colony of Messrs. I3evan and Tawell, to whom Her Majesty had been graciously pleased 
to express Her intention of granting J. Tawells estate. An application from Messrs. 
Norton and Turner, the representatives of Messrs. Bevan and Tawell, for a grant in favour 
of my client, tvas thereupon forwarded to you, which application has, I understand, been 
referred to the Crown Law Officers. 

On behalf of Mr. Dixson it is my duty to represent to you that the delay which has 
occurred in completing his title is a serious inconvenience to him, and I have respectfully to 
request that you will have the goodness to cause instructions to be given in the proper 
quarter, that this long-pending matter may be brought to a conclusion with as little further 
delay as possible. 

I have, &c., 
THO. ICETON. 

SIR, 

No. 12 
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No. 12. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. ICETON, ESQ. 

Department of Lands, 
Sydney, 14 August, 1849. 

SIR, 
Your letter, under date the 9th instant, on the subject mentioned below, has 

been duly received and referred for the report of the Crown Law Officers. 
2. M soon as the necessary information has been obtained a further communication 

will be made to you. 	
I have, &c., 

W. ELYARD, juxit. 

SUBJECT :—Tawell's Escheated Estate. 

No. 13. 
T. 'ORTON, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY, 

Sydney, 21 September, 1849. 

I am under the necessity of drawing your attention to ray letter to you of the 
9th August last, applying, on behalf of Mr. Hugh Dixson, for grant of land in Macquarie-
street, formerly belonging to John Tawell, which, by your letter of the 14th August, you 
informed me had been referred to the Law Officers of the Crown, and to which I have received 
no reply. 

No. 14. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. ICETON, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 29 September, 1849. 

Your letter, under date the 21st instant, on the subject mentioned below, has 
been duly received and referred for the report of the Crown Law Officers. 

2. As soon as the necessary information has been obtained a further communication 
will be made to you. 

SUBJECT :-011 the subject of Mr. Hugh Disson's claim to a Grant of Land in Macguarie-strect, 
formerly the property of the late John Tasve II. 

No. 15. 

ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OPINION IN THE CASE. 

I am of opinion that the lands forfeited to the Crown in consequence of the conviction 
of Tawe11 come under the provisions of the Land Sales Act, 5th and 6th Victoria, ch. 36, 
see. 23. 

Lands coming to the Crown under such circumstances are not within any of the 
exceptions in that Act to enable the Governor to issue a grant to the trustees of Tawell's 
family. 

Although I incline to think the Legislature did not contemplate the repeal of the 
47th Geo. III, sec. 2, ch. 24, which was expressly enacted to authorize grants in such eases 
as the present, and which statute is in force in England, I am of opinion it is repealed by 
the 5th and 6th Viet., eh. 36, so far as regards the Australian Colonies, and consequently 
the Governor has no power to issue a grant. 

It is evident from the last paragraph in Mr. Trevelyan's letter, that the Lords of the 
Treasury did not foresee any such difficulty in issuing a grant after inquisition. 

I fear there is no way of removing the difficulty but by Act of Parliament. 
J. II. PLUNKETT, 

2 Oct., 1849. 	 Attorney General. 

Silt, 

I have, &c., 
THO. ICETON. 

Sin, 

I have, rte., 
W. ELYARD, JUNK. 

No. 113. 
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No. 16. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY 10 G. COOPER WHINER, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 27 October, 1849, 

With reference to your letter of the 22nd June last respecting the claim of 
Mr. T. W. Smart to a grant of certain land, formerly the property of the late John Tawell, 
I now do myself the honor to annex, for your information, a copy of the opinion of the 
Attorney General, which has been taken in the matter, and to add that a copy has also been 
forwarded to Messrs. Carr and Owen, as the solicitors of Mr. Smart, in compliance with 
your request. 

I have, &a, 
W. ELYARD, JUNE- 

No. 17. 

G. COOPER TURNER, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

452, George-street, 
Sydney, 18 .Tanuary, 1850. 

With reference to yours of the 27th October last, transmitting a copy of an 
opinion given by the Honorable the Attorney General in consequence of an application made 
by Mr. Smart for a grant of cart on land (formally the property of the late John Tawell) 
escheated to the Crown, to the cffmt that such lands could not be granted here, being affected 
by the provisions of the Land Sales Act 5 and 0 Viet., esp. 36, sec. 23, and not within any 
of the exceptions in that Act,—I do myself the honor, in reply, to transmit a copy of an 
opinion given by Mr. Foster thereon, from which it will appear that that gentleman differs 
from the Honorable the Attorney General. 

I have, therefore, to request that the matter may be again brought under the con-
sideration of the Law Officers of the Crown, and would beg to remark that, if lands escheated 
to the Crown per deleetum teneutis come under the provisions of the Land Sales Act, that that 
Act would repeal, by implication, all former laws passed respecting escheated lands, and 
abridge the Queen's prerogative right to such properties. 

I have, ke., 
G. COOPER TURNER, 

Attorney for Messrs. 'Powell and Bevan. 

[Enclosure in No. 17.] 
I Alt inclined to think that the lands forfeited to the Crown in consequence of Tawell's conviction 
do not come under the provisions of the Land Sales Act d and 6 Viet., C. :36. The 23rd section of that 
Act expressly declares what shall be intenled by the words ° Wage Lands' used in that Act, viz.:— 

" Lands vested in l Eer Majesty, &c., and which hues not been already granted or contracted to be granted." 
Now these lands have been already granted to 'Rowell or to some IMSOn under whom he claimed, 

and, consequently, in my opinion, have ccaszd to be Wattle lands. 

No. 38. 

GOVERNOR SIR CHAS. A. FITZ 110Y to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

24 June, 1850. 
TAWELL AND COOPER. 

Question, whether their properties on reverting to the Crown become part of the general 
demesne of Waste Lands ? 

MY LORD, 
I had the honor to receive your Lordship's despatch, No. 15, dated the 29th 

January, 1848, respecting property in this Colony which belonged to the late John Tawell, 
executed for murder, and thereby became escheated to the Crown, and which your Lordship 
informed me Her Majesty had been pleased to grant to trustees, for Tawell's widow and 
children. 

2. In pursuance of your Lordship's despatch, the necessary inquisition was held, and 
certain real property was adjudged to have belonged to the criminal, and the same was put 
up to public sale for the benefit of the trustees. 

3. About the same time the landed property of one James Cooper having become 
escheated to the Crown, in consequence of his decease without heirs, was also brought to 
public sale for the public benefit. 

4. When it became necessary to consider the proper forms of titles to be given to the 
purchasers of the properties of the persons abovenamed, a very important question arose, 
which, owing to a difference of opinion between the Crown Law Officers consulted, imposes 
upon me the necessity of bringing the subject under your Lordship's attention, with the 
view of receiving further instructions respecting it. 

5. 

SIR, 

W. FOSTER, 
21 January, 1848. 	 360, Castlereagh-street. 
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5. It is not doubted by the Law Officers that the lands were originally alienated by 
valid grants from the Crown ; nor does it seem to be considered that the forfeiture has 
annulled these grants. 

6. The main question on which the Crown Law Officers have come to opposite con-
clusions is, whether the properties of Tawell and Cooper have, on reverting to the Crown, 
become parts and parcels of. the general demesne of Waste Lands, winch the Act 5 and 6 
Viet., cap. 36, was intended to regulate. The Attorney General has arrived at the affirma-
tive opinion. 

7. When the point was first mooted in Tawell's case, Mr. Foster was Solicitor General, 
and his opinion was adverse to that of the Attorney General, being to the effect that the 
lands having been already granted to Towel], or to some other person under whom he 
claimed, had ceased to be Waste Lands. 

The opinion of Mr. Manning, the present Solicitor General, which is given at con-
siderable length, accords with that of Mr Foster, and is thus expressed—"I have come to 
" the conclusion that the (Waste Land Sales) Act does not apply to the escheated lands, 
" and that they are consequently capable of being disposed of by the Crown in any other such 
" way as may be deemed most expedient." 

8. The Attorney General, looking upon the escheated lands of Tawell as under the 
operation of the Act, conceives that I cannot issue a grant except for the benefit of the Land 
Fund, and that the prerogative of the Queen can only be restored in this instance by an Act 
of Parliament. 

9. The Solicitor General, who regards the properties in both cases to be distinct from 
the Waste Lands of the Crown, states hi, opinion in the case of Cooper—which is in this 
respect applicable to that of Tawell—to be, that the lands cannot, under my Commission, be 
conveyed to the purchasers, as upon reference to that document she finds that the power 
delegated, with respect to the disposal of lands, is confined to Waste Lands. 

10. I have the honor to transmit to your Lordship copies of the following papers, 
which will more specifically explain this subject :— 

Mr. Attorney General Plunkett's opinion on Tawell's case, 2nd October, 1849. 
Mr. Solicitor General Foster's opinion on the same, 24th January, 18-18. 1t 
Mr. Attorney General's opinion on Cooper's case, 8th May, 1850.t 
Mr. Solicitor General Manning's opinion thereon, 10th May, 1850.t 

I have, &e., 
CIIS. A. FITZ ROY. 

No. 19. 
T. ICETON, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 8 November, 1850. 
Sin, 

I am under the necessity of calling your attention to the correspondence 
respecting my client, Mr. Ifin,411 Dixson's, claim to a grant of the land in Macquarie-street, 
formerly the property of John Tawell, deceased. 

I submit that it is indisputable that this property escheated to, and is now vested in, 
the Crown, and that it is not subject to the provisions of the Waste Lands Act; and that 
whatever doubts may have at one time been thought to exist upon these points must, after 
the consideration and discussions which have taken place, be held to have had no foundation. 

This being the case, the only question left open is, as to His Excellency the Governor's 
power to grant the land in question to my client, as the purchaser from Tawell's representa-
tives, in pursuance of the instructions contained in Earl Grey's despatch. I submit that 
His Excellency has the necessary authority, but that if there should be any doubt upon the 
point the Government will not incur any liability or responsibility of any sort by making 
the grant, while my client will, in all probablity, be a great loser in consequence of the 
Government not making it. My client is the only party who could by any possibility be 
damnified by the invalidity of the grant if it should be invalid ; Ile is willing to take the 
risk of the grant being void, and of maintaining itsvalidity by legal proceedings if necessary. 

I have therefore, on his behalf, to request that llis Excellency will be pleased to give 
directions for the issue of the deed of grant in Mr. Dixson's favour. 

His Excellency will observe that my client has been waiting for his grant since 
February, 1849. 

I enclose a copy of the conveyance from Tawell's trustees to my client of the land in 
question. 	

I have, &e., 
THO. ICETON. 

[Enclosure in No. 19.] 
Tins Indenture mode the fifteenth day of May in the year of Onr Lord one thousand eight hundred 
and fifty between William Tawell of Earl's Colne in the County of Essex in that part of the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland called England draper and William Bevan of the Old Jewry 
in the City of London Esquire of the one part and Hugh Dixsun of the City of Sydney tobacconist 
of the other part Whereas the said William Tawell and William Bevan lately contracted and agreed 
with the said Hugh Dixson for the absolute sale to him of the hereditaments hereinafter described at 

or 

• See Enclosure to Mr. Cooper Turner's letter d 18th January, 1850. 
t Not now with papers. 

219-0 



Signed with the name and sealed with the seals
and delivered as the acts and deeds of the ' 
said William Tawell and William Bevan by 
George Cooper Turner Esquire the duly eon-
rdituted Attorney of the said William Tawell 
and William Bevan in the presence of 

EDWARD NETTLESHIP, ACCOMIGAIlt, Sydney. 

W. TAWELL, (Ls.) 
By G. Comm Tunlrlia, his Attorney. 

W. BEVAN, 	(res.) 
By G. COOPER TURNER, his Attorney. 
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or for the price or sum of three hundred and seventy-five pounds now this Indenture witnesseth that 
in pursuance of the said recited contract and in consideration of the sum of three hundred and seventy-
five pounds of lawful money of Great Britain in hand paid by the said Hugh Dixson to the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan on the execution of these presents the receipt whereof the said 
William Ta well and William Bevan do hereby respectively admit and acknowledge and therefrom do 
respectively release and discharge the said Hugh Dixson his heirs executors administrators and assigns 
they the said William Tawell and William Bevan du and each of them doth grant bargain sell alien 
release and confirm unto the said Hugh Dixson and his heirs all that allotment or parcel of land situato 
in Macquarie-street in the City of Sydney in the said Colony being allotment number eleven of section 
forty-one and bounded on the east by the building line of ktquarie-street aforesaid bearing north three 
degrees ateen minutes west thirty-nine links on the north by allotment number twelve bearing west 
two degrees south one hundred and sixty links on the west by allotment number twenty bearing south 
one degree east fifty and a quarter links and on the south by allotment number ten bearing east five 
degrees thirty minutes north one hundred and sixty-two links together as ith the chapel or meeting-
house tnessuage or tenement and buildings thereon erected and built and together with the rights 
members and appurtenances thereunto belonging and all the estate right title and int...rest of the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan respectively therein and thereto To have and to hold the said 
hereditamonts and premises hereby assured with their appurtenances unto the said Ilrgh Dixsun and 
Ids heirs to the only proper use and belied of the said Hugh Dixson his heirs and assigns for ever 
And the said William Tawell and William Bevan do hereby for themselves their heirs executors and 
administrators hereby covenant with the said Hugh Dixson his heirs and assigns that notwithstanding 
any act matter or thing done or permitted by the said William Tawell and William Bevan or either of 
theta to the contrary the said William Tawell mid William Bevan have in themselves good right by 
these presents to release or otherwise assure the said hereditaments and premises with their appurte-
nances to the uses aforesaid according to the true intent of these presents and also that the said 
bureditaments andpremiscs shall or may be peaceably held and enjoyed accordingly without any eviction 
or interruption from or by the sail William Tawell or William Bevan or any person or persons rightfully 
claiming or to claim through under or in trust for them or either of them free from or by ;the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan their heirs executors or administrators kept indeurnifi«1 against all 
former or other estates rights titles charges and incumbrances created or occasioned by the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan or either of them or any person or persons claiming, through under 
or ia trust for them or either of them Sr by their or s ither of their act delhult iaivity or procurement And 
also that the said William Tamen and William Bevan and every person rightfully el! lining any estate 
right title or interest in or to the said hereditaments and premises or any part thereof through under or 
in trust ter thJm will at any time or times 4 werfter at the request and costs of the. add Hugh Dixeion 
his heirs or assigns make do and execute every such act deed conveyance or assurance for more 
ell-or:Wally assuring the said hereditaments and premises or any part thereof with their appurtenances 
at:cording to the true intent of these pre-baits in by the said Hugh Dixon his heirs or JJssigns or his or 
their counsel in the law shall be reasunahly adviSCd and required and as shall be tendered to be done or 
execated In witness whereof the said parties to these presents have hereunto set their hands and seals 
the day and year first above written. 

Bruner) the day and year first within written of and from the within named Hugh Dixson the 
sum of three hundred and seventy-five pounds being the consideration money within expressed to be 
paid by him. e375. 

W. TA WELL, 
Withr ,A—EDWARD NETTLE:SHIP. 	 By G. COOPER TURNED, his Attorney. 

W. BEVAN, 
By G. COOPER TURNER, his Attorney. 

Received into the Office for the Registration of Deeds &c. at Sydney on the tenth day of July 
Ade 1850 at a quarter past twelve o'clock in the afternoon from John Russell Jones of Sydney a sworn 
copy of the NA ithin conveyance verified by the said .1. Russell Junes and numbered 931 book 18. 

ALFRED ELYARD, 
Chief Clerk of the Supreme Court. 

No. 20. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. ICETON, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Opt, 
Sydney, 26 November, 1850. 

In reply to your letter of the 8th instant, respecting Mr. Hugh Dixson's purchase 
of a portion of escheated property in 'Macquarie-street, I have the honor to inform you that, 
the matter having been referred for the directions of the Right Honorable the Secretary of 
State, no decision can be come to until after the receipt of a despatch from His Lordship to 
the effect desired by you. 

I have, 
W. ELYARD, Jut-at. 

SIR, 

No. 21. 



667 

ESCHEATED LANDS 01? THE LATE JOHN TAWELL 	15 

Sm, 
I have to acknowledge the receipt of your despatch of the 24th June last, No. 

117, bringing under my notice the difficulties which had presented themselves to you, when 
endeavouring to carry out your instructions with respect to the disposal of the escheated 
property of the late John Tawell, in conraquence of the differences of opinion which 
prevailed among your late and presint legal advisers, as to how far the property referred to 
is affected by the provhions of the Land Sales Act, and, consequently, whether you would 
be legally empowered to mate a grant of the escheated land, or dispose of the procads for 
the benefit of the parties in whose favour the Crown has waived its right. 

And you request to be furnished with further instructions for your guidance iu the 
matter. 

Having communicated on the subject with the Lords Commissioners of the Treaoury, 
I now transmit, for your information, the copy of a letter which has been received in reply 
from that Board, enclosing a copy of the opinion which has been obtained from Her MajcAy's 11 pr0,IS50. 

legal advisers on the questions raised in the Colony, together with a form of grant (which r" 
has been prepared by their lordships' solicitor) to be made under the Great Seal of the 
Colony of New South Wales, of certain lauds and hereditaments in that Colony, found to 
have escheatcd to Iler Majesty, for the benefit of Sarah Tawell, the wife of the late John 
Towel], and his family. 

You will perceive that it is the opinion of Her Majesty's legal advisirs, that the 
escheated lands of the lat e John Tawell do not come within the operation of the Land Sales 
Act ; and I have to instruct you to act in strict accordance with the directions coutoined in 
the accompanying letter from the Secretary to the Treasury, respecting the filling up the 
form of grant, in order that the transfer of the property may be completed. 

I have, &e., 
GREY. 

[Enclosures in M. 21.] 

(1) 
Treasury Chard:pry, 

11 Ay, Lc 1b51. 
Sir, 

am directed, by the Lords Comatissioners of Her Majesty's Treasury, - to transmit to you 
herewith copy of the opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General, and of the report of the solicitor to 
this Board, dated 1st instant, together with a form of grant of certain lands and bentdit:nteuts in New 
South Web a, feand to have escheated to Her Majesty, for the benefit of Sarah widow of 
the late John Tawell, and his fancily ; and I am to request you will move Earl Grey to caret the 9 I me 
to be forwarded to the Governor of New South Wales, with instructions to him to cause the requisite 
Information to 1st obtained, and a statement of the formal proceedings taken for this purpose, to be 
inserted in the proposed grant, which document may then be perfected and passed under the Great 
Seal of the Colony, to complete the transfer of the property for the benefit of the widow and children 
of the late John Tawell. 

lam, dtc., 
Meliflle, Esq. 	 C. E. TREVELYAN. 

(2.) 
Copy of Opinion. 

11711 are of opinion that the escheated lands of the late John Tatra], in New South Wales, are not 
waste lands within the meaning of thc above statutes, and that they cannot be legally granted by the 
Governor of the Colony to the nominees of the Crown. lint that Her Majesty may grant them to 
trustees, for Tawell's widow and children, in the same manner as any other lands which have escheated 
to the Crown in any Colony, and are not affected by the provisions of any Act of Parliament. 

JOHN ROW LLY. 
Lincoln's Inn, I March, 1851, 	 A. E. COCKBURN. 

(3  ) 
Sir, 

In pursuance of My Lords' directions, signified by your letter of the 19th ultimo, I have 
prepared the enclosed form of grant, under the Great Seal of the Colony of New South Wales, of certain 
/ands and hereditaments in that Colony, found to have escheated to Her Majesty, for the benefit of 
Sarah Tawell, the wife of the late John Tawell, and his family. 

um, itc., 
G. C. Lewis, Esq. 	 CFO. MAULE. 

(4.) 
VICTORIA by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen 

• Defender of the Faith and so forth To all to whom these Presents shall come— 
GREETING— 

Whereas by an inquisition taken at Sydney in our Territory of New South Wales on the twenty-
second day of August in the twelfth year of our Reign and in the year of our Lord 1848 by virtue 
of our Commission issued out of and under the Seal of our Supreme Court of our said Territory 
bearing date the fifth day of August in the said twelfth year of our Reign it was found that 

John 

No. 21. 

SECRETARY 01' STAtE to GOVERNOR SIR CHAS. FITZ ROY. 

Downing-street, 
19 April, 1851. 

Treasury, 1 Apr27, 1851. 
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John TaweII was on the first day of January 1846 or at some time afterwards and previous to 
the day of taking of such inquisition seized or possessed of or other-vise entitled to a good estate 
of inheritance in fee simple in possession to him and his heirs in suessge tenure of in and to all 
that piece or parcel of land in our county of Cumberland and garish of Alexandria in the sad Territory 
bounded on or towards the north by the estate of Mr. Justice Dowling 108 feet on or towards the east 
by the same estate 34 feet 11 inches on or towards the west by the same estate 66 feet 10 inches and on 
or towards the south by William-street 117 feet 6 inches . And also all that allotment or parcel of land 
in our said Territory containing by adtnea.surement 11 perches situated in the town of Sydney parish of 
Saint James county of Cumberland allotment No. 11 of section No. 41 and bounded on the east by the 
building line of Macquarie-street b_aring north 3 degrees 15 minutes west 39 links on the north by 
allotment No. 12 heating west 2 degrees south 160 links on the west by allotment No. 20 bearing south 
1 degree east 501 links and on the south by allotment No. 10 bearing east S degrees 30 ntinutes north 
162 links being part or an allotment leased to Samuel Thornton by His Excellency Sir Thomas Brisbane 
the then Gov, nor of our said Colony on 30th day of Jove 1823 and afterwards granted to the said John 
Tawell And also all that piece or parcel of land situate lying and being in the parish of Saint Andrew 
in the town of Sydney aforesaid bounded on the west by Sussex. street21 fret nn the north by other 
part of the land comprised in a certain grant which the land now being described forms part sold to 
John Borne and Matthew Shaw respectively 66 feet on the east by a lane reserved for the use of the 
said John Tawell his heirs and assigns in common with the occupiers of the other parts of the land 
comprised in the said grunt 41 feet 10 inches and on the south by it road leading into George-street 
also reserved for the use of the said John Towell his heirs and assigns in common with the occupiers 
of the other parts of the lands comprised in the said grant and also all that piece or parcel of laud 
situate lying and 'being in the parish of Saint Andrew aforesaid bounded on the west by Sussex-street 
22 feet on the north by the premises of Mr. Knowles Bryant and others 74 fret 2 inches on the east by 
the reserved lane aforesaid 22 feet 4 inches and on the south by the said lands of the said John Byrne 
and Matthew Stilly 70 feet 1 inch together with the use of the reserved lane and road thereinbefore 
mentioned and also all that piece or parcel of land or ground containing by admeasurement 4 acres 2 roods 
and 35 perches situate and being in the county of Cumberland and parish of Alexandria aforesaid 
bounded on the cast by a private road of 20 feet width by a line south 6 chains and 7 links on the north 
by land belonging to Mr. James Barker by a fenced line east 7 chains and 84 links on the west by the 
road leading from the South Head to Sydney 7 chains and 15 links and on the south by land belonging 
to Mr. Henry Mace by a line west 7 chains to the commencing corner together with the free use and 
enjoyment of the said private road in common with the owners and occupiers of the adjoining land and 
also with all houses ans. And it was further found that the said Ii rids tenements and hereditaments 
became and were escheated and forfeits d to our use. And when as we in at graciously pleased 
on the humble petition of Sarah Tawell the widow of the sni John Tawell by our Iluyal Warrant 
under our Royal Sign Manual bearing Elate the 30th day of December in the year of our Lord 
1847 to give and grant certain lands and hereditaments situate in our county of Hertford in 
that part of our United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland called England late of the 
said John Tan-ell found to have escheated to us to William naval of Earls Cane in our County 
of Essex in that part of our said United Kingdom called England draper and William Bevan of 
the Old Jewry in our City of London in that part of our said United Kingdom called England upon 
certain trusts And whereas it has been recommended to us by the Commissioners of our Treasury 
that it will be proper to grant and it is our will and pleasure to grant the said lands and 
hereditaments in our said Colony of New Smith Wales so found to have become escheated to 
us as aforesaid on the like trusts as in our said in part recited Royal Werrant of the 30th December 
1847. Now know ye that we taking the premises into our Royal consideration do hereby give and 
grant unto the said William Tawal and William Bevan and their heirs all and singular the heredita-
metal and premises mentioned in the said inquisition taken in our said Colony of New South Wales and 
thereby found to have eseheated to us with the appurtemmees To hold into amid to the use of them th 
said William Tawell mid William Bevan and their heirs upon the like trusts and to and for the like 
intents and purposes and subject to the sante powers and provisoes as ire mentioned or referred to in 
our sail Royal Warrant of the 30th day of December z. u. 1817 with ospect to the lands and heredita-
ments thereby granted to them the said William Tawell and William Bevan or such of the said trusts 
intents and put-poses as are now existing and capable of taking effect fn testimony whereof we have 
caused this our Grant to be sealed with the seal of our said Territory. 

Witness our trusty and well-beloved Sir William Thomas Denison Knight Governor 
General in and over all our our Colonies of New South Wat-s Vamm Diemen's 
Land Victoria South Australia and Western Australia and Captain General 
and Governor-in-chief of our Territory of New South Wales and its Depen-
dencies at Government House Sydney in New South Wales aforesaid this 
day of 	 in the 	 year of our reign and in the year of our 
Lord 1856. 

• 	 No. 22. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to CROWN LAW OFFICERS. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 25 September, 1851. 

GENTLEMEN, 
I have the honor, by direction of the Governor General, to transmit to you, for 

your information, a copy of a despatch, dated 19th April last, addressed to His Excellency 
by the Secretary of State for the Colonies, on the subject of the disposal of the escheated 
property of the late John Tawell, together with its enclosures, containing a copy of the 
opinion obtained from 11er Majesty's legal advisers; also, a form of grant of certain lauds 
and hereditaments in favour of Sarah Tawell, the wife of the late John Tawell, and his 
family. 

2. I have to request that you will cause the necessary steps to be taken for the fulfil-
ment of the instructions therein contained, for filling up the form of grant. 

I have, Asc., 
E. DEAS TH051SON. 

[See Enclosures to foregoing Despatch.] 

No. 23. 
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No. 23. 
T. ICETON, ESQ., io COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 2 October, 1851. 

Referring to your letter of the 26th November, 1850, in which you state that 
Mr. Dixson's application for a grant of the land in Macquaricstreet, purchased by him from 
the representatives of the late John Tawell, had been referred for the directions of the Right 
Honorable the Secretary of State, I have now the honor to renew that application, as I 
understand that the Secretary of State's directions have been received. 

In Iny former communications I forwarded you a request from the trustees for the 
issue of a grant in Mr. Dixson's favour, and a copy of the registered conveyance from them to 
Mr. Dixson of the land in question. 

Requesting the favour of your early attention, 
I remain, &e., 

T110. ICETON. 

No. 24. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. ICETON, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 16 October, 1851. 

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 2nd instant, 
renewing your application for a grant to Mr. Hugh Dixson of the land in Macquaricstreet, 
purchased by him from the representatives of the late John Tawell, and in reply to inform 
you, by direction of His Excellency the Governor General, that the matter has now been 
referred to the Crown Law Officers, in order that this necessary steps may be taken for 
carrying out the instructions received from the Secretary of State for the Colonies, relative 
to the filling up of the form of grant. 

I have, Sic., 
W. ELYARD, JUNR. 

No. 25. 
T. ICETON, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 17 October, 1851. 

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 16th instant, 
in reply to my renewed application for a grant to Mr. Dixson of land purchased by him of 
the representatives of the late John Tawell, and in which you inform me that the matter has 
been referred to the Law Officers, in order that the necessary steps may be taken for 
carrying out the instructions of the Secretary of State relative to the filling up of the form 
of grant. 

I have now the honor to request that you will have the goodness to cause all the 
previous papers in this matter to be forwarded to the Crown Law Officers, including the 
despatch of the Right Honorable the Secretary of State of 28th January, 1848; the request 
of the trustees (signed by their duly authorized attorney) for a grant to be made in Mr. 
Dixson's favour ; and a copy of the conveyance from the trustees to Mr. Dixson of the land in 
question. 

My client having bought this land from the trustees, upon the faith of the before 
mentioned despatch, and having paid the trustees the purchase money, I have, on his behalf, 
most respectfully but earnestly to protest against a grant of the property being made to the 
trustees ; and to request that His Excellency the Governor General will be pleased to direct 
the issue of a grant in my client's favour. 

I beg to draw His Excellency's attention to the important fact that, but for a 
difference of opinion between His Excellency's former legal advisers, the grant would long 
since have been issued in favour of my client, and that the present reference to them would 
not have become necessary. 

I do myself the honor to transmit herewith a copy of a deed of covenant, by which 
the trustees bound themselves to use their utmost endeavours to obtain a grant for Mr. 
Dixson, and to request that you will have the goodness to forward the copy, with the other 
documents, to the Crown Law Officers. 

I have, Rte., 
THO. ICETON. 

[Enclosure in No. 25.] 
THIS Indenture made the fifteenth day of May in the year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred and 
fifty between William Tawell of Earls Colne in the County of Essex in England draper and William 
Bevan of the Old Jewry in the City of London Esquire of the one part and Hugh Dixson of the City of 
Sydney tobacconist of the other part Whereas by an indenture bearing date the thirty-first day of 
January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five and madehetweenJohn Tawell therein described of 
the one part and the said William 'Powell and William Bevan of the other part the said John Tasvell 
convoyed and assured unto and to the use of the said William Tawell and William Bevan and their 

heirs 

SIR, 
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heirs all and every the freehold estates of whatsoever nature or description the same might be of him 
the said John Tawe11 in New South Wales and elsewhere in Australia And whereas at the Assizes 
holden in and for the County of Buckingham in England aforesaid on the tenth day of March one 
thousand eight hundred and forty -five the said John Tawell was convicted and attaintcd of a:adder and 
felony And by an inquisition taken at Sydney aforesaid on the twenty-second day of August one 
thousand eight hundred and forty eight in pursuance of a commission of Iler Majesty the Queen issued 
out of the Supreme Court of New South Wales and under the seal of the said Court bearing date the 
fifth day of August one thousand eight hundred and forty-eight it was found that the said John Tawell 
was on the first d ay of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five on which day the said 
murder and felony had been committed or at some time afterwards and previous to the day of taking 
the said inquisition seized or possessed of or oth, entitle:1 to a good estate of inheritance in fee 
simple in possession to him and his heirs in socage tenure of in and to amongst other lands and here-
ditansente the land and hen:alit:Inuits hereinafter d eon led whereby the said hurls end hereditaments 
became and whore escheated and forfeited to the use of Her said Majesty And where: s Iler Most 
Gracious Mejesty has throdgah the Eight Honorable Fad Grey tier Majesty's Seen-tary of State for 
the Colonies b-en ph-as-id to notify to His Excellency the Governor of the Territory of Ns NV South Wales 
aforesaid Her Majesty's intention of [panting the real property of the said John Tswell to the aaid 
William Taloa' and William Be wm their heirs and assigns And also to instruct His Ed: enemy the 
said Govern' in to all ard any N. sistence in his pacer to their legal representatives in the ta rritory of New 
South Wales aforesaid for recovering and rendering available the said real property And whereas the 
said William Taiwan and William Bevan lately contracted and agreed with the said Hugh Dixson 
for the abolutr sub: to him of the said bereditamette lanatinafter described at or for the price a r awn of 
three hundred and neicarty-fii a: pounds And Ida resit tL said William Tawell and Willi: sa Haven have 
requested Din Exeelhany the COVCII1Of of the Territory atoren:lid to be pleased to (Erect that a grit lit of 
the said lands pad hcreditaments hereinafter described no contracted by them to be sold as aforesaid may 
be issued in favour of the said Hugh Dix:sun and His Excellency the said Governor has aecurdingly 
been pleasad to direct that such gr, it as afore--aid ncey issue in favour bf the said Hugh Dix. on Inc 
heirs and fi■IsigIN which said grant has been prepared but not yet issued And whercei by so. 
indenture bearing nen date with these presents and made between the said William Ti! well and 
William Bevan of the one part and the said 1 [ugh Dixson of the other part in consideration of the 
aunt of three hundred and seventy-five pounds rid by the said Hugh Dhson to the said William 
Tawdl and William Bevan the said William Taw ell and William Bevan conveyed and ca--signet 
unto and to the use of the said Hugh Dixson hie heirs a :al assigns All that allotment or pare.! of land 
situate in Macquarie-street in Use City of Sydney in the said Colony being allotment numb: r eleven of 
section number forty-on : a id bounded on the cast by the building line of Weal:aerie-stria t aforesaid 
north three degrees fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links On tlw north by allotment number twelve 
bearing west two degrees south one hundred and sixty links On the Sri at by allotment number twenty 
bearing south one degree east fifty and a quarter links and on the south by allotment number ten 
bearing cast five degree: thirty minutes nerd one hundred and sixty -two links Tog-ela with the 
chapel or dwelling-houso messuage or tenement and buildings thereon erected and built end the 
appurtenances to the same belonging And whareas at the time of the raid sale it was agreed between 
the said parties hereto that the said William Tawell and William Bevan should use their utmost 
endeavours to procure the said grant to be issued as aforesaid Now this indenture witn sssth that in 
consideration of the premises they the said William Towel! and William Bevan do and each of them 
sloth hereby for himself his heirs executors and administrators covenant promise and agree with and to 
the said Hugh Dixson his heirs or assigns and each of them that they the said William Tawell and 
William Bevan their heirs executors and administrators shall and will use his and their utmost 
endeavours at the costs of the said Hugh Dixson his heirs or assigns to procure for the said Hugh 
Dixson his heirs or assigns or assist him or them in procuring tht said grant from the Crown in favour 
of the said Hugh Dixson his heirs and assigns to which the said Hugh Dixsun has become entitled under 
the circumstances hereinbefore set forth In witness whereof the Said parties to these presents have 
hereunto set their hands and seals the day and year first above written. 

(LA.) 	W. TAWELL, 
By G. COOPER TURNER, his Attorney. 

(LA) 	W. BEVAN, 
By G. COOPER TURNER, Isis Attorney. 

Signed with the name and sealed with the seals and 
delivered as the acts and deeds of the said Wil-
liam Tawell and William Bevan by George 
Cooper Turner Esquire the duly constituted 
attorney of the said William Tawell and William 
Bevan in the presence of 

EDWARD NETTLESHIP, 
Accountant, of Sydney. 

No. 26. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. Minx, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 25 October, 1851. 

In acknowledging the receipt of your letter of the 17th instant, urging the 
issue of a grant in favour of Mr. Hugh Disson of certain land purchased by him from the 
representatives of the late John Tawell, I have the honor to inform you that your communi-
cation has been referred to the Crown Law Officers, together with the former papers on the 
subject. 

I have, &n, 
W. ELYARD, JUNR. 

SIR, 

No. 27. 
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No. 27. 

CROWN LAW OFFICERS to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sydney,1 November, 1851. 

SIR, 
In reply to your letter of the 26th September last, upon the subject of the 

grants of land which Earl Grey has directed to be issued in favour of Messrs. W. Tawell and 
W. Bevan, for the benefit of the widow and family of the late John Tawell, we have the honor 
to state that, being aware from previous official correspondence with reference to these lands 
that sales of them had been made in the Colony in the names of these trustees, and grants 
applied for by the purchasers, we requested the Civil Crown Solicitor to obtain all necessary 
information upon the subject. 

2. That officer has accordingly collected such information., and has placed before-us 
much official correspondence, obtained from your office, and a variety of documents, to all of 
which we have given very attentive consideration; and we find the following to be the 
leading features of the case. 

3. On the 3 lat January, 1845, and prier, therefore, to the conviction of John Tawell, 
his real and personal property in New South Wales was conveyed by him to Messrs W. 
Tawell and W. Bevan, in trust to sell, if they should think fit, and to apply the proceeds 
for the benefit of his wife and sou, and certain other persons. 

4. On the 30th December, 1847, John Tawell's real and personal estate in England, 
and his chattel property in New South Wales, were, by the Queen's warrant, granted to the 
same trustees upon the trusts of the above deed; and from the terms of the warrant (which 
refers to the above-mentioned conveyance of 31st January, 1845, without impugning 
it), as well as from the correspondence with, and despatched of, the Secretary of State, it is 
evident; that Rer Majesty entirely waived her claim by escheat to the real property in New 
South Wales, and that the same was to be granted for the benefit of the widow and son of 
Tawell, as soon as the Crown's title to it should have been found by inquisition held in the 
Colony. 

5. On the 26th January, 1848, 3lessrs. W. Tawell and W. Bevan executed and 
sent out a power of attorney, which is now before us, and of which the enclosed copy has 
been furnished to us, by which, after reciting the conveyance of 31st January, 1843, they 
appointed Messrs. Norton and G. C. Turner their attorneys, and fully empowered them, 
"jointly and severally, for them the said W. Tawell and W. Bevan, in their names, or in the 
names of their said attorneys, or either of them," to sell and dispose of the lands in question, 
" if the said attorneys, or either of them, should think expedient," and to receive and give 
receipts fix the purchase moneys, "and in the names of the said W. Tawell and W. Bevan, 
" and am their acts and deeds, to make, sign, seal, execute, and deliver, all such releases and 
" discharges as should or might be necessary for effectually releasing, conveying, and assuring 
" such lands unto the purchaser or purchasers thereof." 

G. An inquisition having been held in the Colony, by which the title of the Crown 
to the lands in question was found, Mr. Turner made sales of those lands to re:riot/3 persons 
(by public auction we believe) under the authority of the above power of attorney. Re 
subsequently received the purchase money, and executed conveyances of these lands, and 
covenants to endeavour to procure deeds of grant, in the names of W. Bevan and W. 
Tawell. These acts were strictly within Mr. Turner's powers as a "several" attorney of 
these trustees. 

7. After the sales, applications were made to the Colonial Government for deeds of 
grant in favour of the purchasers, and it is probable that they would have been issued 
accordingly, in 1849, but for a difficulty which had occurred to ourselves in reference to 
another case of escheat, as to the sufficiency of the terms of the Governor's Commission. 

S. It would now seem that, although some portions of the purchase moneys were 
remitted to Messrs W. Tawell and IV. Bevan, other portions were not so remitted, but have 
been, or are supposed to be, lost through Mr. Turner's reputed insolvency and emigration to 
California; and on this ground Messrs. Tawell and Bevan seek to repudiate the actiugs of 
Mr. Turner on their behalf, and to give effect to such repudiation by obtaining grants from 
the Crown to themselves. 

9. It is, we need not say, greatly to be lamented that the widow and son of the deceased 
Tawell should suffer through the misplaced confidence reposed in Mr. Turner ; but it appears 
to us that, according to every principle of equity, it is right that, as the loss must un-
fortunately fall somewhere, it should be borne by them rather than by equally innocent 
purchasers, who had nothing to do with the selection of nor any control over the agent who 
was regularly employed on their behalf. 

10. According also to well known principles of the English Courts of Justice, we 
think it plain that, if Messrs. Tawell and Bevan were now to obtain a legal title to these 
lands by means of a grant from the Crown, they would be °stopped in law from setting it up 
in derogation of deeds which are legally as much theirs as if they had executed them in 
person, and that in equity they would be compellable to convey to their vendees the estate 
acquired from the Crown. It must be admitted indeed that, as the Crown has not yet 
formerly divested itself of its absolute power of disposing of the property as it may think 
fit, the application of these principles of law and equity might be evaded by changing the 
trustee.s or the trusts with that view ; but, of course, the Crown would not lend itself to 
such a scheme. 

11. 
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11. Having thus brought the facts of the case, as far as they are known to us, under 
the notice of the Governor General, we have now in conclusion to state, most respectfully, 
that in our judgtnent His Excellency ought not to issue the proposed grants to Messrs. W. 
Tawell and VV. Bevan, but that the whole matter should be laid again before the Secretary 
of State, together with the counter application made by the several purchasers. 

We have, &c., 
J. H. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General 1 
IV. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 

No, 28. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. ICETON, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 22 November, 1851. 

Referring to my letter of the 25th ultimo, relative to Mr. Hugh Dixson's 
claim to a portion of the escheated mtate of the late John Towel!, I have the honor, by the 
direction of the Governor General, to inform you, that, under a report received from the Law 
Officers of the Crown, His Excellency considers it necessary to refer the matter again to the 
Right Honorable the Secretary of State for the Colonies. 

I have, Ste., 
W. ELYARD, JONA. 

No. 29. 

A. a M, CoLLoca, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

No. 219, Elizabeth-street, Sydney, 
16 October, 1851. 

SIR, 
Having recently been favoured by 141r. James Norton, solicitor, with the 

inspection of some correspondence received by him from Messrs William Tawell and William 
Reran, of England, (the trustees to whom all the property in this Colony belonging to the 
late John Tawc11 was conveyed prior to his decease,) in which it is intimated that they 
have procured instructions to be forwarded from the Colonial Office to us Excellency the 
Governor General, for the preparation of a grant in their favour of all the property here, 
upon similar trusts to those declared in Iler Majesty's Warrant granting the English property 
to them; I have the honor, on behalf of Mr. Thomas Moore, to represent to you, for the 
information of His Excellency, that Messrs. Towel] and Bevan (through their legally con-
stituted representative, Mr. George Cooper Turner, who was at the time Civil Crown 
Solicitor,) have already regularly sold and conveyed, for a valuable consideration, which was 
duly paid, part of this property, situate in Sussex-street, Sydney, to Mr. Moore, in whose 
favour it was agreed at the sale a grant was to be applied for by Mr. Turner (and which be 
afterwards frequently stated he had done), and was to have been issued, but the preparation 
of which has been hitherto only awaiting the receipt of some further authority for that pur-
pose, which His Excellency was advised it would be necessary to procure from Her Majesty. 
I now understand that Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, in violation of this sale, are contriving 
to obtain a grant to themselves, and their avowed purpose is to attempt to sell a second time. 
In virtue of his purchase and conveyance, arid, irl consequence of statements made by Messrs. 
Tawell and Bevan's representative, being in daily expectation of the grunt being issued to 
him, Mr. Moore has expended a considerable sum in building upon the land sold to him. 
Under these circumstances, the issuing of any grant of this land to Messrs. Tawell and Bevan 
would, I submit, be a clear injustice to Mr. Moore. and inflict irremediable injury upon him. 
I therefore beg respectfully to request that His Excellency will deem it proper, before the 
preparation of a grant to Messrs Tawell and Bevan is further proceeded with, to direct the 
matter to be investigated, and the rights of the parties interested to he inquired into. 

I have, &c., 
A. H. 11KULLOCEL 

No. 30. 
CROWN LAW OFFICERS to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sydney, 8 November, 1851. 

Adverting to your minute on the accompanying letter from Mr. M‘Culloch, 
solicitor for Mr. Thomas Moore, one of the purchasers from the representatives of the late 
John Tamil's estate. 

In reply we have the honor to refer you to our communication upon this subject, 
bearing date the 1st November instant, No. 144. 

We have, Ste., 
J. H. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 
W. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 

SIR, 

No. 31. 
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'No. 31. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY to A. TI. M 4 CULLOON, ESQ., 

Colonial Secretary' Office, 
Sydney, 22 November, 1851. 

Referring to your letter of the 16th October, 1851, relative to Mr. Thomas 
Moore's claim to a portion of the escheated estate of the late John Tawell, I have the honor, 
by the direction of the Governor General, to inform you that, under a report received from 
the Law Officers of the Crown, His Excellency considers it necessary to refer the matter 
again to the Right Honorable the Secretary of State for the Colonies. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD, 

Stu, 
I have the honor to acknowledge your letter of yesterday's date, and in reply 

to your inquiries respecting the sale of the real estate of the late John 'Elwell, to inform you 
that, by the direction of Mr George Cooper Turner, Mr. Alert, on the 12th February, 1849, 
sold by auction the undermentioned parcels of land, viz. :— 

Land at Rose Bay, to Mr. Moore, for £90 ; 
Chapel in Macquarie-street, to Mr. Dixson, for £112 10s.; 
Land in William-street, to Mr. T. W. Smart, for £61 10s. 

And that I have ascertained that Mr. Turner, under the authority contained in a letter of 
attorney which will accompany this statement, received the principal money and released the 
lands to the purchasers. 

The attorneys of the several purchasers, having become aware that the Crown had 
been applied to by Messrs. Tawell and Bevan to issue to them grants of the property which 
had been sold under their authority, informed me that they were about to make an appli-
cation to the Government to issue grants to their clients of the property they had respectively 
purchased, and requested me to produce to them, or to the Government, all documents I held 
on the subject. 

I have now the honor to transmit, for the consideration of the Crown Law Officers, 
the undermentioned documents, viz.:— 

1. 31st January, 1815. Copy of Conveyance and Assignment, by John Taavell 
to William Tawell and William Bevan, of real and personal estate, upon 
certain trusts. 

2. 30th December, 1847. The Queen's Warrant and grant of lands in England. 
3. 26th January, 1848. William Towel' and William Bevan joint and several 

letter of attorney of James Norton and George Cooper Turuer. 
4. 26th April, 1851. Letter by Tawell and Bevan to J. Norton. 
5. 27th August, 1851. J. Norton's reply. 

I have, &c., 
J. NORTON. 

[Enclosure 1 in M. 32.] 
'ffins Indenture made in pursuance so far as respects the release hereinafter contained of the 
statute for rendering a release as effectuate for the conveyance of freehold estates as a lease and 
release by the same parties the thirty-first day of the first month called January One thousand eight 
hundred and forty-five between John Tawell of Berkhampstead in the County of Herts gentleman of 
the one part and William Tamen of Rills Coln° in the County of Essex draper and William Bevan of 
the Old Jewry in the City of London gentleman of the other part Whereas the said John Timed is 
seized and possessed or or otherwise absolutely entitled to the fr thold estates in New South Wales 
following videlicit First all that allotment piece or parcels of land or ground situate and being in the 
district of Double Bay near Sydney in New South Wales aforesaid called Tivoli containing by 
admeasurement five twits or therealiouts and which was purchased of one Thomas Horton James of 
Sydney aforesaid merchant Secondly all that allotment piece or parcel of land or ground situate and 
being at Darlinghurst near Sydney aforesaid used for building bought by the said John Tawell of the 
executors of the late Commissary Laidlay of Sydney aforesaid Thirdly all that allotment piece or 
parcel of land or ground situate and being in Sussex-street Sydney aforesaid used for building bought 
by the said John 'Pawed of one John MGLean of spinev aforesaid merchant Fourthly all that messuage 
or tenement and premises situate ima being in !dam-made-street in Sydney aforesaid used by the Society 
of Friends there as a Mooting House And whereas the said John Timed is possessed of or absolutely 
entitled to certain personal estate and effects consisting of First eighty shares in the Bank of New' 
South Wales now standing in the name of the said John TawelL Secondly ten shares of one hundred 
pounds each in the Commercial Bank of Sydney aforesaid also standing in the name of the said John 
Tawell and Thirdly sixty shares in the Sydney Alliance Assurance Company also standing in the name 
of the said John Tawell And whereas the said John Tawell is desirous of settling the said freehold 
estates and personal estate and effects in favour and for the benefit of his wife Sarah Tawoll and his son 
and only child Henry Augustus 'Pawed in manner hereinaftermentioned Now this indenture witnessed' 
that for and in consideration of the natural love and affection which he the said John Tawell bath and 
beareth to the said Sarah Tawell his wife and also for the said Henry Augustus Tawell his son and for 
divers other good causes and considerations him the said John Tam& hereunto moving and also for 
and in consideration of the sum of ten shillings to the said John Tawell paid by the said William 

219—D 	 Tawc3 

SIR, 

No. 32, 

J. NORTON, ESQ., to CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR. 

Sydney, 11 October, 1851. 
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Tawe11 and William Bevan on the execution hereof the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged he 
the said John doth hereby grant bargain sell alien release assign transfer LISAIlln and confirm 
and also by virtue of every power or authority hereunto enabling hirn direct and appoint •int') the said 
William TimeII and William Bevan their heirs executors administrators and assigns respectively All 
and every the said freehold csattes and also all and every the said respective shares bereintelore 
described or mentioned and every of them and every part thereof respectivelY and all other the real 
and personal estate and effects of what nature or description sthiver the same may be of him the said 
Jolm Tawell in New South Wales and elsewhere in Australia Together with the rights members and 
appurtenances to the said freehold and other (if any) real estates respectively belonging and the fall 
benefit and advantage of all the said premises respectively and every part thereof and all the estate 
right title interest claim and demand whatsoever at law and in equity of him the said John Tawell in 
to out of or upon all and singular the premises hereby respectively released and assigned or otherwise 
assured or intended se to be and every part and parts thereof respectively Together with full power and 
authority which he the said John Tawell cloth hereby irrevocably giver and grant to itsl for the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan and the survivor of them Iris executors administrators and assigns 
and the trustees or trustee for the time being as his attorneys and attorney and in their and his own 
names or 'lame or in the•name of the said John Tawell his executors or administrators to ask demand 
recover receive and by all lawful ways and means take possession of all and every the isiid Banking 
Shares and insuranee Shares and all dividends bonusses slim and Rums of money due or to become due 
in respect thereof and all other stun and sums of money debts property personal estate and effects 
whatsoover now or hereafter to h'come duo owing pavtble deliverabie or belonging to the said John 
Tawell his executors or administrators in New South Wales or elss where in Australia and as to the 
said respective shares or any of them respectively when and as they or he shall think fit to ask demand 
and obtain a transfer or transfers Unto their or his own names or name in the books of transfer of the 
said respe.ctive companies or unto such other name or IMIllea as they may deem proper and with full 
povver and authority for the said attorneys ;end attorney if they or he shall deem it expedient to com-
promise compound arbitrate settle and itgree in any manner whatsoever in respect of the same PrellliSCS 
or any part of them and on reratipt of all or any moneys or effects and for any other of the purposes 
aforesaid to give sign make and execute good and saffieient receipts releases aequittancPs nal other 
discharges for the same respectively and all bonds submissions to arbitration composition and other 
deeds evhatsoever and on non-payment or non-delivery of all or any of the premises to bring and 
commence and carry on all actions snits and other proceedings which shall or may be necessary in and 
before all or any judges courts tribunals magistrates or other authorities in New South Wales and 
elsewhere in Australia for the sem-my thereof respectively and to prosecute the same to final decree 
And execution And generally to make do and execute all other acts deeds matters and things in the 
premises in the same manner in all respects as if he the said John Tawell were personally pitsent and 
acting therein and with full power which he the said John Tan-ell doth hereby give and grant unto the 
said attorneys and attorney to nominate substitute and appoint one or more person or persons flw or 
under them or him and with all the same or with less powers than are hereby given and granted 
And the said John Tan-ell doth hereby give and e unto the said William Tamil and William 
Bevan and the survivor of them his executors and edminT drators and the trustees and trustee for the 
time being of these presents and their and his substitute and substitutes full and free finality power 
end authority in tit-- premires au thit the want of express power or authority shall not in anywise, 
violate or invalidate anything they or lu• may do or cause VO be done under or by virtue 
of the power loweinbefore contained And the said John Tau ell del hereby ratify and confirm all and 
whatsoever the s Lid attorneys and attoin'y and their and his substitute and substitutes shall lawfully 
do or eateiti to be done in or about the premises to have and to hold all and singular the premises hereby 
respectively released and assigned or otherwise assured or intended so to be and every ixtrt Sexed unto 
and to Cos wis of the said William 'Elwell and William Bevan their heirs executors itChhilliStratora and 
assigns respectively [teem-ding to the nature and quality thereof respectively but subject to the settle-
ment bearing date the twenty-third day of Film nary one thousand eight hundred and forty-one and in 
contemplation of the marriage of tlie said John Tawell with the said Sarah his with so far as such settle-
ment comprises or effects the said trust premises or any of them or any part or parts thereof end as the 
trusts of the said settlement are in favour of the said Sarah Tan-ell and Eliza Sarah entforth the daughter of 
the said Sarah Mardi by her late humbled William Cutforth &seised orcither of them nevertheless upon 
and for the trusts intents and pm-poets and with under and subject to the powers provisoua declarations 
and agreements hereinafter expressed declared and contained of and concerning the same that is to say 
upon trust in the discretion and of the absolute authority of the truste , s or trustee for the time being of 
these presents either to continue the said trust premises respectively either wholly or partially in their 
respective present state and•in or upon the existing securities and investments for the saute respectively 
or at such time or times as such trustees or trustee shall think proper to make sale read absolately dis-
pose of all or any part or parts of the said trust premises respectively which shall be of a saleable nature 
either by public at :lion or private contract and subject or not subject to any special or other conditions 
or stipulations as to title or evident ti of title or otherwise and generally upon such terms and in such 
manner as the mid trustees or trustee sha:1 judge expedient and also if the said trustees or trustee shall 
deem it expedient so to do to raise any sum or sums by mortgage of the said trust premises or any part 
or parts thesof and afterwards to the same premises in execution of the trust 'foe's aid either as 
on rat sl with or as discharged from any mortgage or mortguges to he so Made And also to let for any 
t inn or ti rms of years or from yen' to year all or any part Or parts of the said freehold estate's at such 
mats and ',abject ti sach coveneuts and conditions as the said trustees or trustee shall judge expedient 
and ale s generally at their or his absolute discretion to manage and administer all the affairs and 
conch- rums of the said trust premises in such manner as they or he shall think most beneficial And as to 
the net moneys which shall arise or cone to the hands of the said trusties or trustee by virtue of the 
tru.st aforesaid after paying or retaining all the costs charges and expenses incident to the execution of 
such trust Upon trust in the first place thereout to pay and satisfy all the debts and demands justly 
due or owing by or from the said John 'Elwell to any person or persons whomsoever at such time or 
times and in snell order and course of payment as the said trustees or trustee shall judge expedient 
with foil discretionary power to admit such evidence of any or every debt or demand against the said 
John Toweli or his estate as the said trustees or trustee shall think reasonable and to settle and adjust 
or refer to arbitration all accounts reckonings disputes and controversies relating to any or every such 
debt or demand and generally to net in relation to the execution of this trust in such manner as to the 
said trustees or trustee shall seam expedient And upon further trust in the next place to lay out and 
invest the surplus of the said moneys in the names or name of the said trustees oretruatee in or upon 
Government three per cent. Consolidated Bank Annuities or in or upon such other permanent stocks 
fends or securities of the United Kingdom as they or he shall think fit with liberty to alter vary and 
transpose such investment from time to time at their or his discretion for any other or others of the 
description aforesaid And upon further trust (after paying there-out unto Alfred Hart otherwise 
Laurence and Sarah Hart otherwise Laurence the son and daughter of Sarah Hart otherwise Laurence 
late or Salt Hill in the county of Bucks deceased) an annuity or clear yearly sum of fifteen pounds each 
or applying the same from to time as the same shall accrue due and be payable at the discretion of the 
trustees or trustee for the time being of these presents for their respective maintenance and support 
for and during their lives and which said annuity of fifteen pounds to each of them the said Alfred 
Hart otherwise Laurence and Sarah Hart otherwise Laurence is one and the same annuity of fifteen 
pounds for each of them as is also similarly provided for and secured in and by a certain indenture 
'bearing even date with these presents and made between the same persons respectively as are 

parties 
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parties hereto to pay the dividends interest and income of the same surplus moneys or the stocks 
funds and securities in or upon which the same shall be invested as aforesaid into the proper 
hands of the said Sarah Tawell for and during her life for her sole separate use without any 
power of alienation or anticipation free from the ilebts engagements and control of her said present 
or any future husband and for which her receipts alone shall be sufficient discharges And from 
and immediately after her decease ozs to as well the said trust moneys stocks funds and securities 
SS the interest dividends and income thenceforth to accrue due for the same in trust for the said Henry 
Augustus Tawell his executors administrators and assigns for his and their absolute use and benefit 
But in case the said Henry Augustus Lowell shall die under the age of twenty-one years without 
leaving lawful issue surviving him th on in trust fur the person or persons who shall be of the blocs/ 
and of kin to the said John Boswell and who Linda the statutes for the distribution of hitestatz I' elects 
would be entitled to his personal estate if he were to die immediately after the decease of the said 
Henry Augustan Terrell intestate and without leaving a widow or zeny issue surviving him and to he 
divided among such peraens if more then one in the proporthms in which the same • would be divisible 
under the said statutes Provided always :aid it 1,3 hereby declonal and agreed by and between the said 
parties to these prefents that it shall he lawful for the said trustees or trustee for the time being with 
the consent in writing of the said trah Tawell dazing her life and after her decease to apply daring 
the minority of the said Henry Augustus Tawell all or any part of the interest dividends and income 
of the said trust funds or any gross sam or sews not exceeding one-half of the principal or value 
thereof in or towards his maintenance ;nod edic diiii. or his advancement or prefermeizt trorid 
Provided also and. it is hereby further declared and agreed that the yearly rents and profits of the ...id 
trust preznises until sold or convert d as afore-- a shall be Applied and disposed of in like niacin- w as 
the interest dividends end income of the moneys to arise therefrom would if such sale or or 'version 
had taken place be molth-0Jc and that tha said freehold estates until sold shall be decimal jNoialIy 
for the purposes of these presents Provided also :mid it is hereby further declared and ogre: d that the 
receipt and receipts in writing of the said trustees or trustee ftr the time being for any purchase' 
mortgage or other money payable to them or him under or hy virtue of these prey euts shall citutevelly 
discharge the person or persons to whine the 5 trite shall be given from being answerable or -countable 
for the misapplication or non-application of the same moneys or from being hound to see to the rpniica-
tion thereof Provided also that in case the said William Tawell and William Bevan or either of them. 
or any future trustees or trustee to be appointed by virtue of this provision shall depart this life or be 
and remain out of England for more thom twelve calendar months at one time or be unable or unwilling 
to act in the execution of the trusts Lore by treated before the same trusts shall be fully executed and 
performed it shall be lawful for the trustees or trustee for the time being of these pre,: its whether 
declizzing to act further or not or if /1”.10 for the proving executers or executor or the administratoos or 
administrator of the lost deceased noting trustee with the consent in writing of the said Sarah Tawell 
during her lift and after her deceasiz at the discretion of the person or persons exercising les power to 
fluorinate and appoint any person or persons to supply the place of any trustee or trusties so dying 
being and remaining- out of England or being unable or unwilling to act And that upon any suck 
appointment the trust property shall b • emayeyed assigned or transferred so as that the SaITIO shall and 
may be effectually restosl jointly in the new trustees and old trustees or solely in the new trustees 
as occasion shall require Provided also that the trustees hereby appointed and to he appointed as 
aforesaid respectively and their respective hefts executors or administrators shall not be answerable 
for the acts receipts or defaults of the oiler of them or for any Ii use which may happen in the esocution 
of the trusts aforesaid or in relation thereto and that the trustee< and trusto e for the time being 
of these pre milts respectively shall e at liberty to deduct cad retain and to allow touulc caller 
out of the tried moneys which cli dl collie to their or his respeetive hands all costs charges und expenses 
which may be incurred in or about the exeention of the trusts arm csaid or any of them or in relation 
thereto And the said John Tamen for himself his heirs executors end administrators cloth hereby 
covenant promise and agree with and to the said Wilburn 'Unwell and William Bevan their heirs exioeutors 
administrators end assigns re :pretively thet notwithstanding any act matter or thins done or permitted 
by him to the contrary he the said John 'Unwell bath good right full power and lawful cord all whits 
authority to convey assign and assure the mid premises bereinbeflore respectively released and e•signed 
or otherwise assured in manner aforesaid And also that he the said John Tawell his exiles tors or 
administrators shall not nor will without the consent of the trustee or trustees for the time being of 
these presents or the order or decree of some Court of Law or Equity revoke or attempt to revoke 
invalidate or otherwise imp :sell the powers hereffibeffire contained or rny of them And also that the 
same premises respectively shall and may be peaceably held and enjoyed and the rent: dividends 
inn .eat and income thereof respectively rt :solved accordingly without any interruption whafto sever by 
the said John Bowen or any other lemon or persons claiming under him and that free from all ineum-
brances whatsoever created or occasioned by him And further that be the said John Tawell and all 
persons rightfully claiming under him shall and will at the request of the scud William Tetwoll and 
William Bevan or the survivor of them his heirs or executors or administrators or their or his 
assigns or mita, gut treat or any or either of then, and at filo costs of the said trust premises or 
of the person or persons making such request make do and execute all such further and other acts deeds 
conveyances and assurances in the law for more effectually conveying assigning or assuring the said 
premises respectively according to the true intent and meaning of those presents as by the person or 
persons making such request as his her or their counsel in the law shall be reasonably advised and re-
quired and shall be tendered to be made done or rethented And lastly the said .1.1m Tawell (10th hereby 
nominate constitute and appoint James Norton of Sydney aforesaid solicitor and George Coupe:. Turner 
(Crown Sulb,itor) of the s lao place to be his attorneys and attorney jointly and severally and in e tee of 
the death shrence or incapacity of both or either of them then the secretary for the time bring of 
the Governor for the time being of the Colony of New South Wales or his deputy or deputies of such 
secretary to acknowledge these presents as the act and deed of the said John 'Elwell before the 
Registrar or other proper officer or authority in Sydney for the purpose of the same being duly 
registered and recorded according to the laws of the said Colony and to do and procure to be done in the 
said Colony any and every other net matter or thing necessary or proper for giving-full effect to these 
presents In witness whereof the said parties to these presents have hereunto set their hands and seals 
the day and year first above-written. 

(h.s.) 	JOHN lAWELL. 
(Ls.) 	WILLIAM TAWELL. 

WILLM. BEVAN.. 

Signed sealed and delivered by the within-named John Tawell (the words "and old trustea 
or solely in the new trustees" between the fortieth and forty-first lines of the second 
skin having been first interlined) in the presence of 

3. J. CAPPER. 
Clerk to Wm. Bevan; 

6 Old Jewry.. 

Signed sealed and delivered by the within-named William Dwell and William Bevan-in. 
the- presence of 

J. J. CAPPER, 
6 Old Jewry. 
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I Jasper John Capper of No. 6 Old Jewry in the City of London clerk to William Bevan of the 
same place gentleman do solemnly and sincerely declare that I was present and did see John Tawell 
of Berkh Impstead in the County of Harts gentleman William Tawell of Earls Goitre in the County of 
Essex draper and the said William Bevan severally duly sign seal and as their respective act and deed 
deliver the indenture hereunto annexed marked with the letter "A' bearing date the thirty-first day of 
the first month called January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five and made between the said 
John 'Parrett of the one part and the said William Tawell and William Bevan of the other part 
and that the names or signatures "John Tawell" " William flavor and " Willrn. Bevan" written 
at the foot of the said indenture, and the name or' signature "J. J. Capper" written under each 
of the attestations indorsed thereon as the witness attesting the due execution thereof by them 
respectively are the respective proper handwriting of the said John Tawell William 'Powell 
William Bevan and of the said Jasper John Capper And I make this solemn declaration conscien-
tiously believing the same to he true and by virtue of the provisions of an Act made and passed in tire 
sixth year of the reign of lfis late Majesty William the Fourth intituled " An Act to repeal fill Act of 
" the present Session of Parliament intituled an Act for the more effectual abolition of Oaths and 
"Affirmations taken and made in various departments of the State and to substitute Declarations in 
”lieu thereof and for the more entire suppression of voluntary and extra judicial Oaths and Affidavits 
"and to make other provisions for the abolition of unnecessary Oaths." 

Declared at the Mansion House in the City of London this 14th 
day of February 1815 before Inc 

J. J. CAPPER. 	 (cm.) 	MICIIL. GIBBS. 

To all to whom these presents shall conic I Michael Gibbs Lord Mayor of the City of London do 
hereby certify that on the day of the date hereof personally came and appeared before me Jasper John 
Capper named in the declaration hereunto annexed being a person well known and worthy of good 
credit and who did before me solemnly and sincerely declare to be true the several matters and things 
mentioned and contained in the said annexed declaration pursuant to an Act of Parliament passed in 
the sixth year of the reign of King William the Fourth. 

In faith and testimony whereof I the said Lord Mayor have caused the seal 
of the office of Mayoralty of the said City of London to be hereunto put 
and affixed and the act and deed marked " A" mentioned and referred to 
in and by the said declaration to be hereunto also annexed Dated in 
London the fourteenth day of February in the year of Our Lord one 
thousand eight hundred and forty-five. 

REYNA& 

This and the nine preceding pages contain a true copy of the original conveyance and docu-
ments thereto annexed the same having been carefully examined therewith by us, 

WM. WORKMAN, 
J. H. MILLER, 

Clerks to Mr. James Norton, 
Solicitor, Sydney, New South Wales. 

[Enclosure 2 in R. 32.] 
To all to whom these presents shall come we John Kinnersley Hooper, Lord Mayor and the Aldermen 

of the City of London do hereby certify that Abrao de Pirma who 'lath signed the annexed instru-
ment is a Notary and Tabellion Public by Royal Authority duly admitted and sworn and that to 
all acts instruments and other writings by him signed and attested full faith and credit is rind ought 
to be given in Court and without. 

In faith and testimony whereof the seal of the Office of Mayoralty of the said 
City of London is hereunto put and affixed Dated in Lundetn this 31st 
day of January 1648. 

REYNAL. 

I AHEAD DE P/NNA of Bartholomew Lane Royal Exchange in this City of London Notary and Tairaion 
Public (a General Practitioner) by Royal Authority duly admitted and practising do hereby ostify 
and attest that having along with a clerk in my office carefully collated and examined the paper 
writing hereunto annexed with a certain Warrant under Her Majesty's Royal Sign Man Im/ and counter-
signed " W. Gibson Craig" "H. Rich" " Shelburne" bearing date the thirtieth dry of December now 
last past granting certain freehold and leasehold estates situate at Great Berkbempsteed in the County 
of Hartford and certain chattels which escheated and devolved to the Crown on the commission and 
conviction of felony by John 'Erman to trustees upon the trusts therein mentioned or referred to for the 
benefit of the widow and family of the said John Tawell which warrant after HO collating and fa:lidming 
the said copy was by nie the said Notary and Tabellion Public returned to Messrs. Bevan and Goodeve 
of the Old Jewry in the said City of London Attorneys-at-Law the parties who had prtfflueed the same 
to me for the purpose aforesaid—I have found the said copy to he and contain a verhaliw and litergita 
copy of the said warrant as thereby reference being thereuuto had will be plainly found and clearly 
appear. 

In faith and testimony whereof [the said Notary and 'rebellion Public being requested have 
granted these presents by me subscribed notarially- and have caused the seal by me used 
in this behalf to be thereon impressed in London this thirty-first day of January in the 
year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-eight. 

A. DE PINNA, 
Notary Public. 

Y. R. 
TicrOms by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen Defender 
of the Faith to all to whom these presents shall come—Greeting—Whereas the Commissioners of our 
Treasury have represented unto us that by an inquisition indented and taken at the house Arommonly 
called or known by the name or sign of the " Salisbury Arms" situate at Hertford in our amity of 
Hertford on the seventeenth day of June in the tenth year of our reign before Horatio Waddington 
George Frederick Pollock and George Benjamin Manic Esquires being three of our Commissioners 
named in our Commission under our Great Seal in the said inquisition mentioned bearing date at 
Westminster the twenty-fourth day of April in the tenth year of our reign upon the oaths of twelve 
good and lawful men of our said County of Hertford in the inquisition mentioned it n as fuund that John 
Tawell then late of the parish of Farnham Royal in our County of Buckingham gentleman in the said 
Commission named was on the first day of January in the eighth year of our reign (being the day on 
winch the murder and felony in the said commission mentioned was committed by the said John 
Tawell) seized to him and his heirs in fee simple of and ill all that messuage tenement or dwelling- 

house 
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house and outbuildings thereto belonging situate at 11Tarlowes in the Parish of Hemel Hempstead in 
our said County of 'lest fbrd then sometime since erected on a portion of the garden or m chard occupied 
with a mansion house situated at Marlowe; aforesaid heretofore in the occupation of Daniel Desor-
meatus together with the yard garden and appurtinances to the same messuage and premises belonging 
which said messing° garden outbuildings and pronises were formerly in the occupathat of W 
Lyles and then of -Josiah Hales and were bounded on the west in front thereof by the high road leading 
from Hemel Hempstead atbresaid to Two Waters on the east by a field belonging to Mr. Cato on the 
north partly by a tnessuage and garden lately bulonging to John Glover and then to Mr. Wood and 
partly by garden ground belonging to The Reverend Joseph Hamilton and on the south by a piece of 
land or ground theretofore belonging to Mr. John Griffin and since to Thomas Goodson deceased with 
their and every of their appurtenances And also of and in all that messuage or tenement (formerly 
culled Boswells) theretufbre in the occupation &John Mome Esquire since of the Reverend Mr. Town-
send then late of -James Caulfiell Browne and then of Jordan Free sihode and being in the Tow» of 
Berkhimpstead Saint Peter otherwise Great Berkhampstead in our said County of Hertford abutting 
south-east oti the tnessuage or tenement theretofore of Mary Martin spinster and then or then late of 
John Edward Lane north-west on the messuage or tenement of John Manship Mills and north-east on 
the Turnpike Road with the appurtenances ,1nd also of and in all that close of pasture ground and 
orchard containing by estimation three acres (more or less) lying near to and behind the said tuessuage 
or tenement and premises called Boswell's in Berkhampstead Ssint Peter otherwise Great Berkhamp-
stead in our said County of Hertford formerly in the occupation of the said James Caulfield Browne and 
then of the said Jordan Free abutting south-east on Borkhampstead School land and south-west on land 
or premises of Joseph Gecry Andrews with the appurtenances And that it was by the said inquisition 
further found that the said Ines:images tenements lands and bereditaments were of the annual value of 
seventy-one pounds in all issues thereof beyond reprizes And that it was by the said impiisition further 
found that the said mossuages lands tenements and hereditiments were holden by the said Jolm Tawdl 
of us in free and common socag,c in right of our Royal Crown but not subject to any services or rent 
all respect thereof except fealty and had devolved unto us Os an escheat in right of our Prerogative Royal 
And that it was by the said inquisition further found that the said John 'Unveil  was on the tenth day 
of March in the eighth year of our reign on which nay the said John 'lewd] was convicted of the 
felony and murder as in the said commission mentioned possessed of And in all that piece or parcel of 
ground situate on the south-west side of High-street in the Town of Great Berkhampstead in our said 
County of Hertford bounded on the north-east side by the High-street of Berkhampst cad aforesaid on 
the noith-west side thereof by premises belonging to James Field and Frederick Miller on the west 
side belonging to John Croft Rector and on the south-east by the residence of Mary Sutton and a lane 
leading to the hack entrance of the said piece or parcel of ground to the residence of the said John Croft 
together with the messuage or dwelling-house coachahouse stables and other erections standing and 
Icing upon the said piece or parcel of ground and premises now or late in the occupation of Sarah 
Tawell the widow of the said John Tawell formerly Sarah Cutforth widow with their and eviry of their 
appurtenances for the remainder then to come and unexpired of a certain term of twenty-one years 
commencing on the twenty-ninth day of September in the year one thousand eight hundred and forty by 
James Field of Berkhampstend aforesaid gentleman to the said John Tawell granted arid demised by 
indenture of lease bearing date the twenty-fourth day of December in the year last aforesaid subject to 
a proviso for determining the sante at the end of the first fourteen years of the said term as therein 
mentioned and subject to the payment of the yearly rent of sixty pounds and to the covenants in the 
said indenture of lease contained And that the residue of the said term of years was ty the said inqui-
sitkn found to be of the value of one hundred pounds And that it was by the said inquisition further 
found that the said John Tawell was on the said tenth day of March in the eighth year of our reign 
possessed as of his Own proper goods and chattels of mid in eighty shares of one hundred pounds ster-
ling ( nth in the bank capital stock of the Bank of New South Wales which by the said inquisition were 
found tit be of the value of four thousand pounds And also if and in ten shares of ono limidred imends 
sterling each of the bank capital stick in the Commercial Bank in g Company of Sydney in New South Wales 
aforesaid which were by the said inquisition found to lie of the value of five hundred and ten pounds 
And of and in the several goods and chattels mentioned in the schedule annexed to the said inquisition 
marked with the letter A which were by the said inquisition found to be of the value of six hundred 
and twenty pounds And that the said goods and chattels mentioned in the said schodute (except one 
piece of cambric one pair of spectacles one penknife the last-mentioned gold watch and chain two silk 
handkerchiefs one box containing a surgical instrument one box (I apothecary's scales at d weights and 
a hamper of medicine bottles) were by the said inquisition found to be then in the possussion of the 
said Saah Taxedt and that the said excepted articles were then in the possession of Acton Tindal 
Esquire then Under Sheriff of our County of Buckingham All which said messuages lands tenements 
and hereditaments whereof the said John Tawell was by the said inquisition found to hate been seized 
as aforesaid and to have become escheated to us And all which said residue of the said tents cf years 
shares in the said Dank of New South Wales and Commercial Banking Company of Sydney goods and 
chattels of which the said John Tawell was so possessed as aforesaid and which by the inquisition 
aforesaid were found to have become forfeited tans the said Commissioners had in obi:41101GO to our said 
commission seized into our hands And whereas it has been further represented to us by the said Com-
missioners of our Treasury that the said John Tawell was also at the time of his conviction possessed 
as of his own goods and chattels of sixty shares of ten pounds each of the capital stock of the Australian 
Ceneral Assurance Company being the same shares as are in the secondly hereinafter stated indenture 
of settlement of the thirty-first day of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five cafird or des-
cribed as sixty shares in the Sydney Alliance Assurance Company standing in the name of the said John 
'Unwell and which were not included in the said inquisition but were forfeited to us on the eon, ietion 
of the said John Tawull And whereas it bath been Rather represented unto us by the said Com-
missioners of our Treasury that the said Sarah Tawell of Berkhampstead aforesaid the widow of the 
said John Tawell did by her memorial presented to them prior to the suing forth of the said commission 
make discovery of our right and title to the premises comprised in the said inquisition And that the 
said Sarah 'Pawell did by her said naemorial (amongst other things) state that previously to the 
marriage between the said Sarah Tamen and John Tawell the said Sarah Tawell was a widow 
and had one child her daughter Eliza Sarah Cutforth and was entitled to certain personal pro-
perty which consisted in part of the sum of one thousand pounds new three pounds ten shillings 
per cent alum tics standing in her name in the books of the Governor and Coo Tony of the 
Bank of England and of ten sluices in the Alliance Marine Assurance Company That in the year 
one thousand eight hundred at id forty-one a marriage was agreed upon between the said dorm 
Tawell and Sarah Tamen and that in contemplation of such marriage the said John Tamen concurred 
with the said Sarah Tawell in making a settlement by indenture dated the twenty-second day of 
February one thousand eight hundred and forty-one of such personal property to which the said 
Sarah Tawell was then absolutely entitled and by which the said ten shares in the Alliance Marine 
Assurance Company were by an indenture bearing even date with the said indenture of settlement 
assigned to and vested in Thomas Squire and Daniel Norris upon certain trusts for the benefit of the 
said Sarah 'Falwell and her children by -the said John Tawell That by another indenture of settlement 
made in contemplation of the said marriage and dated the twenty-third day of February, one thousand 
eight hundred and forty-one the said John Tan -ell for himself his heirs executors and administrators 
(lid covenant with the said Thomas Squire and Daniel Norris that the said John Tawell Ms heirs 
executors or administrators should and would assign and transfer unto them six thousand pounds 
capital stock of the Bank of New South Wales or such other sum of stock or property in Now South 

Wales 
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Wales aforesaid as SF mid be sufficient to produce the clear sum of six hundred pounds per annum and 
also after the solemnization of the said then intended marriage between the said JAIN Tam:11 and 
Sarah Dwell that tho said John Terve11 would by his will give and bequeath to the said Sarah Tawe11 
his residuary estate and effects and appoint her one of the executors thereof And. that by the same 
indenture it was declared that the said trustees should tand possessed of the said trust motleys upon 
trust to pay the interest Mn'! inceme thereof to the said Sarah 'naval for her life (or her sole and 
separate use and after her decease in case she should die in the lifetime of the said John 'rostrat to pay 
the annual sum of two hundred pounds to Eliza Sarah Cutforth for her life and salject thereto to stand. 
possessed of the said trust moneys and premises for the setid John Dwell absolutely Th It very shortly 
after the date and en-ration of the said indentures of telthont it the marriage between the eeid John 
Tawell and Sten Towel! was duly had and Rift the only intim of the same marriage had keen one 
child and no mote inanely Henry Augustus Tetweell who was then living That the suns a eix thetereaend 
pounds capital stock of the iii Bank of New South Wales was not tier WAS any other sum of stock or 
property whateveu tither in New South Walt,' or elsewhere ,  es er in the lifetime of the said John Tavvell 
assigued or tronsf n't :I onto ter into the name s of the said Thomas Squire and Dmiel ris as such 
trustees as dec. -cid for the pm-poste of providing smelt annuity of six hundred punier,: :AA stern aid 
That certain parts of the freehold he etteditateents comprised in the said inquisition were pure:ern el with 
the moneys tuition from the sale of the said ten shares in the M :nee Marine Assurance Ctunpany and 
from the s.viii . ;e1 :if Um SKR Sarah Tawell Sem her sept rate income That the said John 'Powellhang 
desirous of settling certain freehold aud leasehold estates and chattels personal in fervent ed for the 
benefit of the s tid Sarah Teeval arid Honey Angettus Taw ell did by an indenture dated fie thirty-forst 
day of January (.17i1! thous nil tight hundred and forty-rue and made between the said ail i!in Taw ell of 
the one part arid Willie en Tawell of Earls Cob to in our County of Essex draper and Willi :ill Be van of 
the Old Jewry in our City of L ealan grollente,n of the usher pent convey and cssign nd :dare appoint 
the freehedd and lea chola estates and ::133 thee chattas personal he the same it:denture tut ute end 
(which the S del C sande:sinners of our Treasury LOU I' trUV`Ott it to us to be the r- ones ft, , had :end 
leasehold esteetes -toad °butt, ls personal compel-A in the siieh it quiritiou and so eslzett 'alto tees 1teruds 
as aforesaid or 	p',nt or arts there: D yeah tie. ir appurtunantws unto and to the pee of th • taid 
Wnliam Tat) ell 411 ,  t Willi 3iq B- yen tht it La its encode es arludniatr li is and 	11 3/4  List iltj t DI the 
said settle-meet 11 ••cing elate the twenty-second d y  el Fir he eery one thousand richt heath ii da 6 • Iv- 
one as to the F 	fin as s in the Alliance :Werth, Assurance Company which were tteseie stet d to 
have inen 	s ad and tte pi-Audi there. efl3iii Ont and advaneed ander the powers zthil al tth titles in 
such settIM ■Clse vent:deed in OA Id towards paynetift of tie considereth in hurley fit eatair if fin sad 
Freehold hereditaments upon trust to sell the wnile i t Coirt•iii mentioned and stand past-reed of the 
proceeds there, f upon trust (after paying to Alfas' Hart mat Sarah liars an annuity of fifteen pounds 
each) to pay the income of tile suite to the said Sarah Tawell for her life and after her decease as well 
as to the tined moncys stocks fulfils and securities as the intarne thereof in trust for the aid Henry 
Augustus T ewe!l his exerenters administrators end a, ,i!nig for his own absolute use and benefit But in 
ease the said lb try Augustus Tawal shoe aid die order the age of twenty-one year z, wither. at Ii avims• 
lawfitl is see hit it tur vi'trig thee in trust for ti..- persona who eve aid ander the statute •a for 6: -tributhoe 
of inn states' Abets he the xt of tin of the said Johu Tawat if he were to die immediately Co r the 
said Henry Augestus Dwell -ad that the 'rid seseveli Tuvrt 11 did by her said. memorial may oh C in 
the promises And whir,- as it bath bee u further repot sorted to us by the said romntissi n. -S a our 
Tresses),  this the said Sarah T oval bekh represented to them that Hee said John Tows 11 in further 
execution if his desire f er the Innefit of the and Senth Tatra and Henry Auguatto Tatra] did by 
another indenture d •ti el the thirty-first day of Jereenry eon thousand eight hundred and ntrty-five and 
made between the said Juba Tawell of the Witt vutt and th • said William Tasselt end Willie e Bevan 
of the other IA rt appeiut assii;n Awl transfer unto U ii said Wi I ti rm Ta welt Enid William But Mt their 
executors fLi,:thifttratitra and as siams (amongst other thinres) all arid every the said n:speretive shares in 
the said Bank of New South Wales the Commercial liardsing Company of Sydney and the Australian 
General Asse t ran t ee C am p au y (therein called the Sydney Alliance Assurance Company) respectively and 
all benefit then-id into the said William Tswal and William nevem their executors etdrairdatrati ars and 
assigns but subject to the said settlement bearing date the twenty-third day of February one thousand 
eight hundrsd and. ft erty-orte te far AS the trusts then-' f were in favour of the said Sarah 'Elwell is id Eliza 
Sarah cutforth • arm similar trusts to those d -clench in and by the: hereinhefore menthe-It d indt•nture 
of even date with th nwtAtilig indenture And whit” AS it Ii tth b on farther retires( nted to us hy the 
said Commie- en•rs of tier Tteensury that at the time a the (IASI of the said John law--It le- wit 'bid- hted 
to the said W Iii u, R•van in tie • -um of 0:tf tht.,”, :q,d till • hundred pounds for the co .fie 	exyr•mL as of 
and nth-- 	ta IF • defend. of thee sid John Dtwell mean his told tried for the murder of the &rid 8 trek 
Hart and that the scene •ttm heth boar] already- paid to or retained by the said William Be seen eat of the 
rents inter--d divide ids end profits hereinafter granted or s Wilt Instinct thereof received by him and that 
the said .Tolm Tawell was ngt indebt td ti any other person or per ons save mid widget ti it ti said 
Sarah trvell letth le imbly rep's- eat rted to 113 that she }lath it claim on the property at tatat•• to' tile said 
John Te well for and in respect of the arrears of the said annuity of six hundred pouude sed otherwise 
amounting to the sum of three thousand and sixty pounds or the ereabouts in part and on amount whereof 
she both already received the sum of eight hundred and eleven pounds three shillings and sixpence out 
of the said rents dividends interest and profits hereinafter granted or some portion tin:reef And whereas 
it lath been further represented to us by the said Commissioners of our Treasury that Isabella Betha 
'Cowell of No. 8 Theberton-street Islington in our County of Middlesex widow did by her memorial 
presented to them Demme st other thints) state that in the year one thousand eight bundle d and thirty- 
three she intermarried with John Downing Pan-ell sun of the ssid John Elwell that the teid Jr-ha 
Downing Tawell died on the twenty-eighth-  day of April ons thousand eight hundred and forty-three 
leaving the said Is-hi-ha Botha Towel! his widow him surviving but without besue that the said 
John 'lewdl from the decease of Ids said son paid to the said Isabella Betha Tawell a certain sum 
per annum tor her support and which annual sum was her sole means of support and this the said 
Isabella Botha Tawell prayed relief in the premises And whereas it bath been recommended to 
us by the said Commissioners of our Treasury under all the circumatances of the CAM that we should. 
grant the said freehold and leasehold estates and also the said chattels personal bereinbefore described 
or referred to and so seized into our hands as aforesaid and also the said. shares in the Arstralian 
General Assurance COMMIlly to which the said John Tawell was so entitled as aforesaid unto the said 
William Tawell and the said William Bevan their heirs executors administrators and assigns respec- 
tively upon trust to sell the same and to stand possessed of the moneys to arise therefrom upon the 
trusts after mentioned or referred to To which we are graciously pleased to condeseeml Now know 
ye that we taking the above circumstances into our Royal consideration do by this our Royal Warrant 
under our Royal Sign ill:meal at the recommendation and with the advice of the Commissioners of 
our Treasury give and grant unto the said William Tans-ell and William Bevan and their heirs all 
and singular the said freehold messuages lands tenements and hereditaments hereinhefra e particularly 
mentioned and described and comprised in the said inquisition and so seized into our hands as aforesaid 
and the appurtenances to the same premises belonging or upper-tuning and all our estate right title 
interest property claim and demand whatsoever of in and to the same hereditaments and premises hereby 
granted and all deeds evidences and writings relating to the said premises belonging to us to have and 
to hold the said nuessuages lands tenements hereffitaments and premises hereby granted unto and to the 
use of the said William Tawell and William Bevan theirheirs and assigns for ever upon and for the trusts 
intents and purposes hereinafter declared expressed orreferred to concerning the same And further know 
ye that we further taking the above circumstances into our Royal consideration do by this our Royal 

Warrant 
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Warrant under our Royal Sign Manual at the recommendation and with the advieu of the Commissioners 
of our Treasury give and grant unto the said 1Villiam Taw& and William Bevan their executors 
adntinistrators.and assigns all the said shares and chattels real and personal comprised in the said 
inquisition and so seized into our hands as aforesaid and the apputtenanees to the said chattels 
real belonging, and also all and singular the said shares in the Australian General Assurance Company 
which the said John Tawell was so entitled to as aforesaid at the time of his conviction and all our 
estate right title term of years interest property claim and demand whatsoever of in and to all: gamin 
premises aespectively and all 1 1 NmIs evidences and writings relating thereto belonging to us to have 
and to hold the said chattels real hereby granted unto the said William Tawell and William Bevan 
their extmutors administrators and assigns during all the residue now to come of the said term of 
twenty-one years (determinable as in the said indenture of lease mentioned nevertheless) upon 
The trusts hereinafter expressed declared or referred to concerning the same (subject nevertheless as 
to the said leasehold premimes to the payment of the rent and the observance and performance of the 
covenants and agreements in and by the said indenture of lease of the twenty-fourth day of December 
one thousand eight hundred and forty reserved and contained and which on the part of the tenant lessee 
or assignee are or ought to he paid observed and performed) and to have hold receive and take the 
said shares in the Barth of New South Wales in the Commercial Banking, Company of Sydney and in 
the said Australian General Assurance Company and all other the said chattels personal hereby granted 
unto sad to the said William Tawell and William Bevan their executers administrators and assigns 
as to the said chattels comprised in the said Schedule A to the said Inquisition annexed in trust 
for the said Sarah Tawell her executors administrators and assigns and as to the meidue of the "mid shares 
and chattels personal upon the trusts hereinafter expressed declared or referred to ennetwning the artme 
And we do hereby declare that the said William Tawell and William Bevan their heirs executers 
administrators stud assigns respectively Mall stand and be seized and possessed of all and singular the 
said freehold and leasehold hereditaments shares and chattels personal hereinbefore respectively granted 
(except the said chattels comprised in the said Schedule A) upon Bost that they the said William Tawell 
and William Bevan and the survivor of them and the heirs CXCCIltol'S administrators And assigns respec- 
tively of such survivor do and shall when and as they or he shall think fit absolutely sell and dispest of 
the said freehold hereditaments and the said real and personal chattels and shares so granted to them es 
aforesaid (except as aforesaid) either entirely or altogether or in parcels or lots aad either bypublia auction 
or private contract for such price or prices as the said WilliAM Tawell and William Bevan or 
the survivor of them or other the trustees or trustee for the time being of these presents shall think 
reasonable with power to buy in the said premises or any part thereof respectively at any sale or sales 
by auction and to rescind or vary any contract for sale and to re-sell the premises which shall have 
been so bought in or the contract for the sale of which shall be so rescinded or abandoned as aforesaid 
without being in anywise answerable for any loss which may happen thereby respectively and also with 
power to insert any special or other stipulations in any contract fur or conditions of sale either as to title 
evidence of title or otherwise howsoever and with full power to enter into execute and perform all such 
contracts agoemants assurances nets matters and things for effectuating or completing such sale 
or sales as to the said William Tawell and William Bevan or the survivor of them or other 
the trustee for the time being hereof shall seem meet And we du hereby declare that the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan their heirs executors administrators and assigns shall stand 
possessed of the moneys to arise front the sale or sales of the said premises hereby respectively 
granted and to he received on rescinding or varying any contract and also of the rents isaus interest 
dividends mid profits to accrue and become due from or in respect of the said freehold and leasehold 
hereditaments and shuns until the same respectively shall he sold and also of the rents profits interest 
and dividends hereinafter by this our Royal \Varmint granted subject as ant r mentioned llpOR 
this trusts hereinafter expressed (that is to say) upon trust in the first place Bierman to pay to George 
Maude Esquire the solieita it ear the atarjrs of our Treasury the sum of one hundred and sixty-six pounds 
twehe shillings and nine-pence being the amount of the costs charges and expenses ineurred by him in 
the psemiees in our behalf and in the next place to pay the fees and stamp duty on this our Royal 
Warrent and in the next place to pay all arrears of the rent which 'nay he due ender the said lease and 
all such costs charges and expeases incurred by or on behalf of the said Sand, Tawell in making 
discovery of and assisting in the pros:minion of our right and title to the premiss; respectively and all 
such costs charges and expenses attending the said sale or sales or otherwise to he incurred in or about 
the execution if the trusts heeeby created or any of them such costs ehereee and expenw•; to be 
submitted to the consideration taxation and determination of a respectable solicitor to be roamed and 
appointed for that purpose by the said trustees or trustee for the time being and to be approved of by 
the selieitee for the affairs of our Treasury for the time being and in default of such nominatien and 
appointment then by a respectable solicitor to be named and appointed for the purpose by the solicitor 
for the affairs of our Treasury for the time being alone and the necessary and reasonable charges of the 
solicitor so to be appointed as aforesaid to be paid out of the said trust funds and in the next place do 
and shall pay unto the said Sarah Taiwan the sum of one thousand five hundred pounds in full for all 
claims which she may now have for or in respect of ftny arrears of the said annuity of six hundred 
pounds so covenanted to be paid to law as aforesaid by the said John Tared' or fur or in respect of any 
other claim of the said Sarah Tawell on the property hereby granted or any portion thereof and in the next 
place do and shall pay to the said Isabella Beth& 'Ewell her executors administrators or-assigns such a 
sum of money as will be sufficient to make up an annuity of forty pounds as front the thirteenth day of 
October one thousand eight hundred And iorty-seven up to the date of this our Royal Warrant and 
subject as aforesaid do and shall stand and be possessed of all the surplus of the said moneys and the 
income ef the said premises till sale and conversion upon snd for the trusts intents and pelmet and 
with under and subject to the powers provisions and conditions in and by the said indentures of the 
thirty-first day of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five respectively expressed and 
declared of and concerning the moneys which should come to their »ands and which should have arisen 
from the sale mud conversion of the real and personal estate thereby settled and the income thereof or 
such of the same trusts intents and purposes powers provisions and conditions es are now subsisting 
undetermined end ttapthle of takin effect extent drat the said trustees or trusts or this our Royal 
Warrant do and shall by and out of the income of the said trust moneys stocks funds and securities or of 
the rents income and profits of the premises hereby granted until sale in the first place pay unto the 
said Isabella Balm Tawell and her assigns one annuity of forty pounds for her life to commence) from 
the date of this our Royal Warrant and be paid half-yearly without any deduction whatsoever and a 
proportionate part to he paid up to her decease And we do hereby declare that as regarde the invvieion 
by the said indenture of settlement of the twenty-third day of February one thonatand eight hundred 
and forty-ono intended to be »nide no part of the property hereby granted shall be cenaidered as appli- 
cable under the trusts contained in the said indentures of the thirty-first day of January one thousand 
eight hundred and forty-five for the payment of the debts of the said John Treenail to the carrying into 
effect the covenants or engagements of the said indenture of the twenty-third day of February one 
thousand eight hundred and forty-one and that as regards the said Sarah Tawell the provision hereby 
made for her shall be taken in full satisfaction of the provision intended to be made by the said settle- 
ment Of the twenty-third day of February one thousand eight hundred and forty-one both for the said 
Sarah Tawell and all other parties claiming under the said settlement (save and except so far as relates 
to the sum of one thousand pounds new three pounds ten shillings per cent. Bank annuities therein 
mentioned) and of all other claims and demands of the said Sarah Tuwell in any part of the estate and. 
effects of the said John Tawell and that the said moneys shall not under the trusts of the said firstly 
hereinbeforo recited indenture of the thirty-first day of January one thousand eight _hundred and forty- 
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five Ine liable to the trusts for the replacing the said ten shares in the Alliance Marine Assurance 
Company as in the said indenture is mentioned And we do hereby declare that it shall and may he 
lawful for the said trustees or trustee for the time hein r of these presents before an absolute sale under 
the trusts aforesaid to levy and raise any moneys which they or he may think necessary to raise for 
any of the purposes of this our Royal Warrant by mortgage of all or any part of the freehold and lease-
hold pr•mises hereby granted so as any such mortgage he made with the consent of the Commissioners 
of our Treasury for the time being or any three of them signified by writing under their hands And 
further we do hereby declare that it shall be lawfal for the said trustees or trustee before any sale or 
sales as aforesaid to base all and singular the said freehold and leaseh,Ad premises or any part thereof 
respectively for any term not exceeding twenty-one years in possession so as every such lease he made 
with the consent in writing of the said Sarah TaweII during her life Anil we do hereby further direct 
that it shall he lawful fir the said trustees or trustee for the time being of these presents from time to 
time in their or his discretion to lay out and invest the said trust moneys and premkes or any portion 
thereof at interest on coy real security in England or Wales and from time to time at the like discretion 
to alter and vary the securities in or Oh which the same shall be invested either to or for other 
securities of the like nature or to or for securities of the nature prescribed in the said last mentioned 
indentures of sttlement of the thirty-first day of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five 
either as occasion shall require or as they shall see fit but so as every such investment or change of 
investment be made with the consent in writing of the said Sarah Tawell during her life And we do 
hereby declare that the receipt and receipts of the trustees or trustee for the time being of these 
presents shall bu a good discharge and good discharges to all persons ter any of the trust moneys hereof 
and shall after payment of the same moneys effectually discharge such persons respectively from seeing 
to the application or being answerable for the misapplication of the same moneys And we do hereby 
further give and grant unto the said William Tacit and William Bevan their executors administrators 
and assigns the rents issues interest dividends and pm-fits which are now due to us from any person or 
persons whomsoever for or in respect of the said premises in the said inquisitinn mentioned after 
allowing thereout the said payments to or retained by the said William Bevan and Sarah Tawell of the 
two several sums of one thousand one hundred pounds and eight hundred and el-von pounds three 
shillinrs and sixpmee as hereinbefore mentioned nevertheless upon the trusts hereinbefore declared of 
the said premises And we do hereby give and grant unto the said William TaweII and William Bevan 
their executors administrators and assigns full power and authority to ask demand sue for recover and 
receive tlso same rents interest dividends and profits and to settle and adjust all accounts relating 
thereto Arid these pees ruts shall be to all who sh.d) or may bs emcerned therein a sufficient warrant 
Given at our Court at Windsor Castle on the thirtieth day of December ill the eleventh year of our 
reign and in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-seven. 

By Her Majesty's Commond, 
W. GIBSON CRAIG. 
H. RICH. 
SHELBURNE. 

Grant of certain freehold and leasehold estates situate at Gt.eat Berkhampstead in the County 
of Hertford and eertain chattels which escheated and devolved to the Crown on the commission and 
conviction of felony by John Tawell to trustees upon the trusts above-mentioned for the benefit of the 
widow and family of the said John Tawell. 

[Enclosure 3 ire No. 32.] 

To ALT, to whom these presents shall come we William TaweII of Earls Colee in the county of Essex 
in England draper and William DOVILII of the Old Jewry in the City of London gentleman Bella greeting 
Whereas by an indenture bearing date the this ty-first day of January one thousand eight hundred and 
forty-five and made between Joint Taws11 then of Herkhampstead in the county of Bert; gentleman 
(since deceased) of the one part end us the said William Tawell and William Bevan of the ether part After 
reciting amongst other things that the said John Tawell was seized of certain real estates situated in 
New Smith Wales and also that he was possessed of and entitled to eighty shares in the Bank of New 
South Wales then standing in his name ten shares in the Commercial Bank of Sydney (hereinafter 
called the Commercial Banking Company of Sydney) also standing in Ids name And also to sixty 
shares he the Sydney Alliance Ass:trance Company (meaning thereby the Australian General Assurance 
Company hereinafter mentioned) also standing in his name The said Jan Taweit (lid grant release 
and assign to Us the said William Tawell and William Bevan our heirs executors administrators and. 
assigns All and every the freehold estates and also all and every the said respective shares therein 
and hereinbefore mentioned Ana all other the real and personal estate and effects of what nature or 
description the same might be of him the said John Tawell in New South Wales and elsewhere in 
Australia And the said John Tawell did thereby irrevocably give and grant to us the said William 
Tawell amid William Bevan and the survivor of us our executors administrators and assigns power and. 
authority to demand recover receive and take possession of the said Bank shareS and Assurance shares 
and all dividends bonuses and money due or to heemne due in respect thereof' And when and as we 
should think fit to ask deman'i and ohtnin a transfer or transfers into our or either of our IMMUS in the 
books of transfer of the said respective companies or into such other name or names as we might deem 
proper And whereas at the Assizes holden in and for the county of Buckingham on the tenth day of 
March one thousand eight hundred mid forty-five the said John Tawell was indicted for the messier of 
one Sarah Hart and tried and found guilty thereof and shortly thereafter slithered death for the same 
And whereas by an inquisition taken at Hertford on the seventeenth day of June one thousand eight 
hundred and forty-seven (in pursuance of a Commission under the Great Sisal bearing date at West- 
minster the twenty-feurth day of April one thousand eight hundred and forty-seven) it was found that 
the said John 'Bawdl was on the said tenth day (if March one thousand eight hundred and forty-five 
pusses:A as of his own proper goods and chattels of and in eighty shales of one hundred pounds 
sterling each in the bank capital stock of the Bank of New South Wales and also (of and in ten shares 
of one hundred pounds sterling eault of the bank capital stock in the Commcreial Banking Company 
of Sydney in New South Wales aforesaid (being the manse shares as the said eighty shares in the said 
Bank of New Snuffs Wales and the Commercial Bank of Sydney in the hcreinbefore recited indenture 
mentioned) All which said shares lead become forfeited to her present Majesty and which the said 
Commissioners had in obedience to the said Commission seized into the hands of Her Alsjesty And 
whereas Der present Most Gracious Majesty by IIer Royal Warrant under Her Royal Sign Manual 
bearing date at Windsor Castle the thirtieth day of December one thousand eight hundred and forty- 
seven did give and grant unto us the said William Tawell and William Bevan unr executors adminis- 
trators and assigns (amongst other things) All the said shares mentioned and comprised in the said 
inquisition And also sixty shares of ten pounds each of the capital stock of the Australian General 
Assurance Company whereof the said John Tawell was at the time of leis said conviction also possessed 
being the same shares as are in the hereinbefore recited indenture called or described as sixty shares in 
the Sydney Alliance Assurance Company standing in the name of the said John Tawell To have hold 
receive and take the same shares unto us the said William 'Baleen and William Bevan their executors 
administrators and assigns Upon the trusts in the said warrant declared of and concerning the same 
And Her said Majesty did also give and grant unto the said William Tawell and William Bevan their 
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executors administrators and assigns the interest dividends and profits which were then due to Her 
from any nelson or persons whomsoever for or in respect of the said premises Now know ye that we 
the said William Tawe11 and William Bevan do and each of us doth hereby nominate constitute and 
appoint James Norton of Sydney in the Colony of New South Wales gentleman and George Cooper 
Turner of the same place. Crown Solicitor and each of them by himself our true and lawful Attorneys 
and Attorney jointly and severally for us the said William Towel' and William Bevan in our names or 
lathe names or name of our said Attorneys or either of them to enter upon and take possession of all 
the lands tenements hereditaments and premises within the said Colony which were released to us by 
the said John Tawell as aforesaid and to manage or let the same to a tenant or tenants thereof for any 
term or number of years not exceeding twenty-one years or from year to year as our said Attorneys or 
either of them shall think expedient and at such rent or rents and on snch terms and conditions as they 
shall think proper And also if our said Attorneys or either of them shall think expedient from time to , 
time to sell and dispose of all or any part or part; of the said lands and hereditaments to a purchaser or 
purchasers thereof hir such price or prices as they shall think reasonable and to accept and receive the 
consideration or purchase money for the same And thereupon for us and in our mums or in the names 
or IMMO Of our said Attorneys or either of them to grant such receipts acquittances or discharges as 
shall be requisite and proper And also for us and in our names and as our acts and deeds to make 
sign seal execute and deliver all such releases or other discharges as shall or may be requisite and 
necessary for the purpose of effectual y releasing conveying and assuring such lands and hereditaments 
unto tlui purchaser or purchasers thereof his her or their heirs and assigns or to such use and upon and 
for such trusts as Ile she or they shall direct And we do hereby further authorize and empower our 
said Attorneys and each of them for us and in our names and as our acts and deeds or in the name and 
as the act and deed of the survivor of us to sign seal and deliver the several deeds of settlement of the 
said Banking and Assurance Companies respectively And thereupon for us and in our names or in 
the name of the survivor or us and to and for our use to ask demand and receive of the person or persons 
who shall from time to thee be liable to pay or account for the same or any other person or persons 
whomsoever All dividends bonuses or other moneys whether on account of capital or otherwise which 
now is or are or shall or may from time to time hereafter be or become payable to us or which we are 
now entitled unto fin. or in respect or on account of the said shares of the capital stock of and in the 
said Banking and Assurance Companies respectively and to give sign and grant sufficient receipts and 
acquittunces for the same And also for us and each of us and in our names or name to make sale of all 
and every the said shares hunt nbefore mentioned or any portion thereof And all other shares or share 
of or to which we now are or may hereafter be possessed or entitled of and in the said Banking and 
Assurance Company respectively and to receive and give sufficient acquittances for the purchase 
moneys thereof respectively And fig us and in our names to Agri seal execute and deliver all transfers 
and deeds necessary to com plete the same And we du hereby further authorize and empower our said 
Attorneys and each er them to ask demand and by all legal and effectual ways and means whatsoever 
to recover and rec 1w of end from all persons whom it shall or may concern to pay or account for the 
same all and every other sum and slims of money debts goods chattels effects and things whatsoever 
which now is or are or which shall or may at any time hereafter appear to be due owing payable 
beton ring or appertaining unto us by bonds mortgages notes bills of exchange balance or account 
current consignment agreement decree judgment execution or by or open any other account way reason 
or means soarer Also to view state settle liquidate and adjost all or any accounts whatsoever depcndiug 
between us and any person or persons whomsoever And upon recovery of any such moneys goods 
chattels or effects for us and in our names and as our nets and deeds to make sign seal and execute and 
in doe form of law deliver all such rereipts releases reconveyanecs surrenders or other effectual acquit-
tance:a and discharge's in the law for the same as shall be requisite and necessary Also in case of 
neglect or refusal on the part of any person or persons whom it may concern to make account payments 
and, delivery in the premises him or them to compel and for that purpose to inake such claims demands 
arrests silzurcs levies attachments and sequestrations or prosecute such actions and snits RS oar said 
Attorneys shell think fit Also to appear before any Judges Magistrates or other Officers in any Courts 
of Law or to answer defend and reply in all matters touching or concerning the premises 
Likewise to subma all or any diderences to arbitration in the usual and customary manner or in case 
the whole amount of any debt or sum of money payable to us cannot be recover, d to accept of part in 
satisfaction of the whole or grant extension of time for payment of the same And generally in and 
about the premises to do and exteute all such acts deeds matters and things which shall or may be 
requisite and necessary in mai about the premises as fully and effectually as we could or might do if 
personally present And we do hereby empower our said Attorneys rind each of them to substitute and 
appoint one or more Attorney or Attorneys under them or him with the like or more limited powers 
the stone to revoke and others to appoint And we do hereby promise to ratify confirm and allow all 
and is hatsoever our said Attorneys or either of them their or either of their substitute or substitutes 
shall horridly do in and about the premises lin witness whereof we have hereunto set our hands and 
seals this twenty-sixth day of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-eight. 

Signed sealed and delivered by the above-named 	 WILLIAM TAWELL. 	(Ls.) 
William Tawell and William Bevan 	 WILLM. BEVAN. in the 	 (La.) 
presence of 

'TIMER GOODEVE, 6 Old Jewry, London, Solicitor. 
Tao. DAVIES, Clerk to Messrs. Bevan & Goodeve, 6 Old Jewry, 

I Sarah Tawell widow of the late. John Tawell do hereby consent to the above power of Attorney 
and the sale thereby authorized to be made Dated this twenty-eighth day of January one thousand 
eight hundred and forty-eight. 

SARAH TAWELL 
Witness— 

JOSEPH GOODEVE. 
Tao. DAVIES. 

No certify that tins and the four preceding sheets contain a true and attested copy of the 
original power of Attorney the same having been carefully examined therewith by us this sixth day 
of November A.D. 1851. 

STEPN. SMITH, 
IL P. ROWLAND, 

Clerks to Messrs. Norton, Son, & Barker, 
Solicitors, Sydney, N.S.W. 

219—E 	 [Enctosure 
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Old Autry, 
26 Apra, 1851. 

Dear Sir, 
Your letter of 8th October, 1350, addressed to Mr. William Towel], by ship "Earl Grey," 

and covering draft on Union Bank of Australia for £249 14s. 3d., was received on 51st March last, and 
has since been acknowledged, I find, by that gentleman. 

The contents of your letter have given to Mr. William Tawell and myself, and I need hardly say 
Mrs. Tirwell also, extreme pain. We were aware, by a letter received from Mr. Turner, and dated about 
the same time as yours, that he was at San Francisco, but he alleged that he bad gone there solely upon 
matters of business, and was on his way to this country. We had no idea whatever that he had fled 
secretly from your Colony, and your letter is the first intimation of this very thstressing fact. 

You will please to b .ar in mind that neither my co-trustee nor myself have ever in any degree 
given yon reason to suppose that we did not look upon your exertions to be quite as necessary and as 
effectual as Mr. Turner's. 

In our letter of January, 1848, and indeed on all other manakins, you are the party first addressed, 
and we c mnot for one moment suppose that you will allow Mrs. Tawell to be a sufferer by anything 
that may have taken place in respect of Mr. Turner. This premised, we wish to call attention to some 
of the items in the account sent its by you and in particular to those of " commission," £334 10s., and 
cash remitted Bevan and Goode ve, by Mr. Turner, 2425 its 5d. The first item is one winch we can never 
sanction, more especially when we find tbe very large sum of :2405 2s. 4d. previously charged as costs 
of the sale—E267 10s. on the sale of .41670 worth of property. As to the other item it seems almost 
needless to tell you that no such sum has ever been remitted by Mr. Turner. The auctioneer's charges 
on sale, E23 Gs. 11d., are twice deducted—you will find once in your own account and once an Mr. 
Turner's. We shall expect the balance of these three sums, together amounting to 477a3 12s. 41., after 
deducting, the sum of :6294 19s. 3d., received 31st March last. or 2438 .13s. Id., to he remitted to us as 
seen as convenient. You are far from correct in your account of the proceedings which have been ter-
minated by the sale of the land, and which sale was invalid and of no effect. You will find, on reference 
to my letter of 20th January, 1818, that we informed you a grant from the Colonial Governor was 
necessary before any title could be inside to the freeholds in New South Wales. Notwithstanding, this, 
and the opinion of your Solicitor General, you appear to have facilitated an illegal sale by your co-
trustee, by, to use your own words, " handing him over the power of attorney and all the documents you 
"held." Another sale will now take place under the Governor's Grant, the form of which goes out by 

• this mail from the Colonial °Hie !, and we rely upon yo exertimis to see that a fair price Is this time 
realized for the prop aty comprised in the grant, which we are told ought to produce at leest double the 
amount of the former thread and illegal sale, if not mere. We regret the position in which the pur-
chasers from Mr. Turner are aaced, but as it is quite clear he could not make a title in the absence of 
The grant front th Crown, they will nit b without their remedies. 

As respects the detention of the sum of £1,200 by the Bank of New South Wales, we have 
already written an opinion of the illegality of this, as against the Crown, and we have to nine& you 
*ill take immediate proceedings to recover this sum, as Mrs. Towel' is absolutely in want of it ; and 
On pretext upon rib: la it is retained apgeers to us tau unreaianable to admit of much consideration. 
We regret to hear of the losses sustained by the partners in the Bank of Australia, and most especially 
your own, but we hope and believe you will not allow this consideration to weigh with you, but will at 
once apply f a. and obtain restitution of thr 1.1,2i(II; it is fir too regiouri an item in the trust aceerant to 
be thus lijbtly relinquished. The sum of £291 148. Sd., received 31st ult., can only of coarse he 
accepted by us as payment :;an- rally on account of the balance dm to us from Mr. Turner and yourself, 
and not 13 a specific payment for bunk the sale of which we do nut consider to hive been made with 
our consent, in the absence of a grant. 

And now, dear sir, we (menet close a letter most painful to us to be compelled to write, without 
gratefully observing, both on behalf of Mrs. 'Livia and for ourselves, the very moderate account of 
your own charges, and at sumo time regretting Boit you shoultl have allmved any arguments, however 
(specious, to have prevailed over your better judgment so far as to have induced you to deliver up to 
your colleague a power which was intrusted to you in a cause so sacred, and we rely upon your using 
every exertion to reinstate Mrs. Tawell in the position which she would have occupied but for that 
extraordinary infatuation which your letter discloses, 

We arc, die., 
WILL. TAWELL & WM. BETAN. 

(Per WILL. BEVAN.) 
To James Norton, Esq., 

Sydney, New South Wales 

[Enclosure 5 in 32.] 
Sydnsy, New Astlt Waits, 

27 August, 1851. 
Gentlemen, 

If I could have been astonished at anything, I should have been so at the letter you ventured 
to address to me respecting the property left by the late Mr. John 'Powell in this Colony, and the 
measures adopted by Mr. Cooper Tian& and myialf for its disposal and the transmission of the proceeds 
to England fur the benefit of his widow. As I am not likely to trouble you with any further corre-
spondence, I think it d le to myself to take a brief review of my conduct during the very many years in 
which I acted as Mr. Tawell's agent. 

When Mr. Tawell first retired from the Colony, he intrusted me with the sale management of 
his affairs, and the collection of' the large sum of money for which he sold his business to Mr. Fuss, and 
he chose to express his gratitude to me for the manner in which his interest was attended to.He 
afterwards appointed a Mr. Murphy to manage what he was pleased to call a matter of too little 
consequence to require my aid. On his next visit to the Colony be expressed very groat regret at the 
change he had made—informed me that he had with great difficulty closed his account with Mr. 
Murphy, and he again placed his affairs in my hands. I continued to act as his agent to the thne of his 
death, and have too many letters in which he expresses his satisfaction at my management to admit of 
any question that I had at all times acted with the strictest justice and propriety. 

When I observed Mr. G. Cooper's name added to mine in the letter of attorney which was for-
warded with instructions to dispose of and transmit to England the proceeds of his property. I confess 
that I entertained a feeling very nearly approaching to disgust, but as Mr. Turner was a gentleman of 
the first connections in the Colony, and held a legal appointment of very great trust, I agreed to act 
under your authority. 

Before I had finished a perusal of the documents you had forwarded, I received a visit from Mr. 
Turner, who informed me that he had a letter from his friend Mr. Bevan, and that he had called to look 
at the documents. I of course produced them, on which he observed, that, as they would require a 
careful perusal, he would take them with him. I saw them no more until after his departure for San 
Francisco; but a day or two after he had taken them he called on me and said the first step was to hold 
a Court of Inquisition to had the death of Mr. Tawell and the forfeiture of his property to the Crown, 

until 

[Enclosure 4 in ./Vo. 32.] 
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until which, the Attorney General had informed him, that no steps could be taken to give effect to the 
Queen's grant; and that, as lie was the Civil Crown Solicitor, of course he should immediately take the 
necessary steps to effect this object. End I any right, any reason, to interfere and prevent so necessary 
a course ? The inquisition was held accordingly, and we proceeded to get in and convert the personal 
estate; and, that no misunderstanding should arise between us, we agreed to open an account in your 
names in the Commercial Bank, and pay in all moneys which resulted from the estate. 

The first obstacle that presented itself was the attachment of the money realized by the sale of 
the stock of the Bank of New South Wales for a debt due to that institution by the Bank of Australia, 
to which it was thought (and I apprehend correctly) that Mr. Tawell's stock was, notwithstanding the 
Queen's grant, liable. On this subject Mr. Turner obtained the best legal advice. It was thought that 
it could hardly be held to he the intention of the Queen, in granting Mr. Tawell's property to his 
widow, to defeat any liability to which it was under at the time of his death ; and you may recollect 
that in your Power you authorized the signing of the Bank of New South Wales settlement, which of 
course involved a conformity to all its provisions. 

Having collected the personal estate, Mr. Turner informed me that he had put the real estate into 
the hands of Mr. Mort for sale. I immediately called on Mr. Mort and explained the arrangement that 
had been made for the deposit of all moneys in the Commercial Bank, and begged that he-would not 
allow any payments to be !mode without my concurrence: to this lie consented, and it ryas Ibis notice 
that secured the deposit which was paid into his hands on the land sale, and which I remitted to you. 
But Mr. Mort might have refused to enter into inch an agreement with me, and if 112e Turner had 
insisted on the payment of the proceeds to himself he could have dune so—he held your joint and several 
power of attorney. 

In the course of the agency I had ascertained that the joint and Several power had been used by 
Mr. Turner to draw from the Commercial Bank various sums of money. I immediately went to the 
Bank, drew out the whole of the funds, and lodged them in the joint mines of myself and Mr. Turner, 
by which his draft could not be paid without my signature. Mr. Turner still held his public offiee, and 
was received as a man of character; it was, therefore, nenesstry for me to treat him as such. I tonthim, 
however, that, if either party were to appropriate the. fonds without the consent of the other, it might 
occasion great difficulty in rend( ring an account to the trustees. He replied thathe had only drawn out 
sums that were necessary to enable him to establish Mrs. Tawell's claims, and his share of the tatm-
mission, which he then explained dot he intended should he at least per cent. I remonstrated, hot 
could I interfire with your joint and several agent? I did, however, prevent any further no by Mr. 
Turner of the moneys which had been lodged in the bank. 

Mr. Turner afterwards informed Ma that the purchasers of the real estates had objected to the 
title, the Law Officers of the Crown being of opinion that, under an Act of the British Parliament, 
which regulates the sale of Crown lands within the Colony, the grant of the Queen to Mrs. 'Powell was 
void in law. On this subject I frequently conferred with Mr. Turner, and saw the severed opinions he 
had taken, and up to a very short tune before he left the Colony he told me that the sales lied net been 
completed, and, as no application had been made to me by any of the purchasers upon the subject, I had 
no reason to doubt the truth of his statement they were, in Met. completed by him a Short time before 
he left, and, as your joint and several attorney, he was enabled to convey the lots to the several pur-
chasers without my knowledge or concurrence, and as the purchase money was paid to you (that is to 
your duly constituted attorney) I apprehend that you have very much mistaken the law and equity of 
the case in supposing that the Crown will, by making it new grant to Mrs. Terrell, or to any one for 
her benefit, lend itself to a gross fixed upon the purchasers. I, for one, will never advocate so dis-
honest a proceeding. 

Any further course you determine to adopt most be prosecuted by some other agent. I cease to 
represent yon, and I shall only notice one paragraph in your letter, which, for unblushing effrontery, I 
hope, is without a parallel : it is, " You are the party first addressed, and IVO cannot for one moment 
" suppose that you will allow Mrs. Tawell to be a sufferer by anything that may have taken place in 
" respect of Mr. Turner." 

Had Mr. Turner been a personal friend of mine, and had his n: me been introduced into the power 
of attorney at my request., or on my recommendation, I might have felt myself under some obligation 
to contribute towards a loss that had been occasioned by advice so truly unfortunate. 

I am, be., 
Messrs. Terrell and Bevan. 	 J. NORTON. 

New South Wales,} 
(to wit.) 

[Sub-Enclosure in Ho. 32.] 

AN Inquisition indented and taken at Sydney in the Colony of New South Wales on Tuesday the 
twenty-second day of August in the twelfth year of the Reign of Our Sovereign Lady 'Victoria and in 
the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty eight before Samuel Frederick Milford 
George Phillips Foster Gregory George John Rogers and James Norton junior Esquires by virtue of 
the annexed commission of our said Lady the Queen and under the seal of the said Supreme Court of 
New South Wales bearing date the fifth day of August in the said twelfth year of the Reign of our 
said Lady the Queen and before James Middleton (foreman) Jeremiah Murphy John Martyn Lewis 
Moore Albert Mason John Henry Myers Robert May John Marsh Isaac Moss Thomas Maguire 
Jeremiah Murphy John Wilson Mullen Thomas Moore being duly empannelled and returned by force 
of the said commission and sworn upon the Holy Evangelists to inquire find out and fully inform them- 
selves of what lands tenements and hereditaments and of what annual value and of what estates within 
the said Colony John Terrell in the said annexed commission mentioned to have been anointed and 
convicted of felony or any other or others was or were seized to his use on the first day of January one 
thousand eight hundred and forty-five or ever afterwards and who has since taken the mesne profits 
thereof and of whom and by what service or services and by what tenure or tenures the same were 
holden and whether the same or any and which of them had escheated and devolved and come to Her 
Majesty and also what and what sort of leases or grants of lands tenements or hereditamente and what 
and what sort of annuities or annual rents and what and what sort of goods and chattels and of what 
value and what and what sort of debts credits specialities and Mims of money the said John Terrell or 
any other or others for Ids use had on the tenth day of March A. 0. one thousand eight hundred and 
forty-five on which day the said John Tawell was convicted and attainted of felony as aforesaid or at 
any time since upon their oaths say that the said John Tawell was on the said first day of January one 
thousand eight hundred and forty-five or at some than afterwards and previous to the day of taking 
this inquisition seized or possessed of or otherwise entitled to a good estate of inheritance in fee simple 
in possession to him and his heirs in soeage tenure of in and to all that piece or parcel of land in the said 
County of Cumberland and Parish of Alexandria bounded on or towards the north by the estate of Mr. 
Justice Bowling one hundred and eight feet on or towards tho east by the 'same estate thirty-four feet 
eleven inches on or towards the west by the same estate sixty-six feet ten inches and on or towards the 
south by William-street one hundred and seventeen feet six inches being part of the hereditament+ 
comprised in the horeinbefore in port recited indentures and forming the said lot two together be. 
And also all that allotment or parcel of land in our said Territory containing by admeasnrement eleven 
perches situated in the Town of Sydney Parish of Saint James County of Cumberland allotment umber 

eleven 
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eleven of section number forty-one and hounded on the east by the building line of Macquarie-street 
bearing north three degrees fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links on the north by allotment number 
twelve bearing west two degrees south one hundred and sixty links on the west by allotment number 
twenty bearing south one degree east fifty and a quarter links and on the south by allotment number 
ten bearing east five degrees thirty minutes north one hundred and sixty-two links being part of an 
allotment leased to Samuel Thornton by His Excellency Sir Thomas Brisbane on thirtieth June one 
thousand eight hundred and twenty-three and now granted to the said John Lovell And also all that 
piece or parcel of land situate lying and being in the Parish of Saint Andrew in the Town of Sydney 
aforesaid bounded on the west by Sussex-street twenty four feet on the north by other part of the land 
comprised in the hereinbefore in part recited grant sold to John Borne and Matthew Shaw respectively 
sixty-six feet on the east by a lane reserved for the use of the said John Tawell his heirs and assigns 
in common with the occupiers of the other parts of the land comprised in the said grant forty-one feet 
ten inches and on the south by a road leading into George-street also reserved for the use of the said 
John TuveII his heirs and assigns in common with the occupiers of the other parts of the lands com-
prised in the said grant And also all that piece or parcel of land situate lying and being in the Parish 
of Saint Andrew aforesaid bounded on the west by Sussex-street twenty-two feet on the north by the 
premises of Mr. Knowles Bryant and others seventy four feet two inches nn the east by the reserved 
lane aforesaid twenty-two feet four inches and on the south by the said lands I if the said John Byrne 
and Matthew Shaw severity feet one inch together with the use of the reserved lane and road herein-
before mentioned And also all that piece or parcel of land or ground containing by admeasurement 
four acres two roods and thirty-five perches situate and being in the County of Cumberland and Parish 
of Alexandria aforesaid bounded on the east by a private road of twenty feet width by a hire south six 
chains and seven links on the north by land belonging to Mr. James Barker by a fenced line east seven 
chains and eighty-four feet on the west by the road leading from the South Head to Sydney seven chains 
and forty-five links and on the south by land belonging to Mr. Henry Mace by a line west seven chains 
to the commencing corner together with the free use and enjoyment of the said private road in common 
with the owners and occupiers of the adjoining land and also with all houses dm. And the said jurors 
upon their oaths aforesaid say that the said lands tenements and heredimments became and are icheated 
and forfeited to the use of Her said Majesty but as to who bath taken the mesne profits thereof and as 
to what and what sort of leases or grants of lands tenements or hereditaments for any term or terms of 
years and what and what sort of monodies or annual rents and what and what sort of goods and chattels 
and of what nature and what sort of debts credits specialities and sums of money the said John 'Farrell 
or any other or others to his use had on the tenth day of March one thousand eight hundred and forty-
five on which day he was convicted and attainted of felony as aforesaid Tire jurors aforesrid are not 
informed In witness whereof the abovenamed SOIDUVi Frederick Milford George Phillip Foster 
Gregory George John Rogers and James Norton junior and also the jurors aforesaid have to this 
inquisition taken the day and year first above mentioned set their hands and affixed their seals on the 
same day and year and at the place first above stated. 
(h.s.) 	SAML. FREDK. MILFORD. 
(as.) 	G P. F. GREGORY. 
(as.) 	GEORGE J. ROGERS. 
(Ls.) JAMES NORTON, Jusa. 

No. 33. 
GOVERNOR SIR CHAS. A. FITZ Roy to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

27 January, 1852. 
JOHN TAIVELL. 

Forwarding Report of Law Officers, stating their opinion that the rustees have no claim to 
a grant of the property sold by them, in the forfeited estate of' the executed felon. 

MY LORD, 
Your Lordship's despatch, No. 31, of the 19th April last, with its enclosures, 

respecting the escheated estate of the late John Tawell, reached me on the 4th of September, 
and I lost no time in laying the matter before the Law Officers of this Government, in order, 
as instructed by your Lordship, that the necessary steps might be taken for carrying out the 
recommendations contained in the letter from the Secretary of the Lords CommIsioners of 
the Treasury, which accompanied the same, for the filling up of a form of grant prepared by 
their Lordships' solicitor for that purpose, and which your Lordship directed to be issued 
under the Great Seal of this Colony in favour of Messrs. W. Timed and W. Bevan, for the 
benefit of the widow and family of the late John Tawell. 

2. I have now the honor to enclose the copy of a report from the Attorney and 
Solicitor General of this Colony on this subject, by which your Lordship will perceive that, 
under the circumstances therein mentioned, these officers recommend that the whole case be 
again laid before your Lordship, together with the several applications made on behalf of 
the parties resident in this Colony who purchased portions of the property in question, under 
a certain power of attorney referred to by them. 

3. Your Lordship will perceive that the Crown Law Officers are of opinion that 
Messrs. Tawc11 and Bevan, the trustees of the late John Tamil, are not, either in law or 
in equity, entitled to the grant of the portion of the property which has been sold under 
their authority ; and as this report is very lucid, and in my opinion a fair explanation of the 
whole circumstances of the case, I do not think it necessary that I should trouble your 
Lordship with any further remarks, particularly as the matter has already been under 
reference to your Lordship. 

I have, Sec., 
CHS. A. FITZ ROY. 

No. 34: 
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No. 34. 

SECRETARY OF STATE to GOVERNOR SIR CHAS, A. Fitz ROY. 

Downing-street, 
0 October, 1853. 

SIR, 
With reference to your despatch, No. 20, of the 27th January, 1S52, enclosing 

a report from the Attorney and Solicitor General of your Government, in reply to a 
reference which you made to them, on the receipt of the instructions addressed to you by 
Earl Grey, on the 19th April, 1851, respecting the disposal of the escheated property in 
New South Wales belonging to the late John Tawell, an executed felon, in which they state 
their opinion that the trustees appointed to receive the same for the benefit of Tawell's 
widow had no claim either in law or in equity to the grant of a portion of the land 
belonging to the estate which had been sold by them, I transmit, for your information and 
guidance, the copy of a ease submitted, on this point, to the Law Officers of the Crown, 
together with their opinion thereon, which has been received through the Board( f Treasury, 
and I have to instruct you to proceed with the grant of this property in t he manner proposed 
by the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury, in the letter from that Board, dated 11th April, 
1851, of which a copy was transmitted in Earl Grey's despatch above referred to, and 
according to the form which accompanied that letter. 

I have, Sm., 
NEWCASTLE. 

[Enclosures in No. 84.] 
In the Matter of John Time], an anointed Felon. 

CASE as to the Grant of Escheated Property in New South Wales. 
Herewith arc the following Papers :— 

1. Copy of Her Majesty's Warrant of 30th December, 1847, granting certain escheated 
property of the above-named felon (chiefly in England) to trustees for the benefit 
of his widow and family. 

2. Copy of a letter from Messrs. Bevan and Goodeve to the Treasury, of 0th January, 1848; 
of a letter from the Secretary of the Treasury to the Colonial Office, of 2-5th 
January, :848; and of a letter from the Colonial Office to the Governor of New 
South Wales, of 29th January, 1s48. 

3. Case, and Opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General as to the power of the Crown 
to grant the escheated lands in the Colony. In this milt will he found a despatch 
from the Governor of New South Wales, of 24th June, ls50, stating that the title 
of the Crown to the property in the Colony had been Ihund by 

The above opinion was shortly afterwards transmitted, together with a nine of grant ‘prepared 
in this Country) to the Governor of New South Wales, with instructions to Mtn to cause the grant to be 
perfected and passed under the Oren Seal of the Colony, to complete the transfer of the property for 
the benefit of the widow and children of the felon. 

The following despatch and its enclosures have been received from Sir Charles Fitz Roy in 
reply :— 

" Government House. 
" Sydney, 27 January, 1852. 

" Sir, 
" Your Lordship's despatch (No. 31) of the 19th April last, with its enclosures, respecting 

" the escheated estate of the late Join, Tan-ell, reached me on the 14th of September, and I lust no time 
" in laying the mutter before the Law Officers of this Government, in order, as instructed by your 

Lordship, that the necessary steps might be taken for carrying out the recominenthttious contained 
'' in the letter of the Secretary of the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury, which accompanied the 
" same, for the filling up of a faela of grant prepared by their Lordships' solicitor for that purpose, and 
" which your Lordship directed to be issued under the Great Seal of this Colony in favour of Messrs. 
" W. Towel! and W. Bevan, for the benefit of the widow and family of the late John Tawell. 

" 2. 1 have now the honor to enclose a copy of a report from the Attorney and Solicitor General 1st November, 
" of this Colony on this subject, by which your Lordship will perceive that, under the circumstances 
" therein mentioned, those officers recomtnend that the whole ease be again laid before your Lordship, 
" together with the several applications made on behalf of the parties resident in this Cohny: who 
" purchased portions of the property in question, under a certain power of attorney referred to by them. 

" 3. Your Lordship will perceive that the Crown Law Officers are of opinion that 3lessro. 
" 'Powell and Bevan, the trustees of the late John Tawell, are not, either in law or in equity, entitled to 
" the grant of the portion of the property which has been sold under their authority ; and as this report 
" is very lucid, and, ill my opinion, a fair explanation of the whole circumstances of the ease, I do not 
" think it necessary that I should trouble your Lordship with any further remarks, particularly as 
" the matter has already been under reference to your Lordship. 

" I have, &c o  
"CHAS, A. FITZ BOY." 

" Attorney Gencrors (Nice, 
" Sydney, 1 Stvreiber, Ha. 

"Sir, 
'• In reply to your letter of the 26th September last, upon the subject of the grants of 

"land which Earl Grey has directed to be issued in favour of Messrs. W. Tawell and W. Bevan, for the 
" benefit of the widow and family of the late John Tawell, we have the honor to state that, being aware 
" from previous official correspondence with reference to these lands that sales of them liar' been made 
" in the Colony in the names of these trustees, and grants applied for by the purchasers, we requested 
'the Civil Crown Solicitor to obtain all necessary information on the subject. 

" 2. That officer has, accordingly, collected such information, and has placed before us much 
" official correspondence obtained from your office, and a variety of documents, to all of which we have 
" given very attentive consideration; and we find the following to be the leading features of the ease :— 

" 3. On the 31st January, 1845, and prior, therefore, to the conviction ef John Tawell, his real 
" and personal property in New South Wales was conveyed by him to Messrs. W. Tan-ell and .Bevan, 
" in trust to sell if they should think fit, and to apply the proceeds for the benefit of his wife and son, 
" and certain other persons. 

• "4. 
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" 4. On the 30th December, 1847, John Tawell's real and personal estate in England, and his 
" chattel property in New Smith Wales, were by the Queen's Warrant granted to the same trustees 
" upon the trusts of the above deed, and from the terms of the warrant (which refers to the above 
" mentioned conveyance of 31st January, 1845, without impugning it), as well as from the correspon- 

dence with and despatches of the Secrstary of State, it is evident that Her Majesty entirely waived 
" her claim by escheat to the real property in New South Wales, and that the same was to be granted 
" for the benefit of the widow and son of 'Centel], as soon as the Crown's title to it should have been 

found by inquisition held in the Colony. 
"5. On the 26th January, 1348, Messrs. IV. Taxed! and W. Bevan, executed and sent out a power 

" of attorney, which is now before us, and of which the enclosed copy has been furnished to us, by which, 
" after reciting the conveyance of 31st January, 1845, they appointed Messrs. Norton and C. C. Turner 
" their attorneys, and fully empowered them, jointly and severally, for them the said W. Tawell and W. 
" Bevan, m their names, or in the names of their said attorneys, or either of them, to sell and dispose of 
" the land in question, if the said attorneys or either of them should think expedient, and to receive am! 
" give ree sipts for the purchase moneys, and in the names of the said NV. Tawell and W. Bevan, and as 
" their acts and deeds, to make, sign and seal, execute and deliver all such releases and discharges as 
" should or might be neeessary for din:many releasing, conveying, and assuming such lands unto the 
" purchaser or purchasers thereof. 

" 6. An inquisition having been held in the Colony, by which the title of the Crown to the lands 
" in question was found, Mr. Turner made sale of those lands to various persons (by phblie auction, we 
" believe) under the authority of the above power of attorney. He subsequently received the purchase 
"money, and executed conveyances of these lands, and covenants to endeavour to procure deeds of grant 
" in the names of IV, a1V/111 and IV. Tawell. These acts were strictly within Mr. Turner's powers as a 
" several attorney of these trustees. 

7. After the sales, applications were made to the Colonial Government for deeds of grant in favour 
"of the put chasers, and it is probable that they would have been issued accordingly in 1849, but for a 
" dificalty which had occurred to ourselves in reference to another case of escheat, as to the sufficiency 
" of the terms of the Governor's Commission. 

" S. It would now seem, that although some portions of the purchase ntoneys were remitted to 
" Messrs. IV. Tawell and IV.Bevan, other portions were not so remitted, but hs ye been, or are supposed to 
" be, lest through Mr. Turner's reputed insolvency and emigration to California, and on this ground 
" Meesra. nivel' and Bevan seek to repudiate the aetings of Mr. Turner on their behalf, mid to give 
" effect to such repudiation by obtaining grants from the Crown to themselves. 

" 9. It is, we no, d not say, greatly to be lamented, that the widow and son of the deceased Tawell 
" should suffer thraugh tits. mispl, eed confidence reposed in Mr. Turn; r, but it appears to m e  that 
" according to every principle of equity it 13 right that, as the loss must unfortunately fall somewhere, 
" it should he borne by them, rather than by equally innocent pusehesers who had nothing to do with 
' 4  the ssl,cthm of, nor :soy control over the agent, who was regularly employed on their behalf. 

" ;O. According, also, to well known principles of the English Courts of Justice, we think it 
"plain. that if Messrs. Tawell and M -eau Were now to obtain a legal title to these lands by means of 
'• a grant Isom the Crown. they w uuld be estopped in lass from setting it op in derogation of deeds 

whi It mares le- - illy as much theirs as if they had executed them in person, and that, in equity, they 
" would be campsIlable to convey to their vendors the estate acquired from the Crown. It must be 
" admitted, indes d, that, as the Crown bus not yet formally divested itself of its absolute power of 
" disposing of the property as it may think fit, the application of these principles of law and equity 
" might be even t d by chfinging, the trustees or the trusts with that view; but, of course, the Crown 
" would not lend itself to seals a scheme. 

" 11. Having thus brought the facts of the case, as far as they are known to us, under the notice 
" of the Governor General, we have DOW, in conclusion, to state most respectfully that, in our judgment, 
" His Excellency ought not to issue the proposed grants to Messrs. IV. Towel! and W. Bevan, but that 
" the whole matter should be laid again before the Secretary of State, together with the counter appli-

cations made by the several purchasers. 
"3. II. PLUNKETT, Attorney General. 
" W. M. MANNING, Solicitor General. 

"Sir, 
" With reference to your communication of the 22nd June last, acquainting me that Earl 

" Grey had notified to His Excellency the Governor that Her Majesty had been pleased to grant the 
" property of Tintoil to trustees (Messrs. W. Bevan and W. Tawell) for the benefit of Tawell's widow 
• and family, and ,sleo to instruct His Excellency the Governor to afford any assistance in his power 
" to the legal representatives here of the parties to whom such grant has been made, and further stating 
•• that, with respect to the freehold property of J. Tawell, that no inquisition had been taken to find 
" the Crown's title thereto, which has generally been required before any grant of confiscated property 
" is made,—I do myself the honor to state that, with the consent of the Honorable the Attorney General, 
" a commission was issued out of the Supreme Court, and an inquisition held therein, finding the Crown's 
" title to the freehold property of Tawell in this Colony, and to transmit a copy of the c,,rnmission and 
' 1  inquisition, and, as the legal representative of Messrs. W. Tarvell and Bevan in this Colony, I have 
" the honor to request, that His Excellency the Governor will be pleased to direct that a grant of a 
" portion of the land contained in the inquisition (a description whereof is herewith transmitted) may 
" be issued in favour of Mr. Thomas Ware Smart. 

"G. C. TIJRNEIt. 
"The Honorable the Colonial Secretary, Sydney. 

" Sydney, 8 November, 1850. 
"Sir, 

"I am under the necessity of calling your attention to the correspondence respecting my 
" client, Mr. Hugh Dixson's, claim to a grant of the land in Macquarie-street, formerly the property of 
" .John Tawell, deceased. 

" I submit, that it is indisputable that this property escheated to and is now vested in the Crown, 
" and that it is not subject to the provisions of the Waste Lands Act, and that whatever doubts may 
• have at one time been thought to exist upon these points must, after the considerations and 
" discussions which have taken place, be held to have had no foundation. 

d This being the case, the only question left open is as to His Excellency the Governor's power 
• to grant the land in question to my client, as the purchaser from Tawell's representatives, in pursuance 
" of the instructions contained in Earl Grey's despatch. I suloffit that His Excellency has the necessary 
" authnrity ; but, that if there should be any doubt upon the point the Government will not incur any 
" liability or responsibility of any sort by snaking the grant, while my client will, in all probability, be a 
" great loser in consequence of the Government not making it ; my client is the only party who could by 
" any possibility be damnified by the invalidity of the grunt, if it should be invalid ; he is willing to 

take the risk of the grant being void and of Maintaining its validity by legal proceedings if necessary. 
" 

"354, Caetlereagh-street, 
" Sydney, 19 ilurch, 1819. 
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" I have therefore, on his behalf to request that His Excellency will be pleased to give directions 
"for the issue of the deed of grant in Mr. Dixson's favour. 

" His Excellency will observe that my client has been waiting for his grant since February, 
" 1849. 

" I enclose a copy of the conveyance, from Tawell's trustees to my client, of the land in question, 
"and have the honor to remain, &c., 

" THOMAS IGETON. 
"The Honorable the Colonial Secretary. 

" Sydney, 2 October, 1861. 
" Sir, 

" Referring to your land of the 26th November. 1850, in which you state; that Mr. Dixson's 
'I application %r a grant of the land in Macquarie-street, purchased by him from the representatives of 
" the late John Tawell, had been refen;ed for the directions of the Right Honorable the Secretary of 
" State, I have now the honor to renew that application, as I understand that the Secretary of State's 
"directions have been received. 

" In my former communications I forwarded your request from the trustees for the issue of a 
4 ' grant in Mr. Dixson's favour, and a copy of the registered conveyance from them to Mr. Diemen of the 
" land in question. Requesting the favour of your early attention, 

" The Honorable the Colonial Secretary. 

" Sydney, 17 October, 
"Sir, 

" I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter, of the 16th instant, in reply to 
" my renewed application for a grant to Mr. Dixson, for land purchased by him of the representatives of 
" the late John Tassel]. and in which you informed me that the matter has been referred to the Law 
" Officers in order that the necessary steps may be taken for carrying out the instructions of the Secretary 
"of State relative to the filling up of the form of grant. 

" I have now the honor to request that you will have the goodness to cause all the previous 
" papers in this matter to be forwarded to the Crown Law Officers, including the despatch of the Right 
" Honorable the Secretary of State of 28th January, 1818, the request of the trustees (signed by 
" their duly authorized attorney) for a grant to be made in Mr. Dixson's favour, and a copy of the 
" conveyance, from the trustees to Mr Dixson, of the land in question. 

" My client having bought this land from the trustees upon the faith of the beforementioned 
" despatch, and having paid the trustees the purchase money, I have, on his behalf', most respectfully, 
" but earnestly, to protest against the grant of the property being made to the trustees, and to request 
" that His Excellency the Governor General will be pleased to direct the issue of a grant in my client's 
" favour. 

"I lag to draw His Excellency's attention to the important fact, that, but for a difference of 
" opinion between His Excellency's former legal advisers the grant would long sine,: hays been Lsued 
" in favour of my client, and that the present reference to them would not have been neeessary. 

" I do myself the honor to transmit herewith a copy of a deed of covenant by which the trustees 
" bound themselves to use their utmost endeavour to obtain a grant for Mx. Dixon, and to request that 
"you will have the goodness to forward the copy with the other documents to the Crown Law Officers. 

"I have, &e., 
" THOMAS ICETON. 

"The Honorable the Colonial Secretary. 

" No. 219, E1thaboth-atreet, Sydney, 
" 16 October, 1851. 

" 
" Having recently been favoured. by Mr. James Norton, solicitor, with the inspection of 

" some correspondence received by him from Messrs. William Tawell and William Bevan, ot England 
"(Use trustees to whom all the properties in this Colony belonging to the late. John Tawell was 
" conveyed prior to his decease), in which it is intimated that they have procured instructions to be 
"forwarded from the Colonial Office to His Excellency the Governor General for the preparation of a 
" grant in their favour of all the property here, upon similar trusts to times declared in Her Majesty's 
" Warrant granting the English property to them, I have the honor, on behalf of Mr. 
" Thomas Moore to represent to you for the information of His Excellency that Messrs. Tawell 
" and Bevan (through their legally constituted representative Mr. George Cooper Tamer, who was 
"at the time Civil Crown Solicitor) have already regularly sold and conveyed, for a valuable 
"consideration, which was duly paid, part of this property, situated in Sossex-street, Sydney, 
"to Mr. Moore, in whose favour it was agreed at the sale a. grant was to be applied for by Mr. Turner 
" (and which he afterwards frequently stated he had done), and was to have been issued ; but the prepare-
" tion of which has been hitherto only awaiting the receipt of some further authority for that purpose, 
" which His Excellency was advised it would be necessary to procure from Her Majesty. 

" I now understand that Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, in violation, of this sale, are caddying to 
" obtain a grant to themselves ; and their avowed purpose is to attempt to sell a second titan In virtue 
" of his purchase and conveyance, and in consequence of statements made by Messrs. Tawell and Bevana 
" representative, being in daily expectation of the grant being issued to him, Mr. Moore has expended a 
" considerable sum in building upon the land sold to him. Under these circumstances, the issuili; of any 
" grant of this land to Messrs. Tawell and Bevan would, I submit, be a clear injustice to Mr. Moore, and 
" inflict irremediable injury upon him. I therefore beg respectfully to request that His Excellency will 
" deem it proper, betire the preparation of a grant to Messrs. Tawell and Bevan is further proceeded 
" with, to direct the matter to be investigated, and the rights of the parties interested to be inquired into. 

" I have, dm., 
" The Honorable 	 "A. H. MICULLOCH " 

"The Colonial Secretary." 

It will be observed that the last despatch (of 27th January, 1852) and its enclosures introduced 
new matter into the case, viz., the sale of a portion of the land in the Colony, under powers stated to be 
derived from the trustees, and raised the question whether the grant of that portion should not be made 
to the purchasers instead of the trustees. 

A copy of this despatch and enclosures was, therefore, communicated to Messrs. Tawell and 
Bevan (the trustees), in order that they might submit any observations they might desire to multe ea 
the subject. 

The 

"I remain, &c., 
" THOMAS ICETON. 
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The following communication has, in consequence, been received by them :— 
"6, Old Jewry, 

" London, 9 July, 1853. 
" Sir, 

" Re TAVELL. 
"J have been requested by Mrs. Taweil to acknowledge your favour of the 10th March, 

'' addressed to Mr. William Tawell and myself, eneli»ing the copy of a despatch recently received from 
" Sir Charles Fitz Roy, and to eXpItSS, on bshalf of that lady, her grateful sense of the kindness and 
" courtesy which have characterized every probeeding on the part of Her Majesty's Government in 
•• reference to this truly unfortunate affair. 

" In venturing to make a few observations upon the opinion of the Law Officers of the Crown in 
" the Colony, I do so, not in the capacity of trustee under the deed of 31st January, 38+5, but as the 
" friend and adviser of Mrs. Tawell, and her intent son ; because I consider the question which has now 
" arisen is not one between the trustees and the purchasers of the land in the Colony, but between 
" those purchasers and the widow and child of the late John Tawell. 

" The grant from the Crown to Mr. William 'Lowell and myself of the property in this country 
" bears date the 30th day of December, 1817; the power of attorney sent out to Messrs. Norton and 
" Turner is dated the 26th day of January, 1848. The inquisition to find the title of the Grown to the 
" lands in the Colony, and on which th • grant is now about to issue, was held at. Sydney. on the 23rd 
" day of August, 1848 ; there was no title therefore, even in the Crown. to the real estate in the Colony ; 
" nor does the grant to the trustees, of 30th December, 1847', in any way affect to deal with it. On the 
•• contrary, all allusion to the real estate in the Colony is studiously avoided. 

" In the opinion of the Attoroey and Solicitor General of the Colony, great stress is laid on the 
" facts that the power of attorney. of 26th January, 1848, empowers Messrs. Norton and Turner to sell 
" the land in Sydney. This is no doubt true ; but a reference to the letter accompanying that power 
" (a copy of which is now sent) will show that a prospective sale, after the land had been granted in 
" the Colony. was alone contemplated ; and the letter distinctly points the attention or the attorney; 
" to the fact that such land was not included ill the grant of 1847, and could not, in the opinion of the 
" Law Officers of the Crown here, be sold until a grant of it had been made under the Great Seal of the 
" Colony. It will be observed that the power of attorney embraced other and much more valuable 
" property than the land in question. 

" It is plain, therefore, that, until the Colouird grant was made, the trustees had no power to sell ; 
" consequently, their attorneys could derive none, and Mrs. 'I swell end her child must he regarded as 
" perfect strangers to the whole transaction with ntipeet to this hind, which has been carried out by 
" persona who w.re not possessed of a shadow of title to it, nor, from anything that appears, would 
" ever have any title. The question at issue is nut like an ordinary ease of dispute between vendor and 
" purchaser ; the contention is between the purchasers and the widow and child, not between the 
" purchasers and the trustees ; and the purchasers cannot, by possibility, put thetussIves in any better 
" position than the trustees, under whom they claim. Now, the trustees never had any claim to the 
I' land, either in equity or law; and, therefore, it is submitted, the purchasers can have no sod, claim. 
" It seems impossible to contend that the interests of these unfortunate persons should be affected by 
" the acts of those who are, in fact, total strangers to the property in every respect. 

" This view of the case seems to have been lest sight of by the Attorney and Solicitor General 
" of the Colony. They treat the case as if the trustees had been chosen by the widow or by the Crown, 
" to deal with this property on behalf of the family, whereas there is in fact nothing to shew this in any 
" part of the trans:ietion ; the evidence goes entirely the other way, and makes it plain that no trust 
" affecting these lands was ever reposed in Messrs. Tawell and Bevan by any one. 

" If, however, the matter is to be regarded as an ordinary ease between vendor and purchaser, then 
" it is contended that the purchasers are net entitled to any c usideration at the hands of the Crown, on 
" the principle of erzaear owytnr. Its obvious that the east investigation most have eimvineed a pm•- 
•' chaser that Messrs. Norton :slid Turner could not confer any title to the land, seeing that the persons 
" they represented had themselves no title whatever. A purchaser examining the grant (of which a 
" copy was svmt) would have at often seen that the property in New South Wales was net comprised in 
" it; and moreover, if he had made the inquiry which he ought to have done, he would have learnt 
" that at the time the pow( r ui attorney was executed the Chown had no complete title, and therefore 
" could grant nene. Under the at eimurastances the purchasers should have repudiated their bargains. 
" They did not do so, and they must abide by the consequences. With their eyes open they paid their 
" money to a man who had no title or means of conferring one, and it does nut lie with them now to 
" complain because they found they have bought a shadow. 

" Numerous eases could be cited to shew that the view here taken of the position of the par.
chasers is consistent with the doctrines of our Courts, both of law and equity, and that the purchaser 

" in such a raise as the present cannot be allowed to plead mistake as a ground for reliek or for favour-
" able consideration. It may he sufficient to refer to Hitchcock and Gibbings. 4 Price, 135. 

" It is besides necessary to call attention to the tact that the prices were so inadequate as 
" probably to tempt the purchasers to risk the results of taking a had title; and if this be the ease they 
" must abide by the consequences of the risk they have choseh to adopt, and there would seem to he 
" nothing immoral or improper in the grant being made to fresh trustees for the purposes of sale, 
" repaying to the several purchasers the amounts they have so paid out of the proceeds of a resale. It 
" may be worth while to observe, that only a portion of the property found at the inquisition has been 
" sold, and the deposit money on this portion alone has found its way to the hands of the trustees. 

" As the Attorney and Solicitor General (of the Colony) have alluded to the supposed hardship 
" of thu case as against the purchasers; it may be only fair to state that Mrs. Tatwell had nothing what-
" ever to do with the selection of Mr. Turner, but that he was joined as attorney with Mr. Norton in the 
" power sent out by the trustees solely from the fact of his filling, at that time, the important and 
" responsible situation of Crown Solicitor at Sydney, and that but for the indecent haste with which the 
" purchasers senght to conclude their bargains with that individual at half the seal value of the pro-
" perty purchased, they would in all probability have made such an investigation into the title as would 
" have led to the interference of Me Norton, the real attorney of the trustees, and thus have prevented 
"the loss which has now been sustained. 

" I UM, &C., 
"H. B. Reynolds, Esq., Treasmy. 	 " WILLA!. BEVAN." 

" 6, Old Jewry, London, 
" 26 January, 1848. 

" Dear Sir. 
" We have nmch pleasure in informing you that the application to the Queen for a grant 

"of the property of the late Mr. John Tamil' has been successful, and we hand you herewith an 
" attested copy of the grant made by Her Majesty to us. It is not usual to make this under the Great 
" Seal, as the Sovereign is empowered by the 59 Geo. 3, chap. 61 (to which we beg to refer you) to 
" grant, by warrant, property escheated or forfeited to the Crown. The warrant is not enrolled in any 
" Court here, and therefore we send an attested copy certified by a Notary, and authenticated by the 
" city seal, as the best means in our power of supplying you with authentic evidence of the warrant 
" itself. Of course as that relates to the freehold property here of considerable value, we do not like 
"to expose it to the risk of being lost by a sea voyage. 

"We 
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"We also send you herewith, the following documents, viz. :— copy settlement made on the 
"marriage of John Tawell and Sarah Cutforth, (now Sarah Taira. widow) dated 23rd February, 1841; 
" consent signed by the trustees of that settlement, by Mrs. Tawell agreeing to the shares being trans-
" ferred to ourselves. 

" Power of attorney front ourselves to you, enabling you to act fully in our behalf. 
" We trust these documents will enable you to surmount every difficulty, so that the shares may 

" be at once transferred into our names. 
"We have applied to the Lords of the Treasury requesting them to inform Lord Grey what has 

" been done by the Grown, in order that he may instruct the Governor of New South Wales to render 
" every assistance (if applied to) for carrying out the objects we have in view, and this they have 
" promised to do, so that we hope you will receive all the aid from the Governor of your Colony which 
"you may require. 

" We enclose a copy of the Treasury letter of the 25th January instant. 
" We shall be obliged by your using your best exertions for obtaining the immediate transfer of 

"the shares into our names, and receiving all dividends now due thereon, These dividends we will 
" thank you to remit to us with the least possible delay, as they are much wanted here. 

" We wish you, also, to sell all the shares except those in the Bank of New South Wales ; the 
" time of the sale, and the price, we must leave in a peat measure to your discretion, but as soon as 
" sold we shall be glad to have the proceeds remitted to us. As the shares in the Bank of New South 
" Wales are paying so good a dividend, we think it will be desirable to hold them for the present, but 
" as to this point we shall lea ohligel if you will favour us with your opinion. 

" We du not send you out any of the certificates for shares in our hands, as it is probable, we think. 
" you have duplicates of them in your own possession. Should it, however, be necessary to do so in 
" order to complete time sales, we shall be obliged by your informing us. The only share certificates 
" we have are for eighty shares in the Bank of New Ninth Wales and ten shares in the Commercial Bank. 

" The only property of the late Mr. Taal! in New South Wales, not included in the grant, con- 
sists, we believe, of—,  

" 1. An allotment of freehold land in Double Bay district, called Tivoli. 
" 2. An allotment at Darlingliurst. 	 • 
"3. An allotment in Sussex-street, Sydney. 
" 4. The Friends Mooting House, and land adjoining, situate in Macputrie-street, Sydney. 
" 5. Some shan•s in the Bank of Australia ; we are not aware of the exact number, but shall be 

" glad to be informed of it by you. 
" The Crown Officers here inform us that a grant,of the land must (if made) be made under the 

" Great Seal of the Colony, and with regard to the shares in the Bank of Australia, we have deemed it 
" prudent on account or the pending suit relative to the affairs of that bank, not to make any appli-

cation to the Crown for a grant of them at present. You have the certificates of these shares we 
" believe. 

" We shall esteem it a favour if you will give us your advice and opinion as to the value of the 
"real property in New South Wales, and the Australian Bank shares ; and also as to the probable 
" expense of the proceedings necessary to obtain 'grant of them front the Colonial Government, to the 
" Same effect as the grant already made by Her Majesty, so that we may be able to determine as to the 
" expodiency of taking steps for obtaining same. 

" To James Norton, and 
" George Cooper Turner, Esquires." 

With regard to the extent of the property and its value, and the quantity sold, and the price, Mt 
Bevan states as follows :— 

" The property belonging to the felon in New South Wales consisted of- 
" 1. An allotment of land situate in the District of Double Bay, near Sydney, called Tivoli, 

containing five aeces or thereabouts. 
" 2. An allotment of land situate at Darlinghurst, near Sydney, used for building. 
" 3. An all Aumeut of land situate in Se-sot-street, Sydney, used for building. 
" 4. A mussing° or tenement and premises, situate in Macquarie-street, in Sydney, used by the 

" 
 

Sod dy of Friends there as a Meeting House. 
" Of these four properties Mr. Turner, acting without Mr. Norton's knowledge or sanction, sold the 

" threelast omelet The auctioneer's account, dated 12th Penman -, 1849, is sent herewith. The net 
" proceeds of the sale, amounting to 4610 13s. Ia., have, we are told, been received by Mr. Turner, but 
" the sum of E177 I 3s. Id has alone reached the hands or the trustees. 

" In a letter dated Sydney, 17th September, 1847, Mr. Norton writes, 'I do not think the whole of 
" the real pcipsrty Would exceed the value of £1,500; It is needless to remark that the property was 

sacrificed by Mr. Turner, and is worth far more than the prices obtained at the sale. 
" The following is a copy of the auctioneer's account ;— 

" Sydney, 12 February, 1843. 
"Sold by order of the attorneys of William Tanen and William Bevan, 

" By Thomas S. Mort. —Auction Sale. 
" As per terms and con-1 	" Allotment of land in Sussex-street...... 	 £ 90 0 0 

" ditions of sale. 	f " Friends' Meeting House, Macquarie-street 	375 0 0 
" Land in William-street ........ 	„ 	205 0 0 

£670 0 0 
" CHARGES. 

" Commission, 2i per cent. 	 EH 5 0 
" Doty, per cent.. ...  	3 6 0 
" Advertisements ......... ..... 	3 16 11 

23 6 11 

" Net proceeds 	....... £646 13 1 

" Errors excepted." 	 " Taos. S. MORT, 
"p. pro A. Campbell Brown." 

The opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General is requested :— 
To whom, and in what manner so much of the lands in the Colony, included in the inquisition, 

as is stated to have been sold, should be granted. 

WE are of opinion that the lands in the Colony, included in the inquisition, and stated to have 
been sold, should, nevertheless, be granted to the trustees for Mrs. Tawell and her children, according 
to the expectation graciously held out to the latter by the Crown. The power of attorney sent by 
Messrs. Tawell and Bevan to Messrs. Turner and Norton (and under which the land in question was 
sold) did not, at the time of the sale, authorize Turner and Norton to sell. No inquisition had then been 
taken of the land, and the Crown, therefore, had not only not granted the same, but was not even in a 
condition to greet it. 

219—F 	 It 

" We are, ',to., 
" wm. BEVAN, 

'• For Tawell and self." 
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It appears clear, from the letter of instructions sent by Messrs. Tawell and Bevan to Turner and 
Norton, that the former did not contemplate the sale of the lands in question, until farther directions 
should be sent out ; for they-distinctly call attention to the fact that the lands were not included in 

' the grant at that time made by the Crown, and that a grant of the lands would be necessary. It 
seems clear that their intention was, that an immediate site of the other property in the Colony should 
take place, under the power of attorney, but that the land should be subject to future disposition. 

Under these circumstances, it appears to us that the grant from the Crown should be made as 
originally contemplated. If the parties who purehased these lands at the sale have any claim in 
Equity- against the grantees, it will still be open to them to enforce such claim. We see no reason 
why the Crown should depart from the simple and ordinary course in order to secure claims, the 
validity of which those who were the intended objects of the Crown's bounty resist, and which arise 
out of the transactions of, to say the least, a very doubtful character. 

The validity of the contracts in question may be a proper subject for inquiry in a Court or 
Justice, and the grant now to be made by the Crown to the trustees will not affect their liability to 
perform these contracts, if they are such as ought to be enforced. 

A. E. COCKBURN, 
RICHARD BETHELL. 

Anyust 31, 1853. 

No. 35. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY to CROWN LAW OFFICERS.. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 3 February, 1854. 

GENTLEMEN, 
I do myself the honor, by the direction of His Excellency the Governor 

t oototerosss. General, to forward to you, for your perusal, the accompanying despatch, with its enclosure, 
which has been received from the Secretary of State for the Colonies, in reference to your 
report, dated 1st November, 1851, respecting the disposal of the escheated property in this 
Colony belonging to the late John Tamen, an executed felon. 

I have, &c., 
C. D. RIDDELL 

No. 36. 

CROWN LAW OFFICERS to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sydney,1 May, 1854. 

In reply to your letter of the 3rd February last, 54-80, forwarding, for our 
perusal, the accompanying despatch, with its enclosures, now returned, which was received 
from the Secretary of State for the Colonies, in reference to our report, dated 1st November, 
1851, respecting the disposal of the escheated property in this Colony belonging to the late 
John Tawell, an executed felon. 

2. We do ourselves the honor to inform you, that we have perused the despatch and 
enclosures, and regret to find, that, after again giving the subject the most careful consideration, 
we are entirely unable to concur in the opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General of 
England. Whether or not that opinion was taken officially does not appear ; but we collect, 
from the whole statement of the case for opinion, that it must have been prepared and 
submitted by an interested party. We have, therefore, the less difficulty in recording our 
dissent. 

3. But as the despatch of the Secretary of State distinctly instructs His Excellency 
the Governor General to proceed with the grant of the property in question, as before 
directed, and, as such despatch and its enclosures are now only sent to us for perusal, we 
presume that the farther discussion of the question which has been under consideration is no 
longer to be deemed within our province as officers of the Colonial Government, and that the 
grant will be issued according to the instructions of the Secretary of State. 

We have, &c., 
J. II. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 
W. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 

P.S.—We beg to inform you this matter should have had our attention before now, 
but for the absence of the Solicitor General, on leave, and subsequently the interference of 
the Circuit Courts, which engrossed our attention. I. EL P. 

W.M.M.  

No. ST. 
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No. 37. 

T. W. SMART, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

.Dowling-street, 
10 May, 1851. 

In the early part of 1849, I purchased at auction of Mr. Mort a portion of 
land at Darlinghurst, sold by him on account of Messrs. Bevan and Tamen, the trustees of 
Mrs. Sarah Tawell, widow of John Tamen, who was convicted and attainted in England in 
March, 1845, at which sale it was represented to the intending purchasers, and held out as 
an inducement to them, by the auctioneer, in the presence of, and with the authority of Mr. 
George Cooper Turner, the attorney of the said trustees, and then holding the office of Civil 
Crown Solicitor, that as Her Most Gracious Majesty had been pleased to order grants to issue 
to the said trustees, their heirs and assigns, the Colonial Government would, at the request 
of the attorney or attorneys, issue the grants of the respective properties to the purchasers. 

Under this assurance I became the purchaser of the allotment alluded to, and instructed 
my solicitor, Mr. Carr, to take the necessary steps to obtain the grant, who, with the con-
currence and assistance of the acting attorney, Mr. Turner, carried on a correspondence with 
the Honorable the Colonial Secretary, during the month of March, 1849, and on several 
other occasions, until February, 1850, when he was apprised that the Governor's Commission 
did not enable him to seal Letters Patent granting this land, and also, that an authority for 
that purpose would have to be procured from Her Majesty. 

Since that period, viz., February, 1859, I have received no communication on the 
subject till within the last few days, when, greatly to my astonishment, I was informed, 
" that the Governor General had instructions from His Grace the Dyke of Newcastle to issue 
" a grant in favour of Messrs. Bevan and Taivell, that the grant would shortly be issued, 
" and that their newly constituted attorney, the present Civil Crown Solicitor, Mr. Billyard, 
" had been intrusted to re-sell the property." Thereby repudiating their first sales, and 
defrauding the purchasers of their justly acquired estate. 

I am altogether unable to account for this determination on the part of His Grace 
the Duke of Newcastle, otherwise than by the supposition that he has been greatly imposed 
upon and misled by an ex parte and wilfully misrepresented statement of the facts of the 
ease, the most flagrant deception being, as I have been informed, that Messrs. Bevan and 
Tawell's attorneys in this Colony had no power to sell. 

I would draw your attention to an extract annexed hereto (and marked No. 1), from 
the original power of attorney now in my possession, from which it will be seen that they, 
the attorneys, have the fullest authority to sell and convey the real estates 

A proof of the legal confirmation of the sales is afforded by the acknowledgements of 
the auctioneer's account sales, and of the cash deposits paid by the purchasers; yet, in the 
face of this virtual sanction, the trustees fraudulently seek to disclaim a contract made under 
their own authority. Under these circumstances I have respectfully to request, that if His 
Excellency dues not feel authorized to issue the grant in my favour, as Messrs. Bevan and 
Tawell have covenanted under seal with me to procure (see extract appended, marked No. '2), 
that he will not issue it to Messrs. Bevan and Tawell, unless as trustees for the purchasGrs, 
or until the Home Government can be again referred to, and a fuller and more accurate 
statement of the facts be submitted for their consideration. 

I have, &c., 
T. W. SMART. 

EXTRACT No. 1. 

(From Power of Attorney, dated 26 January, 1848.) 

Now know ye that we the said William Tawell and William Bevan do and each of us doth 
hereby nominate constitute and appoint James Norton of Sydney in the Colony of New South Wales 
gentleman and George Cooper Turner of the same place Crown Solicitor and each of them by himself 
our true and lawful attorneys and attorney jointly and severally for us the said William Mural and 
William Bevan in our names or in the names or name of our said attorneys or either of them to enter 
upon and take possession of all the lands tenements hereditaments and premises within the said 
Colony which were released to us by the said John Tawell as aforesaid and to manage or let the same to 
a tenant or tenants thereof for any term or number of years not exceeding twenty-one years or from 
year to year as our said attorneys or either of them shall think expedient and at such rent or rents and 
on such terms and conditions as they shall think proper And also if em' said attorneys or either of 
them shall think expedient from time to time to sell or dispose of all or any part or parts of the said 
lands and hereditarnents to a purchaser or purchasers thereof for suck price or prices as they shall 
think reasonable and to accept and receive the consideration or purchase money for the same and there-
upon for us in our names or in the names or name of our said attorneys or either of them to grant such 
receipts acquittances or discharges as shall be requisite and proper and also for us and in our mumt s and 
as our acts and deeds to make sign :real execute and deliver all such releases or other discharges as shall 
or may be requisite and necessary for the purpose of effectually releasing conveying and assuring such 
lands and hereditaments unto the purchaser or purchasers thereof his her or their heirs and assigns or 
to such use and upon and for such trusts as he she or they shall direct." 

I Sarah Tawell widow of the said John Terrell do hereby consent to the above power of attorney 
and the sale thereby authorized to be made Dated this 28th January, 1848. 

SARAH TAWELL. 

EXTEACI' 
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EXTRACT No. 2. 

(Conveyance, dated 15 .3fay,1850—Messrs. TautII and Reran to T. 11/. Smart, received in Registrar's Office 
15 June, 1850.) 

And whereas the said William Tawell and William Bevan have requested His Excellency the 
Governor of the Territory aforesaid to be pleased to direct that a grant of the said land and heredita-
meats hereafter described so contracted by them to he sold as aforesaid may issue in favour of the said 
Thomas Ware Smart And whereas His Excellency the said Governor has accordingly been pleased to 
direct that such grant as aforesaid may issue in favour of the said Thomas Ware Smart which said 
grant has in pursuance of such direction been prepared but luts not yet issued And lastly that they the 
said William Tawell and William Bea-an their heirs executors and administrators shall and will use their 
utmost endeavours at the cost of the said Thomas Ware Smart his heirs or assigns to procure for the 
said Thomas Ware Smart his heirs or assigns or assist him or them in procuring the said grant from 
the Grown in favour of the said Thomas Ware Smart his heirs and assigns to which the said Thomas 
Ware Smart has become entitled under the circumstances hercinbefore set forth. 

T. W. SMART. 

No. 38. 
(COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. W. SMART, ESQ., M.C. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 3 June, 1854. 

Your letter, under date the 8th ultimo, on the subject mentioned below, has 
been duly received and referred for the report of the Crown Law Officers. 

2. As soon as the necessary information has been obtained, a further communication 
will be made to you. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYA.RD, JUNK. 

SUBJECT :—On the subject of your claim to a portion of the property of the late John nava. ecc. 

GENTLEMEN, 
In reference to your letter of the 1st instant, on the subject of the disposal of 

the escheated property of the late John Tawell, I now do myself the honor, by the direction 
of His Excellency the Governor General, to enclose, for your information, the copy of a com-
munication which has since been received from Mr. T. W. Smart, and at the same time to 
state, that, if you deem it advisable, a copy of your letter, under notice, will be forwarded to 
the Secretary of State, in order that His Grace may have the opportunity of revising his 
decision, should he see fit to do so. In a case involving so much valuable property this seems 
to His Excellency to be the safest course in justice to the parties concerned. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

SIR, 
In acknowledging the receipt of your letter of the 30th ultimo, conveying a 

communication from Mr. Smart on the subject of his purchase of part of the escheated 
property of the late John Tawell, we have the honor to state, that, as His Excellency the 
Governor General purposes to forward a copy of our letter of the 1st ultimo to the Secretary 
of State, in order that His Grace may have an opportunity of revising his decision, should be 
see fit to do so, it occurs to us that we should state the grounds upon which we dissent from 
the opinion of the Crown Law Officers of England, for which purpose it will be necessary 
that we should again see His Grace's despatch with its enclosures. 

We therefore have the honor to request that you will be good enough to send us those 
papers for the purpose we have stated. 

We remain, &c., 
J. H. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 
W. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 

Sift, 

No. 39. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to CROWN LAW OFFICERS. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 30 May, 1854. 

No. 40. 
CROWN LAW OFFICERS to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sydney, 2 June, 1854. 

No. 41. 
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No. 41. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to CROWN LAW OFFICERS. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 9 June, 1854. 

GENTLEMEN, 
I do myself the honor, in compliance with the request contained in your 

letter of the 2nd instant, to forward to you the despatch, with its enclosures, which was last tri„::'er' 1837' 
received from the Secretary of State for the Colonies, on the subject of the escheated property 
of the late John Tawell, together with all the former papers in the case, for the purpose of 
enabling you to make such references as may be necessary in preparing for transmission to 
His Grace with the proposed despatch of His Excellency the Governor General a statement 
of the grounds upon which you diskent from the opinion of the Crown Law Officers respect-
ing the disposal of certain portions of land in this Colony forming part of the estate in 
question. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 42. 
W. W. BILLYARD, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Maeguaric-street North, 
Sydney, 3 June, 1854. 

I do myself the honor to inform you officially, as I have before done verbally, 
that I have received a power of attorney, duly authenticated, from Wm. Tawell and Win. 
Bevan, Esquires, empowering me to apply for and obtain a deed of grant of the lands, 
messuages, and liereditaments in this Colony which had become forfeited to Her Majesty 
on the conviction of the late John Tawell of murder, and which had been seized into the 
hands of Her Majesty, but of which Her Majesty had been graciously pleased to authorize 
a grant in favour of the widow and child of the deceased. 

Messrs. Tawell and Bevan have forwarded me copy correspondence with the Lords of 
the Treasury, and of the opinion of the Law Officers in England, and they inform me that 
A form of grant to themselves as trustees for Mrs. Tawell and her child had been transmitted 
by the Right Honorable the Secretary of State for the Colonies to His Excellency the 
Governor General, with instructions to cause the same to be completed and issued, and lam, 
of course, ready to pay the necessary fees thereon, and I will thank you to inform me when I 
can take up the deed of grant in question. 

San, 
I do myself the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 3rd 

instant, in which you make application, in virtue of a power of attorney which you have 
received from Messrs. William Tawell and Bevan, for a deed of grant in favour of the widow 
and children of the late John Tawell, of the lands in this Colony belonging to the estate; 
and I beg in reply to inform you, by the direction of His Excellency the Governor General, 
that it has been found necessary to refer to the Crown Law Officers, in connection with this 
matter, preparatory to submitting it for re-consideration of the Secretary of State. 

2. The papers in the case, which have been forwarded to the Attorney and Solicitor 
General, arc open to your inspection, and will shew the grounds upon which His Excellency 
has deemed it necessary to delay, until an answer to the proposed despatch can be received, 
acting on the instructions of His Grace alluded to in your letter. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 44. 
T. W. SMART, ESQ., to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Darling Point, 5 June, 1854. 

In my letter, addressed to you on the 10th ultimo, on the subject of Messrs. 
Bevan and TawelFs claim to a grant of the land therein alluded to, I omitted to mention 
that, since I purchased the property, I have actually expended the sum of five thousand 
pounds in the erection of five dwelling houses, and have entered into contracts for their 
completion, which will cost at least nine thousand pounds. 

Having 

I have, &c., 
WM. W. BILLYARD. 

No. 43. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to W. W. BILLYARD, Esc/. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 9 June, 1854. 

SIR, 
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Having become a purchaser, under the circumstances detailed in my letter of the 
10th May, and under the assurance that Her Majesty's Government had promised to the 
vendors that grants should be issued to the purchasers upon application, I had no reason 
whatever to doubt that the sale was bona fide and complete ; and I trust that when His 
Excellency takes into consideration the amount I have expended, be will sec the great 
ivrong and injustice that will be committed if the land should be granted to parties whose 
interests have already been disposed of for the fullest consideration. 

I have, &e., 
T. W. SMART. 

No. 45. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. W. SMART, ESQ., MC. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 30 June, 1851. 

Your letter, under date the 5th instant, on the subject mentioned below, has 
been duly received and referred for the report of the Crown Law Officers. 

2. As soon as the necessary information has been obtained, a further communication 
will be made to you. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

SURJECT :—Respecting Messrs. Bevan and Tawell's claim to a. deal of grant of certain land at 
Darlinghurst, of which you have purchased a portion, &c. 

No. 46. 

DIXSON, ESQ., to PRIVATE SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 7 July, 1854. 

I have the honor herewith to enclose a memorial for His Excellency the 
Governor, and shall feel obliged by your forwarding it as earlpas convenient. 

I should also feel obliged if you will apprise His Excellency or his advisers that L 
have the following documents connected with the subject matter of this memorial, any or all 
of which I will produce should they AO desire. 

1. Original grant from the Crown to John Towel 
2. John Tawell's conveyance on trust to Wm. Tawell and Wm. Bevan, with full 

powers to sell—attested copy. 
3. Her Majeity's Warrant confirming the above conveyance—(N.B. This document 

has a most important bearing on the part of the moral responsibility of Her Majesty's 
Government in this matter)—attested copy. 

4. Commission and inquisition—attested copy. 
5. Tomei! and Bevan's conveyance to me—original. 
6. Tawell and Bevan's deed of covenant with xne—original. 

I have, &c., 
HUGH DIXSON, 

George-street. 

[Enclosure in No. 46.] 
To His Excellency Sir CHARLES Atersets Fin ROY, Knight Companion of the Royal 

Hanoverian Cluelphic Order, Governor General of all Her Majesty's Australian 
Possessions, and Captain General and Governor-in-Chief of the Territory of New 
South Wales and its Dependencies, &c., fre., 

The humble memorial of Hugh Dixson, of Sydney, merchant, 
MOST RESPECTFULLY SIIEIVETH :— 

That, in the year 1810, your memorialist purchased at public auction, duly advertised, that 
portion of the property of the late John 'Unwell, known us the "Friends' Meeting house," in Mac-
quarie-street, Sydney, of which property a grant in trust, f ir the benefit of the family of the said John 
Tawell, was specially promised by Her Most Gracious Majesty. 

That the trustees of the family of the said John Tawell (viz., William Tawell and William 
Bevan) did, thereupon, with the full consent of the widow (Sarah Tawell), duly execute and issue a 
power of attorney in favour of James Norton and George Cooper Turner, Esquires, of Sydney, 
empowering them absolutely, or either of them, to let, sell, or otherwise dispose of, all, or any portion of 
the said lands and hereditaments, and to convey and release all such to any ,  purchaser or purchasers 
thereof—an extract from which power of attorney, together with a copy of the consent of the widow, 
arc hereunto annexed. (No. 1.) 

That, prior to the disposal of the property in question, the necessary i»quisition, before tho 
Supreme Court of this Colony, under commission of Her Majesty the Queen, relative to the titles to the 
said property, was indented cud taken, and every other legal requirement duly complied with. 

That one of the said attorneys, viz., George Cooper Turner, Esq., then Civil Crown Solicitor of 
this Colony, apprised your memorialist to the foregoing effect, and further, that it had been notified to 
turn, by letter from the Honorable the Colonial Secretary. that Her Majesty had been graciously 
pleased to grant in trust all the property of the late John Towel] to the before-named trustees, and 

that 

Sin, 
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legal representatives in New South Wales, for effectually assuring to them the property and heredita- 
that instructions had been received by your Excellency's Government to afford every assistance to the 

ments so granted. 
That, thereupon, your memorialist purchased the said property, situate in Macquarie-street, 

Sydney, which is included in the above-named inquisition and grant, at its then full market value, 
under express covenant with the attorneys of the trustees aforementioned, that they would forthwith 
apply  to your Excellency, in order that the Crown grant of the land in question might be issued in the 
name of your memorialist. 

That, upon full payment of the purchase money being tendered and received for the same, a con-
veyance of the property was duly executed and delivered, in terms of the above-named deed of cove-
nant, in which instrument it is distinctly expressed, as a valuable consideration, that, in compliance 
with the said attorneys' applications, and in accordance with the instructions to your Government, 
above referred to, your Excellency had been pleased to direct that a deed of grant of the land in ques-
tion should be prepared in favour of your memorialist, and that such deed of grant had been prepared 
accordingly. ( Vide extract from deed of covenant annexed, No. 2.) 

That your memorialist is however, now informed that, taking advantage of the delay in the 
issue of the said grant, and of the recently increased value of property in Sydney, the said William 
Tawell and William Bevan have, in violation of these several covenants, made application to the 
Imperial Government for the issue to them of the grant of this and other properties, as trustees for the 
family of the late John Tawell. 

That a compliance with such an application, on the part of Her Majesty's Government, would 
evidently deprive your memorialist of a property which he has f drly and legally purchased, on the faith 
of the promised grant, and of the covenants and assurances before referred to, and re-grant the same 
to those to whom, through their appointed attorneys, full payment has been made and acknowledged. 

Wherefore, your memorialist most respectfully prays that, taking into consideration the valid 
and ample authority under which the said property was sold and conveyed, the bond fide nature of the 
purchase and payment for the same, and the several covenants and assurances thereupon entered into, 
your Excellency will be graciously pleased so to represent to Her Majesty's Secretary of State the facts 
and vouchers herein set forth, as may relieve your memorialist from the manifest hardship and injustice 
which a compliance with so inequitable an application would necessarily inflict. 

And your Memorialist, as in duty bound, will ever pray, dm. 	
HUGH DIXSON. 

1170.1. 
(Extract from Power of Attorney.) 

Now know ye, that we, the said William Tawell and William Bevan do, and each of us doth 
hereby nominate, constitute, and appoint James Norton, of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, 
gentleman, and George Cooper Turner, of the same place, Crown Solicitor, and each of them by himself; 
our true and lawful attorneys, and attorney, jointly and severally for us, the said William Tawell and 
William Bevan, in our names, or in the names or name of our said attorneys, or either of them, to enter 
upon and take possession of all the lands, tenements, hereditaments, and premises, within the said 
Colony, which were released to us by the said John Terrell, as aforesaid, to let, &c., /Cc. And also, if 
our said attorneys, nr either of them, shall think expedient from time to time to sell and dispose of all or 
any part or parts of said lands and heredithments, to a purchaser or purchasers thereof, for such price 
or prices as they shall think reasonable, and to accept and receive the consideration or purchase money 
for the Same, and thereupon for us and in our names, and in tho names or name of our said attorneys, or 
either of them, to grant such receipts, acquittances, or discharges as shall be required and proper ; and 
also for us and in our names, and as our acts and deeds, to make, sign, seal, execute, and. deliver, all 
such releases and other discharges as shall or may be requisite and necessary for the purpose of effect-
ually releasing, conveying, and assuring such lands and hereditaments unto the purchaser or purchasets 
thereof, his, her, or their heirs or assigns, or to such use, and upon and for such trusts as he, she, or 
they shall direct. 

the} Signed, sealed, and delivered, in 	 (Signed) 	WILLIAM TAWELL, 	(Ls.) 
presence of,— 	 'WILLIAM BEVAN,. 	(Ls.) 

JOSEPH GOODEVE, 
6, Old Jewry, London, Solicitor. 

THUS DAVIES, Clerk to Messrs. BEVAN and GOODEVE. 

(('opy of consent to foregoing Power of Attorney). 
I. Sarah Tawell, widow of the said John Taira, do hereby consent to the said power of 

attorney, and the sale thereby authorized to be made. 
Witness—Josnen GOODEVE. 	 SABAH TAWELL. 

THOS. DAVIES. 

No. 2. 
(Extract from Deed of Covenant.) 

And whereas, the said. William Tawell and William Bevan have requested His Excellency the 
Governor of the territory aforesaid, to be pleased to direct that a grant of the said lands and heredita-
ment; hereinafter described, so contracted by them to ho sold as aforesaid, may be issued in favour of 
Hugh Dixson, and IIis Excellency the Governor has accordingly been pleased to direct that such grant 
as aforesaid may issue in favour of the said Hugh Dixson, his heirs and assigns, which said grant has 
beest prepared, but not yet issued. 

Witnessed by Ennun Nnartisum 

No. 47. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to ntrGII DIXsoN, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 22 July, 1854. 

Your letter, under date the 7th instant, with its enclosures, on the subject men-
tioned below, has been duly received and referred for the report of the Law Officers of the 
Crown. 

2. 

IV. TAWELL, 
By G. Coma Timm, his Attorney. 

W. BEVAN, 
By G. Coons Tflurrn, his Attorney. 

• 
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2. As soon as the necessary information has been obtained, a further communication 
will be made to you. 

I have, 	, 
W. ELYARD. 

SUBJECT : —On the subject of your claim to a portion of tho property of the late John Tawell, Ste., &c. 

No. 48. 

• Extract (1) 
appandcd. 

CROWN LAW OFFICERS to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sydney, 14 September, 1854. 

Referring to our letter to you of the 2nd of last June, and to yours of the 9th 
of tho same month, on the subject of the escheated property of the late John Tawell, and 
referring also to Mr. Stuart's farther letter of the 5th of that month, and to Mr. Hugh 
Dixson's memorial forwarded to us, under blank cover, on the 22nd of July, we have now the 
honor to report further upon the question—whether the grants of Tawell's lands in the 
Colony ought to issue to trustees for his widow and her child, or to the persons who pur-
chased from Mr. George Cooper Turner as attorney for Messrs. William Tamen. and Bevan ? 

2. We have once more gone most attentively through the whole of the voluminous 
mass of papers connected with this matter which you have laid before us, and have again 
given the subject our best consideration. 

3. The result has been a clear confirmation of our former opinion, and the conviction 
that the Law Officers of England would not have arrived at any other conclusion if they had 
had the same full information as ourselves, instead of labouring, as they certainly did, under 
the disidvantage of having to advise upon a case which, both as respects facts and arguments, 
is evidently one-sided. 

4. Even upon the statement before these officers we must take leave to express our 
dissent from their opinion in two important particulars which form, perhaps, the principal 
grounds for their report. We refer to the argument in the second paragraph with reference 
to the letter of instructions accompanying the power of attorney to Messrs. Norton and Turner;  
and to the assumption in paragraph " 3,' that the claims of the Colonial purchasers "arise 
out of transactions of, to say the least, a very doubtful character." 

5. As respects the letter of instructions we have to remark, that we consider it to be 
a well established rule that such letters are to be regarded as confidential communications to 
the attorney which persons dealing with him under his power have no right to see, and by 
which they cannot legally or equitably be effected, unless express knowledge of their contents 
be brought home to them. We beg to refer upon this point to the accompanying extract 
from Mr. Justice Story's treatise on "Agency."* 

6. For the assumption that the purchasers' claims arise out of doubtful transactions, 
we have failed to find any foundation even in the case submitted to the Law Officers of 
England, and throughout the entire mass of papers before us, there is not a trace of any 
evidence to support it. Of course, we understand the assumption to be made in a sense 
implicating the purchasers in the real or supposed questionable transactions, as those indivi-
duals could not otherwise be prejudiced by Mr. Turner's breaches of duty to his constituents. 

7. Whether the purchasers were or were not parties to any such breach of duty, we have 
no means of judging positively. But, as far as the information before us enables us to judge, 
we think the imputation is rebutted. The property was sold under advertisements, which 
Mr. Norton might fairly be supposed to be cognizant of and to have sanctioned. There were 
abundant grounds for believing, what in fact forms the basis of the present claim for Mrs. 
Tawell, that the Crown had in effect confirmed the settlement executed by John Tawell in 
1845, and relinquished its claim to the Colonial lands in favour of the trustees of that set-
tlement; and the grounds were ample for relying on Mr. Turner's representation that grants 
would be issued in favour of the purchasers. Mr. Turner, it is to be remembered, was, at the 
time, Crown Solicitor, and in good repute, and as such officer he had conducted the inqui-
sition upon the escheat. He was, even as appears by Mr. l3evan's letter of 9th July, 1853, 
" joined as attorney with Mr. Norton solely from, the fact of his filling, at that time, the im- 

portant and responsible situation of Crown Solicitor at Sydney." It was expected that 
his position would carry weight, and would afford facilities for perfecting the title to the 
properties, and it is not unreasonable to suppose that it had the effect of creating confidence 
in the minds of the purchasers. We must also remark that the property was sold by public 
auction, and that the auctioneer employed is a gentleman singularly respected, both in his 
business and in private life. Whether the price realized was equal to the then value of the 
land, we have no means of judging, but our experience of the excessive fluctuations in the 
value of Colonial properties during the last fifteen years, and of the uncertainty of all private 
estimates of such values, leads us to attach very little weight to the difference between the 
sum realized and the amount which Mr. Norton valued the property at in September, 1847. 
For the reasons shewn in the next paragraph, we do not think that the absence of re-grants 
of the property is likely to have prejudiced the sale; on the contrary, it is not impossible 
that the expectation of having a fresh grant direct to each purchaser, instead of a conveyance 
under a power of attorney from an absent party, operated as a recommendation of the 
property. 

8. 
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S. The first paragraph of the opinion of the learned Attorney and Solicitor General of 
England was evidently written without acquaintance with the course of dealing in the Colony 
with respect to lands held under promises from the Crown. Such lands have, from the earliest 
days of the Colony, to the present time, been accustomed to pass from hand to hand by sales, 
and to be regularly conveyed as freeholds, or sometimes to be transferred by simple letters to 
the Government requesting that the grant might be issued to the vendee. They have also been 
commonly devised by will and transmitted by descent as estates in fee, although no deed of grant 
had ever issued. Such titles have been and are recognized by the Courts as good against every-
body but the Crown, and as even conferring title in many cases by estoppel or implied trust as 
against a subsequent Crown grantee. The Crown also has recognized the rights of parties 
claiming under the original promisee, and has caused several successive Acts of Council to 
be passed for creating a tribunal to examine and report on claims to grants under promises. 
And in all such cases, the question has been whether the promise was such as to bind the 
honor of the Crown, and whether the claimant is the person who " in equity and good 
conscience" (we quote the words of the Act of Council now in force, 5 Gul. IV, No. 21*), 41:42.11:41 (2)  
is entitled to the benefit of the promise. Many thousands of land purchases have been 
made in this Colony, and not a few are made almost daily even now, in which the question 
on the title has been, and is, whether the purchaser will be in a position to claim a grant 
under some promise from the Crown. The circumstance, therefore, of the grant in this ease 
not having been actually issued, does not justify the same impressions against a purchaser as 
would be created in Westminster Hall. 

9. The principle upon which the issue of grants under promises is determined, will 
be gathered (rout what we have above stated. There may be arguments suited to the atmos-
phere of Courts of Law as at present constituted, which may yet be quite unfit to guide the 
honor of the Crown. For this reason we cannot adopt some of the arguments set forth in 
the case submitted to the Law Officers of England, whilst others appear to us to be totally 
inadmissible before any tribunal. 

10. The principle we have adverted to would net be admissible in cases in which a 
party has a clear title to a grant, as in the case of a purchase under the Waste Lands Act. 
In such cases even derivative claims would bc examined only upon principles of law and 
legal equity. But it has constantly been applied, with the &Auction of the Crown, and of 
the Executive and Legislative Councils of the Colony, to cases in which the promise has 
approximated to the creation of an absolute title. And a ft.rilori the Crown may adopt 
"equity and good conscience" as its guide in such a ease as this, where the utmost that 
can be said is, that it has held out some expectation of an act of grace. 

11. Tn reference to the first parrgraph of the learned Law Officers' opinion, we would 
call attention to the fact, that the power of attorney to Messrs Norton and Turner refers to 
the settlement of 1845 as conveying the Colonial lands absolutely to the trustees, and does 
not notice any interposing claim of the Crown, but empowers the att, rneys (or either of 
them) to sell these lands for Messrs Tawell and Bevan suis juribus. The power of attorney 
does not contemplate the necessity for any inquest or grant, but, without any such qualifica-
tion as is contained in the letter of instructions, has the following words :—" And also if 
" our said attorneys or either of them shall think expedient from time to time to sell and 
" dispose of all or any part or parts of the said lands and hereditaments to a purchaser or 
" purchasers there f for such price or prices as they shall think reasonable and to accept and 
" receive the consideration or purchase money for the same." Accordingly, the lands were 
about to be sold without inquest or grant in June, 1848, when one of ourselves saw the 
advertisement and caused the sale to be stopped in right of the Crown. The inquest was 
then held under managetnent of Mr. Turner ; and under the instructions of the Secretary 
of State, conveyed in his despatch of 29th Jenuary, 1848, to the Governor of the Colony, 
Mr. Turner was recognized as " a legal representative in the Colony" of Messrs. Tawell and 
Bevan, and the right to the Colonial lands conceded to him on their behalf. He thereupon 
sold under the power, and represented that the Crown would issue grants to the purchasers, 
as no doubt the Governor was then prepared to do. This power of attorney was expressly 
sanctioned in writing by Mrs. Tawell. 

12. We consider it a most important feature in tins case, that the sale appears to 
have been regularly announced, and a copy of Mr. Mort's account sales transmitted with the 
deposit, and that the money was received by Messrs. Tawell and Bevan without (as far as it 
appears) the slightest attempt at a repudiation of the sale until after Mr. Turner had made 
default in remitting the final payments which he subsequently received from the purchasers. 
This fact alone would be almost conclusive in a Court of Equity, and is, in our opinion, 
quite sufficient to bar the claim upon the grace of the Crown, unless, indeed, there were 
grounds for imputing fraud to the purchasers. 

13. One other consideration which presses upon us very strongly is tlds, that, undoubt-
edly, there were good grounds at the time of the sale for expecting that grants would be 
issued to the purchasers at the instance of Mr. Turner, and that a correspondence ensued 
with the Government which indicates clearly that the grants were in effect promised by the 
local Government, and would have been issued, but for a formal difficulty which arose, origin-
ally in another case, as to whether the terms of the Governor's Commission gave power to 
execute grants of escheated lands as well as of the " 'Waste Lands" of the Crown. We 
were ourselves parties to the consideration of the questions which then arose, anti we are 
satisfied that, but 1.r this difficulty, the grants in question would have issued at that time 
to the several purchasers, and that it was understood on all hands that they would issue 
accordingly es soon as the formal difficulty should be removed. 

14. Many other considerations of more or less weight have occurred to us on again 
perusing these papers, but we are unwilling to trespass longer upon your attention. We 
would, however, beg leave to refer to our report of the 1st December, 1851. 

219—G 	 15. 
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15-. With the strong opinion we entertain in favour of the claims of the purchasers, 
we do not think it would be right to leave them to their supposed remedy in equity against 
Mrs. Tawell's trustees as grantees. Even if a proceeding in equity could be made practi-
cally effectual on either side, it should, in our opinion, be for the trustees to establish their 
repudiation of the acts of their agent, but we have reason now to entertain doubts, founded 
upon high legal authority, whether the equity of the purchasers could be established as 
against the proposed Crown grants. If any such mode of deciding the rights of the parties 
is to be resorted to, we think it should be by an inquiry preceding the issue of the grants. 

16. Our apology for having ventured to trouble you at so very unusual a length 
upon this matter, must be our humble but firm conviction that the Crown would be misled 
into an net of clear injustice if the grants were now to issue to Mrs. Tawell's trustees, 
and that we feel that the honor of the local Government has, at the instance of the 
representative of Mrs. Tawell aucl her trustees, become pledged to the other claimants. 

We have, Ste., 
J. II. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. eral. 
W. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 

[Extracts.] 
(1 ) 

(Story on Agency, Sec. 73.) 
"We are, however, carefully to distinguish in all such cases between the authority given to the 

." agent and the private instructions given to him as to his, mode of executing that authority ; for 
" although where a written authority is known to exist, or is by the very nature of the transaction 

presupposed, it is the duty of persons dealing with the agent to make inquiries us to the nature and 
" extent of such authority, and to examine it, yet nosed) duty exists to make inquiries as to any private 
" letter of instructions from the principal to the agent, for such instructions may well be presumed 
'to be of a secret and confidential nature, and not intended to he divulged to third persons. Indeed it 
" may, perhaps, be doubted, if upon this subject there is any solid distinction between the ease of a 
" special authority to do a particular act, and a general authority to du all acts in a particular business. 
" Each includes the usual and appropriate means to accomplish the end. In each case the party ought 
"equally to be bound by the acts of his agent executing such authority by any of those moans, although 

be may have giyen to the agent separate private and secret instructions of a more limited nature." 

(2 .). 
(5 Cul. IV, Ha. 21, Sec. IT) 

"And be it further enacted that in bearing and examining all claims to grants as aforesaid the 
"said commissioners shall be guided by the real justice and good conscience of the case without regard 
"to legal forms and solemnities and shall direct themselves by the best evidence that they can procure 
" or that is laid before them whether the sante be such evidence as the law would require in other cases 
"or not and in ease they or any two of them shall be satisfied that the person or persons claiming such 
" lands or any part or parts thereof is or are entitled in equity and good conscience to hold the said 
" lands and to have a grant thereof made and delivered to such person or persons under the Great Seal 
" of the said Colony they the said commissioners shall report the same and the grounds thereof to the 
";Governor accordingly and shall set forth the situation measurement and boundaries by which the said 
"lands shall and may be described in every such grant Provided however that nothing heroin con-
" tainett shall be held to oblige the Governor to make and deliver any such grant as aforesaid unless 
" His Excellency shall deem proper so to do." 

No. 49. 
GOVERNOR SIR CHAS. A. FITZ ROY to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

30 October, 1854. 

JOHN TAWELL. 

R,expecting disposal of certain escheated property left by him. 

Adverting to the despatch from His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, of date the 
6th October, 1853, No. 130, enclosing the copy of a case submitted to the Law Officers of 
the Crown, respecting the discovery of certain escheated property in this Colony belonging 
to the late John Tawell, an executed felon, together with their opinion thereon, and instruct-
ing me to cause a grant to be issued for the lands in question to trustees for the benefit of 

iray,1854. Sarah Tawell and her family, in the manner proposed in the letter from the Board of 
Treasury, of date the 11th April, 1851, of which a copy was transmitted to me in End 
Grey's despatch of the 19th of the same month ; I have the honor to inform you that, upon 
receipt of this despatch, I caused a copy of it, with its enclosures, to be forwarded for the 
perusal of the Law Officers of this Government, and I now beg to enclose herewith a copy 

14th September, of a communication which I received from those officers on the subject ; which from its tenor 
induced me to make a further reference to them before acting on the instructions conveyed 
to me by the Duke of Newcastle. 

2. You will perceive from the above communication, and from a subsequent report 
received from them, a copy of which is also herewith, that, in their opinion, the Law Officers 
of England would have arrived at the conclusion formerly expressed by the Law Officers of 
this Government,—namely, that the grant should issue to the parties who purchased the 

land. 
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land from Mr. George Cooper Turner, as attorney for Messrs. Tawell and Bevan,—if they 
had had full information in the case before them, instead of labouring under the disadvantage 
of having to advise upon a case which, both fis respects facts and arguments, is evidently 
one-sided. This decided opinion of the Law Officers of my Government, in a case involving 
so much valuable property, impels me, as the safest course, and in justice to the parties con-
cerned, again to refer the matter to Her Majesty's Government, in order that an opportunity 
may be had of revising the decision of His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, should this be 
deemed fit after further consideration of the matter. 

3. I beg at the same time to transmit herewith copies of the undermentioned com- 
munications on the subject received from parties in this Colony interested in the case, vit. :— 

1st. From T. W. Smart to the Colonial Secretary, dated 10th May, 1554. 
2nd. From the same to the same, dated 6th Jane, 1854. 
3rd. From 11. Dixson to the Private Secretary, enclosing memorial, dated 7th 

July, 1854. 
I have, ite., 

Oils. A. FITZ ROY. 

Na. 60. 
SECRETARY OT STATE to GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON. 

Downing-street, 
23 November, 1854. 

With reference to the Duke of Newcastle's despatch to Sir C. Fitz Roy, No. 130, 
of the 6th October, 1853, directing the transfer, in the manner proposed by the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury, of certain property in New South Wales which belonged to 
John Tawell, an executed felon, but which on his conviction became forfeited to the Crown, 
I transmit to you herewith, for your information, the copy of a letter on the subject from the 
solicitor to their Lordships' Board, and I have to instruct you to report to me without delay 
the steps which may have been taken in the matter. 

I have, Sm., 
G. GREY. 

[Enclosure in No. 50.] 
Treasury, 

14 November, 1854. 
Sir, 

With reference to the case of John Tawell, who some years ago was convicted of !minter, 
I beg to enclose copy of a letter which I have received from the solicitor of Mrs. Tawell, the widow of 
the felon, relative to the grant recommended by the Attorney and Solicitor General of England to be 
made by the Crown of certain lands in New SOlith Wales in the widow's favour, and I have to request 
that you will be so good as to acquaint me whether despatches have been received from the Governor 
of the Colony on the subject, and to furnish me with any information you may think proper to be 
communicated. to Mrs. Tawell. 

I am, kc., 
H. Merivale, Esq., &c., kc., ke. 	 H. R. REYNOLDS. 

[Sub-Enclosure 1 in No. 50.3 	
6, Old Tomb 

9 Nureedrer, 1854. 
Sir, 

Re TWELL. 
In the autumn of last year, you were good enough to apprise me, that the Attorney and 

Solicitor General of England had given their opinion herein, that the lands in the Colony of New 
South Wales, included in the inquisition, andstated to have been sold, should nevertheless he granted 
to the trustees of Mrs. Tawell and her children, according to the expectation graciously held out by the 
Crown. I was further informed that instructions would go out from the Colonial Office, consequent 
upon this opinion, directing the grant to be made to us, and Mr. Billyard, the Crown Solicitor at 
Sydney, was empowered to apply for this, and otherwise to net on our behalf. From a letter recently 
come to band from this gentleman, 1 find that a further difficulty has been interposed by the Law 
Officers in the Colony, and that the Government there had determined upon /Stir recommendation to 
refer the matter back again for re-consideration by the Secretary of State for the Colonies. 1 find it 
very difficult to persuade Mrs. Tawell that the only result hitherto of the kind intentions of the 
Government in her and her child's behalf, and of the correspondence which has taken place, 14 such as 
I have before alluded to ; and I should feel greatly obliged, both on her account, my co-trustee's, and 
my own, if you would kindly inform me whether any despatch has been received from Sir Charles 
Fitz Roy on this subject since the grant was directed to be be made in our favour. 

am, ke.. 
H. R. Reynolds, Esq, 	 WILLIAM BE VAN. 

Dotening-street, 
. 	23 Novetaber, 1854. 

Brill] reference to the Duke of Newcastle's despatch to Sir C. Fitz Roy, No. 190, of the 6th 14 November, of October, 1853, directing the transfer, in the manner proposed by the Lords Commissioners or the 
Treasury, of certain property in New South Wales which belonged to John Morel!, an executed felon, 
hut which, on his conviction, became forfeited to the Crown, I transmit to you herewith, for your infor-
mation, the copy of a letter on the subject from the solicitor to their Lordship? Board ; and I have to 
instruct you to report to me, without delay, the steps which may have been taken in the matter. 

I have, ke., 
Governor Sir W. Denison, 	 G. GREY. 

&c., 	ke., 
New South Wales. 

Snt, 

[Sub-Enclosure 2 is No. 50.] 

Sir, 

No. 51. 
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No. 51. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to A. II. ITCULLOCH, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 7 December, 1854. 

SIR, 
Reverting to the letter to you from this department, dated the 22nd November, 

1851, in which you were apprised that, under a report from the Crown Law Officers, the 
matter of Mr. Thomas Moore's claim to a portion of the escheated estate of the late John 
Tawell had been again referred to the Secretary of State for the Colonies; I have now the 
honor to inform you, by the direction of His Excellency the Governor General, that a 
despatch was received in reply, to the effect that the decision previously given, that the 
whole of the lands in this estate ought to be applied for the benefit of the wife of the late 
John Tame11, was to be adhered to. 

2. It was, however, considered desirable that the Crown Law Officers, at whose 
instance the case was again brought under the consideration of the Secretary of State, should 
be afforded an opportunity of perusing the despatch and offering their observations on the 
subject. From their further report, as well as from the remonstrances made by the parties 
concerned against the course which was about to be adopted, it appeared to His Excellency 
that, in a ease involving so much valuable property, the best course would be, in justice to 
the parties concerned, to again submit the matter to the consideration of the Secretary of 
State, in order that the decision might bercvised, if deemed necessary ; and this has accord-
ingly been done. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 52. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. ICETON, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 7 December, 1854. 

Reverting to the letter to you from this department, dated 22nd November, 
1851, in which you were apprised that, under a report from the Crown Law Officers, the 
matter of Mr. Hugh Dixson's claim to a portion of the escheated estate of the late John 
Tawell had been again referred to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, I have now the 
honor to inform you, by the direction of His Excellency the Governor General, that a 
despatch was received in reply, to the effect that the decision previously given, that the 
whole of the lands in this estate ought to be applied for the benefit of the wife of the late 
John Tawell, was to be adhered to. 

2. It was, however, considered desirable that the Crown Law Officers, at whose 
instance the case was again brought under the consideration of the Secretary of State, should 
be afforded an opportunity of perusing the despatch and offering their observations on the 
subject. From their further reports, as well as from the remonstrances made by parties 
concerned against-the course which was about to be adoyted, it appeared to His Excellency 
that, in a case involving so much valuable property, the best course would be, in justice to 
the parties concerned, to again submit the matter to the consideration of the Secretary of 
State, in order that the decision might be revised, if deemed necessary ; and this has 
accordingly been done. 	

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 53. 

GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

JOHN TAWELL. 

Further respecting escheated property of. 	
3 March, 1855. 

Sat, 
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your despatch, No. 10, dated 

23rd November, 1854, directing me to report, without delay, the steps which had been taken 
in the matter of the transfer of some property in the Colony, belonging to John Tawell. 
In reply, I beg to state that my predecessor, in a despatch, No. 150, dated 30th October, 
1854, thought it desirable to make a further reference to Her Majesty's Government, with 
relation to the steps which it might be desirable to take in the matter, and that, pending a 
reply to this despatch, all proceedings are in abeyance. 

I have, &e., 
W. DENISON. 

No. 54. 
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No. 51. 
SECRETARY OF STATE to GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON, 

Downing-street, 
1 November, 1855. 

SIR, 

of one from the solicitor to that Board, and the opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor 

the disposal of the property in New South Wales of John Tawell, a felon, I transmit to you 
herewith a copy of letter from the Assistant Secretary to the Board of Treasury, with a copy 

General on the case. 

With reference to your despatch, No. 24, of the 3rd of March last, relative to 

I have to request that you will take the necessary measures for the completion of the 
grant of the property in question to the trustees of Mrs. Tawall and her family, in the 
manner suggested by the Treasury solicitor, and in conformity with the opinion of the Law 
Officers of the Crown. 

I have, Sz.c., 
PANMURE. 

[Enclosures in NO. 54.] 
(1.)  

Treasury Chambers, 
27 Ontokr, 1855. 

With reference to your letters of the 19th February and 15th June last, relative to the 
disposal of the property of John Tawell, a felon, in New South Wales, I am directed, by the Lords 
Commissioners of Her Majesty's Treasury, to transmit to you the copy of a letter from the solicitor to 
this Board, together with the opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General on the ease; and I am to 
request that you will submit to the Secretary of State the expediency of instructing the Governor of 
New South Wales to have the grant of the property in question, to the trustees of Mrs Lovell and her 
family, completed in the manner suggested by the solicitor, and in conformity with the opinion of the 
Law Officers of the Crown. 

I am, Sec., 
H. Morivale, Esq. 	 C. E. TREVELYAN. 

(2.)  
Tref:snob 15 October, 1855. 

Sir, 
With reference to the accompanying letter, front the Colonial Office, of the 19th February 

last, transmitting, copy of a despatch front the Governor of New South Wales, with enclosures, relative 
to the disposal ot escheated property of the late John Tawell, an executed felon, I beg leave to report 
that a copy of the despatch and enclosures was communicated to Messrs. Tawell and Bevan (the pro-
posed trustees for Mrs. Talton and her family, in whose favour a grant of the property in question, by 
the Crown, was directed to be made some time since), and those gentlemen having submitted some 
observations, in reply to the opinion of the Law Officers of the Colony contained in the despatches, a 
ease was submitted, upon these further documents, to the Attorney and Solicitor General, which I have 
now the honor to enclose, with their opinion thereupon. 

Their Lordships will perceive that the Attorney and Solicitor General adhere to their former 
opinion, ;lamely, that the grant should he to trustees for Mrs. Tawell and her family ; and I would beg 
leave to suggest that their Lordships should request the Secretary of State to direct the Governor of the 
Colony to have Ow grant perfected and passed, under the Great Seal of the Colony, without further 
delay. 

The further expenses incurred in this office amount to £25 2s. fid. 
lam, &e., 

Sir Chas. Trevelyan, K.C.B. 	 JOHN GREENWOOD. 

) 
Ia the matter of John Tawell, an attainted felon. 

PCRTHER CASE as to the grunt of escheated property in New South Wales. 
The former case and opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General, in August, 1853, together 

with the several papers which accompanied the case, are left herewith. 
The case and opinion having been transmitted to the Governor of New South Wales, with instruc-

tions from the Duke of Newcastle to proceed with the grant of the escheated property in the manner 
already proposed, according to the form transmitted svith the letter nf the Board of Treasury, of the 
11th April, 1851, the following despatch and its enclosures have been received front Sir Charles Fitz Roy, 
lit reply :— 

Oe'rT)17:) ,13t 

Sir, 
	 Sydney, 30 October, 1851. 

Adverting to the despatch from His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, of &le the 6th 
October, 1853, No 130, unelosing a copy of a ease submitted to the Lilt' Officers of the Crown, respecting 
the disposal of certain escheated property in this Colony belonging to the lateJohn Tuswell, an executed 
Hon, together with their opinion thereon, and instructing me to cause a grant to be issued for the lands 
in question to trustees, for the benefit of Sarah Tawell and her family, in the mummer proposed in the 
letter from the Board of Treasury, of date the 11th April, 1851, of which a copy was transmitted to me 
in Earl Grey's despatch, of the 19th of the same month,—I have the honor to inform you that, upon 
receipt of this despatch, I caused a copy of it, with its enclosures, to be forwarded for the perusal of the 
Law Officers or this Government ; and 1 now beg to enclose herewith a copy of a corns -stunts Rion which 
I received from the Law Officers on the subject, which, from its tenor, induced me to snake a further 
reference to them before acting on the instructions conveyed to me by the Duke of Newcastle. 

2. You will perceive from the above communication, and from a subsequent report received from 
them—a copy of which is also herewith—that, in their opinion, the Law Officers of England would have 
arrived at the conclusion formerly expressed by the Law Officers of this Government, namely, that the 
grant should issue to the parties who purchased the land from Mr. George Cooper Turner, as attorney 
for Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, if they had had full information in the case before them, instead of 
laboring under the disadvantage of having to advise upon a case which, both as respects facts and 
arguments, is evidently one-sided. This decided opinion of the Law Officers of my Government, in a 
case involving so much valuable property, impels me, as the safest course, and in justice to the parties 

concerned 
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concerned, again to refer the matter to Her Majesty's Government, in order that an opportunity may 
be had of revising the decision of His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, should this be deemed fit after 
further consideration of the matter. 

3. I beg, at the same time, to transmit herewith copies of the undermentioned communications on 
the subject, r. eeived from parties in this Colony, interested in the case, viz. :— 

lst.—From T. W. Smart to the Colonial Secretary, elated 10th May, 1854. 
2nd.—From the same to the same, dated 5th June, 1854. 
3rd.—Frota II. Mason to the Private Secretary, enclosing memorial, dated 7th July, 1854. 

The Right Honorable 	 I have. 
Sir George Grey, Bart. 	 CHS. A. FITZ ROY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sir, 	 Sydney, 1 May, 1854. 

In reply to your letter of the 3rd February last, No. 54-80, fonvarding. for our perusal, the 
accompanying despatch with its enclosures, now returned, which was received from the S. tretary of 
State or the Colonies in reference to our report UMW 1st November, 1851, respecting the disposal of 
the escheated property in this Colony belonging to the late John Tawell, an executed felon. 

2. We do ourselves the honor to inform you that we have perused the despatch and enclosures, 
and regret to find that, after again giving the subject the most careful consideration, we are entirely 
rumble to concur in the opinion of the Attorney and Solicitor General of England. Whether or not that 
opinion was taken officially does not appear ; but we collect from the whole statement of the case for 
opinion that it most have been prepared and submitted by an interested party ; we have, therefore, the 
less difficulty in recording our dissent. 

3. But as the despatch of the Secretary of State distinctly instructs His Excellency the Governor 
General to proceed with the grant of the property in question as before directed. and as such despatch 
and its enclosures are now only sent to us for our perusal, we presume that the further discussion of the 
question which has been under consideration is no longer to be deemed within our province as Officers 
of the Colonial Government, and that the grant will be issued according to the instructions of the 
Secretary of State. 

We have, &c., 
J. H. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 
W. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 
P. S.—We beg to inform you this matter should have had our attention before now but for the 

absence of the Solicitor General on leave, and subsequently the interference of the Circuit Courts, which 
engrossed our attention. 
The Honorable 	 J. H. P. 

The Colonial Secretary. 	 W. M. M. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sir, 	 Sydney, 14 September, 1634. 

Referring to our letter to you of the 2nd of last June, and to yours of the 9th of the Wile 
month, on the subject of the escheated property of the late John Tawell, and referring also to 
Mr. Smart's further letter of the 0th of that mouth, and to Mr. Hugh Dixson's memorial fora aided to us 
under blank cover on the 22nd of July, we have now the honor to report further upon the question—
Whether the grants of Tawell's lands in the Colony ought to issue to trustees for his widow and her 
child, or to the persons who purchased from Mr. George Cooper Turner, as attorney for Messrs. William 
Tawell and Bevan 

2, We have once more gone most attentively through the whole of the voluminous mass of papers 
connected with this matter which you have laid before us, and have again given the subject our best 
consideration. 

3. The result has been a clear confirmation of our former opinion, and the conviction that the 
Law Officers of England would net have strived at any other conclusion if they had had tho same full 
information as ourselves, instead of labouring, as they certainly did, tinder the disadvantage of having to 
advise upon a c.:sta which, both as respects facts and arguments, is evidently one-ralat 

4. Even upon the statement before these officers we must take leave to express our dissent from 
their opinion in two important particulars, which form, perhaps, the principal grounds for their report. 
We refer to the argument in the 2nd paragraph with reference to the letter of instruct runs accompanying 
the power of attordLy to Messrs. Norton and Turner, and to the assumption in paragraph 3 that the claims 
of the Colonial purchasers " arise out of transactions of, to say the least, a very doubtful character." 

3. As respects the letter of instructions, we have to remark that we consider it to be a well 
established rule that such letters are to be regarded as confidential COurinunientions to the attorney, 
which persons dealing with him under his power have no right to see, and by which they cannot legally 
or equitably be effected, unless express knowledge of their contents be brought home to them. We beg 
to refer upon tins point to the accompanying extract Inns Mr. Justice Story's treatise on agency. 

G. For tlae aegumption that the purchasers' claims arise out of doubtful transactions, we have 
failed to find any frundation even i n  the  ease submitted to the Law Officers of England, and throughout 
the entire mass of p Terri bedore us there is not a trace of any evidence to support it. Of Cour-Le we 
und rstand the assumption to he made in a sense implicating the purchasers in the weal or supposed 
questionable transections, us those individuals could not otherwise be prejudiced by Mr. Turner's 
breaches of duty to his constituents. 

7. Whether the purchasers were or were net parties to any such breach of duty, we have no 
means of judging, positively ; but, as far as th e  information be-fore us enables us to judge, we think the 
imputation is rebutted. The property was sold under advertisements, which Mr. Norton might fairly 
be supposed to be cognizant of and to have sanctioned. There were abundant grounds for believing, 
what in fact forms the basis of the present claim for Mrs.T awell, that the Crown had in effect confirmed 
the settlement executed by John Tawoll in 1815, and relinquished its claim to the Colonial lands in 
favour of the trustees of that settlement ; and the grounds were ample for relying on Mr. Turner's 
representation that grants would be issued in favour of the purchasers. Mr. Turner, it is to be remem-
bered, was, at tbe time, Crown Solicitor, and in good repute, and, as such officer, he had conducted the 
inquisition upon the escheat. He was even, as appears by Mr. Devan's letter of 0th July, 1853, "joined-
as attorney with Mr. Norton, solely from the fact of his filling at that time the important and responsible 
situation of Crown Solicitor, at Sydney." It was expected that his position would carry weight, and 
would afford facilities for perfecting the title to the properties, and it is not unreasonable to suppose that 
it had the effect of creating confidence in the minds of the purchasers. We must also remark that the 
property was sold by public auction, and that the auctioneer OinplOyod is a gentleman singularly 
respected, both in his business and in private life. Whether the price realized was equal to the then value 
of the land we have no means of judging, but our orpaienee of the excessive fluctuations in the value of 

Colonial 
— 	 — — 

• Sons—Tlts Cate here and on the previous letter referred to as having been ene--sided, and prepared by an interested 
party, is that submitted to the Attorney and Solicitor General in August, 1863, and which accompanies the present case. 
It will be seen that it eansteted of,—ast. A Colonial despatch, transmitting a report of the Colonial Lew Officers, and, 
end. Tho remarks of Mean. Tawell and Bevan thereon, It was and le, therefore, regarded as embodying both sides of the 
smestion involved. 
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Colonial properties during the last 15 years, and of the uncertainty of all private estimates of such values, 
leads us to attach very little weight to the difference between the mum realized and the amount which 
Ms. Norton valued the property at in September, 1517. For the reasons shewn in the next paragraph, 
we do not think that the absence of re-grants of the property is likely to have prejudiced the sales ; on 
the contrary, it is not impossible that the expectation of having a fresh grant direct to each purchaser, 
instead of a conveyance under a power of attorneyfrona an absent party, operated as a recommendation 
of the property. 

8. The first paragraph of the opinion of the learned Attorney and Solicitor General of England, 
was evidently written without acquaintance with the course of dealing in the Colony with respect to 
lands held under promises from the Crown ; such lands have, from the earliest days of the Colony to the 
present time, been accustomed to pass from hand to hand by sales, and to he regularly conveyed as free-
holds or sometimes to ba transferred by simple letters to the Government requesting that the grant 
might he issued to the vendor. They have also been commonly devised by will, and transmitted by 
descent as estates in fee, although no deed of gaunt has ever issued. Such titles have been and are 
recognized by the Courts as good against every body but the Crown, and as even conferring title in 
many cases by estoppel, or implied trust, as against a subsequent Crown grantee. The Crown also has 
recognised the rights of parties claiming under the original promise, and has caused several successive 
Acts of Council to be passed for creating a tribunal to examine and report on claims to grants under 
promises, and in all such cases the question has been whether the promise was inch as to bind the s,,e;ary os 
honour of the Crown, and whether the claimant is this person who "in equity and good conscience" (we clauseappeuded. 
quote the words of the Act of Council now in force, 5 Gul. 4, No. 21) is entitled to the benefit of the 
promise. Many thousands of land purchases have been made in this Colony, and not a few are made 
almost daily even now, on which the question on the title has been, and is, whether the purchaser will 
be in a position to claim a grant under some promise front the Crown. The circumstance, therefore, of 
the grant in this ease not having been actually issued, does not justify the same impressions against a 
purchaser as would be created in Westminster Hall. 

9. The principle upon which the issue of grants under promises is determined, will be gathered 
from what we have above stated. There may be arguments suited to the atmosphere of Courts of Law, 
as at present constituted, which may yet be quite unfit to guide the honour of the Crown. For this 
reason we cannot adopt some of the arguments  ments set forth n the ease submitted to the Law Officers of 
England, whilst others appear to us to he totally inadmissible before any tribunal. 

10. The principle we have adverted to would not be admissible in cases in which a party has a 
clear title to a grant, as in the case of a purchase under the Waste Lands Act. In Buell cases even 
derivative claims would be examined only upon principles of law and legal equity ; but it has constantly 
been applied with the sanction of the Crown, and of the Executive and Legislative Councils of the 
Colony, to cases in which the promise has approximated to the creation of an absolute title, and, a fortiori, 
the Crown may adopt " equity and good conscience" as its guide in such a ease as this, where the 
utmost that can be said is that it has held out some expectation of an act of grace. 

11. In reference to the first paragraph of the learned In Officer's opinion, we would call 
attention to the fact that the power of attorney to afessrs. Norton and Turner refers to the settlement 
of 1815, 49 conveyiwr

n 
 the Colonial lands absolutely to the trustees, and does not notice any interposing 

claim of the Crown, but empowers the attorneys (or either of them) to sell these lands for Messrs. 
Tawell and. Bevan eels juribus. The power of attorney does not contemplate the necessity of any 

,inquest or grant, but, without any qualification as is contained in the letter of instructions, hes the 
following words 	And also if our said attorneys or either of them shall think expedient front till1C 
" to time to sell and dispose of all or any part or parts of the said lands and heredits to a 

purchaser or purchasers thereof for such price Or prie .s as they shall think reasonable, and to accept 
" and receive the consideration or purchase money for the same. 

Accordingly, the lands were about to be sold without inquest, or grant, in June, 1848, when one 
of ourselves saw the advertisement, and caused the sale to be stopped. in right of the Crown. The 
inquest was then held, under the management of Mr. Turner, and under the instructions of the Secretary 
of State, conveyed in his despatch of 29th January, 1818.• to the Governor of the Colony, Mr. Turner .6A copy Of this 
was recognized as a "legal representative in the Colony" of Messrs. 'Farrell and &van, and thy right despatch, 29Jan., 
to the Colonial lends conceded to him on fink behalf. Ile thereupon sold under the power, and repre- L8113,  aiTyt1/2., 
sented that the Crown would issue grants to the purchasers, as no doubt the Governor was then rjatolowe,„° 
prepared to do. This power of attorney was expressly sanctioned, in writing, by Mrs. Tawell. submitted to the  

12. We consider it a most important feature in the case that the sale appears to have been .tt!; ,,Trice_d___, 
regularly announced, and a, copy of Mr. Mort's account sales transmitted with the deposit, and that the rracii;zrivalt, 
money was received by Messrs. Tawell and Bevan without (as far as it appears) the slightest attempt at 

repudiation of the sale, until after Mr. Turner had made default in remitting the final payments 
which he subsequently received from the purchasers. This fact alone would be almost conclusive in a 
Court of Equity, and is, in our opinion, quite sufficient to bar the claim upon the grace of the Crown, 
unless indeed there were grounds for imputing fraud to the purchasers. 

13. One other consideration which preSSoit upon us very strongly is this—that, undoubtedly, there 
were good grounds at the time of the sale for expecting that grants would be issued to the purchase's 
at the instance of Mr. Turner, and that a correspondence ensued with the Government which indicates 
clearly that the grants were in effect promised by the local Government, and would have been issued 
but for a formal difficulty, which arose originally in another case, as to whether the terms of the Governor's 
Commission gave power to execute grants of escheated lands, as well as of the "waste lands of the 
Crown. We were ourselves parties to the consideration of the question which then arose, and we are 
satisfied that, but for this difficulty, the grants in question would have issued at that time to the several 
purchasers, and that it was understood on all hands that they would issue accordingly, as soon as the 
formal difficulty should be removed. 

14. Many other considerations of more or less weight have occurred to us on again perusing 
these papers, but we aro unwilling to trespass longer upon your attention. We would, however, beg 
leave to refer to our report of the 1stllecember, 1851.t 	 tat Is presumed 

115. With the strung opinion we entertain in favour of the claims of the purchasers, we do not that the report 
;isfilet itiraitclilt8d.  1, think it would be right to leave them to their supposed remedy in equity against Mrs. Tawelfs trustees 

as grantees. Even if a proceeding in equity could he made practicably effectual on either side, it them  i suoreport 
should, in our opinion be for the trustees to establish their repudiation of the acts of their agent, but et 1st Doe., 1851. 
we have reason now to entertain doubts, founded upon high legal authority, whether the equity of the 
purchasers could be established as against the proposed Crown grants. If any such mode of deciding 
the rights of the parties is to be resorted to, we think it should be by an inquiry preceding the issue of 
the grants. 

16. Our apology for having ventured to trouble you at so very unusual a length npon this matter 
must be our humblolut firm conviction that the Crown would be misled into an act of clear injustice . 
if the grants were now to issue .to Mrs. Tawell's trustees, and that we feel that the honor of the local 
Government has, at the instance of the representative of Mrs. Tawell and her trustees, become pledged 
to the other claimants. 

We have, Atc., 
J. H. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 
The Honorable 	 W. DI. MANNING, 

The Colonial Secretary. 	 Solicitor General. 

V 	 STORY 
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Story on Agency, Section 73. 
We are, however, carefully to distinguish in all such cases between the authority given to 

"the agents, and the private instructions given to him as to his mode of executing that authority ; for 
" althungh where a written authority is known to exist, or is by the very nature of the transaction pre-
" suppos, d, it is the duty of persons dealing with the agent to make inquiries as to the nature and 
" extent of such authority, and to examine it, yet no such duty exists to make inquiries as to any 
11  private letter of instructions from the principal to the agent, fin such instructions may well be pre-
" maned to be of a secret and confidential natant, and not intended to be divulged to 

may 
 persons. 

"Indeed it iney, parbeps, he doubted, if upon this subject there is any solid distinction between the 
" case of a sp tint authority to do is particular ::et and a general authority to do all acts in ft particular 
" business. Each includes tbe usual and apprupriste means to accomplish the end. In ouch case the 
" party ought equally to be bound by the acts of his agent executing such authority by any of those 
" me ins, although he may have given to the agent separate private and secret instructions of a more 
"limitid iodate." 

5 Grit. IV, Ad. 21, Section 4. 
" And be it further enacted that in bearing and examining all claims to grants as aforesaid 

1 ' the said Commis:doings shall he guided by the real justice and good conscience of the ease without 
"regard to I; .  al farms and solamoiiies and shall diner themselves by the best eviOttnee that tie -y C1411 

"yrocur, or de t is laid 1-.fore them whether the 14111111, be s oeh evidence as the law would require in 
" other cases or n ,  t and in ca b they or any two of them shall be satisfied that the person or persons 
" claiming such limas or any part or pr its thenuf is or are entitled in equity and good conscience to 
" hold the said lands and to hive a grant thereof made cod delivered to such person or pltISOZIS under 
" the Great Sad of the s.tid Colony 0 icy tI ore.iid Con (mi.:skaters shall report the mune and the gronnds 
" thereof to the Governor twain dingly and shall set forth tile situation messaretnent and boundaries by 
" which the said Fmk ALAI and may be dr  anted in a veey such grant provided however that nothing 
" herein contained shtth bin held to oblige the Governer to make. and deliver any such grant as aforesaid 
" unless Iii, Excellency shall deem proper so to do." 

*Letter from Mr, 
Smart, maenad 
to ante— 

+A full copy of 
the power of at-
torney mceimpa-
aka inseam-sub-
entteatit Au-
gust, laza 

Darling Point, 
10 Meg, 1554. 

Sir, 
'In the NB rly part of 1849 I purchased et reaction, of Mr. Mort, a portion of boil at Da fling-

lanst, soli by him on account of Meese s. Bevan end To well, the trustees if Mrs. Sarah Tawell, widow 
of John TONY, 'I, who wss convicted ;end anointed in England, in March, 1845, at which sale it was 
mum:minted to the int:odin purchwers, and held out vs an inducemcid to theta by the auctioneer, in 
the presence of, end with the authority of Mr. George Cooper T ur ner, the attontey of the said trustees, 
and then bolding the oilier of Civil Crown Solicitor, that as Der Most Gracious Majesty had been 
pleased to or Owe gnents itwoe to tias-, id tiustecs, their heirs, and assigns, the Colonial tiovernment 
would, at the regneat of the attorney or attorneys issue the grants of the ruipeetiac properties to the 
porch-me. s. 

Under this as-away:we I became the purchaser of the allotment alluded to, end instructed my • 
solicitor, Mr. Carr, to take thenIN-U1v4. try sty; tO obtain the grant, who, with the coneurrenee and assist-
ance i if the acting attorney, Mr. Turner, ea cried a ware Towline° with the Honorable the Colonial 
Secretary, during the month of 31areb, 1819, end on ',UNC.1.AI other occasions, until February, IfidO, when 
he was apprised that the Governor's Comm i• dim did not enable him to seal Letters Patent granting 
this land, and also that an authority for that peptise it wild have to be procured front Her Mak sty. 

Shaw that perkd—viz„ 1811) -I h ave received no commithication,„mi the subjeet till 
within the laat is des, when, greatly to my astonishment, I was informed that theY,Lovernor General 
had instruction ,  from his Glace the Duke of Newcastle to issue a grant in favour of Messrs. Tab ell and 
Bevan. that the grant bettld shortly be issued, a ha that their newly-constituted ttttorney, the present 
Civil drown Sokeitor, Mr. Billyard, had bran instructed to re-sell ilw property, thereby repudiating 
their fin at sales, and datum:Ling the perches, is of tit, ir justly acquired estate. 

I in altogether tenable to magent fin this Otterloiltattion on the part of His Grace the Doke of 
Newcastle, otherwise than by the suppositilw th. the has hi-in grossly imposed upon, and misled by an 
expert and wilfully misreprcs. nt stab-twat of the facts of the case, the most flagrant deceptioa being, 
as I have been informed, that Messrs. Bevan alld 'Jr well's attonatys in this Colony had no row- to erti,i-
I would drew your attuntioa to en extract (annexed hereto, and marked No 1), from the original power 
of attorwry, now in my pee:erasion, from which it bill be st en that they (the attorneys) have the fullest 
authority to sell tendstamvey the real t stati 

A proof of the legal confirmation of the sales is afforded by the acknowledgments of the 
the auctioneer s account sales, Ind of the cash depesrts paid by the purchasers ; yet in the Ihne of Bus 
virtual sane:thin, the trusties fraudulently seek to disclaim a contract made under their own authority. 

Under these (dreamt-At:me s I have rt sp, drolly to request, that if His Excellency does not feel 
authorized to issue the grant in my favour, as Messrs. Bevan end 'Powell have covenanted under seal with 
me to procure (sae Extract anti-tided marked No 2), that he will not issue it to Messrs. Bevan and 
Tawell, unless as trustees for the purchasers, or until the Home Government cam be again referred to, 
and a fuller and more accurate statement of the facts be submitted for their consideration, 

I have, &ea  
T. W. SMART. 

EXTRACT Aro. 1. • 
From Power of Attorney dated 2Gth January, 1848. 

Now know ye that we the said William Tawc11 and William Bevan do and each of us doth nomi-
nate constitute and appoint Isaac Norton of Sydney in the Colony of New South Wales gentleman and 
George Cooper Turner of the same place Crown Solicitor and each of them by himself our true and law-
ful attorneys and attorney jointly and severally for us the ssid W. Dwell and W. Bevan in our MOWS 

• or in the names or moue of our said attorneys or either of' then, to enter upon and take possession of all 
the lands tenements hereditaments and premises within the said Colony which were released to us by 
the said John 'Powell as aforesaid mid to manage or lot the same to a tenant or tenants thereof for any 
tern, or number dye:it-snot exceeding tit euty-one years or from year to year as our said Intel ueys or either 
of them 'Meth think expedient and at such rent or rents and MI such terms and conditions as they shall 
think proper and also if our said attorneys or either of them shall think expedient from time to time to 
sell and dispose of all or any part Or parts of the said lands and hen:dint/mots to a purchaser or pur-
chasers thereof for such price or prices as they shall think reasonable and to accept and receive the con-
sideration or purchase money for the same and thereupon for us and in our Haines or in the names or 
name of our said attorneys ot either of them to grant such receipts acquittances or discharges as shall 
be requisite and proper and also for us and in our names and as our acts and deeds to make sign seal 
execute and deliver all such releases or other discharges as shall or may be requisite and necessary for 

the 
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the purpose of effectually releasing conveying And assuring such lands and hereditaments unto the pur-
chaser or purchasers thereof his her or their heirs and assigns or to such use and upon and for such 
trusts as he she or they shall direct. 

I, Sarah Towel', widow of the said John Towel!, do hereby consent to the above power of 
attorney and the sale thereby authorized to be made. Dated this 28th January, 1849. 

SARAH TAWELL. 

EXTRACT Au. 2. 
CONVEYANCE, dated 15th May, 1800—Messrs. Tawell and Bevan to T. W. Smart—received in 

Registrar's Office, 1.0th June, 1960. 
And whereas the saia IV. Tawell and W. Bevan love requested His Excellency the Governor 

of the Territory aforesaid to hd pleased to direct that a giant of the said lands and hereditamentd 
hereinafter described so contracted by them to be sold as aforesaid may be issued in favour of the said 
Thomas W. Smart And whereas His Excellency the said Governor has accordingly been pleased to 
direct that such grant as aforesaid may issue in favour of the said T. W. Smart which said grant has in 
pursuance of such direction been prepared hut has not yet issued And lastly that they the said W. 
Tawelland W. Bevan their heirs executors and administrators shall and will use their utmost endeavours 
at thc cost of the said P. W.-Smart his heirs or assigns to procure for the said T. W. Smart his heirs or 
assigns or assist him or them in procuring the said grant from the Crown in favour of the said T. W. 
Smart his heirs or assigns to which the said T. W. Smart has become entitled under the circumstances 
hereinbefore set forth. 

Darling Point, 
June, 1954. 

In my letter addressed to you on the 10th ult., on the subject of Messrs. Bevan and Tamils 
claim to a grant of the land ther do alluded to, I omitted to mention that, since! purchased the property, 
I have actually expended the sum of E5,000 in the erection of five dwelling houses, and have entered 
into contracts for their completion, which will cost at least E9,000. 

Having become a purchaser under the circumstances detailed in my letter of the 10th May, and 
under the assurance that Her Majesty's Government had promised to the vendors that grants should he 
issued to the purzhosers upon application, I had no mason whatever to doubt that the sale was bond 
jiele and complete, and I think that when His Excellency takes into consideration the amount I have 
expended, he will see the groat wrong and injustice that will he committed, if the land should be granted 
to parties whose interests have already been disposed of for the fullest consideration. 

I have, &ea  
The non. the Colonial Secretary. 	 T. W. SMART. 

Sydney, 7 July, 1854. 
Sir, 

I have the honor herewith to enclose a memorial* for His Excellency the Governor, and shall *Letter and me-
feel obliged by- your forwarding it as early us convenient. 	 mortal from Mr. 

Dixson referred 
I should also feel obliged if you would apprise His Excellency, or his advisers, that I have the to ante, 

following documents, conneetcd with the subject matter of this memorial, any or all of 'which I shall 
produce should they so desire:— 

1. Original grant from the Crown to John Towel'. 
1 . 2. John Tawell's conveyance on trust to W. Powell and Bevan, with full powers to sell— he conveyance 

attested copy. 	 on west is refer- 

	

Ifer Majesty's Warrant, confirming the above conveyance.—(N.13.—This document has a m 	„,„ ost reci  riLbeiciolitst  
important 	en the part of the moral responsibility of Her Majesty's Government in at both deco. 
this matter)—attested copy. 	 meats are left 

44. Commission and inquisition—attested copy. 	 herewith. 
5. Powell and Br ids conveyance to me—original. 

	

	
4 The Indvisition 

e  is recited In K. 
6. Tawell and Devon's deed of covenant with me—original. 

	

	 liet warrant. 
Yours, See,, 

HUGH DENSON, 
Geo, H. Fitzroy, Esq. 	 George-street. 

To His Excellency Sir Charles Augustus Fitz Roy, Knight Companion of the Royal Hanoverian 
Guelphic Order, Governor General of all Her Majesty's Australian possessions, and Captain 
General and Governor-in-Chief of the Territory of New South Wales and its Dependencies, 
Ate., &c., cLe. 

The humble memorial of Hugh Mason, of Sydney, merchant,— 
Most respectfully shewcth :— 

That in the year 1819, your memorialist purchased at public auction, duly advertised, that 
portion of the property of the late John Towel', known as the" Friends' Meeting House," in Macquarie-
street, Sydney, of which property a grant in trust, for the benefit of the family of the said John 
Towel], was specially premised by Her Most Gracious Majesty. 

That tlie. trustees of the bunny of the said John Tawell (viz. : W. 'Powell and W. Bevan) did, 
thereupon, with the full consent of the widow (Sarah Tawe)l), duly execute and issue a power of 
attorney in favour of James Norton and George Cooper Turner, F.sqs., of Sydney, empowering them 
absolutely, or either of them, to let, sell, or otherwise dispose of all or any portion of the said lands, 
and heredilaments, and to convey and release all such to any purchaser or purchasers thereof. An 
extract from which power of attorney, together with a copy of the consent of the widow, arc hereunto 
annexed (No. 1). 

That. prier to the disposal of the property in question, the necessary inquisition, before the 
Supreme Court of this Colony, under Commission of Her Majesty the Queen, Motive to the titles to 
the said property, was indented and taken, and every other legal requirement duly complied with. 

That one of the said attorneys, viz., 0. C. Turner, Esq., then Civil Crown Solicitor of this 
Colony, apprised your memorialist to the foregoing effect, and further, that it had been notified to him, 
by letter from the Honorable the Colonial Secretary, that Her Majesty had been graciously pleased to 
grant in trust, all the property of the late John Towel], to the before-named trustees, and that 
instructions had been received by your Excellency's Government to afford every assistance to the 
legal representatives in New South Wales, for effectually assuring to them the property and heredita-
meets so granted. 

That thereupon your memorialist purchased the said property, situate in Macquarie-street, 
Sydney, which is included in the above-named inquisition and grant, At its then full market value, 
tinder express covenant with the attorneys of the trustees afore-mentioned, that they would forthwith 

219-11 	 apply 

Sir, 
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apply to your Excellency, in order that the Crown grant of the land in question might be issued in 
the name of your memorialist. 

That upon fall payment of the purchase money being tendered and received for the same, a, 
conveyance of the property was duly executed and delivered, in terms of the above-named deed of 
covenant, in which instrument it is distinctly expressed as a valuable consideration, that in compliance 
with the said attorneys' applications, and in accordance with the instructions of your Government, 
above referred to, your Excellency had been pleased to direct that a deed of grant of the land in 
question should be prepared in favour of your memorialist, )ini that such deed of grant had been 
prepared accordingly. (Vide extract from deed of covenant annexed, No. 2.) 

That your memorialist is, however, now informed that, taking advantage of the delay in the 
issue of the said grunt, and of the recently increased value of property in Sydney, the said W. Tawell 
and W. Bevan have, in violation of these several covenants, made application to the Imperial Govern-
ment for the issue to them of the grant of this and other properties as trustees for the family of the 
late John Dwell. 

That a compliance with snob an application on the part of Her Majesty's Government would 
evidently deprive your memorialist of a property which he has fairly and legally purchased on the 
faith of the-promised grant, and of the covenants and assurances before referred to, and re-grant the 
same to those to whom, through their appointed attorneys, full payment has been made and 
acknowledged. 

Wherefore your memorialist most respectfully prays that, taking into consideration the valid 
and ample authority under which the said property was sold and conveyed, the bond fie nature 
of the purchase and payment of the same and the several covenants and assurances thereupon 
entered into, your Excellency will he graciously pleased so to represent to Her Majesty's Secretary of 
State the facts and vouchers herein set forth, as may relieve your memorialist front the manifest 
hardship and injustice which a compliance with so inequitable an application would necessarily inflict. 

And your memorialist, as in duty bound, will ever pray, &e. 
HUGH DENSON. 

(Schedule referred to.) 
EXTRACT front Power of Attorney. (So. 1.) 

Now know ye that we the said W. Tawell and W. Bevan do and each of us doth hereby nominate 
'constitute and appoint James Norton of Sydney in the Colony of New South Wales gentleman and 
George Cooper Turner of the same place Crown Solicitor and each of them by himself our true and 
lawful attorneys and attorney jointly and severally for us the said W. Tawell and IV. Bevan in our 
names or in the names or name of our said attorneys or either of them to enter upon and take possession 
of all the lands tenements horeditaments and premises within the said Colony which were released to 
us by the said John Touren as aforesaid to let &e. &e. And also if our said attorneys or either of them 
shall think expedient from time to time to sell and dispwe of all or way part or parts of said land and 
hereditaments to a purchaser or purchasers thereof for such price or prices as they shall think reasonable 
and to accept and receive the consideration or purchase money of the same and thereupon for us and in 
our names and in the names or name of our said. attorneys or either of them to grant such receipts 
acquittances or discharges as shall be required and proper and also for us and in our names and as our 
acts and deeds to make sign seal execute and deliver all such releases and other discharges as shall or 
may be requisite and necessary for the purposes of effectually releasing conveying and assuring such 
lands and hereditaments with the purchaser or purchasers thereof his liar or their heirs or assigns or to 
such use and upon and for such trusts as he she or they shall direct. 

(Ls.) WILLIAM TAWELL. 
(1..s.) WILLIAM BEVAN. 

COPY of Consent to foregoing Power if Attorney. 
I S ittralt Tan-ell widow of the said John Tawell do hereby consent to the said power of attorney 

and the sale thereby authorized to be made. 
SARAH TA:WELL. 

Witnoss—jossam C OODEVE. 
THOMAS DAVIES. 

EXTRACT front Deed of Covenant. (So. 2.) 
And whereas the said William Tawell and William Bevan have requested His Excellency the 

Governor of the Territory aforesaid to be pleased to direct that a grant of the said lands and heredita-
'newts hereinafter described so contracted by them to be sold as aforesaid may be issued in favour of the 
said Hugh Dixson and His Excellency the Governor has accordingly been pleased to direct that such 
grant as aforesaid may issue in favour of Hugh DiESOII his heirs and assigns which said grant has been 
prepared but not yet issued. 

(Ls.) W. TAWELL, 
By a C. TEENER, his Attorney. 

(x.s.) 	W. BEVAN, 
By G. C. TOWER, his Attorney. 

Re Joust Tawnr..x, 
Sir, 

I have to acknowledge and thank you for your letter of the 2nd Ultimo, enclosing copies of 
two reports from the Attorney and Solicitor General of New South Wales, of 1st May and 1451, Septem-
ber, 1854, and Mr. Smart's and Mr. Dixon's letters therein referred to, upon the subject of the grant 
recommended to be made by the Crown to Mr. W. To -well and myself, upon trusts in favour of the 
widow and child of the late John Tawell. 

It is not my place to remark upon the extraordinary suggestion that the ease submitted to the 
Jaw officers of the Crown here was prepared by or on behalf of the trustees. but it is due to others 
than myself to observe that I have never even seen any such case, and the observations nave made 
hate been elicited solely by the reports from the law officers of the Colony, and these I cannot doubt 

Signed sealed and delivered in the presence of,— 
JOSEPII G WIVE V E, 6, old Jewry, Loudon, Solicitor. 
Tuostas DAWES, Clerk to Messrs. Bevan and Goutleve, 6, Old Jewry. 

Witnessed by Enwn. NtrrxEstur. 

A copy of the foregoing despatch and enclosures having been communicated to Messrs. Tawell 
and Bevan (the trustees for Mrs. Tawell and her family), for any observations they might desire to 
make thereon, the following communication has been received front Mr. Bevan :— 

G, Old Jewry, 7 May, 1855. 

were 
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were brought fully under the notice of the Attorney and Solicitor General of England, when considering 
their opinion. 

In rtfference to the legal argument of the report, assuming the passage quoted from Mr. Justice 
Story's work to contain a correct statement of the law, the present case seems unaffected by the prin-
ciples there laid down ; for the letter of instructions does not profess to limit the powers of Messrs.. 
Norton and Turner with respect to such parts of the forfeited property as were capable of being dealt 
with by the trustees. but merely points out that part, although nominally included in the power, could 
not properly be dealt with. under it as not being vested in the trustees at the time of the execution of 
the power, The purchasers must, however, be taken to have been cognizant of this fact, independently 
of the letter, as the most cursory investigation of Turner's title, or the least inquiry into the position of 
the property, would have led to a reference to the letter of instructions. and would have shewn that the 
Crown Warinlit did not profess to include, or to affect the real estate of Tawell in Australia. The letter 
of instructions merely points to a fact, notice of which is brought home to the pm -chasers in another way 
equally effectual, and therefore, were there no such letter, Her Majesty's advisers must have CUTat to 
the conclusion embodied in their opinion, though possibly on other grounds. 

As to the facts newly imported into the case, much stress is laid on the absence of evidence of any 
fraud Or other impropriety in the purchases, save what aitpears on the thee of them, as having been ciliated 
by an agent without authority. It is true there is no evidence of the sales having been made at an 
under value, although looking at the enormous disproportion to the present prices of land there can be 
little doubt of it ; but I ttpprellend the advisers of the Crown, when they speak of the transactions being 
0  of at least a doubtful character," do not refer to inadequacy of price, but to the Munnel evidence 
presented by the conduct of the parties purchasing, viz., the dealing with out only of the attorneys, and 
this the newly added. one (the other, the attorney always hitherto acting, remaining on the spout, a 
reference to whom would have inunediately upset the transaction), taking a title from a person who 
really had none to give, and &jog satisfied with a conveyance taken hastily from him alone, when the 
exercise of the most ordinary caution would have diseloacd the fact that they were dealing with a 
hypocrite. 

The next fact relied on by Messrs. Plunkett and Manning is the custom of the Crown of making 
grants in pursuance of promises. 'The argument they found On this custom seems to me to proceed on 
an entirely false analogy. Whore land is vested in the Crown by virtue of its original sovereignty in 
the Colony, and has never been vested in any private individual, it is easy to see that where the pro-
miser d alt with his incipient right by way of alienation, do., nice questions may arise as to the person 
entitled to avail himself of the promise, and it is both natural and proper that the Crown should seek to 
find out the person really entitled to the benefit of it, on principles less technical and precise than those 
which regulate the devolution of property between private persons. But the argument of the Attorney 
and Solicitor General of England is based on the undoubted fact, that the property was not in the Crown 
at the time when the power of attorney was given, that there could not therefore be at that 
time any Crown grantee, and therefore no one professing to be the grantee of the Crown could 
deal with the property. The Crown having no interest in the land of which it could dispose, 
could not make a promise, bat were it even so, it cannot be said that Messes. Tawell and Bevan 
were promisees of the grant of the lands at the time they executed the power, for although the 
warut. from the Crown does recognise the settlement of January, 184,5, which included the real estate 
of Dwell in the Colony, it does so only for the purpose of declarinl the trusts of the property actually 
granted, and there is nothing on the thee of the warrant which holds out any anticipation of a gent 
being :heat ti he made to those gentlemen of the estates in question. In short, there wes no right, 
ineipu ut or oth.rwise, in them rt the time they ( scented the power ; and although there "yes a power 
in the CrA iwn of acquir:ng the land on the performance of certain acts, those acts had not hen per-
formed, nor Imd any exptetation been hold out which the vendor could make ii se of, that a grant woo Id 
be made to their purchasers when the Crown was in a position to make it. In the eases referred to by 
the Audi:Hien Law Officers, the title of the Crown is complete, but it was not se here at the time the 
SUPPOSed POIJIHiSli was made. 

I do not s(as how the reference to Mr. Turner, in the despatch of 29th February, 1848, can affect 
the question. No doubt he was the legal representative of Mrs. Tawells trustees for some purposes, 
but the red char:a:tee of his position cannot be effected by any such expression haring been usrd ; 
that expression being fully explained by the position of Mr. Turner with reference to the personal 
estate of 'Powell under the Crown grant and power of attorney. I have not seen tho despatch in 
question, but. I assume, there is nothing material in it beyond the words quoted in the report. 

Some stress is laid on the fact that Turner held out expectations of grants being made at the 
time of the sale, he being then Crown Solicitor ; and that, in point of fart, grunts would have been 
made long since but for certain legal difficulties arising out of differences of opinion amongst the law 
officers. If, in fact, as now appears to be the ease, Turner had no authority to make such promises. 
there being no evidence of any such authority having been given him, beyond the fact of his holding 
the office of Crown Solicitor, no weight can be given to them. A person relying on them, of course, did 
so at his peril, and cannot now complain that he was deceived. It may be perfectly true that grants 
would have been made lung since bad no fresh element appeared in the ease, leading to a more thorough 
investigation of its real features ; but it does not follow that after that 111Ort thorough investigation, 
the same coarse will be adopted. It would rather seem to be a source of gratification to the Crown, to 
have the opportunity thus put in its way of preventing the commission of acts of gross injustice. 

The fact relied on as most important, is that of the signature of Mrs. Tawell having been 
appended to the power. 

This is explained by her as hating been done solely with the object of testifying her assent to 
the change of investment of the personalty. 

In a recent letter to the trustees, thatlady says " the more I reflect upon the communication from 
" Sydney, the more I feel anxious that the Right Honorable the Lords of the Treasury should be unule 
' 1  acquainted with the fact inducing my name to be appended to the power of attorney sent ma to 

Messrs. Norton and Turner. I will copy a provision made in the grant signed. 30th day of twelfth 
" 

 
month, 1517,—' But so as every such investment or change of investment be. made with the consent. 

" in writing of the said Sarah Tnwell during her life' ; hence it was clear that the personal property 
in the banks in Sydney could not be removed without my written consent," it was with this view 

alone she gave it, being at the time fully aware of the letter of instructions aCCOliipanying the lam% 
Independently of this, however, even if it should turn Ant ou examination that Mrs. Tawell (lid 

expressly sanction the power in the form referred to, her net ought not surely be allowed to prejudice 
her child, she haying only a life interest in the property, and having no power to prejudice his right as 
remainderman by any consent or other act. 

Much is attempted to he made of the fact that no objection was made to the sales when the 
accounts were transmitted. Messrs. Tawell and Bevan could not of course object to the sales of their 
own attorneys. They rue not now repudiated by them, but by Mrs. Tawell ; so that the acquiescence 
of the trustees, by being thus silent, cannot affect her, even were it in itself iinportant. It was :Ilse 
stated, that money was rece i ved on account of the deposit without objection on the part of Tata 
and Bevan. This statement is eontrary to the fact ; no money was received until Norton sent 
the deposit, subsequently to Turner's flight ; and the firm of Bevan and Goodeve, then on 
behalf of Mrs. Tawell imtnediately and most strongly repudiated the sales, and intimetedto Aft Norton ,  
that a re-sale was intended, as the following extract from the letter to Mr. Norton will show "you are 
" far from correct in your account of the proceedings which have been terminated by the sale of the 
"land, and which sale was invalid and, of no. effect- ion. willfind on reference to our letter of 26th 

January, 
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" January, 1818, that we informed you a grant front the Colonial Governor was necessary before any 
•• title could be made to the freeholds in New South Wales ; notwithstanding this, and the opinion of your 
"Solicitor General, you appear to have facilitated an illegal sale by your co-trustee, by, to use your own 
H words, 'handing him over the power of attorney and all the documents you held.' Another sale will 
"now take place under the Governor's grant, the form of which goes out by this mail from the Colonial 
"Office, and we rely upon your exertions to see that a fair price is this time realized for the property 
" comprised in the grant, which we are told ought to produce at least double the amount of the former 
H forted and illegal sale, if' not more. We regret the position in which the purchasers from Mr. Turner 
H are placed, but as it is quite clear he couldnot make a title in the absence of the grant front the Crown, 
" they will not be witholit their remedies." 

I do not know that I have left any portion of the long and studied report of the law officers of 
Sydney unnoticed; the 15th clause suggests "0 further inquiry to precede the issue of the grant." 
Alter s years successful opposition and delay on the part of the local Government, these gentlemen, 
when driven into a corner, think this the coarse more suited to the honour itml justice of the Crown !" 

I have, &c., 
H. R. Reynolds, Esq., 	 WIWI. BEVAN. 

Solicitor, Treasury. 

The Attorney and Solicitor General are requested to advise the Lords of the Treasury, as to the 
course which it will be proper for their lordships to adopt, with reference to the grant of the escheated 
property. 

Ws have considered the further report of the law officers of the Colony, and the arguments urged 
therein ; we adhere to the opinion given by Os on this ease, of the date of :51st August, 1850. 

Without adverting to the different facts in dispute between the law officers in the Colony and 
Mr. Bevan, we consider the following facts to be beyond dispute :— 

The deceased 'Sowell having been convicted of felony, his lands in the Colony escheated, with 
the rest of his propetty, to the Crown. Her Nfaji sty, in December, 1847, was pleased to grant the rest 
of the property, consisting of lands in England and personalty in Australia, to Messrs William Tawell 
and William Bevan, as trustees, for the benefit of Tawell's widow and child ; but no inquisition haying 
been then taken of the lands in the Colony, the grant was silent as to these. 

In this state of things, the trustees send a power of attorney to Messrs. Norton and Turner in 
Australia authorizing them to enter upon the lands there of which they, Tawell and Bevan were 
trustees under a former conveyance from 'Sawa, the felon,) and to sell them, and also to dispose of the 
personal property ; but they accompanied this power of attorney by a letter of instructions, in which 
they communicated to Turner and Norton, that the lands in question were net included in Om Royal 
grant of December, 1847, and that alai-tiler grant would be necessary ; very plainly shewing that they 
did not consider these lands as comprehended, for the present at least, within the power of attorney, or 
intend them to be sold by virtue thereof, or under the then circumstances. 

Nevertheless Mr. Turner proceeds to sell the lands in question and misappropriates the proceeds. 
At the time of the sale no grant of these lands had been made by the Governor of the Colony. 

It is alleged by the purchasers that Mr. Turner gave his assurance that the necessary grant would be 
made; it does not appear he had any authority to give stich assurance. 

It is alleged on behalf of the trustees, and not denied, that the sales were effected at very inad-
equate prices, at all events, with reference to the present value of land in that part of the Colony. 

Mrs. Tawell on behalf of herself and her child now seeks to repudiate the transaction. 
It is argued hy the law officers of the Colony that, inasmuch as the power of attorney gave 

authority to sell those lauds, the instractions contained in the accompanying letter to Turner and 
Norton cannot be used by the grantors of the power to qualify the extent of the power, on the faith 
and strength of which the purchasers bought. To give full effect to this argument it most be assumed 
that the purchasers were made aware of the terms of the power of attorney and purelmsed on the 
strength of it. 

But if they did, they must have at once become aware of the informality of the title ; for, the 
power recites the attaindtir of Towel', and shews, therefore, that his property had eschitted to the 
Crown ; and while it sets forth the grant by the Crown of Ids personalty in the Colony, it is silent as 
to his real estate. This at Is-tat should have excited suspicion and provoked inquiry, and if such 
inquiry had been made, more especially of the other attorney, Norton, the real state of the facts would 
doubtless have been disclosed. 

It is alleged, on the part of the trustees and Mrs. Towel]. that Mr. Norton took no part in these 
transactions, and was never referred to, and that the sales were hurried and the prices inadequate. 

We have no means of judging of the absolute troth of these allegations, but we think enough is 
strewn to justify us in designating these transactions as " doubtful ;" and we think that the coarse that 
we have advised, namely, that a grant should be made, as originally contemplated, to the tinstees, for 
Its. 'Sowell and her child, leaving to the other partici to enforce their claims, either for the conveyance 
of the lands or for repayment of the purchase money, as they may be untitled, in a Court of Equity, will 
best meet the justice and general merits of tin' ease. 

It is urged by the law officers in the Colony, that a promise of a grant once made by the Crown 
ought to be acted upon; more especially as the practice in the Colony has been to treat a pi 0111iSO Bow 
the Crown as equivalent to an absolute grant, with reference to contracts relating to land. But, in the 
first place, it is obvious that the practice referred to relates to waste lands, which the Crown has always 
been in the habit of granting away in large quantities, and can have no application to a case like the 
present. In the second place, no promise of a grant had been made by any competent antlowity at the 
time these sales took place. 

If any assurance to that effect was given by Turner, it appears to have been given without 
authority. It is true he was then Government Solicitor, but he was not acting in that capacity when he 
gave such assurance, nor, if he had been, would his mere official capacity have authorized him to do so. 

For these reasons we adhere to our former opinion. 

No. 55. 

COLONIAL SECRETARY to CROWN LAW OFFICERS. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 8 February, 1850. 

GENTLEYEN, 
I am directed by His Excellency the Governor General to transmit to you, for 

1Nat,1855. your information and guidance, a copy of a despatch which has been received from the 
Secretary of State, relative to the disposal of the property in this Colony of John Tawell, 
a felon, and to request that you will instruct the Civil Crown Solicitor accordingly. 

I have, ite., 
W. ELYARD. 

A. E. COCKBURN. 
RICHARD BETHELL. 

No. 56. 
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No. 56. 
CROWN LAW OFFICERS to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 
Sydney, 15 February, 1856. 

SIR, 
In acknowledging your letter of the 8th instant, No. 115, transmitting for our 

information and guidance a copy of a despatch which has been received from the Secretary 
of State, relative to the disposal of the property in this Colony of the late "John Tawell," 
an attainted felon, we have the honor to state, that, having perused the further opinion of the 
Law Officers of England, we still retain, to the fullest extent, the firm conviction expressed in 
our letter of the :30th October, 1854, namely :—" That the Crown would be misled into an 
" act of clear injustice if the grants were now to issue to Mrs. Tawells trustees, and that we 
" feel that; the honor of the local Government has, at the instance of the representative of 
" Mrs. 3.'awell and her trustees, become pledged to the other claimants." 

2. We would therefore very respectfully request to be relieved from the position of 
apparent acquiescence and adoption in which we should place ourselves if we were to give the 
proposed instructions to the Civil Crown Solicitor. 

8. We would take the liberty of suggesting that such instructions should be given 
direct to the Civil Crown Solicitor, to whom alone the duty of preparing deeds of grant 
ordinarily belongs, and who would net only as conveyancing solicitor to the Government, and 
would not be regarded as its responsible adviser in the matter. 

We have, &c., 
J. II. PLUNKETT, 

Attorney General. 
IV. M. MANNING, 

Solicitor General. 

No. 57. 
SIR W. DENISON to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

John Tanell—respecting Conveyance to Trustees of Property for Family of. 
18 March, 1856. 

SIR, 
In reply to Lord Panmure's despatch, No. 35, dated 1st November, 1855, 

requesting that the necessary measures might he taken for the completion of the grant of 
the felon named in the margin, to the trustees of Mrs. Tawell and her family, I have the John rawest. 
honor to inform you that instructions have been given to the Crown Solicitor to prepare the 
deed accordingly. 

No. 55. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to CI% IL CROWN SOLICITOR. 

Colon(al Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 26 February, 1856. 

With reference to the correspondence that has taken place on the subject. of the 
disposal of the property of the late John 'Dwell, an attainted felon, I do myself the honor, 
by the direction of the Governor General, to inform you that a despatch has been received 
from the Secretary of State, directing the completion, without any further delay, of the 
grants of the property in question to the representatives of Mrs. Tawell and her family, and 
to request that you will take the necessary steps for carrying out the instructions of Her 
Majesty's Government. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD 

No. 59. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to THOMAS ICETON, ESQ. 

Colonial Secrctory's Office, 
Sydney, 26 February, 1856. 

With reference to my letter of the 7th December, 1854, respecting Mr. Hugh 
Dixson's purchase of certain land, forming part of the property of the late John Tawell, I do 
myself the honor to inform you that instructions have been received from the Secretary of 
State, in reply to the further reference made to him on the subject, for the completion of the 
grant of the said property to the representatives of Mrs. 'Dwell and her family, and that the 
Civil Crown Solicitor has accordingly been instructed to take the necessary steps for that 
purpose. 

I have, Ite., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 60. 

I have, &c, 
W. DENISON. 
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No. 60. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to A. II. IWCULLOCII, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 20 February, 1856. 

Sm, 
With reference to my letter of the 7th December, 1854, respecting Mr. 

Thomas Moore's purchase of certain land, forming part of the property of the late John 
Tawell, I do myself the honor to inform you that instructions have been received from the 
Secretary of State, in reply to the further reference made to him on the subject, for the com-
pletion of the grant of the said property to the representatives of Mrs. Tawell and her family, 
without any further delay, and that the Civil Crown Solicitor has accordingly been instructed 
to take the necessary steps for that purpose. 

I have, &c., 	. 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 61. 
W. W. BILLYARD, ESQ , to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Macquarie-street, 
Sydney, 19 February, 1856. 

SIR, 
Referring to your letter to me of the 9th June, 1854, No. 462, in answer to 

my application for a deed of grant to Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, as trustees for the widow 
and child of the late John Tawell, of the lands in this Colony belonging to his estate, and 
informing me that it had been found necessary to refer to the Crown Law Officers, preparatory 
to submitting this matter for the re-consideration of the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 
I do myself the honor to inform you, that 1 have recently received a letter from Messrs. 
Tawell and Bevan enclosing copy of the further opinion (dated 8th October last) of Sir 
A. E. Cockburn and Sir R. Bothell, the English Attorney and Solicitor General, in which 
they express their adherence to their former opinion, that the grant ought to issue to the 
trustees notwithstanding the report of the law officers here ; and that they had learnt at the 
Colonial Office that instructions had been forwarded to His Excellency the Governor 
General, for the grant to be made to Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, as originally ordered. 

I have the honor, therefore, to request that instructions may now be 
e
(-riven for the 

issue of the grant to those gentlemen, and that the Colonial Treasurer may be directed to 
hand the same, and any other deeds of grant in the Treasury relating to Tawell's estate to 
me, as the duly authorized attorney of Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, on payment of the fees 
due thereon. 

I may add that a draft form of the deed of grant, prepared I believe by the Solicitor 
to the Treasury, has been forwarded to me, and that I shall be happy to do all that is neces-
sary in the preparation of the grant, should you think proper to direct me to do so. 

I have, &c., 
W31. W. BYLLYARD. 

SIR, 
With reference to my letter of the 3rd June, 1854, respecting the disposal of 

certain land, forming part of the property of the late John Tawell, I do myself the honor to 
inform you that instructions have been received from the Secretary of State, in reply to the 
further reference made to him on the subject, for the completion of the grant of the said 
property to the representatives of Mrs. Tawell and her family, and that the Civil Crown 
Solicitor has accordingly been instructed to take the necessary steps for that purpose. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 63. 
CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Civil Crown Solicitor's Office, 
Sydney, 6 March, 1856. 

Referring to your letter of the 26th ultimo, No. 168, requesting me to take the 
necessary steps for the completion of the deed of grant of the property of the late John 
Tawell, to the representatives of Mrs. Tawell and family, I do myself the honor to request 
that you will furnish me with the copy warrant of Her Majesty, relating to the English 
real estates, and the form of grant of the Colonial estates, transmitted to you by the Right 
Honorable the Secretary of State, and the other documents relating to this matter in your 
possession. 

I have, &e., 
AVM. IV. BILLYARD, 

Civil Crown Solicitor. 

No. 62. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to T. W. SMART, ESQ. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 1 March, 1856. 

SIR, 

No. 64. 
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No. 64. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR. 

Colonial Secretary's Office. 
SIR, 	 Sydney, 10 March, 1856. 

In compliance with the request contained in your letter of the 6th instant, 
No. 53, I do myself the honor to transmit to you the form of grant to be made to the 
representatives of Mrs. Tawell and her family, of certain laud belonging to the late John 
Tawell, an attainted felon, together with all the other documents in this office connected 
with the case in question. I have, &c., 

W. ELYARD. 

No. 65. 
CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR to COLONIAL SECRETARY, 

Civil Crown Solicitor's Qffice, 
Sra, 	 Sydney, 15 April, 1856. 

Referring to your letter of the 10th ultimo
' 
 No. 204, transmitting form of grant 

to be made to the representatives of Mrs. Tawell and her family, of lands in this Colony 
formerly belonging to the late John Tawell, an attainted felon, I now do myself the honor 
to send you the engrossment thereof, and have to request that you will obtain the signature 
of His Excellency the Governor General, and cause the Seal of the Territory to be affixed 
thereto, and when so signed and sealed, the same may be completed in the usual manner, by 
enrolment and registration in the proper offices. 

As the grant is made upon the trusts mentioned in Her Majesty's Royal Warrant 
of the 30th December, 1847 (an attested copy of which is with the papers I received from 
you), it will be necessary that such attested copy should accompany the grant, as it forms an 
essential link in the chain of title. 

I return the whole of the papers, and have, Sze, 	WM. W. BILLIARD. 

[Enclosure 1 in M. 65.3 
Forwarded to the Surveyor General, in order that the descriptions may be verified. 

]).C., 22 April, 1856. 	 W. ELYARD. 

[Enclosure 2 in N-0. 65.] 
It is evident that, with the exception of the allotment in the parish of St. James, the description 

of which has been verified, all the descriptions are of portions of land, obtained from private individuals ; 
those in the parish of Alexandria appear to form parts of the Riley Estate. Verification without survey, 
which I presume is not intended, is impracticable. 

25 April, 1556. 	 GEO. BARNEY, S. G. 

[Enclosure 3 in No. 65.] 
nut, as the grant will now be issued by the Government, I think there should be no doubt as to 

the correctness of the descriptions; for, if by any chance the rights of other parties were interfered with, 
they would most likely look tu the Government for redress. At all events, the Surveyor General might 
Say whether, under the circumstances, a survey might be necessary. 

b. C. 30 April, 1856. 	 M. F. 	20. 

[Enclosure 4 in No. 65.] 
Minn instructed the Assistant Surveyor to survey the allotments referred to, and furnish new descrip-
thins of the land claimed, I have received a report, of which I enclose a copy, and from which it will 
appear that the ease is involved in such difficulty as renders it extremely questionable whether the 
Government min with safety convey the leads referred to, in any other terms than the general terms of 
the inquisition, and of the draft deed herewith returned. 

Surveyor General's Office, 	 GEO. BARNEY, 
26 July, 1856, 	 S. G. 

[Enclosure 5 in No. 65.] 
Sydney, 23 July, 1856. 

With reference to your letter, No. 56-800,4 dated 3rd May, 1856, addressed to Assistant 
Surveyor Gordon (and forwarded by that officer to mc), enclosing descriptions of four allotments of 
laud, which I am required to survey and to furnish new descriptions of, in order that they may be 
granted to the representatives of Mrs. John Towel] and heirs ; I have the honor to report, that although' 
the descriptions may serve to identify the lands in a general way, yet they are too vague and uncertain 
for plans and descriptions to be made out with the accuracy required from a public Survey Department. 
There appear to me to be also reasons why these accurate descriptions (if possible) should not be given 
in the present ease. 

The lands were found. (or said) to escheat and be forfeited to the Crown on the atteint of the late 
John Tawell, by a Court of Inquisition held at Sydney, on 22nd August, 1848; from the proceedings of 
which Court the descriptions were obtained. 

Her Majesty has been geacionsly pleased to allow the said lands (i.e., such as would legally 
escheat to the Crown on such attainture,) to revert to the representatives of the widow of the late John 
Tawell and her family, and has directed a grant to be made to that effect ; but as the Government are 
not now in possession, nor have over taken any means to recover possession of the said lands from the 
parties now holding them, it might perhaps be advisable, in drawing out the grant, to make use only 
of the descriptions as given in the deed of inquisition. 

I have been informed that some of the land now claimed by the representatives of Mrs. trawen 
and family was purchased in the year 1839 at public sale, by a Mr. Nolan, from Mr. Austin (then of the 
Water Police), who had purchased from novel', who again had previously purchased from John 
flaxen, who had received a grant thereof from the Crown during the Government of Sir Ralph 
Darling. Mr. Nolan has moreover informed me, that he and his family have been in uninterrupted 
possession of the land and premises ever since he purchased them. 

Under these circumstances, it appears to me that the Government will be granting land which 
they had previously granted, and had never recovered or been in possession of since. 
The Surveyor General, 	 I have, Sze., 

6x., 	Ste., 	Lie. 	 DI. E. L. BURROWES. 
• Not with papers. 

No. 66. 
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No. 66. 
CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Civil Crown Solicitor's Office, 
Sydney, 23 July, 1856. 

Srn, 
Referring to my letter of 15th April last, transmitting engrossment of deed 

of grant to the representatives of Mrs. Tawell for execution, I do myself the honor to state 
that, on inquiry as to the cause of the great delay which has taken place in this matter, I 
have been informed at your office, and also at the Surveyor General's, that the descriptions 
of the land to be granted are 50 indefinite as to require a verification before the grant can be 
completed. 

2. Endeavouring to adhere as nearly as might be to the form of grant prepared in 
the office of the Solicitor to the Treasury, and which referred to the lands as being those 
described in the inquisition, I inserted the lands according to such description in the grant. 

3. Upon consideration, however, I admit the propriety of the Surveyor General's 
objection; and Mr. Darvall, with whom I have consulted, is of opinion that with such 
uncertainty the grant would be void, and the intention of Her Majesty's Government 
probably be defeated. 

4. Such description would be sufficient in an old country like England, where it is 
common to convey estates simply by name, without stating any commencing point, or even 
boundaries. A much greater degree of minuteness is, however, necessary in a new country, 
and in order to carry out the intentions of Her Majesty's Government, it is absolutely 
necessary to depart from the strict letter of the instructions, and to insert by proper 
descriptions the various parcels of land intended to be granted. 

5. I beg leave, accordingly, to withdraw the engrossment formerly sent, and to 
request that the Surveyor General may be instructed to furnish perfect descriptions of the 
land intended to be granted. 

6. In order to assist in identifying the property, I have given to Mr. Burrow.es, of the 
Survey Department, a valuation of it by Mr. Hume, the architect. 

7. The description in the inquisition was taken from the title deeds then produced 
by Mr. G. C. Turner, my predecessor, who handed them over to the different purchasers. 

8. As the grant must necessarily, therefore, be re-engrossed, I have taken the 
opportunity of adding to it in another respect, without, however, deviating from the 
instructions. Time addition is simply by the annexure of a copy of fler Majesty's Warrant, 
which is referred to in the habendum, as containing the trusts upon which the land is to be 
held, in order that they may appear from the annexure itself, and thus avoid future trouble 
and disputes as to the trusts, through the possible difficulty of identifying the attested copy 
of that warrant, at present in your possession, with the warrant referred to in the grant. 

9. I herewith enclose draft of grant, as now amended, for approval by His Excellency 
the Governor General, to be completed when the Surveyor General shall have furnished the 
amended descriptions. 

10. As I have no doubt that the Home Government will be desirous of carrying out 
Her Majesty's gracious intentions in favour of Mrs. Towel' and her child, I feel satisfied that 
His Excellency will facilitate this object as much as possible. 

11. It is perhaps right that I should add, that I am acting in this matter, not only 
as Civil Crown Solicitor, but also as the private attorney of the grantees, and that I some 
time ago retained Mr. Dorval' as their counsel. 

12. The proposed alterations in the grant are indicated in red ink in the draft sent 
herewith, and I cannot conceive any possible objections to them. 

I have, &co  
WM. W. BILLYARD, 

Civil Crown Solicitor. 

IN-o. 67. 
CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 21 October, 1856. 

Referring to your letter* of the 12th August last, No. 405, transmitting copy 
report of Assistant Surveyor Burrowes on the subject of the amended deed of grant in favour 
of the representatives of Mrs. Tawell, wherein Mr. Burrowes stated with regard to a portion 
of the land in Sussex-street, included in the grant, that it had been sold by the late Mr. 
Tawell to Mr. Austen, and that it now belonged to a Mr. Nolan, I do myself the honor to 
inform you, that, having made a search in the Registry Office, I find that Mr. Burrowes' 
statement is correct, and that the land in question cannot equitably be claimed by Mrs. 
Tawell's representatives. I have therefore deemed it my duty, so far to deviate from the 
instructions of the Right Honorable the Secretary of State, as to omit this land from the 
grant. 

With respect to the other lands comprised in the grant, viz., the remaining allotment 
in Sussex-street—the land at Rose Bay—in William-street and Macquarie-street, I have had 
the same carefully surveyed by Mr. Surveyor Wells, aud accurate .descriptions prepared by 
him. 

Mr. 

SIR, 

• Not traceable. 
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Mr. Wells, as is generally known, is a very old and experienced surveyor, who has 
been long in practice in Sydney, and he is ready, if necessary, to identify the premises con-
tained in the descriptions as amended with those contained in the inquisition, by his solemn 
declaration. 

There is, of course, no doubt that the intention of Her Majesty's Home Government 
was, that Mrs. Tamen and her child should have the properly, and not a mere ineffectual 
grant, and Mr. Darya11 having advised, with respect particularly to the land in William-
street, that as to it the grant as originally prepared, would be void for uncertainty, I have, 
in order to carry out Her Majesty's most gracious intention, had the necessary amendments 
made. 

Even without any further evidence, there can be no doubt about the identity of the 
properties, inasmuch as the parties Dow in possession all claim their titles through Messrs. 
Tawell and 13evau's former representatives, Messrs. Turner and Norton ; and the English Law 
Officers and other eminent counsel in England have already advised that they have neither 
legal nor equitable claims to the properties. Under such 01=01:lances it is immaterial to 
them in what form the grant issues, and no others have a right to complain. 

If, on the other hand, the grant were to issue according to the descriptions in the 
inquisition, the effect may be that in the face of the opinions of these high legal authorities 
to the contrary, Mr. Smart, and the other claimants, may hold possession of the properties in 
defiance of Mrs. Taws11's representatives and Her Majesty's instructions. 

Believing, for these reasons, that, His Excellency the Governor General will now direct 
the grant to issue as amended, I do myself the honor to transmit engrossment thereof for 
completion. 

I have, die., 
WM. W. BILLYARD. 

[Enclosure 1 in No. 67.] 
VICTOEIA by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen Defender 
of the Faith and sir forth To ell to whom these presents shall come—Greeting—Whereas by an 
inquisition taken at Sydney in our Territory of Now South \Vales on the twenty-second day of August 
in the twelfth year of our reign mil in the year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty 
eight by virtue of our Commission isrioed out of and under the Seal of our Supreme Court of our said 
territory bearing date the fifth day of August in the said twelfth year of our reign It was found that 
John 'Elwell was on the first day of jrumary one thousand eight hi timid and forty-five or at some timo 
afterwards and previous to the day of taking (if such inquisition seized or possessed of or otherwise 
eritithal to a good estate of inheiritanre in fee simple in possession to him and his heirs in sueage tenure 
of in and to amongst other hereditaments All that piece or parcel of land in our County of Cumberland 
and parish of Alexandria in our said terftory bounded on or towards the north by the estate of Mr. 
Justice Dowling one hundred and eight feet on or towards than east by the same estate thirty•four feet 
eleven inches on or tortank tile west by the same estate sixty-six feet ten inches and on or towards the 
south by William-street one hundred and seventeen feet six inches forming lot two together Sze And 
also all that allotment or parcii of lrind in our said tio.ritorry containing by adnicasm.ement eleven 
perch( s situated in the town of Sydney parish of St. James County of Cumberland allotment number 
eleven of section number forty-rine and bounded on the cast by the building line of ifinequarie-street 
br iring north thre • degrees lift nilnittes west thirtymina links on the north by all number 
thrive bearing wed two degree: sr lath one hundred and sixty links on the west by allotment number 
twenty bearing south one degree east fifty and a quarter links and on the south by allotment number 
ten bearing east five degree: thirty minutes nothh (me hundred and sixty-two links being part of an 
allotment leased to Samuel Thurntun by His Excellem.y Sir TilffillaS Brisbane the then Governor of our 
said Colony 'in thin P nrtiuth day of ilmar ono thousand eight hundred Mid twenty-three mid afterwards 
granted to the said John Tawell And also all that piece or parcel if land situate lying and being in 
the parish of Saint Andrew in the town of Sydney aforesaid bounded on the west by Sussex-street 
twenty-four feet on the north by other part of the land comprised in a certain grant amd of which the 
land now being described forms part sold to John Borne and Matthew Shaw respectively sixty-six feet 
on the east by a lane reserved for the use of the aaidJohn Tawell his heirs and assigns in cornmon with 
Slit occupiers or the other parts of than land comprised in the said grant forty-one feet feet ten inches and 
On the south by a road leading into George-street also reserved thr the use of the said John Tamil his 
heirs and assigns in commun with the oommiers of the other parts of the lands comprised in the said 
grant And also all that piece or parcel of land or ground containing by admeasurement hem acres two 
rinds and thirty-five perches situ de and being in filo County of Gunther/and and parish of Alexandria 
afores a id barreled on the east by ii p1 s- de road of twenty feet width by a line south six chains and 
seven links on the north by land belonging to Mr. Joules Barker by a fence line east seven chains and 
eighty-four links on the west by the road leading hum the South Head to Sydney seven chains and 
forty-five links and On the south by land belonging to Mr. Henry Mace by a line west seven chains to 
the communcing meter together with the free use and enjoyment of the said private road in common 
with the owners and occupiers or tire adjoining hold .lod also with all houses iSse and which said several 
bereditaments are hereinafter more particularly described And it was further found that the said lands 
tenements and hereditaments became and were escheated and forfeited to omruse And whereas we 
were graciously pleased un the humble petition of Sarah Tawell the widow of the said Jahn Tawell by 
our Royal Warrant enderour Royal Sign Manual bearing date the thirtieth day of December in the year of 
Oar Lord one thousand eight himilred and forty-seven to give and grant certain lauds arid hereditaments 
situate in the County of Hertford in that part of our United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland 
called England late of the said John Tawell found to have escheated to us to William Tawell of Earls 
Comae in our County of Essex in that part of our said United Kingdom called England draper and 
William Bevan of the Old Jewry in our City of London in that part of our said United Kingdom called 
England Upon certain trusts fie the benefit of the said Sarah Mind' and the family of the said John 
Tawell as therein mentioned And whereas it has been recommended to us by the Commissioners of our Treasury that it will he proper to grant and it is our will and pleasure to grant the said lands and 
hereditaments in our said Colony of New South \Vales so found to Imre become escheated to us as 
aforesaid on the like trusts as in our said in part recited Royal Wan-ant of the thirtieth December ono 
thousand eight hundred and forty-seven Now know ye that we taking the premises into our Royal 
consideration do hereby with the advice of the Executive Council of the said Colony give and grant unto the said William Terrell and William Bevan and their heirs all and singular the hereditaments 
and premises mentioned in the said inquisition taken in our said Colony of New South Wales and thereby found to have escheated to us with the appurtenances and which said hereditaments are more 
particularly described as follows All that piece or parcel of land in the County of Cumberland and parish 219—I 	 of 
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of Alexandria and Colony of Now South Wales commencing at the north-east corner of allotment number 
fourteen Ambrose Holden's four acres and thirty-four perches and bounded on the north by a line bearing 
east eighteen degrees south one hundred and eight feet on the east by a line bearing south eighteen 
degrees west thirty-four feet eleven inches on the south by William-street bearing westerly to Ambrose 
Italian's eastern boundary lino one hundred and seventeen feet six inches and on the west by a line 
beating north eighteen degrees cast sixty-six feet ten inches which said piece or parcel of land comprises 
a portion of James Laidley's grant number fifteen of five acres two roods and eight perches as described 
as number six in the parish of Alexandria in the Government notice dated twenty-ninth September 
one thousand eight hundred and thirty-one to he called " Roaebank " And also all that piece or 
parcel of land contaiuing by admoasurement eleven perches situated in the City of Sydney parish 
of Saint James County of Cumberland and Colony of New South Wales commencing at a mark on the 
building line of Macquarie-street distant three hundred and forty-two links southerly from the building 
line of Hunter-street which mark is also the north-east corner of allotment number ten of section 
number forty-one and bounded towards the east by the building hue of illacquariu-street being a line 
bearing north three degrees and fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links towards the north by allotment 
number twelve being a line bearing west two degrees south one hundred and sixty links towards the 
west by allotment number twenty being a line bearing south one degree east fifty and a quarter links 
and towards the south by allotment number ten being a line bearing cast five degrees thirty minutes 
north one hundred and sixty-two links being the land described in the Government notice of twenty-
sixth October one thousand eight hundred and thirty-nine as lot eleven of section forty-one And also 
all that piece or parcel of land situate lying and being in the parish of Saint Andrew in the City of 
Sydney commencing at a mark on the cast side of Sussex-street with its intersection with the north 
side of Walton's-lane which mark is distant sixty-seven feet northerly from the south-west corner of 
John Miaren's grant of three roods thirteen perches described in the Government charts as number 
six of section number nine and bounded on the west by Sussex-Mint being a line bearing north four-
teen degrees thirty minutes west twenty-four feet on the north by land of John Byrne and Matthew 
Shaw being a line hearing easterly sixty-six feet on the east by Victoria-lane bearing southerly 
forty-one feet ten inches and on the south by Waltnn's-lane running westerly to Sussex-street And 
also all that piece or parcel of land containing by admeasurement four acres two roods and thirty-five 
porches situate and being in the County of Cumberland parish of Alexandria and Colony of New South 
Wales commencing at a mark on the South Herd New Road being at the distance of six chains fifty 
links northerly from the southern boundary line of Breakwells sixty acres grant and bounded On the south 
by the land of Henry Mace being a line bearing east seven chains on the east by a road twenty feet 
wide being a line bearing north six chains and seven links on the north by the land of James Barker 
being a line bearing west seven chains eighty-four ii riles to the Sinai t 'Head New Road and on the west 
by the South Head _New Road seven chains and forty-five links being a portion of the land described in 
the Government notice of tenth September one thousand eight hundred and thirty number two Alexandria 
Samuel Bird:well's sixty acres To hold the said soveml lands and hereditaments unto and to the use 
of the said William Tawell and William Baran and their heirs upon the like trusts and to and for the 
like intents awl purposes and subject to the same powers and provisoes as are mentioned or referred to 
in our said Royal Warrant of the thirtieth day of December in the year of our Lord one thousand eight 
hundred and forty-seven a copy whereof is tauttained in the schedule hereunder written with respect to 
the lands and hereditaments thereby granted to them the said William Towel! and William Bevan or 
meh of the said trusts intents and purposes as are now existing and vtpable of taking effect. 

SCHEDULE REREINBEFDRE REFERRED TO 

V. 
VICTORIA by the Grace of-God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen Defender of the 
Faith To all to whom these presents shall come—Greeting—Whereas the Commissioners of our 
Trasury have represented unto us that by an inquisition indented and taken at the house commonly 
edled or known by the name or sign of the" Salisbury Anna" situate at Hertford in our County of 
Hertford on the seventeenth day of June in the tenth year of our reign before Horatio Waddington 
George Frederick Polloek and George Benjamin Menlo Esquires being three of our Commissioners named 
in our Commission under our Grunt Seal in the said inquisition mentioned bearing date at Westminster 
the twenty-fourtl t day of April in fie, tenth year of our reign upon the oaths of twelve good and lawful 
men of our said County of Hertford in the said inquisitionmentioned it Wag found that John `Powell then 
late .ofthe parish of Farnham Royalin our County of Buckingham, gentleman in the said Commission 
named was on the first day of January in the elffith year of our reign (being the day on which the 
murder and felony in the Said COMOlisAi011 mentioned was committed by the said John 'Cowell) seized to 
him awl hi ,  heirs in fee-simple of arid-in all that ratasnage tenement or dwelling-house and out-buildings 
thereto belonging situate at Marlowe) in the pariah of Hemel Ibmpstead in our said County of Hertford 
then some time since erected on a portion of the garden or orchard occupied with a mansion-house 
aituate at Marlowes aforesaid heretofore in the ocoupation of Daniel Desonneaux together with the yard 
garden and appurtenances to the same messuage and premises belonging which said meesuage garden 
outbuildings and premises were formerly in the occupation of William Eyles and then of Josiah Hales 
and wore hounded on the west in front thereof by the high road leading from Hemel Hempstead to Two 
Waters on the east by a field belonging to Mr. Cato on the north partly by a messuage and garden lately 
belonging to if elm (Dover and then to Mr. Wood and partly by garden ground belonging to the Reverend 
Joseph Hamilton and on the south by a-piece of land or ground theretofore belonging to Mr. John Griffin 
and.sinee to Thomas Goodson deceased with their and every of their appurtenances And also of and in all 
that messes ge or tenement (formerly called Boxwells) theretofore in the occupation. ofJohn Moore Esquire 
since of the Reverend Me Townsend then late of James Caulfield Browne and then of Jordan Free 
situate and being in the town of Berkhampstetul Saint Peter otherwise Great Iterkliampstead in our 
said County of Hertfoid abutting south-elst on the messunge or tenement theretofore of Mary Martin 
spinster and then or then late of John Edward Lane north-west on the animus:4e or tenement of 
John Mauship Mills and north-east on the turnpike road with the appurtenances And also 
of and in all that close of pasture ground and orchard containing by estimation three acres 
(more or less) lying near to and behind the said messuagc or tenement and premises called 
Boxwells in Berkhampstesid Saint Peter otherwise Great Berkhampstead in our said County of 
Hertford formerly in the occupation of the said James Caulfield Browne and then of the said Jordan 
Free abutting sonth-eAst on Berkhampstead - Sehool land and south-west on land or premises of Joseph 
(Leery Andrews with the appurtenances And that it was by the said inquisition further found that 
the said 111VSSIUKX9 tenements lands and hereditaments were of the animal value of seventy-one pounds 
in all issues thereof beyond reprises And that it was by the said inquisition further found that the 
said messuages lands tenements and hereditaments were holden by the said John Towel' of es in free 
and. common socago in right of our Royal Crown but not suhject to any services or rent in respect 
thereof except fealty and had devolved unto us as an escheat in right of our Prerogative Royal And 
that it was by the said inquisition further found that the said John Towel] was on the tenth day of 
March in the eighth year of our reign on which day the said -John Tawell was convicted of the felony 
and murder as in the said Commission mentioned possessed of end in all that piece or parcel of ground 
situate on the south-west side of High-street in the town of Great Berkhampstead in our said County 
of Hertford bounded on the north-east Side by the Highwtreet of .1.1erlthaanpstead rtfollassa on  the 

north- 
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north-west side thereof by premises belonging to James Field and Frederick Minor on the west side 
belonging to John Croft rector and on the south-east by the residence of Mary Sutton and a lane 
leading to the Lack entrance of the said piece or parcel of ground to the residence of the said John Croft 
together with the mossuage or dwelling-house coach-house stables end other erections stmding and 
being upon the said piece or parcel of 

e‘
ground and premises now or late in the occupation of Sarah 

Tawell the widow of the said John 'llawellformerly Sarah Outforth widow with their and every of their 
appurtenances for the remainder then to come and unexpired of a certain term of twenty-one years 
commencing on the twenty-ninth day of September in the year one thousand eight hundred and forty 
by James Field of Burkhampstead aforesaid gentleman to the said John 'Fewer/ granted and demised by 
indenture of lease bearing date the twenty-fourth day of December in the year last aforesaid subject 
to a proviso for determining the same at He end of the first fourteen years of the said term as therein 
mentioned and subject to the payment of the yearly rent of sixty pounds and to the covenants in the 
said indenture of lease contained And that the residue of the said term of years was by the said 
inquisition found to he of the value of one hundred laminas And that it was by the said inquisition 
further found that the said John Tawell was on the said tenth day of March in the eighth year of our 
reign possessed 85 of his own proper goods and chattels of and in eighty shares of one hundred pounds 
sterling each in the bank capital stock of the Bank of New South Wales- which by the said inquisition 
were found to be of the value of four thousand pounds And also of and in ten shares of one hundred 
pounds sterling each of the hank capital stock in the Commercial Banking Company of Sydney in New 
South Wales ttforesaid yIiicI i were by the said inquisition found to be of the value of five I ,  ad, tit and 
ten pounds and of and in the several goods and chattels mentioned in the schedule annexed to the said 
ingnisition marked with the letter A which were by the said inquisition found to be of the value of six 
hundred and twenty pounds And that the said goods and chattels mentioned in the said schedule 
(except one piece of cambric one pair of spectacles one penknife the last mentioned gold watch :Ind 
chain two silk handkerchiefs one box containing a surgical instrument one box of ap(uthecary's vcales 
and weights and a hamper of medicine bottles) wore by the said inquisition found to be then in the 
possession of the said Sarah Tawell and that the said excepted articles were then in the possession of 
Acton Tindal Esquire then Under Sheriff of ear County of Buckingham all which said mese/ages lands 
tenements and bereditements Avhureof the said John Tawell was by the said inquisition found to have 
been seized as aforesaid and to have become escheated to us And all which said residue of the said 
term of years shams in the said Bank of New South Wales and Commercial Banking, Company of 
Sydney goods and chattels of which the said John Lovell NVIIS so possessed as aforesaid and which by 
the inquisition aforesaid were found to have breume forfeited to us the said Commissioners had in 
obedience to our said Commission seized into our hands And whereas it has hcen further represented 
to us by the said Commissioners of our Treasury that the said John Taxeoll was also at the time of his 
conviction possessed as of Ids own goods and chattels of sixty shares of ten pounds each of the capital 
stock of the Australian General Assurance Company being the same shares as are in the secondly 
hereinafter stated indenture ef settlement of the thirty-first day of January one thousand eight 
hundred and forty-five called or dyseribad as sixty shares in the Sydney Alliance Assurance Company 
standing in the sit: he me of t said John Tanen and which were not included in tha 5: Jul liquisition tut 
were forfeited to us on the emviction of the said John Tswell And whet ens it hath hun further 
represented unto us lay the said Commissioners of our Treasury that the said Sandi Tawe/1 of Berk-
hampstead afortanid the w Wow of the said John Tawell did by her memorial presented to them /aim to 
the suing forth of the said Comm issicm make discovery of our right •tud title to the prunises cue:uprise( 
in the sail inquisition And that the said Sarah Tawell did by her sahlmemosial (tanongst °flirt tl ut u gs .) 
state that previously to the marriage bytes-tam the sail Sarah niv el! and John Tawed the Sun h 
Tawyll was a widow and had one child her daughter Eliza Sarah Cutferth and was entitled to tertain 
personal property Whiell Nmsisted in part of the -him of one thousand pottials new three patuals tun 
shillings jay cunt.:111:11`itki standing in her name in the books of the Governor and Company of tb• Bank 
of England stud of ten shares in the Alliance Marine Assurance Company That in the year one ti ?inland 
eight hundred and forty-one a marriage was agreed upon between the said John Tswell Ural Smelt mwell 
end that in inithinplatiou of such morriagd the said John Tutu-ell concurred with the said S rab 'ft:well 
in making a settitanent by indenture dated the twenty-second day of February one thousand tight - 
hundred and forty-one of such personal property to which the said Sarah Tawell was then absolutely 
entitled and by which the  said ten shares in the Alliance Marim Assitruuuey ConilhAy wary by an 
indenture thawing even date with the said indenture of settlement assigned to and Nested in Tho us  
Squire and Ditnic71 Norris upon certain trusts for the benefit of the said Sarah. Tawell and biz children 
by the said john Te well That by another indenture of settlement Inside its contraplation id' the said 
marriage and dated the twenty-third day of February one thousand eight hundred end forty-one the 
said John Dwell for himself his heirs executors and administrators did covenant with the sold Munoz 
Squire and Daniel Norris that the said John Tawell his heirs executors or administrators should and 
would assign and transfer unto them six thousand pounds capital stock of the Bank of New South 
Wales or such other sum of stook or property in New South Wales aforesaid as should be sufficient to 
produce  the clear sum of six hundred pounds per annum and also after the solzmnizatio» of the suld 
then intended marriage between the said John Tavvell and Sarah Tawell that the said John Tawell 
would by his will give and bequeath to the said Sarah Thvell his residuary estate and abets and 
appoint her one of the executors theseof And that by the saute indenture it was declared that the said 
trustees should stand possessed of the said trust moneys upon trust to pity the interest and intone. 
theme( to the said Sarah 'Unwell for hen life for her sole and separate use and after her uleeueeee hi CAA` 
Shr should die in the lifetime of the said John Tawell to pay the anneal sum of two hands kid pounds 
to Eliza Such Cutfurth for her life and subject thereto to stand possassed of the said treat mom ys suf. 
premises for the said John Tawell absolutely That very shortly after the date and execution of the 
said i»dentures of settlement the marriage between the said John Tawell and Sarah Tawell was duly 
bad and that the only issue of the tame marriage had been one child and no more niu ,  ly Macy 
Augustus Tawell who was then living That the sat of six thousand pounds capital stock of the ?said 
Bail of New South Wales was not nor was any other emit of stock or property whatever either in New 
South Wales or elsewhere ever in the lifetime of the said John nivell assigned or transferred unto or 
into the names of the said Thoneut Squire and Daniel Norris as such trustees as aforesaid for the nor- 
pose of providing such annuity of six hundred pounds as aforesaid That certain parts of the frothold 
hereditaments comprised in the said inquisition were purchased with thv moneys arising from tli.• sale 
of the said ten shares in the Alliance Marine Assurance Company and from the savings of the said 
Sarah Tawell from her separate income That the said John Unwell being desirous of settling certain 
freehold anti leasehold estates and chattels personal in favour and for the benefit of the said Sarah Tamil 
and Henry Augustus 'Doyen did by an indenture dated the thirty-first day of January one thousand 
eight hundred and forty-five and made between the said John Tamil of tho one part and William 
Tawell of Earls Cube in our County of Essex draper and William Bevan of the Old Jewry in our City 
of London gentleman of the other part convey and assign and also appoint the freehold and leasehold 
estates and also the chattels personal in the same indenture mentioned (which the said Commissioners 
of our Treasury have represented to as to be the same freehold and leasehold estates and chattels 
personal comprised in the said inquisition and so seized into our hands as aforesaid or some port or 
parts thereof) with their appurtenances unto and to the ruse of the said William Tawell and William 
Bevan their heirs executors administrators and assigns hut subject to the said settlement bearing date 
the twenty-second day of February one thousand eight hundred and forty-one as to the said ten-shares 
in tire Alliance Marine Assurance Company which were therein stated to have been since sold and The 
produce thereof laid, out and advanced under the powers and authorities in such settlement-contained 

itt 
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U and towards payment of the consideration money for certain of the said freehold hereditamemts upon 
trust to sell the same as therein mentioned and stand possessed of the proceeds thersalf upon trust 
(after paying, to Alfred Hart and Sarah Hart an annuity of fifteen pounds each) to pay the income of 
the saute to the said Sarah 1awe11 for her life and after hi r decease as well as to the trust moneys 
stocks funds and seaurities as the income thereof in trust for the s Jid Henry Augustus TaweII his 
executors administrators and assign 6 for his own absolute use and benefit But in ems,- thy said Henry 
Augustus Timed' should die undo. the age of twenty-one years without leaving lawful issue him 
surviving then in trust for the persons who would under the statutes for distribution of intestate 
effects to be the next IX kin of the said John Tawell if he were to die immediately after the said Henry 
Augustus Tawell And that the said Sarah Tawell did by her a.id nwmorial pray relief in the premises 
And whereas it hallo been further represented to us by the said Commissioner:of our Treasury that the 
said Sarah Tawell bath represented to them that the said John Duvet) in further excretion of his desire 
for the benefit of die said Sarah Tawell and Henry Angustus Tawell did by another indenture dated the 
thirty-first day of January one thousand eight hundred and forty-five and made between the said John 
Tawell of the one part and the said William Tawell and Will hill] ESMI a of the other part apjedilt assign 
and transfer unto the said Willima Tawell and Winifin BeVall their executors administrators alid 
assigns (amongst other things) all and every the said respective shares in the said Brnk of New 
South Wales the Commercial Banking Company of Sydney and the Australian General Assurance 
Company (thee in called the Sydney Alliance Assurance Company) n spectively anil CII benefit thereof 
unto the said William Tawell and William Bevan their °scent re administrators and ssigns (but 
subject to the said settlement bearing date the twenty-third day of February one thousand eight hundred 
and forty-one so far as the trusts thereof were in favour of the slid Sarah Tawell end Eliza Sarah 
Cutford) upon similar trusts to those declared in and by the hereinbeforc-mentioned indenture of even 
date with the now stating indenture And whereas it lieth been further represented to us by the said 
Commissioners Ad our Treasmy that at the time of the di tb of the said John Tawell he was indebted 
to the add William Bevan in th e  sum of one thousand oue hundred pounds for the rusts and expenstes 
of and attending the defence of the said John 'Di well upon his said trial for the murder of the said Sarali 
Hart and that the :UMW SUM frith been aln.aly paid to or retain, d by the said William lleven out of the 
rents interest dividends and profits hereinafter grinted or mine portion thereof received by him And 
that the sail John Tawell was not indebted to ally other ix-rson or persons save and except that the 
said Sarah Tawell bath humbly reprds tilted to us that she hath a claim on the property and •erste of 
the said john Tawell flit and in respect of the :inters of the said annuity of six hundred tenni& and 
otherwise amounting to the sum of three thousand and sixty pounds or thi,reabnuts in pot and on 
account whereof she bath already D'e ed t lie Sum of eih ht hinidnd and eleven pounds thne 
and sixpence out of the said rents dividends interest and profits hereinafter greeted or some portion 
thereof And whereas it bath been further represented to Is by the said Commissioners of our Treasury 
that Isabella Botha of No. 3 Theliertuu-stia t Islinp , it in our County if Middlesex widow did 
by her memorial presented to them (amongst other things) state hurt in the yerC ii lie tI10 tusi id eight 
hundred and thirty-three she intermarried with John Downing Tawell son of th E ■Uilt Jo hn Taw ill 
'M it the said John Downing Tamil]] died on the twenty-. i girth (LT el April on • thousend eight hinulnal 
and forty-three leaving the said Isabella th -the Lovell his WidOW Idul surviving but without issue 
That the said John Tawell from the deetase of his said son pant to the said Isabdthi Betlia Teeth a 
certain sum per annum for her support and which annual awn WM ,  Lut s• it ru. ans of support. Asal that 
the said Isabella Pietha Tamil] pried relief in the preiidsis And wheitas it hall been reannmended 
to us by the said Coinnlissioner3 of our Treasury maicr all the CUMMISMIACCS of the case that we should 
grant the said freehold awl leasehold estates anti alse the >aid chtttels person:II Ineeinbefen! described 
or referred to and so seized into onr hands. its athr. said and also the slid shares in the Australian 
General Assurance Company to which the said John Tawell a as so entitled as aforesaid iii. to the said 
William Tawell and the said William Bevan their hairs executors a dill in I rt rat era and a, tsigns 
respectively- upon trust to sell the stone and to stand passess..d of the moneys to arise therefrom 
upon the trusts after mentioned or referrel to To which we are graciously pleased to condescend 
Now know ye that we talfing the above eirounist awes into one Royal cousidesetion do by this oar 
Royal Warrant under our Royal Sign Manual at the restimmiendation and with the advice: of the 
Commissioners of our Treasury give and grant Unto tlIC said William nwen and William Bevan and 
their heirs all and singular the said Fitch. Id nth ssuages leak tenermwts and heeditaments heecin-
before particularly mentioned and described and comprised in the said inquisition mid SO seized into 
our hands as of iresaid and the appurtenalle4:9 to the same premisi s inibmging or appertaining And all 
our estate right title interest property claim and demand wh itstesydr el' iii awl hi the sante hos dits an. Is 
anti, premises hereby granted And all deeds ev id( noes and writings relating te the said premises 
belonging to us to have and to leld the said mes-nages lands t16110111Unts hereditaments and premises 
hereby granted unto and to the use of the said William Tawell and Witham Bevan their heirs and 
assigms for ever upon and for the trusts intents and pa rpos. t hereinafter deckled expressed or referred 
to concerning the same And further know ye that we furtImr taking the above circumstances ieto 
our Royal cansideration do by this our Royal Warrant under our Royal Sign 31anuel et the ricom-
mendativit and with the advice of the commissioners of our Treasuly gh-e anti grant unto the said 
William Tawell and William Bevan their exectutors administrators and assigns all tit • said shares and 
chattels real and personal comprised in the sat id inquisition and so seimol into our hinds as aforesaid 
and the appurtenances to the said chattels roe] belonging Awl also all and singular the said short - s in 
the Australia, General Assurance Company which the and John 'lewd) was so entitled to as aforesaid 
at the time of his conviction And all our estato right title term of yefts interest property clahn and 
demand whatsoever of in and to the same pretnises ro,lottivoly And all deeds evidellest6 and writings 
relating thereto belonging to us to have and to hold the se id chattels real hereby granted unto the 
said William Tenth and William Bevan their executors °dull:stmt.-Mors and assigns during all the 
residue now to come of the said tens, of twenty-one years (determinable as in the said indenture of use 
mentioned) nevertheless upon the trusts hereinafter expressed Outland or referred to concerning the 
same (subject nevertheless as to the said leas Id premises to the payment of the relit and the 
observance; and performanee of the covenants and agreements in and by the said indenture of lease of 
the twenty-fourth day of December one thousand eight hundred and forty reserved and contained and 
which on the part of the tenruit lessee or assignee aro or ought to he paid observed and performed) 
And to have hold receive and take the sail shares in the Bank of New South Wales in the Commerial 
Banking Company of Sydney and in the said Australian General Assurance Company and all other the 
said chattels personal hereby granted unto and by the said William Tenth and William Bevan their 
executors administrators and as as to th., said chattels comprised in the s iid ss•hedule A to the 
said inquisition annexed in trust for the said Sarah Timed her executors administrators and assiems and 
as to the residue of the said shares and chattels personal upon the trusts hereinafter expressed declared 
or referred to coma rning the same And we do hereby declare that the said William Tenth and William 
Bevan their executors administrators and assigns respectively shall stand and be seized and possessed 
of all and singular the said freehold and leasehold horeditaments than•s and chattels personal herein-
before respectively granted (except the said chattels comprised in the said schedule A) upon trust that 
they the said William Tawell and William Bevan and the survivor of tlin and the heirs executors 
administrators and assigns respectively of such survivor do and shall when and as they or he shall 
think fit absolutely sell and dispose of the said freehold hereditaments and the said real and personal 
chattels and shares an granted to them as aforesaid (except as aforesaid) either entirely or altogether 
or in parcels or lots and either by public auction or private contract fi r  such price or prices as the said 
William Timed' and William Bevan or the survivor of them or other the trustees or trustee for the time 

being 
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being of these presents shall think reasonable with power to buy in the said premises or any part 
thereof respectively at any sale or sales by auction and to rescind or vary any metre-et fur sale 
and to re-seIl the premises which shall have been so bought in or the contract tbr the sale of 
whieh shall be sir rescinded or abandoned as aforesaid without being in anywise answerable 
for any.  loss which may happen thereby respectively and also with power to insert any special or 
other stipulations in any contract for or UOIlditill116 of sale either as to title evidence of title 
or otherwise howsoever and with full power T0 enter into execute and perform all such contracts 
agreements assurances acts matters and things fin effectuating or completing such sale or sales as to 
the said William Tawell end Willheu Bevan er the survivor of them or other the trustee for the time 
being hereof shall seem meet And we do hereby declare that the said William Tawell and William 
Bevan their heirs executors adutinistrators and assigns shall stand possessed of the moneys to arise 
from the sele or sales fit the said premises hereby respeetively granted and to be received on reeeinding 
or varying any centime and alma of the rents issues interest dividends imd piPlits to accrue and 
become due from or in respect of the said freehold and leasehold hereditaments and shines until the 
same respectively shall be stdd And :Aso of the rents profits interest and Ilividends hereinafter by 
this our Royal Warrant granted subject as after mentioned upon the treats hereinafter exprilssed 
(that is ta say) upon trust in the first place theref/Ut to pay to George Manic Esquire the tiolicitor 
for the affitirs of our Treasury the sum of one hundred and siety-six pounds twelve shillings and nine 
penee behtg the amount of the mists charges and expenses fuze/II-red by him in the premises in our 
behalf And iu the next place to pay the fe.m and stamp duty on this our Royal Warrant And in the 
next phut to p y all erre ars of the rent wItich may be due under the said lease and all Such costs 
charges and expenses ineurred by or on behalf of tie said Sandi 'La well in making dist-werv of and 
ass sting in the proscoution of onr right and title to the premises respectiaely and all meth costs 
charges end expenses attemling file said sale or sales or otherwise to be incurred in or about the 
execution of the trusts hereby created or any of them such costs charges and expenses t. ■ be submitted 
to the consideration taxetien and detennination of a respectable solicitor to be nemr1 and appointed for 
that purpose by the said trustees or n•ustee for the time being and to be approved of by the solicitor for 
the affairs of our Treasury f m the time being mad in default of such nomination and appointment then 
by a respectable solicitor to be named and appointed for the purpose by the sidicitur fit LIM aflifirs of 
our freiteury for the time bOillg td011t and the ULTe-,tary and reasonable charges of the solicitor so to be 
appointed as aforesaid to be paid out of the said trust funds And in the next place do and ;hall pay 
unto the said Sarah Tawell tho sum of one thoUgand fiye hundred pounds in fell for ell clahns whielt she 
may now have fur or hi resimet of any arrears of the said annuity of six hundred pounds so covenanted 
to be paid tu her as aforesaid by the said John Tairell or for or in respect of any other claim of the said 
Sarah Tan-ell on the property hereby granted or any portion thereof And in the next pinee do and 
slmll pay to the said Ieabella Betha Tawell her executom administrators or assign smell a SIMI of 

• money its will be sufficient to m•tlee up an annnity of forty pounds as from the thirteenth day of October 
one thousand eight hundred and forty-seven up to the date uf this our Royal Werront Mid subject as 
aforesaid du and shall stand and be possessed of ail the surplus of the said moneys and the income of 
ti to said premises till sale and conversion opal and for the trusts intents and purposes and with under 
and subject to the Lion era provisions and conditions in and by the said indentures of the thirty-first 
day of January one thousand eight huodrol. and forty-live respectively expressed and dw.land of and 
curnternhig the moneys which should come to their hands nod which should hae erisee from the solo 
and eon vereion of the real and personal estate thereby settled and the income thereof or stunt of the ' 
131011.: trusts intents and purposes powers provisions and cenditions as are POW subsisting undetormined 
and c of taking effect except that the said trustees or trustee of this tam Royal Werrailt do and 
shall by and out of the invome of the said trust moneys stocks funds and seceiritiee or of the rents 
income and profits of the premises hereby granted until sele in the first place pay into the said Isalefia 
lietha Elwell and her assigns one :tenuity of forty pounds for her life to commetwe front the dete sf 
this fen Royal Warrant a id to la' paid bat (-yearly sri the at any deduction what me eitr a j el it pro-
portionate part to he paid nil to her decease And we do hereby declare filet 304 regards th • provisions 
by the said indeature of settlement of the twenty-third day of February one thoesand tight hundred 
end forty-one intended to he made no part of tls• onperty hereby geanted sh II he ronsiiimed as 
applicable under the trusts contained in the said indentures of the thirty-firet day of de' eare one 
thousand eight hundred nod forty-live for the payment of the debts of the said John 'few. /1 to the 
c 'trying into effect the covenants or eugagemeuts of the said hffienture of the tweedy-third day of 
Febreiwy one thousand eight hundred and forty-one nod that as re go t•de tho said S :rah Tawell 
the provision hereby made for her sh .11 ha taken in full satisfaction of the provision intend...11 to be 
Imola by the said settleferat of the twe'dy-third day of February one thousand 'debt hundred 
and forty-one both for the said Sarah Tawell "old all other piffles thimble; iii id; the sail settle-
ment (save and except so far as relates to the MIDI of one thousand pounds DOW three (mends ten 
shillings per cent. bank annuities therein mentimied) and of all other elahns and detnands of the said 
Snell 'remelt or any port of the estate and effects of the said Jelm Tawell And that the um iii moneys 
shall not under the trusts of the said firstly bereinbefore recited indentun of the thirty-find day of 
January one thousand eight hundred and forty-flee be liable to the trusts for the replacing the said 
ten shares in the Allinnee Marine Assurance Company vs in tlie said indehture is mentioned And we 
do hereby decline tbit it shell and may be lawnd for the said n•ustees or trustee for the time bring of 
tin se presents before an absolute tode under the trusts aforesaid to levy end seise any mereys which 
they or he may think necessary to raise for any of the pin-poses of this our Royal Warrant by mortgage 
of all Or any part of the freehold Ind I.-withal promisee hereby panted so as any such mortgoee be 
made with flee consent of the Commissiewes of otr Treasury for the time being or any three of them 
eiguitied by waling under their hands And fm•ther we do hereby declare that it shah be le well ft -r 
the said trustees or trustee before any sale ea sele+ as aforesaid to lease all and singular the stud freehold 
and leasehold inemises or :my part thereof rim.' naively ler any term not caret:ding tWeety -one yens 
in possession so as every such lease la • niarb• with the cousent in writing of the s id Sarah Ta.well diming 
her lire And we do hereby further direct that it 3hall be lawful for the said trustee; or trustee Um the 
time being of these presents from time to time in their or hi ; discretion to lay Out !Md. Lovett the 
slid trust moneys and premises or any portion thereof at interest on any reel 3O0Unity in Englund or 
Wales and front time to time at the like discretion to alter and vary the securities ln or on which the 
same slit nit be in either to or fur other securities of the like eaten, or to or for securities of the 
nature prescribe-I in the +aid last-ineetioned indenture of settletneut of the thirty fir-t dee of •I!• mho.),  
one thousand eight hundred and forty-five either as occasion shall require or as they shall rm.,  lit hut so 
as every such investment or change of investment be made with the Cone. at in writing of ti:- said Sarah 
Tawell during her life And we do hereby declare that the receipt end receipts of the trust as or trustee 
for the time being of these presents shall he a good discharge and good discharge, to all ()engem fir any 
of the trust moneys hereof and shall after payment of the same moneys ettectuelly dieeharge such 
persons respeetively from Sc Me; to the application or being answerable for the misepplication of the 
same moneys And we do hereby further give and grant unto the said William 'Few II and Witham 
Bevan their executors itdministraters and assigns the rents issues and interest dividends and profits 
which are now due to its from any person or persons whomsoever for or ill respect of the said premises 
in the said inquisition mentioned after allowing thereout the said paymeets to 1.r retainer by the said 
Williem Bevan and Sarah Tawell of the two several sums of One thou sand one hundred pounds and eight 
hundred and eleven pounds three shillings and sixpence as bereinbelore mentioned Nevertheless upon 
the trusts hereinbefore declared of the said premises And we do hereby give and grant unto the said 
William crewel' and William Bevel' their executors administrators and assigns full power and authority 

to 
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to ask demand sue for mover and receive the same rents interest dividends and profits and to settle 
and adjust all accounts relating thereto And thesr presents shall he to all who shall or may be coneerne d 
therein a sufficient warrant Given at our Court at Windsor Castle on the thirtieth day of December 
in the eleventh year of our reign and in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-seven. 

By Her Majesty's command, 
W. GIBSON CRAIG. 
H. RICH. 
SHELBURNE. 

In testimony whereof we have caused this our grant to be sealed with the Seal of urn' said 
Territory. 

[Enclosure 2 in Ho. 67.] 
FEMMES the Surveyor General should see the descriptions introduced into the grant, in the first place? 

29. 

Surveyor General accordingly. 

To be returned. 

Blank Cover, 
25 October, 1850. 

W. F. 

Witness our trusty and well-beloved Sir William Thomas Denison Unig,ht Governor 
General in and over all Her Majesty's Colonies of New South Wales Tasmania 
Victoria South Australia and Western Australia and Captain General and Governor-
in-chief of the Territory of New South Wales and its Dependencies and Vice-Admiral 
of the same at Government House Sydney this day of 
in the 	 year of our reign and in the year of OM Lord one thousand eight 
hundred and fifty 

(Enclosure 3 in No. 67.) 
Tun object of submitting this deed for my observations of the descriptions prepared by Mr. Wells was. 
I apprehend, that a report might be furnished on the propriety and safety of the use of these descrip-
tions, and frit spoetivAy of coarse of all questiens of title to the lands described. 

My report then will embrace two main features, viz.:— 
1st. The identity of the lands described by Mr. Wells with those described by the inquisition. 
2nd. The correctness and perfectness of Mr. Wells' descriptions in themselves. For the sake 

of charm: as the report id regard to each portion of land is separate. 	 • 
Pietiree i i4ZF leered. 

Ile description of this portion by the inquisition places the land on the north side of William. 
street, and makes Mr. Justice Dowling's " bound it on the west, north, and east, William-street 
being the south boundary. If by Mr. Justice Dowling's •• Estate " be meant No. 6 of the Woolloomooloo 
allotments, which was granted to that gentleman (and the smith boundary of which as a line bearing, 
cast 18 do trees south, and crossing Willis in-street diagonally), it is clear that the land described is a 
portion of the ssid :mot to Mr. Dowling, and that the position on William-street is within the boun-
daries of that grant, but not precisely determinate . The description by Mr. Wells is or a portion of 
laidley's grunt (allotment No. 15), which grant lies to the south of, and is separated from Mr. 
Dowling's grant, by a road about 50 links wide, which has now been superseded by William-street. 
The only p esibility then, by which the laud described by Mr. Wells can be identical with that 
described by the inquisition, is, that Mr. Justice Dowling's " Edide" embraeed the whole or parts of 
Laidley's grant, end of Hallen's grant, which adjoins it; and also the road which divided thilse two 
grants from Mr. Dowling's great. This it is believed. is red the ease. 

Apart from the identity of the portions of land, there is in Mr. Wells' description an inconsis-
tency with fact ; fur. fsom the most authoritative surveys of the locality by this dip irtment, it appears 
that the space between the north boundary of Laidloy's grant, and the north title of William-street is 
upwards of 20 feet less from north to south than stated hi that description, tint is, that were the south 
bound: ry d siribed es a tine, instead of William-street, about two-fifths of the land described would be 
upon the street. The description also includes a portion of Dowling-street. 

Portr,n 	The pearieenriet. 
13th d.', :.ciptioni of this portion agree with its boundaries according to the maps of this office. 

arti.na 
This portion is psrf of a sub,1ivision of a _portion originally granted by the Crown. The two 

descriptions are apparently of the same land, although the lanes are not named in the inquisition 
description and, there is a discrepancy in the orthography of the name Byrne—Borne mentioned in the 
two deseriptions. 

The surveys of this dePartment de not afford any teat of the accuracy of this description. 
Portion if., the &.n t& Head Road. 

The portions described are probably identhad, and there is nothing in the surveys of this depart-
ra-nt to •theiV that Mr. Wells' de reripte se which is pudica in itself, is erremmus. The inquisition 
di seriptirm does not however state v•k5rS South Haul Road the land adjoins, and, is otherwise most 
importers. 

I re iv add, that I an, still of opinion that the Government incurs a dangerous responsibility in 
issuing deeds, except in tile terms of description used in the inquisition ; and that that responsibility 
would be increased by adopting the descripti. Pus prepared by Mr. Wells, of lands regarding which the 
Government Surveyor had found such difficulties as prevented his proceeding. 

G-E0, BARNEY, 
Servitor Citirreer Officer 	 Surveyor General. 

SyrIrry, 13 Arot..1).;r, 1850. 

No. 68. 
W. W. BILLYARD, ESQ., to SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND PUBLIC WORKS. 

Macquarie-street North, 
Sydney, 30 July, 1857. 

Having understood that upwards of six months ago the papers relative to a grant 
sa brief Precis to trustees in favour of Mrs. Tawell and her child* were transferred to your department, I do 
of the ease is myself the honor to request the favour of a reply to my letter to the Colonial Secretary, of submitted here- 
with. 	the21st October, 1856, with which I forwarded the engrossment of an amended form of 

grant for execution. 

SIR, 
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I have repeatedly called at your office for a reply to my letter. My clients complain 
bitterly of the great delay that has taken place, and, unless I am enabled to report satis-
factory progress by the next mail, they intend, I believe, to petition Her Majesty in Council 
on the subject. 

I have, &c., 
WM. W. BILLYARD. 

No. 69. 
PRECIS of the Case by Under Secretary for Lands and Works. 

TAWELL'S CASE. 

A BRIEF history of this case appears to be requisite to a proper understanding of the question 
BOW at issue :— 

2. John Tawell, who was convicted of the crime of murder in England in 1845, 
was, at the time of the commission of the offence for which he was afterwards executed, 
possessed of real and personal property in this Colony. Previously to his trial and con-
viction he assigned this property, real and personal, to trustees, for the benefit of his wife 
and family. 

3. Mr. James Norton, the solicitor, sought to secure Tawell's property for the trus-
tees, and with this view applied to the Attorney General (11th August, 1846) for a dis-
claimer of the Crown's claim thereto. This, Mr. Attorney General Plunkett declined to 
give, for the reasons alleged in his minute on Mr. Norton's letter. 

3. Having asserted the rights of the Crown to the property left by Tawell, Mr. 
Plunkett advised the Governor to submit the matter to the Queen, for Her Majesty's pleasure 
thereon. 

4. Sir Charles Fitz Roy accordingly reported the case Home, in a despatch dated 
28th September, 1846, No. 21. 

4. Earl Grey replied, that the Queen was pleased to grant the property, real and per-
sonal, on certain trusts, for the benefit of Tawell's widow and family (29th January, 1848.) 
But in the enclosure to this despatch, being a letter from the Secretary to the Lords of the 
Treasury (25th January, 1848) attention was drawn to the fact, that, as regards the real 
property, no inquisition had been made to ascertain the Crown's claim. (The copy of the 
letter said to be enclosed in Sir Charles Trevelyan's letter is not now, if ever, with these 
papers.) 

5. By this time another solicitor, Mr. George Cooper Turner, appears to have been 
associated with Mr. Norton to act for the trustees. These gentlemen caused the properties 
to be advertised for sale. The Attorney General, being as yet uninformed of the Queen's 
pleasure, interposed (13th June, 1848), and thereupon the nature of Earl Grey's dispatch 
was made known to both the Attorney General and Mr. Turner, at that time Civil Crown 
Solicitor

' 
 in reply to an inquiry from him (9th June, 1848.) 

6. A Commission was accordingly issued with the consent of the Attorney General, 
and an inquisition held finding the Crown's title to Taivell's freehold property in this 
Colony, as follows :— 

(I.) All that piece or pared of land in the County of Cumberland, and Parish of 414 tams in 
Alexandria, bounded on or towards the north by the estate of Mr. Justice villialnir't  
Dowling, one hundred and eight feet ; on or towards the east by the same 
estate, thirty-four feet eleven inches ; on or towards the west by the same 
estate, sixty-six feet ten inches ; and on the or towards south by William-
street, one hundred and seventeen feet six inches, being part of the heredita-
meats comprised in the thereinbefore in part recited indentures and forming 
the said lot 2, together, &c. 

(2.) And, also, all that allotment or parcel of land in our said territory, containing, (a) Lana in 
by admeasurement, eleven perches, situated in the Town of Sydney, Parish Mac1uarintre°4  
of St. James

' 
 County of Cumberland, allotment No, 11, of section No. 41, 

and bounded on the east by the building line of Macquarie-street, bearing 
north three degrees fifteen minutes, west thirty-one links ; on the north by 
allotment No. 12, bearing west two degrees, south one hundred and sixty 
links ; on the west by allotment No. 20 bearing south one degree, east 
fifty and a quarter links; and on the south by allotment No. 10, bearing 
east five degrees thirty minutes, north one hundred and sixty-two links, 
being part of an allotment leased to Samuel Thornton by His Excellency Sir 
Thomas Brisbane, on 30th June, 1823, and now granted to the said John 
Tawell. 

(3.) And, also, all that piece or parcel of land situate, lying, and being in .the 	Taar;t.  41:2. 
Parish of St. Andrew, in the Town of Sydney aforesaid, bounded on the 'Me  
west by Sussex-street, twenty-four feet ; on the north by other part of the 
land comprised in the thereinbeforc in part recited grant, sold to,John Borne 
and Matthew Shaw, respectively, sixty-six feet; on the east by a lane, reserved 
for the use of the said John Tawell his heirs and assigns in common with the 
occupiers of the other parts of the lands comprised in the said grant, forty-
one feet ten inches; and on the south by a road leading to George-street, 
also reserved for the use of the said John Tawell his heirs and assigns in 
common with the occupiers of the other parts of the lands comprised in the 
said grant. 

(4.) 
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(4.) Other land 
Susaex-streea 

(5.) Land in 
Parish of Alex-
andria. 

(4.) And, alsn, all that piece or pare.el of land situate, lying, and being in the 
Parish of St. Andrew aforesaid, hounded on the west by Sussex-street 
twenty-two feet ; on the north by the premises of Mr. Knowles Bryant and 
others seventy-four feet two inches; on the east by the reserved land aforesaid 
twenty-two fret four inches; and on the south by the said lands of the said 
John Byrne and Matthew Shaw, sevi nty feet one inch together with the use 
of the reserved land and road hereinbefore mentioned. 

(3.) And, also, all that piece or parcel of land or ground, containing by admeasure-
meat four acres, two roads, and thirty-five perches, situate and being in the 
County of Cumberland and Parish of Alexandria aforesaid, bounded on the 
east by a private road of twenty feet width by a line south six chains and 
seven links; on the north by land belonging to Mr. James Barker by a fenced 
line east seven chains and eighty-four links; on the west by the road leading 
from the South Head to Sydney seven chains and forty-five links, and on the 
south by land belonging to Mr. Henry Mace by a line west seven chains to 
the commencing corner. Together with the free use and enjoyment of the 
said private road, in common with the owners and occupiers of the adjoining 
land, and also with all houses, &e. 

7. a forwarding copies of the commission and inquisition to the Colonial Secretary 
(19th March, 1849) Mr. Cooper Turner requested that a grant of a portion found in the 
inquisition, and of which he added a description, being the land in William-street, should 
issue to Mr. Thomas Ware Smart. 

S. The description given by Mr. Turner of the land in William-street is an exact 
copy, as far as it go of the description in the inquisition, but it omits all the words in the 
latter description which are underscored. This may, or may not be, of consequence. After 
carefully perusing the inquisition, I cannot find what it is that is alluded to, as the " herein-
before recited indentures, &.e " I am disposed to think that these words, occurring perhaps 
in some deed or conveyance wherein they had a meaning, have been transcribed literally into 
the inquisition, where they do not appear to convey any meaning. 

9. Mr. Turner, in like manner, requested that a grant of the land in Macquarie-street 
should issue to Mr. Hugh Dixs- n. (18 April, 1849.) 

10. Both these requests were forwarded to the Attorney General, who, after consider-
able delay, gave it as his opinion that the Governor could not legally issue the grant. (2nd 
October, 1848.) 

11. Mr. Turner replied (18th January, 1850) by transmitting a precisely opposite 
opinion from Mr Barrister Foster. This was sent to Mr. Plunkett, who however retained 
his opinion, referring at the same time to the opinion given by himself and Mr. Manning in 
another and parallel case. 

12. At this stage Sir Charles Fitz Roy brought the ease again under the notice of the 
Home Government, by a despatch dated 24th June, 1850, No. 117. 

13. Earl Grey's reply, dated 19th October, 1851, was received apparently in Sep-
tember of that year. It covered a letter from the Secretary to the Treasury, forwarding an 
opinion from the Attorney General and Solicitor General of England adverse to Mr. 
Plunkett's, and a form of grant prescribed by them to be used in granting the land to 
trustees. 

14. This despatch and its enclosure were referred for the further opinion of the Law 
Officers on the 26th September, and their reply is dated the 8th November, 1851. (51-10,600.) 
(Intermediately a claim had been preferred to the Sussex-street property, on behalf of Mr. 
Moore. 51-10,048 ) 

15. For the equitable considerations fully set forth in that letter the local Law 
Officers were still of opinion that the grant should not issue, but that the whole matter should 
be again submitted to the Home Government. I do not detail these reasons because this part 
of the question is no longer an open one. It was so reported in a despatch dated 27th 
January, 1852, No. 20. 

16. The reply from the Duke of Newcastle is dated 6th October, 1 8 53, and was 
received on 20th January, 1854. It transmitted a further ease and opinion of the Attorney 
General and Solicitor General of England, and conveyed an instruction to proceed with 
the issue of the deed as before directed. 

17. Before acting upon this instruction the Governor General deemed it proper to 
afford the local Law Officers a perusal of it. (See their reply, 1st May, 1854, 154-3,835.) 

18. A strong appeal was now made by Mr. Smart, the purchaser from Mr. Cooper 
Turner of the William-street property (10th May, 54-4193), and the matter seemed to Sir 
Charles Fitz Roy of so much moment that he caused the ease to be again referred to the 
Law Officers, with an intimation that, if they desired it, he would submit it once more to the 
Secretary of State. 

19. The result was the elaborate opinion given in the letter of the Law Officers, of 
14th September, 1854, which, with Mr. Stuart's appeal, and Mr. Dixson's memorial also 
(54-6207), was sent to the Secretary of State in a despatch, dated 30th December, 1854, 
No. 150. 

20. A despatch from Sir George Grey to the present Governor General, dated 23rd 
November, 1854, inquiring the steps that had been taken in the matter, crossed Sir Charles 
Fitz Roy's despatch of 30th December. 

21. In January, 1856, a despatch, dated 1st November, 1855 (No. 35), was received 
from Lord Panmure (M. 189), covering letters from the Secretary and Solicitor to the 
Treasury respectively, and a farther case and opinion by the English Law Officers, who, as 
might naturally be expected, adhered to the view first entertained by them. 

22. 



721 

ESCHEATED LANDS OF THE LATE JOHN TAWELL. 	69 

22. This further opinion was sent to the local Law Officers for their guidance. 
They, retaining a strong sense of the injustice about to be done, requested that they might 
be relieved from the responsibility of directing the preparation of the grant, but suggested 
that such instruction should go direct to the Civil Crown Solicitor (56-1,688.) 

23. The Civil Crown Solicitor was instructed accordingly, on 26th February, 1856, 
and all the parties interested were simultaneously informed of the intention of the Govern-
ment at once to issue the grant. 

21. Mr. Billyard, as Crown Solicitor, who also, in his private capacity, repre-
sented the trustees of Mrs. Tawe11, prepared the deed, and submitted it for signature 
(56-3,611); but, as a usual and necessary precaution, the draft deed was referred to the 
Surveyor General, to verify the description inserted therein, so that, in fact, it should be 
seen what land the Crown was about to grant. 

23. The Surveyor General, for the reasons indorsed on 56-3,611, could not verify the 
description unless he measured the lands. Here commences the difficulty in this perplexing 
ease, which new remains to be solved. The Surveyor General, having been asked to measure, 
if measurement were necessary, replied, forwarding a copy of the report of Mr. Assistant 
Surveyor Burrowes. This report, besides shewing reasons why it was next to impossible 
to'identify the lands by the descriptions taken from the inquisition, and why it was, in his 
opinion, not desirable that any new measurement should be attempted, disclosed, for the 
first time, the fact, that some of the land included in the description given in the inquisition 
bad, previously to 1889, been alienated by Time11, and that it was then and had for many 
years been in the uninterrupted pessession of a Mr. Nowlau. 

24. Ju4 at this time Mr. Biliyarcl addressed a further letter to the Colonial Secretary 
(23rd July, 56-6,333.) In this letter he alludes to the indefiniteness of the descriptions ; 
admits the force of the objection taken to them on this score ; cites an opinion of Mr. 
Darvall to the effect that grants issued on such descriptions would be void for uncertainty; 
begs to withdraw his previous engrossment, and prefers a request that the Surveyor General 
may be instructed to furnish perfect descriptions. 

25. When Mr. Billyard penned that letter be had not received the copy of Mr. 
Burrowes' report; upon perusal of that report, he addressed a further letter to the Colonial 
Secretary (56-8309), in which he admits the truth of the statement as regards Nowlan's 
land, which he accordingly omits from the deed; again urges the necessity for proper 
descriptions, and states that he has himself caused the other lands to be accurately surveyed 
by Mr. Wells, (a person by the way of very indifferent character,) who is prepared to identify, 
by sworn declaration, the premises so described by hirn with those described in the inquisition. 
There is one circumstance alleged in this letter of Mr. Billyard which merits some attention. 
He asserts that there should be no difficulty in identifying the lands in question, because 
the parties in possession all derive their titles through the former representatives of Mrs. 
Tawell's trustees. 

20. In reply, the Surveyor General in Isis last report urges more strongly the 
impossibility of performing the task assigned him, more especially with regard to the William-
street property, and shows good grounds at all events for distrusting Mr. Wells' description. 

27. On one hand, therefore, the Surveyor General declares that he cannot furnish 
reliable descriptions of the lands claimed on behalf of the trustees, and that there is nothing 
for it but to fall back upon the vague descriptions used in the inquisition. On the other 
hand, Mr. Ifillyard urges that the deeds if issued on these descriptions would be void, and 
that the claim of his clients would thereby be virtually defeated. 

28. After bestowing considerable labour and thought on this very embarrassing ease, 
I may perhaps be permitted to offer a suggestion for its solution. I believe the Surveyor 
General's difficulties are real ; I believe, likewise, that Mr. Billyard's objection is 
well founded-1 mean of course in a practical sense; its force in a legal point is vouched 
for by high authority. In this difficulty I offer the suggestion with deference, that the 
ease should be referred to the Court of Claims. As the land is still in the Crown this would 
be the usual and appropriate course, wbere contending claims to portions of land are pressed 
on the Government. In fact, it was to settle in a satisfactory manner conflicting claims—
that is, equitable claims to lands not yet formally alienated by the Crown—that that 
peculiar tribunal was established. 

29. But, in suggesting this course, I do not mean that the case should be referred to 
the Court of Claims as an open one in dispute between AB and CD; that would now be a 
practical disobedience of the positive instruction of the Secretary of State; but that it 
should go, as has been done before, as a special case, in which the right of Mrs. Tawell's 
trustees is admitted by the Crown, in order that the Commissioners—who have the advantage 
of being empowered to take evidence on oath, as well as to compel the attendance of 
witnesses and the production of papers—should by such testimony as the representatives in 
the Colony of the ll'atvell trust can prefer, or the court itself procure may with the assistance 
of a surveyor (if needed) make such a report as will enable the Government to determine 
the proper metes and bounds according to which the lands set forth in the inquisition (less 
the portion in Sussex-street not now claimed on behalf of the trustees) may be granted to 
the trustees. 

6 August, 1857. 
N.B.—The papers are arranged chronologically, but those which appear essential to 

the action of the case are marked with the letters of the alphabet. 

MEMO.:—The coarse suggested is the only one I see open ; I think it is a case which, though of 
a somewhat unusual character, is just one of that character in which the Government ought to be guided 
by the report of a legal tribunal, the object being to carry out its implied obligations without any risk 
of interference with the rights of others. 

210—K 	 :Refer 
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Refer to the Court of Claims to inquire and report upon the exact boundaries of the lands as set 
forth in the inquisition, according to which the deeds may be issued to Tawells trustees, excluding the 
portion not now claimed by them. 

The Court must be authorized to call upon the Surveyor General to afford the necessary 
professional assistance. 	 J. H. 

No. 70. 
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PRESIDENT OF THE COURT OF CLAIMS to SECRETARY FOR LANDS ADD PUBLIC WORK& 

42, Elizabeth-street North, 
10 August, 1857. 

Mr. Purefoy and Mr. Butler join with me in requesting your attention to the 
following questions which have arisen in the discharge of our functions as Commissioners of 
the Court of Claims :— 

First. Whether, upon the reference to us by the Governor of the claim of any 
person to a grant of land, we are at liberty, and if so, whether we are bound, 
to entertain the adverse claim of any other person to the same land ; and to 
report in his favour if justified by the evidence, without a previous application 
to the Governor by him, and an express reference to us by the Governor of 
such adverse claim ? 

Secondly.—Whether, upon the withdrawal or abandonment of his claim by an 
original claimant, pending our inquiry, we are at liberty, without such second 
express reference, and if so, whether we are bound, to report in favour of some 
other claimant, whose claim may be established by the evidence? 

Thirdly—Whether we are at liberty, without such second express reference, and if 
so, whether we are bound to recognise and report in favour of the claim of 
any person to whom the original claimant shall convoy or assign his interest, 
pending the inquiry before us? 

You will perhaps deem it right to take the opinion of the Law Officers of the Crown 
upon these questions, the solution of which will depend upon the construction of the Act of 
Council, 5 William iv ., No. 21, section 3, and more particularly of the proviso at the end of 
that section. 

We take the liberty of addressing this communication to you on the ground of its 
being stated in the "Administrative arrangements," that you are the Minister who will 
correspond with us. 

We shall be much obliged by an early answer, as a case is now pending in which one 
of the questions immediately arises. 

I have, 8cc., 
C. K. MURRAY, 

President. 

No. 71. 

CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR to UNDER SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND WORKS. 

Civil Crown Solicitor's Office, 

Sin, 
	 Sydney, 4 September, 1857. 

Referring to the minute of Mr. Secretary Hay on the letter, enclosed herein, 
addressed to him by the President of the Commission of the Court of Claims, submitting 
questions relative to powers of the Commission, I have the honor to inform you that I have 
conferred with Mr. Solicitor General in the matter, and that I send to you, herewith, a 
copy of his opinion for the information of the Honorable the Secretary for Lands and 
Public Works. 

I have, &e., 
WM. W. BILLYARD, 

Civil Crown Solicitor. 

[Enclosure in No. 71.] 
(Cory—Orisiox.) 

I Ax of opinion, that if, upon investigation of a particular claim referred, the evidence should 
slew that the claisnant was not entitled in consequence of some other person having rights thereto, the 
Commissioners might very properly state the special circumstances in their report, under sec. 5 of the 
Act ; but they are not called upon, and ought not to make any specific adjudication in favour of, or 
against any other claim than that referred to them. 

Secondly.—I think that, upon withdrawal or abandonment of the original claim, the Commission-
ers are functi officio, and should report against such claim and decline to examine into any other. 

Thirdly.—No adjudication should be made in favour of the claim of any assignee, pending the 
inquiry, but the proper course would be to report as to the title of the claimant at the time of the 
reference, though I see no objection to the report containing a statement of any special circumstances 
shelving that the claimant's title was encumbered by subsequent dealings therewith. I do not, however, 
consider that they are bound to snake such special report. 

EDWARD WISE, 
Sept. 4, 1.857. 	 Solicitor General. 

No. 72. 
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No. 72. 
NORTON, SON, St BARKER to COMMISSTONERS, COURT OF Chards. 

Sydney,.2 November, 1857. 
(Court of Claims Cases, 1422 and 1423.) 

SIR, 
We are instructed by Mr. Hugh Dixson to enter a caveat against the claim of 

the trustees of Mrs. Towell for a grant of the land described in your notice in the Govern-
ment Gazette, dated the '22nd of September last, and to request that a grant of the said land 
may be issued to him, on the ground that Mrs. Tawell's trustees, by their duly appointed 
attorney, Mr. George Cooper Turner, sold the land by public auction, and conveyed it to 
Mr. Dixson, by whom the full amount of purchase money was duly paid. 

The Attorney and Solicitor General of the Colony long since advised the Govern-
ment that Mr. Mason, and other persons claiming under the trustees under similar circum-
stances, were legally and equitably entitled to grants of the lands purchased by them respect-
ively. We beg to refer the Commissioners to the correspondence in the Colonial Secretary's 
Office on this subject. 

We are, &c., 
NORTON, SON, & BARKER. 

No. 73. 
NORTON, SON, & BARKER to COMMISSIONERS, COURT OF CLAIMS. 

Sydney, 2 November, 1857. 

(Court of Claims Case, 1421.) 

We are instructed, on behalf of Thomas Ware Smart, Esq., to enter a caveat 
against the claim of the trustees of Mrs. Towel' for a grant of the land described in your 
notice in the Government Gazette, dated the 22nd of September last, and to request that a 
grant of the said land may be issued to him, on the ground that Mrs. Tawell's trustees, by 
their duly appointed attorney, Mr. George Cooper Turner, sold the land by public auction, 
and conveyed it to Mr. Smart, by whom the full amount of purchase money was duly paid. 

The Attorney and Solicitor General of the Colony long since advised the Govern-
ment that Mr. Smart, and other persons claiming under the trustees under similar circum-
stances, were legally and equitably entitled to grants of the lands purchased by them 
respectively. We beg to refer the Commissioners to the correspondence in the Colonial 
Secretary's Office on this subject. 

We are, &c., 
NORTON, SON, & BARKER. 

No. 74. 
MESSRS. PENNINGTON 8.; HART to COMMISSIONERS, COURT OF CLAIMS. 

Sydney, 21 November, 1857. 
GENTLEMEN 

On behalf Mr. Thomas Moore, of Sydney, we hereby give notice, that we intend to 
oppose the issuing of a deed of grant to trustees for the widow and family of the late John 
Towel], of an allotment of land in Sussex-street, Sydney (being case No. 1423), the said 
land having been sold to the said Thomas Moore by Messrs. Tawell and Bevan. 

We have, &c., 
PENNINGTON & HART. 

No. 76. 
CROWN SOLICITOR to UNDER SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND WORKS. 

Sydney, 4 December, 1857. 

Referring to your letter* of 3rd September last, on the subject of the land to • Not traceable. be  granted to trustees in favour of Mrs. Tawell and child, informing mc that you had deemed 
it advisable to refer the matter to the Commissioners of Claims, in order that they might 
inquire and report upon the exact boundaries of the lands to be granted; and referring also 
to the former correspondence, and more particularly to my letters of 23rd July and 21st 
October, 1856, to the Honorable the Colonial Secretary, urging reasons why the grant 
should issue with the amended descriptions therein referred to, and to which I would again 
respectfully draw your attention,—I now do myself the honor to inform you, that, having 
carefully considered the propriety of the proposed reference, and taken the opinion of two 
leading counsel thereon, they are of opinion, in which I concur, that the Court of Claims has 
no jurisdiction in this matter, and that the proceedings before them and their decision 'would 

be 

SIR, 

CIVIL 
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be no more binding than a description taken from the survey of a Government surveyor, and 
that the proposed reference would be useless and injudicious, and ought not to be proceeded with. 

I have the honor, therefore, to request that the reference to the Commiesioners of 
Claims may be withdrawn, and to state, that I am now prepared to accept a grant in the 
form originally ordered by the Right Honorable the Secretary of State, excepting only the 
omission of one of the allotments in Sussex-street, since found to have been sold and conveyed 
by Towel' in his lifetime, referred to in my letter of 21st October, 1850,—and by the 
addition of a copy of Her Majesty's Warrant, which I shall insert for the reason given in 
my letter, before referred to, of 23rd July, 1856. 

In a few days, therefore, I shall forward the grant, amended as above, for execution 
and completion. 

I have, Sic., 
WM. W. BILLYARD. 

No. 76. 
SECRETARY TO CROWN LAW OFFICERS to UNDER COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Attorney General's Office, 

SIR, 
	 Sydney, 30 December, 1857. 

I am directed to forward herewith to you a copy memorandum of the 
Honorable the Solicitor General (Mr. Lutwyche) in the case of the late John Tawell, and 
to request that you will have the goodness to bring it under the notice of the Honorable the 
Colonial Secretary at your earliest convenience. 

I have, &C., 
W. E. PLUNKETT, 

Secretary to Law Department. 

[Enclosure in Aro. 76.] 
TAIVELL'S CASE. 

MEMORANDUM for the perusal of the Ifunorable the Colonial Sesretary. 
AFT= a careful examination of all the papers relating to this voluminous case, the following conclusions 
may, 1 think, be safely drawn therefrom:— 

1. It is not now open to the Law Advisers of the Crown in this Colony to dispute the accuracy of 
the opinion given by the Attorney and Solicitor General of England ; and the grant to Messrs. Tawell 
and Bevan, as trustees fur Mrs. Tawell and her son, must issue in accordance with the directions given 
by successive Secretaries of State. 

As against the Crown, the purchasers by auction have no lotus standi; but their position will be 
very different as against the Crown's grantees ; and bearing in mind that the inquisition was found ou 
the 22nd August, 1848, and that the sale by the agent for the trustees did not take place till February, 
1549, 1 see little reason to doubt that, either by a scire facias or by a snit in equity, the purchasers will 
obtain the relief they desire. 

2. The grant, whoa issued, must correspond substantially with the description of the parcels as 
found by the jury on the inquisition. 

A practical difficulty has here interposed itself, and is nut at present removed, though perhaps 
the lapse of a short tinte may suffice for its removal. The description of the IV illianastreet property 
(built upon by Mr. Smart) in the inquisition is said to be so vague, that if the grant followed it literally 
the grant itself would be void for uncertainty. The Surveyor General has been applied to, to identify 
the property and give a correct description, for the purpose of inserting such description in the deed of 
grant ; but he has declared the accomplishment of such a task to be next to impossible, and it bus been 
referred to the Court of Claims, to inquire into and report upon the exact boundaries of the lands, as 
set forth in the inquisition. Their report has not yet been received, and it would be useless to 
speculate upon what it may be ; but one thing is quite clear, viz. : that the Crown, M preparing the 
grant, must reject altogether solemn declarations made by the surveyor of an interested party. Tho 
title of the Crown is founded upon the inquisition, and whether the description in the finding be right 
or wrong, it must be substantially adopted. 

3. Assuming a correct description to have been obtained, a seirefarias ought, I think, to issue 
on the part of the Crown, before the grant can pass the great Seal of the Colony. 

This deduction is founded upon inferences of fact, not upon facts stated. If the possession was 
vacant at the time the inquisition was Fund, no rein? ferias would be necessary ; but if there was no 
much vacant possession at the time of office, found, and no seizure MIS horde on the part of the Crown 
within a year and a day afterwards, the seire faders must precede the grant. And it appears to me that 
whatever their title might be. Tawell and Bevan were in pawns/on of the land, by their agent (Turner) 
on the 22nd August, 1848. It appears, further, that they retained possession for six months afterwards, 
and that the land was sold under their power of attorney ; nod therefore, unless affirmativo evidence 
could be produced of a seizure by the Crown, within the time limited, the purchasers are entitled to 
notice by a crier ferias. 

ALFRED P. LITTNEYCHE, 
29 December, 1857. 	 Solicitor General. 

No. 77. 
MESSRS. NORTON, SON, AND BARKER to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 8 January, 1858. 

By the direction of Mr. Thomas Ware Smart, of Sydney, we have the honour 
to request that Her Majesty's Government will be pleased to cause a grant to be issued to 
him of all that parcel of land in the County of Cumberland and Parish of Alexandria, in 
the territory of New South Wales ; bounded on or towards the north by land formerly the 
estate of the late Sir James Dowling, one hundred and eight feet ; on or towards the east by 
the same estate, thirty-four feet eleven inches; on or towards the west by the same estate, 

sixty-six 

SIR, 
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sixty-six feet ten inches; and on or towards the south by William-street, one hundred and 
seventeen feet six inches, being a portion of a larger parcel of land originally granted to 
James Laidley, of which Mr. Smart is now and has for the last seven years been in 
possession by his several tenants. 

This land was formerly the property of one John Tawell, who, in the month of 
March, 1845, was convicted and attainted. 

Some time before Tawell's conviction he conveyed this land, with all other real 
estate belonging to him, to William 'Powell and William Bevan, in trust for his wife. 

After his execution it was alleged and found that the property had become escheated 
and forfeited to the Crown, and Her Majesty was pleased to direct that the lands should be 
granted to the said trustees. 

In the year 1849 the said trustees, Messrs. Tawell and Bevan, with the concurrence 
of Mrs. Tawell, and with the knowledge and sanction of the Crown Law Officers of this 
Colony, caused the property to be put up for sale by public auction, when Mr. Smart became 
the purchaser for the sum of £205, which he duly paid to Mr. George Cooper Turner, who 
was then the Civil Crown Solicitor and the attorney and agent of the said trustees in this 
Colony, appointed by power of attorney. And, on the 15th day of May, 1850, a conveyance 
was made and executed in Mr. Smart's favour. 

Since the said purchase Mr. Smart has expended £13,000 in the erection of 
the buildings now standing upon the said land. 

At the time of the purchase by Mr. Smart the said trustees entered into the 
necessary covenants for procuring a grant of the land and perfecting the title to the 
purchaser, and Mr. Turner, the Civil Crown Solicitor, undertook to do all that was necessary 
for the purpose of obtaining the said grant.. 

Mr. Smart is aware that the trustees have since applied to Her Majesty's Government 
to have the grant issued to them, notwithstanding the sale and conveyance and the receipt 
of the purchase money by their duly appointed agent ; but he respectfully submits that if 
the grant is made to them, manifest injustice will be done. 

Mr. Smart will be prepared to verity the statements herein made at any time, and 
in any manner the Government may desire. 

We have, &c., 
NORTON, SON, & BARKER. 

No. 78. 
SECRETARY OF STATE to GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON. 

Dow ning-street, 
2 December, 1858. 

SIR, 
With reference to your despatch, No. 49, of 18th March, 1856, in which 

you report that instructions had been given to the Crown Solicitor to prepare the deed for 
the completion of the grant of the property of John Tan-ell to the trustees of his wife and 
family, I transmit to you a copy of a letter from one of the trustees, and I trust that every 
exertion may he made by the local Government for settlement of this business. 

I should be glad to be informed whether it is possible that the arrangement will be 
brought to a speedy conclusion. 

I have, Ice., • 
E. B. LYTTON. 

[Enclosure in No. 78.] 
6 01/1 jewry, 

23 Xovember, 1858. In re John 'Powell, decoded. 

On the 1st November, 1855, a despatch was sent from the Colonial Office to the Governor 
of New South Wales, directing a grant of certain property in that Colony to be issued, without delay. 
in favour of Mr. William Tawell and myself upon trusts for the benefit of the widow and child of the 
late John Towel!. 

This despatch v-as founded upon the reiterated opinion of Sir A. E. Cockburn and Sir R. Bothell, 
the Attorney and Solicitor General, given in the previous month of October, in consequence of the 
refusal of the Law Officers at Sydney to act upon the opinion originally given by those gentlemen under 
date of 31st August, 1853; that opinion being, that a grant of the lands therein refeired to should be made 
to my co-trnstoe and myself, notwithstanding a previous sale of them by Mr. George Cooper Turner, 
the then Crown Solicitor at Sydney, under an alleged power from us ; and which sale the Attorney 
and Solicitor General declared to be, in their opinion, unauthorized and inoperative. 

Notwitstanding the. despatch of the 1st of November, 1855, and the opinion on which it was 
founded, the Law Officers at Sydney declined to draw the grant or to be in any way parties to its issue, 
and the matter was, as we understand, subsequently referred by the Colonial Government to the 
Commissioners of Claims ; Mr. Billyard, the Crown Solicitor, and our agent in Sydney objected, 
however, to this course, and has requested that the grant may he prepared and issued as otiginalli 
ordered by the Secretary of State. lip to the present time, we are without any information of the 
issuing of such a grant, although we feel confident from the well known energy and attention of 31r. 
Billyard, that lie would have given us the earliest possible intimation had such been the case. 

I need scarcely point out for your consideration that the delay which has taken place, and the 
expense which has been incurred from the opposition in the Colony, have been very deeply felt by Mrs. 
Tawell and ourselves, and would respectfully ask the favour of your interference to bring this matter 
now to a close; thirteen years having nearly elapsed since the property escheated, and eleven since it 
was restored by the Crown, whose gracious intentions in behalf of Mrs. Tawell and her child have 
been hitherto frustrated, if not defeated. 

I have, &co  
The Bight Honorable 	 WILLM. BEVAN, 

Sir Edwd. Enhver Lytton, Bart., 	 (for Mr. Win. Tawell and myself.) 
Secretary of State for the Colonies. 

Sir, 

No. 79. 
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No. 79. 
W. W. BILLYARD, ESQ., to SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND WORKS. 

Sydney, 22 December, 1858. 
SIR, 

• Not traceable. 	 Referring to my letters of 4th* and 21st December last, relative to the grant of 
Mrs. Tawell and her child of the escheated estate of her late husband, I have the honor 
again to call your attention to this matter. 

I would beg most respectfully to urge, that, as the subject matter of the proposed 
grant is the property of the Imperial and not of the Colonial Government, and the revenue 
of the Colony is not in any way affected by it (for, if not given to Mrs. Tawell, the proceeds 
of these properties would, when sold, fall into the Imperial Treasury), His Excellency does 
not act heroin so much as Governor of the Colony, but as representative of Her Majesty for 
a particular purpose, and, therefore, the instructions of the Home Government for the 
issuing of this grant should be complied with, without inquiring into the validity of the 
reasons for such instructions. 

For these reasons, and seeing that my client has not only been put to great incon-
venience, but has sustained considerable loss by the delay that has taken place, I would beg 
leave most earnestly to request that the grant may be returned to me, in order that I may 
carry out the instructions contained in the Honorable the Colonial Secretary's letter to Inc 
of 26th February, 1856, and which would have been long since completed but for the 
advice of Mr. Darvall, that the descriptions of the property to be granted should be amended; 
but which amendments, as you are aware, my client has agreed to waive. 

I have, &c., 
WM. W. BILLYARD. 

No. 80. 
W. W. BILLYARD to SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND WORKS. 

Macquarie-street, 
Sydney, 9 March, 1859. 

Re GRANT TO TAWELL'S TRUSTEES. 
• 

I have the honor to request that you will be so good as to submit the papers 
connected with this matter to the Attorney and Solicitor General for their opinion. 

Having perused the opinion of Mr. Lutwyche, I am wholly at a loss to understand 
how a writ of scire judos can issue prior to the grant, as there is nothing for it to operate 
upon, and I do not see how the Supreme Court could entertain the matter in its present 
stage, as the legal and equitable estate in the property is, until the grant, vested in Her 
3Iajesty. 

No. 81. 
CIVIL CROWN SOLICITOR to UNDER SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND WORKS. 

Civil Crown Solicitor's Office, 
Sydney, 30 March, 1859. 

I have the honor to infirm you that I am directed by Mr. Solicitor General 
Hargrave to return to you the accompanying papers, which relate to " Tawell's ease," and 
which I laid before him on the 16th instant, in compliance with your instructions. 

I am further directed by Mr. Solicitor General to state, that this matter seems to 
have been delayed by references to the Surveyor General's Office, and other delays, 
after the papers had left the consideration of the Crown Law Officers (in February, 1856. 
Vide 56-168), who seem to have most fully examined the subject ; and that he does not see 
upon what points of law his opinion is requested in the present stage of the matter. 

I have, Sze., 
WM. W. BILLYARD, 

Civil Crown Solicitor, 
(per J. JACKSON.) 

No. 82. 
MEMO. of Under Secretary for Lands and Works. 

TEE whole history of this case is very fully given in the enclosed precis, and the more 
important points, on -which the opinion of the present Law Officers was desired, are,— 

1. Shall the grant issue, as directed by the Secretary of State, according to the 
descriptions of the land given in the finding of the inquisition, which embrace land admitted 
to have been alienated by Tawell before his conviction, and which, ia other eases, are so 
imperfect, that the grant to be issued thereupon (so advised Mr. Duvall) would be void for 
uncertainty ? 

2. 

I have, &c., 
WM. W. BILLYARD. 

Sm, 
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2. Shall the proposed reference to the Court of Claims proceed (Mr. Lutwyche was 
under the impression that it was being proceeded with)—the object being, not to determine 
who shall receive the grant, but to take evidence, on oath, as to the now identity and boun-
daries of the land to be conveyed ? 

1st April. 

P.S.—Mr. Lutwyche advised the issue of a scire facias, but the solicitor for the 
claimants (Mr. Billyard) suggests, that, as the fee is still in the Crown, there is nothing for a 
seire facias to operate upon. 

No. 83. 
W. W. BILLYARD, ESQ., to SECRETARY FOR LANDS AND WORIts. 

Macguarie-street, 
Sydney,1 April, 1859. 

Adverting to my letter of the 30th ultimo, as Crown Solicitor, No. 59-97, 
in which I was directed by the present Solicitor General to inform you that he did not see 
upon what points of law his opinion was requested, as the Crown Law Officers in February, 
1856, had advised fully on the matter, I now do myself the honor to request that the 
engrossment of the grant forwarded by me to the Honorable the Colonial Secretary, on the 
21st October, 1850, may now be returned to me, in order that I may re-engross it, omitting 
one of the allotments in Sussex-street, Sydney, while in my letter to you of the 4th December, 
1857, I informed you that I had ascertained had been conveyed by Tawell in his lifetime. 

It would be satisfactory to me to be in a position to inform my clients by the April 
mail that this grant was duly completed. 

I have, &c., 
WM. W. BILLYARD 

TAIVELL'S CASE; 

In returning to you, herewith, the papers in this case, I have the honor to 
inform you, that it seems to Mr. Solicitor General Hargrave that the Governor General's 
Commission, dated 8th September;  1865, extending only to waste or unsettled lands, and ,  
only authorizing " the granting and disposing of such lands according to the provisions in 
that behalf contained," &c., confers no authority on His Excellency to execute the proposed 
grant to the English donees of Tawell's escheated lands in this Colony. 

2. Mr. Solicitor General Hargrave observes, that Mr. Attorney General 'Plunkett,, 
and Mr. Solicitor General Manning, appear to him to have fully considered the point, so far 
as it turns on the construction of the words "waste lands," in their opinion on Cooper's 
estate, May 10th, 1850, and that he fully agrees in Mr. Solicitor General Manning's elaborate 
reasoning on the point. 

3. Mr. Solicitor General Hargrave considers that the 47th and 50th sections of the 
New South Wales Constitution Act, 18 & 19 Vic., cap. 54, throw considerable doubt on 
the right of the douees to these escheats. 

I have, &c., 
WM. M. B1LLYARD, 

Civil Crown Solicitor. 
(Per J. Jackson.) 

It appears to me that the Solicitor General has overlooked the fact that a copy of a. 
particular form of grant has been transmitted to me, with directions under the hand of the 
Secretary of State, to cause such a grant to be issued under the Great Seal of the Colony, 
the land being at the time the property of the Crown, not as being a part of the waste land 
of the Crown, which was to be dealt with according to the provisions of the Land Sales Act, 
but as property fallen to the Crown by escheat, and which the Queen, by letter from the 
Secretary of State, has directed to be disposed of in a certain manner. The only difficulty 
which occurs is,: the determination of the boundary of the land to be granted; and I should 
wish to know whether there is any objection to the course proposed by Mr. Lutwyche, viz., 
that of submitting the question to the Board of Claims—I mean the question of the 
boundaries of the land in question—not the right and title to the land. 

W. D. 
1 August, 1859. 

Re TAWELL. 

No. 84. 
CWIL. CROWN SOLICITOR to UNDER SECRETARY" FOR liA.NDS AND ITOEW. 

Civil Crown Solicitor's. Office, 
Sydney, 10 May, 1859. 

No. 85. 



728 

76 	ESCHlilATED LANDS OP THE LATE JOHN TAWELL. 

No. 85. 

SECRETARY OF STATE to GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON. 

Downing-street, 
30 September, 1859. 

With reference to my predecessor's despatch, No. 45, of the 2nd December last, 
requesting to be informed when it was probable that the conveyance of the property of the 
late John Tawell to the trustees of his wife and family would be completed, and expressing 
a hope that every exertion would be made by the local Government for the settlement of the 
business, I transmit to you the copy of a letter I have received from Mr. Bevan, and of the 
reply which I have caused to be addressed to that gentleman. 

I have, &c, 
NEWCASTLE. 

[Enclosure 1 in No. 85.] 

My Lord Duke, 
I have the honor to enclose a copy of a correspondence which took place between the late 

Secretary of State for the Colonies and myself, and have now respectfully to ask your Grace whether 
any and what further tommunitration has been received on the subject from the. Colony since the 8th 
December last, the date of Sir Edward B. Lyttun's letter. 

Remaining, mkt, 
To His Grace 	 WILLIAM BEVAN, 

The Doke of Newcastle. 	 (For Mr. Wm. Tawell and myself.) 
&c„ Lee. 

6, Old feisty, 
Sir, 	 23 Abeeszher. 1895. 

In re ,Tolin ToecU, deceased. 
On the 1st of November, 1F5S, a despatch was sent from the Colonial Office to the Governor 

of New South Wales, directing, a gnu it1,1 certain property in that Colony to he issued without delay, in 
favour of Mr. William 'Dowell and myself, upon trusts for the benefit of the widow and child of the late 
John Tawell. 

This despatch was founded upon the reiterated mpinion of Sir A. E. Cockburn and Sir IL Bm thell, 
the then Attornm:y and 5,dicitor General, given in the previous month of Oetober, in consequence of the 
refusal of Law Officers of Sydney to net 011011 the opinion originally given by these gentlemen under 
date of 31st August, 1893 ; that opinion being, that a grant of the lands therein referred to should be 
made to my co-trustee and myself, notwithstanding a previous sale of them by Mr. George Cooper 
Turner, the then Crown Solleitor at Sydney, under an alleged power DOM US, and Which sale the 
Attorney and Solicitor General declared tube in their opinion unauthorized and inoperative. 

Notwithstanding the dzsp.mtch of 1st November, 1854, and the opinions en which it was founded, 
the Law Officers at Sydney declined to draw the grant or to be in any way parties to its issue, and the 
heater was, as we understood, subset Leafy referred by the Colonial Government to the Commissioners 
of Claims. Mr. Dillyard, the Crown Solicitor and our agent at Sydney, objected however to this course, 
and has requested that the grant may be prepared and issued as originally ordered by the Secretary of 
State. Up to the pomsent time we are without any infonultion of the issuing of such a gat nt, although 
we feel confident, from the well known energy and attention of Mr. Billyard, that he would have given 
us the earliest possible intimation had such been the cast 

I need scarcely point omit, for your eunsidattion, that the delay which has taken place, and the 
expense which has been incurred, from the opposition in the Colony, have been very deeply felt by Mrs. 
Towel] and ourselves, and would respectfully ask the favonr of your interference to bring this matter 
now to a close—thirteen years having nearly elapsed since the property escheated, and eleven since it 
was restored by the Crown, whose gracious intentions on behalf of Mrs. 'Powell and her child have been 
hitherto frustrated, if not defeated. 

I have,  tVei . BEVAN, 
The Right Honorable 	 (For Mr. Wm. Towel] and ntyselt) 

Sic E. 13. Lytton, 
63c., 

Dornattstreel, 8 December, 1838. 

I ant directed by Secretary Sir E. 13. Lytton to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of 
the 23rd ultimo, in which you represent the delay which has occurred in the completion of the grant of 
the property of the late John Tawell, in New South Wok s, to the trustees of Mrs. Tawell and her family. 

In reply, I ant directed to acquaint you, that. in a despatch dated the li-th March, 1896, the 
Governor of New South Wales reported that instructions bad been given to the Crown Solicitor to 
prepare the deed of grant for that put-pi we. No further communication has been received on the subject 
from the Colony, but Sir E. Lytton will transmit a copy of your present application to Governor Sir 
William Denison, with the expression of a hope that every exertion may be made by the local Govern-
ment for the final settlement of this business, and will request a report on the present state of the CUM 

I sun, St., 
CATINARVON. j 

G, Old Teary, 
19 Septentbre, 1599. 

[Sub-Enclosure in No. 85.] 

Downing-street, 3 October, 1869. 

In reply to your letter of the I 9th ultimo, I um directed by thu Duke of Newcastle to inform 
you, that the Goverror of New South Wales was written to respecting the property of the late John 
Towel], on the 2nd December last, in the terms promised in Lord Carnal von's letter to you of the 8th of 
that month, but that no reply has yet been received. A further communication will be addressed to 
Sir William Denison by the next mail, though it is to be hoped that some report will shortly be received 
from him on the subject. 

I am, &c., 
William Bevan, Esq. 	 HERMAN MERIVALE. 

No. 86. 

[Enclosure 2 in No. 85.] 

Sir, 
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No. 86. 
MINUTE with reference to Tamen ease. 

I HAVE gone carefully over all the papers connected with the long outstanding case of the 
disposal of the property of the murderer John Tawe11; and the following short sketch of the 
circumstances which have led to the present amplication will enable the Members of the 
Executive Council to form an opinion of the course which it will be desirable to adopt, in 
order to bring this vexed question to a close. 

Tam,11 was hanged early in 1845. When he was in prison, be gave over by deed all 
his property in New South Wales, real and personal, to certain trustees, for the benefit of 
his wife and children. When, however, these trustees, through their attorney here, com-
menced dealing with the property, they were stopped by a notification on the part of the 
Attorney General, that this, having belonged to a felon, had by his conviction and death 
escheated to the Crown. 

A reference was then made by the Governor to the Secretary of State, in order to 
ascertain the mode in which the Crown wished the property to be dealt with ; and in reply, 
it was notified to him that Her Majesty had been pleased to grant the property of the felon 
to certain trustees (these being the persons previously appointed by Tawell himself), for the 
benefit of the widow and the children. These trustees having sent out a power of attorney 
to certain persons in the Colony, these, or rather one of them, in pursuance of the power 
vested in him, proceeded to sell some of the land which formed a portion of the property of 
the felon, and then called upon the Colonial Government to issue a grant to the purchaser. 

This demand raised a question as to the power of the Government to issue such a 
grant. It was said that land escheated to the Crown became by such escheat part of the 
waste land of the Crown, and must as such be dealt with in accordance with the provisions 
of the Australian Land Sales Act. On the other hand, it was asserted that these lands, 
having been already granted by the Crown, were withdrawn from that part of the property 
of the Crown which the Act in question was intended to deal with ; but from this arose 
another question as to the power of the Governor, under his Commission, to grant, without 
special reference to her Majesty, property other than " Waste Land." A reference was 
made to the Secretary of State on these points; and the opinion of the Law Officers in 
England was to the effect that the escheated property did not come within the provisions of 
the Waste Lands Act, but that the Governor had no power, under his Commission, to grant 
away escheated property. A form of grant was therefore sent out, with directions that this 
should be properly filled up, and that it should issue under the Great Seal of the Colony to 
the trustees before alluded to. 

So far everything appears to have been plain and simple. Doubts as to the power of 
the Governor had been entertained and cleared up, and directions were given fur the purpose 
of enabling the Governor to carry into effect the intention of tier Majesty as regarded the 
widow and children of the felon. Other considerations, however, were now introduced, 
which complicated the question. The attorney of the trustees had sold a portion of the 
property by public auction, with the tacit approval, at all events, of the Crown Law Officers, 
before the deed of grant had transferred the property to the trustees; and the purchasers 
under this sale complained that their interests would be damaged were a grant to issue to 
the trustees. The fact being that the special attorney of the trustees, by whose authority 
the sale was made, had turned out to be a rogue, and had absconded with a part, at all 
events, of the proceeds of the sale. 

A further reference was then made to the Secretary of State, containing an opinion 
on the part of the then Law Officers, that the trustees were not in law or equity entitled 
to the property, and this having been referred to the Law Officers in England,  produced an  
elaborate opinion from them to the effect that the grant ought to issue to the trustees as 
directed by Her Majesty, and that the persons who had purchased from the attorney of the 
trustees should be left to their remedy at law or in equity, by Which the trustees might 
be compelled to fulfil the promises made by their agent. 

References have since been made backwards and forwards, but the result in all cases . 
has been the same, and in 1856 directions were given for the preparation of the grant to 
the trustees ; here however a fresh difficulty interposed itself. 

The inquisition which determined the title of the Crown to the landed property of 
the felon gave but vague description of the boundaries, and, in one instance, included in 
that property a portion of land which had been sold by Terrell previous to the commission 
of the off..nce for which he was executed. The Surveyor General reports that the boundaries, 
cannot now be so clearly made out as to render it advisable to give a fresh description upon 
the authority of the Government, and recommends that the boundaries, as stated in the 
inquisition, should be inserted in the grant. The attorney for the trustees objects to this 
upon the ground that the grant, as he is advised, would be void for uncertainty, and the 
question which the Government is now called upon to decide is, in what form the grant 
should issue? I mean so far as the description of the property is concerned. 

A few remarks will, I trust, serve to clear away much of the complication which has 
been imported into this ease by an attempt to make the Government the judge of questions 
of law and of equity with which in fact it has nothing to do. 

The decision of Her Majesty was, that the grant should issue to the trustees for the 
benefits of the widow and orphan children of the felon. With the doings of these trustees 
and of their attorney the Government have no concern. The demand that thc Crown 
should recognize the transactions of these parties or any of them by issuing deeds of grant, 
as from itself, to purchasers by auction of trust property, is altogether unprecedented, and it 

219—L 	 would 
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would seem to have been entertained more as covering, in some measure, the negligence of 
the Law Officers in permitting the sale of what was in strict legality "Crown property" 
by a private individual, than from any idea that such a grant could ever properly issue. 
The property of the laud is in Her Majesty, and it is by her transferred to certain trustees 
for a specified purpose. Should a grant issue to other than the trustees, they would be 
altogether debarred from taking any legal steps to vindicate their claim to the land. While 
the Government would take upon itself to decide, without reference to any legal tribunal, 
a complicated case involving questions of law and equity. 

It appears then to me that the first thin to be done is to carry out the instructions 
of 11er Majesty, and, by placing the property in the legal power of the trustees, to give to 
them the means of completing the title of the purchasers, and to the latter the power of 
compelling them to do so by due course of law. 

I come now to the question of the mode in which the boundaries of the properties 
are to be described in the grant, and here I am disposed to agree with the Surveyor General, 
and to recommend that the description given in the inquisition should be taken. 

In point of fact the Government have no other data than that which the inquisition 
affords upon which to determine the property which has escheated to the Crown. It is not 
for the Survey Department to alter or modify a document of this kind. Should an error 
have crept into it, there are probably legal means by which it may be rectified, and as to the 
assertion that such a grant would be void for uncertainty, that is a matter which it is for the 
courts of law to decide. 

' Upon a full consideration then of all the circumstances of the case, I am of opinion 
that the deed of grant should issue to the trustees in the form decided by the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury, and that the boundaries of the property should be described 
therein in the terms used in the inquisition. 

30 Dec., 1859. 	 W. DENISON. 

No. 87. 
MESSRS. NORTON, SON, & BARKER, to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Sydney, 11 Jan stay, 1860. 

We have the honor to bring under your notice, and to request your early con- 
sideration of the letters addressed by us to your predecessor, bearing date respectively the 

"whim°.  8th January, 23rd* March, and 28th* July, 1858, written on behalf of Mr. Thomas Ware able. Smart, respecting the .land in William-street, purchased by him from the duly appointed 
attorney of the trustees of Mrs. Tavrell, the widow of John Tawell, deceased. 

As Mr. Smart has expended a very large sum of money upon this property, and can 
take no step to get his title to the property perfected, until be has ascertained the determi-
nation of the Government upon the conflicting claims, we beg respectfully to request that 
you will, as early as possible, inform us of the determination of the Government in the 
matter. 

We have, &e., 
NORTON, SON, & BARBER. 

No. 88. 
OPINION of Law Officers. 

IN re TAWELL'S ESTATE. 
WE have perused these papers, and referring to the passage in His Excellency's minute,— 
" That the Governor has no power, under his Commission, to grant away escheated 
property,"—we should be glad to be furnished with a copy of such further authority, or new 
Commission, under which it is supposed that he would have or has now any such authority. 

EDWD. WISE, 
Attorney General. 

JOHN F. HARGRAVES, 
Crown Law Officer, 	 Solicitor General. 

Sydney, 23 January, 1860. 

No. 89. 
MINUTE of the Governor General. 

BY my Commission I am directed "to do and execute all things that shall belong to my 
"command, and the trust reposed in me according * * " to such instructions 
as are therewith given me, or which may, front time to time, thereafter be given to me, 
under "our Sign Manual and Signet, or by our order in our Privy Council, or by or through 
"one of our principal Secretaries of State, &c." For this latter see despatch, No. 31, 
dated 19 April, 1851, enclosing opinion of Law Officers and form of grant. 

W. D. 
23 January, 1860. 

No. 90. 
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No. 90. 
OPINION of the Honorable the Attorney General and the Solicitor General in re Tawell's 

Estate. 

REFERRING to the Governor General's present Commission, dated 8th September, 1855, it 
appears to us that the only legal power to grant any lands of the Colony is conferred upon 
His Excellency in the following clause:— 

" And we do hereby give and grant to you, the said Sir William Thomas Denison, 
" full power and authority, by and with the advice of the said Executive Council, to grant 
" in our name and on our behalf, any waste or unsealed lands in us vested, within our said 
" Colony, which said grants are to be pa ssed and sealed with the Great Seal of our said 
" Colony ; and, being entered upon record by such public officer or officers as shall be appointed 
" thereunto, shall be effectual in law against us, our heirs, or successors : Provided never-
" theless, that in granting or disposing of such lands, you do conform to and observe the 
" provisions in that behalf contained in any law which is or shall be in force within our said 
" Colony, or within any part of our said Colony, for regulating the sale and disposal of such 
"lands." 

This clause, in our opinion, only refers to "waste and unsettled" lands, which those 
of Towell are not. (See 5 and 6 Vic., see. 23, Land Regulations, page 6; and former 
opinions of the Crown Law Officers here and in England.) 

It is suggested, indeed, that His Excellency can grant those escheats to such persons 
as Her Majesty may direct, through one of the Secretaries of State, and the previous part of 
His Excellency's said Commission is quoted in support of this view. 

Those previous words are as follows :— 
" To do and execute all things that shall belong to your said command, and the trust 

" we have reposed in you according to the several powers, provisions, and directions granted 
" or appointed you by virtue of this Commission, and of a Bill passed in the year one thou-
" sand eight hundred and fifty-four, by the Legislative Council of our said Colony, intituled, 
" An Act to confer a Constitution on New South TVales, and to grant a Civil List to Ater 
"'Majesty,' as assented to by us in the exercise of the powers vested in us by an Act of Par- 

liament, passed in the Session holden in the eighteenth and nineteenth years of our reign, 
" intituled, An Act to enable Her Majesty to assent to a Bill, as amended, of the Legislature 
" of New South Wales, to confer a Constitution on New South Wales, and to grant a Civil 
" List to her Majesty AND according to such instructions as are herewith given to you, or 
" which may, from time to time hereafter, be given to you, under our Sign Manual and 
" Signet, or by our order in our Privy Council, or by us through one of our Principal 
" Secretaries of State, AND according to such laws as are or shall hereafter be in force in 
" our said Colony of New South Wales and its dependencies aforesaid." 

We have considered the effect of these words, and are clearly of opinion that they do 
not enlarge the powers to grant land conferred by the Commission in the passage first cited, 
and that therefore a grant of this escheated land would not be within the powers possessed 
by His Excellency according to the laws in force in this Colony. 

The Constitution Act certainly does not give it to him, and we are not aware of any 
power vested in the Governor of a Colony by common or statute law which would enable 
ills Excellency to make such grant of escheats as specified in the despatch referred to. 

Whether Her Majesty has now the power of conveying those escheats by grant under 
47 Geo. III, see. 2, c. 24 (See Chitty's Prerogative, 234, 236), and in what precise mode 
this should be exercised, are difficult questions, upon which we do not consider ourselvd 
called upon to give an opinion. 

As escheats are a portion of the hereditavy revenues of the Crown, we are of opinion 
that any escheats arising since the new Constitution Act must be dealt with by the Colonial 
Legislature by virtue of the provisions of that Act (ss. 47-50), which are in the widest terms; 
whereas in all the Imperial civil list statutes, escheats have been specially reserved. (See 
1 Vic., c. 2, 1 Wm. 4, c. 25, and the preceding statutes) 

It may be a question whether these words might not extend to escheats which had 
already vested in Her Majesty. 

We think ourselves bound also to state, that we fully concur in the opinions of the 
Attorney and Solicitor General of New South Wales, as to the extreme injustice of now 
granting Tawell's escheats to Mrs. Tawell, and thereby ignoring all the circumstances that 
took place in the Colony, and especially repudiating the contracts of sale, and covenants by 
the agents, under the power of attorney, that the grants should be issued to the purchasers, 
and for further assurance. 

That power was executed by the very trustees now claiming the grant, and expressly 
specified LANDS in New South Wales, which the trustees knew were not at that time 
formally granted to them. 

This power was also expressly assented to by Mrs. Tawell. 
EDWARD WISE, 

Attorney General. 
JOHN F. HARGRAVE, 

30th January, 1860. 	 Solicitor General. 

No. 91. 
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No. 91. 
MINUTE of Governor General. 

I HAVE read carefully the report of the Law Officers, which, in point of fact, leaves the 
matter in stain quo. 

The report commences by analyzing the power given to the Governor by his Com-
mission, and restated the admitted objection, that unless duly authorized by Her Majesty, 
the Governor has no power, under that Commission, to grant any other than waste land, but 
the report then goes on to state, in substance, that the Queen, who issues that Commission, 
has no power (although the mode in which that power is to be exercised is clearly stated in 
the Commission) to give instructions to the Governor how to deal with land which, having 
escheated to the Crown, has become, as stated by the Law Officers, part of Her :Majesty's 
hereditary revenue. 

Two questions with regard to hereditary revenue are interpolated into the report, 
neither of which have any reference to the laud in question- 

1st.—The right of the Colony to land escheated since the passing of the Con-
stitution Act. 

This has nothing to do with the right to the land in question, which fell into the 
possession of the Crown by escheating, previous to the passing of the Constitution Act. 

2nd.—The right of the Colony to escheat, which had vested in Her Majesty pre-
vious to the passing of the Constitution Act. 

This, again, can have nothing to do with the land in question, Her Majesty having, 
long previous to the passing of the Constitution Act, granted the land in question to trustees, 
for the benefit of the widow and children of Tawell. 

The whole question, with regard to which the Government seek for information front 
the Law Officers, is that upon which the report states that these officers do not feel called 
upon to give an opinion, namely the precise mode in which the directions of Her Majesty, 
relative to lands in this Colony, the hereditary property of the Crown, should be carried into 
effect. 

Some action must take place, in order to determine in a proper and a legal manner 
the right of the present occupants of the land, who have, at present, ino title but that of 
possession ; neither can they, until some action is taken by the Crown, get any legal title. 

The opinion given by the Law Officers at the termination of their report, of the 
equity of the claim of the occupants to the land, can go for nothing, unless substantiated by 
a proper judicial decision. 

I think, therefore, that the report ought to be referred back to the Law Officers, with 
directions to consider and report upon the mode in which the instructions transmitted by 
Her Majesty may be carried into effect, so as to give to the persons who purchased the land 
from the attorneys of the trustees an opportunity of applying to a Court of Equity to compel 
the trustees to fulfil the engagement entered into by their attorney, to give to the purchasers, 
at public auction, a good title to the land so purchased. 

W. DENISON. 

The Crown Law Officers will be so good as to reconsider their report, with reference to the 
special point submitted by His Excellency.—W.F. February 9, 1860.—B.C. 

The papers in this ease are now returned, with further opinion of the Crown Law Officers thereon. 
W.E.P. The Principal Under Secretary, 11G.—February 13, 1860. 

No. 92. 
FURTHER Opinion in re Tawell. 

WE have respectfully perused the observations made by His Excellency the Governor 
'General on our opinion, dated the 30th ultimo, and have reconsidered the matter; but 
remain of opinion that the Governor General's Commission does not in law, either by itself, 
or when supplemented by the despatch mentioned, give authority to the issue of grants of 
escheated lands. 

We would in the first place respectfully suggest to His Excellency, that the state-
ment at the foot of the 2nd page of His Excellency's observations, that "her Majesty, 
" previously to the passing of the Constitution Act, bad granted the lands in question to 
" trustees for the benefit of the widow and children of Towel'," is wholly a misapprehension, 
as it is becanse nothing amounting in law to a grant has been executed by the Queen that 
the present discussion has arisen. 

We would also in the second place respectfully point out, that the question for our 
consideration is not whether the Queen "CAN give instructions to the Governor, &c.," but 
whether the existing documents, when interpreted by fixed rules of legal construction, and 
applied to the facts of the case, have clothed him with the legal power to grant the escheat 
in question; and we adhere to our previously expressed opinion, that His Excellency does 
not possess such legal power. 

In reply to the concluding sentence of His Excellency's observations, we beg respect-
fully to submit that it is rather the professional duty of Her Majesty's legal advisers in 
England to report, at least in the first instance, upon such further steps (if any) as will 
surmount the legal difficulties pointed out in our former opinion. 

Precedents 
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Precedents must have occurred with respect to lands in the other Colonies; and, 
upon so difficult a question appertaining so peculiarly to the prerogative of the Queen, in 
her personal capacity, it would be premature for us now to advise. Nor is it possible to 
give an opinion as to the effsct of the Colonial laws upon the subject, until we see upon 
what further documents we may have to advise. 

At present we are clearly of opinion, that, as the matter now stands, nothing can be 
done by His Excellency to grant the lands in question to any one. 

We regret much that His Excellency should think any paragraph of our former 
opinion unnecessarily interpolated. We can only say, that, as Legal Advisers, we did our best 
to render our opinion intelligible, when read in connection with the numerous elaborate 
opinions of previous Crown Law Advisers, who have written on this intricate matter; and 
that we have applied to the points in doubt our utmost knowledge of constitutional and 
Colonial law. 

EDWARD WISE, 
Attorney General. 

JOHN F. HARGRAVE, 
Ha February, 1860. 	 Solicitor General. 

20 February, 1800. 
His Excellency the Governor General lays before the Council a despatch from the 
Right Honorable the Secretary of State for the Colonies, in which, referring to a previous 
despatch on the subject of the issue of a deed of grant of certain escheated lands in this 
Colony, formerly the property of John Tawell, a felon, His Grace again directs attention 
to the question, and encloses the copy of a letter from the trustees of Tawell's widow pressing 
for a settlement of the matter. 

2. Therewith His Excellency also lays before the Council all the correspondence 
which had previously passed in reference to the case, together with the following additional 
documents, viz.:— 

1st. A minute by His Excellency containing a precis of the case, and an expression 
of his own views as to the mode in which the question should be now dealt 
with. 

2nd. A joint opinion from the Law Officers to whom this minute had been referred. 
3rd. A second minute by His Excellency remitting this opinion for reconsideration, 

and 
4th. The further opinion of the Law Officers. 

3. For the purposes of this record it is necessary to state that, in the year 1845, 
Tawell was convicted in England of the crime of murder and hanged, being at the time of 
his trial and conviction possessed of real and personal property in this Colony. 

This property was claimed by the Crown as an escheat, but Her Majesty was sub-
sequently pleased to grant it to certain trustees for the benefit of Tawell's widow and 
children. 

These trustees having sent out a power of attorney to persons in this Colony, some of 
the lands were sold, and an application was made to the Government to issue a deed of grant 
to the purchasers. 

This application raised two questions :— 
1st. As to the power of the Government to issue such a grant, doubts being enter-

tained whether the escheated land had not by such escheat become part of the 
" Waste Lands" of the Crown, and therefore liable to be dealt with under the 
provisions of the " Waste Lands Act," and 

2nd. If not, whether the Governor had any power, under his Commission, to grant 
without special reference to Her Majesty any other than "Waste Lands" ? 

The then Attorney General, Mr. Plunkett, held that the lands must be dealt with 
as part of the " Waste Lands," and that the Governor had no power to issue a grant, and 
when again referred to adhered to this opinion. A reference was then made to the Secretary 
of State on these points, and the opinion of the Law Officers in England was to the effect 
that the escheated property did not come within the provisions of the Waste Lands Act, but 
the Governor had no power under Ids Commission to grant away escheated lands. 

A form of grant prepared by them was therefore sent out by the Secretary of State 
with instructions that this should be properly filled up, and that it should be issued under 
the Great Seal of the Colony to the trustees in question. 

Further references to and fro involving other questions connected with the issue of 
this deed ensued, but in all cases with a like result; and, in the year 1856, directions were 
given by the local Government for the preparation of the grant to the trustees. 

Here, however, a fresh difficulty was started. 
The inquisition which determined the title of the Crown to the landed property of 

the felon gave but vague descriptions of the boundaries; and, in once instance, included a 
portion of land which had been sold by Tawell previous to the commission of the offence for 
which he was executed. 

The Surveyor General, who was instructed to prepare fresh descriptions, reported that 
the boundaries could not now be so clearly made out as to render it advisable to give a fresh 
description upon the authority of the Government, and recommended that the boundaries 
stated in the inquisition should be inserted in the deed of grant. 

To 

No. 93. 
MINUTE of Executive Council. 
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To the adoption of this course the attorney for the trustees objected, on the ground 
that the grant, as lie was advised, would be void for uncertainty. 

It was then proposed to refer this question otboundaries to the Court of Claims, and 
in 1857 an instruction to that effect was given ; but for some reason, which does not appear, 
the suggestion was not acted upon, and the matter remained in abeyance until the receipt of 
the despatch referred to by His Grace the Secretary of State, dated 2nd December, 1858, 
when the Law Officers were moved to report as to the state of the case. 

In May, 1859, the Solicitor General reported, and simply expressed an opinion that 
the Governor General's Commission confers no authority upon His Excellency to execute 
the proposed grant of the escheated lands to Tawell's trustees. 

His Excellency at the time took exception to this view of the case, and drawing the 
Solicitor General's attention to the instructions from the Secretary of State above referred 
to for the issue of the dead, asserted the opinion which lie maintains in die minutes now 
before the Council, viz., that the objection as to 

opinion, 
 power of the Governor to issue the grant 

had been got rid of by that instruction, and that the only question to be decided by the 
Government of this Colony is that of the description of the boundaries of the land to be 
granted. 

In contravention of this view, however, the Law Officers in their joint report upon 
the first of those minutes, expresses a decided opinion that the Governor General's Com-
mission does not in law, either by itself or supplemented by the instruction contained in the 
Secretary of State's despatch, give authority to the issue of grants of escheated lands; other 
questions are raised by them as to the power of the Crown to deal with lands escheated in 
this Colony, both before and since the passing of the present Constitution Act, and also as 
to the equity of granting these particular i'lands to the trustees instead of the purchasers 
from them, but no allusion is made to the question of boundaries; and when requested to 
reconsider their opinion, and to advise specifically as to the mode in which Her Majesty's 
instructions as to the issue of the grant may be carried into effect, they, in their second 
report, maintain their opinion as to the absence of any power on the part of the Goverment 
to cause the issue of the deed; submit that it is rather the Frovince of Her Majesty's Legal 
Advisers in England to report, at least in the first instance, upon such further steps, if any, 
as will surmount the legal difficulties pointed out in their former opinion ; and finally report 
that, as the matter now stands, nothing can be done by His Excellency to grant the lands 
in question to any one. 

4. Under these circumstances us Excellency desires the advice of the Council as to 
the course which it would now be advisable to adopt in the matter. 

5. Upon a full and careful consideration of this very complicated case, which is not 
unfamiliar to them, the greater portion of the papers having been circulated amongst the 
Members for some time past. The Council experience little hesitation or doubt as to the nature 
of the advice which they are called upon to offer, in the face of the strongly expressed and 
reiterated opinion of the present Law Officers, that it is not competent to His Excellency to 
issue the grant of the escheated lands, they feel that they would not be justified in recom-
mending the adoption of that step; and that it is their duty to advise that His Excellency 
should now transmit copies of those opinions to the Secretary of State, with a suggestion 
that the whole question be referred for the further consideration and final decision of the 
English Crown Law Officers. 

No. 94. 
GOVERNOR SIR W. DENMON to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

Tatcell John, respecting escheated property of. 1 March, 
1860. 

MY LORD DUKE, 
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your Grace's despatch, No. 26, 

dated 30th September, 1859, referring to a previous despatch, No. 45, dated 2tid December, 
1858, on the subject of the issue of the deed of grant of the property of the late John 
Tawell to the trustees of his wife and family, and have to express my regret that the report 
which I have now to make, with reference to this matter, should be so unsatisfactory. 

In a former despatch, No. 49, dated 18th March, 1856, I stated that instructions 
had been given to the Crown Solicitor to cause the deed of grant to be prepared without 
delay. 

The draft deed was prepared accordingly, but when, as was necessary, it was sub-
mitted to the Surveyor General to verify the description of the boundaries of the land to 
be granted, it was discovered that a portion of the land included in the boundaries given by 
the inquisition had been sold by Tawell previous to his conviction, and that it was im-
possible to identify the land by the description given in the inquisition or to survey them 
afresh. 

Upon a further reference, the Surveyor General reported to the same effect, and 
suggested that the description given in the inquisition should be embodied in the grant. 
The Crown Solicitor, who was also acting as attorney for the trustees, submitted an opinion 
from counsel whom he had consulted, that the grant, in such case, would be void from 
uncertainty. The correspondence between the Crown Solicitor and the Surveyor General 
was not brought to any satisfactory termination when, a change having been made in the 
arrangements of the Crown Solicitor's Office, Mr. Billyard, the former Crown Solicitor, 
resigned, and another 'gentleman was appointed in his place. This change occasioned, of 

course, 



735 

ESCHEATED LANDS OF THE LATE JOHN T'AWELL. 	83 

course, further delay, and when, on the receipt of your Grace's despatches above alluded to, 
I called for the papers in the case, I found that matters were as' I have before described—
the attorney for the trustees objecting to the descriptions proposed to be inserted in the 
grant, and the Surveyor General objecting to the proposal that he should draw up fresh 
descriptions, as being, in the first place, not in accordance with the inquisition, and in the 
second, almost impossible on account of the lapse of time, and the incompleteness of the 
original surveys. 

Upon this I went carefully over the whole of the papers, and submitted them to the 
Executive Council, with a minute explanatory of my views with relation to this property, 
which were, and are, to the effect that a deed ought to issue to the trustees, and that the 
description of the property should be that given in the inquisition. The papers and this 
minute were submitted for the report of the Law Officers; and these gentlemen having, on 
a document, a copy of which is herewith enclosed, raised several other questions, among 
which is one as to my competency to cause to be issued a deed of grant of this character, 
I directed this to be sent back for their reconsideration, especially with reference to one 
main point, which it appears to me they had omitted to report upon. 

In a second report, a copy of which I also forward herewith, these gentlemen alluded 
to some of the objections taken by me to their former report, but mentioned their opinion 
as to the absence of any power on my part to cause the issue of the deed in question, and 
at the same time they expressed a desire that the mode in which the direction of Her 
Majesty, with regard to the land in question, may be best carried out, should be left for the 
consideration of the Law Officers in England. 

One point is raised by the Law Officers, which it is desirable should be specially 
noticed, it has reference to the property in the land in question, which, according to the 
Law Officers, has, under the Constitution Act, passed from the Crown to the Colony; it 
seems to me, however, notwithstanding the opinion expressed by those gentlemen, that 
Her Majesty having expressly directed that the property in question should be given to 
trustees for a special purpose long previous to the passing of the Constitution Act, the 
property cannot since the date of that gift be considered to belong to the Crown, but to the 
trustees, and that the ladies of the Government of the Colony, in not carrying into effect 
Her Majesty's gracious instructions, ought not to operate so as to deprive the trustees of 
that to which they have a right, or to enable the Government to act in accordance with its 
own ideas of equity without having those ideas tested by a competent legal tribunal. 

I trust that your Grace will be able to set these various points at rest, and to give me 
such explicit directions for my guidance as may enable me to settle a question which has 
been standing over undecided for so many years, and which will become more and more 
complicated every day by the transfer of liens on the land from the persons who bought it 
originally from the attorney of the trustees to their heirs or to others. 

A specific assurance from the Law Officers in England that a deed of grant, such as 
that proposed to be issued to the trustees will not act as a bar to the claim in equity, of 
the persons who purchased the land at a public sale, to have their title to the land made 
good in accordance with the promise given to them by the attorney of the trustees would, 
it appears to me, satisfy all parties. 

Should, however, the deed in question be a bar to any action in equity as against the 
trustees, then I think it ought to be so modified or altered as to specially recognize this 
right on the part of men who, whatever may have been the rascality of the attorney of the 
trustees, purchased the land at public auction and paid the money for it, which money has 
been handed over partially or wholly to the trustees. 

I have, See., 
W. DENISON. 

No. 95. 
SECRETARY OP STATE to GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON. 

Downing-street, 28 March, 1860. 

I have the honor to enclose, for your information, the accompanying copy of 
a memorial from Messrs. Oliverson, Lavie, and Peachy, solicitors concerned in the disposal 2 Nov., WE 
of the property of the late John Tawell, a convict, together with a copy of a letter on the 22 Mira, ISO 
subject from the Treasury to this department, dated the 22nd of March. The Treasury is 
the proper department for deciding questions of the disposal of property legally forfeited to 
the Crown. In conformity with their Lordships' wish, I have to request that you will cause 
a grant of the real property in question to be made to the trustees of Mrs. Tavrell, according 
to the directions of the Law Officers of the Crown. 

I have, Ste.
, 

Frederick's Place, E. C. 
2 November, 1859. 

My Lord Duke, 
We beg leave to address your Grace on the following subject, and to request the favour of 

your giving directions for our being furnished with such particulars and information relative thereto, as 
may be in your power. 

In March, 1845, a party named John Towel] was convicted and attainted in this country, and in 
December, 1847, a grant of his property here was issued by the Crown in favour of Messrs. William 
Bevan and William Tawell, as trustees for the benefit of his widow and family, 

Besides 

[Enclosure 1 in ro. 95.] 
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Besides the property comprised in the before mentioned grant, there was certain real estate in 
Sydney belonging to the felon, which the Crown also determined to grant to the same trustees, but this 
latter grant, it appears to have been considered, should be made by the Governor of New South Wales, 
only a draft thereof, in blank, being prepared in this country. 

We collect, however, that up to the present time no such grant, as last mentioned, has in fact 
been issued by the Governor, it being considered In the Colony that the property should not be granted. 
to Messrs. William Bevan and William 'Lovell, as the trustees named in the intended grant, but in 
favour of certain other parties who became the purchasers thereof, in different portions, from such 
trustees, one of those parties being Mr. Thomas Ware Smart, of Sydney, for whom we are professionally 
concerned and who is now in this country. 

It appears that the Sydney property was sold by auction in the year 1849, under the authority of a 
Mr. George Cooper Turner. then Civil Crown Solicitor there, in whose favour avower of attorney (npproved 
of by the widow of tho felon) had been executed by the before named trustees, and who were, also, 
trustees of the property under a deed of settlement executed by the felon prior to his conviction. At 
such sale, Mr. Smart (as already intimated) purchased a portion of the property, and paid the deposit 
thereon to the auctioneer, and he afterwards paid the balance of the purchase money to the trustees' 
agent, Mr. Turner, and was let into posses:ion of the property purchased, and subsequently expended a 
considerable sum in buildings thereon. The trustees also acknowledged the auctioneer's accounts of 
the sales. and the cash deposits paid by the purchasers. 

We are informed, that, at the sole by auction, it was held forth by the auctioneer, with the 
concurrence of Mr. Turner, the attorney of the trustees, as an inducement to the purchasers, that, Her 
Majesty having been pleased to order grants of the felon's properties to issue to the said trustees, the 
Colonial flovermnent would, at the request of the attorney, issue the grants of the respective properties 
to the pnrehasers, and, accordingly, application was IMUIC, on behalf of Mr. Smart, to the Colonial 
Secretary, with the concurrence of Mr. Turner, for a grant to Mr. Smart direct of the property so 
purchased by him. 

In answer to the application, however, it was ultimately stated, that the Governor's Commission 
aid not. enable him to seal letters patent granting the property in question, and, also, that an authority 
for that purpose would have to be procured from Her Majesty ; and, in consequence of the above state-
ment, Mr. Smart took a conveyance of the property from the trusters, by their attorney Mr. Turner, 
including a covenant to do all necessary acts for procuring the grant direct to Mr. Smart. 

Mr. Smart has continued in possession of the property he purchased; but, up to the present 
time no grant thereof has been issued, and the Trustees have been seeking to repudiate the sale, and 
re-sell the property, and to obtain such grant in their own favour, instead of to Mr Smart ; their 
attorney, Mr. Turner, having, as we understand, misappropriated the purchase moneys paid to him on 
account of the trustees. 

We collect that some correspondence has passed between the Governor of New South Wales and 
the Department over which your Grace presides, respecting the grant of the properties, and that on the 
materials furnished, instructions have been forwarded to the Governor of New South Wales for the 
grant to be made out in favour of the trustees. 

As, however, before intimated, the grant appears not at present to have been issued, and Mr. 
Smart cannot but think, that the conclusion arrived at in this country, and in accordance with which 
the instructions were sent out to the Colony for the grant to be issued in favour of the trustees, must 
have been formed without all the circumstances of the case haying been duly represented. 

The object, therefore, of our now troubling your Grace, is to ascertain, if possible, on what 
ground it was determined the grant was to be issued in favour of the trustees notwithstanding the 
sales which had been effected by their attorney, and the payment of the purchase money in part to the 
auctioneer, and the residue to such attorney. 

We shall consequently be much obliged by your Grace giving directions for our being furnished 
with the above information, and we should also be glad if we could be allowed an inspection of the 
correspoadence which has taken pl ace on the subject, as Mr. Smart is desirous, if possible, to get the 
instructions that were sent out, reseindod, and which he cannot but think, would ho the result of his 
having an opportunity to meet the ease as represented on the part of the trustees. 

‘Ve may mention that a copy of the grant of the felon's property in thiS country, end also of 
the draft proposed grant of tiro property in Sydney, was furnished to us under the authority of the 
Lords of the Treasury. 

We have, &c., 
To His Grace 	 GLIVERSON, LAVIE, & PEACHEY. 

The Duke of Newcastle, 
Ste., 	 he. 

Treasury Chambers, 
22 March, 1860. 

With reference to your letter of the ISth November last, transmitting copy of an application. 
from Messrs. ()Ryerson and Company, solicitors for Mr. Stuart, the purchaser of certain real property, 
in Sydney, belonging to the late John Totwell. a felon, requesting to be informed of the grounds on 
which it was determined that a grant of this property should be issued in favour of trustees on behalf of 
the widow of the convict, and to be allowed to inspect the correspondence which has passed on the 
subject, I am directed by the Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty's Treasury to acquaint you, that 
having fully considered the application of Messrs. °Everson and Co., they must decline to comply with 
this request. Their Lordships would also suggest, for the consideration of the Duke of Newcastle, that 
immediate instructions should be given to the authorities at Sydney- to complete the grant of the real 
property in question to the trustees of Mrs. Tawell, according to the directions of tile Law Officers of 
the Crown. 

I am, &e., 

	

T. F. Elliot, Esq., 	 GEO. A. HAMILTON. . 
ha, 	he., 

[Enclosure 3 in No. 95.] 
VICTORIA by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen Defender 
of the Faith To all to whom these presents shall come—Greeting—Whereas by an inquisition taken at 

on the 	day of 	 in the 	year of our reign by 
virtue of 
It was found that John Tawell was 
And whereas we were graciously pleased on the humble petition of Sarah Tawell the widow of the said 
John Tawell by our Royal Warrant under our Royal Sign Manual bearing date the thirtieth day of 
December in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-seven to give and grant 
certain lands and hereditaments situate in our county of Hertford in that part of our United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Ireland called England late of the said John Tawell found to have escheated tons 
to William Tawell of Earls Colne in our county of Essex in that part of our said "United Kingdom 

called 

[Enclosure 2 in No. 95.] 

Sir, 
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called England draper and William Bevan of the Old Jewry in our city of London in that part of our 
said United Kingdom called England upon certain trusts for the benefit of the said Sarah 'Rowell and 
the family of the said John Tawell as therein mentioned And whereas it has been recommended to us 
by the Commissioners of our Treasury that it will be proper to grant and it is our will and pleasure to 
grant the said lands and fiercditaments in our said Colony of New South Wales so found to have 
become escheated to us as aforesaid on the like trusts in our said in part recited Royal Warrant of the 
30th December 1817 Now know ye that we taking the premises into our royal consideration do hereby 
give and grant unto the said William Towel! and William Bevan all and singular the hereditaments 
and premises mentioned in the said inquisition taken in our said Colony of New South Wales and 
thereby found to have escheated to its with the appurtenances to hold unto and to the use of them the 
said William Towel' and William Bevan and their heirs upon the like trusts and to and for the like 
intents and purposes and subject to the same powers and provisoes as are mentioned or referred to in 
our said Royal grant of the 30th day of December 1347 with respect to the lands and hereditaments 
thereby granted to them the said William Tawell and William Bevan or such of the said trusts of the 
intents and purposes as are now existing and capable of taking effect In Witness &c. 

Grant of certain lands and hereditaments in New South Wales escheated and devolved to the 
Crown on the commission of felony by John Tawell to Trustees upon the trusts within mentioned 
for the benefit of the family of the said John Tawell. 

[Enclosure 4 in No. 95.] 
VICTORIA by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland Queen Defender 
of the Faith and so forth—To all to whom these presents shall come—Greeting—Whereas by an 
inquisition taken at Sydney in our territory of New South Wales on the twenty-second day of August 
in the twelfth year of our reign and in the year of our Lord One thousand eight hundred and forty-eight 
by virtue of our Cotnmission issued out of and under the seal of our Supreme Court of our said 
territory bearing date the fifth day-  of August in the said twelfth year of our reign It was found that 
John Tawell was on the first day of January One thousand eight hundred and forty-five or at some 
time afterwards and previous to the day of taking of such inquisition seized, or possessed of or 
otherwise entitled to a good estate of inheritance in fee simple in possession to him and his heirs in 
socage tenure of in and to amongst other hereditarnents All that piece or parcel of land in our comity 
of Cumberland and parish of Alexandria in our said territory bounded on or towards the north by the 
estate of Mr. Justice Dowling one hundred and eight feet on or towards the east by the same estate 
thirty-four feet eleven inches oh or towards the west by the same estate sixty-six feet teninches and 
on or towards the south by William-street one hundred and seventeen feet six inches .forming lot two 
together &e. And also all that allotment or parcel of land in our said territory containing by admen-
surement eleven perches situated in the town of Sydney parish of St. James county of Cumberland 
allotment number eleven of section number forty-one and bounded on the east by the building line of 
Macquarie-street bearing north three degrees fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links on the north by 
allotment number twelve bearing west two degrees south one hundred and sixty links on the west by 
allotment number twenty bearing south one degree east fifty and a quarter links and on the south by 
allotment number ten hearing east five degrees thirty minutes north one hundred and sixty-two links 
being part of an allotment leased to Samuel Thornton by His Excellency Sir Thomas Brisbane the then 
Governor of our said Colony on the thirtieth day of June one thousand eight hundred and twenty-
three and afterwards granted to the said John Towel] And also all that piece or parcel of land situate 
lying and being in the parish of St Andrew in the town of Sydney aforesaid bounded on the west by 
Sussex-street twenty-four feet on the north by other part of the land comprised in a certain grant and 
of which the land now being described forms part sold to Jelin Bowie and Matthew Shaw respectively 
sixty-six feet on the east by a lane reserved for the use of the said John Towell his heirs and assigns 
in commen with the occupiers of the other parts of the land comprised in the said grant forty-one feet ten 
inches and on the south by a road leading into George-street also reserved for the use of the said 
John Towel] his heirs and assigns in common with the occupiers of the other parts of the lands 
comprised in the said grant And also all that piece or parcel of land or ground containing by Mimeo-
surement four acres two roods and thirty-five perches situate and being in the county of Cumberland 
and parish of Alexandria aforesaid bounded on the east by a private road of twenty feet width by a 
line south six chains and seven links on the north by land belonging to Mr. James Boner by a fence 
line east seven chains and eighty-four links on the west by the road leading from the South Head to 
Sydney seven chains and forty-five links and on Unmoral' by land belonging to Mr. Henry Mace by a 
line west seven chains to the commencing corner Together with the free use and enjoyment of the 
said private road in common with the owners and occupiers of the adjoining land and also 
with all houses &e. and which said several hereditaments are hereinafter more particularly 
described And it was farther found that the said lands tenements and hereditaments became 
and were escheated and forfeited to our use And whereas we were graciously pleased on the 
humble petition of Sarah Tadvell the widow of the said John Towell by our Royal Warrant 
under our Royal sign manual bearing date the thirtieth day of December in the year of our Lord eighteen 
hundred and forty seven to give and grant certain lands and hercditaments situate in the county of 
Hertford in that part of our United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland called England late of the 
said John Tawell found to have escheated to us to William Tftwell of Earls Colitis in our county of 
Essex in that part of our said United Kingdom called England draper and William Bevan of the Old 
Jewry in our city of London in that part of our said United Kingdom called England upon certain 
trusts for the benefit of the said Sarah Tawell and the family of the said John Towell as therein 
mentioned And whereas it has been recommended to ins by the Commissioners of our Treasury that it 
will be proper to grant and it is our will and pleasure to grant the said lands and hereditaments in our 
said Colony of New South Wales so found to have become escheated to us as aforesaid on the like 
trusts as in our said in part recited Royal Warrant of the thirtieth December one thousand eight 
hundred and forty seven Now know ye that we taking the premises into our Royal consideration 
do' hereby with the advice of the Executive Council of the said Colony give and grant 
unto the said William 'Bowen and William 'Bevan and their heirs All and singular the lreredita-
ments mid premises mentioned in the said inquisition taken in our said Colony of New South. 
Wales and thereby found to have escheated to us with the appurtenances and which said heredita-
ments are more particularly described as follows All that piece or parcel of land in the-. 
county of Cumberland and parish of Alexandria and Colony of New South Wales commencing at the-
north east corner of tillotment number fourteen Ambrose Allen's four acres and thirty-fonr perches and 
bounded on the north by a line bearing cast eighteen degrees south one hundred and eight feet on the, 
east by a line bearing south eighteen degrees west thirty-four feet eleven inches on the south by "Wil-
liam-street bearing westerly to Ambrose Allen's eastern boundary line one hundred and seventeen feet 
six inches and on the west by a line bearing north eighteen degrees cast sixty-six feet ten inches which 
said piece or parcel of land comprises a portion of James Laidley's grant number fifteen of five acres two 
roods and eight perches as described as number six in the parish of Alexandria in the Government notice 
dated twenty-ninth September one thousand eight hundred and thirty-one to be called Rosebank 
And also all that piece or parcel of land containing by admcasurement eleven perches situated in the 

219—M 	 city 
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city of Sydney parish of St. James county of Cumberland and Colony of New South Wales commencing 
at a mark on the building line of Macquarie-street distant three hundred and forty-two links southerly 
from the building line of Hunter-street which mark is also the north-east corner of allotment number ten of 
section number four and bounded towards the east by the building line of lacquarie-street being a line 
bearing north three degrees and fifteen minutes west thirty-nine links towards the north by allotment 
number twelve being a line bearing west two degrees south one hundred and sixty links towards the west 
by allotment number twenty being a line hearing south one degree east fifty and a quarter links and 
towards the south by allotment number ten being a line bearing east five degrees thirty minutes north one 
hundred and sixty-two links being the land described in the Government notice of twenty-sixth October 
one thousand eight hundred and thirty-nine as lot eleven of suction forty one And also all that piece or 
pat-eel of land situate lying and being in the parish of St. Andrew in the city of Sydney commencing 
at a mark on the east side of Sussex-street with its intersection with the north side of Waltons-lane 
which mark is llistant sixty-seven feet northerly from the south-west corner of John Mt/Iron's grant 
of three roods thirteen perches described in the Government charts as number six of section number 
nine and bounded ou the west by Sussex-street being a line heavies north fourteen degrees thirty 
minutes west twenty-four feet on the north by land of John Byrne and Matthew Shaw being a line 
bearing easterly sixty-six feet en the east by Victoria-lane bearing southerly forty-ono feet ten inches 
and on the as soils by Walton's-lane running westerly to Sussex-street And also all that piece or .pareel 
of land eentainiug by admenattrument four acres two roods and thirty-five pereisea Sit nate and being in 
the county of Cumberland parish of Alexandria and Colony of New South Woks commencing at a mark 
on the South Ifead New Road being at the distance of five chains ninety links northerly from the 
southern boundary line of Breakwellis sixty acres grant and bounded on the smith by the land of Henry 
Mace being a line bearing east seven chains on the east by a road twenty feet wide being a line bearing 
north six chains and seven links on the north by the land of James Barker being a line bearing 'West 
seven chains eighty-four links to the South Head New Road and on the west by the South Head New 
Road seven chains and forty-five links being a portion of the land described in the Government notice 
of tenth September one thousand eight hundred and thirty number two Alexandria Samuel lireakwen 
sixty acres to hold the said several lands and hereditaments unto and to the use of the said William. 
Tawell and William Bevan and their heirs "Upon the like trusts and to and for the like intents and 
Purposes and subject to the same powers and provisoes as are mentioned or referred to in our said 
Royal Warrant of the thirtieth day of December in the year of Our Lord one thousarid eight hundred 
and forty-seven a copy whereof is contained in the schedule hereunder written with respect to the 
lands and hereditaments thereby granted to them the said William MU ell and William Reran or such of 
the said trusts intents and purposes as are now existing and capable of taking effect. 

Schedule hereinbefore referred to. 
Here follows a copy of the Royal Warrant. 
In testimony whereof we have caused this grant to be sealed with the seal of our said territory. 

Witness our trusty and well-beloved Sir William Thomas Denison Knight Governor 
General in and over all Her Majesty's Colonies of New South Wales Tas-
mania Victoria South Australia and Western Australia and Captain General 
and Governor-in-Chief of the territory of New South Wales and its Depend-
encies and Vice-Admiral of the same at Govenunent House Sydney this 

day of 	 in the 	 year of our reign and 
n the year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty 

MY LORD DUKE, 
I have tbe honor to acknowledge the receipt of your Grace's despatch, No. 30, 

dated 28th March last, with reference to the issue of a grant to the trustees of the late John 
Tawc11, of certain property escheated to the Crown. 

In a despatch, No. 27, dated 1st March;laet, I have given an explanation of the 
cause of the delay which has taken place in the issue of this grant, and have brought all the 
circumstances of the case clearly, I hope, under the notice of Her Majesty's Government. 
Pending the reply to this despatch I do not think that it will be possible for me to take any 
further action in the matter. 

I have, &c., 
W. DENISON. 

No. 97. 
W. W. BILLYARD, ESQ., to SECRETARY FOR LANDS. 

Sydney, 17 July, 1860. 

Referring to the correspondence that has taken place on the subject of the 
grant to the trustees of Mrs. Tawell and her child, I do myself the honor to enclose a copy 
of a letter from the Treasury Chambers, addressed to that lady, which has been forwarded 
to me by her solicitor in London, and I have to request that the grant referred to may now 
be completed and handed to me with as little delay as possible, and that the attested copy of 
the Queen's Warrant referred to in my letter of the 16th April, 1858, may at same time be 
returned to me. 

I have, &c., 
WE W. BILLYARD. 

   

No. 96. 
GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

Tazoell To feriae respecting escheated property of. 
21 June, 1860. 

(Enclosure 
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Treasury Chambers, 
22 March, 1860. 

Madam, 
With reference to your memorial of the 16th January last, I am directed by the Lords Com-

missioners of Her Majesty's Treasury, to acquaint you that the Secretary of State for the Colonies has 
been requested to cause instructions to be given to the authorities at Sydney to complete the grant of 
the real property of your late husband to your trustees. 

I am, &c., 
Mrs. Sarah Powell, 	 W. II. STEPHENSON. 

44, Hatton Garden. 

No. 98. 

UNDER SECRETARY FOR LANDS 10 W. 	BILEYARD, ESQ. 

Department of Lands, 
Sydney, 30 July, 1860. 

In acknowledging the receipt of your letter of the 17th instant, applying on 
behalf of Mrs. Ta‘vell and child for the deed of grant for certain lands forming part of the 
escheated estate of John Towel], I am directed to inform you, that a reference was some 
time since made to the Imperial authorities in this matter, and that no action in this 
respect will be taken here until a reply shall have been received. 

I have, &c., 
}BIOL. FITZPATRICK. 

No. 99. 

SECRETARY OF STATE to GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON. 

Downing-street, 
8 September, 1860. 

With reference to your despatch, No, 27, of the 1st of March, relating to 
the grant to trustees, for the benefit of his widow and child, of certain property in New 
South Wales belonging to the late John Tawell, I am directed by the Secretary of State 
to transmit to you the copy of a letter from the Treasury, in reply to the communication so August, iseol 
which was made upon the subject to that Board ; and, in accordance with the wish expressed 
by the Lords Commissioners, I am to instruct you to cause the draft deed of grant which 
accompanies the letter, after filling up the blanks left for the recital of the proceedings 
under the inquisition, to be engrossed and perfected under the Public Seal of New South 
Wales, and to be then delivered to the trustees. 

I have, &c., 
C. FORTESCUE. 

[Enclosure 1 in No. 99.] 
Treasury Chambers, 

80 August, 1860. 
Sir, 

With reference to your letter of 1st June last, I am directed by the Lords Commissioners of 
Her Majesty's Treasury to transmit to you a copy of a report from their Lordships' solicitor on the 22 Au Thst, me.  
subject of the intended grant to trustees of lands in Sydney, New South Wales, the property of the 	8  
late John Tamen, a felon, for the benefit of his wife and child, together with two drafts which accom-
panied that report, and their Lordships request that you will move the Duke of Newcastle to cause 
nstructions in conformity therewith to he sent to the Governor of New South Wales. 

I am, &G., 
Sir Frederic Rogers, Bart., 	 GEORGE HAMILTON, 

&c., &c., &c. 

([Enclosure 2 in No. 99.] 
Treasury, 22 August, 1860. 

remelts Escheat of Lands in Sydney. 
Sir, 

I have considered the despatch of Sir W. Denison, of the 1st March, 1800, transmitted with 
the letter from the Colonial Office of 1st June instant. 

The Governor of New South Wales draws attention to certain difficulties attendant on the perfec-
tion of an intended grant to trustees of lands in Australia, the property of the above-named convict, for 
the benefit of I is widow and clam, for the immediate completion of which instructions have been sent 
to the present and former Governors of the Colony. 

These relate (1st) to the proper form of the grant, whether it should he made by Her Mnjesty or 
the Colonial Governor ; and (Sadly) to the proper description of the land to be inserted in the grant. 

With regard to the first objection, I have to report that in 1851, the then Law Officers of Her 
Majesty, Sir John Romilly, the present Master of the Rolls, and Sir Alexander Cockburn, the Lord 
Chief Justice of England, were expressly consulted as to the objections then mooted by the Law Officers 
of the Colony, now again raised by their successor, and they wrote an opinion which, with the ease was 
sent to my Lords in the usual manner. 

In pursuance of this opinion a draft warrant from Her Majesty was prepared and approved by 
the Law Officers of Her Majesty, and a copy thereof was ;transmitted -from the Colonial Office to the 
then Governor of the Colony, with directions to cause the requisite inquisition to he taken, and the 
grant thereupon to be perfected and passed 'underthe Great Seal of the Colony, by means of which the 
Law Officers had advised that Her Majesty's gracious intentions in favom of the widow of the Convict 
and her children would be legally carried into effect. 

It 

[Enclosure in No. 97.] 

SIR, 

Sin, 
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It appears that this inquisition has been duly held, and the title of Her Majesty found to certain 
lands therein expressly described, but the completion of the grant has been suspended, owing to the 
claims of certain parties who have purchased the lands under the circumstances alluded to by Sir W. 
Denison in his last despatch, which claims were considered by the Colonial Law Officers to be prefer-
able to those of the convict's widow and family. These opinions of the Colonial Law Officers, and their 
reasons for them, were submitted, on two different occasions, to the Attorney and Solicitor General of 
Her Majesty, who have made elaborate reports upon them, which have been ahead" transmitted to my 
Lords. 

It will be seen that the Law Officers advise that, notwithstanding all that has taken place in 
regard to the sale of the lands in the Colony, the intended grant should be completed ) and "that it will 
"be competent to the purchasers to take steps to entlircetheir claims, either for a conveyance of the 
" lands, or for repayment of' the purchase money, as they may be advised, in a Court of Equity." 

Under these circumstances, I would humbly submit that the Colonial Governor (who requests 
that he may be famished with explirit directions for his guidance, as to the settlement of a question 
which, as he states, has been standing over undecided for so many years) may be directed forthwith to 
cause the draft deed of grant sent herewith, after filling up the blanks left for the recital of the pro-
ceedings under the inquisition, to be engrossed aud perfected under the Great Seal of the Colony, anti 
to be then delivered to the trustees. 

The description of the lands intended to be granted should be in the 'Words of the finding of 
the inquisition, which ought to have described accurately the property of which the felon was owner, 
from the several deeds of conveyance under which he held it. 

• 	It is stated in the Governor's dehpiitch, that it had been discovered that a portion of the land 
included in the boundaries given by the inquisitimi had been sold by 'Unwell previous to his conviction, 
and this appears to have been one of the reasons why the grant has not been completed. 

With regard to this objection, I would observe that the right of the OTOW11, acquired by the 
forfeiture and escheat, is absolute on the finding of the inquisition, and that the forfeiture relates back 
to the period of the commission of the offence, so as to render null and void all grants and conveyances 
by the felon between the commission of the offend° and the conviction. Consequently, if Tawell sold or 
conveyed the estate in question, after the commission of the murder of \Middle was convicted, such 
sale or conveyance would be void as against the Crown and its grantees, and would. be  DO objection to 
the completion of the grant in the terms of the finding of the inquisition. 

I am, &es  
H. R. REYNOLDS. 

P.5.—I transmit herewith, for such information as it may afford, a copy of the proposed deed of 
grant, which I have received from the solicitor of the trustees, and which is stated to have been pre-
pared by air. Billyard in conformity with the Governor's instructions. 

No. 100. 
COLONIAL SECRETARY to CROWN LAW OFFICERS. 

29 December, 1800. 
THE Attorney General is familiar with all the circumstances connected with the forfeiture 
of Tawell's property, the subsequent sale by Mr. Cooper Turner, under power of attorney 
from Mrs. Tawell's trustees, and the correspondence which has taken place between the 
Imperial and Colonial Governments, respecting the issue of a deed or deeds, and the parties 
who purchased at the sale made under the authority of the trustees of Mrs. Tawell. 

The Secretary of State has now given an explicit direction to the Governor General 
to cause a deed to be prepared, granting the property to Mrs. Tawell's trustees, and has 
ordered that the Great Seal of the Colony of New South Wales shall be affixed to it. 

Every Crown Law Officer of the Colony who has advised upon the matter has 
stated that such deed ought not to issue. The Colonial Secretary therefore hesitates to 
affix the Great Seal to a deed to be prepared under the directions of the Secretary of 
State, or to take any steps towards completing a deed which the Colonial law advisers 
unanimously say should not issue. 

The opinion of the Attorney General is now requested upon the point whether, 
under the instructions to the Governor General, he can claim to have the Great Seal of 
the Colony affixed to such deed; and generally on the question in whose custody the 
Seal may be considered constitutionally to be placed. The time would appear to have 
arrived when a distinct rule should be laid down upon this point. In England the Seal is 
in the custody of the Lord Chancellor ; and history shows that that high officer has refused 
to put the Great Seal to documents, when requested by the King to do so, unless under the 
sanction of the Privy Council. 

CHARLES COWPER. 
Should the Attorney General desire to have the documents in Towell's ease for 

reference, the Secretary for Lands has them, and will doubtless supply them won your 
application. 

— — — 	 — - 
No. 101. 

GOVERNOR SIR W. DENISON to SECRETARY OF STATE. 

Tawell Mrs., reporting issue of Deed to Trustees of. 
21 January, 1801. 

MY LORD DUKE, 
I received a despatch, No. 78, dated 8th September, 1860, in reply to mine, 

No. 27, dated let March, relative to the difficulties which had been interposed to the fulfil-
ment of the instructions directing me to execute a deed of grant to certain trustees of land 
escheated to the Crown, upon the execution of John Tawell. 

Upon the receipt of the despatch I directed that a deed should be prepared, in 
accordance with the instructions therein contained, but objections were raised to any com-
petency to direct the Colonial Secretary to affix the Great Seal of the Colony to such a deed, 

and 



741 

ESCHEATED LANDS OF TAR LATE JOHN TAWELL. 	89 

and:these were fortified by a written opinion of the Attorney General, a copy of which 13 January, 1862. 
enclose. 

In reply to this I forwarded to the Colonial Secretary a brief sketch of the state of 
the case,—explained that the Great Seal having been intrusted to me, I had not the least 
intention of delegating the trust to others,—and I said that I saw no ground for any further 
delay in carrying out the Queen's instructions. 

In order, however, to avoid unnecessary delay and dispute upon minor points, I caused 
the attorney of the trustees to prepare a deed in accordance with the form transmitted by 
the Law Officers, only omitting the expression that I acted, in granting the land, by the 
advice of the Executive Council. 

I caused the descriptions of the property proposed to be granted to be copied precisely 
from the inquisition, and I then sent the deed, signed by me, to the Colonial Secretary, with 
directions to affix the Great Seal to it, in the usual manner. To the directions thus given 
the Colonial Secretary demurred, and gave in a letter (a copy of which I enclose) the reasons 
which induced him to decline to identify himself, in any way, with the course pointed out 
by me. 

I then wrote to him to the effect, that as the case was one sui generis, and which 
could never be drawn into a precedent, I was not at all desirous of making his refusal to 
affix the Great Seal to the deed a ground for disturbing the present political arrangements, 
but that I should come down to his office, and there affix the Great Seal to the deed. 

To this he replied, suggesting that the question of title should be referred to the Court 
of Claims, established under the Act, 5th Wm. IV., No. 21, but I explained to him that, as the 
land escheated to the Crown formed parts of grants of the title of the owners, of which 
there was no question, this course could not be followed; and I insisted, notwithstanding the 
threat of resignation contained in his letter, a copy of which I enclose, in attaching the see printed 
Great Seal to the deed in question, which I accordingly did, and delivered the same to the ??,M1,7,1`14%, 
attorney of the trustees. Mr. Cowper, in sending me the Great Seal, at the same time liaime on the 23rd January, tendered his resignation in the accompanying letter, which, as your Grace will see by my it161. 
reply, I declined to accept. 

[Papers forwarded to Crown Law Officers.] 

No. 102. 
OPINION of Crown Law Officer. 

In re Tan-ell's Estate. 

HAVING carefully considered this matter as now before me, I can discover no 
legal or constitutional ground for the Governor General's claim to have the Great Seal of 
this Colony affixed to the deeds in question, simply on the authority of die instructions for 
such affixing communicated by the despatch from the Home Government, dated 8th Sep-
tember, 1800. 

Referring, in the first place, to the Governor General's instructions, and assuming 
that this is not a case of "so urgent and pressing a nature as not to admit of the delay 
" unavoidably incident to the deliberations of the Executive Council," (the only exception 
to consulting and advising with the Executive Council suggested in the 12th clause of 
the Governor General's instructions), I consider that the written Constitutional Law of the 
Colony affords no ground for (and by implication thus negatives) the existence of any right 
remaining in the Home Government to direct or control the use of the Great Seal of the 
Colony. 

Assuming also, as the facts appear, that these proposed deeds are wholly unauthorized 
by (if not in direct opposition to) the advice of the Colonial Responsible Advisers of the 
Governor General, I am clearly of opinion that compliance with this claim would be, in effect, 
an abnegation of every principle of English Constitutional Law as applicable to our Colonial 
Government. 

I find also (Chalmer's opinions, p. 546-8, edition 1858) that the Attorney General 
and Solicitor General of England, in 1730, were of opinion "that the Great Seal of a Colony 
" must be used for all acts of Government," unless there be a usage of some private seal of 
the Governor to the contrary ; and it appears to me that the Home Government, by requiring 
the Great Seal of this Colony to be affixed to these deeds, have thus elected to make such 
affixing the act of our Colonial Government; and have thereby placed the matter under the 
control and authority of the Colonial Government (that is) the Governor General by and 
with the advice of the Executive Council. 

With regard to the next question upon which my opinion is asked, viz. t—in whose 
custody the Great Seal of the Colony may be considered constitutionally to be placed; I 
apprehend that, in arriving at a satisfactory conclusion on that subject, we have only to apply 
the principles now firmly established in the constitutional law of the Mother Country. 

It will be enough merely to refer to the constitutional history of England under the 
Plantagenets, Tudors, and Stuarts, to shew the various and great mischiefs arising from the 
Great Seal of England being used either by the Sovereign himself, or by the Lord Chan-
cellor, or Lord Keeper for the time being, or any other of the then irresponsible advisers 
of the Sovereign, whether ecclesiastical or lay; because the English nation sufficiently 
protected itself from these and other constitutional mischiefs by the Revolution of 1688; 

since 

I have, &c., 
W. DENISON. 
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since which date Responsible Ministers have boon, for all practical purposes, substituted in 
the place of the Royal Privy Councillors. 

I apprehend, there can be no doubt, that by the constitutional law of the Mother 
Country, the Lord Chancellor, since the Revolution of 1688, as a Responsible Minister, has 
been bound to exercise his own discretion as to the cases in which he will decline, without 
the authority of the Government in Council, to affix the Great Seal; and I cannot state this 
constitutional doctrine in better words than Mr. Hallam's, adopted, I believe, from Lord 
Soma's statement of this doctrine. 

" In all such eases the plain rule is that the Lord Chancellor, or Lord Keeper for the 
" time being, should inform the King that he cannot legally set the Great Seal to such 
" matters, as he wishes first to be debated and resolved in Council; which method being 
" observed, the Chancellor is safe and the Council answerable." 

Assuming the above to be a fair statement of the English Constitutional Law on this 
topic, we have now merely to ascertain which of the Colonial Responsible Ministers can be 
most conveniently intrusted with the care, and be responsible for the use, of the Great Seal 
of the Colony. 

On the one hand, it is plain that in the several Departments of Treasury, lands, or 
Public Pro, ks, there is nothing to give to the Ministers controlling those Departments any 
necessary or Ministerial connection with the care or use of the Great Seal of the Colony. 
I apprehend, therefore, that there con be no ground for committing the Great Seal to these 
or to any mere Departmental Minister. On the other hand, the Chief Secretary being 
officially the Keeper of the Records, and all his Ministerial duties being of a more extended 
nature than the duties of any other separate Minister, and the recent Administrative arrange-
ments having, in a great measure, given to the Chief Secretary most of the political duties of 
the Lord Chancellor, it seems to me there can be no question that the Chief Secretary must 
be constitutionally considered as the most proper custodier of the Great Seal. 

I may remark, in conclusion, that although the Governor General's Commission 
accompanying the Constitution Act of 1855 directs His Excellency " to keep and use the 
" Great Seal of our said Colony," yet the next words are "for sealing all things whatsoever 
" that shall pass the Great Seal of our said Colony ;" and these words, especially when read 
in connection with the 12th paragraph of His Excellency's instructions, (already referred to 
in this opinion,) cannot be construed as giving His Excellency any uncontrolled power over 
the Great Seal of the Colony. 

No. 103. 
MINUTE of the Governor General. 

T RE state of the ease with reference to Tawell's property is as follows :— 
The present occupiers have no title to the land, neither can they possibly get a title 

except through Mrs. Tawell, the grantee—no grant can possibly issue to the occupiers from 
the Crown, as nothing is known of them officially by the Lands Department, or by any 
other Department of the Government. 

It would, therefore, be for the benefit of the occupiers that the grant should issue as 
soon as possible, for they will then be in a position to compel the trustees to complete their 
title; or should they prefer coming to same agreement with the trustees, instead of taking 
legal proceedings, their chance of doing so successfully is the better, should the deed issue 
at once, for delay adds to the value of the property in question—had this course been adopted 
some seven or eight years ago it would have been for the benefit of the occupier. The Law 
Officers of the Colony have, it is true, objected to the issue of a deed of grant to the trustees, 
hut the only alteration suggested by them has been the issue of a grant to the persons who 
purchased from the attorney of the trustees—a course contrary to all precedent—and one 
which would be most unjust to the original grantee, who would then be debarred from 
establishing any claim he might legally or equitably have in the property. It must not be 
forgotten, that the opinions of the Law Officers do not constitute law, or determine right ; 
this can only be done by the properly constituted Courts of Law—the only mode by which 
these Courts can have the question of the relative rights of the trustee and occupier of the 
property brought before them is by the issue of the deed of grant to the trustees. 

It appears therefore to me, that all parties are interested in forwarding the issue of 
the grant deed as directed, and when it is considered that the whole of the facts have been 
before the Law Officers of the Crown, and that it is in accordance with their advice that the 
Secretary of State has acted in directing me to issue the grant, I cannot see any ground for 
further delay in the matter. 

I have not said anything as to the opinion of the present Attorney General, with 
reference to the custody and use of the Great Seal of the Colony, neither is it necessary that 
I should do so. My commission gives to me authority to keep and use the Great Seal of the 
Colony, and lain answerable to the Queen for the use I so make of it. Whatever may be 
Mr. Hargrave's opinion, I have not the most distant intention of delegating the trust to 
others. 

W. D. 

JOHN F. HARGRAVE, 
3 January, 1861. 	 Attorney General. 

No. 104. 
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No. 104. 
FURTHER Opinion of Crown Law Officer. 

In re Tawas Estate. 
ON referring to my former opinion in this matter, dated 3rd January, I wish to explain 
that I assumed that the Home and Colonial Governments both wished tins matter to proceed 
in a regular and constitutional manner, and that there was no desire or intention to bring 
this case within the exceptional powers given to Ms Excellency. 

I had no intention of raising any question as to the undoubted legal right of property 
in Her Majesty to the Great Seal of the Colony, but if Ms Excellency resumes such 
possession in behalf of Her Majesty, such resumption will be on his own responsibility alone, 
and (as I believe) in opposition to all constitutional principles of government. 

I do not see how any of my previous remarks could bear the interpretation that the 
Colonial Secretary could retain possession of the Great Seal of the Colony, any more than 
of his office, against the consent of the Governor General. 

JOHN F. HARGRAVE, 
Attorney General. 

18 January, 1861. 

Sydney: Thomas Illehnins,Ciavernment Printer.-19131. 

[Price, 2s.] 
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1861. 

antelettitie 20ssemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ELECTORAL ROLLS. 
(NUMBER OF ELECTORS IN TI1E GOLD FIELDS DISTRICTS FOR 1861.) 

Ordered ay  the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 27 March, 1861. 

RETURN (in continuation of the Return laid before the Legislative Assembly on 18th 
October, 1860) shewing the estimated number of Electors entitled to vote in the several 
Gold Fields Electoral Districts, for 1860-1. 

ESTIMATED 
ELECTORAL DISTRICT. NUMBER 

OE ELECTORS. 

1. Gold Fields South 	  5,620 

2. Gold Fields West 	  4,000 

3. Gold Fields North 	  1,500 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 27 March, 1861. 

[Price, ld.] 	 162— 
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1861. 

ingislatille 'BombIp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

IDENTIFIED ST(nN HORSES. 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 15 January, 1861. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of 
New South Wales, dated 3 October, 1860, praying that His 
Excellency the Governor General would be pleased to cause to be laid 
upon the Table of this House,— 

" Copies of all Correspondence between the Colonial Secretary, 
" the Bench of Magistrates at Yass, the Crown Law Officers, 
c; and the Chief Commissioner of Police, and of all other letters 
" and papers in the Colonial Secretary's Office, relative to the 
" Petition of Richard Brett and Richard Heather for Compen-
" sation for the loss of two Horses." 

(Mr. Mackay.) 

SCHEDULE. 
NO. 	 PAGE. 
1. Memorandum from the Inspector General of Police, respecting the sale of stolen horses at 

lass, with Correspondence from the lass Bench on the subject. 23 January, 1860 .. 	2 
2. Secretary to the Crown LW Officers to the Under Secretary, respecting the disposal of the 

balance upon the sale of the horses and saddles. 10 March, 1860 	.. 	 5 
3. Mr. W. Mackay to "The Premier," requesting that a full inquiry may be made into the 

matter of the sale of the horses, the property of Richard Brett and Richard Heather, 
as stated in a Petition presented to the Legislative Assembly. 5 June, 1860 	 5 

4, The Under Secretary to Bench of Magistrates, lass, requesting a report on the ease. 
5 

5. The Under Secretary to Mr. Mackay, informing him of the reference. 25 June, 1860 .. 	6 
6. Bench, lass, to the Colonial Secretary, reporting the circumstances under which the 

horses were disposed of. 5 July, 1860 	 .. 	6 
7. Memorandum from the Inspector General of Police on the report of the lass Bench. 27 

8. Secretary to the Crown Law Officers to the Under Secretary, communicating further 
remarks of the Attorney General on the case. 7 August, 	 7 

3. Memorandum of the Inspector General of Police, reporting the custom invariably acted 
upon in cases of stolen horses, ST., taken possession of by the Police. 21 August, 

7 
10. The Under Secretary to Mr. Mackay, intimating that there do not appear to be any grounds 

for complying with the application of the Petitioners. 24 August, 1860 

21— 
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IDENTIFIED STOLEN HORSES. 

No. 1. 
ittEmaRAND UN accompanying Correspondence respecting the Sale of Stolen Horses 

at Pass. 
ON the 0th of November last, the letter marked No. 1 was received from the Bench of 
Magistrates at Yam, representing that a debt of about fifty ponnds had accrued for the 
stabling.  of five horses in custody of the Police.as stolen, three of which had been identified, 
and requesting the amount in question might be allowed and charged as a quarterly con-
tingency. 

2. To this communication I made the reply dated the 10th of November, and received. 
in answer the letter from the Bench, marked No. 2, in acknowledging the receipt of which 
I pointed out the course to be pursued, namely, that the three horses claimed should be 
banded over to the owners, upon their entering into recognizanees to produce the animals at 
the trial ; at the same time distinctly remarking, that they (the owners) were responsible for 
the livery charge in question. 

3. On the 28th of November I received from the Chief Constable of Yass, the letter, 
with enclosure, marked No. 3. To this, as being a matter entirely resting with the discretion 
of the Bench, and one arising out of a question upon which my opinion had been distinctly 
expressed, I directed the Chief Clerk in this office to reply (side copy herewith), as also to 
the subsequent letter from the Chief Constable of Yass, marked No. 4, wherein he is advised, 
as regards the disposal of the balance of proceeds of the sale of these three horses, to 
communicate with the Treasury. 

B.C.—Papers herewith returned, 23rd January, 1830. 
Crown Lai° Offices, let February, 1560.—B.C• 

[Enclosure 1 in No. 1J 
Police Office, Vass, 

3 November, 1859. 
Sir, 

The sum of about fifty pounds is claimed by parties in Vass, to whose care certain stolen 
horses have been entrusted by the Bench, while the charges against the several parties who stole them 
were under investigation. 

2. The sum charged per night per horse is moderate, but the aggregate is, as you may perceive, 
very considerable, the examination of the prisoners baying extended over a long period, on account of 
the difficulty in procuring the attendance of witnesses, many of whom lived a great distance from Vass .  

3. The police here have no means at their disposal for the safe custody of stolen horses or cattle, 
pending the examination of the suspected persons, and I have now the honor to request your authority 
for putting these charges in the quarterly contingent account of police expenses. 

4. At the same time I have to request your instructions respecting the disposal of the horses in 
question. 

I have, dm., 
(For the Bench), 

The Inspector General of Police, J. G. DAVIDSON, J.P. 
Sydney. 

[Enclosure 2 in Pb. 1.] 

Office of Inspector General of Pollee, 
Sydney, 10 November, 1859. 

Gentlemen, 
In reply to your letter of the 3rd instant, representing that a sum of about (£50) fifty 

-pounds is claimed by parties in 'lass, to whose care certain stolen horses have been entrusted by the 
Bench, while the charges against the several parties who stole them were under investigation, and also 
requesting instructions respecting the disposal of the horses in question, r do myself the honor to 
inform you that, as there is no vote at my disposal out of which this large charge can be defrayed 
without the authority of the Government, to enable me to apply for this, it will be necessary to furnish 
some information as to the number of horses for which this expense bas been incurred, and how the 
horses have been disposed of; as, in the event of any of theta having been returned to their owners, the 
cost of their keep, while in charge of the Police, should be defrayed by them. 

2. Until these particulars are transmitted I am unable to convey the instructions requested in the 
last paragragh of your letter. 

JNO. MtERIE, 
The Bench of Magistrates, 	 Inspector General of Police. 

Vass. 

JOUN 11PLERIE, 
Inspector General of Police. 

[Enclosure 
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[Enclosure 3 in No. 1.] 
Court Rouse, Yam, 

18 November, 1859. 
Sir, 

With reference to your letter of the 10th instant, (No. 59-156,) in reply to our communica-
tion respecting the repayment of the expenses incurred for the keep of certain horses detained by the 
Police here, pending the examination of the parties charged with stealing them,- 

2. We have now the honor to enclose to you two bills, one from Mr. Hilly, the innkeeper, sliewing 
the expenses in question on certain four horses, three of which have been identified, and for stealing 
which parties have been committed ; and another from Mr. Davis, showing the expenses on a certain 
mare, for stealing which a committal has also taken place. 

3. We further beg to say, these first named four horses, unless sold altogether, would not realise 
their expenses ; also, that Mi. Hilly threatens to advertise them for sale for their keep, unless his 
charges he defrayed. 

4. There is yet another point on which I would request ythir instructions,—How are these horses 
to be disposed of? 

We have. tte., 
J. Cl-. DAVIDSON, J. P. 

The Inspector General of Police, 
Sydney. 

P.S.—We beg further to remark that a black horse, one u the four in Hilly's account, has not 
yet been claimed. An early reply is reguested.-3.G.D. 

* 1. Air. filly's hill 	 44 8 	0 
2. Mr. Davis' do. 	 7 0 0 

£51 8 0 

[Enclosure 4 in Aro. 1.] 
Office of Inspector General of Police, 

Sydney, 21 November, 1859. 
Gentlemen, 

In reply to your letter of the 18th instant, forwarding 'accounts of expenses incurred in 
the maintenance of certain horses, detained by the Yass Police, pending the examination of the parties 
charged with stealing them, I do myself the honor to inform you that, as regards the three horses 
which have been identified, their owners are clearly liable for their keep whilst in police custody ; and 
they should be handed over to them, upon their entering (as is the practice in Sydney, in similar 
cases) into sufficient recognizances to produce these animals at the trial. 

2. With respect to the dark bay mare, not identified, the customary notice should he inserted in 
the Government Gazette, apprising the public that she is in the custody of the Yass Police, and if nor 
claimed within a reasonable time, say fourteen days from the date of the notice, will be sold to defray 
expenses, remitting the balance to the Treasury. 

J1b70. 1PLERIE, 
The Bench of Magistrates, 	 Inspector General of Police. 

Yass. 

[Enclosure 6 in NO, I.] 
Toss, 18 November, 1859. 

Sir, 

possession, and sent to his stables by you for livery, will be advertised and sold to defray expenses 
(unless the amount due be previously paid) on or after Thursday next, the 24th instant. - 

I am instructed by Mr. Owen Hilly, of Vass, to inform you that-the three horses, now in his 

I remain, &c.. 
JOHN W. DEVEREUX, 

Mr. John Enright, 	 Solicitor, Rossi-street, Yeas. 
Chief Constable, 'less. 

[Enclosure 6 in Ho. 1.] 
Police Ogre, lass, 

25 November, 1850. 
Sir, 	 • 

I respectfully beg herewith to forward you the enclosed letter of attorney which has been 
served on me, respecting the three stolen horses, which at present are in livery at Mr. Owen Hilly's, 
Yeas. 

2. Two of the three horses—one a bay mere, branded JB near shoulder, and a brown horse, 
brand 3113 on near shoulder—have been identified and sworn to by Bich owners, who reside at the Adelong ; 
the third, a black draught, the particulars I forward for insertion in Crime Report on the 19th instant, has 
not as yet been claimed. 

And as I am now placed in rather a peculiar position, " as you will see, sir, by the enclosed," 
I therefore do now what I should have done before (and not to stand the consequence), and that 

is, to appeal to your honor, trusting that you will relieve me from my present unpleasant position, by 
sending me instructions how I am to act (both as regards the sale of the horses, and who is to pay the 
expenses entailed on them) in the matter. 

I have, &c., 
JOHN ENRIGHT, 

The Inspeetor General of Police, 	 Chief Constable. 
Sydney. 

P.S.—" I feel diffident" knowing how the feeling is. 

[Enclosure 
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[Enclosure 7 in No . 1.] 

Office of Inspector General of Police, 
Sydney, 1 December, 1859. 

In reply to your letter of the 25th ultimo, forwarding a communication from Mr. Devereux, 
solicitor, of lass, stating that he had been instructed by Mr. Owen MIN to inform you that the 
three horses now in his possession, and sent to his stables by you for livery, will be advertised 
and sold to defray expenses (unless the amount due be previously paid), on or after Thursday next, the 
24th instant, I am directed by the Inspector General of Police to point out to you that this is a matter 
which you should refer to the local Magistracy. 

DE PHILIPSTHAL, 
Chief Clerk. 

The Chief Constable, lass. 

Police Office, Yost, 
21 December, 1859. 

I have the honor to inform you that the amount realized by the sale of the three stolen 
horses, which were sold for their livery by Mr. Owen Hilly, at lass, on the 1st and 6th instant. 
as per bill furnished to me, was .. 0 0 

Amount due for livery of the three horses 	 £53 S 0 
Commission and expenses at sale, with advertising 	.. 	3 13 6— 57 1 6 

41 15 G 

Having laid before the Magistrates the bill of expenses, with the amount realized by the sale, 
and the balance, £1 1.8s. Gd., which was paid over to me, they (the Magistrates) directed me to write 
to you for instructions in this matter, as I require to know who is the person that I am to pay the 

18s. Gd. over to—thi, balance of the amount of sale. 
Respectfully waiting your commands in the matter, 

The Inspector General of Police. 

[Enclosure 9 in Aro. 1.] 
Office of Inspector General of Police., 

Sydney, 29 December, 1559. 

In reply to the inquiry made in your letter of the 24th instant, I am directed by the 
Inspector General of Police to inform you that you should communicate with the Secretary to the 
Treasury, as to the disposal of the sum of 41 18s. 6d., balance of proceeds of sale of three horses (in 
custody of police, and supposed to be stolen), held at 'lass, on the 1st and 6th instant. 

DE PHILIPSTHAL, 
Chief Clerk. 

The Chief Constable, lass. 

Police Office, rass, 
9 January, 1560. 

Sir, 
I respectfully beg to inform you, that on the 3rd of last September, three men (who are 

now waiting to take their trial at the next Quarter Sessions to be held at Vass) were apprehended, and 
charged with stealing three horses which were found in their possession. 

There being, no stables, or any secure accommodation here belonging to the Government, I was 
obliged to send the horses to livery, for their safe keeping, to Mr. Owen Hilly's, " Squatter's Hotel," 
lass. 

The retention of the horses at Mr. Hilly's was longer than expected, caused by the great 
difficulty and delay we had in finding the owners, who reside a distance of 100 to 200 miles from lass ; 
this, together with procuring the requisite witnesses and in getting them to come forward. 

Mr. Hilly finding that the Government would not pay the sum of £53 8s., the amount of his bill, 
advertised the three horses for sale, consequently they were sold en the 1st and 6th of last month, 
"December, 1859," and the— 

Amount realized by the sale of three stolen horses, as per bill furnished to me, was £59 0 0 
Amount due to Mr. Hilly for livery of the three horses 	  63 8 0 
Commission and expenses at sale, and advertising 	  3 13 6 

57 1 6 

gl 18 6 

Having laid before the Magistrates here the bill of expenses, with the amount realized from the 
sale, together with the balance, £1 18s. 6d., which had been paid over to me by Mr. Hilly. But in 
consequence of Mr. Stiles, the Clerk of Petty Sessions, refusing to receive the balance, as it was not a 
Government sale, and also that the horses were not advertised or sold by order of the Government. 

Therefore the Magistrates directed me to write to the Inspector General of Police for his instruc-
tions in the matter, requiring to know from him who I was to pay the balance over to, and having done 
SO, the Inspector General in his answer to my letter, has Wetted me to you, trusting that you will be 
pleased to direct Inc, as regards the disposal of this money, and respectfully waiting your commands in 
this matter, 

I have, die., 
JOHN ENRIGHT, 

Henry Lane, Esq. 	 Met Constable. 
1'S.—I also beg to state that the three saddles, which were found on the horses when the 

prisoners were apprehended, are still in the possession of the police here ; as these are to be sold, you 
will also please to direct me in this matter too, as to the disposal of the proceeds of sale.—J. E. 

Inspector General of Police.—B.C., 21st May, 1860. 

Sir, 

[Enclosure 8 in No. 1.] 

I have, Sic., 
JOHN ENRIGHT, 

Chief Constable. 

Sir, 

[Enclosure 10 in Aro. 1.] 

No. 2. 
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No. 2. 

SECRETARY TO CROWN LAW OFFICERS to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

Crown Law Offices, 
Sydney, 10 March, 1860. 

In returning the enclosed correspondence respecting the sale of stolen horses 
at Yass, I am directed by Sir W. M. Manning to state, that the only questions seem to be 
what is to be done with the £1 18s. 61, balance upon the sale of the three horses, and what 
is to be done with the saddles ? With respect to the £1 18s. 6d., it appears to the Attorney 
General that the Treasury should not have anything to do with it, nor should the Bench 
at Yass. It is the balance of a sale not made or authorized by the Government or Police, 
and which may yet be questioned by the owners of the horses, and would seem either to 
belong to such owners or to Mr. Hilly, in case he should be made liable for the whole value 
of the horses sold. 

The Attorney General sees no course but to leave it in the hands of the Chief 
Constable, until the owners substantiate or abandon their claim. 

As regards the saddles, the Attorney General is at a loss to know how any question 
•could arise. He presumes they may be wanted as evidence at the trial, and if identified, 
they should be given up to the owners; if not identified to the satisfaction of the Court 
trying the case, it may then, the Attorney General thinks, become a question what can be 
..dono with them, but at present they should not be sold, but should lie safely kept by the 
Police. 

I have, &c., 
W. E. PLUNKETT. 

The Inspector General of Police to he informed, and to give directions accordingly—CC. 
B.C., 13th March. 

No. 3. 

W. MACLEAY, ESQ., to THE PRE3IIER. 

Sydney, 8 June, 861 . 

I beg to draw your attention to the enclosed petition of Richard Brett and 
Richard Mather to the Legislative Assembly, presented by me in the month of February 
last. 

The Petitioners, as you will perceive, appeal to the Assembly for justice in a case 
in which an officer of the Government is concerned. 

As an inquiry by a Committee of the Legislature would necessarily add to the loss of 
time and money already endured by the petitioners, I have judged it best not to move in this 
matter im the Assembly, but I hope that the representation which I now make to you will 
induce the Government, of which you are the head, to take action in the matter. 

I have ascertained that the case is not at all overstated in the petition, and though, 
no doubt, the petitioners might recover the value of the horse from the Chief Constable, by 
suing him in the District Court at Yass, yet, without the means of procuring legal assistance, 
the result of an action against an officer of the Court would be at the least doubtful. 

I trust, that as the case is one of great hardship and injustice, involving a serious 
charge against an officer under the control of the Government, that you vill cause a full 
inquiry to be made into the matter. 

I have, &c., 
WILLIAM MACLEAT. 

GENTLEMEN, 
I am directed by the Colonial Secretary to refer to you, for report, the 

enclosed letters from William Macleay, Esq., M.P., covering a petition from Richard Brett s sons, Ism. 
and Richard Heather respecting the sale by the Police, at Yass, of two horses belonging to To De returned. 
them. 

I have, &c., 
• W. ELYARD. 

No. 4. 

THE UNDER SECRETARY to BENCH OF MAGISTRATES, 3.-AsS. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 25 June, 1860. 

No. 5. 
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No. 5. 
THE UNDER SECRETARY /0 Wld. MACLEAY, ESQ., M.P. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 25 June, 1860. 

Your letter, under date the 8th instant, on the subject mentioned below, has 
been duly received and referred for the report of the Bench of Magistrates, Yass. 

2. As soon as the necessary information has been obtained, a further communication 
will be made to you. 

Subject :—Messrs. Brett and Heather's claim for horses sold by the Police at Yass 

No. 6. 
THE BENCH, Yess, to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Police Office, Pass, 
5 July, 1860. 

Snt, 
In reference to your letter to this Bench of the 25th ultimo No. 60-2506 

covering one from William Macleay, Esq., M.P., enclosing a petition from Richard Brett 
and Richard Heather respecting the sale at Yass of two horses belonging to thorn. 

2. I do myself the honor (being the only Magistrate who sat in the ease) to make 
the following report on the matter, premising my remarks by observing that the Bench 
have no place at their disposal for the safe custody of stolen horses or cattle, pending 
examination of the suspected thieves. 

3. It appears that prisoners Smart, Doyle, and Baker were in custody here charged 
with stealing two horses belonging respectively to petitioners Heather and Brett, the horses 
having been found in the custody of the prisoners. Brett and Heather were subpcened to 
Yass to give evidence, and on their sworn testimony identfying the horses the prisoners were 
committed for trial at the then ensuing Quarter Sessions, 

4. On the committal of the prisoners, petitioners applied for their horses ; they were 
informed by the Court they could have them on paying for their livery and engaging to 
produce them at the trial; this petitioners declined to do, consequently Mr. Owen Hilly, in 
whose custody the horses had been placed during the inquiry, advertised the horses in the 
Pass Courier, of November 26th last, to be sold for their livery, unless previously paid for 
by their owners; they were accordingly sold by Mr Hilly, and not by the police as peti-
tioners state. 

Li las. ect 	5. Mr. Hilly paid over a small balance (on the sale of these two horses, and a third 
sold under similar circumstances) to the Chief Constable, who tendered it to the Inspector 
General of Police ; this Officer, however, directed the Chief Constable to retain it in his 
hands for the present. 

No. 7. 
In returning the letter from the Bench of Magistrates, Yess, dated the 5th 

instant, reporting upon a petition from Messrs. Brett and Heather for the recovery of two 
horses, recently sold, without instructions, at Vase, transmitted under B. Cover Minute of 
yesterday, it will be advisable, for both succinctness and clearness, to forward, for the Chief 
Secretary's information, the Memorandum on the subject submitted when this matter was 
last brought under his notice, which embraces and explains the whole question, so far as 
this department is concerned. 

Appended to this is the opinion of Sir Wm. Manning (the then Attorney General), 
as to the disposal of the balance of proceeds of sale, £1 18s. 6d., which, under the instruc-
tions conveyed in your Minute of the 13th of March last, was communicated to the Yass 
Bench. 

2. The aspect the question now assumes becomes a matter of legal consideration ; I 
would, therefore, advise that reference be made thereon to the Crown Law Officers. 

JOHN MILERIE, 
B. C.-27 July, 1860. 	 Inspector General of Police. 

The suggestion of the Inspector General to be acted upon.—C. C. It August. 
— 

Referred for the opinion of the Crown Law Officers. 	The Secretary to the Law Officers. 
B. C.-2nd August, 1860. 

I have, &c., 
W. ELYARD, 

Under Secretary. 

I have, &c., 
J. G. DAVIDSON, J.P. 

Referred for the Report of the Inspector General of Police, to whom some communication 
appears to have been made on the subject.—W.E. 

B.C., 25th July, IMO. 

MEMO. 

1260. 
3138, 

No. 8. 
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No. 8. 
SECRETARY TO THE CROWN LAW OFFICERS to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

Crown Law Offices, 
Sydney, 7 August, 1800. 

SIR, 
In returning the enclosed correspondence respecting sale of stolen horses at 

Yass, and particularly with reference to the claim made by Messrs. Brett and Heather 
regarding two of the animals in question, I am directed to state, that the Attorney General 
does not see what the Government can do in this matter, except by considering the special 
circumstances of the case. It is true that the petitioners have their legal remedy against 
the liveryman for the wrongful sale, and that the owners cannot strictly look to the 
Government for the proceeds of the sale; but it seems to the Attorney General that, as the 
Government ought to provide all proper and necessary means of keeping stolen property 
during investigations, consequently the cost and expenses of such keep should be borne by 
the Government, and not by the owner. 

Assuming, therefore, that the sale is not disputed by the owners, and that the bona 
fide amount for keep charged by the liveryman would be a just and reasonable charge if the 
Government had owned the horses, the Attorney General thinks that the charge ought to be 
repaid to the owners by the Government ; but care should be taken in making this payment, 
that the owners release the Government and the liveryman from the value of the horses. 

I have, Sze., 
W. E. PLUNKETT. 

-- 
The Inspector General of Police will perhaps report what is customary. I have never had a 

similar case for my decision. It seems too much that the Government should be called upon to pay -
such expenses as will find constables and police for looking after the property of private indi-
viduals.—C. C. 
B. C.-1A August. 

No. 9. 
MEMO. 

The custom invariably acted upon in cases of stolen horses, &o., taken 
possession of by the police, is to charge against the owners any expense for feed necessarily 
and unavoidably incurred. 

The Government does "provide all proper and necessary means of keeping stolen 
property during investigations;' but this by no means infers that an expense such as that 
of foraging stolen horses or cattle is to be borne by the public. 

Had Messrs. Brett and Heather's horses not been stolen they would, it is presumed, 
have been at some cost and trouble as regards their keep ; and the difference been this 
amount and the livery charge at the time of the prisoners' committal, when they were 
offered the animals upon payment of their cost, and engaging to produce them at the time of 
trial, but which they declined doing, is more than compensated by the benefit they derived 
from the action of the police

' 
 which led to the recovery of their property. The police are 

maintained by a vote from the General Revenue, to which all contribute alike, and so far 
have an equal demand for police assistance and protection ; but in cases of theft, Ettc., 
the sufferer necessarily calls for and receives more than equal aid from the police, and is, 
therefore, to such extent, benefited by his contribution to the vote alluded to beyond his 
fellows. This reasoning strictly applies to the question at issue, and, in my opinion, 
nullifies all claim to recovery or compensation on the part of Messrs. Brett and Heather 
as against the Government, more especially when it was by their own act, in refusing to 
release their horses in the first instance (when the livery charge was small), that the very 
much greater charge was incurred. 

It is, therefore, respectfully recommended that Messrs. Brett and Heather's applica-
tion be not entertained.B.C.-2Ingust 21. 

3576—Police. Papers herewith returned. 

No. 10. 
THE .  UNDER SECRETARY to MIL MACLEAY. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 24 August, 1830. 

Referring to my letter of the 25th June last, respecting the petition submitted 
by you from Richard Brett and Richard Heather, praying for compensation in respect to 
two horses that were stolen from them and sold at Yass, I am directed by the Colonial 
Secretary to inform you, that inquiry having been made into the circumstances of the ease, 
it is regretted that there do not appear to be any grounds for complying with the application 
of the petitioners. 

I have, &e., 
W. ELYARD. 

JNO. McLERIE, 
Inspector General of Police. 

Sm, 

[Price, 2d.] 
	 Syslaay 	Rteharde, Government Prlater.-1SCL 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

REPRIEVE OF "SWAN." 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 14 February, 1861. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of 
New South Wales, dated 16 January, 1861, praying that His 
Excellency the Governor General would be pleased to cause to be 
laid upon the Table of this House,— 

" A Return of all Correspondence that has passed between the 
" Executive Government and their Honors the Judges, relative 
" to the Reprieve of Swan,' convicted of Murder; together 
"with all Minutes of the Executive thereon." 

(.Jfr. Buchanan.) 

SCHEDULE. 
CAGE.  1. Police Magistrate. Maitland, to the Colonial S'ecretary, forwarding a statement made by  

No. 

George Swan, a prisoner in the Maitland Gaol, under sentence at death. 6 October, 1860 2 
2. The Under Secretary to Mr. Justice Milford, for his remarks on Swan's statement. 9 October, 

1860 	.. 	 3 
3. Mr. Justice Milford to the Colonial Secretary, in reply. 10 October, 1860 	 3 
4. Extract of Minute of the Executive Council, advising that the Police Magistrate of Maitland 

should inquire and report on Swan's statement. 11 October, 1860 	 .. 	4 
5. The Under Secretary to Police Magistrate, Maitland, requesting his report on the statement 

made by Swan. 11 October, 1860 .. 	 4 
G. Police Magistrate, Maitland, to The Under Secretary, telegram that he is making inquiry into 

the statement. 15 October, 1860 	 „ 	 .. 	5 
7. Police Magistrate, Maitland, to The Under Secretary, in continuation. 15 October, 1860 .. 	5 
S. Pollee Magistrate, Maitland, to the Colonial Secretary, reporting On the statement of Swan. 

16 October, 1860 	 5 
9. Minute of the Executive Council, advising that the capital sentence in the case of George 

Swan be commuted to imprisonment for life, with hard labor. 17 October, 1860.. 	.. 	7 
10. Police Magistrate, Maitland, to The Under Secretary, telegram respecting Swan. 20 October, 

11. The Under Secretary to the Sheriff, apprising him of the commutation of Swan's sentence. 22 
October, 1860 	. 	 8 

12. The Under Secretary to Mr. Justice 3lilford, apprising him of the commutation of Swan's son- 

13. The Sheriff to the Gaoler of East Maitland, telegram that Swan is reprieved. 2.2 October, 
8 

14. The Sheriff to the Gaoler, East Maitland, forwarding copy of The Under Secretary's letter of 
the 22nd October, 1860 (No. 11). 22 October, 1860 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	8 

15. The Sheriff to The Under Secretary, acknowledging receipt of letter of the 22nd October 
(No. 11). 24 October, 1860., 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	9 

16. George Swan, Petition to the Governor General, praying that Mr. Fitzgerald, of Lochinvar, 
may be referred to for information respecting his ease. 10 December, 1860.. 	.. 	.. 	9 

17. The Under Secretary to Police Magistrate, Maitland, to inquire and report upon Swan's 
Petition. 5 January, 1801 .. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 11 

	

18, Police Magistrate, Maitland, to The Under Secretary, in reply. 26 January, 1861 .. 	.. 11 

82—A 
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No. 1. 

VISITING JUSTICE OF MAITLAND GAOL to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

H. M. Gaol, Maitland, 
6 October, 1860. 

I hasten to forward to you the enclosed document which George Swan, a prisoner 
in this Gaol under sentence of Death, requests to be laid before the Honorable the Executive 
Council. 

I have, 8cc., 
EDW. D. DAY, 

Visiting Justice. 

[Enclosure in No. I.] 

To the Honorable Members of the Executive Council. 
Gentlemen :— 

Having received notice of the decision arrived at by you, I beg to lay before your Honors 
a short statement of facts that could have been proved as evidence in soy favor, had the witnesses whom 
I requested to be subpmrmed been called in my defence. These facts were submitted in writing to the 
barrister assigned to me, Mr. Windeyer, but from some cause or other not one of them was brought 
forward to prove my innocence of the crime of which I have been found guilty. None of those witnesses 
were called, and, consequently. I think I can give such a statement to your I tenors as will place my case 
in a different light. On the 8th October, 1856, I was brought from Singleton to Maitland Gaol, and 
whilst on the road is the mail we stopped at Mark Turner's public-house, Lochinvar. I called him to Inc. 
and then handed to him five ten-pound notes, and requested him to let me have a sovereign or two half-
sovereigns to take with me, and to keep the rest till he saw me again—to give it to no other person. 
He gave me two half-sovereigns, and said lie would comply with my request. I had no witnesses to 
the fact of giving him the motley, as it was not likely I should allow the constable to see me give it to 
him. After that I was in custody three and a half years. When released I went at once to Lochinvar 
to see him and ask him for the money, but he was not at home. I. went several times afterwards but 
saw only his wife, who if called on, as she should have been (being sebum's:Led), could have 
proved that I had thus frequently gone to see him. A constable of Lochinvar named 
Leonard, whom I requested to have subpcenaed, could also prove it. Whilst in Maitland waiting 
for Turner's return home, I stated to Conn (the person with whom I boarded), and to a great 
number of other persons, who give evidence of the fact that Turner owed me forty-nine pounds, and that 
when I received the money from him I should pay all I owed. Mark Turner came into Maitland on the 
17th of April to get his license renewed, and Conn told me that evening that he was in the town. 1 said 
that I would go and see him at once, but Conn told sue that Turner and Isis brother had left for home. 
Next morning he told Inc that I ought to go and see Turner. I said I would go at once, and that 
morning, the 18th April, I went. I started from Maitland between seven and eight in the morning, 
and passed through the toll-bar a few minutes after eight. I went direct to Loehinvar and saw Turner. 
I asked him for the money he had of mine, mentioning the forty-nine pounds. He said, "Do you think 
"I am a fool, or mad 1 Money is money these days ; forty-nine pounds is not to be got every day. 
" If you had asked for half of it, it would have been something like the thing." After :I deal of comer-
sMion, during which I told him that I was sitting with my feet under another rean's table without dm 
means to pay him, and also telling•him that I had borrowed money from several persons, telling theta 
that he had forty-nine pounds belonging to me, and that when he came home from the country I should get 
it and pay them all, he consented to give sue twenty pounds. As soon as I had got the money in my 
hand I thought that by threatening him I could get him to pay me the balance; so I said that if he did 
not give it me all I would expose Isim and tell Mr. Day, the Magistrate in Maithmd, that Ise bad 
feloniously received money from a prisoner whilst on his way to gaol, and that if it cost me the whole of 
what I had already got I would try to get his license taken away. He said I might do as I liked about 
that, I could not hurt him. He told me he should deny ever having received any money from me, or 
paying me any. When, therefore, the constable called on him next day and asked him if he gave me 
any money, or if he knew me, he denied at once all knowledge of me and of any money received 
or paid. and in this denial he has persisted to the present time ; thus, for the paltry purpose of 
saving his license and trade, ,aiving over a fellow-creature to an unmerited punishment, a punishment 
that can never be recalled—death I Had Ur. Day, during my first examination, listened to me 
as I requested him to Jo, I could have proved I was at Loehinvar ; and could have proved, by 
many witnesses, that I had on that day, the 18th April, twenty One-poimd notes, the fact being then so 
recent as to have been freshly in their memories, which could not have been expected to be the case 
after a lapse of six months. I could have proved, therefore, that the twenty pounds / had was not in 
anyway identical with the sum of which the murdered man was;robbed. I could then have given evidence 
of changing and paying away nineteen of the notes, as I procured silver for several of them, in order to 
be prepared with the exact small sums which I wished to repay to those from whom I had borrowed 
them. But Mr. Day would not listen to me, but ordered me to be removed. If, as I wished to do, I had 
then proved, as I most clearly could, that I was at Lochinvar on that day, and the business on which I 
went, I should have proved that it could not have been me who committed a murder at Stoney Creek, 
and I should never have been committed for trial. 1 (4111,p:cooed Mr. Day to prove that I had requested. 
Inns to listen to me, saying that I could clearly establish my innocence of the charge ; but he was not 
called on by my barrister, though I particularly requested Mr. Thompson, the solicitor in the ease, to 
have him called. in this same way the whole of the evidence in my favor was kept back. If, when 
examined before Mr. Day, Mr. Fitzgerald, innkeeper, of Loabinvar, had been called, he could then 
have proved that I was in his house at Lochinvar on the day of the murder, as I could have mentioned 
several OCCUITMICCS that took place in his house at the time ; but he was never called as a witness in 
my favor by Mr. Day, or by my banister, Mr. Windeyer, at my trial, though he was subprenaed.Wthi: giv  
regard to the evidence given by John Pony, that 1 had stated to Inns Bayliss was a witness to my 
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giving Tinter the money, this is altogether untrue, the words I used when speaking to Perry were, 
that " Turner was serving me as Bayliss served Pat Mason," meaning that he was trying to defraud 
me of the money. I would also call your attention to the way in which that money was paid away. 
Had I committed a murder to obtain it, I should have been most likely to have left Maitland and my 
creditors behind me ; I should not have paid away money so hardly earned in so quick and easy a 
way. Is it likely that a man who had committed a murder and rubbery, within so short a distance of 
Maitland, would have returned there and immediately commenced paving debts be had contracted—
debts for which no sort of security was held, and fur payment of which no one pressed Me. I knew 
nothing of any murder or robbery, and therefore acted straightforwardly and honestly with my 
creditors, as I was paying away money my own lawful property. I was innocent of any crime, and 
therefore my conduct and proceedings were clear and open. There was no disguise or concealment 
about me. T. solemnly protest that I. no into axint of this crime, and if Mr. lhty had listened to Inc when 
I was first brought before the Bench, I am fully e. invinced ray innocence would have ai established. 
I should wish your Homers to review cry CUM; and take into consideration the statements I have here 
made, and also the fact that of all the thirty-a witnesses against me, not one could wove that they 
ever saw me with or near the murdered Mall; 011e of them, whose evidence I would particularly press 
upon your Honors' attention, expressly stated that he saw a person in the cart riding with John 13MMIL 
that morning, on the direct road, and not far from the spot where deceased was found, and I was not 
that nam. It is a tearful thing to condemn an innocent man to such a dreadful penalty on men- circum-
stantial evidence, when if, afterwards. the real culprit is discovered, that punishment mainut be 
recalled I That the real murderer will he found I have every confidence. That my innocence will thus 
be clearly proved I BM certain ; for God seldom suffers the guilty to pass from the world with their 
guilt concealed. If I suffer, conscience will convict that man of a double murder, and enforce confession. 
'Do not then take away an inatment man's life without pausing to consider whether prejudice might not 
I ave had more hand in his conviction than evidence I I am innocent t Do not let me perish fo.. the 
guilty l What I have here stated, I solemnly declare to be the truth I I was not neer the deceased my 
the place Ma re he was found; and if I die I shall be one more instance of the fact that men often 
arrives at false conclusions when judging from mere circumstantial evidence. 

I now throw myself on your mercy, trusting that you will favorably review my Cabe, and extend 
that mercy to me, so tlutt if afterwards the red culprit should be discovered, I may be once more a free 
man. 

I am, 
Your Honors' most humble servant, 

GEORGE SWAN. 

No. 2. 
THE UNDER SECRETARY to MR. JUSTICE MILFORD, 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 9 October, 1860. 

I am directed by the Colonial Secretary to request the favor of your Ironor's 
remarks on the accompanying statement, forwarded by the Visiting Justice of Maitland 
Gaol from the prisoner named in the margin, who has been convicted of murder, and is newscswans 
under orders of execution on the 24th instant. 

I have, Am., 
W. ELYARD. 

SIR, 
Before the receipt of your letter of the 9th instant, relating to the conviction of 

G. Swan, for murder, and containing a statement made by him, I was anxious (the case 
resting only on circumstantial evidence) to obtain the opinions of Sir John Dickinson and 
Mr. justice Wise, as to the effect of that evidence on their minds. They have been so good 
as to read the notes of the trial, and think that though the case "is one of strong suspicion, 
" there remains a possibility, as it appears in the evidence, that the prisoner may not be 
" aunty. We think the circumstances detailed in evidence induce a very strong suspicion 
" that Swan was guilty of the murder; but having reference to the rule of law, that if there 
" is a reasonable doubt, the accused ought to have the benefit of it—they think that the case 
" is not a safe one for an execution. It is considered generally, in cases of circumstantial 
" nature, a matter of great importance that the accused was the person last seen in company 
" with the decs,ased; here the accused was not that person, and according to the evidence it 
" PeCITIS another person was of whom there is no further account. Again, they think that . 
" the half-crown, &c., and the bag which the accused was sworn to have, was not sufficiently 
"identified as being the money and bag of the deceased; they think, moreover, that it was 
" not conclusively proved, that on the 18th of April the prisoner was armed with a pistol. 
Cr My colleagues think that the guilt of the accused might be fairly presumed, if it was 
" distinctly shewn that the accused was possessed on the 18th of May of the money of the 
" deceased, but the money which was found on the accused can only be presumed to have 
"been that of the deceased; they think it therefore dangerous to presume the guilt of the 
" accused from facts of which there is no direct evidence, and as no witness swore directly 
" as to the identity of the money, or that the accused was armed on the day of the murder 
" with a pistol, or was the man last seen with the deceased, that it would be safe not to 
" execute the accused." The above is the opinion of their Honors. Under these circum-
stances, though I might not, perhaps, without having obtained the opinions of their Honors, 

have 

SIR, 

No. 3. 
Mn. JUSTICE MILFORD to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Supreme Court House, 
Sydney, 10 October, 1860. 
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Otorge Swan 

have thought it my duty to interfere; yet, having done so, and feeling the force of them as 
modifying any own, I do not think the prisoner ought to be executed. With regard to the 
statement of Swan, it is desirable that inquiries should be made as to the facts alleged by 
him, and into a fact not mentioned by him, but which was stated on the trial, that a young 
man named 11PDougal gave him the pistol, on the 24th of March, to get balls cast for them. 
If the Government should think that Swan should not be executed, yet these inquiries are 
desirable, for fixing the extent of such secondary punishment, if any, as it may be thought 
proper to inflict. A most important question is as to the character of Mark Turner, whether 
it is at all likely that he should have acted as represented by Swan, and whether Fitzgerald 
knows anything of Swan's being at Lochinvar on the day the murder was committed. 
I heard casually that the prisoner had, after the trial, expressed himself dissatisfied with the 
manner in which he had been defended. Ile had hesitated some time before he would accept 
the assistance of Counsel. He appeared to be a very intelligent man, and able to conduct 
his own defence. Of course I do not know what passed between him and Mr. Windeyer, or 
his attorney, Mr. Thompson; but so far as I saw, every thing was done for the prisoner that 
could be done. 

I have, 
SAML. FREDK. MILFORD. 

No. 4. 
EXTRA CT from Minute Ho. 60-43. 11 October, 1800. 

Present—Full Council. 
REFERRING to the proceedings at the last meeting with respect to the capital conviction of 
George Swan for the murder of John Barton, His Excellency the Governor General lays 
before the Council a Petition from the unfortunate prisoner, urging that the crime was not 
conclusively established against him on his trial, inasmuch as it was not shewn that be was 
the person last seen in the company of the murdered man ; and alleging that certaiu 
witnesses, who could have supported the statements advanced by him in proof of his 
innocence, were not examined on the trial. 

Therewith His Excellency also lays before the Council a further report from Mr. 
Justice Milford, to whom this petition has been referred, from which it appears that His 
Honor has thought itmeeessary to take the opinion of the other Judges in reference to the 
case, and that upon a perusal of the notes taken by hint of the evidence, their Honors, 
proceeding upon the practice of the Criminal Courts in England in the like cases, have 
arrived at the conclusion that it would not be safe to carry out the capital sentence; the 
chain of evidence, which, though strong, is purely circumstantial, being incomplete, not only 
in the essential particular adverted to by the prisoner, but in two other material links. 

Mr. Justice Milford, moreover, considers that it would be desirable to make inquiries 
as to the correctness of the statements made by Swan, with reference to the evidence in his 
favor not taken at the trial, and more especially with respect to the evidence which could 
have been afforded by the publican at Loehinvar, named Fitzgerald, and a constable named 
Leonard. His Honor further recommends that inquiry should be made into the character 
of the man Mark Turner referred to by Swan. 

Under the circumstances the Council, without hesitation, concur in the propriety of 
instituting these inquiries, and advise that the several documents be at once referred to the 
Police Magistrate at Maitland for this purpose, with an instruction to report the result with 
as little delay as possible. 

As the day fixed for the execution of the sentence will not arrive till the 24th 
instant, and ample time will therefore be allowed for making these inquiries, and receiving 
the reply, the Council defer their decision with respect to the propriety of acting on ths 
opinion expressed by the Judges until they have obtained Mr. Day's report. 

EDWARD C. MEREWETHER, 
Clerk of the Council. 

THE UNDER SECRETARY to VISITING JUSTICE OF MAITLAND GAOL. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 11 October, 1800. 

In acknowledging the receipt of your letter of the 6th instant, I am directed 
to return herewith the statement therein submitted, from the prisoner named in the margin, 
confined in the Maitland Gaol under sentence of death, and to request the favor of your 
report thereon, especially with reference to the statement respecting Mr. Fitzgerald, the 
innkeeper of Lochinvar, and Constable Leonard. 

2. I am desired also to request that you will report at the same time upon the 
characters of Mark Turner and Swan, respectively, as far as you have any knowledge of 
them. 

3. The Colonial Secretary instructs me likewise to inclose for your perusal a com-
munication from Mr. Justice Milford reporting on Swan's statement. 

I have, &e., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 6. 
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No. 6. 

POLICE MAGISTRATE, MAITLAND, to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

0. II. M. S. 
.Arew South Wales Electric Telegraph.—Sydney Station. 

Received the following Message from W. Maitland Station, at 10h. 20m., 15th October,1860 :— 
I am making inquiries to enable me to make report on the subject of your letter of 

the Eleventh (11th); I shall send the report by to-morrow afternoon's boat, so as to reach 
you on Wednesday, if permitted. 

No. 7. 
POLICE MAGISTRATE, MAITLAND, to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

0. II. M. S. 
Kew South Wales Electric Telegraph.—Sydney Station. 

Received the following Message from W. Maitland Station, at 111.7m., 15th October, 1860:— 
There will be no boat this afternoon; I regret to say, therefore, that my report 

cannot reach you before Wednesday morning. 

No. 8. 
POLICE MAGISTRATE, MAITLAND, to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Court House, Maitland, 
16 October, 1860. 

SIR, 
I have the honor to report, as directed in your letter of the 11th of this month, 

on the statement of the prisoner named in the margin, that Mr. Fitzgerald tells me he was new s- s,,eu 
summoned as a witness for Swan at his trial, but not examined. He had then an oppor- 
tunity of observing Swan carefully, and he did so. The result of his observation was then, and 
is now, that, to his knowledge, be had never in his life seen Swan in his house, nor had he 
ever spoken to him 

2. Constable Leonard says :—" I did not see Swan ut Lochinvar on the day Barton 
" was murdered. Of this I am sure. I saw him (Swan) at Lochinvor on the day be was 
"discharged from the Maitland Circuit Court, in March last (the 16th by the Gaoler's 
re Memorandum), on his own recognizunce, to appear when called upon. I was in the Court 
'when he was discharged. I saw Swan on the day named, about 10 o'clock at night, going 
" towards Eitzgerald's public-house. I cannot soy whether he entered the house or not. 
" This matter is impressed upon my memory by Swan's telling me he came to Lochinvar to 
"get a number of signatures to a petition to save the life of Jones, convicted of the murder 
"of Mrs. Bailey, and that he would spend one hundred pounds to effect that object." Swan 
shoved a desire not to be recognised by Leonard, but he knew him at once, and warned him 
to leave Lochinvar. Swan, in his statement, says "I requested to have Leonard subpoenaed." 
In reference to this, I beg to enclose the names Of the witnesses Swan wished to have sub-
pcenaed, in his own handwriting. Leonard's name is not in this list. I am quite positive 
Swan never named Leonard to me before his trial, and I only knew of Fitzgerald's name 
from its being inserted in the list when I issued the subpcenas. 

8. I have no knowledge of Swan's character personally, except while he was confined 
in the Gaol, from 4th August, 1859, until discharged, on his own recognizance, on 
the 16th March, 1860; and, afterwards, from the time of his apprehension on the charge of 
murder up to the present time. Of his conduct in the Gaol, I have no unfavorable report to 
make. 

4. I have known Mark Turner for years—upwards of twenty. For the kat half of 
that period he was a respectable tradesman in this district ; and, fur the last ten years, as a 
licensed publican, his character has, I may say, passed year after year in review before the 
Bench at the Annual Licensing Meeting. I never had occasion to oppose the renewal of his 
license, nor has any one else done so—nor have I ever heard his character for honesty in any 
way impeached—and I believe him to be incapable of acting as Swan has represented. I 
think it is proved that he has not so acted by Swan himself, who, so far from complaining, 
says, on the very day on which he now says be (Turner) acted in the manner represented, 
to Perry, that " Turner is an honorable man ;" and, to Conn, "that he had not got all his 
money from Turner, but only a part, and that he was to go out for the rest some day." 

5. Swan says, in his statement, that he requested me to allow him to call Fitzgerald 
as a witness on the first day of his examination, but that I would not listen to him ; and, in 
a conversation with him (since I forwarded his statement), commenced by himself, he, in one 
.of my visits of inspection to the Gaol, repeated the same assertion, and said that Constable 

Harris, 
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Harris, who was standing beside him at the time, could prove that he made this request. 
Having no recollection of such a request, I questioned Constable Harris on the subject, and 
Ile (Harris) says, "I cannot say whether Swan asked to be allowed to call witnesses on the 
first day, but I recollect him saying so on the day he was committed." I would not assert 
positively that no such request was made—I cannot recollect it if it was—but I must neces-
sarily have refused to comply with it, until the evidence for the prosecution was closed ; and 
I find it reported in the Maitland Mercury, of the 24th April last, on leaving the bar Swan 
said he n could prove his innocence." 

6. I beg to refer to the statement of the accused, also reported in the same paper, of 
the 12th May, in the very words of the prisoner. It is to this effect :- r-" All I have to say is 
"simply this—If you had listened to me the first day, when I asked you so to do, I would then 
" have given you proof positive as to my innocence, but, as it is, I defer it to a future time, 
"fearing that I should be obstructed from so doing by the manner in which I have already 
"been led through the town." 

7. His Honor Mr. Justice Milford observes that there is proof that Swan was not the 
last man seen in company with the deceased—and Swan, in his statement, makes the same 
assertion. I beg, with great respect, to state I can see no proof of this in the printed 
evidence. Cook is the witness who last saw deceased in company with any one. He does 
not say Swan was not the man ; and, although it is of course now useless to notice it, you 
will perceive by Cook's evidence on the preliminary examination, as reported by the local 
paper, that the man who was on the cart with Barton was, in one respect at least, like Swan. 
"He had black whiskers. Could not swear he had mustaches. The whiskers were very 
much like those worn by the prisoner." 

8. In his Honor's letter it is said (although not mentioned in Swan's statement), 
"it was stated at the trial that a young man named 3I'Dougall gave Swan the pistols on the 
24th March." This, in the Mercury report, I find was mentioned by Mr. Windeyer, in his 
address to the jury, who then spoke of two young men of that name. This must be incorrect. 
Swan was discharged, on his own recognizances, on the 16th March, at, I presume, the close 
of the Criminal Sittings. William McDougall, who was to be tried at the same Assizes, had 
previously absconded, having been on bail, and has not since been heard of. He, consequently, 
could not have given Swan the pistols on the 24th, nor could the two brothers have done so 
either. Did His Honor take down the Christian name, if one McDougall only was men-
tioned 7 Mr. Ward, the reporter of the Mercury, has mentioned to me that the name of 
Mr. McDougall was introduced in the cross-examination of the lad Gunter. He was asked, 
"Do you know that a man named McDougall had pistols?" He answered, "1 don't know 
the man." 

9. It is very certain that Swan did not know Barton previous to his discharge from 
Gaol on the 16th March. But it is not very improbable that Barton's custom of travelling 
with money on his person was made known to him before that day by a man named Joyce, 
who had been for some time in the service of the brothers Barton, and was in the habit of 
travelling with them on their journeys. Joyce was committed, on the 15th November, 1859, 
for trial, for embezzling money belonging to the Bartons, and was heard at the time to say 
he would be revenged. He was tried on the 1.3th February, 1860, and was then discharged 
—the jury not agreeing. Between these dates Swan and Joyce were fellow-prisoners. Mrs. 
Barton says she thinks she saw Swan about the wharves at Morpeth, where the Bartons 
lived, Joyce being still about there ; and Barton being constantly shipping poultry, farm 
produce, &c., his person may have been pointed out to Swan, who was living at Conn's, at 
Maitland, and who was not known to have any business at 31orpeth. I think it not unlikely 
that both the murder and robbery were planned in the Gaol. This portion of my report 
renders it necessary for me to say, that after I heard of the murder I caused Joyce to be 
apprehended ; but having satisfied myself clearly that on the day of the murder, and the 
night before, he was at the head of the Williams River, he was discharged. 

10. I forward with this report a memorandum from Mr. Wallace, the gaoler, shewing 
what he knows of Swan. All the information respecting Swan's previous history I was able 
to procure, was contained in a memorandum given to me by the Chief Constable of Armidale, 
which I banded to Judge Milford's Associate for His Honor's information. 

11. Although not likely to be required, I forward under separate cover the several 
copies of the Maitland Mercury hi which I have referred in this report. 

I have, &e., 
EDW. D. DAY, 

Police Magistrate. 

P. S.—I beg to add, in reference to the statement of Swan that he had in his 
possession on 8th October, 1856, the five ten-pound notes he says he gave to Mark Turner, 
it seems to me very improbable, considering the strict search all prisoners received in the 
lock-up houses of the Colony are subjected to, under the Police Regulations, that he could 
have had these notes so concealed on his person as to give such easy access to them, as to 
enable him to hand them to Turner without being perceived by the escorting constable, or 
that they should have remained concealed at all the stations he had been received at on his 
long journey down. 

E. D. D. 

[Enclosure 
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[Enclosure in Ho. 8.] 
It M. Gaol, Maitland, 

11 December, 1860. 
George Swan, tried at the Circuit Court, held in Maitland, 9th March. 1857. 

Received in gaol, November 8th, 1856. 
First charge, horse stealing ; acquitted. Second charge, assaulting the police with intent to 

escape; sentenced to three years' bard labor in Darlinghurst Gaol. 

Swan's second reception in gaol. August 4th, 1859. 
Charged with horse stealing ; arraigned at the Circuit Court held in Maitland, 19th September, 

1859 trial postponed. 

At the Circuit Court, held in March, 1860, was again arraigned, and discharged on his own 
recognizances 011 the lath same month. 

List of Witnesses summoned in Swan's ease. 
1. Mr. Fitzgerald, publican, Lochiuvar. 
2. Mrs. Turner, Lochinvar. 
3. W. Smith, Sportsman's Arms, West Maitland. 
4. E. D. Day, Esq., Police Magistrate, 31aitland. 
5. Anne Powers, West Maitland. 
G. 31rs. Bruce, West Maitland. 
7. Robert Cooper, prisoner at Cockatoo Island. 
S. Thomas Ashton. Bird in Hand. West Maitland. 
9. Mr. Mitchell, J.P., West Maitland. 

10. Mrs. Conn, Currency Lass, West Maitland. 
11. P. A. Mason, dealer, Black Creek. 
12. Richard Lewis, West Maitland. 
13. George Trayhurn, Royal Arch, West Maitland. 

JOHN WALLACE, 
Gaoler, 

No. 9. 
EXTRA C7' from Minute No. 60-44. 17 October, 1860. 

Present—Full Council. 
us Excellency the Governor General again invites the attention of the Council to the ease 
of George Swan, now lying under sentence of death for the murder of John Barton, and 
lays before them the farther Report from Mr. Justice Milford, forwarding the Petition from 
the prisoner, which was before them at their last meeting, together with a letter from the 
Police Magistrate at Maitland, reporting the result of the inquiries which he has instituted 
into the statements contained in that Petition. 

2. This letter has only this morning been received, but has been submitted to Mr. 
Justice Milford, with a request that he would again attend the Council in reference to the 
case, and His Honor being in attendance is introduced, and affords such further explanation 
as the Council deem necessary, and then withdraws. 

3. The result of Mr. Day's inquiries does not bear out the statements in the Petition, 
to which his attention was particularly directed; on the contrary, the Report of that gentle-
man leaves little doubt on the minds of the Members of the Council that the statements are 
altogether unfounded. It only now remains for them, therefore, to consider the question 
raised by the Judges as to the propriety of carrying out the capital sentence. 

In the words of Mr. Justice Milford," their Honors think the circumstances detailed 
" in the evidence adduce a very strong suspicion that Swan was guilty of the murder ; but, 
" having reference to the rule of law, that if there be a reasonable doubt the accused ought 
" to have the benefit of it, they think that the case is not a safe one for an execution." 
The points on which they consider the chain of evidence to be defective being, that no 
witness swore directly as to the identity of the money found on the accused with that taken 
from the murdered man,—or that the accused was armed on the day of the murder with a 
pistol,—or was the man last seen with the deceased. 

Mr. Justice Milford further remarks, that under these circumstances, although he 
might not, perhaps, without having obtained the opinion of their Honors, have thought it 
necessary to interfere, yet baying done so, and feeling the force of their opinion as modifying 
his own, he does not think the prisoner ought to be executed,—a view of the case which he 
verbally repeats to the Council. 

Having long and earnestly deliberated upon the question, the Council arrive at the 
conclusion, that in the face of this recommendation they would scarcely be justified in 
advising that the extreme sentence of the law should be allowed to take its course ; but 
entertaining themselves little doubt of the guilt of the prisoner, they are constrained to 
think that it should only be commuted for the most severe secondary punishment that can 
be inflicted ; and they accordingly advise that the capital sentence in the ease of George 
Swan be commuted to imprisonment for life with hard labor, in such of Her Majesty's gaols 
or penal establishments of the Colony as His Excellency the Governor General may from 
time to time direct--the first three years to be passed in irons. 

EDWARD C. MEREWETHER, 
Clerk of the Council. 

No. 10. 
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No. 10. 
POLICE MAGISTRATE, 'MAITLAND, to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

0. II. M. S. 
New South Wales Electric Telegraph.— Sydney Station. 

Received the following Message from Maitland Station, at 11h. 40m., 20th October, 1860:— 
I have just learned that Mr. Dawson, Colonial Architect, knows a great deal of the. 

prisoner Swan's former history. 

No. 11. 
THE UNDER SECRETARY to SHERIFF. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 22 October, 1860. 

Referring to my letter of the 2nd instant, I am desired to inform you that 
His Excellency the Governor General, with the advice of the Executive Council, has been 
pleased to direct that the sentence of death passed upon George Swan for the murder of 
John Barton be remitted, on condition that he be imprisioned for life, with hard labor, irk 
such of Ber Majesty's gaols or penal establishments of the Colony as His Excellency may 
from time to time direct—the first three years to be passed in irons. 

2. The prisoner is to be worked on Cockatoo Island until further orders, and Mr. 
Justice Milford has been requested to allow him the benefit of a conditional pardon 
accordingly. 

3. You will be pleased to apprise Swan immediately, and acknowledge the receipt of 
this letter. 

I have, kc., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 12. 
THE UNDER SECRETARY to MR. JUSTICE MILFORD. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 22 October, 1860. 

SIR, 
Referring to your Honor's report of the 10th instant, on a statement made by 

the prisoner named in the margin, who has been sentenced to death for the murder of John 
Barton, I am directed to inform you that His Excellency the Governor General, with the 
advice of the Executive Council, has been pleased to direct that the capital sentence be 
remitted, on condition that Swan be imprisoned for life, with hard labor, in such of Her 
Majesty's gaols or penal establishments of the Colony as His Excellency may from time to 
time direct—the first three years to be passed in irons. 

2. I am directed therefore to request that your Honor will be good enough to allow 
Swan the benefit of a conditional pardon accordingly, and to state that he is to be worked on 
Cockatoo Island until further orders. 

I have, Ste., 
W. ELYARD. 

No. 13. 
SHERIFF to GAOLER, EAST MAITLAND. 

New South Wales Electric Telegraph.— West Maitland Station. 
Received the following Message from Sydney Station, at 11h. 35m., October 22, 1860:— 

George Swan is reprieved, sentence commuted to imprisonment for life, with hard 
labour—first three years in irons. 

No. 14. 
SHERIFF to GAOLER, EAST MAITLAND. 

Shents Office, 
Sydney, 23 October, 1860. 

I am directed by the Sheriff to draw your attention to the enclosed copy of a 
letter received this day, respecting the remission of the sentence of death passed upon the 
prisoner named in the margin, and to request that you will communicate the contents of the 
letter to the prisoner Swan. 

I remain, /cc., 
JOHN PHELAN. 

Chief Clerk. 
A verified copy of the letter of the Principal Under Secretary, No. 258, dated 22nd October, 1860, 

was enclosed with this letter. 

SIR, 

SIR, 

No. 15. 
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SIR, 
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 22nd 

instant, informing me that His Excellency the Governor General, with the advice of the 
Executive Council, has been pleased to direct that the sentence of death passed upon George 
Swan for the murder of John Barton be remitted, on condition that he he imprisoned for 
life, with hard labour, in such gaols or penal establishments of the Colony as His Excellency 
may from time to time direct—the first three years to be passed in irons ; and that the prisoner 
is to be worked on Cockatoo Island until further orders; and that Mr. Justice Milford has 
been requested to allow him the benefit of a conditional pardon accordingly. 

I beg further to state, that a communication to this effect was forwarded by yesterday's 
mail to the Gaoler at East Maitland. 

I have, kc., 
JOHN O'NIELL HEENAN, 

Sheriff. 

SHEWETH 
That Petitioner was tried at Maitland Assizes on the 12th of September, 

1800, for murder, and was sentenced to death. While under that sentence, your Excel-
lency, with the advice of the Executive Council, extended your clemency towards me, and 
the result was that I received a sentence of imprisonment for life, and to be worked for the 
first three years in chains. To most men such a change would have been a happy one,— 
not so with me. The ties which bind me to earth are few ; to exist in the most abject 
state of poverty—imprisonment--or decrepitude, merely for the sake of living, is not my 
weakness, nor could I find the least happiness in any one of these. On the contrary, my lite 
would soon become insupportable—all hope being cut off—and I might soon be driven to 
the worst of alternatives, but one from which the bravest and most virtuous men have not 
shrunk ; aye, and even before all was lost. And yet I am not entirely bereft of hope ; 
something tells me that the guilty wretch will yet be found or give himself up to justice, 
so true is it that that All-wise Being who formed us seldom permits such huge crimes to 
remain unavenged. Still, instead of being a month or a year, it might be a period of years; 
but until then am 1 to drag out a miserable existence, the worst that Catl fall to the lot of 
man, simply because through some dubious circumstantial evidence, of the most flimsy 
description, I am brought in guilty by some of my countrymen, the majority of whom had 
pronounced me guilty before they saw the juror's box, and they too opposed to me in the 
most essential point—religion. This may seem a puerile and mistaken idea, bj4 when the 
recent riots and religious feuds are taken into consideration, and that all the inhabitants 
of Maitland were involved more or less in the affair, I with the rest, it may not appear so 
absurd, and particularly when I call to mind the language of my solicitor, "I shall not 
allow one Irishman on the jury." He kept his word, and Jam the victim. 1 know that it 
is hard to credit such an assertion, that men are predisposed before entering the box ; yet, 
when it is borne in mind that human nature is prone to believe in the guilt rather than 
the innocence of every person impeached, and that in nine cases out of ten they are carried 
away by rumours bruited about in public, and not unfrequently as ill-founded as fallacious 
and unstable, the thing is more easily digested. It is also certain that an atom of doubtful 
evidence in the hands of such people is hammered and forged through lapse of time into a 
chain that would gird and hold up the world. How many instances are there on record of 
men suffering death on circumstantial evidence, the public crying out with one voice, away 
with him, he is guilty. Some time elapses, and the actual culprit makes a clean breast of 
the affair—perhaps Ile is dying, or feels, as murderers always feel, a stinging remorse and 
compunction of conscience—then the public sympathises with the unfortunate one, and 
wonder bow they could be so blind and stupid—not prejudiced. Sympathy may be good 
for the living, though it cannot restore a dead parent, husband, or son. Several instances 
of the above nature have taken place in the Colonies within the last ten years, some of 
which I am sure have reached your Excellency's knowledge. Now, might it not have been 
precisely the ease with myself, only that your Excellency and others had strong doubts 
about it—perhaps owing to the gossamer texture of the fabric upon which the construction 
was raised. 

There was not one fact, nor the remotest approach to a fact, adduced on my trial, and 
though there was a host of witnesses examined on the part of the prosecution, not one of 

82—B 	 these 

No. 15. 
SHERIFF to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

Sheriff's Office, 
Sydney, 24 October, 1860. 

No. 16. 
PETITION of George Swan to Governor General. 

Cockatoo Penal Establishment, 
10 December, 1860. 

To Ws Excellency the Governor General of New South Wales and its Dependencies, 
a., b. b. 

The Humble Petition of George Swan,— 
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these ever saw Inc in company with the deceased—never saw me on the same road or in that 
locality; nay, it was even proved—not by my witnesses, for none was examined—that I was 
in Maitland for several hours previously to deceased being found. Judges invariably make 
it a rule in such eases, when summing up the evidence, to impress the jury upon this par-
ticular head—" And if there should he the shadow of a doubt resting upon your minds, let 
the prisoner have the full benefit of it." Was it done in any case ? Not so. No, I con-
sider that I was dealt with most unjustly, most unmercifully from first to last. Jam brought 
face to face for the seventh time with one of the prosecutors; he is asked,—Is that the man 
who was riding in the cart with deceased on the morning of the murder ? His answer each 
time was a positive negative. Again, touching this man not the least inquiry is made, and 
why ? Because they have one, dod think it unnecessary to hunt after the real perpetrator 
of this cold-blooded and daylight murder, and may he not have been one of those in evidence 
against me, as in the case of a poor old man who was hanged in '53, in Melbourne, when 
the principal prosecutor, a few months after the execution, turns out to be the actual mur-
derer. On his dying bed in Melbourne Gaol he acknowledges it. Had the old man been 
allowed time, he could have proved his innocence. I believe his case to have been exactly 
similar to my own ; for, had I have had time and fair play when arrested, I could indubitably 
have proved my entire innocence. Why, I ask, did Mr. Day not allow me to send for my 
witnesses at the examination, men whose testimony wonld have convinced both him and the 
world of the cleanness of my hands; verily, they hold the life of an individual without 
wealth in small esteem. He would not take any trouble in the matter, alleging as his reason 
that the prisoner would have ample facility afforded for subpcening his witnesses at the next 
assizes. And be it remembered that every circumstance at the time was fresh upon the 
memory of these men—strangers to me—trifling transactions of every-day business, trifles 
apparently, but clear and positive facts of my whereabouts the whole of that to me 
unlucky day ; and also facts as to my having on that day twenty (20) one-pound notes 
in my possession, and changing some of them at different times and places, so that I 
might have a sufficient amount of silver to cancel a number of small debts—debts for which 
no security was held and the payment of which could have been postponed to an indefinite 
period of time. I say, when this is borne in mind, and that not one of these men were 
called, either on my examination or at the trial, though I particularly requested Mr. Day to 
send for them, and subpcenaed them to attend at the trial, not one of whom, though in atten-
dance, was called by my barrister, I think the inference most be obvious to every person of 
sense, that is, that, I was offered up as a sacrifice. Mr. Windeyer's plea now is, that if those 
witnesses had been examined, their allegations must have hanged me. Oh ! most sapient 
barrister, and was I not found guilty and sentenced, with all your acumen and connivance ? 
By what right did Mr. W. hold back witnesses ? Ho had not my permission to do so. 
strongly desired it from the commencement of the proceedings. I had nothing to conceal. 
No; I strongly desired and wished all to be exposed and held up to the light of day, so that 
the gloom which enveloped me might be dispelled by the sum and force of truth. Is it at all 
possible that any sane man who had committed a murder and robbery, within a short distance 
from Maitland, would return again, in so short a space of time, and begin immediately to pay 
away the money of deceased. Surely such a glaring act of foolery is too preposterous and 
absurd to he believed. About me there was not the slightest attempt at secrecy or conceal-
ment—my actions were open and aboveboard—there was no occasion for disguise—all guilty 
men seek one—the money was my own. This fact itself speaks volumes in my behalf. 

There is one man in particular, your Excellency, who could clear me from this foul sus-
picion—this atrocious deed—and that is Mr. Fitzgerald, publican, of Lochinvar, and him I 
humbly entreat your Excellency to send for as soon as convenient ; that is, if your Excellency 
credits my unvarnished statement, or consider the life and liberty of an injured man like 
myself worth troubling about; not that his evidence directly will exonerate me, or that he 
knows anytlipg about me personally, save and except one single circumstance of the greatest 
importance to me and that is the name and residence of the carrier who gave me a lift from 
his, Mr. Fitzgerald's, house and bar (where I was partaking of some refreshments on the 
morning of the murder) into Maitland. 

And I pray your Excellency not to delay the inquiry, for, of a certainty, should you 
leave the colony, I shall have but small chance of establishing my innocence with your suc-
cessor, as the reply, in all probability, will be,—I know not anything concerning it—have 
nothing to do with it. 

And Oh ! will it not be a source of extreme satisfaction to you to know that you 
have not only been the means of saving a fellow-being's life, but also in restoring him to that 
liberty from which he has been most unjustly and shamefully deprived. 

In conclusion, I feel convinced, that should your Excellency take any interest in the 
affair, I shall of a verity receive my unconditional freedom; for if I be guilty of murder, 
under the circumstance, I justly merit death ; if not, and not one solitary fact adduced 
against me, I am entitled to the full privileges of a free man. . 

And now, may that Omniscient and Omnipotent Power, who knows the secrets of all 
men, so move you to commiseration with my wrongs that you may thereby be the instrument 
of my temporal and eternal redemption ; and may :Mr  in his infinite goodness, take you and 
yours under his especial protection, for ever and ever, which is the prayer of your most 
humble Petitioner. 

GEORGE SWAN. 

P.5.—I should have forwarded this statement sooner had I been permitted. 

MEMO. 
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26 December, 1860, 
Central Police Office. 

I am induced to permit George Swan to memorialize His Excellency the Governor 
General, solely with a view of application being made to Mr. Fitzgerald, publican of 
Lochinvar, to ascertain from him the fact of Swan's having been driven from his house to 
Maitland in the cart of a carrier, on the day of the murder, as I have no means of proving 
if such is the truth, or not, by any other mode. 

D. F. SCOTT, P.M., 

SIR, 
I am directed to refer to you, for inquiry and report, the accompanying Petition 

from the prisoner named in the margin, praying that Mr. Fitzgerald, of Lochinvar, may George Ewan. 
be referred to for certain information respecting his case. 

I have, &o, 
W. ELTARD. 

No. 18. 
POLICE MACIISTRATE, MAITLAND, to T/IE UNDER SECRETARY. 

Police Office, ifaitland, 
26 January, 1861. 

In reference to the accompanying Petition from the prisoner named in the 
margin, I beg to observe that previous to making my report on his first Petition, Mad a George Swan. 
personal interview with Mr. Fitzgerald, of Lochinvar, who informed me that he had never 
to his knowledge seen Swan until he saw him in the dock on his trial for the murder. 

The present Petition seems to me to be a copy of the first, with the exception that 
this contains an absurd statement, that the jury were prejudiced against Swan on religous 
grounds. I really believe that not one of the jurors knew or cared to what denomination 
the prisoner belonged. 

As to all other matters mentioned in this Petition I beg to refer you to my first 
report which was forwarded to you I think a day or two before Swan was reprieved 

I have, &c., 
EDWD. D. DAY, 

Police Magistrate. 

Syduey : Thorns Richards, Goeenunent Testes—MI 
(Price, 3c1.] 

MEMO. 

No. 17. 
TRE UNDER SECRETARY to POLICE MAGISTRATE, MAITLAND. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 5 January, 1861. 
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MR. JUSTICE MILFORD to CLERK OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL. 

Supreme Court House, 
Sydney, 25 September, 1860. 

SIR, 
I have the honor to request that the underwritten report of the trial and 

conviction of George Swan for murder may be laid before His Excellency the Governor 
General and the Executive Council. 

George Swan was tried and convicted before me, at the Maitland Assizes, on the 12th 
day of September instant, for the murder of John Barton, under the following circum-
stances :— 

Barton was a purchaser and vender of agricultural produce, living at Morpeth, and 
was accustomed to proceed round the neighbourhood with a cart for the purpose of making 
purchases. He used to carry ready money with him. On the 18th of April last, about 7 
o'clock in the morning, he left Morpeth with a cart and two horses, and £20 in a small bag, 
composed of £10 in notes, £5 in half-crowns, and £5 in shillings ; amongst them there 
might have been a few sixpenny pieces. 

He must have passed through Maitland between 8 and 9 o'clock, as lie was seen 
leaving that town by the Lochinvar and Wollombi Road about that time. Again he was 
seen twice on the road before reaching the junction of the Loehinvar and Wollombi Roads. 
On the latter occasion a man (not answering to the description of Swan) was riding with him 
in the cart. Be passed the junction of the two roads, and a mile or more on the Wollombi 
Road, at a place called Stoney Creek, he was seen for the last time alive; no person was 
then with him. About 4 o'clock that afternoon he was found shot through the head some 
two miles beyond where he was lost seen, and about 300 yards off the road. 

His cart and horses were there, but his bag of money was gone ; a small jagged pistol 
bullet was extracted from the skin of the skull. 

Now, as to the connection of Swan with this transaction, it appears that be had been 
discharged from the Maitland Gaol, on the 16th of March last, without any money; he then 
went to a man named Conn, who keeps a public-house at Maitland, and asked to board and 
lodge there, stating that he would pay for it when a man named Mark Turner, who owed 
him £40 odd, came down from up the country. He took up his residence there, apparently 
in distress, for he had no work, and he was borrowing small sums of money from many 
people. 

On the morning of the 18th of April, Conn told him that Mark Turner had conic 
down from the country, and recommended his looking after the money. Mark Turner lived 
at Lochinvar, about 7 miles from Maitland. Swan said he would go and get the money. 
He left Conn's house (before which Barton must have passed) about eight or half-past eight 
o'clock, and passed through the turnpike gate through which Barton had passed shortly ; he 
was seen again further on, a short distance on the main road. 

About 11 or 12 o'clock he returned to the turnpike gate and paid the keeper five 
shillings which he owed him, in half-crowns, wanting him to take three instead of two. He 
saw Conn just entering Maitland, and both the turnpike-keeper and Conn remarked to him 
that he could not have gone to Lochinvar in so short a time ; he said he had had a lift. 
Be went into the town, paid the small debts he owed, and made purchases and treated persons 
in a lavish manner. Most of the payments be made were in silver, especially in half-crowns. 
He told Conn that be had got only £20 from Mark Turner, and that he was to have the 
rest when a man named Bantu could be present, as be was present when he (Swan) gave the 
£49 into Turner's possession. 

106— 	 Swan 
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Swan remained in Maitland two days, and then left early in the morning for Sydney, 
without having intimated his intention of doing so. He was arrested by means of the 
telegraphic wire, on the 21st, as he reached Sydney ; there was only a very trifling sum of 
money in his possession. 

Mark Turner denied having ever received any money from Swan, or having ever 
paid him any, and even knowing him, and Bailiss said he was not present when any money 
was deposited with Turner. 

Swan gave no other account of how he got the money, or where he had been on the 
morning of the 18th of April, than that above stated. 

This alone would have constituted a very strong case of circumstantial evidence ; but 
the following additional circumstances were discovered by the active exertions of the Police 
Magistrate, and given in evidence. 

On the 24th of 31arch (he left the Gaol on the 16th) Swan took a small pair of 
pistols to a guntnaker in Maitland, and had 12 balls cast for them ; he also bought a flask of 
powder ; the balls fitted the barrel of the pistol very tightly. The flask and balls were 
wrapped up in a newspaper under the mattress of Swan's bed at Conn's public-house ; was 
seen shortly before the 18th April a small parcel similar to the powder flask, wrapped in a 
newspaper ; and some copper caps and a ball were found in the room. The evidence as to 
the size of the ball found was not very clear. A witness testified that on the morning of 
the 18th of April, before Swan started, he saw him doing something with what appeared to be 
the butt end of a pistol, but he could not see distinctly what it was, and Ile heard a sound 
as of the shutting of a spring knife. 

On the 14th of May, a little boy found a powder flask and four bullets wrapped up in a 
newspaper (published OD the 16th of March), apparently hidden under the carcase of an old 
omnibus just outside of Conn's yard, about 150 yards from the house. This flask and these 
bullets are like those sold to Swan on the 24th of March. I am disposed to think, however, 
that the bullet found in the murdered man's head was not quite so large as these bullets so 
found, but it was difficult to judge of its original size, as it was of a very irregular shape, 
probably from having passed through the bone of the skull. 

It will be remembered that Barton left his home with the money in a small bag; one 
of the witnesses stated that Swan in paying for a pair of boots on the day of the murder 
took the money from a dirty bag, and another bag of the same stuff having been made, 
similar to the one the man took with him to hold his money in, the witness stated that it 
was like the one from which she had seen Swan take the money. 
• The case rests altogether upon circumstantial evidence, but it is seldom that a case of 
this nature is so clearly established. 

I have, &m., 
SAML. FRED. MILFORD. 

PROCEEDINGS of the Executive Council, in the matter of the Capital Conviction q .  
George Swan. 

• EXTRACT FROM MINUTE, NO. 60-42.-1 October, 1860. 
Present :— 

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL. 
THE HONORABLE THE VICE-PRESIDENT OF THE COUNCIL. 
THE HONORABLE THE SECRETARY FOR LANDS. 
THE HONORABLE THE COLONIAL TREASURER. 
THE HONORABLE THE SECRETARY FOR PUBLIC WORKS. 

His Excellency the Governor General lays before the Council a Report from Mr. Justier. 
Milford of the case of George Swan, who was capitally convicted before His Honor, at the 
Circuit Court recently held at Maitland, of the murder of John Barton, and sentenced to 
suffer death. 

2 Mr. Justice Milford being in attendance is introduced, and the Report having 
been read in his presence, His Honor affords such further information in the ease as the 
Council deem necessary, and then withdraws. 

3. Having deliberated, the Council advise that the sentence of death passed upon 
George Swan, for the murder of John Barton, be allowed to take its course. 

EDWARD C. MERE WETHER, 
Clerk of the Council. 

THE UNDER SECRETARY to SHERIFF. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 2 October, 1800. 

I am directed to inform you that in the case of George Swan, capitally con-
victed before His Honor Mr. Justice Milford, at the Circuit Court at Maitland, on the 12th 
ultimo, of the murder of John Barton, and sentenced to suffer death, the sentence of the 
law is to be carried into effect, at Maitland, on Wednesday, the 24th instant, in the manner 
prescribed by the Act of Council, 17 Victoria, No. 40, and to request that you will apprise 
the unhappy man accordingly, and acknowledge the receipt of this letter. 

I have, clze., 
W. ELYARD. 

SIR, 

THE 
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THE UNDER SECRETARY /0 Ma. JUSTICE MILFORD. 

Colonial Secretary's Office, 
Sydney, 2 October, 1860. 

SIR, 
I am directed to inform you, that in the case of George Swan, capitally 

convicted before your Honor, at the Circuit Court at Maitland, on the 12th ultimo, of the 
murder of John Barton, and sentenced to suffer death, the sentence of the law is to be 
carried into effect, at Maitland, on Wednesday, the 24th instant, in the manner prescribed 
by the Act of Council, 17 Victoria, No. 40; and that the Sheriff has been instructed to 
apprise the unhappy man accordingly. 

I have, &a, 
W. ELYARD. 

SHERIFF to GAOLER, EAST MAITLAND. 
No. 60-638. 

MEMO. 
You are informed that in the case of George Swan, capitally convicted before 

His Honor Mr. Justice Milford, at the Circuit Court at Maitland, on the 12th ultimo, of 
the murder of John Barton, and sentenced to suffer death, the sentence of the law is to be 
carried into effect, at Maitland, on Wednesday, the 24th instant, in the manner prescribed 
by the Act of Council, 17 Victoria, No. 40, of which you are requested to apprise the 
unhappy man; and acknowledge receipt of this letter. 

Sheriff's Office, 
Sydney, 2 October, 1860. 

JOHN O'NEILL BRENAN, 
Sheriff. 

SHERIFF to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

Sheriffs Office, 
Sydney, 2 October, 1860. 

SIR, 
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of this date, informing 

me that in the case of George Swan, capitally convicted before His Honor Mr. Justice 
Milford, at the Circuit Court at Maitland, on the 12th ultimo, of the murder of John 
Barton, and sentenced to suffer death, the sentence of the law is to be carried into effect, at 
Maitland, on Wednesday, the 24th instant, in the manner prescribed by the Act of Council, 
17 Victoria, No. 40, of which I have caused the unhappy man to be apprised by this day's 
Mail. 

I have, &a, 
JOHN O'NEILL BRENAN, 

Sheriff. 

Sydney: Thomas Richards, Government Printer.-1601. 

[Price, id.] 
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No. 1. 
WATER POLICE MAGISTRATE to Tun UNDER SECRETARY. 

(No. 61-30.) 	 Water Police Office, 
Sydney, 26 February, 1861. 

SIR, 
Referring to a leading article iu the Empire newspaper, of the 23rd instant, 

and a letter signed "W. James" in the same paper, as well as to some remarks of anonymous 
writers subsequently published, in which blame is attached to this Department, relative.to 
matters connected with the Captain and crew of the barque " Norna," I think it proper to 
submit to the Honorable the Chief Secretary, as head of my Department, a detailed state-
ment of all the occurrences which came within my knowledge. 

2. The "Norna" arrived on Sunday, the 23rd December last, and the first complaint 
of any kind relative to the ship was made by Captain Crawford, against twelve of his crew, 
for disobedience of orders. They were apprehended on the evening of the 28th December, 
and, on bringing them to the watch-house, one of them named Budeen complained of being 
ill, and he was, by order of the Police Surgeon, sent to the Infirmary, and no report made 
to me about him afterwards. I was informed by the coxswain, who apprehended them, that 
Budeen had a bad leg, and, as that is a very common complaint amongst Lascars, I took no 
more notice of it. The remaining eleven men were brought before the Court en the 29th 
December, and, their refusal to work being fully proved, three of them, who consented to 
return to their duty, were sent back to their ship—the remaining eight, who still refused to 
go to their duty, were then sent to gaol for fourteen days. 

3: On the same day (the 29th) Catlin'', the serang, who was one of the three 
discharged, was given in charge, on board the ship, for disorderly conduct on board. Ile 
was brought before the Hem% on the 31st, and fined 10s., or 48 hours' imprisonment. 
There was no complaint made on this occasion against the Captain or second mate. 

4. On the 2nd January, Captain Crawford laid an information against Cathur, the 
serang, for disobedience, and he was apprehended on board the ship, on a warrant, and 
brought before the Bench, on the 3rd January, and found guilty, and sentenced to be 
imprisoned for 14 days. On this occasion, James Hill, the chief officer, was examined, •and 
never made the least allusion to any ill treatment of the men. 

5. The next complaint relative to the ship was laid on the 9th January, by James 
Hill, chief officer, against Antonio Charles, the second officer, who was apprehended on the 
9th January, and brought before the Bench on the 10th, and sentenced to two days' 
imprisonment, for disobeying the orders of the chief officer. 	The Captain and the chief 
officer had some disagreement, relative to the chief officer's right to complain against the 
second officer, and commenced an argument in Court which I bad to put a stop to, and Hill, 
the chief officer, then said that he could tell a good deal more if he liked ; and soots after-
wards, on my leaving the Beach, Hill attended in my room, and then, for the first time, 
mentioned the death of Caleel. I had Hill's statement at once taken down, and issued a 
warrant for Captain 'Crawford's apprehension, and admitted him to bail for his appearance 
on the following Monday. In the statement of Bill, he never mentioned that Cake] had 
been thrown overboard by the second officer. 

109—A 	 • 	6 
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6. On the 14th January, I wrote to the Crown Solicitor, telling him that I should 
wish that he, or some person from his office, would attend to conduct the ease on behalf of 
the Crown ; but the Crown Solicitor did not think that, iu that stage of the proceedings, the 
Crown Law Officers could interfere. 

7. There were eight of the Lascars at this time in custody for disobedience, and I 
would not punish them, pending the decision in the Captain's case. 

S. On the 16th January, during the investigation in Captain Crawford's case, 
evidence came out, showing Antonio Charles' culpability, and I at once issued a warrant for 
his apprehension, and he and Crawford were that day committed for trial, Crawford being 
admitted to bail. 

9. On the next day-17th January—while I was on the Bench, Mr. Moffitt appeared 
on behalf of the crew, and I told the Captain that I would not punish them in consequence 
of the evidence which had come out in the charge against him. The eight men then in 
custody were discharged, and Mr. Moffat at once exhibited three informations against the 
Captain, claiming the men's wages, on the ground of ill usage, and was about to exhibit 
others, when Captain Crawford said he would pay and discharge the men ; this offer was 
accepted, the informations were withdrawn, and the parties retired into one of the offices 
for the purpose of making out their accounts, 

10. I may here rental k that in all Courts, from the Supreme Court to Courts of 
Petty Sessions, money recovered in actions for debt or damage is invariably handed over to 
the attorney in the cause. Mr. Banbury was, therefore, right in paying it into Mr. Aloffat's 
hands, and it is a popular error to suppose that seamen's wages should be paid through the 
Shipping Master, there being no Colonial law or regulation to that effect. Wages of seamen 
deceased, or left in the Infirmary, and none other, are paid into the Shipping Office. 

11. Mr. James lia.s not fairly at ited what occurred when he applied to me on behalf 
of Messrs. Griffiths and Banning, for a warrant or summons against Mr. Moffat, for obtaining 
money under false pretences. When Mr. James Caine to my office it was after hours, and I 
was the only person remaining. After making his statement, [said I could not see any false 
pretences in the case, nor would I undertake to draw an information, and Mr. Moffat being 
himself a lawyer, I advised that Messrs Griffiths and Fanning should get their own solicitors, 
Messrs. Holden and McCarthy, to prepare an information ; intimating, at the same time, that 
as the complainants as well as the defendant altresided within the jurisdiction of the Central 
Police Office, and not in mine, that the information should be presented there; adding that 
if Captain Scott objected to take it, I would grant a summons if the information disclosed 
any offence. You are aware that my City jurisdiction is bounded on the south by a line 
drawn from the entrance gate at Government House, along the centre of Bridge-street, 
Church Hill, and Gas-lane, to Darling Harbour ; and it is not usual for Captain Scutt or me 
to take cases of parties residing out of our districts. It was therefore in accordance with 
usual courtesy that application should, in the first instance, be made to the Magistrate at the 
Central Office. 

12. From the foregoing statement you will perceive, that the moment I was made 
acquainted with the treatment of Caleel I t:Lok every necessary step to investigate the matter, 
and that I even applied to the Crown Solicitor (see copy of note annexed) to prosecute 
on behalf of the Crown ;—that I was not Ina le acquainted with the complicity of the second 
mate (Antonio Charles), until it was accidentally disclosed in the evidence given by one of 
the witnesses when examined against Crawfoid;—Charles was immediately apprehended and 
ecpmitted at the same time as his commander c,—the principal witness, mil (the chief mate), 
bad never accused Charles of throwing Caleel overboard. 

13. I was never informed that Budeen's illness was caused by ill treatment, but I 
knew he had been s-nt to Hospital, having a bad leg. Had he expressed any desire to make 
a Complaint, I would (as on similar occasions) have proceeded to the Infirmary to take his 
information. 

I have, ke., 
S. NORTH, 

W. P. M. 

[Enclosure in No. 1.] 

Water Police Office, 
14 January, 1861- 

My dear Mr. Williams, 
Captain Crawford, of the British ship "Noma," now in this port, has been apprehended 

on a warrant granted by me on the information of his chief officer, in which be charges him with 
causing the death of a Laseor seaman, whilst on the voyage from Hong Kong to Sydney, by excessive 
floggings and a series of cruelties. The ease is so important that I should feel gratified if the Crown 
Law Officers prosecuted in the ease, as it will require a thorough sifting. Can you come down about 
half-past ten, or send some competent person from your office to conduct the ease? 

Yours. eics. 
S. NORTH. 

A true copy-9. Noma 

No. 2. 
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No. 2.- 
WATER POLICE MAGISTRATE to TUE UNDER SECRETARY. 

(No. 61-31.) 	 Water Police Office, 
Sydney, 1 Alert/a, 1861. 

Referring to any letter of the 26th instant, No. 61-30, respecting the case of 
the crew of the Barque "Norna," I think it proper to make some remarks on a declaration 
made at Newcastle by Allee and Carder, two of the crew, respecting the man Budeen. 

I. The Water Police boat never boarded the "Norna' ; the vessel was alongside the 
wharf, and the Water Police went on board by land to apprehend the men. 

2. The coxswain and constables inost positively deny the Lascars having said any See eDnegatent 
thing about wanting twenty-four hours' liberty, to go on shore to complain 
before a Magistrate of the murder of Caleel, and the ill usage of Budecn. 

3. The Lasears never repeated the statement before me at the Police Office. 
4. I never saw Budeen's back, and therefore could not have made any remark about 

it; so that the declaration of Allee and Carder, published in the Empire of 
yesterday, is a tissue of falsehoods from beginning to end, at which I am not 
surprised, as these men, being Iffahommedans, do not, I believe, care what 
they say unless they are sworn on the Koran. 

I enclose a letter from Doctor Rutter, by whose orders Budeen was sent to Hospital 
-on the evening of his arrest, in which he states the man was suffering apparently from fever 
and congestion of the lungs. 

Mr. Houston, House Surgeon at the Infirmary, informed me yesterday that he saw no JuanB.8mo,  
wounds or laceration on Budeen, and that his disease was dysentery. Dr. Macfarlane, who (Interpreter), 

William Martin, attended to Budeen's case, confirms Dr. Ilouston's statement. 	 Wm. Hampton, 
I annex declarations made by the individuals named in the margin. 	 Ben Johneon, 

and 
I have, Ste., 	 Aimee Shearer, 

of the Water S. NORTH, 	Molleeroree. 
W. P.M. 

[Enclosure 1 in. No. 2.] 
February 27, 1861. 

I have the honor to report that I was sent for to visit the watch-house of the Water Police 
Station. on December 29.* 1860, my attention was called to a sick Lasear, who I found in a weak and 
prostrate state, and advised his removal to the Infirmary. I was not informed that the man had received 
any injuries. Ile was in a very low state (apparently from his difficult breathing), suffering from fever 
and congestion of the lungs. 

I have, tke.. 
S. North, Esq., J.P., 	 JOHN Y. RUTTER, 

Police Magistrate. 	 Police Surgeon. 

• Dr. Rutter luts mistaken the date, it was the 28th December, not the 29th, that Bacon was 
sent to Hospital.—S. N. 

[Enclosure 2 in No. 2.] 

New South Wales, City of Sydney,} 
to wit. 

I, Juan Basilio, of the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, boarding-house 
keeper, do solemnly and sincerely declare, that I am a Christian; I recollect the first day that the crow 
of the " Norna" were brought to the Water Police Office ; I interpreted in the case: they did not com-
plain of being flogged, but said they wanted their wages and discharge ; the Captain said he would not 
give it to them; they did not say that one man had been murdered and one severely beaten: the first 
I heard of the murder of that man was when the crew were brought up a second time, about fourteen 
days after the first time ; after the men came out of gaol. they came to the Water Police Office, and 
would not go on board ; and I believe the Captain took a warrant out for them ; and they then told me 
that one man had been killed onboard, and the next day I heard there was a warrant for the Captain ; 
and I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and in virtue of the 
provisions of an Act made and passed in the ninth year of the Reign of Her present Majesty, intituled 

An Act for the mire effectual abolition of Oaths end Affirmations taken and made in various Department: 
14 of the Government of New South Wales, and to substitute Declarations in lieu thereof, and for the 
4,  suppression of voluntary and extra-judicial Oaths and Affidavits?' 

bis 
JUAN sr BASILIO. 

Taken and declared at the City of Sydney, 	 mark. 
in said Colony, this 1st day of March, 
A.D. 1861 (declarant having heard the 
contents read, and appearing to me to 
understand the same), before me,— 

Bra. &mum 
A Commissioner for Affidavits. 

STE, 

[Enclosure 
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[Enclosure 3 in No. 2.] 
Noy South Wades, City of Sydnay,} 

to wit.. 
I, William Martin, of the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, coxswain in the 

Water Police, Sydney. do solemnly and sincerely declare, that on the 28th December last, I went on 
board the barque "Norna," to apprehend twelve of the .crew on a charge of disobedienoe ; I took 
Constables-Hampton, Johnson, and Shearer with me ; the "Norna" was alongside Botts' Wharf, and 
we walkodadown to her ; on going on board, I saw the mate and second mate, and told them to muster 
the crew ; and I then called over thenames of the men in the warrant, and when I came to Budeen's 

, name, one of the mates said be is sick, and I said, as his name is on the wan-ant I most take him ; 
'Macon was scarcely able to walk, I had to get two of his comrades to assist him; when he was 
brought to the watch-house, Mr. North came in, and I pointed Budeen out to him, and said he was sick ; 
Mr. North told me to send for the Police Surgeon, which I did, and Budeen was that evening sent to the 
Infirmary ; AD. North never looked at Budeen's back in the watch-house; none of the men complained 
to me of being flogged ; some of them said something about Bodeen not being treated well, and I 
thought' they referred to his bad feet ; none of them said a word about a man being killed on board ; 
nothing was said about a sore back-, and I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the 
same to be tame, and in virtue of the provisions of an Act made and passed in the ninth year of the reign 
of Her present Majesty, intituled, " An Act for the more effectual abolition of Oaths and Affirmations 
" taken and made in various Departments of time Government of New South Wales, and to substitute 
" Declarations in lieu thereof, and for the suppression of voluntary and extra-judicial Oaths and Affidavits," 

• WILLIAM MARTIN. 
Taken and declared at the City of Sydney, 

in said Colony. this 1st day of March, 
A.D. 1861, before me,— 

13171,13CRY, 
A Commissioner for Affidavits. 

[Enclosure 4 in No. 2.] 
• New South Wales, City of Sydney, 

to wit. 3 
I, William Hampton, of the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, a constable in 

the Sydney Water Police, do solemnly and sincerely declare, that the first time the Water Police went 
on board the "Noma " I was one of the party, and none of as went into the cabin ; there was no com-
plaint whatever made about the death of Cared, or of Bacon being ill used ; it appears that Captain 
Crawford made it mistake in charging Budecn with disobedience, as when we were bringing them 
away from the ship we met the Captain, who said he did not mean to have included him in the warrant; 
Budecn had bad feet, and could not walk, and 1 never heard there was anything else the matter with 
him; this was about five or six days after the 'Nona " arrived in port; Eudeen was sent to the 
Infirmary that evening ; none of the Lasears told me they bad any complaint to make; and I make this 
solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to he true, and in virtue of the provisions of an 
Act made mid passed in the ninth year of the Reign of Her present Majesty, intittdcd, " An Act for the 

more effectual abolition of Oaths and Affirmations taken and made in various Departments of the Govern-
" meat of New South Wales, and to substitute Declarations in lieu thereof, and for the suppression of 
" voluntary and extra-judicial Oaths and Affidavits." 

WILLIAM HAMPTON. 
Taken and declared at the City of Sydney, 

in said Colony, this 27th day of Feb- 
ruary, A.D. 1661, before me,— 

En. MIMICRY, 
A Commissioner for Affidavits. 

[Enclosure 5 in NC. 2.] 
New South \Vales, City of Sydney,' 

to wit, 
Ben Johnson, of the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, a constable in the 

Sydney Water Police, do solemnly and sincerely- declare, that the first time the Water Police went on 
board the" Norm," I was ordered to accompany them, and arrived on board about five animates after 
Coxswain Martin and Constables Hampton and Shearer, whom I found standing on the after hatch with 
the chief and second officers ; I heard the coxswain calling out their names: Budeen answered as 
well as the rest, and the chief officer, Mr. Hill, made a. remark that he did not think that Captain 
Crawford meant to have included him (Bardeen) in the warrant, as he was sick, and had not been able 
to work—also that the Captain said Inc was going to send him to the hospital ;. Coxswain Martin asked 
Ilim if there Was another man on board of the same 'lame; the chief officer said "No," the coxswain 
then said as his name was on the warrant he was bound to take him into custody ; Bodeen appeared to 
have bad feet, as he could hardly walk ; after bringing them to the lock-up, and as the lockup-keeper 
was entering their names in the book, Mr. North called in on his way home and saw nucleon sitting on 
at form ; he asked what was the matter with hum, and Coxswain Martin said Ile was sick, and Mr. North 
ordered the Police Surgeon to be sent fur; 1 heard no complaints of the men having been ill treated ; 
and I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and in virtue of the 
provisions of an Act made and passed in the ninth year of the Reign of Her present Majesty. intituled, 
" A n Act for the more effectual abolition of' Oaths and Affirmations taken and made in various Departments 
" of the Goternment of New South Waks, and to substitute Declarations inn !ICU thereof,  and for the sup-
" pression of voluntary and extra-judicial Oaths and Affidavits." 

BEN JOHNSON. 
Taken and declared at the City of Sydney, 

in said Colony, this 1st day of March, 
A a 1861, before me,— 

Ems. BUNBORT, 
A Commissioner for Affidavits. 

[Enclosure 
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[Enclosure 6 in No. 2.] 
New South Wales, City of Sydney, } 

to wit, 	. 	 , 	. 
I, James Shearer, of the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, a constable in 

the Water Police, Sydney, do solemnly and sineerely.deelare, that on the 28th of December last I 
went with Coxswain Martin and Constatles Hampton and Johnson on board the barque "Noma ;" none 
of us went into the cabin, but Rasa the chief and second, officerS,Mn deck ; Coxswain 'Martin then 
acquainted the chief officer with his business, and ha ordered the scrang to call the men aft; Coxswain 
Martin then called out their names, and they all answefed to them.; When Budeen came. tip, Mr. Mill, 
the chief office, said he did not think he was to go, and Captain Crawford Must have made a mistake, 

. an he (the Captain) was going to send him to the hospital along with two'others ; the chief officer did 
not say what was the matter with him, onlk thv, he Was rick'; Feseorted him up frmutthe ship t6 the 

' watchhouse along with two of his shipniattie who het-dated him along the road, as. he walked ,with 
difficulty on account of his feet being bad ; When we arrived at the Watch-bowie Mr. North toll& what 
was the matter with him : Coxswain Martin said he was sick ; Mr. North then said, 4 ' If he is sick, the 
Police Surgeon had better he sent for," and I then went up to Dr. Rutter, who mine down and ordered 
him to be sent to the Infirmary ; I did not hear any of them complain of ill usage ; and I make this 
solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be One, and in virtue of the provisions of an 
Act made and passed in the ninth' year of the Reigu of Her present Majesty, intituled, An Art for the 
"more effectual abolition of Oaths and Affirmations Ye/emend made in various Departments of the Gomm-
" meta of Nero South Wain, and to substitute Declarations in lieu thereof and for the suppression of 
" toluntariland extrajudicial Oaths and Affidavits."  

JAMES SHEARER. 
Taken and declared at the City of Sydney, 	' 

in said Colony, this 1st day of March, . 
1 

A.D. 1861, before me,— 
Rti. Ilwreurtv, 

A Commissioner for Affidavits. 

Not  3. 

CROWN SOLICITOR to RESIDENT SURGEON, SYDNEY INFIRMARY. 

Crown Solicitor's ffire, 
Sydney, 27 February, 1861. 

I do myself the honor to inform you that it is contemplated taking proceedings 
against the late master and second officer of the vessel "Noma," in respect of adcged ill 
usage by them of a min named "Bodeen," who was recently in the Sydney Infirmary—
will you have the goodness to let me know:— 

let. As to the condition of this man when received into the Infirmary ? 
2nd. Whether there were merks upon his body appearing to be the result of 

flogging or ill treatment ? 
3rd. Whether, supposing the man to be in a dying state, such a condition is in 

your opinion caused by ill usage, arid also at the same time givt untony 
information which may be useful in this ease ? 

1 have, Sze., 
JOHN WILLIAMS, 

Crown Solicitor. 

Sydney Infirmary, 
27 February, 1861. 

In answer to your inquiries in respect of alleged ill usage of a man named " Budeonr 
who was recently in the Infirmary, I have the honor to inform you that,— 

(1st.) On admission, on the 28th December last, late in the evening, the man was in such a 
low depressed state that it was necessary to administer stimulants. This low state was 
probably the result of an attack of dysentery from which ho seemed to have been suffering 
for some time previously. 

(2nd.) That, on examination, no marks of any kind were found on his body. 
(3rd.) That Dr. Macfarlane, under whose care the man was placed, is of opinion (in which I 

agree) that, supposing "Budeen " to be in a dying state, there are no reasons known to 
him for believing that state to be the result of ill treatment. 

I beg to add that "Bodeen " was convalescent, and able to leave the ward some time before his 
removal to the ship on the 22nd instant. 

I have, See, 
'W. HOUSTON, 

John Williams, Esq., 	 Resident Surgeon. 
Crown Solicitor. 

No. 4. 
' POLICE MAGISTRATE, NEWCASTLE, to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

O. H. M. S. 
New South Wales Electric Telegraph. 

Received the following Message from Newcastle Station, at 5h. 24m., 26th February, 1861:— 
Hearing late yeste, day afternoon that Bodeen was dying, I went on board the 

" Norna " and took his affidavit of his ill usage by the late captain and late second mate, 
both now under sentence for the death of Caleel. Dr. :Morgan thinks Thirteen will die. 
The " Norna" sails for China to-morrow morning, perhaps you would wish to detain her. 

109—B 	 No. 5. 

Srn, 

[Enclosure in No. 3.] 

Sir, 
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No. 5. 
POLICE MAGISTRATE, NEWCASTLE, to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

O. H. M. S. 

New South Wales Electric Telegraph. 
Received the following Message front Newcastle Station, at Oh. 40m., 27th February, 1861 :— 

I have ordered the "Norna " to be stopped. The affidavit of Budeen, and the 
tleclaration of three Lascars namely, Alice, quartermaster ; Carder, serang Jahid, second 
Uncial, will be sent you by ;his morning's post ; those three were examined as witnesses in 
'Sydney. 

No. 6. 
POLICE MAGISTRATE, NEWCASTLE, to CROWN SOLICITOR, SYDNEY. 

0. IL M. S. 
New South Wales Electric Telegraph. 

Received the following Message from Newcastle Station, at 5h. 34m., 27th February, 1861 :— 
Dr. Morgan was called in on Monday night, and reports Budeen much better to-day, 

but not out of danger. I have requested Captain Wilson to detain the vessel for two (2) 
days, when Budeen may be well enough to sail. There is a strong impression on Budeen's 
mind that he will die if left behind ; his only safety is to be with his countrymen. 

No. 7. 
POLICE MAGISTRATE, NEWCASTLE, to CROWN SOLICITOR, SYDNEY. 

O. If. K S. 
II 	 New South Wales Electric Telegraph. 
Received the following Message from Newcastle Station, at 5h. 46m., 28th February, 1861 :— 

I was on board the " Norna " 5 rat., with Dr. Morgan, who states that the Lasear 
Budeen is so much better that a sea voyage is likely to re-establish his health. " Noma " 
sails to-night, or in the morning. 

Sydney: Thome Riebards,Government PrInter.-1861. 

[Price, 2d.] 
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Rtgislatibe Monthly. 

NEW SOITTII WALES. 

BARQUE " NORNA." 
(FURTHER CORRESPONDENCE.) 

Ordered by  the Legislative Assenably to be Printed, 5 March, 1861. 

POLICE MAGISTRATE, NEWCASTLE, to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Police Office, Newcastle, 
28 February, 1861. 

I have the honor to inform you that I was, at 5 p.m., this afternoon, on board 
the " Noma" with Dr. Morgan, who states that he considers the Lascar "13udeen" so far 
recovered as to be able to proceed to sea, and that a sea voyage is most likely to re-establish 
his health. 

I have, therefore, taken off all restrictions from the "Norna" sailing. 

I enclose Dr. Morgan's Certificate in the case. 

I have, &c., 
BELENUS SCOTT, P.M. 

[Enclosure.] 
Newcastle, 28 February, 1861. 

I certify that I have this day seen the Lasear "Bodeen," and consider him so far recovered 
as to be able to proceed to sea. I think a sea voyage is most likely to ft-establish his health. 

C. W. MORGAN, 

[Price, Id.] 	 113— 
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:liegiolatibe Cteamblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE-INSOLVENT LAW. 
(PETITION FROM MESSRS. ANDERSON AND CAMPBELL.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 12 Nara, 1861. 

To the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales, in Parliament assembled. 
The humble Petition of Samuel Anderson and John Campbell, of King-street, in 

the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, Mont and Corn 
Factors,— 

SZEWETH 
That your Petitioners, trading under the firm of Anderson, Campbell, and Co., 

sold, in the usual course of trade, for cash, to one Patrick Barron, on or about the 21st day 
of February, 1860, a quantity of goods. 

That, from the evidence adduced at the trial for the plaintiff hereinafter mentioned, 
it appears that the said Patrick Barron had the cash in his house ready to pay for a portion 
of the said goods at the time of the purchase. That the defendants called upon the said 
Patrick Barron for payment, on or about the 22nd day of February, 1860, when the said 
Patrick Barron paid for a portion of the said goods ; but, being unable to pay for the 
remainder, offered to return to your Petitioners the goods not paid for, which were accord-
ingly accepted by them. 

That, in about five weeks after such payment and return as aforesaid, the said Patrick 
Barron became insolvent. 

That, in a short time after the declared insolvency of the said Patrick Barron, the 
Official Assignee of his estate applied to your Petitioners for the re-delivery of the said 
goods so returned, and also for the return of the money paid, with which demand your 
Petitioners refused to comply. 

That, shortly after the refusal of your Petitioners to comply with such demand of the 
Official Assignee, that gentleman instituted an action at law against your Petitioners in the 
Supreme Court of this Colony, for the recovery of the said cash paid and the value of the 
goods returned. 

That your Petitioners defended the said action, and the trial came on for hearing on 
the 1st day of March, 1861, before Mr. Justice Wise, and a jury of four, when, under the 
substantial direction of the Judge, a verdict was returned against your Petitioners, whereby 
your Petitioners have not only to repay the value of their own goods, but actually to return 
the cash received for goods sold for cash, together with the costs of suit. 

That your Petitioners disavow all knowledge of the insolvent state of the said Patrick 
Barron at the time of these transactions, in February, 1860, they not having had any former 
transactions with him, and he being quite a stranger to your Petitioners. 

That your Petitioners very respectfully submit to your Honorable House that this 
judgment is fraught with manifest injustice and great danger to the Mercantile Community, 
and your Petitioners therefore humbly pray that your Honorable House will take the ease 
into your consideration, and act in such manner in the premises as to your Honorable House 
may seem meet. And your Petitioners, as in duty bound, will ever pray, &c. 

SAMUEL ANDERSON, 
JOHN CAMPBELL. 

[Price, ld.] 	 127— 
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Regiolatibe gtoormblp. 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE-INSOLVENT LAW. 
(TRADE PROTECTION SOCIETY.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 15 March, 1861. 

To the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales. 

The Petition of the undersigned, on behalf of the Members of the Sydney Trade 
Protection Society,—, 

Humwr &METH :— 

That, in the opinion of your Petitioners, the Insolvent Law at present in force 
in this Colony is unsuited to the requirements of its trade, and to the social advancement 
of its people. 

That the original Insolvent Act was passod at a time of commercial depression and 
distress, when some such measure was imperatively necessary to protect the interests of the 
Colony and to save it from ruin ; and that, in all subsequent legislation, the principles of 
that Act have been adhered to. 

That the circumstances of the Colony having since undergone a great change, the 
law in question is found to afford an undue protection to fraudulent debtors, and to work most 
unsatisfactorily so far as it affects the interests of all other parties concerned. 

Your Petitioners therefore humbly pray, that your Honorable House will take this 
subject into your consideration, and will pass an Insolvency Act suited to the present 
requirements of the Colony. 

SAML. THOMPSON, 
Chairman, 

[Price, 14.] 	135.- 
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Regtolatuie numbIg. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

WORKING OF THE INSOLVENT LAW. 

PROGRESS REPORT 

FROM THE 

SELECT COMMITTEE 

ON THE 

WORKING OF THE INSOLVENT LAW; 
TOGETHER WITH 

THE PROCEEDLNGS OF THE COMMITTEE, 

AND 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE. 

ORDERED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY TO BE PRINTED, 
8 May, 1861. 

SYDNEY: 
THOMAS RICHARDS, GOVERNMENT PRINTER, 

PHILLIP-STREET. 

1861. 
[Price, is. 7th] 	 WIN—A 
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EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES No. 114. TUESDAY, 12 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

17. Working of the Insolvent Law :—Mr. Hart moved, pursuant to amended notice,— 
(1.) That a Select Committee, with power to send for persons and papers, be appointed 
to inquire into and report upon the working of the present Insolvent Law in New 
South Wales. 
(2.) That such Committee consist of Mr. Smart, Mr. Rotten, Mr. Love, Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. McArthur, Mr. Piddington, Mr. Dickson, Mr. Walsh, and the 
Mover. 
Debate ensued. 
Question put and passed. 

• 

VOTES No. 50. TUESDAY, 9 APRIL, 1861. 

17. Working of the Insolvent Law :—M•. Hart moved, pursuant to notice, That Copies of 
the following Documents be referred to the Select Committee now sitting in reference 
to the Working of the Insolvent Law, viz.:— 
(1.) Return relating to Insolveneies, ordered by the Legislative Assembly on the 8th 
August, 1856, and laid upon the Table on the 17th December following. 
(2.) Part Return and further Returns relating to Insolvencies, ordered by the 
Legislative Assembly on the 30th March, 1858, and severally laid upon the Table 
on the 13th July, 17th and 25th November in that year. 
(3.) Petition from Mr. J. N. Beit, respecting proceedings in the Insolvency Jurisdic-
tion of the Supneme Court—received by the Legislative Assembly on the 23rd Deem-
bet, 1858. 
(4.) Petition from Messrs. Samuel Anderson and John Campbell, alleging that they 
had sustained certain injuries arising out of a Judgment delivered in the Supreme 
Court in the matter of Sempill (Official Assignee) v. Anderson and Campbell, and 
praying a consideration of their case—received by the Legislative Assembly on the 5th 
March last. 
(6.) Petition from certain Members of the Trade Protection Society, praying for the 
passing of an Insolvency Act suited to the present requirements of the Colony—
received by the House on the 12th March last. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES No. 67. WEDNESDAY, 8 MAY, 1861. 

11. Working of the Insolvent law :—Mr. Hart as Chairman brought up a Progress Report 
from, and laid upon the Table the Minutes of the Proceedings of, and Evidence taken 
before the Select Committee for whose consideration and report the working of the 
Insolvent Law was referred, on the 12th February last. 
Ordered to be printed. 

cox-Tr:Frs. 
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WORKING OF THE INSOLVENT LAW. 

PROGRESS REPORT. 

THE SELECT COSTNTTi 	hE of the Legislative Assembly, appointed on the 
12th February last, " to inquire into and report upon the working 
" of the present Insolvent Law in New South Wales," "with power to 
" send for persons and papers," and to whom were referred, on the 
9th ultimo, various Returns relating to Insolvencies, together with 
the several Petitions of Mr. 3'. N. Beit, Messrs. Anderson and 
Campbell, and certain Members of the Trade Protection Society, have 
agreed to the following Progress Report :— 

Your Committee have examined elel;en Witnesses, whose evidence 
is appended hereto, and will be found deserving of great attention, upon 
the important question submitted to them. 

The approaching Prorogation of the Parliament will prevent your 
Committee from pursuing their investigation, and they recommend the 
resumption of the inquiry during the next Session. By that time, the 
Committee have reason to believe that the measure lately introduced into 
the Imperial Parliament by Sir Richard. Bethell will have passed into law, 
and will form a guide to the local Legislature in its deliberations. 

JAMES HART, 
_Legislative Assembly Chamber, 	 Chairman. 

Sydney, 8 May, 1861. 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. 

FRIDAY, 15 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
Mr. Dick, 	 Mr. Piddington. 

In the absence of a Quorum of the Committee the meeting, convened this day 
lapsed. 

THURSDAY, 21 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
Mr. Hart, 	 I 	Mr. Love, 

Mr. McArthur. 
On motion of Mr. McArthur, J. Hart, Esq., called to the Chair. 
Votes No. 19, 12th instant, Entry 17, ordering inquiry into the working of the 

present Insolvent Law,—before the Committee. 
Committee deliberated in respect to the conduct of the matter referred. 
It was Resolved :— 

That the Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates be summoned to give evidence 
at the following sitting. 

Deliberation further, touching the expediency of obtaining the reference of all Papers 
and Petitions relative to the Jurisdiction in Insolvency. 

Motion made and Question agreed to. 
[Adjourned till Wednesday, 27th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 27 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
/ Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. McArthur, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Wmdeyer. 

Letter from the Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates
' 
 under date 25th instant, 

addressed to the Clerk of the House, in reply to summons, stating that it will be impossible 
for him "(without a neglect of public duty)" to attend before the Committee until next week,— 
laid before Committee. 

Committee deliberated, proposing further witness and present adjournment. 
[Adjourned till Tuesday, 5th March, at Eleven o'clock.] 

TUESDAY, 5 MARCH, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Dick, Mr. Piddington, 
Mr. Love, 	 Mr. Smart, 

Mr. Walsh. 
W. A. Purefoy, Esq., Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates, called in and 

examined. 
F. J. Garrick, Esq., also summoned this day, in attendance, but examination post-

poned until to-morrow. 
[Adjourned till to-morrow, 6th instant, at half-past  Ten o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 6 MARCH, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
Mr. Hart, 	 I 	Mr. Piddington. 

In the absence of a Quorum of the Committee, the naecting called this day lapsed. 
Mr. F. J. Garrick, a witness, in attendance. 

[To be convened to-morrow, 7th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 
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THURSDAY, 7 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Dickson, Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Love, 

	

	 Mr. Piddixigton, 
Mr. Walsh. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
F 	GRrrick, Esq., Solicitor, railed in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
W. A. Purefoy, Esq., Chief Commissioner of Ineavent Estates, called in and further 

examined. 
Messrs. Dean, Thurlow, and Harper, to be summoned. 

Adjourned till Wednesday, 13th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT:— 

J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Dick, Mr. McArthur, 
Mr. Love, 	 Mr. Piddington, 

Mr. Smart. • 
W. Thurlow, Esq., Solicitor, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. J. Harper called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Attendance of Mr. W. Dean, by request excused this day. 
Mr. Webb, Secretary, Trade Protection Society, and Mr. Dean to be summoned. 

[Adjourned till Tuesday, 19th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

TUESDAY, 19 MARCH, 1861. 
Mum:mils PRESENT :— 

None. 

In the absence of a Quorum (no Member proceeding to the Committee Boom), 
the meeting called this day lapsed. 

Mr. W. H. Webb, a witness, in attendance. 

WEDNESDAY, 27 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. McArthur, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
D. Smith, Esq., Chairman, Chamber of Commerce, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
E. Knox, Esq., called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
J. L. Montefiore, Esq., called in and examined. 
Messrs. T. C. Breillat and G. King to be summoned. 

[Adjourned till Thursday, 4th April, at Eleven o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 4 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT:— 

Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Smart. 
In the absence of a Quorum of the Committee, the meeting convened this day lapsed. 
Further witnesses for summons, Messrs. A. Macfarlane, T. W. Bowden, and W. Dean. 

FRIDAY, 12 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

I. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Love, 	 • Mr. McArthur. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
G. King, Esq., called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
T. C. Breillat, Esq., called in and examined. 
Messrs. A. Macfarlane and T. W. Bowden in attendance—examinations postponed. 
Mr. W. Dean's request to be excused attending to-day, complied with. 

[Adjourned till Wednesday, 17th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 
• WEDNESDAY, 
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WEDNESDAY, 17 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. McArthur, 	 Mr. Piddington, 

Mr. Smart. 
A. Macfarlane, Esq., Barrister-at-Law, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
T. W. Bowden, Esq., called in and examined. 
Mr. W. Dean, also summoned this day, not in attendance. 	 • 
Committee deliberated upon supplementing the evidence already taken by that of 

the Assignees in Insolvency. 
Messrs. Perry and Morris, Official Assignees, and Mr. Dean, to be called at the next 

meeting. 
[Adjourned till Friday, 19th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

FRIDAY, 19 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

None. 
In the absence of a Quorum (no Member proceeding to the Committee Room), the 

meeting convened this day lapsed. 
Messrs. F. W. Perry, and J. P. Mackenzie (summoned in mistake for Mr. Morris), 

Official Assignees, in attendance. 
[To be called on Wednesday, 24th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 24 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBER PRESENT :— 

Mr. Hart. 
In the absence of a Quorum of the Committee, the meeting called to-day lapsed. 
Messrs. F. W. Perry and J. Morris, Official Assignees, in attendance. 
(Air. W. Dean communicated the circumstance of a serious accident as having 

prevented him from attending on the previous day, and as not permitting him to come 
before the Committee.) 

Mr. Purefoy, the Chief Commissioner, to be also further summoned. 
[To be convened on Friday, 26th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

FRIDAY, 26 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT 

Mr. Hart, 	 I 	Mr. Piddington. 
In the absence of a Quorum of the Committee, the meeting called this day lapsed. 
W. A. Purefoy, Esq., in attendance ; also, J. Morris, Esq. 
Note received from F. W. Perry, Esq., requesting his absence may be excused, as 

arising from indisposition. 
(Messrs. Perry, Morris, and Belt, to be summoned.) 

[To be convened, Wednesday, 1 May, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 1 MAY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

None. 
In the absence of a Quorum (no Member proceeding to the Committee Room), the 

meeting called to-day lapsed. 
Messrs. Perry, Morris, and Belt, respectively attending. 

[To be convened to-morrow, 2nd instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 2 MAY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Piddington, 	 Mr. Wincleyer. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
And the 'witness named for 11 o'clock not being in attendance,— 
Committee deliberated, whether at the present period of the Session to take further 

evidence or to pnoeeed at once to a final or progress report. 
It 
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It was Resolved :— 
Tat the Committee do not wait to take further evidence during the current 

Session. 
Committee further deliberated. 
Messrs. Morris and Boit having respectively attended at the hours named in their 

summonses, informed of the above Resolution. 
[Adjourned.] 

WEDNESDAY, 8 MAY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT 
J. Hart, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Love, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
The Chairman submitted a Draft of Progress Report. 
The same being read,— 
Committee deliberated. 
Draft amended, and 
On motion of Mr. Windeyer, Progress Report agreed to. 
Chairman requested to report accordingly. 

LIST OF WITNESSES. 

Tuesday, 5 March, 1881. 
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Mr. J. Harper 	. 	•• 	•• 	•• 	.• •• 
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A. 
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" and to report such alterations as they may deem it advisable for the Chamber 
"to petition the Legislature to make in the existing Law." (Certified Copy, as 
altered andradded to by the Chamber.) •• •• •• •• •• 
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jitgiolatibe 200embly. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE; 

TAKEN BEFORE 

THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

ON THE 

WORKING OF THE INSOLVENT LAW. 

TUESDAY, 5 MARCH, 1861. 

Ortornt:— 
MR. DICK, 
Na. HART, 
Mn. LOVE, 

Ma. PIDDINCITON, 
Ma. SMART, 
Na. WALSH. . 

 

JAMES LIART, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR, 
William Alexander Purefoy, Esq., Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates, called in and 

examined :— 
1. By the Chairman: You are Commissioner of Insolvent Estates ? Chief Commissioner; W.A.Enrefoy, 
there are two Commissioners and one Chief Commissioner. 	 Esq. 
2. How long have you held that office ? I have held the office of Chief Commissioner from 
January, 1856, to the present time, continuously-1 say continuously because I had it 5  Mar., MM. 
temporarily in 1848. 
G. Are there any other Commissioners of Insolvent Estates ? Yes, two ; one at Maitland, 
and one at Bathurst. The Commissioner at Maitland is Mr. Edward Denny Day, and the 
Commissioner at Bathurst is Mr. William Hall Palmer—both Police Magistrates. 
4. These are the only persons besides yourself who have any authority to administer the 
Insolvent Law ? Yes. Of course 1 do not include Commissioners who take affidavits in 
insolvency matters. 
5. But these are the only persons authorized, under the Insolvent Act, to make inquiries 
and administer the Insolvent Law ? The only persons. 
G. Are you aware whether any applications have been made from other parts of the Colony 
to have Commissioners of Insolvent Estates appointed 4 Yes, I am. I think it is more 
than three years ago that application was made to me in writing. I cannot now say whether 
it was in the nature of a petition or not, but it was a written application—requesting that a 
Commissioner might be appointed at Goulburn, where there was a Commissioner at one time. 
But that Commissioner has not been appointed, nor is there any Commissioner of Insolvency 
that I am aware of in the Colony except the two I have mentioned. 
7. Has any application been made from Albury ? There is an application, I think, from 
Wagga Wagga, which has been acceded to, but whether the appointment is made I do not know. 
8. Are you aware whether any inconvenience is experienced by the public by reason of the 
administration of the Insolvent Law being confined chiefly to Sydney ? I can only judge of 
public inconvenience from hearsay, inasmuch as my duties confine me exclusively to Sydney; 
but if you ask me to express my own opinion, I may say that I entertain no doubt whatever 
that a few properly qualified intelligent gentlemen, appointed as Commissioners of Insolvency, 
and scattered, so to speak, through the remote districts, would not only be a great public 
boon as far as the administration of Insolvent Estates is concerned, but would materially 
lighten the very heavy labour now cast on the Chief Commissioner. 

221—B 	 9. 
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2 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

W.A.Eureloy, 9. What is your opinion as to the propriety of casting the duty upon the District Judges? Esq. 	I can only say it would be a great convenience to the public if certain duties of a limited. 
nature, connected with the administration of insolvency matters, were remitted to the 

5  Mar- , 1861.  District Judges. 
10. Would it net be a great convenience to insolvents and also to their creditors, who chiefly 
reside in the localities where the insolvents permanently reside? I am decidedly of that 
opinion. I have no doubt that parties living in the remote districts, at such places as 
Armidale, Grafton, Tamworth, Murrurundi, and other places to the south and west, would 
find it a great convenience; and possibly there would be a much better opportunity of 
investigating the conduct, and trade dealings, and estate (to use the technical words) of an 
insolvent, than if they were compelled as they now are to have the affairs of an insolvent 
living in a remote district administered in Sydney. 
11. Have the County Court Judges in England jurisdiction in cases of insolvency or 
bankruptcy ? I am not in a position to answer that question ; the Act has - been passed 
since I was in England, and I have never seen it. 
12. Are there District Commissioners ? I know nothing at all about the English District 
Courts Act. 
13. What are the Acts of Council under which you administer the Insolvent Law The 
first Act is the 5th Victoria, No. 17, passed on the 29th December, 1841. 	Then 
there is what is called the amended Act, which is 7 Victoria, No. 19. That is the principal 
amended Act; but there arc several others which I pass by because I cannot give you 
the numbers just now. Then there is a late Act passed in 1857—I think it is 20 Victoria, 
No. 24, but I am not quite potitive as to the number—which is a very short Act 
conferring upon the Chief Commissioner magisterial powers—in fact, he is created a Justice 
of the Peace for the purposes of the Act, chiefly for hearing all charges of fraudulent 
insolvency preferred against any insolvent, and other offences of a like nature. Under that 
Act the Chief Commissioner can bear such charges the satne as a magistrate, and commit 
the accused party for trial. 
14. Was not the object of that Act to enable you to exercise that jurisdiction summarily 
as Chief Commissioner ? I can exercise no power summarily, nor any power except as given 
me by the statute ; and I often have great cause to complain, that I have not some power 
to deal summarily with cases. When the Act first came into operation a case occurred in 
which I entertained some doubt whether, on the evidence then before me, I could direct the 
insolvent to be committed, or held to bail. I took the Act to the Chief Justice, Sir Alfred 
Stephen, and the words of the Act being, "to hear all charges of insolvency preferred," he 
said there must first be a charge preferred. 
15. Then it is necessary under that Act to prefer an information and proceed as at the Police 
Office ? Yes, precisely so. There is another Act—I think the 21st Victoria, No. 23—the 
object of which is to enable the Chief Commissioner to control the directions of the 
creditors given at the third meeting respecting the management of the estate, and the 
allowance of furniture or tools of trade to the insolvent. 
16. You have had considerable experience in the working of these Acts ? I think I may 
safely say I have had very great experience, having had before me some 1,500 or 1,600 
insolveneies. 
17. Can you state the number of insolveneies that have taken place since the passing of the 
Act ? The number of insolvent:les since the passing of the Act have exceeded 5,200—I 
think the number is 5,243. 
18. Have you any other statistics relative to the estates that have passed under sequestra-
tion? Yes, I have the statistics for the three last years. From the 1st January, 1858, to 
1st January, 1859, there were 387 insolvencies; from 1st January, 1859, to 1st January, 
1360, there were 347; and from 1st January, 1860, to 1st January, 1861, there were 510, 
shewing an increase upon the year 1860 of 104 over 1859 ;—.making a total in the three 
years of 1,244 insolvencies. 
19. Have you the amount of assets and liabilities? I have not ; but returns, which will 
give every information, will be placed before the House very shortly. The returns from two 
of the Official Assignees went yesterday from my office to the Attorney General, but the 
others are not yet prepared, being very voluminous. 
20. What is your opinion as to the adaptability of the Insolvent Acts towards the present 
state of the Colony—do you consider that they are efficient or inefficient ; and if they are 
inefficient will you state in what points they ought to be amended ? The experience acquired 
during five years enables me to say that the existing Insolvent Laws are wholly inefficient to 
meet the present state of the Colony. 
21. Are debtors enabled to defraud their creditors as the law stands at present? Under the 
existing law very great facilities are afforded for dishonesty. 
22. Will you point out some instances ? A person desirous to pass through the Court has 
only to make out an official document called a schedule, and that document frequently shews 
a large surplus over the liabilities. The schedules are accepted by the Judges as a matter 
cf course, or rather as a duty cast upon them by the Act, and can only be so under the 
existing law. The meetings are then appointed by the Chief Commisssioner. Under the 
77th section he is directed "to appoint the first and second meetings at such time or place 
as shall be most expedient for all parties concerned." The insolvent himself is not bound 
by law to attend any meeting except the second, at which he is bound to account for his 
insolvency. 
23. Is that without an order of a Judge ? Without an order of a Judge. He is 'bound to 
attend the second meeting, or at least I have always insisted upon his attendance, because 
the Act says " he shall account for his insolvency," which I do not think he can do except 

by 
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by personal attendance. A-s a general rule, insolvents attend second meetings, and if they W.A. Plirefoy, 
do not I frequently postpone the meeting until they do. Under the 34th section, which 	Esq.  
refers to what are called single estates—that is where the assets available for distribution 
are under 4100—there is but one meeting, and then the insolvent is bound to attend and Mar., 1661. 
account for his insolvency. But a decision of the Supreme Court, given in July, 1859, has 
completely altered the previous practice with respect to the examination of insolvents. That 
decision is, that an insolvent cannot be examined generally as to his transactions without a 
Judge's order first obtained. The obtaining of this order is always attended with some expense, 
but sometimes there is not a shilling to be had in the estate, though the schedule may show 
a surplus. If the insolvent is absent from Sydney, you cannot compel his attendance, even 
by a Judge's order, without paying his expenses, the same as in the case of any other 
witness, under the 103r3 clause. The consequence is, that in several estates the necessary 
witnesses cannot be obtained from a distance for want of funds; and great facilities are thus 
afforded in passing through the Court. The great object of every insolvent is to obtain his 
certificate, which is a discharge in full of all debts due at the time of sequestration. After 
the time which the law requires, 30 days, is expired, he posts his notice in the Court that he 
intends to apply for a certificate on a particular day; he appears, Or his agent for him, 
whether a legal gentleman or a civilian, with an affidavit that the requirements of the Act 
have been complied with, and the name is called aloud at the door of the Court. My practice 
has been to say something to this effect :—" This is an application made by A. B. for a certi-
ficate, in terms of the Act, does any person appear to offer any objection ;" and should no 
objections be offered, it is my duty to grant the certificate. 
24. Then in many cases an insolvent may sequestrate his estate, and obtain his certificate, 
without affording any information as to the causes of his insolvency ? Certainly he can. 
25. Is there any distinction made by the law at present between persons in trade and these 
who are not? There is not. 
20. Is that the case in England or Ireland ? Under the 20th and 21st Victoria, No. 76, 
which is called the Irish Bankruptcy and Insolvency Consolidation Ant, a distinction is made 
between bankruptcy and insolvency. The term " bankrupt" is held strictly to apply only 
to those persons who are in trade; the word " insolvent " applies to those who are not traders. 
I think such a distinction between bankruptcy and insolvency highly desirable, and that it 
would be productive of much benefit to the Colony. 
27. Under the Irish Act have insolvents the same facilities for obtaining a discharge of their 
debts as bankrupts have ? I regret to say that I am again unable to answer the question. 
The Act was only passed in 1857, and contains 410 clauses ; and though I have referred to a 
good many of them, I am unable to say what facilities that Act affords. 
28. Have you a copy of the Act ? I have. 
29. Do you consider that it would be applicable to this Colony ?_& considerable portion of 
it; not all, of course. 
30, Do you think it desirable to amend the present Insolvent Law, until a permanent Act 
should be passed ? I think it is highly desirable, and indeed necessary, that the present law 
should be amended very extensively. 
31. For instance; there should be a means of compelling insolvents to attend each meeting, and 
afford information to their creditors ? Every insolvent ought, in my opinion, to be bound to 
attend the meetings, unless on sufficient cause shown to the satisfaction of the Chief Com-
missioner, and account for his insolvency, and give all the information in his power to his 
creditors. 
32. By when are estates administered at present? By officers called Official Assignees. 
33. By whom are they appointed ? By His Honor the Chief Justice, under itlf -  Victoria, 
No. 19. 
34. Is it in the power of a creditor to examine an insolvent, as a matter of course, at present, 
or has he to take any steps to enable him to do so—to obtain the consent of any person ? 
A creditor cannot examine an insolvent even if he is in Court, unless he consents, without 
having first obtained a Judge's order ; and in order to obtain the Judge's order an appli-
cation must be made, in the first instance, to the Official Assignee. I may be permitted to 
observe, that I was present in Court, in the estate of Tuting 8,'„ Co. when an application was 
made by counsel, the present Mr. Justice Wise, for an order or sulpeena, on the Common 
Law side of the Court, for the examination of a witness, the Assignee having declined to 
sign the necessary order, and the decision of the Court, under the 65th section was, that 
they could not grant any such order, as the statute had appointed the mode of obtaining the 
order, and, therefore, that it could not be done in any other way. 
35. Have you known any instance where the Assignee refused to give his consent to the 
examination of a witness? Yes, the ease I have just mentioned was one—Tutiug & Co. I 
suggested to Sir William Burton a very simple remedy for that, namely, that there should 
be printed forms in the Chief Commissioner's Office, and that any creditor might walk into 
Court, or send his agent, to apply to the Chief Commissioner for an order to examine A. B. 
or C. The Chief Commissioner would then probably ask, what do you expect to prove, and, 
upon being satisfied that there were sufficient grounds for the examination, would direct the 
order to be issued, for which a fee of 2s. 6d. or 5s. might be charged, which would increase 
the revenue a trifle, whilst the expense which now attends the application for a Judge's 
order would be done away, and much greater facilities would be afforded for inquiry into the 
real position of estates. 
36. Would it be desirable to have a preliminary examination of any person wishing to 
sequestrate, before the sequestration of his estate should be accepted—at present I under-
stand you to say that a Judge has no alternative but to accept the estate ? The practice 
has been, for instance, where a party is under arrest, under a writ of ca. re., and he petitions 

for 
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W.A.Turefoy, for the sequestration of his estate, an order always issues that be should be first examined 
before the Chief Commissioner; but I know of no instance where, after he has been 

t"—&---s examined, lie has been refused his sequestration. 
5 Mar., 1861..37 .  Has  any instance come under your notice lately of a person having been arrested on a 

Ca. IT. for fraudulent concealment of his property, and notwithstanding that the evidence 
before you pretty plainly shewed that he had HO concealed his property, his estate was 
accepted by the Judge, and the insolvent discharged from prison ? Yes, such a case has 
occurred [but I do not know that it would involve anything in the shape of censure on the 
Judge who discharged ]im.]* 
38. Not at all—I am alluding to the defective state of the law ? A very striking case has 
lately come under my notice where the evidence, to my mind, appeared most conclusive, and 
I believe also to the Judge's, that it was a case of fraud, and yet the insolvent was discharged, 
although a clear case of fraud appeared upon the depositions. 
39. Would you consider it desirable to have a preliminary examination before an estate 
should be absolutely sequestrated? I think it would be highly desirable, if it could be 
carried out in practice; but I am afraid it would be impracticable at present for two reasons. 
The first is, that many large estates are not sequestrated until an execution is either in the 
house of the party, or about to be issued from the Sheriff's Office. When that is the case, 
the party hurries up to the Court and sequestrates at once. In many cases they merely 
file their petition, and ask for a reasonable time to make out their schedule. If a preliminary 
examination were required before the parties were permitted to place their estates under the 
protection of the Insolvent Court, the object would be defeated in the meantime, because 
the execution would take effect. 
40. Could there not be an order nisi P That would get rid of one objection certainly—an 
order to stay the execution for such 3 time, as the Court might think proper under the 
circumstances, 
41. Do you consider that the abolition of imprisonment for debt has had the effect either of 
deterring debtors from obtaining credit, or of acting as a caution to persons against allowing 
them to get into debt ? I have no doubt that the abolition of imprisonment for debt has 
rather encouraged the going in debt. 
4Q Particularly, I presume, on the part of professional people and persons not in trade ? 
Well I do not know as to any particular class; I scarcely think there is any difference in 
that way. 
43. Would it not be desirable that periodical returns should be sent in to your office by the 
Official Assignees, skewing all particulars of the estates under their charge? I think it 
would be very desirable and very beneficial to creditors. 
44. Are there no such returns at present ? There are DO returns at present except those 
affecting the pecuniary matters of the estate, which the Official Assignees are required to 
furnish quarterly and file in the Prothonotary's Office, not in the Chief Commissioner's. 
45. Within what time are Official Assignees bound to file a plan of distribution at present? 
The time is not definitely fixed by the Act; the 87th section says the plans shall be filed 
within as short a time as may be, not later than six months. But the returns that were 
furnished on motion of the present Colonial Treasurer, Mr. Weekes, thew that in very few 
instances are plans of distribution filed within less than six months after sequestration. Ia 
practice that appears to be the time that is usually allowed to elapse. 
46. Are you aware that estates are actually realized in a very short period after sequestra-
tration ? That is so in several cases. For instance, the estates of persons in the drapery, 
ironmongery, or grocery business, are usually realized very early; in some cases that ard in 
my mind at the present moment I think the assets were nearly all realized at the date of the 
third meeting. 
47. And yet no plan of distribution is sent in until the expiration of six months ? I am 
talking of the general practice in such cases as I have alluded to, then the Assignee will pro-
bably file his plan earlier. 
48. Can an Assignee be compelled, within six months, to file a plan of distribution ? I know 
of no means that the law affords of compelling him to file his plan of distribution in less than 
six months, unless on application to the Court to shew cause why lie shall not do so. 
49. Are you aware what is done with the assets that are realized by the Assignees in the 
meantime ? You meau between the date of sequestration and the filing of the plan of dis-
tribution ? 
50. Yes? No, I am not. They are required by law to pay in the money to the credit cf 
the estate, and there is a heavy penalty if they do not do so, under the 81st section. 
51. In point of fact, are the provisions of that section complied with ? It is impossible for 
me to tell. I could only do so by having the power to inspect the Assignees' accounts with 
the Bank, but there is nothing in that section that I am aware of which gives me that 
power. 
62. Ileve complaints been made to you, as Chief Commissioner, of the dilatory manner in 
which affairs are conducted by the Assignees in working the Act ? Yes; such complaints 
have been made from time to time. 
53. Do you consider that there is much collusion between insolvent debtors and alleged 
creditors? I have no means of saying that any evidence has come before me of collusion 
between insolvents and their creditors. 
54. For instance—an insolvent debtor allowing judgment to be recorded against him, either 
by default or under warrant of attorney, and the creditor proving for the purpose of having 
a voice in the management of the estate ? I have no recollection of any such case coming 

before 
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before me. I would be almost inclined to think that if I saw any case of that kind it would W.A.Purefey: 
be a proper case for a prosecution for conspiracy. 	 Esq.  
55. Where insolvent debtors have been actually guilty of fraud, is there any mode of eyed-  
ing the provisions of the Insolvent Act by co-operating wilt their creditors ? Yes, certainly. o Mat., 1861. 
There is one case prominently before me, and a recent one, where an insolvent sequestrated, 
and his schedule shewed very limited assets indeed.' Shortly after the sequestration the 
Assignee ascertained that a large quantity of goods had been removed by the insolvent two 
or three days before be sequestrated, and taken to other premises from his own. Acting 
upon the information he received, the Official Assignee went with an officer of the Court—an 
officer of the police being also near at hand—and he found the goods concealed, and took 
pOSSC5S1013 of theta. There was a show of resistance, as I was informed by the officer. 
Howeverithe goods, being taken possession of by the Assignee, were disposed of, and an infor-
mation, as I am informed, which 1 did not see, though I saw the summonses to the witnesses, 
was laid acrainst the insolvent, and he was brought to the Police Office charged with fraudu-
lent insolvency. The insolvent, being out on hail, then agreed to pay his creditors 20s. 
in the pound, which the creditors accepted. An account is filed in the office shoving that 
they got 205. in the pound, and I think there was a surplus—indeed, I am sure there was. 
Nothing further was done, and the estate was released. 
56. Then, after an estate is sequestrated, an insolvent has it in his power, by making a 
composition with his creditors, to have the estate released, thereby avoiding any criminal 
charge against himself ? lie has the power under the old Act—the 86th section—to release 
Ins estate from sequestration by composition, but he cannot do that till the third meeting, 
and the offer cannot be accepted finally until it has been confirmed at a subsequent meeting, 
to be called forty-two days afterwards. But there is another class of releases, where the 
insolvent pays, or agrees to pay, 20s. in the pound, and the creditors accept the offer. There 
is no provision for that : and the Court exercises its jurisdiction, I suppose, not under the 
86th section, but because the creditors are satisfied, being paid in full. A case of this kind 
occurred, in 1856, to a large drapery firm. An execution was put in, and the traders came 
into the Insolvent Court, and filed their petition ; the goods were taken possession of, but 
within ten days the estate was taken out of Court, all the creditors consenting to an arrange-
ment to pay 20s. in the pound. For that mode of taking an estate out, by full payment, 
there is no provision in the Insolvent Act. 
57. Are you aware of any case in which that has been done, where an information has 
actually been filed before yourself, as Chief Commissioner, charging the insolvent with 
fraudulent insolvency ? No such case has ever occurred before me. 
58. Do you recollect the case of a New Zealand firm, two years ago? Yes. 
69. Was an information filed in that case? Yes. 
60. And the estate was afterwards released ? I have no recollection of the release of the 
estate. It is quite possible it was. I recollect, on the day appointed for the hearing of the 
charge, having held the insolvent to good and sufficient bail, he appeared with the profes-
sional gentleman acting on his behalf, and the gentleman conducting the prosecution for 
the creditors appeared also; but when I called upon the prosecuting counsel, he said he had 
no instructions, and when I asked if he bad any witnesses to call, he replied that he had not. 
61. And you, as Chief Commissioner, had no power to compel him to proceed ? I bad no 
'power to compel him. There was an information filed, but I could not compel any one to 
call witnesses in support of it. Of course the defendant walked out with Ids bail discharged. 
But I am not aware at this moment, that the estate was released; though it is quite possible. 
62. Is much of your time taken up in investigations as to proof of debts ? Yes ; a considerable 
portion of time. 
63. Is it absolutely necessary that the time of the Chief Commissioner should be taken up 
with that kind of business ? I think certainly not. In my bumble opinion, the duties of 
the Chief Commissioner should be more important than the investigating into such matters 
as those. I think be might be more profitably employed in inquiring into the conduct of 
the insolvent in his transactions—such as buying and selling, disposing of property, giving 
of bills, making purchases, and so on—than in the mere technical matter of taking 
affidavits in proof of debts, which could be sworn before any Commissioner for Affidavits. 
64. The clerical duties you have to perform in connection with that are considerable ? 
Yes; 1 remember taking ninety-two proofs in one estate, in one day ; sixty-four in another, 
fifty-three in another. 
65. In consequence of your time being thus occupied, you are not able to pursue the inves-
tigations you deem necessary towards the elucidation of the estates of insolvents ? Not 
sufficiently. Sometimes debts are disputed, and that takes up a good deal of time. The 
question as to the rejection or reception of a debt, in the largest estate that ever was in the 
Court, took up nearly an entire day and a .  portion of another. Therefore, sometimes it 
happens that a very large portion of the Chief Commissioner's time is taken up. But that 
kind of inquiry I think would properly belong to the Chief Commissioner. 
66. There should be a power of appeal to you ? There is to a Judge. 
67. I am aware; but would it n'ot be desirable to allow an appeal to the Chief Commissioner, 
if the duties were performed by a Deputy Commissioner ? Yes; either to the Chief Com-
missioner or the full Court, 
68. What is the staff of your department ? Two gentlemen, one of whom performs almost 
the whole of the clerical duty of the department of the Insolvent Court, and the other is 
chiefly a deposition clerk—attends the meetings, receives the fees on proofs of debt, and 
answers official letters, &e. Mr. Austen, who has been in the department some 17 years, 
receives schedules when accepted, marks the time when received by the clerk, and enters 
them in a book; receives the fees prescribed by law, and enters them in a book; makes up 

the 
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-W.A.Puretoy, the weekly accounts of fees received on affidavits, and meetings, and for special meetings, and 
Esq' 	those things; and sometimes he has to copy letters. 

e^ 69. His time is fully occupied ? Ills duties are multifarious, and I sometimes wonder how 
5  Mar. , 3- 861 • he can get through them. 

70. Is there any business in arrear at present ? A very considerable amount, 
71. In consequence of the insufficiency — ? In consequence of the insufficiency of the 
staff of the department. 
72. Have you made any representations to the Government upon the subject ? Yes, I have; 
I asked for an additional clerk to bring up arrears, even for six months. 
73. What became of that application ? I am informed, but not officially, that the application 
has been granted, but no additional assistance has yet been rendered. It would be very 
desirable that it should be. I might even observe that I, myself, have frequently to perform 
the duties of deposition clerk, when examinations in insolvency are going on in the Supreme 
Court, and the deposition clerk is employed there. 
74. He is in waiting on the Judges ? Yes, taking down the evidence of the witnesses. 
75. Would not the duties of your department in Sydney be materially lessened if district 
officers were appointed throughout the Colony ? Most certainly they would—district officers 
to take proofs of debts, and the examination of witnesses. 
76. And also the administration of estates ? Yes, if you appointed local Commissioners. 
77. llave there not been very great complaints as to the vast expenses estates arc put to in 
their collection, where the insolvents reside in the interior ? Yes, I am aware there is a 
great deal of dissatisfaction as to the amount of the charges. 
78. Are the charges of the Official Assignees taxed by you before they are admitted in the 
acciunt that is filed in Court ? All hills of costs incurred by Official Assignees in the 
management of estates are taxed by me, and they are not allowed in the plans of distribution 
until they are so taxed. 
79. Are the charges of the Official Assignees subject to your revision, as taxing officer, 
before being put into the plans of distribution ? They are; the Official Assignee comes to 
me, and says be is about to file a plan and wishes me to tax the costs incurred. 
80. You are speaking of solicitors' casts? Yes. 
81. I am alluding to the charges of the Official Assignee himself ? No, I have nothing 
whatever to do with the Assignee's personal charges, except his commission ; and so the 
Court decided in the ease I before mentioned—Tuting's. In that case, struck with the 
enormous amount of expenses, I intimated that I felt it my duty to draw the attention of 
the Court to it, when counsel interposed that I had nothing to do with the Assignee's personal 
charges, but only with his commission ; and the Court sustained the objection. 
82. Is it the case, or not, that, independent of the commission which the law allows, the 
Assignees can make what charges they like ? I do not know that they can make what 
charges they like, but there are a great many incidental charges, such as these :—paid so 
much to agent in the country—bringing down goods, from Kiandra, perhaps, to Sydney—
paid so and so for collecting a quantity of cattle—and so on. These charges will appear on 
the plan filed by the Official Assignee, as the expenses necessarily incurred in the management 
of the estate, and I always ask for vouchers of these expenses. 
83. Are these charges subject to your revision ? Certainly they are. All charges made by 
Official Assignees are subject to the revision of the Chief Commissioner. When the plans of - 
distribution are laid before the Chief Commissioner he is supposed, at all events in every 
instance that I recollect, to look over all these charges. 
84. Are you aware that in some estates it is the practice of the Official Assignees to charge a 
stated sum for their trouble, independent of any commission—for instance, where no assets 
are realized, and the insolvent wishes to obtain his certificate,—is it the practice of the 
Assignee to make professional charges in these cases ? It is the practice. 
85. Has that always been the case since you have been connected with the department ? 
Yes, as far as I recollect. I may here observe, that under the 17th section of the amended Act, 
7 Viet., No. 19, the Commissioner is empowered to grant, refuse, or suspend a certificate, and 
to annex such condition as shall appear to him fair and reasonable. If therefore a petty estate 
comes into the Court, in which the Assignee has perhaps attended three or four meetings and 
written a number of letters—and perhaps witnesses have been examined—and after all there are 
no assets, then I say to the insolvent, " Your certificate will be granted, but you will have to 
a pay time Assignee for Ids trouble in this estate, because otherwise he will receive no reinu-
" iteration at all." I generally fix the payment at £2 2s. 
86. Is not the effect of that course this, that a poor man, who is unable to pay £2 2s., 
cannot get his certificate ? No, because if it were satisfactorily shewn to me that a man 
was unable to do so I would grant the certificate without any payment at all. 
87. But, as a general rule, you allow £2 2s. in these eases ? Yes. 
88. And in large estates the Assignee gets five per cent. ? Yes. 
89. Therefore it is a continued profit to him, without any loss at all ? In every estate 
where he gets £2 2s., of course it is a profit to him of £2 2s. 
90. Is it not the duty of the Official Assignee to attend the Court at every meeting ? I 
always considered so. 
91. Do they invariably attend themselves ? No, they do not. I intimated to the Official 
Assignees that I considered it their duty to attend every meeting; and finding that was not 
successful I wrote, some six or eight months ago, officially, to each of the Assignees, but still 
they do not attend the meetings. 
92. Notwithstanding your direction they do not attend personally ? They do not attend, 
as'a general rule; in many cases they do attend. I have recently declined, where I saw an 
estate was an important one, to proceed, till the Assignee was present. 

93. 
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93. Have you made any representation to the Government on the subject of the Insolvent IV.A.Purefoy, 
Law, and the amendment of it in any respect ? To a former Attorney General, Mr. Bayley, 	Esq.  
I did. 
4. What was the purport of your communication ? I called on Mr. Bayley shortly after f; Mar., 1661 ' 
his accession to office, and pointed out to him the defective state of the law, lie seemed 
obliged, and requested mete furnish suggestions, and I did furnish him with a great many. 
5. In writing? Yes. I explained as well as I- was able, the insufficiency and defective 
state of the old law, and I proposed many amendments. Indeed I may say I did the same 
in another quarter also. 
96. Will you state to whom you allude? The gentleman who framed the Insolvent Law, 
Judge Burton. 
97. Have the Government either lately or at any previous time placed themselves in official 
communication with you respecting the Insolvent Law ? No, except so far as calling for 
returns ordered by the House. 
98. Has the present Attorney General been in communication with you? Not in writing, 
but personally we have talked the matter over. 
99. Has he officially communicated with you, requesting information as to the working of 
the Insolvent Laws, or as to any amendments that are required? No, he has not. 
100. 11,1/ Mr. l'iddington : I think you stated that the effect of the abolition of the imprison-
ment for debt has been to encourage debtors, and to increase their number ? Yes, as far as 
I can observe; it is a conclusion or inference that I draw myself, that when a man knows he 
cannot be sent to prison for debt, or that he can walk out through the doors of the Insolvent 
Court, it is an encouragement to him to get into debt. 
101. Would you recommend any recurrence to the practice of imprisonment ? That is a 
difficult question to answer; the English laws hold the liberty of the subject very. dear. 
Perhaps if it were satisfactorily strewn to a competent tribunal that a debt had been 
fraudulently contracted, it might be a question whether the debtor should not be subject to 
imprisonment. 
102. I mean apart from any proof of fraudulent conduct—I speak of the general principle—
imprisonment for debt has been abolished for some years, and you have stated that it has 
tended to increase the number of debtors, and the facilities for obtaining credit? What 
I wish to say is, that the conclusion or inference in my own mind is that the abolition of 
imprisonment for debt is rather an encouragement to the contracting of debts; but on the 
broad principle that a man should not be incarcerated and kept in confinement till his debt 
was paid, I would be decidedly adverse to a return to the system of imprisonment. 
103. Then you would not recommend a return to the practice of imprisonment for debt, 
with a view to check the practice of indebtedness? I would not, save in excepted cases. 
As a general principle I would not. 
104. Do you not think the most certain mode of discouraging debtors would be for the 
trading community to exhibit more caution in giving credit? Certainly. 
105. From your experience of the Insolvent Court, are you of opinion that insolvents, in 
many eases, have obtained credit with undue facility ? In very many eases I have been 
surprised at the facility with which the insolvents have obtained credit. 
106. Then no change in the law would cure an evil resulting from want of caution on the 
part of the creditors themselves? No change in the law can alter men's dispositions. It is 
the object of the trader to sell his goods, and no law that can be framed will make him more 
cautious. 
107. Would you recommend, as any improvement in the Insolvent Law, any increase of the 
severity against debtors, speaking generally, with a view to discourage the practice of obtaining 
credit ? I am not prepared to say that I would recommend any increased amount of severity, 
but I would strongly recommend increased facilities in the law for punishing parties who 
recklessly contract debts. Debts are sliewn, daily I might say, before me, to have been 
recklessly contracted, both for small and large amounts, and yet the law is, comparatively 
speaking, powerless. 
108. What is the Committee to understand by the term "recklessly"? A man who is fully 
aware of his own inability to discharge a debt goes and contracts ono. 	If a man has no 
reasonable prospect, whether from previous indebtedness or absolute destitution of means, of 
discharging an obligation, and yet goes and contracts one—then we must conclude that he 
never intended to pay that debt. That I call recklessly contracting a debt. A debtor who 
contracts debts in that way, I think, ought to be dealt with with proportionate severity. 
100. From your experience of insolvent estates, are you of opinion that the great mass of 
indebtedness has been contracted by recklessness on the part of debtors? No; but I think 
a very large proportion of the indebtedness that exists, as shewn by the Insolvency Returns, 
is owing to the great facilities afforded for obtaining credit. 
110. Then if creditors, as a class, are in the habit of giving credit, without caution or con-
sideration, is it desirable to invest any Court with the power of punishment against the 
debtor—I am not speaking of fraudulent cases? I can only answer that question as I have 
done, I think, before—that if parties contract debts, without having reasonable and probable 
means of payment—which is provided for by the existing law—they ought to be dealt with 
with sonic amount of imprisonment. 
111. How would you apply that principle in the case of debtors here, many of whom in 
your experience you must have ascertained do contract debts at a time when they are 
actually in a state of insolvency ? By careful investigation of the circumstances under 
which the debt has been contracted. A man may be largely in debt, and yet it may be he 
could show he had a fair and bona jide expectation of being able to discharge all his debts ; 
even though it might be a vain hope, still a man might entertain it. fairly and honestly; 
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WA.Paref0Y, and if that appeared from the surrounding circumstances, then I think he ought not to be 
3. 	punished. 

re—A— ,̂  112. Then cases of that kind would be of such a character as to demand great caution on 
5 Mar., 1861 ' the part of the Judge of the Insolvent Court in the application of the principle ? No 

doubt. I may observe that perhaps no two minds are constituted alike. A man might owe 
£10,000, but, if Ile were pressed, not be able to pay £500, and yet he might go and contract 
another £1,000 of debt, with ahon.-if de hope that he would be able to discharge the whole. 
113. In reference to the facility that I think you stated dishonest persons possessed under 
the present Insolvent Law to obtain certificates, what further security would you recommend 
in order to secure the interests of creditors—I am speaking now of dishonest persons who 
you said easily comply with the provisions of the law. Would you propose giving any specific 
authority to the Commissioner to deal with cases that appeared to him to be dishonest, or 
that disclose dishonesty? I think it would very probably act as a salutary caution over the 
minds of a great many insolvents if they were aware that although no creditor should file a 
caveat, or object to the granting of a certificate, yet that the Chief Commissioner had the 
power of himself, without any objection at all being made by creditors, to refuse a certificate, 
if upon the facts before him he thought it should be refused. Under the 17th section of 
Amended Act, 7 Vic., No. 19, no person can now oppose the granting of a certificate, except 
the Assignee or a creditor ; but I think the Chief Commissioner should be enabled to say 
that, although no creditors opposed, there was quite, sufficient before him to induce hint to 
refuse it. 
114. Might not such a power vested in the Commissioner, though a novelty, be expected to 
work with a good effect on the cases of many insolvents ? The Chief Commissioner ought 
to be a person of sound and good judgment and discretion, and perfect impartiality; and 
he might say to the insolvent that although none of his creditors appeared to oppose his 
certificate, still he did not think him a proper person to obtain, and that he should not only 
refuse it but give him six months' imprisonment. Then the insolvent might appeal to the 
Judge. 
115. Are you of opinion that insolvents obtain certificates with too great facility under the 
present law ? I am. 
110. And that such a power as you have DOW alluded to, in the Chief Commissioner, would 
tend to check that ? Yes. 
117. Do you think certificates should be all of one class, or do you think it would be an 
improvement to provide for primary and secondary certificates? That is at present a moot 
question, and one I never gave consideration to. I am not at all prepared to say whether 
such a distinction of certificates would be beneficial or otherwise. In England, I am told, 
the press complain very much of its operation. One Commissioner will grant a first-class 
certificate, while another under similar circumstances would only grant a third-class. 

• 118. In reference to the recommendations that you have mentioned with regard to the 
improvement of the Insolvent Law, are you prepared to specify them now ? Yes; I can 
enumerate a good number. First, with regard to landlords, the present law presses hard 
upon them. Except the rent is actually due, under the 41st section the landlord cannot 
prove. Now rent is payable generally by the quarter, or it may be by the week—sometitnes 
by the half-year—and except the rent is due the landlord loses the whole quarter. Frequent 
instances have occurred where the insolvent has come into Court three or four days before 
the quarter has terminated, and then the landlord loses the whole quarter's rent. There 
was one remarkable case where a house was let for £800 a year, the rent being due on 1st 
July, and the insolvent sequestrated in the end of June. 
119. By the Chairman : Do you see any reason why the landlord should have a preference? 
That is another question. The amendment I proposed was that the landlord should be 
allowed to prove pro rata. 
120. By Mr. Piddington: What other improvement would you suggest ? It appears to me 
that it would be an improvement to oblige by law parties holding securities in insolvent 
estates to come in at some meeting, and prove their debt arid value their security. Under 
the existing law there is no such power. A man may hold security valued at 41,000, 

• while his debt is £400, and after the estate has passed through the various phases of 
the Insolvent Court, the mortgagee, or person holding a bill of sale, applies to the Assignee 
to pay him his debt and interest or else give him a conveyance; and the Assignee baying 
no assets gives him a conveyance. Thus, in several cases the mortgagee gets property 
worth twice his debt. 
121. By the Chairman: Have you known any instances where the property has again 
reverted to the insolvent after he has obtained his certificate ? I know of no instances 
There is another particular in which the law might be amended, namely, with respect to the 
preference given to servants. It has been decided that domestic servants are not entitled to 
preference except they are hired by the year, and that is in accordance with decisions in 
England. In this Colony, as far as my experience has gone, domestic servants—and indeed 
those who are not domestic servants, gardeners and agricultural servants—are hired by the 
month or week, and if they allow their wages to accumulate in the hands of their employers, 
as I believe they are in the habit of doing, in case the latter should become insolvent the 
servants are not allowed to prove. It is also a question undetermined, who are meant by the 
word "servants." I suggested an amendment to define who are the persons who should be 
considered entitled to preference. The practice of bringing trust estates into the Insolvent 
Court has latterly been more frequent, although the cases are still not numerous. Parties 

• in pecuniary difficulty, or for their own purposes, make an assignment of their property to 
trustees; the trustees act under the assignment for a time, and when they choose to get rid 
of it they bring the estate into the Insolvent Court. I have looked into the Act I before 
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referred to, the Irish Bankruptcy and Insolvency Consolidation Act, and I can find no provi- oretby. 
sion for the sequestration of trust estates. But if it be desirable that trustestates should 	Esq. 
be sequestrated, then [should suggest that before the trustees should be allowed to sequestrate, 
they should pass their accounts before the proper officer and show the position of the estate. 0 Mar., 1861.  
122. Perhaps instead of proceeding orally through the list of amendments that you think 
desirable in the Insolvent Law, it might be more convenient if you would oblige the Committee 
by furnishing them with a written statement of them ? I shall be most happy to do so. I 
would, however, like to mention one other suggestion relating to the length of time that gene-
rally elapses from the date of sequestration till the plan of distribution is filed. I think in 
those eases where the assets are realized before the third meeting, or at the third meeting, 
the Chief Commissioner should have the power to order and direct the Official Assignee to 
file his plan within a certain number of days, seven or fourteen days, except he could show 
any good and sufficient reason to the contrary. To my mind it appears, that when the assets 
are realized, the sooner they are distributed the better. 
123. .13y Mr. Dick : Is not the object of the delay to allow time for everybody to come in 
and prove—it does not follow that every creditor will have proved at the third meeting ? 
If the Assignee is to keep funds in hand, awaiting every creditor to come in, great inj ustice 
is done to the other creditors who have proved. I may mention another case to the Com-
mittee that may suggest a remedy. A party arrested on a ca. re. gets out of gaol by seques-
trating his estate, the Assignee gets possession of some effects, and the insolvent, who is a 
seafaring man, passes through the Court, no creditor having appeared. There was but a 
single meeting, and the insolvent, in due course, applied for his certificate and obtains it. 
The Assignee has £60 or £70 in his hands, and the insolvent applies for it, and says, " There 
are no creditors in my estate, that money belongs to me;" the Assignee replies, "That 
there may be creditors." Application was made to me by the party to know what he was 
to do, and I suggested, that the proper course would he, to apply to the Court for an order 
to the Assignee, to show cause why he should not hand over the money. But that is a 
peculiar case. 
124. By Mr. Piddington : May I ask whether you are of opinion that the practice of 
executing deeds of assignment by debtors, with a view to defraud their creditors, is on the 
increase, or not ? I have no means of knowing anything about deeds of assignment unless 
they come before me in the Court ; and I do not think, at present, I know of above half-
a-dozen cases of sequestration by trustees. 
125. I do not allude to deeds of that nature; but I ask, whether, in the course of your 
experience, you have been impressed with the conviction, that evasions on the part of 
debtors, of their obligations to their creditors, have been contrived by means of 
fraudulent deeds ? The only instruments that may be regarded as fraudulent, as 
against. the general body of creditors that have come before me, are those known 
as bills of sale ; and I do not hesitate to say that bills of sale (in every case that has come 
under my notice) have been instruments either of fraud or collusion. A trader executes a 
bill of sale, and yet, as far as the commercial world is concerned, nobody knows anything 
about it; be gets credit ou the assumption that he is the owner of a large place of business 
filled with goods; something occurs—perhaps an execution is put in—and somebody walks 
in and says, " everything is mine." A case of that kind occurred in George-street a few 
days ago. The parties, to the world, appeared to be in a good business, an execution was 
put in to a small amount, and somebody comes in and takes everything under a bill of sale; 
and, while the forms of sequestration are being gone through, the parties in possession under 
the bill of sale are selling. As far as my experience would direct me I would be inclined to 
abolish bills of sale altogether. 
126. By Mr. Walsh : Does not the Secret Bills of Sale Act meet that ease? No, these are 
registered, but their existence is not therefore generally known. 
127. By Mr. Piddington: Do you not think the Court should be invested with a higher 
degree of authority in order to examine into the validity of such instruments ? I am deci-
dedly of that opinion, and for a reason which I think will satisfy the Committee. A party 
becomes insolvent, and the whole of his property is absorbed and taken possession of by a 
person to whom a bill of sale was given. Evidence is given to show that when that bill of 
sale was executed the maker of it was insolvent, in fact, and that he knew he was utterly 
unable to pay his liabilities. Yet, although the evidence may be conclusive to the Com-
missioner's mind that the bill of sale was a fraud in ifs legal effect and sense—not crimi-
nally—on the general body of the creditors, and although the Commissioner may express an 
opinion to that effect, it is of no avail; the creditors must go to the Supreme Court to set it 
aside, to effect which there is an additional amount of expense; counsel must be instructed, 
briefs made out; solicitors must attend, and the motion must be made. If it should be 
thought that it would be intrusting the Chief Commissioner with two extensive powers, 
to enable him to declare a bill of sale void, let there be an appeal to the full Court, as to 
whether his decision was right or wrong. 
128. Taking into consideration the probability that all appointments to the office of Chief 
Commisioner of Insolvent Estates would be appointments of learned gentlemen of same 
years standing at the bar, are you not of opinion that such an authority might be safely 
deligated to such a functionary ? Yes, certainly. 
129. By Mr. Dick : Is it not generally a ease for a jury? Yes, perhaps it is. I recol-
lect one particular case where the Court, on evidence taken before the Commissioner, under 
the 7th and 8th sections, declared a conveyance fraudulent and void. The party, in order 
to defraud his creditors, had executed a deed of trust in favour of his daughter, an infant ; 
but the Court ordered it to set aside, and the property was handed over to the Official 
Assignee, and the proceeds distributed. 

221—C 	 130. 



800 

10 
	

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE TUE SELECT COMMITTEE 

WA.Thirekn 130. By Mr. Love : I think you said you inspected the charges of the Official Assignees 
Esq. before the distriliution was confirmed ? Yes; that is to say, all the plans of distribution 

• made out by the Official Assignee are placed before the Chief Commissioner for his inspection; 
1861 ' but, as I said before, the Court has decided that the Commissioner has nothing to do with 

the charges of the Assignee, except as regards the commission. 
131. Do the Official Assignees charge their five per cent, on the estimated assets, or en the 
amount realized? On the amount realized. If an estate were to show estimated assets to 
the value of £10,000, and the amount realized were only £1,000, the Assignee's commission 
would be upon the £1,000. 
132. If a sum of money is realized by an Official Assignee, and placed in the bank to the 
credit of an estate, and the bank allow five per cent, interest on the deposit for six months, 
would the Official Assignee think that interest fairly his own, or would it be placed to the 
credit of the estate? Your question would call upon me to tell what the Official Assignee 
would think of Ids transaction at the bank. 
133. Are you aware of the practice in such cases—whether the interest goes into the 
Assignee's pocket or into the estate ? I know no more than yourself what becomes of assets 
which Official Assignees collect until the plan of distribution is filed. 
131. Ey Mi. Walsh: Are you not aware that there is a statute requiring them to pay these 
sums into the Colonial Treasury ? I have already said that the returns required by the 
statute are not filed with me, but in the Prothonotary's Office. I believe the Assignees are 
obliged to pay in all moneys in their hands at the end of every three months. 
135. By the Chairman : Are you aware whether moneys in their hands are actually paid 
into the Colonial Treasury or not ? I know nothing about it, except that I saw a great 
number of the accounts with the usual butts of the Treasury receipts pinned to them. They 
verify the accounts on affidavit. 
136. By .Itfc. L9Ve : There are certain fees paid into your Court—to whom do the proceeds 
go ? To the Treasury every week ; I pay them in myself every week. They are all entered 
in a large book in the office to the particular estate to which they belong, and are then 
paid in to the Bank of New South Wales, and once a week a cheque is drawn by myself in 
favour of the Colonial Treasurer, and once a month the whole amount of money received is 
made out on a large sheet of paper and vouched for by myself. 
137. Would you think it an improvement that the Official Assignees should be paid by the 
Government a fixed salary, and be under the direction of the Chief Commissioner ? I can 
in favour of the Official Assignees becoming paid officers, and being more under the control 
and direction of the Chief Commissioner than they are at present. 
138. Would you think it right that in cases of manifest wrongdoing the Government should 
prosecute at its own expense, in the same manner as they prosecute other offences. It is 
rather a hard matter that creditors loosing the whole of their debts should be bound to 
prosecute at their own expense ? I think it highly desirable that the Chief Commissioner 
should have the power of directing the Official Assignee to prosecute a fraudulent insolvent, 
and also to direct the application of a certain amount—say £10, £15, or £20—for the 
purpose of such prosecution. 
139. By the Chairman: The question just asked you is this—Would it not be desirable 
that the burden of prosecution should be cast on the Government, and that the assets of the 
estate should not thereby be lessened? The Government at present do prosecute. In three 
or four cases that I have myself committed in, the Government prosecuted. 
140. But the cost of the initiatory proceedings is thrown upon the creditors? Yes, precisely. 
If it is thought necessary to have counsel or witnesses from a distance, all these charges 
fall on the estate. Yes, I think it would be desirable that the Government should bear the 
burden uf prosecuting, and not the creditors. Sometimes those prosecutions are very 
expensive. 
141. fly Mr. Love : If debtors, in order to obtain property, should make a false statement 
of their affairs, and yet, within a few months, go into the Court, and it should be found 
that they were not solvent at the time, would you consider that a sufficient reason for 
iefusing a certificate ? Quite so. It is provided for by the 18th section, that if any person, 
knowing himself to be insolvent, and having no reasonable expectation of being able to pay, 
contracts debts, that is a good ground for refusing a certificate. 
142. In the case of a man concealing property that had been seized by the Court, would 
that be a sufficient reason for refusing a certificate? Yes, certainly. 
143. Do you recollect the case of a man named Frawley, a confectioner, who was proved on 
evidence before you to have concealed some of his property, and yet be received his certifi-
cate ? I have not the slightest recollection of it. You will bear in mind the answer I gave 
a short time ago, that no one has the power of objecting to the granting of a certificate but 
the creditors or the Official Assignee. If they do not choose to oppose him when be applies, 
the Commissioner cannot help himself, he must grant it as a matter of course, there being 
nothing before him to the contrary. I certainly have the power, now, to direct an infor-
mation to be filed before myself ; but if there should be a very gross ease, and I should 
think it my duty to direct the Official Assignee to file an information against the insolvent, 
and the Assignee chooses to say he cannot comply with my directions, I have no remedy—I 
am perfectly powerless. 
144. Do you really believe that the refusal of a certificate is a punishment at all in many 
eases—de the insolvents consider it so ? That is a question depending very much on the 
circumstances of the insolvent. Some look on it as a punishment, others do not care 
whether they get a certificate or not. 
145. Do you know any cases in which parties, having been refused a certificate, have imme-
diately commenced business, and put their son's name, or wife's name over the door, and 
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continued business as formerly ? I know one remarkable case where I refused a certificate, W.A.Porany, 
and the refusal was confirmed, hut the party was very shortly in business again, and some 	Esq. 
people say Ile is doing a very flourishing business now. 
146. By the Chairman: In his own name ? In his son's name, I believe. 	 11 Thar., 1861. 
147. By Mr. Dick : Do you not think it would be very desirable that the offices of the 
Official Assignees and of the Insolvent Court, should be under one roof? I do not know 
that it matters very much ; but it would be a great convenience, no doubt, if they were 
either under the same roof as the Court, or immediately connected with it, 
148. Are not the Assignees invariably attended by their solicitors in your Court ? I am 
not prepared to say they are invariably, but frequently they are—I speak of cases where 
large interests are involved, and perhaps questions of disputed property. 
149. In many such cases are not such attendances wholly unnecessary ? I do not know that 
I am prepared to say they are wholly unnecessary. A ease may arise where a party chooses 
to come in and prove, under a deed, a lease or a mortgage, and legal questions may arise which 
the Assignee is hardly expected to be competent to deal with, and then, for the interests of 
creditors it may be necessary that the Official Assignees may have legal advice. 
150. Are there not many cases in which the attendance of solicitors is wholly unnecessary ? 
It is hard to say many. I have seen cases where I think solicitors could be very well 
dispensed with. 
151. By the Chairman: Might not legal questions be safely left to your decision in the 
cases you have referred to ? It is hard for me to say that. The debt must be proved to my 
satisfaction, no doubt. 
152. By M.. Dick: Do not the solicitors employed by the Assignees impede the business? 
I do not know how to answer that question. Sometimes their assistance is desirable. I 
remember one very remarkable case, when two solicitors, on opposite sides of course, occupied 
the Court nearly the whole day, on a very important question. 
153. I ask whether at times they do not impede the business ? I am not prepared to say they 
impede the business. 
154. Before the costs of such solicitors are allowed in the plans of distribution, it is your 
duty to tax the costs ? Yes. 
155. Do you ever, in the exercise of your discretion, inquire whether the employment of a 
solicitor was at all necessary ? In some cases perhaps I strike out the attendance altogether. 
156. Do you ever, in the exercise of your discretion, deem it necessary to strike out the 
whole of the solicitor's costs? Whenever I consider that a solicitor has been retained 
unnecessarily, I strike out the charge. 
157. You have never seen a case where you have struck out the whole of the costs ? No. 
158. Do you feel that you are at liberty to interfere with the discretion of the Official 
Assignee in the employment of a solicitor at all ? I do not know that it is any part of my 
duty. I do not know an instance in which I was ever asked or consulted as to whether it 
was necessary to have a sclicitor or not. The solicitors are employed by the Assignees, or, I 
would rather say, the Official Assignee employs professional assistance without the intervention 
of the Chief Commissioner, sometimes at the request of the creditors and sometimes of his 
own motion. 
159. Each Official Assignee, I believe, is generally assisted by a particular solicitor ? 
I have seen an Official Assignee employ two different solicitors on different occasions. I do 
not know that the same solicitor invariably attends to the business of the same Official 
Assignee. 
160. But as a general rule the same solicitor attends the cases in which each Assignee is 
concerned ? Yes, as a general rule. 
161. Do you not think it would be more desirable that the creditors should give directions 
for the employment of a solicitor ? I do not know exactly how to answer that question. 
The Official Assignee himself may see the necessity of employing a solicitor ; it may be a 
case of urgency, and if he has to wait for the directions of creditors he must call a meeting. 
162. I am speaking generally of the practice—do you not think it would he snore desirable 
as the ordinary practice, to take the directions of creditors in the matter ? I think it 
would be desirable that the creditors should have a voice. 
163. Do I understand you to state that it has never come under your knowledge that a 
solicitor has been employed when it was necessary ? It is merely a matter of private 
opinion. I have already said I have seen solicitors empkycd in cases where I think they 
might be dispensed with. - 
164. But you have never thought it necessary to strike the costs off? I do not know 
whether I have or have not. In some hundreds of bills of costs I know I have struck off 
many items. 
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THURSDAY, 7 MARCH, 1861. 

illreernt 
MR. DICKSON, 	 MR. MC ARTHUR, 

LOVE, 

	

	 PIDDINGTON, 
WALSIL 

JAMES HART, ESQ., IN TEE CRAIR. 
Francis James Garrick, Esq., called in and examined :— 

F. J. Garrick, 165. By the Chairman : You are a Solicitor of the Supreme Court ? Yes. Esq. 	166. The Committee understand that you have had some experience concerning the working 
es—A-- •% of the Insolvent Law—will you favour us with your opinion as to any amendments you eon-

7 Mar" 1-861 ' sider desirable ? I would observe in the first place, that there is no power in the Act 
whereby the Commissioner can compel the insolvent to file his accounts. 
167. Is there not a clause in the Act enabling the Commissioner to require from the 
insolvent accounts of his transactions and dealings for six months prior to 16s insolvency ? 
To direct him to file, but there is no power to compel. I have in several instances attempted 
to enforce this ;  and in one instance, lately, got an order, and after several efforts, of course 
had to abandon it. 
168. Therefore you were not able to arrive at the insolvent's state of affairs? No. 
169. Have you heard any complaints respecting the management of estates by Official 
Assignees, and of the heavy expenses incurred by them ? Continuously. I have had 
individual experience of the expense incurred by them. 
170. Will you favour the Committee with any particular instances ? I have had particular 
estates coming under my notice, in which the expenses of management by the Assignees 
have been so large, especially the legal expenses, that the assets have been dwindled away to 
nothing. 
171. Is it the custom of Official Assignees to employ particular solicitors? There are one 
or two Assignees who never seem to move even in the most trifling matter without the solicitor 
at their elbow. 
172. Have you any objection to name those Assignees ? I hardly like to particularize them. 
173. Do they perform duties that ought to be performed by the Assignees? Duties that 
could be performed by the boys in the office seem to be done through their attorney. 
174. Is it the custom of these Assignees to require the legal assistance of these gentlemen 
at every meeting in an estate? I have seen them at the first meeting frequently. 
175. Is there any necessity for that ? None that I should conceive to exist. I have noticed 
that an Assignee who has been appointed lately seems to get on admirably without them, 
except where their attendance is really requisite. 
176. What is the object of attorneys attending meetings before the Chief Commissioner—is 
it to resist claims preferred by creditors, or to elucidate the affairs of the insolvent ? 1 have 
often beets at a loss to ascertain what the attorney has been there for. 
171. Have any bills of costs of these attorneys come under your notice? I saw one adver-
tised the other day. 
178. What one do you refer to that was advertised? Tint one of Andrews. 
179. What were the peculiar features of that ease? That was such a case as I have referred 
to, where the whole of the business which ought to have been performed by the Assignee or 
his clerks was performed by his attorney. For instance, take the notice to call a meeting; 
you would suppose that one of the clerks would write the notice, and send it by a boy to the 
Otternment Gazette, but I find upon running up the various items in the solicitor's bill, that 
the costs of getting a notice into the Gazette amounted to a pound and upwards. 
180. Then you consider that the Assignees you refer to have abused the power placed in them 
to manage the estate? I do not like to use the word "abused," although I must admit it is 
an appropriate term. 
181. By Mr. lKzlsh: They have availed themselves of a system which does abuse it ? Yes, 
that is the expression I would use. 
182. By the Chairman : Was the bill of costs you refer to in Andrews' estate taxed ? It 
purported to have been taxed. 
183. What is your opinion of the system pursued of taxing attorneys' bills? The Chief 
Commissioner knows nothing about it, he does not understand the principles of taxation. 
184. You are acquainted with the Chief Commissioner ? I am well acquainted with him. 
185. Before he was appointed to his present office, had be any experience of taxing attorneys' 
bills? None whatever to my knowledge. 
186. As a rule do you think barristers are fit persons to discharge that duty ? I an: sure 
they are not. Of course there are exceptions, and no doubt a barrister might acquaint him-
self with the principles of taxation as well as an attorney. 
187. Do you consider, looking to the multiplicity of duties the Commissioner !unto discharge, 
that he has not sufficient time to attend to this? I am certain he does not understand the 
principles of taxation ; he does not know bow to tax a bill. I have been before him myself, 
and have known him to allow items which ought not to have been passed, and to strike off 
others which ought to have been allowed. 
188. Do you attribute to that the fact of items having been allowed in Andrews' estate ? 
Not only that, but the Court should first have decided whether an attorney was necessary 
or not to perform the duties charged for ; if not, to have disallowed them altogether. 
189. Are there any complaints as to Assignees shewing favour to certain solicitors? Con-
tinuous. 

190.  
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1b0. Does that apply to all ? No; to two only, as far as I have beard. 
191. Does any relationship exist between those professional men and the Official Assignees ? 	Esq. 
In one instance. 
192. A family relation ? Yes. 	 • 	7 Mar., 1861. 
193. Do you think that tends to destroy public confidence in the management of insolvent 
estates by Official Assignees ? Yes, I am of opinion so. 
194. Is the mode of conducting business before the Chief Commissioner, in his Court, the 
proof of debts and examination of parties, generally satisfactory, or does there appear to be a 
laxity ? I have often been struck with the laxity in proving debts; for instance, I have seen 
a printed form of affidavit filled up for goods sold without any date or particulars, and the 
Commissioner has allowed it. Of course, it is all right in the majority of instances, but it 
has always struck me as a very loose way of conducting the business. I believe the practice 
in the Insolvent Court is for a clerk in the office to fill up the affidavits for persons requiring 
them, and he receives the fees privately. 
195. By iltr. 1Vaigt : Has not that system been put a stop to of late ? I cannot say. I 
have not had an opportunity of judging for the last two or three months. 
196. By the Chairman: Then the system of clerks in the Insolvent Court receiving fees for 
their private emolument did exist ? Yes. 
197. Are you aware whether clerks in that office prepare insolvents' certificates? 	I know 
well that was the case when Mr. Shea was there, and I know that the clerks of the Official 
Assignees do it ; and if the Assignee's clerk is in favour of the insolvent, you cannot work 
against him. I have wanted to upset a bill of sale which I was certain was morally as well 
as legally fraudulent, and the clerk of the Assignee bas, in my opinion, attempted to baffle me. 
198. Are the Official Assignees in the habit of attending Court personally ? One or two of 
them are I have noticed that Mr. Sempill is always there, as far as my opportunity of 
observing him goes. 
199. He has been recently appointed ? Yes. 
200. By Mr. IlfrArtItur: That is when he has business himself there ? Yes; when I have 
been there I have generally noticed him there, and Mr. Mackenzie. 
201. By the Chairman: Does Mr. Perry personally attend ? Very seldom ; his attendance 
is the exception. 
202. Have you had any occasion to transact business with him ? Frequently. 
203. Have you usually found him at his office? I have seldom seen him. My business 
with him has always been done through his managing clerk. 
204. What is his name ? Curtis. 
205. Do you think the system of paying Assignees by commission a good one? I have 
hardly considered the thing so far as to have formed a judgment. It has struck Inc that it 
would be better to have Assignees at a stated salary, but I do not know that my judgment is 
sound upon the subject, for I never maturely weighed the matter ; the Assignees, however, 
get some remuneration, whether there are any assets or not. 
206. Before the insolvent can get his certificate ? Yes. 
207. Bas it struck you that that has acted oppressively in certain eases? I do not know 
that it ever struck me, butt think it has struck me rather the other way, as far as I have 
noticed it. 
206. In what way has it struck you ? I think if Assignees have trouble in the management 
of an estate they should be remunerated. 
209. Would not the simple remedy for that be the not signing of the certificate ? No; 
because the Court have decided in a case, the name of which I now forget, that where the 
Commissioner moves the confirmation of the certificate, the net is considered performed, and 
that the issue of the certificate is merely evidence of the act. 
210. Is there any distinction in our law between persons who are engaged in trade, and those 
who are not ? No. 
211. Have you observed that a certain class, such as clerks, professional men, and other 
persons not in trade, frequently sequestrate for small amounts owing to their butchers, 
bakers, and tradesmen ? It has often struck me that the provisions of the English Act 
would be useful here, with reference to the distinction between traders and professional 
persons. I have thought the process of the Court has been abused by persons such as you 
refer to. 
212. Are you inclined to suggest any alteration in the practice of examining insolvents in 
Sydney ? One difficulty I have experienced in the examination of insolvents is that you are 
at the mercy of the Assignee whether he chooses to give you consent to an order to examine. 
In a ease the other day of Nathaniel Payton of Parramatta, a question arose as to certain 
forgeries by Hayes, in consequence of which bo,Payten, sequestrated his estate. I wished to 
examine him, but the Official Assignee would not consent to an order to examine him. 
Mr. Johnson would not give the order. 
213. Mr. Johnson is solicitor for Mr. Morris? Yes. I have since issued subpoenas to wit-
nesses out of the jurisdiction of the Insolvent Court, but it is not clear whether there is a 
provision to issue in such cases. 
214. You do not find it in the Insolvent Act ? No. 
215. I believe Judge Burton, who was the author of that Act, placed certain forms in his 
book, but gave no authority in the Act to carry them out ? I believe not. It is done in 
practice now; but, I believe, were the point to be taken, that I could not compel 
attendance. 
216. Have any instances come under your notice of persons executing deeds in favour of 
members of their family for the purpose of preventing their property passing to their 
creditors ? I have known one or two eases, but they are exceptional eases. Bills of sale 

constantly 
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F. J. Garrick, constantly occur. There is a bill of sale in almost every estate which threatens to sweep 
Esq. 	away all the assets. 

217. Do you consider that the operation of the Bill of Sale Act clashes with the working of 
7 31"', 7861-  the Insolvent Act by giving undue preference to certain creditors? I cannot say it does ;. 

if it be a fraudulent preference it can be easily set aside by application to a Judge in his 
Insolvency jurisdiction, or to the Court, generally. 
218. Is it not the fact that persons comparatively without means, but well versed in business, 
obtain large credit ; and bills of sale are given to the persons who establish them, not only 
for the goods purchased from them, but over the whole floating stock purchased from other 
creditors ? That is a constant occurrence. 
219. Do you consider that just ? No doubt it is very prejudicial to the other creditors. I 
have not thought of the matter, but I do not see how it can be remedied ; for if a man gives 
goods to another, bona fide, he has a right to take security for payment. 
220. 13y Mr. McArthur : That being registered, is known to other persons ? It can be 
known if persons examine. 
221. By the Chairman : Do you consider that the business of the Insolvent Court can be 
satisfactorily discharged by one person now ? No. 
222. What would you suggest ? I think there ought to be a Deputy Commissioner—an 
officer to take proof of debts, tax costs, and all minor matters. 
223. And that the duty of the Chief Commissioner 	? Should be merely to inquire 
into the trade and dealings of the insolvent. For instance, now, the press of business is so 
great, that it is impassible, in point of fact, to carry on an examination if you have several 
witnesses, without three or four meetings in other estates'elashing with it. There is also 
much time lost from want of punctuality. 
221. Is there sufficient accommodation in the Court ? There is no accommodation at all. 
225. Are you aware of any instances in which the Chief Commissioner, in addition to 
refusing a certificate has, under the provisions of the Act, committed a party to gaol ? I 
never knew an instance. 
226. What is the operation of that rider to one of the late Acts, which is commonly known 
as the Chief Justice's rider ? That it is compulsory on the Court, after two years, to grant 
the certificate, though they may formally suspend the granting of it for one or two weeks. 
227. Then, in point of fact, under the present state of the law, an insolvent is not deprived 
of his certificate for ever ? No. 
228. After the lapse of two years it is in his power, by getting the assent of his creditors, to 
compel the Judges to grant his certificate ? Yes. 
229. The section provides, I believe, that the Judges shall grant it after further suspension ? 
Yes. 
230. Have they looked upon that as nominal 1 Yes. 
231. Suspension of the certificate for a week or a fortnight ? Yes; I never knew it to be 
suspended beyond a fortnight. 
232. Have you heard that that Act was passed to meet any individual case ? No. 
233. That is the operation of it ? Yes. 
231. Would it be advisable, before a person's estate was absolutely sequestrated, to cause an 
examination to be held as to the causes of his insolvency—should the responsibility lie thrown 
upon him of chewing he is insolvent before his estate is absolutely sequestrated ? I think 
some measure should be taken, but I am not prepared to suggest any. It has struck Inc that 
the facility with which a man may sequestrate his estate is injurious to creditors; he may 
sequestrate his estate at any moment. 
285. After putting his creditor to considerable expense in attempting to recover money duo 
to him ? Yes. I may mention the case of a man named O'Reilly, a publican, who, in an 
action recently, threatened that if the jury gave a verdict against him, he would file his 
schedule. The Chief Justice said he would look to the thing; but I see by yesterday's 
paper that his estate is sequestrated. 
236. By Al,. Love : Do you know whether be had ever filed his schedule before? Yes. 
237. By the Chairman: Can any punishment be awarded to him for making that statement ? 
No. 
238. Then the observation of the Chief Justice was not of very great force? No, it was 
quite superfluous. I will mention a thing which it has struck me works very injuriously to 
creditors—that is, the allowance to the insolvents. 
239. What is the course at present? It is within the discretion of the Chief Commissioner 
to make an allowance to the insolvent ; and it has generally struck me that the greater the 
vagabond the more certain is he to get a good allowance. 
240. By Mr. Picirlington: Is the allowance limited? No, it is discretionary. 
241. As to time ? Up to the second meeting. 
242. By the Chairman : There is another point I would draw your attention to. Suppose 
an insolvent to be in possession of real estate—for instance, a house which lie bolds as a 
freehold after be sequestrates his estate, is there any summary mode of getting possession of 
the house ? No; you have to bring an action of ejectnient. I will mention a case which 
occurred lately, where the insolvent had certain household furniture, silver plate, 
plated ware, and other goods, in his possession. It appears that when he was about to 
become insolvent, he took a quantity of goods, such as dress pieces, calico, and other 
things, for domestic use. A marriage settlement was put in evidence, to slew that 
the property belonged to his wife. I took an objection, and endeavoured to show 
that the property should have gone to the Assignee. 	This party moved for his 
certificate, and I, on the part of the Assignee, opposed it on that ground. That party still 
has the property in his possession, and has obtained his certificate, notwithstanding that it 
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appeared upon the report of the Assignee, and the statements made by himself in Court, F. J. Garrick, 
that the insolvent had in every way frustrated the Assignee in his attempt to get possession 	Esq. 
of the property of the estate. 
243. By reason of the working of the Act as at present, do creditors become careless of 7  Mar, 1861-  

-proving in estates? Yes. 
244. On the other hand, have debtors become reckless? That is the presumption. 
245. Do you believe that is the case ? I believe debtors generally are reckless. Where 
there are assets they are so frittered away with expenses of various descriptions that, although 
a creditor may shear ten or twelve shillings in the pound, if a debtor gets half-a-crown out 
of the estate he is fortunate. 
246. Under those circumstances are compositions frequent? Yes; that leads Inc to another 
observation. I think in reference to these composition deeds there should be power on the 
part of a majority of creditors to sequestrate an estate. I may refer to a recent case where 
the liabilities amounted to £90,000, and the assets £3,000. Two out of three trustees, 
under the deed of assignment, were anxious to sequestrate the estate for the purpose of 
getting at the party making the assignment, but their efforts were rendered useless by the 
refusal of the third trustee to acquiesce in the sequestration of the estate. 
247. What is your opinion as to affording greater facilities for these deeds of assignment 
than at present exist ? I think there should he greater facilities—they should not be open 
to technical impeachment in the way they are. 
248. Is it difficult to frame a deed that would be good in ease it were contested ? It is 
difficult. To frame a deed that would hold good is the exception. 
249. Is there any difficulty at present experienced by a resident partner who is willing to 
sequestrate his estate if his co-partner dissent ? I know in several cases where one partner 
has sequestrated the joint estate; but there is a decision of the Court with reference to a 
compulsory sequestration, that it cannot be done unless both partners are in the Colony. 
250. Under the present law is it requisite that both partners should petition ? I believe it is 
legally so, but I know several cases in practice where estates have been sequestrated by one 
partner and the order has never been impeached. I think I did it in one estate myself. 
251. By Mr. McArthur : Do you think the present Insolvent Law is imperfect, or that the 
-evils complained of are attributable to the had manner in which it is worked ? I do not 
believe that the Insolvent Law is anything like as imperfect as the public suppose. I think 
it could be worked if there were a proper man to work it. 
252. I have heard it stated by legal gentlemen that we do not so much require an alteration 
of the law, as that the present law should be more perfectly worked out ? I de not believe 
we do. 
253. Do you believe that there is sufficient power given by the present law to the Assignee to 
enable him, if he has reason to suppose an insolvent is acting fraudulently, to take action as 
he ought to do ? I think there is ample power for the Official Assignee to do that now. 
254. What I mean is this—I refer to a case which has come under my own observation—a 
man became insolvent in the Western District, his estate was sequestrated, and information 
was sent here that he was conveying away his goods fraudulently —? The Assignee could 
file an information against the insolvent. 
255. But he might object that he had not funds in hand to go on with the case—ought 
there not to be some provision to indemnify the Assignee in such a case ? I think now 
an Assignee could act in such a case, provided an individual creditor chose to indemnify him. 
I do not know that in any case an Official Assignee could be compelled to take proceedings 
against an insolvent without funds, either from the Government or other source, to pay the 
expenses. 
250. Do you not think there should be some way by which the Assignee should be indemnified, 
for, in many oases, a fraudulent insolvent escapes because the Assignee has not the means of 
carrying on an action ? No doubt it would be very desirable that the Official Assignee should 
he indemnified from some source; but the law is not defective, if begets funds from any 
source the law is open to him. Of course there would be the same difficulty in bringing a 
charge of fraudulent insolvency against a person as any other charge; there must be all the 
legal evidence necessary to substantiate, and the production of this would, in many cases, 
be difficult and expensive, if you had to bring the party to Sydney. 
257. In such a case as I refer to, if the insolvent is not opposed when he applies for his 
certificate, is it granted ? I think so. 
258. In the ease of this man to whom I refer, I believe there was the most satisfactory 
proof, that he had illegally made away with a large portion of his goods—I believe it was 
known to the Court—to the Chief Commissioner—and yet that man got his certificate 
without any difficulty ? I know that where evidence has been given before the Com-
missioner of the transactions and dealings of an insolvent, when the party has applied 
for his certificate and his application has been unopposed, I have heard the Commissioner 
say, "There has been evidence taken in this case which I must peruse," and I have known 
him to refuse the certificate, even where there has been no opposition. It appears fair and 
reasonable, if the Commissioner has evidence before him which indicates improper conduct 
on the part of the insolvent, that he should have the discretion, and I have seen hirro exercise it. 
259. Are you under the impression that too much leniency is shewn to insolvents ? I am 
sure of it ; at least that is any opinion. Great facilities have been given for getting certi-
ficates. For instance, suppose any doubt to exist in the mind of the Commissioner as to 
the propriety of granting a certificate to a certain insolvent, one of the clerks of the 
Assignee will perhaps say, the insolvent has conducted himself well—he has afforded every 
facility to the Assignee in the winding up of the estate—there is no objection to the granting 
of the certificate on the part of the creditors; and probably that very clerk has been engaged 
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F. J. Garrick, in preparing the certificate, and has it at the time in his pocket; thus, the prospect of 
Esq. remuneration for the preparation of the certificate will prompt ldm to speak in the insolvent's 

(—di',  behalf. 
7 Mar., 1861 . 260. Have you seen any instances of what I may term incivility to creditors, and apparently 

a disposition to deal too leniently with the insolvent, in the Insolvent Court ? Do you 
mean generally, or on the part of the Commissioner ? 
261. Both ? It always struck me that the clerks in the office had too much to do with the 
insolvent, and would rather serve him than otherwisa. 
262. By  ties Chairman : I suppose they construe the Act literally as an Act for the relief 
of insolvents? Indeed they do. 
263. By Mr. Walsh : Do you think it desirable that the entire business of the Insolvency 
Courts should be transacted in Sydney ? By no means—part of it is now transacted in the 
country—I do not see any objection to the examination of insolvents, proof of debts being 
carried on in the country. 
264. Do you not think the District Court might be used for the examination of insolvents? 
I think it could be, but not on its present basis, for the Judges are now travelling from time 
to time. 
265. Have you looked to the recent English or Irish Act ? I have looked at the English 
but not at the Irish. 
266. You are aware that since the passing of the existing Insolvent Law of this Colony, that 
the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Law has been a matter of Legislative discussion in England? 
Yes, and that professional and private persons are enabled to avail themselves of the 
protection. 
267. Those are the Bankruptcy Acts. At any time professional or non-trading persons 
might avail themselves of the Insolvency Law. With reference to the collection of insol-
vent estates, I believe the expenses incurred by the Official Assignees are principally 
connected with the collection of estates, the realization of the assets ? To a very great 
extent. 
268. You have a country practice in connection with the District Courts? Yes. 
269. And also a general country practice in connection with the Supreme Court ? Yes. 
270. Have you not found difficulty at times in the execution of writs front the want of a 
Sheriff's officer ? Yes, I have in the country. 
271. With the exception of Bathurst, Maitland, and Goulburn ? Yes, I have had to 
appoint a special bailiff, to pay him at an excessive rate, and run any risk. 
272. Besides giving a bond to indemnify the Sheriff ? Yes. 
273. The Colony has outgrown the efficiency of the Sheriff's Office? Yes, for a long time. 
274. You are aware that there is an officer in the District Court who is the District Court 
Bailiff? Yes. 
275. In each of the District Court districts ? Yes. 
276. In each of the District Court districts there is also a Collector of Intestate Estates ? 
Yes. 
277. Would you think the appointment of one officer in each District Court, who would 
discharge the duties of Sheriff, and District Courts Bailiff, Collector of Insolvent Estates, 
and Curator of Intestate Estates would be desirable? I think one officer could perform 
those several duties. 
278. You think one officer could easily collect these different matters ? Yes. 
279. The usual per centage that is allowed to the Sheriff, say five per cent. for the first ,C100, 
with the salaries paid to the Sheriff's officer and the District Courts bailiff, do you not 
think that would be ample remuneration? I think five per cent. would be, provided the 
party received the remuneration attached to the other offices. 
280. Would the united incomes sufficiently remunerate a respectable person ? Amply. 
281. You think the services of a competent and respectable party could be secured without 
any increased expenditure ? I think so. 
282. Do you think the presence of such an officer in the district would be calculated to 
promote efficiency in the collection of these moneys? I think so. A good deal depends 
upon the character of the person. 
283. Assuming you get a proper man ? Yes. We have now to pay pretty handsomely, and 
to remunerate tile bailiff above his fees. 
284. I would call your attention to the schedule under the Irish Insolvency Act—would 
you approve of that ? As far as I have read, or have run my eye over it, it strikes me as 
admirable. 
285. With a schedule such as that, properly filled up, the Assignee could have but little 
difficulty in collecting the estate? Very little; that contains the information for which we 
are very often fighting for months. 
286. The adoption of 	a schedule as that would get rid of the first difficulty you com- 
plain of, namely, that there is no mode of compelling an insolvent to file accounts? I may 
make an observation as to a ease which has recently come under my notice with reference 
to keeping accounts, where a large exporter of fruit, who had sold fruit in one year to the 
amount of £17,000. The senior partner of the firm could do nothing but write his name, 
and no books were kept. The estate was wound up, and there was not a penny in the pound 
for the creditors. I got instructions, at a considerable expense, to oppose the granting of 
the certificate. I had these parties before the Court and examined them. I would ask one, 
" Is that your entry ?" His reply was, "I cannot read." " Whose writing is that ?" " I 
do not know." He went through the Court without any difficulty ; baffled every effort to got 
at his estate; got his certificate, and again started in business. At the same time I knew 
that he had spent some eight or nine thousand pounds in the erection of houses in Sydney ; 
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that he had shipped a 	 a quantity of fruit, and the evidence went to sliew that on the R Garrick, 
whole lie had made a tolerably good profit, and yet there was not a shilling for anybody. 	Esq. 
287. With respect to bills of sale, you were asked in reference to their operation as affecting 
insolvency estates, have you not found, very frequently, that bills of sale are relied upon by 7  Mar., 1861. 
some particular creditors, in an insolvent estate, where they are not given on condition of the 
first advance ? Frequently. 
288. If given for an existing debt, of course, in point of law, they would be void? They 
very often recite that fact, so that any one can see they are void on the thee of them. 
289. Is there not a provision for making forbearance a good consideration ? Illy attention 
has not been drawn to that. 
290. Forbearance is a good consideration ? I doubt that—I know it would be in some 
cases—do you mean to support a deed as against a creditor ? 
291. Yes? I do not think so. 
292. I would ask you whether if it be a consideration, such as would support a deed, it 
would be desirable to get rid of it ? Of course it would ; there could not be two opinions 
about that. 
293. Then if the estates in the country districts were collected by these officers there would 
be no necessity for these Official Assignees in Sydney? No. 
294. Except for the purpose of Sydney estates ? Yes. 
295. Have you observed, that in estates where the assets are of small amount, the Official 
Assignees take very little trouble? Very little. 
299. Unless there is a probability of something handsome being realized, in the shape of 
commission, they take very little trouble about an estate ? Yes. 
297. Have you known any instance in which the petition and schedule have sliewn an am 
proximation to twenty shillings in the pound, where the estate did not pay twenty pence? Yes. 
298. And the reason of its not paying twenty pence was, that whatever assets there were, 
were absolved in expenses? I have not looked particularly to the cause, but I have noticed 
the fact. 
299. Has there not also been an undue interval between the sequestration of an estate, and 
the ultimate distribution of the assets? Yes; you cannot get a plan of distribution filed. 
I had to move for a rule nisi to shew cause why a plan of distribution should not be filed, 
and the estate had to bear the expense of the application. That, I think, was after nearly 
twelve months. They never file within six months, sometimes not within a year, and 
sometimes even more than that. 
300. By the Chairman : What is the reason of the delay ? I cannot tell; I have no idea, 
except general dilatoriness on the part of the Official Assignees. 
301. By Mr. IValsh : They have the funds in their hands, and have no necessity for activity ? 
Yes. 
802. In a large majority of cases would net a gentleman of Ordinary intelligence be able to 
do the business of an Official Assignee without the intervention of a solicitor? That has 
always been my opinion ; it has always struck me that one or two Assignees have a solicitor 
dancing after them very unnecessarily ; they cannot open their mouths without having an 
attorney to speak for them. It has struck me as a very good provision in the Insolvent Act 
that the creditor should choose both the Assignee and the attorney. 
303. By the Chairman : Was that not formally-  the ease ? It was formerly the ease with 
regard to the Assignee; in England it is so as to the attorney. 
304. Did it not lead to very great abuses? I am not competent to offer an opinion. I am 
not a very old practitioner ; 1 do not recollect. 
305. By M1' . lEtz/ah : In reference to creditors' deeds you have stated that you thought there 
ought to be greater facility for executing and giving effect to them ? Yes. 
309. Do not you think it would be desirable to give the majority of creditors the power to 
bind the minority ? Yes, I do; provided regard be had to the amount, and not to the 
majority in number only. 
307. Under the Irish Act I see it is three-fifths in number and amount, and under the 
English nine-tenths ? It has always struck me that deeds of composition were a much more 
easy way of settling an estate, and much more remunerative to the creditor, and I have no 
doubt of it. 
308. Is it not in consequence of the difficulty of carrying out the Insolvent Law, that you 
think these deeds preferable? Yes. I think estates could be disposed of as inexpensively as 
by the preparation of these deeds. 
309. Under the Irish Insolvent Act the practice is this :—The party files his schedule, and 
prays that he may have the benefit of the Insolvent Law. A day, not later than twenty, is 
fixed for hearing the petition, and the party must give twenty days' notice of that to cad. 
creditor. He then appears before the Court to support his petition, and whether his creditors 
appear or not, it is the duty of the Judge to see that he is a person fairly entitled to the 
benefit of the Act. If the Judge is satisfied upon that point, an order for the discharge is 
given. If the creditors choose they may attend and oppose, but from the presentation of the 
petition the estate vests, and the realization of the estate is going on for the benefit of the 
creditors independently of whether the petitioner is entitled to the relief sought or not ? I 
think it would be an admirable thing, provided the presentation of the petition had the same 
effect as an order to prevent the creditors outside going on. 
310. The estate vests from the presentation of the petition—do you think that would be an 
improvement on the present practice ? Clearly. 
311. Do you not think, upon filing the schedule in the office in Sydney, an order might be 
made for hearing the petition in any District Court in the Colony 	It might and would 
aye expense, as far as country insolvencies were concerned ; it would also be a very excellent 
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P. 3. Garrick, way of carrying out the Chairman's idea of having a hearing before the sequestration of an 
Esq. 	estate. 

312. By Arr. ,Tiove : Do you think where a debtor has been found to act fraudulently, by not 
7  Mai ISO!. giving a full return of his property, withholding his certificate is a sufficient punishment ? 

I doubt whether it is a punishment at nil; he can carry on trade all the same. In fact a 
certain class of people are better off without their certificates than with them. I know one 
person now, he has been twice insolvent within three years, and he is carrying on business 
with his mother's name over the door. 
313. You know instances where certificates have been refused by the Chief Commissioner, 
and the parties who have been refused have carried on business with the name of a son, or 
some other person, over the dour? Yes. 
314. In any new law which might be enacted on this subject, would you recommend that 
the Commissioner should have the power of awarding imprisonment ? I think it would be 
better if the Commissioner had more jurisdiction in that respect than he now has. Of 
course imprisonment must be the result of some proceedings, some information preferred 
against the insolvent. I think we should be careful not to make the Insolvent Act oppres-
sive, instead of an Act for the relief of the insolvent. 
315. But if the withholding the certificate be no punishment there is no punishment for the 
fraudulent insolvent ? In many cases it is a serious punishment, but in the majority of cases 
I do not think it is. 
316. By the Chairman : After all it is only for two years ? It is only for two years. 
317. By Hr. Love: Have you ever had cases in which parties had obtained property within 
three or four months of their insolvency, and refused to give accounts of their proceeds—
persons who did not keep books ? I have often met with such cases, where, as I have before 
stated, they alleged either that they did not keep accounts, could not read or write, or some 
such excuse. Under the present Act there is a difficulty with reference to examination. I 
saw the point taken the other day—that, although the Commissioner has the power of com-
mitment for not answering a question, yet, so long as a person does answer, he has no power 
of commitment. 
318. Would you not think it a power which might be wisely lodged in the Chief Commis-
sioner, of compelling a creditor to be examined ? Yes, I have spoken of that. You are now 
at the mercy of the Assignee. I think the jurisdiction should be with the Chief COMIlliS-
sinner, and that you should not be at the trouble of going to the Assignee, and from the 
Assignee to the Judge. 
319. Would you recommend that the Assignee should be under the Chief Commissioner 
rather than under the Judge ? I cannot see any good that would result. 
320. In order that he might require their attendance ? I think they ought to attend on 
every occasion. 
321. If they were more under the control of the Chief Commissioner would they not be more 
likely to attend ? I think if they were more under the control of the creditors they would 
be mom likely to attend. 
322. By the Chairman: Have you any.bills of cost in your possession relating to insolvent 
estates, which have been furnished by Official Assignees' solicitors ? Not that I am aware 
of. I have seen some. 
3'23. Are you aware of any circumstances relating to the estate of a person of the name of 
Johnson, residing at Wollongong ? No. 
824. Have you any other suggestions you wish to make to the Committee ? On reference 
to the 8th and 12th—the ruling of Mr. Justice Wise, in the case of Sempill and Anderson, is 
worthy the attention of the   
325. What were the circumstances of that ease? The Assignee brought an action to 
recover money, paid under the 12th section, and goods delivered to a creditor under the 8th. 
It was a cash transaction, and the goods were paid for to the extent of £25; and the party 
being unable to pay the balance gave the goods back to his creditor. Under the ruling of 
Judge Wise the jury gave a verdict, and I am inclined to think he was right in point of law. 
826. You consider that the question of fraud ought to have been introduced, that it should 
have been not simply as to the taking back the goods, but whether it was done with a view 
of defrauding the creditors? Some such provision. I am hardly able to suggest what—but 
it struck ine that a provision in the English Act would be worthy of consideration, as to the 
bona fides. of the intention of the insolvent—as to whether it was voluntary on his part. 
827. By Mr. love: With respect to this case to which you have referred, were part of the 
goods sold for cash ? They were all sold for cash. 
328. Part of them were paid for immediately on delivery ? £25. 
829. £25 was paid immediately on delivery of the goods ? I believe on the following day. 
330. I believe it was on delivery? No, it was my own case, and I believe it was almost 
immediately on delivery, hut not immediately on delivery. 
331. Do you think the ruling of the Judge, that that .E25 should be returned, was right ? I 
am afraid so. I do not think it was ever within the spirit of the Act, but I am inclined to 
think 'his ruling was correct. 
332. You are aware that many country houses are in the habit of paying their acceptances at 
the bank up to within a day of going to Court ? Yes, I know the case of a firm whose name 
is in the paper to-day, and whose acceptances were paid to the day. 
338. If Judge Wise were right in the case of Sempill and Anderson, are you not of opinion 
that the hanks should return all the money they have received in such cases ? I think it 
will work a frightful evil never contemplated by the Act, but that it is within the letter of 
the law, I am afraid is too true. 
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William Alexander Purefoy, Esq, Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates, called in 
and further examined :— 

334. By All.Walsh: I believe you have had your attention directed to the Irish Bank . W.A.Purefoy, 
ruptcy and Insolvency Consolidation Act ? Yes, I have looked over the Act, but I have 	Esq.  
not read it through. 
335. So far as you have examined it, do you think it could be applied to the circumstances 7 Mar" 1601 

of this Colony ? A very considerable portion of its provisions could, I think, be applied to  
this Colony, and with great benefit and advantage. 
886. Supposing the Irish Act were adopted here, do you think our District Court Judges 
would be able to discharge the duties imposed by it on the Assistant Barristers? It is 
impossible for me to answer that question, in consequence of my being wholly unacquainted 
with the machinery of the District Courts, or the means there would be at the command of 
the District Court Judge to carry out the provisions of the Act. 
337. I think I understood you to say here, the other day, that the Insolvency Laws in force 
in this Colony now are imperfect? They are imperfect, and inadequate to meet the require-
ments of the commercial community. 
338. And I think I also understood you to say, that the Judge of the Insolvent Court 
ought to bc independent of the Judges of the Supreme Court, and have a peculiar jurisdic-
tion of his own, with an appeal from him, in cases of difficulty, to the Supreme Court ? I 
think the Judge, or Chief Commissioner, whichever you please to call him, of the Insolvent 
Court, ought to have much greater power and jurisdiction than he at present possesses, and 
that that jurisdiction should be much less subject to appeal to the Supreme Court than it is 
at present. 
339. At present the Chief Commissioner of the Insolvent Court is an officer of the Supreme 
Court? So he is called—a ministerial and judicial officer; and appeals, I may observe, 
from the decisions of the Chief Commissioner, in every matter within his jurisdiction, are 
appeals to a single Judge, who, by an Act of the Legislature, is constituted the Court in 
Insolvency—appeals from the granting or refusing of certificates alone excepted. 
340. By the Chairman : Is there any appeal from that Judge to the three Judges ? I never 
heard of any. 
341. You are aware that that Judge having sole jurisdiction in appeals under the Act, there 
can be none? As regards the admission or rejection of appeals from the Commissioner to 
the Judge, the words are " the decision of such Judge shall be final." 
342. Do you consider that Act ought to be repealed ? I certainly think that particular 
clause should be altered so as to give an appeal to the full Court instead of to a 
single Judge. That would be a great improvement. 
343. By Air. Walsh : Are you aware that, in England, the appeal is to a single Judge, with 
an appeal from that one Judge to the Lords Justices ? No, 1 am not aware of that. 
344. Have you observed any Instances in which the schedule filed showed assets approxi 111E-
ting to 20s. in the pound, and there has been no dividend in the estate ultimately ? 	Yes, 
I have observed that in several instances.* 
345. Have you observed any cause why there should have been no dividend ? I had better 
answer the question more fully by saying, I have observed, and there are DM in the office 
several schedules, shewing on the face of the schedule a large surplus, say £10,000, and yet 
£5 has not been realized in the estate. 
346. By the Chairman: Is not that a gross abuse of the Insolvent Act ? I am not at 
all prepared to say it is a gross abuse of the Insolvent Act, because the schedule is framed 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and the reason of such a strange anomaly 
appearing on the face of the schedule as a man appearing on sworn documents to have 
£10,000 over his liabilities, is, because he puts a value of his own on his property, which is 
mortgaged. For instance,—the estate of a country gentleman it now in the Court, and, if 
my memory is correct, the surplus shewn on the schedule is something like £18,000. The 
insolvent values his property at a certain amount which exceeds his liabilities by that sum. 
347. By Air. Mash : Have you known any instances in which assets, approximating to 20s. 
in the pound were shewn on the schedule, and where they were eaten up by expenses, or 
very nearly ? Yes, I have. There is one estate that came under my notice as Chief Com-
missioner, where the assets realized a sum above 20s. in the pound, and were brought to 
Sydney from a place called Deniliquin, and the dividend paid was either 12s, or 12s. 6d., I 
am not now prepared to say which. 
348. That was the case of Edwards? Yes, a very remarkable case. 
349. Be you happen to know the particular circumstances under which the sequestration was 
obtained in that case? Not with sufficient distinctness to give a detailed account of them,hut if 
I may speak from recollection, a charge was preferred against the insolvent—a charge of felony, 
I think—in his absence; a warrant was issued, and he was taken and incarcerated, and 
while he was under darcese an application was made for a rule nisi, and his estate was 
sequestrated while he had no opportunity of showing cause. 
350. Do you happen to remember within what time that rule was returnable? No, I have 
DO recollection of the time; it is an occurrence now of more than two years' standing. 
351. Is it not usual to make the rule returnable within fourteen days? The time within 
which a rule nisi is returnable, depends on the particular circumstances of each ease. 
352. Have you known any other case where there have been apparently similar facts ? Not 
exactly similar as regards the realization of assets exceeding 20s. in the pound; but I have 
known another estate, which is present to my mind, where I think the assets realized would 
have paid 15s. or 16s., and the dividend was less. 

853. 

• NOTE (By witness on revision) :—t desire to alter and amend this answer. I cannot mention any 
particular ease, but I have no doubt there are such. 
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W.A.PurdbY, 353. Returning to Edwards' estate, can you call to mind what was the principal item of 
Esq. 	expense in the realization of that estate ? I can only state from memory that the principal 

re--A---1 item was the commission charged by the agent of the Assignee, who, I distinctly recollect, 
7 6.1fir.. 1861 . when the matter came before me, stated that he was sent specially from Sydney to Deniliquin, 

while it was contended by the Assignee, who is now no more, that he was not sent specially, 
but that the agent was going there on other business, and that he therefore employed him as 
his agent. 
354. The agent was a resident in Sydney ? Yes, who had been a publican. 
355. Do you happen to know the distance from Sydney to Deniliquin ? Only by reference 
to the Post Office tables-700 miles, I think. 
356. In the event of the death of an Assignee, what becomes of the papers in the estates in 
which he was concerned—are they handed over to his successor ? Yes; all papers and 
documents are transferred to his successor in office. 
357. Then the papers in this estate would be in the hands of the successor of the Assignee 
who had charge of it ? Yes, or ought to be. 
358. Do you know of your own knowledge, how Assignees procure estates to be collected in 
the country districts? No, I do not. 
359. Have you ever observed that they charge allowances to agents for collecting estates in 
the country districts? I am aware that they charge for employing agents in the country, 
because such charges are put down in the plans of distribution. 

° 360. Is there any uniform rate of payment for these agents? Not that I am aware of. 
261. It is matter of arrangement between the Assignee and the agent ? I should think so; 
I have no means of knowing to the contrary. 
362. Is the Assignee allowed a commission upon the amounts realized by these agents ? 
The Assignee charges his commission of five per cont. on all the assets realized. 
363. Then if the Assignee, say, employed an auctioneer to realize he would have to pay the 
auctioneer his commission on the transaction ? lie would have to remunerate him for his 
time and trouble. 
364. And that remuneration is usually a commission ? Yes. 
365. So that in estates realized through the intervention of auctioneers the estate has to pay 
commission to the auctioneer and commission to the Assignee for the same thing ? I ant 
not prepared to say without referring to plans of distribution. 
366. By Mr. _11c.irthur : Do you think the present mode of paying the Official Assignees 
by commission is a good one, or that it would be more desirable that they should have a 
fixed salary ? I am of opinion that a fixed salary would be a better mode of remunerating 
the Official Assignees than the present mode by commission. 
367. Do you think that, in some cases, it might not induce Official Assignees to be less 
energetic in winding up estates? It is quite impossible for me to say what effect a payment 
by a certain fixed amount would have on the minds of Assignees. 
368. Would you approve of classifying estates—estates where the assets are small and where 
they are large—do you think it would be an improvement to pay the Assignees, not a 
uniform commission of 5 per cent, on all estates, but a larger commission where the estate 
was very small and a smaller commission where the assets were very large ? I have already 
made that sugg,estion to Sir William Burton. On estates under £100 the commission is 
10 per cent., but on all that are over £100—whether £150 or £50,000—it is 5 per cent.; 
and it has struck me, in some few instances, that that is by no means a just or equitable 
mode of remuneration as regards the body of creditors, because it has come under my im-
mediate notice that estates have come into the Court where there has been a cash balance to 
the credit of the insolvent exceeding £3,000, and there no trouble whatever has been 
incurred by the Assignee beyond perhaps applying to the manager of the bank to transfer 
the amount to the credit of the estate; and yet on that sum the Assignee receives the same 
commission as he would upon a like sum realized perhaps by a troublesome and expensive 
action at law. 
369. Then you are in favour of paying a smaller commission on large estates and a larger 
commission on small estates, according to a proper scale? Yes, I am in favour of that 
arrangement, which is in accordance with the provision of the Irish Bankruptcy and 
Insolvency Consolidation Act. That Act provides that the commission payable to Assignees 
shall be regulated according to the trouble incurred. 
370. Do you not think, from your experience in the Insolvent Court here, that a great many 
insolvencies arise from the fact that parties do not keep proper accounts and do not know 
their position at all? I entertain no doubt upon that point. 
371. Do you not think that in the event of any new Insolvent Law being brought into 
operation it would have a salutary effect to oblige every person in business to take stock at 
least once a year • pr, in the event of his becoming insolvent, and his books shewing he had 
not done so, to refuse his certificate on that ground alone ? It is at present one of the pro-
visions of the amended Insolvent Act, 7 Victoria No. 19, that not keeping reasonable books 
is a ground for refusing a certificate. 
372. But a man may keep books in what may be regarded as a tolerably correct method, and 
yet never take stock—he may fancy himself in solvent circumstances, and yet, when he gets 
into difficulties and is compelled by his creditors to take stock, may find himself not worth 
ten shillings in the pound ? My answer is, that I fear it would be a dangerous and perhaps 
difficult thing to prescribe by law the mode in which a trader or merchant shall carry on his 
business, or to say that he shall be obliged by law to balance his books at certain intervals. 
I am afraid it would be a very difficult thing to legislate on such a subject. 
373. Have you met with any cases in which you had reason to believe that insolvents had 
acted fraudulently, but yet there has not been sufficient evidence to justify action being 
taken for a committal ? Yes, there have been several cases of that kind. 

374. 
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374. Do you think that Official Assignees at present have sufficient inducement and facilities 	Enrcfoy, 
to act in such cases—I will illustrate what I mean by a case which was referred to in Mr. 	Esq.  
Garrick's evidence :—I and several other Sydney houses were interested in an insolvency 
which took place at Orange. The man filed his schedule, and after the estate was 7  Mar, 1861,  
in the Court, one of his creditors in Sydney, with whom I am acquainted, received 
a. letter from Orange stating that this man had been seen taking away several dray-loads of 
,goods:at night; he called upon me and I went with him to the Official Assignee, who said he 
had no means of acting as he had no funds in hand, and that if he acted at all he must do it on 
Ids own responsibility, and at his own risk, which he did not feel inclined to do because on 
the last occasion when he had done so he had lost fifty pounds and gained nothing. Now 
for want of some means of remunerating the:Assignee for the expenses he might be put to, 
the examination was not gone into, and I believe firmly that the insolvent acted fraudulently, 
but he has since got his certificate and the matter is ended? I know the case to which you 
refer. Several eases have come under my notice in which I have entertained no doubt from 
the facts before no that the insolvent had acted dishonestly and fraudulently, yet it was not 
such evidence as I could feel myself justified in committing the insolvent upon for fraudulent 
insolvency. 
375. By the Chairman : Who has actual charge of the records in your department ? The 
Chief Commissioner by law ; they are kept in the office of the Chief Commissioner, and 
under the Act he has custody of them. 
376. It is likely that the Comniittee will wish to see some of the plans of distribution and 
bills of costs sent in to your office—to whom should they apply? I am not aware whether 
there is a single bill of costs filed in my office, because the practice is that the solicitor gives 
a copy to the Assignee, and the Assignee keeps the bills as his voucher for the payment. 
377. Then they are not filed in the estate? I think not. 
378. Is it not the rule in the Master in Equity's Department, which is reckoned somewhat 
similar to your own, that all hills of costs before they are taxed must be filed? I do not 
know anything at all of the practice in the Master's Office. 
379. Have you in the exercise of your duty found it necessary to suspend the certificates of 
many insolvents for not keeping proper books of account ? Whenever I am satisfied that an 
insolvent has not done so I refuse him his certificate. 
880. Then it rests with yourself to say what are proper books and what are not—not whether 
the books shall give a specific amount of information, but whether you are of opinion that 
they are sufficient or not ? Yes, it is left to the discretion of the Commissioner to determine 
whether the insolvent has kept proper and reasonable books of account. 
381. Have you on refusing any certificate also committed the insolvent to gaol, under the 
provisions of the 19th section, I think it is, of the 7th Victoria ? Yes, I have. 
382. In how many instances, and what were the circumstances under which those com-
mittals took place? I am not prepared to say how many, but only in a few instances. The 
first appeared to me to be a very proper ease for a greater amount of punishment than the 
mere refusal of a certificate, and I accordingly committed the party, but admitted him to 
hail. It was a case of gross assault upon the officer who went to insolvent's premises to do 
his duty. I sent the case to the Supreme Court. 
383. I am not alluding to cases of that kind ! I am alluding to one of the sections of the 
Amended Insolvent Act, which gives the Commissioner, in addition to refusing the certi-
ficate, the power of committing the party to goal for a certain period ? I am not aware that 
the Commissioner has any such power, and I think, on reference to the 19th section, you 
will find that the provisions are, that if the Commissioner sees fit, he shall hold the insolvent 
to bail to appear before the Supreme Court, and the Court may, if they think fit, commit 
him for twelve months only. 
384. Then you have no power to exercise summary jurisdiction by sending a party to gaol ? 
I have not. 
385. Your power is merely ministerial ? Merely ministerial. 
386. Have you any other observations or suggestion's to make to the Committee? I would 
like to make one other suggestion to-day, with regard to offers of composition made by 
insolvents. I think there should be a provision of the law to prevent any offer being made 
unless it was accompanied with security for carrying it out to the satisfaction of the majority 
of the creditors in number and value. The present law requires that an offer shall remain 
in abeyance for 42 days, before it can be accepted or carried out, and in many estates in 
which there are considerable assets, offers of composition are made by the insolvents, but in 
several instances after the 42 days have expired, the insolvent comes in and says he is not 
able to carry out his offer. In the meantime, considerable expenses are incurred by the 
Assignee in looking after the property, and sometimes considerable loss is sustained, as in 
the case of crops, agricultural produce, and other things. Sometimes it has appeared to me 
that the offer of composition was nothing but a mere ruse to mislead and deceive the creditors. 
Therefore, I think there should be a provision that no such offers should be made without 
security being taken for their fulfilment. 
387. By 3fr. McArthur: According to the present law such offers must remain under con-
sideration for 42 days, are you aware of any good object to be served by such a restriction ? 
I can only suppose that the Legislature considered it wise and prudent to give the creditors 
ample opportunity of inquiring further into the circumstances of the insolvent, so as to 
ascertain if possible whether he was able to offer a larger amount of composition or not. 
I can conceive no other reason. 
388. In cases where offers of composition are accepted, or where the assets are all bought up 
by any one person, and the Official Assignee has no further trouble in the estate; is it not 
usual for him to claim his entire commission ? I know cases in which the Assignee has 

claimed 
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W.A.Purefoy, claimed a commission upon the whole of the assets, although the estate has been taken out 

	

ES1 ' 	 of the Court, but I know of no case in which the whole commission has been allowed. 

	

• 	Some remuneration has been allowed by the Supreme Court to the Assignee—perhaps for 
7 mar- 1861  his trouble—perhaps for his disappointment. 

380. By the Chairman : Is it not in the power of the Assignee to prevent an estate being 
released unless his demands are complied with ? The practice of the Court has been to 
require the assent of the Assignee before the estate is released. 
890. Is it not in his power to refuse that assent unless his full commission is paid? I dare 
say it is. 
391. By Mr. McArthur: Are you aware that in one estate in which the Assignee claimed 
full commission he was allowed £105 ? Yes, I remember that case ; it was allowed by the 
full Court. I would make one other suggestion with regard to compulsory sequestrations ;  
I think it is highly desirable that there should be some less expensive mode of proceeding 
to make a party an insolvent debtor. At present there are only two modes that I know of; 
one is by obtaining a judgment, the other is upon affidavit that the party is about to leave 
the Colony. 
392. By the Chairman : With the intention of defrauding his creditors? Yes. Of course, 
in that case an order could be granted very easily; but with regard to the necessity of the 
creditor obtaining a judgment of the Supreme Court on an overdue note or acceptance, or 
for goods sold and delivered, I think a much speedier mode could be adotted. 

WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH, 1861. 

Ottani:— 
MR. DICK, 	 MR. MeARTITUR, 
31R. LOVE, 	 Ma. PIDDING TON, 

MR. SMART. 

JAMES HART. ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
William Thurlow, Esq., called in and examined 

yq Thurlow, 393. By the Chairman.: You are a Solicitor of the Supreme Court ? I am. 
Esq. 	391. Have you paid any attention to the working of the present Insolvent Law ? Prior to 

1855—for some years after its commencement I had a good deal of practice in the Insolvent 
13 Mar., 1361 Court. 

293. And latterly has the working of it also been brought under your observation ? It is 
very little I have had to do with it since re-entering upon my business. I mean to say that 
my practice at present has been but small. 
WA Are there are any radical defects, that occur to you, in the present Insolvent Law ? I 
cannot say that I have applied my mind to consider the Act as a whole. 
397. Has any case latterly been in your hands in which you consider that injustice has been 
done to any of your clients ? I should regard this Act as entirely worn out. It was passed 
at a time for which it was suited, but it is not suited for the present time. From what I 
have observed during my attendance at the Court I should say that it does not, and that it 
is impossible that it can, work satisfactorily under the present system. 
398. What do you attribute that to—is the machinery of the Court insufficient ? I think 
it is, and I think-it wants revision. 
399. Do you think the present Commissioner has more than be can properly attend to ? I 
would say so decidedly; and I say this from my notice of the business on the paper, and the 
way in which it seems to he disposed of. Assuming that he does all be can, there is too much 
for one man to get through satisfactorily to the insolvent, to the creditors, or to any one else. 
400. Ts that from having too much clerical duties to perform ? Many duties that he might 
he relieved from. 
401. What are they ? I think the estates ought to be classified. It is now an Insolvent Law 
for all classes of the community—traders and unfortunate people who are not engaged in 
business. In England some of these would be regarded as bankrupts and others as insolvents. 
402. 'Would you extend the provisions of the Bankruptcy Act to persons not in trade? No. 
403. You think such persons should remain liable for the payment of their debts ? I do. 
404. Persons in the receipt of salaries for instance ? I do. Of course in saying that I 
mean to except some unfortunate-  cases, it being also understood that these parties might 
obtain a certificate upon going through the Court in a regular way as insolvents. 
403. Does it occur to you that the provisions of the present Act are availed of by persons 
such as clerks, musicians, and others of a similar class ? Yes. 
406. To a large extent? Yes, it is a refuge for all. 
407. Are you aware whether the creditors of these persons take any trouble to prove debts 
in the estates, or do they consider it hopeless to do so ? In regard to such eases I should 
say the creditors scarcely trouble themselves to go up to prove their debts, as being useless. 
It arises in this way, these people have nothing but their furniture, wearing apparel, and a 
few articles of personal property, and a majority of the creditors, from a friendly feeling, vote 
that the furniture shall be allowed, so that perhaps there is not enough realized to pay the 
expenses Of Court. 

408.  
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408. Itt cases where creditors have directed the furniture of an insolvent to be sold, are you W. 'Inflow, 
aware whether the Chief Commissioner has refused to ratify that decision ? I could not 	Esq.  
point to a case where the furniture has not been allowed. 

le—e‘ar. 409. Are you aware that in the present state of the law it is in the power of the Commis- 13 Mar.. 1561. 
sioner to prevent creditors carrying out a resolution of that nature ? By refusing to assent. 
410. So that in that case the furniture, which would be the only available assets, would be 
left in the bands of the insolvent ? Yes. 
411. Has any means occurred to you by which the expense of the administration of estates 
might be lessened ? It appears to me that that is a matter which is entirely in the hands 
of the Official Assignee. 
412. Under the present law are all estates collected by Official Assignees in Sydney ? Yes. 
i13. Insolvents who reside in the interior, no matter how remote, have to come to this Court 
to obtain their certificates--does it occur to you that if these duties were performed by 
persons in the interior having the power of Deputy Commissioners, it would lessen the 
expenses and make the Act snore workable ? Obviously it would. 
414. Do you think any of the duty could be discharged by the District Court Judges ? 
Possibly it might; but then you would wantextra machinery, as it would throw extra labour 
upon them. 
415. Is that the only objection you have to it ? Yes, because I believe there would be but 
few cases of that 1{Lnd. They travel monthly, I believe. 
416. Is there any complaint as to the management of estates by Assignees, at present? 
There is a general growl throughout the city. I think the feeling is universal. 
417. Are there any grounds for that ? I am not prepared to say so of my own knowledge, 
except in one case, for, as I told you before, my experience since 1855 has been limited. 
I will instance a case where I think the estate was grossly mismanaged, the case of Joseph 
Andrews, an insolvent. 
418. Were you engaged for the creditors in that ease ? I was engaged for the creditors and 
the insolvent. When I say I was engaged for the creditors, I may explain that they were 
supporting the insolvent, and therefore I was acting in accordance with their wishes. 
419. Where did Mr. Andrews reside ? On the Manning River. 
420. What assets did he return in his schedule ? His assets were £1,035.• 
421. What was the number of creditors, and the amount of their claims ? They proved 
against the estate to the amount of 42,947 4s. 9d.; but that included an amount which was 
secured by mortgage. 
422. Where was the property situated that formed the assets ? At or very close to the 
Manning River. 
423. What did it consist of? Cattle, horses, furniture, and a few things about the man's 
house. 
424. Will you state, as briefly as possible, what was done by the Assignee in that estate, how 
the expenses were incurred, and any other facts connected with it ? Yes, I will do so, 
because I have the authority of the insolvent to give any information, provided lie is not 
prejudiced in any way by what I say. An action for a libel had been brought against the 
insolvent, and damages obtained, some 4320 lls. 11d., including costs. In consequence of 
that action he was obliged to sequestrate his estate. I may state that be had been a resident 
on the Manning fig nine years, and was in the Commission of the Peace. He filed his 
schedule on the 20th July, 1860. On the 28th of the same month he wrote to his Assignee, 
Mr. Sempill, that he thought he should he able to arrange his affairs and obtain the release 
of his estate; asked him not to sacrifice any of the property, and in the meantime said he 
would take care and account to the Assignee. At this time, save and except this person 
who had obtained a verdict against him, all his creditors were favourable to him, and were 
willing to have afforded him time for the payment of his debts; nevertheless the Assignee, 
without any instructions from the creditors, seized everything, and employed the plaintiff 
in the action, who was inimical to the insolvent, and another person named Skerritt, with 
whom he had been at law, but who was no creditor, and two or three other persons who were 
opposed to the insolvent, and sent them down to take possession of the stock. The insolvent 
had interviews with the Assignee, but nevertheless the cattle and horses were taken to the 
market from the station in two lots. The evidence before the Commissioner shews that the 
property had been valuable, that it was good stock, and that the distance of the station 
from which the first lot was taken to Maitland, where the stock was sold by auction, is 
about one hundred and twenty miles. It was also stated, that it takes about a week to 
drive cattle such a distance without doing them any injury. 
425. By Mr. McArthur : A week to drive cattle one hundred and twenty miles ? It 
depends upon the weather, and I believe it was rather wet at this time ; a week or ten days 
would be the outside ; they travel firm fifteen to twenty miles a day. The first lot of 
these cattle, of which I will hand you in the account, realized in the gross 4526 5s. 6d. 
(The witness handed in the same. Vide Appendix A.) You will also perceive, from the 
abstract of Mr. Serapill's account, that these three persons did as they liked; there seemed 
to he no control over them whatever. (The witness handed in the abstract referred to. 
Vide Appendix B.) For driving this first lot, which realized 4526 5s. 6d., the Assignee 
submitted to the payment, independently of the auctioneer's commission for the sale of them 
at Maitland, of 4277. As to the reasonableness of the charge, I refer the Committee to 
the depositions of the several witnesses, who state that it was a grossly wreekless expen-
diture, and as yet, although this is the account furnished by the Assignee (producing the 
same), and has been before the Commissioner a long time; up to this time there has been 
no proof of the actual paynients of these amounts. 
426. By the Chairman : Has the Assignee taken any step to resist the claim made by these 

persons 
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W. Timelow, persons for the collection of the cattle ? I am not aware; I do not think he took any, but 
Esq. 	paid what they asked. 

427. Have you any reason to suppose any collusion between the Assignee and these persons ? 
13 Mar., 1861. I am not prepared to say. There was a second lot subsequently brought from the home 

station, some twenty miles further, and it appears from the evidence, that these cattle 
were also good. These were sold by auction, and realized £164 172, gross. The expenses 
charged for that sale amounted to £167 13s. 6d. 
428. Does that include the cost of driving them ? Yes, everything. 
420. For the first lot you furnished the Committee with the cost of driving them only ? 
No, for telegram, expenses, wages, and rations-altogether £277 Os. Id. The amount for 
wages is £197 Os. 2d. 
430. The expenses of selling the first lot of cattle, or rather of driving them to market, 
appears to be £277 Os. Id.? Yes. 
431. The expenses relating to the second lot, £167 18s. 6d.? Yes, and on the two lots in 
addition I find a charge of £20 16s. 9d., something to be paid, which had not been paid 
when this account was made out. 
432. These charges are independent of the Assignee's commission, and also of the auctioneer's 
charges ? Yes. The auctioneer's charges are merely nominal. 
433. The auctioneer's charges appear in the first account handed in for the first lot, and the 
account shows the net proceeds to be £497 2s. 4d.? Yes. 
434. What was the actual aunt COM 111 g to the estate after the charges of driving the stock 
to market, the Assignee's commission, and the chargesof the auctioneer were paid ? Nothing. 
485. Was the estate brought into debt? Yes. 
436. How much ? The Assignee's commission has to be added to the amounts I have before 
stated-that is, £181 18s. 4d. The total expenses amounted to £717 us. 7d.,*  and the assets 
to .E1191 2s. 6d. 
437. Could not these expenses have been avoided if there had been an officer in the country 
charged with the execution of the Commissioner's warrant? In this case a Commissioner's 
warrant was obtained and handed to these people, who were all made official bailiffs, and 
sent down by Mr. Sempill to bear away the stock. 
438. Were these persons sent from Sydney ? Yes, although Richards lives on the Manning, 
and Sleerritt is known to be of no very good repute. 
439. Are there particular persons whom Mr. Sempill usually employs in such cases? I aim 
not aware, but I may tell you that most of the creditors of Andrews live in or near his 
place, and gave evidence in his behalf with reference to the charges which would be con-
sidered reasonable. 
440. What is their estimate? I should say, according to their accounts, that the parties 
would have been liberally paid if they had received £100 for everything. They spoke of it 
as reckless, scandalous, and outrageous. The evidence also discloses the want of judgment 
and management in this estate altogether, the taking of the stock to be sold at a place where 
they must necessarily be sold as at a sheriff's sale, and not selling them upon the estate. 
441. Has Mr. Sempill been an Official Assignee for any long period ? I think he was. 
appointed about twelve months ago, upon Sir John Dickinson succeeding Sir Alfred Stephen 
as Chief Justice. 
442. What was he before ? I think he was clerk to Judge Dickinson, an Associate, I believe, 
he was Galled. 
443. With whom does the power of appointing the Official Assignee rest? I am not pre-
pared to say ; I did not look to the Act. 
444. I believe it is with the Chief Justice for the time being ? I think it is. 
445. Has any other gentleman been appointed to the office of Assignee who previously held a. 
similar position ? Mr. Perry, I think, was once a Judge's clerk. 
446. Has the Chief Commissioner, or any other person, the power of investigating the 
correctness of these charges ? It is doubted what is his authority, so much so, that I have 
had to apply to the Supreme Court, on the insolvency side, for an order to the Commissioner, 
directing him to investigate this matter. It was contested by counsel for the Official Assignee, 
who alone opposed the release of this estate, although lie had obtained consent from all his 
creditors but one, who could not be found. The Assignee insisted that we must get his con-
sent, and that without it he could keep the estate under sequestration. 
447. Then it is only by an indirect way that you have been able to dispute the correctness. 
of these charges ? Yes, with a great deal of delay, expense, and trouble to the insolvent and 
his friends. 
448. Are you likely to be successful after all ? I hope so. 
449. You believe the injustice of these charges will be shown ? I am justified in saying so• 
-upon the evidence given. The Assignee in this case has opposed the discharge of the insol-
vent's estate from sequestration, be having all tins money in his hands, and having given 
nothing to the creditors, although the insolvent, with the assistance of his relatives and 
friends, is willing to pay twenty shillings in the pound. 
450. In the proceedings taken both before the Chief Commissioner and before the Court, in 
this estate, has the Official Assignee availed himself of legal assistance ? Yes. 
451. Even before the Chief Commissioner ? Yes. The counsel for Mr. Sempill rather 
suggested that there was a desire to have the account investigated, and therefore gave up 
the point that he took, that there was no authority in the Court to order this investigation 
at all. 
452. Are there any other matters relating to this ease that you wish to bring before the 

Committee ? 

* NOTE (ConecUois by u;itness on re ion):-.C716 14s. 10d. 
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Committee ? No. I only wish to state this, that the estate is still held in sequestration ; W. Thindow, 
the Assignee holds all the money, the estate being, as he contends, still in debt some few 	

Esq. 
 

pounds, and the insolvent was obliged to give security to him in two sureties for £700, to 
meet any supposed contingent claims yet to be brought, all the creditors, excepting one, who 13 Mar., 1861. 
cannot be found—he is a surveyor in the Government employment, and is moving about 
from place to place—having been satisfied. 
453. When did the insolvent make an arrangement with his creditors, by which they agreed 
to release his estate ? I think on the 10th December last; and the application was made to 
the Court on 14th December to release it. 
454. And the estate is still under sequestration by reason of the opposition of the Official 
Assignee ? Y25. In the first instance I obtained an order from the Commissioner to take 
the evidence; in consequence of that, notice was given that such an order was issued, and a 
time was appointed by the Commissioner to hear the evidence. The witness came up to 
Sydney, and sonic considerable time after notice was given on the part of the Assignee to set 
aside the order ; the motion was made, and the order issued, signed by the Commissioner, 
was quashed by the Judge, making the insolvent to pay the costs of the application to set 
aside the order, 	A new order was then issued on the 4th January last, to take evidence, 
when the Commissioner not having time, a Judge's order was made that Mr. 17hr, the Under 
Sheriff, should take the evidence of insolvent's witnesses, involving further expense to the insol-
vent, and detention at great cost in Sydney. 
455. Have you given your attention to the working of the Irish Bankruptcy Act? I never 
read it. No doubt many changes are necessary in our Act; for instance, there should be a 
classification of cases; a distinction should be made between traders and others. Then again 
there are too many meetings, and a vast deal of the Commissioner's time is taken up in 
hearing evidence, when a registrar might take it, and the Commissioner might then read it 
and 'determine upon its effect in twenty minutes what now °couple's him for hours most 
unnecessarily. He has now to hear a long rambling examination, conducted sometimes by 
trustee creditor or his agent, amounting in the end to nothing, and we rarely see a case of 
prosecution, or even any property recovered, or indeed the creditArs advantaged at all by such 
proceedings. 
456. By Afe. McArthur: Do you see any way in which the expenses could be lessened in 
the collection of insolvent estates ? I think that is only to be done by the appointment of 
energetic and competent persons, and by extending their powers if necessary. 
457. When you speak of energetic men do you refer to the Assignees or to the Commissioner ? 

think possibly the Assignees may not consider themselves authorized to use tilicir own 
judgment in all cases. There is frequently a difficulty in getting creditors together to attend 
to their own business and interests. 
458. Do you not think it would lessen the expenses if seine legal gentlemen were appointed 
by the Government to set 	 ? As an Assignee. 
459. Not exactly as au Assignee, as a solicitor ? One for all. I should not at this moment 
be inclined to think that would answer. 
400. 'Why not ? It would clash with so many interests. What competent professional man, 
unless he were allowed to carry on his own business, would accept such an office without a 
large salary. 
461. Suppose you give him a small per centage on the assets of each estate ? I do not think 
that would be professional. I am not quite sure, but I think he could not make such an 
arrangement. 
462. That would not preclude any individual creditor from employing any legal adviser he 
wished ? I think in all these estates the solicitor should be chosen by the voices of the 
creditors themselves, and that it should not be left to the Official Assignee. 
463. There is a general impression, and I think very justly so, that the expenses incurred 
for legal advice are far more than they ought to be, or than it is necessary they should be ? 
I have heard that and have seen it stated in the papers, but the insolvent rarely comes to 
the Court till the last minute, and there are but few estates where all the matters con-
nected with them are plain and straightforward. In large estates especially the fact is 
often disclosed that the party has been insolvent for years, 'so that the Assignee and solicitor 
has to go a long period back to get at the root and foundation of the insolvency. 'When 
the inquiries are extended they become intricate, it is found that there are trust deeds, 
property encumbered, preferent claims, settlements upon wives, and various matters of this 
sort. 
464. I understood you to say that you did not consider the Insolvent Law suitable to the 
present state of the Colony ? Not in many respects. 
465. Do you not think the present Insolvent Law could be worked out satisfactorily ? No. 
I think it is necessary that it should undergo a thorough revision. I think it would be 
better to introduce a new Act than to attempt to amend this. I shall not name the party, 
but a solicitor told me that he would advise every one to take advantage of this Act; for 
that another Act must be framed which would necessarily be of a much more stringent 
character. 
466. Have you known many cases where insolvents have been proved to have acted' 
fraudulently, and where they have been allowed their certificates without any opposition?' 
No, I could not point out any case ; as I have already stated, my practice has been very. 
limited latterly—since 1855. 
467. By Mr. Dick: Do you think it would be better to pay the Assignees by salaries? I 

; and you might then get competent men and secure their services at all times. 
468. Do you think it would be a good plan to have all Official Assignees officers of the 
Insolvent Court, and in one building ? I think it would be a very good thing, and the 
creditors, or persons representing them, would then know where to find them at all times. 

221—E 	 469. 
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W. 'Marlow. 469. I understood you to say that you would appoint a registrar to take evidence? Yes ; it 
Esq, is often referred to them to take important evidence in common law actions, in the 

Equity Court before the Master, and before Commissioners for taking affidavits. In this 
13 Mar., 1661. case of Andrews I was driven to the necessity, because the Commissioner had not time to 

apply for the special appointment of a registrar to take the evidence. 
470. Do you think the registrar ought to be a solicitor? I think so if he could be obtained. 
471. Do you think it necessary that the Commissioner should be a barrister ? I 
do not think so. I think you want a competent person—a person who has a perfect 
knowledge of the law. You have the instance of a Judge in the District Court, who is not a 
barrister, and that is a higher appointment, as in that Court cases both civil and criminal are 
tried—cases affecting everything short of a sentence of death. 
472. Do you think a mercantile man, having a gcod knowledge of accounts, would be a 
proper person to appoint to the office of Chief Commissioner ? I would not say that. I 
think the person appointed should be conversant with the law of evidence. I have known 
evidence to be taken before the Commissioner, occupying a considerable time of the Court, 
and which, after all, proved utterly unproductive to the estate, and attended with expense 
and inconvenience, such an examination causing much delay and interruption to other legiti-
mate and important business of the Court. I think it would be better that such cases, where 
prosecutions are contemplated, should be taken in the usual way to the Police Court, and 
that the result would be much more likely to be successful than to try them before a Judge 
who has beard too little or too much of the ease. 
473. Your opinion is that the Chief Commissioner should be either a barrister or an attorney ? 
Yes. 
474. Can you suggest to the Committee any alteration in the present law ? I am not pre-
pared to give any suggestions of that kind. No doubt many reforms are wanted. For 
instance, if a man is refused his certificate, under the present law, the law does not enable 
him at any after time to apply, so that he may be without a certificate all his life. 
475. It appears from the Act that he may apply to the Court, with the consent of his 
creditors ? But he may not be able to obtain their consent. They may be in the Insolvent 
Court themselves, or at the end of two years he may not know where to find them. 
476. You say the matter of Andrews is now under investigation ? Yes. 
477. By tie chairman.: Are you aware that the Chief Commissioner only holds concurrent 
jurisdiction with the Magistrate—that the Act lately passed merely gives him the additional 
power of hearing a charge upon information preferred before him ? That is to say that he 
has the same power as a Police Magistrate would have. I am aware of that, but having 
heard the evidence before, he does not come so clearly to the case as lie otherwise would. 
478. You think it not desirable that the Chief Commissioner should have that jurisdiction ? 
I think not. He has the same jurisdiction of course as a Judge, and if a man obviously 
prevaricates, or commits himself in any way, as a Judge in .Nisi Prizes he could commit him 
to gaol:. I believe there is one clause which gives him the specific power, at an adjourned 
third meeting, to commit. 

ADDENDUM. 
The evidence in regard to Mr. Andrews' estate, relative to the Assignee's realization of the insol-

vent's estate, and his charges and payments, therefore, are still pending before the Chief Commissioner. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

Maitland, 17 September, 1860. 
ACCOUNT Sales Of Horses and Cattle sold at.. Auction, by order of R. Sempill, Esq., Official Assignee. 

1. Bay horse, AD 	.. 
2. Chestnut horse, AD 
3. Brown mare, AD, and foal 
4. Brow a horse, AD 

£4 0 0 
200  
400  
476  

5. 220 head of mixed cattle, at 38s. .. 418 0 	0 
6. 14 cows and bullocks, at 77s. 53 18 	0 
7. 4 pairs working bullocks 40 0 0 

£526 5 	6 

LESS— 
To Commissioner • • £13 	3 	0 
„ Advertisements and bell • 300  
„ Yard charges, at id. each • • 102  
„ Cash to Mr. Kingsmill • • 12 	0 	0 
„ Cheque to Mr. Sempill • • 407 	2 	1 

526 5 	6 

E. E. 
DODDS et: CO., 

Auctioneers. 
Dear Sir,—The above is a true copy of the account sales delivered to Mr. Semplaill. 

Yours obediently, 
tiODDS & CO. 

B. 



A. 3. Ringsmill- 
Telegram 
Expenses 
Wages 
Rations 

B. 
ABSTRACT Of Mr. &raniWs Account. 

£014 9 
• • 
	 66 12 8 

• • 
	 197 0 2 

• • 
	 12 12 6 

W. Thurlow, 
Esq. 

13 Mar., 1861. 

29 16 9 
Criminal prosecution 	• . 	 .. 48 18 10 
Official Assignee, for cab-hire, telegram, and postage 	5 11 7 

6 12 6 
Commission .. 	 181 16 4 

Ruben Richards— 
Wages 	.. 	•• 	•• 	•• 	 29 2 6 
Expenses .. 	 • • 	 0 9 0 
Telegram 	.. 	•• 	• • 	 0 0 3 
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277 0 1 
R. Searle— 

Wages •• 117 4 0 
Expenses •• 	34 3 3 
Telegram 	 .. •• 	0 9 6 
Rations 	 . • • • 	16 19 9 
Cab-hire • , 	0 17 0 

167 13 6 

£717 11 7 

18 Sept. Dodds 	 £026 5 6 
22 Mar. D. Cattail , 	 164 17 0 

Mr. Josiah Harper called in and examined :— 
479. By the Chairman: I believe you are carrying on business largely in Sydney ? Yes. Mr.d. Harper. 
480, What as? As a grocer, and wine and spirit merchant. 
481: I suppose you arc obliged to give a good deal of credit ? Yes. 	 13 Mar., 1861. 
482. Have you, in the course of your trade found it necessary to prove against the estates of 
people who have become insolvent ? Yes, many. 
483. Have you bad reason to complain either of the way in which the law has been 
administered, or of the administration of estates by Official Assignees? Yes, on account of 
the delay and difficulty in getting dividends paid. 
484. At present, I believe, in no instance is a plan of distribution filed before the expiration 
of six months from the time of the estate being placed in the Court? I do not remember 
any instance under six months. 
485. What is the longest period you have had to wait after an estate has been placed in 
Court before you have obtained a dividend? Twelve and thirteen months. 
486. Have you found it necessary to take any legal proceedings against the Official Assignees 
to compel them to distribute the dividend ? No. 
487. You did not feel it to be worth your while, I suppose ? 
488. Have you been desirous of examining insolvents respecting their dealings and transac-
tions? In a few instances. 
489. Have you found any difficulty in obtaining the information you have required from the 
insolvent ? Yes. 
490. For instance, have you been obliged to avail yourself of legal assistance ? Yes. 
491. Have you been put to any expense in doing so ? To considerable expense. 
492. Are there any particular instances of inal-administration you would wish to inform the 
Committee of ? I do not know that I can name any particular case. There have been 
several cases where I have had difficulty in examinations. There have been postponements 
from one time to another. 
493. Was that because the Chief Commissioner was too busy to proceed with the investiga-
tion, he having other estates to dispose of; or was it that you had the meeting postponed in 
order that you might have further time to obtain the information you required ? In many 
cases it has arisen from the pressure of business in the Court. In five or six instances I 
have known meetings to be called for say eleven o'clock, they have not come on until half-
past two or three, and then if the proceedings have been lengthy the meeting has been 
adjourned. 
494. Do you think the present Official Assignees are men of business habits, able to manage 
and dispose of the estates committed to their care or not? With regard to their business habits, 
I think it is a peculiar business, a business of itself, and they have a peculiar way of 
transacting it. I think when a person becomes insolvent, any property he is possessed of 
ought to be placed, for immediate realization, in the hands of the creditors. The Official 
Assignees now do not take the trouble to ascertain whether debts are good or bad, or recover-
able, and so much time is lost, that debts which were good when the estate was sequestrated, 
become bad before the Assignee attempts to collect them. 
495. Can you make the Committee acquainted with any particular case ? I remember the 
case of Clayton and Hopkins, who were living in the Twofold Bay district, where the debts 
appeared to be pretty good, and I have little doubt but that they could have been collected 
it' they had been looked after, but there was so much delay that the greater part were lost. 
Parties in the country seem to think that they have no right to pay an insolvent estate unless 
the debts are looked after—that is the case in nine out of ten. I think the objection is to 
the Official Assignees. 

496.  



818 

28 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

3fr.J.liarper. 496. Do you think the Official Assignees, as a body, possess those business acquirements and 
qualifications that the men with whom you come into daily contact in business possess ? 

13 Mar., 1361. Not at all. I think if they were in another business, where they were left to their own 
resources, they would many of them scarcely obtain a living. 
497. Are you aware whether any portion of the mercantile community was consulted before 
these appointments were made ? I am not aware. 
498. Are you aware that that was the course pursued when Official Assignees were first 
appointed under this ACE, ? I am not aware. 
499. Were you in the Colony then? Yes; I have been in the Colony about twenty years. 
I think the creditors ought to have the appointment of the Official Assignee, or person to 
look after the interests of the estate-that it ought not to be left to a lottery as at present. 
500. Is it not in the power of the creditors to appoint a Trade Assignee, who may act jointly 
with the Official Assignee ? Yes. 
501. Still up to the second meeting, when that can be done, the Assignee has the sole 
management ? Yes, Then most of the Assignees have their own lawyers, and I think they 
are too fond of law. 
502. That appears to be a general complaint among the mercantile community ? Yes. 
503. Is it, in your opinion, well founded? Yes. 
501. Do you know whether the solicitors of these particular Assignees are frequently 
employed in the most trumpery matters, and that the assets of estates are thereby diminished? 
Yes, 1 have no hesitation in saying so. I know one case, where an attorney, on the eve of 
a person's insolvency, got the deeds of a house and land, and claimed £200 expenses-these 
expenses having been incurred afterwards. 
505. Was that the attorney of one of the Official Assignees ? He is the attorney for the 
insolvent, and acts for the Official Assignee also. 
506. Do you think it is desirable that the attorney of an insolvent should be permitted to 
act as the attorney of an Official Assignee? I do not think so. 
507. Do not their interests appear to be antagonistic ? Their interests clash. 	. 
508. Are there many estates of persons indebted to you, in which you have not proved ? 
Yes ; about fifty. 
509. Involving any considerable amount ? No; various sums from .C8 or £10 to £20. 
Where I have thought the dividend would not be more than one or two shillings in the 
pound, I have not proved. 
510. In proving, iu ordinary claims, have you found it necessary to employ a solicitor, or 
have you had the necessary documents supplied to you from the Insolvent Court for the 
purpose ? You can get the forms, but I generally pay half-a-crown and get it filled up by a 
clerk in the office. It is not compulsory to do so, but instead of preparing it myself, I have 
done so. 
511. Fees are received by clerks in the office for preparing affidavits ? Yes. 
512. Is that lately ? The last time, I think, was about two, or perhaps three, months ago; 
but it is not required from you. I merely did so instead of filling up the affidavit myself. 
513. By Mr. McArthur: Is that the regular charge, or did you give half-a-crown as a matter 
of grace ? I simply gave half-a-crown ; there is no scale of charges. When you prove 
according to the scale of charges, you pay 3s. Gd. for the proof. 
514. By Air. Love: Some years ago, what was the charge for filling up an affidavit in the 
Court ? I never paid more than half-a-crown. 
515. Do you remember some years ago when the charge for proof was half-a-guinea ? I do 
not remember it. 
516. By the Chairman : In proving a claim for .£5, or for £1, would you have to pay 
3s. 6d. ? Yes ; and sixpence for every promissory note. 
517. In the way these estates are administered, would not that sum be more than the 
dividend you would receive ? In some estates you receive no dividend. 
518. In many estates ? No ; in some. 
519. By Mr. life Arthur: Do you think the present law sufficiently stringent, or is it too 
much so in regard to debtors ? My opinion is, that if the law were properly carried out, it 
is pretty strict ; but I think it is very often not followed up, on account of the expenses. 
520. You were referring to the fact that the Official Assignees delay a good deal in declaring 
the dividends, and disposing of the assets ? Yes. 
521. Do you not think that delay is frequently caused by the carelessness of the creditors 
themselves ? In many instances. 
522. You are aware that creditors have the power, at the second meeting, to instruct the 
Official Assignee as to the way in which the assets are to be realized, and the estate dealt 
with ? They have the power ; but you seldom get a number of the creditors to give 
instructions. 
528. In such eases it is the fault of the creditors themselves? Yes ; still I think the 
Official Assignee ought to pay more attention to the speedy realization of the assets; for 
want of that the property often depreciates in value, and debts that were good when the 
party sequestrated his estate become bad. If the creditors were, as the Honorable Chairman 
said, to appoint a Trade Assignee, no doubt estates might be wound up more satisfactorily ; 
but there are few who like to give the necessary time to this duty where an estate of two 
or three thousand pounds is concerned, because they have not a sufficient individual interest 
in it: 
524. In cases where you have had occasion to sue persons in the country-to issue writs-
have you been able to get these writs executed in a reasonable time? Frequently not, after 
judgment has been obtained; it has been a length of time before I have got the proceeds. 
525. To what do you attribute that ? I do not know ; it must be with the bailiffs, I suppose. 

526. 
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526. By the Chairman : The want of bailiffs ? Yes. 	 Mr. J. Harper. 
527. I3y rlIr. McArthur: Is not that a serious injury to the business community? It is. 
I know several instances, of my own knowledge, where parties have been kept out of their 13 Mar., 1861. 
money, which has been actually received. 
528. Do you not think it desirable that an extra number of Sheriff's bailiffs should be 
appointed in different parts of the country ? Yes; the chief constables, in some places, act 
as bailiffs. 
529. The chief constable is not obliged to act as bailiff ? It is so at Twofold Bay. 
630. 13y the Chairman : Are you aware that, in some cases, the Bench of Magistrates has 
forbidden the chief constable to act as bailiff ? I am not aware. 
581. By Mr. I'iddinyten : Are you of opinion that the provisions of the present Insolvent 
Law are sufficiently severe to secure the protection of creditors, or the contrary ? I am 
inclined to think that, with one or two alterations, the law is strict enough; but it is the 
expense attending the carrying out the law which is so objectionable. 
532. Are you in the habit of giving very much credit ? I am, and have given much more 
than I do at present. 
533. Do you not think that every trader possesses a cure for the system of extended credit 
in Ids own will if lie chooses to exercise it ? Certainly. 
534. You say you would not increase the severity of the present Insolvent Law as against 
the debtor ? I should like to see property in an estate realized with less delay, and the 
fault lies, I believe, with the Official Assignee. 
535. You would not favour any resort to the old system of imprisonment for debt ? No, 
except in cases where a person had a salary, and could really afford to pay a portion in 
liquidation of his debts; on failing to do so he might be sent to gaol. 
536. By the Chairman : In cases where persons have property, and will not apply it to the 
payment of their debts, you think imprisonment for debt should be resorted to ? If they 
did not shew a willingness to pay, and to act up to their ability. If an honest man had 
£500 or £600 a year he could reduce his expenses to £200, and devote the rest to the 
payment of his debts. There was a ease which came tinder my notice the other day in the 
Insolvent Court where a person had £5 a week corning in as a salary, and a creditor applied 
to•the Court to order that a part of the salary should be applied to the payment of his debts, 
but the Commissioner said he did not consider £5 a week too much for a man to support a 
*wife and two children. 
537. That shows that the Commissioner bad the power ? Yes, there is the power. 
538. Suppose a person to possess property or cash to the amount of £400 or £500, and to 
hand that over to some other member of his family, and that to be proved to the satisfaction 
of a Judge—do you think imprisonment should be resorted to in that case ? Yes, certainly. 
589. By Mr. Love : Suppose a person at Newcastle buys goods from you on a bill at four 
months for £500, when the bill becomes due it is dishonoured, he having sold the goods, 
and put the proceeds in his pocket, has the Insolvent Law at present any power to compel 
him to refund that money ? I am not aware of it. 
540. If he said, "I will not give any account of it, I have kept no books," what would be 
your remedy—would the Insolvent Court give you any remedy ? If I was aware the man 
had not sufficient assets to get back my money again I would not trouble it. 
541. By the Chairman : Under the present law traders must keep books to the satisfaction 
of the Commissioner—do you think it desirable to pass a legislative enactment compelling 
all traders to keep books which would afford sufficient information of the amount of capital they 
started with, the amount of their profit or losses during a certain period, and so on ? I 
should require him to keep sufficient books to shew the nature of his transactions. 
542. Have you been present at any examination before the Chief Commissioner in which the 
question arose as to whether the-insolvent kept proper books of account of any kind ? I 
have not been there any length of time—I was there for half-an-hour or so. 
543. Are you prepared to state to the Committee whether the information usually given to 
the Commissioner is such as would satisfy a man of business—I speak of course with 
reference to the insolvent's books? I think the Commissioner is rather lenient from what I 
have seen—most decidedly so. 
544. By Mr. Love : What is the general feeling of the mercantile people of Sydney with 
reference to the leniency of the Chief Commissioner towards creditors — ? Not towards 
creditors, towards the insolvent he certainly is. 
545. By Mr. McArthur : Do you not suppose that a great many of the insolvencies have 
arisen from persons not looking into their affairs and taking stock ? No doubt the easy 
manner in which people go through the Court has induced others not to use the exertion 
they otherwise might have-done to overcome difficulties. 
546. Does not the unsatisfactory result to creditors, when persons go into the Insolvent 
Court, induce creditors in many instances to take a small composition when they have reason 
to believe the debtor might pay twenty shillings in the pound, or nearly so ? Yes. 
547. In any new law which might be passed do you not think it desirable to make it com-
pulsory on persons to take stock at least once every twelve months ? Not longer than twelve 
months. 
548. Do you think it desirable that in the event of their not doing so their certificate should 
be refused on that ground alone ? Yes, unless under some peculiar circumstances where a 
man might think he was worth £20,000, and did not therefore consider it necessary. In 
general cases I think it would be a sufficient reason for refusing the certificate. 
549. By Mr. Smart: Is it the practice of poisons engaged in trade to take stock once or 
twice a year ? Some persons do. 

550. 
• NOTE (Correction by witness on revision):—Etimself and two children. There was no wife. 
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Mr.J. Harper. 550. In retail trade is it the practice to take stock at all? I do not think it is. 
651. The practice of taking stock once or twice a year is chiefly confined to persons engaged 

13 Mar., 1861. in wholesale business, what are called warehousemen ? Yes. 
552. Has not the Commissioner power at present to punish persons who have not kept 
sufficient books ? Yes, if application is made to him. 
553. You think lie has not exercised that power with sufficient strictness with regard to 
debtors ? I think so. 
554. By Mr. Love : When you say he has power to punish, what do you mean ? That he 
can refuse the certificate. I do not know that lie has done so in any instance, unless he has 
done so upon the application of the creditors. 
555. If a complaint be made to the Chief Commissioner that an insolvent has not kept 
sufficient books, has be power to do so by refusing a certificate ? Yes. 
556. Idas he done so in some instances ? Yes; but in filina

t 
 an objection to a certificate, a 

particular form has to be observed, and the precise grounds of objection have to be stated, 
which renders a prosecution difficult. 
557. The process is so cumbrous and expensive as to prevent many persons from prosecuting, 
even where they believed grounds of objection to exist ? Yes; you must go to the particular 
objection at once. 
558. In filing an objection against an insolvent you must state the particular grounds, and 
substantiate each ground as you proceed with the case? Yes; if you have passed one ground 
of objection, and afterwards obtain further information, you are not allowed to re-open the 
case. 
559. In the case of fraudulent insolvency do you think the refusal of a certificate is a suffi-
cient punishment ? No. 
560. Is it not looked upon by many persons as no punishment ? It is a punishment, because 
if a man intends to go into business again he is deprived of the means of doing so. 
561. Have you not known persons, in such cases, to put up over their door the name of a 
son, or some other relative, and carry on business as usual r Yes, I have known that done. 
562. By .1fr: Piddington : Do you think the omission to keep proper books is an offence of 
sufficient magnitude to warrant the Legislature to give the Commissioner authority to 
imprison ? Yes, with a certain discretion ' • for, in some cases, the parties might not intend 
any fraud at all, and it would be very hard, in such instances, to imprison the parties. 
563. I think you stated that it was desirable the Insolvent Law should make it compulsory 
on traders to keep books of account 1 Yes. 
564. And that an account should be keptof the capital with which business was commenced? 
Yes. 
565. Are you of opinion that traders always commence with capital of their own ? A great 
many do not. 
566. By Mr. Smart: Many commence with borrowed money ? Yes. 
567. By Mr. Piddington : How would the books of account show that-if you speak of 
capital you \refer to capital belonging to the party, I presume ? Yes. 
568. By Mr. Smart : Do you think, in the event of a new law being passed, that the certifi-
cates granted should be divided into three classes ? Yes, I have always thought so. 
569. Is it not the practice at present to grant the same kind of certificate to all insolvents, 
whether their proceedings have been strictly honorable, or whether they have been fraudulent 
and dishonest ? Yes. 
570. You think there should be three classes of certificates ? Yes. 
571. By Mr. Piddington: From what source do traders derive their capital, where they have 
not capital of their own ? In many instances persons who are engaged largely in business, 
and who desire to forward others, supply them with stock. 
572. In such instances the parties have received capital in the shape of stock in trade from 
some other trader ? Yes. 
573. Have you known other cases where parties have obtained money ? Yes. 
574. From what source, generally, have they obtained that money, from individuals or from 
banks? From individuals. 
575. Have you known any instances where parties have obtained cash credits, and commenced 
business ? I have not known any. 
576. By Mr. Smart : Where persons have commenced business in that way, with borrowed 
capital, what means have they bad of repaying the capital ? It must be only from the 
profits of the business they can hope to repay the borrowed capital. 
577. If successful they arc enabled to pay, but if unsuccessful, they have to go through the 
Insolvent Court-has not the latter been the general result ? Yes, in many instances. 
578. By 31r. Piddington : Has it been a very general practice for persons in Sydney to 
enter into business with borrowed capital ? Not latterly; it was a few years ago. 
579. Has it been a very common case? Not very common. I should say during the past 
eighteen months persons would require to have great confidence before they would give credit. 
580. Extending your experience back for the last five or six years, have you known any 
cases where persons have commenced business on borrowed capital? Yes, several. 
681. By Mr. Smart: Have you known any of the large houses of the city to set up shop-
men in different parts of the Colony, and to supply them with goods ? Yes, in one or two 
instances. 
582. The practice has been, has it not, to send a shopman to a store in the country, to 
supply him with goods, to receive bills as payment for the goods so supplied ? Yes. 
583. He is treated as another customer ? Yes. 
584. And the stock received from his patron you consider borrowed capital ? Yes. 
585. 139 the Chairman : Are you aware that many of these traders obtain credit from other 
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persons, having given a bill of sale to their first creditor, not only over their original stock, MI.J.IlalTer-
but also over the stock subsequently obtained from other persons ? I have known only one 
instance. 	 la Mar., 1801. 
586. By  ,Itr, Mc Arthur : In a case of that kind if loss is sustained, is it not through the 
negligence of the parties who give the credit, as if a bill of sale has been given, and that has 
been registered, any one giving credit does so at his own risk ? I think it should at once 
be named. 
587. By the Chairman : Do you think the operation of the Bills of Sales Act has been 
beneficial to the community generally or not ? I do not think it has; I think it has tended 
greatly to bring parties into the Insolvent Court, for immediately it is known that a party 
has given a bill of sale, his credit is gone. 
588. By Mr. McArthur: In the majority of cases where a bill of sale is given by a trader 
to a mercantile house, does not that house supply him almost exclusively ? Yes. 
589. Is it usual for persons who have given bills of sale to get general credit afterwards? 
No. 
590. By Mr. Smart : The credit of the party is limited to the house to which the bill of 
sale is given, he is unable to purchase in any other market at a cheaper rate, is prevented 
successful competition—and is not the result generally the Insolvent Court ? Yes. 
591. By Me. Piddington: Is not the setting up men of straw in business in that way a 
great injury to the fair trader ? I have known many instances where parties who have 
been started in business in that way have succeeded very well, and who are now well off. 
592. Is it not your opinion that the practice of setting up men of straw in business, either 
by lending them money, or by supplying them with goods, if carried to an extreme, is 
prejudicial to the fair trader who trades upon his own capital ? Yes, especially if he com-
mences " cutting " as it is called. 
593. Does not that practice produce a system of extreme competition with regard to profits ? 
It does, decidedly. 
594. By the Chairman: Do you consider that the books of a trader ought to be open at all 
times to the inspection of his creditors? No, unless there is some occasion for it; if he has 
dishonoured a check or bill, then it might be desirable. 
595. In that case you think it should be allowed ? Yes. 
596. By Mr. Smart: Would you have the books of the trader open to his creditors before 
be goes into the Insolvent Court? Yes. A person intending to go in to the Insolvent Court 
ought not to be allowed to do so before calling his creditors together. 
597. Do you think any creditor should have the right of going to a man's office and 
inspecting his books ? No. 
598. By the Chairman: I ask you whether, as a general rule, or whether in certain cases, 
the creditor ought to have the right of inspecting a debtor's books ? No one creditor should 
have the power of going into his office and of inspecting his books, as such a course might 
injure the credit of a debtor. 
599. Should any number of creditors have such a power ? Not unless he wore in difficulties 
and had to apply to his creditors for assistance. In such cases the creditors should have 
the power of inspecting his books. 

WEDNESDAY, 27 MARCH, 1861. 

Vreunt :- 
M& MgARTEUR, 	 Ma. WINDEYER. 

JAMES HART, Esq., IN THE CHAIR. 
David Smith, Esq., called in and examined 

600. By the Chairman: You are Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce ? I am for the David Smith, 
present year. 	 Esq. 
601. And a merchant residing in this city ? Yes. 
602. You have carried on business for some time ? Twenty years. 	 2 '7-"--)Alar., 1E161. 
603. The Committee are desirous of having your opinion, and that of some other members 
of the Chamber of Commerce, as to the operation of the present Insolvent Act, and if you 
will be good enough to state in what particulars the Act is defective, and make any sugges-
tions of which we can avail ourselves in any future measure, we shall be much obliged ? 
Putting it generally in that way, I can scarcely say I am prepared to offer suggestions. I 
should require to look through the Act. 
604. You are acquainted with the provisions of our own Insolvent Act practically ? Yes. 
605. And I presume you have had to deal with persons who have taken the benefit of that 
Act? I have, occasionally. 
606. Do you consider that the management of the estates of those persons with whom you 
have been so connected, and who have taken the benefit of the Act, has been beneficial under 
the present working of the Act ? I do not, as a general rule. I have had more experience 
of it in Melbourne, where the Insolvent Act is the same as it is here, than I have had here, 
and I have found that the Official Assignees cannot possibly attend properly to the number of 
insolvent estates that are placed in their bands. In the offices of some of the Assignees you 
sec the books of ten or twelve estates piled up like bricks; they get confused and mixed up 
together, and for want of proper accommodation the estate is materially neglected. 
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David Smith, 607. Is there any register kept by Official Assignees of the hooks that come into their posses- 
Esq. 	thou? There ought to be, but I am not aware whether there is. I have frequently inquired 

"—I'm for a sight of the books in different estates, and have found the greatest difficulty in getting 
27 Mar., 1501. at them. The messenger of the Court ought to make a list of the books of an estate and 

take a receipt for them ; but, of course, from the large number of insolvencies in Melbourne, 
and the want of proper accommodation in the Assignees' offices, they soon get confused. An 
Assignee's office is perhaps not twice the size of this room, and he has the management of 
thirty or forty estates at the same time. They ought to employ more persons as accountants. 
608. By Air. McArthur : More clerical assistance ? Yes. In any estate of importance one 
man's attention ought to be devoted to it to work it out. 
600. By the Chairman: Do you consider that the Official Assignees should be persons who 
have been either merchants or accountants ? They ought to be accountants certainly. 
610. Have you come in contact with the present Official Assignees at all ? Very little; I 
have not been much here lately. I have been for only twelve months in Sydney this last 
time, and I am happy to say I have had nothing to do with the Insolvent Court in that time. 
I was for five years before that in Melbourne, and I had plenty of it there; anal was also 
three years in England and India. 
611. Have any suggestions been made by the Chamber of Commerce as to points in which 
the Insolvent Law ought to be amended ? They considered the subject some years ago, and 
a select committee of the Chamber brought up a report, which was printed, and subsequently 
revised by another committee, of which the late Mr. Thomas Whistler Smith was chairman. 
The original report was made on the 10th January, 1856, and I think it was two or three 
years afterwards that it was revised. The alterations that appear here in red ink are those 
made by the later committee. 
612. Have you any objection to hand in a copy of that report, as revised ? No. (The wit-
ness handed in the same. Vide Appendix A.) 
613. By Mr. MeArthup: Did not the Chamber consider the subject some six months ago? 

. They were asked to consider the matter, on an application, I think, from the Government, 
and they said they would reaffirm the former report as amended. The last time the matter 
came before the Chamber was in reference to the recent decision in the case of Sempill v. 
Anderson, Campbell, and Co.; but no action was taken on that, except to pass a resolution 
to the effect that the law ought to be made clear. 
614. By the Chairman : It is the opinion of the gentlemen forming the Chamber of 
Commerce that that decision is unfavourable to the operations of trade? Yes. 
615. By Mr. Windeyer : I understand you that the recommendations which the Chamber of 
Commerce made to the Government are embodied in this report which you have handed in ? 
I believe they are. The matter has not been re-opened since Mr. Whistler Smith made 
these corrections. It was brought before the Chamber at a subsequent period, on some 
application I believe by the Government, and the Chamber stated that they could not 
improve on that report as revised. The only other occasion on which the subject has been 
brought up was in reference to the ease of Anderson, Campbell, and Co., and the Chamber 
then unanimously considered that no man in trade was safe under that decision. I see that 
in another case in the District Court Mr. Cheeke has decided the other way, against the 
Assignee. 
616. By the Chairman : What was the name of that case? I do not recollect, except that 
it was somebody against Sempill. This is one of the principal things in which the members 
of the Chamber, as mercantile men, are interested, because they want the law to be so clear 
that it can be perfectly understood ; but the wording of these two clauses, on which the 
decision in question was based, appears in some parts to be contradictory. 
617. Personally, I understand, you have not bad much -  experience of the working of our 
Insolvent Act? Not in Sydney, but I have in Melbourne, where the Act is the same; they 
adopted the New South Wales Act. 
618. In Melbourne there is one Commissioner only ? Yes. I may tell you that the former 
Commissioner of Insolvency, Mr. Wilkinson, has for the last two years been employed by 
the Government to revise the Insolvent Act, and he has been getting together all the 
information be can. He is at present Master in Equity, but the Government are paying 
him to compile a new Insolvency Act. He was many years Commissioner, and has 
consequently had a good deal of experience, and he is understood to be a very good lawyer. 
The present Commissioner is Me. Baptist Noel, who gets through his work a great deal 
quicker than used to be the case. 
610. Have you ever paid a visit to our Insolvent Court in Sydney ? I have proved one 
debt since I have been here. 
620. Do you consider that the business there is conducted in a business-like manner ? I had 
no opportunity of judging, because mine was the first proof taken, and I just proved the 
debt and came away. There were only about four people in the Court—Mr. Purefoy, his 
clerk, and the Official Assignee. 
621. As Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce have you any suggestions to make to this 
Committee, other than those embodied in this report ? These are the principal ones. It 
occurred to me, as I came up here, that in Scotland that have what is called emit) bonorum: 
a man gives up his goods, when the claims against him amount to less than £100, and he is 
protected against arrest, but not released from his liability to pay these small debts at some 
future time if he should be able to do so. 
622. Do you think the abolition of imprisonment for debt has acted unfavourably to creditors, 
by inducing persons to rush into debt without any prospect of paying ? I dare say it may 
have induced dishonest persons to do so, but I do not know whether it has had that effect 
en the general body of debtors. 
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623. By Mr. McArthur : Have you met many cases of fraudulent insolvency, as you have David Smith, 
had reason to believe ? Yes, I have met with several; but it is very difficult to prove it in 	Esq. 
Court. There was a ease I was concerned in for a long time, in Melbourne, a very heavy r ---J"--" 
estate, Bateman's of Wurnambool, in which the Bank of Victoria was creditor for £60,000, 27 Mar., 11361. 
and the Bank of Australasia for £30,000. We had reason to believe there were a good 
many fraudulent dealings there ; but it had to be taken out of the Court at last ; and it 
ended by the Bank of Victoria buying up the estate and paying a composition. There was 
no doubt of fraud there, but we could not carry it to an issue. 
624. Do you think the present law, as it stands is sufficiently stringent, or too much so ? I 
do not think it stringent enough in eases where there is any dishonesty. I do not think the 
feeling of mercantile men would be to press any man when his Whitt occurred purely 
through misfortune, but when it goes beyond that the law is not sufficiently stringent. 
625. Could you suggest any improvement of the law with the view of affording greater faci-
lities for getting at fraudulent insolvents, which at present seems to be a very difficult 
matter ? I do not see how you are to do so, except by their books, or by getting external 
evidence of fraud. 	 • 
626. Do you think the present difficulty of reaching fraudulent insolvents is altogether 
owing to the way in which the present law is worked ? There is a great deal of ambiguity 
in some of the clauses, which give rise to a good many discussions among the legal profession. 
It would be better, so far as the mercantile community are concerned, that they should have 
something they could understand more easily- and more clearly. 	The clauses brought 
up in the ease of Anderson, Campbell, & Co., may be dear enough-to a legal mind, but the 
merchants of the Chamber of Commerce did not profess to understand them. 
627. Have you found, in ninny eases in which you have been interested yourself, that the 
legal charges have been extravagantly high ? I have not. 
628. Do you approve of the principle of the Official Assignee appointing his own solicitor, 
or do you think it zenuld be better for the creditors in each estate to nominate a solicitor ? I 
think it would be better that the Creditors' Assignee should do it, or the creditors themselves. 
I think there ought, in all important estates at least, to be a Creditors' Assignee, to net with 
the Official Assignee. I think, too, that the money realized in each estate should be kept 
separate—that it should not go into the Official Assignee's general account in the bank, 
and that it ought to be drawn by cheques, signed by the two Assignees. I know, in 
Melbourne, the Assignees keep one general account. They generally put the name of the 
estate on the cheque when they sign it, but you do not know what is in the bank to any 
individual account, even by examining the bank book. I think that very objectionable; it 
would be just as simple to keep a separate accaunt for each estate, and the bank books 
could be produced as a check against the Assignees, both Official and Creditor's. 
629. You think, in every case, there should be a Trade Assignee ? Yes, in any important, 
estate where there were assets to be distributed. 
630. By Mr. ll'indeger: Have you ever considered the propriety of doing away with the present 
system of paying the Assignees? No; I have never taken that matter into consideration. 
In England they are paid by the Court. 
631. Do you not think that, instead of paying them by a commission, it would be better to 
make them officers of the Court, directly under the supervision of the Court? I do, 
certainly, because they may have a great deal of trouble with a very small estate, where 
there is nothing in the way of commission to pay them, and they may have very little 
trouble with a very large one. I think the English system of leaving it to the Commis-
sioner to award the amount of their remuneration would be preferable. 
632. Do you know anything of the present Insolvent Law in Ireland ? No; I never saw 
the Act. 
633. Have you at all considered the advisability of giving the Judges of the District Courts 
any powers in Insolvency to facilitate the getting in of estates? As branch Commissioners ? 
634. Yes? Yes, I think it very desirable. 	Estates in the country can generally be 
worked out much better on the spot than by bringing the insolvent and his creditors to 
Sydney. In England there are two or three branch Commissioners of Bankruptcy. 1 was 
once Assignee in an estate here, and I had to employ another person beyond Vass, and 
the expenses were so great that everything was eaten up in collecting the estate ; whereas if 
there had been a Commissioner in Yass, or any other place in the neighbourhood, the 
estate might have been easily collected. 
635. Do you not think the present Act gives great facilities to parties for compromising 
fraudulent transactions by condoning with their principal creditors, if they are so disposed? 
Yes, I am quite of that opinion, and I believe it is very frequently done. People are almost 
afraid to go into the Insolvent Court; they rather compromise and take what they can get. 
636. Could you suggest any reform that would tend to put an end to this state of things—
what is your opinion with reference to the present system of assignments? So far as my 
experience of assignments extend, we generally get better dividends than in the Court. 
637. By Mr. McArthur : Estates get more speedily worked out? Yes, and more carefully. 
As I said before, the Official Assignees have too much to do to work up an estate properly. 
Many an Assignee at, Melbourne has thirty or forty estates to work out at the same time, 
and DO proper accommodation in the way of office room. 
638. By Hr. Windeyer : I presume you are in favour of having different classes of certifi-
cates ? Yes. 
639. What is your opinion as to the powers with which any single creditor ought to be armed 
for opposing an insolvent getting his certificate? Do you mean as to extent of money vote ? 
640. Supposing the bulk of a man's creditors, in number and value, were in favour of no 
opposition being offered to him, what i5 your opinion with regard to the powers that any 
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David Smith ,  single creditor should have ? The present law is that when there are four-fifths in his favour Esq. 	there is no opposition carried out. 
641. Cannot any one creditor oppose him, even if all the rest are in his favour ? Not if you 

2T Mar" I 8C 1 - agree to an assignment. 
642. I mean in insolvent estates? At present I think the Commissioner has the power of 
determining whether a man shall pass; it is not the creditors at all. 
643. I am aware of that ; but supposing that nearly all a man's creditors should be in favour 
of his getting his certificate, and wish to make no opposition, one creditor can nevertheless 
oppose him ? I should not think he ought to do SO. 
644. Then your opinion is that if the great bulk of a man's creditors are in favour of his 
getting his certificate, and being put in a position to go into trade again, one man ought not 
to be allowed, possibly from vindictive feeling, to oppose him ? If he gets the consent of 
four-fifths, which is a large proportion, I do not think any one man should be allowed to 
follow the matter further. 
645. 119 Mr. .:116.4ratur : Da you not know that a great many of the insolvencies that have 
occurred, and do occur, arise from the fact that persons do not take stock, or keep proper 
books to sliew their position ? There should be a penal clause to make them keep their 
books in such a regular way as would clearly shew the state of their affairs—with consecu-
tive folios, no spaces between entries, and so on. If they were to keep their books closely 
in that way, there would be a perfect cheek. 
646. Have you not found that some persons have not taken stock for years, fancying them-
selves very well off, and, when they have been compelled by the pressure of creditors to do so, 
have found a deficiency—do you not think that in any new law there should be a clause 
introduced, compelling persons in trade to take stock, and examine their affairs once a year ? 
Yes, I think there ought. 
647. By Mr. lirindeyer : Have you considered the propriety of' rendering all debts under a 
certain ronount irrecoverable—doing away, in fact, with credit, on a small scale, and putting 
small debts on the same footing as publicans now deal with the public? I have never had 
that question put before me before. 
64S. You have not considered the question at all ? No; I never heard the point mooted 
before. 
649. By the Chairman : You have stated that you are in favour of the classification of certi-
ficates; new, supposing we concede to the District Judges the power of dealing with insolvent 
estates, is it not possible there might be conflicting decisions between these Judges, as to 
whether persons similarly circumstanced, were entitled to first, second, or third class certifi-
cates ? I would have an appeal to the Chief Commissioner. 
650. Are you aware that complaints are made at Home on that subject, as to the conflicting 
decisions uf the different Commissioners ? No, I was not ; but there is an appeal to the 
Chief Commissioner at Home, under the English law. So far as I remember of the English 
Act, there are one Chief Commissioner and two Sub-Commissioners. 
651. Have you any other suggestions to make to the Committee ? Not that I am aware of. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

REPORT 
Of a Select Committee of the Sydney Chamber of Commerce, appointed 19th July, 1855, "to take into 

" consideration the present Insolvent Laws of the Colony, and to report such alterations as they 
" 

 
my deem it advisable for the Chamber to petition the Legislature to make in the existing Laws." 

'YOUR Committee have carefully considered in detail the important subject referred to them, and have 
now the honor of submitting to the Chamber the following Report :— 

Your Committee, upon their appointment, did not delay immediate attention to their duties ; but 
they have hitherto deferred bringing up a report, finding, after careful perusal, and frequent discussions, 
that the Insolvency Acts at present in eicistenceneed a thorough reform and consolidation. Conceiving, 
therefore, that it would have been impossible to induce the aim attention of the present Legislative 
Council to such an Act as would be requisite to accomplish these objects, your Committee deemed it 
advisable not to introduce the subject to the Chamber until a short time prior to the assembling of the 
new Legislature, under on impression that public attention could then be directed to the question with 
a hope of practically beneficial results. 

Your Committee, however, find that not only is the urgent necessity of a reform and consolidation 
of the existing Insolvency Laws very generally admitted, lint that the highest legal functionary in the 
Colony is now engaged in the preparation of a consolidated Act, to be introduced during the first 
Session of the new Legislature. 

Under these circumstances your Committee have considered it expedient to depart in some degree 
from the nature of their original instructions, which are conveyed in the following terms,--•• to report 
" sneh alterations as they may deem it advisable for the Chamber to petition the Legislature to make in 
" the existing laws,"—and without further delay to bring up their report, in order that, if approved by 
the Chamber, it may be submitted to the gentleman referred to before the conclusion of his labours. 

Taking into consideration the present tendency towards the simplification of legislative enact-
ments, and reposing great confidence in the ability and lengthened experience of the learned Judge who 
has undertaken this onerous task, your Committee deem it almost superfluous to express their hope 
that the new Insolvent Act .  will be, as fur as may be practicable, distinguished by conciseness, 
perspicuity, and simplicity. 

To these prefatory remarks your Committee only desire to add that they have carefully abstained 
from touching upon legal points requiring alteration or reform, with which they understand that the 
present Acts abound, sod that they have addressed themselves only to those matters upon which their 
experience and observation as mercantile men may be presumed to qualify them to fonn an opinion. 

Before proceeding, however, your Committee feel themselves compelled to allude to one point 
which, although it partakes of a legal character, they consider that they should not altogether pass 
unnoticed, via.,—the difficulty of obtaining compulsory sequestration, either when a person, although 
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known to be really insolvent, has no judgment debt against him, or has absconded from the Colony in 
debt to residents therein, but leaving no assets within the jurisdiction of the Court. 

1. It is the opinion of your Committee that, if a person convene a meeting of his creditors, to 
obtain time for the payment of his debts, lie should be regarded as having committed an act of 
insolvency: and that his estnte should thereupon become liable to compulsory sequestration, upon the 
petition of the majority of the creditors present at such meeting. Your Committee would urge in 
support of this view, the well-known fact, that persons have. after convening such meetings, set their 
creditors at defiance, wasting or misapplying their estate, whilst their creditors, should acne possess a 
judgment debt, ore for a time powerless. 

2. Your Committee further desire to express their decided opinion that the evil which they are 
anxious to prevent, viz.,—that of persons being able to avoid a compulsory sequestration until they 
have squandered, wasted, or misapplied their estates, mould be in a great measure remedied by enacting 
that defendants to suits upon promissory notes or bills of exchange, should not be allowed to plead, 
unless the plea he supported by an affidavit, so that if, upon trial, the falsity of the plea be proved, they 
may become liable to an indictment for perjury. The Connnittee feel that they cannot insist too 
strongly upon the urgent necessity of checking, and, if possible, preventing the too prevalent practice 
of filing false pleas. 

3. With regard to the second class alluded to, viz.,—that of perso»s who may abscond from the 
Colony in debt to residents therein, but leaving no assets within the jurisdiction of the Court, your 
Committee conceive it most desirable that the impediments which now exist to prevent the granting of 
an order for the compulsory sequestration of Buell estates should be surmounted, seeing that it is 
frequently of extreme importance that creditors should have the power conferred by the Insolvent Law 
of examining upon oath persons who have been in connection with, or who are supposed to hold 
property beronging, to the absconder, and of acting through the agency and power of an Official Assignee. 

4. Your Committee now address their attention to the passing of an estate through the Insolvent 
Court; they suggest that there should. be  three classes of estates :—The 1st possessing assets of the 
value of £500 and upwards ; the 2nd possessing assets of the value from £100 up to £500; the 3rd 
possessing assets under the value of £100. 

5. That in third class estates there should only be one meeting for the proof of debts, and 
in the second and first three meetings for the same purpose : but that in the second class they should 
be at shorter intervals than in the first class, the Commissioner having power to adjourn single, special, 
adjourned, and indeed all meetings. 

C. Your Committee are of opinion that the time for giving directions to the Official Assignee, 
which is now asiially done at the third meeting, should be shortened, so that the expense of continuing 
rent and other incidental charges may be avoided. 

7. Your Committee consider that the question of the allowance of •furnittut should not be 
entertained until the third meeting in first and second class estates, by which time nearly all the 
creditors have proved, and are conversant with the general nature of the insolvent's transactions and 
character; further, that it should not be competent for the creditors to grant the insolvent his furniture 
sinless there are other assets sufficient to pay rent and wages. 

8. That an allowance to the insolvent may be continued after the third meeting for such time as 
the creditors may think proper. 

9. That offers of composition might be entertained at a thit!el meeting, but tim t the subsequent 
meeting to confirm the acceptance of such offers should be held a fortnight afterwards, not at an interval 
of six weeks as at present. Such offers should not be entertained unless security be given for the 
carrying out of the same, if accepted. The Chief Commissioner, in conjunction with the Official 
Assignee and Elected Assignee (if there be one), to determine the sufficiency of the -security. 

10. Plans of distribution should be filed within one month from the third meeting. If the Assignee 
is not prepared on the appointed day it should be incumbent on him to explain the reason, and to ask 
for an extension of time. 

11. In estates in which there are creditors residing beyond the Australian Colonies, the Official 
Assignee should send them notice of sequestration, requesting them to transmit powers for proof of 
debts, so that they nmy arrive here within twelve months from the date of sequestration, the Assignees 
retaining sufficient funds to pay the dividend on such claims ; in the event of such debts nut being 
proved within fifteen months from the date of such sequestration, the amount so reserved to be divided 
among the creditors who have proved. 

12. It should be incumbent on an insolvent to send (in addition to the usual notification in the 
Government Gazette and an abbreviated announcement in a daily paper) written notice to all his creditors 
of his intention to make an offer of composition, ten days before the day of the meeting convened to 
consider the offer, and to adopt a similar course when applying for his certificate. 

13. The Official Assignee should also be compelled to send similar notices of his intention to 
move the confirmation of plans of distribution, and of special meetings to give directions, 

14. Any creditor intending to oppose the granting of a certificate should lie compelled to lodge 
notice of his intended opposition, stating his reasons, three days before the day appointed for the 
meeting. 

15. Your Committee would suggsst that, to facilitate the issue of such notices, there should be 
regular printed forms. Although this suggestion would involve some trouble, they conceive it to be 
iinportant, knowing bow frequently estates are passed through the Court without due investigation, and 
important matters determined by a small body of creditors. 

10. Your Committee consider that, in the proof of debts, the affidavits should be accompanied by 
detailed accounts stating all the items distinctly, and that in all proofs upon promissory notes the CO/I-
sideration should he clearly defined. 

17. It is most essential to have these particulars, more especially in estates where the accounts 
have been loosely kept, but your Committee conceive that the rule should be general, and that it should 
be stringently enforced by the Commissioner. 

18. The Chief Cozmnissioner should have the power, upon sufficient cause being shown to him, 
to set aside or correct any proof of debt, so as to obviate the necessity of appealing to the full Court 
sitting in its In 	Jurisdiction, with liberty, nevertheless, to appeal ream the Commissioner's 
decision to that of the full Court. 

19. Your Committee consider that, in voting, a majority of two-thirds of the creditors in number 
and value, who have proved on the estate, should have power to bind the muuiucrity. 

20. Further, that no creditor should he allowed to vote, either personally or by proxy, in any 
matter in which he, has an individual, has a beneficial or direct interest, such as the prosecution of a 
suit against him, or the acceptance of an offer made by hitn for any or all of the assets of the estate. 
Also, that no person holding a proxy for a creditor should be allowed to vote on behalf of that creditor 
in a matter in which he, the party holding such proxy, lies a direct or beneficial interest. 

21. Your 001DIDittee consider that the insolvent should attend all meetings, and that until the third 
meeting his services should remain at the disposal of the Assignees. 

22. In reference to the question of rent and wages your Committee consider Sint wages and rent 
should be prefcrent, hot that rent should not be preferent for more than one quarter, one month, or one 
week, with the addition of the odd time from the date of the termination ef the next quarter, month, or 
week, as the ease may be, prior to the insolvency, up to the time of sequestration. They consider that 
wages should be made preferent for aperiod not exceeding three months, or to an amount of £30, and that 
in the event of there not being sufficient assets to pay- alIthese preferent claims, the assets to be divided 
ratably between them. They consider that wages should be made preferent for, a' week, month, or 

quarter, 
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David Smith, quarter, according to the terms of the respective engagements ;  adding the odd time as in the case of 
Esq. 	rent. 

23. Your Committee are induced to suggest this alteration, as in this community the largest 
rents and salaries are, they believe, contracted 	be paid at the outside quarterly, and they consider it 

27 Mar., IVA, most desirable that landlords and employees should not be in the habit of allowing their rents, salaries, 
or wages to ball into arrear.—a system which is encouraged by making them preferable claims for six 
months, as under the present Act. 

24. Your Committee think the insolvent should have no discretion as a leaseholder, but that he 
should at once be compelled to hand over his lease to the Official Assignee, to he treated as an asset of 
the estate. 

25. Your Committee conceive it to be extremely desirable that the power vested in the creditors, 
under the present Act, of electing a Creditor's Assignee to act in conjunction with the Official Assignee 
should be retained, and that it should be competent to the creditors to elect such Assignee (who may be 
a creditor, or any other person), either at the first, second, or third meeting, at any adjournment thereof, 
or at any meeting specially called for the purpose ; it being very desirable that there should be no limita-
tion as to the time of appointment, since it not unfrequently happens that an emergency or occurrence 
calling for such an appointment arises unexpectedly. 

26. In connection with this matter your Committee think that the Elected Assignee should receive 
remuneratkon equal to the half of that allowed to the Official Assignee. 

27. It may also be deemed desirable that provision should be made to empower Assignees to 
reimburse creditors any reasonable expense which they may jointly or individually incur in bringing to 
light any unjust dealings or improper conduct on the part of an insolvent, or in successfully striking off 
any unjust proof. 

28. The Official Assignees being officers of the Supremo Court, and consequently snider the 
control and supervision of their Donors the Judges, it would not become your Committee to offer any 
suggestions upon the rules and restrictions which it may he deemed advisable to adopt to insure the 
faithfulness of their trust, and the due performance of their duties. As a matter of business, your 
Committee think it would be highly desirable if they were compelled to fib, every month, a return of 
all the moneys in their [rands, specifying the amounts appertaining to each estate, and the banks in 
which they are deposited, such returns to be open to public inspection in the office of the Insolvency 
Department of the Supreme Court. 

29. Your Committee would here suggest that section 10 of 7 Victoria, No. 19, should be made 
more stringent by the substitution of one week for one month, as the t hue within which money must 
be paid by the Assignee or Assignees into the bank account of the estate. 

30. Your Committee imagine that, under no circumstances, should Elected Assignees have any 
separate control over funds, but that when such are appointed, all money shall be lodged at banks in 
the joint names, and all payments made under the authority of the joint signatures of the Official and 
Elected Assignees. 

31. Relating to the desirability of establishing two classes of certificates for insolvents. (Amended 
in accordance with the English Bankruptcy Act.) 

Your Committee having thus enumerated some alterations which they conceive will be found 
to create an improvement in the management of insolvent estates, and in their passage through the 
Court, now approacIt a very in object. 

It is iscumbent upon them to state what acts they consider should be deemed to constitute the 
crime of fraudulent inselveney. 

32. Your Committee are decidedly of opinion that all the acts enumerated in the 73rd clause of 
5 Viet., No. 17, should continue to be deemed acts of fraudulent insolvency, but that the words 
" with intent to defraud," should be erased, in reference to the following offences,—Ist, the embezzle-
ment or concealment of effects ; 2nd, the wilfully lodging a false statement of effects or of debts due 
to the insolvent ; 3rd, the product ion of any false or pretended account book or paper, or the wilfully 
making false /MMUS when under examination. (It has been suggested to your Committee, by a legal 
gentleman, " That wherever a crime depends upon the intention of the crintimil, the proof is difficult, and 
" that, generally, it is hatter to render proof only of a fact to be necessary to constitute a crime, end to 
" let the intention be necessarily implied from the fact.") In addition thereto, that the misapplication 
of trust funds by an insolvent to his own purposes ; the having given a creditor undue preference, and 
making away with property without vain the consideration, winch, under the 18th section of 7 Viet., 
No. 19, are only now punishable by refusal of certificate, should be constituted acts of fraudulent 
insolvency. Moreover, tliat in the new and consolidated Act, the principle of the Bill recently introduced 
by Mr. Donaldson should be carried out. 

33. Your Committee consider it very important that the Act should render it obligatory upon the 
Chief Commissioner, in all cases where he refuses a certificate on the ground of an insolvent having 
committed an act of fraudulent insolvency, to commit him to prison to take his trial for the offence ; 
and that the Commissioner should have power to refuse or suspend a certificate whether moved thereto 
by the creditors or not. 

34, Your Committee are further of opinion that the assisting an insolvent to remove or conceal 
any property or effects appertaining to his estate should continue an indictable offence, and should be 
subject to a severe punishment. 

35. Your Committee consider it incumbent that every insolvent should have kept such book or 
books of account and documents as may clearly show Ids daily receipts, payments, purchases, sales, and 
stock-in-trade, so as to enable him to produce a progressive balance-sheet of his affairs—all books of 
account to have the folios correctly consecutively numbered, and no blank spaces to be left between the 
entries. 

36. That the failure to keep such books or accounts should be visited by a more severe punish-
ment than the refusal of a certificate. 

37, That in the event of an insolvent neglecting or refusing to make up his books, or to assist in 
doing so, when so directed by the Commissioner, the Commissioner shall be empowered to commit him 
to prison far so refusing or neglecting. 

38. Your Committee feel it to be most important that the new Insolvent Act should Ile so framed 
as to deter traders from the dangerous habit of allowing books of account to fall into great arrear, and 
still more to bid them beware that if they rashly or dishonestly engage in traffic without, keeping such 
books as are essential to the safe and proper conduct of business, thus haziddincr their own and their 
creditors' interests, they incur the risk of punishment, should misfortune befall firm. 

39. Your Committee suggest that the Insolvent Laws of New South Wales and Victoria should, if 
possible, be assimilated, considering the intimate nature of the commercial relations subsisting between 
the cities of Sydney and Melbourne, and the similarity of the pursuits in which the inhabitants of the 
two Colonies are engaged. 

40. Your Committee find that considerable difference of opinion exists as to the propriety of con-
tinning the present system of assignments under clauses 33 to 37 of 5 Wet., No. 9, Unlink(' " An Act 
for the further amendment of the Law and for the better advancement of Justice." 

II. They refrain from expressing their views upon the subject, considering the question to he 
of so much importance that it should be referred to the members generally for full and deliberate 
discussion, before a decided expression of opinion emanates from the Chamber. 

Your Committee have only, in conclusion, to express their hope that the preceding observations 
may prove in some degree useful. Should the expectations which they entertain of a thorough reform 
of the present Insolvent Laws be realized, they will esteem it an honor to have participated in a work 

which 
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which the increase of our commerce renders most urgently necessary, and which will confer incalculable David Smith, 
benefit upon the trading and general interest of the Colony. 	 Esq. 

THOS. WHISTLER SMITH, 
Chairman. 

? Branch Insolvent Courts. 
Getting in debts due to insol vents?—A cheap process would be to give the Chief Commissioner 

power of issuing writs for the recovery of same. Debts under flO same as Court of Requests suit tried 
before Commissioner, make him Judge with power of appeal. 

Should persons whose debts do not amount to £100 be allowed a release when their estates are 
Sequestrated ? In Scotland a process termed ccssio bonorunt only is allowed to such parties, which 
protects them from annoyance, but does not afford them a release. 

Unclaimed dividends, after a certain date, how should they be disposed of? 

Edward Knox, Esq., called in and examined :— 
652. 139 the Chairman : You are a merchant, residing in Sydney? I am. 	 E. Knox, 
653. And have been carrying on business for some time ? Twenty years. 	 Esq. 
654. If I mistake not you had something to do with the working of the Insolvent Act, after 
it was passed ? I was one of the first Official Assignees appointed under the new Act—when 27  Mar.. 1861 - 
it was first passed-7 Victoria, No. 19. 
655. Who had the appointment of the Official Assignees then ? Chief Justice Dowling. 
656. Can you state what course he adopted when he first appointed the Official Assignees? 
Yes; he sent letters round, inviting a number of gentlemen connected with the mercantile 
interest, to meet him, and he submitted to them the names or applicants; they, in fact, made 
choice of the Assignees. I believe that to have been the course he took, but it is a long time 
ago. 
657. The choice fell amongst accountants and merchants ? Yes, men of considerable expe-
rience as accountants. 
658. Are any of the present Official Assignees gentlemen who were appointed at that period ? 
Mr. Morris, I think, was appointed originally. 
659. Can you state whether the same course has been adopted by the learned Judge who has 
subsequently had the appointment of the Official Assignees ? I think not. 
660. There are four Official Assignees at present ? Yes. 
661. Two of them, I think, have been Judges' clerks? Yes. 
662. I presume the commercial community was not consulted in their appointment ? No, 
not further than as to the necessity for the last appointment being made. I, among others, 
had a letter from Sir John Dickinson, requesting to know whether I thought such an appoint-
ment necessary, but not asking any opinion as to the fitness of the party. 
663. At the time of the passing of the Insolvent Act I believe there was great commercial 
depression ? There was, or rather there had been, great commercial depression, but things 
had almost recovered themselves by the time the Act was passed. 
601. The operation of the different Bankrupt and Insolvency Acts was not very well under-
stood at that time ? It was not. 
665. Since that period has there been any considerable change in the number of the mercantile 
community, and the amount of trade carried on ? Trade has increased enormously, of course, 
since that time ; but I think insolvencies have kept pace with the increasing trade. 
606. Is the machinery of the Act you have alluded to sufficient now for the protection of 
creditors ? 1 think, generally speaking, the machinery of the Act would be sufficient if it 
were vigorously administered, and differently administered. 
667. You are aware there are some glaring defects in the Act ? Yes, I am aware there are. 
668. For instance, an insolvent is not necessarily obliged to submit himself for examination? 
No. These are defects which I think ought to be rectified; but I think the Act could be 
so remodelled as to work very satisfactorily. 
669. What is the radical defect in the present Act, so far as regards the discovery of an 
insolvent's transactions and dealings—I am speaking with reference to the acts of the insol-
vent himself ? The radical defect, as regards the insolvent himself, is that there is nothing 
in the Act that compels him to show accurately the state of his affairs for a long period back. 
I take it every insolvent should be bound to fix some period when he was solvent; to shew 
the state of his affairs at that time, and to account for all losses which had contributed to 
render him insolvent, up to the time of his misfortune. 
670. Then you think any future Act should provide that an insolvent should have kept books 
Which would disclose certain information, instead of leaving it to the discretion of the Com-
missioner to say whether he bad kept sufficient books or not ? I think the Commissioner 
should have no discretion of the kind. The insolvent should be bound to shcw that he had 
kept reasonable books of account, and the proof of his doing so would be that they would 
disclose the state of his affairs at any period for a reasonable time back, It is not to be 
expected that every man in a small way of trade can keep perfect accounts, but he ought to 
keep sufficient to enable him td account for his losses. 
671. Would it not be reasonable to require every person in trade to enter every transaction 
and dealing of his in a day-book, no matter how trifling? Yes; all receipts and payments. 
672. Every transaction whatever ? No; that might involve much more than I would be 
disposed to say. He ought to be bound to keep such accounts as would enable him to shew 
satisfactorily how his misfortunes had arisen. 
673. That would leave it open to the discretion of the Judge to say whether the books 
were sufficient or not ? That might be an evil, bat I think that a different course might 
lead to great hardship on the other side. 

674.  

27 Mar., 1861 . 
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E. Knox, 674. Are you aware that in Prussia there is a law which compels every trader, under pain 
Esq. 	of felony, to enter every transaction in a book ? Yes; and not alone that, but the pages of 

e""--&--3 all his books are numbered and sealed. A trader in Denmark cannot extract a page from his 
27  Mar.,1261 .1edger or journal without its being known. I am aware of these laws, but I think something 

may be left to the common prudence of people in trade : they must expect to take some risk 
in their business. I think the end in view would be gained if you obliged the insolvent to 
account satisfactorily for his losses. 
675: And that he should be required also to show what capital he started with ? Ile should 
be required at all events to go back to a time when he was perfectly solvent. 
676. Is it not another defect in the Act that you are at a loss to tell when a man has become 
bankrupt—when he has committed an act of bankruptcy or insolvency ? The Act provides 
for certain cases which shall be considered as acts of bankruptcy. 
677. Would it not be desirable to introduce some further provisions on that subject ? The 
only provision I can think of is one which has been suggested by the Committee of the 
Chamber of Commerce—that if a man calls a meeting of his creditors for the purpose of 
obtaining time, he should be considered to have committed an net of insolvency. 
678. Suppose a person suffers judgment or execution to pass against him, should not that be 
looked upon as an act of bankruptcy ? I imagine a petition could be Sled for the surrender 
Of his estates under that debt. 
679. I am speaking now of Ids relations towards the general body of his creditors ? You 
mean, if he is unable to satisfy the debt, whether that should be — 
680. Whether that should not be looked upon as an act of bankruptcy on account of which 
It should be open to any creditor to file a petition, not the judgment creditor only ? I doubt 
whether that would be desirable. 
681. You are aware, I presume, that it is open to a debtor, under the present state of the 
law, to collude with a judgment creditor, to procure himself to be sold off, or even, through 
negligence, to allow judgment and execution to pass against him, whereby his assets may be 
disposed of, and possibly sacrificed ; but by a proviso, such as I suggest, any creditor would 
be able to step in and declare the debtor insolvent ? Yes; and still I can understand cases 
where a trader would prefer that execution should issue against him for certain debts that 

• he considered he was not liable for. He might wish execution to go against him merely in 
order to take further proceedings against the party upon that very execution. 
682. The debtor himself? The debtor himself might. A man might be worth a hundred 
thousand pounds, and still be determined that a certain execution should be levied against 
him, merely with a view of taking ulterior proceedings. 
683. By Mr. Windeyer : There might be eases where he would think himself morally bound 
to resist ? Either out of feeling, or with a view to take ulterior proceedings. I think that 
would be scarcely safe. 
684. By the Chairman : Are you aware that that is one of the provisions of the Bill lately 
introduced in England by Sir Richard Bethel! and Lord John Russell, but not yet passed ? 
No; I have not seen it or the Irish Act either. It would he well to provide for the ease by 
enacting that a person should be deprived of his certificate, or otherwise punishable, if he 
allowed one creditor to sell of his estate to the detriment of others. 
685. Do you consider that the non-payment of a bill of exchange or promissory note should 
be, as a general rule, an net of bankruptcy, giving the debtor, however, the power of showing 
that it was in point of fact not an act of bankruptcy? I think the non-payment of a bill of 
exchange or promissory note should be an act of bankruptcy, but I do not know that it is 
necessary to enact it now, because a man cannot plead to a promissory note unless he has 
some defence. 
686. The holder of the bill of exchange or promissory note may not sue him, and yet the 
person who dishonoured it may still go on contracting debts—would any evil arise if the option 
were given to the maker of the note to deposit the amount of it pending the inquiry ? I 

•think there might be a great many equities which would make it a hardship upon him to 
-deposit the amount of the note; he might have had no valuable consideration, or Might have 
a valid defence on many other roiuts. 
637. Is it not desirable to put a stop to these bills of accommodation as far as possible ? 
Yes, it is desirable to put a stop to accommodation bills as far as it can be done, no doubt. 
688. Suppose it was permitted to the acceptor or maker of the note to make an affidavit that 
he had a good defence ? In that ease I should see no objection to it. 
689. Respecting the mode of realizing estates that are now placed in the hands of Official 
Assignees, can you suggest any improvement in the state of the law ? Yes. I consider, 
first of all, that it is impossible for any Assignee to do justice to the number of estates he has 
to deal with. 
600. Have you considered the propriety of appointing—say two Assignees, who shall be 
officers of the Court and be looked upon in the light of accountants; power being given to 
the creditors to appoint Creditors' Assignees who should actually administer the estate in con-
junction with the Official Assignees? l was going to recommend the employment of licensed 
accountants under the Court, either of whom it should be the right of the Creditors' Trustees 

..to.employ in the winding up of any estate that might come into Court; but, in order to do 
that, it would be necessary that the present mode of appointing Creditors' Trustees should be 
entirely altered. 
601 What would you suggest in the place of the present mode ? It is well known that 
most of the large insolvent estates for some time past have been administered under the 
Assignment Act, and have yielded better dividends than they would have done if they had 
gone into the Insblvent Court. I take the, principal reasons that tend to produce this result 
are these, that the trustees enter on their duties the moment the estate is surrendered; that 

they 
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they are most probably largely interested in the result of the winding up of the estate ; and E. Knox, 
that they receive much more assistance from the insolvent, when administering the estate in Esq. 
that way, than ever has been the case in the Insolvent Court. It would he desirable, there- re—A----• 
fore, that the trustees should be appointed at the very earliest moment, and in order to 27 Mar., 1861. 
enable that to be done, and to have them at the same time appointed by a majority of the 
creditors, I would make it incumbent on the insolvent, when he applies for leave to seques-
trate his estate, to file a list of his creditors, if he is not in a position at once to file his entire 
schedule. He should also be bound to give notice to every one of these creditors of the fact 
of his having sequestrated his estate ; and that a meeting would be held, say within a week 
of that time, for the election of trustees. 
092. Or rather Creditors' Assignees 7 Creditors' Assignees ;—the.y would all be Creditors' 
Assignees in that ease. At that meeting, every creditor should be entitled to vote, whether 
be had proved his debt or not, so long as his name appeared on the list filed by the insolvent. 
693. And you would give the Assignees power afterwards to investigate ? I would give an 
appeal to the Court, in case it was found there had been any malpractice, or that any elec-
tion had taken place through fraud ; and I would, at the same time, inflict a punishment on 
any party who should vote without being a creditor, although his name might be On the 
insolvent's list. But, I think, the appeal should only lie where it could be clearly shown 
that the vote of a party who had no right Lobe present, had actually affected the result of the 
election. In that way the Creditors' Agtnees would enter on their duties immediately 
after the insolvency. 
094. Would you give power to the Court to reject an Assignee so chosen, on sufficient cause 
being shewn ? Only in case of a defective election, not on other grounds. 
693. Would you require security from Creditors' Assignees so appointed for the due per-
formance of their duties ? I would not ; but I would make them liable to all the penalties 
under the Act as regards Assignees generally. 
696. Can you state whether, under the operation of the old Act, when creditors appointed 
their own Assignees, there was a great deal of collusion? I know there was, and I believe 
also there was a great deal of malpractice among trustees generally under the old Act. 
607. To prevent that would it not be desirable to require security ? No, I do not think 
that would prevent it. The Act provides a sufficient remedy; it declares that if the trustees 
do not keep their accounts properly, and make use of any funds belonging to an insolvent 
estate, they shall be liable to pay double the amount, or to be. imprisoned one year; and I 
take it that if the Act were properly administered that would he such a punishment us 
would deter any trustee from any improper procedure. In order to oblige trustees to keep 
the accounts more clearly than used to be the case under the former Act, I would adopt the 
audit and dividend clauses of the English Bankruptcy Act. The trustees there have to 
bring in their accounts on oath, and when they are thus brought in they have to give 
reasons why the assets which have not been realized remain outstanding. After the accounts 
are passed at the meeting to which they are presented, there is another meeting called at 
which the dividend is declared by the Commissioner and the creditors present. There is, 
in fact, a formal passing of the accounts, which we have never had here ; you may say, 
because, though the plan of distribution is confirmed, this can scarcely be looked upon as 
passing the accounts. It is true the plan lies in the office of the Chief Commissioner, for 
the inspection of any one who will take the trouble, hut that is practically of no effect. 
693. Do you think it desirable to give to any future meeting the power of removing an 
Assignee originally appointed, and also directing that the licensed accountant you speak of 
should administer the estate? I think it might be desirable that the creditors should have 
the power of removing an Official Assignee at a meeting called for the purpose, and with the 
consent of the Court; but generally speaking I ant averse to giving power to make these 
alterations, because it might tend to make creditors careless about attending the first meeting, 
thinking that if afterwards they did not like the trustees appointed they would have the 
opportunity of removing them and appointing others. 
699. Would you cast altogether upon the Creditors' Assignee the duty of realizing the estate ? 
No, I would give him the assistance of a licensed accountant; he should be entitled to 
employ a licensed accountant about the affairs of the estate ; but the whole of the directions 
should be given by the Creditors' Trustee or Trustees, of whom I think it desirable there 
should be two, or even three in large estates. 
700. How would you suggest that the licensed accountants or assignees should be paid ? 
The licensed accountants should be paid according to the work they have done. Their 
accounts should be passed by the trustees and then by the Court. 
701. What would you say to a provision of this kind—that out of the funds 'received in 
insolvent estates they should receive not exceeding £500 a year, and further a commission, 
so that the whole amount of their remuneration should not exceed £1,000? They could 
not well receive a commission as licensed accountants. If any commission is taken it should 
be received by the trustees. It would be necesssay to give the trustees some remuneration 
to get them to act. I think it would be scarcely necessary to fix the amount of remunera-
tion to the licensed accountant, because it would be the interest of the trustees, first of all, 
not to agree to any excessive amount; and as there would necessarily be an appeal to the 
Court to confirm the plan of distribution, if any such amount appeared too large it could be 
then objected to. 
702. Do you think there should be a graduated scale according to the amount of the estates ? 
I think so ; but such a scale would not answer at the present time, because it is only by 
getting a very large amount by his commission out of one or two estates, where he has 
perhaps little or no trouble, that an Assignee can make a livelihood. In the great mass of 
estates he gets nothing, or next to nothing. Out of thirty estates, he may receive nothing 

from 
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E. EDOX, from twenty-six, and the remaining four may yield him a very handsome income for the Esq. year. 
e---k—^ 703. Would it not be desirable, at the meeting held for the appointment of Assignees, to 

27 Mar" 7261 ' direct the amount of commission they should receive out of the estate ? I think it might, 
only that would be liable to abuse. I think it would be better to leave it for the final 
confirmation of the accounts, for the creditors then to say what remuneration the trustees 
should have. I conceive that the remuneration of elective trustees should be much smaller 
than that hitherto charged (five per cent.), if they have an accountant to assist them in the 
management or the estate. At the same time, it most be sufficient to remunerate a man for 
the time and trouble he takes. 
704. Is it not a complaint, on the part of the mercantile community, that the funds in 
insolvent estates arc not distributed as early as they ought to be ? I have been very little-
interested of late years in insolvent estates administered in the Court. Nearly all the 
insolvencies I have suffered from have been wound up under deeds of assignment. But I 
have heard parties complain that the funds have not been divided as quickly as they should 
be. 
705. Is there any reason why six months should elapse before a distribution takes place ? 
None whatever. The English Bankruptcy Act provides, that within two months they are 
bound to file an account. 
706. Supposing the Creditors' Assignees are satisfied that the debts in the schedule are 
genuine, ought not the funds to be distributed at once, even without proof of the claims by 
the creditors ? No, I would not distribute anything without proof of claim ; but a distri-
bution might be made, reserving for those who had not proved such an amount as would pay 
an equal dividend to them. I think the time that elapses between the different meetings 
should be very much shortened. I consider that, supposing a week were given for the 
election of the Creditors' Assignees, the next meeting should take place within a fortnight of 
that time, and the final meeting within another fortnight; and that the insolvent should 
have leave to make an offer of composition at any time by giving ten days notice to every 
creditor, of his intention to offer such composition. 
707. Would you give him that privilege where it was quite clear that he had been guilty of 
fraudulent conduct? No; I would provide that no composition whatever should be taken in 
any estate in which fraudulent conduct could be proved. To allow it would be to release 
the insolvent from the punishment he deserved. 
703. Under the present law it is quite common, is it not, for persons who have committed 
acts of fraudulent insolvency to obtain releases by paying, perhaps 20s, in the pound, or by 
making some arrangement with their creditors, thus saving themselves front prosecution ? 
I think that ought to be guarded against, and also, that every acceptance of a compromise 
should be liable to be set aside by the Court, if any one creditor could shew that he would 
have received more by the estate being wound up in the Court. There have been cases, of 
late, in which the composition has been much smaller than the assets in the estate warranted. 
709. Is there any complaint as to the amount of legal charges that estates are subject to ?' 
There is a very general complaint on the subject. 	There is great complaint of Official 
Assignees declining to do anything without consulting their solicitors. If Official Assignees 
are to be continued, I would guard against that by adopting the English law in that respect, 
that the Official Assignee shall have no vote whatever as regards the appointment of a solici-
tor, vestinee

° 
 it entirely in the Creditors' Assignee. 	I think it undesirable that a great 

number of estates should be all administered in the same way where interests differ so 
materially. 
710. By Aft. Windeser : There naturally arises, as a consequence of the present system, a 
danger of the Official Assignee and the attorney playing into each other's hands ? Without 
attributing any motive of that kind, I think there is danger that if the Official Assignee once 
gets into the habit of consulting his solicitor he will go to him on every occasion; whereas 
the appointment of a. different solicitor, more under the control of the Creditors' Assignee, 
would prevent him doing so. 
711. By the Chairman : Do you think it the duty of the insolvent to attend each meeting 
in his estate? Most decidedly, as well as to be examined at any time, and to give every 
ass:stance in winding-up his affairs. 
712. What is your opinion with respect to the classification of certificates? I think there 
ought to be three classes of certificates—first, second, and fiord; and that the Commissioner 
in Bankruptcy should be entirely guided by the dealings of the insolvent, the aspect of his. 
transactions, his private expenditure during the time he has been in difficulties, and similar 
circumstances, as to what elass of certificate he would grant. 
713. Are you aware that in England it is a complaint that the different Commissioners 
regard the conduct of bankrupts differently, and one will grant a first-class certificate where 
another will only grant a third-class ? I am aware of that; but I take it it is a matter that 
can scarcely be provided against ; people will have different opinions on these subjects. At 
the same time I may state that I do not consider it in the power of any one Commissioner 
here to manage the whole of the business. 
714. You think the staff is insufficient ? Yes, quite insufficient. I think there ought to 
be, at the very least, a Deputy Commissioner, or Registrar, who should have the right to 
preside at meetings for proof of debts, or any minor matters. That would give the Com-
missioner time to devote himself to those difficult points which must come before him at 
other meetings. 
715. It should be the duty of the Registrar also to furnish periodical accounts ? Periodical 
returns to Parliament. 
716. I believe up to the present moment there are no complete returns? We have no return 

whatever 



831 

ON THE W °RILING OF THE INSOLVENT • LAW. 	 41 i 

whatever that I am aware of. Returns, I believe, have been called for. The task would be E, Knox, 
a hopeless one now, as far as the past is concerned. 	 Esq. 
717. Would you afford any further facilities than at present exist for arrangements under 
deeds of trust for the benefit of creditors ? I do not think it necessary to afford any further 27  Mar. , 1861 . 
facilities. 
718. You are aware that there are so many technical difficulties at present, under the state 
of the law, that it is almost impossible to carry out deeds of trust ? Yes ; but if my 
suggestions were adopted with regard to the appointment of Creditors' Trustees, and other 
points, I do not think the Assignment Act would be availed of much. 
719. Except that on the part of honest traders there is an indisposition to avail themselves 
of the Bankrupt Act, and the creditors might desire to assist them under deeds of trust? 
To meet such cases it might be desirable to alter the Act to some extent, so as to make it 
more difficult to dispute the validity of these deeds. The great difficulty in deeds of 
assignment is in giving an exact and accurate statement of the affairs of the insolvent, 
because however small the inaccuracy it is likely to lead to the deed being upset. 

, 720. There are some very simple provisions in the English Bankruptcy Act, respecting 
compositions by deeds of trust. The principal of them are these, that where a deed is 
executed by three-fourths in number and value of the creditors whose debts amount to £100 
and upwards, and who shall sign within seven days from the execution of the deed by the 
insolvent, it shall be valid — ? Ours goes much further, because a mere majority makes 
a deed valid. 
721. By Mr. McArthur : Without a release ? Without a release .—four-fifths with a release. 
I think it would be very desirable to stipulate that, though a deed may contain a release, it 
shall not be inoperative because it is not signed by four-fifths of the creditors, but it shall 
be inoperative only so far as the release itself is concerned. 
722, By the Chairman : Should these deeds be under the cognizance of the Registrar of the 
Insolvent Court ? Yes I think it very desirable, and that a power should be given to the 
trustees to examine anybody, if necessary, in the same way as under the Insolvent Act. 
723. In addition to refusing a certificate to a person, would you be desirous of inflicting 
further punishment for breaches of the Insolvent Act ? No, I do not think so, in the larger 
estates; hut in minor estates, very trifling estates, I think a man should not be released 
from his debts—butcher's and baker's bills, and things of that kind; he should be bound to 
pay them within a certain period, or if he afterwards had any property it should be liable 
for his past as well as present debts. 
724. At present it is quite a common thing to victimize butchers and bakers? Yes. The 
number of small estates is one of the great evils that they have to deal with in the Insolvent 
Court. They take up an immense deal of time, and seldom yield any assets whatever. 
725. By Mr. Windeyer With reference to this point, have you ever considered the advisa-
bility of doing away with credit for small amounts, by making them irrecoverable at law ? 
I do not agree with that suggestion. It might lead to a great deal of hardship amongst 
labouring men, and others, who aught be in difficulties for a few weeks for want of employ-
ment. They might be deprived of the means of existence. 
726. Do you not think it might be done in the case of luxuries—a great many people get 
into debt by getting credit for luxuries that they do not require ? Yes, no doubt; but I 
scarcely think it is a case for the interference of the law. 
727. You are aware that several of the most eminent English Judges are in favour of it? 
No, I was not. No doubt it would tend to simplify matters much. 
728. Do you not think it would tend to induce habits of frugality, care, and self denial ? 
I never heard of the matter before the suggestion was thrown out in the course of iN1r. 
Smith's examination, and therefore I have given it little consideration. 
729. By the Chairman : tinder the provisions of the Licensed Victuallers' Act publicans 
cannot recover for small debts, and yet it does not prevent them giving credit? Yes, I am 
aware of that. 
730. Have you any other suggestion to make to the Committee ? In the 7th clause of the 
Insolvent Act, any transfer without valuable consideration is rendered void if made within 
twelve months, and if it had the effect of preventing any creditor from receiving the full 
amount of his debt. Now I take it any transfer made without valuable consideration within 
the period named should be void without that stipulation. It is utterly impossible to say 
what may have been the effect of a transfer made twelve months back. A man may say, 
six months ago I could have paid a large amount over and above my liabilities; and there-
fore the transfer may not be void, although perhaps it was actually made to evade payment 
of a debt falling due shortly afterwards. 
731. By Mr. Windeyer: You are aware of the provision respecting any transfer made 
within sixty days of insolvency, and having the effect of preferring any existing creditor to 
another ? It is a similar clause; but this has reference to all transfers without valuable 
consideration. 
732. In a case where one person is paid in full within sixty days of the insolvency of the 
debtor, and there are other creditors at the time, should you not consider that the right 
interpretation of such a transaction is that it must necessarily have the effect of preferring 
one creditor to another ? I should not consider that, if a man buys goods within sixty days 
of Ins insolvency, and pays for them within the sixty days, it prefers one creditor to 
another. 
733. Suppose a man has been owing a person money for some time, and then, within sixty 
days of insolvency, hands over to him a quantity of property—there being other creditors, 
of course, at the time ? That, would be giving him a preference, no doubt. 
734. It ought to be deemed such -without going into the consideration of what his assets 

221—G 	 were ? 
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E. Knox, were? Yes. But I take it the ease there has been so much talk about is not a similar ease 
En. 	to that at all. 

735. By the Chairman : In the case put by Mr. Windeyer, you would look upon it as a 
27 Mar., 1861 ' fraudulent preference ? It would, no doubt, be a fraudulent preference. 

736. But the mere fact of retiring a bill, or paying for goods which the trader requires 
to carry on his business, you would not regard in the same light ? No; the estate gets the 
value. I do not see that there can be any reason for regarding that as a fraudulent prefer-
ence. There is no fraud upon the estate at all, if the estate receives value for the amount. 
737. Under the present Insolvent Law, I believe a certificate is not in any case absolutely 
refused to a man for the term of his life ? It is competent to him to apply again after 
two years. 
638. So that no matter how fraudulent his conduct may have been, he can enter into 
business again at the end of two years ? In case it is then granted. 
739. Are you aware of any ease where it has been refused after the lapse of that period ? 
No; but I am aware that it has been granted where it ought to have been refused. 
740. Do you consider that undue leniency has been shown to insolvents ? I consider that 
every leniency has been shcwn to insolvents, and no consideration whatever to creditors; 
whereas I take it that, in the spirit of the Act, the very contrary ought to be the case. The 
insolvent gets the greatest boon that can he conferred upon him ; in a few months he may 
get fifty or sixty thousand pounds of debt wiped off, and the least that can be expected from 
him is that he should satisfactorily account for his being placed in such a position—and that 
ought to be done before he should be entitled to the benefits of the Act. 
741. Are there any other points to which you wish to allude ? I think that where any 
creditor shall be proved to have received a preference, he should forfeit his whole debt, 
besides being obliged to pay back the amount he has preferentially received. That is one of 
the clauses of the English Bankruptcy Act, and I think it a very salutary one. I consider, 
also, that the amount of rent and wages made preferent is unduly large under the present 
Act. I think a preferent claim for rent should be confined to any broken period, from the 
last quarterly or half-yearly payment, or as the case may be, up to the time of the insolvency. 
742. Is there any reason why there should be any preference for rent at all ? Yes, because 
you deprive a landlord of his remedy of distress which be has by law. 
743. Is there any equitable reason why the landlord should have that privilege, any more 
than any other creditor ? I do not see why he should; but as long as that is the law, I 
think it would be unfair under insolvency to deprive him of rights which he has in every 
other way. I think no private meetings in insolvent estates should be allowed at all. 
Under the present Act it is evidently contemplated that many of the meetings shall he 
private meetings, presided over by any creditor. They should, I think, all be called and 
held in the Court, and the proceedings should form part of the records of the Court. 
741. Either before the Chief Commissioner or the Registrar ? Principally before the 
Registrar. I would suggest whether it might net be desirable to have a small Insolvency 
Gazette, which could be more easily circulated than the present Government Gazette; 
because sometimes it may take a man a very long time, under the present practice, to find 
out what meetings arc to be held, and so on. If there could be such a publication, it would 
materially assist the trading community. 
745. There appears to Inc to be an unnecessary amount of printing in the various notices at 
present? Quite so. There is also, in the present Act, some difficulty about taking the 
directions of creditors. It appears that, immediately upon being appointed, the Official 
Assignee can go on with the realization of the estate, and still the Act says that at the third 
meeting he shall make a report and take the directions of the creditors Now, I take it, if 
Creditors' Assignees were appointed, that they ought, immediately they enter on their duties, 
to be at liberty to realize estates without directions, and to call meetings at any time they 
might think fit, if they should require specific directions. 
746. By Mr. McArthur : The same as under the Assignment Act? Yes. 
747. By the Chaitman : Would you give the Creditors' Assignees the power of carrying on 
the business of the estate;  for a time, instead of realizing at once? I would not prevent 
them from doing it; but I would make it necessary to take the directions of creditors, if 
they were going to carry on the business for any length of time. 
748. I think you have some other suggestions to make ? No; I think my examination 
generally embodies nearly all the suggestions I have to make on the subject. 
749, By Mr. McArthur : Did I understand you to say you thought the simple dishonouring 
of a bill should be regarded as an act of insolvency ? No; I rather differed with the Chair-
man, thinking that it should not be looked upon as an act of insolvency. 
750. By the Chairman : I think you were of opinion that no hardship would result if the 
party were allowed to deposit the amount of the bill, or make an affidavit that he had a 
defence? Yes, that is putting him in the position he is in now. 
751. Except that it would be in the power of any creditor to file a petition against him, on 
the mere fact of his having dishonoured a bill ? I do not at present see any objection to 
that. 
752. By Mr. McArthur : Do you not think that if a creditor were disposed to act harshly, 
it would be a dangerous power to place in his hands. Supposing the bill of a man in 
business up the country is dishonoured, either from the state of the roads delaying communi-
cation, or even from his own negligence, do you think it would be right that any creditor 
should have the power to make him insolvent ? In such a ease it might lead to hardship. 
It is a point I have never given any consideration to. To give it to other than the creditor 
actually holding the bill might be possibly a hardship. 
753. To.give it even to the creditor himself ? The creditor has it. 

754. 
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754. To take legal proceedings? He would most likely take the shorter course of the two. 	E. Knox; 
755. By the Chairman: Is there any reason why a creditor should be put to the expense of 	Esq. 
bringing an action against the person making the bill, when the only result of that will bee—xel 
to thew that he is insolvent, whereas by 	

n  
declaration under the Act, the same result might -7 Mar., 1861. 

be arrived at in the mode I suggest, by making it an act of bankruptcy ? The only reason 
for making it an act of bankruptcy would be, that the Act, which has lately been passed, 
obliges the party to allow judgment to go by default, or make the affidavit you have spoken 
of. 
756. Yet in that ease, where the affidavit is made, the cause has to go to issue, and may not 
be tried for several months, and in the meantime the bankrupt carries on his operations, 
whereas it might be provided in any new Insolvent Act to be brought in, that the Chief 
Commissioner should have the power of inquiring into the merits of the defence on this bill 
of exchange ? I do not think it would be safe to give that power to the Chief Commissioner, 
to inquire into the merits of eases belonging properly to a judge and jury. It might lead to 
great hardships. There seems to me to be scarcely any necessity for providing such 
machinery, because the Act is so prompt in the remedy afforded on promissory notes or bills 
of exchange. 
757. By Mr. McArthur: Have you had any cases in the interior of the Colony, in which 
you have found it very difficult to get the law carried out, referring to the remedy people 
have in issuing writs ? No, I have not sued anybody, I am happy to say ; I have not had a 
single action. Generally speaking, I have found it more advantageous to lose the debt than 
to take legal proceedings. 
758. By the Chairman : At what amount would you fix a petitioning creditor's debt—the 
amount at present is £50? I thick that is quite small enough. 

Jacob Levi Montefiore, Esq., called in and examined :— 
759. By the Chairman : You are a member of the Chamber of Commerce ? I am. J. L. 
760. And, at the request of that body, you have attended to give evidence before this Com- Arcultefiere, Es mittee ? I have. 
761. Have you had many dealings with insolvents during the time you have been i 	

q. 
n business ? 

27 Mar 1861 I have not. 
762. Have you made yourself acquainted with the provisions of the Insolvent Act ? To a 
certain extent I have. 
763. Are there any particular points that strike you as defective ? I find less fault with the 
law itself than with the general administration of it, although there are some points in 
respect to which the law might be, in my opinion, improved upon. 
764. Can you suggest any alterations that would be beneficial ? I cannot better premise 
any suggestions than by recommending to the attention of the Committee the report from the 
Chamber of Commerce on the Insolvent Laws, for I fully concur in the views therein expressed, 
but would offer, in addition, the following further observations. In clause 21 of that Report I 
would absolutely limit any preferential claim to £50, because I conceive that the clause was 
introduced not so much to save the recipients of large salaries as to keep from min those of 
limited means, who were almost earning their daily bread. I would venture to recommend that 
clause 12 of the existing Insolvent Law be so modified as to exempt from its influence all trans-
actions known as cash transactions, according to the usages of trade ; that is to say, when the 
estate, by such transactions, shall not have been placed in a worse position in the event of a failure 
within sixty days. I would further suggest, and to this suggestion I attach great importance, 
that some cheap and simple form be introduced to enable a creditor to place an estate in 
the Insolvent Court. It very often occurs, under the existing law, that a debtor escapes 
merited punishment in consequence of the expense and delay necessary to declare him a 
bankrupt. The power I speak of exists in the English law—(see Urse's Bankrupt Law 
Consolidation Act, pp. 76 to 90, where, upon affidavit of creditor, the Court may summon 
insolvent debtor)—And I conceive that all the provisions referred to in above quoted pages 
should be embodied in any Colonial Insolvent Law. Time next point to which I would draw 
the attention of the Committee is the absolute necessity of placing in the hands of the Chief 
Commissioner a larger amount of power than he now possesses, so as to enable him to enforce 
those decisions which his judgment may deem necessary. I would further recommend, in the 
compilation of any new law, an entire change in the present system of Official Assignees. These 
gentlemen, though highly respectable as individuals, are perfectly unfitted for the situations 
they hold, and it is an every day occurrence, through the want of information, or incapacity 
of the Official Assignee, to see an entire estate frittered away in law expenses--the Assignee, 
afraid of his own judgment, wishing to consult his lawyer upon every occasion, even the most 
trivial. I am strongly of opinion that there should be but one Official Assignee, who should 
be a gentleman thoroughly qualified as a first-rate accountant. This gentleman should 
receive a fixed salary of £1,000 a year ; should give security to the extent of :C5,000; should 
inspect all estates, and be subject, generally, to all the regulations of the English Bankrupt 
Law. Each estate should, from the body of creditors, elect one Trade Assignee, who 
should, as in England, have the sole power of taking legal advice. All moneys should be 
paid to the Official Assignee, who should be compelled to open a separate account in a bank 
for each estate. The remuneration to the Trade Assignee should be a ratable commission 
according to the dividend declared, so as to give the Trade Assignee an interest in economizing 
as much as possible the assets of an estate ; when it paid 15s. or over he should have a com-
mission of 5 per cent.: from 10s. to 15s., 4 per cent.; from 7s. (3d. to 10s., 3 per cent.; 

from 
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T. L. 	from 5s. to 7a. 6d., 2+ per cent. ; from 2s. 6d. to 5s., 2 per cent.; and up to 2s. 6d., only 
Montefiore, 1 per cent. 

EP' 	765. The provisions you propose are mostly similar to those under the Irish Bankruptcy 
Act—have you read that Act ? I have not read it. 

Mar'' 1861 ' 766, With respect to preferential payments, supposing a proviso were inserted that it should 
not be declared fraudulent where it was for a reasonable and sufficient consideration given or 
agreed to be given at the time to any creditor of the bankrupt—would not that meet the 
objection to clause 12 that you have alluded to ? In a great measure; because, as I have 
remarked, it is where the estate shall not have been placed in a worse position in the event 
of a failure within sixty days ; so that if a man sold a certain quantity or bought a certain 
quantity, and had the goods or the money, the estate would be in no worse position. 
767. Supposing, at the time of making the purchase, he agreed to make the payment, and, 
in pursuance of that agreement, made the payment, you would not then declare it a frau-
dulent preference 7 Certainly not. 
768. Have you considered the propriety of making every person in trade keep a day-book in 
which all his transactions should be entered, under a severe penalty ? There should be a 
severe penalty for not keeping books, whether a day-book, waste-book, or any other book. 
769. Would you leave it in the power of the Judge or Commissioner to decide what were 
sufficient books of account, or would you provide that certain books of account should be 
kept, which should afford certain information ? I apprehend it would only be necessary 
to provide that they should furnish certain information, because I suppose there are hardly 
two men who, if left to themselves, would keep similar books of account. 
770. If you provide that a trader should enter all his transactions in a day-book, the task 
would then be very easy to make up his accounts? Any rough book, that would afford such 
information to the accountant as would enable the accountant to make out his accounts, 
would, to my mind, be satisfactory. 
771. Would you suggest that any official book should be furnished to traders on entering into 
business ? Do you mean an official book that they should be bound to enter all their 
transactions in? 
772. Yes; properly stamped and paged? No, I should not. 
773. Do you think the books of a trader should be open to his creditors for perusal at any 
time ? I do not. 
774. You state that it is desirable that there should be a cheap mode of adjudging a person 
bankrupt ; would it not be desirable to make it upon a simple affidavit that a person has 
committed a certain act, such as leaving his home with the intention of defrauding his 
creditors, or to defeat or delay his creditors—suffering himself to be taken in execution for 
any debt not clue—procuring his goods to be taken in execution—or making any fraudulent 
grant or conveyance of any of his lands or other property 	I have already stated to the 
Committee that I refer to the English bankruptcy law, where a simple affidavit is made, a 
summons is issued, it is left at his place of residence with fourteen days notice. I think I 
am speaking correctly. The party summoned has to appear, and failing appearance he is 
declared bankrupt ; on appearing he has to give reasons why he should not be declared 
bankrupt, and the Commissioner judges on those reasons. 
775. Would you make it an act of bankruptcy for any person to allow a judgment to pass 
and execution to be issued against him for any debt ? If the plan I have suggested, which 
exists under the English law, were followed out, I do not consider that would be necessary. 
776. Suppose the person continues trading, and yet no such proceeding is adopted towards 
him ? If he owes money a simple summons will cause him to appear before the Commissioner 
to shew why he should not he declared insolvent. 
777. What should be the grounds on which such a summons should issue? The owing 
money that he is unable to pay. 
778. Simply his inability to discharge a debt ? Yes; in fact that is all a man is made 
insolvent or bankrupt for. 
779. Do you think any distinction should be made between traders and non-traders—that 
persons who are not in trade should have the benefit of the Insolvent or Bankrupt Act ? 
There should be a difference ; but not having considered the question, I should not be pre-
pared to give an answer. 
780. I observe that in the latest measure brought into the English Parliament, having 
reference to this subject, the distinction is abolished, and yet I do no not see the reason for 
it. If a clerk, for instance, who has £100 a year chooses to live at the rate of £300, and 
obtains credit, I think it is most unjust that he should be allowed to take the benefit of the 
Insolvent Act, and absolve himself finally from his debt ? It is a question that ought to be 
considered; I should not be prepared to give an off-band answer. 
781. Should there be any classification of certificates? That is recommended in the Report 
of the Chamber of Commerce on the Insolvent Law. 
782. Some of the witnesses who have been before this Committee have suggested that the 
duties of Commissioners in Insolvency might be discharged in the country by the District 
Judges—might not that lead to conflicting decisions by the several Judges as to the merits 
of insolvents, a first-class certificate being granted by one which would be refused by another ? 
There would not be any greater difference than is continually occurring in various towns in 
England. 
783. By Mr. Windeyer: Where you have a number of Judges you are always liable to that? 
Yes. 
784. By the Chairman : Would the fact of a person having a second or third-class certificate 
affect his position in the community ? Until it is tried we cannot form an opinion ; we 
have had no experience of it yet. I would make one remark as to a question you put. 

Whether 
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Whether a creditor should have power to examine the books of his debtor. Do you mean 	J. Is 
when the debtor was owing him money he was unable to pay, or at any time during the Mo

E
nte

s
fiere,
q.  currency of a person's trading ? 

785. My question referred generally to the right of a creditor to inspect the books? Then 
you mean that, supposing a party were to sell to another goods to the value of 4100, he 27 Mar., MM. 
might, during the currency of the promissory note by which they would probably be paid 
for, have power to go in and look at the other's books ? 
786. No, because there would then be no debt due. I mean, that if there were a debt 
owing which the debtor was unable to pay, then the creditor should have power to examine 
the books ? I think it would be open to objection, because a man might, from reasons of 
spite, sell goods to another party merely for the sake of examining his books. 
787. Have you considered the operation of the present Bills of Sale Act ? I have not. 
788. By Arr. Windeyer : Have you ever considered a suggestion, thrown out by some of the 
English Judges, to abolish the right to recover under a certain amount, say £5, where 
credit is given—in fact, making the provisions which now exist with regard to publicans 
general in trade ? I have not considered it, but at first sight it appears to me that it would 
be a wise provision. 
789. Do you not think it would tend to promote habits of self-denial, prudence, and economy 
in private expenditure, and thus be the means of preventing many of those small insol-
vencies which proceed from extravagant habits ? Yes. 
790. By the Chairman: How would it operate on persons who have small incomes, paid 
quarterly? Even with those, I apprehend, it would not act prejudicially. 
791. By .211r. Windeyer : Do you not think that persons known to be persons of honour 
would be trusted just the same ? Decidedly. 
792. Would it not also be the means of preventing traders giving an improper amount of 
credit, and thus inducing people to spend money where they have no means ? I think it 
would be a wise provision. 
793. By the Chairman : If the principle is good as to small amounts, is there any reason 
why it should not be pushed to its legitimate issue? There is a very great difference. Trade 
and commerce are based upon credit, and without credit they cannot exist. But that is a 
very different thing to getting credit for small articles which ought to be paid for in cash, 
and which should not be purchased unless the party had the cash for them. To buy goods 
on credit, in such a way as to facilitate the action of the exchanges, is a different thing from 
buying bread or a gold watch. 
794. Are not the frauds the trader is subject to in nearly all cases occasioned by persons 
who obtain credit largely ? Certainly, always. 
795. By Air. Windeyer : Do you think a distinction might be made in the case of articles of 
necessity and articles of luxury? If you limit the amount to £5, which would be very low, 
I do not think it would be worth while to make any exception. 
796. By the Chairman : You could not make it universal, I presume? How do you mean ? 
797. Suppose the case of a master who owes his servant several weeks wages? It could not be 
made to apply in that way certainly. It could only refer to purchases. 

FRIDAY, 12 APRIL, 1861. 

Muscat :— 
MR. LOVE, 	 Mu. McARTHUR. 

JAMES HART, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
George King, Esq., called in and examined :— 

798. By the Chairman : You are a merchant residing in Sydney ? I am. 	 George King, 
799. I think you are one of the members of the Chamber of Commerce, chosen by that body 	Esq. 
to give evidence before the Committee now sitting on the working of the Insolvent Law ? 
Yes. 	 12 Apri1,1861. 
800. Have you any experience at all in working the present Insolvent Acts ? I have. 
801. At one time, I think, you held the office of Official Assignee ? I did, about eight years 
ago, for a period of three or four years. 
802. Were you one of the Assignees appointed in the first instance, on the passing of the 
Act ? No ; upon the occurrence of a vacancy. 
803. There is a very general complaint on the part of the mercantile community here, as to 
the amount of expenses incurred in working out estates in the Court, and also as to the 
facility with which debtors pass through the Insolvent Court—can you favour the Committee 
with any suggestions which would have the effect of remedying these evils ? With respect 
to curtailing the expenses, I would make the Official Assignee do a great deal of, or nearly 
all the work which at present seems to be performed by the Official Assignee's solicitor. 
804. Do you think there is too great latitude given to the Official Assignees at present, as 
to their powers of working out estates and incurring expenses ; for instance, in the employ-
ment of solicitors and agents ? Yes; I think there should be greater supervision exercised; 
at present there is no check. 
805. You are aware, I suppose, that at present, if an Assignee is desirous of realizing an 
estate, he may incur any expenses he chooses for the purpose of collecting the assets, and 

that 
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OCOW Ring, that his charges are not subject to the revision of the Court—do you consider that an evil ? 
1k1511; 1 was not aware that an Assignee could do that ; but if he can, that power should be taken 

"'es from him. I consider that an Assignee's charges should be subject to strict revision in 
12Apri1,1361. every instance, by the Court.* 

806. Do you think there is any proper provision made at the present time for Assignees 
investigating the affairs of insolvents irrespective of any examination that may take place 
before the Court ? I do not think the affairs of insolvents are sufficiently investigated. 
807. Can you suggest anything by which Assignees, or other persons charged with the adminis-
tration of estates, could investigate an insolvent's affairs independently of any examination 
in Court? I think there should be appointed, under the Chief Commissioner, a thorough , 
accountant as -registrar—or call him whatever you like—who ought to investigate the books 
of the insolvent, and audit the plans of distribution of the Official Assignees; he should 
also be able to report on the past transactions of the insolvent to the Chief Commissioner, 
that the hitter may know whether the insolvent has kept proper books of account or not. 
I believe there is no audit at present of the plans of distribution filed in the Court. 
1308. Do you rot, think that when a person becomes insolvent the first thing he should do 
should be to deliver up his books and papers to the Official Assignee and then that the 
Official Assignee should cause a proper schedule to be made of these books, properly numbered 
-and entered, for the purpose of reference hereafter ? Yes. 
809. At present, I believe, the system is to bundle the books into the Official Assignee's 
Office and there they remain ? I do not know what the system at present is, for I am 
happy to say I have not had occasion to call on any Official Assignee for a long time past. 
810. When you were an Official Assignee, were not the books delivered to you in bundles, 
which remained so, I suppose, until some of the creditors would choose to investigate them ? 
No, when I was an Official Assignee the first thing I did was to get my clerk to make ont 
an inventory -of ell books in the estates under my charge, and have them alphabetically 
arranged, with the names of the estates placed on them. 
811. What became of those books? When I was released from my Official Assigneeship, 
I handed them over to the Supreme Court; I think I sent five dray loads there. 
812. Do these books still remain in the Supreme Court, do you know? I fancy so. 
813. Do you think the present machinery of the Insolvent Court is sufficient for working a 
proper Insolvent Law ? It ought to be, if you have competent persons. 
814. Do yam think any system might be adopted, by which the Chief Commissioner would 
be relieved from investigating every debt that was down in an insolvent's schedule? I very 
much doubt whether the Chief Commissioner ever can investigate all the proofs tendered. 
815. At all events be goes through the form of investigating ? Yes. 
816. You are aware that that takes up a great deal of his time, and that as a means of 
ascertaining whether a debt is a just one or not it is Melly valueless. Supposing the insol-
vent, on sequestrating his estate, was bound to deliver in a list of his creditors, and that after-
wards, when the books -were delivered over to the Official Assignee, the Official Assignee 
should himself investigate and report whether the debt was a just one or not, leaving it to 
any dissatisfied creditor to appeal to the Court against the rejection of a claim—do you 
think that would facilitate the administration of estates ? I would sooner that the debt 
were proved before the Chief Commissioner. 
817. I am speaking now of an amended Insolvent Acts—supposing there were proper officers 
employed, proper accountants, as Assignees, do you think it would be a good system then ? 

think debts should always be proved in open Court. It might be done before a deputy—
call him Sub-Commissioner, Registrar, Accountant, or what you will. 
818. Would you subject the proof of debts to the revision of the Official Assignee or 
Accountant? Yes; they should be subject to revision. 
819. I believe it is not unusual for a creditor or assumed creditor to bring in a claim, and 
if there is no opposition it is admitted, although the claim may be fictitious ? It may be so. 
820. And thereby the dividends in tire estate, of course, are lessened. Do you think any 
distinction should be made between persons in trade and those who are not ;—would you 
give the same power to sequestrate flick estates, to persons who are not in trade, as you 
would to those who are ? If a person is engaged in any pursuit involving risk of loss, such 
as grazing or farming, I would consider him just in the strme light as a merchant or trader ; 
but I consider that a person out of business should be put on a different footing. I think 
a person who by extravagance runs through his private means, and becomes unable to pay 
his debts, should not be allowed to seek the benefit of the Insolvent Act, on the same terms 
as a trader who has been unfortunate in business. 	 • 
821. A great many of the frauds that have arisen in this Colony have, I believe, been 
perpetrated through the parties not keeping proper books of account. Under our present 
Insolvent Law it is in the power of the Chief Commissioner to refuse a certificate to any 
insolvent who has not kept proper books of account, but the question, what are proper books 
of account, is left to the discretion of the Chief Commissioner, and is not provided by law,— 
do you think that is right ? I do not. 
822. Do you think any Act to be hereafter passed should provide that persons should keep 
proper books, affording a certain amount of information ? Yes. 
823. For instance, what capital the insolvent commenced with at the time he entered into 
business, the amount of debts he had contracted, the profits of his business in each year, 
mhat he bad paid for household expenses and for personal expenses, and also his losses ? 
Yes. 

824.  

• Nora (By wetness on revition):—I mean by the Chief Commissioner, subject to appeal to the 
Court if necessary. 
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824. Then you would not leave it in the discretion of the Judge, or Chief Commissioner of George King. 
the Insolvent Court to say what are proper books of account ? I would not. 
825. In your experience, has the Court, in this Colony been lax or over-lenient to insolvents 
in the matter of keeping accounts ? I think, generally speaking, they do not know what 12 APA 1861 - 
proper books of account are, and that is the reason why an insolvent can get off so easily. 
826. Suppose a person in trade was bound to enter into his day-book every transaction what-
soever under pain of being refused his certificate, or some other punishment, would you 
think that a judicious measure ? les, but still it could be evaded. You can make no law 
as to keeping books that cannot be evaded. 
827. Supposing a person was bound to enter every transaction—receipts, payments, invoices, 
exports, and everything whatsoever that occurred to him in business,—would not the Official 
Assignee then be able to make up proper books from the information so afforded ? Yes, no 
doubt if you furnish the materials proper books can be made out. It is the absence of 
materials nowadays that we have to complain of. 
828. Would not that supply the defect ? No doubt if you can oblige a man to furnish all 
the materials for making up his books, there can be no difficulty. Nine-tenths of the books 
in the Insolvent Court that have come under my observation contain no information at all 
as to a men's position. But the power of making up books, even from materials so furnished, 
depends greatly on the nature of a man's transactions; it might in some instances involve 
an amount of labour for which the whole assets of the estate would not be a sufficient 
remuneration. 	 • 
829. Would you suggest that certain books should be kept by traders—eashebaok, day-book, 
ledger, and so on? All these books may be kept, and yet you may not be able to arrive at, 
a correct conclusion after all ; I have found that in very many cases. 
830. Still you think that all books kept by a trader should afford information upon the 
matters I have mentioned ? Yes, they should. 
831. And that where the books did not afford that information, it should be a case for 
refusing a certificate ? It should be refused in such a case. 
832. Do you think any further punishment should be awarded, such as imprisonment—
irrespective of any fraud? I am not prepared to answer this question, it requires much 
consideration. 
833. Is it not another complaint on the part of the mercantile community, that persons 
who are in trade continue to carry on business long after they find themselves to be in 
embarrassed circumstances ? Yes. 
834. Can you suggest any mode by which that could be obviated—any mode by which 
creditors could be compelled to make debtors surrender their estates as soon as it was known 
that they could not meet their liabilities? A man may be worth 255. in the pound, and 
yet, owing to a temporary pressure, in embarrassed circumstances, it would be hard to 
compel such a person to sequestrate his estate; but if his books (assuming them to be 
correctly kept) show that he is not worth 20s. in the pound, he should be compelled to call 
his creditors together, and there should be a power to sequestrate his estate. 
835. How can any creditor become aware from a person's books that he is not able to pay 
20s. in the pound? I would make it compulsory on the individual himself to call his 
creditors together. 
836. Do you think that the circumstance of a person not being able to meet a promissory 
note or acceptance given by him should,prima,facie, be an act of bankruptcy—dishonouring 
his bill ? You would make half the people in the interior bankrupts at that rate. I hardly 
think it should be so. 
837. Why not ? Because delays in the transmission of bills and funds from the interior are 
of such frequent occurrence, that acceptances are often dishonoured from no other cause. 
838. I only say printd facie. We might give a man the privilege, after summons, to shew 
cause why his estate should not be adjudged bankrupt, either to pay the money into Court, 
or to show that he had a bond fide defence to the hill of exchange or acceptance. Would 
not that meet the objection—why should a man who cannot meet his acceptance or promis-
sory note, justly due, be allowed to carry on business? Any great innovation of this sort 
should be of very gradual introduction here, because people have become accustomed to a 
certain state of things, which, if suddenly changed, might ruin half the country. 
839. Is it not the fact that persons have continued trading here who have not been able to 
meet their liabilities in this way ? That is the fault of the people who give them credit. 
840. In some oases it may be, but in others is it not the fact that they are misled by the 
misrepresentation of their debtors? If the debtor has misled them be should be liable to 
punishment on satisfactory proof; but, however desirable, you cannot arbitrarily interfere 
by law with credit, the abuse of which must work its own cure. 
841. What would you deem acts of bankruptcy ? Failing to pay debts, when called upon to 
do so. 
842. If a person is called on to pay a promissory note, and does not do so, is not that a 
failure to pay a debt ? If he does not satisfy you, you should be able to proceed against him 
to sequestrate his estate. 
843. You are aware that under the present state of the law you cannot proceed to sequestrate 
his estate, unless you have an execution againet him, and the debtor in the meantime may 
put you to the expense of bringing an action, occasioning very great delay, and, at the same 
time, running deeply in debt with others—and after all you can only sequestrate his estate ? 
I would provide by law greater facilities for the sequestration of estates than now exist. 
844. How could you do that ? I really do not know the legal mode of doing it; but any-
thing which would shorten the process would be desirable. 
845. You must either proceed to make a person a bankrupt under a judgment, or without a 

judgment; 
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Geore King, judgment; if without a judgment, it must be on allegation of a debt existing. Where it is 
tiscl. a book debt that would be very difficult ; but where a promissory note or bill of exchange is 

r–A--Th given, there is no doubt, or ought to be no doubt, in law, that debt does exist. Then, if you 
12 Apri1,9361. are not to be put to the present cumbrous mode of making a person insolvent, why should 

you not have the power of calling upon him to sequestrate, where he is not able to meet the 
debt ? I would call upon him to sequestrate if he did not pay his bill. 
846. Have you given any consideration to the operation of the present Bills of Sale Act ? 
I have not. 
847. You have not considered whether it has facilitated persons obtaining credit or not? 
The power of being able to grant a bill of sale ? 
848. Yes ? No, I have not given it consideration. 
849. Have you had occasion to contest any of these bills of sale yourself? I have not. 
850. Do you think the present mode of administering estates wholly through the Court 
in Sydney might be amended so as to lessen the expenses of administering estates the assets 
of which are in the country ? I do not think the expense of realizing assets in the country 
should be very great. You find auctioneers and agents in almost every considerable 
country town. 
851. But most of them are men of no substance, and without education, I think, in many 
eases. Under the present law any one can become an auctioneer—there is no provision 
made for his gibing security, or for his ability to conduct his business? It is not compul-
sory on the Assignee to sell by auction ; be may sell by appraisement. 
852. Have you heard of any cases where the expenses of collecting have been more than the 
assets have realized ? I have read such cases in the newspapers. 
853. Is not that a very serious complaint ? It is a very serious complaint indeed. 
854. Do you think any power should be given to the District Judges to exercise the powers 
of the Chief Commissioner in the country ? Yes, I think it would be desirable. 
855. Might it not also be so arranged that the bailiffs of the different District Courts in the 
Colony should act as agents of the Official Assignees ? Yes. 
856. We have in them a staff of men who are responsible, and whose services could be 
obtained at any moment ? I do not know what class of men the bailiffs are exactly—whether 
they are men to whom the realization of assets could be intrusted. 
857. If they are not a proper class, would it not be worth while to procure a proper class 
of men, so that the collection of estates could be committed to them ? Yes, it would be 
very desirable to get a good class of men. 
858. Do you think an insolvent who surrenders his estate should be compelled to attend at 
every meeting, and to afford information to the Judge and to his creditors? Yes. 
859. When you were an Official Assignee, I presume you saw the great difficulties that exist 
on the part of creditors obtaining information from insolvents. They are compelled to 
resort to cumbrous legal proceedings, even to obtain the attendance of insolvents ? Yes. 
860. In the management of estates, do you think that Trade Assignees should be also 
appointed, to act jointly with the Official Assignees? I do. 
861. And what duties do you think should be performed by them ? I would leave the reali-
zation of the assets, in a great measure, with them. 
862. The general management of the estate ? Yes. 
863. If it became necessary to appoint a solicitor to an estate, do you think he should be 
appointed by the Official Assignee, or by the Trade Assignee, or jointly ? I think he should 
be appointed by the Trade Assignee. 
864. I presume you would have the Trade Assignee appointed at as early a moment as pos-
sible? At the first meeting, if possible. 

• 865. Should he be appointed by the creditors, with or without the sanction of the Court ? 
• I think it should be with the sanction of the Court. 

866. Would you give power to remove him upon cause being afterwards shewn at any 
meeting duly convened ? Yes. 
867. With regard to the distribution of the assets of estates, do you think they could be 
distributed at an earlier period than they are at present ? No doubt they could by calling 
the meetings, for proof of debts, at earlier periods. There is no necessity for extending them 
over so long a period as they do now. There are the first and second meetings; the second 
meeting may be adjourned for two months; and twenty-eight days from the conclusion of 
the second meeting the third meeting, for directions, is called; this might be done in less 
time. 
868. Why should not the meetings be held within seven or fourteen days of each other ? 
That would give ample time, I think. 
869. And the distribution of funds could be made at once, leaving for creditors who had not 
proved, a sum sufficient to cover their claims, in the event of their establishing them ? Yes, 
reserving a certain amount for improved debts. That might be done. 
870. Do you know what is done by Official Assignees, at present, with the funds that come 
into their hands ? I do not. 
871. Have you had any occasion lately to communicate with the Official Assignees, upon 
matters of business connected with estates in their hands ? No. 
879. Have you heard complaints as to their inefficiency ? None, beyond what has appeared 
of late in the papers by way of complaint. 
873. There have been public complaints made ? Yes, through the press; I occasionally 
have seen remarks, but I have no personal experience on this subject. 
874. I believe it is usual now for creditors to accept compositions, however small, rather 
than risk placing estates in the Court ? Yes that is very often the case. It is a speedy 
mode of settling the matter ; you know your foss, and have done with it. 

875. 
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875. Would you afford greater facilities than there are at present towards making deeds of 000Tg° King,  E composition, if there was a proper Insolvent Law ? 	I think deeds of assignment and 	
sq. 

private composition are resorted to, because the public do not like the Insolvent Court as it 12( ThAprii,1861.  
is at present. 
876. Very few convictions, I believe, have taken place ander the present Insolvent Act for 
fraud ? Very few. 
877. Do you think that is owing to the honesty of persons who have placed their estates in the 
Court, or to the difficulty of prosecuting ? I think it is more the difficulty of prosecuting. 
878. You have no doubt that very great frauds have been committed by insolvents, which 
have not been punished ? Yes, the Act—especially as respects offers of composition and the 
sale of assets—opens the door to gross frauds, particularly the Gist and the 86th clauses. 
879. Where any charge of fraudulent conduct has been made against an insolvent, would 
you place it in the power of his creditors to release his estate, although he might pay 20s. in 
the pound 	No, certainly not. 
880. That can be done under the present state of the law ? So I believe. 
881. At present there are certain claims which are looked upon as preferent under the 
Insolvent Act, namely, rent and wages, I think, for six months—would you continue that 
provision ? I think three months would be quite sufficient. 
889. Can you assign any reason why a landlord should have a preferent claim more than 
any one else ? Because by the sequestration of the estate you take away the right that he 
has at common law of distraining on the property. 
883. Looking upon it as an abstract question, do you think a landlord should have the right 
of distraining or obtaining payment, in preference to other creditors ? I think so. 
884. Why ? Because the law gives him the right of distraining on property, and if you 
pass another law to take away that right you must give him something in lieu of it. 
885. Then you only argue for it because the law enables him to distrain ? Yes. 
886. Suppose the law did not enable him to distrain—do you think it is right that he 
should have the power of distraint ? I think so. 
887. Have not many men been made insolvent in this Colony solely by reason of the great 
amount of rent they have been called upon to pay—have they not obtained credit from other 
persons and run hopelessly into debt merely with the view of paying the landlord? I 
cannot say. 
888. Are you not aware that in George-street houses have been let at from £400 to £1,000 
a year, and that creditors have been cheated solely to be able to pay the landlord ? I know 
of no instance as far as my own experience goes. 
889. With respect to the final disposal of an insolvent, do you think there should be any 
power given to the Court of classifying certificates, or would you leave it in the discretion of 
the Court either to grant or refuse a certificate ? I think a itlassification might be 
devised. 
890. Do you think that would be of any value thereafter in the case of persons going again 
into business ? If an insolvent got a first-class certificate it would be a kind of certificate of 
character, that he had not been guilty of any dishonesty or breach of the law. 
891. Suppose it should be decided to administer insolvent estates in the country districts 
through the Judges of the District Courts, and one of them should he rather lax in his 
notions of commercial morality, and should grant a first-class certificate where another would 
only grant a third-class, do you think there would be any value attached to the distinction 
then ? No, certainly not, if you had a person of lax principles to administer the law. 
892. You think then the certificate would have no value in itself if you had to hunt up in 
connection with it the history of the insolvent, and who granted him his certificate? Very 
likely not. 
893. By Al,'. McArthur: Do you think it would be better for the Official Assignees to have a 
fixed salary, or that they should be paid by commission as at present ? If in every 
estate you were to appoint a Trade Assignee to attend to the realization of the assets, leaving 
the work of accountants to be performed by the Official Assignee as an officer of the Court, 
having charge of the funds realized and supervising the Trade Assignee, I would, in such 
ease, place the Official Assignee on a salary; but, if the present system is to continue, a com-
mission is a greater incentive to exertion. 
894. Which do you think the better plan, the plan at present in operation, or to have Trade 
Assignees who would work out the estate as you suggest, and let the Official Assignees be 
simple officers of the Court? I would have Trade Assignees. 
895. In that case what should you consider a sufficient salary for a competent person as 
Official Assignee ? Certainly not less than £750 or £800 a year. 
896. What do you think should be the salary of an efficient man to act as Chief Commis-
sioner? No salary would be too high for an efficient man, but one not coming up to the 
standard would be dear at any price: £1,500 per annum is the lowest salary that should be 
offered to a thoroughly competent Chief Commissioner. His qualifications as a lawyer should 
be equal to that of the Judges of the Supreme Court ; his business knowledge extensive ; 
equally so his discrimination of character. He should be capable of upholding the dignity of 
his Court, in which he should preside as a Judge, rather to hear and determine titan to talk. 
897. I suppose you believe that is pretty generally the impression of the mercantile portion 
of the community, that a first-class than is required? Most unquestionably. 
898. Do you consider that he should be a barrister? Yes. 
899, Do you think it is owing to deficiency in the present law, or to a defective mode of 
administering it, that so many complaints arise? I think the present Act, with very slight 
amendments might be made efficient; I think the faults found arise chiefly from inefficiency 
in its administration. 

221—H 	 900. 
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Georg? King, 900. You do not think any radical change is necessary? Not very great; a few judicious 
-bscl. 	alterations in certain clauses of the Act might make it a very good Act. 

901. I think the Chairman has asked you one or two questions with reference to bailiffs or 
...12Apr11,1861. officers being appointed in the interior, whose duty it would be to sell, or to take charge of 

and wind up estates; do you think there is sufficient accommodation in that way at present ? 
I never found any difficulty in getting anything done in the country, even without resorting 
to bailiffs. could always find in any part of the Colony intelligent and competent persons 
to follow my instructions. 
902. The difficulty at present seems to arise from the choice being left to the Official 
Assignee, and he has, perhaps, sonic friend, who is not a very competent person, but whom 
he wishes to employ, though he may have no local knowledge whatever, may be intimately 

. connected with the insolvent himself, and may net in such a way as to prevent the ends of 
justice? Yes, that may happen. 
903. Do you not think it would be an advantage if there could be persons appointed, whether 
bailiffs, or whatever they might be, in each district, who could be called upon legally ? If 
you make it compulsory on the Official Assignee to employ certain persons to act, you take 
away his responsibility. At present the Official Assignee and his sureties arc responsible to 
the creditors for the due administration of the estate, but if the Act provides that he shall 
employ a certain person, you cannot hold the Official Assignee responsible for the acts of 
such person. 
904. The Chairman has also referred to the insolvent keeping proper books, and I think I 
understood you to say you thought every insolvent should keep certain books ? Yes. 
905. Do you consider that every trader should keep what we term a regular set of books? 
Yes. 
906. Do you not think that would have a very injurious effect upon a large number of 
persons engaged in trade in the Colony. I do not suppose there is one in every fifty persons 
in business at present who understands anything about keeping a regular set of books? As 
long as a man's books shew his transactions, what capital he begins with in business, what 
his expenses are, what his profits or losses are, and how he progresses from year to year, even 
if they are not kept as by a professed accountant, I would consider them proper books. 
907. Do you consider that every person engaged in business should examine into his affairs, 
or, as we term it, take stock at certain periods ? Yes, every man in trade ought to be able 
to strew once a year how lie stands. 
908. Do you think that, in the event of a man becoming insolvent, and it appearing that he 
had not taken stock for many years, and that, in fact, he did not know how he stood, and 
had not taken the trouble to inquire, that should be sufficient ground for refusing his certifi-
cate ? I do ; I thing it is a most culpable neglect on the part of any man in business, to 
omit taking stock to know his real position. 
909. I believe many of the insolvencies have occurred through persons being too careless to 
ascertain how they stand, so that when they fancy themselves worth 30s. in the pound, they 
are not, in fact, worth 10s. ? Yes. 
910. I think I understood you also to say, that you consider the responsibility of proving 
that a certificate should be granted should be thrown on the insolvent; that he should prove 
that he is deserving of it ? Yes; I think it would be very desirable to throw the onus on him. 
911. Do you think the present power of the Official Assignees is sufficient for them, in 
endeavouring, to trace out fraudulent insolveneies or fraudulent transactions ? Their powers 
may be sufficient, but the difficulty is to get the materials for tracing anything. 
912. Take a case of this kind—Suppose a man becomes insolvent, and his creditors hove 
reason to believe he has been acting fraudulently, and that the estate will realize scarcely 
any assets; the Official Assignee then says, this may be so, but I have no means of prose-
cuting him ? No funds? 
913. No funds, unless out of his own private funds—Do you think that, in such cases, the 
Government should take the matter up, or that it should be left as it is now, in the hands of 
the creditors ? I think the power should be vested in the Chief Commissioner, on having a 
case of fraud pointed out, to investigate and proceed with the matter. 
914. On behalf of the Government ? Yes; or let some officer be appointed on the part of 
the Government. 
915. At present, in a case of the kind, the creditors may be a large number, and perhaps a 
great many of them may not be disposed to trouble their heads about the matter, they may 
think it will involve a good deal of trouble and expense, and perhaps result in nothing; and 
in that way many instances of fraudulent insolvency are hushed up and never known any-
thing of. Do you think that, if the Government were to take the matter up, and the Chief 
Commissioner had the power to prosecute on the part of the Government, it would have a 
beneficial effect? I dire say it would. I would give greater powers to the Chief Com-
missioner than he has at present. 
916. You were also aske I about parties keeping proper books and entering every transaction 
in those books—do you think that possible? I should say not in a retail trade. 
917. In wholesale transactions it would be perfectly easy, and, in fret, is done in every well 
conducted house of business? Yes; but in a retail business, even though aggregating a 
large amount, yet made up of an infinite number of small sales, for cash over the counter, 
this could not always be conveniently done,—still, the daily cash taken from sales should 
be entered every day as well as credit sales, and that being dine and stock regularly taken, 
the result of a person's business could be easily checked. 
918. Bz Mr. Loot: Are you aware that the Official Assignees are at present appointed by 
the Judges? Yes. 
919. Are you aware that the gentleman last appointed was a Judge's clerk ? I am. 

920.  
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920. Do you not suppose a person acquainted with mercantile usage, and having some Geer•King. 
sq. . knowledge of business, would be a better appointment titan a Judge's clerk, who is not 

supposed to know these things? I decidedly think Official Assignees ought to be persons of 
mercantile experience. 	 12 A1)11148614 
921. Are you aware that the present Official Assignees hold themselves only subject to the 
Judges for their conduct ? I am not aware that they do. I have always considered that the 
Official Assignees were responsible to the creditors for their acts, in the management of 
estates, because they are supposed to follow the directions of the creditors. 
922. By the Chairman : The creditors have not the power of dismissing them ? No. 
923. By Air. Love: They are only subject to the Judges for their conduct ? No doubt, 
as being quasi officers of the Court, you can bring them up before the Jud j  es just as you 
would an attorney of the Court. 
924. Are you aware that the Chief Commissioner has no power to compel their attendance? 
I do not think he has. 
925. Do you not think they ought to be made amenable to the Chief Commissioner, and to 
attend his Court when required at his instance ? That opens up a very Ride question as to 
the Chief Commissioner's powers ? Virtually, the Official Assignees hold a mole responsible 
position than the Chief Commissioner. The property in estates is all vested in them by the 
Act—the legal estate of the insolvent in everything passes to them. 
926. Would you think it advisable that Assignees should be. colupelled to publish a yearly 
return of all estates passing through their hands? It might be very desirable. 
927. For the information of the public generally ? Yes. 
928. At present creditors know very little about how assets are distributed, or whether 
there is any balance remaining in their lands ? Vet y little. 
929. Or whether there is any balance still to come into the estate at some future period ? 
Yes. It may be very desirable to publish an annual statement. 
930. Do you believe the case with which persons, who have been insolvent, have lately 
passed through the Court holds out inducement to others to become insolvent ? No question 
but it does. 
931. Do you consider that private persons not in business, and not running any risks 
through the failure of other parties, should have the same opportunity of receiving relief in 
the Insolvent Court? I think they should not. 
932. Would you think it advisable that insolventolebtors should be compelled to account to 
the Court for all property in their possession for six mouths previous to insolvency ? 
Yes, I think it very desirable that they should do HO. 
933. Are you aware that at present insolvents cannot be examined without a Judge's order ? 
lam. 
934. Do you think it advisable that creditors should be obliged to get a Judge's order for 
that purpose? It is a matter of very little trouble ; it is merely writing a few lines on a 
form of affidavit—or rather the Assignee does that—to the effect that lie has received certain 
information which renders it desirable that insolvent should be examined, and a Judge in 
Chambers immediately signs the order. 
935. If the Assignee thought proper not to give his consent to the examination of a debtor, 
could you have the order ? You would have to go to the Judge yourself then. I am not 
aware that the Assignees ever refuse. 
936. Do you not think it would be better to afford the creditors greater facilities? I would 
afford the creditors every possible facility. 
937. Without a Judge's order at all—merely at the will of the Chief Commissioner ? Yes; 
the Judge's order is, in fact, in the place of the Chief Commissioner's. 
938. Would you prefer having the Insolvent Court, under a proper Judge, entirely indepen-
dent of the ether Courts—constituting a Court in itself, subject only to appeal 	Yes; if 
you have a first-rate man at the head of the Insolvent Court, it might be carried on quite 
separate from the others; subject of course to appeal. 
939. Is it not the general opinion that the gentleman who is at present presiding over the 
Metropolitan District Court would be a very excellent person for the chief position in the 
Insolvent Court ? I believe many persons think so. 
940. By the Chairman: In the event of Official Assignees or accountants being hereafter 
appointed to work any new Act, do you think the appointment of any of the present Official 
Assignees to such positions would give satisfaction to the mercantile community ? I would 
recommend, in the event of anything of that sort taking place, that whoever may be charged 
with the appointments should open communications with the Chamber of Commerce, to 
ascertain the views of the trading community on this point, which would be better than an 
expression of individual opinions. 
941. With whom do you think the power of appointment should rest? When the Official 
Assignees were first appointed under Judge Burton's Act, I think Sir James Dowling 
requested a committee of merchants and directors of banks to meet together, and front 
among persons of their acquaintance to select four fit and proper persons, and they did .50, 
That is now twenty years ago, I think. 
942. That would give satisfaction ? Yes, I think so. 
943. Suppose the same power were vested in the Supreme Court now, and they did not 
choose to communicate with the Chamber of Commerce, do you think any dissatisfaction 
would arise as to the appointments ? I think the appointment of persons of that class should 
not rest with the Supreme Court. 
944. With whom do you think these appointments should rest ? It is a difficult matter to 
Say. The Chamber of Commerce has no recognized legal standing, but I think the recom-
mendation to the appointments should emanate in some way from the mercantile 'body. 

945. 
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George King.  945. Do you think the same rule should govern the appointment in these as in other cases ; 
Etq. 	that they should be appointed by the Governor, with the advice of the Executive Council ? 

r—A—Th. 	I do not know ; the Governor and the Executive Council might not be able to fix upon very 
12  API:10861 ' efficient men for the purposes we require. 

946. Have you any other suggestions to make for our information ? There is one suggestion 
I have to make : The Gist clause of the Insolvent Act, 5 Victoria, No. 17, says, " and the 
" trustees shall pursue the directions of the greater part in number and value of the creditors 
" present." Now I do not think the trustees or Official Assignees should be lxmod to follow 
the directions of the greater part in number and value of the creditors, in any case where it 
affects the interest of the minority. It may be a ease where the greater number are creditors 
who side with the insolvent that directions may be given to the Official Assignee to sell the 
assets to a friend of the insolvent, for a sum altogether below the value, in which case the 
minority, as now sometimes occurs, would be defrauded, without any redress. I would give 
an appeal to the Court against any directions affecting the interests of the minority. The 
clause, as it now stands, opens the door to fraud. 
947. Are you aware that, by a subsequent Act, the power is vested in the Chief Commissioner 

• to ratify or refuse his assent to any direction of the creditors, and if that is so, does not that 
meet your objection ? I would let the minority have the right of appeal to the Court against 
any directions. 
948. You think the power of appeal should exist ? I think so, decidedly. I, myself, have 
been directed to effect sales of property for £800, worth £2,500—for which there were offers 
of £2,500. 
949. At that time the Chief Commissioner had no power of refusing his assent ./ I do not 
think he has now ; it is an assumed power more than conveyed by Act. 
950. There is a subsequent Act, under which the Chief Commissioner has express power to 
refuse his assent to any direction of creditors ? I would suggest, generally, such alterations 
in the Insolvent Act as were recommended in the Report of the Select Committee of the 
Chamber of Commerce on the Insolvent Laws, in January, 1856. 

Thomas Chaplin Breillat, Esq., called in and examined :— 
2. C. Breillat, 951. By the Chairman : I think you have been Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce ? I 

Esq. 	have been formerly—the Chairman is changed every year. 
9.52. We are desirous of obtaining the opinions of the mercantile community, as to the 

17 April,1861. working of the Insolvent Act, and as to the amendments it may be necessary to make, and 
we will be happy to hear any suggestions you may have to make ? I have prepared a few 
suggestions in writing, which I proposed to offer to the Committee, but I have since under-
stood that it is not in accordance with rule for witnesses to read written answers. 
953. Perhaps you will hand in this document as an Appendix to your evidence ? Certainly. 
(The witness handed in the same. Vide Appendix A.) 
954. Do you think the Court, as at present constituted, is sufficient for the disposal of insol-
vency business ? I am of opinion that it is not. I think the great difficulty lies in the 
administration of the law at present, and that on all questions in which the least difficulty 
arises, the Chief Commissioner seems to have no power. 
955. What power do you think ought to be committed to the Chief Commissioner or Judge 
of the Insolvent Court ? I think the Chief Commissioner should sit as a Judge in Insolvency, 
with full power and jurisdiction over all matters judicially, there being, of course, a right of 
appeal against his decisions. 
956. Do you think the minor duties performed by him, such as taking proofs of debts, should 
be performed by a Registrar ? I think that might be done equally well by a Registrar, 
subject to this condition—that the Chief Commissioner should have the power of setting 
aside improper proofs. 
957. The Registrar might also be employed in the duties now performed by the Chief Clerk 
in Insolvency, and in preparing returns ? Quite so. I think half of the time of the Chief 
Commissioner might be saved, by having a deputy under him, to do those clerical duties 
which at present he is obliged to perform. 
958. Would you suggest any alteration in the position of the Official Assignees ? Yes; I 
think it highly advisable that there should be considerable change with respect to the 
Assignees. I consider that, under a reformed system, one Official Assignee, or, at all events, 
two, might do the whole duties of the Court. 
959. Those duties that would more properly fall on accountants ? The duties that would 
fall on accountants I think should be performed by Assignees, to be selected by the creditors. 
960. By Mr. McArthur : Do you mean to say, that you think the Assignees appointed by 
creditors should go into the books and make up statements of insolvent? affairs ? Precisely ; 
I think it is the creditors' duty to look into the position of an estate, and sift the books 
properly. 
961. Would there not be great difficulty in getting Creditors' Assignees to do that duty ? If 
you were not compelled to select them from among the creditors themselves there would not. 
There might be great difficulty now, when you arc compelled to select persons who are 
creditors. 
962. By the Chairman : Suppose two men, of undoubted reputation and ability, were 
appointed as Official Assignees, would they not be sufficient to perform all the duties relating 
to the investigation of accounts? I think not, in large estates, particularly as the business 
seems to increase so much. 
963. Would you associate Trade Assignees with them ? Yes. 

964. 
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964. What duties should be performed by them? They should collect the estate, and act T.O. lireillat, 
wholly under the direction and control of the Official Assignees. 	 Esq. 
965. Have you ever visited the Insolvent Court, and seen the mode of conducting business 
there ? I have. 	 12Apri1,1861. 
966. Do you think it is conducted in a tedious manner, or with ability ? The business is 
conducted there in so lax and so tedious a manner that it has perfectly disgusted me from 
ever going there, for some years past. 
967. Is there not a great deal of time consumed by the present mode—a clerk taking the 
depositions of the witnesses ? Yes ; and there are too many solicitors employed. 
968. Do you think it would facilitate the dispatch of business to have a short-hand writer 
appointed, who should be sworn to take true depositions of all witnesses 	I think it highly 
advisable. The depositions are taken very badly; the clerk seems not to understand it 
properly. Too much time is wasted in taking it, and the evidence is taken very imperfectly. 
969. Are there many impediments in the way, at present, of persons compelling the seques-
tration of bankrupt estates? Very great difficulties. I consider that that is one of the 
main ()Weds of any new law, that there should be a more summary mode of bringing persons 
to account. I understand there is a process in England by which it may be done, under 
what is termed the Consolidation Act, very summarily. Perhaps I may be allowed to quote 
from a pamphlet, published in Melbourne by Sir George Stephen, in which be alludes 
particularly to this summary process. He says :—" Another important right of an English 
" creditor, under the bankruptcy system, is found in the summary process, by which, under 
" the 78th and seven following clauses of the Consolidation Act, he can compel payment in 
" full, on security for a just debt, within seven days, as the only alternative for being 
" declared a bankrupt." And again, in another part, he observes—" A man, being in trade, 
" owes a creditor £100, he receives a summons to attend the Court within twenty-four hours 
"to show cause why he should not forthwith pay the debt ; he cannot deny it, he cannot 
" pay it, he cannot even give security for its payment, and seven days after he finds himself 
" a bankrupt." I consider it one of the groat defects of our existing system, that you are 
unable to bring a man to account for his property until so long a period, and, before you can 
do so, it is being wasted and misapplied. 
970. Do you think the circumstance of a person allowing judgment to pass /against him in 
an action, and execution being issued, should be an act of bankruptcy ? I do. 
971. What is your opinion as to the propriety of declaring that the non-payment of a 
promissory note or acceptance, should prinal fade be an act of bankruptcy, leaving the 
accepter or maker, as the case might be, to pay the money into Court, or to shetv that be had 
a good defence? I do not think that, under the present law, such a thing could be done ; 
but if a clause were introduced into a new law, that a person should be called upon to appear 
before the Commissioner to shew cause why his estate should not be sequestrated, without 
the necessity of proceeding for a judgment. 
972. Suppose the debtor disputes the existence of the debt ? Then he would have to satisfy 
the Commissioner. 
973. That would place the Commissioner in the stead of a jury ? In lieu of the Supreme 
Court. 
974. Would not that be very arbitrary and un-English ? That is according to this English 
law. 
976. Is it not a right that every Englishman insists upon, of having his ease tried by a jury? 
The man has only to give security for the debt. 
976. Suppose a person unjustly makes a claim against you for £2,000 or ,R3,000, and calls 
upon you to pay the debt, why should you be called upon, before the existence of the debt 
is ascertained, to give security ? It would rest with the Commissioner, and from him there 
would be a right of appeal. That would be precisely the same as if it were tried before a 
jury in the Supreme Court. 
977. Do you think that in this Colony many persons carry on business long after they them-
selves know they are bankrupt ? Nine-tenths of them. 
978. With respect to the duties of a bankrupt himself—what do you think he should do in 
order to obtain the benefit of any law passed for the relief of insolvent debtors—suppose a 
bankrupt is desirous of obtaining the relief that would be afforded to him under any Act 
passed hereafter, what should he be called upon in the first instance to do, and afterwards 
before he should obtain his certificate? Do you mean relief while his estate is under seques-
tration ? 
979, No, I mean before he could obtain the benefit of any law—should he be called upon to 
show his transactions and dealings for a specified period, and to afford assistance to the 
Assignees? Yes; I consider that he should be compelled to attend every meeting of creditors, 
or at any time when summoned, and to afford every information. 
980. Do you think he should show all his transactions and dealings for a certain period ? 
For at least twelve months, or for such time as they might be called for ; but at least for the 
previous twelve months. That I consider is one of the main defects in the present law, that 
the Commissioner has no power ; he can call upon the man to do it, under the Act but if the 
man neglects or declines to do it he has no means of compelling him. I have known instances 
where a man has been called upon to give an account of his transactions for a certain period; 
he has promised to do so, but has never done it ; has been repeatedly before the Commissioner, 
and had notices to attend, but he has always made excuses; and at last it was abandoned, after 
considerable expense, because the Commissioner had no power to compel Lim, although be 
could order him to do it. 
981. Do you think a bankrupt should show that he became insolvent without any fault 
of his own, before he should obtain a certificate—that the responsibility should not be 

thrown 



844 

54 	 MINUTES OF,EVIDENOE TAE_EN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

T.C..Breillats  thrown on the creditors of proving that be has been guilty of certain acts contrary to the 
E. 	Bankrupt Law ? I consider that he should shew the cause of his having got into difficulties, 

and the granting of his certificate should rest with the Cotninissioner, on his opinion of his 
12.14/114!61. merits. An honest man may get into difficulties by some indiscreet mode of action, without 

any dishonest intention. 
988. Have you had occasion to come in contact with the Official Assignees relative to estates 
under their management ? Very little. 
983. Can you speak as to their business qualifications ? The opinion of them generally enter-
tained is that they are inefficient; but I have never known any cases myself where I have 
bad any direct complaint against them. 
984 I think, also, they are thought to spend too much money in law—that they avail them-
selves of the assistance of their solicitors where there is no necessity ? That is one very 
serious complaint against thorn; they appear to be leagued with the lawyers to a certain 
extent ; and I believe the Act permits them to do it without the sanction f the creditors. 
085. Do you think the Trade Assignees should have the power of selecting the solicitor ? I 
think so, of course subject to the sanction of the creditors. 
980. Have you any suggestions to make as to proving debts in estates? I consider that in 
all caseneither the principal should attend, or a duly authorised agent, and that, when 
necessary, a full detail of the whole debt should be given, along with the proof. III the case 
of a promissory note, it speaks for itself; but even there, when there are so many accommo-
dation bills as there are in this Colony, I think it should be incumbent on the party to prove 
the value for the promissory note, if required. There are many promissory notes which 
speak for themselves—for instance, for goods bought and sold according to an account 
rendered. I think a creditor should always be bound to give full details of the nature of 
his claim on an insolvent estate. 
987. Would you make the giving of an accommodation note an offence under the Insolvent 
Law? It should be an offence of a certain nature, which should operate as a qualification 
of the certificate. 
988. Are you of opinion that there should be a classification of certificates ? I think it is 
highly necessary. 
989. What are your reasons? That there are many cases (such as the one alluded top of 
giving accommodation bills) where a man has conducted his business in a loose manner, 
although there has been nothing fraudulent ; in such cases the party should only be entitled 
to a second-class certificate. I think first and second classes would be sufficient. 
990. What .do you think should be the salary of an accountant or Official Assignee who 
would be competent to manage insolvent estates? I think about £800 a year. 
991. Considering the amount of business transacted in this Colony, do you think one would 
be sufficient ? No, I doubt whether one would. It would depend entirely on the mode in 
which creditors act with regard to Trade Assignees. I think, if the creditors did their duty 
in selecting competent persons to act as Trade Assignees, that one Official Assignee would 
then be sufficient. 
992. Do you think that, when a trader surrenders his estate, he should deliver his books to 
the Official Assignee on oath, or merely deliver them—do you think the books should be 
verified? He should be compelled to deliver up all his books; but, I think, it is inanaterial 
about the oath, for in those cases where they desire to retain certain books, the oath would 
be a matter of very little thought to them, or evaded. 
993. By Mr. illeArihur : Perhaps it would answer all the purposes of a long examination, 
if you were to tell us how far you agree with the suggestions and answers given by Mr. 
King, whose evidence you have just heard ? I agree in the main with Mr. King, with this 
exception, that with reference to the two descriptions of bankrupts—that is, persons out of 
trade, and persons in trade—I think there should be no distinction. I think they should all 
come under one law. I would make no distinction that would require the machinery of a 
second Court. No person can become bankrupt or insolvent who has not got into debt, and 
whether he is a man out of trade, or a man in trade, is not of much importance. 
994. By the Chairman : Are you aware, that in a Bill lately brought into Parliament in 
England, the distinction is abolished ? I was not aware; I have heard it was talked of for 
a long time, and I have also heard that in the Act introduced in Ireland it is abolished. I 
can see little or no difference between the one class of bankrupts and the other. 
995. By Hr. McArthur : In answer to a question by the Chairman, with reference to per-
sons carrying on business, knowing themselves to be insolvent, you said nine-tenths did so—
you mean, of course, nine-tenths of those who became insolvent ? I mean that Dine-tenths 
of those persons who go into the Court have been conducting their business with the full 
knowledge that they have been in a state of insolvency for some time previously. 
990. I suppose you have no other suggestions that you deem important? No. The main 
points, I have ever considered, are the powers of the Chief Commissioner, the position and 
duties of the Official and Trade Assignees, and a more summary mode of securing the seques-
tration of insolvent estates. 

APPENDIX. 



Items referred to by Br. Braila as requiring recision in the present Insolvent Law. 
The Chief Commissioner I consider ought to be invested with far greater powers than at present 

possessed; that he should sitas a Judge in insolvency and have full jurisdiction over allmatters, 
subject only to the right of appeal to a higher Court. 

QificiakAssinnee, instead of being remunerated by a commission on the amount of assets realized; 
should haven fixed salary, so as to render him independent of ell parties. 

Trade Ass in flees tn be elected by the creditors, to act under the authority of the Official Assignee, but 
not necessarily a creditor, and to receive either a commission on the gross amount of assets 
realized, or such compensation as the creditors may agree upon, subject to the approval of the 
Commissioner. 

Compulsory Sequestration.—A more summary process of compulsory sequestration is much needed. 
the delay attending the present system often gives rise to fraudulent preference; in many cases 
the inselvenes estate is wasted and misapplied before it can be brought under the protection 
of the law. I believe the English ben kruptcy law affords much greater facilities, 

The Bankrupt to be present at all meetings, and at all other times when summoned, or neglecting to 
.appear to be guilty of contempt (unless good cause shown) ; to answer all questions touching 
Ins present or past position; produce books or other documents be may have been possessed of; 
to afford every information relating to all business transactions, and of the causes which have 
led to Ins insolvency. 

Witnessas.—The Commission to have power of summoning witnesses to attend when called upon. 
Proof of Debts.—Creditors proving debts to attend personally or by duly authorized agent ; to 

accompany affidavit, when necessary, with a detailed amount of all items, and the particulars 
of all transactions, whether by bill or otherwise; the Commissioner also to have power to set 
aside or expunge improper proofs. 

Third nfreting.—The period for holding the third meeting to he shortened to 28 days instead of 42; 
adjournments can always take place if required. 

Instructions to Assignees to be given at second meeting, when practicable. The delay under the 
present law frequently gives rise to great inconvenience. 

Furniture.—Allowance of furniture should not be granted until the third meeting, when a more coned 
opinion can ha formed of the merits of the insolvent. 

Preferent Claims.—The amount claimable for rent and wages should be reduced. Rent not exceeding 
three months, or according to the tenancy, weekly or monthly, and wages in a similar manner. 
In small estates the assets are often swamped. 

Compositions, being often of a questionable nature, ought not to be allowed until after the strictest 
investigation by the Assignee, or until the third meeting. Security should also be given 
for the amount, 

Remaining Assets.—The disposal of the remaining assets not to be allowed until a certain fixed period 
to be approved by the Commissioner, and the insolvent, to be prohibited from becoming the 
purchaser, either directly or indirectly. 

Carkfteatra.—Classification of certificates recommended. 
Plans of' distribution to be filed within two months from third meeting, or cause shewn. 
12Th Clause af Insolvent Act should he either repealed or very carefully revised. 
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TVEDATESD..4 17, 17 APRIL, 1861. 

ljrtøcnt 
Ma. MG ARTHUR, 	 MR. PIDDINGTOY, 

MR. SMART 

TAMES HART, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Alfred Macfarlane, Esq., called in and examined :— 

W. By the Chairman: You have had some experience in the administration of the Iusol- A.Macfarlane, 
vent L .w in Western Australia ? Yes. 	 Esq. 
998. Did you hold any office there ? For three years I held the office of Commissioner and r■–s1/4- isci.  
sole Judge of the Civil Court, wh 	had ich 	jurisdiction in Ins.ilveney as well as in Law anc1.17 Apr 
Equity ; and, as Commissioner on the insolvent side of the Court, I administered an Ordinance, 
20 Vic., No 10, taken from 5 Vie., No. 17, and 7 Vic., No. 19, of this Colony, alntost word 
for word. 
999. The Acts under which we administer our Insolvent Law were adopted in 'Western. 
Australia? They were. 
1000. Did you find that the laws administered by you gave unusual facilities to debtors to 
defraud their creditors and to prevent the full and fair disclosure of their affairs? I did. I 
found there was a much greater desire, on the part of insolvents, to come into the Court than, 
on the part of their creditors to bring thorn. 
1001. Did you find many patent def. ets in the Act? I found myself constantly hampered 
for want of what I conceive to be sufficient powers to determine questions arising in the pro-
gress of insolvency !natters. 
1002. Can you point out some instances ? In the case of cross.demands, and of questions 
depending OD principles of equity. Again, in the case of fraudulent insolvency, there is 
only one provision in your Act bearing on that subject, which I think is contained in the 
72rd section of 5 Vic., No 17; and I found it impossible to carry out that provision. 
1003. Are there other acts than those named in our law, which you think ought to be 
deemed acts of bankruptcy ? I think the incapacity of a person to pay any debt, established 
by a writing under his band, should be considered an act of insolvency. 
1004. Primd facie ? Primd facie; the party having the opportunity to show cause against 
his being declared insolvent. 

1005. 



S-46 
56 	 MSNIITES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

A.Maefarlane, 1005. Did you not find that the Acts in question almost precluded you from ascertaining an 
Esti' 	insolvent's past dealings and transactions ? Yes ; because these Acts make no provision 
''Ls- under which it is obligatory on a trader or other person to keep books which would be useful 

17 4'11,1861 . when the party might happen afterwards to become insolvent. 
1006. "Upon the whole, do you think that it would be better to amend the present Insolvent 
Laws in the points that might be considered defective, or to introduce a comprehensive 
measure, with the advantages which we now possess from having perused the English and 
the Irish Bankruptcy Acts ? In my opinion it would be almost impossible to amend the 
present Insolvent Laws of this Colony, so as to make them operate beneficially; and I am 
strongly of opinion that the better and wiser course to adopt would be to introduce one Act, 
comprising within the four corners of it everything that may be considered proper to be 
comprised in an Insolvent Debtor's Act. 
1007. Would you be inclined to annex the jurisdiction in insolvency to the Supreme Court, 
or to make it an independent Court ? I think it exceedingly objectionable to annex the 
jurisdiction in insolvency to the Supreme Court; in my opinion the Insolvent Debtor's 
Court should be a distinct and separate tribunal from the Supreme Court. 
1008. Giving the power of appeal, I presume, in nearly all matters ? Yes, to the Supreme 
Court sitting in bunco, that is to three Judges, not to one individual, and making the party 
appealing, unless he happened to be the insolvent, give security to the Court below for the 
due prosecution of the appeal and payment of costs if defeated. 
1009. You have a general idea of the amount of commercial business transacted in this 
Colony ? Yes, if the number of insolvencies, brought into Court, as returned in the last 
return of the Registrar General, be anything like a fair indication; beyond that I could not 
with propriety say that I have formed any opinion. 
1010. Taking that as your guide, do you think the Chief Commissioner, as at present con-
stituted, or even under ally new Act, would be able to dispose of the whole of the insolvency 
business without some extra assistance? The District Courts not having jurisdiction, as 
I would recommend they should, I am doubtful whether one Commissioner could discharge 
all the duties, because id Ireland, where the insolvency business is, I believe, not greater 
than it is here, there are to Judges for the purpose, and to my certain knowledge, they are 
kept fully occupied. 
1011. Suppose a Registrar was appointed, who, in addition to other duties, should perform 
those of looking into the proof of debts, and other matters almost of a clerical nature, 
now performed by the Chief Commissioner—would that be an advantage ? I think a 
Registrar, having that power, joined to a Chief Commissioner, might be sufficient. It is 
right I should add, that iu Ireland the Registrar does possess similar powers to those to which 
you refer ; and, notwithstanding that circumstance, two Judges have been appointed, dud 
are, as I said before, fully occupied. Still I think the experiment might be tried here with 
one Commissioner and one Registrar. 
1012. Would you make the Official Assignees officers of the Court, or give them an inde-
pendent position ? I am strongly of opinion that the Official Assignees should be officers of 
the Court, subordinate to the Commissioner in every respect, and bound to obey his orders 
and directions. 
1013. Should they be paid by commission or by a fixed salary ? Certainly not by commis-
sion ; they should be paid, I think, a liberal, but fixed salary from the public purse. 
1011. The Official Assignees, I should suppose, should be gentlemen who are well versed in 
accounts ? Certainly ; and I would be disposed to say also that they ought to be pro-
fessional men, capable of conducting legal business arising in the progress of any matter, and 
thus dispense with the necessity of employing professional men, whom otherwise they must 
employ to conduct legal matters. 
1015. Suppose that, in most cases a Trade Assignee was joined with the Official Assignee, in the 
working of the estate, and that the power of appointing a solicitor should be left to the Trade 
Assignee, would not that obviate the complaint that exists at present, as to the expenses that 
the Official Assignees run estates to ? I think it might if you could be certain that Trade 
Assignees would be appointed by the creditors ; but if you refer to the Return of the 
Registrar General, to which I have before alluded, you will find that in the year 1858 
only seven Trade Assignees were appointed, and in the year 1859 not one Trade Assignee 
was appointed by the creditors, although, I think I am correct in saying that the 
average number of insolvencies in each of those years was 360, voluntary and involuntary. 
1016. Were there any complaints in Western Australia as to any undue favour shewn by 
the Official Assignees in appointing solicitors

' 
 or as to the amount of legal expenses incurred 

by them In Western Australia the Official Assignee was an officer of the Court. I had 
him completely under my own control, and I took care that a solicitor should not be appointed 
unless it was absolutely necessary, and that the solicitor appointed was always a competent 
and respectable gentlemen. 
1017. in administering the Insolvent Law would you throw the responsibility upon the 
person applying, of shewing that he had become insolvent without any fault of his own, and 
that he was not guilty of any fraud, instead of leaving it to the creditors, as is now the case, 
to do so ? I would oblige him to make, at the same time as he presents his petition praying 
to be admitted as an insolvent, a full disclosure of his circumstances. I would oblige him 
also to annex to his petition an abstract of his dealings for two or three years previously. I 
would not require him to go further, but I would leave it with the Court, with the Official 
Assignee, or with any creditor, to prosecute any inquiries the Court or he might think right, 
having these disclosures before him and it ;—in other words, I would not assume fraud on 
the part of the insolvent. 
1018. Are you favourable to a classification of certificates ? No. 

1019. 
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1019. What is your eldeetion ? I do not think, in the first place, that the public attach A.Marfarlano, 
sufficient importance to a variety of certificates to render them desirable ; in Ireland but 	Itle:cf. 
one form of certificate has ever been in u.e, and I believe I am correct in stating that in "---A—Th 
England, where certificates of different degrees wore granted, that is no longer the case, and 17 APHOS• 
that one fun) alone is granted or refused, at the discretion of the Commissioner.* 
1020. Where estates have to be collected in the interior of this Cob ny, and the insolvents 
also reside in the interior, CM yin suggest any method by which the expense of collecting 
those estates might be lessened ? Yes. I would amend the District Courts Act by em-
powering the Judges of the District Courts to entertain applications in insolvency, and 
either to administer insolvent estates themselves, in their own districts, or after petitions 
had been presented to them and orders of sequestration mode upon them, to refer the 
further conduct of the proceedings to the Insolvent Debtors Court in Sydney, as is the 
case in Ireland with the Assistant Barristers. 	in Ireland, there is a class of Judges 
called Assistant Barristers, who correspond to County Court Judges in England. They 
are called Assistant Barristers because they assist the Judges of Assize, by transacting 
business which the Judges of Assiz a would otherwise have to transact. 	And under 
certain clauses of the Acts relating to Assistant Barri,ters it is provided that any 
person, or creditor of a person, living in a rural district—that is, outside the City or 
County of Dublin—may apply by petition to the Assistant Barrister of the county in 
which he lives, stating the circumstances under which he seeks relief as an insolvent 
debtor, or prays the benefit of the laws relating to insolvent debtors. The party appears 
before the Assistant Barrister, he &Jews that he is insolvent—or, if the churn be on the 
part of a creditor, the creditor proves that the party is insolvent,—the Assistant Barrister 
then makes an order of sequestration and refers the further cooduct of the matter to the 
.Judges in Dublin. My opinion is that that does not go far enough, and that the Assistant 
Barrister—or Judge of the District Court, as it would be here—ought himself fully to 
administer the estate within his own jurisdiction. 
1021. Is this the return of the Registrar General that you alluded to in one of your answers? 
Yes. (See Statistical Register til .  New South Watts from 1850 to 1859, p. 137,—" Return 
of the number of Tasnlveneien in the Colnny f r the ytars 1858 end 1850.") 
1022. By Mr. Piddington : Is there more than one Insolvency Court in Ireland? There is 
only one Insolvency Court, but the Assistant Barristers or County Court Judges have the 
Ii mited jurisdiction I have spoken of, and entertain a number of cases. 
1023. Then the jurisdiction of the Insolvency Court in Dublin extends over the whole of 
Ireland? It does—the general jnrisdietion. 
1024. Is it your opinion that the business of the Insolvency Court in New South Wales 
does not exceed the amount of basin; ss in the Insolveoey Court of Ireland ? I think it 
does—that the insolveney business of this Colony thies exceed that of Ireland; that is my 
impre sion,—I do not speak from positive knowledge. 
1025. There is a vast difference in the populai inn of the two places ? There is no doubt; 
but the number of insolvencies that have occurred here within t WO years, that return being 
my guide, appears to me to be something enoreaous. The average is 360 for each year, 1858- 
and 1859. 
1020. The population of Ireland is something like eighteen times as great as that of Now 
South Wales? The population of Ireland is, I should say, about six millions. 
1027. Six millions and a half, by the last census? It may Ile so. 
1028. Should you nut imagine that the quantity of insolvency business would bear some pro-
portion to the population? I do not tin irk it does, as a matter of fact, if the returns of 
these two years should be considered anything like a criterion. 
1029. Taking this return as your guide, you think the number of insolvencies in this Colony, 
with a population of $80,000, equals that of Ireland, with a population of 6,500,000? Yes, 
my impression is so. I speak of insolvencics that coma before the Court. There is very little 
credit given in Ireland, that is the princii al reason of the comparatively small number of 
insolvencies. The legislation has been intended to prevent undue credit, and it has had that 
effect most signally. The just severity of the Court has also had a good effect. 
1030. By Jfe. Me. Arthur : I think I understood you to say that you do not approve of the 
the classification of certificates? My opinion is the other way. 
1031. With reference to the payment of the Official Assignees, I think I also understood you 
to say you thought they should have fixed salaries ? Yes, permanent fixed salaries. 
1039. Why do you think that preferable ? Because the incomes that the Official Assignees 
at present draw from the estates under their charge arc excessive—assuming the statements 
made by Sir William Burton in his letters on the subject to be correct, namely, that incomes 
of something like £1,500 a year fall to each of them. 
1033. Do you not think there would be less inducement for an Official Assignee to exert lihn-
self, if he had a fixed salary, than if he had a commission ? I think his fixed salary should 
be a liberal one, and there would appear to Inc to be no difficulty in getting a competent 
and respectable man, who, for his salary, would discharge his duty as faithfully as can be 
expected from any Assignee paid by commission. In England and Ireland, where Official 
Assignees were formerly paid by commission, the practice has been discontinued, and they 
are now paid by fixed salaries. 
1084. Would you prefer a liberal fixed salary, or a small fixed salary and a small com-
mission, bearing some proportion to the amount of assets realized? 1 would prefer that, 
they should have a liberal fixed salary. 1035. 

• Non (fly witness on revision) :----I find that classified certificates have heretofore been only strongly 
objected to in England ; but by a Bill now before the House of Commons, Sir ltichard Bethel proposes 
that there shall be but one form for the time to come.—A. M`F. 
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A./vadatlane, 1035. Did I understand you to say that you thought Trade.Assignees were not desirable ? Esq. My statement was that there seemed to be great difficulty in obtaining Trade Assignees, and 
1 7April 1361. my anthority for that was the fact that in 1858 there were only seven Trade Assignees 

,  appointed in this Colony, and in the year 1839 not one, alth !ugh the average number of 
insolvencies, compulsory and voluntary, in these two years.was 300 in each year. 
1030. Do you approve of the present mnele of appointing Official Assignees in this Colony ? 
The appointment is with the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court at present, I believe. I 
think it ought to be vested in the Executive, and I assume that the Executive would give 
attention to the recommendation of the Judge, or Counnissi s ner of the Court, as the case 
may be. 
1037. Have you ever, in the course of your experience, met with cases in which an 
estate was taken out of the Court, where the Official Assignee claimed his commission on 
the whole amount ? No, in my own personal experience I have met with no such case. 
The Official Assignee in Western Australia was a paid officer of the Corn t, and did not 
receive any commission. 
1038. Supposi-g the present practice to continue in force, of p .ylt g them by commission—. 
do you think that in cases where estates are only in the Court fir a few days, and where very 
little trouble or risk is incurred by the Official Assignee, he ought to have a right to claim 
commission ? Certainly not; nor would I give hint commission on sums in the bank, nor 
on any moneys whatever save those realized by his own pen:emit industry and exertion. 
1039. Do you think we have, at present, a sufficient cheek upon the accounts of the Official 
Assign( us? No, I believe the accounts of the Official Assigbeet are not subject to the 
audit of any superior officer. I may be mistaken, but I have formed that opinion in con-
sequence of Sir William Burton recommending that an officer should be appointed for the 
purpose of auditing the accounts. 
1040. I think I understood you to say that an Official As.ig Co should be a person well 
acqu tinted with accounts—I suppose you mean a rcgu'ar attuduntant, capable of taking 
charge of a merchant's office, or any other important situation of the kind ? I think be 
ought to have a good general knowledge of accounts. My ha; r eadon is that he ought to be 
a solicitor, and Cbelieve Edo not state too much when I say thrit the members of the pro-
fession generally—barristers or solicitors—are not exceedingly familiar with accounts. 
1041. is it not desirable that an Official Assignee should bit a th dough accountant, and 
capable of examining into the affairs of the insolvent ? I think a fir knowledge of accounts 
would be sufficient; I do net think an express professional aceembtant would be requisite. 
1042. In NOW eases, indeed in the majority of eases, the accounts are very much compli-
cated ? I would give power to the Commissioner, iu such a case, to call in the aid of a 
professional actsmntant. I think that would be a hater arrange ocnt than appointing a 
gentleman, merely because he happened to be an accountant. 
1043. What do you think would be a fair salary for a competent person as Official Assignee ? 
From £ 800 to a £1,000 a year. 
1044. What do you think a fair salary for the Chief Cons aissiuner of insolvency—you 
have stated that you consider that he should be a first-class man, and that he should have 
greater powsre than those conferred by the present ? I think he ought to be a competent 
man and a good lawyer, and the salary to be given to him would naturally depend, more or 
less, 011 the salary to be given to the Official Assignees, who w old be his subordinate 
officers, and also to the registrar and accountant; and, assuming that the Official Assignees 
were to have £800 a year each, and that the registrar, who would have to audit the accounts 
of the Official Assignees, was to have £1,000, I think the Commissioner should not have less 
£1,200, which I should call a very moderate salary. 
1045. Did you find in Western Australia that the law expense ,  have been extravagant, in 
proportion to the work dune-1 think I understood you to say ybu had the Official Assignee 
more under your direct control ? Yes; but even there I did fled that the bills of costs 
amounted ti very considerable sums. I had the matter, however, very much in my own 
hands, by having the power of revising these costs, which I did. 
1046. Do you think it advisable, or possible, to appoint a solicitor, for the special 
purpose of giving advice in all cases of insolvency, to be pod either by the Govern-
ment, or by a small commission upon the assets realized in each estate ? I think that 
might be a desirable arrangement, more especially if the same solicitor were employed to 
prosecute in ell cases of fraud arising before the Court. 
1047. Do you consider that under the present law sufficient facilities are afforded for such 
prosecutions ? No; I think there is a great difficulty in dist respect. The only provision 
of the kind that I am aware of, in any Insolvent Debtors Act having reference to this Colony, 
is containod in a section I have previously referred to, No. 73. That relates to what is 
called fraudulent insolvency, and you will End that, although it is stated that a party com-
mitting certain acts, which are specified there, shall be deemed to have committed the crime 
or offence of fraudulent insolvency, there is no provision made as to the Court before which 
the pirty shall be prosecuted, or at whose instance, or with what funds, and other necessary 
provisions of that kind. A case did arise before me in Western Australia, in which I 
thought a party clearly and plainly came within the spirit of that enactment, but, for want 
of sufficient specification of the Court and mode in which the prosecution should take place, 
I was powerless to punish him. 
1048. Could you suggest any remedy for that ? In my opinion the Commissioner or Judge 
of the proposed Court ought to be empowered to deal with every question, whether involving 
mere law, equity, or criminal jurisprudence. The Judgts of the Consolidated Court in 
Ireland are empowered to deal with every question of law and fret I am not so certain 
whether they are empowered to deal, in the same summary way, with criminal eases or 
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whether such cases are referred to the ordinary Criminal Courts; but I do think it A.Miefarlane, 
would simplify matters very much, if the Judge of the Insolvent Debtors Court here 	Esq. -  s  
were empowered to direct a pros cution before himself in, and investigate and adjudicate on, 
all oases in which he conceived that an act of fraud has been committed by die insolvent, 17  APIII• 1 801. 
and, if necessary, to take the opinion of a jury of twelve or four, as may he considered 
desirable, on any questitin of fact arising in the course of the investigation. 
1049. Have you found, in your experience of Western Australia, any ease of this kind, where 
a man becomes insolvent, and he skews almost no assets, his creditors have reason to believe 
he has been acting fraudulently, but the Official Assignee has no funds in hand to prosecute, 
and consquently he escapes ? I have. 
1050. Do you think, that under such circumstances, the Government should take up the 
matter and prosecute, the same as they do in any other criminal matter ? I do ; I think 
public policy requires it ; on the certificate of the Commissioner or Judge of the Court. 
1051. In the present state of the Insolvent Law in tins Colony there is very great delay in 
collecting assets, and sometimes very great delay in beim ing dividends—could you suggest 
any means by which that evil wttuld be remedied ? I would oblige the Official Assignees to 
make quarterly returns to the Commissioner of the Court, showing \ant they had done 
respecting each estate etninitted to their care in the previous three months, and I would 
oblige the Judge of the Curt to make an annual return to the louses ef Pailiantent, 
shelving what has passed in the twelve months in his Court—the number of cases brought 
into it, the liabilities returned, the assets returned, the assets realized, and the liabilities 
discharged. 
1052. Do you think an Official Assignee is justified in keeping a general bank account for all 
estates in his own name? Cer•ainly not; he ought to keep a particular account in the 
Lank applicable to each estate, so that any person could refer to the hank book and see at a 
glance the condition of each estate. 
1053. I believe it is now v.:nal for the Official Assignee to declare a dividend whenever he 
pleases—do you think he should be compelled to declare a dividend whenever lie might have 
as much as would pay a certain dividend—say Is., 2s., or 3s. in the pound, or whatever it 
might be? I think the Commissioner, in every ease, should direct the Official Assignee to 
declare a dividend immediately after the meetina” for the second proof of debts. There are 
but two opportunities for the proof of debts, by the law as it stands, either here or in 
England, or Ireland—the first and second meetings—and I would assume (subject, of 
course, to the right of any party to come in under particular circumstances, and tsk leave to 
prove a debt winch he has neglected) that all debts had been proved on the expirathn of the 
second meeting of creditors; and then I think it should be the duty of the Official Assignee 
to declare and pay a dividend, however small the assets in his hands. 
1054. Have you had sufficient experience of this Colony to form an opinion with respect to 
the amount of credit given here—I understood you to say that one cause of so many inset-
vencies was the excessive credit given ? I could not form a definite opinion on that 
subject. I have not had sufficient experience to justify my going further than drawina

° 
 a 

general inference from the great number of insolvencies occurring. I would be disposed to 
argue from that, that there v as almost unlimited credit given. 
1055. Would you c ,  nsider it proper to withhold a certificate from an insolvent who had not 
kept proper books of account, and who could not show a satisfactory statement of his affairs, 
without reference to any fraudulent intention ? I would vest the granting or refusing of 
a certificate to an insolvent, in every case, in the discretion of the Commissioner, requiring 
him to look to all the °hymn:tattoos. I would leave everything to his discretion. 
1056. Do you think it desirable that persons should be compelled to shew what capital they 
had in commencing business, with the causes that led to their insolvency, and the way that 
capital was lost ? Yes. I think any person seeking the benefit of the Insolvent Law should 
be obliged, as a preliminary step, to make the return to which you refer, along with his 
application; and if he did not, one of the first orders made by the Commissioner on the 
insolvent ought to be, to make such a return. 
1057. In the event of a debtor, as is frequently the case now, saying he cannot account for 
anything, that he does notAtnow where his money has gone, and cannot give any satisfactory 
information—do you think that man should get a certificate ? I think that should weigh 
strongly with the Commissioner in considering his decision. I myself would refuse a 
certificate under the circumstances you mention. 
1058. By the Chairman : Do you think there should be any additional punishment 	I 
think, in cases of gross neglect or recklessness, the Commissioner should be empowered to 
imprison. 
1059. By :Tr. 117cAether : I think I understood you to say, that you do not believe it to be 
possible to work the present law satisfactorily—in other words, you do not imagine that the 
present dissatisfaction arises so much from the inefficient manner in which insolvency business 
may be conducted, as from the law itself being defective ? I am unwilling to speak of the 
efficiency or inefficiency of the administration of the law, from the limited observation I have 
had. I think I can best answer you in this way. I myself have had considerable experience 
in drafting local Ordinances, owing to peculiar circumstances—the Government of Western 
Australia having frequently requested of me that I should do so—and I did on one occasion 
attempt to draft an Ordinance to amend the Insolvent Debtor's Ordinance of that Colony, 
which, as I said before, is taken almost literally from the Acts in force here; but, after 
bestowing great attention and labour on it for a considerable time, I found myself unable to 
do so to my own satisfaction, and therefore I abandoned the attempt. 
1060. Then you think it would be much better to have an entirely new Act? Yes, much 
better, 
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A.liaefarlane, 10131. By Mr. Smart : What is your objection to the different classes of certificates 7 I 
Esq. 	think very little importance is attached to them by the public, and 1 believe I am correct in 

.---kes stating that so little importance was attached to them in England that the distinction is 
172'-prili 1861 . abolished, and that now mil,' one form of certificate is issued. 

1062. I think you are mistaken on that point ? I may be. Perhaps I should have said 
that it is proposed in a new Bill lately laid before Parliament 
1063. Do you not think that the public would naturally regard more favourably, on his 
en toting again intJ business, a man who had obtained a first-class certificate tban one who 
had only received a third-class ? I have always Lemma given to undorsTand that the distinction 
was so little considered by the commercial world that it was of little moment t maintain it. 
1061. By Mr. McArthur : Could you suggest any other means by which the public at large 
could readily form an opinion respecting an insolvent's conduct—do you not think there 
should be some way of distinguishing men who have become insolvent from circumstances 
over which they had no control, from these whose insolvency has arisen from grbss negli-
gence, giving way to drink, or any of those causes which involve moral culpability ? I 
think that when the Commissioner grants a certificate, or refuses to grant it, be should state 
his views as to the particular case very clearly and very decidedly, ex'-aerating a man from 
blame when his insolvency was the result of accident, or circumstances over which he had 
no control, and censuring a man whose conduct deserved censure, and either postponing or 
refusing altogether to grant a certificate in the latter case. 
1065. But there  alt hundreds of eases WI.Cre parties \ “Juld inquire whether a 111ati had a 
first, second, or third-class certificate, but would never take the trouble to read the judgment ? 
I should imagine it is scarcely usual among tnereantile men to ask for the certificates. But 
it is a question on which commercial men would be much more competent than I am to give 
an opinion. 
1066. By the Chairman : Is not the object of giving a certificate rather to show that the 
bankrupt has conformed to the laws in existence relating to bankruptcy :led insolvency, than 
to show that he has been just and honourable, or the contrary, in his dealings? I think the 
object of the certificate is to enable an insolvent to commence the world again. I think that 
is the true object. 
1007. And in that view, of course, it shews that he has conformed to the laws in force 
respecting bankrupts or insolvents, and that he is absolved from any liabilities up to the date 
of that certificate? Yes. 
1068. Where the power of granting certificates is vested in different persons, as would he the 
case here if we committed it to the District Court Judges, might there not be a conflict of 
decisions as to the right of insolvents to first, second, or third-class certificates, such as would 
render the distinction practically valueless—one Judge thinking that a person's conduct, in 
a certain state of circumstances, entitled him only to a third-class certificate, while another, 
under precisely analogous conditions, would grant a first-class? That very state of things 
arose in England. It arises naturally from the diversity of men's minds. 
1060. Would you make it a condition precedent to an insolvent's applying lea a certificate, 
that he should obtain the consent of a majority, or of three-fourths or other proportion, of 
his creditors? ; I would leave the granting or refusing of the certificate entirely in the 
hands of the Commissioner, without reference to the creditors. 
1070. By Hr. Smart : With power of appeal to the Judges in Banco? Yes ; and there will 
be an appeal from the District Court Judges naturally to the Judge in Sydney, just as there 
is from the Assistant Barristers, in Ireland, to the Consolidated Court. 
1071. By Mr. McArthur: I believe an insolvent gets his certificate here as a matter of 
course, unless he is opposed ? So I understand. 
1072. Do you think the obligation should rest with the insolvent to prove that he is entitled 
to his certificate, and not that it should be given unless he is opposed ? I think, before 
granting or - refusing a certificate, the Commsssioner should make himself thoroughly 
acquainted with all the leading facts of the case, and be guided, in granting or refusing, by 
those facts; and that no certificate should ever be granted or refused without that previous 
inquiry and deliberation by the Commissioner. 
1073. By Mr. Smart: Would you give a creditor the power of opposing the granting of the 
certificate if disposed to do so ? I should be disposed to place the entire management of the 
estate in the hands of the Official Assignee subject to the directions of the Commissioner. 
I would consider him as the agent of the creditors, and that he is the person who should 
naturally move the Court to grant or refuse the certificate; the Court then to decide for 
itself. 
1074. You would not allow the creditors to come before the Court, as they can at present ? 
Yes, I think it would be going a great length to prevent the creditors from doing so; but I 
would make them pay all the costs if they Jailed in the application: 
1075. Then, in the first instance, you would take the report of the Official Assignee as to 
the insolvent's conduct, and upon the information thus given, if it is satisfactory to the Com-
missioner, you propaso that he should decide, unless the creditors oppose the granting of the 
certificate ? I think every important or other than formal examination should take place 
before the Commissioner himself, that he might, with his own eyes, see the insolvent's or 
other witness's manner, and, with his own ears, hear the evidence, and that then, the 
'evidence being taken down, the Commissioner having it and all the papers in the matter 
before him, should consider the propriety of granting or refusing the certificate. I think the 
less he depends upon the reports of other persons the better. 
1076. In the event of a creditor being dissatisfied with the report of the Assignee, you would 
not object to his being allowed to appear to oppose the certificate 7 I would not. 
1077. By the Chairman: I think 1 understood you to say you were not opposed to the 
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appointment of Trade Assignees to act with the Official Assignees, only that, as a matter of titiarlanct Esq. practice in this Colony, it appeared to have been neglected ? That was the ground. I did 
n.t think persons would come forward to act as Trade Assignees, seeing that in two years only es—A—a'. 
seven Trade Assignees have been chosen out, of 734 insolveneics. 17 Apn1,1861. 

1078. While the power of appointing the Judge in Insolvency, and the Judges in our other 
Courts, is confided to the Governor with. the advice of the Executive Council, is there any 
reason way there should be an exception in that I espect in reference to Official Assignees—
any reason why they should not be appointed by the Executive 7 None that I can FCC. I 
think they should be appointed by the Executive. It is right that I should mention, having 
previously stated that 1 thought Official Assignees should be professional men, that J am aware 
that in Ireland one is a mercantile man, and was chosen bemuse he was a mercantile man. 
1079. is there not a provision in the Irish Act that the persons appointed as Official Assignees 
should be either accountants or merchants? At this moment l ain not in a position to say; 
certainly that principle has been acted upon to the extent of appointing one merchant; but 
if you appoint mercantile men or accountants to be Official Assignees and at the same time 
appoint a solicitor to advise on legal matters and prosecute in cases of fraud, that would meet 
all the objects that I would have in view in recommending the appointment of professional men. 
1080. In the course of your experience I suppose you have seen how very tedious it is to 
take the depositions of the insolvent and the witnesses? Very tedious. 
1081. What would you think of the appointment of a short-hand writer to facilitate the 
dispatch of business, who should be sworn to secresy and to the due performance of his 
duties ? It would tend very much to expedition. 
1082. It would tend to simplify the preceedings and obtain greater accuracy and also 
dispatch ? Yes, it would above all things secure accuracy of report, which is particularly 
valuable, inasmuch as the parties would be liable to prosecution for perjury in the event of 
their giving false evidence. 
1083. By Mr. Smart : How would you get the depositions signed by the witnesses—would 
you require them to call again for that purpose after the evidence was written out ? They 
might, if necessary, call next day. 
1084. By the Chairnum : Is there any necessity for witnesses to sign the depositions—
persons examined in ordinary trials are sworn to tell the truth, they. are not required to sign 
the depositions, and yet they can be prosecuted for perjury ? Yes, that is so. I do not see 
the necessity. 
10'55. Are you aware what salaries the Commissioners of the Bankruptcy Court in Ireland 
receive ? I have the strongest belief that each of the two Judges of the Consolidated Court, 
as it is called—the previous laws relating to insolvency and bankruptcy having been formed 
into one code—receives £2,000 a year; the Registrar, who is next in importance, receives 
000, and each Official Assignee £500. 
1080. Have you any other suggestions to favour the Committee with ? No, I do not think 
I have. I would sum up my evidence by strongly recommending as the wisest course that 
could be adopted here, the introduction of an Act following, as far as the circumstances of 
the Colony wid admit, the Imperial Act 20 and 21 Vic, the one adopted in Ireland with 
such signal advantage. 

Thomas Weedon Bowden, Esq., called in and examined :— 
1087. By the Chairman : You are an auctioneer and commission agent ? Yes. 	 T.W.Bowden. 
1088. You have carried on business in Sydney for some time ? Yes. 	 Esq. 
1089. How long 7 As such, upwards of eight years. 
1090. But you have resided in Sydney a much longer period ? For half a century, if I see 17 April, 1861. 
next January. 
1091. Then you can speak with some degree of authority as to the working of the Insolvent 
Law, and commercial matters in general ? Some portions of it. 
1092. Have you had much to do with Insolvent Estates since the passing of our present law ? 
Yes ; within the last few years particularly. 
1093. Do you think the law works well, or otherwise ? I think the law is inoperative in some 
cases, and therefore we feel the effects of its inoperation ; but I believe the law to be good if 
it was carried out. 
1094. Do you prove your claims in all cases now ? Not for trifling amounts. 
1095. Have you felt any indifference as to proving, on account of the probability of not 
realizing, anything ? Not in sums exceeding £10 ; as a rule, I should prove far sums 
exceeding .E10. 
1096. Is there a general dissatisfaction on the part of the mercantile community as to the 
management of estates by the present Official Assignees ? I can hardly reply to that in a 
direct way. There is an indisposition to place estates in the Court, to come under the 
management of the Official Assignees—not that I would throw any blame on the Official 
Assignees in the matter—but as the result of cases going through the Court. 
1097. Have you had any communication with any of the Assignees on matters of business ? 
With all, I think. 
1098. Have you found them to he men of business, possessed of that share of ability which 
you would expect of mercantile tnen, or of men who had the management of such matters 7 
I am prepared to say this, that for the most part I find them efficient men. I have Lad little 
to do with one of them. 
1099. Have they been persons who have been previously engaged in mercantile pursuits, or 
who have transacted business as accountants ? Two out of the four. 

1100. 
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T.W.Bowden, 1100. Who are these ? Mr. Mackenzie and Mr. Morris; Mr. Sempill and Mr. Perry have 
Esq. 	not been. 

1101. By Mr. Smart : What positihn did Mr. Mackenzie hold as an accountant? He was a 
17 Apri1,1861. trader and merchant here; he carried on business for sonic years as a coal merchant. 

As far as I know of his accounts, and I think I have taken dividends front him as often as 
from any other, I believe they are kept as clearly and correctly as any of them. Ile is 
exceedingly attentive, systematic, and hard working. 
1102. By the Choirman : Was Mr. Morris ever a merchant ? He was an acknowledged 
accountant for some years before his appointment as Official Assignee. 
1108. We have heard it stated that the Official Assignees are in the habit of employing par-
ticular solicitors as a matter of favour, and also of incurring more legal expenses than are 
actually necessary in the working of estates—do you think there is any ground for these 
statements? I know no facts personally to warrant them. I hear what others hear, by report. 
1104. You have not been a creditor, then, I presume, where extraordinary legal expenses 
have been incurred ? The fact is, as a creditor, I never look into these things. I may say, 
that I have a case just in point, where I was a creditor in an estate in which the expenses 
amounted to £600, and the dividend was only 2s. or 2s. GI in the pound, but would of 
course have been much larger if the law expenses had not been incurred. 
1105. Then you are not in a position to give an opinion, having taken the dividends as 
they came, without investigation ? Yes; I believe others do the same. 
1100. Have you any suggestions to make as to the improvement of the present state of the 
Insolvent Law ? I think it might be improved in various ways. First of all, I think the 
mode of getting certificates now is altogether too easy. A man may walk through the Court, 
defying his creditors, knowing that in all probability he will get through without opposition, 
on account of the expense involved in opposing him. 
1107. What do you think of the propriety of compelling an insolvent to get the consent of 
a majority, or any other portion, of his creditors, before lie could even apply for a certificate? 
I think it would not work well ; the creditors would be applied to individually, and he 
would carry his point, however undeserving. 
1108. You think the administration of the law is too easy, as regards insolvents? I 
believe the law itself is stringent enough, but creditors are too indifferent about it 
themselves. 	To be otherwise they must he obnoxious to the debtor and to all his 
friends. I think there should be an officer established in the Court, a solicitor or 
barrister, whose duty it should be to examine all the evidence in each proceeding, 
and if he saw upon such evidence that the party had committed a fraud, or any act for 
winch he should be punished, it should he his duty to prosecute that man ; or if he saw 
reason to oppt se the granting of his certificate, he should lodge an objection and follow it 
up. Such a burden should not be laid on any creditor or body of creditors; they will not 
take it up. I know a case in which gross frauds had been practised by the insolvents, and 
evidence offered before the Commissioner to prove same in opposition to the insolvent's 
obtaining his certificate, which did not succeed, but certainly would have succeeded had the 
ease been conducted by a legal gentleman. The Commissioner is not supposed to be a public 
prosecutor to initiate charges, and the creditors generally are unwilling to assume such 
unpleasant duties, or to employ professional men to do so, on account of the great expense 
attending such proceedings. There are five or six Crown Prosecutors attached to the 
District Courts to prosecute offences of far less consequence; and if we had one of then, in 
the Insolvent Court, to review all the proceedings in these cases, and to prosecute when 
necessary, I think I am warranted in saying it would stop half the insolvencies that now 
take place. 
1109. Would it not answer the purpose if we had one or two active Official Assignees who 
would transmit the depositions to the Crown Law Officers? I think there should be a man 
appointed for the purpose; the Crown Law Officers have other things to do. 
1110. How do you propose to provide for the expense of so many officers ? There would 
only be one. 
1111. It would also be necessary to have a Judge and Deputy Judge or Begietrar ? 
I presume the Commissioner would remain as Judge. This officer that I speak of should 
come forward to oppose a debtor getting his certificate, if there were good cause for so doing 
appearing on the face of the evidence. Jam certain that if that were so, half the no n who 
applied for certificates would not get them, if they continued to pursue the course that many 
insolvents have done; but my own opinion is that they would not he found in Court at all. 
I think the Commissioner should hear and determine all claims for certificates where the 
liabilities did not exceed £500; and this Crown Prosecutor should be there, and if he said 
there was no objection to it, the certificate should be granted as a matter of course. Where 
the liabilities exceeded £500, I think no certificate ought to be granted by the Commissioner 
unassisted by a jury of four, taken from the special jury list. This I think would be a very 
simple course, and would tend to check insolvencies; it would keep people out of the Court 
much better than punishment. 
1112. By Mr. Smart: How do you propose to bring the case before the jury ? By means 
of the Crown Prosecutor. When the insolvent applies for his certificate he is met by 
objections, of which he has had notice, that the evidence shows that he has dune soiand-so, 
and it should be for him to show that he did not do it. 
1113. By Mr. McArthur : If no charge is brought against the insolvent ? If no charge is 
brought against him by the Crown Prosecutor or a creditor, then let him pass certainly. 
1114. By the Chairman : If any charge or breach of the Insolvent Act was made apparent, 
would it not be the proper course to prosecute the insolvent in the ordinary tribunals? That 
would be for perjury or fraud as provided by the Act. 

1115, 
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1115. For any case where there lool been no fraud, would not the refusal of the certificate T.W.130weleni 
be sufficient punishment ? The Act says what punishment shall be meted out; I say it is 	Esq. 
sufficient, only the present system fails to carry it home. 
1116. By Air. Piddington: Your objection is not so much to the want of power to punish 17 April. 1561. 
under the present Act as to the imperfection of the machinery to carry it out ? Yes, it is 
not brought to bear. 
1117. You propose the addition of a public prosecutor to the machinery ? Yes, to work it. 
It must be a very gross case indeed if the creditors take it op. 
1118. By the Chairman : If it would be just to appoint a prosecutor for the purpose of 
securing the creditors, would it not also be just to appoint a person for the purpose of 
defending the insolvent? I think nut. You do not do so when a man is tried for a 
misdemeanor. He should get out of it the best way he could, There is a Crown Prosecutor 
to follow up the case if a man steals a cabbage out of a garden or a fowl out of one's yard ; 
so that I conceive that the matter of expense should not be considered for a moment, when 
you keep up large establishments for the punishment of the smallest offences. 
1119. By Air. McArthur: You would not look on this man in exactly the satne light as a 
Crown Prosecutor ? I mean that it should be his duty to do what it is pretty evident 
nobody else will take it up. 
1120. By the elrairmaa : I presume it would be a solicitor in insolvency that you 
would recommend, who would deal justly both with the insolvent and his creditors ? Yes, 
there should be no bias either way ; but he should see that an insolvent is punished if he 
deserves it. There are very gross eases in which the delinquents escape, because it is 
nobody's duty to open them up. I do not make this assertion recklessly, for I have taken 
the trouble to prove to myself that it is so. 
1121. Has it not occasionally occurred, where charges of fraudulent insolvency have been 
brought against an insolvent, that the creditors have compounded with the ins.lvent and 
released his estate, so as to deprive the Court of any power they may have possessed of 
prosecuting ? Such cases may have arisen, but I have none on my mind just now. I should 
like to observe, also, that I think insolvencies would be very greatly cheeked and lessened in 
number, if the Assignment Act was altogether done away. I think it is a source of very 
much evil, and, when worked at all, it is only for the benefit of the wealthy—those with 
large assets. The poor man, whose liabilities do not exceed £200 or £300, never thinks of 
the Assignment Act. It is only made use of by persons with large assets and large liabili-
ties, who manage, by this means, to save to themselves thousands of runds. Such cases do 
not swell the number of insolveneies, which I II lye heard stated here at 360 in the year. 
To these must be added very important cases, which never go into the Court at all, but are 
dealt with under this Assignment Act. It is frequently brought into use to cover up 
favouritism, and what the Insolvent Law would call fraudulent preferences, and is never had 
recourse to but where there is a large amount of assets to be handled, and to be retained in the 
bands of the debtor, the value of which he shows to the creditors to be a certain sum, out of 
which he may make one, two, three, or even ten thousand pounds. 
1122. By AIr. .smart : Is not an assignment preferred in such cases, because the estate can 
be worked out at less expense than in the Court ? I do not think that is the reason which 
prompts the assignment in most cases. 
1123. By Mr. Fiddington : Under a deed of assignment can transfers be made which would 
not be valid under the Insolvent Act ? It covers up many transactions which the Act 
would declare to be 
1124. By Hp. McArthur : Do you not think the practice of making assignments is, in great 
measure, founded on the fact, that in the Insolvent Court the dividends are postponed, and, 
in many eases

' 
 the assets frittered away until there is nothing left ? No doubt the Insolvent 

Court has hitherto been dilatory, and the results have been unsatisfactory—and, in some 
instances, these assignments have been had recourse to by creditors to get immediate 
possession of the assets—but I say, for the most part, they do not work out the estate 
themselves; a compromise ensues, a few shillings in the pound is accepted, and much 
is covered up that ought to have been exposed to the light. As soon as an insolvent 
contemplates this, the first thing he does is to make it straight with some of his 
friends, and these very men become trustees of the estate, and they get other friends 
associated with them, or a trustee who has a very small interest, and who therefore 
becomes perfectly indifferent to the result, and leaves the management pretty much in the 
Lands of one trustee who has been favoured. 
1125. By Mr. Piddingion : Have you known cases where particular creditors have been 
favoured at the expense of the general body ? I believe that is one of the objects in an 
assignment, to cover up alienations of property which, if disclosed in the Insolvent Court, 
would be declared to be in fraud of the creditors generally. 
1126. By Air. McArthur : Do you not think it would he hard on debtors and creditors if 
the power were withdrawn ? I think it did not always exist, and therefore what has been 
once granted may be withdrawn by the s ime authority, if not found to work well. 
1127. Do you not think eases might arise, where a man who could pay 203. in the pound 
might be pressed inconveniently by a creditor—do you not think that man's creditors should 
have the right of giving him time without forcing him into the Insolvent Court ? I 
have known instances where it has been represented to creditors that if they would keep the 
insolvent out of the Court it would be greatly to their advantage, bccause he has 21s., 
or 22s., or more, in the pound, and after the estate has been assigned and worked out it.has 
been found to yield Is. or Is. 6d. 
11_28. By Mr. Smart: You have known that also in the Insolvent Court ? Yes. 
1129. The creditors must be consenting parties to the assignment ? Yes. 

1130. 
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T.W.rjewden, 11.30. Do you not think creditors prefer assignments, as being worked out at much less 
hsdi 	expense than in the Insolvent Court 	Yes; but I have known estates so assigned to work 

out very much worse than such estates in the Insolvent Court. 
17 Apul,1861. 1131. Then you prefer that estates should go through the Insolvent Court ? Yes; that is 

my opinion, the result of much experience in the matter. 
1132. By Mr. Piddington : Do you not think that, generally speaking, the trustees 
appointed under deeds of assignment investigate the circumstances of the estate and examine 
the books with as much accuracy and precision as is done in the Insolvent Court ? I do not; 
they have not leisme to do it, and it is not done. 
1183. By Mr. Smart: As a matter of fact, are not the trustees selected from among the 
largest creditors ? I have known instances where trustees have had no direct pecuniary 
interest. 
1134. As a general role they have been the largest creditors? I cannot gay it is so, I 
have heard the remark made. 
1185. You admit that they are creditors—that it is not customary for assignments to be 
made to any but creditors ? I know an instance where one of the trustees is not a 
creditor. 
1136. As a rule, is it not the fact that trustees are general'y creditors, and interested in 
the administration of the estate ? Yes, and generally friendly to the debtor. 
1137. Are they not likely to look after their own interest, and to see that the estate is 
properly worked out ? I find it different in practice. 
1138. By Mr. Addington: Is it not desirable, whether the estate is placed in the Insolvent 
Court or not, that the debtor should be called upon to give as full and explicit an acesunt 
of his affairs as it is possible to give ? No doubt. 
1139. Is he so likely to do so when his estate is vested in trustees, and he is not tinder the 
same obligation of an oath as he is when caller] upon to make his statement in the Insolvent 
Court ?Yo, and consequently he makes verbal statements t.) the trustees one day which 
he contradicts the next, neglects to afford them information, or dues it in such a way as to 
make confusion worse confounded. 
1140. The very fact of being able to give verbal statements, without the obligation of an 
oath, is likely to tnake him make statements not strictly in accordance with the fact ? Yes, 
and to keep back information which the trustees ought to have. 
1141. Have yon known eases where such a want of truthfulness has been exhibited en the 
part of the debtor? Generally it arises from indifference. I have known eases whore great 
indifference has been manifested to give correct information, and such information as may 
have been received is not reliable. They are not under the obligation of an oath, the public 
eye is not on them at all, and the trustees, even when acting in good faith, are surrounded 
with difficulties. 
1142. By Mr. McArthur : I suppose your principal objection to the assignment system 
arises from the fact that persons take advantage of it who would not go into the Ins Ivent 
Court ? They wish to keep out of it for the purpose of benefiting themselves in the first 
instance, and most likely they have alienated large portions of their assets to some of their 
friends to the damage of the general body of their creditors. 
1143 Then I understand you to mean that though, in certain cases, it may be beneficial to 
creditors that an assignment should be made, yet, on the whole, for the ends of justice, and 
to less:n the number of iesolvencies, it is hatter that all estates should go into the Court, 
under improved arrangements for the dispatch of business there ? Yes, exactly. 
1144. You object to the assignment system bieeuse it is beneficial to some creditors to the 
prejudice of the general body? Yes. 
1145. By Mr. Smart: If it were done away, how would that less:in the number of limed 
veucies1 Because the object would be lost. The debtor has an object under an assignment, 
namely, to keep all his assets together. If he goes into Court he has not that chance. 
1149. D es not the existence of the assignment system lesson the number of insolvenci e 
in the Court during the your? I believe it increases the actual number of insolvencies 	It 
applies only to large debtors. Those men retain all their property, and come out of it better 
off than they were before, having got rid of a load of debt upon easy terms. 13ut they 
have done au immense deal of mischief, perhaps to a dozen smaller men, who are forced to 
go into the Court,. 
1147. By Ok. McArthur : I suppose you mean to say that though persons whose estates are 
under, assignment are not included in the list of the Insolvent Court, they really are 
inselvents? Yes, as the list stands these men are not included, hut they are insolvents not-
withstanding, and they have been in a great degree the cause of much insolvency that does 
appear in the list. 
1148. By At'. Piddington: You think, as a general rule, that there is a great deal more 
favouritism and improper consideration practised under assignment than can be practised if 
the estate is thrown into the Insolvency Court ? Yes, I think the assets would be larger in 
the Insolvency Court then they are made to appear under assignment, in consequence of 
preferences given immediately preceding the insolvency, which the Insolvent Court would 
set aside, and throw into the gem ral fund. 
1119. Do you believe there are many cases of improper and fiaudulent alienations of 
property by insolvents to children or wives ? On that head I think it is very clear that 
post-nuptial settlements on wives have been the source of much evil, and very prejudicial to 
the interests of creditors generally. I think no settlement made within a limited period of 
insolvency should be allowed to stand. 
1150. By the Chairman: Whether the party was at the time indebted or not ? Yes. 
1131. By elk. Smart : Have you known many instances of the kind? There are many. 

1152. 
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1152. Have you known any that have been brought before the Court, where the settlements T.W.Bowden, 
have been upheld ? Yes, I believe there are instances where they have been upheld. 	Esq. 
1153. A post-nuptial settlement, and the man in debt ? There is the difficulty, to make it rm 
appear that he was in debt. 	 17 April, 1861. 
1154. By Mr. Piddington: You believe the system has worked injuriously to creditors, in 
consequence of the difficulty of proving that the insolvent was in insolvent circumstances at 
the time the setilement was made? No doubt; there is that difficulty. 
1155. Would you appoint any limit of time within which settlements should be invalid ? 
Yes. 
1156. What period ? From three to five years, so as to discountenance these things. There 
is no reason in my mind why a man should provide for his wife and children in this way, at 
the expense of his creditors. 
1157. You think the law ought to invalidate all settlements of that nature, made within a 
less period than five years before insolvency ? I do. 
1158. By the Chairman: Or the commission of an net of bankruptcy ? Yes. I think if 
that was declared to be the law we should have less of these things. 
1159. By Mr. Piddington : Is it possible to defraud creditors by disposing of either real or 
leasehold property within a short period of insolvency—have you known any cases where 
creditors have been damnified by conveyances made, or mortgages entered into, within a short 
period of insolvency ? I do not call any to mind. 
1160. You do not see any advantage in making it compulsory that all conveyances and 
mortgages should be registered within a limited period 	A mortgage may not be registered. 
The law requires that all alienations of personal property shall be registered within a certain 
time, say 30 days, but it does not require that mortgages on freeholds should be registered. 
A mortgage may remain unregistered for any number of years, and be valid at any moment 
that you may choose to register it. Now, I think, it would be very desirable that the same 
law should apply to freehold which applies to personalty. A man may appear to be the 
owner of a large property, when in fact he has not a shilling interest in it, while, on the 
faith of that property being his, he is getting a large amount of credit in the city. 
1161. In order to guard against credit being obtained in that manner, and as a question of 
public policy, you think mortgages should be registered ? Yes, within thirty days. I would 
go further, and say that equitable mortgages, as they are termed, should be registered. I 
have known an instance where a man was supposed to be possessed of two very valuable 
properties, which he built himself, and having held them for years retired from business as a 
trader, having been supposed to have made enough. He remained for a short time out of 
business, presently returning to it ; but before doing so he alienates this property by settling 
it on his wife; even the household furniture—fender and fire-irons, and every article—he 
settled on his wife. Well, that man comes out apparently worthy of credit, and obtains it 
largely; he lives in some style; his documents lie in his office for two or three years; and 
he suddenly fails, and has not sixpence of his own. Now if they had been registered, and I 
had given him credit, it would have been my own fault. 
1162. By Mr. Smart: I understood you to say, that one of the documents should have been 
registered according to law ? Yes, the settlement of the personalty. 
1163. In that case, if you had searched and found his personal effects conveyed to his wife, 
would not that have excited your suspicion ? No doubt ; but I should not have thought of 
looking to that register while he was the reputed owner of a large freehold ; I should not 
think he would make away with his fire-irons and such like things, while be had houses. 
1164. Has it not been the custom that all mortgages should be registered ? It is not 
necessary. It is very desirable that such alienations, if found unregistered, on a man 
becoming insolvent, should be declared invalid. 
1165. By Mr. Piddington : Do you not think, generally speaking, the trading community 
are in the habit of giving credit indiscriminately, and without regard to caution ? I think 
it is very easy to establish credit in the community, which may be, of course, greatly 
increased; but I do not think a stranger could immediately come in and get credit; he must 
work his way up by some appearances. 
1166. Do you think there is as much credit given now as there was two years ago ? No. 
1167. To what do you attribute the great difference—do you admit there is a great differ-
ence? I do. 
1168. To what do you attribute it ? To the great losses which have been sustained. 
1169. Experience has taught them wisdom ? Yes. 
1170. If they had exhibited the same wisdom two years ago many would have escaped ? 
No doubt. 
1171. Then they have only themselves to blame 	Yes. 
1172. By the Chairman: Have you paid any attention to the operation of the Bills of Sale 
Act, as respects the facilities it affords for carrying on business, while persons are in insolvent 
circumstances ? I have not had much experience of it. 
1173. Are you aware that persons in trade obtain credit while the whole of their goods are 
assigned and are liable to be taken at any moment by the Assignee ? Yes, I have known one 
or two cases that have caused a great deal of trouble to the Official Assignee. 
1174. By Mr. Smart : They are registered ? Yes. 
1175. By the Chairman: Are you aware that it is not necessary to register any bill of sale, 
if it is acted upon before an execution is levied I thought it was imperative that it should 
be registered within thirty days, or become invalid. 
1176. Suppose that is not the case, do you think it desirable to have the law amended in 
that respect ? Yes, I think they should be registered within thirty days, or a very short 
period. 
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T.w.nowden, 1177. Have you been in the Insolvent Court lately ? Not much. 
Esq. 	1178. You are acquainted with it—with the situation of the building itself ? Yes. 

e---&—N 1179, Do you think it is sufficient for the requirements of the community ? I do not ; it is 
17 April, 1661. altogether a miserable place; it is much better new than it was, but it.is  still insufficient. 

1180. There is very little accommodation either for the public or professional men there ? 
It is a very unsuitable place. 
1181. Supposing the constitution of the Court were remodelled, and the Official Assignees 
made officers of the Court, do you think it would be necessary to have a separate building 
erected ? Better accommodation is necessary, even for the present officers and business. 
1182. Is there anything else that strikes you ? I disagree with what I heard just now from 
the last witness, that the Judges of the District Courts should take charge of insolvency business 
in the country. It strikes me that that would be injurious, to a large body of creditors resident' 
in Sydney. All the storekeepers in the country districts receive their supplies direct from 
Sydney, and most of their creditors are here. But if the meetings were held in.the District 
Circuits, the body of the creditors would know very little about the proceedings. It strikes 
me it would be found to work very badly in practice. 
1183. By Al) . McArthur: I understood you to say that you approved generally of the 
suggestions made by Mr. Macfarlane, but that you did not agree with some of them ? 
That is one that I disagree with. 
1184. By the Chairman : Suppose power were given to the District Judges to take proofs of 
debts, and to take the evidence of insolvents, and that the evidence should be finally reviewed 
by the Judge in Sydney—would that meet your objection ? I think the last witness proposed 
that they should have the collection of the assets, and absolute control' over estates. He 
said the practice in Ireland is different from what lie recommends but he would go further, 
and recommend that the business should be entirely disposed Of in the country in these 
cases. As far as taking the proofs of debts, and so on, I think it would be very desirable. 
1185. Have you paid any attention to the duties of the messenger in Insolvency hero? No. 
1186. Are you aware that the duty is assigned to him of taking possession of the whole of 
the assets in insolvent estates ? Nominally he does; he makes a list; I am not aware that 
he leaves anybody in charge. I believe it is his duty to make a correct inventory. 
1187. Is it not his duty to take possession ? Be attaches every thing ; it is a formal thing. 
1188. Does it not occur to you that it is desirable that these duties should be performed 
more efficiently by a responsible person? I am not prepared to suggest any thing. With 
respect to the Official Assignees being paid by salary instead of commission, I think that 
would be injurious in practice—it would Sire away half the motive they have for exertion. 
1189. Suppose the Official Assignees were paid by salary, and associated with Trade Assignees 
paid by commission, would not that be found to work well? That woulti be better than 
leaving them without that assistance. 
1190. Suppose each Official Assignee had to administer estates by himself, and that a small 
commission was allowed in addition to salary ? Even that would be better. 
1191. By Mr. Smart: Would you fix the commission in proportion to the assets recovered, 
or allow the same rate, whether they were large or small ? I would have it the same all 
through. In many instances the Official Assignee has a great deal of trouble, and nothing 
for it; and were it not for a large insolvency now and then they would not be properly paid. 
1192. By the Chairman: What would you say to leaving it to the discretion of the Court? 
I think it is very well as it is. 
1193. Does it not absorb too much of the assets—the Official Assignees obtain very large 
incomes now ? That is because there are so many insolvencies. My idea is that, under 
better arrangements, there would be only half the number of insolvcncies, and therefore 
they would only receive half the amount. 
1194. By Mr. Smart : The creditors would still suffer in the same proportion if the insol-
vencies were reduced, if the Assignees were paid at the same rate? They would not get the 
same amount. 
1196. By Mr. Piddinglon : The deduction from each estate would be the same, but the 
aggregate received by the Assignees would not be the same ? Yes. 

Sydney: Thomas Rielnude, Government Priuter.-18GI. 
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I.  NEW SOUTH WALES. 

INSOLVENT ESTATES. 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TU.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly,N be Printed, 24 Apr21,1861.. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of 
New South Wales, gated 23 January, :1861, prating that flis 
Excellency the Administrator of the Government would be pleaSed 
to cause to be laid upon the Table of this House, the following 
Returns _- 

"(1.) The amount of Liabilities and Asset -s' in all Insolvent, 
" Estates passing through the Insolventt Gout, front the 1st 
" January, 1858, to the 30th June, 1860, as stated in the 
" Schedules. 

r 	- 

"(2.) The amount of Assets realized in eitah Estate by the 
" Official Assignees. 	 • 
" (3.) The amount of Dividend paid to Creditors in each Estate. 'r 

"(4.) W hat pi•oportion of Assets now remain in the hands of 
" Official Assigneea in each Estate. 
" (5.) What has been the amount of expenses—particularizing 

• , 
" Assignees' 6o 'imuissions, and Law costa inclikred—in each 
" Estate, with . the name of the Solicitor employed in each easy 

• "! also, the amount which the Debts sold brought in cases where' 
" such a mode of realizing such Assetslas:been a -Olopted.", 

I 

243—A 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

 

      

RETURNS by JOHN Momus (Official l AkAgnee), in compliance with a Resolution of the Legislative 
from st January, 1858, 

N,ta E OF INSOLVENT. RESIDENC1L' 	l'isbiffijet  Al s per Schedule. 
,,. I Assaf. 
wiper- Schedule. Assets realised. Amount 

paid to Creditors. Bate, &o. 

s. 	d. s. 	d. £ 	s. 	d. s. 	1. 

Thomas Matthews........ 507 	3 	0 691 	0 	0 299 	2 	6 157 	2 	1 5s. ld. 

Chas. Geo. Robertson 	....I Redfern 16113 	2 952 	4 J Rent, Sr prefer- k 
cur, & dividend.1 

Daniel O'Reilly 	• 	Sydney . 288 10 	0 15 	*0 
William B. Rogers ......... Sydney 	 91 	6 	0 25 	00 
Benjamin Hohnan........ Sydney .... 212 16 11 81 	9 	0 18 	2 	6 13 	2 	6 Preferent 

William Downe 	 Wiodsor 53 Id 	8 45 10 	6 
Z. S. 	Bamford ............ Mudge° 	 515 15 	0 126 17 	0 28 10 	0 18 16 	6 Preferent 
John 11. Speir.. 	. Sydney , 67 	6 	4 19 14 	0 

Henry Copeland ...........Orange . 1,365 13 	3 954 	9 	I 8s. ld. 

C. G. Martin 	. 	 Sydney 818 13 	2 512 10 	2 352 	I 11 271 	2 	9 Gs. 8d. 
IV. C. Wells. 	 .. 	Sydney . 432 16 	9 15 	0 	0 
Henry Sewell ........ „... 	Sydney 	 138. 11 	2 67 	9 	3 266 	166  
John Buckle 	  150 	7 	1 61 	5 o 14 13 	3 	11 16 	6 20s. 
John WC11111 	  Sydney „ 394 	7 	9 63 	5 	0 	13 19 	0 8 	010 6d. 
William Dickinson ..... Sydney 	 489 	0 	0 171 10 	0 139 	3 	0 94 	0 	8 4s. 
Rudolph Schlostien 	...... Sydney 	 2,282 15 	1 2,214 10 	5 CO 	310 • 25 	7 	2 11A. 

John Guider 	. Boxwood 27 16 	0 300  

Jamas C.ath 	  Sydney 	 43,917 12 11 41,665 	6 	9 12,990 	1 	7 	11,939 	7 	6 
Dividend, 	pre-} 
feren 	& moat- { 

1 gages  paid .. 
Thomas Collins ., Parramatta 315 	1 10 184 	9 	G 115 	1 	5 72 19 	5 7s. 2d. 

Henry Lord. 	  Sydney ...... 781 18 	9 316 	3 	6 97 11. 	6 64 12 	9 4s. 

John 	pred 	  Illawarra • 

E. W. Cook 	  Sydney. 728 18 11 195 	0 	0 58 13 	2 44 	6 	8 Preferont 	 

f Dividend, 8: pre- I Thomas Dawson ..... 	Sydney 2,759 	4 10 2,035 	3 10 422 18 	2 330 	6 	5 ferent claims f 
Saul Solomon 	 Sydney ...... 1,286 10 	0 8050 816  400  Lien on phaeton,. 
John Jenkins .. 	. 

John Moloney 

1 4376 /2 	0 

9,023 15 	2 

	

250 12 	0 

	

8,304 19 	6 

119 	6 	6 

822 13 	0 

88 	1 	3 

557 	1 	0 

6d. 

f Preft. 	claims, 1 
I and 80. 

C. M. Bindon Shoalhaven 275 16 	2 5600 12 10 	0 10 	0 	0 20s. 
George Butt 	  Albury . 722 	7 	7 60 	0 	0 45 	0 	6 

William Roberts. Eineumber 	 517 	1 	9 217 19 10 27 	2 	3 

Hugh Murphy Sydney 	 8,308 17 	0 9.030 	7 	0 1,736 	9 	4 628 	7 10 Preferent, Sr 2s. Id 

John W. Wheeler Sydney 918 	9 	6 715' 18 	6 366  
William Nesbitt . Reeern 213 16 10 12 10 	0 
Robert Ring Sydney 1,783 	0 	0 76 	1 	6 
R. and P. Smith Newtown 	 597 	9 	2 578 13 	I 259 17 	3 209 10 	5 Gs. 4id. 
Barton Haigh Newtown . 92 	7 	3 21 	0 	0 
John Regan 	  Sydney 39 19 	6 13 19 	0 

George Tutton 	 Bathurst .... 908 	0 	0 776 	0 	0 649 11 	9 512 	8 11 95. 

M. A West Sydney 16 14 	2 10 	0 	0 
Alfred Lesion . Sydney 
Htliiry Severn 	  Sydney .. 62 11 	9 600  
Robert Green . Sydney 477 12 	0 410 	0 	0 
W. G. Hawkin . Hexharn 230 	0 	0 13 10 	0 

Thos. Lawless & Sydney 	 8,341 10 	3 12,806 	6 	6 200 15 	5 

William Chisholm . ..... Goulburn 341 10 	0 251 12 	9 
,T. Wolstanhohne 	 Sydney 	 401 	0 	0 65 	0 	0 2616 	9 21 	0 	0 Preferent 
Isaac Moses 	  Mnswellbrook 1,401 	4 	3 629 13 	9 113 12 	9 9000 Do. and rent.. 

Carried forward . 92,400 10 	8 82,786 12 	4 20,184 17 	3 16,256 12 	1 



s. d. 
, 15 15 0' 

£ s. U. 
31 Ii io 
20 13 10 
28 2 10 

340 

330 	.. 	 

72 2 
	

32 19 4 

17 12 1 
..... • 
10 0  
220  
330  
6 15 6 
604  13 ' 9 10 

........ 	•• • ..... 

519 10 2 / 35 9 4 32 2 9 

• • • ..... 

....... • • • • 

....... ..... 

f ROad & Dawson — convey-
1 aneing 	  

, 	• • • • • ...... • 
• • • • • • • ..... 

f 12 6 G 
1138 8 8 

W. Maenish 
Johnson& Johnson 

sss 0 3 Jas. Husband 	  

• • • • ..... 

" • ' " ...... 

36 8 1 Johnson & Johnson 

..... • • • 

• • • • • • • ..... 
..... 	• 	 • • • ...... • • . 

10 0 0 67 2 
(100 0 

2  {Pi@ & Dawson — emnpul-

0 Johnson & Johnson 	 

....... 

..... 	• • 

20 13 2 

• • • • • • • • 

899 

7 16 1 

20 7 11 

' 416  
660 

41 2 8 

2 10 0 

SC 16 7 

356 

' 14 19 9 

32 9 -7 
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to 39th June,,1560. 
Assembly. passed on 23rd January, 1861, in relation to Estates under his charge, as such Assignee, 

111eialAsmgtme t  
Commission. 	Law Coats. To wham paid. 

Balance 
hap ds of 

Assignee. 
ItEmAhiss AND EXPLANATIONS. 

1 

•E 
JA late portion of assets concealed at Wagia ; ear-
l. riage, My, removal tdYass•for-salel 	• : '' 
{ Insolvent obseondsd ;, estate eompulsotily .Thst•qttess 

treed; Messrs. Johnson ernployed .  by direction ok 
creditors, 

h•fothibi to realize. 
Furniture. &e.. given to instolvent. 

j Debts sold by auction. netted £4 17s. ad.; household 
1 effects allowed to insolvent.  

Assets consisted of book debts, disputed. 
5 Is 0 	£95 for debts duo, disputed- and not recovered. 

littroituie, &e., allowed v) insolvent. 	. 

1 	 ort 
1nsolvent absconded; no mhodplo filed ; Chief Constable placed 
' in phmeasikuntil-katM/Ctxtrwtsde absolute. TheaNtrAgt due .  

on tootle and Chief Constable's tcharges amounted to.1.17A. 
10 18 1 f EntenSes were for fixtfires removed, and rent of 

t ' 'premises.; 	• 
Futhliture, &e., alloWe4 to insolvent. 

f Debts placed in hands of insolvent for collection, but 
, 

 
I. nothing 11ecoveredi  - . 

Assets disposed Of—the insolVent. ' 
Debts, f:13, due for grog scores, not recoverable by law. 

6 7 4 	Paid insolvent's allowance, :£20. 
f Assets stated to consist of £2.131 12s...1d* .good 
( debts, but Which turned out entirely fictitious'. 

{Landed and leasehold rdperties, valued at £25,000, . 	• ..• were conveyed to mortzsgees boxing first been 
E offered for sale, but without receiving- an offer. 0  

Paid insolvents allewitnele, £23. 2s. . 
Msets consisted of debts, Which, having been partly { 	 , 
' collected, –remailidei wdie bold by auction, and 

netted £12 14s. 
1 Compulsm•y sequestration ; no schedule filed; nothing 
1 to realize. 
f Debts due, £110—partly collected, and remainder sold 
i for £10. 	 . 
/ Brig " lrebe,0  valued at £1,500 in schedule, sold prior to seques-

tration by mortgagee. Debts (tartly collected; rem 	ld remainder so 
for AD, by direction of creditors. 

Furniture, &., given to insolvent. 
Assets greatly overvalued. 

f banded properties mortgaged on the whote to the extent of £7,500. 
Debts due by Archbishop MridillM AMA, tliclultcd—erclatuallY 

j mamma -teed for Ltd. The tealka were (yenned in tumwthral Mg 
l mortgages, Cc„ which were ultimately valueless to the estate. 

3 a 0 

5 00 

1,015 15 6 	1,531. 8 10 	..... 

clIfeherlt. Dunsrmire & Go.— 
compulsory costs. .. 	 

Johnson and Johnson 	 
Mr. Fitzbardinge 	 

f Messrs. Templeton & Jones-
1 compultory costs 

• • • • • • • ..... 

•• • • • ...... • 
Messrs. Johnson di Johnson 

' s. a. 
la 12 1 

s' o 

• • • ..... 

........ 
Yirnton, solicitor to estate.. 

	

f Daintry, employed by direct 	21 9 10 
tion of creditors 	 

........ 

11 1 2 

6 15 5 

566 

• ••• ..... 

• • • • • • • • • 
41 9 0 f A large debt attempted 41 he proved, but not ye 

1 completed. 
tfractu valued In schedtaa only ratIltad In; about tst was 

18 15 3  chtlined by party ea/Om:led. Mr selling. Fame. who stunt the. 
Assignee, who paid Ad iato tautri,,amt received a verdict, 

Landxd propertieSInnrtyattred for A4,9d5; 'Having been submitted 
for Sale by auction. unctiececattilly,was ultimately conveyed to 
mortgagees. Coats ,wcre irmarred Oa tbf Werefal /aliens can- 

pc 9 2 Thence(' against (Nutt/ration and others, by dlnoctions of 
creditors, some of Mirka mere •ftertlards refermd tO arbitra-
tion, and portion of costs reefived from Corporation. £1115 

t inoludtd in Mr. Hunband's charges was paid in arbitrator's fees. 
f Landed property mortgaged for full value. Debts 
1 ((hunted. 

Nothing to•realize. 	• 
Furniture, ke., allowed to i irtolvent. 

f Debts, allot the greater /nation were collected, Were 
1 ;  sold by &lotion, and a .t.tc d LI 2a. 
Furniture, &d., allowed to ithielvent. 

Do, 	Nothing to realize. 
Ocala for contesting and- trivaao..ting Fitxpatrievc hill of sal 

• 40 8 0 	which turned ikut to be invalid, Om -pmanamls of ti e elVait 
ioteutol therunuder passing t4 the estate. 

..... • - • 

... ..... 

..  	Nntliing to realize. 
• • • • • • • • 	Estate roleused from secoUstration 
	 I Nothing to realize. 

ILandedro pperty valuer] at f,C 00; mortgaged, L1,500; equitY of 
{ roT in;kk . n set I n r £1 57 1 a ad , lky auction ms otlyr 

5 3 	'isnot, were. a diet all.crti cud.. due by t kar ey, fihke4, which 
turn* d out Daudet., maid &nary small ghets realised by 

I, mantle -al& 
. 	f Schoolmaster. Assets consisted of debts claimed to be 

1 due by parties icinoviiia the pupils without notice. 
2 13 9 

13 12 	(Debts, £183—contra accounts to larger extent. Stock 
• 1 and effects secured to creditor by bill of sale. 

242 3 3 
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9 ST A fl 's. 

RETURN, tze. 

NAME OF INSOLVENT. 

„ 	, 

RESIDENCE. 

. 	, 	. 

Liabilities 
an per Schedule. 

Ands 
as per Schedule. Amin realized. 

• 	- 

Amount 
paid to Creditors. .  Rate, in 

£ S. (I. £ s. d. £ s. d. £ s. d. 
Brought forward. . .......... 92,400 10 8 82,786 12 4 20,184 17 3 16,256 12 1 .......... 

Joseph Cox 	• Sydney 	 715 0 0 25 0 0 
Charlet Asselin 	. SydneY 	 449 12 0 102 0 0 ' 

John Wallace .... .. 1 ... .. Tambareora 	 1,481 15 0 280 0 0 20 II 6 

Bernard Symon . ' Sydney 1,706 14 6 1,089 19 6 251 13 0 . 

James L. Michael Sydney 	 704 0 9 818 19 0 65 '5 3 21 5 9 Prefcrent, Is. 93d. 
George Fella Newtown ., ,. 293 14 0 98 10 0 89 9 9 68 8 8 5s. 1d... 
John Baleski 	. Albury 1,987 9 2 1,083 11 0 45 10 9 
Jno. IL Duke 	• Sydney 40 13 0 10 0 0 . 
Alfred Heather 	.......... Sydney ... 	 40 16 7 1200 410  41 0 10s. 

Richard J. Lee 	. Fiie Dock 1,148 8 0 797 10 0 43 16 6 

James Simpson 	 Sydney ...... 806 0 0 337 2 6 240 4 6 53 15 6 Preferent, 20s. .... 

William Grey 	 Chippendale .. 160 8 9 51 16 0 16 17 9 11 12 6 is. 6d. 
Edward Caspersen 	.... „ Albury ...... 212 5 0 15 0 0 
William A. Leer • Sydney ....., 211 11 7 76 8 8 63 10 6 41 1 7 15s. 
M. C. 1Vestphalen Albury 	. 549 1 1 49 6 0 
John Bushby 	 Sydney 562 19 6 525 0 0 

Henry Parkes . 	. Sydney ...... 63,828 3 1 43,027 7 0 965 4 9 506 3 1 Prefcrent, 2s. 6d, 

J. Patterson , Balmain 63 12 8 24 10 0 
John Ford 	 Sydney 223 6 3 36 0 0 24 14 0 18 12 0 Preferent 
Anne Brown 	 Sydney 126 11 10 15 6 0 
D. Dyson . Windsor 37 6 6 519 6 
G. Oldham 	 Sydney 	 56 17 3 16 0 0 
Jas. H. Campbell Sydney 	 78 0 1 26 4 9  22 14 0 3 0 0 Preferent 	 
Henry J. Bate Pitt Water 	. 82 13 0 79 0 0 

Bernard F. Hughes 	...... Bathurst 	.... 2,526 16 2 4,677 8 5 1,523 IS 11 1,368 10 0 Secured claims 	 

John Carpenter 	., .. ...... Sydney ...... 102 2 6 2 0 0 
Frederick Barden 	........ Sydney 	 1,033 10 11 800 16 5 38 2 6 

Jas. Richards 	..... ....... Cook's River 805 19 2 631 10 0 357 14 0 342 6 0 Secured claim .... 
Charles Grey 	 Balmain 	.. 124 8 0 79 6 9 15 18 0 .......... 
Joseph Fowlds 	 Newtown . 85 17 8 25 0 0 
Bridget Windred.. West Maitland 506 7 7 90 0 0 26 9 2 
Michael M•Dermett 	 Sydney 1,535 16 0 48 5 0 
Duncan and Moor ........ Sydney 	 820 0 0 510 0 0 62 6 5 
Adolphus Hukihs 	 Wollongong .. 301 11 6 221 II 8 06 7 6 81 19 7 as. 41. 
Joseph E. 13arsden 	...... Echo ........ 350 1 3 218 0 0 319 13 2 319 13 2 20s. 
Alexander MiNab Sydney 276 3 4 22 13 0 
Joseph Walker 	. -Newtown . 348 6 4 18 17 2 
Charles Adams Sydney 	 258 5 0 78 0 0 26 13 4 22 13 4 Prefcrent 	 
John Hunter 	 North Shore . 177 0 7 90 0 0 

A. J. Tebbutt 	 Morpeth 1,009 2 0 201 10 4 

William Newman 	........ Redfern ...... 508 16 0 170 0 0 

Carried forward ............£ 168,756 16 6 139,275 9 7 24,176 14 3 19,122 14 2 
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—Contintied 

OfflcialAssitrnee, 
Commission. Law Costa 

i 	s. 	d. 

	

1,531 	8 10 
... 	 
...... 	 

{ 	6 10 	8 
53 	8 10 

20 	0 	0 
 220 

•• 	• 	 

21 	0 	0 

29 	1 10 

	

360 	9 	6 

	

122 	8 	2 

.. 	 

9 	8 	0 

.. — 	 

... .. 
35 	0 	0 

6 	5 	0 

• • 
... 	 
•. 

.• 	-• 	• • 	• • 

5 	5 0 	 

2 2 0 	 

To whom paid. 
Balance  

in hands of 
Assignee. 

REMARKS 	ND EXPLANATIONS. 

£ 	S. 	d. 
1,045 15 	6 

.. — —.. 

11 14 	7 

5 10 	0 
8186 

5 5 0 

12 12 	0 

5 5 0 
.... — .. 

" 	..... 

48 	6 	3 

•• 	• • • • 	• • 

70 	0 	0 

.. — .... 

4 	4 	0 
•• 	• ..... 

5 5 0 
8 	8 0 

15 19 	8 
.. 	 

3 	3 0 
• • 	.. 	• 	 

...... 

. 

' 

Messrs. Fitzhardinge & Co. 1 
„ 	Johnson & Johnson j 

Messrs. Johnson and Johnson 
Mr. E. J. Cory 	  

•. 	...... 	• • 	• • 

Messrs. Johnson & Johnson . 

Messrs. Johnson and Co. 	 

•• • ...... • • • 

• • • 

Messrs. Johnson & Co. _ 	. 

....... • " • • 

•• " 

Messrs. Johnson & Johnson 	 

	

Messrs. Rowley & Co. 	 

........ — • . 
. ...... 	.. 

• • 
•- 	• • 	• • 	• ..... 

Mr. Jas. Husband 	 
— .. 	 

Messrs. Johnsorj & Co—. _ • 

" • ' • • ' 	 

t... ...... 	 

£ 	B. 	a. 
242 	3 	3 

13 15 	6 
' 

•• • • " " 

........ 
.... ... 
38 	9 	3 

........ 

2 12 	5 

1 	88 

34 	5 	4 

• • • 	• - 	• • 	• 

10 	6 	6 
— — .. — 

........ 

28 16 6 

........ 

12 10 	7 

23 	0 	8 
..... • • • 
•... — — 

..... ... 

........ 

" '• " '• 

ASsets consisted of furniture, Sm., allowed to insolvent 
(Assets consisted of leasehold, valueless. 	RUrilitUrd 
1 	given to insolvent. 

Assets consisted of horse running wild, £70; Bonk 
debts, £200; no particulars givon in schedule, and 
books in-bands of third party. No claims proved. 

In the schedule a worthless lease, valued at /300, and other 
assets overvalurd and seemed by a bill of sale, to the holder of 
which the Assignee handed 113:1 los. so. from proceeds of seta', 
and paid the rental the premises; the debts were very doubtful. 

(Disputed debts, £700, sold by auction for £16. 	Law 
costs for conveyancing. 

i 
(Assets consisted of land mortgaged, and book debts 

disputed. 
Furniture, Ike., given to insolvent. 

Do. 	do. 
A worthless leasehold, valued at /400, and horses, Ste., at Port 

Macquarie, 1300; sold Assignee's Interest therein for £25; paid 
Inutile, for retaining possession of premises, /10 10a; tavola 
turned out nearly utterly worthless. 

From the proceeds of the sale £106 I8a Id. was paid to Moore Ft 
Co, they holding a bIll of sale over insolvent's effects ; the 
balance was, after deduction of expenses, paid to preferent 
creditors. 

Furniture, &c., £30, given to the insolvent. 
Furniture, &c., given to insolvent. 

Do. 	. do. 
Do. 	 do. 

Assets consisted of land mortgaged to Messrs. Tooth 
for £512, and conveyed to them. 

All the estate were claimed by Sir Daniel Cooper under mortgages 
by the insolvent to him: a number of examinations and meet-
ings of ereditors took place with reference to the legality of 
these mortgages ; legal proceedings, by the directions of the 
creditors, were taken to recover the property claimed under 
these mortgages, on the ground that; notwithstanding such 
mortgages, the property belonged to the estate; subsequently 
the creditors directed the Assignee not further to contest the 
validity of the mortgagee, and to sell the debts duo to insolvent 
subsequent to the date of the mortgages to Mr. Wilshire, for 
£5110; the Chef Commissioner after argument refused to 
ratify these directions ordering this :ale, and upon appeal 
against this decision to a Jnelp, the Chief Commissioner's 
decision was confirmed ; ultimately the Assignee obtained le00 
less charges (being £400 more than the creditors insisted ou 
this property b-log sold for) upon sale of the debts subsequent 
to the date of the mortgage If the Assignee had been allowed 
to mitten° the legal proceedings commenced by him, he would, 
as advised by his counsel and attorneys, have recovered all the 
properties Included in Sir D. Cooper's mortgages, fur the benefit 
of the creditors of the estate. 

Nothing available; furniture, die., given to insolvent. 
Furniture given to insolvent. 
Nothing available ; furniture given to insolvent. 

Do. 	 do. 
Do. 	 do. 
Do. 	do. 

( The landed property on drat being submitted for sale by auction 
f 	would have realized sufficient to pay off mortgages and leave 

a large balance from creditors, but they refused to allow the 
sale, and eventually directed that a sum should he accepted 
not sufficient to pay off the mortgages, the value of the pro-

I 	petty having very much depreciated. 	Action was brought 
5 	against Jiavis and some money recovered, but there will not be 
It 	sufficient realized in the estate to pay expenses. 

{ 
Landed property valued at £700, mortgaged for full 

value. 
f Compulsory sequestration; 	property 	realized 	very 
I 	little in excess of mortgage. 

Paid for rent, £2; assets consisted of debts. 

Interest in some land not yet disposed of. 	- 
Nothing to realize. 
Costs of compulsory sequestration and conveyancing. 
Assets consisted of furniture, dm., sold by auction. 

( Insolvent paid 20s. by indorsed promissory notes, 
1 	passing through the hands of the Assignee. 

Forniti ire, dm., given to insolvent. 
Compulsory sequestration. 
Furniture, dim, given to insolvent 

(Furniture, &e., allowed to insolvent, subject to bill of 
I 	sale. 
[Assets consisted of debts placed in agent's bands for 
I 	collection ; no returns. 
(Assets consisted of land, part paid for by insolvent, 
I 	but of no benefit for creditors. 

1,271 	6 	6 2,196 	3 	4 407 	0 	2 
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DZSOLITENT ESTATES. 

' 	LiaLlatier 	Atattit 	' SAME OF INSOLVENT. 	j 11.F.SIDENcit. 	as per zehodule. I as per Schedule. 

---- — 

Brought forward 
lliam Wright 	...... 

ditanes H. Gannon 	Tamworth 

4atk Forafet 	 •King§grove 
i. Gal:çLgl4er ..... ....... 
h oney Tholwall...... 	Bathurst .... 
liewis Ttirtarin ..... 	Sydney • 	• 

.......... lljama 	 

Jpsper Holder .... 	Chippendale.. 	937 2 6 
11589, 

tennis Heary 	 Sydney  	 16 0 0 66 14 7 
I me Davis . 	 Sydney  	83 14 6; 	24 0 0 

larles A Goodehap...... Sydmy 	No sehe l dule filed. 
41 . 3 6 Robert Bragg 	.... . Bahmain  	163 s o 	96 10 9 

iederiek King ... ....... TA:atm-field _ 	6,785 15 5 I 6,335 12 5 

5117 6 	9 6 G 

1 umphrey Joug5 .....,.. Sydney  	1,600 18 3 I 2,315 6 7 

larks & Nebel' ...... 	Sydney 	 NO schedule filed. 
72 2 0 , 	3500 

2,009 0 o I  1,579 15 0 
32 0 0 

 
25 0 0 
800 

9 13 6 

laiarles King ..... ........ Ailing ...... 

	

l

lrichn D'Antouia ... ..... Sydney 	 

	

enrgt Willisms ........ Sydney 	 

elfliim Shiel .... . .. ..... ShOalhaven 

& 11111 	  Sydney 

3,056 1 o 
296 6 0 

20510 6 
161 0 0 

mos Fussell .. 
chard R. Lardner 

Qe iro
a
e F Moths ...... 

JblinHolland ............ 
Marks Creighton ..... 

IldwardJ5.ines.. ..... ... .. Sydney  	808 12 7 
i 

tehael Rellerhgr ... ..... Sydney 	 • 	398 19 0 
Itilliam Clarke . 	Sydney . 	385 6 4 
atilliam Nrwland ........ Sylney  	200 0 0 
Peter Johnson 	 73 1 7 
Henry i3Plliokards ........ Sythley .. _ _ 	298 13 11 
Georat Pligsley . 	Glebe , 	 76 11 9 
llobirt Sialey 	 Sydney . 	2e9 4 0 
Jahn Mitchell .. 	 Sydney  	273 3 5 
Orederiek L. Flint ........ Sydney  	455 10 0 
illoNaiet Hopkins ..... ... Sydney  	90 14 0 
Williaaa Gambol' .. . ..... Sydney .... _ 	83 16 7 
Tinacols Drench ..., .... Sydney 	- 	03 147 0 
Ins. 'Montgomery 	 Sydney  	61 7 8 
'1 or4e Chador ,. ..- ..... Sydney ., _  	401 2 S 
d:•.-rg, Linds 7 . 	. Paddington  	Si 9 7 
ii2:urge WI i'dlt .. .. .... .. Spin. y ., .. ,- 	187 17 2 
A. F. D. Cirevilla 	 Sydney 	 72 13 10 
,t. R. Pack,ird ., ., _ ..... Bathurst  	514 0 0 
William iiin gs:il ........Sydney  	79 1 11 
Henry Woodward 	Sydney .  	583 3 4 

Jr. Nugent 	 Lochinvar , 	678 15 6 	515 0 0 	45 11 0 

Carried forward 	 £ 216,055 13 2 166,013 16 0 32,081 13 4 24,607 10 11 

........ 
Sydney 	 

E s. 5. i 	 d. 
169,756 16 6 1 139,275 9 7 

4,196 4 10 	1,672 0 0 
27 1 4 1 	7 00 

	

5,013 8 7 , 4,760 15 9 	79 12 

372 8 0 , 	365 10 0 
102 6 6 	61 17' 6 
155 1- 6 	131 2 0 	217 3 
8Q919 	175 00 114 710 .  
22817 61 	111 19 3 

	

792 511 	136 9 0 

I  Assets mallet:4. 

s. d. 
44476 14 a 

366 19 3 

14ona .rd Keough . 	Loehinvar 
WiTham Barnsley ........ North Shore.. 
!Mines Pltrwright 	Sydney 	 
Michael Cassidy . 	.. Sydney . 

lamillo Valtuti . 	.1 Softda 	 

V 
J trn Davis .... ... Sydney ...... 

Sydney 	 
Glehe 
Maitland _ 
Shoalhaven 
Sydney 	 

200 0 0 

5,0867 4 

5,950 5 4 

3.230 18 8 	2,821 11 0 

453 8 0 
137 15 11 
355 10 0 
95 6 5 

989 0 7 

56 12 0 
43 7 6 

	

1,399 0 0 	2,271 18 5 

	

1,105 6 9 	871 2 10 

171 18 0 

	

200 16 0 	913 1 
300  

33 ]7' 0 

50 0 0 
960 0 0 

652 Q 0 	2-15 7 3 

131& 0 
9000 	19 13 11 

149 5 2 	4100  
6 

77 10 0 
21 12. 0 
500 

0 	7100 
27 18 6 
9 2 0 

1,762 17 6 

928 3 5 

574 12 1 

21 12 0 

17 0 0 

5 0 0 	20 0 0 
400  

97 10 0 	2214 3 	8180 
700  

44 IS 0 
11 4 10 
69 14 2 
20 10 0 
43 2 3 
15 0 0 
30 0 0 

170 0 0 
20 15 
91 6 0 	10 0 0 

RETURN, Fze 

Atmarkt 
paid to Creditors. 

£ 	s. 
19,122 11 

Rate, &e: 

d. 
2 

270 3 Sils. 2d. 

14 3 11 28. 25. 
85 17 1 75. cd. 

104 7 6 5s. 8d. 

28 18 9 105. 6d. 

1,402 0 4 Ed. 

761 5 1 6s. 

1,720 4 4 11 5. 

621 16 8 25. aid. 

..... ..... 

13 13 7 6s. 3d. 
462 13 0 	5s. 1d. 

169 16 10 	2s. 6d. 

11 0 11 Preferont 	 

 6 17 6 20s. 



—COntintled.. 

13antree 
In bands of 

Assignee. 

£ 
407 S 2 

5Assets mortgaged to Mr. Row, te when equity • 
I redemption was sqla for £300. I Nothing to realize. . , 
(The whole of the assetsmortgaged to and realized b 
t Messrs. D. Cohen and Co. 
, Asz,ets Inorlga&A ; equity -  of • redeuiption, twit; 
I offered fur solo—no oiler. 
Furniture, &e.. /Moan I insolvent ; debts disputed. 

( Assets sold by Sheriff, under execution,. prier 1 
1 sequestration : balance banded to A ssignee. 

Small portion of fOrnitur9 given to insolvent. 
f A ssets sold by Sheriff, under execution, prior 
1 sequestration. 

i Allowance made to insolvent. Landed property mor 
gaged to Mr. Friend, to whom I sold my equity. of 
redemption, 

17 3 1 

26 7 4 

• • .• •• • • 

• • • ..... 

1 15 6 

Furniture given to inZolvent. 
( Furniture given to insolvent. Debts partly collected 
1 remainder sold by auction for £1. 
(Property valued at Zt,040 was realised by mortgagee, prior 4 

.,41 ...stration, 1,2,in 	sd. was paid by Asrigut* in dirclutra 
8 0 0 < of further mortgage. The inicrest in a store, valued at 1:1,00o .  

I only realised Lied. The costs were incurred In investigating L mortgages, and for conVeyamong. 

REMARKS ANTS EXPLANATIONS. faelehtsshoise. 
Commis Id it n. Law Coats. To whom paid. 

   

   

	

s. d. 	S. d. 

	

1,271 6 6 2,196 3 4 	............ 
18 	0. 	11 2 10 Densurnic & Go. ..... 	1 

1 38 310 Johnsen & Co. ........... 
. 	. 

	

5 0 0 	27 0 8 f Johnson 6: Johnson 	 

..... 
330  
660 

6 16 6 

55 0 

..... • 
• • ..... 

.• 	..... 

88 210 	143 14 8 

48 311 	14 3 0 

...... • • 

• ...... • 

73 6 2 Messrs. Johnson ds Co. 

f 34 7 0 Messrs. Road & Dawson .. 1 
1 72 10 0 Messrs. Johnson & Co. .... J 

• • •• • • • • 

. 	..... 
........ 	 ..... ..... .. 

..... 	 ...... 
2 2 0 Johnson & Johnson • ...... . 

5 5 0 Johnson & Johnson ........ 

, 	. 	..... 
2 2 0 	JohnsOn & Johnson, con.} 

........ 	, 	............ 

      

• • • . • • .• 
• • • • • • • • 
..... • • • 

 

• • • • 	....... 

 

• • • ...... 	• . 

      

      

      

• . 
• • 	..... 

 

• • ...... • • • 
• ...... • • • • • 

...... • . • • • • 

 

 

   

 

...... • • • • • • 

• . • ..... 

1,685 8 11 2,600 0 6 

£172 10s. paid mortgagee of property. Debts mostly { 
collected; remainder sold by auction, realized, net, 
£6 3s. 6d. 	 . 

Estate released from setplestration. 

18 18 0 (Assets consisted freehold ; mortgagee has sold, and a 
1 balance will be handed to Assignee. 

•... " 	Puritanic, tools, &c., given to insolvent. 
........ 	Do. 	 do. 

	

9 13 6 	An allotment of land was the only asset in the estate:I 
{insolvent had concealed /560, which was afterwards recover/4,4.nd 

	

9 12 0 	insolvent was prosecuted Sir fraudulent inbolt'tocy, and son 
fenced to a years penal servitude. 

nOOST3. Rodd and Danotescostswere for compub,ory slquestratioor  
6 19 8 Messrs Johnson and JohnsolS9 costs were for suing a Ara Gicr 

41013, against whom a verdict was obtained, lint no effects die 
covered. 

Assets consisted of bad book debts. 
( Court fees, £4 8s. Id. Great portion of furnitur 
1 Claimed by party as belonging to him. 

Nothing to realize. 
( Assets oonsisted of disputed debts, and lentil*/ 
1 allowed to insolvent. 	 , 

i No available assets, everything.mortgaged for foil value, With th 
exception of household ft/radon, valued at Lilt), which th 
creditors allowed to insolvent. 

Debts claimed by third party, and 'were notreeoverable. 
No available assets. 

Do. 
Household effects; £30 given to insolvent. 

{Debts partly collected ; remainder sold by emotion fo 
£5 4s. net . 

Stock-intrade enormously overrated, furniture, 4100, 

	

2 19 2 	given insolvent by creditors; remaining debts Buhl 
£1, by auction. 

• No available assets. 
I Tan liquor, &e., valued at £50, worthless ; furnitu 
1 &e„ allowed insolvent. 

Debts due for grog scores ; not recoverable. 
Furniture, &c., given to insolvent. 	 i 
No available assets. 

Do. 

	

20 0 0 	Insolvent ordered to pay £5 per month. 
No available assets. 

	

7 16 3 	Machinery, &c., very much overvalued. 
No available assets. •••• •.. •• 

Do. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do. 

Insolvent compromised with his creditors , 
No available assets. 

Do. 
Everything sold by party holding bill of sale. 
No available assets. 

6 17 0 {Assets ! consisted of horse, cart, &c., claimed by nit 
party ; interest therein sold for E10. 

43 18 6 {Assets all mortgaged ; equity of redemption sold for 
£10. 

-•■•••••• 

567 8 2 

..... • • • 

..... • • • 

•• • ..... 

• • • ..... 

..... • • • 

• . • ..... 

5 .  50 

•• • • 	• • • ........ 

117 2 10 

43 11 2 

550 

. .. ..... 

•• • ..... 
365 

31 9 10 

12 5 11 

220 

• • • • 	• • • 
3 3 0 

..... ... 

•• • ..... 

..... • •• 

330 

• • • • • ...... • 

Messrs. Johnson and Co. .... 

Messrs. Want & Co. 

•• • • • ...... • 

• • • • • • • . • • • • 	• 

863 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 
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	 INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

RETURN, &c 

NAME OE INSOLVENT. RESIDENCE. Liabilities 
as per Schedule. 

Assets 
as per Schedule. Assets realized. 

Amount 
paid to Creditors. Rats, dm 

s. 	d. £ 	a. 	d. £ 	S. 	d. s. 	d. 
Brought forward . 916,055 13 	2 166,803 16 	0 32,081 13 	4 24,807 10 11 

"William Ward . Sydney 438 10 	6 127 	5 	0 11 	5 r 0 

.Edward Lees 	.... Glebe 	...... 49 15 	8 43 	00 

Robert Fisher 	  Redfern 3,065 	9 	4 2,911 	0 	0 378 IG 	5 294 10 	5 Is. 7d. 

Stephen Doyle. Sydney 416 12 11 85 15 	5 29 	8 	6 23 11 	3 Preferent 
Benjamin Goddard Sydney 71 	7 	5 60 	9 	G 226  
Patrick Tate Sydney 	 31 	7 	9 15 	0 	0 
Frederick White . Sydney 	 91 	7 	0 37 	6 11 

Henry Honlor . 	 Rocky Point.. 109 	6 	0 48 	9 	0 11 12 	0 

.Henry Hussey... ....... Sydney 	, 
Que mbeyan 

60 	4 	0 
210 11 10 

15 	0 	0 
77 	0 	0 

9 12 	0 
14 13 	6 

800  
11 11 	5 

20s. 
4s. Gd. 

Francis Sandoe 	. 
Robert Oliphant 	 

Sydney 	 
Sydney 	 

497 12 	0 
135 	1 	1 

124 16- 	0 
25 0 0 

13 15 	0 
250  250  Preferunt 	 

T. Robertson Newcastle. 27 	7 	1 800  
George B. Levien A shfield 1,129 14 	0 30 	0 	0 
E J. M. Stewart .. 
Thomas Wallis 	.. • 
-Matthew Judge 	.... 

Bathurst 	.... 
Sydney 	 
Major's Creek 

580 	5 	0 
47 19 	0 

310 	0 	0 

35 	0 	0 
10 	0 	0 

114 	0 	0 

12 11 	0 
30 0 	0 
59 19 	0 

•••••••••• 29 	6 	4 
43 14 	9 

20s. 
Is. lid. 

Jm. P. S. 11ahoney 	 traluen 1,963 17 	5 2,170 17 	8 	547 14 10 332 	3 11 3s. 45. 

James Nichols , 	. Botany Road 490 	9 	8 474 16 	9 214 	2 	7 192 	5 11 To secured claims. 

Grafton No schedule filet • • • ..... ...... 1 	. 	• . ...... . •Samuel Cohen 
John Knox 	  Sydney 49 	5 	8 5 15 	0 

William Thompson 	 Sydney 	 197 17 	5 41 	0 	0 14 17 	G 

,4Thconas Murphy 	...... Sydney 	 
Thomas Neale 	. 

•Ild w En R ichardson 	. 
Sydney 	 
Maitland 

16 5 	9 	5 	0 	0 
216 16 	7 	180 16 	4 28 15 	0 	17 14 	7 2s. 5d. 

Panama Ha 7913 	6 	• 	23 	911 	 
'Mints Smith 
Godfrey Levy .. 	. 

Liberty Plains 191 	I 	9 	21 	0 	0 
4338 	02 	8114 	6 23 12 	0 

William Firth 
Charles Blackman 

Newcastle 	... 
Goulburn 

199 	5 	0 	151 1.5 	0 
602 	9 	6 	448 	9 261 	6 	5 220 17 	2 	6s. 8d. 

:11. T. Outridgc 11 M. Gaol 408 10 11 	9 	00 

Frederick Reyling Sydney 	4... 746 ,14 	3 	681 18 	0 49 	1 	0 36 	2 	5 	Preferent, 6s 	.... 

John Lamb 	 900 15 	• 	 23 	2 	0 '11 	9 	0 10 	1 	6 	Preferent, 12s. ., 
Charles BlaCkenry Newcastle 337' 	3 	3 	7716 	9 6 	4 	0 
ThemaS Jamieson Sydnny 	" '45 19 	0 	15 ' O 	0 
Henry Hudson 	 Sydney 	 38 	60 	2100  ..... 

•T. E'. Adkin 	 Sydney 42 	2 	5 	8 	1 	6 
William Love . Sydney 	• 988 	0 	0 	35 	0 	0 

William Purse 	...... Sada 	 577 	00 515 	3 	4 266 17 	9 128 	6 	1 Si. 

Charles Tibbey 	. 	 Sydney 	 186 	9 10 .93 	0 	0 8 	1 	0 A' 	0 	0 	Preferent, 20 	 

1860. 
Andre* Morrison 	..... • • • South Creek 228' 0 	0 	30 	0 	0 	3 	0- 0 

David Armstrong Newtown ... " 1,53410 	9 	1,479 	0 	0 	32 	0 	0 8 5 0 Preferent 	 

George T. Palmer 	 Gininderra 357 	3 	8 	291 	0 	0 	138 	1 	0 115 	8 	0 6s. 8d. 

Charles Miran 	....... • Sydney 55 11 	3 	700  
William E. Hayes 	 Sydney 	 173 	0 	0 	15 	0 	0 

Jno. Graham 	..... Maitland 	 1,623 	5 	1 	1,529 	7 	6 52 	9 	0 

Peter TPKinnon 	 
Cheeseman .. : Wm 

eofa la 
Balmnin 

283 15 	6 
212 16 	3 

64 17 	0 
31 12 	6 

32 	5 10 
2 19 	0 

John Cameron.. 	 Sydney 	 181 	4 	0 500 	 

W. P. MOinughan Liverpool . 161 11 	8 74 	0 	8 13 	7 	3 

T. W. Smith 	.. 	.... Balinain 594 	6 	7 50 	0 	0 —33 8 9 22 10 	8 Gs. 2d. 

E. MItoberts . Randwick . 3,815 	0 	0 3,500 	0 	0 419 	4 	0 

Andrew Moreton.. Sydney .. 91 	7 	9 500  

George Kinehington 	 Ubury 841 	2 	0 603 11 	o 

James M•Roberts Pairtnatta "'• 2,310 	7 10 2,228 15 	0 161 13. 	6 
T. Ormond Sydney 12 	4 	0 3 14 	0 

, 	• 

Newcastle 	.. 38,328 19 	4 34,172 11 	9 1,203 19 	7 163 	1 	0 Preferent 	 

Carried forward 	  283,020 12 	5 219,729 12 	0 36,188 	5 	3 26,411 	6 	4 .... 	 • • 	• • 



• ' 	• 
13 6 8 	

GO 13 6 f Mr. Wm. Hellyer. costs-1 
cutnpulsory sequestration f 

1,843 15 8 2,828 8 8 

243—B 

10 0 0 

330 

330 

13 14 4 

330 

220 

• • • • 	• ...... 

13 14 0 

4 18 5 

640 

21 18 9 

9 10 0 

5 6 10 

31 6 0 

31 15 7 
2 19 0 

12 5 6 

361 13 5 

318 7 6 
• ...... • 

364 5 1 

-- 
1,692 12 1 

7 7 0 Mr. Wm. Hellyer 	 

• • 	• 

9 10 0 Mr. Jas. Husband 

• • • • • • • • 	 • • • • • • ...... 

... 

1 16 0 Mr. J. T. Gannon 	 

.0. ...... ..• 

210 

300 

500 

6 18 0 

440 

20 0 0 

500 

... 

32 1 2 

865 

INSOLVENT ESTATE.?„. 	 9 

-7— Co ntinued. 

OffielelAssignee 
Commission. Law Costs. 

E 	s. d. 	s. d. 
1,685 811 2,600 0 6 

• • • . • • • • 

18 18 0 	7510 0 

330 
.. .... .. 

1 12 0 
220  
330  

..... 

.. 

660 

27 7 9 

• • • • ....... 
7 3 0 IT. E. Weedon 	  

... • • ... 	....... . • • • • 
... 

....... 
... 

4 11 8 I Mr. Jas. Husband 	...... 

61 3 0  f Mr. ,Tas. Husband, costs—) 
compulsory sequestration 

Balance 
To whom paid. 	 in hands of 

	
REMARKS AND EXPLANATIONS. 

Assignee. 

E 	S. d. 
587 8 2 

726 

• • • ..... 

226 

f Insolvent claims a large sum of money as due by some 
1 party in Ireland. 

NO :Wadable assets. 

i• Fart of assets sold by Sheriff under execution prior to 

s
sequestration. Landsmen tgaged, £1,680; conveyed 
to mortgagees; costs incurred in commencing action 

I against Mr. Salamon (who compromised), and fur 
L con veyancing. 
Debts due for grog scores ; not recoverable. 
Furniture, &c., given to insolvent. 
No available assets. 

Do. 
770 f Paid attachment fee ; assets consisted of interest in as 

1 lease, worthless. 
Effects allowed insolvent. 
Furniture sold. 
Costs ; compulsory sequestration. 
Furniture allowed insolvent. 
Nothing available. 	• 
Mr. Greer paid Court expenses and preferent claim. 
Proceeds of sale of assets by auction. 

The large deficiency lwtween the assets realised, and those sot forth 
In the milli-dale, was caused by reason of the disastrous Roods 

j in the neighbourhood. which swept away great part of the assets. 
The book debts sold by auction for 

f Property inortgag,ed ; only realized sufficient to pay 
I mortgagee. 

Rule nisi not mode absolute. 
Nothing to realize. 

f Costs fur investigating a supposed concealment of pro-
( party. I nsol vent absconded. 
Nothing to realize. 

Debtls-hdtne, £127, for grog scores, etc., not recoverable. 
No available assets. 

Do. 
Paid the rent since sequestration. No creditors proved. 
Land mortgagee] to Bank I'm more than its value. 
Assets very much overvalued. 
Pauper. 
Land enormously overvalued, and mortgaged to full 

1 extent. 
Furniture and personal effects, partly sold. 
Assets consisted of hook debts. 
No available assets. 

Do. 
Do. 
Do. 

Insolvent bad absconded. 
f Assets consisted of policy on life, 4150, of no value to 
1 estate. 

Wearing apparel, &c.., given to insolvent. 
f Assets mortgaged for full value ; sales twice attempted 
I un suceessfiIV. 
(Insolvent is entitled to an annuity of £100, which is 
I paid to Assignee. 

No aVailuble assets. 
Do. 

1 Allowance made to insolvent ; property mortgagel, onl) 
1 	partly realized. 
Debts, &c., disputed. 
Assets consisted of book debts. 
Nothing to realize. 

'Furniture, See., allowed to insolvent, subject to pay-
1 Inca of rent. 

Furniture, &e., allowed insolvent. 
1 Real property mortgaged to full value ; this sum 
1 realized from sale of leasehold. 
Nothing to realize. 

f All the assets overvalued and mortgaged. No available 
I assets. 
Landed property mortgaged for full value. 
Pauper. 

(Nearly all the assets realized have beeu by direetiou of the 
I creditors expendn1 in ascertaining whether there was a coal 

field on ■ se of the properties. The principal portion of the 
assets returned in the schedule consists of properties subject to 

I mortgages, which arc undergoing Investigation, and if same 
are held to las good sufficient will not be realized to liquidate 

t such mortgages. 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

RETURN, &c., 

a per seholvde 
Anete,....... 

as per schedule. 
dnar 	I 

Assets realized. 
rt, 	?,. 	 tJ 

 
st ill' 

Arra:Ink - 
pale to CR-attars. 

- 	 .... 	 .. 	 .... 	- 
Rate, &a. - " 	- 

Fern. 	•,..,•••••ri'l 

R 

£ 	s. d. £ 	s. 	a. £ 	s. d. £ 	s. 	d. 
– 	nught forward 283,020 12 	5 219,729 12 	0 36,188 	5 	3 20,411 	6 	1 

Henry Doyle 	.   Sydney . 164 14 li,  4 	2 	6 6 15 	0  
James Byrnes 	 Sydney 116 	8. ' it 10 0 ...66 .18 	-0 57 	6 	2 Os. 2d. 
Wi1ikunlaken,,,..,ro.v.:4...,. 1 ekly.anky .,.... :: 5. 1  0,70114 p . 	5,253 11 	7 2,280 13 	1 1,700 	5 11 Sr. 
Thomas O'Brien 	 Rosebret.,•, , 	110 	5i 0 ' 	72 10 	0 —1611 . 6 
Michael Shea  	Sydney '.. –.2. , 	491'12 11. 452 	0 	0 .72 	.1 . 	9 57 	7 	3 5s. • 
hititrgopinfixty 	 ,,,,.:R , , Onnindrlimed . 139 	2 	0 83 16 	0 • 

,SydneY...ii i.r. 420 	4 	2 262 	0 	0 
elm; Falconer 	: .. ... 	.. r 	 14addingion... 68 	5 	7 12 	0 0 . 	, 	.. 

• 4ntv,Jnnes •,,t,  –,,,.. ,..,,, SydneY :..{T.I. 107 	6 	0 5 0 0 36 	1 	6 10.0 	0 20s. 
Thomas Rogers 	 Newtown 	,:t 100 17 	6 7 	0 	0 . 
ames Smiilletk ..'2..,,.,;n.' Flcce're'dMle 	- •54,9 	1 	0 430 ;0 	0 ' 111 16 	6 .  ... 	. 	. 	. 

' 

J. Taylor 	 . 	Sydney . 2010. 	0..., , 	,, , 
. Kingsbury 	 Singleton . 103 	0 	0 45 16 	0 

,A,.. G. Penton 	. 	 
i 

Grafton . 1,427 	0 	b 2,150 	0 	0 
. 	. . 

Thomas Pye 	 . George's River 252 13 	0 119 	0 	0 . 	.27 	7 	6 ........... ... . . ..... 
obert Appleton 	' Newtown 50 	0 	9 10 	0 	0 

rGcorge Cobban  	Bexhill . 	• ' .742 15 	0 • 342 	0 	0 164 	3 	7 	 
67,p1r.}1 ),I9htlson............Sydney 	 ... 
I310W. E. Geier ..... ' . ...?.....: 	Sydney 	 

':719 	3 	0' 
12 15 3 

360 	0 	0 
  0  

' 	.. 	. 

Ilaijah 'Hackett 	......... 	„Cdolong 
'Thomas &flee 2 97 17 	6. 16 19 	8 .. 	4 	0 	0 Preforent '...: 

t,argll Ealant,. . •Sydney   
. .B. Cooke .L............., !Sydney ....   

218.19 11 
247 	5 	7 

63 	3 	0 
112 12 	0 

13 16 	6 
147 19'11 50 0 	0 Preferent 	.... 

iGeotgo Sintth ... t......... ManliBeach 	 706 0 0 30 	0 '!(:). ..1 	 

• , 	- I 
ThnrY Jefite Y A 	.... 	..... Sydney . ... . 11,301 	Al 	2 3,103 18 11 – 	sos 00 

•C19.1,,Po* ..... I ...... Sydney ...... 1,031 15 	8 -  970 	3 	0 
.. 

• • 	• 

Jeremiah Finn 	 Cobh* River .. 152 16 	3 ' 	5 	0 	0 11 	7 	6 
Peter O'Connell 	 Sydney 	' 	 236'15 	0 38 .0 	0 • 21 	0. 	0 16 16 	1 2s. 31. 

T•ilThriM,Cit+ ,  ,n.,:•, • • !. 1 • SYdneY . s .., 	 113 ,18: 	0 95 0 0 273 - 18 	5 222 14 	7 19s. 
i 

i 
Nnt,lqpiti A3ley,tren b ...., ., Pninamatta 	 1,332, 9 	o , 	'639 10 	3 368 	6 	1 .......... 

.. 
William Bala. 	 Maitland 170 12 	5 75 13 	9 	 
Envier IPLean .......... Wellington 	.. 176•17 	0 25 11 	0 • .. 	• 
IV: tW..0ark..0 	....h.'. .. . I .. •Iteraften'...: .. 179 	9 	2 87 10 	0 . 
Samuel Daniels 	. 	, Sydney 94 11 	0 16 	0 	0 • 

i 	. . 
liirehn 	Co 	... .... Sydney ...... 129,3641. 12 	4 . 52,237 	6 	3 8,2I 	18 	0 

11 

1 i 

I 

thalPr E. 1;111 9.1T4aa ' 	••• ',.• Braid"Oa 	.. 399 13 10 100 16 	G 23 	5 	6 13 10 0 Preferent 	 
Robert Curran . Sydnsy 	: ' 19 	0 	6 
Joseph Wyatt . Sydney 	 1,807 la 	9 1,772 10 	0 1 	'452 	8 '11 371 18 10 10s. 
aohoriehlehning 	' 1:43-dilot PS/ 	1 	1 26 18 	2 
N. J. Wellham.. . 	Newealtle.. i 	372 	6 11 35 	0 	0 14 .10 	5 
Bo Wang 	 ,' ''. Sefala ,„ 437 10 10 371 10 	5 17 	3 	9 
1V. H. Moore 	 Durwood . 216 	5 	6 21 10 	0 • 
William lira 	 goals. 121 12 . 2 , 32.10 	0 , 	 • 

, 	Thomas W. Wallis: ..1...• tiraidWood 	.. '12,707 13 	6 8,614 11 	5 • • -759 12 	1 129 4 0 Preferent ........ 

Charles 14. Hooke 	.. ....... ;Sydney .... 	' 804 	0 	0 '52 18 	0 
,49nes$19Png............:...Ol1era 	...... 1,279 14 	6 1,132 	1 11 253 	6 	5 	 
M. D. Mettrb 	i 	I  Sydney . 351 	4 	7 220,0 	0 ' 	t614' 6 

Total 	  £ 459,509 14 	6 294,734 13 	2 14,912 	.5 	3 29,045 19 	5 ., 



2 2 • 0 

13 13 10 ••  21 13 0, , 	• 	, 

........ 
1 ; 

• . • • ..... 
• • • .... 

• • • • • 1  • • 

, 	tiff 

...... •• • 

O. 
........ 	 .. 	.. 

.. 	 .. 

..... I • • . 

To whom paid. 

.0 	r t. trt±31 	r 

	

e t 	  

	

..... 	1  
• 

• 
Messrs. Johnson Sr Johnsoi • 

.. • .. ....... 
• .. e .. 

.. , .. ....... 
• r 

••• 	 , 

14 lff 
" g V 9 
0  ' 

O • tr • 02? 
2:•

• 

tp -0 5 
0  28 19 5 
44-44- -1-1---. 
6,521 le. 74  
O 07 

AndL5,43 13a. ftdvTw ... .g °spews am:tipsy:Meath flis6e  lt■thttarlou estateiltradat, alto in 
gagest as explained:ha O i‘wmark to 

• • • • • 
• • • 

je be ft 	0 1 1 1 	
0 
I" Pt £e 
o ert 

5: 	flf.: 
711 

O £ 22 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

OfficialAssignee commi„i„ . 	Law Costs. 

• 
£ s.d. 	£ 	d• 

1,843 16 8 2,828 8 8 

6 13 9 	•• 
104 I 10 

660 	220 
.... 	..... 

..... . 4 . 

• • • • • • • • 

3 3 0 

25  a  .9 :;•11,%. 	, 

• • 

•••••••• 

2,014 3 1 2,890.12 

f Messrs. dohnson. Sr. Co., k 
I. .conveyaimingo.. 

..... 

a 	=cc 	c- 	I 

4j! ...'V' ;if?, 

6 d o 	..... 

.... 

• 1 • ..... ••• •• ' • .. 1 
..... . • • • • • . 

••• 	;II; 

. 	. 
4 V. 

• 

Balance 
In bands of 

Assignee. 

111r. Deniehy 	.... .. 	I9 117 6 
c• 	.. . 

ItteEsq. JohnsanvgLalinson 	 11 

, 	40 7 

... ..... 
• 19. ' 5 0 
........ 

	

a°6  i•C).1..P 	 r.p •• 	CovIdrvalnetl:k . ' 	 e roe to prefereni creditor, £75; effects enormous
.. 	.i i oi i •• 

Pauper. 	I
ro 

' No assets availal-ke. 
1 Akmeres olmortgagedt a coml.-rein/sr-has be.8 (1ff 181 

r  mil itnrtgagite; and steps arc licling fall I•ftIPfl{ 
l 'rektizettibryry of ipmaining, -assetst.”'"'  

	

"27; -1 6 	Iiitctbstld horses running wild soldliibalStiti..' 

	

'. J .• (., .. 	NOthifig. realizeri. 	. 	• • , . 	. 	- .. 	t..-... i• or 

	

Iziob 11 	-albst 'of oilthets std by-the svidevr• of insolikiriti gale L  
'The creditors have directed me to siell,..pirlyeni tho 

"offects`ftfr £10. : • 
• Nothing.  to realize. 

i-P 	. IIStatif IlliaSed tibir sequestration.- • • • al '-i l' 	-"I M') 

	

I ' ‘7 1-: 1 4 5 	Ife 	IgS btA dted, £77. 	- • .. .• 	\•-!‘01  I•IY-, ' (- 1  rim" 

	

13'16 6 	Ftunlfur ,d taco  allolved•to insolvent. " f 	 ' ■ ''' 

	

(192 1 12•11 	Pr efgrintilrlim only-proved: • 	• • • 1 ' 1 "" il  "elf  
• ;4 .. 	! (..rmyri• oacilog apparel., . ... , -rpm!: ••• I it. 11(1 , 1 

;(Tide  sibebfirinsisted of-lead in &which ii turnetIVIttkl4SitlatIll 
. lip) Patriot, and disputwl debts avhith'ifeatimed kt etanstifiti` 

• 'clail-h1rettiett a plan will be filed: • 	• • in 'PI" 	' . 

' 47.379 a;le., of which the elisignoe Las at prermia_r
r
eiyect 

;..:43.013 ,ns;11d. ; aabalaueels feceivettand A 'ratoo, 
1.
Abietqc;iimisted of. waretrobe, rte.., of • thekEM, t10IiiM' ! 

'liner liAl .by Mr. Neale.. . • • 	• ; 	c 1" ' ' •,•'''' • 
Coligetetfrom a debt not entered in tlia.t0Mtlitilthir 4 ' 

	

i I(4f-ended 'by 	purchasing Ss;ott i'Mel  lee vi:rel 'plIlik  j i 1'  
ri 	triryry 	t 

1, IkeiitatiOn. 
A kea irildided In do'nsttieneaf bh all4Mpt 	y made itertam, Pir •, ::.•, , ntll 

i•re<lit I-AM-prove claims-9,11kb incolsenit allegeiitd htif tweilhr 
Ail ibyealight ion has taken plaoe.botbre the Oat-Veda 'esailtil 
but no decilinn arrived at. . 	.• if 11 ill. 1f - . ....J. it 

	

•• 	Nothibgliribilabld. 
Do. n7tio. 	. 	.• • . 	.. 	, 	Loi <11 ii•-wi 

11) 	 ‘1* 'nto r 	• 	 - , . 1.? op Iii'! 
Do. 	 - • 	• • 	• - • 	• 

£ s. d. 
1,692 12 1 

6 15 0 

s22- • 4• 2 
I 16:11 6 

... 

Oos 	11 

T144 a4lets ‘2,4et‘tyned eonsistSd ' of leddttr 	Mij& m0A- , 
&cod teAt's kfull rain°, 'and -book. debts Ite 
£45,$02 trrs Od., included. to .wbicbis£ tc1.3-54 boithr, ratite& 
tryl bcduthy Bank of New South Wales, wh.Schfen 02vadHoz 
4armiting„ gime, clams tE 'sbeured tiretlar4 ,a,ed o• 

•mi admit 	ntling to. be 'lee' by than • beyond ihe' 
propii'rtytiatIrtgaged to themirho other beritamnrali rotti 
enortonfibc In uXeM,  of ineS Yalu'. At Pc natt.Ofittuitht 
tration tin books bad noildero nin7de ulifoi t frprog,?...,,mov,4( 
No flan has Jet peen •firreimi rengemaruct orifroglas_10.1,es 
flbroiettlie -Oblef Comm:se:loner, whiek•hava.not*Otiethininffeil. 
Pww.ocilinv, by diction of POMO of the creditors, are being 
taken to contest it validity of a marriage settle ant upon 
31 rs.altelther. I vp.paid.Wages. Ant,.exparitilia.ramit 
ferent claims, and ! also £l,000 in discharge of a collateral 
security, from which 1 expect shortly to receive about £2,000. 

t iebsItl1PWIMP 	 @.10,e.P0109,0Fs4 
Ably overv ued. 

,Notinfig eclatalizd. 	 bah.. 

4 14 Actk n-MItgaged 'Ton £1,000 i •insolved£46d4k6p6iti  
I Siticii leith his &editor& .- • • • .. treem 	•I-r • 0  " 1.  

Trfthilig aailable; ........... ......... bInfi Rtif0011 .  

1 1.0111WIT4AC., givti on.to.insolvent, • • - • toll•thi 1•1•1 0o r  
I Actg.  eliittfly conSist. of debts due bv.ChiodkbrhildIdIP 

-Path ufighle to golleet.. • • • .... 	Yftltrun tlal at tin° 

	

givren.to. insolvent.. • 	!buil-tag tint 
clfhift  	caT wehlr1J8 -mho • m.ii 
alreailmAilthe creditOrWrt tlalrongh •int-extIgatildeiginnklo4-n  

vent'kconilyint is at *rent pending before thejalignianhier, • 
sidner with's:flew tolpfehtsddtblbSdltetirif 1>essihre:••• ' 

No.hhiag aty.911able.; 	 'burl tick , 
f Pemaulder of asselg•niditynotea for ifidie than 'Weir 
1 +Mud 021 • 111M1£1011 .4100 

lanU)lventtallowed '£3.peD week and farsiturirrn keal 
0 0 021 
2 0 £ta ........ • .... -no-lab:01) duos 
0 71 1:3 	• • 	melsrEI merlos0 

r  

laInded property mortganerl.•  
/13.10Wed. • 	 1 111.P. Mirttitra 

OlDmPoscition by insolvent. 	 ' 3 """ -" 1, ver  No ;wawa:lie aes4e.. . 	• 	.rs 	£ • •49 	■:FA 1'0104 
4,99t801,14103(1,0f land mortgaged for fpillnlqer  -,,t, 
?,o available assts. -  
CreditorEPPrOved;; pailin fell, . . 	:It urn 

Pauper. 

.1 1 1(1 1 1.o. 	...at 	 Jbo in 
— Balk/Pas AND EXPLANATIONS, 

. - 	 . -- 	, .... 	. 	• • • • • 	m 
nabs tVinialtitaft, Co rifle; e4c.Ae.And'aelselicolatmithrellnil 

	

vd44e8ty4eol   tiaortml manner 

	

}, 0 el- 	...... - ... 	 .. vioiriT me.ifliYf 
0 2 b70 j HN .pioRR3-f3 ,.. xistn?1,1 F.:au:fp 

	

r r 8rt. 	offieikt  a awfwf znotiin i. 

	

0 II 221 	.... ....... • ....h,swbooW son.09 
....  	Pri anarti, P.. :a k£1 

	

II 2 81' 	.... ..... .....iniq 'Avail mr-uttima 



LIADIIITITS 
AS nut SUIED OLE. 

ASSETS 
AS roe sonsonx. ASS6/5 REALM% Ammer 	Assers 

or Diviokso, 	usaulasoo. 

s. 	d. s. 	11. a. 	d. 	I 	a. 	d. 
2,449 	3 	6 1,536 	6 	2 112 	7 	4 	48 	5 	2 	Bad debts._ 

725 10 	4 207 11 	0 
33 17 	0 27 	6 	0 

496 	3 	0 25 	0 	0 
19,535 	0 	0 20,450 	0 	0 660 	9 	6 

1,309 	7 	3 245 	0 	0 180 	0 	0 

139,055 19 	7 76,196 12 	0 10,235 	3 10 	3,119 	4 10 

17 	0 	0 5 00 
103 19 	0 

 
12 	7 	6 

116 	0 	0 70 	0 	0 26 	2 	4 	20 11 	1 
152 	9 	0 83 19 2 	 Bad dolts.... 

4,095 17 	9 956 10 	0 424 16 10 	247 13 .  5 
905 	0 	0 90 	5 	0 

451 	1 	5 311 16 	9 125 17 	3 

376 19 	9 61 	5 	3 Do. 
....... 209 	2 11 62 15 11 Do. 

1,016 17 	1 334 	2 6 	 e' 8 	69 	4 	1 Do. 
1,98,5 15 	6 1,639 	0 0 

823 17 	6 822 17 6 	 .. • 
143 	2 	0 
77 16 	0 

67 16 
77 	8 

0 	8140  
6 

552 	8 	0 387 19 	4 71 16 	5 
39 10 	9 700 
77 16 11 

 
21 	5 	0 11 	0 	0 11 	0 	0 

567 	3 	0 437 	3 	0 35 	5 	0 27 	4 	3 
99 15 	4 44 15 	9 

1,498 	0 	0 905 10 	0 9 00 Bsul debts.... 
341 	4 	7 50 	0 	0 

 

21 	4 	6 2.3.5 10 	0 212 18 	6 12 	8 	0 Bad debts.... 
525 10 	9 390 11 	8 
280 10 	5 256 	8 	2 62 11 	G 52 	9 10 Bad debts., 
111 	3 10 25 	0 	0 

1,755 16 	8 118 	6 	8 13 	6 	8 7 13 	8 Bad.  
1,989 	8 11 1,150 16 	4 212 17 10 159 	5 	0 
1,070 	4 	9 1,010 	0 	0 
1,008 16 	5 855 	4 • 7 634 	0 11 421 12 	5 Bad debts,. 

219 	0 	0 158 	0 • 0 
1,253 	G 	8 670 	0 	0 36 	3 	6 •• •"• 

127 	4 	7 14 13 	0 

 

163 12 	9 

233 15 	0 253 	7 	0 Bad debts..,. 
352 17 	3 151 15 	5 
171 	7 	5 
30 	1 	6 500 

247 	4 	1 

	

1,598 11 	9 

 
66 	0 	0 

	

1,110 13 	0 
41 	2 	0 18 	5 	0 

 Do. 

Bag debts.... 

278 0 	0 90 0 	0 40 0 0 De. 	.... 

• .. No Schedule filed .. • 	• 170 	5 	9 114 	0 10 
319 	3 	0 41 12 • 

77 	4 	8 20 	0 
. 	. 	118 17 	9 113 	8 16 	0 	0 Bad debts.,,. 

47 	0 	0 50 
153 18 	0 12 	0 

.. 	 27 	7 	0 22 15 
.. 	90 	0 	0 60 

.. 	528 17 	6 
.... „.. 	25 	0 	0 

625 	0 
50 •• 	•• 	• ' 

176 	9 	6 129 	8 19 	9 	2 34 	6 	7 
1,011 	0 	7 852 	0 0 0412 	1 Bad debts.... 

........ 	851 	2 	6 720 	0 	0 216 	7 	1 114 19 	1 
•• 	" 

126 15 	0 15 	9 	8 
49 	9 	9 3 10 	0 

136 	0 	0 41 11 11 
213 	0 	2 38 0 0 

......., .. 	63 	13 	6 700 
222 	2 11 

 
63 8 0 

1,265 	3 	0 96 15 	8 3500 21 14 	0 
•..... 	168 IG 	6 32 	7 	6 

249 	9 	4 22 	2 	0 . . 	 . 

...... 	678 	3 	0 18 15 	0 
44 	2 11 22 	5 	0 ......... 	

144 12 	2 30 5 0 
123 11 	0 35 19 	7 7 40 41 0 Bad debts.... 
78 	2 11 23 19 	0 

Nem' or INBOLTENT. 

•Charles 
Henry David Thiry 
Edward Goodwin 
\Vin. Hunter 

Sandrock & Noel 

John Keene. 
'Edward Smithers 
Wm. Smith Jenkins . 

'John Adam Acheit. 	. 
'Joseph Wyatt 	  
.Robert Broad 	  

Henry Fisher .................... 

...... 

'James Rice 	  
Charles Irish 	  
George Charles Gordon 
Frederick Bradley 	  
Thomas Jackson 
Parry Long 	...... 

....... 

	

. 	. 
...... 

John Nelson Henry ........ 
Hezekiah Gregory . 
Thomas George Watson 	 
James Harden 	  
William Simpson 
Matthew Hill 	  
Joseph Pope 	  
G TO

a

T Hattersly 
JohnAaren Parfitt 	  
William Kensett 
Charles Chopph 	  
Thomas Lynch 	  
John M'Itaren' . .......... 
Kenneth Stewart 	  
Wm. Jesias Mende Hellyer 
Vince Carr 	............ 
Owen Oxley .... 
William 	 ........ 
Henry Simpson 
James Fitzgerald 	  
Richard Cocks 
Ileginald Barlow 

Burne 
Thomas Kavenagh . ....... 
John Peters 
Owen Loughman 	  
Abraham Levi 	  

, 

George Oxford . 	• 
lgabel Caddell.... 
Patrick Maloney 
Archibald Murray 	. 
Thomas Field . . . . 	  
George Lindley 	  
4elin Lynne 	 . 
Dennis Baniquay .. .........., 
?miry Marshall .. 
Alexander Sturden Taylor 
John Clements 	  
Sohn M'Analty 	  

Sohn Clode .. ............ 
George Robinson 	  
James Davis 	  
Peter Linker . 
Joseph GonIston 	  
William .Georgo Barker 
..thraham Jacobs Jacobs 	  
Henry James Byrnes 	  
Thomas Delhoery , .......... 
William Tibbpyi 	  
eharlaintayt.v..: ....... 

intho

. , rtg Edwards 	  fvf 	....... 

raneis Woodward 	  
Southern David rick. 	 
t 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

A RETURN of all Insolvent Estates under the control of FREDERICK WILLIAM PERRY, Official Assignee, 
— as per Schedules; the amount of Assets realized; the amount of Dividend paid iii each Estate; the 

each Estate, particularizing Assignee's Commission and Law Costs, with the name of the Solicitor: 
mode of sale has been adopted. 
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18 

from the 1st of January, 1858, to the 30th of June, 1860, shewing the amount of Liabilities and Assets 
proportion and particulars of Assets in each Estate still umealized; the amount of Expesses incurred in 
employed in each case, together with the amount for which Book Debts have been sold when such a6 

ASSIONOVEI 
COM.11LiSluS. Law COSTS. NAME 01,  soum mos.  OTHER 

EIVENSEO RETTABE-9. 1100E DEETS WOW' 
Sow. 

£ 	s. 	d. 

	

6 12 	4 

	

33 	7 	G 

	

6 	2 10 

	

G86 10 	2 
Two-third, Of this 
sum to Oflielal As- 
signer. ono.thira 
to Tea& nr coon- 

tore Assignee. 
...... 
...... 

	

2 	2 	0 
...... 

	

21 	4 10 

...... 

...... 

	

6 12 	5 

• • 	• • 	• • 

	

3 	3 	0 

	

.. 	.... 

	

311 	9 
...... 
...... 

	

2 2 	0 
...... 

	

2 9 	0 11” ...... 

	

2 	2 	0 

	

3 	2 	8 
...... 

	

2 • 2 	0 
10 12 10 
...... 
31 9 10 
...... 

...... 

...... 

	

7 11 	9 
...... 
...... 

	

2 	2 	0 
• • • • " 

	

3 	3 	0 

	

8 10 	0 
...... 
...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 
319 5 

	

3 	6 	7 

	

, 110 16 	41 

	

1 5 8 	2f 
.... . 
...... 
...... 
...... 

	

3 	3 	0 

...... 
3 3 0 

	

£ 	s. 
9 19 
.... 
.... 
• • " 

29 17 

	

2 	2 

	

368 	3  

•• " 
" ' • .... 
.... 
4 17 
.... 

.. . 

.... 

.... 

	

5 	5 
.. 	. 
.... 
.... 
.... 
.... 
• • .. 
• . 	• . 
.... 
• • • • 
• • 	• • 
.... 
.... 
.... 
.... 
.... 
.... 

	

5 	5 
.... 

{ 	6 	G 

	

15 	4 
.... 
5 5 
.... 
.... 
3 3 
.... 
.... 
.... 
.... 

	

{ 2 0 	1 

.... 

.... 

.... 
• • • . 
• • 	• • 
• • 	• • 
•• • • 
• • " .... 

13 18 

	

7 	2 

• • • • 
'• • • 
" • • 
" " .... 
.... 
.• .. 
.... 
.... 

.... 

.... 

41. 
6 

10 
' 0 

10  

4 

0 

0 

0 
0 

0 

0 

8 

6 

2 

M. C. Stephen 	 
.. 	...... 

' • • • • " • 
M. C. Stephen.. 	 
M. C. Stephen 	 
Johnson & Johnson 
James Husband 	 
William 1-buyer 	 

	

 31. C. Stephen 	 

• • • """ ... ..... 
..... ... 

AL C. Stephen... , 	 
........ 

..... ... 

........ 
M. C. Stephen__ 

. 	 
... ..... 
. 	 
.....   	

	

 	

• • 	• • 	• 	 
..... 	 
•• 	• • 	• • 	• • 
• • 	- - 	• • 	• • 	

	

 	

...   	

	

 	

M. C. Stephen ...... 	

Stephen.... } 
Robert Owen .... 	

	

1R. C. Stephen 	 
..... ... 
.. 	 

M. C. Stephen...... 

• • 	• • 	• • • • 
.  	 

Dunsmure & Stafford 

...... 	 

...... 	 

..... . • 	 

	

..... • • • 	

	

 	

..... 	 
1111•Intosh &Pinnoek 
1M.  

	

31. C. Stephen 	 

•• • ' " '• 
........ 
...... .. 
..... ... 

... ..... 

..... ... 

... ..... 

.....,., 

...... .. 
-......... 

£ 	s. 
98 10 
.... 
.... 
" • •  

	

597 	4 
8 2 

	

6,061 	6  

.... 

.... 

	

3 	9 
.... 

	

151 	1 
.... 

.... 

.... 
51 7 
.... 
.... 
5 11 
.... 

16 13 
.... 
.... 
4 18 
.... 
....  
.... 
614 
.... 

	

7 	2 
.... 

	

3 	G 
17 16 

	

.. 	.. 

	

159 	8 
.... 

30 18 
.... 
.... 

141 0 
.... 
.... 
• • • • 

	

). 	18 	10 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 
91 3 

	

47 	7 j 

	

78 	1 

•"• 

.... 

	

10 	3 
.... 
.... 

• • • • 
.... 
• • • . 
•... 

....  

d. 
4 

2 
7 

0  

0 

3 

2 

0 

8 

9 

6 

0 

0 
0 

8 

6 

8 

3 

2 
0 

4 

0 

Rent and other expenses. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Do. 

{The assets realized in this estate 
paid to mortgagee. 

Estate released. 
This sum of .66,064 6s. is made up 
from liens, rents wages, salsa ics. 
and other incidental charges— 
see accounts in Insolvent Court 

Nothing realized. 
Do. 

Ceurt fees, &e. 
FmitIture given op, nothing realized. 
Rent, wages, &e. 
Nothing realized. 

proceeds paid to the 
Bill of Sale 	party holding the 

bill of sale. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Rent, wages, &e. 
Assets mortgaged. 

Do. 
Court feeS. &C. 
Nothing realized. 
Itmt, fees, &e, 
Nothing I Utilized. 

Court fees, &c. 
Nothing realized. 
Bill of sale. 
Furniture given up. 
Conit fees, &e. 
Mortg, n ge. 
Com t fees, fte. 
Nothing realized. 
Furniture given up. 
Allowance, fees, &e. 
Mortgage. 
Rent, wages, allowance, &e. 
Nothing realized. 
Bill of sale. 
Furniture given up. 
Nothing realized. 
Rent, fees, rte. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Assets sold. 
Bill of sale. 

Assets realized 	......... ....... 

Bailiff and other fees. 

Furniture given up. 

Furniture given up. 

Tfortgage. 
Nothing realized. 
Rent and fees. 

Do. 

{* Trade Assignee onahott commission.' 
Rent, wages, and Court fees. 

Nothing realized. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do. 

Bailiff and other fees. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Do. 
Do.  Do. 	. 

,Furniture given up. 
.... 

fBook debts vimother 
0,84XL99111, jith  

1 	Estate Tele:Laud frOm 
1 Court. 

Law costs will, it 
is expected, ab-
sorb the funds in 
the Estate. 
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14 
	 INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

E ltErITAN, fxt. 

Nita OP INSOLVENT. 

I 

LismisilEs 
PE AS 	E ScianCLE. 

........— 

Marrs

A  
8 pnaSooLDuL. ABSE" Itrana  

AvorNT 
sr DiviDEN8. 

AssETS 
T.TNIILALIzED. . 

I 

/ 

1 

. 

arah 

ohn 

atriek 
Frederick 
prenado 
aohn 
°ban 
/6416cS 
lite taint 

harks 

lenry 
lichard 
ohn 
oho 
harks 

William 
Stephen 

aeob 
amuel 
humas 
dward 
ohn 

1 ames 
antes 
eorge 
bud 
eorge 
aimed 
award 
dward 
harks 
harks 

I 

iehard 
harles 
dward 
Mara 

filliam 
oger 1
M  

alter 
aria 
hn 
mcs 

1 illiam I
n  drew 
'41/1  • 

• , 	F 

h 
hit 
m 
my 

na 

bort 
Mel 

Ii via 
1111 
bort 
fred 

J ho 
I t-id 

J in 
1 'Ham 

T onms 
T omas 

bert 
J 	es 
J 	eph 

Jn 
T 	othy 
J 	es 

Akkander 

drew 

iura 
ezlyn 

Inas 
ajamirit 

derick 

thew 

rgaret 

had 

Reeves 	  

	

Bcith Glint 	 

Newman. 

Farclly 	  
Sullivan 	  

Aquillar 	I a 	a' 	-- 	' fl 	ala  
George John Chapman ta:. 

Rowley . 	  
aoyoip9; ‘., 	.: I. , 	„ 	, 	' 

Miller Fans ,a... .... 	 
	 Thomas 	.  

Anderson- .•• - i ..., 	 ,;. 0.-- 
Martyn . 	  

C. Brayne 
Baeltfield 	' 

Crowe 	. 	, 
Tighe 	, 	-0. 	.,m,r 
Longfield 	  

Gee 	  
Marshall ... :.:: 	., .i 	 .• 
Petitt 	. 	. 

Staynor . 
Barr 
Marehaut 
Johnson 

Brown 	  
Ewart 	

- 

Malloy . 
James Morris 	 

Gale 
Morphett 	..... ...... 	 
llardiman 
Bathurst . 
Swindell 	  
Edward Rime . 
Lee Morris 
Jackson.. 
Nash 
Davies . 
Cox 	. 
MIDonald 

Hogan 	  
Bird 
Basford 	  

	

, 	

t  

James Brown,. ....... 	 
Jackson Harrington ...... 	 

Hughes (deceased) 	 
Towns 

Callaghan.. ; ...... 	 
O'Dowd.. 

&IV A -fir .11 	 .. o 	o 	A 	• 8 .1 
up 	.4.. ....... 	 

	

olles t ifecoper 	.. 	 
tr and Charles Chzmas 	• 
Usher 	. 
el Dyball 	. 

Robert Carter.; 	 

	

tel Pritchard 	:. 

	

Myers 	, 	  
Forrest 
Charles Carter: 	 
Small 

James . 	...... .1.... • . 	 
Turner 	  
Flower 	• 

Potkerry 
Bevan Evans .: ..., 	 

Bairn° 	 '''''`'ha "" 	I'' 
kl'Quire 	‘ 	191,16 

Hastings Farrow 	...... .. 

	

Loftus. 	: 	. 	• 
Ford 	. 	 
Bowman 

Millard 	..... '  	 ...... 
Smith 	1 

	

.. 	. 
Millsome 	' 	. 

and Alexander Alexander 	 

Henry. . . . , ... .!.... • ..• •• • • 
Alfred Cowell 	  

Greer Pillar,. „I ...... 	 
1 

•
ilfred 	 9E 	0 	0 

	

s. 	d. 

	

50 	22 

	

1,62919 	4 

	

5 8
,

73 11 	'p 	, 

	

492 	0 	5 

	

410.18 	8 

	

463' 5 	6 

	

417 	2 8 

	

791 	5 	0 
I 	283 1, 4 	0 

	

175 , 2 	3 
2,681 8 0 

303 0 0 
6,634 3 14 

	

266 	8 	0 

	

269 	50 408 iv .3  

	

289 	5 11 
55 4 ' 6 

	

23 la 	?- 

	

52 	3 1  6 

	

134 17 	6 
100 1210 
081 10 10 

	

a 
 Gic 15 	9 

	

442 .  o 	6 

	

3,085 	2 	8 
59 12 

	

1,

no
138 10 a2 

0 	0 
i  

	

797 	0 	6 

	

351 	8 	2 

	

729 11 	a 

	

1,059 15 	Q 	. 

	

67,16 	$ 

	

228 13 	3 

	

1,19 	1 ., 4 

	

."-Te 	7 	a a  

	

11,102 12 	3 

	

355-  10 	-0 I  
- 85 17 11 

	

. 	N535Serci5illet  
716 ,  6,J.3 

1;,.$13•3t39:'gl.rj 

	

.1.. 	j. _ .  
109 la .. 6 

	

50 4 	3 

	

160 	2 	0 

	

i,1304J 18 	'8 

	

561 18 	0 

	

295 	8 	0 
ta ••••11b4;45 'tf 

	

133 	1 	4 

	

166 16 	0 

	

lu 	

1

0.3 4 	il 
* ,,g i 

	

31 17 	4 

	

42,Q 	fr., V , 
"1" t0a15 io 'r6 

517 1 4. 
1 ., 

708 

	

1,039 	6 .all 

	

52 	2 ,2 
4 an" '6971.0 '- '1,a Inn, ,Ng . 19  ii i 

	

4112 	4- 	. 0 t 

	

485 15 ' 	f 

179 10 ' 11  • I 

	

82 	G 	I a 2,883 13 
- 	4 	. 

	

061 ittighl.• 	i
1)  be it hal 2 

	

1,320 18 	4  

56 6 4E 1 4q9„ 1/ " 

' 11' 11530 11%42 

' 

. 

I  

' 
, 

I  

, 

4  

a i  

, 
j 

11 
,/ 

filed  

£ 	s. 	a. 
8 	00 

602 	a 	2 
' 1,43 	9 	8 

1,465 19 	5 
27 	2 10 
67.3 	0 
75, 0 	0 

123 	0 	0 
152 17 	0 
10 	0 	0 

115 	0 	0 
15 o 0 

6,010 10 	3 
35 0 0 
286 0 
45 0 0 39 .42 0  

20 	1./ 	0 
6 	0 0 

15 15 	0 
1210 	0 
28 	0 0 5 0 Q 

453 	0 	0 
29 10 0 5 0 0 

3,390 	0 	0 
16 10 	Q 
25 . 0 	0 

62 	0 	0 
0 

4,80013 	a 
' 50 

100 16 	G 
0 0 

95 	0 	0 
324 10 	0 

15 	0 	0 
160 0 0 
47 	0 	0 

180 	5 	Oa  
5,974 	1 11 

5 0 0 

771 	06 	06 r:  
, 

449 11 	5 
. 	. 

310 	0 	0 
36 15 0 

15 0 0 
12 16 	9 
61 	7 	21 

193 11 	Oa 
14 	6 	6 

210 	0 	Q. 
183 41 
12 10 
79 '7 	6 , 
41. '5 	9 , 
64' 	6 	0, 
2217 0 

717 	 0  11 , 
107 0 	0 

266'10 	9 , 
5 0 	01 

407 	a I 
275 	6: GI ' 
12 0 0 

• COD 131 0 a 
5 	0 	0 1 

13" 2 	0 
25 11 	0 I 
31"0 0 
71'18 	0 , 

439 '1 	6 1 
265'1 	6 , , 80 	

. 	
E o 1 

1 	u 	1 . 	. 	, 
i 1,257'15 	0 

'• " 	, 
I 	15"0 	0 ' 
I 	233'11 	0 

221 *0 	0 

E 	s. 	d. 
719 	6 

51 	2 	0 

2,52G 19 AO a  

'33 	7 '0 
59 	4 '6 
17 5 , 6 

8 	1 	6 
' 

.1011 	•0• 

20 , 0 	0 

100 	0 	0 
...... 
36 17 	0 

• 
. 	. 

119 13 	9 

. 
11 14 	8 

1 38 10 2 
227 18 	6 
4, 
27 	7 	9 

9 

15 12 	0 
139 	0 	0 

40 17 	6 
66 	6 
2309 

5,3no 1,1 	w 	( au 	•8•1 , 

. 	 91. l''.3 '1  
37 18. 	6 

... , 	. 
200 14 	3 

	

-••• 	1 
37 	0 '0 

...... 

11012 	.6 

di. tiel iir ri . 

r  

.. 	aid' itottY 
8 	0' 0 

113 • 6 ' 3 „ . 
'' 

." ..—. 	. " 
24' 17 	6 
.... 	. `'• ". • 
". 	' • ' 

614 1-3'. ' 4 
wilt 0 , 

°I1 10 	15'`a.  -,(1 ' 
• It 	t ■ [81.6 „a •  
,„..t....y.F.t. 

.. 	..... ...... 

...... 
2r 11" 0' 

•• 	• • ' " 
30 • 2• • 4• 
" .... - 

558' • 8
•
" 6' 

" "  " 
" .. '• 

10139.8"0' 

" • • " • ' 

it 

.0.  0. :;:• 0. 
 

1 

r 2,048 

I 

i 

1 
3 418 “' 4302 

r 	'i  

,a fa 

'a 1"...• 
15 

i 

v  19 
a- 	a 	' It ) 
,10 

32• 16" 0'  

102 

138 
:77 

.19 

115 

128 

•	 

448 

	

;6 	s. 	d. 

	

413 	6 

	

d  7 	0 

21 18' 0 

	

31 16 	'8 

	

12 	9 16 

	

5 0 0 	

, 

	

4 	2 	0 	

	

26 18 	0 

• 

• 
1 7 

63-2  

10 2 

	

6 	3 

	

15 
29 16 	9 

3 

	

15 12 	0 

	

16 	3 

	

17 	0 

4 2 9  

	

..t... 	W 	5 

	

2 	1 

	

;I 	 ° U  

	

96 15. 	.4 

	

., 	; 	6 
23 7' 6  

86 17..3 

' t," 'V d 

	

s 	1'''9 
.... •••• '' .-. 

	

16 	i 	1:y 	

0 10 
IR 'IV 

91 19,.111 ' 
• • • " 

	

.... S 	: 	'■ 
	' " 

	

 	• • 	

	'"• 

3 13" t .... 
7'8' 
"" 
	"•• 

	

8 14"5' 	
• ::: 

...... 	 Bad 

• I.  

1  

• 

} 

, 

; 

, 

' 
Bad-debtsI ... 

Bad  

Bad 

{Debtkstillina- 

Bacrdehts{ 

Bad 

.. ** 4.... 	' . 
dais.... 

debts.... 

....... 

...... 

...... ' 

...... 	' 

' 

...... 

.. . " • 

" • • •• • 

II91114;e4  

'• ...... . 	. 

- - 	• - 	• • 

...... 
... 

• " " ' 

pow. 	y,..... 
n.... 

'' " • ' 

• . 	• . 	• . " 	• '' 
bts 	' de t  c 	' 	II ' • 

ao.,,,t, 
41° ' ts 	"al l- 	3 

. 	.... ...... 
•• • • • • ...... 

...1•....1::: 

(1.1.s.lit;111 . 

cigleit.s.f.:.. 

• • " - a 
• • •• 

• • • • ' •  
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 	 15 
!1.1 	 JO:). 	 Or 

—Continued. 
7  I 1'1' .1 t 

I 
I 
I 

I 

Assrottres 
cire/PIII. 

-- ..—. 	 _ 

LAW COST!. 
_ — ..----....-- 

Boor DEMI Tan 
Sou]. KODI OP SOLICIT011. 

— - — 
ornra 

• — — — 
Baum. 

I, 

£ 	a d. 
2 	2 	0 
5 5 0 

,{126 	n 	4: 

3 	3 . 0 
3 ff 0 
330 
1170 
...... 

•• • ... 
3 3 0 

• • 	.... 
5 	if 	0 

2 2 0 

. 

...... 

.. .. .. 
5 19 	8 

...... 

...... 
2 2 	0 
...... 
618 	0 
6 11 	7 
5 5 0 
330 
...... 
A 19 	0 
.. 	.. -. • 

3 	3 	0 
...... 
3 	3 	0 

269 	0 	7 

• • • • • • 
6 	0 0 

• ' • • " 
). 13 	o 	8 

.. .. .. 
3 3 0 
...... 
...... 
...... 
...... 
5 10 11 
...... 
...... 

...... 

...„. 
2 2 0 
...... 

...... 
3 3 0 

. 
...... 
3 3 0 
8 14 	8 
5 	0 	9 

....... 
...... 

. 
....... 

...... 
....... 
..- .... 
2 2 	0 

27 18 	5 

	

£ 	s. 	d. 

	

44 12 	0 

	

1 1,7 	2 	7 

	

1,6 	a 	6 

	

.715 	4 
2 2 0 
..... 

	

 1 	.t..1 	.: 
 ...... 

.... 

..... 
2' 2' 0 
•• • . 
.... 
.... 
2 2 0 

.. 
.... 
..... 

...... 
..... 
..... 

	

3 	3 	0 
.... 
-... 
- . „. 
...... 
..... 
• • ... 
..... 

31, 16 10 
-... 

 .... 
.... 

	

6 	6 	0 
... .. 
.... 
..... 

	

2 	2 	0 

	

, 12 	1 

• ... 
j 23 17 	0 
I 	5 	5 	0 

..... 
3 3 0 

• • • • 

	

2 	2 0 

.... 

.... 

.... 

	

1 	3 '3' 	0 

..... 

..... 

.... 

.... 

. • .. 

.... 

	

, 	 , 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 
.6 .6 0 

	

3 	3 0 

	

3 	3 . 0 
,- ... 
.... 
.... 
.• .. 
.... 
.... 
..... 
... . 
.... 
.... 

20 0 0 

	

.3 	30 

	

{ 	
6 	1 	2 

......... 
James Husband 	 
Bradley & James 	 
M. C. Htephen.... ,  
Robert Banbury.. 
M. 0. Stephen 	 

........ 

......... 

........ 

........ 
M. C. Stephen 	 

.. . ... . .. 

rearm Ss Pownall 	1. 

........ 
-....... 

... ..... 

... ..... 

.. ...... 
M. C. Stephen.— 	 

........ 

........ 
.. ... .... 

........ 

......... 

. ..... 	.. 
D. H. Deniehy 	.. 

........ 
M. C. Stephen 	 

.......... 

........ 

	

111..C. Steph'en 	 
tio. . 	' 	 

.7. Ttussel Jones • • 	 • 
M. C. Stephen 	•  

..... • .. 
M. C. Stephen 	.' 

... 	.... 	.. 	
, 

	

111..C. Stophen 	 
•• • • • • • • p 	.. 	..,.. 	.. 

........ 
M. C. Stephen 	 

... ..... 

..... 	.. 

........ 

... ..... 

........ 

........ 

........ 
M. C. Stephen.... I 

Do. 	 • 
Do. 	...... 

........ 

... ..... 
....... • . 
•....... 
•... • ... 
... ...... 
........ 

. 	.. 	..... 
Williant Hellyee •.' 
M. C. Stephen ....i 
Edward Burton .. 

s. 	d. 
140 
2 5 0 

. 
:13& 11 	7 

. 
G 	4 	0 

21. 5 10 
1180 
.1 4 6 
... 	.. 	' 

.9' 	4 	6 
.... 

, 10.13 	0 
.... 
9 0 6 
.... 
7 17 	0 
.... 
.... 
.... 
•'... 

.... 

. .. .. 
8 	9 	6 
.... 

.... 

.... 
u 	3 	9 	6 

.... 
1 	1 	0 

12 	3 10 
11 - 2 0 
496 
.... 

■ 	'9 	18 	9 

8 17 	6 
.... 

13 13 	0 
_310 17 	7  

‘ 	. 	1 	2 	3 
• .... 
1 	2 16 	6 f 	. 	, 

.... 
44.12 	3 

.* • • . 	s 	7 	6 

.- • • ..-.. 

.... 
. 	15 	7 	4 

.... 

.... 

..... 
6 	2 	6 
.... 
.,... 	 ' 

If io 	6 
.... 
..... 

. 	13 	9 	6 
. 	22 	4 	6' 

, 	12 11 	6 

.... 
• • • . 
•• • • 

.... 
,...... 
4 	7 0 

- 	52 18 	2: 

.... 
1 	31 13 	6 

. 

 Court fcas. 
Do. ---.. ....... ...... ........ 

, 	i 	i 
Rent; wages, and.  fees.: 	. 	. 4  

Sundries and fees., 
Itent and fees. 	, 

 Court fees. 
Do.. ‘ 	, 

Nothing realized. 
Sundries and fed*. 
Nothing realized. 
Sundries end Court fees. 
Nothing-realized. 
Sundries and Court fees. 
Nothing realized, 
Wages and fees., 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 	• 	. 
. 	Do. 	I 

Do. 
Do. e. 
D0.7 	 . 

Sundries, rent, and fees. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Mortgage, furniture given up. 
Notbingrealized. , 
Sundries and feds. 
Nothing realized. 
Court fees. 
Sundries and fees. 

Do. 	•. 
 Do. 	. 

Sundries and Court fees, 
Nothing realized. 
Sundries and Court fees. 

I 	t, a 	wallonce, fees, and other Ben 
expenses. 

Court fees. 
Nothing realized. 

	

Coiirt fees. 	' 
Nothingrealized., 
Beni, Wages, and fees. 
Bill of Silje. 
Sundries and fees., 
Bill of sale.  Nothing realized. 

Do. 	 • 
Do. 

Sundries and fees. 

	

Nothing realized. 	. 
Do., 	mortgage. 

Bill of sale., 
Nothing realized. 
Commission and Court fees. 
Sundries and fees. 
13111 of sale. 

	

Furnitum given up. 	. 

	

Bill of sale. 	, 
Wages and Court fees. 
Bill of sale. 
Nothing realized. 
Sundries and fees. 
Rent and fees 	................ 
Sundries and fees. 
Nothing,realized." 
Bil1of sale, 
Nothing realized. 
. Do.  
, 	Dp. 	. Do. 
Funds 

f 
upte3.7et distributed. 

B 
Sundries and fees. 

• 
Rent, wages, aud fees. , 

5  

I Book 	 -w debts 	ith  t 	'other assets 

0 

, 
• 

i! 

U i f 

1. 

• 
t, 

Sold for £ 

pt  

" 

... 
1 

5 	6 1.0_, 
.... 
8 	3, 0 

........ 
III, C. Stephen 	 

Nothing realized. 
Bent and Court fees. , 

ti 	...8...! 



872 

16 	 INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

RETURN, dx. 

Ns= or INSOLVENT. 
LIUMLITIES 

AS PER HCILEDUL& 
ASSETS 

AS FIR SCHEDULE. 
ASSETS REALIZED. 

AMOUNT 
or DIVIDEND, 

A BSETS 
UNREAL/ZED. 

Thomas Byrnes . 	 
s. 	d. 

. 	13 19 	0 
£ 	a. 	d. 
.500  

s. 	d s. 	d. 

William Thompson 	....... 117 	.1 	0 10 14 	0 
Hugh Maxwell 1,945 16 	1 29 	9 	0 18 	3 	9 Bad debts.... 
Cohn Cowan 165 13 	4 63 15 	0 5 16 	6 
E 'ward Milvoy 	 1,057 	1 	0 306 	4 	5 31 11 	6 Bad debts,... 
James Campbell 	 
Jacob Inder . ..... 	 

	

1,145 	3 	2 

	

4,202 10 	0 

	

1,122 	0 	0 

	

1,075 	0 	0 
58 	1 	9 

500 0 	0 351 — W10 
Thomas Clifton 74 17 	4 14 10 	0 
Patrick O'llaher.. 130 	0 	0 13 	0 	0 
James Mitchell 	. 43 	7 11 28 15 	6 
Gabriel Bryant 	 39 13 	7 13 15 	4 
James Clough Murray 642 11 	6 232 18 	8 61 	5 	6 46 15 	6 Bad debts.... 
Jane M'Grath ... . .. .............. 288 17 	7 111 	0 	8 23 19 10 
William Robert Skead 38 13 	7 13 	4 	1 
Henry Goodwin 	. 	.. 566 19 	4 193 	2 	3 54 10 	6 16 	6 	0 
James Everingham 	..... „ 87 	6 	2 18 	7 	0 1 16 

George Patrick 	  7,667 10 	9 641 10 	0 	250 	0 	0 198 15 	9 Bad debts,. 

Daniel Packer 	• 43 17 	0 400  
Henry Ward 	........... 185 17 	0 90 	0 	0 56 13 	6 42 17 	6 
Richard Holt Thane .50 	0 	4 20 	0 	0 
Thomas Huskisson Cowell 504 17 10 15 	0 	0 
Robert Sparrow 	• 	 587 19 11 40 	0 	0 
John Hill Furlong/.  29 14 10 17 15 	0 
John Kenny 	  29 	1 	4 9 15 	0 
Patrick Grady 	. 	. 0k5 18 	7 225 	0 	0 
Henry Newbon 1,349 	6 	8 1,285 14 	7 Bud debts.... 
Samuel Thomas Gill 200 15 	0 95 	0 	0 
George Hurpur 
Edward Howard Lomax 

15 	2 	8 
35 	7 	9 10 	0 	0 ! 

Lewis Barnett.. 327 12 	9 50 15 	0 
William Coleman Leslie 	. 72 18 11 20 19 	9 
Oliver Maxwell 	 • 301 1.5 	7 304 15 	7 
Anastasia Walsh 637 	0 	0 561 	3 	6 
Gorge Dean Skardon • 101 	7 	6 9 14 	6 
James Behan . 	  750 	7 	3 192 	9 	6 
Henry Wood . 316 	9 	6 13 	0 	0 
John Prestage 	  45 14 	4 32 15 	0 
Decimus John Toohey 103 17 	6 20 	0 	0 7 1" 	G 
Fitzarthur Ilog,uc . 370 	4 	4 221 	0 	0 33 	0 	6 
Alexander Clow No Schedule 305 	0 	0 
Robert Pearson 	 •. 5e2 10 	0 93 16 	6 	127 18 	1 Bad debts.... 
Philip Luscombe 932 11 	3 221 	7 	4 	185 18 	4 139 	:3 10 
William Ellis 	.... . . ....... ..... 5:113 	0 	1 25 	0 	0 Debts due,,..  
Thomas Underwood . 10,653 	6 	0 . 11 10,405 	0 	0 	64 	0 40 15 	6 
James Belcher 	. No Schedule 
Joseph Pitt 	  60 13 	6 5 	0 	0. 
Thomas Buff 	. . .... 127 	8 	8 95 15 	0 
Thomas Thrutehlcy . 2,061 	3 	1 1,920 	0 	0 
Francis Burke 407 11 33 	5 	0 
William Ilaks 	  171 18 	0 153 10 	0 
Alexander Fleming . 	 2,919 	0 	0 2,505 	0 	0 45 10 	4 	Bad &tit's.. . 

Edmund Burgess 	 10-1 19 	3 77 	0 	0 15 	9 	6 40 11 	6 
James M'Crossin 	 1,907 16 	7 2,687 	8 	3 
John Wood . 158 17 	7 7 10 	0 
John Casey 	  61 	9 	3 13 	0 	0 
Edward Watts :101 	5 	1 220 10 	0 8111 	6 62 11 	6 
Reuben °mains . ..... ...... 153 	0 	0 41 	0 	0 51 	2 	6 40 	2 	0 
Alfred Hatch . 2,895 	3 	3 555 	2 	6 102 	8 	9 
'1110711/LS Cross .. 1,187 10 	0 315 	0 	0 2 17 	6 
James Chester Crisp 	 1,251 	9 	6 35 0 	0 
Joseph Taylor.. 	. 202 /5 	0 115 	0 	7 10 	3 	0 
Thomas Barnes 	  709 12 	G 170 12 	0 74 15 	0 	43 	13 Bail debts.... 

Samuel Pierce.. 116 	2 	4 75 0 	0 18 	7 	7 	13 	4 	1 
Gel frge ./ortlan 110 	0 	0 12 	0 	0 
Joseph D. Downey. 43 	5 	1 14 	0 	0 
George Chapman 	 101 	3 	0 300  
John Holley 	  218 	9 	4 21 	5 	0 17 11 	6 
William S uterbier . 144 	0 	0 51 	7 	6 9 	0 	6 
Charles Fish 	.. 	  31 	8 	0 11 	0 	0 
Michael Lennon 	 ..•• 600 0 	0 70 	00 6126  
Abraham Polack 	 15,874 11 	6 20,103 	0 	0 
Thomas Pearce 	  872 19 	1 22 14 	0 2 	50 
Richard Murray 	  98 	6 	1 11 10 	0 
George Wells 	  •. 75 	5 	2 10 	0 	0 
Samuel Wladdon ...... 185 18 	0 446 	1 	6 
Thomas Brennan 	........ 159 	8 	7 25 	0 	0 
Edward Jones 	. 8 10 0 100  
Joseph Palmer. 	 •. 40 	8 	8 20 	0 	0 6 	8 	0 
William Elmhurst Potts 1,021 	0 	0 105 	5 	8 .17 	8 	3 

Gordon Forbes Davidson . 8,769 15 	1 3,002 	1 	3 . 	. 

Saul Solomon 	..... 222 	7 	2 35 	0 	0 

1/.13.—With reference to the Co umn headed 'Assets Unrealized," it is to be observed that in every estate, excepting 
those in course of collection, all assets have been realized, with the exception of bad and doubtful debts, for which the 
Assignee has had no authority from tl e Creditors to sue. 
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—Continued: 

ASSIGNEE'S 
COMMISSION. LAW Costs. :Ken OP Sotrazon. OTTIPB 

BIPENSES. ItELLESS.  

_ 

BOOK 1) H 

L 	s. 	d. 

	

• 	

.11 	0 	0 
•	 

2.; 	o 	o 	

	

 	

3 3 0 

33 0 

	

12 10 	0 

	

33 	0 

' 	' 	

• • 	

9 	5 11 

a 	3 	0 

	

.....• 	

6 16 	5 
3 	3 	0 

3 3 0 
3 	3 0 	

3 14 	8  

2 	2 	0 	

. 	 

. 	

• • • • • • 	

2 	s. 
• • 	• • 
.... 

.... 

• • • • 
12 19 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 
24 1

3  
9 

3  
.... 

, .... 
.... 
.... 

.. 	• • 
• . • • 
• • 	• • 

• • 	• 
• • 	• • 

.... 

.... 
,... 
...• 
• 

• • " 
" '• . 	.. 
.... 

.... 
3 3 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 
5 5 

.... 

.... 

' • • • .... 
.... 
.... 

f 5 	0 
1 2 	2 

•• .• 
.... 
.... 

• • • • 
• • • • 
• • • • 
• • •• 

•• • • 

• • • • 
• • • • 
• • • • 
•• " 
" " 
• • '• 

0. 

' 

0 

4 

0 

0 

0 
0 

........ 
• ' " • ' " ........ 

, 	' 
........ 
........ 

M. C. Stephen.. ,... 

... ..... 

..... ... 

... ..... 

........ 

	

Thomas Iceton 	.. } 

— ...... 
..... ... 

........ 

..... ... 	' 

' 	..... • 	• . 
• • 	• ..... 

• • 	• • 	• • 	• • 

..... .. 

........ 

...... 	.. 

.... 	... 
M. C. Stephen ...... 

...... 	.. 

........ 

.. 	 
M. C. Stephen ...... 

..... 	 

..... ' " 

	

Johnson and Johnson 	

...... 	 

..... 	 • 

• • 
• • 
.. 	 
...... • • 

• • • • • • • • 
• • • • • • • • .. 	 
'• 

" " " • • 

s. 	d. 
.... 	.. 
.... 
.... 

316 	G 

100 12 2 

14 	7.3 

.... 
35 	1 	6 

.... 
10 12 	6 

...• 
13 13 	0 
' 	.• 	.. 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 
• - 	• • 
- • 	• • 
• • 	• • 
.... 
.4— 
.... 
.... 
.... 
•• • • 
- • • • 
- • 	• • 

.... 

.... 

....  

34 	5 	7 
.... 

20 7 6 

.... 

.... 

.... 

.... 
68 17 	9 
1 15 	0 

.... 
5 14 	0 
7 17 	6 

.. 	' •  
19 17 	1 } 

3 	1 	6 
.... 
.... 
 ..• • 
• • .. 
• • • • 
• • • • 
• • 	• • 

• • • • 
• • • • 
• • " 

• • " 
• • • • 
• • " 	f 
• • •• 	4, 
.... 

Nothing:realized. 
Do.  

Furniture given up. ). 
Sundries and fed. 	' 
Funds not 'yet distributed. 
Plan waiting confirmation. 
Rent and Court fees. 

Rent and Court fees. 
No distribution yet made. 

Rent and Court fees. 

Sundries and fees. 

Rent and fees. 

Bill of s'ale, nothing realized. 

No distribution yet made. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do. 

Rent and Court fees. 
Assets not yet realized. 
Sundries and fees. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Do. 

Assets not yet realized. 
Do. 

Mortgage, nothing realized. 
Rent, wages, allowance, and fees. 
Court fees. 
Mortgage, nothing realized. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Sundries and Court fees. 
Sundries and fees. 
No distribution yet made. 
Bill of sale. 
Nothing realized. 
Distribution not yet made. 
Rent and Court fees_ ... ...... 
Sundries and Court fees. 

Distribution not yet made. 
Do. 

Nothing realized. 
Distribution not yet made. 
Assets mortgaged. 
Distribution not yet made. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Assets mortgaged. 
Nothing realized. 

Do. 
Distribution not yet made. 

Do. 	 • 
Mortgage, other assets in course 

of realization. 
Nothing realized. 

Not sold. i 

. 

1 

F. W. PERRY, 
243-0 Official Assignee. _ 	- 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

RETURN of ROBERT HAMILTON SEMP1LL, Official Assignee, in accordance with the Motion.of 

6
 

z
 Ireenvern NANA LLSBILITIES ASSETS. 

Agar's 
REALE/J3D. 

Dimon" PAID PROPORTION 
oir ASSETS IN 

Mum IN 
TRZASIMP. Rate per £. Amount. 

. 	S. 	(1 i 	s. 	d. £ 	s. 	d. £ 	s. 	d. £ 	s. 	d. 
I 	1 Reynolds  	6,170 	0 	6 6,070 	7 	0 208 	3 	6 Preferent proofs, sos. 89 17 4 

, 	2 Brown . 	, 31,381 14 	2 950 	0 
3 M`Gee . 58 19 	0 5 00 . 
4 Bell 697 	410 65 	0 	0 
5 Chambers 	 1,216 16 	6 1,109 15 	0 74 	6 	1 Pref. proof, 10s.on £26. 13 0 0 10 15 	5 
G Stein 436 	0 	5 5100  50 0 242  
7 Winning 	.. ...... 	 33 	6 	0 4 	0 	0 

1 
1 	8 Lawley 	  479 	0 	5 407 	9 	1 2600 •... • • ..... . • • 

i 
' 	9 Sugdeu ....., .. 	 1,565 17 	9 1,553 10 	0 6023 14 16 	3 

10 Robinson 	 61 	0 	6 5 	0 	0 .......... •• •• • • •. ...... 
11 Hoare 	. ...... 	 103 	2 	8 29 	1 	8 .. 

12 Skerrett 	 135 	1 	9 420 	0 	0 13 19 	6 

13 Robinson, ilexr 	 637 16 11 26 	0 	0 6 	3 	2 

14 Barron . 127 18 	0 31 12 	0 9770 84 	8 11 

15 Paterson 	 42615 	0 95 10 	0 3720 .......... 

16 O'Farrell 	 553 10 	0 13 	0 0 

17 Watt 	  3,607 	0 	0 3,408 15 	0 186 	7 	0 Preferent proof, 20s. 31 15 0 128 	3 10 

18 7IPCready 177 	0 	9 49 	7 	6 14 18 	7 3s. 5ia. on £15. 7 15 2 ..... ... 
19 Russell • 	, 31 19 	0 3 	0 0 
20 Turner 	....... 	 201 10 	9 38 12 	6 87 16 	4 20s. 6564 . ...... . 

21 Wilson 	 91 11 	6 1 	0 	0 on..59 	8 	0 • . 

22 . Sacks 1,366 	5 	5 250 0 0 5 5 0 
23 'Hughes 	 

21 Briggs 	.. r 	 208 17 	7 727 	6 71 	00 4s. 7d. on £101. 2330 ........ 

25 Pratt . 145 11 	3 63 	4 	0 219 	9 0163  

26 Saunders 	 91 11 	5 500  

27 Whitfield , 677 	0 10 527 	0 10 

28 Paine. 	1  608 	1 	9 6314 	3 .. 

29 Boyce 	; 	 401 16 	7 280 	0 	0 • 

30 Moody 	1 	 235 	1 	3 16 	3 	0 . 	.. 

31 Rowe . 	' 7,549  11 	4 585 0 0 1,909 	1 	2 1,115 	2 11' 
. 1 

32 DPEvoy ..1 128 	9 	6 61 11 	0 10 	4 	6 4s.lid.on£1.918s.6d 4 2 9 	 
33 Langley i 617 	0 0 986 19 	2 96 10 	7 pref. tis.4itton St265, 72 0 1 ...  	• 

31 Stone 	J  1,206 14 	4 785 	8 	2 86 10 	0 17 13 	A 
35 Bonfield .I 	 105 14 	0 60 4 4 
36 Walton ..1 	 237 0 0 17 	0 	0 20 18 	6 ...... .... ...... 3166  
37 Goodin .j 102 15 	1 31 15 2 13 18 11 .. 10 	8 11 
38 Hall . 272 	3 0 	60 10 	d 5 15 01 PrrenT• 6'.6id"n  1 2 	1 	0 	 

39 Silk 	i 268 	0 	4 95 0 Q 21 16 	0 ' . 1376 

40 Gouldsbotough 	.... 89 	8 	5 17 17 	0 ,  	L 
41 Martin . 1,582 11 	1 1,167 	0 	5 • • 
12 M`Couville ........ 70 4 	6 7 . 0 	0 4106 	

. 
.. 

43 Bradley.-..„....,.. 1 233 10 	0 167 	0 	0 _ 136 31 1 WfoilIntrilfs7. 211". } 89 18 .  6 ,  : 	, 	 • 	' 
11 Sloarr..;.:...., , ..,..- 86 	8 	0 5 o o . 

i 	. 469,183 17 	1 19,096 	4 10 3,253 	6 	8 .... ...... 402 16 2 1,727 	3 11 .. 	- 
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Ma. LOVE, from the date of Mr. Sempill's appointment on 8th March, 1860, to 30th June, 1860. 

EXPENSES. 
smcnote, 

lima. 
WnSS Duna 

SOLD 
DROUGLIP. 

RESALES. 
COnlinie- ton.  Law Costs. Other E xpenseer.  

E 

..• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

2 

• 

1 

• 

.. 

2 

9 

2 

2 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

!..... 

...... 

S. d. 

.... 

• • • • • 

• • • • • 

• " • • 

• • • • • 

2 	0 

• '' 	' • 

1 	0 

• • • 	• . 

• • 	• • 

2 	0 

13 	0 

2 0 
1 
i 

— 

2 	0 

Lad. 

.... 

•• 
• • 
.. .. 

• • • • 

• • • •  

• 

.... 

• • 	• . 

..., 

1 	1 0 

4 	8 4 

0 13 4 

.... 

.... 

3 	3 0 

• • • • 

• • 	• • 

• 

.... 

.... 

• • 	• . 

,... 

,... 

.. 	,, 	1 

.... 	; 

. 	..... 	' 
I 

.... 	, 
l 	.... 

.... 

 4 	s. 	d, 
118 	9 

0 19 	0 

0 3 0 

5 	10 0 	1 1 
0 13 10 
0 7 	G 

0 10 10 

o 5 	6 

0 	5 	0 

14 10 10 

3 	0 2 

8 	9 	9 

10 18 	8 

0 	7 	6 

5 	1 	5 
0 	3 	0 

2 5 8 

7 10 	9 

8 10 	0 

2 3 	6 

0 3 0 

0 	3 	0 

3 19 	9 

14 17 	G 

70 16 
0 , 	3 	0 

3.10 	o 

8 g C 

1• 4 	6 
0'S 	0 
1 13-6 

0 	B. 0 

'' 
• 

. 

... ..... 

..... ... 

. 	..... 

.. • ..... 

. 	.... 

..... ... 

Mtulloch.. 

Bill yard.... 

AP Culloch.. 

Iceton ... 

. ...... . 

.... ... 

... ..... 

..... ... 

........ 

... ; .... 	' 

I 
• 
i 
... 	• ... 	• ., 

	

b...., 	• 
f. ..... 	..... 

	

e..... ••• 	Id 

...... 

£ 	s. 	d. 

...... 

...... 

• • • • • • 

. 	. 

...... 

.... • • 

.. .• •• 

...... 

...... 

...... 

. 	. 

78 0 0 

. 

"T • ' ' 

.... • .. 
• .:••• .. 
...... 	, 

—• 
-...T..?" 

19 11  

f Property mortgaged over its value. 	Disbursement 
/ 	arc for interest on mortgages, rent, taxes, die. 
j Four acres of land,  value £20, held to order of Creditors. 
1 	tore given to insolvent. 

&c., given to insolvent. Furniture, 	
, 	

. 
Furniture, &e., given in insolvent. 

f Property mortgaged over its value. DisbursomentA;(450104.11d.) 
1, paid in rent, City taxes in arrear, repairs to hoses, 

No debts proved. 
Furniture, etc., given to insolvent. 
Assets realized were received by agent (lirallis) 

paid the same to me, but went into insolvency 
after the receipt of the money by him. 

r  III riis 
mortgaged 

 TS da uoevii c, ni tsciv, :Lars; 7.e"ulirtt °fees,il°l   l:4 stsbtoleiii 
£m 15e. was alto paid to ineelvent's attorney (far costs 

(£118 9s.) 

Fumi- 

&c. 
i 
1 

who never 
a few days 

, 
Disbursements, 

 uds. 
Spurred brhim 

amount. 

Turon to 
i 

by sale of cattle 
or more, 

fees, cartage, 

sale charges, 
of 

ESC Defen- 
l 

fees, sale 
which were 

. 
for £45, 

Disburse- 
Finn attachment 

Lautitd pro- 

s fees, &e, 

sale 

debts proved. 

assets, valued 

creditors. 
7. and 45 5S. 

held lease 
4810s., 

tising, dm. 
one creditor 

to insolvent. 
Sze. 

transferred 
laud, unsale- 

action pending 
to insolvent by 

slue to Assignee 

d by trustees of 
sIgnee; verdict 
•. 8d.. for rent, 
Cs by order of 

ges, cartage, 

fees, 	sale 

n attachment 
rtising, ch. 
tut. 
ent, bailiff's 

. cartage, etc. 
, &c. 	Corn- 

. 
advertising, 

d. 	No com- 

itors. 
c. 
wages, rent, 

• 

before scqu .t at'on) to relvase a deed belts on lien for the 
Assets given to insolvent. 

1 No assets recovered by special messenger sent from 
1 	Tionbareora by Agsignee. 
/ Agent employed to attach ehttld paid himself £15 Ps. 641. 

on aocount. There is a claim on behalf of this estate fOr;£3ho 
for rattle collected In estate of Andrews, albged to be Skgrretce. 

) No debts proved. 	Expenses, £3 Os. 2d., for Court 
l 	storage of .goods. &c. 
Disbursements, 48 9s. 9d., for store rent, cartage, 

advertising, dm. Law costs. 44 8s. 4d.—untlerdirection 
creditors, action brought and verdict to estate for 
dants have moved for new trial. , 

Expenses, 410 Ms. 8d., arc—agent's charges. Coin 
Charges, 8:-c. The assets realed are for ceditie: 

{ 	

mortgaged, and the mortgagee claims the money; 
Assets given to insolvent. r Anets sold at Auction on let November; 1861)) by order of crrilitors, 

. 	except a legacy for 111,8ou now In litigation at Copenhagen. 
meats. £1.2 8•. 2d., are for Agency, fonnuis•toner's fees, 

I 	fees at Bathurst. 	Goods. sold In error by agora refuntlial, 
I,, 	!PIXY mertgeged Over its present value. 
Difibureenente.15 le. 5d., are for advertising, sale charges., taift ,  
Furniture, etc., given to insolvent. 

1 Disbursements, £13 14s. 4d., are for allowance to idsolvent, 
l 	charges, attachment fees, Etc. 
Law costs, I:3 34.-by direction of creditors, 	DibbursementS, / 	

£2 5s. 8d., are for boat hire, advertising, die. 	-NI° 
Assets in goods given up to insane:It. 	

. 

Brpeuses, ET 11IFI Id , are —roust five, lte , crte. 	yurniture artd 
at WU by insotvent, and ord.std to he given up to him.. 

No schedule filed. 	Estate released on payment of 
432 paid to Allen Mid Bowden, viz —for reni..1 

law costs incurred by insolvent. and for whickthey 
of land for 99 years in security on lien. Disbursereents, 
are—Court fees. bailiff's fees, sale charges, ridVe 

Stock-in-trade stated as assets, and was taken, let 
ten days before sequestration. Furniture gii:en; 

I. 	Expenses. 42 3a. M.. are Court fees, cartage, adiertising, 
Furniture given to insolvent. 
Assess, 100,sharcs in Fitz Roy Iron Company,, we 

. 	in security before sequestration; half, au core of 
able. 	Furniture given to insolvent. 	, 

Assets and debts irrecoverable. 	. 
/mete—half Pliare its I he "carouse" schooner.. lett at km 

Becalm insurance renineny for insurance; also 4100 doe 
Captain Watkins, lost in the 'Caroline:' ' '., 

Foists released on payment of creditors bEineellient. 	Ball 
for Court foes Dein by him, and other expenses, /2 ,10S. Al 

("Assets of goods its possession at date of sequestration eiti 
Thompson, symouds, & Co, and actiob,,brought agsiset, 
in his favont ; new trial pending. 	DisbortOments, £4t 
singes, 4.-0., &a., in carrying on the business end holdineg 

t 	areditors, 
fEipenses, £3 19s. 9d., are—Colirt fees, sale ,  ob 
1 advertising, bailiff's fees, &c. c 
f Ekrienes, 411 178, 6d., are—Court fees, hail's 
1 charges, advertising, etc. 

Expenses, 470. 16s. 94., arc fur bailiff's expenses 
and reovery of ,property concealed, agency,,Adv 

A horse died of disease. Furniture given to-nu 
'Expenses,. 4.16.=Ccairt fees, allowances to :hoof 
1 fees, 'cartage, advertising, etc. ., 

Expen4es, 43 )Qs. Od a=Court, fees, livery aff imp 
Expenses, 41 12s, Off, for Court fees, limliff 's.fpe 

mission, 42 2s. Od., remitted to insavenes wid 
J Expenses,48 Si. 64,, are bailiff's fees, Court 1§:e 
1 - 	&c. • Eurnithre g iven to insolvent.. 	, . 	: 	. 

Expellees gaid by Assign '  ee and still due,.£1.4s. ' 	• 	 '  mission, assets hav,ing, been,given tormsoi1  vellet• 
- 	Assets all sold by Sheriff, and nothing left Tor erc 
..Expenses. 41. 128. ,  Od.c.lOnrt and bailiff's tees, 
f Expenies, 	£40 Is. 9d.,—bailiff 's fees, keeper's 

"1 — Allowanec, stile charges; advertising,-  kc.—•-•—• 
• Ascots:Id-vim:to hksolvent. 

49 10 	6 	9 	6 	8 951 	34 78 	00 

ROBERT HAMILTON SEMPILL, Official Assignee. 
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	 f.Nsaittit EETATIffi. 

EETERN of the several Insolvent Estates assigned to the late Mt. ADAM WILSON, 
- 	- — 41m 

NAME. 
PLa Bantams. AMOUNTS, 

Liabilities. Assets. • Bee cited. rails 

£ 	s. 	d. £ 	s. 	d. £ 	s. 	d. £ 	S. 	d. 
Grace Thonins  	143 16 	1 200 
Penman Williath 	;. 	 65 	0 	0 

 
20 	0 	0 

Creg,o John Bourne  	455 12 10 115 14 15 	0 	0 226  
16 14 	G Ramsay and Burt ..  	2,122 17 	4 1,035 	2 20 0 0 

Stephens J. 11.  	289 	0 	0 270 	0 
White Henry 	 915 16 	6 10 	0 
Haviland Edwin 	646 	7 	2 202 	0 91 	2 	3 2 11 	2 
Murray Geo. Henry 258 10 	6 12 	0 
Bunts John . 149 	4 	4 6510 
Hart Abraham 1,472 10 10 95 	0 5491 417 	6 
Lloyd Joseph 	  523 	0 	0 323 	0 60' 0' 0 515 	G 
Brown William 	  42 	G 	3 60 
Edwards John. ...... 	....... 678 12 	4 361 	2 203 	0 	0 118 	8 	9 
Jones 	................ 131 	9 	5 31 	8 20 0 0 456  

19 	9 10 Egan Peter . 2,903 19 10 1,261 	7 76 19 	4 
Hordern Joseph 	  432 12 	4f 357 10 154 	0 	0 70 15 	5 
Bury H. D.. 19 	5 	0 13 	0 
Casey Archd. . 	 37 13 	7 17 	0 14 	0 	0 
Whiteman Thos. ..............  	144 14 	7 31 	0 10 	3 	0 1 13 	0 
Wormersly 	 ....... ....... • 	 127 	9 	4 72 	2 11 15 	1 100  

0 17 	0 Wood Charles 	  42 	6 	8 17 	0 2 19 	0 
Robertson John 1,267 	9 	1 3,220 	3 384 11 	6 86 	0 	1 
Smythe Willm. 1,049 10 10 1,509 	0 803 	1 	0 501 	9 11 
Paul Ann Chart. 	  115 18 	4 33 16 
Clark John ...... 	...... 	 209 10 10 6415 	4 78 	1 	6 274 
Denning Willi's. 51,6 	5 	1 118 15 82 16 	7 

 
74 10 11 

Tuckwell Eliz. 	  284 16 	7 74 15 19 10 	0 0 10 	0 
Merrill Rt. Dodge 	  No Schedule. 
Swan H. A. . 70 	2 11 31 15 
Robertson Chas. 839 15 	6 2000 2 19 	0 
Scott Chas, Geo. 175 12 	3 65 11 	4 
Graham Thos.. 626 	0 	0 290 	0 	0 30 	0 	0 83 	4 	6 
Dent Geo 364 	5 	3 36 0 	0 1 18 	0 
Ahern Wm. 	  86 	2 	6 13 10 	0 •• 	• • 	• • 
Brooks G. G. . 117 18 	6 17 	0 	0 
Sheffield Miry. 	...... . ...... 	 • 186 	4 	3 90 	0 	0 56 12 	0 936 
Bowman John 	  585 	8 	2 516 	9 	6 177 	5 	3 

 
466 

Hutchinson W. II. 	  141 	5 	7 10 0 	0 220 
Hayward W. 	..... 	........ 	 41 	9 	3 11 	4 	0 

 
540 

Bowen Martin.. 316 18 	0 49 	0 	0 
 

11 18 	4. Hardy Willm 	  87 18 	0 70 	0 	0 
Rivett Thos 	  No Schedule. 

 

6 14 	6 

33ridson Maths-. 93 10 	6 65 	5 	6 
Adams John 	. 150.0 	0 18 	0 	0 300 
Whiteman Sand. 	 72 	6 	6 10 	0 	0 

 
200 

Anderson J 	  79 14 	0 900 
 

24 	6 	9 Barnes P. J. 	......... 	  92 11 	7 
 

18 	6 	2 
Amess John 	  94 	7 	0 25 	0 	0 
Green G A 867 19 	9 288 15 11 33 19 	7 550 
Bibbey John  	No Schedule. 5 11 	0 

 
5 11 	0 

Whitworth R. P. 16 17 	7 300 •• • • .• 
Gregory Wm 505 	5 11 

 
24 	0 	0 0 	0 0 •. • • • • 

Davis and Horton No Schedule. 
Lockyer F M 	  143 	0 	0 25 0 0 5368 55 16 	8 
Henderson P. E...... ..........  	No Schedule. 
Brown Thos... .......  	52 17 	0 22 	0 	0 
Russell Jas 	 125 	9 	43 16 	0 	0 
Simon W. I 	 48 16 	0 7 10 	0 
Brown Tas. T. .............. 	 83 	2 	6 10 	0 0 2 19 	0 
Henderson II 	328 16 	6 63 	0 	0 244 10 	6 44 	8 	7 
Watkins W. H.. 	 820 11 	0 2316 15 	0 	0 
Cooke J. and Son 	.......... ...... 	3,792 18 	2 2,011 	I 11 806 16 	6 91•18 
Shearston Jno.. 	 137 14 	0 8868 1 10 	0 
Langan Rd 	317 	7 	0 11 	0 	0 
Wills R., senr  	110 16 	5 1 10 	0 
Reed John  	13 	0 	0 500 
Sergeant a II.  	8,764 	3 	0 

 
2,945 19 	6 2 12 	6 0 16 	6 

Hickey John  	352 11 	3 30 	0 	0 
Harris Thos. 	....... 	•  	46 	3 	0 41 15 0 6 11 	0 240 
Mann Alexr. 	 168 	0 	0 11 	9 	4 220 
Halket Alexr 	186 10 	0 174 	0 .0 
Robins Ann. ...... 	......... 	62 16 	0 500 
Walker J. A,  	L671 	G 	3 

 
491 17 	0 

Price K. 	 1,786 11 	8 1,120 	0 	0 
Smith Hugh 	. 	. 	 329 11 11 149 	1 	6 

 

201 16 	9 

 

91 17 	6 

Hayes C. D. 	 1,511 	8 10 50 	0 	0 
ISPLenehan J. W. 	 292 	0 	5 281 11 	8 
Jones and Palmer  	5,417 19 	7 69 	7 	0 
Vinson 	..........  	17 10 	0 3 50 
Gorman Wm  	58 2 6 • 17 	3 	3 

• 

Carried forward . 

This Includes Mortgages, Alloiettnees to In1301Ver4eer aud Court Fees. 

• L. 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 	 21. 

Official Assignee of Insolvent Estates, from 1st January, 1858, to 18th February, 1860. 

1 

1 

• 

COMMISSION 
TO OFFICIAL 

Assions. 
LAW COSTS. Divassi.s. 

£ 	s. 	d. 
...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 
10 11 	0 
3 	3 	0 
817 	4 

10 10 	0 

1 	1 	0 
220 
2 2 0 
220  

18 1 9 
39 10 	0 
...... 

7 18 	2 
858  
3 	0 	0 

• • 	• • 	• • 
2 	2 0 

5 	8 	6 
3 10 	0 

• • 	• • 	• • 
5 13 	3 

10 0 0 
220 

220 

2 0 0 
...... 

3 	3 	0 

380 

...... 

2160 

220  
12 	4 	G 

40 	G 10 

• • • • • • 
2 	2 	0 
'2 

	
20 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 
10 ' 1 10 

 
220  

Boo  

£ 	s. 	d. 	

• . 	

• • • • • • 

• • 	• • 	• • 
 • " • • • 

	

6 	0 0 
' ' " ' • 

.. •• • . 

—   	

	

6 	8 	2 

	

 	

•• • • • • 

• - 

 • • • • • • 

	

" • • • • 	

	

2 2 	0 	

	

 	

	

 	

	

 	

	

 	

	

' 112 	o 	o — 	. 

' 	£ 	s. 	a. , 
..... ... 
..... ... 

........ 
iss. 2a. 

4ta. 
Is. 110. 

2s.--20s. preferent. 
12s. Cid. 

73. 

105. preferent. 

Nil. 
Is. 

10s. 

7s. Gd. preferent. 

7s, 2.1. 
4s. 'Tad. 

s.Oirel.-20s.pref.  
Is. 6d. 

' 	..... ... 

... ..... 

........ 
ls. Sid. 

9s. 

55. 

..... ... 

. ...... . 
15s., & 20s. pref. 

3s. 7d. 
..... ... 

........ 

• • • • • • • • 

 	

1 

1  

Mr. Russel, solicitor. 

I 
Paid Government for publican's license. 
Mr. Wright, solicitor. 

I 

Mr. Wright, solicitor. 

. 

Mr. Wright, solicitor. 
. 231 12 10 	 

-- 



Name. 
Prat scareett. 

Received. 

AMOUNTS. 

Raid.* Liabilities. I 	Assets. 

Brought forward 
s. d. 	s. 	d. 	£ 	s. 	d. s. 	d. 

Nicholson Thos 1,312 0 0 	155 	6 	0 	60 	4 	1 156  
Matthews J A 4,0"4 10 4 	406 10 10 	2315 0 10 	6 
West Josiah 244 15 5 	106 	4 	0 	30 	6 	0 16 11 	0 
Canty Jeremiah 772 9 4 	191 11 	4 
Mobbs John 1,175 0 0 	672 15 11 • ' " •• 

Burrows F. 	......... ....... ..... 1,411 0 0 	1,241 	7 	5 80 	0 	0 

Tierney Michl. 	  350 , 11 0 	259 	0 	0 
Phillips John 	... ...... ... ......... ... l 	121 2 3 	800  
Penrose Wm. 87 15 0 21 11 	0 
Roberts J. R. 	. ........ .. 	....... 226 11 11 78 	3 	0 
Falls Jns 149 0 0 28 	3 	0 2 16 	0 	100  
Coles H. P 	  6,941 17 0 30 	0 	0 
Cameron J 37 6 24, 20 	0 	0 
Hart 1'. Augusta 	  126 1 5 500  
Newton W. 11 	  35 7 6 25 15 	0 
Swift Q. V. _ ...... ...... ....... ..... 219 5 10 31 	0 	0 80 0 0 3 12 	8 
Deacon 1'. M. 418 7 0 231 	7 	6 13 10 	0 3 18 	6 
Hill Norris 	  650 18 2 86 	0 	0 •• •• • • 
Malone Henry ......... 	 ..... 654 18 0 588 G 2 220 10 	9 166 14 	8 

Edwards Edward 1,155 13 0 	1,942 13 	7 1,588 	3 	1 350 18 	7 
MareTave P. H.. 166 17 0 	36 17 	4 
Iiewett Owen 	  620 12 9 	111 11 	0 sao 	o 	o Wig 15 	0 
SI flyer Jas.. 67 12 6 	16 	0 	0 
:Muriel Robt. (Private) 	 
Miller 

1,012 19 3 	1.219 	3 149 19 	3• 
750 0 0 	410 	0 	0 —. 	(Ditto) 

Muriel and Miller ..... ..... ....... ... 	10,773 15 7 	6,677 13 	5 2,011 . 1 	0 189 	8 	
g Thampson IL 0... ....... . 	 ...... 	243 9 0 	177 	6 	0 15 	7 	6 

Hamilton John . 	 . . . 	601 9 0 187 	0 	0 	100 	00 616 
Parker George 	  I 	273 14 2 30 	0 	0 	900  
Lilly E. J. 431 16 1 360 	5 	0 
Boniface B. B 	  505 19 0 116 18 	2 24 	4 	6 500  
M'Arialty Geo 884 16 6 180 	0 	0 113 11 10 15 	9 	6 
131umley Jas. 	. — 	......... ........... 70 19 4 800  
Lambounie Sarah.  ... ....... ...... .... 	55 0 0 15 	0 	0 
Herman F. L.... 	  ..... 219 0 0 42 	0 	0 34 	7 	9 200  
Mais H. C. 	  ..... 
Williams Wm..... ....... .. ...... 

... 
..... 

138 
88 

12 
3 

8 
6 

40 	2 	0 
12 	0 	0 

13 10 	0 

Coventry Audw. 	  2,264 1 11 2,151 10 	0 	995 19 	4 S 
Green Jas. 	  511 15 0 121 	5 	0 	166 11 	3 28 	3 	6 
Mance Thos. 96 6 4 37 	0 	0 32 15 	0 II 	11 	6 
Doran John 	  291 10 0 152 18 	4 25 13 	0 7 14 	0 
Taylor W. S. 	....... ................ . 	1,766 17 6 477 18 	9 292 11 	7 30 18 	0 
Cameron A. C. 35 9 2 400  
Baker T. 0 	  506 0 0 480 	3 	I 
Smith and Pattison 	  3,117 0 0 1,763 15 	6 1,035 17 	6 972 	9 	0 
Gorman John 
Maher Thus . 

3,063 
157 

15 
0 

4  
0 

	

1,538 12 	0 
15 	0 	0 

201 16 	9 71 17 	6 

CutIthertson J. B. . 112 5 0 300  
Minors 3 358 17 6 327 	0 	0 
Tickle John 	  256 G G 81 14 	5 33 	1 	8 1 	4 	.0 
Peach N. F.. 287 9 3 150 17 	6 
Da Cosh F. G. 
Cilium i us P. 	. 	 161 

88 
11 
3 

0 
9 

500  
25 18 	9 366 

Gina non John 118 0 0 300  
Rawlings E. 	. . .. ... ... ...... ........ 4,739 3 6 4,713 17 	0 1 16 	6 1 16 	0 
Carmichael David . 443 11 2 40 0 0 300  
Moecs ir  
Collins Saml. 

12.5 
o4 

0 
3 

0 
0 

35 	0 	0 
900  

Steenson Jas. 2,143 17 2 1,774 	8 	6 a 68 	9 11 
M'Donagh L. 	  190 15 8 143 	2 	8 13 	6 	9 3 14 	0 
Marty-n and Schroder 	

1 ' 
4,944 17 1 1,779 13 	G 175 10 10 170  

Glauham J. O. 	 ......... 600 7 5 470 	0 0 183 	8 	5 36 	411 
Roche C 	W. 	....... ............ ..... 73 G 9 8 10 	0 11 0  
Blaney W. 	. 67 10 0 500  
11I'Mullen Weld.. 81 6 9 7 	0.0 
Jerrell Wm. 538 .9 1 436 15 	0 • 
Everingliam Wm. 	 ...... .. 350 4 0 28 	6 . 0 6 	0 ' o • 2 10 	0 

Royal Peter. .......... 	...... 9,219 14 9 9,419 14 	0 •397 19 	4 1611 	9 i 5 

Cutcliffe 	. 	  280 0 8 20 	00 
Capper F. H. J.. 	. . 488 18 0 	98 10 	0 12 	0 	0 

Carried forward 

878 

4 

INSOLVENT ESTATES. 

RETURN, /cc. 

• See Note, page 20. 
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—Continued. 

    

COMMISSION 
TO OFFICIAL 
Assiases. 

LAW COSTS. DIVIDENDS. &atm& 

£ 	s. 	d. £ 	s. d. 
231 12 10 

5 0 	1 ...... 7d. 
2 11 10 us. 7d. 
307 ...... ' • • ' " • ' 	

...... ...... ... 	 
Mr. Wright, solicitor, 	for 	expenses of action on 

property secured (action withdrawn) ; cash from ...... 80 	0 0 	 Melbourne to pay 	the expenses from Messrs. 
Edwards and Co. 

...... 
...... • • •• • • • • 

,..... ......• 	
...... 

1160  
.. 	 

" " • ...... 
...... 
...... 	

11 	0 	0 10s. 
220  

...... ..... 	 
f Ur. Wright, solicitor. Rent and supplies to early on 11 	6 	4 

39 10 	2 f 
I 

6 12 
20 12 

203 	1 

8 
5 

10 

18. 
1 	Is. l 

.1 	the Inn—large. 
i Mr. l'araton, solicitor. 
k Milford and Cary, solicitors. 

...... 
32 10 	0 • ' " " 20 	1 0 

• • 	• • 	• • 	• • 	 Stenhouse and Hardy, solicitors. 
" • ' " 9 13 	8 "" " .. 	.... 

.,   	  A dividend since Mr. Wilson's death. 

127 	5 	0 13 19 11 4s. Mr. Wright, solicitor. 
3 	3 	0 3 10 0 .. 	 Mr. Wright, solicitor. 

10 	0 	0 ...... ls. la& 
220 ... 	 

...... 
2 	8 	5 

...... 

.. 	.. 	.. • • • " • • ' .. 	,... 	. Paid Miss 	Donnison, 	by direction 	of 	creditors, 
7 13 	3 3 11 2 2s. 00. Mr. Wright, solicitor. 	 (£16 7s.1d. 

• • 	• • 	• • ...... 	

3 	8 	9 •• 	• • 	• • 14s. lid. pref. 
1 10 0 13s. lod. pref. 

...... ...... ... 	 
49 	2 	G 2 	6 10 4s. Ild. Mr. Wright, solicitor. 
811 	6 ...... 4s. 
5 	5 	6 12 	2 2 85. 11d. Mr. Wright, solicitor. 
2 	2 	9 2s. 4frd. 
610 	9 ...... 18s. 

...... ...... . 	 
Effects all mortgaged. 

i Mr. Want, solicitor. Large amount paid on mort- 51 	3 	6 5 1 1 2s. 5d. 1 	gage, Lewis Marks. 
10 	1 10 112 	0 0 Mr. Wright, solicitor. 

'' • • " 	
...... 	 All mortgaged. 

2 14 	0 
...... 	 Mortgaged. 
. • 	• • 	• . ...... .. 	 
220 ...... 

...... ...... • • 	• • • • - • ... 	 
300  

.. 
.... 	. • • 	• • 	• • 	27 19 	9 2 	0 8 2;.54d. Mr. Wright, solicitor. 
3130 ld. 
8 	7 11 33 16 6 8s. f Mr. Hart, solicitor. Compulsory sequestration; nearly 

k 	all book debts not recovered. 
13 16 	9 6i.d. 
110  

.. 	... ...... ..... • 	• • 
... 	 

.. -... —.... ..... 	 
2 10 	0 ...... 

A contract in a building was carried on by the 
20 	2 	3 ...... Official Assignee per direction of the creditors, and 

the sum of £91 12s. 4d. is due the Official Assignee. 
• • • 220  

723 	6 	2 •• 	• 



Moir. 

	

Brought forward 	 
M'Clelland J 
n'Evoy M 	  
Leeder John 	  
Nixon Thos 
Rowley T., junr........ ........ 1 	 
Pearce Thos 

bunlop Win 	

. 
Sinclair Thos 

iennings Jno ..... • ..... ........ 	 
rlumb Wm. 	  
Ilauley Robt. 
Wright J 
Waugh Alexr. 	  
Italic H E 

truiliTylituincaolnPhAndw. . 
llolesworth W. F 
Beaver 3. and c 	  

ritehard c. P. .............. 	 

	

uhusson C. J. F. ............. , 	 
Nott John 	' 
firey Jean . 	  
Fishbuni W. H.... ....... L. ...... 	 

I 
.

1-Rac John........................ 
. 

Newbourn 11.3. . 
Balt Lewis . 
blurphy Sarni. 

i°oll'artinolin 
Save r B T. 

f.  revs Jas. 

Paster. Peo 
Williams F. W. 	  

i 	

• 

Sobinson B 	  
Cavanagh W. W • 

i 
Carney John 	  

banavan P 
Ovrnes Thos 
Pibbes Willits ...... .... ...... ..: 	 
FLIP Martin 
`Arthur Jas. 
Parsed John 
Wheatley — ... .. 	 1  
■ 	. 

Total 	£, 

No Schedule.  

,RETURNS, 

PER Spumous, Amount. 	• 
_ 

Assets. 	Received.. 	I 	Paid • 

£ 	S. 	5. . 	s. 	d. s. 	5. £ 	s.d.  

173 	7 	1 21 	4 	0 
336 	0 	6 •207 	0 	0 
205 	7 	9 80 	9 207 	9 311 
43 	611 •9 	0 	0 

257 	7 	G 170 	0 	0 43 	2 	3 2 19 
186 	0 	7 74 	0 	0 516 	4 0 	7 	0 
999 	8 	4 620 	0 	0 36 	1 	3 	28 	9 	9 
36 12 	1: 11 19 	6 
61 10 	0 21 	0 	0 158 6 	• 9130  
49 13 	7 800  

224 10 	0 • 59 	0 	0 219 	6 
39 11 	1 	• 20 17 	0 •2 	S 	6 	0 	3 	0 

309 	8 	4 	172 	2 	9 139 	G 11 	5 18 	6 
258 	7 	0 	66 	0 	0 
422 10 	5 	104 11 	8 

1 95 17 	0 	10 	0 	0 
103 	1 	6 40 	0 	0 2400 I 	250  
416 10 11 32; 	5 	0 128 16 10 I 	711 	0 
235 	1 	0 95 	0 	0 75. 0 	0 1 	2 	0 	0 
466 13 	6 97 	0 	0 -3 	3 	0 2 	0 	1 	0 

7,042 	7 	0 20 	0 	0 500 	1 	...... 
149 	4 	0 43 	6 	0 19 	00 	617 	6 
657 	1 	2 530 	S 	0 291 	6 	4 6 	2 	3 
262 12 	9 Si 16 	0 ...... 
25 	8 	0 300  

188 13 	5 14 11 	0 
43 	7 11 3 10 	0 

574 11 10 540 00 138 15 	7 68 17 	0 
428 13 	6 332 19 10 67 	9 4 	5 	8 
123 	0 	0 40 	0 0 28 13 	0 21 	8 	4 

2,287 12 	6 1,748 	0 	0 

300  
No Schedule. 

250 	6 	3 196 	0 	0 52 18 	6 500  

20,15752 151  116  

90 	0 0 6 17 	0 62 15 	0 	53 17 	4 
30,103 	0 • 0 494 	2 	3 436 13 	1 

72 	9 	0 7 17 	9 1 11 
105 08  18747  40 0 0 

No Schedule. 

No Schedule. 
13,620 	3 10 13,530 IS 	6 538 	1 	0 322 19 	0 

98 11 	o 13 10 	0 

880 

94 
	

iNSOLVENT' ESTA.TE S. 

* See Note, page 20. 

I 	N. R—In several of these estates dividends-have been declared since the late Mr. Wilson's death. Many of the estates 
made having under the securities. 

Sydney, 19 April, 1861. 
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IN8OINENT 2STATES: 	 25 

—Continued. 

TO OFFICIAL 
ASSIONEE. 

LAW COSTS. DIVIDENDS, 
. 

REMARKS. 

1—  
Z 	s. 	d. £ s. 4. 

728 	6 	2 
.. 

........ 
2 2 0 is. Kid. 

1 	6 	3 nd. 
330  
550  • • • • • • ........ 

...... ........ 
220 ...... 	. 

219 	6 ........ 
256 .... 	• • 	. 

30 10 	0 6s. 10*(1. 
...... • • • • • • 

...... ........ 
280 • • 	• • • • . 33s. 7i4. 
1066 55.84. 
7100 2s. 
320  
6 00  
380  

14 11 	3 Os. 
...... ...... • • 	• ..... 
—.... •• • • • • • • 
...... .. ...... 
...... •• • • • • • • 

6 18 	9 £68 17s. was paid to Mr. Sharp (rent). 
614 	7 ........ 
2 2 	0 5 2 8 

• • • 	• • 	• • 

Mr. Fitzhardinge, solicitor, 
The BilVleofgso4stpsrosepnetrtoyurthas litirnrEngln 

Mackenzie; 
in equity; nofyi  j a 

ids• to pay it. 
...... • • 

" " • "• 
} 	6 	5 	6 ...... J The sum of £53 17s. a was paid to Mr. Baptist by 

1 	direction of creditors. 
f Mr. Deniehy, solicitor ; mortgaged money repaid 24 	1 	1 10 0 0 1 	included in expenses. 

220  
..... ... 

28 12 	6 186 9 6 ........ Solicitors, Messrs. Wise, Wright, Holroyd, and Isaacs. 
...... . ..... 

£6894 	4 ...... ........ 

had the assets secured under mortgage, bill of sale, or assignment, the expenses in.many cams are nominal, by payment p,do  

J. P. MACKENZIE, 
Official Assignee of the above Estates.— 

(Assigned to me at the death of ,  the late 
Adam Wilson, Official Assignee.) 

243:4): 
.• • • .3 

■•■•••••■••.■ 
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26L, 	 INSWOIANT ar/944:17] 
io-3— 

B.ETUB,NS-callealar-by-the..LNATatswia A.88EM3LY,„ 

NAuss es Esursu. 
FPI scazard. - • ' . 

Basin= 
— - 

, 	oecariorasd. 
AND MT= 
3carasass. 

, 
• - - - 	- 	• 	- - 	- Ifibilitteis. Assets. 	- 

L 	s. 	a- . 	L 	S.. a• i 	4 	s.. 	a. d. 
Abbott Sylvituus 	 . 

brahams Willm. 2,737 	0 	0' 2,211 	0 	0 , 944 : g: 9 , 	90  
1 

towsmith %Um. 

rkins John 	....... ........  	 

927 15 	o i,  
No ScheA 

	

, . 9 .0 	o 

	

ule 6141 . 	' 

g015. 	6 
35 10 7 i  

p 0 6 

2 10 . o 
• 

' 
bissland John 	  74 	7 	0 52 4 - 0 . 	11 	7-10 2 19 	0 
t ...ttorn„,nttpLaext 

	

327 12 	9, 
3,408 	3 	3 ,  

50 0 0 
2;307 0 	0 

i 	 
1 	18 	1 	6 

...... 	• 
'4 12 	0 

Byrne Sylvester ......... ............. 623 	1 	6 _ 71 18,- 0 ' 	61 	8 	G 4Th 	3 / 
Reattie, W. W, 86 	6 	6: 
Bubb Joshua 	............. ........... 200 19 11; •	 

rown Geo. Willm. 
ailie John 	  

1 

	

5,447 	5 	6, 

	

933 	7 	6 
g97 3,.15 	6 
470 16 	0 

2,140. 5 	7 
' 	178 15 11 

...... 
20 14 0 
.,s IA 	7 

Booth Thomas 169 17 	6 . .3739 11.0 	0 • .340 
juinbrigg  Sarah 62 	3 	9' 	31 10 	0 

.. ‘ t 

Ilteaucharnp IL IL 	  130 17 	4 , 	65 '8 	6 .,.... ....... 

4 
Bradley Peter ..... ......... 	... 445 	0 	0 :221. 	7, 0 ....... ...... 

• ... 

ecke Peen Aug. 	,....... .. • 	• .... 484 	5 11 ' 48 	2 	6 . 1..... 
. ' 

BroWti Joseph 	 I  355 10 	0 	• '7615- 0 12.0 	0 .4 	7 	6 
Brown Wilim 	  168 1 4 10 	155 	0 	0 18 12 	9 510 	3 
iurnett Thos. lo No Schedule fila. 60 0 0 L 5 6 1  
Brown Rich& 	 , — 1,238 	1 	3 655.14 	0 185 18 	9 11 12 	7 
Booth John . 	-. 	• 	• 61613 	0 30 0 0 --,.. 
13utters Duncan . 	 ' 	' lad ' 	9,114 ' 14 10 0 
i • . 
Bland U. S. 1,943 	3 	6 1,327 13 	1 

	

212 16 	1 , 	.. .24 	8 	9 

ilurt W. 	. 395 	6 	9 24 10 	0 
Birch Geo. 	  1,041 10 	1 864 	0 	8 ...... , 
Barker Arthur 	. .... ' ....... ; 	 853 2 0 
Brewer Francis . 144 	1 	4 130 	0 	0 , 
Parke Robt. 213 	9 10 47 11 	8 ...... 	' 

Crowley John. 	... ...... 	  .. 	.419 11 _ 7 , _ 16,8_0 	0 27 	3 10 366  

Charlow Robt. 	  59 17 	6 2100 963  226 
Cripps O. J. 	......... ...... ..... 	 260 19 	1 214 9 9 17 14 	0 266  
Cunniaghani 36 19 	7 1 	0 	0 

. Champion John 	, .. 	r 	. 	; 308, 7 	0 91 15 	0 12 12 	6 0 4 6 

Casey•W11114. Fdtk. 	•: . .it..:-. :  .. • ....... 1,077 11 10 800 	4 11 408 16 	0 40 	7 11 
ColemaCi Yale • ''...:V.: .. ;: 1•.i.i.J.R.:lte•,.. 220 	0 	0 10 0 0 3 5 0 1 15 	0 
Cripps James 	  136 	0 0 75 13 	0 •..... 

Cahill Michael 	..... ............. 	 1,732 	9 	0 1,680 	0 	0 ...... • . •• .. 

Cantwell Thomas 6 „8,11 51 15 	0 3 	8 	6 

Cooper Chr. 	 ., 13,182 12 	0 7,695 17 	0 182 12 	8 
Cootes Joseph 	 . 113 12 	6 67 0 0 33 14 	9 5 3 2 
Crux Arthur 832 	2 	6i 570 0 6 139 	810 13 	1 	0 
Creig,h John 223 	5 	6 111 	0 	0 ...... ...... 

Crook Saml. 4,529 13 	8 2,77118 	0 54 7 4 115 	0 

Crane Honry 	  239 	0 	6 26 0 0 ...... 
Church James 63 8 10 6 	1 	0 
Cohen R. B. 	  415 19 	0 40 0 0 • . •• • • 
Cooper J. E. 	. 	... . 185 1G 10 ...... 
Colliver Louisa 	  107 	7 .6 20 0 0 di...U.!, 

Carried forward 	 ...... ...... 277 	2 	2 
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PRICOAPNAIKETP.§. 

nit ;re-1MM" commencing i January, 1858, and ending 30 June, 1860. 
1 I 	

I 

0117 'I • 	I 	, . 
IIIIIMISOF, ' 

OFFICIAL ASEICINFS 

-..... 

am r....a 
TAW cons. 

. 	... . 
-- 

i 
-- 	-. 

t] 	■J 	 RZ3I4116/1. 
_ 

- 	- 
IIIIVLIII 

. 	2 	Z2 s. 	f. 

	

 	, 
53 	2 5 

• • 	3' 	3 	13 

• • • a ' 	3 	0 

	

 	1 

,. 	4. 	1 	9, 

-1 'Ll'• • • 	1 	- 	
 • 

. -j93 4 	E 
, 8 	9 	o . 	- .. 
2 2 0 

. 	• 

. 	 

tit%, 	1 	' 

di 

01 Cl 	4 	6L 
q 	o b 

11 	o 	0 

- ill. 0 	0 
. 

I 

 •  	 1 
9 	fa 	3  
i• I 0 

1 	5 

—29 - 8  r 

	

110 	0 
... 	.. 

" •• ' • ,r ::: 	

....e. 	9 	0 
• . " " 

i 1' 	026 19 	8 

Ed I 

I 
(..1.1-• • • • 	, 

1 4 	2 	Q ,  

 i. ......

1 0 •1'.2*" 

. , .. ...... 

" 	33- 17 

. 	...... 
J 	 

1 	'T t • • • 
• • • • .• 

•L 	Cr 	

...... 

	

" "•• 	

u 	• 
- .... 

. i 13 

r.,:.o 	 

! 

•• • • •• ' 
' • •• • • 

f 	• ' 63 	4 
t 	26 12 

. 
 	I 

_ , 	 
1 	. 	, 	. (,, . 	. 
i 	

 i 	

: 1  .::  	, 

I 
..... 	.- 	i 

" •" • 

.  

' 	 
)/ 

a 	'ilk 	 

I 
csi 	itt: 

47 	0 	

0 .2P41  	

&Lig 	 

, 

0 

1 
2'
7 

i 

f. 
'. 

. 

........ 
451. ;Dil l 

........, 
- gos. 

„ 20s. 
2id. 

........ 

	

- 	 ' 

10s.•6#.1. 
20s. 

7d 

	

n 	t 
'` • " • • • 

i 	.1 E..... 
' 	• 

• • • • • • • •

- 20i. 
71t. 14.1 
is. 424. . • 4  

is. i. fro. 

	

. 	.. 
........ 

	

'‘, 	• 	`. 
Is: wia. 

........ 

•" • • : • • 
.... 	... a 

1,  1'  
- , 

2s. td. 

	

0 	IC, 

	

10 	ffis. 5d. 

	

0 	181. 

i  . i. 	, . ?,ps.  

6. lon.con: 
..:';'_ .A.LRJ , ; 

	

' 	1 1/2 't  
. Ds.  

	

€ 	.- 
0 In 
a :.•c/ 

	

) 	• '",,t.  

	

0 	•!,' • ' • • • 

) 	•Q • 
 4 

	

,1 	143 

•310,•zri:t 

3 .0 	 

71422;2   	

0 .)A . .. 	 

	

 	! 

	 ^ 

	 V 

20salref.  

/ 
., 

, 

I  

I 	' 

4 
ti 
'' 
.• 

1'' 
. 

I 

.) 
„ 

. 
i 	e 

3 

' 
1 	1- 

J 
--ii 
--): 

6 

's 

i: 

7 

0 

0 

- 

. Clothes 

{Paid tax 

	

1 	sequestration. ... 
Mortgaged. 

- Clothes 
... 13ip of sale. 

f Insolvent 
kntents,'and 

'lind a 
I Clothes 

Ingrilvent 

. of Mr 

( Insolvent 

t recovered 
4  Iefridid 

fit, sum oil 
1 •Inshivent 

i Only furniture. 
Ptiruiture-and 
Pain Mr ., 	. 
Paid Mr. 

in an 
Furniture 

•I Thi§ e9tstte 

	

.t 	Rod nadrtgage; 
Fidriiiiiirfand 

r. (Clatlics 
Insolvent 

being 

	

i, 	tatsput 

	

0 	" / 

	

I 	W'  

	

7 	• It' 

	

- 	'" - 
amftged 1 r ' 

, uniturp 

' Esf ate ranker 
-- iiigee 

I  .1*. diviclhd 
Laora mo 

-f-Ittdd Mr. 

	

1 	against 
and having 

L 061442 
no part 
credit-s 

No ovail#ble 
/ Ftifnitur 

Ditto I  
) irtitnitur 

1:08(f.i.',  

'{One -fitirdbf•tlffinitrges*was 
or goods•hrought.away 

' Initolvent.residedattenoCove, 

(exceptingbook 

Wink dObtA!" 

j 	isecured-by-bill-of 

Selinduleimiexepresented.. 

sequestration, 

' Affithe effieots.socored.. 

„If Thiihas latmaiiddimat4tiensid e•sb!a 

14 Insolient.abseondod... 
01 	lititach...Tlao.receipt 

LThurbiturs.audolothes 	  

duly. 
inburred •hy the removal 

to a better market. 

, 
.coststi Mi. Wright, 'solicitor. 	Compulsory 

. 	.. 	. 	. 	: 	• 
(Of no value to estate.) 

. 	, 
and.furniture only.. 	. 	c'y 	i 	• 	' 

:Nothing available. 
lad 'only' his 'defiles ana'stilveying instru 

these were seized for rent. T 
i 
i 

i 
A cow never fothid 

horse (valued.03), died from atartatiod. 	IT  
and .ftwnitures .lien.upon for.rent. 	i 

was a. travelling. hawker. 	All Ids assOti 
debta)zektured, and in possessibri 

Palloon, Albury. 	No dates or mulicuMrs of 
' 

a hawker. 	The only asset was furniture 
sale; and all, labor( data, do 

; owing over several districts, 
property.and.lease.mortgaged. 	• 	• 	• 

Leasehold mortgaged. 
money recovered by the Official Assiguee 

absconded. 
, 	 . 

and apparel. 	'. 
clothes mdy, 	 , 	i 

Bart, .solieitor, tax eotittS of compulsors 
. 

Iinsband tax costs for recovering 1105 2s. 9 . 
action. 	. 

and clothes only. 
was released. •Assets.leastbold proport , 

remaining part being furn,iture. 
al:Mil:el 0We to insolvent by creditor . 

	

- 	.• 
And 'furniture only.. • 	, 	. 	. 	• 	• 	o 

was a pawnbroker ; the amount owing 
trifilioate to•riaalfe•  dirt, and Most of the 

do  .. ... . . . . .. ' 
. 	- 	- .. 	... 	.. 

i 	. 	 . 	. 

'. 	• 	L I 
'friend Of insolvent's to pa 

l'''''''' 	- 	' 	.- 	
i 

oo 	9 • 	 , 	,. 	,1)  g 	a 	 f w  bA, 	L.ok 	1 
and wehriii‘ 41W:tier • A eo 	de t 

by ha thiiifeehient -itigthr1be nud 
44 creditors. - ... 	... 	- i i., 	. 	1 	• -11 

declared. . A dispute as to' right tolii 

	

claitned.furniturs.“ 	.t 	f'• 	• ' 	II 

No.assets. could Ire found t 
was a dividend in in eztatk. 

7 f  I 

Pitzhazding, solicitor, for bringing1m actio 
M. Fi. Murnin. by directions of creditors 

lost it, Official Assignee bad to pa 
his,owal pocket, inJune.14.0, E.160 kit 
yet repaid to him. The action was by th 

directions. 
1..11 17•1 

assets. 
and alotLes only. • . • • •• • • • . • • 	:1  --, ,i 

ditto 	and tools of trade. 
.and4lothes, ..... ........... ir d.i."a3 

Erawfol bairm9 k 2#Ek 2 .,... , 
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IN8OTIVENI1' g8TX'Itt: 

r  AETURN,. &c. 

.............. - 	.. _ 	_ 
NAMES OF ESTATES. I BEAMED. 

I COORTFEET 
AND milt 
ItITENSti. 

•■•. 

1'...  

Liabilities. Mate. 

Brought forward. 

Dibley Ebenezer 	......... ........... 
Dunn Nichoclemus 	 
De Witt Gilbert 	  
Davidson James 

Dharris Joseph 

Dixon John 	  
Dorrington John 
Dunn John W. 
Davis John 	  

Dobson J. S. 	  

Dwyer Dennis 

Davis Hosea 	  
De Lannoy A. 	. . 	.. 	 
Dwyer J. J 	 
Dillon David 	....... ... ........ 
Dc Boos 0 
Ewen R. R. 	....... ........ ...... 

Furniful Robt. 	..... 	 

Frazer W. 	  
Foley W. H. 	  

Fryer J. R.. 

Fitzpatrick Phillip 
I ancett Benln. 	 . 
Pairbrother Edwd 	  
Guard J. 

Goldfinch T. B. 	.. ........... ......... 

•(Hassock Aridly. ............ .......... 
Goldring, H. W. 	' 	 
Gibbes John 
Gurdou S.. 
Galbraith Thos 
Green J. G. 	  
Glasson Florence 	. 
Garty John ........... ............... 
Harris Thos. 
Hoch Aloes 
'lull James 	. 

Merrifield Henry 	  

Harris Bielid. 	  
Hayes Francis 	  
'Hackett Oliver 	. 	. 	 
Heffernan M. B. 
-Jewell M. M. 
,lieppie Peter 	. 
Lockett 0-. F. 
Lees T. J. 	........... ............... 
Lawlers J. 	  
Lennard Mattw. 	  
Lawrepeo Thos........... ....... 

Lay H. M. 	  

Love W. 
• . 	. 

Lewis W ' 	 . 
I 	I 

Carried forward 	 

.. 

. 

.. 
...... 

... 

...... 	.. 

• 

, 

..... 

. ... 

£ 	s., 	d. 

	

1,512 15, 	0 
220 	3 	0 
119 	0 	0 
851 11 	4 

526 10 0 

2,190 13 0 
931G 0 

690 2 9 
9270 

312 5 0 

No Schedule 

64 	9 	0 
28 15 	0 
56 11 	0 

192 10 	3 
108 	5 	7 
556 	7 	1 

660 	0 	0 

1,298 	6 	6 
20714 	6 

9,071 	5 	6 

142 	0 	2 
249 	0 	2 
151 	0 	0 

	

33 17 	9 

815 17 	0 

166 	2 	8 
5,770 16 	0 

231 16 	0 

	

32 15 	0 
963 10 	0 
156 191 9 

60 	6, 	0 
2,311 	110 

902 	7 	3 
427 	9 	0 
270 12 	1 

No schedule 

2,856 15' 0 
138 	1 	4 
792 10 	0 

	

58 16 	6 
6,986 12 	2 

186 14 	6 
253 	2.10 
189 	1 	0 
158 12 11 

• 66 	1 	11 

	

85 16 	6 

494 , 11: 7 

4,000 	0: 0 

	

58 	0. 0 

I 	s. 	d. 

	

1,450 	0 	p 

	

193 10 	0 

	

140 12 	6 

	

904 11 	8 

253 0 0 

10-  0 0 
77 0 0 

	

84 	6'O 
• 83 10 	b 

	

108 17 	6 

	

fled. 	1  

	

510 	b 
5 0 0 

	

12 	0 	0 

	

16 16 	0 

	

15 	0 	0 
98 14 104 

	

007 	00 

	

1,283 	1 	6 

	

28 	0 	0 

	

4,35318 	6 

	

12 	0 	0 

	

GS 	1 	6 

	

357 10 	0 

	

10 	0-0 • 

	

810 	00 

22 10 

	

2,591 	5 	p 

	

75. 0 	0 

	

1 10 	p 

	

1,147 14 	8 

	

51 	o 	o 
' 	3 	0 	0 

	

2,260 	0 	9 

	

94 	0 	b 

	

1@310 	0 

	

136 	0 	0 

	

filed. 	, 

	

3,317 .  2 	6 

	

27 	9 	0 

	

450 	0 	0 
• 1916 	6 

	

4,580 	0 	ö 

	

—5 ' 0 	g 

	

43 	0 
85 0 0 
3 0 0 

. 	,20, 0 	0 

	

35 	9 	t 

' 
I 

	

.656 	9 

	

„ 2,821,17 	6 
.. 	. 	. 	' 

, 	35 	0 	0 

£ 	s. 	a. 

- 	20' 0 	0 
--82 	5 	p 

. 	 

. 	. 

4 	6 	p 
At 2 5 

	

, — 17" 8 	5 
. 	• 

	

13 17 	6 . 	. 	. 

" 	 

, 
8 	0 	0 

	

' 61 10 	9 

	

. 69 19 	6 

	

.658 15 	8 

	

011 	6 

	

'8913 	0 

•.2610 	0 

, 

20 	0 	0 

500 	6 	4 
74 	8 11 

931 	4 	3 

	

18 14 	6 

. 	.59 	8 	i 

.! 	. 	. 

	

'1619 	9 

' 	 

1,557 17 11 
" 	 

" ..o .  in 
• ' 	 

42 	5 	2 
• . .....  	, 

	

27 18 	9 . 

n 	ti 

. -  	, 

	

.432. 6 	9 
„ , 	. 	. 

	

.. 3113 	0  

2 	s. 	d. 

6 14 	8 
8 	9 	b 

- 	.5 	9 	0 
15 17 	6 

3 	2 	0 

...... 

•••••• 

0 15 	ed 
...... 

315 	6 

. 	3,16 	0 

19 10 	6 

20 	7 	9 

	

317 	0 

	

3 	7 	6 
. 	- 

0 15 
19 11 11 

	

2 	3 

11 	0 	1 
ro 15 

18 16 

4 4 

r 

...... 

26 18 
. 	.... ...... 

217 

1 15 

• . c.-... 

• 4 13 
- 	— 

— 

t 

 	e % 

t 

0 

0 

I 

t 



885 

ISistrrivItkiAtift 

—Clontinhect.." 

Connssiox, 
041143.1141154Gt012. Law Cons. 

_ 

- tivmnre. 	- utataxi. 
4 

S. 	a. 

	

, 	, 	,. 

	

2,15 	6 
6 5 0 	

' 

• • • • • • 

• • • • • • 

	

1 	0 	0 

	

1 16 	2 

	

1 	0 	0 

Nil, Forgotten. 

• 

	

' • •" • 	

	

 	

	

 	

	

2 	2 0 	

	

6 	5 	1 

	

8 15 	0 

	

32 18 	0 

	

0 11 	6 

	

8 	0 0 

2130 

•• • • • • 

	

2 	6 	2 

	

,1 	2 	0 
k o o 

9 0 
" • • • • 

	

46 14 	4 

	

_ 3 	3 	0• 
. 	.4 19 	0. 

	

2 12 	0 

	

74 	3 	0 

	

p . 19 	0 

 	I 

	

9 	p• 

	

1 13 	0 
1 

I 

	

24 10 	0 

.._ _ ._.. 

t 	84 4. 

...... 

.. .... 
' • • • • • 

" " " 

• • • • • • 

•• • • • • 

...... 

" • ' • • 

2 	2 0 

20 	0 	0 

 ...... 
...... 
...... 

• • • • ' • 

' • '• • • 
18 12 	0 

" " • • .::... 

•.., .. 

37 	0  

. 

.:. 	.. 

....... 

.. r... 	' 

', 
• 

• • • .• • 

242' 2 	9  

...... 
 

20s. 
24d. 
n. ld. 

........ 

..... ... 

• • 	• • 	• • 	• • 

20s, 

........ 

20s, pref. 
........ 

f 20s. pref. 
14s. 6(1: con. 

........ 

9s. 
........ • 

1.5s. 
•• • • • • • • 
• • • • • • • - 

..., 	.... 
15. had 	l.  

20s. 
 	, 

20s. pref. 

, 	10. 2Id. 
•....• 	 

108.40. pre E 
1 

, 
..... • " 

f 20s. pref. 	
j  
I 

..... 	 

. 

.,.. 	  

, 

...: 	 , 
20s. pref 	 ' 
..... <, 	 f 
.....- 	 , 

i 	2s.• 2d, 	k 

20s. and 6s: 
• .,,. 	,. 

, 

	

I 	it 
, 	r;  6s, 

— 	— 

. 	. 	.. 
. 	, 

Land; being a leasehold moilgage of no value. , 	. 	. 
, 

I All assets mortgaged, and.  a debt said to be 'owing' 
1 	by Government disputedunder ft contract. 	t 

Confine in gaol. Assets being book debts, and no; 
dates or particulars furnished, Assignee informed,t 
not good. 

	

Clothes only. 	 ( 
I Only this trifling sum realized. 	Farming imple- . 

ments secured by lien. 
Leasehold ; no value. 	. 	 / 

f Paid off equitate mortgage, Wilson &Blair; nothing 
I 	left. 
{Paid off lien to H. M. Rusden ; balance paid Court? 
1 	fees. 

The insolvent always intoxicated ; much trouble has 
arisen in the discovery of some allotments, but the31, 
are all encumbered. Compulsory sequestration. 

. 	. 	 , 
Only clothes. r 
Only clothes and furniture. 	 I 

	

. 	 1 
(Paid Teale and Garrett, solicitors. Property (land); 

mortgaged; sold by mistake, and had to be re-eon'• 
yeyed. 1 . 	. 

Only abridle sold ;little property at Maitland phdged} 
Paid Mr. Husband, solicitor, Official Assignee, and 

F. Smith. 	Obtained a judgment for upwards 0e 
12,000; an appeal lodged—to go to England. 

, 	Clothes and furniture., 	. 	. . 	. 	. 	 I 
All mortgaged; and insolventls conduct bad. 	t 
Clothes. • All mortgaged, excepting license, which was de-

posited as alien;  this was paid off—£1213s. 4d. tot 
Mr. Vaughan, 

, 	Assets, only furniture; foes paid by insolvent. 	1 
/This estate • was assigned to -trustees, and by them, 

sequestrated ; another dividend WW1 payable. 	i•

7 Ditto, ditto. 

	

, 	. 
Clothes Only. 

i Paid Holden sin' 1PCirtliy, solicitors, for abstra.cti 
I. 	of iitle ;  and closing mortgages:- 

, 
'Clothes. 	' 	, 

Ditto. 	 1 
1 Assets secured. 	°Mein!' Assignee attempted 	to 

.1 	rocover but could not succeed. 
1.4nd at Waverley, mortgaged. 'Oro value to estate. ... . 1 Leasehold at Randwick ; secured and of , no adyan.4. 

1 	tage to estate; 	• , • 	• • 
, f "This man was n saddler, Mnitland, and absconded 
k 	nothing could be fourid. 	' 	. 

Paid Redd and-Dawson tax cost ; o ompulsoryseques 
. 	tration, 	 . 	, 

	

. 	..  
Furniture and Clothes only. 
Secured tp Mr. Waller under bill of sale. 	I 
Furniture and Clothes 	Insolvent paid fees. 
Bill of sale. 	No available assets. 
Clothes only. 
Clothes and furniture only: 	• 	 , 

, Furniture, valuedat, £30, given to insolvent. 	I 
Clothes only.' 	' 

" 	I Fumituritend clothes only. - - 	 v 
A writing clerk ; paid this by order of the Court. 	; 
By the directions of the creditors .5s. in the £ wasi 

accepted for the assets arid , preferent claims, to', 
. 	 be paid 20s. in the £ upon the goods and private' 

	

, 	. 
estate, 	i ( pernent 	n, cull, and all expenses being! 
also borne .by the purchaser. 

	

. 	, 	„ 	. 	.. 
Assets, salary owing to insolvent as elk at Alhury. 

sition •  cash 3s. in the £ " nnd ttv 	romisson• ariP0 	. 	. 	. 	• 	. 	4 p 
e notes, both dishonOred • and tfia IRMO man Men! 

I 

- 	•yent stains_ 	. 

Ti. 52046 10 ... 	. 
--, 

- 
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INODWANT,crisNitiTA 

RgTURN,ao. 

NO= or £.17.1,1111.1: 

Pas Seams, i 
„wane. 

coon Fro 
' Moo min 
lPfluL Liabilities. amts. 

Brought forward 	 
Lio884ing g'..,  
91-Dtarrnid' A.  - 	- 	; 	'  
M'llonald J. 	  
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Pullen W.. 
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Exasses. Liabilities. Assets. 

1 :6 	5. 	a. z 	s. 	a. e 	s. 	d. E 	s. 	a. 
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Richardson James 	.• 
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• .. ii 	5 	0 ' — 11 o 

Sykes A 	. 563 11 	0 3500 119 	8 04 6 
Spiers J. 	  60 13 	1 53 	7 	8 
Scranes W. 	, 96 	9 	9 20 	0 - 4 
Simmons Alfd 	  6400 4800 12 15 	0 100  
Smith Francis.. 	  389 14 	5 74 	8 	0 
SpierS Alexr 	, 2,470 	8 	6 2,110 	9 	9 186 18 	6 48 19 	0 
Savage Henry.. 21 	0 	0 1 10 	0 
Sintmonde C. 	  88 13 	6 22 5 0 
Skerritt J. 249 16 	6 10 0 	0 •. -... 
Stewart Geo. 	  111 	5 	9 9 	0 	0 115 	6 
Smith W., junr. 	  80 	1 	9 315 	0 - 
Selby W.A.. 975 	0 	0 700 00 169 	3 	6 22 18 	6 
Stewart Jas 	  44.5 17 	1 40 00 21 19 	0 286  
§eadent W. 	. 75 13 	9 15 10 	5 .• ... ...... 
Smith W 	  109 12 	2 5000 
Sturzaker J. 209 	0 	0 46 12 	6 ...... 
Steel Jas 	  12817 	oi 15 	0 	0 .. 	.... 
Smithwiek Peter 32 15 	G 1480 3500 1 5 6  
Smith Jas. 	. . 1,599 	1 	4 1,467 17 10 
Tibbey Chas. 	  2,405 11 11 65 	3 	6 35 19 	6 1 18 	6 
Tucker W. 	.......... .... ...... 	 282 11 	0 209 	50 70 0 0 413 	6 
tomlison J., 231 	1 11 32 16 	0 12 19 	0 0 17 	0 
Taylor G 	  491 	2 	9 57 15 	9 800  0 17 	0 
Turnbull G 122 13 	6 7500 41 11 	7 1100  
;Underwood R. 	  8,562 18 	2 12,136 18 	2 ...... •• • ... 

Vidler G. .......... ......., ........ 	 430 4 	0 643 	0 	0 • ' " " 
Whiteman J. 320 10 	7 73 	9 	5 •• • ... 
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Walton Edwd 	  2,561 	9 	9 2,050 	0 	0 345 	8 	3 18 12 	8 
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Wormleighton John . 864 14 10 576 	0 0 17 16 	0 2 io 	6 
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•• • • • • 

...... 

...... 

•• —• 

" •• " 

...... 

...... 

 . 

•• • • • • 
...... 
...... 

59 13 	4 

•• • •  • •  

	

i 47 14 	8 

	

28 17 	9 

•• • • ** ...... 
...... 
.. .. .. 
...... 

. 

• • • • — 

I id. 
...... 

" • • • • 
...... 

us. ld. 

1 
f 	20s. pref. 	1 

2s. 9id. con. f 

...... 

...... 

3s. id. 
J" 	20s. pref. 
1 	100. eon. 

...... 

...... 

12s. Md.. 

1s. 8d. 
5s. 

4s. 7d. 
5s. Cd. 
6s. Bid. 

" " • • 

•• " " 

...... 
f 	20a. prof. 
1 	Is. 4id. con. 

...... 

...... 

...... 

...... 
20s. pref. 
ea. Con. 

•"• • • 
12s. 9d. 
6s. 8,14. 

• • • • • • 

f 	20s. pref. 
1 3s. 2id. con. 

...... 

...... 
• • • • • • 

• • • • • • 

20s. 

• • 	•• • • Os. 

...... 

...... 

Clothes. 	 , 	, 0  . 

Furniture allowed by paying expenses 
f £38 of this amount are book debts, 	no particulars, 

i I date, or residence ; a country estate. ; 
Furniture and clothes. 
Only a publican's license and furniture. 
Released by a decree of Supreme Court. 
£36 16s. of the expenses was allowance to insolvent. 
Confine in gaol. 
Furniture and clothes. 
Clothes. 

I Clothes and a little furniture allowed by paying 
t 	expenses. 
Clothes. 
Paid Mr.S. Brown, taxcosts, compulsory sequestration 

Clothes and furniture. 
Clothes, furniture, and tools of trade. 
Book debt at Bathurst ; furniture and clothes. 
Clothes and furniture. 

f All mortgaged to Messrs. Tooth, and some of this 
1 	property made away with. 

Compromise by creditors. 

Clothes and furniture allowed. , 
f This estate is mixed up in Equity with family 
1, 	matters. 	Furniture secured by bill sale. 
1 Bill of sale over property, and sold by Mr. Baker, 
I 	auctioneer, for the security to Messrs. Tooth. 
j Furniture, wearing apparel, and book debt of a pub-
1 	hese not recoverable. 

Clothes only. 
- 

Clothes, and a little furniture. 
All this estate (excepting a little furniture) inert-

gaged to Revd. M. Scope; tried at auction, and-
not worth the advance upon it. 

Clothes only. 

f Law suit pending for the recovery of an asset, bill.,of ,  
1 	sale to two persons. ./ 	 - 

Landlord to the lease of premises secured to him. 
f Furniture and clothes only. 	Insolvent to arrange 
I with his landlord as to remaining and paying rent. 
f A life interest of insolvent in a house, no offer for it 
1 at auction. 

f Book debts collecting at Bathurst, nothing yet 
1 	realized. 
Furniture and clothes only. 

Ditto, 	ditto 
f Mr. Husband, solicitor, tax cost on action to recover 
1 	a debt. 

Mr. Abbout, solicitor, tax costs of nonsuit, in conse-
quence of Mr. Husband meeting with an accident, 
and did not appear, on the road to Berrima. (A 
case at Bothnia.) 

Only clothes and a little furniture. 

Only clothes. 
Dividend not yet declared; will be immediately. 
Dividend payable in a few days. 
Only clothes. 

Ditto. 
f Book debts ; nothing recovered. 	Clothes and fur- 
1 	niture. 
JA mariner; only a few nautical instruments ; given 
1 	to him. 

927 	210 ...... 

2447.--E 



NAMES OP EST.ITS& 

	

Brought forward 	 
Handley and Bunting ........ 	 
Hamilton G. 	  

;Joseph and Weil 	 

Jewell M. 31. 	 

IJones J. 1V. .. 

itic;e 3i3- 	" ...... 	'''''''' ' 	• t 	• ;Kahl. Path. 	 
i Keisson J. A 	 
Rollick Jno. 	  
Kilpatrick B. 	  
O'Ffeher T. 	  

Purkis and Lambert 

Prichard Joseph 	  
Blake Isidore Jno.. 	. 	 
Grover A. 	  

Simmons Joseph, 

Less Commission paid Trade Assignee 

890 

st0. . W.§914.vg%0T4Igi. 
R7UR.*T,, &a. 

, 	• 	... 	• 	• 

rER BOMMULD. 

	

Liabilities. 	Assets. 

	

£ s. 	£ s. d. 
•• • 

	

7Q19 	701 6 „ 

	

8,1$8 10 	7,763 .9 11 

17,215 11 t 121910. 7 7 

• 6,98612 2 	4,580 0 0 

	

516 1 10 	270 3 6 

	

1159 64 	— 96 00 
186 14 

	

220 9 4 	22 10 0 

	

166 4 8 	15 10 0 
835 7 2 "818 00 

	

L004 710 	, 591 5 0 

	

221 10 1(3 	161 9 
7430 8 1 /685 15 

67,014 14 8 35,921 11 2 

	

707 18 U 	667d3 0 

103-11 0 

18,025 11 ,  6 

• 123 8 7 , 
• • • • • • 
• • • • •  

COVRT Fits 
MID 0111111 
r!XFOM, 

s. d. ' 	£ s. d. 

27818 5 10.14 11 

14,874.  18 0 491.19 2 

74 19 0 2 0 0 
.10 0 0 318 9 

••. 

167 1410 •10 	7 •5 

1,161 .9 9 48, 8 4 

116 17 1 
•miitt.cke £42 
allowed to insolvent. 

667 1.0 0 • 38 	8 6 

6 0 11 

£1,763 15 2 

17 0 0 

30,300 0 0 

73, 19 11 

• 

I 	UMALIZED. 

" • ' 

' ll'ortegho milt debts that were sold alone was the estate of Purkis & Lambert, being 
Included in the expenses is allowances made to the inedivents, and also the Onuses foe for marling the confirmation 

The present mode of making cut the scheduginislaidi cieditors; for in many, or T may say, In. most eases, the available 
very remarktible, tbettuu asset (lellel and houses) plaint through 

ydney, 15 February, 1861. 

 

 

„ 
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INSOLVENT ESTATES. 	 35 

—Continued. 

COMMON, 
OPPICM ABSIONES. 

LIM CMS. DITIMT. REMARKS. 

i 	s. 
927 	2 

• • • • • • 
14 	0 

998 	6 

2 0 
2 	0 

...... 

8 7 

58 	3 

269 	0 

33 	7 

" • • " 
...... 

...... 

2 0 

d. 
10 

0 

9 

0 
0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

f 
1 

f 
1 

£ 	s. 

•• •• • • 
812 

134 	0 
5 	1 

...... 

...... 

...... 
• • • • • • 

• • • • • • 
" " " 

• ' " • ' 

18 	7 
73 5 

' • " • • 
• • • • • • 

d. 

0 

0 
2  

8 
0 

• • • • " 
4s. Hid. 

I 	13s. lid. 

...... 

...... 

20s. pref. 
7s. 3d. 

...... 
f 20s. pref.  
12i. 101d. con. 

...... 
2s. 10d. 

10(1. 
qd. 

5t h of id. 

2s. 10d. 

20s. con. 

(Furniture and book debts of apublican ; not recover-
1 	able. 

(

Mr. Fitzharding, tax costs in action to recover goods 
at New Zealand. 	One-third of the commission 
charged went to the Trade Assignee. 	The ex- 

J 	Tenses of agency and collection, and many charges 
1 	incidental to recovering assets that wore held by 

I parties, who for months would not surrender them, 
caused heavy rent, Sm. Insolvent's conduct 

l shameful. 
All the property mortgaged beyond its value. 
The only asset is a parcel of land and house secured 

I 	to a female, and examinations have been gone into 
respecting it. 

Ditto. 
Ditto. 
Furniture and clothes only. 

Ditto. 
This estate not yet closed, but soon will be. 

Clothes and furniture only. 

Paid  tax costs, Holden and 111`0arthy :  
Paid tax costs, Mr. Husband, for obtaining a decree 

of the Supreme Court for Fisher's estate to pay 
Purkis and Lambert's estate the dividend claimed; 
very much opposition offered. 

• 
.1This estate was released nearly directly after the 
t 	sequestration. 
Furniture and clothes only. 
This estate is preparing to pay off the liabilities, 

through Mr. M'Cullock, who has an assignment 
I. 	of all the property. 

2,314 	6 
332 15 

7 
7 

1,981 11 0 

the uncollected ones after declaring two dividends. The net amount is £97 
of plans of distribution, and the °berg a paid to Government for each and every meeting of creditors. 
assets are 4:ailment Tay nothing, and although introduced as assets secured either under mortgages or liens; and it is 
my hands rarely produce the advance , even if by private sale. 

J. P. MACKENZIE, 
Official Assignee. 

Sydney : Themes Illehanb, Government Printer.-1911. 

[Bice, 9d.] 
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1861. 

iitcsiolatibe 050embIv. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

-UNPAID MAGISTRACY. 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 8 March, 1861. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of 
New South Wales, dated 26 February, 1861, praying that His 
Excellency the Administrator of the Government would be pleased 
to cause to be laid upon the Table of this House,— 

" (1.) Returns made by the Clerks of Petty Sessions of the 
"several times, if at all, that the Unpaid Magistracy attended 
" at their respective Benches, during the year 1860. 
"(2.) A list of such places as have had Petitions forwarded to 
"the Honorable the Colonial Secretary, praying for Police 
" Magistrates, during the year 1860." 

(Mr. Heston.) 

RETURNS made by the Clerks of Petty Sessions of the several times, if at all, that the 
Unpaid Magistrates attended at their respective Benches, during the year 1860:— 

No such Returns made by Clerks of Petty SC6510118. 

(2.) 

LIST of Places for which Police Magistrates have been petitioned for, during the year 
1860, viz. :— 

1.—Condoblin. 
2.—Campbelltown and Appin. 
3.—Gunning and Collector. 
4.—Gunnedah. 
5.—Grafton. 
6.—Muswellbrook, 
7.—Tenterfield. 
8.—Tamworth. 

[Price, ld.1 	119— 
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1861. 

Rtgiolatibt 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

UNPAID MAGISTRACY. 

REPORT FROM THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

IN REFERENCE TO 

THE UNPAID MAGISTRACY; 

TOGETHER WITH THE 

PROCEEDINGS OF TIIE COMMITTEE, 

AND 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE. 

ORDERED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY TO BE PRINTED, 

22 March, 1861. 

SYDNEY: 
THOMAS RICHARDS, GOVERNMENT PRINTER, 

PHILLIP-STREET. 

1861. 
[Price, Scl.] 	112—A • 
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1861. 

EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES, No. 19. TUESDAY, 12 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

19. Unpaid Magistracy :—Mr. Meston moved, pursuant to notice,— 
(1.) That "a Select Committee be appointed" to inquire into the Working of tbeUnpaid 
Magistracy in the Administration of Justice, especially in the remote Districts of this 
Colony, and the necessity of appointing Police Magistrates where required in addition. 
(2.) That such Committee consist of Messrs. Robertson, Rusden, Morris, Windeyer, 
Wilson, Markham, Flett, Daniel, Lesley, and the Mover. 
Debate ensued. 
Mr. Rusden moved, That the Question be amended by the omission of the words "a 
" Select Committee be appointed," in section (1), with a view to the insertion in - 
their place of the words " it is the duty of the Government immediately"; and by 
the omission of the entire section (2). 
Debate continued. 
Question,—That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the Question—put 
and passed. 
Whereupon Original Question put and passed. 

VOTES, No. 27. TUESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
12 Unpaid Magistracy :—Mr. Meston moved, pursuant to notice, That an Address be 

presented to the Administrator of the Government, praying that Bis Excellency 
will cause to be laid upon the Table of this House :— 
(1.) Returns made by the Clerks of Petty Sessions of the several times, if at all, 
that the Unpaid Magistracy attended at their respective Benches during the year 1860. 
(2.) A List of such places as have had Petitions forwarded to the Honorable the 
Colonial Secretary, praying for Police Magistrates, during the year 1860. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES, No. 34. FRIDAY, 8 MAnca, 1861. 	 • 
1 Paper :—Mr. Robertson laid upon the Table, Return to Address in reference to Unpaid 

Magistracy, adopted, on motion of Mr. Meston on the 26th February last. 
Ordered to be printed, and referred to the Select Committee on Unpaid Magistracy, 
now sitting. 

VOTES, No. 35. TUESDAY, 12 MARCH„ 1861. 
3. Unpaid Magistracy :—Mr. Meston, with the concurrence of the louse, moved, without 

notice, That the Progress Report from the Select Committee appointed in the 
Session of 1856-7, on the Administration of Justice and Conduct of Official Business 
in Country Districts, together with the accompanying Minutes of Evidence, brought 
up 16th December, 1856, be referred to the Select Committee now sitting in 
reference to the Unpaid Magistracy. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES, No. 42. FRIDAY, 22 Maxim, 1861, 
2. Unpaid Magistracy :—Mr. Meston, as Chairman, brought up the Report from, and laid 

upon the Table the Minutes of Proceedings of, and Evidence taken before, the 
Select Committee, appointed on the 12th February last, to inquire into the 
Working of the Unpaid Magistracy in the Administration of Justice, especially in 
the remote Districts of this Colony, and the necessity of appointing Police Magis-
trates where required in addition. 
Ordered to be printed. 

CONTENTS. 

Extracts from the Votes and Proceedings.. 
•• 

PAGE. 

.. 	3 
Proceedings of the Committee •• .. •• .. 	6 
List of Witnesses 	.. •• .. .. 	8 
List of Appendix 	.. •• • • •• .. 	8 
Minutes of Evidence.. •• .. .• .. 	1 
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1 8 61. 

UNPAID MAGISTRACY. 

REPORT. 

THE SELECT COMMITTEE of the Legislative Assembly, appointed on the 
12th February last, " to inquire into the working of the Unpaid 
" Magistracy in the Administration of Justice, especially in the 
" remote Districts of this Colony, and the necessity of appointing 
" Police Magistrates where required in addition," and to whom were 
referred, on the 8th instant, a "Return to Address in reference to 
" Unpaid Magistracy," and, on the 12th, " the Progress Report from 
"the Select Committee appointed in the Session of 1856-7 on the 
" Administration of Justice and Conduct of Official Business in 
" Country Districts, together with the accompanying Minutes of 
" Evidence, brought up 16th December, 1856,"—have agreed to the 
following Report :— 

That, availing themselves of the evidence accompanying the 
Progress Report referred to them, and considering the urgency of arriving 
at speedy conclusions in consequence of the numerous complaints made 
from all quarters of the country, they have been induced to close their 
investigation earlier than was anticipated in the first instance. 

In the Progress Report of 1856 occurs the following graphic 
passage 	Your Committee find, that not only does there much incon- 

venience at present arise from the scarcity of Magistrates in some country 
" districts, and from inattention to their duties in others, occasioning post-
" ponements of cases under the Masters and Servants Act, the Vagrant 
" Act, and other laws, but great injustice also, and that greater regularity 
tc would follow the appointments of Stipendiary Magistrates." These 
sentiments your Committee readily indorse, and further add, that since the 
date of that Report, these irregularities have rather increased than 
diminished. 

From deaths, departures, and resignations, it appears that the actual 
number of country Magistrates have been much reduced, whereas in cities 
and towns they have been proportionally increased. 

And, while the names of many worthy gentlemen are upon the 
Commission, your Committee cannot avoid stating that magisterial 
nominations, in not a few instances, have been too indiscriminately made, 
and, frequently, more as honorary distinctions to individuals, than from 
the probability of social benefit to the community. 

They 
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They are further of opinion, and the evidence accords with their 
own convictions in showing, that, although exceptionable cases might be 
found, where justice may have been totally blind,—yet, upon the whole, 
the numerous complaints relative to the mil-administration of the laws, 
on country and other Benches, have arisen more from negligence or non-
attendance on the part of the resident Magistracy, than from any marked 
deficiencies of knowledge either in matters of law, right, or equity. 

Nor can they abstain from noticing, that, in the outlying districts, 
where Magistrates reside 50 miles or more from their respective Benches, 
as in the examples of Balranald and Warialda (letter from Bench at 

Vide page 21. the place last mentioned is appended in the Evidence), the deduction 
inevitably follows, that their regular attendance is next neighbour to 
impossibility. 

Your Committee also find that in various quarters of the country, 
persons competent to fulfil the duties of Justices in an adequate manner 
are very difficult to be obtained ; and the fact, that, within the past year, 
petitions or applications have been made to the Colonial Secretary 
for Stipendiary Magistrates, from Warialda, Tamworth, Condobolin, 
Campbelltown and Appin, Gunning and Collector, Gunnedah, Grafton, 
Muswellbrook, Tenterfleld and Glen Tunes, and that during the present 
year similar applications have been received from several other localities,—
clearly demonstrates, both the general dissatisfaction in the rural districts 
arising from the uncertain and irregular administration of justice by the 
Unpaid Magistracy; and, the necessity which exists for immediate reform. 

They therefore recommend- 
1. That a new Commission of the Peace should be issued, to be 

composed of men having at least a fair share of education 
and intelligence—men of worth and status, who will in 
very deed, fulfil those duties which they solemnly undertake 
to perform. 

2. That, if possible, a system should be devised for obtaining 
a regular attendance of Magistrates at the several Courts, 
either by their attendance in rotation, or in such other way 
as your Honorable House may deem calculated to facilitate 
a, more equitable administration of justice. 

3. That in those districts where a sufficient number of competent 
Magistrates (say six), cannot be obtained, itinerating 
Stipendiary Magistrates should be forthwith appointed. 

4. That, in order to remedy the many difficulties which attend 
on Courts of Petty Sessions in the outlying Districts 
(where materials for an Unpaid Magistracy do not exist), 
the appointment of Police Magistrate should be conferred 
on the Clerks of Petty Sessions, when competent. 

5. That the Clerks of Petty Sessions be empowered to take 
informations and grant summonses in all Civil and Cri-
minal cases, but in no instance to have the power of issuing 
Warrant. 

In 
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In conclusion, your Committee refrain from specifying more parti-
cularly those places where Stipendiary Magistrates may be required, and 
whether these should hold single or double powers, leaving the several 

,details for the further consideration of your Honorable House ; but they 
cannot omit their earnest recommendation that active measures be 
immediately taken to place the Courts of Betty Sessions in the rural, and 
especially the remoter districts on a more efficient basis than that upon 
which they are so defectively constituted at present,—in order to facilitate 
the better administration of justice, and to promote peace, contentment, 
and obedience to the laws amongst all orders of the widely-spread commu-
nity of New South Wales. 

ROBT. MESTON, 
Chairman. 

_Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Sydney, 20 ilfarch, 1861. 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. 

TUESDAY, 19 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 	• 

Mr. Daniel, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Flea, 	 Mr. Meston, 
Mr. Lesley, 	 Mr. Morris. 

Committee met pursuant to summons 
It. Meston, Esq., called to the Chair. 
Committee deliberated relative to the course of the proposed inquiry. 
It war Resolved :— 

That, in the first instance, evidence be taken in reference to the administration of 
justice by the Unpaid Magistracy, especially in the outlying districts, and 
also in regard to localities where the services of Stipendary Magistrates may 
be desirable. 

Whereupon, the prospect of obtaining evidence, and the disadvantage arising from 
the general absence of parties in the country—considered. 

Mr. MWonald Monro to be summoned for the next sitting. 
Respecting certain information for the purposes of this Committee, and assistance 

derivable from the labours of a former Committee,— 
It was Resolved :— 

That the Chairman do move in the House, That an Address be presented to the 
Administrator of the Government, praying that His Excellency will be 
pleased to cause to be laid upon the Table,— 
(1.) Returns made by the Clerks of Petty Sessions of the several times, if at 
all, that the Unpaid Magistracy attended at their respective Benches during 
the year 1860. 
(2.) A list of such places as have had Petitions forwarded to the Honorable 
the Colonial Secretary, praying for Police Magistrates, during the year 1860. 

2. That when such Returns are laid upon the Table, a motion be made to refer 
the same to this Committee, together with the Progress Report from the 
Select Committee on the Administration of Justice and Conduct of Official 
Business in Country Districts, and accompanying Minutes of Evidence, 
brought up 16 December, 1856." 
[Adjourned till to-morrow, 20th instant, at Twelve o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 20 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

R. 3Ieston, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Flett, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lesley, 	 Mr. Rusden, 

Mr. Windeyer. 
D. Buchanan, Esq., M.P., examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
J. Ralfe, Esq., called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. 11PDonald Monro, the witness called for this day, not inrattendanee. 

[Adjourned.] 

FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
3IEMRERS PRESENT :- 

R. Meston, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Flett, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lesley, 	 Mr. Moths. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Mr. W. Denton called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. J. Marks called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. Davies, Mr. Walsh, and Mr. Garrett to give evidence at the next sitting. 

[Adjourned till Tuesday, 26th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

TUESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

R, Heston, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Flett, 	 Mr. Rusden. 

C. H. Walsh, Esq., M.P., examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
J. J. Davies, Esq., C.D.S., Molong, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
T. Garrett, Esq., M.P., requested to give evidence this day, not in attendance. 
Mr. Garrett and Captain Bettye to be examined on Friday. 

[Adjourned till Friday, 1st March, at Eleven o'clock.] 

FRIDAY, 
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FRIDAY, 1 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

R. Meston, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Flett, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lesley, 	 Mr. Morris. 

T. Garrett, Esq., M.P., examined. 
Captain E. M. Bettye, J. P., Superintendent of Mounted Patrol, Western Districts, 

pursuant to summons, this day, attended to give evidence, but—eventually requesting to leave 
before being called upon—excused by Committee from waiting longer. 

Examination of Mr. T. Garrett concluded. 
Captain J. haerie to be summoned at the following meeting. 

[Adjourned till Wednesday, 6th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 6 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

It. Meston, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Lesley, 	I 	Mr. Markham 

Mr. Rusden. 

Captain J. Mterie, Inspector General of Police, called in, and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
F. T. Rusden, Esq., M.P., a Member of the Committee, examined in his place. 
And, at the close of the examination of Mr. Rusden, the Chairman signifying his 

willingness to give evidence,— 
Motion made and Question,—That F. T. Rusden, Esq , do take the Chair pro tempore, 

during the examination of Mr. Meston,—agreed to. 
Whereupon, Mr. Meston vacated the Chair, and the same taken by Mr. Rusden. 
R. Meston, Esq., MY., examined in his place (as a Member of the Committee). 
And Messrs. Morris and Markham, Members of the Committee, also desiring to give 

evidence,— 
The same fixed for the next sitting. 

[Adjourned till Friday, 8th instant, at Ten o'clock.] 

FRIDAY, 8 MAR CH, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
R. Meston, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Platt, Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Lesley, 	 Mr. Morris, 

Mr. Rusden. 
A. Morris, Esq , M P, a Member of tl e Committee, examined in his place. 
G. Markham, Esq., 111.P., a Member of the Committee, examined in his place. 
Committee then considered the nature of,,,the entire Evidence. 
The Chairman submitted a Draft of the points to be touched upon in the Report. 
Committee deliberated ; and Report at length,—to be considered at the next meeting. 

[Adjourned till Wednesday, 13th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

R. Nestor), Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. nett, 	 Mr. Markham, 

Mr. Morris. 
Committee met to consider Draft Report. 
Before the Committee—the Return to Address in reference to Unpaid Magistracy, 

and the Progress Report from Select Committee on the Administration of Justice and 
Conduct of Official Business in Country Districts, with accompanying Evidence, of Session 
1856-7, severally referred by the House on the 8th and 12th instant. 

Draft Report submitted by the Chairman, read. 
Committee deliberated. 

— Motion made (Hr. Morris) and Question,—That copies of the Draft Report be circu-
lated amongst the Members of this Committee prior to the date of the next meeting,— 
agreed to. 

Clerk directed accordingly. 
[Adjourned till Wednesday, 20th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 
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WEDNESDAY, 20 slf..4Re7t, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

B. Meston, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Flett, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Lesley, 	 Mr. Rusden, 
Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Wintleyer. 

Copies of the Draft Report having been circulated, pursuant to Resolution at the 
last sitting, Committee met to finally consider same. 

Draft, Report read,— 
And certain verbal amendments having been agreed to,— 
Motion made (Mr. Leaky) and Question,—That the Report be further amended by 

omitting the 4th recommendation, viz. :—" 4. That, in order to remedy the many difficulties 
" which attend on Courts of Petty Sessions in the absence of a second Magistrate, the Clerk 
" of each Bench, when considered competent, should be invested with magisterial authority,"— 
with a view to substituting the following :—" 4. That, in order to remedy the many difficul-
" ties which attend on Courts of Petty Sessions in the outlying Districts (where materials 
" for an Unpaid Magistracy do not exist), the appointment of Police Magistrate should be 
" conferred on the Clerks of Petty Sessions, when competent,"—agreed to. 

Amendment agreed to. 
Motion made (Mr. Markham) and Question,—That the Report be further amended 

by omitting the 5th recommendation, viz. :—" 5. That, under all circumstances, the Clerks 
" of Petty Sessions should possess tile power of issuing process generally in all Civil, and 
" summonses in all Criminal cases, as well for the sake of greater convenieney to the public 
" as for their more impartial adjudication by the Justices,"—with a view to substituting the 
following :—" 5. That the Clerks of Petty Sessions be empowered to take informations and 
" grant summonses in all Civil and Criminal cases, but in no instance to have the power of 
" issuing Warrant,"—agreed to. 

Amendment agreed to. 
Further verbal amendments agreed to. 
Motion made (Mr. Lesley) and Question,—That the Draft Report, as amended, be 

the Report of this Committee,—agreed to. 
Chairman requested to report. 

LIST OF WITNESSES, 

Wednesday, 20 February, 1861. 
PAGE. 

D. Buchanan, Esq., M.P. • • 	 • • 	•• • • • • 
• • 	•• 	.• 	•• J. Ralfe, Esq., Surveyor . •• 

Friday, 22 February, 1861. 
Mr. W. Denton 	., 	 • • 	•• 	•• 	•• •• •• 1 
Mr. J. Marks 	 •• 	•• 	•• 	• • • • 

Tuesday, 2Fcbruary, 1821. 
C. H. Walsh, Esq., M.P. 
J. J. Davies, Esq., C. P. S., hrolong 	•• • • 11 

Friday, 1 March, 1861. 
T. Garrett, Esq., M.P. 	.• 	• • 	• • 	.. 

Wednesday, 6 March, 1861. 
Capt. J. Mterie, Inspector General of Police 	• • •• „ 17 
F. T. Rusden, Esq., M.P. 	•• 	•• 	•• 	•• .. 19 
It. Meston, Esq., M.P. 	.. 	•• 	•• 	•• 	•• .. .. 21 

Friday, 8 March, 1861. 
• . A. Morris, Esq., M.P. 	.. 	• • 	• • 	•• 

G. Markham, Esq., MT. 	• • 	•• 	• • 	• . 

LIST OF APPENDIX. 
(To Evidence given by T. Garrett, Esq., Ml'., 1 March, 1861.) 

A. 
PAGE. 

	

Extract from the Illawarra Mercury of 29th November, 1658 	 .• 	 16 

(To Evidence given by F. T. Eusden, Esq., M.P., 6 March, 1861.) 

The Bench of Magistrates, at Warialda, to the Chief Secretary, relative to the apt:Ointment of a 

	

Stipendiary Magistrate at Warialda,—February,.1861 	.. 	• • 	 „. 21 
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NEW SOUTH :WALES. 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 
TAKEN BEFORE THE 

SELECT COMMITTEE 

ON THE 

UNPAID MAGISTRACY. 

WEDNESDAY, 20 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

Vaunt:— 
Ma. FLETT, 	 Ma. MESTON, 
Mn. LESLEY, 	 Ma. RUSDEN, 
MR. MARKHAM, 	MR. wINDEYER. 

ROBERT MESTON ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
David Buchanan, Esq., M.P., examined :— 

1. By the Chairman: We want your evidence with respect to what you have seen of the D. Buchanan, 
administration of justice by the unpaid Magistracy of the country. I suppose your interim- Esq. ,  MP-
tion is pretty extensive ? Well, it is pretty extensive ; I have been over the country in 

	

very many directions. 	 20 Fob., 1861. 
2. We wish to confine ourselves more immediately to the Colony of New South Wales. 
What quarters of this Colony are you chiefly acquainted with ? New England—in fact, 
almost every district. 
3. Are you acquainted with the working of the Magistracy in Tenterfield or Glen lanes? 
I have not been present at Tenterfield in the Court, but lower down, at the Clarence Town 
Bench, on the Williams River I have seen very gross cases. 
4. Will you mention them ? I have seen a case where, on a simple charge of drunkenness, 
a man was imprisoned for fourteen days notwithstanding the remonstrances of various 
people; although there were two Justices Of the Peace in the town they would not try him 
or allow him to bail. There was no other charge against him than that of simple intoxica-
tion, without any breach of the peace. He remained in the look-up—you know the dimen-
sions of those places that they are very small—for thirteen days. Of course his punishment 
should have been only twenty-four hours. 
5. By lir. Lesley : When he was sentenced was that the time given him ? He was never 
sentenced, he was waiting to be tried. When the Magistrate came up, be was so indignant 
at the treatment that the man had received that he ordered his instant liberation, and cen-
sured the Magistracy of the town severely for their conduct. This was a Magistrate who had 
been written to by a storekeeper in Clarence Town, and came up post-haste to deal with 
the case. 
6. Who was the Magistrate that came up ? Mr. Phillips. 
7. By Mr. Rusden: Do you recollect the man's name ? Kirkwood, I think; I am not 
certain. 
8. About what time was this ? About two years ago. There was another case in the same 
district. The Clerk of the Court happened to be ill, and the chief constable, who was 
public prosecutor, did duty as Clerk of the Court; and Mr. Holmes, the Magistrate, per-
formed the functions of public prosecutor, and gave judgment in the case he prosecuted. It 
struck me and several others as very indecent on the part of the judge to try and press home 
charges against the parties, and then give judgment against them. 

	

112—B 	 9. 
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rk Buchanan. 9. By the Chairman: Can you mention any more instances ? The next case I saw hap- 
Escir M.F.  pened on the Morpeth Bench. I may say, in fact, that I saw the whole Morpeth Bench 
1 -1 instructed in their duties by a constable. A witness happened not to be present, and one of 

20  Feb.. 1861 ' the Magistrates on the Bench very loudly called out to the constable to go and apprehend 
him immediately, whereupon the constable, a sergeant of police, stepped forward and said, 
your Worships, you cannot do that; I musk first call his name three times at the door, and 
after that your Worships must issue a warrant. And then their Worships did it according 
to the instructions of the constable. That had a very curious appearance in the eyes of tho 
people in the Court, and created a great laugh. The next case that I saw, where the injustice of 
the proceedings on the part of the Bench was very strongly exemplified, was in the case of a Mr. 
Farthing, a coal miner, and proprietor of several drays. Ile was riding on his dray, and a 
constable came up and remonstrated with him ; the man did not know the constable, he 
being in plain clothes; his name was on the dray, and when he was asked to come off he 
would not do it. The constable flew at him, and in the struggle which followed dislocated 
his thumb, which circumstance cost him three or four guineas for medical attendance. He 
summoned the constable for this assault before the Morpeth Bench, and brought two respectable 
witnesses who saw the whole affair happen, and they swore upon oath that the constable was 
very violent, and used very violent language, and that they saw him perpetrate the assault 
charged against him. The only evidence on the constable's side was that of the constable 
himself, a principal in the case, who merely gave his statement ; and yet the Bench decided 
in favour of the constable. 
10. By Mr. Rusden : Of whom did the Bench consist ? Of the Police Magistrate (Mr. 
Day) and Mr. Allman, I think. It seemed to me such a gross thing that the oaths of these 
two respectable men, backed by the statement of Farthing himself, should be thrown aside, 
and the mere statement of the constable, an interested party, should be preferred, and the 
case dismissed. The case was well reported ; in fact, I exposed it in every newspaper in the 
Colony. 
11. By Mr. Lesley : Do you know any more cases ? I may mention a case which I saw 
myself, in which I was very much struck at the injustice of it ; the punishment was not con-
sidered equal to the deserts of the man. There was a lady, a respectable woman, walking 
along the streets of Maitland, and without preface a man goes up to her and tears her shawl 
off her shoulders, and when she remonstrated, he lifted his fist and struck her a blow which 
felled her to the ground, and dislocated her shoulder. The medical evidence, given by Dr. 
Liddell, was to the effect that the blow must have been of the most violent description. But 
for this monstrous assault the man was fined £5. Two parties in a skirmish at the punt the 
day after, in which a man got a black eye, were fined ..C5 too. So that this brutal 
assault—greatly enhanced from the fact of the party assaulted being a woman, a blow that, 
if it had struck her on the head, would have carried death with it—was placed on a par with 
a mere quarrel between two parties at the punt, in which one got a black eye. 
12. By Mr. Fleet : The Magistrate could not have fined him more ? The man should have 
been committed to take his trial. 
13. The woman had probably done something to provoke the assault ? Nothing in the 
world. It was a brutal and unprovoked assault. I was present and heard the evidence. 
14. By the Chairman : Have you any more cases to mention ? I saw another case, which 
happened, if I mistake not, at Maryland, on the borders of New England, where John Day, 
who refused to live in a habitation or gunyah that was certainly not fit for any human being 
to exist in, was brought before the Bench  — 

15. Where ? At Warwick. 
16. That is more than two years ago ? Yes. He quoted the Act which provides that 
decent habitations should be given for human beings ; but in the teeth of that Act he got 
threb months' imprisonment. The habitation was most disgraceful ; a man could not stand 
up straight in it. 
17. By Mr. Markham : Do you know the Magistrates that gave that judgment ? Well, I 
forget now. Captain O'Connell, I believe, was ono of them. I could not be certain as to 
the Magistrates; but, at all events, I am positive as to the case. The man was marched to 
Brisbane, 200 miles distant, handcuffed. What I complain of is, that the Magistrates 
decided in the teeth of the Act, which provides that decent accommodation should be given. 
Then there was that case at the Warialda Bench, where they charged the most exorbitant 
sum of £1,000 for bail for a working man. His name was Fairless. I know the man well. 
18. About what time was this ? About eighteen months ago. He was brought up on some 
charge or other, and, more as a joke than anything else, said he would shoot the Clerk of 
the Bench, unless he got a Magistrate to try him next day. 
19. By Mi.. Rusden : He wrote a letter—did he not ? Yes ; I believe he did. However, 
he was committed to take his trial for this, and bail was demanded to the extent of £1,000, 
and not being able to get bail to such an amount he was committed to gaol, and remained, I 
think, six months in Maitland gaol, until the Attorney General released him. 
20. By Mr. nett : You mention that case to shew that either from ignorance or improper 
motives the Magistrates erred in demanding excessive bail ? Yes ; perhaps from a combina-
tion of both. 
21. By the Chairman : Are there any other oases that have come within your own personal 
knowledge ? These are all the cases that I have at my immediate recollection. You have 
me rather unprepared ; but I dare say if I had had time to reflect I could have mentioned a 
great many more. 

James 
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25. You are aware that this is a Committee appointed to inquire into the conduct of the 20  Feb" 1861. 
unpaid Magistracy in general, and their attention to their .magisterial duties ? I have 
understood so from my friend Mr. Flett. 
26. If I mistake not you have seen some extraordinary proceedings on the Port Macquarie 
Bench in your experience ? Yes, there have been some extraordinary proceedings in the 
course of a number of years. I suppose you wish me to confine my observations more to 
the present than the past. At present we have only one paid Police Magistrate, and he is 
the only Magistrate in the District of Port Macquarie that can sit on the Bench. 
27. You allude to Major Crummer? Yes. 
28. Are there no unpaid Magistrates 	Not nearer than twenty-five miles ; Mr. Freeman, 
who resides at that distance from Port Macquarie, has declined acting for some two or three 
years past. 
29. Is justice regularly administered by Major Crummer—does be attend regularly to his 
duties ? He is very regular in his attendance—every morning. 
30. Does his administration of justice give general satisfaction ? Not latterly. 
31. From what cause ? Major Crummer is a very infirm man, and imbecile from ill health 
and wounds that be received at Waterloo; but this would not be felt at all if he had any 
unpaid Magistrates to assist him; it comes more conspicuously before the public because he 
is alone on the Bench. I volunteered to take upon myself the duties of a Magistrate, in 
order to assist him, but my letter was disregarded by the Government. I never had any 
ambition for the honor, but seeing the district so exceedingly void of magisterial assistance 
to Major Crammer, I did volunteer to assist him. 
32. You think that two or three unpaid Magistrates appointed there would be of the greatest 
benefit to the administration of justice in the district ? Yes, of the greatest benefit, and it 
would relieve the district of a great deal of bad feeling, I may almost call it, which exists 
in consequence of the delay in the appointment of new Magistrates. 
33. By Mr. Lesley : Are there any parties residing in the district who could be appointed? 
Yes, there are several well educated men there, who would, I am sure, be just and upright 
in their decisions. 
34. By M. Plait: Do you consider that Major Crummer is fit for his duty at the present 
moment ? No, certainly not—speaking of him in the abstract I am compelled to say be is 
not ; I am obliged to give that conscientious opinion. 
35. Have you not heard that though the duty is his in name it is in reality conducted by 
Mr: Backe, the Clerk of the Court, and does not give satisfaction ? Mr. Recite is obliged to 

/ guide him in many of his decisions ; and that circumstance has given rise to the report that 
Mr. Backe is the representative of the Bench. But this, as I said before, would not have 
been felt if there had been unpaid Magistrates. 
36. Are you aware that many eases that have lately come before the Bench, in which Major 
Crummer could not adjudicate by himself, have been postponed from time to time for want 
of Magistrates ? Yes, I know that has been the case; and I also know that several decisions 
have given great dissatisfaction. 
37. You are also aware that the inhabitants of Port Macquarie have wished more Magis-
trates to be placed on the Bench for the last twelve months or two years ? Yes, they have 
often asked me if I would accept the office. 
88. You are also aware that names have been submitted to the Government ? Yes. 
39. By the Chairman : By petition ? Not by general petition. This was not a straightforward 
proceeding that was adopted. Several gentlemen's names were mentioned, the relatives of cer-
tain parties there. I was left out myself, and though I had no ambition for the office, I was 3 
little indignant at it; I made inquiry and found that the reason was that I was a Government 
officer. There were young gentlemen, lads or youths of so little experience, and 80 little adapted 
for such a responsible duty, that it perfectly surprised me that they could be nominated and 
myself left out. It was done more on a principle of favouritism than with a view to the 
public benefit. 
40. Were these names recommended by the people at public meetings, or how ? Three or 
four young men were nominated by Magistrates who were relatives of these young men. 
41. In fact they were nominated by a clique? Exactly so. One Magistrate nominated his 
nephews

' 
 and another his sons-in-law. I may say thus much without mentioning names. 

42. By Mr. Flea : How long is it since this took place ? Twelve or eighteen months. 
43. Is it your opinion at the present moment—it must be—that some Magistrates are 
required at Port Macquarie? It is absolutely necessary, if the administration of justice is 
to be carried on as it should be. 
44. And that the Government should lose no time in appointing—how many—half-a-dozen, 
probably ? Yes. 
45. At Holland's Plains and Port Macquarie? Yes. 
46. Country gentlemen, of course, as much as possible? Yes, of course ; but we are cer-
tainly very awkwardly situated down there. At Rolland's Plains there are plenty of gentle-
men, but their interests are so involved one with the other, that it seems to me there is some 
danger in appointing them, unless there is a cheek by some itinerating Magistrate going 
there occasionally. It would give rise to a great deal of bad feeling if they were left to 
themselves. 
47. By the Chairman : What is the distance of Holland's Plains from Port Macquarie? 
About twenty-five miles. 

48. 

James Ralfe, Esq., called in and examined :— 
22. Be,, the Chairman: What is your profession ? Surveyor. 	 James Rafe, 
23. Where do you reside ? At Port Macquarie. 	 Esq.  
24. How lon g  have you  been there? Thirty years. 
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James Balk, 48. By Mr, Lesley : Is there any Court House there ? No, there is no Court there. 
Esq. • 49. By Mr. Flett : Then there is really only one unpaid Magistrate in the whole district of 

r---&-s the Hastings, that is Mr. Freeman? Only Mr. Freeman. 
20 Fob., 1861. 50. And he is not fit for duty ? No, he is incapable of it. It was nothing else but the 

entire want of Magistrates that induced me to step forward. 
51. By Mr. Afarkham : Are you of opinion that the duties of the two places, Rolland's 
Plains and Port Macquarie, could be combined and better performed if the Police Magistrate 
were an active young man, who could travel from one to the other, and hold Courts at each? 
Yes, unquestionably; I certainly think it would be better for the Police Magistrate at Port 
Macquarie to go to Rolland's Plains once or twice a month. 
52. Is there a lock-up at Holland's Plains ? No; no Court House, or anything. All must 
be conducted at present in a private dwelling. 
5. In case the Police Magistrate at Port Macquarie were done away, do you not think the 
duty would be as well done if proper men were appointed as Justices, say six ? I think they 
could do all that there is to be done there. 

FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

Urtoent: 
Ma. MORRIS, 	 MR. LESLEY, 
MR. MARKHAM, I 	MR. FLETT. 

ROBERT MESTON ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Mr. William Denton called in and examined :- 

Mr. W 	54. By the Chairman: You have been for some time resident at Armidale ? For twenty 
Denton. years. 

55. In what business are you engaged ? I am an auctioneer and general agent. 
22 Feb.. 1861. 56. You understand probably the nature of the business respecting which you are called 

here ; this Committee is appointed to take evidence with regard to the general conduct and 
attendance of unpaid Magistrates upon the Benches. Your experience in Armidale extends 
over a considerable period ? It does. 
57. How long is it since you had a Police Magistrate there ? About two years. 
58. What is your opinion with regard to the general attendance of the Magistrates before 
the Police Magistrate was appointed? It was not to be depended upon at any time. 
59. When they did attend, did their administration of justice give general satisfaction ? 
Sometimes not. 
60. There are a good many lawyers about Armidale, I believe ? Yes; I believe there are a 
few bush lawyers there. 
61. The Committee wish to know particularly about the general attendance of Magistrates 
upon the Bench, both before and since the appointment of a Police Magistrate at Armidale ? 
Before the appointment of the Police Magistrate the attendance was not to be depended upon 
at any time; parties coming from a great distance frequently had to return without having 
their business at the Court done, for want of the attendance of Magistrates. Since his appoint-
ment, however, the Police Magistrate has been punctual in attendance. 
62. Do the other Magistrates give regular attendance along with him ? At present there 
is but one unpaid Magistrate in the district, and he is about to leave it. 
63. What is that gentleman's name ? Mr. Solomon Cohen. 
64. By Mr. Morris: When you say there is only one unpaid Magistrate in the district of 
Armidale, do you mean the police district or the town? I mean in the town and neigbour-
hood. 
65. By the Chairman: You mean Armidale township and its vicinity ? Yes. 
66. By Mr. Morris : Only one Magistrate in the whole district? Only one in the town ; 
there are several in the district. 
67. By the Chairman : The electorate has four Benches, I believe ? Yes; Welch, Armi-
dale, Bendemeer, and Bundarra. 
68. There are four Benches in the district then ? Yes ; there are four Benches. 
69. Some of these have been appointed lately ? I believe the Benches of Bundarra and 
Walcba have been appointed only recently. 
70. You know nothing about the administration of justice there, I suppose? I believe Mr. 
Weaver, the Police Magistrate, attends at Walcha and Bendemeer once a month. 
71. By Mr. Morris : And how often at Bandana? I am not aware that he goes there. 
72. By the Chairman : Do you know how many Magistrates there are connected with the 
Bench at Bendemeer ? Jam only aware of three. 
73. Who are those three ? Mr. Berry, Mr. Gibson, and Mr. Buchanan. 
74. That is Mr. Buchanan of Tara ? Yes. 
75. How many Magistrates are there connected with the 1Valcha Bench ? I am not aware 
of any resident Magistrate there. 
76. That is a supplementary Bench, is it not ? There is a Court of Petty Sessions held 
there, and attended by the Police Magistrate once a month. 
77. By Mr. Morris : Are there no gentlemen in Armidale or its neighbourhood fitted for the 
appointment of Magistrates who could attend the Court ? Oh, yes, there are gentlemen, I 
believe, who could do so. 

78. 
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78. Are there not some gentlemen in IValcha, who formerly held Commissions of the Peace, 
who have resigned ? I believe there are. 
79. By Mr. Flett : What induced them to resign ? I mu not aware of the reason. 
80. By Mr. Norris : Does it not appear to you very desirable that country gentlemen, and espe-
cially those who are competent to discharge the functions of Magistrates, should perform the 
duties in preference to paid Magistrates? I think it is desirable to have a paid Magistrate. 
81. Do you not think it the duty of persons competent to discharge the functions of a Magis-
trate, and residing sufficiently near to attend the Court of Petty Sessions, to take upon them-
selves these duties-and do you not think it would be advantageous to the public if they did 
so, in teaching them habits of public business ? The experience I have had of the unpaid 
Magistracy leads me to believe that they are not to be depended upon for regular attendance. 
82. That is not creditable to the persons who are appointed Magistrates ? I do not know. 
83. Do you not think that there are people in the neighbourhood of Armidale who, if appointed 
Magistrates, would discharge the duties of their office ; it is a populous place, I understand ? 
I do not know that Jam justified in answering that question ; I have seen Magistrates who 
did not attend when appointed. 
84. Are there any storekeepers appointed Magistrates ? One ; Mr. Cohen. 
85. Are there any more fitted to perform the duties of Sustices of the Peace ? I believe 
there is one ; but I do not think he would accept the appointment. 
86. By N,. Flat: Do you think that storekeepers generally are proper persons to be made 
Magistrates, seeing the connection they have, and the relation to the people frequenting their 
establishments? I do not think I can say they are. 
87. By the Chairman: How far is Salisbury Court from Armidale ? About twenty miles. 
88. That is Mr. Marsh's place, and he is a Magistrate, I believe ? Yes, he resides there, I 
believe ; he was formerly a Magistrate, but resigned. 
89. By Mr. Morris : Suppose that country gentlemen, and persons fitted for the office of 
Magistrates, were willing to accept the appointment, and would attend to their duties, do you 
not think that would be better than having a paid Magistrate, and be more beneficial to the 
public ? It would be a saving to the Colony in money. 
90. But would it not be a means of educating them, as it were, for taking part in public 
business, and also in that way desirable ? Yes, if they really would give their attendance. 
91. But do you think the Government should encourage this neglect of the duties of unpaid 
Magistrates by appointing paid Magistrates, when unpaid Magistrates are numerous? Well, 
my opinion is that the system of unpaid Magistrates has not worked satisfactorily in the 
district to which I belong. Still, I think, the Government ought not to encourage their 
neglect of duty. 
92. By .31r. Markham: Are you not aware that the number of Magistrates formerly in the 
district was greatly in advance of the number at present ? Yes. 
93. At that time was their attendance to be depended upon as regular ? It was not. 
64. Did any dissatisfaction arise out of the fact of their non-attendance on one part, and 
dissatisfaction of their jurisdiction on the other ? Yes. 
95. Did any public movement take place in consequence ? There was. 
96. Was the result a petition from the people for a Police Magistrate ? Yes. 
97. Did one or any of the Magistrates threaten to resign if that took place, and if an 
examination took place into the conduct of the Clerk of the Bench? Yes ; and they did 
resign. 
98. By Mr. Morris : Did they resign because a Police Magistrate was appointed, or rather 
because the Government ordered an investigation into the conduct of the Clerk of the Bench /  
or were the two charges mixed up together ? I think the two charges were mixed up 
together. 
99. By Mr. Markham: Since the appointment of the Police Magistrate, has the attendance 
of unpaid Magistrates, on the Bench, been generally more regular ? It has been more 
regular ever since. 
100. Has the jurisdiction since then given satisfaction, or otherwise ? Generally it has 
given more satisfaction. 
101. By Mr. Morris: Are you a resident in Armidale? Yes. 
102. Have you many opportunities of attending, and do you make it a practice to attend 
at the Police Court? Very often. 
103. Are there more or less cases of crime, drunkenness, or otherwise, than formerly ? I 
think about the same average. 
104. Is Armidale a very orderly place ? It is not a disorderly place. 
105. Except at elections? Except at elections. 
106. Is there much drunkenness? A fair share. 
107. Has there been any decrease of late ? I do not think it is decreasing. 
108. By Mr. Markham: Now, do you think it desirable that other gentlemen residing in 
the neighbourhood, and suitable persons, should be placed in the Commission of the Peace ? 
I do. There is a deficiency of Magistrates in the neighbourhood. 
109. By .31r. Flett: Do you not think that if six or eight gentlemen of property, fitted for, 
and willing to do duty, were appointed Magistrates, it would do away with the necessity for 
a Police Magistrate ? If you could get men who would attend and do their duty. 
110, By Mr. Markham : But can you get them ? I doubt it. 

Mr. 
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Mr. James Marks called in and examined:- 
Mn J. Marks. 111. By the Chairman : Where is your place of residence, Mr. Marks ? In New England. , 

112. In what part of New England ? About seven miles from Walcha. 
22 Feb., 1861. 113. What is your profession ? I believe I am a grazier. 

114. How long have you resided there ? Three years on the first of June next. 
115. You have a Court of Petty Sessions at Walcha ? Yes. 
116. How is it attended by the Magistrates ? I am not aware. 
117. Do you ever hear how it is attended? I have heard that it is not very well attended. 
118. Are there any Magistrates about there at an ? None there at all except Mr. Tagtor, 
who lives about twenty-five miles from Walcha. 
119. Does he ever attend ? Sometimes. 
120. How is justice administered at that Court, satisfactorily or otherwise ? I would not 
like to take upon myself to say. 
121. Does the Police Magistrate attend there? Yes, once a month. 
122. Where does he come from 	From Armidale. 
123. Are there any gentlemen in the neighbourhood whom you think fit to be appointed to 
the Commission of the Peace, or any in the district ? There are some very respectable gen-
tlemen in the neighbourhood who are competent for the appointment. 
124. You reside nearly seven miles from that Court yourself? That is all. 
125. By Air, Morris : Do many eases come before the Waleha Bench ? A good number. 
126. Of what class are they particularly ? Small disputes about the neighbourhood. 
127. What is the population of Walcha? I would not like to take upon myself to say. 
128. How many public-houses are there there? Three. 
129. Are there one hundred inhabitants in the town ? More than one hundred ; I should 
say three or four hundred. 
130. Is the attendance of the Police Magistrate once a month sufficient to work off the 
eases? I do not consider that it is. 
131. Row far is Walcha from Armidale, the residence of the Police Magistrate ? From 
thirty-two to thirty-four miles. 
132. How far is Bendemeer from Walcha 7 About the same distance. 
133. And about sixty miles from Armidale? No, about forty-two. 
134. By Mr. Lesley: Have the gentlemen you have referred to as fit for Magistrates been 
in the Commission of the Peace before? I believe one has. 
135. Do you know the cause of his resignation ? I am not aware what it was. 
136. By Air. Morris: Does the Police Magistrate give satisfaction to the public at Walcha ? 
Well, I could not say ; I have been but once in the Court House. 
137. Have you heard any complaints against him ? I have heard a few. 
138. In what respects? In different respects. 
139. Can you particularize ? I do not wish to say anything of the matter, as I do not wish 
to be called in question with regard to it. 
140. Do you think the decisions of the Police Magistrate have the public confidence? I 
have only been once in the Court; but I have no good opinion of his decisions. 
141. By Mr. Flett: What you allude to then is from hearsay ? I have no good opinion of 
him from the decision in my own case which was brought before him. 
142. By Mr. Morris: From what you have seen of the working of Courts of Petty Sessions, 
do you think they are better conducted under Police Magistrates than under unpaid Magis-
trates? I think it would require a Police Magistrate at Walcha besides a few unpaid 
Magistrates. 
143. By Mr. ['tell: Do you think it requires a Police Magistrate at Walcha, besides the 
attendance of the Police Magistrate from Arrnidale ? I do. 
144. By Mr. Morris : Does it come within your knowledge that the presence of a Police 
Magistrate is generally desired at the townships in the interior ? Yes, I think it is. 
145. From what cause does that arise ? I will state as an instance, that we have a Court 
held only once a month; and if a servant leaves my employ I must go to Armidale for a 
summons ; I must ride the thirty-two miles there and the thirty-two miles back, and.do  the 
journey in a day, or else neglect my business. Now

' 
 if we had a Police Magistrate at 

Walcha, we could procure a summons without much trouble if a man did leave his 
employ. 
146. Do you not think that easy access to Police Courts rather encourages litigation than 
not,-that a multiplication of Benches in districts has a tendency to encourage an undue 
resort to them, and often to frivolous cases being brought before them on account of their 
convenient accessibility ? Well, I do not know that. 
147. By Mr. Markham: Do you think that it would be productive of more good than evil 
to have these Benches throughout the district,-is the inconvenience to the people a greater 
evil than the increase of Benches would be? I think it would be a great convenience to 
Waleha if we had a Police Magistrate there. 
148. By Mr. Flett : Would not a few unpaid Magistrates do the duties the same as a Police 
Magistrate; an unpaid Magistrate could do the duty equally as well; and you would not have 
to ride so far for a summons, if independent gentlemen, having a stake in the country, were 
appointed and did their duty, and resided within a reasonable distance of the Court ? 
Provided you could find proper persons to attend daily. I have ridden one hundred and 
thirty miles, backward and forward, to have my business done, without having a hearing of it 
at all ; but if we had a Magistrate, or a Bench of Magistrates, I should not be put to that 
trouble. 
149. By Mr. Markham: That is some time ago? Yes. 
160. By Mr. Flett : Have you got a Court House or lock-up at Walcha ? Yes, both. 
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151. And you think there are plenty of gentlemen in the neighbourhood who would act if Mr. J. Marks. 
appointed to the Commission of the Peace, and who are fit for the duty ? Tam quite aware 
of that. 	 22 Feb., rm. 
152. By Mr. Morris: The Police Magistrate, I suppose, is acquainted with all the residents 
in that neighbourhood ? I suppose he is. 
153. He could give the Government information as to the fitness of persons for the Commis-
sion of the Peace ? I am not sure he could. 
154. By Mr. Flett: Do you think he would be a proper person to apply to ? I do not know 
that. 
155. Is it your opinion, that in the appointment of gentlemen to the Magistracy, they should 
be independent men of property, or men above want ? Those are the men who should be 
appointed; that is my candid opinion. 

TUESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

. 	Vaunt:— 
MR FLETT, 	I 	MR. RUSDEN. 

ROBERT MESTON, ESQ., IN THE Cam. 
Charles Hamilton Walsh, Esq., M.P., examined :— 

156. By the Cliairman : You are practising the legal profession at Goulburn ? I am a c. H. Walsh, 
solicitor, and I reside at Goulburn. 	 Esq., M.P.  
157. Have you been there many years ? Some thirteen years. 
158. I suppose you have had many opportunities of seeing the working of the administration 26 Feb., 1861. 
of justice in your quarter, both in the township and in the country? Yes. 
.159. Has it of late given general satisfaction ? I suppose you are referring now to the 
adonnistration of justice before the Benches ? 
160. Before the Magistrates in Petty Sessions? I was examined before a Committee into 
the state of the Magistracy here some few years ago, and I stated then that, generally 
speaking, the administration of justice in the Magistrates'. Courts was unsatisfactory, and that 
that arose from a want of uniformity in their proceedings rather than from any want of 
confidence in their integrity. I also stated that I thought the great defect in the adminis-
tration of justice by the Magistrates arose from their not making themselves acquainted with 
the law, and that the Magistrates in this Colony laboured under a disadvantage winch Magis-
trates in the older countries do not suffer from, namely, that except in the Circuit towns the 
Magistrates of the interior have but few opportunities of observing the administration of 
justice in the superior Courts. In England and Ireland, the Magistrates attend the Courts of 
Quarter Sessions, and also the Assize Courts, and there they are brought into contact with the 
administration of justice, not only in the cases in which they themselves may have committed, 
but also in eases in which they are obliged to sit as jurors; and in my former examination I 
stated that upon the carrying out of tho District Courts and Courts of Quarter Sessions through-
out the Colony an opportunity would be afforded to Magistrates of observing this regular 
administration of justice; and, in order that they might be compelled to avail themselves of 
thatopportunity, I suggested that Magistrates should be obliged to serve on juries in the Courts 
pf Quarter Sessions. At that time, from the constitution of the Court, they were judges in 
it, and therefore exempt from service on juries. To some extent that suggestion was acted 
upon, in making the District Court Judge sole Judge of the Court of Quarter Sessions in 
criminal matters. But the law did not go far enough ; having made that provision, it should 
have provided that Magistrates should be eligible to serve upon juries in Courts of Quarter 
Sessions. In consequence of that not being done you never see Magistrates at the Courts of 
Quarter Sessions now; they leave the business entirely to the District Court Judge, and thus 
deprive themselves of one very important opportunity of acquiring some knowledge of law. 
I think it highly desirable, not only for that reason, but also to improve the character of our 
Quarter Sessions' juries, that Magistrates should be obliged to serve upon them. That my 
idea in that respect might be carried out, another improvement is necessary ; and that would 
be to reduce the number of peremptory challenges that a prisoner on his trial for felony is 
entitled to make. This right of peremptory challenge was given by the law in favorem vita', 
and formerly was exercised only in capital felonies. Now that the punishments, under our 
law, are not so severe, the same reason for it does not exist; but, as Magistrates are sup-
posed by prisoners generally to have less sympathy with crime, they are invariably chal-
lenged; whereas if the right were limited, some of them must come on in their turn. I have 
had a good deal of experience in defending prisoners, and I should consider it no hardship at 
all to limit a man's challenge—except in capital cases—say to some five or six. 'When I was 
before the Committee last time, I was asked with reference to the mode of appointing 
Magistrates, and whether it was desirable to leave the appointments in the hands of the 
Government, or in the hands of the Attorney General. At that time I had not given the 
matter much consideration, and I answered generally with respect to the administration of 
justice in the Colony, and particularly of criminal justice. I think that our condition now 
ill a very anomalous one. I am sure it is without precedent, except in these Colonies, that 
the whole criminal prosecutions of the country should be under the control and in the hands 
of a political Minister, shifting about with the Ministry of the day.. 
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C. IL Walsh, 161. By Hr. Flea: You are referring to the grand jury ? To the Attorney General having 
Esq., M.P. the powers of a grand jury. I think the sooner that is set right the better for the country ; 

and I conceive that the way to set it right is by the appointment of a Minister of Justice; 
26 Feb., 1861. who should hold his office on the same terms as the Judges hold theirs, and not be turned 

out politically, but be removable only on the vote of both Houses of Parliament, and to that 
extent independent of the influence of the Crown. He should be, in fact, in the same posi-
tion as the Judges. To him I would intrust the appointment of the Magistrates of the 
Colony. Then I think that there ought to be subdivisions of the different police districts, 
and that Magistrates should be appointed for each division ' • that there ought to be a certain 
number for each division, and that that number ought to be kept up within that division. 
According to the present system, you will find one corner of a county or district, where it is 
thickly settled, with an over-supply of Magistrates, while on the other side of the district, 
where there does not happen to be a resident gentry, there are no Magistrates at all, nor 
any provision made for the administration Of justice. 
162. By ,Ifs. Rusden: They should be ratably distributed, so to speak, as nearly as 
possible ? Yes. And then the question would arise, If you cannot find the men in the dis-
trict how are you to appoint them ? Well, my idea is this, that there is no district in which 
you will not find men fit to serve on special juries. When the Jury Act is extended you 
generally find men of that class in every district; and I can see no reason why men of that 
class—who are called up to decide rights involving thousands, and questions of life 
and death—should not be put in the Commission of the Peace to discharge its duties. 
163. How are these men selected as special jurors—by whose authority ? The mode of pro-
ceeding under the Jury Act is this: A jurors' list, consisting of all persons coming within 
the description of jurors given in the Act, is made out by persons appointed for the purpose, 
in the same way as the electoral list. This list is subject to the revision of the Bench of 
Magistrates, and every person they choose to dub " Esquire" or "Merchant" becomes 
entitled to serve as a special juror. Practically no great inconvenience arises from the 
limitation of the class of special jurors, because I think generally speaking the Magistrates, 
in order to add to the numbers of the class of jurors to which they themselves belong, 
generally extend the term " Esquire" pretty liberally. 
164. By Mr. Flat: For that reason I doubt whether it would be a very good test to go by? 
I do not mean to say it ought to be an absolute test; but I think that if you can find men 
that are properly qualified to be special jurors—men that come within the definition of 
special jurors under the Jury Act—the Minister of Justice might select from among them a 
sufficient number of Magistrates. 
165. By Mr. Rusden : What are the objections to the grand jury system in England? The 
grand jury system in England is now very much under discussion, and I believe an experi-
ment is about being tried to do away with it in the city of London. A Bill has several times 
been brought before Parliament for the purpose of doing away with it in the Central 
Criminal Court. I look upon it, that a Minister of Justice (appointed as I have suggested), 
discharging the duties of a grand jury in this Colony, would be a much more safe tribunal 
for the subject than twelve or thirteen gentlemen shut up in a room, proceeding secretly, 
which the grand jury does. The chief difficulty about the establishment of a grand jury in 
this Colony is, that you have not the material. 
166. By the Chairman : Have you had any experience of the working of the Courts of 
Petty Sessions in the remoter parts of your neighbourhood ? My experience extends, I may 
say, to the entire Southern District, from Goulburn to Albury. 
167. Suppose we confine our inquiry particularly to the remote places where the District 
Courts do not extend ? So far as the districts to which the District Court does not extend 
are concerned, I cannot speak from personal observation; but I am very frequently consulted 
by letter by parties who complain of injustice being done to them; and upon many occasions 
I have had the depositions procured and sent to me, and the decisions were certainly not 
what they ought to have been in many cases. At the same time, in most eases, though the 
proceedings were irregular, they really met the merits of the case. I have known some very 
extravagant things, but I confess I have known the same in the old country. 
168. There is one subject which has occupied our attention very much, and that is the non-
attendance of the local Magistrates at the Courts of Petty Sessions ? That is a matter 
which I have thought of too; and in some correspondence I had with Mr. Forster, when he 
was in office, I suggested to him whether it would not be desirable, in reference to proceed-
ings before Magistrates partaking of civil jurisdiction—under the Masters' and Servants' Act, 
the Impounding Act, and things of that kind—to legislate so as to give the Government 
power to fix a precise day in each district for holding Courts of Petty Sessions; that the 
Clerk of Petty Sessions should summon a certain number of the Magistrates of his district 
to attend these Sessions; that they should be fined for non-attendance in the same way as 
jurors are lined for non-attendance ; and that they should sit from day to day, if necessary, 
at this special Court, until they had finished the list before them. Such a Court need not 
be held too often. In the Goulburn District, for instance, once a fortnight would be 
sufficient. At present we have four Petty Sessions in the week, at which the Magistrates 
are expected to attend ; but I think summonses of that kind are now seldom disposed of in 
less than a fortnight, because of non-attendance, and very frequently they go beyond that. 
But if we had a special Court fixed, at which Magistrates would be obliged to attend in turn 
or find a substitute, and in which they should sit from day to day till the list was disposei 
of, a very great improvement would be effected. Another matter for facilitating the proceed-
ings in such eases, and expediting the business of the Court, would be to do away with the 
taking of depositions in matters where the fines were under £20. There is an immense 
waste of time in taking depositions. In the Petty Debts Court, where Magistrates have 
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jurisdiction to the extent of £10, no depositions are taken; and why should there be C. II. Walsh, 
depositions taken in a trumpery dispute between master and servant—a matter that could Esq., MY,  
really be settled in ten minutes. Even at this moment there is nothing which makes it 
obligatory upon 31agistrates to have depositions taken. There is no.law obliging a Magistrate 26 Feb., 1661. 
to take depositions in eases of summary jurisdiction. 
169. By Ilfr. RaNden It is never omitted? 'It is never omitted; but the reason is, that 
under a statute of George II or George 111 it was required that the evidence given should .  
be  set out in the conviction ; but since the passing of Sir John Jervis' Acts the evidence 
has not been set out in the conviction, and consequently the reason for taking the depositions 
in these eases does not now exist. 
170. Do you not think it ought to be done in justice to the prisoners ? I am speaking now 
of eases within the Magistrate's summary jurisdiction. Of course, in matters where he is 
acting ministerially, he is bound to do it. In respect to summary jurisdiction I do not know 
of any statute making it obligatory. It is done; and, 1 think, ought to be obligatory in 
cases over a certain sum ; and it is desirable that, in eases of appeal or prohibition, they 
should have depositions, in point of law, however, depositions are of no value in appeal 
cases, except as giving information. The case must be gone into de novo. The only other 
case in which they might be necessary would he an application for a prohibition to the 
Supreme Court, and the statute which gives that remedy does not require the depositions; 
you can have a prohibition on affidavit without the depositions. 
171. By 311.. Plot!: Suppose the Magistrates might have acted improperly ? You might 
get that out on affidavit. In cases from the Small Debts Courts, where they take no 
depositions, you may have a prohibition on affidavit of the facts that occurred at the time. 
172. By the Chairman : By your plan you would allow the Magistrates to adjourn the 
Court only until the next day ? That is, if you establish the special Court lam speaking 
of, I would have it proceeded with from day to day until the list was finished; but I believe 
that if the taking of depositions were done away in the cases I am speaking of, the Court 
would never require to go over the day, or that it would be a very rare occurrence. 
173. In your district you think once a fortnight would be often enough for such a Court to 
be held ? I do not think there are many eases where it would require to be oftener than 
once a week or once a fortnight, and in some places once a month would be sufficient. 
174. By Mr. Flea : Would there not be some difficulties on account of putting off eases 
under the Masters and Servants Act so long 	Of course there might be some cases in 
which there would be individual hardship, but, as a general rule, I do not think it would 
work badly. With reference to eases under the Masters and Servants Act, I think it would 
be desirable that Magistrates should have the power to award compensation to the servant for 
delay in paying him his wages; I think it is an unjust thing to the servant to keep him 
banging about the Court for a week or fortnight for his wages when it comes out at last that 
be was entitled to them. I should give bin, costs and compensation for loss of time as 
well as damages for breach of contract. You do it in the superior Courts, and a servant 
ought to have the same justice in the inferior Courts. 
175, By if,. flusden : Are you aware that it was a proposition of this Government that 
Clerks of Petty Sessions should have the powers of one Magistrate ? No, I am not aware 
that there was such a proposition as that. I think it was under Mr. Parker's administration 
that several gentlemen who had been Clerks of the Bench were appointed Police Magistrates. 
176. With power to act as one Magistrate ? I am not aware of that. There is a statute 
which enables the Government to give the power to l'olice Magistrates to discharge the 
functions of two Magistrates, but that is by special proclamation. 
177. By the Chairman : Do you think the Clerks of Petty Sessions generally, in case of 
only one Magistrate attending, would be competent to act along with him ? I do not think 
the Clerk of Petty Sessions, as a general rule, ought to be a Magistrate. Ile labours under 
one disadvantage, and it is this—he hears the party's story before he prepares the information. 
Tie hears a great deal about the ease that does not come before the Bench at all. I think, 
too, that although the Clerks of the Benches are generally intelligent and respectable men, 
a great many of them are wholly unfit to discharge the duties of Magistrates. I see no 
reason, however, why Clerks of Petty Sessions should not have extensively the powers 
which they have now under the Masters and Servants Act, namely, of issuing the summons 
in any matter of assault, and so on. 
178. But not to sit on the Bench ? No. I know no reason why they may not initiate a 
matter. 
179. By ilfr. Rusden : Are you in favour of a large addition to the number of Police 
Magistrates? If we could afford to put Police Magistrates—supposing that we could get a 
sufficient number of competent men—in every district, and do away with the unpaid 
Magistracy altogether, it might be worth trying; but I do not think the Colony is in a 
position to attempt such an experiment just now. 
180. You are aware that at one time there were a great number of paid Police Magistrates, 
that they did not give satisfaction, and that in consequence a large number of unpaid 
Magistrates were appointed? At that time the country was studded with Police Magistrates, 
and their duties were not confined to magisterial duties. There was a certain espionage 
which they were required from head quarters to exercise, which made them unpopular ; but 
there is not the same necessity for that now. 
181. Do you think it might not arise politically ? Whatever my thoughts may be, I 
cannot say that I know that that entered into the matter at that time. 
182. By the Chairman : From your great experience and shrewd observation, what is the 
best system you would recommend for carrying out the administration of justice in the 
magisterial Courts ? I do not know that I can suggest anything more than I have just 
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Walsh, shadowed forth in the answers I have given already. There is one point I may mention : 
iAlq" 3"' I think the Police Magistrates ought to be a shifting body; I think they ought to be moved 

about. 
21; Feb., 1861 ' 783. By 211r. 1?usden : Itinerating? No, that is not what I mean. I mean that they 

ought to be changed from place to place ; that they should be entirely under the control of 
the Government, with respect to their stations, so that if vacancy occurred in a certain 
district, the Government could say to Mr. So-and-so, go to such a place. I would always 

_shift a Police Magistrate the moment I found him making a nest. I can speak with some 
confidence with respect to that, from observation of the working of the Police Magistracy 
in Ireland. There they are ordered to change at a moment's notice, and I know they are 
shifted about very frequently. 
184. By the Chairman: Would you also recommend that in the country districts they 
should itinerate from one place to another ? That has, I understand, been carried out pretty 
well in some of the remote parts of the Colony. I think the Police Magistrate of Deniliquin 
told me the other day that he rides 600 miles in a month, in the discharge of his duties. 
He has two very remote places to attend, I know. The great difficulty in carrying out 
anything of that kind is the great distances between the towns in the rsmote interior. You 
can hardly expect that a man, whom you would wish to see discharging the duties of Police 
Magistrate, would accept the office if he had to be constantly in the saddle riding about. 
185. By Mr. Rusden : My idea is this- -that the Clerks of the Bench should have the powers 
of one Magistrate, so as to be able always to make a Bench, able to deal with all cases that 
would come before the Court, if one of the unpaid Magistrates should attend on any Court 
day, and thus cure the great fault of the administration of justice in the interior, namely, 
the postponing of cases in consequence of the non-attendance of Magistrates; but I under-
stood you to object to this, because the Clerk of the Bench, when drawing the information, 
bears the cases beforehand? There is also this objection—that the Clerk of Petty Sessions 
is 20 much brought into contact with the people in the discharge of his other duties. There 
are none of these Clerks of the Bench that do not discharge the duties of three or four 
other officers, and they are thus so much brought into contact with the people that the 
instances are very rare in which the people would have confidence in their administration of 
justice. 
186. Does not that objection apply also to some of the unpaid Magistrates—stortkeepers, for 
instance, who are much in communication with the public ? When I was examined before, 

expressed an opinion that respectable storekeepers in the different towns ought to be in 
Hit Commission of the Peace, and since then there have been several appointments made in 
that way. 
187. And they have worked well, I believe 	Not as far as my observation goes. I know 
one case in which a very respectable man, connected with a very large busine-s—a man of 
very great intelligence, and perhaps as independent in his character as any man in the 
Colony of New South Wales—was appointed by Mr. Cowper. There was no dissatisfaction 
whatever expressed at the appointment; on the contrary great satisfaction was expressed in 
the neighbourhood; and he acted very regularly for about three months, when he resigned, 
giving as his reason that he would not subject himself to the solicitation which he was 
exposed to in consequence of Ids appointment. I think the great bane of the Magistracy in 
this Colony has been that amongst the Magistrates themselves, the appointment has been 
looked upon as giving a man a certain social status. I should treat the Magistrates of the 
Colony exactly as special jurors are treated. 
188. Would you pay them? No. 
189. Special jurors are paid? But the payment is a mere nominal thing. I never could 
understand why jurors are paid in this Colony; they are not paid sufficiently, and unless 
you pay a man as much as will compensate him for his loss of time, I cannot understand 
why you pay him anything at all. 
Mk By Me. Fleet: There is one reason against making the Clerk of the Bench a Magis-
trate, namely, that it puts him at once on an equality with the other Magistrates, and they 
lose whatever control they may have had over him? I know of one case where a Police 
Magistrate discharges the duty of Clerk of Petty Sessions, and I think the great defect in 
his proceeding is, that he has not assumed the position which his Police Magistracy should. 
entitle him to do; he has, for instance, given up the chair to the other Magistrates, arid 
I think he made a mistake in that, The reason why it was said that a Police Magistrate 
might dispense with a Clerk of the Bench was this, that the Judges in the Supreme Court 
take their own notes, and there is no reason why a Police Magistrate should not take his 
own depositions. I know that in Ireland, it is the Police Magistrate that takes the depo-
aitions in the country districts. Generally, with reference to the administration of justice 
in the Magistrates' Courts of this Colony, and the prosecution of offences and other matters 
of this kind, in relation to the police business of the country, I think the great cause of 
complaint is the class of men you have as chief constables. Now, in Ireland, where they 
have the best constabulary in the world, the chief constable is invariably a gentleman, and 
occupies the position of a gentleman; he ranks with subaltern officers in the army. lie is 
the man that is responsible for the conduct of the business in Petty Sessions; he attends 
the Petty Sessions Court ; looks after all prosecutions for police purposes; and also after 
the regularity of the business of the Court The Clerk of Petty Sessions in Ireland is, 
generally speaking, a man something of the same stamp that you make a chief constable 
of here. 
191. By Mr. Rusden : Then the chief constable is the superior officer ? Yes. 
192. And the Clerk of the Bench is his clerk ? Just so. I believe that the circumstance 
of the chief constables here not holding that position, is one reason why we have not the 
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advantage of an efficient pike in this country. It is absurd to expect from a chief constable, C.21. 1141 511. 
who is socially in the same position as the publicans of the township—who associates with bstl-
them—and who is a man of the same stamp, that surveillance which a chief constable of a 
better class would be likely to enforce. In many places in the interior there is now a police 26 Feb., 1861.  
force that is a disgrace to any community. Generally the most worthless fellows in the 
district are appointed constables. 
193. By ilk. FLU: There is one question which this Committee is appointed more par-
ticularly to consider, and I therefore ask you whether it is your opinion that it is necessary 
there should be Police Magistrates in all the districts again—if there were proper men to he 
made unpaid Magistrates you think it would be quite unnecessary to have Police Magis-
trates? With compulsory attendance on the part of the unpaid Magistrates I think it would 
be unnecessary in most instances. I may say, from my observation of the unpaid Magistrates, 
that their attendance at Court is most irregular and uncertain ; but that does not always 
arise from neglect of duty. I know one or two Magistrates in the Southern District who 
rarely, if ever, attend the Police Office, and yet I do not believe there are any other Magis-
trates who do an equal amount of business with them. They investigate cases at home, issue 
summonses, and do a great deal of business without ever attending the Petty Sessions. 
194. By Mr. Rusden : If your proposition were carried out it would induce those Magistrates 
who will not attend to resign ? I would not give them the power to resign; I would make 
them attend. 
195. You cannot appoint a man to be a Magistrate against his will ? Is lie not obliged to 
act as a juror against his will ? 
196. Jurors attend once in three months, but a Magistrate's attendance would be fortnightly ? 
The Government could appoint enough and let them take their turn. If a Magistrate sends 
in his resignation now the Government may say they will not accept it. 

John Joseph Davies, Esq., called in and examined :— 
197. By the Chairman: You are Clerk of Petty Sessions at Molong ? Yes. 
198. How long have you been there ? Fifteen months. 
199. How many Magistrates attend the Bench at Molong ? Five. 
200, Including the Commissioner of Crown Lands, Mr. Sibthorpe ? Yes. 
201. Do the Magistrates give regular attendance at your Bench ? Some of them. Those 
who live rather remote, such as Mr. Campbell, do not attend very often, unless summoned. 
202. On the whole you can say the others are pretty regular ? Yes; I think there has been 
but one instance in which we have had no Bench since I have been there. 
203. How often does the Bench sit at Molong? Once a week—on Tuesday. The occasion 
on which we had no Bench was unfortunately licensing day under the Pediers' Act, and in 
that case, as there was no Magistrate to adjourn the Court, there were no licenses granted 
for three months. 
204. Does Mr. Sibthorpe attend frequently himself? Yes. 
205. He is .s most regular Magistrate ? He has been since T. came there. 
206. Have you any difficulty in making up a Bench of two Magistrates ? No, not when Mr. 
Sibthorpe is in the town. 
207. Supposing he is absent is there any difficulty then ? There is sometimes a difficulty in 
making up a Bench of two Magistrates, but not often. 
208. Are the people in that quarter generally satisfied with the mode in which justice is 
administered on the Molong Bench ? I think, on the whole, they are. 
209. There is not much dissatisfaction expressed ? No, it has not reached rny sears. 
210. In that condition of affairs I suppose you do not think a Police Magistrate is at all 
required in 5Iolong ? I think the business of the Bench would be better conducted, most 
decidedly. 
211. Then you admit that there are irregularities in conducting the business of the Bench ? 
Most decidedly. 
212. Of what nature ? In one instance the Bench was written to by the Attorney General 
to send down to him the depositions in a case cut of which arose a prosecution for perjury. 
I was directed to make out these depositions, which I did ; and the committing Magistrate 
came into the Court and said to me,—" You need not send down the whole of those deposi-
tions; send down only the first six folios." I said,—" The Attorney General has written 
for the whole of them." "It's of no consequence," he said; "send down only those." Of 
this I made a minute in the record book, and this minute was seen next Court day by the 
other Magistrates, who immediately directed me to send down the whole of the proceedings 
to the Attorney General, which I did. An irresponsible Magistrate could do that, but a 
responsible paid Magistrate would never attempt it. 
213. Are there many gentlemen in your quarter who are fit to be appointed Magistrates, in 
addition to the four you have at present ? There is one who is said to belong to our Bench, 
but the other Magistrates object to his sitting, as he belongs to Wellington; he has property 
in the Molong District, and consequently has a right to sit on that Bench. 
214. Are there other gentlemen in the district, not yet appointed as Magistrates, whom you 
would consider suitable if a new Commission was issued ? Yes, I know one or two in 
particular. 
215. By Mr. Evades : I hardly understand your remark about some Magistrates saying 
another has no right to sit on their Bench. If I were a Magistrate, I should be able to sit 
in'any Court of Petty Sessions as a Magistrate of the Territory ? Certainly; but I should 
say, in explanation, that ours is a divided Bench. 

216. 

J. J. Davies, 

26 Feb., 1861. 
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J. J. Davies, 21g, By  Me Chairman: There are two cliques ? Yes; at least there is one Magistrate in 
Esq..• 

	

	particular—the oldest in the district—who is certainly opposed to the now Magistrates, and 
his fellow Magistrates, generally speaking, on any question that arises. But the real evil 

26 Feb., 1861. arises from a sort of partizanship on the part of subordinates in office, who make it their 
business to carry everything that is done in Court on one day to the other party, and thus 
arises a great deal of heart-burning. 
217. By Mr. Rusden : Still you have no difficulty in making a Bench ? No. 
218. By  the Chairman: With reference to the gentleman you speak about, should he come 
there, do the other Magistrates associate with him ? Merely "good morning." The gentle-
manly feeling of politeness is not done away with, but still they du nut act cordially 
together. In the instance which I have mentioned, with respect to the depositions, there 
was actually injustice done, because the evidence which was withheld by the committing 
Magistrate would have gone to exculpate the accused party ; I considered so myself at the 
time, and therefore I was perfectly justified in making the minute in the record book. 

FRIDAY, 1 MARCH, 1861. 

ineocnt:-- 
MR. MORRIS, 	 Mn. ELETT, 
MR. MARKHAM, 	 Ma. LESLEY, 

Ma. RUSDEN. 

ROBERT MESTON, ESQ., IN TIIE CHAIR. 
T. Garrett, Esq., M.L.A., called in and examined :— 

T. Garrett, 219. By the Chairman: Have you had considerable acquaintance with the rural districts, 
Esti.t.M.L.A- or have you resided more generally in towns? More particularly in the country districts. 
..""•••••• 220. Have you seen the working of the Petty Sessions Benches in the quarter with which 

1 Mar., 1861. you are acquainted ? In my capacity as a reporter I have had an opportunity of seeing the 
principal portion of them. 
221. What is your opinion of the working of Courts of Petty Sessions generally ? I cannot 
speak of them generally. 
222. As far as your acquaintance goes? The opinion I have formed, after a good deal of 
thought, is that the Benches of which I have a knowledge were wanting in that acquaintance 
with the law which is requisite to administer it correctly. 
223. The Justices of the Peace are deficient in legal knowledge, you think ? To the best of 
any judgment I think that is the case. I have known eases in which they have given 
decisions directly contrary to the law, and others in which objections were taken under 
exactly the same circumstances, and two different rulings given. 
224. By Mr. Morris: You can, I suppose, give the Committee an instance? I will. It is 
well known that Courts of Petty Sessions have 110 power to decide upon disputed boundaries 
of or titles to landed property. In the Court of Petty Sessions at Wollongong two cases 
arising out of such a dispute were heard, and the attention of the Bench having, in the first 
case, been called to the point that the Court had no jurisdiction, as it was a question of 
boundary, that objection was overruled. In the other case, arising out of the same circum-
stances, the same objection—that a question of title was involved—was held good, and the 
case was put out of Court. This was a case of my own reporting, and therefore coming 
under my own knowledge. I will read an extract from a notice on the two cases published 
in the Mau:arra Mercury of 29th November, 1858. (Same read and handed in. Vide 
Appendix A.) There was the same objection raised in both cases; in the one it was over-
ruled—in the other supported by the Bench. 
225. By the Chairman: Have you anything else of that kind to bring forward ? There are 
other cases, of a similar character, to which I might refer. 
226. By Mr. Morris : This case that you mention, I imagine, arose merely from a want of 
knowledge by the Magistrates, rather than any undue leaning to one party or another ? No; 
it arose from favouritistn to one lawyer more than another. 
227. Perhaps the ability and authority of one lawyer was greater than that of the other ? 
The Bench was swayed more by the one, Mr. Owen, now a judge, and an attorney of high 
standing; the other was Mr. Sperling—a man of not very high repute in the district. It 
was notorious that Mr. Owen could sway the Bench on almost any case. 
228. That arose probably from their opinion of his ability and rectitude ? Not only that, 
but he terrified them with his legal knowledge, as they are afraid he would bring the 
question he may be dealing with before the Supreme Court. They did not know when 
Ids objections were tenable or not. 
229. By the Chairman: What is the result of your observation as to the attendance of 
Magistrates ? As a reporter I know that frequently, on days when many cases were down 
for trial, no Magistrates were there. My opinion is that the appointment is sought as a 
social distinction, rather than with the intention of being of service to the public by 
fulfilling the duties. Mr. Cowper's circular, which was issued eighteen or more months ago, 
failed to have any effect at all upon them. I have written many notices in the local press 
upon the matter, still without effect. 
230. You are in favour of a Police Magistrate there ? I am not. 

231 
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231. By Mr. Morris: What is your remedy ? You cannot afford to give such a salary to a T. Garrett, 
Police Magistrate as will insure the services of an independent and well-qualified man for Esq., M.L.A.  
the office; the salary would be but sufficient to serve the purpose of men retired from 
business, perhaps with some little education, or of men of respectability, but no means or 1  Mat. , 180L 
special qualifications for the position. Such persons in the country districts would come 
under the influence of the local gentlemen, to whom they would lean, and they would be 
more likely to he swayed by class feelings than the country gentlemen themselves. 
232. By the Chairman : What principle do you apply for the selection of Magistrates ? The 
plan I propose, and which I have considered well, is nomination by the people, in this way : 
That, according to the number of population in a district, the people should have the power 
of nominating a certain number of persons for the Magistracy, and that these gentlemen, 
when nominated, should be subjected to an examination by the District Court or Supreme 
Court Judges, as to their legal knowledge—more particularly with regard to the principles 
of those statutes under which the eases they are likely to administer will come, such as the 
Masters and Servants Act, the Publicans Act, Ste. After they were examined, and the 
Court satisfied that they were competent, they and no others should have Commissions from 
the Crown. 
233. HOW would you deal with those districts in which there would be found no gentlemen 
willing to become candidates, or, becoming candidates, on examination were not considered 
competent for the office of Magistrates ? Then it would be positively necessary to appoint 
Police Magistrates; but there would be very few districts in which such circumstances 
would exist. 
234. By Mr. Morris:' Do you not think there are plenty of gentlemen whose common sense 
and ordinary knowledge of equity would make them as good Magistrates as those who would 
stand the test of the examination you propose? There are plenty of those gentlemen, no 
doubt, but generally they have not previous to appointment devoted even ordinary attention 
to the law they had to administer ; and, under the present system, the appointments are 
given more as social distinctions, not with the special view of the party's competency to 
perform his functions, or on account of his qualifications for the discharge of the duties of 
Lis office. 
235. By the Chairman : What measures would you take to obtain the requisite attendance 
of Magistrates when appointed ? I would make a provision that if they failed to attend a 
certain number of days they should be struck off the Commission; you could not fine or 
punish theta any other way. The honor should be taken from them, and others be appointed 
in their places. 
236. Could not that be carried out by calling upon them to attend in rotation? That is 
theoretically the process pursued now. 
237. Where do they carry it out ? In most places, in the best way they can. In Wollon-
gong, and I believe in Sydney, by means of varying the roster periodically, the list is gone 
through. 
238. You do not imagine that, by any stringent rule in application to Magistrates, any 
part of the roll should be bound to attend ? I think that according to the present law, by 
implication, those who are appointed are bound to do the duty required of them—and they 
generally do it. 
239. You cannot compel them—therefore the country suffers ? It should be a regulation, 
if elected as I suggest, or under any other system, that, if the duties are not performed, the 
honor should not be allowed to rest upon the person who had neglected to perform them; 
the Commission should be withdrawn, unless a sufficient excuse is offered. There are cases 
of Magistrates being elected Members of this House—that should excuse them from their 
duties as Magistrates. 
240. What is your opinion regarding the general character of Clerks of Petty Sessions? I 
have had an opportunity of making acquaintance with only two or three. 
241. Are they generally competent men ? 	Yes. I am acquainted with Mr. Turner, of 
Wollongong, Mr. Meares, of Kiaina, and with Mr. Fox, at Bombala. These gentlemen are 
fully qualified. 
242. Do you think the plan would work well of giving Clerks of Petty Sessions the power of 
Magistrates when only one Magistrate attends ? I would rather see the power given in this 
way—to net as one Magistrate when two were required; but not to act ministerially, or sit 
on the Bench to adjudicate singly. 
243. By Mr. Morris: You are aware that there are no cases in which two Magistrates are 
required to act ministerially ? I would allow the Clerk to act judicially when only one 
Magistrate is present, and the business requires two, and give him power to do office business, 
such as grantms.

t
. summonses. 

244. You think the Clerks should have the power to issue summonses and swear informa-
tions? I do; I think it would save trouble and delay. 
245. You think it would operate well if they had the power of one Magistrate to co-operate 
-with another. Yes; but in no other cases. 
240. That is when two Magistrates take their seats on the Bench ? Yes. 
247. As equal to themselves? He should be subordinate, except in oases of necessity, when 
he takes his seat on the Bench, and when there is only one other Magistrate. 
248. Then you are not in favour of Police Magistrates ? Except in extreme cases, because 
the expense would be extraordinary. If the system were adopted on the recommendation of 
this Committee, every little township in the Colony would send in an application claiming a 
Police Magistrate. 
249. What is the general character of chief constables, with regard to their qualifications 
for the offices they hold ? I cannot say much about them. The one party I know assumes 

great 
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T. Garrett, great power in the Court, and there is a feeling against him on that account ; and, speaking 
Esq., M.L.A. generally, I suspect that where the interests of Magistrates clash with those of others, he 

favours the Magistrates, being their subordinate. it is almost natural that he should consult 
Mar. , 1861 . the interests of those who have the power over him. 

250. By Alp. Morris: You remark in your evidence that the Magistrates who act in your 
district were deficient in legal acquirements? Deficient in legal knowledge with respect to 
the eases they administer. 
251. Is it a fact that a large amount of legal knowledge is necessary for Magistrates to 
determine the few cases in which they are called upon to net judicially ? I think they 
ought at least to have a knowledge of the laws they administer, not only of the leading 
principles which regulate the action of our Courts, but of others—the law of evidence for 
instance. 
252, Are the Magistrates that have come under your notice shrewd men in their own busi-
ness? Some of them are; but there are cases among the last appointments, under the 
Parker administration, of men who had scarcely been out of the district, and who had never 
been engaged in business at all. 
253. But have they correct judgments of abstract justice ? They are not men of large 
understanding, or men who have taken all active part in life, but gentlemen who had 
sufficient influence to get themselves appointed. Mr. Henry Osborne was requested to 
nominate and recommend gentlemen for the Commission of the Peace, and out of the four-
teen he recommended, there was Mr. R. J. Marshall, his brother-in-law; Mr. F. P. .Theabe, 
Lis son-in-law; Mr. J. W. Wilshire, who married Mr. Osborne's brother's daughter; and, 
Mr. Redhall, also a sou-in-law, absent in England, and by common report of weak intellect, 
if not of unsound mind. The whole fourteen were appointed, with the exception of Mr. 
John Stewart, who refused to aectpt appointment. Another gentleman, who then reprer 
seated the district, was also asked to 'woman ad gentlemen for the Commission of the Peace, 
and he recommended four, not one of whom were appointed. The only way this was to be 
accounted for was that Mr Osborne supported the Government of the day, whilst Mr. Marks 
almost generally opposed them. 
2.54. But, as you have mentioned the names of those proposed by Mr. Osborne, could you 
also give us the qualifications of those rejected as the nominees of Mr. Marks, because it is 
probable that substantial objections stood in the way of their appointment ? Well, from 
what I recollect of the debate at the time, it appeared that these gentlemen were fully equal 
in social standing and ability to those who were then appointed, and since then some of them 
have been put on the Commission. 
255. Would you not, as a Member of the Legislative, feel yourself justified by that circum-
stance in recommending a person for the Magistracy ? I was asked the other day to recom-
mend a gentleman for the Commission of the Peace; the memorial was sent to Imc, and 
I placed it in the hands of the Colonial Secretary. 
256. Could you imagine any person in a position better adapted to afford information in such 
a case than a Member of the House, who would in some measure be responsible for a good 
selection ? Well, political influence is usually brought to bear upon these appointments. 
Support is given by local gentlemen to Members of Parliament, who owe their seats perhaps 
to half-a-dozen active men, and a recommendation or a request from them to the :Member is 
received with great consideration at any rate; and, from what I have noticed of electioneer-
ing matters, I believe it is often a stipulated condition that the gentlemen should be recom-
mended after supporting the candidate. 
257. Then there appears to be a pretty general desire among persons of property of any 
description to become Magistrates ? Men ly for the social distinction, not from any real 
desire to assist in the administration of justice. 
258. Is there not a difficulty in getting gintlemen, competent by education and means, to 
become .Magistrates ? I believe there is. The reason of this I understand is owing to the 
disrepute into which the Benches have fallen, not only from the character of the appoint-
ments, but from the way they behave on the Bench. 
259. You have told us that in order to have a suitable Magistracy you would require some 
test, and which test of fitness you would apply by examination of candidates—do you not 
suppose that, if such a test were used, such men as lawyer's clerks and indolent, but 
moderately well educated young men would very likely go through the examination better 
than men of property and standing? You forget that, by the plan of election I propose, 
before they were recommended they would have to be nominated by the people, by whom 
they would not be approved if idle, disorderly, or wanting in respectability of character. 
260. Do you suppose that men of property, education, and standing, would be willing to 
become candidates if the Magistrates were to be chosen by popular election ? The people 
themselves would nominate these gentlemen, and I believe the elections would be conducted 
far differently from political elections, and do away with those feelings and that mode of 
action to which you allude. I think we should by this means have men of the best intelli-
gence and character, and that the administration of justice would be managed with the 
confidence of the public. 
261. Do you suppose that, when popular feeling runs so high as it did in the Shoalhaven 
District with respect to Mr. Berry and the Municipality, the great majority of the people 
would not nominate those whom they considered hostile to the unpopular party; for instance, 
not those who took a favourable view of Mr. Berry's ease? I think the feelings of the people 
would not be brought to bear upon the question at all. 
262. The feeling is different there then to what it is in any other part of the world? No; 
if these gentlemen, who are nominated, have to pass through the ordeal of first being 
examined as to their fitness, and then having their qualifications submitted for the approval 
of the Crown, jealousies of that kind would be done away with. 

263- 
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263. Do you find the operations of elections generally in the country carried out in that T. Garrett 
way—that where men mostly have business of their own to attend to, the best men in the Rag., MLA' 
district are elected for the municipality? The best meu who offer are, as a general rule 
elected for the municipalities. 	 1 Mar., 1861. 
264. But do the best men offer? The people choose them as the best, and we must assume 
that they are so. 
'265. By the Chairmaq: By the Magistrates being elected you mean that the people should 
consent to their being made Magistrates? No; I think a vote should first be taken. 
266. By Mr. Morris : If the Magistrates were elected by the people, would not a party 
spirit be imparted to the Bench—is not that a necessary consequence ? I cannot sec that it 
would if it rested there, and no after-proceedings took place to affect public feeling. 
267. Why ? Because he must be a capable man, or ho would never obtain a seat. The 
personal likings of the people may interfere, he must however have the esteem and con-
fidence of a majority, which he ought to have, it is the next essential to a knowledge of his 
duties. At present gentlemen are appointed in whom the people have no confidence; influ-
ence secures the appointment of almost all of them. 
268. Have you not observed that Magistrates may be struck off the commission for corrup-
tion—are your objections founded on their deficiency in proper attainments, or on their 
susceptibility of being influenced by corrupt motives? They are frequently influenced by 
considerations which never appear before the Court. In a ease to which I may allude, Mr. 
Marshall (Mr. Osborne's brother-in-law) was defendant, and it was tried by Mr. 31`Cabe, 
Mr. Wilshire, and Mr. William Osborne—all relatives. It was as to damages done to a pig 
by a dog; Mr. Marshall saw nothing of the occurrence, but stated his opinion that the dog 
could not injure the pig, whilst a witness swore that the entrails of the pig were pulled out. 
Yet the Bench stated that they would take Mr. Marshall's opinion before the other man's 
swearing to the fact. What makes the thing more glaring is, that on an application for a 
new trial, it was refused by the Magistrates who tried the case. 
269. Is not that an exceptional case ? Where you give the power of nomination to a man, 
and the nomination is received with consideration on political grounds, he recommends his 
friends and relatives; and this shows the danger of the system. Five of the persons nomi-
nated by Mr. Osborne were related to one another and himself. 
270. In your reading or conversation have you not heard that more serious objections are 
made to the Magistracy of those countries where they are elected by the people, as in 
America—a large portion of the people consider them a disgrace, and have no faith in them 
as a judicial tribunal? I think that whoever reads the social history of America, will find 
that there are fewer complaints respecting the administration of justice than in other 
ountries. In this case that T. allude to, Mr. Marshall swore that the dog belonged to him ; 

that it was only six months old, and not able to kill a pig. The other man swore that the 
dog tore the sow so much that she died soon afterwards. The three relatives tried the case 
of the other relative. 
271. Have you been in any other part of the country (besides illawarra) whore the cases 
coming before the Bench are mostly under the Masters and Servants Act? In Cooma 
I have heard that where the superintendents of large stations are Magistrates of the Bench, 
it is a matter of public rumour that they take an interest in impounding cases, and disputes 
arising out of them, and between masters and servants, because they are influenced by 
considerations one towards another. 
272. Your experience leads you to believe that in masters' and servants' cases the Magis-
trates lean rather to the master than to the servant? That is the result of my experience 
in Illawarra and elsewhere. 
273. Have you in your travels or association with country people never heard a contrary 
Opinion expressed—that generally speaking the Magistrates have an undue leaning towards 
the servant? I never heard it named ; in the manner of conducting trials in little matters 
of this kind, the clerks usually throw the weight of their influence in favour of the master. 
274. Have you had any experience of the way in which Police Magistrates discharge their 
duties ? No; but I believe that Pollee Magistrates would be more open to be influenced in 
favour of the employer, and be more ready to give way to those influences than the employer 
himself. 
275. By Mr. Flat: From the evidence you have given, you appear to think that Police 
Magistrates are open to tip ? No, I do not say that ; but they are generally picked from a 
class of men who have been in better circumstances, and who are of respectable standing, 
but with little means. 
276. By .1(r. Morris : Are you not aware that the Police Magistrates who have been 
appointed to the commission of late in the country districts, have been Clerks of the Bench ? 
I believe that is almost a rule now. 
277. I apprehend that, if Police Magistrates are necessary, the best class to look to would 
be the Clerks of the Bench ; and that that also would be the class of officers best entitled to 
promotion ? Decidedly, because they have generally a better knowledge of the principles 
which should guide courts of law, and there is no other means of promotion except appointing 
them Police Magistrates. I know, from my connection with the paper, that the Benches 
have generally settled into social factions, and that if the clerk attached himself to one side 
he made enemies of the other. 
278. By Mr. Ruscien : I gather from your remarks that you are in favour of Police Magis-
trates? Not generally. It might be necessary to appoint Police Magistrates in very distant 
districts, where gentlemen qualified for the Commission of the Peace live at an extreme 
distance from the Court, so that they could not attend. I explained that the clerk should 
act ministerially, Cr in the issue of warrants, summonses, and other office duties, and also act 
conjointly in making up a Bench when two Magistrates were required. 

279. 
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T. Garrett. 279. You prefer the nomination of unpaid Magistrates generally ? I do, tnader the system 
RSch ILL'A' have recommended. 
("---&—'• '280. Do you not think that, if chosen by popular election, it must be by a majority of the 
Mar., 1861 ' people, and that this would induce party feeling among the Bench ? It may to a small 

extent, but [ suspect it is party feeling exhibited indirectly that has regulated appointments 
up to the present; then you would secure a qualification by examination and election. 
281. You allude to the time of Mr. Donaldson's administration ? I believe they are so 
regulated at the present time. I think the system has always been open to that objection. 
282. Many persons consider that that measure was objectionable ? It was scarcely more 
objectionable than the present mode, selections were made from gentlemen recommended by 
all Members of the House alike ; but ever since the recommendations of the supporters of 
the Ministry of the day will receive snore consideration than those of opponents. As long 
as the power of nomination lodges in the hands of Members of Parliament, so long will 
political influence affect the selection of Magistrates ; but in making the Magistracy elective 
by popular vote, although some little party feeling might be engendered, it would be checked 
by the examination as to qualification. 
283. What do you think of this suggestion—that a l'llinister of Justice he appointed, 
removable only by a vote of both Houses, who should be intrusted with the appointment of 
Magistrates ? He would have to seek infortnation from some quarter, and he would most 
likely seek it from Members of the House. I think the appointment of Magistrates was at 
one time placed in the hands of the Judges, and was found not to work well. 
284. By Mr. Flett: He could get information from gentlemen in the various districts, such 
as Magistrates and clergymen ? That would make the Bench a &ore corporation. 
285 By Mr. Morris : That system being now to a great extent pursued, is it not a close 
corporation at present? No. 
280. By the Chairmen : Do you not know that it was the practice of the Government to 
send circulars to tile Benches, asking them to recommend persons for the Commission of the 
Peace ? But by Mr. Plunkett's evidence before the last Committee, it appears that this was 
found not to work well; it was an objectionable practice; you may recollect a case at Wide 
Bay, a few months ago, where the Bench mustered to blackball a man as to whose appoint-
ment they had been referred to. 

APPENDIX A. 
[Eared from the Illawarra Mercury if 29(0 ,Thesndter, 1858.j 

The eases to o hich we allude are James Slevin V. William Keep and William Kutty, for 
" damages done to property, tried on the 4th November ; and Rutty e. Slevin, for a violent assault, 
" 

 
tried ou the Kith of the same month. 

" Both cases arose out of the disputed possession of a tree. Thu parties (i. Slevin and Keep) 
" possess and divided by a road. It was alleged by Slevin that a tree had been growing on thus road, 
" 

 
winch had been fallen, and had fell on what he swore woe his land. Keep, believing that the tree 

" was on the road, or else on his own land, proceeded—with the assistanee of Rutty, whom lie emp]oyed-
" to cut the tree up ; whereupon, Slavin interfered, and asserted his right to the tree, as it was on his 
" land. This was decried by Keep and Rutty, who refused to desist from sawing and quit the spot. 
" Slevin thereupon committed what, to use the mildest terms, cannot be habitat anything but a Most 
" violent assault—knocking Rutty down by a blow on the head witlt a bludgeon, hitting him with the 
" same when down, and afterwards knocking him down a second time by a blow so severe that it rendered 
"inn, insensible for some time. These are the circumstances, as developed in the evidence, out of which 
" both these cases arose. In both eases objection Was taken as to the jurisdiction of the 13ench ; but 
" the decision in the first case was to overrule the objection, and in the second to support it 

"'Po enable our readers to judge for themselves, we place an much of both cases as refers to the 
" objection in parallel columns 

" Corer or Parry Sfiesums. 

	

" Th rsde Nov 4 	 Nov.,, 18Th.  
" (Before Messrs. MaeCabe, Thomson, and 	" (Before 314-srs. Irving, Hopkins, and Gordon.) 

Marshall.) 	 " Jane's Sind!' Was charged with having 
" W. Keep and — Rutty were charged cith " assaulted William Rutty, at Brandy and Water 

" having damaged a tree, the property of James •' Creek, on the 1st instant, by larding him 
" Slavin, to the extent of £2, by cutting and " violently with a stick. • • • • • 
" removing a portion of it. 	• 	• 	• 	• " Mr. Owen here said he would endeavour to save 
" A tree, which had been growing on the road, 	" the time of the Court by submitting an objection 
"on the land of plaintiff, and the difendants bad " which, he was of opinion, would be fatal to the 
" commenced to saw up this tree, thinking they " Case. lie objected to the jurisdiction of the 
" had as much right to it as plaintiff, as they were " Court, on the gronkr7 that the sultitct malt. r tac the 
"still of Opinion it was on the road. Mr. Sperling " case had omits out if a dispute us to Hit boundary 
" objected to the jurisdiction cd.  at Coast, as it irus "or orateship tf laud, and quoted the latter part of 
"a questa/re of boundary, and also as no evidence " the 29th clause of the Act under which the 
" of ownership had been given. The Bench " charge was brought, to thew that it was not 
" overruled the objections, 	• 	o 	o 	• " competent for the Bench to hear and determine 
" found the defendants guilty, and sentenced them " any case lit' assault where the right and title to 
•' to pay 5s. each and costs.  " land was involved, lie contended that the 

" plaintiff's own evidence showed that there was a 
" question as to the boundary of defendant's pro-
" perty. Mr. Sperling argued that this was not a 
" boundary, but simply ono of assault, end nothing 
'I else. He read a quotatit on froni Burns' Justice, 
" to shrew that in case of a person being found 
" illegally on the land of another, this owner of the 
" Lana, having previously requested the trespasser 
" to remove, might use reasonable and necessary 
" force to compel him. Ho contended that a great. 
" more force and violence had been used than was 
" necessary, and which constituted an assault_ 
" The Bench. after Consulting together for some., 
" time, decided that the objecllon started by Mr. 
" Owen was AM/ to the cost." 

THURSDAY, 



_ 919 
- 

	

SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE UNPAID MAGISTRACY. 
	 17 

THURSDAY, 6 MARCH, 1861. 

lament:— 

MTh LESLEY, 	I 	Mn. MARKHAM, 
Mn. RUSDEN. 

ROBERT MESTON, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Captain John Mterie, Inspector General of Police, called in and examined :— 

287. By the Chairman: You have had great experience in this Colony, Captain Mterie? johtlittrir! le.  
Yes, considerable experience in matters of Police. 
288. The matter into which we arc now inquiring is between the unpaid and Police  
Magistrates, in different parts of the Colony. We find great difficulty in getting the 6 Mar. ' 1861.  
business of the Benches conducted by the unpaid Magistrates, from a variety of causes, and 
many petitions have come in for the appointment of Police Manistrates. Do you think the 
efficiency of the Bench would be increased by the appointment of Police Magistrates to the 
various Benches of tile Colony ? As a general rule, I have no doubt it would ; but there 
are Benches in this Colony where the Magistrates are exclusively unpaid, and where the 
duties are efficiently performed. 
289. But in remote districts, where Magistrates could not be got—where, sometimes, two. 
Magistrates cannot be found to sit for sixteen weeks together—how are we to do in that 
case ? A difficulty exists there. I have correspondence with all the Benches, on matters of 
account, &c., and I find that at the Condobolin Bench they are sometimes three months 
without a Magistrate, but the duties are of so light a nature as not to justify the Govern-
ment in incurring the expense of a Police Magistrate. I give that as one instance. It has 
been suggested frequently that this difficulty might be met by the appointment of itinerating 
Magistrates. 
290. Would you give a Police Magistrate—were such an officer appointed—a single or a 
double power ? There are objections to the double power being conferred on any one man, 
but no instance has ever come within my own knowledge to justify such objections. 
291. Do you think the constabulary would be better regulated by the appointment of Police 
Magistrates than under the present system ? I do not think the appointment of a Police 
Magistrate would at all affect that point, because I look upon it, that an unpaid Magistrate—
as regards the control of the constabulary—has by law quite as much power as a paid 
Magistrate. 
292. But what is his power over the constabulary—does it not resemble the position of the 
master to the servant ? The Bench appoints under the Act, and not any individual member 
thereof. 
293. It is the same power as is given under the Master and Servants Act ? It is within 
my own knowledge that at some Benches of the Colony where there are paid Magistrates, 
the paid Magistrates in some instances have assumed to themselves the right of the appoint-
ment of police. The matter has been referred to me by unpaid Magistrates ; and I have 
always held that the Act vests the appointment in the hands of the Bench, whether it be 
composed of paid or unpaid Magistrates. 
294. In the Bench as a whole ? Exactly. I think the less the Magistrates on the Bench 
have to do with the police the better. I look upon it that the Magistrates should know 
nothing of the police, or of police cases, until they are put before them on the Bench. I 
have a very great objection to eases being investigated by Magistrates, and instructions being 
given before the case is heard. The Magistrate should go on the Bench with his mind clear 
of all previous knowledge of the case.. 
295. By giving Police Magistrates the double power, might there not be a collision between 
them and ordinary Magistrates ? Any unpaid Magistrate who was desirous of seeing the 
public business carried on without obstruction could not, on public grounds, make any 
objection to the appointment. 
296. Providing the Police Magistrate had a double power, should he, in that capacity, 
always take the chair in preference to any of the senior Magistrates—a difficulty sometimes 
arises then ? I do not think the double power should give him any right to the chair; but 
it has been generally conceded, I believe, in most Benches, that the Police Magistrate should 
take the chair. The double power, however, should give him no right to that precedence. 
297. Do you not think the senior Magistrate, out of courtesy, should be chairman ? That 
is a matter of etiquette, which I would leave to each Bench to determine for themselves, 
298. Would the situations of Commissioner of Crown Lands and Police Magistrate be 
incompatible with one another ? I think so. I think the duties of the two offices, if amal-
gamated, must frequently clash. 
299. Do you think the ordinary Magistrates would attend better were a Police Magistrate 
appointed, or would their attendance not be so regular ? I should think they would be more 
likely to make their attendance less regular, knowing that a paid Magistrate was there to do 
the duty. 
300. If a new Commission were issued, on what principle do you think the new Magistracy 
ought to be appointed ? Do you mean as to their qualifications? 
301. As to the nomination of gentlemen in the various districts—on what principle should 
they be selected ? So long as we have no Lord Lieutenants of the Counties, or Lord 
Chancellors, the appointments could not be left in any other hands than the present. 
302. Than in the hands of the Government ? Than in the hands of the Government. 
303. The question has been mooted in high quarters, and received a favourable acceptance, 
that there is very great difficulty sometimes in proceeding with the business in Petty Sessions 
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Captainin consequence of the non-attendance of unpaid Magistrates—one not being able to form a 
John Mterie. Bench,—would it he advisable to give,pro. tem., to the Clerk of the Bench, the power of a 

e---"s1/4—••■ Magistrate, in order that the business of the district might be advanced? Since the intro-
C  Mar" 1861 . duction of that law, making, in certain cases, the Clerk of Petty Sessions a Police Magistrate, 

I have not found it to work well; I think it places the Clerk of Petty Sessions in a false 
position. 
804. Ile would be placed in two positions—at one time he would be the Magistrate, and 
then he would descend to the position of clerk, which T suppose would be considered infra 
dig.—you do not think that advisable ? It is within my own knowledge in some instances 
where Clerks of Petty Sessions are Magistrates, that they have assumed to themselves power 
which should only be exercised by the whole Bench. 
805. Would you have any objection to giving them the power of issuing summonses and 
swearing informations when Magistrates were absent by reason of long distance from the 
Bench ? I have always been of opinion, both as regards the Sydney Bench, and that of the 
country, that a man competent to fill the office of Clerk of Petty Sessions should have the 
power of issuing process; that is the ease now in the London Police offices. By that means 
you would relieve the Magistrates who would sit upon the case, of having a knowledge of the 
facts of the case before hearing them in evidence. 
306. By  Mr. Le ley : Of nay how edge of the e.se? Precisely ; if an information comes 
before a 3Iagistrate before he i:sues process by sumnims or warrant, his mind must be 
biassed one way, and he cannot, however dispassionate he may be, get rid, to a certain extent, 
of that bias; but it would be very different if the case came before him for the first time 
when it was brought forward to be heard in Court. 
307. By the Chah man . The great source of complaint from the country districts has been 
not so much from the want, as from the non-attendance, of Magistrates—do you think any 
power is required to make the Magistrates attend to their duties ? It is an honorary appoint-
ment, and I do not see how you could compel gentlemen to attend. 
308. Do you not consider that the oath which a Magistrate takes when he undertakes that 
office ought to be sufficient to bind him to attend to his duties ? To bind him to attend ; 
but not, in my opinion, to neglect his own private business to attend. 
309. The difficulty is this : Magistrates now are not bound to attend; the public business 
suffers by reason of their non-attendance ? Undoubtedly. 
310. Could not some provision be made which would compel regular rosters and attendance ? 
In a great many Benches of the Colony there is so much want of unanimity among the 
Magistrates, that when one goes on the Bench, another will not go; that must operate 
against the public interest. 
311. There is, no doubt, a difficulty in getting Magistrates to attend ? Yes. 
312. It would be difficult to get them to attend if, by so doing, they would neglect their own 
business? Yes. 
318. And every gentleman in the country has an occupation of his own to attend to ? Yes; 
the unpaid Magistracy of this Colony are very different from the unpaid Magistracy of 
England. The unpaid Magistracy there are men of property, who have nothing else to 
attend to. 
314. Have you any plan to propose which would remedy these evils consequent on the non-
attendance of the Magistracy ? The only thing which suggests itself to me with regard to 
the matter is, that I would give the Clerk of Petty Sessions the power of issuing process 
out of the Court, and make a paid Police Magistrate itinerate. By giving the Clerk of Petty 
Sessions this power, the presence of the paid Magistrate would not be required constantly; 
but if the Clerk of Petty Sessions has not such a power the public interest would suffer as 
much as it does now, because the presence of a Police Magistrate to issue process would be 
as necessary as his presence to hear the case. 
315. By Mr. Rusden: Does not the objection you have made to the Clerks of Petty Sessions 
(if made Magistrates) havino

° 
 in some degree a previous knowledge of the case by taking 

depositions, equally apply toa Police Magistrate? Yes; but my answer to the question put 
by the Chairman was, that I objected to the Clerks of Petty Sessions having this power. 
316. Yes ; but the question would equally apply to the Police Magistrate : does he not get 
that previous knowledge ? Yes; but by the plan I suggest—processes being issued by the 
Clerk—the Magistrate's mind would be free from bias inasmuch as he would know nothing 
of the case until it were brought before him on the Bench. 
317. But the objection would apply as at present—the Police Magistrate has a foreknowledge? 
Yes. 
318. If it be found necessary in up-country districts that the Clerk of Petty Sessions should 
have the power of one Magistrate, might not the chief constable issue process to prevent his 
having a foreknowledge of the case? No; I think not ; that is a power I would not trust 
to the class of men who are at present chief constables. 
319. We want, if we can, to expedite the police business in the country. By giving the 
Chief Clerk the power of one Magistrate, would not the objections to such an appointment 
be done away with—by having a superior man as chief constable, so that a Magistrate should 
not have a previous knowledge of the case? I see more than one objection to the chief 
constable doing that duty, even if the chief constables of the Colony were, as a class, com-
petent to do it. The first objection is this : at all Benches there are, of course, civil 
processes as well as criminal processes, and I think an officer of police should be entirely 
unconnected with any civil matters that might come before the Court. 
320. By the Chairman: The chief constable is generally public prosecutor ? He ought to be. 
321. What is your opinion of the ability of the chief constabulary in general in this 
Colony ? There are some of them very efficient men, but others I have no opinion of; a 

great 
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great many of the chief constables of the Colony, I am sorry to say, receive their appoint- Captain 
Jolmnerie. ment merely as a matter of private expediency; there are, however, some first-rate men. 

322. I suppose such would be your answer also, if I were to ask you your opinion of the "—A-I-% 
Clerks of Petty Sessions in the Colony. You have heard many complaints alleged by the 6 Mar. , 1861. 
Judges against the efficiency of Clerks of Petty Sessions ? Yes; some are not very efficient, 
but others are well qualified for the office. There are Clerks of Petty Sessions in the Colony 
fit for any office connected with the administration of justice in the interior. 
323. By Mr. 12t6eden Of course it is your opinion that it would not do, if such were the 
determination of the Government, to give to all Clerks of the Benches the power of one 
Magistrate ;-there must be a selection, some being efficient, and others inefficient? Do 
you mean the power on the Bench or off the Bench ? 
324. On the Bench ? I see great objection to that. 
325. By Mr. Lesley : As a general rule, do you not think the Clerks of Petty Sessions in 
New South Wales equal, if not superior, to the general body of the Magistrates in education 
and attainments ? 1 have no doubt they are to the general body. 
326. By Mr. Rusden : You mentioned the Bench at Condobolin ? Yes. 
327. Perhaps you are aware that there are many Courts of Petty Sessions in the interior 
subject to the like inconvenience ? I have no doubt there are in that part of the Colony. 
328. Magistrates living at such a great distance ? Yes; I mentioned this particular place, 
because it occurred to me that lately I had to pass the abstract of pcy for the clerk without 
signature, because (in consequence of the distance) there was no Magistrate to sign it. 
329. Do you not think that if there was a compulsory attendance of Magistrates it would 
be a good thing-the same as jurors are obliged to attend ? Then you must alter the mode 
of appointment altogether ;-at present it is an honorary appointment. 
330. But jurors are compelled to attend ? Their attendance is compulsory, no doubt, but 
they are put in the jury list under a law, and liable to fines for non-attendance. 
331. If they were to attend each Court day-not, of course, altogether, but in rotation-it 
would not come very severe upon them ? We tried that in Sydney, by establishing a roster, 
but we could not get them to attend. 
332. It does not answer ? The names are published, but they do not attend regularly; you 
must leave it to the honour of the gentlemen who hold the appointment. 
833. I have known a case postponed for twelve months in consequence of the impossibility 
of getting a Magistrate to attend ? Yes, it is a denial of justice. 
334. By the Chairman: Do you not think the number of Magistrates has generally increased 
in the townships and city, here, rather than diminished ? The list of Magistrates-both in 
the city and in the rural districts-has greatly increased since the last Commission of the 
Peace was issued. 
335. I was looking over the list the other day, in those districts that I know, and I find-
from resignation and departures-many of them are reduced two-thirds in the list ; in fact, 
there are some places where there are none at all scarcely ? You mean to say, the new 
appointments are not equal to the number of casualties by deaths ? 
836. Not equal to them ? And that there was an increase in the new appointments? 
337. By JP. Markham : I understood you to say, that although you would give a power 
to the Clerk of the Bench to draw informations and issue processes, you would not confer 
the Commission of the.Peace upon him ? Certainly not; I would only give him the power 
to which I have referred; it would be conceding to him a duty which aught only to be 	• 
performed by a Magistrate; hut I have always been of opinion, that a Clerk of the Bench 
ought to have the power to draw informations and issue pree&ses. It is the case in the 
Police Courts at Rome. If you go into a Police Court in London to file an information, 
you never see a Magistrate, and the Magistrate knows nothing of the case until he hears it 
on the Bench. In some cases, the information is sworn by the Clark, in the presence of a 
Magistrate. 
338. Can you offer us any further suggestions in reference to this matter ? The only 
suggestion that occurred to me, to meet the object of the Committee, and secure attendance 
on the different Benches, is the appointment of itinerating Magistra:es, and the giving to 
Clerks of Petty Sessions the power to issue summonses and proces,es. The absence of 
Police Magistrate in going his rounds would not be felt by the public. 

Francis Townsend Rusden, Esq., M.L.A., a Member of the Committee, examined in his 
place:- 

339. By the Chairman: Can you afford us any information in reference to the Magistracy F. T. Basun, 
in the Gywdir District ? I have no complaint whatever to make of the manner in which Esq. M.L.A. 
the Magistrates there perform their duties. I believe, as a body, they are very efficient ; but 
I beg to refer you to this letter from the Bench of Magistrates at Warialda to the Chief c 3Lre., 186L 
Secretary, where they give the distances at which the Magistrates reside from the Bench. 
(Vide Appendix A.) I think the nearest is fourteen milts. Ti.ere is another fifteen ; 
another, thirty ; another, forty ; another, forty-five, and so on. I think the Bench there 
consists of about six Magistrates, and these are the distance-. There is no Magistrate 
residing at Warialda, except Mr. Sharp, the Commissioner for Crown Lands, and we have 
had the most conclusive evidence I think before the Committee, and also before the Com-
mittee appointed to inquire into the System of tendering for Runs, that the duties of 
Commissioner of Crown Lands and those of Magistrate are incompatible with each other. 
340. Is it your opinion that the duties of Crown Lands Commissioner and the duties of a 
Magistrate should be vested in one person ? Certainly not. Before the Committee to which 
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V. finl:13dens / have referred, we had it given in evidence that a good deal of the inefficiency of Com- 
lastra 

7
'A" missioners of Crown Lands, and of the delay in reporting upon tenders, and performing the 

•"—A"' duties of their district, was owing to their preferring to discharge the duty of Magistrate on 
6 Mar" "Gi• the Bench—thereby keeping themselves stationary, as it were, instead of itinerating and 

doing the duties of their district. I think, with Mc Walsh, that some means might be 
adopted by the Government to compel an attendance of unpaid Magistrates at their various 
Benches. Euless the Government give to Clerks of Petty Sessions the power of one Magis-
trate, they might make it compulsory that two Magistrates should attend in the up-country 
districts. It is entirely with reference to the up-country districts that I am now speaking. 
It might come very hard upon them if you were to compel the attendance of two Magistrate; 
because you might not get a sufficient number to undertake the duties. But if the Clerk of 
Petty Sessions had the power of one Magistrate, I think then it might be in the power of 
the Government to compel the attendance of Magistrates in rotation, and if any individual 
Magistrate could not attend on his particular day, he might arrange with a brother Magis-
trate to take his place. They might change their duties so as to suit their own convenience, 
and thus there would always be a regular attendance. 
341. By Mr. Markham : Will you suggest any mode by which attendance might be made 
compulsory ? I think Mr. Walsh, in his evidence, has made a suggestion in reference to that. 
242. Would you render it compulsory that they should attend, and make it a rule that if 
they neglected to attend a certain number of times without reasonable excuse they should be 
struck off? I think Mr. Walsh's idea was that they might be fined in the same way as 
jurors are fined for non-attendance. He also said, I think, that he would not give them the 
power of resignation ; but that, I think, is very stringent. When it was suggested to him 
that if attendance were made compulsory Magistrates would resign, he said, " But I would 
loot let them resign." I think a fine might be imposed, and if then they neglected to 
attend it might be in the power of the Government to dismiss them, because if there were 
sufficient numbers appointed the attendance of any one Magistrate would not be required 
more than twice a year or twice in six months. It would not, therefore, be very hard upon 
him. I must confess it appears to me that the non-attendance of the Magistrates amounts 
to a complete veto upon the administration of justice. I do not believe, however, that the 
Magistrates are generally inefficient. I think they pay great attention to their duties when 
they do attend, and that the great evil we have to meet is the non-attendance of Magistrates. 
343. By Mr. Lesley: Owing to the great distance they have to travel to attend ? Yes. 
With regard to Clerks of Petty Sessions having the power of one Magistrate, I must confess 
that I do not see the force of the objections which I have heard urged by many in reference 
to such a course ; but I am satisfied that a selection would have to be made by the Govern-
ment. Therefore, where a Clerk of Petty Sessions was required, he might have to be 
changed, and another more efficient put in his place. That will be, however, a matter for 
the consideration of the Government. 
844. Do you think that, by giving the Clerks of Petty Sessions power to issue process, an 
itinerating Magistrate would not be sufficient tQ visit the different Benches ? I think if the 
Clerk of Petty Sessions had the power of one 51agistrate, he might itinerate. In our own 
district the Court of Petty Sessions is held at Warialda; but Bingara has become extremely 
populous. There are no less than three or four public-houses there. But if a case arises, 
the parties have to travel to Warialda—a distance of thirty or forty miles. There is also 
another place which has risen into importance in our district-5Ioree. Two public-houses 
are being established there, and I am satisfied that if a Magistrate were appointed, with an 
itinerating power, Courts of Petty Sessions might be held here also at very little additional 
expense to the Government. In another part of my district is Wee Was There is there 
s Police Magistrate, Mr. Smith, who holds an occasional Court at Walgate, and to de this there 
are two hundred miles at least to be travelled backwards and forwards to the Court. If there 
happens to be no Magistrate in attendance at the time, of course the distance has to be re-
travelled before justice can he obtained. These recommendations would apply to those out-
districts mast particularly. These places rise so rapidly into importance that although at the 
commencement of a year they may not have been eligible, in less than three months, from 
their growing importance, some provision of the kind I have mentioned may become necessary. 
345. By Mr. Markham: The opening of a gold field in their vicinity would soon make a 
difference ? Would at once make a difference. 
346. By Mr. Lesley: You think that if an itinerating Magistrate were appointed he could 
easily manage to go the round of Warialda, Moree, and Bingara? Easily ; Warialda would 
be in some degree central. It would be thirty miles to Bingara in one direction, and about 
fifty miles in another direction to 11oree. 
347. By the Chairman.: And you would suppose that the ordinary Magistrate would officiate 
during the intervals when the Police Magistrate might be absent? Decidedly. I may say 
from my own personal knowledge of the present Clerk of the Court there that, having been 
for so long a time a Government officer, and having performed his duties so efficiently, I 
think he would be a very eligible person upon whom to confer the power of one Magistrate. 
348. What is his name ? Mr. Snape. 
-349. You are aware that one Magistrate cannot hold a Court and adjudicate in a case 
-exceeding five pounds ? Yes, it requires a Bench to adjudicate as a Small Debts Court, 
which comes round once in three months. 
350. Therefore the question is, whether a Magistrate should have a single or a double 
power? I think that he should not have a double power, because there would always be 
Magistrates in attendance.* 

APPENDIX 
NOTE (addendum by wUrse,s on reside,,):—If some plan of compulsory attsidance Was adopted, 

AS I preciously stated. 
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APPENDIX A. 	 R T. Emden, 
Esq., M.L.A. THE Bench of Magistrates at Warialoya to the Chief Secretary, relative to the appointment of a Stipendiary 

Magistrate at Warialda. 
Police Office, Warialcht, 

February, 1861. 
Sir, 

We have the honor to bring under your notice the very serious inconvenience and loss of 
time the Magistrates, and more particularly the public of this district, sustain, from the great difficulty 
experienced in forming a Bench. 

2. The majority of Magistrates acting in this District reside long distances Horn this township—
Messrs. Adams, 15 miles ; Labatt, 14; Wyndham, 30; R. King, sear., 48; R. King, jimr., 40; M`Donall, 
45; Lethbridge. 50; and Capcl, 50 miles—in consequence of which, since the appointment of Police 
Magistrate at Warialda has been done away with, it generally occurs that the police business is post-
poned, causing much inconvenience, annoyance, disappointment, and expense to the Magistrates who 
may have ridden from 14 o 30 miles, and to the parties interested. For example, we mention one of the 
many instances which happened on the 7th instant :— 

DISTANCE 
COMPLAINANT. 	 PROM 

,WARIALDA. 
DEFENDANT. 

DISTANCE 
PROM 

WARIA Lon 

260 Miles. Miles. 

50 	,. 

27 	„ 

27 	„ 

CAUSE 
or coundayr. 

Recovery of Wages 	 

f Misconduct as minted 
1 servant 	 

Recovery of Wages 	 

{Gambling in his Li- 
ceased House. ..... 	 

Ditto 	  

Row DISPOSED on 

t Postponed 	until the 
21st instant, in can quoice  of there  being 
no second Ntitgistrate. 

, 
I Ditto. 

Ditto. 

i. 	Ditto. J 
1 

Ditto. 	( 
I 

Charles null 	  

Lethbridge, Bro 	 

Janet Mitchell 	  

District Constable, Bingara 	 „ 

District Constable, Ilingara 	 

HD Miles. 

50 

27 

27 „ 

F. Marshall 	 

Mary Brand 	 

Samuel Turner 	 

Samuel Turner 	 

3. The Magistrate vho attended rode a distance of 50 miles. 
4. Both Moree and Bingara are now becomi ig places of some importance, and it frequently 

occurs that matters arise at those places and in their neighbourhood requiring police interference and 
judicial inquiry. ' 

5. To obviate the above-mentioned serious grievance we have the honor to propose that a resident 
Magistrate he appointed at Warialda, and respectfully suggest the present Clerk of Petty Sessions, Mr. 
Snape, be placed in the Commission of the Peace, with such additional salary as the Government may 
allow, and that he be directed to attend Bingara and Moree when business requires. and hi ad the usual 
fortnightly Court at Warialda. The advantages such au appointment would confer to the district would 
more than compensate for the additional .expenditure. 

6. We have much pleasure in bringing Mn Snape's name under your notice, as we believe he is 
in every way efficient and competent for the performance of such duties. 

We have, Sic4 
G. L. LETHBRIDGE, J.P. 
II. R. LABATT, .I.P. 
FRANK WYNDHAM. J.P. 

The Honorable 	 A. A. ADAMS. .1.1'. 
The Colonial Secretary, 	 RICHARD KING, LP. 

Sydney. 	 RAWDON APDONALL, J.P. 

FRANCIS TOWNSEND RUSDEN, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Robert ;Weston, Esq., a Member of the Committee, examined in his place :— 
351. By the Chairman: You are a Member of the Legislative Assembly for the Tenterfield K Masten, 
Electorate? Yes. 	 Esq. 
352. Can you give the Committee any information in reference to the Magistracy, in regard 
to the districts with which you are acquainted ? Yes. I am a Magistrate, and I beg to 6 Mar., 1661. 
make heavy complaints of the non-attendance of Magistrates, both at Tenterfield and northern 
Glen Innes. There is an additional Bench once a month at Inverell and Byron Plains. In 
the Police District of Glen Blues seven Magistrates have left in the course of the last three 
years, and at the present moment there is only one remaining. Inverell is fifty miles distant 
from Glen Innes : there is only one Magistrate there. The Clerk of Petty Sessions at Glen 
Innes, by agreement with the Government, goes to Inverell once a month, and officiates at 
both places; and as the Inverell Magistrate seldom goes to Glen Linos, or the Glen limes 
Magistrate to: Inverell, there is seldom any business done at either place. At Tented field 
there are plenty of Magistrates, but no attendance. Although in some cases the distance is 
a matter of complaint, it can be no excuse for non-attendance in this instance. The various 
Magistrates, except one, will never attend, and he lives not more than twenty miles distant. 
One Magistrate belonging to Tenterfield has not sat on the Bench there for ten years, ethers 
not for five years, and others for periods ranging from one to three years. Some have been 
seen riding past the Court House when one Magistrate was sitting waiting for a second. (in 
one occasion when a, Magistrate was requested to come in, in order that a Case requiring two 
Magistrates might be proceeded with, he said, " No ; we'll make the Government give II s 
Police Magistrate." 	From his own personal knowledge, be could say that for sixteen 
weeks two Magistrates at one time had not sat upon the Tenterfield Bench, and that the 
arrears in Police business and Court of Requests bad all been laying in abeyance during that 
period. It is well understood that I made an application to the House for a Puiiee Magis-
trate, and — 
353. You were refused? Yes, I was refused on the ground that there were other places 
which equally required a Police Magistrate, and this investigation is the result of the refmal. 

6 Mar., 1861. 
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Raresten, I think an itinerating Stipendiary Magistrate, with competent powers to travel betwixt 

	

Esq. 	Tenterfield, Glen lanes, :and  Inverell (this circuit would be sufficiently large), would really 

	

•••—•—' 	be the only means of obtaining an adequate administration of justice in that quarter, giving 
4  Mar., 1861. the Clerk of Petty Sessions power to issue summonses and swear informations. 

354. By Mk Markham: What is your opinion with regard to giving the power of one 
Magistrate to Clerks of Petty Sessions qualified to discharge the duties ? I am decidedly in 
favour of it. A more deserving body of men I do not know, taking them altogether. 
355. From your own knowledge of the Clerk of Petty Sessions in your own district, do you 
think he would be competent to discharge the duties ? As far as Glen lanes goes, I am 
quite sure that the Clerk of Petty Sessions would be fully competent to discharge the duties. 
356. What is his name ? Mr. Wyatt. 
357. If the Clerks of Petty Sessions are to have additional trouble, I suppose they will have 
some additional remuneration; but it would not put the Government to so great an expense 
as the appointment of Police Magistrates throughout the country ? No. 
358. By the Chairman : The Gold Fields being within twenty miles of Tenterfield, must 
involve additional police business ? Yes, many of the cases must be brought to Tenterfield. 
The Sub-Commissioner holds his Court, but having only the power of a single Magistrate, 
there are many cases in which ha cannot adjudicate. 
359. Do you not think the country will be extremely grateful to this Committee and to the 
House, if, as the result of this inquiry, they expedite the police business ? Yes. 
360. Delay in this respect is the great evil under which we labour ? Yes, and the sooner 
we bring our investigation to a close the better it will be for the country, because there are 
so many applications. 

FRIDAY, 8 MARCH, 1861. 

Want :— 
MR. LESLEY, 	 Mu. MORRIS, 
att. MARKHA 
	

Ma. ILETT, 
RUSDEN. 

ROBERT MESTON, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR 
Augustus Morris, Esq., M.L.A., examined:— 

A. Morris, 361. By the Chairman : Have you not some information to afford the Committee on the 
Esq..11LLA. subject of its inquiry. Is not Balranald one of the most remote districts in that part of the 

Colony ? It is the most remote. 
8 Mar., 1861. 362. It is next to South Australia? Yes. 

363. How is justice administered in that district ? Justice is well administered when 
Magistrates attend the Courts. 
364. Where is the Court House? In the district of Balranald there are three Courts; one 
at Hay, on the Murrumbidgee ; a second at Balranald, ninety miles below Hay ; and 
another at Wentworth, at the junction of the Darling and Murray, one hundred and forty 
miles below Balranald. At Hay there is a resident Police Magistrate, who visits Balranald 
about once in two months; and there is a resident Police Magistrate at Wentworth, who 
itinerates the Darling for a distance of three hundred miles. 
365. Then the administration of justice is pretty effective there ? It is effective at Flay and 
at Wentworth, but not at Balranald, which is situated ninety miles from Hay, the head 
quarters of the Police Magistrate; and there are no unpaid Magistrates nearer than fifty 
miles front Balranald, and consequently cases are constantly put off. 
366. Then you do not consider the attendance of the Police Magistrate once in two months 
sufficient for Balranald? The Police Magistrate resides at Hay, and sometimes it is 
impossible on account of floods for him to get to Balranald; nor can he exercise any super-
vision over the police at that distance under any circumstances. The police, therefore, are 
in a bad state, being composed, as I may say, of the dregs of the community. 
367. What alterations for improvement would you recommend ? Those recommended by 
the Magistrates when they met at Balranald some two or three months ago, that is to 
confine the duties of the Police Magistrate to the district of Hay, which should include the 
township of Bouligal, on the River Lachlan, about thirty-six miles from Hay, where there 
are already two public-houses and other buildings. This township commands the route 
from the Lachlan to the Murrumbidgee. We further recommended that the Police Magis-
trate at Huy should perform the duties of Police Magistrate and Clerk at Hay and Bouligal, 
which, being within thirty-six miles, 69 can attend as often as necessary. The Bench also 
recommended that the Clerk of the Bench should be done away with at Balranald, and a 
Police Magistrate appointed there to do the duties of Police Magistrate and Clerk; and that 
a new Court of Petty Sessions should be established at a place called Euston, about seventy 
miles below Balranald, being halfway between it and Wentworth, where a police station is 
absolutely necessary. Great complaints are made there of the depredations of men travelling 
about, not only upon the settlers' stores and shepherds' stations, but upon the stores in the 
small townships. The Bench pointed out that the expense would be very little more to 
have two Police Magistrates doing duty as Clerks than having one Police Magistrate and 
two Clerks as now. The expense I am inclined to think would not be greater than what it 
is at present. There is no doubt that unless something of this sort is done at Balranald 

the 
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the establishment should be broken up, as the police are under no supervision, and, except A. Morris, 
when the Police Magistrate pays his occasional visit, it is impossible to get any cases decided. Esq., M.L.A. 
The Magistrates that live within fifty miles arc necessarily fully one-half of their time es—A—% 
away—the country being so very scant in grass, almost a desert, the settlers have to 8  Mar,  1881. 
occupya very large extent of country, so that they are often, even when on their own 
station, fifty miles from home. It is nearly all wallee scrub and poor salt bush plains. 
I have never heard a complaint of the administration of justice itself, but it is impossible 
to get a regular attendance of Magistrates. I never heard a single instance of mal-
administration. 
868. By Mr. Lesley : This matter has been taken into consideration before, then ? Yes. 
369. To whom were the recommendations made—to the Government ? To the Chief 
Secretary. 
370. And nothing has been done in it 	I think the appointment of this Committee has 
stopped the action of the Government ; they have always exhibited a willingness to do all 
that they can to have justice administered in that distant part of the country. I am opposed 
to Police Magistrates if there ware country gentlemen sufficient to undertake the duties. I 
think it a most monstrous thing that men of property should be relieved of their duties in 
this respect. 
371. But I suppose you have no material down there for the Bench ? No material. We 
have no material of any sort or description. I do not mean gentlemen who have stations 
only, but we have not even storekeepers who could attend, if competent. 
372. Is it the incompetency of gentlemen in the district that makes the scarcity of Magis-
trates ? There are none to undertake the duties, competent or incompetent. I am alluding 
of course to the Police District of Balranald. 
373. What number of inhabitants does the township comprise? I think it consists of about 
thirty people, men, women, and children ; and they are nearly altogether supported from 
my station, or in a great measure. I am of opinion that, at my election, when, on account 
of no notice being communicated to the electors by the Government, the people who assembled 
there were only about forty, more than thirty were people dependant upon myself. 
374. By Mr. Markham : Did you hear the evidence of Captain 5PLerie the other day ? 
No; • I was not here. 
375. Would you think it advisable to give to Clerks of Petty Sessions power to draw informa-
tions and issue process in the absence of Justices of the Peace F I would, undoubtedly ; I 
think it highly desirable in a country like this that we should give every facility possible in 
that way, that is of having these formal acts done without delay. 
376. Do you think it desirable that a Magistrate should not be aware of the nature of cases 
before trial, as be would be by swearing the information before a case came on for hearing ? 
He ought not to be, if possible. 
377. If he drew the information it would put him so far in possession of the facts of the 
case; but if the information was drawn by the Clerk, he would know nothing about it until 
the time for taking evidence 1 Of course. 
378. Would that be one reason why the Clerks should have this power ? I think that even 
in this respect it would be desirable ; the Magistrate would then appear wholly in his 
judicial capacity, and not as a kind of officer of police. 
379. By the Chairman : You heard the proposition, that when only one Magistrate attended, 
the Clerk should be given, pro tern.

' 
 the power of a Magistrate—do you think that would 

work well ? I am inclined to think not. I do not think any one should take his seat upon 
the Bench unless a Magistrate by right. It might create ill feeling. 
380. Do you not think there is vast inconvenience experienced from the non-attendance of 
Magistrates ? I think it could be obviated in districts whore there are no country gentlemen 
willing to be appointed Magistrates, by having a Police Magistrate to perform both duties ; 
but in no cases should districts be relieved, by the appointment of a Police Magistrate, 
where there are fit persons to be made unpaid Magistrates ; it is so desirable to induce 
country gentlemen to attend to public business and acquire habits of attending to public 
affairs. I think they should never be relieved 	magisterial duties except when it is 
absolutely necessary. 
381. Then if, as a Member of the Legislature, the question of the appointment of Police 
Magistrates in country districts came before you, you would only vote for them where they 
were absolutely required ? I should have to use my own judgment as to whether they were 
required or not. I am not desirous of adding to the expenditure on the public service, and 
I believe a scheme may be devised, by which greater efficiency may be obtained, with a very 
little additional expense; but that I hope I shall be able to suggest as a member of this 
Committee. 
382. By Mr. Markham : Do you approve of the two offices of Police Magistrate and Clerk 
being combined ? I do not, as a mere abstract proposition ; but when we are compelled, in 
a country like this, either to incur an extravagant expenditure, or submit to great incon-
veniences, I think it might be done with good effect in extreme eases. In some instances the 
two offices are inconsistent and incompatible. But I have seen so very little injustice per-
petrated willingly, at any rate by Justices of the Peace, that I have not the slightest dread 
of the consequences of what does appear otherwise incompatible. As far as my own observa-
tion goes, and from what I have learnt from the experience of others, I do not think justice is 
administered so well in any other country. No doubt many mistakes are made, but they are 
errors of judgment, exactly such mistakes as we all make in the ordinary transactions of life. 

George 
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George Markham, Esq., 31.L.A., examined:— 
G. Markham, 383. By the Chairman: You have some important communications to deliver to the Corn- 
Esti 

n 
 L A mittee, from the District Court of Petty Sessions at Armidale ? I have some information 

upon this important question, which it may be desirable for the Committee to obtain. 
8 Mar., 1861. 384. Will you please to state all the circumstances you refer to ? I have had fourteen 

years' almost continuous residence in the district of Armidale, and I have had every 
opportunity of becoming acquainted with the working of the local Courts of Petty Sessions, 
not only there but in the whole district. Fourteen years ago there were thirteen Justices 
of the Peace in that district. At that time the attendance was by no means regular, 
notwithstanding the number. Very frequent complaints were made of the manner in which 
justice was administered, and several cases came under my own knowledge of the grossest 
injustice by the Magistrates who generally attended the BOnch, who, indeed, were so 
particular in their attendance as in fact to monopolize the Bench. 
385. By Hr. Fleet: You have known instances of great injustice by them ? Yes, I mean 
in their decisions; I could give instances if necessary. About 1854 six other Magistrates 
were appointed, and this did not tend to mend the matter ; complaints were as rife as ever 
against the decisions of the Bench and the favouritism shewn from time to time in certain ta 	- 
cases In 1858 there were fourteen Justices in all in the district, and the complaints 
against the Bench, and especially against the Clerk of Petty Sessions, became so great that 
the people petitioned against the conduct of the Clerk, and against that of certain of the 
Magistrates (two of them) over whom, the petition stated, he exercised undue influence. 
The petition which was sent to the Government also prayed for the appointment of a 
Police Magistrate. The Justices generally threatened to resign if the investigation into the 
conduct of the Clerk of Petty Sessions, and into that of the Magistrates, were granted by 
the Government. The petition prayed for a Court of Inquiry. The result was, that an 
inquiry did take place into the allegations and charges made; Mr. Day being appointed the 
Commissioner. 
386. By the Chairman: What was tho consequence ? The Clerk was dismissed, but the 
Justices did not resign. 
387. Not then ? They did not then resign. 
388. Was a Police Magistrate appointed? A Police Magistrate was subsequently appointed. 
389. And any new Magistrates ? And two new Justices. After the appointment of the 
Police 3Iagistrate and these new Justices, the other Magistrates sent in their resignations. 
1Vhether they were received or not I cannot tell. 
390. Since that time how has justice been administered 	I believe according to the 
evidence taken before the Court. There have been no complaints. 
391. Then Armidale, at the present moment, is reduced to the condition of having only one 
unpaid Magistrate ? And in a short time, I believe, it is to be deprived of his services, as 
I understand that gentleman is coming to Sydney. 
392. Who is that—Mr. Cohen ? Yes. The Police Magistrate itiuerates once a month, 
between Artnidale, Walcha, and Bendemeer, and is consequently absent from Armidale 
considerable portion of his time, in consequence of this itineration. 
393. Being so well acquainted with Armidale, you probably know whether there are not 
some gentlemen whom you think fit to be put on the Commission of the Peace for that 
district? There are a few who, I think, would discharge the duties very efficiently and 
honestly. 
394. And would attend to the duties ? I have not the slightest doubt of it. 
895. By Mr. Rusden: You said there had been no complaints since the appointment of the 
Police Magistrate ? I have heard none since then. 
396. You are aware that my brother petitioned against the decision of the Bench, in a case 
relating to a horse ? I am aware of that, but it did not occur to me at the time I said 
there had been no complaints. I now remember that Mr. Rusden petitioned against the 
decision of certain Justices, and this is the only instance of complaint within my knowledge 
at the present moment. But the decision of the Justices was sustained. I have heard the 
evidence given by Captain Mterie, and I may say that, with him, I approve of the 
suggestion made by the Chairman, that Clerks should have the power of issuing general 
process in all civil cases, and summonses only iu criminal cases. I approve also of the 
combined offices of Police Magistrate and Clerk, in remote districts, but only where unpaid 
Magistrates cannot be obtained; that is, where the material cannot be found for the 
appointment of unpaid Magistrates. 
397. Bil Irv. Fleet: With this proviso, I think, that whilst other Magistrates attend at the 
Court House to take their seats he should not take his seat ? I think you would not find 
men to take the appointment under those circumstances. 

Sydney : Thomas Richards, Government Printer. —1661 
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ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE-DISTRICT COURTS. 
(PETITION OF SAMUEL WARD.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 26 March, 1861. 

To the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales, in Parliament assembled. 

The humble Petition of Samuel Ward, of Camden,— 
HUMBLY SHEWETH :— 

That your Petitioner is defendant in an action of trover brought against him 
by one Alexander Brand, to recover the value of horses purchased by your Petitioner at 
public auction in the town of Camden, in January, 1859, sold on accofint of the late George 
Cutter, of Nattai, who was known for many years to possess horses and cattle, and to brand 
his stock as the horses purchased by your Petitioner are branded. 

That the said Alexander Brand, who your Petitioner has reason to believe was the 
hired servant of the said George Cutter, has claimed the said horses as his property, and 
sued your Petitioner in the District Court at Camden for the sum of one hundred pounds 
(I'A00). 

That the said action was entered for trial in the District Court held in Camden by 
His Honor Mr. Justice Cary, on the 13th day of February, 1860, Mr. William Cary, the 
son of His Honor the Judge, being 'counsel for the plaintiff, and Mr. Forbes counsel for 
your Petitioner. That on that occasion, the plaintiff, Brand, not answering when called on, 
the case was ordered to be struck out of the list ; but plaintiff appearing afterwards, the 
case was restored to the paper, and continued to the next Court, without allowing your 
Petitioner any costs, whereby your Petitioner was deprived of his expenses for the day, 
amounting to more than twenty pounds. Your Petitioner's case has been materially injured 
by said continuation, inasmuch as, on that occasion, Cutter, who sold the horses, was present 
to give evidence for your Petitioner, and died before next Court. 

That in the Court held in Camden, on Monday, 21st of May, 1860, Mr. Justice 
Cary presiding, and his son, Mr. William Cary, being counsel for plaintiff, notwithstanding 
the loss of important evidence through the death of Cutter, and the Judge summed up in 
favour of Brand, a unanimous verdict was returned by the Jury for defendant. 

That on that occasion His Honor reflected on the verdict in language to the effect 
that either Brand was the greatest scoundrel he ever saw, or the most injured man that ever 
entered a Court; and when the next ease, Brand v. Thompson, was called on, the Judge 
said, if it was like Brand v. Ward, he would give a verdict for the plaintiff. On the same 
occasion; His Honor, without application either from plaintiff or his counsel, directed 
executions of taxed costs, amounting to £35 15s. 6d., to be stayed, to allow plaintiff to move 
for new trial if he desired to do so. On the following day, Tuesday, 22nd May, the plaintiff 
applied for leave to move for new trial, and reflected on the moral character of the district 
in general, and the jury in particular, stigmatizing them as' "swindlers and rogues." That 
on being appealed to by one of the jury who had tried the case, for protection from such 
aspersion, His Honor refused to notice the matter. 

That your Petitioner received notice from Brand of his intention to move for 
new trial at the Court held Monday, 13th, and Tuesday, 14th August, 1860. Brand, the 
plaintiff, not appearing at the Court, your Petitioner's counsel moved that execution for 
costs might issue, and His Honor did, without application from or behalf of the said 
plaintiff, Brand, suggest the possibility of said plaintiff being ill or detained by the state of 
the roads, and expressed his determination to afford same plaintiff time to file affidavit as to 
cause of absence, such affidavit to be filed at Camden, and copy of the same to be sent to 
defendant; defendant's costs for the day to be paid by plaintiff, and taxed costs of the action 
to be paid into Court within one month, or no new trial to be allowed. That on that 
occasion, His Honor Mr. Justice Cary informed Frederick William Meymott, Esquire, who 
acted for defendant's counsel, that it was of no use to advance arguments, as he had made up 

153—. 	 him 
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his mind. That notwithstanding the postponement upon the supposition of the bad state of 
the roads, during the same sitting of the Court, in Foulks v. Cady, application being made 
on behalf of defendant for a postponement in consequence of the state of the roads, it was 
refused. That at the Court held at Berrima, Monday, 20th day of August, His Honor Mr. 
Justice Cary informed Frederick William Meymott, Esquire, as Petitioner's counsel, that be 
had consented to accept plaintiff's affidavit there, and ordered the notice of motion for new 
trial to be continued. At the same time, it was disclosed and admitted by His Honor, that 
he (Mr. Justice Cary) had privately, at a road side inn, instructed said plaintiff how to pro-
ceed, and although none of the conditions specified had been complied with, directed said 
motion to be continued. 

That at the Court held in Camden on Monday, the 12th day of November, 1860, the 
said Alexander Brand applied for leave for new trial, and notwithstanding it was shewn to 
His Honor that the roads at the time were not in such a condition as to prevent travelling, 
and that Brand was not seriously ill, and lastly that the document said to be a medical 
certificate, on which the affidavit was founded, was not signed by a duly qualified medical 
practitioner, His Honor overruled all objections and granted leave to move, and intimated 
to your Petitioner's counsel that it was of no use to shew cause why such new trial should 
not be granted, as he (Mr. Justice Cary) had determined what he meant to do six months 
before, and granted a new trial and changed the venue to Parramatta.- 

That at the Court held in Parramatta, on Monday, the 31st day of January, 1861, 
your Petitioner, supposing that, as the orders of the Court (ordering the payment into Court 
by plaintiff Brand of costs of action within one month) had not been complied with, the case 
must terminate, he therefore had not secured the presence of witnesses, but His Honor over-
ruling all objections, he was therefore compelled to move for u postponement, which was 
granted; but your Petitioner was charged with costs above eleven pounds, notv,ithstanding 
for the payment but three guineas had been allowed at any of the postponements granted to 
the plaintiff, and which amount, although execution had issued, Petitioner never recovered. 

Your Petitioner deems a great hardship that he should continue to be saddled with 
the heavy expenses of this protracted lawsuit, when the plaintiff has failed to comply with 
the conditions under which alone a new trial was granted. And your Petitioner has already 
expended not less than ono hundred pounds, besides loss of time and neglect of business, 
without the least probability of recovering any portion thereof from the plaintiff, Alexander 
Brand. 

Your Petitioner therefore humbly prays your Honorable House will cause an inquiry 
to be made into tht conduct of His Honor Mr. Justice Cary, with reference to the 
allegations contained in this Petition, and to adopt such measures as in the wisdom of your 
Honorable House may be deemed expedient. 

And your humble Petitioner will ever pray. 

SAMUEL WARD. 

Sydney: TIwnaae Mnhards, Geeertnnent Penter,-1861. 

[Price, let] 
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(RESIDENTS IN THE DISTRICT OF CAMDEN.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 26 March, 1801. 

To the Honorable the House of Assembly, in Parliament assembled. 
The humble Petition of the undersigned residents in the District of Camden,— 

StiEwETII 
That the administration of justice under the District Courts Act by an 

intelligent upright judge, learned in the law, would be an advantage hardly to be estimated 
to the inhabitants of the District, if his duties be performed with that temper, discretion, 
and absence of bias requisite to obtain the respect of the public, and give confidence in the 
soundness and impartiality of Ids decisions. 

That your Petitioners humbly conceive the conduct in the duties of his Court of His 
Honor Mr. Justice Cary, the Judge of this District, and his decisions, have not been calcu-
lated to gain the confidence of the inhabitants, nor to induce them without reluctance to 
submit to his decision questions in which their rights and interests are at stake. 

That a variety of causes have been entered for trial in the District Court, Camden, 
during the progress of which your Petitioners believe that exception might often have been 
justly taken to the demeanour and ruling of the Judge. They confine themselves, however, 
to the mention of a series of cases in which One Alexander Brand was plaintiff, and His 
Honor the Judge's son, Mr. William Cary, barrister-at-law, the plaintiff's counsel so long as 
lie travelled the Circuit 

That, in the trial of these causes, in which property to a considerable amount was 
contested, the conduct and the general demeanour of the Judge were not such as to give 
confidence in his impartiality ; that, on the contrary, it seemed as if the eases had been pre-
judged, the bias of His Honor the Judge in favour of the plaintiff being, in the humble 
opinion of many of your Petitioners, too marked to escape notice, and his decisions not borne 
out by the facts or by the evidence offered. 

That your Petitioners have reason to believe that several plaints filed by the above-
mentioned Alexander Brand were not brought to trial, the defendants having settled his 
demands out of Court, under an opinion which seemed to prevail that it would be a useless 
sacrifice of time and money to contest them with Brand before Mr. Justice Cary, and not in 
the belief that in making them he had either law or justice to support him. 

That the case Brand v. Ward has been the subject of litigation above a year, and, as 
your Petitioners are aware, is set forth at some length in a humble Petition to your 
Honorable House on the part of the defendant, Ward; that various of the allegations, as 
stated in this Petition, are known (as having been witnesses to the circumstances) to some of 
your Petitioners; that the chief part of them are of common repute in the neighbourhood, 
and are believed to be fact by the public ; and that the conduct of Mr. Justice Cary in this 
cause, taken as a whole, has not been of that decorous, unbiassed character which they 
conceive ought to characterize the proceedings of the Judge. 

That your Petitioners desire to guard themselves from being supposed to impute 
malice or direct corruption to His Honor Mr. Justice Cary, but that they conscientiously 
believe the interests of justice have suffered at his hands, and that the confidence which a 
community ought to have in the decisions of its Judge has in a great measure ceased to 
exist. 

Your Petitioners therefore humbly but earnestly implore the interference of your 
Honorable House, and that, taking the premises into consideration, you will cause such 
inquiry to be made into the general conduct of Mr. Justice Caty, in his office as District 
Judge, as to your Honorable House shall seem meet. 

And your humble Petitioners will over pray. 

(Here follow One hundred and forty (140) Signatures.) 

[Price, ld.] 	 152— 
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ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE-DISTRICT COURTS. 
(REPORT FROM MR. JUSTICE CARY, IN CASE BRAND v. WARD.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 19 April, 1861. 

MR. JUSTICE GARY to THE HONORABLE THE COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Liverpool, 
15 April, 1861. 

Su; 
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of two Petitions, presented to the 

Legislative Assembly, respecting my administration of justice at Camden, with your note 
inviting my comments on them. The case referred to—that of Brand v. Ward—and its 
circumstances, are as follows:— 

In February, 1860, I had to hold a Court at Camden, but, owing to the flood (the 
first of that year), I did not reach my post until mid-day, instead of 10 A.M. Before any 
case was called on, I stated publicly, that, in consequence of the state of the weather and 
roads, if any plaintiffs living at a distance were absent, or their witnesses, I should not 
strike out their eases, so as to compel them to commence de novo, and incur all the costs 
over again, but should continue them until the next silting; and that, as to absent 
defendants, defended cases would be in like manner adjourned, and no order made as to costs 
until the cases were finally disposed of. 

If my memory serves me, there were only two jury cases, of which Brand v. Ward 
was one, and, I believe, called on first. Brand did not appear; and the second case for a 
similar cause was not proceeded with. I therefore discharged the jury, who were anxious 
to return to their homes. Later in the day, Band appeared and asked to have his case 
restored to the list, and then and there tried. This I refused, but I ordered the case to 
stand first on the list for the May sitting. 

At that sitting, the case of Brand v. Ward was tried by a jury; and now comes the 
real question, on which side law and justice prevailed ? All other matters are of secondary 
importance. The case was as follows:— 

Brand brought an action of trover against Ward, to recover the value of several 
horses, the property of Brand, and converted by Ward to his own use—damages laid at £100. 

The evidence in substance was, that Brand had for several years been in possession 
of a number of horses, most of them bred by himself, which were all along depasturing on 
his enclosed paddocks—land purchased and occupied by himself. In December, 1859, or 
January, 1860, one Cutter, personally, with three or four assistants acting under his orders—
or by his servants without his personal presence, but acting under his orders (I forget 
which)—entered Brand's paddock at Natal, and drove away the horses, about 36 in number, 
to Camden. Brand hearing of this, went to Camden and applied to the Bench there for an 
order for the restitution of the horses ; this was refused; the horses were forthwith, on the 
same day, sold by auction at Camden, Brand being present, and protesting against the sale. 
The horses, the subject matter of the action, were amongst those above-mentioned, and were 

232— 	 purchased 
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purchased by Ward, the defendant. For the defence, evidence was given to shew that the 
horses were not Brand's property, that he had been for years the servant of Mrs. Cutter 
(Cutter's wife), then lately deceased, that they belonged to her, and that Cutter took them 
as his own. But it appeared that 14 or 15 years back Cutter had been transported to 
Van Dieman's Land for seven years, and since his return had never exercised any control 
over the horses, but that they were all along on Brand's land, and managed by him. 

I directed the jury that the question was not one of right to the property, but of 
possession ; they had not to determine whether the horses of right belonged to Mrs. Cutter, 
Mr. Cutter, or the plaintiff, but who had possession of them at the time of and anterior 
to the seizure by Cutter and his servants. That, if they belonged to Cutter, he should 
claim them by due course of law and not by violence, or in any way against the will of 
Brand, the possessor. 

The evidence of possession—of long possession, was uneontradicted and unquestioned. 
The verdict of the jury was for the defendant ; in legal phraseology, was perverse. 

Such are the simple facts of the case itself. So I laid down the law, and I insist that 
my law was right; if wrong, the Supreme Court alone, and not popular clamour should 
correct it; and, until so corrected, I should continue to set aside similar verdicts. 

The Petitioner, Ward, states, that " when the next case, Brand v. Thompson, was 
" called on, I said, if it was like Brand s. Ward, I should give a verdict for the plaintiff;" 
I did say so, and should have done so. But instead of trying it myself without a jury, 
I ordered it to be tried at Berrima by a jury. In that case the evidence was the same, my 
direction to the jury was the same ; but the verdict was for the plaintiff And now the 
Camden purchasers had a legitimate opportunity for testing the soundness of my law ; 
Mr. Thompson, the defendant, is reputed to be wealthy; or if he preferred loss to litigation, 
as one decision would have set at rest a number of cases then at issue, or likely to be so 
shortly, the various defendants might, at a very small expense, have united together and 
appealed to the Supreme Court ; but there was no appeal, Mr. Thompson paid the money 
awarded to Brand by the jury. 

Brand, on the same day that his case against Ward was decided, personally gave 
notice of motion for a new trial ; his counsel, Mr. W. Cary, never appeared further in the 
matter. In August following, that motion had to come on to be heard. Again there was a 
flood—Brand was absent—he had no counsel—I then ordered that he should pay the costs 
of the day, and that if he did not file an affidavit within one month, accounting for his 
absence, his motion should be discharged, and execution should issue against him for the 
cesta of the trial. 

On my way to Berrima, I stopped at an inn where Brand was staying; he came into 
my room, and urgently inquired about his new trial ; I told him lie would hear from the 
Registrar at Camden, and that he had better go to Berrima and consult a barrister or 
attorney, who would have to draw an affidavit for him. 

Harm is attempted to be made out of this ; but, I confess, I cannot see it. I am 
frequently asked questioEs by suitors, and, where I am not called on to speak as to the 
merits of a case, usually answer. Residents in the country, who have no professional 
assistance at hand, are, in my opinion, entitled to a civil and plain answer to such questions. 

The Petition contains several other minor points, which I am willing to explain if 
an inquiry is instituted; but, as I have answered the main grievances, I will not at present 
weary you with minor details. 

In conclusion, I must remark, that, while Mr. Ward has no reason to complain, Mr. 
Brand has much cause to do so. It has come out on various trials before me, that Cutter 
not only took away his horses, but almost all his personalty—cattle, gig, carts, drays, stock-
in-trade as a wheelwright, and household furniture. The law has been powerless to vindicate 
his rights—he is now ruined and insolvent. 

I have, Ste., 
ME HONORABLE 	 HENRY CARY. 

THE COLONIAL SECRETARY, 
kR, 	Ste. 

Sydney: Thomas Richards, liovernment Priutor.-1851. 
[Price, ld 
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1861. 

Regialatibt aftemblp. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

RULES OF COURT. 
(DATED IN 1859 AND 1860.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 3 April, 1861. • 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OE 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

Thursday, the 6th day of October, 1859. 
REGUL/E GENERALES. 

The following General Rules, for regulating the Practice on the hearing of Cases in 
Chambers, shall take effect on Monday, the 10th day of October instant :— 

1. Every Summons to 811CW cause, returnable in Chambers, shall be numbered by the 
Chief or Second Clerk, in the order in which it is presented to him for that purpose, and the 
same number shall be marked on the entry of the Summons in the Chief Clerk's Book. 

2. On every Chamber Day, a List of' all such Summonses for hearing on that day, in 
the order of their numbering as aforesaid, shall be exhibited in the Public Chamber, or other 
room appointed for that purpose, specifying the number of each case, the names of the 
parties, and the name of the Attorney applying. 

3. Every case shall be called on and heard, without reference to priority on any other 
ground, according to that order. Provided that any matter may be postponed or adjourned, 
where the Judge shall see fit, as at present. 

ALFRED STEPHEN 
J. N. DICKINSON. 
S. F. MILFORD. 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF 
NEW SOUTH WALES, 

REGULA GENERAL'S. 
Tuesday, 12th of June, A.D. 1860. 

It is ordered, that after the service of any Writ of Summons for the appearance of 
any defendant, where the defendant shall at the time of the service of such Writ reside in 
the Colony of Queensland, the time limited for appearance shall be one calendar month. 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
SAML. FRED. MILFORD. 
EDWARD WISE. 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

REGULA GENERAL'S. 
Saturday, the 30th day of June, A.D. 1860. 

It is hereby ordered, that the 7th General Rule of this Court, dated the sixth day 
of March, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-six, be amended by adding thereto the 
words following, that is to say : "Or within such further time as the Court, or some Judge 
thereof, shall allow." 

184— 	 IN 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
SAML. FREDK. MILFORD. 
EDWARD WISE. 
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IN THE SUPREME COUNT OF 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

Monday, the 12th day of November, 1860. 
REGULA GENERAL'S. 

It is ordered, that the Officers of this Court intrusted with the expenditure of Moneys 
collected under '20th Victoria, No. U, shall furnish to the Colonial Treasury, within the first 
four days in such month, a statement of the Cheques drawn by them respectively during the 
last preceding month against the credits opened in favour of them respectively at the Bank 
of New South Wales. • 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
SAML. FREDK. MILFORD. 
EDWARD WISE. 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

Saturday, the 24th day of Remember, A. b. 1860. 
REGULA GENERALIS. 

It is ordered, that no Plea of Cross Action shall be allowed except after a SIMMER 
to thew cause. 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
SAML. FREDK MILFORD. 
EDWARD WISE. 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 

Saturday, the 8th day of Decenzber, 1860. 
REGULLE GENERALES. 

1. That no Application shall be made to the Court for the Release of any Estate from 
Sequestration unless, and until Notice of, such Application shall have been filed in the Office 
of the Chief Commissioner of Insolvent Estates, and Notice thereof be given to the Official 
Assignee of the particular Estate. 

2. That such Notice shall be so filed at least three days before such application, and 
shall distinctly set forth the grounds relied upon for the release of the Estate from seques-
tration. 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
SAW,. FREDK. MILFORD. 
EDWARD WISE. 

Monday, the 10th day of December, 1860. 
REGUL/E GENERALES. 

The following Rules are hereby established, for the dispatch of Business in the 
several Departments of the Supreme Court, during the ensuing year :— 

SITTINGS FOR CAUSES 
1. There shall be Four Sittings for Causes, commencing respectively on Monday, the 

11th day of February, the 6th day of May, the 5th day of August, and the 4th day of 
November ; and ending severally on Thursday in the fourth week following; but no causes 
shall be set down for trial in the Banco Court on the 4th, 5th, 6th, and 7th days of March. 

COMMON JURIES. 
2. At those Sittings, the last Thursday in the Jury Court shall be, exclusively, for 

the trial of Common Jury Causes, if there be any. 
SPECIAL JURIES. 

3. The first fortnight of each Sittings, in that Court, shall be set apart for the trial 
of Causes by Special Juries of Twelve. But no such Cause shall be set down, except for 
the first three days of the Sittings, as at present. 

SPECIAL JURY REMANETS. 
4. Every such Cause, the trial of which has not been commenced within that fort-

night, shall go over as a Remanet. 
JURIES OF FOUR IN JURY COURT. 

5. No Cause, for trial in the Jury Court by a Jury of Four, shall be set down for 
any day of the Sittings earlier than Monday in the third week. 

REMANETS GENERALLY. 
6. Remanets from any Sitting may be set down (each according to its appropriate 

List and the Class of Jury to which it belongs) for such day or days of the next Sittings 
as the Prothonotary may think fit. 

Tan 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF } 
NEW SOUTH WALES. 
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THE LIKE. 
7. On each day Remanets will have precedence over all other Causes. 

SATURDAYS. 
8. There will be no Sitting of the Court in Sydney, in any branch of its Jurisdic-

tion (except for the trial or disposal of Prisoners), on any Saturday. 
CAUSES, &C., PARTLY HEARD. 

9. Provided that any Argument or Trial, partly heard but not concluded on Friday, 
may be continued on the next day, if the Court, or Presiding Judge shall think fit. 

LAST SATURDAY IN TERM. 
10. Provided also, that the Court will sit on the last Saturday in each Term. 

Fon TERMS. 
11. There shall be Four Terms ;—commencing respectively on Monday the 8th day 

of April, the 10th day of June, the 7th day of October, and the 9th day of December; and 
ending severally on Saturday in the third week following, excepting the Fourth Term, which 
will end on Saturday the Illst day of December. 

MONDAYS, WEDNESDAYS, AND THURSDAYS IN TERM. 
12. On every Monday, Wednesday, and Thursday in Term, New Trial Motions will 

have precedence of all other Business; except that on the First day of Term, other Motions 
will have precedence. 

TUESDAYS AND FRIDAYS IN TERM. 
13. On every Tuesday and Friday (two Judges only then ordinarily sitting), business 

will be taken in order as follows :—First, Criminal Cases on Points reserved. Secondly, 
Motions, not being New Trial Motions. Thirdly, Demurrers and Special Cases, other than 
as aforesaid. 

EQUITY AND INsordvENcv. 
14. The Primary Equity Judge will sit on every such Tuesday and Friday in Term 

at 11 o'clock :—on the former day for Equity, and on the latter day for Insolvency, and 
such other matters as by the late Act may be taken by one Judge only. 

BUSINESS BEFORE EQUITY JUDGE. 
15. After the disposal of those matters, the said Primary Judge will sit on every 

such Friday in Equity. 

EQUITY AND INSOLVENCY OUT OF TERM. 

16. The Primary Judge will sit at the same hour, on every Tuesday, Wednesday, 
and Friday out of Term ; on the two former days for Equity only, and on the last 
mentioned day for Insolvency ; after which, all such other matters as aforesaid will be taken, 
and then Equity. 

APPEALS IN EQUITY. 
17. Appeals in Equity shall be set down for the three days next suceeeding the first, 

second, and third terms :—and for the 23rd, 24th, and 27th days of December. 

APPEALS IN INSOLVENCY. 
18. Appeals from the allowance or disallowance of an Insolvent's Certificate will be 

heard on such days as shall be for that purpose specially appointed. 

FINES AND ESTREATS. 
19. Schedules of Fines and Estreated Recognizanees shall be returnable on some 

Friday in Term, at 11 o'clock ; to be then heard before one Judge only. 

CHAMBER BUSINESS. 
20. Chamber Business will be taken on Tuesdays and Fridays, at 10 o'clock; in 

Term and Vacation alike—Provided that a Summons may be returnable on any other day, 
by order of a Judge. 

THE LIKE DURING THE HOLIDAYS. 
21. Summonses, during the January and July Vacations, shall be returnable exclu-

sively on Friday ; and then in cases of Emergency only. 

CRIMINAL SESSIONS. 
22. The Sessions of Gaol Delivery at Darlinghurst shall respectively commence on 

Friday the 1st day of February, Tuesday the 2nd day of April, Monday the 3rd day of 
June, Monday the 29th day of July, Monday the 30th day of September, and Monday the 
2nd day of December. 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
SAML. FRED. MILFORD. 
EDWARD WISE. 

[Price, ld.3 
	Sy.lney l'howas lt.cbards,Uovenucrat Pmater.-1S131. 



.k : 935 



1861. 

'afSFSCIII bth. 

NEW SOUTII WALES. 

TURNER AND WOOD. 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 10 April, 1861. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly 
of New South Wales, dated i. March, 1861, praying that His 
Excellency the Administrator of the Government would be pleased 
to cause to be laid upon the Table of this House,— 

" Copies of the Depositions in the case of Turner and Wood, 
"sentenced by the Deniliquin Bench to one year's imprison-
" ment with hard labour, for camping with the Blacks." 

(Aft. Buchanan.) 

SCHEDULE. 
PAGE. 

The Police Magistrate, Denilianin, to the Colonial Secretary, 22 March, 1861, enclosing 
copies of depositions in the ease of Turner and Wood ., 	 2 

192— 
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TURNER AND WOOD. 

POLICE MAGISTRATE, DENILIQUIN to COLONIAL SECRETARY. 

Police Office, 
Deniliguin, 22 March, 1861. 

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 12th instant, 
requesting copies of the depositions in the case of Turner and Wood, for the purpose of being 
laid before the Legislative Assembly, and to enclose them herewith. 

It may not be out of place to make a few observations with reference to the sentence, 
which appears so disproportionate to the offence, and which, if viewed only through ;the 
medium of the depositions, will still appear rather harsh, as it is not there shewn what 
character the men bore; although it was sworn by one of the police that they were 
" reputed thieves," a fact within my own knowledge and that of other magistrates, and also 
of the public generally. 

In adjudicating in cases under the Vagrant Act, magistrates would act unjustly in 
awarding punishment if they were not to be influenced, to a certain extent, by the description 
of person convicted. It is intended that a previous conviction, or the character of being a 
notorious thief, should have weight. If it were otherwise the intention of the law would be 
defeated. 

Now, in sentencing Wood and Turner for the single offence of lodging with the 
aboriginal natives, it could scarcely be expected that I would deal with them very leniently, 
when they were both well known idle vagabonds, and under the eye of the police at the time, 
there being no moral doubt of their having committed a robbery a few days before. 

Besides this, Wood had, when living here about a year before, been convicted under 
the Vagrant Act, which rendered it imperative upon me to deal with him as a rogue and a 
vagabond. 

I may mention that the men were suspected of having committed the robbery, because 
of their bad character, coupled with the fact of their suddenly appearing to have plenty of 
money to spend in drink, when it was known that neither had had money for some time 
previous, and one of them (Turner) having given up working for a livelihood altogether. 
With what justice the suspicion rested upon them will be apparent when I inform you that, 
when on the road to Albury Gaol, they offered to disclose to one of the police escort, for the 
sum of £6, where the unspent proceeds of the robbery were still concealed, making no secret 
of their guilt. I merely mention this fact, in order that you may see how well the men 
sustained the reputation they had for being rogues and vagabonds. 

If it were necessary, two members of this Bench, who know the men even better 
than I, could prove that Turner has been a reputed thief for the last thirteen years. 

I need only say, in conclusion, that I acted as my common sense and conscience 
guided me, and in accordance with the law. 

I have, Ste., 
JOHN KELLY, 

Police Magistrate. 

[Enclosure.] 
COPIES of Proceedings in the case Police v. Turner and Wood 

Constable Fitzpatrick being duly sworn, saith, as follows :—From an occurrence which happened 
yesterday morning, I found it my duty to keep an eye upon the prisoners (Wood and Turner), which 
I did until the hour of twelve last night ; at that hour I lost sight of them ; but I got information that 
they bad gone to the blacks' camp, which is distant very nearly a mile from the centre of the town 
of Deniliquin; I then went to the camp accompanied by Constables Glennan and M'Farlane ; by going 
cautiously, I got close to the camp without the blacks or their dogs bearing me ; and I distinctly beard 
the prisoner Wood speaking to the blacks ; in going up close to where he was I came in contact with 
the other prisoner (Turner), who was lying down within, as near as I can guess, six or eight yards of 
the camp fire ; I pulled the blanket off him, and he appeared at first quite drunk, but after about a 
quarter of an hour he became right, and was able to walk ; I took him into custody ; he then sung out 
to the prisoner (Wood) that he was going to the "Bloody watch-house ; " and Wood called out 
" What is the matter; " I then went to where Wood was and took him also into custody ; he remarked 
to me that " He was a, bloody fool to come out of the camp, and might have made his escape at the 
other side ; " the two prisoners were within the blacks' camp fires ; it was about ono o'clock when I 
arrested the prisoners, and there was no eorrobbory going on at the time. 

JOHN J. FITZPATRICK. 
Taken and sworn to, at Deniliquin, in the Colony 0 

New South Wales, this eighteenth day of Jan- 
uary, 1561, before me,— 

Joe KELLY, Pol. Magi. 
A true copy.— .M. A. INI•KENys, C.P.S. 

Constable 
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Constable Glennan, being duly sworn, saith, as follows 	saw the two prisoners, before the 
Court, in the blacks' camp last night ; the prisoner (Turner) was lying down under a bush with a blanket 
about him; I heard Wood speaking in the camp ; after he had been taken into custody, he said he 
was a "damned fool" that he did not make his escape ; the prisoners were within a few yards of the 
fires ; I was listening for about twenty minutes to Wood speaking to the blacks, and both he and 
Turner vere within the fires ; it was about a quarter to one o'clock when we took them into custody ; 
thdre was no corrubbory going on at the time, and no noise except the blacks talking. 

THOMAS GLENNA.N. 
Taken and sworn to, at Deniliquin, this eighteenth} 

day of January. 1861, before me,— 
JOHN KELLY, Pol. Mag,t. 

Both prisoners declined to ask this witness any questions. 
A true copy.—M. A. MIICENNA, C.P.S. 

Constable 31'Farlane, being duly sworn, saith, as follows :—I am lock-up keeper ; Constable 
Fitzpatrick came to me last night, and we went down to the blacks' camp, where we saw the prisoners 
(Wood and Turner); Turner was lying between two bushes, and Wood was speaking to the blacks ; 
Turner was lying nut more than ten yards front the nearest fire ; there were a great many fires about ; 
I should say that it was about half-past twelve or a quarter to one when the prisoners were taken, as it 
was one when we got to the lock-up ; there was no eorrobbory going on, and I saw no other white 
people there ; after the prisoners went towards the lock-up, 1 returned to get the blanket which Turner 
had been using, and, when about to take it away, a blackfellow came up and claimed it, and I gave it 
to him. 

JAMES 3PFARLANE. 
Taken and sworn to, at Deniliquin, this eighteenth } 

day of January, 1861, before me,— 
Joux KELLY, Pol. Magt. 

Prisoners declined to ask this witness any questions. 
A true copy.—m. A. ill'Entise, C.P.S. 

James Twelor, being duly sworn, saitb, as follows :—I live at Deniliquin, and occasionally act as 
barman for my brother, who is a hotel-keeper ; I know the prisoner Turner, but not the other man ; 
they were both in the bar last night, and 1 served them with a bottle of brandy about half-past ten 
or eleven o'clock ; they both said that they were going to the blacks' camp, and "supposed they would 
get what they wanted" ; Wood paid me three half-crowns for the brandy, and the other man gave 
one shilling and sixpence, which left them one shilling in debt. 

JAMES TAYLOR. 
Taken and sworn to, at Deniliquin, this eighteenth 

day of January, 1801, before me,— 
Joint KELLY, Pol. Magt. 

The prisoners declined to ask this witness any questions. 
A true copy.-3L A. IWKEENA, C.P.S. 

John Waring, inn-keeper, being duly sworn, saith, as follows :—I keep the St. George Hotel ; 
there was a robbery committed there on Wednesday last, somewhere about midnight ; it was an old 
man named Wooley who was robbed; he lost about twenty-three pounds and his watch; I saw the 
prisoner (Turner) in the old man's company—in a general company ; the prisoner (Wood) was living 
in the house working at the time ; the prisoner George Turner has been in the habit of coming to my 
house ; at the time I had not any suspicion that either of the prisoners had committed the rubbery, 
but in the evening having heard that they were very free with money, and front conversations I had 
with the police I became suspicious of them ; I don't know anything of Turner's character, I have 
only seen him within a few weeks ; Wood, I have known for two years ; I don't know anything 
bad of the character of either ; they have always acted honestly by me. 

J. WARING. 
Taken and sworn to, at Deniliquin, this nineteenth} 

duy of January, before Inc.— 
JOHN KELLY, Pol. Magt. 

A true copy.--AL A. 31•Iirxxa, C.P.S. 

Examined by Constable Fitzpatthl :—Ginny, an aboriginal girl, having assented with a nod to 
speak the truth, smith as fames know hum big fellow George ; I see hint that big fellow George at 
the camp two nights ; him take my blanket and want me sleep along alum, and I run away ; after 
police been at camp my cooky take 'm blanket back again ; that fellow was drunk ; he no sleep along 
a gin that night ; he give 'in black fellow money to bring grog along a camp, and he drink 'em grog ; 
that little fellow (carpenter) (pointing to the smaller prisoner) sleep along a Mary that night ; that fellow 
George often sleep along a camp—him never sleep with me. 
Stated before me, this nineteenth day of January, 1861,— 

3011N KELLY, Pol. Magt. 
A true copy.-31. A. M'KENNA, C.P.S. 

Davy, an aboriginal native, having been told to speak the truth by the Police Magistrate, saith 
AS follows no tell 'em lie ; I see him one fellow—carpenter ; I see him along a cobra ; I see him 
two fellow at camp ; Peter bring him down ; and I was sleeping hint wake me up, and want to lie 
down along Ginny ; Gilley run away and George take him blanket and keep it ; George give me ten 
shillings to go and fetch 'ea one fellow bottle of grog ; he give me one fellow 'nibbler, and one to 
Henry ; and that one fetch 'm pint pot, and mine give him some to another blackfellow ; he give hint 
grog to Louisa. 
Stated, at Deniliquin, this nineteenth day of } 

January, 1861, before me,— 
Join: KELLY, Pol. Magt. 

A true copy.—M. A. M`Kmexs, C.P.S. 

• 	r 

0 

Police 
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4 	 TURNER AND WOOD. 

Paine Office, Deni 
23 Jfarch, 1861. 

As you mentioned to me that I had omitted to take down certain evidence given by Con-
stable Fitzpatrick, upon the trial of 'Wood and Turner, for unlawfully lodging with the aboriginal 
natives of this Colony. I do myself the honor to enclose an affidavit, setting forth the matter so omitted, 
as you appear to deem it of considerable importance. 

As the omission of the evidence in question inigit be considered culpable neglect on my part, 
I beg to remind you that much conversational evidence was given by Fitzpatrick and ether constables, 
when the offence with which the men were charged had been proved, and the deposition of each witness 
might be regarded as concluded. 

On this twenty-third day of March. One thousand eight hundred and sixty-one, dubn Jaws 
Fit:ph-irk, of Deniliqnia, constable of police, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith as follows:—The 
men Wood and 'Turner, acho were convicted in the Police Court here, On the nineteenth day of last 
January, under the Vagrant Act, were reputed thieves, and I stated while on my oath as a witness for 
the prosecution, that Wood was a " reputed thief." and that I had known him for two years to be a man 
of the worst character ; that I had known TOrTICr for about nine months to be at very bad character, and 
had every reason to believe him a thief; that I had always to keep a watchful eye upon both men. I 
filial that it portion of this evidence has been omitted in the deposition taken upon the said seventeenth 
of January. 

Sworn by the deponent, on the day first above} 
mentioned, at Deniliquin, before me,— 

M. A. M'KuNga, a Commissioner for AlTulav 

■ 

"YdneY: TI. (or  a nirlinr.6,GoTernment t'rinter. — 1551. 

[Mee, Id.]  

Sir, 

I have, Ac., 
Tim Police Magistrate, 	 M. A. 6PKENNA, 

Deniliquin. 	 Clerk of Petry Sessions. 

JOHN J. FITZPATRICK. 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

PETITION OF MR. N. L. KENTISH. 

REPORT FROM THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

ON THE 

PETITION OF MR. N. L. KENTISH; 

TOGETHER WITH 

THE PROCEEDINGS OF, AND MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE 
THE SELECT COMMITTEE APPOINTED IN THE 

SESSIONS OF 1860 & 1861. 
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EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

1860. 

VOTES NO. 3. THURSDAY, 27 SEPTEMBER, 1860. 

18. Mr. N. L. Kentish :—Mr. Kemp moved, pursuant to amended notice, That a Selec 
Committee be appointed to inquire into the allegations contained in the Petition 
of Mr. N. L. Kentish, presented to this House on 3 May last,—such Committee to 
consist of Mr. Daniel, Dr. Lang, Mr. Black, Mr. Parkes, Mr. Gordon, Mr. Lord, and 
the Mover. 
Debate ensued. 
And the name of Mr. Weekes having been added to the proposed Committee, on 
motion of Mr. Robertson,— 
Question—That a Select Committee be appointed to inquire into the allegations 
contained in the Petition of Mr. N. L. Kentish, presented to this House on 3 May 
last,—sueli Committee to consist of Mr. Daniel, Dr. Lang, Mr. Black, Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Gordon, Mr. Lord, Mr. Weekes, and the Mover—pat and passed. 

VOTES No. 6. TUESDAY, 2 OCTOBER, 1860. 

3. Mr. N. L. Kentish :—Mr. Lord moved, pursuant to amended notice, That an Address 
be presented to the Governor General, praying that His Excellency will be pleased 
to cause to be laid upon the Table of this House, copies of all Correspondence between 
the Molong Bench and the Government, and all other papers having reference to the 
case of Mr. N. L. Kentish, and that the same be referred to the Select Committee 
now sitting to inquire into this matter. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES No. 15. THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER, 1860. 

1. 	* 
Papers :—Mr. Robertson laid upon the Table the undermentioned Papers:—

(I.) 

(2.) Return to Address in reference to Mr. N. L. Kentish, adopted, on motion of 
Mr. Lord, on the 2nd instant. 

VOTES No. 17. TUESDAY, 23 OCTOBER, 1860. 

1. 	* 	* 	* 	* 	* 
Papers :— 
1. Mr. Robertson laid upon the Table the undermentioned Papers :— 

(1.) Further Return to Address in reference to Mr. N. L. Kentish, adopted, on motion 
of Mr. Lord, on the 2nd instant. 

[Further Proceedings stopped by Prorogation, 9 November, 1860.] 

1861. 
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1861. 

VOTES No. 8. WEDNESDAY, 23 JANUARY, 1861. 

12. Mr. N. L. Kentish :— 
(1.) Mr. Dick moved, pursuant to amended notice,— 

(1.) That a Select Committee, with power to send for persons and papers, be 
appointed to inquire into, and report upon the Petition of Mr. N. L. Kentish, 
presented to the Legislative Assembly on the 3rd May, 1860, and that the Papers 
in reference thereto, laid upon the Table on the 18th and 23rd October, 1860, be 
referred to the said Committee. 
(2.) That such Committee consist of Mr. Daniel, Mr. Lord, Mr. Parkes, Mr. Weekes„ 
Mr. Hay, Mr. Mackay, Mr. Stewart, Mr. Markham, Mr. Walsh, and the Mover. 
Question put and passed. 

(2.) Mr. Dick moved, pursuant to notice, That the proceedings of, and Minutes of 
Evidence taken before the Select Committee of the last Session of the late Parliament, 
appointed to inquire into, and report upon the Petition of Mr. N. L. Kentish, be hid 
upon the Table of this House, with a view to being referred to the Committee this 
day appointed for a similar purpose. 
Question put and passed. 
And the Clerk of Select Committees having presented the same at the Bar of the 
House,— 
Mr. Dick moved, That the said Proceedings and Minutes of Evidence be referred to 
the Select Committee now appointed. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES No. 56. FRIDAY, 19 APRIL, 1861. 
3. Mr. N. L. Kentish :—Mr. Dick, as Chairman, brought up the Report from, and laid 

upon the Table the Minutes of Proceedings of, and Evidence taken before, the Select 
Committee for whose consideration and report the Petition of Mr. N. L. Kentish was 
referred on the 23rd January, 1861. 
Ordered to be printed. 
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PETITION OF MR. N. L. KENTISH. 

REPORT. 

THE SELEar ContirrEE of the Legislative Assembly, appointed on the 
23rd January last, "to inquire into and report upon the Petition of 
" Mr. H. L. Kentish, presented to the Legislative Assembly on the 
" 3rd May, 1860," " with power to send for persons and papers,"— 
and to whom at the same time were severally referred,— 

(1.) " The papers in reference thereto, laid upon the Table on 
" the 18th and 23rd October, 1860,— 

(2.) " The Proceedings of, and Minutes of Evidence taken befcre, 
"the Select Committee of the last Session of the late 
" Parliament,"— 

have agreed to the following Report :— 
It appears that Mr. N. L. Kentish, being appointed Clerk of Petty 

Sessions at Condobolin, arranged with Mr. R. B. Mitchell, then Clerk of 
Petty Sessions at Molong, for an exchange ; that they subsequently 
had some disagreement, which led to Mr. Kentish preferring a charge 
against Mr. Mitchell at the Molong Police Office, for an assault. 

Mr. Kentish then made certain charges against Mr. Mitchell, in 
a letter dated the 2nd September, 1859, addressed to the Colonial Secre-
tary, who thereupon referred the same to the Bench of Magistrates at 
Molong for their report. 

That investigation took place on the 11th October, 1859, and four 
of the Magistrates reported, "that they had made a full inquiry, and had 
" examined six witnesses, who had directly abd positively contradicted the 
"whole of the charges ; " the other Magistrate, Mr. Barton, dissenting. 

They also reported that they considered the charges against 
Mr. Mitchell were "malicious and mendacious." 

Mr. Kentish was thereupon dismissed from his office as Clerk of 
Petty Sessions ; but, at his urgent request, and with a view to the vindi-
cation of his character, Captain Battye was directed by the Colonial 
Secretary to make a full inquiry into the matter, and to furnish a Report. 

Mr. Kentish, who had left Molong and returned to Sydney, was 
unable to attend this inquiry ; Captain Battye so reported, and did not 
proceed further. 

The Petition, together with a most voluminous correspondence 
which has passed between Mr. Kentish and the Government, having been 
maturely considered by your Committee, they consider that Mr. Kentish 

was 
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was rash and hasty iri making charges until he was prepared with 
sufficient evidence to substantiate them in the event of an investigation 
taking place; and that the language used by Mr. Kentish, an his letter to 
the Colonial Secretary, (was very intemperate and unwarrautable. 

It is not the province of your Committee now to inquire into 
those charges a second :time; the more particularly in the absence of 
Mr. Mitchell, who has not been examined before your Committee ; but 
even had they been Well founded; your Committee consider they are only 
called upon to inquire whether -they were proved at the time of the inves-
tigation by the Magistrates. 

Your Committee are of opinion that, although Mr. Mitchell may 
have been guilty of some irregularities, and, indeed, appears to have been 
very disrespectful in his demeanour to the Bench of Magistrates at 
Molong, yet that the evidence produced by Mr. Kentish at the inquiry 
into Mr. Mitchell's conduct did not bear out the charges contained in the 
letter referred to. 

Your Committee are fUrther of opinion that, although Mr. Kentish 
failed to prove his charges, there was nothing to justify the Magistrates 
in reporting that they were "malicious and mendacious." 

The investigation appears to have been conducted in a highly 
irregular and indecorous manner, and it is to be regretted that the 
Magistrates did not deem it necessary to make a fuller inquiry than it 
appears to your• Committee they have done, and that no public record of 
the proceedings was made. 

The evidence taken before your Committee discloses a practice, 
viz.—the cutting of leaves out of the Record Book of the Court at 
.Molong, which your Committee cannot refrain from noticing, and feel 
bound to condemn in the very strongest terms. It is proved that some 
leaves were cut out by the direction of the Magistrates, and others by 
Mr. Kentish himself; and your Committee regard such tampering with 
the records of a public office, either by the clerks or Magistrates, or with 
their sanction, as being highly reprehensible, and calculated to be sul-
versive of the ends of justice. 

Your Committee are of opinion that there is no doubt Mr. 
Kentish's conduct is not altogether free f ann blame, and, perhaps, to 
a certain extent, deserving of censure, and that he has used very intem-
perate and uncalled-for language in the documents brought under the 
consideration of your Committee ; yet your Committee, taking into 
consideration the fact that the charges made by Mr. Kentish were not 
altogether groundless, and his many years of public service, [re disposed 
to recommend a lenient course of proceeding with reference to his case, 
and to suggest that his dismissal from his appointment be rescinded, or 
otherwise modified. 

ALEXANDER DICK, 
Chairman. 

Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Sydney, 10 April, 1861. 

• 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE .COMMITTEE. 

1860. 
WEDNESDAY 3 OCTOBER, 1860. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :-- 
Mr. Daniel, 	 Mr. Kemp, 

Rev. Dr. Rang. 
In attendance— 

Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
On motion of the Rev. Dr. Lang, C. Kemp, Esq., called to the Chair. 
Order of the House appointing the Committee on the 27th ultimo,—read. 
Concerning the course of procedure, the Chairman intimated that, pending a fuller 

attendance of the Committee, it might be well to ascertain the opportunity or willingness 
of the Molong Bench to be represented and examined, by one or more of their number, 
before them ; and in the absence of all parties from town, to address.a letter to the collective 
Bench, inviting such arrangements as will meet their convenience in the week following 
next ; in the meantime deferring to take the evidence of the Petitioner till this day week. 

Committee resolved accordingly. 
And Petitioner informed. 

[Adjourned till Wednesday, 10th instant, at 11 o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 10 OCTOBER, 1860. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

C. Kemp, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Lord, 	 Rev. Dr. Tang, 

Mr. Parkes. 
• In attendance— 

Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
Committee having met,— 
Mr. N. L. Kentish (late C. P. S. at )Ifolong, Petitioner) called in and examined. 
And witness being furnished with a collection of private papers, purporting to be 

copies of originals in the Colonial Secretary's Office, similar to those about to come before 
the Committee through the House,— 

And retiring, at the instance of the Chairman,— 
The Chairman submitted whether the Committee would feel at liberty to accept the 

contents of such papers in evidence of Petitioner's ease, or whether it would be necessary to 
examine personally into the particulars. 

Committee Resolved,—That the several facts be elicited hy viva yore evidence. 
Witness recalled and further examined,— 
And in course of examination the witness being allowed to answer questions, by 

quoting from the private papers above referred to,— 
Objection taken. 
And witness having withdrawn,— 
Committee deliberated upon the propriety of permitting Mr. Kentish to answer, by 

means of quotations, or incorporation of extracts into his evidence; having regard to the 
usual practice which places separately, all matter admissible, other than oral testimony, as 
an Appendix to the particular evidence. 

II was Resolved,—That the answers of the witness be confined to original replies, 
exclusive of further reference to written documents. 

Witness recalled and further examined. 
And during the further examination, two Members of the Committee, viz., the Rev. 

Pr: Lang and Mr. Parkes, having successively retired from the room,— 
Proceedings temporarily suspended, for want of a quorum. 
And Mr. Parkes shortly returning,— 
Committee -resumed. 
Further examination of Mr. Kentish resumed, and concluded. 
Witness withdrew. 

[Committee adjourned.] 

FRIDAY, 
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FRIDAY, 9 NOVEMBER, 1860. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

C. Kemp, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Black, Rev. Dr. Lang, 
Mr. Daniel, 	 Mr. Lord, 

Mr. Parks. 
In attendance— 

Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
L. H. Sibthorpo, Esq., J.P. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Original papers, consisting of a Return and further Return to Address, ordered on 

the 2nd October, severally laid upon the the Table on the 18th and 23rd ultimo, in accord-
ance with the drder of the House on the aforesaid 2nd October, referred to this Committee. 

A letter having been despatched, by direction of the Chairman, to L. II. Sibthorpe, 
Esq., on behalf of the Bench of Magistrates, 5Iolong, as suggested in their reply to letter 
written under the provisional direction of Committee on 3rd ultimo, requesting the attendance 
of that gentleman as a witness,— 

L. II. Sibthorpe, Esq., J.P., C. C. L., Molong, attending accordingly, admitted. 
Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner, also admitted. 
L. EL Sibthorpe, Esq., examined. 
During Mr. Sibthorpe's examination, the Chairman, at the request of Mr. Kentish, 

proposed several questions to the witness. 
Witness having produced a paper relating to the present subject, intitled " Kentish 

" v. Mitchell—Memoranda of Evidence given at a Magisterial Inquiry held at Illolong, on 
" Tuesday, the 11th October, 1859," bearing the certificate of Joseph Morris, as a verbatim 
copy of the Evidence taken by him at the investigation of the case,— 

The said "Memoranda," as directed, read by Clerk. 
The same subsequently handed in, and ordered to be appended to the Evidence. 

(Vide Appendix A.) 
Examination resumed and concluded. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner, present, then further examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Evidence of witnesses this day not to be transmitted for revision. 
The Chairman produced a letter from the Petitioner, under date of the 2nd instant, 

soliciting the Committee to hold another meeting before "the impending dissolution of Par' 
Bement," with a view to a Final or Progress Report being brought up in relief of his 

grievance. 
Committee deliberated upon the Evidence taken, and upon the prospects of the case. 

[Proceedings stopped by Prorogation, 9 November, 1860.] 

1861. 

FRIDAY, 25 JANUARY, 1861. 

MEMBEUS PRESENT :— 
Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Stewart. 

In attendance— 
Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
R. J. Barton, Esq., J.P. 

On motion of Mr. Macleay, Alexander Dick, Esq., called to the Chair. 
Papers in reference to the Petition of Mr. N. L. Kentish, together with the Pro-

ceedings of, and Minutes of Evidence taken before, the similar Committee of last Session,— 
laid before Committee, pursuant to Orders of the House, dated 23rd instant. 

Committee deliberated, preparatory to the examination of R. J. Barton, Esq., J.P., 
of Molong, a witness at present in Sydney, but departing hence in the course of a few days, 
and to whom the Chairman had therefore directed the issue of a summons requesting his 
attendance this day. 

It. J. Barton, Esq., J.P., Malang, attending accordingly, admitted. 
Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner, also admitted, and informed that the Committee will 

permit him, through the Chairman, to ask the witness such questions as may be necessary. 
Committee then proceeded to take Mr. Barton's evidence. 
At the close of the examination, Petitioner, through the Chairman, addressed several 

questions to the witness. 
Witness, having concluded the giving of his evidence, withdrew. 
Directions given for summoning John Smith, Esq., J.P., of Molong (now in Sydney), 

Mr. W. Petherbridge, and Mr. R. Tulloh, to give evidence at the next sitting. 
[Adjourned till Tuesday, 29th instant, at 11 o'clock.] 

Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Dick, 
Mr. Macleay, 

TUESDAY, 
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TUESDAY, 29 JANUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

A. Dick, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Daniel, 	 Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Markham, 	 Mr. Stewart, 

Mr. Walsh. 
In attendance— 

Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
J. Smith, Esq., J.P. 
Mr. R. Tulloh. 

Mr. Smith and Mr. Kentish admitted. 
J. Smith, Esq., J.P., Molong, examined. 
And at the close of the examination, witness requesting to be furnished with a copy 

of the Evidence taken in reference to the Petition of Mr. Kentish,— 
And Committee desiring to deliberate,— 
Parties requested to withdraw. 
It was Resolved :— 

That the Committee are unable to comply with the request of Mr. Smith, but 
that gentleman is at liberty to propose the names of any further witnesses, 
whose evidence will affect the charges involved in the case of Mr. 
Kentish. 

Parties re-admitted. 
When it appearing that Mr. Smith had left the precincts,— 
Resolution ordered to be communicated by letter. 
Mr. R. Tulloh, called in and examined (Mr. Kentish present.) 
Witness produced and handed in a written placard, certified as having been removed 

from near the Court House, Molong, by Mr. J. Liscombe, 13th July, 1858. 
Same read, pursuant to direction. 
Examination concluded. 
Mr. Petherbridge, a witness summoned this day, not in attendance. 
And parties having withdrawn,— 
Committee deliberated, requiring the Evidence to be printed. 

[Adjourned.] 

THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS 1 RESENT :- 

A. Dick, Esq in the Chair. 

Mr. Daniel, 
Mr. Lord, 	

Mr. Markham, 
Mr. Parkes, 

Mr. Macleay, 	 Mr. Stewart. 
In attendance— 

Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
J. Smith, Esq., J.P. 
F. Smith, Esq. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Printed Evidence before the Committee. 
Mr. Kentish and Mr. F. Smith admitted. 
F. Smith, Esq., examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
J. Smith, Esq., J. P., Mo/ong, called in and further examined ;— 
And witness, while giving evidence, proceeding to comment upon certain portions of 

the Correspondence referred to the Committee, 
Mr. Daniel submitted a question as to the regularity of the course adopted. 
Parties requested to withdraw. 
Committee deliberated, and Resolved :— 

That the witness be informed by the Chairman, that it is neither regular nor 
expedient to receive in evidence a series of comments referring to printed 
papers. 

Parties re-admitted.—Mr. Smith apprised. 
Examination resumed, and concluded. 
Mr. W. Petherbridge, again summoned as a witness, this day, not in attendance. 
Parties withdrew. 
Committee deliberated respecting the materials for report as presented in the evidence. 

[Adjourned.] 

TUESDAY, 
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TUESDA Y, 26 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

A. Dick, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Lord, 	 Mr. Mackay, 

Mr. Stewart. 
In attendance— 

Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner. 
E. M. Batty°, Esq., J. P. 
Mr. G. Boulton. 
Mr. T. Boulton. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Further printed Evidence (complete) before the Committee. 
The Chairman stated the names of witnesses in attendance, the same having been 

summoned, this day,—by his direction, at the instance of the parties,—in the event of a 
decision to take further evidence. 

Committee deliberated. 
It was Resolved :— 

That the Committee are already possiis.ied of sufficient evidence upon the 
points comprised in the inquiry. 

And parties ordered to be informed accordingly. 
• The Chairman suly.iitted two letters, respectively vildressed from Wong, under date 

the 14th instant, by Mr. E. J. Finch and Mr. W. Finch, in relation to the pri sent caiae. 
- Corrected evidence of L. H. Sibthorpe, Esq., a witness examined, 9 November, 1860, 

with Addendum by that gentleman—Chairman laid before Committee—To appear. ( Yule 
page 10.) 

Corrections in second evidence of Mr. Kentish, also examined, 9 November, 1860. 
( Vide.  page 11.) 

,Committee then deliberated in reference to the terms of the Order of Appointment 
and of the Petition, with a view to further determining the bounds of inquiry and proposed 
Report. 

Chairman requested to prepare a Draft. 
[Adjourned till Tuesday, 5 March, at 12 o'clock.] 

TUESDAY, 5 MARCH, 1861. 

3IEMBERS PRESENT :— 
None. 

In the absence of a Quorum, or any Member attending in the Committee Room, the 
Meeting called for this day lapsed. 

FRIDAY, 5 APRIL, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

A. Dick, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Daniel, 	 I 	Mr. Markham, 

Mr. Parkes. 
Committee met pursuant to summons, in order to consider Draft Report. 
The Chairman submitted Draft accordingly. 
Which having been read,— 
Committee deliberated. 
The Chairman—haying then received a note addressed to the Committee by the 

Petitioner (Mr. Kentish), brought under consideration his request therein for permission to 
address Committee prior to agreement to a Report. 

And the same considered. 
Resolved:— 

That being fully possessed of the facts in connection with the subject of Mr. 
Kentish's petition, both by means of the Correspondence referred from the 
louse, and the Evidence taken during the former and present Session,—the 
Committee decline to hear Mr. Kentish. 

And Petitioner being admitted,— 
So acquainted by Chairman. 
Petitioner having retired,— 
Deliberation on Draft Report resumed. 
Draft to be remodelled, and further considered at the next Meeting. 

[Adjourned till Thursday, 11th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 
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THURSDAY, 11 API?IL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

A. Dick, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Daniel, 	 I 	Mr. Hay, 

Mr. Markham. 
Committee met to:further consider Draft Report. 
Same, as amended, brought up by Chairman. 
Committee deliberated. 
Draft read, further amended, and copies ordered to be distributed during the interval 

of adjournment. 
[Adjourned till Tuesday, 16th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

TUE SD AY 16 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

A. Dick, Esquire, in the Chair. 
Mr. Daniel, 	 Mr. Macleay, 

Mr. Markham. 
Committee met for the final consideration of Draft Report. 
Printed copies having been circulated yesterday, pursuant to order, on 11th instant,— 
Proposed Report again read. 
On motion of Mr. Macleay, same, as read, agreed to. 
And Chairman requested to report. 

LIST OF WITNESSES. 

PAGE. 
Wednesday, 10 October, 1860. 

Mn N. L. Kentish, Petitioner 	• • 	 • 	• • 	1. 

Friday, 0 Noveczber, 1860. 
L. IL Sibthorpe, Esq., J.P., C. Cf., Manny 
Mr. N. L. Kentish, Petitioner (further) 	.. 

Friday, 25 diva nary, 1861. 
R. J. Barton, Esq., J.P., 3folong 	• . 	• • 	• • 	• • 	• - 

• . 	. • 	• • 

Tuesday, 29 January, 1861 
J. Smith, Esq., I.P., Molong 
Mr. It. Tulloh 	 • • 	• • 	• • 	• • 	• • 

Thursday, 7 February, 1861. 

J. Smith, Esq., T.P., ivlorty (further) 

14 
• • 

LIST OF APPENDIX. 

PAGE. 
To Evidence given by L. H. Sibthorpe, Esq., 9 November, 1860.) 

A. 
Kentish v. Mitchell, Memoranda (Mr. J. Morris), of Evidence at Magisterial Inquiry, Molong, 

11 October, 1859 	 8 

B. 
Certain Magistrates, Molting Bench, to R. J. Barton, Esq., J.P., 9 October, 1860 .. 	 5 

0. 
It. J. Barton, Esq., J.P., to certain Magistrates, Molong Bench, 11 October, 1860 .. 	 9 

10 

(To Evidence given by Hr. N. L. Kentish, 9 November, 1860.) 
Note of corrections on revision 	.. 	 .. 11. 

(To Evidence given by J. Smith, Esq., 29 January, 1861.) 

A. 
Court Record—Kentish v. Mitchell—Evidence in case of Assault, 80 August, 1859 

	
20 

B. 
Court Record, containing, inter cilia, letter from Mr. N. L. Kentish to Mr. R. B. Mitchell, 20 
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Regiolatibe lloottnblv. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 
TAKEN BEFORE 

THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

ON TIIE 

PETITION OF MR. N. L. KENTISH. 

WED XE SDA Y, 10 OCTOBER, 1360. 

°matt:— 

MR. KEMP, 	 Ma. LORD, 
DR. LANG-, 	 MR. PARKES. 

CHARLES KEINIP, ESQ., IN TIM CEIAIR. 
Mr. Nathaniel Lipscomb Kentish called in and examined :— 

1. By the Chairman : You presented a petition to the Legislative Assembly in May last ? Mr. N. L. 
I did, through your kindness. 	 Kentish. 
2. The substance of that petition was a complaint against certain Magistrates at Molong ? 
That is the case. 	 10 Oct., 1860. 
3. You had previously made sonic complaint of language used by a Mr. Mitchell ? I had 
done so incidentally, not formally. 
4. And the Government had directed the inquiry ? Yes. 
5. The result of that inquiry was that the Magistrates reported that you had not proved 
your case ? Four of them reported that my charges or allegations were malicious and 
mendacious, and that the evidence taken contradicted them distinctly and positively. 
6. And it iS of that report you complain ? It is. 
7. Were the Magistrates sitting as a Bench, or in what way ? They were sitting as a 
Bench of Magistrates, having been summoned for the occasion. It was an ordinary Court 
day, but the case being of some importance, circulars had been sent to all the Magistrates 
in the district, in order that all, or as many as could conveniently, might assemble. 
8. And you assert that the evidence proved the matters spoken to by you ? Distinctly. 
The evidence having been forwarded to the Government, I presume it will he laid before the 
Committee with the other papers. 
9. You give in your petition extracts from the evidence given by several of the witnesses? 
I do. 
10. Where did you get those extracts ? They are taken literally from the evidence as 
entered in the record of the proceedings, and by me forwarded to the Colonial Secretary. 
11. Were they taken down at the time ? They were not. It having the appearance of 
indelicacy, and being also somewhat unusual for me to not as prosecutor and at the same 
time as Clerk to take down the evidence; and moreover, feeling a little agitated, some 
violence having been used towards me by Mr. Mitchell just before the opening of the Court, 
it was proposed that one of the Magistrates, Mr. Smith, should take down the evidence, but 
that arrangement was not carried out. However, the greater part of my own evidence 
being in writing, I have copied that literally, and the rest I wrote out from recollection; 
and to chew that it is correct, I shewed it to the Chief Constable and he said it was all 
correct, except that in one place I had used the word poker, in his evidence, whereas he had 

47—B 	 said 
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Mr. N. L. said fire iron—alluding to Mr. Mitchell's having on one occasion been driven out of his 
Kentish. house with a fire iron, by a young woman with whom he had attempted to take liberties. 

12. Did you enter the proceedings in a book? Certainly, at the time of the occurrence 
10 Oct., 1860. taking place. 

13. Is that the ordinary practice at country Benches, such as Molong ? Yes. 
14. By Mr. Lord : There was no evidence taken on oath ? No, it was objected to by Mr. 
Sibthorpe that the evidence should be taken on oath. 
15. By the Chairman: This is a copy of the record of the proceedings ? This is a literal 
copy. 
16. Will you just read the Readinv

° 
 of it ? (The witness read as follows):—"Molong 

" Police Office, Tuesday, October 11, 1859. Present: Robt. J. Barton, Esq., Chairman; 
" John Smith, Esq , J.P. ; L. H. Sibthorpe, Esq., J.P.; Edwd. John Finch, Esq., S.P. ; 
"William Finch, Esq., J.P. Proceedings of Commission appointed by the Honorable the 
" Colonial Secretary to report upon the letter of Mr. N. L. Kentish, of the 2nd ult., reflecting 
" on the character of his predecessor, as C.P.S. of Molong, Mr. Richard Blunt Mitchell." 
17. Then it was not in the ordinary course of magisterial duty that this investigation was 
undertaken ? They were specially appointed by letter addressed officially to the Bench. 
18. By Mr. Lord : That was in consequence of a letter written by you making charges 
against Mr. Mitchell ? It was perhaps wrong to say charges, because it was merely incident-
ally, in vindication of myself, that I alluded to Mr. Mitchell being that which I imputed 
to him. 
19. Will you read the concluding paragraph of Mr. Elyard's letter ? (The witness read as 
follows):—" If Mr. Mitchell's character be as reported he is unfit for his appointment;  and 

-€ 1  if he be innocent, Mr. Kentish ought to be punished for charging him unjustly with such 
" a character." 
20. By the Chairman : That was the real issue to be tried? It was. 
21. Will you be kind enough to state what evidence was given that you consider justified 
you in the assertions you have made respecting Mr. Mitchell ? Here is the evidence verbatim. 
which was read over, as I have before stated, by the Chief Constable. 
22. By Mr. Lord : Was that taken down at the time the witnesses were examined ? No, 
but it was written out the same evening—the rough copy—and copied into the record book 
the next day. 
23. By die Chairmen: What time in the day did the inquiry take place ? From about one 
o'clock to three in the afternoon, or from twelve to two or half-past two. 
24. When did you write out these minutes of the evidence ? I made the rough copy the 
same evening. 
25. Did you take any notes at all? None whatever. The greater part, as you will perceive, 
of my own evidence was in writing ; for not expecting to be examined viva vote, I prepared 
beforehand all that I thought it necessary to say. The evidence of the five witnesses was 
so brief that I am perfectly certain it is as nearly literal as if it had been taken down at 
the moment; and that I dare say each of them will admit. 
26. Was any other report of the evidence, in any shape, taken ? Yes, there was a person 
in Court of the name of Morris, who had been a constable, and who was then the bailiff of 
the Court; he communicates with the Empire, and he sent, some wed: or two afterwards, 
an account of the transaction, which cannot be called a report of the proceedings, but he 
certainly sent his statement soon after, which statement aprearing in a public print like the 
Empire, instead of at Bathurst, as I think might have been expected, no doubt public 
attention was called to it. 
27. What shape did the proceedings at the Inquiry take ? In the commencement of the 
proceedings Mr. Sibthorpe acted as Chairman, Mr. Barton not arriving until just before the 
evidence was being taken. Mr. Sibthorpe said that he deemed it unnecessary that the 
witnesses should be sworn, but should give affirmation on honor ; and it was supposed that 
the evidence would have been taken down by Mr. Smith, but he did not. I was called upon, 
being viewed in the light of prosecutor, to commence by stating what I had to say respecting 
Mitchell. I said, that conceiving my own conduct as well as Mitchell's was the subject of 
the then present inquiry, I felt that there would be an indelicacy in my remaining in the 
room ; and therefore, having that very morning written down everything I thought it neces-
sary to say, I proposed to withdraw, leaving it with these gentlemen; but they suggested 
that I should read it, and I accordingly did so. 
28. By Air. Parkes: Is that statement among the papers in the Colonial Secretary's Office? 
Yes. 
29. And when those papers are laid on the Table it will come into the possession of the 
Committee ? No doubt. 
30. By the Chairman: Did you call any witnesses after your statement was handed in ? 
I did not summon any witnesses to attend—not one; but it being suggested by Mr. 
Sibthorpe that if I looked round the Court I should probably see those who would be my 
witnesses, I named Dr. Ross and himself, Mr. Sibthorpe. And when the witnesses were 
severally called, as is related in the proceedings taken down—it being as I supposed my chief 
duty to establish the three things stated, viz., blasphemy, sottishness, and brawling—I first 
asked the simple question, have you ever seen Mr. Mitchell drunk? and if that were replied 
to in the negative [felt it was of no use to ask any further questions, as the answer shewed 
an evident leaning towards Mr. Mitchell—it being matter of notoriety that he was very 
seldom seen sober. 
M. How many witnesses were called ? Six ; of whom one gentleman, Mr. Francis Smith, 
was called by me in mistake for another person. 
82. How did they get before the Bench—were they summoned ? They had come to the 
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SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE PETITION OF MR. N. L. KENTISH. 	 3 

Court as spectators; Dr. Ross had come in company with Mr. Sibthorpe, they being Mr- "'- 
associated intimately. 	 Kentish 

33. By Mr. Paths: They consented to give evidence? They consented to give evidence. 	ri"--",  
34. Who were the witnesses in fact called? Mr. Sibthorpe was the first, Dr. Ross, Mr. 10 Oct.. 1560. 
Moon—he was called by Mr. Mitchell. 
35. By Hr. Lord: Did you not call him in Court ? Mr. Mitchell called him, but when he 
was there he said, " Now, Mr. Kentish, ask any question you like of Mr. Moon." 
36. He appears on the proceedings as one of your witnesses? It would appear so, but I 
never summoned a single soul. Mr. Bette was called by Mr. Mitchell to prove that I 
remained in the room some little time after this language was made use of by Mr. Mitchell. 
37, By the Chairman: Who called Mr. Davis, the Chief Constable ? Mr. Mitchell did, to 
prove that he Ind not seen him drunk. 
38. Were these all the witnesses examined? Those were the whole. 
89. What did these witnesses prove—beginning with Mr. Sibthorpe, did he prove anything 
in support of your charge? Mr. Sibilorpe proved the violence of Mitchell, he having 
insulted him on the Bench, and for that outrage he had made him give a written apology; 
he sliewed me that apology himself. 
40. Did Dr. Ross prove anything? He proved Mr. Mitchell's having sent to him a letter 
containing his favorite sentiment. 
41. He proved his having sent to him a letter concluding with what words? "Wishing 
you eternal damnation." 
42. Mr. Moon, what did he prove—he was the innkeeper? Yes, he stated that he had 
never seen Mitchell drunk. 

r43. Mr. Mitchell resided with him some months? Yes. 
44. What did Mr. Betts prove? lie proved that Mr. Mitchell proposed this toast which led 

• to the conflict between us, at which I was very indignant, and remonstrated. 
45. What was the toast proposed ? Ilis statement was that Mr. Mitchell said, "I must 

• now give you my toast, here is eternal damnation to your souls"; at which I, not unnatu-
rally I think, expressed some resentment. 
46. By Mr. Parkas: Your conflict followed that? It did. 
47. By the Chairman: At what time in the evening was this? Nearly nine, I think; we 
did net sit down till late. 
48. Did you leave the room Mien? To explain the circumstance, I may say, that Mitchell 
drowned my voice by his very loud recitation, for that is his common practice when a little 
primed, as it is called; and, not wishing to quarrel with him, I did not interrupt him then; 
he rushed off into something of a totally different kind, for he began to recite "The 
Deserted Village," saying, " Oh, if you want something else I can give you something 
pious.' ,  
49. The next witness was the Chief Constable, Mr. John Davis? Yes, I asked of him but 
one question, if he had seen Mr. Mitchell drunk, and he said, no. 	I asked him nothing 
further, but he made a statement in reply to the Bench, about some young woman of whom 
some report was buzzed abroad. 
50. After these five witnesses were examined, what course did the Magistrates then pursue ? 
They called upon Mr. Mitchell to reply, or to make any observations for his defence, which 
he entered upon, and the substance of which is given in the proceedings which were 
forwarded to the Government. 
51. By Mr. Parkes: Is your case wholly stated in the papers in the bands of the Colonial 
Secretary ? Entirely. 
52. As fully stated as you can now state it ? Perfectly so. 
53. Then if the Committee is possessed of these papers they will be in possession of your 
version of the whole case? Entirely so, and of everything I believe relating to it. There 
is nothing new that I could add to the case whatever. 
54. These papers, in one form or other, your own letters for instance, contain all the facts 
of the ease, and all those facts fully stated ? Yes. 
55. Has anything occurred since to modify your opinion with respect to the matter? 
Nothing whatever. 
56. Has anything occurred to you to give a new complexion to those facts in your own 
mind, or to thew that you were deceived in any circumstance ? Nothing whatever. 
67. By the Chairman: Mr. Mitchell made a statement to the Bench? He did. 
58. Did you make a general reply afterwards ? I did. 
59. Did the Magistrates retire to consider their decision? The Court was cleared, no one 
remaining but the Chief Constable. They debated about one hour or upwards, and on the 
Court being opened, it was stated by the Chairman, Mr. Barton, that his colleagues on the 
Bench, four in number, had agreed to a certain report from which he entirely dissented; 
and be expresaed his total disagreement therewith in very warm language. 
60. The Magistrates' report was that you had not proved your ease ? They reported that 
my charges had been disproved, "distinctly and positively contradicted"; those were the 
words of Mr. Sibthorpe in writing the report, which the other three gentlemen, constituting 
the majority, also signed. 
6L And that the charges are malicious and mendacious ? Yes. 
62. That report was sent down to the Colonial Secretary ? Yes. Perhaps I should state 
that these proceedings were entered by me in the record book of the office, and from that 
I sent a verbatim copy to the Colonial Secretary ; but afterwards, in consequence of Mr. 
Sibthorpe having cut certain papers out of the book and ordered them to be burnt by a 
constable, fearing the whole would share the same fate, I cut them out myself and sent them 
to the Colonial Secretary. 
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1.Wr. N.L.  63. By Mr. Lord: You charge Mr. Sibtborpe with having cat certain papers out of tbt 
Kentish. record book, and ordered them to be destroyed ? He did, in open Court. 

64. It was not then agreed that these things should be cut out and burnt? It was then 
10 Oct., 1800. and there done: I was out of office at the time, and therefore I never opened my lips. 

65. By the Chairman: In consequence of your representation to Mr. Forster, the then 
Colonial Secretary, Captain Battye was directed to hold a further inquiry ? He was. 
66. You were notified of that ? I was. 
67. Will you state the reason why you did not attend ? I had not the means of defraying 
the expense of the journey, estimated at at least £20; I had just come up from Molong to 
Sydney, a distance of two hundred miles, and I was literally without the means of return-
ing. Had I been in a position to apply for a loan, I would not have scrupled to ask my 
friends for assistance; • but when a man does not see a prospect of being able to repay the 
obligation, he should have, and I trust I have, too scrupulous a sense oehonor to incur it. 
Besides I knew that all the evidence that I could produce would be before Captain Battyc, 
notwithstanding that he should proceed with the inquiry in my absence • and, when the 
opinion of one or two friends whom I consulted coincided with my own, that it was of no 
use my going there under the circumstances, I wrote, explanatorily, to Captain Battye a 
letter which you will find with the others. 	Captain Batty°, doubtless, was glad to be 
relieved of the duty, and sent my letter to the Colonial Secretary, upon which the Commis-
sion was cancelled. 
68. Captain Bettye did not go into the matter at all ? He did not. 
69. By Mr. Lord: You are not aware whether Mr. Mitchell was in attendance on that 
occasion ? I know nothing of it whatever. 
70. You have another charge, have you not, against Mr. Mitchell ? At first I made no 
charge whatever. 
71. Something arising out of it? Afterwards finding that this had been treated as a 
malicious proceeding on my part, while I can truthfully assert that it was quite the contrary, 
I then made specific charges, each of which I am too well able to establish, but which have 
not been taken any notice of. 
72. The same evening that this toast was given by Mr. Mitchell, you shook bands with him 
at parting, did you not ? Quite the contrary; you will find from Mr. Betts testimony that 
I did not say good night to Mr. Mitchell, but left the room, what is called, moodily. 
73. I believe Mr. Mitchell had been, prior to this, giving a lecture on poetry ? So I beard 
him say. 
74. Did you not charge Mr. Mitchell before the Bench with an assault ? Ile was tried for 
an assault, and fined £1. 
75. Did not that arise out of the letter you sent him ? Yes. 
76. He threw that letter in your face, did not that constitute the assault ? No, he rushed 
at me with the greatest violence, as if he would have eaten me ; but after all, he concluded 
by saying "You cannot say, sir, that I have so much as touched your person ;" and I 
replied, "No, I really believe you have not." 
77. You did bring Mr. Mitchell before the Bench for an assault, and he was fined a Found? 
Yes, and Ile was further bound over to keep the peace, as he had something like renewed 
the assault just before the opening of the Court. 
78. By the Chairman : When Captain Bettye's letter was received in Sydney you were 
immediately removed from office? No, I had been 60 before, on the report of the Magis-
trates. 
79. When was that ? On the 31st October, 1859. My successor was gazette& on that day, 
but I did not receive the letter announcing my removal till afterwards. 
80. How long have you been out of pay ? As a Government employ!, twelve months the 
31st of this month ; I. e., as C.P.S. of hlolong ; but, in accordance with the desire of the 
Bench, I continued in attendance at the Police Office, daily, to perform the duties of C.P.S. 
and of Registrar of the District Court, until the arrival of my successor from Murrurundi, 

, which being so great a distance (on the Upper Hunter River, some 400 miles I believe) 
did not take place till the 11th of December. As the substitute of Mr. J. J. Davies, and 
acting for that gentleman, by Ids request—with whom a correspondence took place, by post 
—I received pay to that date as the Chairman of the Bench—I mean, R. J. Barton, Esq. 
—protested against a pay abstract being signed in favor of my successor until his arrival 
at Molong ; or of it being made out in any other name than that of the officer performing 
the duly. 

FRIDAY; 
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FRIDAY, 9 NOVEMBER, 1860. 

Ortontt :- 
Ma. BLACK, 	 DR. LANG, 
Mn. DANIEL, 	 Mn. LORD, 

Mn. PARKES. 

C. KEMP, ESQ., IN THE CRAM. 

Luke Homan Sibthorpe, Esq., J.P., called in and examined:- 
81. By the Chairman : You are one of the Magistrates of the Malang Bench, I believe ? 	L. B. 
I am. 	 Sibthorpe, 
82. Were you also in October of last year ? Yes. 	 Esq., J.P. 

83. Mr. Kentish was at that time Clerk of Petty Sessions ? Yes. 
84. You were requested by the' Colonial Secretary to inquire into a letter Mr. Kentish had 9 Nov., 1560. 
written regarding Mr. Mitchell ? The Bench were. 
85. You did inquire ? We did. 
86. I have before me a letter, signed by yourself and three other Magistrates, dated 11th 
October, in which you say, " we therefore feel it incumbent to state we consider the charges 
malicious and mendacious." Do you remember that letter ? Yes ; I penned that letter 
myself. When I say I penned it, I mean that I did so at the request of the Bench, because 
Mr. Kentish was not in the Court, and the Bench asked me would I write it. It was sub-
mitted for their approval, and Mr. Barton was the only dissentient. He said, "if you will 
take out the words 'malicious and mendacious' I will sign it." 
87. Mr. Barton dissented from those two words ? Yes ; but he coincided in our opinion 
that the charges were not proven. 
88. You have seen Mr. Kentish's petition, I presume? Yes. 
89. Mr. Kentish complains that the decision was contrary to the evidence; you examined 
some witnesses ? Six, I think. 
90. Was their evidence taken down ? No, it was not written down. 
91. By Mr. Parker : Did any of the Magistrates take notes of the evidence ? No. 
92. You did not? No ; one of the gentlemen on the Bench proposed that the evidence 
should be taken down in writing-that was Mr. John Smith ; Mr. Barton was of the same 
opinion ; but the other Magistrates said it was not necessary. 
93. By Mr. Lord I believe Mr. Smith offered to take it down ? Yes. 
94. By the Chairman: The charge against Mr. Mitchell appears to have been for "blas-
phemy, brawling, and sottishness" ? Yes. 
95. And you found that all the charges were distinctly contradicted by the witnesses ? 
Yes, myself included; I was one of the witnesses. 
96. You were the first witness, I believe ? I believe so. 
07. Were the witnesses sworn ? No. 
98. Did you declare before the Bench that, in July, Mr. Mitchell had insulted the Bench ? 
No, that he had insulted me. 
99. Insulted you on the Bench ? Not on the Bench; I did not say on the Bench. 
100. That he had apologised on your threatening to report him ? 	; he apologised 
without any threat on my part whatever. I was not sitting on the Bench when the young 
man forgot himself, and certainly I was but too happy to receive an apology, and to do as he 
required-forgive him. 
101. The next witness appears to have been Mr. Andrew Ross ? Dr. Ross. 
102. Did he admit having received a letter from Mr. Mitchell, concluding with the words, 
" wishing you eternal damnation" ? No, he contradicted it. 
103. From Mr. Kentish's report to the Colonial Secretary, it appears that Andrew Ross, 
Esq., M.D., said, " I admit having received from Mr. Mitchell a letter in his handwriting, 
wishing me eternal damnation" ? Dr. Ross denied having received such a letter. 
104. Then the statement of Kentish in reporting the evidence is not true ? It is not true. 
105. By flip. Park-es : Has not Mr. Mitchell himself acknowledged that he gave utterance to 
a sentiment of this kind ? I believe so. 
106. By the Chairman: You are quite clear that Dr. Ross denied it before the Bench ? 
am positive I never heard the young man. I have been in his house, lie has been in mine, 
and I have met him at inns, and I never saw the sign of liquor on him, and never heard 
Lim make use of such an expression. 
107. Do you recollect Mr. Betts being examined ? Yes. 
108. Is he a very respectable man ? Yes, very. He was the only evidence Mr. Mitchell 
called, and he gave evidence in favor of Mr. Kentish. 
109. He declared that Mr. Mitchell had proposed as a toast "Eternal damnation to our 
souls"? No, he did not ; what he said was :-I believe Mr. Mitchell gave a lecture on poetry-
I was not in the district at the time-and Mr. Kentish, as I am given to understand, was 
partaking of Mr. Mitchell's hospitality. I further understand that Mr. Kentish was at this 
lecture, and after the lecture they adjourned to enjoy themselves, and, I believe, they were 
drinking some wine. Mr. Kentish, in a complimentary manner, spoke to Mr. Mitchell on his 
versatile talent, and said, "Conic now, let us have a toast before we go to bed," and the 
foolish young man then made use of these expressions, as I am given to understand but 
this was not taken notice of by Mr. Kentish until 	 
110. However, Mr. Betts did declare before the Bench that Mr. Mitchell did propose this 
toast? Not in those words : "Eternal damnation to all of us." war what Mr. Betts said. 

111. 
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L. 	Does not that strike you as being blasphemous? Well, if a young man like him were 
Sibti R. miPe in the habit of blaspheming I would say it was—no one can question in fact that it is 

blasphemous—but I certainly would not condemn a man as a blasphemer from knowing that 
he uttered such an expression once. • ' 1$. 60' 112. You have no doubt as to the expression itself being blasphemous according to your 
ideas ? No doubt it is. 
113. The chief constable was examined I think ? Yes. 
114. He appears to have given no evidence from his personal knowledge, but only from what 
he had beard from his wife, I see from from Mr. Kentish's note ? He contradicts what 
Mr. Kentish has asserted. 
116. Do you recollect what he declared before the Bench ? Mr. Kentish wished to adduce 
from him that Mr. Mitchell attempted to take improper liberties with Mr. Davis' servant 
girl, that he wanted to kiss her, and that she struck him with a flat-iron; and Mr. Davis 
denied it in toto. He said Mr. Mitchell had been to his house and, as he said, in his usual 
joking way, spoke to the girl as he was going out, but that " had be said or done anything 
" improper I am sure my mistress would have told me of 'it, and the girl never made any 
" assertion of the kind." 
116. By Mr. Lord : Then Mr. Kentish's statement with reference to that matter is also 
untrue ? Yes, undoubtedly. 
117. By the Chairman: Do I understand you to say that your impression now of what Mr. 
Davis said is the contrary of that? I sent it down the country the other day with his own 
signature to it. (The witness produced a pope") There is a man who is the correspondent. 
of the Empire who was in Court during the whole proceedings, and who took down the evi-
dence as it was given. When I thought it was probable I was coming here I asked him had 
he kept a copy, and he said he had, and he let me have it. Each of the witnesses who were 
examined have signed their names, with the exception of Mr. Betts, who is somewhere up 
the Maneroo country. 
118. By JP. Black : Is that substantially consistent with the evidence given before the 
Bench of Magistrates ? It is. 
119. But it was written some time after ? It was taken down at the time. 
120. When did he prepare the report? At the time the evidence was given he was in Court, 
and he kept his notes. 
121. By Mr. Parker: Do you hand that in to be appended to your evidence? If you please. 
(The witness handed in the same. Vide Appendix A.) 
122. The evidence of John Davis, according to this, seems to confirm the statement that Mr. 
Mitchell attempted to take liberties with this young girl, if this is a substantially correct 
report of what he said before the Bench. Be said, "I was told by my wife that Mr. Mitchell 
" came to my house and said he would kiss a young girl who is living with me, but she told 
" him, if he touched her, she would brand him with a hot iron she had in her hand"? That 
is true. Pardon me, there is in that no relevancy to the charges brought against Mr. 
Mitchell. If you had had the misfortune to have sat in the Court you would have seen the 
very irregular manner in which the examination was carried on, and that subjects were 
broached that had no connection whatever with the charges Mr. Kentish was bringing against 
this young man. Therefore we culled what had relevance from what had not, and that was 
our decision. 
123. True, but I understood from you that this witness, Mr. Davis, denied that any thing of 
the kind had taken plate ? (The shorthand writer was directed to read the previous evidence 
of the witness.) If I said so I made a great mistake • he said he was told so by his wife. 
124. By the Chairman: Do you recollect the evidence given by Mr. Francis Smith ? 
made one error in speaking of Mr. Davis' evidence, which I think was caused by Mr. Davis 
speaking to me afterwards, as to how the young man behaved there. I think that is how I 
was led into the error ; but that is the best evidence I can adduce, as each of the witnesses 
have signed it. 
125. The point to which I now wish to draw your attention is Mr. Francis Smith's evidence—
do you happen to recollect, of your own recollection, at this time, Mr. Smith saying that he 
was in company with Mr. Kentish and Mr. Mitchell? He said so. 
126. Do you know Mr. Francis Smith's signature? Yes. I saw him sign that paper ; I 
saw each of these names signed. 
127. That document you believe, so far as you know, to be a fair statement of what took 
place ? Yes, 
128. By Mr. Pee-Ices: You saw all the signatures affixed? Yes. lean verify all the sig-
natures there. (The Chairntan read a letter from Mr. Barton, dated 18th November, 1859.) 
129. Do you know Mr. Barton's handwriting? Yes. 
130. Do you know that to be Mr. Barton's signature (handing the letter to the witness)? Yes. 
131. With reference to that letter did the Bench address any communication to Mr. Barton ? 
Yes. 
132. Have you that letter with you? Yes. 
133. Will you be good enough to read it? (The witness read the same. Vide Appendix B.) 
134. Do you knew that to be a correct copy of the letter you sent to Mr. Barton? This 
is my handwriting. 
135. And it is correct ? It is correct. 
136. In that letter you refer to a letter published in the Sydney Morning Herald ? Yes. 
137. Can you state whether the letter I have just now read is the same as that to which 
this letter refers ? With the exception of one sentence. 
138. Can you point out that portion ? "There is an old saying that when the old gentleman 
wants to do a fellow a private injury he claps a pen in his flat.' 

139. 
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139. That was not in the printed copy ? No. 	 L. H. 
140. In other respects you think it is a copy? Yes. 	 SEib  sq.651 3e.r. 141. Did Mr. Barton make any reply to the letter received from the Bench ? Yes. 
142. Have you that reply ? I have. 
143. The original ? Yes. 	 9 Nov., 1860. 
141. Will you be good enough to read that ? (The' teltness read the same. Vide Appendix C.) 
146. Bc Mr. Parker: Have you any objection to state whether you were in an excited state, 
and whether you did abuse Mr. Kentish, as this letter states? Mr. Kentish is at perfect 
liberty to make any addenda to his evidenc e -Perhaps you will permit me to state that it 
was unanimously resolved by the four delinquents, that they would not write to Mr. Barton 
till the Committee had closed its sittings. 
146. With regard to Mr. Barton's letter-Mr. Barton states that he found you in an excited 
state abusing Mr. Kentish ? Yes, that is what he states, and that I was Chairman on the 
Bench, which was not true. 
147. You were not Chairman ? I was not. 
148. Do you recollect whether you used any words which could be construed into abuse of 
Mr. Kentish ? No. 
149. You were not in an excited state ? I was not ; I was much cooler than I am now. 
150. Is it true what Mr. Barton alleges, that the records of the Court have been out out ? 
With his cognizance. 
151. By the Chairman : Will you state the circumstances ? I believe what Mr. Kentish 
has relied on is this evidence which he had written down some days after the investigation, 
and that he has cut that out himself, as well as the record of two cases. 
152. By Mr. Black : How could Mr. Kentish get access to the books? He was Clerk of 
Petty,  Sessions, and had the custody of the books. 
153. By the Chairman : Some days after this inquiry you found that Mr. Kentish had 
written in the record book what purported to be a record of the proceedings? Yes. 
154. What action took place on that ? There was also a very prolix correspondence in the 
letter book. 
155. Stick first to the minute book of the Court ? They are both connected, if you will 
allow me to refer to them both. I said, " This is a very unusual mode of procedure-in a 
" letter book belonging to the Bench the clerk should not write any of his private letters." 
Mr. Barton so far coincided with me on that occasion, that with the concurrence of the 
Bench I cut the letters out of the letter book. I said the same fate should befall the record 
book. "No," said Mr. Barton, "let that remain ;" and it did remain at that time. Sub-
sequently I found that Mr. Kentish had taken out the record, or rather some pages from 
the record book, for we do not consider anything entered in it a record until the Magistrate 
signs it. 
156. When you say that he took it, do you mean that you saw him take it? No, I did not; 
but I know it was in his custody. 
157. Then the Magistrates cut out the correspondence relating to this affair in the letter 
book, and afterwards these minutes written by Mr. Kentish were, as you believe, taken by 
him out of the record book ? I believe so. 
158. By Dr. Lang : Does not Mr. Barton say, in his letter to you, that you were acting as 
Chairman during his absence from the Court ? Yes. 
169. Was that the case ? No; I think there had been two cases of -summary jurisdiction 
tried before entering on the business of the day, but I was not the Chairman. 
160. Did Mr. Kentish take out of the correspondence or record book anything that bore the 
character of a record of the court, or merely his own correspondence ? He did-pardon me 
for saying he did-it is gone; it is cut out. 
161. By Mr. Parkes: It disappeared, and the book was in his sole custody ? Yes, and it 
had some bearing on this ease. 
162. I3y the Chairman : Did it refer to a case of assault that arose out of this letter ? Yes.' 
163. By Mr, Parkes: As a Magistrate, do you consider that a Clerk of a Bench has any 
right to interfere with the book-to deface it in any way ? Most unquestionably not. 
164. Did you ever bear the Clerk of the Bench in this ease have permission from any Magis-
trate to do so ? I never heard that he had; but I would be sorry to throw any onus upon 
Mr. Kentish for taking out his evidence. 
165. Do I understand you that he had entered something that did not properly belong to 
the record book, and that he then out it out as being improper and extra official. I could 
not tell his object in cutting it out. 
166. By Al,. Black : You have stated that you did not consider anything entered in that 
book to be a record of the Court unless signed by a Magistrate ? Yes. 
167. You have alluded to the record of two cases as having disappeared from this book ? Yes. 
168. Were either of these signed by the Magistrates ? Yes; both of them must have been, 
for in summary jurisdiction the case must be entered in the record. Where we expect there 
will be a case for the Quarter Sessions, or Supreme Court, it is taken on folio ; but where it 
is a summary jurisdiction case it is taken in the record book. 
169. So that, in your opinion, the papers which were cut out in both cases were, in your 
sense of the words, records of the Court ? Unquestionably they were. 
170. By Mr. Parkes: They disappeared while the book was in the exclusive charge of Mr. 
Kentish, be being at the time Clerk of the Bench ? Yes. It was in the presence of Mr. 
Kentish, and of the whole Court, that I took any knife and cut out these letters ; therefore 
I did not act in any way surreptitiously about it. 
171. How long have you resided at Molong ? I went there in April twelve months. 
172. Do you reside in the township ? No, a short distance from it. 
173. Are you there frequently ? About three times a week. 	 174. 
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H: 	174. Did you happen to be there when Mr. Kentish arrived ? No; I met Mr. Kentish car 
13,!.1. 1IPc.l\ my journey from Fort Bourke. 

• 175. You had no personal knowledge of the quarrel between Mr. Kentish and Mr. Mitchell 
that led to this inquiry ? No. 

-9 Nov., 0, 176. I want to elicit this: whether you saw any of the things complained of ? No. 
177. By the Chairman : Mr. Barton has been Chairman of this Bench for some years, I 
believe ? No; I do not consider him Chairman. 
178. By Mr. Daniel : Did any other members of the Bench consider him as Chairman 
No; generally, on country Benches, those who first come are considered the Chairmen. 
179. By the Chairman : That was Mr. Barton's case, was it not ? No. 
180. On this particular occasion some summary cases had been tried ? Yes, two. 
181. Who presided? I cannot say, there were four Magistrates present. 
182. Is it not usual for one to take the lead ? It had been submitted on my appointment 
there as a Government officer that I should preside, but I declined to have such an honor 
thrust on me, as I found there had been some ill-feeling between my predecessor and Mr. 
Barton. 
183. By Mr. Daniel: Do you know whether Mr. Barton, prior to your living at Moloog, 
was acknowledged by the Bench as their Chairman? Really I am not aware; I never 
inquired. 
184. You do not know, and are not aware of the fact ? I would make a comment upon one 
part of his letter, where he refers to a disgraceful proceeding that had no relevance to the 
case of Mr. Kentish, but was a piece of brawl between himself and Mr. John Smith. 
185. Was that on the same day 	No; on the following Court day. 
186. Are you still of opinion that the Bench arrived at a just decision in that matter ? I 
cannot doubt it. I would be sorry to injure Mr. Kentish or any one else, but from the 
evidence given that day the Bench could not have come to any other conclusion. 
187. By Mr. Parkes : Have you any reason to suppose that any members of the Bench had 
any personal knowledge of Mr. Kentish before his arrival ? I do not think they had ever 
seen him. He partook of my hospitality when he arrived there. 
188. By the Chairman : It having been proved that Mr. Mitchell—never mind under what 
circumstances—used this particular expression, do you think it was right to say that it was 
mendacious on the part of Mr. Kentish to make the charge of blasphemy ? I think his 
mendacity appeared in the fact that he termed the man a blasphemer. 
189. You think the using of that expression only once did not justify the application of that 
term ? Yes, that he ought not to be reprobated for using one expression. 
190. By Mr. Lard: Do you consider the reply of Mr. Barton true or false ? False, and by 
our letter we prove it so. 

APPENDIX A. 

KENTISH reviles Museum:LE. 

MEMOILAND.1 of Evidence gicen at a Magisterial Inquiry held at Moiong, on Tuesday, the 11th 
October, 1859. The Evidence was viva your; not written, but token far the Press by Joseph Morris, 
who was present at and tack notes of the proceedings. 

Luke Homan Eibtitorpc examined by My Kentish :—I am Commissioner of Crown Lands. I 
reside at ?Oolong. I was in company with you and Mr. Mitchell several times. I never heard Mr. 
Mitchell say that he had drank twelve glasses of brandy before dinner, either in your company or any 
other. I do not deem Mr. Mitchell an intemperate person. 

Did Mr. Mitchell ever insult you in Court ? I decline to answer the question. 
Did Mr. Mitchell make an apology to you ? I decline to answer that question; for whatever 

occurred betwixt I and Mr. Mitchell was only a private affair between two gentlemen. 
Did you ever see Mr. Mitchell drunk ? I never did. I have seen him leave his glass half drank 

on the table. 
L. H. SIBTHORPE. 

Francis Sada examined by Mr. Kentish ,-1 am a grazier residing at Molong. I remember 
being in company with you and Mr. Mitchell at Mr. Moon's inn. I never heard Mr. Mitchell say that 
he (Mr. Mitchell) had drank twelve glasses of brandy before dinner. 

By the Bench —I have seen Mr. Mitchell daily for twelve months. I never saw Mr. Mitchell 
drunk. Mr. Mitchell has been a guest at my house frequently. 1 would not ask Mr. Mitchell to visit 
my house if I thought he was a brawler or a sot. I repeat that I never beard ?dr. Mitchell say that he 
had drank twelve glasses of brandy before dinner. If he had done so r should have known. The 
distance from Mr. Mitchell's residence to mine is a stonethrow. 

FRANCIS SMITH. 

Wren,  Ross, M.D., examined by Mr. Eentislu—I reside at Molong. I have known Mr. Mitchel 
ever since he has been in ;Woking. I consider him a temperate person. I think he does not drink. I 
do not consider him a man of intemperate habits. He has never quarrelled with me. 1 never received 
a note from him concluding with the words, " Eternal damnation to your soul." 

By the Bench :—I never attended on Mr. Mitchell in a professional manner. I never said that I 
saw Mr. Mitchell in a state of delirium tremens. I say that I never told Mr. Barton that Mr. Mitchell 
was suffering from delirium tremens, but that I said he was drinking cloves. Delirium tremens would 
hist three or four days, and would be known to all H ith whom he came in contact. 

ANDREW ROSS, M.D. 

John 
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John Davis examined :—I am the Chief Constable of Molong. T have known Mr. Mitchell ever L. H. 
since he came to Molong. I never saw him in liquor in my life, nor a brawler, nor a BOG nor in delirium Sibthotpe. 
tremens. Esq., J.P. 

By Mr. Barton 	was told by any wife, that Mr. Mitchell came to my house and said he would 
kiss a young girl who is living with me, but she told him if ho touched her, she would brand him with 0 Nov.,  
a hot iron she had in her hand. 	believe he did not touch her. 

JOHN DAVIS. 	
1860. 

For the defence Mr. Mitchell called Henry M. Betts, who stated :—I reside at Gamboola with Mr. 
John Smith. I was in company with Mr. Mitchell and Mx. Kentish at Moon's inn. Mr. Kentish 
remained in the room half an hour or more after Mr. Mitchell said the words eternal damnation to 
everybody. Mr. Kentish said, let us have something better. 

By the Bench :—The last I heard was something about Mr. Kentish's toilette for their break-
fasting together. 

By Mr. Mitchell :—I do not remember you and him shaking, hands at parting. 

Edward Wright Moon examine/1 :—I am an innkeeper, residing at Molong. Mr. Mitchell has 
been lodging at my house since the 12th of May last. I never saw him drunk. I never saw him 
quarrelsome. 

EDWARD WRIGHT MOON. 

certify the above is a verbatim copy of the Evidence taken by me, at the investigation into the 
truth of N. L. Kentish's charges against It. B. Mitchell, before the Bench of Magistrates at Molong. 

JOSEPH MORRIS. 

APPENDIX B. 

Sir, 
We beg to call your attention to a letter published in the S. M. Herald of the tat instant, 

purporting to have been addressed by you to Mr. Kentish, on the 18th November last, reflecting on our 
conduct as Justices of the Peace, and to ask you if this letter is genuine ? 

We arc unwilling to believe that you could have written such a letter against the public reputa-
tion of your brother Magistrates containing as it does gross mis-statements. 

You conducted the inquiry alluded to as Chairman of the Bench, and at the close of the evidence 
cleared the Court for deliberation ; and although you declined to sign the Report adopted by the 
majority, you entered no protest against it. Nor did you once during the investigation " protest against 
the proceedings." In fact the matter was conducted on the part of the Bench most amicably, the only 
difference being that Mr. Smith maintained that the proceedings should be taken down in writing, which 
was overruled by you and the other members of the Bench as unnecessary. 

The matter is now prominently before the public, and we are called upon to repel such gross 
and unfounded charges. 

We have retained a copy of this, and on receipt of your reply, we shall send the correspondence 
to the Chairman of the Committee of the Legislative Assembly now sitting in this matter. 

We repeat we cannot believe you could have written such a letter. 
We have, &T., 

Robert J. Barton, Esq., J.P. 

EDWD. JNO. FINCH, LP. 
L. II. S1BTHORPE, J.P. 
JOHN SMITH, J.P. 
WM. FINCH, J.P. 

APPENDIX C. 
Bone Nyrang, 

October 11, 1860. 
Gentlemen, 

In acknowledging the receipt of your letter of the 9th instant, I beg to state that the 
letter published in the Morning Herald of the 1st instant (and purporting to have been written by me 
in reply to a letter addressed to me by N. L. Kentish, Esq.,) is genuine so far as it goes ; and as to its 
containing, as you say, gross mis-statements, I look upon that as another instance of gross audacity on 
your parts. 

I never said that I had entered a written protest against the finding of the majority of the Bench ; 
but I maintain that I objected and protested against the proceedings of the majority, from the time I 
entered the Court and found Mr. Sibthorpe abasing Mr. Kentish (the former gentleman actin as 
Chairman in my absence and being then in a highly excited state) for bringing these charges against 
Mr. Mitchell until after the Court was cleared, when Mr. Edward Finch said, " Let us get rid of him," 
—meaning Kentish—" the Government gave him a thousand pounds the other day to get Iftm out of 
" the country but he only got as her as New Zealand, when he came back again; and that fueling of 
"Let us get rid of him" was but too evident throughout the Court. 

As to may opposing and overruling Mr. smith, that is like all your other statements. I was 
taken by surprise when I came into Court and found no preparation made to take the evidence in writing, 
and Mr. Smith was the only Magistrate who voted with me on that occasion. I informed three of your 
number months ago, when asked by Mr. W. Finch, "That 1 had written in reply to a letter to the. 
effect that I considered the whole affair a mockery of justice," and consequently there was little use 
in your saying, " We arc nnwilling to believe that you could have written such a letter." 

I remain, &c., 
ROBT. J. BARTON. 

To Messrs. L. H. Sibthorpe, IV. and Edward Finch, and John Smith, Esquires. 

P.5.—On looking over the books at the Court House, Molong, the other day, I found that all the 
records that would have supported Mr. Kentish's charges againstMr.:Mitchellhave been cut out.—R.. LB. 

47-0 
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L. H. 	 ADDENDU31. 
SibthOmni 
Esri.,.I.P. 	 (To Evidence given by L. II. Sibthorpe, Esq., 9 November, 1860.) 

r---"1/4--. 	Corretions by Witness (Mr. Sibthorpo) on revision. (Evidence previously printed.) 
9 Nov., }BM Answer No. 109. At the end, add " the next morning." 

„ 	174. Omit "from Fort Bourke"; insert "to Fort Bourke at Mr. Ross's station, Deign." 

In my examination by Doctor Lang I am under the impression that I corrected my evidence as 
to the expressions of Mr. Mitchell being blasphemous ; I think I rectified it by saying I considered 
them irreligious. 

In other respects I believe the evidence to be correctly reported. Had I been served with a copy 
in Sydney, I could be more certain ; but now, three months having elapsed, I cannot recollect any 
discrepancy. 

I,. H. sumioura 
3folong, 13th February, 1801. 

Mr. N. L. Kentish again called in and further examined :— 
Mr. N. Li 191. By the Chairman : After having heard Mr. Sibthorpe's evidence and the documents he 
Kentish. has produced, do you wish to make any further statement ? Yes, with permission ' • I feel it 

to be due to myself, however painful, to state, that I believe the whole of these documents 
9 Nov" 1800 . have been what is commonly called "cooked." 

192. You do not mean to say the whole—you do not include Mr. Barton's letter ? No; I 
mean those documents which profess to be the statements made in the Court. I have my 
own opinion as to the mode in which they have been got together ; they are deliberately 
untrue, and if evidence were taken—for instance, Mr. Petherbridge, who is now in Sydney 
193. Do not these documents beer the autographs of the parties ? No doubt • yet I not only 
assert, but am quite sure, that if a searching investigation take place, I will prove what I 
have said. (The witness referred to Appendix.) Francis Smith could not say that he heard. 
this, for he said' he never was present with Mr. Sibthorpe, Mr. Mitchell, and myself? I 
imagined he was one of tho three persons present when Mr. Mitchell boasted that he had 
drunk twelve glasses of brandy-and-water before sitting down to dinner. I was mistaken when 
I said that. It was either Mr. Liscombe or Mr. Petherbridgc, who are about the same height. 
194. By Mr. Blade : When you say this evidence is cooked, do you mean to call in question 
the genuineness of the signatures ? No • at least I do not imagine they are forgeries. 
195. Mr. Sibthorpc said he saw them all signed ; can you recognize any of the signatures ? 
Yes ; that (pointing to the signature) is Mr. Davis', and that is Dr. Ross's. No doubt about 
the genuineness of the signatures. It is a painful thing to say of any man, but there is great 
perjury in this case. If a man writes, that he had stated' vi hat he had not stated,' that is 
directly the opposite of truth, and I do not know what is perjury if that is not. 
196. By the Chairman : Do not say perjury ? What Dr. Ross has stated is directly the 
opposite of truth. He certainly made a rambling attempt to justify Mr. Mitchell' for having 
written the letter. Ho had' said that he was not only a disgrace to the Government but to 
the neighbourhood, and' that he would not have anything to do with such a young profligate. 
197. By Mr. Lord : He denied that ? He stated to Mr. Barton that Mr. Mitchell had been 
suffering under de/n•ium tremens, and was taking cloves. With respect to the evidence 
here given by Mr. Sibthorpe (referring to Appendix), I can only say that it is a deliberate 
falsehood, and utterly untrue. 
198. By the Chairman : When you say untrue, do you mean untrue in fact, or untrue as a 
report of what took place ? It is untrue in fact. 
199. By Mr. Black. : You do not dispute that this is substantially a correct report of what 
he stated ? It is untrue that he stated anything of the kind. He stated then and there that 
Mr. Mitchell had insulted him and made an apology, and that he insisted upon that apology 
being in writing. He stated that in Court; and as there were thirty or forty persons 
in Court at the time, I suppose some of them could be produced who would prove what he 
said. Mr. Mitchell wrote one apology and that did not give him satisfaction, and 
then he wrote another. Mr. Francis Smith says here (referring to Appendix)— 

."I remember being in company with you and Mr. Mitchell at Mr. Moon's inn. 
"I never heard Mr. Mitchell say that he had drank twelve glasses of brandy 
"before dinner." 	He distinctly stated' that he did not remember being in our 
company' in his life. That evidence which I have just read is perfectly untrue. Dr. Ross 

. (referring to Appendix) stated a good deal to this effect, in the way of apologising for him-- 
" That he did not consider him a drinking person." I dare say that may be right enough ; 
but he admitted having received a letter concluding with the words " wishing you eternal 
damnation"; he showed me the letter, and proffered to produce it whether he were 
subpcenaed or not—I did not subpmna him. 
200. By Mr. Lord: You say you did not call these witnesses? When they were in Court 
I called them. 
201. They were your witnesses ? They might be deemed to be so I suppose. Mr. 
Sibthorpe was sitting as Chairman ; he presided till Mr. Barton came into Court ; if he 
did not act as Chairman he could state who did ; no other person took the Chair. Dr. Ross 
states here—" I never told Mr. Barton that Mr. Mitchell was suffering from delirium tremens." 
Mr. Barton stated on the Bench that he had told him so. 
202. By the Chairman : Did Dr. Ross state so before the Bench ? No; before the Bench 
he denied it ; he stated that he was drinking clove syrup, a kind of drink persons take when 
they are suffering from the effects of alcoholic drinks. With reference to the evidence of 

Mr. 
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Mr. Davis, it is a curious thing that the circumstances relative to this young woman were Mr. N. L. 
elicited by the Bench. I knew nothing about it myself. 	 Kentish. 
203. By Hr. Daniel : Is the statement of Davis substantially correct ? That is not the 
statement be made in Court at all. Davis being the only officer of the Court—in fact, the 9  14n ' ,  3860,  
only person officially connected with the Court—I read the ''statement over to him, before I 
sent it to town, and he said it was correct. I remember distinctly that I made one 
correction—I used the term " poker " when he said a fire-iron, as I thought he meant one of 
the things for poking the fire, and I altered that to "fire-iron!' 
204. By the Chairman: Should you not infer from the evidence of Mr. Davis that Mr. 
Mitchell merely meant a joke—perhaps not a very delicate one—in saying that he would kiss 
this young woman, and that she, in reply, said, "I will burn you if you do" ? I should think 
it was mere badinage. 
205. By Mr. Lord: You have characterized Mr. Bette' statement as untrue ? It is very 
incorrect; it is not what he stated in Court.—" Mr. Kentish said, let us have something 
better!' I never said anything of the kind. That is a forced interpretation ; I can see 
the intention of that—" Give us something stronger." When I reprobated the young man 
on the spot I only regret that I did not throw the glass of wine in his face. Then Mr. 
Sibthorpe stated a good deal about ray having enjoyed his hospitality, but I did so only on 
the first day of my arrival; after that I never set foot in Mitchell's house for two months!' 

• 	 Non; OF CORRECTIONS BY Wincras ON REVISION. 

'Answer No. 193. Omit "said he never was"; insert " declined to the Bench at Molong that he had 
never been." 

2 ,, After " myself," insert "at Moon's Inn." 
3 	 195. After" stated," insert "in Court." 
4 	 ,, After" stated," insert " but the contrary." 
6 	 196. Omit " for having written the letter''; insert " as not being a drunkard: 
6 	 Omit " said"; insert " repeatedly told me." 
7 	 Omit "that he would not have anything"; insert "urged upon me to have 

nothing." 
8 	 199. After "stated," insert "in Court." 
9 	 ,,After "Company." insert " at Moon's Jim." 

10 	 203. Omit " statement "; insert " whole of the evidence.' 
17 	 205. At the end, add "I mean up to the time of our dining together at the inn, on the 

"evening of the 23rd of August, when he proposed the infamous toast 
" which 1 resented." 

FRIDAY, 25 JANUARY, 1861. 

urfet111:— 
Mn. DANIEL, 	 Ma. 3IARKIIAM, 
Mn. MACLEAY, 	I 	31n. PARKES, 

Mn. STEWART. 

ALEXANDER DICK, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Robert Johnstone Barton, Esq., called in and examined :— 
206. By Mr. Daniel: You Were One of the Justices of the Bench of Magistrates at Molong ? It. J. Barton, 
Yes; I reside in the district, and am a Magistrate there. 	 Esq.  
207. You have acted as Chairman of that Bench ? I have. 
208. Did you act in that capacity during the time Mr. Kentish was Clerk of Petty Sessions 25  Jan. ' '561 ' 
there ? Yes. 

e- 209. Will you state to the Committee anything you know relative to a charge made by the 
previous Clerk of Petty Sessions, Mr. Kentish

' 
 against Mr. Mitchell ? I recollect there was 

a letter written by Mr. Kentish to the Colonial Secretary, which was returned for the 
opinion of the Bench, in which Mr. Kentish charged Mr. Mitchell with being " a brawler, 
a sot, and a blasphemer." That was the substance of the contents of the letter, I think. 
210. Was a Board of Inquiry held relative to this ease? The Bench met, and sat upon 
the case. 
211. Do you recollect what was the result of the inquiry ? I think the majority of the 
Bench caused a letter to be addressed to the Colonial Secretary, reporting that Mr. Kentish's 
accusations against Mr. Mitchell were mendacious and malicious. 
212. By Afr. Parkes: I do not think that is what Mr. Daniel means. Do you recollect upon 
what conditions the inquiry was to be conducted—whether any specific instructions were 
given by the Colonial Secretary—whether the witnesses were to be sworn—or whether the 
Inquiry was to be conducted in any particular manner ? I do not think there were any 
directions as to how the inquiry was to be conducted, as far as my recollection serves. 
213. The evidence was taken not on oath, I believe? Not on oath. 
214. You were present ? I was present; but the majority of the Bench overruled the 
proposal that the evidence should be taken on oath. 
215. Were you in favour of the evidence being taken on oath ? Decidedly. It was stated 
by some of the members of the Bench that we could not examine on oath on the subject; 
that was the ostensible reason for not doing so. 
216. Was the evidence taken down ? The evidence was not taken down in writing. 

217. 
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It. J. Barton, 
Esq. 

23 Jan., 1861. 

217. Do you know anything of a report which was drawn up by some gentleman who 
communicated, I believe, with the newspaper and which was adopted by the parties 
examined. Of this report, in fact-Oanding witness the report appended to flip. Sibthope's 
evidence)-will you turn over the pages and see whether you know the signatures attached 
to the several statements ? (The witness examined the paper.) I see the signatures of John 
Davis, and of Dr. Ross, and of Mr. Sibthorpe, and I believe they are all genuine. 
218. You do not know anything of that document yourself ? No; I never saw it before. 
219. Do you recollect a letter being addressed to you by the Molong Bench, and signed by 
Messrs. Finch, Sibthorpe, Smith, and Wm. Finch, dated 9th September ? I recollect 
receiving a letter, but I do not remember the date. 
220. Calling attention to a letter published in the Sydney Morning Herald ? Yes. 
221. Written by Mr. Kentish, I suppose ? I presume so. 
222. Do you know this letter (handing witness a letter appended to Mr. Sibthorpe's evidence)? 
That is my handwriting. 
223. Is that your reply to the letter from the Magistrates of the Molong Bench ? It is. 
224. Will you have the goodness to read it ? (The witness read the same.) 
225. Do you see any cause to modify the opinion expressed in that letter ? Not the slightest. 
226. Then your opinion of the inquiry is that it was a mock inquiry, so far as Mr. Kentish 
was concerned ? Yes. 
227. You dissented from the report ? Entirely. 
228. Were you present when the report was agreed upon ? I was. 
229. And you openly dissented from it ? Yes. 
230. Are the facts out of which this inquiry arose fairly stated in Mr. Kentishie own letter ? 
I think Mr. Kentish was right-I do not exactly understand what you mean. 
231. So far as the mere statement of the facts of the dispute with Mr. Mitchell is concerned, 
and, so far as your knowledge goes, was Mr. Kentish's statement correct ? I believe so. 
232. You have seen nothing in his statement at variance with the facts, so far as they have 
come under your own knowledge ? No; I have seen nothing at variance with the facts, 
although I have found fault with Mr. Kentish's mode of writing and enlarging upon these 
things. 
233. I think you applied to him words to this effect, that when "the devil wants to ruin a 
man he puts a pen into his hand" ? Yes; his writing has been a great source of loss to 
him-I was very sorry he did write, and I told him so in Court, for the Bench had succeeded 
in getting rid of Mr. Mitchell, and he had brought a great deal of trouble upon us lay raking 
up the subject again. 
234. By the Chairman: Do you think the investigation was conducted in such a manner as 
to allow Mr. Kentish a fair opportunity of proving his statement ? I certainly think not; 
for instance, Mr. Sibthorpe refused to answer a question put to him, and the majority of the 
Bench bore him out in his refusal. 
235. Then Mr. Kentish wished to examine Mr. Sibthorpe as a witness, and he declined to 
give evidence ? He declined to answer a question from myself. 
236. You have been a Magistrate on that Bench a long time ? Since I have been in the 
country-twenty years. 
237. By Mr. Parkes: You are the oldest Magistrate, I presume ? Yes. 
238. Mr. Sibthorpe was appointed only a year or two ago ? He was appointed immediately 
before this. Not a year. 
239. Mr. Smith is not an old Magistrate? He is not ; I think Mr. Smith is about six or 
seven years' standing. 
240. Have you had an opportunity of observing the conduct of Mr. Mitchell ? I have. 
241. From your personal knowledge, do you Blink the statement that he was a brawler and 
a sot was correct ? Yes. 	 • 
242. Were you present when this dispute arose between Mr. Kentish and Mr. Mitchell ? I 
was not; but there was a ease brought before the Court by Mr. Kentish against Mr. Mitchell, 
for which Mr. Mitchell was fined one pound. 
242. You are aware that Mr. Kentish applied the terms brawler and sot to Mr. Mitchell ? 
Only in writing. 
244. You are of opinion from what you have seen of Mr. Mitchell's conduct on other occa-
sions, though you did not see his conduct on that particular occasion, that the terms were 
not misapplied ? I ant. 
245. By the Chairman : Were you present at any time when Mr. Mitchell was publicly 
convicted of drunkenness? Mr. Mitchell was, a short time after he came to Molong, brought 
before the Bench, under the Vagrant Act, for making use of blasphemous language, and the 
Bench found the language proven, but as it did not quite come under the Act, having been 
used in a public-house, and not, as they considered, in a public place, they dismissed the 
ease, though they at the same time directed me to reprove Mr. Mitchell, which I did. 
249. Have you ever seen Mr. Mitchell suffering from delirium tremens? I have not. 
247. Has Mr. Mitchell's conduct to the Bench been respectful ? Highly disrespectful; 
highly violent and insubordinate on many occasions. 
248. Was it not so on the occasion referred to when tins investigation took place? Very 
violent ; he called me a brawler myself when I was on the Bench. He was supported by a 
party in the Court, among whom it was very difficult to keep order; they were rubbing with 
their feet, and were highly excited. 
249. Have you ever heard Mr. Sibthorpe remark upon the insolence and insubordination of 
Mr. Mitchell? I have, strongly. There was an investigation into Mr. Mitchell's conduct 
by six Magistrates, and on that occasion Mr. Sibthorpe gave evidence to the effect that Mr. 
Mitchell had often told him, Mr. Sibthorpe, of his acts of insult and effrontery to me when 

on 
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on the Bench—that he had boasted of it. On that occasion the six Magistrates came to the It.  T. Barton, 
conclusion that if Mr. Mitchell could exchange well and good; but if not his conduct must 	Esq. 
be reported to the Colonial Secretary. 
250. Is Mr. Sibthorpe paid Police Magistrate? No, he is a Crown Land Commissioner 26  Jaw,  1861. 
residing in the neighbourhood, and acts very frequently as a Magistrate.  
251. On one occasion did Mr. Mitchell challenge you to fight outside the Court ? The 
Court was not sitting at the time, but there were two or three Magistrates in the Court, and 
Mr. Mitchell came in to hand over the papers and property connected with the District 
Court, which he did in the most insolent tnanner. On my speaking to him, be pointed to 
the platform, which he intended should be a sort of ring where we should settle our dispute. 
The Magistrates ordered him away, and I do not think I have seen him since. 
252. It was from this conduct you set him down as a brawler ? Yes, and from his having 
actually gone out to fight with fisticuffs, with a second of low character. He has been 
mixed up with brawls and assaults. 
253. From the investigation that took place—the evidence given—did you arrive at a 
different conclusion from that of the rest of the Bench ? Certainly, and from my own 
knowledge of the facts. 
254. I beg particularly to ask whether you arrived at the conclusion from the evidence 
given ? From questions not having been answered which I put from the chair—which were 
not allowed by my brother Magistrates—I cannot say I came to that conclusion entirely 
from what I heard in Court. 
255. Did you ever hear Mr. Mitchell make use of blasphemous language ? Not personally. 
256. Be kind enough to read " The evidence from memory and subject to correction," in 
page 9 of the correspondence in reference to Mr. Kentish, printed by order of the House 
last Session, and state whether, from your recollection of what took place, that is substantially 
correct ? (The witness read the same.) I think it is. 
257. 13; Mr. Parker: Mr. Mitchell, I believe, has publicly admitted that he drank this 
blasphemous toast? He was found guilty of it on oath—it was sworn to. 
258. Ile has publicly admitted it, has lie not? I am not aware, but Bernard Francis 
Hughes stated that Mr. Mitchell treated seven or eight men in the bar to nobblers round, 
and drank the toast with himself afterward; and when he was asked in what light he regarded 
that oath, said that he was so constantly in the habit of giving the toast that he thought 
nothing of it, but regarded it merely as a joke. 
259. By the Chairman: Then you personally believe that Mr. Kentish was discharging a 
duty when he represented this conduct to the Government? I do not go so far as that, but 
I say I believe what lie stated was the truth. 
260. 1-Tad you always acted and been recognized as the Chairman of the Bench of Magis-
trates up to the time of Mr. Sibtliorpc's arrival 7 Yes. 
261. (Mr. Daniel handed to witness Appendix A to the evidence of Afr. Sibthorpe. The 
witness read the same.) There appears to be an erasure in the evidence of ,Tolin Davis ? 
There has been something scratched out. 
262. Do you think you could make it out ? I think it might be made out with a magni-
fying-glass; I cannot read it without. 
263. Having read that paper, which is described as being notes of the evidence taken by a 
reporter, and, as you state, no evidence having been taken down in writing at the time, can 
you say whether that is substantially correct? Decidedly it is not; and Jean only say that 
that reporter never reported fairly anything that took place at that Bench. His reports 
were always one-sided and untrue. 
264. By AP. Parker: There are factions at Malang, then ? Yes. 
265. By the Chairvtan : Did you take any notes yourself? I did not take any notes at the 
time. It was too great a bear-garden for the Court to net with any degree of propriety, and 
I ought to have left the Court at once. 
266. Did Mr. Smith offer to take down the evidence in writing ? There was some move-
ment of that kind which came to nothing. 
267. By Mr. Paikes : Are you aware whether Mr. Smith is in town ? I have seen him ; 
I believe he is in town. 
268. By the Chairman : Do you recollect whether Dr. Ross produced any letter in Court? 
I think he did. 
269. Did he admit that he had received a letter from Mr. Mitchell, ending with the words, 
"Eternal damnation to your soul" ? lie did ; and I can only say, as far as Dr. Ross's 
statement before the Bench is concerned, that he made a totally different statement to me a 
few days previously. He said that he had had frequent rows with Mr. Mitchell, and that 
Mitchell was then drinking cloves because he got frightened of an attack of delirium. 	It 
was in that way the word "cloves" was used: 
'270. Is that Dr. Ross's signature (referring to Appendix A to Mr. Sibthorpe's evidence)? 
It is, I think. I told Dr. Ross in Court that lils statement was totally different from what 
he had made to me a day or two before. 
271. Did you see Mr. Morris taking any notes upon that occasion ? I do not recollect. 
272. The person with whom Mr. Mitchell resided said he never saw him the worse for liquor—
I understood you to say that you knew of your own personal knowledge that be has been 
drunk ? He is not a man to stagger or roll, or perform any of those drunken antics; many 
men do, but I think drink maddens him; and that his outrageous acts in Court have arisen 
from drink—particularly when he challenged me to the platform. 
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TUESDAY, 29 JANUARY, 1861. 

meant:— 
Ma. DANIEL, 	 MR. PA1tKES, 
MR. MARKHAM, 	 Mn. STEWART, 

MR. WALSH. 

ALEXANDER DICK, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
John Smith, Esq., called in and examined :— 

John Smith, 273. By the Chairman : You are a Magistrate
' 
 and usually sit on the Molong Bench? Yes. 

Esq. 	274. How long have you been a Magistrate ? Since 1851. 
275. Do you know Mr. Mitchell, who was formerly Clerk of the Bench, and Mr. Kentish ? 

29 Jan., 1E61. yes.  
276. Do you remember the investigation of some charges brought by Mr. Kentish against 
Mr. Mitchell ? There was a letter sent from the Colonial Secretary to the Bench, desiring 
an investigation to be made. Mr. Barton and myself were on the Bench, and called a full 
meeting of the Magistrates for that day fortnight, when all the Magistrates of the district 
attended. 
277. What was done on that occasion ? An investigation was held. Mr. Kentish at the 
time was Clerk of Petty Sessions—he had taken Mr. Mitchell's place—and I wished the 
evidence to be taken duwn in writing. Mr. Kentish said he would write down the whole 
after the investigation was concluded. There was a clerk in the Court, and I desired to hire 
Elm to take down the evidence, but the other Magistrates disagreed with me, and thought it 
unnecessary. 
278. What other Magistrates ? Both Mr. Sibtborpe and Mr. Barton spoke. Mr. Sibthorpe 
said he had been at two similar investigations at the Hunter River, and in neither case was 
the evidence taken down in writing Mr. Barton also said he thought it was unnecessary. 
Mr. Kentish immediately remarked that he had an excellent memory, and would undertake 
to write it down after the investigation was over. 
279. You took evidence on that occasion ? Mr. Kentish was requested to call in witnesses, 
which he did. The first witness was Mr. Sibthorpe, Commissioner of Crown Lands. Mr. 
Kentish put several questions to him, the principal of which was as to whether he had 
beard Mr. Mitchell acknowledge that he had drank sixteen glasses of brandy, on a previous 
occasion, before breakfast. Mr. Sibthorpe denied having heard him say so. I think that 
was the principal question. 
280. Did Mr. Sibthorpe refuse to be examined on other matters ? I remember Mr. Kentish 
asking him whether Mr. Mitchell had not snatched a paper from his hand, and he said 
"that has nothing to do with this question." [think, also, he said something about a mis-
understanding in the Court-house ; but Mr. Sibthorpe said Mr. Mitchell had tendered him 
an apology. 
281. The question I put was whether Mr. Sibthorpe refused to give answer to a question 
put by Mr. Kentish on that occasion ? I think he said, "that has nothing to do with this 
case." Mr. Mitchell had tendered an apology on that occasion. 
282. What other witnesses were examined—do you remember ? Yes, I remember them all. 
The next witness was Dr. Boss, to whom Mr. Kentish put certain questions touching the 
receipt of a letter, having some infamous expressions in it, which Dr. Roes denied having 
received. 
283. Be kind enough to look at page 9 of the printed paper before you, and read the middle 
paragraph (Mr. Keutish's report of the investigation)? (The witness reed the same.) 
284. Is that substantially e trect? Dr. Ross did not say that he hid received that letter; 
unless my memory is mistaken, Dr. Ross denied having received such a letter. 
285. Will you state what part of that statement you think is not correct ? My impression 
is that he said he had not received such a letter. I can state that Dr. Ross said a great deal 
more than that; I put a question to him which I remember well ; it was whether it was 
possible for Mr. Mitchell to have suffered from delirium tremens without his knowing it; 
he said it was nut—that he was his medical attendant, and was-in the habit of seeing him 
three or four times a week, as he was constantly going into the village, and that he could 
not possibly have been suffering from delirium tremens without his knowing it. 
286. To the best of your recollection did Dr. Boss produce a letter ? Ile did not produce a 
letter ; I think not—I do not remember seeing any letter. 
287. Do you know Mr. Mitchell? Yes. 
288. Have you had opportunities of observing his habits? Not much; he was at my house 
but twice, 1 think—three times at the utmost. I was never on intimate terms with him. 
289. You know nothing of his general character? No further than from seeing him on 
Court days, and from what I heard from others; he was a constant visitor at my brother's 
house. 
290. Was he respectful in his conduct to the Bench ? Mr. Mitchell was hasty tempered; 
I have known him to be insolent to Mr. Barton. 
291. Mr. Barton is the -senior Magistrate of the district, is he not? Yes. 
292. Were you present when Mr. Liscombe prosecuted Mr. Mitchell for blasphemy? Yes; 
I was on the Bench at the time. 
293. How long ago was that ? It was a short time after Mr. Mitchell arrived. 
294. What became of the ease? It was dismissed; he was prosecuted under the Vagrant 
Act, and as the words were used at the bar of a public-house, it was held that that was not 
a public place within the meaning of the Act. 

295.  
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295. Was the fact of using the language established? Yes ; and he was lectured on the John Smith, Esq. occasion. 
296. Do you recollect what the language was? "Here is eternal damnation to us." It 
appeared that Ile was about to ride out with some parties, and he stood glasses round, and 29 Jan., 1861. 
then gave this as a toast, "Here is eternal damnation to us."  
297. The charge was established, but he got off because the Bench did not think the case 
came within the Vagrant Act? Yes. 
298. Were you on the Bench when the charge was brought against Mr. Mitchell by Mr. 
Sibthorpe, of having insulted him on the Bench ? No; I remember there was some differ-
ence between them, and Mr. Mitchell wrote an apology to Mr. Sibthorpe; but I was not on 
the Bench when they had any angry words. 
299. Were not complaints frequently made as to Mr. Mitchell's conduct during the time he 
was Clerk of the Bench ? .No, I do not remember ; except by Mr. Barton. 
300. By Mr. Petherbridge and the chief constable ? When I was present Mr. Petherbridge 
never brought any complaint, nor did the chief constable; • they had a bit of a fracas, Mr. 
Mitchell and Mr. Petherbridge, but he apologized to Mr.Petherbridge, and the case was 
never brought before the Bench. That was when Mr. Mitchell snatched the paper out of 
Mr. Sibthorpe's hand. 
801. Do you know what the paper was ? It was something stuck upon the Court about a 
public meeting, but I do not remember the words. 
302. Did you see the paper ? Yes, I read it ; it was to the effect—there had been a meeting 
called to consider the state of the roads—and there was a request, not in very polite 
language, that the parties attending the meeting would not touch the papers of the Court. 
" Jackasses," or " donkeys," or something to that effect, was the term used. It appears that 
Mr. Petherbridge having attended the meeting had taken the paper down, and as I was 
walking a little in advance of Mr. Sibthorpe and Mr. Mitchell, Mr. l'etherbridge came up to 
me and handed me this paper, and I read it and then handed it to Mr. Sibthorpe. That was 
the paper which Mr. Mitchell snatched out of Mr. Sibthorpe's hands, but both Mr. Sib-
thorpe and Mr. Petherbridge told me they had received an apology. 
303. I believe all the Bench had come to the determination that it was better that Mr. 
Mitchell should leave Molong ? I do not think there was any objection to it. An applica-
tion had been made by Mr. Mitchell to the Colonial Secretary to be removed to Stoney 
Creek or one of the gold diggings, a letter was written along with it, signed by Mr. Sibthorpe 
and myself, begging to recomtnend Mr. Mitchell's application to the favourable consideration 
of the Colonial Secretary; no other application was made for his removal. The reply was 
not only that this application was refused, but that every other would be until a matter 
verbally brought by Mr. Barton before the Colonial Secretary had been inquired into. That 
Mr. Barton when in Sydney had made a verbal complaint, which be had promised to reduce 
into a formal charge in writing. On Mr. Barton's return from Sydney an investigation took 
place into Mr. Mitchell's conduct, and a proposition was made to him that if he would con-
sent to exchange with Mr. Kentish, Mr. Barton would consent to withdraw the charges, which 
after a great deal of grumbling was consented to by Mr. Mitchell. 
304. The Bench were anxious to get rid of him ? I could not say they were. 
305. By Mr. Parker: Were the Bench perfectly satisfied with Mr. Mitchell as Clerk of 
Petty Sessions? I could not say they were. There was a memorandum in the record boos: 
that he had disobeyed the orders of the Bench. 
806. Could you not say what was the state of feeling as regarded Mr. Mitchell ? I believe 
the Bench were not very favourably disposed to Mr. Mitchell. I believe this investigation to 
have been most fairly conducted; Mr. Kentish had every justice done him by the Court of 
Inquiry. 
307. Had the Bench confidence in Mr. Mitchell as their officer ? I believe they bad confi-
dence in him ; but he was of a hasty disposition. 
308. Had they confidence in his judgment ? I thought you referred to confidence in him 
as the agent of the Court—as the receiver of moneys. 
309. I mean confidence as to his fitness for the performance of his duties—had he the requi-
site coolness of temper ? Re was of an irritable disposition, but I believe he always 
apologized. 
310. I want to know what was the feeling of the Bench ? I know my own feeling was that 
he would have been better somewhere else; but he was a gentleman, and he thought himself 
deserving of a better position, from the position his father had held in the Colony. I believe 
Mr. Barton had a strung feeling against him ; and he being senior Magistrate, Mr. Mitchell 
wished to get away. Be was not on very friendly terms with any of the Magistrates; but 
I never saw anything in Mr. Mitchell that would lead me to make the assertion that they 
wished to get rid of him. 
311. Have you not personally rebuked him for his conduct to the Bench ? I have called 
him to order. 
312. By the Chairman: More than once? Possibly I did on two occasions. I was dissatis-
fied with him individually on account of his conduct as Collector for Intestate Estates. 
313. Have you seen him disrespectful to Mr. Barton? Yes. 
311. To other members of the Bench ? No; except in the ease I have referred to—to Mr. 
Sibthorpc. 
315. Do I understand that he was especially disrespectful to Mr. Barton ? I heard that 
Mr. Barton had lectured him freely, and there was no friendly feeling between them after-
wards. 
316. I ask you if he was especially insulting to Mt Barton ? He was insulting at this 
investigation. 

317. 
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John Smith, 317. By Mr. Walsh : Did you not say that you were at Sydney during this investigation ?' 
Esq. No. When the meeting was held to investigate the charges preferred against him by Mr. 

r-k---) Barton Mr. Mitchell was very insulting. He told Mr. Barton he was better born and 
29 Jan., 1861.  educated than Ile was. 

318. By the Chairman : Did you ever hear him challenge Mr. Barton out to fight ? No; 
but I was in the Court shortly before Mr. Mitchell left, when angry words arose as to • Mr. 
Mitchell's conduct as Registrar of the District Court. Mr. Barton put some question to him, 
which he declined to answer, and said that the Magistrates had nothing to do with him as 
Registrar of the District Court-that he was amenable to the Judge of that Court. 3Ir. 
Barton said he was responsible to the Bench, and called him to order. Mr. Mitchell said, 
" You are not on the Bench now" (Mr. Barton was standing at the table). Mr. Barton 
replied, " The Court is sitting," pointing to the Magistrates on the Bench, "Do you wish to-
see me off the Bench ?" Mr. Mitchell said " Yes." " Where do you wish to see me 
said Mr. Barton. "On the platform," he replied. "What do you call the platform?' 
" Outside." That is what passed-and Mr. Mitchell was not then Clerk of Petty Sessions. 
319. By Mr. Daniel: He gave Mr. Barton an invitation to fight ? I cannot say it was an 
invitation to fight; I do not suppose he intended to fight. 
320, By the Chairmag: Was Mr. Mitchell ever e }remitted for contempt of Court? No. 
321. By Mr. Stewart: You stated that Mr. Mitchell was rather hasty. 	When you 
made that statement did you refer to his answers to the Bench, and to his calling on the 
Magistrate to fight with hint on the platform-would you call that irritability of temper? 
Yes, he was irritated-there was a strong feeling between the two. He was not Clerk of 
Petty Sessions at that time; Mr. Kentish had re-placed him. 
322. You could scarcely expect a good feeling to exist between the Bench and a clerk who 
conducted himself in this way ? Perhaps not. 
323. By the Chairman : Was Mr. Mitchell's conduct ever officially complained of by the 
Bench to the Government? I think not. 
224. Were you present at Mr. Whitty's auction ? Yes. 
325. Did you see Mr. Mitchell there? I did. 
326. Was he under the influence of liquor ? I think not. 
327. Was he noisy or quarrelsome? He was assaulted by Mr. Tulloh; Mr. Tulloh rushed 
at him with a horsewhip-a scuffle ensued, and they both went to the ground. 
028. He and Mr. Tulloh had a fight? They had a scuffle; Mr. Tulloh attacked him with 
a horsewhip-Mr. Mitchell appeared surprised-a scuffle ensued-they closed, and fell to 
the ground, and a crowd gathered round. 
829. Do you know whether they had a pitched battle ? I do not know. I had purchased 
some things at Mr. Whitty's sale, and on going down to take delivery on the following day 
I found them fighting-I went down and separated them; but how the quarrel commenced 
I cannot say, for I was not present. 
830. Do you remember a meeting being called about a road you were fencing off? Not a 
road I was fencing off, a road I was straitening. 
331. Who convened the meeting? I think Mr. Petherbridge was one of the parties, and 
Mr. Liscombe another. 
332. Were you present at the meeting ? Yes. 
333. Did Mr. Mitchell address the meeting ? He did. 
334. Did he speak offensively of you and Mr. Sibthorpe ? More offensively of me, I think, 
about straightening the road without first consulting the feeling of the villagers; I do not 
remember his alluding to Mr. Sibthorpe. 
335. Do you know whether Mr. Mitchell caused insulting placards to be put up with refer-
ence to Mr. IVhitty or Mr. Tulloh ? I do not know. 
336. Did you see any? No. 
337. Do you know what led to the fight? I was informed it was in consequence of some 
placards, but I never saw the placards. 
338. Did you ever speak to Mr. Mitchell on the subject ? No. 
339. When you saw the fight between Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Tulloh, did you interpose in 
your magisterial capacity ? Do you mean on the first or on the second day? 
340. On the first day ?. Yes, I made them promise no ulterior steps should be taken. 
341. On the second occasion what did you do ? I gave each in charge of a constable, with 
instructions not to put them in the lock-up, but to see that they should not meet again that 
evening. Mr. Tulloh I sent into his own house, Mr. IVhitty's; and Mr. Mitchell I sent 
off home. 
342. You dispersed them ? Yes. 
243. Were any proceedings taken about that matter afterwards in the Court? Not that 
I am aware of. 
344. Do you remember a charge being brought by Mr. Kentish against Mr. Mitchell for 
assault ? Yes; I was on the Bench. 
345. Did you take down the evidence on that occasion ? I did. 
346. Is that it? (Handing a paper to witness. Vide Appendix A.) Yes. 
347. Will you have the goodness to read pages 50 and 51-(handing a paper to witness. 
Vide Appendix B.)-Is that substantially correct ? It is substantially correct to the end of 
Mr. Kentish's letter. This was a charge of assault, brought after the former bad been 
decided, which was disproved by evidence brought by Mr. Kentish himself, I said that I 
could not see any reason for calling upon Mr. Mitchell to enter into recognizance. Mr. 
Barton differing from me, I left the Bench, and Mr. Barton took his verbal promise merely. 
348. By Mr. Walsh : Is that memorandum as to the taking recognizanees in Mr. Barton's 
handwriting ? No; in Mr. Kentish's. 

349. 
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349. By the Chairman: Do I understand you to say that you know the charge was made, John Smith, 

	

and that you differed from the Bench ? Yes; I disagreed with Mr. Barton. 	 Esq. 

350. By Mr. Mark/ram : Was no recognizance taken except that ? I will explain why it ta —A---* 
was not taken. Mr. Kentish was to have written it out; he failed to do it to Mr. Barton's 20 Jan,, 1801. 

satisfaction, and the end of it was that it was not written again. Mr. Barton waited about 
half an hour, during which time a singular scene was enacted ; Mr. Barton, I believe, was 
disgusted, and went away.* I do not see the evidence of Mr. Mitchell's servant, which 
contradicted Mr. Kentish. He swore that there had been no assault, and that Mr. Mitchell 
was not within a considerable distance of Mr. Kentish. 
351. By the Chairman: Do you know whether Mr. Sibthorpe cut any leaves out of the 
record book ? There were several pages occupied with Mr. Kentish's letters, which he had 
written to various parties, and the whole lot, not having the 3Iagistrate's signature, were 
ordered to be expunged, and were cut out by one of the Magistrates—I think by Mr. 
Sibthorpe. 
352. By Mr. Mark/ram: Was that out of the Court record book ? Yes ; they were not 
Bench letters, 
853. By the Chairman : Were you on the Bench at the time ? Yes. 
354. Did you assent to their being cut out ? Yes. 
355. What became of the letters ? I do not know ; they were torn up, I believe. 
356. Do you know whether Mr. Sibthorpe ordered the constable to burn them ? Very 
possibly he might. 
357. By Mr. Parkes: In this book is there any mark made to shew where the authorized 
cutting stops ? These letters which were cut out were not written by the Bench but by Mr. 
Kentish. 
258. It appears, if you have no mark to shew where the cutting ends, that if you cut out 
ten pages, some one else may cut out two others, and you have no means of discovering it—
how is it shown where the cutting stops ? There was no mark, but it seems that some other 
pages were cut out afterwards. 
359. By Mr. Markham: Additional pages were cut out ? Additional pages were cut out 
without any authority of the Bench. 
360. By Mr. Walsh: To whom were those letters, which were cut out, addressed ? To the 
Colonial Secretary and Attorney General, I believe. 
361. Letters addressed to the Colonial Secretary and Attorney General, entered by the 
Clerk ? Written by the Clerk among the Bench correspondence. 
362. By the Chairman: Could they not have been cancelled without being cut out? Yes. 
363. By Mb. Braid, : Can you say whether there were any other entries of official corres-
pondence between the Clerk of the Bench and the Government? No; we looked over the 
hook, but could not find any. 
364. When Mr. Mitchell, or any other gentleman, was Clerk of the Bench, was it usual for 
the Clerk to enter his correspondence in the book ? Not without it bore the siguature of 
one of the Magistrates. 
865. Was it the general letter book of the office ? The Clerk is also land agent, and he has 
a book for that purpose ; but in the Bench books all the letters should be signed by a Magis-
trate. 
866. By Mr. Daniel: That is not the question asked by Mr. Walsh. Was there only one 
book belonging to the police office ? This was the letter book of the Bench. 
367. You had not two books for the purpose of containing letters ? Possibly there might 
have been other letters with only the signature of the Clerk. The particular reason for 
cutting out these was that the letters contained untruths—palpable untruths—and, not 
being verified by a Magistrate's signature, we objected to allow it to remain among the 
correspondence. 
368. By Mr. Walsh: Then you out out the letters because you did not agree with the 
correspondence? Yes. Mr. Barton himself said that in his opinion it should be cut out—
that the letters were improperly inserted there. 
369. By Mr. Daniel: Have you read them all ? I glanced at them—I read some of them. 
370. By Mr. Parker: These were copies of letters, which he of his own motion had addressed 
to persons in authority ? Yes; I think if I recollect right one was addressed to the Herald 
newspaper office—it was very voluminous. 
371. By the Chairman : It was with reference to the subject of some of these letters that 
this investigation was held ? No; the letter on which the investigation was held was not 
cut out; the letters cut out were written subsequent to the investigation. On the day when 
the first assault was adjudicated upon, it appears, from the letter sent to the Bench after-
wards, that Mr. Kentish was dissatisfied with the decision of the Bench, and addressed the 
Colonial Secretary on the subject. This letter was sent subsequently to be reported upon. 
It contained charges against Mr. Mitchell, and the Bench were requested to investigate the 
charges. Then a full Bench were called together. 
372. I ask if the Bench were not engaged in investigating some of the charges contained in 
this letter ? Not in this letter. 
373. Are there any other matters you wish to state to the Committee ? I would wish to 
state what was the evidence given, in order to show that Mr Kentish had justice done to 
him, and that the charges against the Bench, embodied in the petition, were uncalled for. 
The charge against Mr. Mitchell was that he was a set and brawler, and that he had suffered 
from delirium tremens. I have already stated that Mr. Kentish was called upon to prove his 

charges, 

Igo :—Mr. Barton, I. btlirvc, got impatient, and took NOTE. (corrected by witness, on roraisio 
his verbal promise only, and went home. 
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Jam iSmith, charges, and that lie called Mr. Sibthorpe. The second witness called was Dr. Ross, or Mr. 
Icsg- 	Frank Smith; I think Dr. Ross. Ile was examined touching a letter said to have been sent 

a  er—d---N to him by Mr. Mitchell. Dr. Ross, in reply to the questions of the Bench, stated that be .S Jan,, 1S6L  had never seen Mr. Mitchell the worse for liquor; that he could not possibly have been 
suffering from delirium tremens without his knowing it, as he was his medical attendant, an ,  
was in the village three or four times a week, and, as he then generally saw Mr. Mitchell. 
had he been suffering from delirium tremens he must have detected it. I may state that 
Mr. Barton put a question to Dr. Ross touching what had been said by him at the breakfast 
table of Mr. Barton, at Boree. Mr. Barton stated that Dr. Ross had then said Mr. Mitchell 
had been suffering from delirium tremens. Dr. Ross said he had not said so, that be bad 

• stated Mr. Mitchell had been drinking cordials, but not that he had been suffering from 
delirium tremens. The next witness called was Mr. Frank Smith, who stated that he lived 
about a hundred yards from Mr. Mitchell, on the opposite side of the creek ; that he was in 
the habit of seeing him two or three times a day, and that he had never seen him the worse 
for liquor ; that Mr. Mitchell was a constant visitor at his house ; that he, Mr. Smith, was 
a family man, and that had Mr. Mitchell been such a character as had been represented he 
would not have been admitted to his house ; that, generally, brandy was on the table during 
his visits, and that never on any one occasion had he known Mr. Mitchell to take a full glass ; 
that lie invariably left part of the spirits in his glass. The next witness, I think, was Mr. 
Betts, touching this blasphemous toast, which he confirmed, bat knew nothing further. Mr. 
Moon, innkeeper at Molong, was then called by Mr. Kentish, and a question was put by Mr. 
Kentish to this effect, whether Mr. Mitchell had not been drunk in his house whilst lodging 
there, which he denied. Mr. Kentish then asked Mr. Moon what Mr. Mitchell had paid 
Lim—what his account amounted to when he left. This question was disallowed by the 
Bench., Mr. Moon said he had never seen Mr. Mitchell the worse for liquor. Mr. Kentish 
stated that he had no more witnesses to call, and the Bench then called the Chief Constable, 
who stated that he was in the habit of seeing Mr. Mitchell almost daily, and that he could 
not have been drunk without his knowing it, as he was the Clerk of the Bench, and that he 
had never seen him the worse for liquor. I think he added that he was quarrelsome. Mr. 
Barton put a question to Mr. Davis, whether Ur. Mitchell had not assaulted his servant girl, 
and Mr. Davis stated that he had only heard so, that he was not present, but that on his re-
turn home one day he was informed such was the case. This girl, perhaps I might as well 
state, was not a very good character—poor thing, she is dead now—she was delivered of 
an illegitimate child, and is now dead, and her child too. Mr. Davis stated that on 
that occasion he had been told that the girl had chased Mr. Mitchell with a poker, or fire-
iron in her hand out of the house. Then Mr. Barton, as the presiding Magistrate, cleared 
the Court for deliberation. Mr. Sibthorpe drew up a report, which I thought too brief. I 
added a few words stating the number of witnesses examined, and we were deliberating bow 
it should be concluded. One of the Magistrates—one of the Finches, I think—mild he 
would sign the words used by Mr. Sibthorpe in his draft report, which wore, that the state-
ment was Malicious and mendacious. These words were then written by Mr. Sibthorpe 
under my amendment, and signed by all the Magistrates excepting Mr. Barton, who dissented, 
and said he would not sign those words. 
874. By the Chairman : May I ask what is your definition of a brawler ? A quarrelsome 
man ; I suppose a man who would go and kick up a great row was a brawler. 
375. I think you said Mr. Mitchell was very quarrelsome ? I have not said so, I think; he 
was irritable in disposition, and was sometimes impertinent to the Magistrates. 
376. What is your definition of the word " sot" ? I should think it might apply to eating 
as well as to drinking; I should fancy it meant a man too fond of drinking. 
377. Can you tell me any portion of the evidence that, in the words of the report, "directly 
and positively contradicted those charges "? I have given the evidence, those are the 
words of the report. 
378. In the report signed by yourself you state that the charges were directly and positively 
contradicted—my question is : What witnesses contradicted those charges, that Mr. Mitchell 
was a brawler and sot, according to your definition? By Mr. Sibthorpe first, by Mr. Frank 
Smith, by the Chief Constable, and by Mr. Moon, the innkeeper where he was stopping. 
379. I think, if I understood you, the evidence was more of a negative than of a contradictory 
character ? It was, that Mr. Mitchell could not have been drunk without Mr. Moon seeing 
him, and Dr. Ross said he could not have had delirium tremens without his knowing it. 
380. By Mr. Daniel: Did you ever give Mr. Mitchell advice relative to his behaviour, or 
did you expostulate with him at all ? With reference to the subject of the collection of the 
assets in an intestate estate, I did. 
881. On Ins general conduct? I do not remember; I think not ; there was an intestate 
estate the assets of which he declined to collect, and I stated I should report him if he did 
not do so. 
382. By Mr. Markham: Do you consider that Mr. Mitchell's conduct was generally respect-
ful to the Bench ? Yes. 
383. Did you observe on any occasion a disposition on the part of the Bench to gloss over 
his conduct on account of his position, or of his connections ? I think not. 
384. Then it was not on account of his position that the Bench submitted to insult from 
him on more than one occasion ? No, in consequence of his apology. 
385. At the time he was brought before the Bench under the Vagrant Act, he was dismissed 
in consequence of the language having been used in a public-house, which the Bench did 
not consider to be a public place within the meaning of the Act? It was not a public place 
contemplated by the Act. 
886. That was the opinion of the Bench on that occasion? Yes. There were only two 
Magistrates present, Mr. Barton and myself. 	 387. 
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387. There was no doubt as to the language having been used ? No doubt, but we thought John smith, 
the charge was maliciously brought by the party. 	 Esq.  
388. Are the Bench still under the impression that a public-house is not a public place 
within the meaning of the Vagrant Act—was any application made to the Crown Law 20 Jan., 186J• 
Officers respecting it ? Mr. Kentish said he had written to the Attorney General upon the 
subject, and I told him he would get no reply from that officer. 
389. By Mr. Walsh : If I recollect rightly, the words of the Act are "on any public street, 
"thoroughfare, or place, or within the view or. hearing of any person passing therein ?" 
No evidence was given that it was within hearing of persons on the highway, but one of 
the witnesses, Michael Conway, swore that he never heard the words uttered. 
390. I understood you to say that Mr. Mitchell on that occasion had ordered glasses round 
His horse was at the door, and he called for glasses round. 
391. Did it appear who the parties were who were present ? Mr. Hughes, the innkeeper, 
Mr. Liscombe, the prosecutor, and this person, Michael Conway, who swore be never heard 
the words. Whether there were any others I do not remember. 
392. Mr. Mitchell was before the Bench on that charge ? Yes. 
393. lie was also before the Bench on the charge of assault ? Mr. Kentish preferred .t 
charge of assault against lain. 
394. How near to the occasions on which be was brought before the Bench under the 
Vagrant Act, and on this other charge was it that he called upon Mr. Barton to go on the 
platform ? The charge preferred under the Vagrant Act was within six months of his first 
filling this situation. 
395. Did he call out Mr. Barton before or after Mr. Kentish preferred the charge of assault 
against him ? After, it was the last time he was in the Court House. 
396. Was this after Mr. Barton had differed from you? Yes. 
397. How long? It could not have been much less than two months. 
398. By the Chairman : Are you on friendly terms with Mr. Barton ? I am; at least I 
am not unfriendly—I am on friendly terms with respect to everything but Bench business ; 
and there we differ. We are on visiting terms, but we generally differ on the Bench. We 
differ on almost every question that comes before the Bench in reference to this inquiry. 
399. By Mr. Markham : Do you know how many times Mr. Mitchell has apologized to the 
Bench or to any member of the Bench ? Only to Mr. Sibthorpe, I think. 
400. I think you said he apologized to Mr. Barton ? I was not then present—I was then 
in Sydney. 
401. There was never any report of his conduct made to the Government ? There was by 
Mr. Barton. Mr. Cowper, the then Colonial Secretary, wrote to the Bench to that effect, 
and the case was to have been investigated on Mr. Barton's return to Molong. 
402. There was no official report of Mr. Mitchell's conduct made and entered upon the records ? 
The ease which I allude to was this. He had been directed by Mr. Sibthorpe to write a 
letter to Wellington, which he had not written, and Mr. Sibthorpe entered a minute in the 
book that he had disobeyed the order. 
403. Then that was merely disobedience of orders ? Ur. Mitchell pleaded that he had been 
busy, and had forgotten it; he did not refuse to do it. 
404. By the Chairman : The question of Mr. Markham was, how many times has Mr. 
Mitchell apologized to the Bench in any form ? I am aware of only these two instances, one 
of my own knowledge, and the other of which I was informed. I was present when he 
apologized to Mr. Sibthorpe ; he made the apology in writing. 
405. By :1h.. Stewart : Was there no apology made for not having written these letten 
He made some excuse. 
406. By the Chairman : I understood you to say be also apologized to you on one occasion ? 
I do not remember his doing so. 
407. Did he apologize to you when you rebuked him ? No, he wrote to the Curator of 
Intestate Estates—I bad better explain that. There had been an estate remaining over fur 
some years, in which I was interested. A man of mine had been drowned in the Nepean 
River, and his property had been squandered; upon this estate I had claims, but it had been 
neglected by Mr. Sealy, and by the predecessor of Mr. Sealy, and when Mr. Mitchell succeeded 
I spoke to him about it. Ile said he had nothing whatever to do with it, as it had occurred 
in the time of his predecessor. I said, " If you do not collect the estate I shall have to 
report it." There was another man who had died in my service, and I said if he did nut 
collect the amount in the first estate I would not hand him the money I held of the other 
intestate, but would report Mr. Mitchell to the Curator. Mr. Mitchell then wrote to the 
Curator, saying I would not band over this money. I complained of his having dune so 
without stating the whole of the facts. Mr. Mackechnie wrote a letter to me stating that 
unless this money were paid over disagreeable steps might be taken. I then sent a cheque 
and a letter to Mr. Mackechnie, stating the grounds of my previous refusal to pay Mr. 

408. By Mr. Markham : Did you consider his conduct excusable in having adopted the 
measure he did ? I was dissatisfied with him. 
409. Then you did not approve of the course he adopted ? No, but I never called for any 
explanation, nor did he tender any apology. I brought the matter under the notice of the 
Bench, and they declined to hear it. 
410. By the Chairman : I asked you some time ago whether you did not rebuke him for 
using insulting language to the Bench—is not that correct ? I did rebuke him for his 
language to Mr. Barton. 
411. By Mr. Walsh : Was Mr. Mitchell received into the houses of all the Magistrates as a 
visitor? Yes. 

412.  
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John ,Smith, 412. And treated as one in the same social position ? Yes ; and also by other gentleme 
E 	

n 
s (4 	who were not Magistrates ; he was admitted into the best society. 

413. Was Mr. Kentish received into the same society ? He was at first ; he was a guest in 
29  Jan. , 1861 . any own house for some time. 

414. Up to the time of this controversy was he admitted into the same circle ? Yes; and 
people were even more favourably disposed toward; him, and, from being an old Government 
officer, he was treated with much respect. 
415. By Air. Parkes : How long did Mr. Kentish occupy this position ? I think some 
where about three or four months—I cannot speak positively ; he was there some considerable 
time before Ile took charge of the Court of Petty Sessions. I think it was in June he first 
came to me, as the nearest Magistrate, to sign his returns ; he was there also some time after 
his successor, Mr. Davis, was appointed. Mr. Kentish performed his duties until his arrival. 
416. By A/c. Daniel: During the investigation which took place into the conduct of Mr. 
Mitchell, did you take any notes yourself ? No; there was a reporter present who took 
notes, Mr. Morris. I was suffering from opthalmia at the time, but was very averse to act 
upon oral testimony, and I said I would rather write with only one eye than that 
the evidence should not be taken down. However, the other Magistrates thought it 
-unnecessary. 

APPENDIX. 

A. 
TUESDAY, 30 A UGUST, 1869. 

• 
PRESENT :— 

R. J. BAnrox, ESQ., J.P. 
JOHN Saint, Erc., J.P. 

Mr. Richard Blunt Mitchell appeared under summons to answer the complaint of Nathaniel Lip-
scomb Kentish, for assault. 

Araucania/ Lipscomb Kentish, Clerk of Petty Sessions, Molting, maketh oath and saith :—I am 
Clerk of Petty Sessions at Molting ; that on Wednesday evening, the twenty-fourth day of August 
instant, he (this deponent) was assaulted by Richard Blunt Mitchell, Esq., the defendant now present. 
I was sitting alone in one of the rooms of Mr. Moon's Inn, in this township, about half-past five. 
in the evening, when the defendant rushed at me with a stick ia his hand, in a mennein attitude, hold-
ing it over my shoulder, telling me, he would chastise mc, and compel me to give him an explanation. 
of what I meant by blackguardism. I then lett the room, calling on Mr. Moon for protection, and 
was followed into the bar by defendant, when defendant repeated the violence, and three a letter into 
my face which I had previously written him. lie again rushed at me, demanding the letter which I 
had put into my pocket, saying he would take it from me by force, and pound my sallow-faced head to 
mortar, if I had not been an old man. This woe repeated four Of five times. When I appealed to Mr. 
Moon for protection he declined interfering, saying he did not see or know anything about it. 

By Defendant :—I admit having written a letter to you, in which I used the term blackguardism. 
Sworn before us this 30th day of 

August, 1550, at Molong. 	 N. L. KENTISH. 
Rolm J. BARTON, LP. 
Joux 531ITIL, J.P. 

And the deponent, E. IT'. Moon, on oath, saith as follows :—I am on innkeeper, residing at 
Molong. I was present in my bar on Wednesday evening last. I saw Mr. Mitchell throw A letter i n  
Mr. Kentish's face, saying, there is your letter, Ai% I did not see Mr. Mitchell rush at Mr. Kentish 
with a stick. Mr. Kentish came to me behind the bar, claiming my protection. Mr. Mitchell followed, 
but did not approach within two yards. 

By Defendant I did not see Mr. Mitchell threaten to strike Mr. Kentish. 
E. W. MOON. 

FORT. J. BARTON, LP. 
JORN SMITH, 3.1-1 . 

Yon vms DEFESCE. 
And this deponent, Hr. Henry AL Betts, on oath, said' as follows 	was pr cs nit off— — 
And this deponent, John Davis, on oath, saith as follows :—I ntn chief eon-table at Maing. I 

produce the letter received by me from complainant on Wednesday last. it has not been u..t. of toy' 
possession since. 
Sworn before us this 30th day 

of August, 1559. 	3 	 JOHN DAVIS. 
Roar. J. BARTON, J.P. 
JOON Surma, J.P. 

Adjudged to pay a fine of One Pound, and Your Shillings and Eight Pence costs. 
Dna. J. Thames., LP. 
JOHN Smarm 3.1). 

B. 
The Defendant, though pleading " not guilty" to the charge of assault, contended that the 

Assault of which he is convicted by the Bench, was fully justified by the letter addressed to hire by the 
Plaintiff, which he admitted having thrown in his face, and is that produced by the chief constable, 
which, at defendant's request, was read to the Court from the Bench, and ordered to lst attached 
to these proceedings ; but was handed, inadvertently, to the defendant as he was leaving the Cunt, by 
John Smith, Esq., J.P., of which letter the following is a verbatim copy :— 
" Mr. &Mt. B. Mitchell,— 

"Sir, 
" In justice to myself, I feel it necessary to remove a possible misapprehension entering your 

." mind with respect to an incident in our somewhat convivial sitting last evening, b) addressing you 
with the distinctness and sincerity which I feel that the occasion demands of me as a gentleman, a 

" Christian, and the parent of children older than yourself. Of course, it is the precious toast, giving 
"utterance 
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utterance to the most horrid blasphemy and most atrocious insult that words can express, to which I John Smith, 
" refer, and which you appear to glory in—I suppose in consequence of its superlative atrocity. I do 	Esq. 
4' most bitterly reproach myself for having remained in your company one instant after such blasphe- 
" mous blackguardimn escaped your lips, and wonder at myself that I did not indignantly resent on  „o „ 
" such gross outrage on the instant, as I ought to have done, instead of expostulating merely, and 	-"'" 
" assuring you, which I now repeat, that I fail to perceive the slightest wit or humour in the senti- 
" moot,' or anything but Almeking blasphemy and vulgarity, which even the lowest and most depraved 
" could hardly admire. It was, I think, from your rapid transition from recitation and narrative of your 
" figuring in the duck at the Police Office on the charge of uttering this blasphemous imprecation, which 
" you had the audacity to boast of and to reiterate for Mr. Betts' edification and mine, in a. conversational 
4 ' manner, in illustration of a charming sentiment proposed as acceptable to your company, that I was 
" guilty or remaining in the room with an individual who could make a boast of being so great a repro-
" bate. For this my conscience and my sense of propriety smite me sadly, and I therefore make to 
" you and to the only gentleman who was present tins unequivocal expression of nay sentiments. 

" The late Marquis of Waterford, in his youth, shoved such a depraved taste for wanton mischief. 
" as would subject a schoolboy to the birch, aud a man, not being a privileged ' Nobleman,' to the stocks ; 
"and, without admiring 'devilment,' being no sanctimonious pretender to purity, I can make great 
" allowance for the follies and frivolity of young own, who are too commonly libertines, relishing jokes 
"less remarkable for their elegance than smuttiness ; but happening to be a believer in the lfible, I 
" warn you, 0 young man, who pr.lese yourself to be, as I also am, a Protestant Cliristian, that, for every 
" vain and wicked word—for every breach of the 3rd Commandment= God will bring you into judg-

ment.' 'What, then, for daring to invoke eternal damnation ' on your own soul, and on those who 
" have the deep misfortune to be in company with ElICII a blasphemous reprobate, emulous, it would 
" seem, of the ill fame of the atheistical and atrocious Earl of Rochester, whose life, and cleath,I earnestly 
" commend to your attentive perusal. 

" Hoping that you may both repent and amend before it is too late, and thus avert the fatal colt-
sequences which I perceive to be at present threatening your dissipated life and, conversation, namely, 

" your own ruin of mind, body, and soul, disgrace to your family, and the bringing down the grey hairs 
" of your widowed mother with sorrow to the grave. 

"I remain, Sir, 
" With resolve to eschew the slightest further acquaintance, 

" Your sincere Well-wisher, 
"N L KENTISH." 

MEd, Molting, 
Wednesday Mormnng , August 24, 1859." 

The above-named defendant, after payment of the fine of El, and costs 4s. 8d., MB IMMO over 
to keep the peace to the above-named plaintiff, and to all Her Majesty's subjects, for three months, in 
his own bond of' £25, on application made to the Bench by the plaintiff, supported by affidavit as 
follows, viz. :—" Nathaniel Lipscomb Kentish maketh oath and saith, that he is in bodily fear of 

violence from Richard Blunt Mitchell, by whom he has been both assaulted and insulted this very 
" day, Tuesday, August 30th, 1859. 

N L KENTISH." 
The recognizance was taken by Robert J. Barton, Esq., 32. 

Mr. Robert Tulloh called in and examined:— 
417. By the Chairman : Did you act as Commissioner of Crown Lauds at Molong, and reside Mr. E. Tat 
with the Commissioner ? I was residing with the Commissioner of Crown bands at Molong, , 	 
Mr. \Chitty. 	 29 Jan., 1861. 
418. Did you know Mr. R. B. Mitchell, then Clerk of the Bench ? I did. 
419. Did you see him frequently ? Very seldom. 
420. Had you any differences with him, and subsequently a fight? On one occasion. 
421. Have you any objection to state to the Committee the reasons of it ? I received the 
summons of the Committee only yesterday. Out of respect to the gentlemen assembled here, 
I have attended; but I have very great reasons indeed to object to state the circumstances 
of my quarrel with Mr, Mitchell, for they were of a very blackguard description indeed ; 
and if I give evidence on the subject I must introduce myself as a party concerned in the 
matter. I never gave Mr. Mitchell any cause for the gross insults be offered Mr. Whi tty and 
myself; and it was on account of the insult he offered me particularly that I horse-whipped 
him., If the Committee wish I will tell them the reason why I did so, and leave them to 
decide whether I was justified. I never had the slightest encounter with Mr. Mitchell until 
I received the grossest provocation. This is a placard that Mr. Mitchell posted, or caused to 
be posted, on various posts or trees—this in particular was opposite the Court House. (The 
witness produced the same) 
422. By Air. Parkes: Is that a copy only, or is that one of the placards ? This is one of 
the placards. 
423. Did you take it down yourself? I did not. It is authenticated by the party who took 
it down, and whose signature I can swear to. 
424: Will you hand it in ? (The witness handed in the same.) That was previous to the 
day of sale of Mr. Whitty's property, when the Commissioner of Crown Lands for the 
Wellington District was done away with. 
425. Do you know whether that is Mr. Mitchell's handwriting ? I do not know—it is 
written in a disguised hand ; but after his horse-whipping Mr. Mitchell confessed that he 
had written it. (The Clerk read the same.) There is a certificate on the back—" Taken 
" from two trees in front of the Court House, Molong, by Mr. Liscombe, on the 13th July, 
" 1858. John Liscombe." 
426. By Mr. Daniel : He is Postmaster at Molong? Yes. 
427. By 111r. Parkes: Did this placard lead to a quarrel between you and Mr. Mitchell? 
It did. 
428. Have you reason to suppose this placard was posted by Mr. Mitchell ? I have; he 

,either posted it, or caused it to be posted. 
429. 
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Mr.R.Tulloh. 429. Does it refer to yourself? There was no other gentleman living with Mr. Whitty but 
myself. 

29 Jan., 1861. 430. Was it in any way proved to refer to you ? He stated himself that he meant me. 
431. What took place after the publication of that placard ? Mr. Whitty's sale took place, 
and at the termination of the sale of the other property there was a sale of horses in the 
paddock. I took this placard in my hand, went to Mr. Mitchell, and said, "Mr. Mitchell, 
" have been informed by the bust authority that this is your handiwork-is it so, or is it 
" not ?" He said, "I do not see that I have any right to answer you." I said, "I consider 
" that you have every right to answer me." He said, " Suppose it was me." I said "You 
" 

 
are an insolent puppy, and take that for your pains," and I horse-whipped him. He then 

challenged me to fight a duel, and said he did write the placard, and would write something 
worse. 
432. When was that ? The end of the second day's sale ; I think the 15th July, 1858. 
433. By Mr. Daniel : Was he Clerk of Petty Sessions at Molong at that time ? Yes. 
Mr. John Smith, Justice of the Peace, is perfectly conversant with this matter, for he was 
present at the time, and confined me to the house. He afterwards liberated me, having 
received my word of honor that I would not fight a duel, and would avoid coming in contact 
with Mr. Mitchell that night. 
434. By the Chairman : Was Mr. Mitchell sober on that occasion ? I do not think he was 
tipsy-in fact, I did not see that he was tipsy, I was so thoroughly annoyed and excited 
from the insult received ; but he might have been. 
435. Did you ever see him the worse for liquor ? The following morning I think I did. 
436. In what state was he then? I consider that he was very tipsy then. 
437. Very drunk ? I will not say very drunk ; he was either very tipsy, or he pretended 
to be so. 
488. Do you know anything about his character ? Not personally ; only from hearsay. 
I always kept aloof from him, in every sense of the word. 
430. By Mr. Stewart : From personal communication you had not an opportunity of saying 
whether he was in the habit of drinking to excess ? No; I was generally engaged in my 
Crown Land duties. 
440. By Mr. Daniel : After the first affray, was there a second fight ? There was. 
441. Will you be pleased to state the origin of that ? The next morning he made his 
appearance at the Crown Lands Office, at Mr. Whitty'.s parlour, and was so outrageous to Mr. 
Francis Smith and Mr. Liscombe, the auctioneer, that he was several times ordered out. He 
said he would not go without I came out and fought him; that he had challenged me the 
previous evening to a duel, and I would not fight, but had promised that if he waived 
fighting with pistols I would fight him with fists, and that now he would receive the thrash-
ing that I had promised to give him. After a little time I went into the paddock, and we 
fought; but he was so tipsy, or pretended to be, that he could not, or would not, stand upon 
his legs. Mr. John Smith was present during two or three rounds, and then the constable 
came and separated us. 
442. By Mr. Stewart : That was the occasion when he was very tipsy ? He was either very 
tipsy or he pretended to be so, for whenever I made a blow at him he fell, and his behaviour to 
Mr. Frank Smith was most outrageous. 
443. What do you mean by his behaviour ? Both his language and accent; so much so that 
Mr. Frank Smith threatened to turn him out of the place. 
444. Do you mean that he swore ? He used the most awful language. 
445. By Mr. Parker: Is Mr. Frank Smith a Magistrate ? I do not think he is; but Mr. 
John Smith, his brother, of Gamboola, is. 
446. What was his language ? I cannot remember, but it was outrageous. 
447. In point of indecency ? I do not think it was so indecent as insulting and violent. 
448. Swearing? I could not repeat it. 
449. Would you call "damn" swearing? I would. 
450. Or " damnation ?" lie did not use his usual toast; he had nothing to drink 
there. 
451. You say his usual toast--is it within your knowledge that he ever gave that toast ? It 
was within the knowledge of every body nearly in Molong. 
452. Can you repeat it ? Really I do not see any reason to repeat it-you must have heard 
it-" Eternal damnation to our souls," or "to your souls." 
453. Did he often give that toast in Molong ? I am speaking now more from hearsay. I 
beard that his general toast, whether drinking with bullock drivers, or with stook-keepers; 
whether in the bar or in the parlour of a public-house, was that. 
454. Did he ever drink with bullock drivers? I really do not know from personal knowledge ; 
I have heard so. 
455. Did you ever see Mr. Mitchell intoxicated ? I never did, except on the morning to 
which I have referred, when from his outrageous conduct I concluded he was so. I do not 
think any one could have conducted himself so unless he had been very tipsy or perfectly 
mad. I am sure you could have beard his voice a quarter of a mile from the paddock when 
the constables took him away. 
456. You do not know anything about the dispute between Mr. Kentish and Mr. Mitchell ? 
Not in any way whatever. 
457. By the Chairman : From what you have seen of Mr. Mitchell should you say be is a 
very quarrelsome man ? I can only speak of what came before myself ? I am sure that I 
never gave him any cause, and that Mr. Whitty never gave him any cause for enmity. 
Mr. Whitt),  had invited him to his house, and did not wish to renew the acquaintance. 
Mr. Mitchell wrote three or four very scurrilous articles in the Bathurst Times respeeting 

Mr. 
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Mr. Whitty. The following day I left Molong ; three days afterwards I read a scurrilous Mr. B.  Tallith. 
article he had written against myself. I never had any communication with Mr. Mitchell, 
and when the placard was put into my hand, and I was told it was posted all over the town 29 Jam, 1861. 
of Molong, I was surprised; and I said to Mr. Mitchell that he had acted in a very cowardly 
manner to a man who had never harmed him in any way whatever. 

THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

Urtunt 
MR. DANIEL, 
Mn. LORD, 
MR. MACLEAY, 

Ma. MARKHAM, 
MR. PARKES, 
Mn. STE WART. 

ALEXANDER DICK, ESQ., IN TIIE CHAIR. 
Francis Smith, Esq., called in and examined :- 

458. By Mr. Lord : You were examined before the Bench at Molong, in the case of Kentish F. Smith, 
versus Mitchell ? Yes. 	 Esq. 
459. And you gave evidence on that occasion. I did. 
460. By whom were you called as a witness ? By Mr. Kentish. 	 7 Feb., 1861. 
461. The evidence was not taken down at the time ? I heard not. 
462. Have you seen what purports to be a report of the evidence given ? The evidence was 
taken down, but not by the Clerk of the Court, and I believe the evidence, as taken down, 
was correct, so far as I am capable of judging. 
463. Will you look at that evidence (handing witness the report appended to Arr. Siblhorpe's 
evidence)? That is a correct report of my evidence. 
464. Can you speak as to the correctness of the report of any other person's evidence-did 
you bear any of the other parties examined? I heard Mr. Moon's examination, I recollect. 
465. Edward Wright Moon ? Yes, I recollect hearing him examined. 
466. Will you look over that evidence, and zee whether it is correctly given ? (The witness 
read the evidence.) I recollect hearing him say that he never saw Mr. Mitchell drunk 
467. Have you known Mr. Mitchell as Clerk of the Bench at 51olong for some time ? I 
knew him intimately all the time he was there. 
463. You never knew him to be a drunkard ? I never saw him drunk in my life. 
469. You have stated that in your evidence ? Yes, and I can state farther, that I never 
saw him what you would term the worse for liquor. 
470. Jig   the Chairman : Who took the notes of the evidence on the occasion referred to ? 
I think Mr. Morris, who is now bailiff for the District Court. 
471. You signed a copy of his notes, did you not ? I did. 
472. Did you ever see Mr. Mitchell behave disrespectfully to the Bench ? I have heard of 
Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Barton. I have beard something about them, that they did not agree. 
473. You never saw Mr. Mitchell behave disrespectfully to the Bench ? No; I very seldom 
attend the Court. 
474. By Mr. Lord: You were never in the Court at any time when he did so ? No. 
475. Do you remember Mr. Kentish wishing to examine Mr. Sibthorpe as a witness, on the 
day of this investigation ? I really cannot say much about that, whether he wished to exa-
mine Mr. Sibthorpe or not. I believe, so far as I recollect, Mr. Sibthorpe asked him if he 
intended to call him as evidence, and said if he did he would leave the Court, or leave the 
Bench ; and, to the best of my recollection, Mr. Kentish said, No, he would not require him. 
476. Were you in Court the whole time ? No, being a witness I was sent out of Court 
until I was examined, but after I was examined I sat in Court. 
477. You say you knew Mr. Mitchell intimately ? I knew him so far that I frequently 
invited him to my house, and saw him every day. 
478. Did you ever hear him make use of blasphemous language or toasts ? I have heard of 
the toast, but I do not know that I have heard it directly from him. 
479. By  Mr. Lord: You have not heard him use it yourself? No, I never heard him use 
it myself, to my present recollection. 
480. By the Chairman: Did you ever see any indecent placards which he had caused to be 
put up in Molong ? I did see a placard which was an indecent one, but I could not say 
positively that Mr. Mitchell put it up; I know he was accused of it. 
481. You say you never saw Mr. Mitchell the worse for liquor ? Never, to the best of my 
recollection. 
482. Do you know anything about the investigation into his conduct by the Bench of 
Magistrates at Molong ? Yes, the investigation I have just alluded to when I was examined. 
483. I am now speaking of the investigation with reference to Mr. Mitchell, not with 
reference to Mr. Kentish ? I do not know anything of that. 
484. I think your brother is a Magistrate, but you are not? I am not a Magistrate, my 
brother is. 
485. By Mr. Markham: Did Mr. Mitchell ever use violent language to yourself? No, 
when he came to our house he behaved quite the gentleman. 
486. By Mr. Lord : Do you recollect by whom Mr. Moon was called as a witness ? By Hr. 
Kentish, I believe, I will not say positively. 

John 
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24 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE 

John Smith, Esq., again called in and further examined:— 
John Smith, 487. By Me Lord : The Committee understand that you wish to make some statement to- 

Esq• 	them ? Since I was last examined I have procured a copy of the correspondence printed by 
order of the Assembly, and I perceive that there are some misstatements, or possibly mistakes, 

.7 Feb., 1St. at all events inaccuracies, which I wish to correct. 
488. By Mr. Parkes: What correspondence is that? The correspondence moved for by 3.Ir. Lord. 
489. By the Chairman : Is it correspondence attached to the petition ? I am not aware. 
I perceive by Mr. Barton's letter, published here, at page 22, that he found the Bench 
already at work on his arrival at the Court. That must be a mistake. We might have 
been discussing the object of the meeting, but no proceedings were commenced until Mr. 
Barton arrived at the Court. 

Mr., Daniel inquired whether it was regular to allow a witness to comment on a 
printed document which was not in evidence before the Committee. 

(j'trangers were ordered to withdraw. The Committee deliberated. The witness was 
again called in.) 
490. By the Chairman : The Committee will hear you if you wish to offer any further evidence, 
or to explain any portion of the evidence you have already given, but do not think it right to 
allow you to comment upon documents before the Committee ? Perhaps the Committee will 
allow me to give evidence on a letter of Mr. Kentish, published by him, and which I have now 
seen for the first time. I would also wish to explain a portion of my previous evidence. I 
think I stated that Mr. Barton said there was no necessity for taking down the evidence in 
writing ; upon reconsideration I think that statement is incorrect ; he wished to have it 
taken dawn but opposed my application for a clerk to be employed. I was asked on what 
grounds the Bench founded the Report they sent down, and I stated, on the evidence given ; 
that was touching the charge against Mr. Mitchell that he was a brawler and a sot—but with 
regard to the statement that the charge was malicious, it was founded on Mr. Kentish's own 
conduct, and the language used by him in his opening address, which to my mind, and 1 
belicvs to the minds of three or four other members of the Beach, was conclusive as to the 
existence of malice. The two Messrs. Finch were quite electrified at the style and spirit of his 
address, and left the Bench, but again resumed their seats. I twice called Mr. Kentish to order. 
491. Upon what occasion was this ? At the investigation. If you will allow me to read 
one passage from Mr. Kentish's address it will, I think, bear out my assertion : " Nor may I 
" be guilty of the affectation of pretending to feel any compunction at happening to be the 
"instrument of bringing to condign punishment the most thorough monster of depravity lever 
" met with in all my experience, even among thousands of convicts, the great majority of 
" whom, in the road gangs formerly under my supervision, would have been disgusted with 
"such a companion, and Would have reported his blasphemy to me, or probably kicked him 
" out of their hut, as too vile for their society." The whole of the address was couched in 
such language as to leave in our minds no doubt of malice. With respect to the assault, of 
which so much has been made here, it was simply the throwing of this letter, Enclosure No. 
1, at Mr. Kentish, when he would not afford Mr. Mitchell any explanation, and the Bench, 
Mr. Barton, and myself, reserved judgment till we heard the second charge of assault. After 
hearing the second charge, Mr. Barton expressed his desire to bind over Mr. Mitchell to keep 
the peace, and I left the Bench. I said I would give way as to the amount of fine, respecting 
which there had been a difference of opinion. I had suggested a shilling fine, and Mr. 
Barton a fine of a pound. I then left the Bench, observing that I could see no necessity for 
requiring Mr. Mitchell to enter into sureties of the peace ; and Mr. Barton took the verbal 
promise of Mr. Mitchell to keep the peace towards Mr. Kentish. It has also been complained 
of that the witnesses were not examined on oath, when we could not have so examined them, 
as we had no commission for that purpose. 
492. By Mr. Lord: Have you read the printed correspondence ? I have. 
493. Is that correspondence substantially correct ? It is not. Mr. Kentish's letters are 
not correct, and do not represent the real state of the case. • If you will allow me, I will 
point out the inaccuracies and gross misstatements contained in them. At page 10 he states 
that the Bunch dissented from a certain definition of the word " sot,"—I deny that in fob. 
No such matter was discussed. He says, "It was also laid down by Mr. Sibthorpe, and 
" assented to by three of his brother Magistrates, that however much liquor any person 
" might imbibe, he could not be a sot' if never seen drunk or unable to walk and attend to 
" his business." I deny that I ever assented to any such proposition as that, because I main-
tain that a man may be a great sot without ever being drunk. At page 12, he states that 
all six witnesses were summoned by the defendant. The witnesses were all summoned by 
Mr. Kentish, except the chief constable, who was called by the Bench, and one who I believe • 
was called by Mr. Mitchell ; but Mr. Sibtliorpe, my brother, Dr. Ross, and Mr. Moon were 
called by Mr. Kentish. At page 17, he says he had no opportunity of establishing his 
charges. Now it will appear by the letter Dom Mr. Barton to the Colonial Secretary, page 
5, that when the letter was received from the Colonial Secretary a fortnight's notice was 
given to all the Magistrates of this case coming on. At page 16, Mr. Kentish states that 
Dr. Ross was a most inveterate enemy to Mr. Mitchell, and yet in page 22 we find Dr. Ross 
subscribing a letter, setting forth that Mr. Kentish was suffering from monomania. Dr. Boss 
is a doctor of medicine, M.R.C.S., and holds a diploma from the Medical Board of New South 
Wales. I am quite certain that there was no prejudice against Mr. Kentish on my part. I' 
advised him to put up at a different hotel from Mr. Mitchell, because as he had come to 
succeed Ms. Mitchell in his office, it was not likely he would regard him very favourably.* 
494. You state, as one of the Magistrates who sat on the Bench, that the evidence you received ' 
justified you in coming to the conclusion stated in the report ? Yes; we could arrive at no other. 

. 	 .  

NOTE (corrected by witness, on retision, thus) :—Ss he had succeeded in displacing Mr. Mitchell, 
it was not likely the latter would regard him very favourably. 

Sydney ; Thomas Richards, Government Frinter.-1801. 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

FREDERICK BEER. 
(PETITION FROM BRAIDWOOD IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by tire Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 24 April, 1861. 

To the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales. 

The humble Petition of the undersigned Inliabitansts of the District of Braidwood,— 
RESPECTFULLY SEFEWETII :- 

1. Tbat your Petitioners are Residents of the Town and District of Braidwood. 
2. That Frederick Beer was, in the Month of April, 1856, convicted at Sydney, and 

sentenced to ten years imprisonment on a charge of having illegally administered Belladonna 
to one Phyllis Brown. 

3. That in the month of April last the said Frederick Beer obtained from the Crown 
a Ticket-of-leave for the District of Braidwood aforesaid. 

4. That the said Frederick Beer has since that date resided in 13raidwood aforesaid, 
and has been and still is in extensive practice as a Physician and Surgeon. 

5. That in the practice of such profession the said Frederick Beer must necessarily 
be intrusted with the confidence and the very lives of a large number of the Inhabitants of 
the said Town and District. 

6. That, from circumstances which have transpired since the said conviction, your 
Petitioners have good reason to believe that the said Frederick Beer was not guilty of the 
offence for which he was so convicted; and that evidence which was not forthcoming at the 
trial of the said Frederick Beer, and which could not have then been obtained, but which 
can now be produced, will prove that he was not guilty of such offence, and that he was 
therefore, wrongfully convicted. 

Your Petitioners, therefore, humbly pray that, for the security of your Petitioners and 
the other Inhabitants of this District, and in justice to the said Frederick Beer, a full and 
minute inquiry into, and investigation of, all the circumstances connected with the case of 
the said Frederick Beer may be instituted. 

And your Petitioners will ever pray. 

[Here follow 1,564 Signatures.] 

[Price, hi] 	 247— 
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1861. 

Reale!oar CaStnek. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

COURT HOUSE AT BLACK CREEK. 
(PETITION FOR.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 6 May, 1861. 

To the Honorable House of Legislative Assembly, New South Wales, in Parliament 
assembled. 

The humble Petition of the Inhabitants of Black Creek, in the Police District of 
Maitland,— 

SIMWF2H t- 

That your Petitioners presume to present themselves to the notice of your 
Honorable House, and to state it is their humble opinion that if a Court House was esta-
blished at Black Creek it would be a great convenience and accommodation to the Town and 
neighbourhood, and would very much further and facilitate the ends of justice in every 
respect, and avoid the necessity of parties going to appear either at Maitland or Singleton—
the distance from each town being fifteen miles. 

Your Petitioners, therefore, humbly pray that your Honorable House will be pleased 
to take the premises into your favourable consideration. 

And your Petitioners, as in duty bound, will ever pray, &c., &e., 

[Here follow 70 Signatures.] 

[Price, ld.] 	 272— 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

PETTY SESSIONS, CONDOBOLIN. 
(RETURN IN REFERENCE TO.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 9 May, 1861. 

RETURN to an Address of the Honorable the Legislative Assembly 
of New South Wales, dated 7 February, 1861, praying that His 
Excellency the Administrator of the Government would be pleased 
to cause to be laid upon the Table of this House,— 

" Papers showing when Petty Sessions were established at 
" Condobolin, Lachlan River ; the expenses attending making 
"that a place for holding Petty Sessions, distinguishing what 
" the various amounts are paid for ; at the same time shewing 
" the number of eases adjudicated, and what they were; also, 
" the number of Constables there are stationed at that place ; 
" the distance of Country over which they are expected to do 
"duty, and what duty they have done since their appointment." 

(Mr. Shepherd.) 

SCHEDULE. 
70. 	 PAGE. 

1. Copy of Notice, dated 12 April, 1859, published in the Government Gazette, appointing 
Condobolin to be a place for the holding of Courts of Petty Sessions. 12 April, 1859. 	.. 	2 

2. Inspector General of Police to The Under Secretary, containing information respecting the 
Police Establishment at Condobolin. 18 March, 1861. .. 	 2 

3. Ditto ditto to ditto, with detailed statement of the Annual Expenditure of the Police Establish-
ment at Condobolin. 1 May, 1861. 	 .. 	2 

286— 
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PETTY SESSIONS, CONDOBOLIN. 

No. 1. 
Colonial Secretary's Office, 

Sydney, 12 April, 1859. 
PETTY SESSIONS. 

His Excellency the Governor General has been pleased to appoint Cowoonomr to be a 
place for the holding of Courts of Petty Sessions under the Act of the Colonial Legislature, 
3 William 4, No. 3. 

No. 2. 
INSPECTOR GENERAL OF POLICE to THE TINDER SECRETARY. 

Office of Inspector General of Police, 
Sydney, 18 March, 1861. 

SIR, 
In compliance with the request conveyed in your letter of the 13th of February 

last, desiring certain particulars with respect to the establishment of a Court of Petty 
Sessions at Condobolin, I do myself the honor to state, for the information of the Chief 
Secretary, that the annual expense of the Police Establishment there is £719. The number 
of cases adjudicated by that Court since the 1st January, 1860, is eight, described as 
under :— 

Drunkenness, 13 Viet., No. 29 	  1 
Vagrancy, 16 Viet., No. 4 	  4 
Lareeny, 14 via., No. 2 	  2 
Assaults, 19 Viet., No. 24 	  1 

The strength of the Police Establishment at Coachella consists of—One second 
class Chief Constable and three Ordinary Constables. 

This force patrols the Lachlan River into the Yaks District, as' far as Wollingragong, 
sixty miles from head quarters, on the one hand, and beyond the limits of the Molong 
District into that of the Lower Darling on the other. ' It has afforded valuable assistance 
in the suppression of cattle stealing, as may be instanced in the capture of" Black Sims" 
(a noted marauder) by the District Constable in 1869. 

I have &c., 
 1■PLERIE, 

Inspector General of Police. 

No. 3. 
INSPECTOR GENERAL OF POLICE to THE UNDER SECRETARY. 

Police Department of New South Wales, 
Account Branch, 

Sydney, 1 May, 1861. 
MEMO. 

Detailed Annual Expenditure of Police Establishment at Condobolin :— 
£ 	s. 	d. 

Constables Salary 	••• 	••• 	... 441 2 	6 
Clerk of Petty Sessions Salary ... 	••• 175 0 	0 
Constables' Forage Allowance 	... 	••• 40 0 	0 
Night Allowance ... 	••. 	••• 	••• 31 4 	0 
Clothing 	Do. 	... 	 ••• 	••• 21 5 10 
Contingencies 	.. 	 ••• 	••• 10 7 	8 

£719 0 	0 

JNO• 
Inspector General of Police. 

THE PRINCIPAL 
UNDER SECRETARY. 

Sydney ; Thomas Ritherds, Government Drinten-1861. 
[Price,ld.] 

CHARLES COWPER. 

THE PRINCIPAL 
UNDER SECRETARY. 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

DISTRICT COURTS ACT OF 1858. 
(RETURNS UNDER THE 103RD CLAUSE OV.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, S May, 1801. 

RETURNS under the 103rd Clause qf the District Courts Act of 1858. 

METROPOLITAN DISTRICT. 

REGISTRAR—SYDNEY. 

4 

CUMBERLAND AND COAST DISTRICT. 

REGISTRAR—PA RRA MATTA. 
n 	WINDSOR. 
72 	 BRA EDWOOD. 
n 	PEN RIT II. 
J) 	 WOLLONGONG. 
ll 	 BERRIMA. 

BOMBALA . 

R EGISTRAR—GOU LB URN . 
)7 
	 ALIGIRY. 

2) 
	 UNDA GAT. 

17 
	 QUEA ?META N.  

REGISTRAR—CAMDEN. 
PIGTON 

)7 	 CAMPBELLTOWN. 
LIVE arooL. 
COOMA. 
EDEN. 
KIA MA. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT. 

REGISTRAR— TO MUT. 
WA GGA WAGGA• 
YA SS. 

WESTERN DISTRICT. 

REOIST RAR—BA THURST. 	 REGISTRAR—MOLONG• 
C ARC OAR. 	 MUDG EE. 
DEBBO. 	 72 	 ORANGE. 

I 	 HARTLEY. 	 WELLINGTON. 

NORTHERN DISTRICT. 

REGISTRAR—A RMIDALE . REGISTRAR—SCONE. 
n GRAFTON. 77 PATERSON. 
71 EA ST M A ITLAND. PORT MACQUARIE. 
n WEST MAITLA ND. 27 TA 3IWORTIL 
n M USIYELLBROOK. NEWCASTLE. 
f 1 MUitittritUNDI. SINGLETON. 

280—A 



DATE, PLAcE, Am) DMIATIox or SnyclOS. 

ITATIts OF Tor Carsca Vrano 
Disuses Rums. 

Goods sold 	 2931 

Wages, work, and labor 	1095 

Bills of Exchange, Cheques 1  401 
and Promissory Notes 	 

Money paid, money received 299 

Rent 	  242 

Breach of contract .... 	 90 

Board and lodging .. „   70 

Troyer and ("tedium 	92 

On Judgment ..... . 	 30 

Trespass on or damage to}, 3  
 real estate 	 -  

Damage to personality 	26 

Slander,.,,, 	  33 

Negligence .. 	  51 

AsSault 	7 

Use and occupation 	 9 

thee of goods 	 32 

Hire of horses 

Interest 	 

Wharfage 	 

lorsemeat and livery 

False imprisonment .... .. 	5 

Malicious prosecution 	G 

Excessive distress ........9 

Possession of tenements .. 	4 

Agistment 	...... 	• 	4 

Libel ........ ...... . 	 

Purchase money on land 	1 

Covenant 	  11 

Injuries by bite of dog 	 12 

On a bond ........ ........ 	2 

Money lent ..... 	 20 

O n guarantee 	 6 

City rates 	...... • 	4 

Demurrage 	 I 

Mtn Vases. — 
Dar. 

DuRATION. 
- — 
Hours. ffitinates 

1860. 

March 	.. Sydney .. 96 20 

9 55 

May 	Do. 16 30 

June 	.... 	Do. • • 14 I 	76 40 

July 	4 . 	Du. 12 73 

August 	I 	Do. 17 95 45 

September , 	Do. 15 	86 85 

October 	Do. .. 11 	61 55 

November I 	Do. 76 SO 

December.. 	Do. 
•••1 

31 a 

1861. 

F("bruary..! 	Do • • 10 	57 40 

Tottl, „ .. 142 	806 
I 300  

Equal to 134§ days of six hours a day. 

2847 Cases in which the 
sum sued for did 
nut exceed £5., 447 16 

797 Cases, suns sued 
fordid notexeced 
230, and no attor-
ney employed by 
plaintiff 321 12 

302 Cases, sum sued 
furdid not exceed 
230, and attor-
ney employed by 
plaintiff   1,233 5 

162 Cases, sum sued 
for did DOS ex-
ceed £10   328 0 

51 Cases, sum sued 
for did not exceed 
£30, and attor-
ney employed by 
defendant  

22 Cases, Slim Sued 
fordid not exceed 
09, counsel and 
attorney employ-
ed by plaintiff.. 203 0 

TEUL COSTS Or nix Surfs. 

216 15 

d. 

2 

7 

1 

33 Cases, Suns sued 
for not exceeding 
£200, counsel and 
attorney employ-
ed by plaintiff .. 661 7 6 

15 Cases, sum sued 
for hot exceeding 
2200, counsel and. 
attorneyomploy-
ed by defendant 197 10 7 

4 	6 Cases, suns sued 
for notexcemling 

27 	230, counsel and 
ttOrney .  ein plOy- 

8 	ed by defendant. 51 10 10 

234 Cases, sum sued 
for notexceeding 
£200,110 attorney 
employed by 

. 	plaintiff 	 241 11 1 

, 101 Cases, sum sued 
for not exceeding 
2200, attorney 
employed 	by 
plaintiff 	_ 769 6 0 

31 Cases, sum sued 
for not exceeding 
2200, attorney 
employed by de-
fendant   206 0 

TOTAL ...... 5601 5601 £4,885 16 9• 
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DISTRICT COURTS ACT 

A RETURN of the Number of Suits commenced in the District Court of SYDNEY, and other 
1861, 

We hereby certify that the foregoing is a full and complete Return of the particulars required 
of March, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one. 



Susan or sons COM.LENCEtt 

I  SettlPd 
Cbumnsnecd. 	 without 

hearing. 

FEsinat 

In favor In favor 
Tatra 	of 	of 

Plaintiff. Defendant 

NUMBER 
OF CASES 
LEST IN 

Annunn. 

NOtmart 
OF CASES 
TELCO BY 

SUBS, 

NUMBER NUMBER 
OF CASES OP CASKS 

TRIED SETTLED 

RtfUOCT as' Anus-
Jury. TRATION. 

The number of Suits, rive thousand 

six hundred and one (8601). 

2218 

 

Exclusive of twenty-nine Interpleader 

cases, which are not issued on 

original plaints. 

3340 3003 337 78 	3262 	11 

Two eases 
referred 
to Parra. 

matta 
Court for 
bearing, 
and no 
decision 

yet given, 

Noma mama 
OP 	Op 

MOTIONS 	Nifty 
FOR 1Czw Tams 
Tains. GRAMM. 

TUE GROUNDS UPON mnen 
FOCH NEW TRIALS 

WERE GRANTED, 
TOTAL Amotam SUM FOR. NuMann or Arrnms. 

Sixty-eight thousand seven hundred 

and thirty-one pounds eleven 

shillings and three-peace- 

£68731 11s. 31 

33 	1 Judge not satisfied with 
1st. verdict. 

2 Surprise. 

3 Perverse verdict. 

4 Affidavits of merit. 

3 Absence of defendant's 
attorney. 

9 Absence of defendant. 

3 Absence of defendant's 
witnesses. 

I Insufficiencyof evidence. 

1 Against evidence. 

2 Against weight of evi-
dence. 

1 Absence of plaintiff. 

2 Discovery of fresh evi-
dence, 

1 Contrary to law. 

83 

Six appeals, one of which 

was dismissed, the re-

maining five are still 

pending. 

• 985 

OF 1858.—(Sectiou 103.) 
particulars required by the said Act, from the 1st day of March, 1860, to the 28th day of February, 
inclusive. 

by the said Act, so far as we are able to set forth the same.—Dated at Sydney, this twenty-eighth day 

ALEXR C MAXWELL, 1 Registrars. GEO. S. YARNTON, 
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1861. 

EXTRACTS FROM THE VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS OF 
THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. 

VOTES, No. 8. WEDNESDAY, 23 JANUARY, 1861. 

13. Public Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland :—Mr. Parkes moved, pursuant to notice,— 
(1.) That a Select Committee be appointed, with authority to send for persons and 
papers, to inquire into and report upon the state and management of the Public 
Prisons in the City of Sydney and County of Cumberland. 
(2.) That such Committee consist of Mr. Cowper, Mr. Hart, Mr. Morris, Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Windeyer, Mr. Lucas, Mr. Walsh, Mr. Sutherland, Mr. Mate, and the Mover. 
Question put and passed. 

-VOTES, No. 10. SATURDAY, 26 JANUARY, 1861, A.M. 

7. Public Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland :—Mr. Parkes moved, pursuant to notice,— 
(1.) That the Select Committee appointed to inquire into the State and Management 
of Public Prisons be authorised to make visits of inspection to any Gaol or Penal 
Establishment in the City of Sydney or County of Cumberland. 
(2.) That the said Committee be authorised to require the services of a short-hand 
writer in such visits of inspection, and to receive the statement of any prisoner or 
prisoners which a majority of any meeting of the Committee may deem necessary to 
their inquiry. 
Question put and passed. 

Vous, No. 24. THURSDAY, 21 FEBRUARY, 1861, A.M. 

10. Public Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland :—Mr. Parkes moved, pursuant to notice,— 
That the Petition of Thomas Harrison, presented by him on the 19th February, be 
printed and referred to the Committee now sitting to inquire into the state of the 
Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland. 
Question put and passed. 

VOTES, No. 54. TUESDAY, 16 APRIT., 1861. 

29. Public Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland :—Mr. Parkes moved, pursuant to notice, 
That leave be granted to the Select Committee on the State and Management of 
Public Prisons in the City of Sydney and County of Cumberland to sit on Saturdays 
and Mondays. 
Question put and passed. 

* 	* 	* 	* 	* 	* 	* 	* 
39. Member of Legislative Council as Witness :—Mr. Wilson moved, That the following 

Message be carried to the Legislative Council :-- 

	

Nit. PRESIDENT, 	 - 
The Legislative Assembly having appointed a Select Committee "to inquire 

" into and report upon the State and Management of the Public Prisons in the City 
" of Sydney and County of Cumberland,' and that Committee being desirous to 
examine the Honorable Edward Peas Thomson, Esquire

' 
 0.13., Member of the Legis-

lative Council, in reference thereto, requests that the Legislative Council will give 
leave to its said Member to attend accordingly, on such day and days as shall be 
arranged between him and the said Committee. 
_Legislative Assembly Chamber, 

Sydney, 16 April, 1861. 	 Speaker. 
Question put and passed. 

* 	* 	* 	 * 	* 

	

157—A 2 	 96. 
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46. Member of the Legislative Council as Witness :—The Speaker reported the following 
Message from the Legislative Council :— 
Mn. SPEAKER, 

In answer to the Message from the Legislative Assembly, dated the 10th 
instant, requesting leave for the Honorable Edward Dens Thomson, CR., a Member 
of the Legislative Council, to attend and be examined before a Select Committee of 
the Legislative Assembly on the State and Management of Public Prisons in the 
City of Sydney and the County of Cumberland, the Council acquaints the Assembly 
that leave has been granted to its said Member to attend and be examined by the 
said Committee, if he think fit. 
Legislative Council Chamber, 	 IV. W. BURTON, 

Sydney, 16 April, 1861. 	 President. 

VOTES, No. 69. FRIDAY, 10 MAY, 1861. 
10. Public Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland :—Mr. Parkes, as Chairman, brought up a 

Report from, and laid upon the Table the Minutes of the Proceedings of, and 
Evidence (with Appendix) taken before the Select Committee, for whose consideration 
and report the State of Public Prisons in Sydney and Cumberland was referred on 
23rd January, 1861. 
Ordered to be printed. 
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18 6 1. 

PUBLIC PRISONS IN SYDNEY AND CUMBERLAND. 

REPORT. 

LIE SELECT COMMITTEE of the Legislative Assembly appointed on the 
23rd January last, " with authority to send for persons and papers, to 
" inquire into and report upon the state and management of the Public 
" Prisons in the City of Sydney and County of Cumberland;" 
severally "authorised," on the 26th following, " to make visits of 
"inspection to any Gaol or Penal Establishment in the City of Sydney 
" or County of Cumberland," "to require the services of a short-hand 
" writer in such visits of inspection, and to receive the statement of 
" any prisoner or prisoners which a majority of any meeting of the 
" Committee may deem necessary to their inquiry ;" to whom was 
referred, on the 21st February, " the Petition of Thomas Harrison" 
(presented on the 19th) ; and to whom, on the 16th ultimo, leave was 
granted " to sit on Saturdays and Mondays," have agreed to the 
following Report 

The inquiry intrusted to your Committee has demanded more time 
and attention for its satisfactory conclusion than they have been enabled to 
devote to it during the Session about to close ; but it has been deemed 
desirable to report upon the evidence they have taken, and the results of 
their visits to the principal penal establishments, and to submit for the 
consideration of your Honorable House such reflections and recommen-
dations as their examination of the general subject has suggested, though 
it may be expedient to continue their -labours in the next Session of 
Parliament. 

2. The Committee have held twenty-two meetings, and have 
taken the evidence of a large number of persons, including many 
inmates of the several prisons. They have paid three visits of inspection 
to the Penal Establishment of Cockatoo Island, two to Darlinghurst Gaol, 
one to Parramatta Gaol, and one to the proclaimed Gaol at Penrith. 
They have also visited, during the night-time, when it was considered 
such places could be best inspected, all the watch-houses in the City of 
Sydney. 

3. Many of these meetings have extended over five or six hours, and 
in other respects have imposed severe labour upon the Committee. The 
list of witnesses examined, includes the present Colonial Secretary, the 

Chief 
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Chief Justice, The Honorable Edward Deas Thomson, (formerly Colonial 
Secretary,) the Inspector General of Police, the Principal Gaolers, and other 
persons whose official acquaintance with the question of criminal manage-
ment, as well as their superior intelligence, entitle their evidence to the 
most attentive consideration. 

4. Several written statements have been received from prisoners 
undergoing sentence, which embody various complaints of the unequal 
working of the penal system now in force, and allege other facts of a

•  serious nature in relation to their general treatment ; and while the Corn-
mittee regard these statements in some cases with distrust, and in all with 
a feeling of caution, they have considered them of sufficient importance to 
be appended to the evidence presented to your Honorable House. It 
appears to the Committee necessary especially to notice the revolting 
character of some of the evidence received ; its very enormity is sub-
mitted in justification of its publication, as the ends of truth in disclosing 
the actual state of our prison establishments must suffer by its being 
suppressed or modified. 

5. Their Report is accompanied by carefully prepared Plans of 
Cockatoo Island and the Gaols at Darlinghurst and Parramatta, which the 
Committee have considered necessary for the purposes of the inquiry 
ordered by your Honorable House. 

6. On the occasion of your Committee's first visit to Cockatoo Island, 
on the 1st of February, there were 167 prisoners in that establishment, 63 
of whom on the previous night had been confined in one dormitory. The 
men engaged in productive labour on the day in question were only 68 
out of the whole number, and 10 of these were set down as overseers ; 
they were employed on the works of the Fitz Roy Dock. The buildings 
assigned for the prisoners, especially for their confinement at night, are of 
a deplorable description. There are in all five dormitories, which have been 
built with very imperfect means of ventilation; on either side of each there 
are double tiers of transverse sleeping berths, with coffin-like apertures open-
ing upon a narrow central passage. In this passage are placed night-tubs for 
the common use of the men during the twelve hours they are locked up. Two 
of the dormitories contain 88 berths each, two contain 52 each, and one con-
tains 48; in all there are 328 berths of the character described. But as 
many as 500 prisoners have been upon the island at one time, though nothing 
like so large a number appear to have been confined there latterly. While 
the physical suffering from this inadequate night accommodation must 
aggravate the sentence of the law to many men to an extent beyond all 
calculation, the moral results of such a state of existence are, as might 
have been expected, of the very worst description. Your Committee 
would direct particular attention in this respect to the evidence of the 
Chaplains of the Island and Mr. Inspector Lane. The latter witness, 
who has been in charge of the police force on the island for the 
last thirteen months, says he has paid much attention to the condition of 
the prisoners at night ; he has often seen them at the iron gratings 
gasping for fresh air from without, and he "wonders how they live." The 
brutalising effect upon the prisoners is admitted by all, and it is described 

by 
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by some as terrible in depravity. Practices grossly obscene are common, and, 
oil evidence possessing the consistency of truth, and which your Committee 
do not feel warranted in doubting, unnatural crimes of the deepest dye 
are committed. The clergymen in attendance complain that as the men 
are never alone for a single hour during the whole time of their sentence, 
they literally have no opportunity for the exercises of religion, even if 
they are so disposed ; and similar complaints are made by the men them-
selves. It is almost unnecessary to add that there is no attempt at classi-
fication of prisoners in this establishment. 

7. The heaviest grievance of which the men on Cockatoo Island 
complain is the inequality of treatment to which they are subject in 
carrying out their sentences. Formerly a system prevailed by which the 
prisoners received marks for labour and good conduct which were placed to 
their credit in partial remission of their sentences. On the 1st of June, 
1858, new regulations were issued by the Government abolishing this 
system of indulgence, which was done principally in consequence of the 
abuses of the system previously existing, and, as stated in evidence by the 
Colonial Secretary, as a temporary expedient. The sentences of the Courts 
passed upon prisoners since then, except in cases where special circumstances 
in mitigation have come to light, are being carried out to the letter in point 
of time. Thus, there are at Cockatoo Island, prisoners working side by side, 
some of whom, having been tried previous to the 1st of June, 1858, are 
enabled to make eight and nine days a week to count off their sentences, 
while others who have received their sentences since that date, though 
they work as hard, and behave as well, can only make the six days. 	It 
could not be hoped that men, in the fallen condition of these prisoners, 
would regard the operation of the new regulations, especially while the 
old were still partially in force, in a spirit of submission ; and we find that, 
on the.  14th of August, 1860, the Church of England chaplain reported to 
the late Governor General, in proof of the feeling of insubordination engen-
dered, that there had been eleven attempts at escape within the preceding 
few months, and three open combinations to resist the authorities. The 
more formidable acts of insubordination that occurred in January last an 
mainly attributable to the alleged grievance arising out of the two sets of 
regulations. 

8. The prison discipline on Cockatoo Island, in the opinion of your 
Committee, is very imperfect, and in no way determined by any of the 
moral axioms of the present age which have been established by philo-
sophical investigations of the subject. Indeed, the principles of criminal 
treatment laid down by Lord Brougham, Mr. Recorder Hill, M. De Metz, 
and similar authorities, appear to be unknown to the persons in charge of 
the criminal population of this Colony, and much improvement is loudly 
called for in all the establishments your Committee have visited. On the 
laxity and indiscriminating treatment that prevail at Cockatoo Island, 
your Committee refer to the evidence of Mr. Inspector Lane, and other 
witnesses. 

9. The gaol at Darlinghurst possesses more adequate accommodation 
for the proper management of prisoners than any other establishment in 

the 
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the Colony, and, if the buildings were completed according to the original 
plan, with suitable workshops in addition, it would be a commodious and 
well-arranged prison. But your Committee regret that they are compelled 
to represent a state of things in that establishment, at the time of their 
first visit on the 8th of February, so far as it affects the personal super-
intendence, exceedingly unsatisfactory and censurable. The design of 
the prison buildings embraces seven stone-built three-storied wings, radi-
ating from a central tower that would command the whole ; but only four 
of these wings have been completed, and nothing has been done towards 
the erection of the tower. The plan prepared by the instruction of your 
Committee represents the prison as it now actually exists. The prison 
cells are roomy and well ventilated, and the greater number etre intended 
each for three inmates. The workshops are merely temporary sheds, and do 
not appear to be conveniently arranged. 

10. Very little has been done towards classification at Darlinghurst, 
and the discipline appears to have principally consisted of unlocking and 
locking up, setting to work in an unskilful manner, and victualing at 
fixed hours. It is certain that no regulation has existed for a long time 
past to enforce personal cleanliness among the prisoners. 	Captain 
Webster, it appears, mustered the prisoners every Sunday morning, and 
required them to expose their limbs and bosoms to see that they were 
clean ; but after that officer's death, the practice was abandoned, and it 
is stated that latterly, if a man allowed his skin to remain unwashed 
for six months, he would not be interfered with, unless through the 
complaints of Ids fellow prisoners. Complaints were made of want 
of cleanliness in the cells, and in the bed clothing ; some of the 
blankets, it was asserted, had not been washed for twelve months, 
and their dirty appearance would warrant the truth of the assertion. 
Your Committee observed vermin in many of the cells, in the female 
cells, particularly, the common house bug was in masses of hundreds, 
forming dark patches on the walls. 

11. Your Committee are of opinion that the labour of the prisoners at 
Darlinghurst might be turned to more profitable account. 	With the 
exception of the stone-cutting and wood work required for the extension 
of the prison buildings, the work at present appears to be Confined to 
trifling jobs, for which little remuneration is received, and the whole is 
conducted without much regularity or method. 

12. The subordinate officers do not appear to have been selected with 
much judgment as to their fitness for their duties, and your Committee 
on examining one of the warders, who was on duty in the "exercise yard" 
at the time of the escape of the seventeen prisoners in February, could 
not help noticing his apparent unsuitableness for such a post. 

13. The prison at Parramatta, in its buildings and means of regula-
tion and safe custody, may be classed second to that of Sydney, and your 
Committee are of opinion that the discipline in this gaol is more rigid and 
uniform than in the establishments already noticed. If the complaints of 
some of the prisoners may be trusted, the error would appear to be undue 

severity, 
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severity, as it is stated that physical coercion is sometimes resorted to 
on slight and unnecessary grounds. Gross irregularities were stated to 
exist, but the prisoners making these statements did not appear to your 
Committee deserving of much credit, as, by their own acknowledgments, 
they were among the most refractory and turbulent. The prison exhibited 
marks of general cleanliness. 

14. The arrangements for directing prison labour at Parramatta 
evince more business aptitude than at Darlinghurst, and the work performed 
is of greater variety and more useful character. The plan accompanying 
this Report will show the state of the gaol at the present time. 

15. The gaol at Penrith is a strong wooden building, of four apart-
ments, chiefly used for the confinement of prisoners in traimitu ; and as only 
a few persons are confined there for a longer period than forty-eight hours, 
and none for more than seven days, it seems sufficient for the present. 
In the Court House adjacent, there are several close cells which, both for 
want of room and ventilation, are unfit for the confinement of prisoners. 
A new brick-built lock-up is in course of erection in this town, which your 
Committee consider is constructed on about the worst possible plan that 
could be devised ; and it is stated in evidence by the Colonial Architect, 
that several others of precisely the same design have been erected in different 
parts of the country. The central room is intended for the lock-up keeper 
and his family, at the back of which is a small sleeping apartment, while 
on both sides of this living-room, with doors opening into it, are cells 
for the confinement of prisoners. The building itself is small, and not 
calculated to meet any want not already provided for. 

16. Your Committee visited the watch-houses in the City of Sydney 
between the hours of four and six o'clock in the morning, that being the 
time when these places were most likely to be found occupied by persons 
in the custody of the Police. The principal receiving watch-house attached 
to the Central Police Court is, in the opinion of your Committee, unfit 
for its present purposes ; the smaller cells are close and unwholesome, and 
the larger ones are destitute of the means of common decency. The 
building itself is fast falling into a state of dilapidation. 

17. The other watch-houses are mostly strong buildings of recent 
erection. A want of cleanliness was observable, more or less;  in all of 
them, with one exception, that of D division, near the gaol at Darling-
hurst. The state in which these places were found is described in detail 
in the Proceedings of the Committee. 

18. It is gratifying to be enabled to report, among so many causes of 
complaint, that, so far as could be ascertained by the careful examinations 
of your Committee, the food supplied in: all the gaols is good and whole-
some, sufficient in quantity but not in variety. The hospitals in the gaols 
at Darlinghurst and Parramatta and at Cockatoo Island also appear 
adequate to the wants of those establishments. 

19. Your Committee have arrived at the conclusion, that great 
improvement in the whole prison system of the Colony is urgently 
demanded, and that any step short of its complete revision would be 

ineffectual. 
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ineffectual. Nor would it be sufficient merely to establish regulations, 
however carefully framed and excellent in principle they might be. The 
administration must be under the responsible inspection of a competent 
officer, whose time and attention would not be divided with other duties ; 
and whose education, knowledge of mankind, and habits of life, would 
enable him to secure efficiency in subordinate appointments, as well as 
to exercise a just discrimination in criminal treatment. Additional gaol 
accommodation is indispensable, if the important ends of classification and 
industrial training are to be secured. 

20. If time were allowed for a fuller consideration of the subject, 
your Committee would ho disposed to offer suggestions that seem to arise 
out of their inquiry, for the establishment of a great central prison, with all 
the requisites in cellular dormitories and properly arranged workshops, to 
secure the reformatory treatment of the prisoners, and the economical 
division and profitable employment of their labour. Such a change, 
however, could only be effected by a very large expenditure, and ought 
not to be proposed without a closer examination of primary principles 
than is possible within the limits of this inquiry. An interesting 
appendix to the evidence of Mr. Edward Bell, the City Engineer, and 
which is founded on a calculation by Sir William Denison, suggests the 
establishment of a prison at Prospect, for the purpose of quarrying and 
preparing road metal, by convict labour. In this locality, a very short 
distance from the Western Railway, stone of the hardest description, 
such as is used for metalling the streets of Sydney-, is found in 
almost inexhaustible quantities. It is calculated, that it could be 
delivered in Sydney at about half the cost of the metal obtained at 
Pennant Hills, even if a railway should be constructed from the latter 
quarry to the Parramatta River ; and at the reduced price the City of 
Sydney. would consume 50,000 tons annually. It is also supposed that 
large quantities of the stone would be taken by the suburban munici-
palities, and for other roads. While this plan would give profitable 
employment to the prisoners, and supply, at a cheap rate, an article of 
great necessity, it is not conceived that it would, in any objectionable 
manner, bring prison labour into competition with the free workman ; 
and it would have an economical advantage in affording a valuable 
and permanent traffic to the Western Railway. Such an establishment, 
it is submitted, would not involve a serious expense in erection, and 
would be very beneficial in increasing the means of convict classification. 

21, Your Committee conclude with the following recommendations, 
calculated, as they believe, with the least delay and the least cost, 
to alleviate the worst features of the existing state of things :— 

1st. In carrying out the sentences of the Courts, good conduct 
should be taken into account by the Executive, so as to 
encourage the prisoner to accomplish his own redemption 
by a reformed course of life. 

2nd. An Inspector of Prisons should be appointed at a salary 
that would secure the services of a man of ability and high 
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character, and this officer should be intrusted with the 
entire supervision and direction of the prison system of the 
Colony. 

3rd. Classes for secular instruction should be established in all 
the gaols, a better description of books should be provided 
for the prisoners, and greater facilities for religious teaching 
should be afforded. 

4th. The prisoners should be employed with a discriminating 
consideration of their capabilities, and :with a strict regard 
to making their labour contribute to their support, and, at 
the same time, fitting them for an honest course in after life. 

5th. Sufficient pecuniary recompense should be allowed for their 
labour, to enable them;  at least, to leave prison at the 
expiration of their sentences decently clothed. 

6th. The warders in the principal gaols should wear uniform 
and some badge of authority. 

7th. Either the central tower originally designed or an elevated 
platform should be erected in Darlinghurst Gaol, to enable 
the officers in charge to command a fuller view of the 
prisoners. 

8th. Better sanitary provision should be adopted, to carry off 
the selvage of this establishment, which now is a serious 
matter of complaint to residents in the neighbourhood. 

9th. More commodious and better arranged dormitories should 
be at once provided for the prisoners on Cockatoo Island. 

10th. Suitable buildings should be erected for the performance 
of Divine service by the Chaplains. 

HENRY PARKES, 
Chairman. ,,  

Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
Sydney, 9 May, 1861. 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMITTEE. 

WEDNESDAY, 30 JANUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
Mr. Cowper, 	 Mr. Parkes, 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
it. Mate, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Windeyer. 
On motion of Mr. Cowper, II. Parkes, Esq., called to the Chair. 
Votes No. 8, 23rd instant, Entry 13, authorising inquiry into the state and manage-

ment of Public Prisons in the County of Cumberland ; and Votes No. 10, 26th instant, 
Entry 7, specially empowering the Committee—upon the Table. 

Committee deliberated upon the plan to be adopted in prosecuting the investigation, 
especially with a view to ascertain the existing state of the Prison management. 

It was Resolved:— 
That the Committee proceed to inspect certain of the Public Prisons, subse- 

quently taking the evidence of the authorities of those establishments, and 
examining further witnesses upon the general question of penal discipline. 

Committee further deliberated, and 
Ordered, That the meetings of the Committee, for the purpose of making Visits of 

Inspection to the gaols, be convened by the Chairman on such days as be shall think fit. 
[Adjourned.] 

VISIT OE INSPECTION, COCKATOO ISLAND (FIRST). 

[Report, authorising insertion, 8 March.] 
FRIDAY, 1 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
II. Parkes, Mg., Chairman. 

Mr. Cowper, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Walsh, 

Mr. Wilson. 
The Committee having assembled at Cockatoo Island, proceeded to inspect the Mess 

Room [also used as a chapel], the Dormitories, Hospital, and Cells. 
The Short-hand Writer (Mr. Palmer), in attendance. 
The Chairman directed Wm. Dwyer, a confine in one of the solitary cells, to be brought 

before the Committee. 
William Dwyer examined. 
Mr. Byron, Principal Warder, examined. 
William Dwyer further examined. 
A Member of the Committee (Mr. Lucas) then inquired of Mr. Ferris respecting the 

prisoner Dwyer. 
The Committee left the cells and returned to the dormitories, where they examined 

the bars of Nos. 4 and 5 [which had recently been strengthened in consequence of an attempt 
having been made to saw them through]. 

The Committee then proceeded to the Exempt Ground. 
Mr. Byron stated that there were then 27 men exempt. 
One of the exempt men came forward and inquired whether the Committee would 

hear complaints from any of the men. 
The Chairman replied that they would do so if the prisoners obtained permission from 

their officers to make them. 
The Statements of John Page, 
(2.) John Watson (written), 	 (14.) Michael Doran, 
(3.) Joseph O'Halloran, 	 (15.) Robert Banks, 
(4.) Hugh Montgomery Bland, 	 (16.) Frederick Somerville, 
(5.) Michael Cantwell, 	 (17.) Frederick William Scrimes, 
(6.) William Johnson, 	 (18.) Daniel Sullivan, 
(7.) Michael Frayne, 	 (19.) Michael Crofton, 
(8.) William Washington, 	 (20.) John McSpadden, 
(9.) Charles Nixon, 	 (21.) Francis Moran, 

(10.) John Hawkins, 	 (22.) William Thompson, • 
(11.) Alexander Douglass (written), 	(23.) John Hassett, 
(12.) Charles Wagner (written), 	 (24.) John Smith and 
(13.) David Jobson, 	 (25.) Louis Breton, then severally 

received. (Vide Nos.1 to 25, Separate Appendix I.) 
Question 
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Question asked upon the Statement .01 J. Watson (No. 2). 
The Committee visited the yard in the rear of the Police Barracks, and inspected a 

boat [which had been built by one of the prisoners (Lando11s), and concealed by him in the 
'roof of the Carpenter's Shop]. 

Having entered the Police Barracks, the Chairman took the Chair. 
Mr. Byron, Principal Warder, called in and further examined. 
M. W. A. Cahill, Principal Foreman of Works, called in and examined. 
Statements from the following prisoners then severally received, viz. :— 
(26.) William Head, 	 (30.) Thomas Fitzgerald, 
(27.) James Edward Carnegie, 	 (31.) Richard Hanson, 
(28.) Richard Hart, 	 (32.) William Craig, and 
(29.) James McLaren, 	 (33.) Michael Cantwell. 

(Vide Nos. 26 to 33, Separate Appendix I) 
The Visit terminated. 

FRIDAY, 8 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

MEN:BEES PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., Chairman. 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Windeyer. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
And proceeded to Darlinghurst Gaol. 
The Short-hand 'Writer, in attendance. 

VISIT Or INSPECTION, DARIINGITURST GAOL (FIRST). 

[Report, authorising insertion, 8 March.] 
Having intimated to Mr. Beverley, the Principal Gaoler, the object of their visit,— 
The Committee were conducted by that gentleman with Mr. Harrison, the Assistant 

Gaoler, to the Joiner's Department. 
Mr. W. Macpherson, Overseer of Carpenters, examined. 
Of prisoners working in the shop :— 

James Thompson, 
Thomas Hampton, 
George Drew, 
Edward CI eogehan, and 
James Frazer, severally examined. 

A Member of the Committee (Mr. Hart) called attention` to the fact, that when the 
Committee entered the Joiners' Shed, there was no one in charge of the men. 

Of remaining prisoners working as above,— 
Henry McCarthy, 
George Barrett, and 
William Evans, severally examined. 

The Committee left the Main Joiners' Workshop, and entered a:smaller one, where 
three prisoners, viz.:— 

William Morton, 
John McMahon, and 
Martin McMahon, severally examined. 

The Committee next visited the Blacksmiths' Shop. 
Mr. S. Howarth, Overseer of Blacksmiths, examined. 
Of prisoners working in the shop,— 

Francis Trindall, 
James Smith, 
James Cotton, and 
James Daly, severally examined. 

The Committee next visited a small Blacksmiths' Shop adjoining, in which: three 
prisoners, viz. :— 

John Carroll, 
Edward Tarlington, and 
John Hall, severally examined. 

The 
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The Committee having left the Blacksmiths' Shops, proceeded to the Cooking louse. 
The .  Gook examined. 

4. 	'Matthias Nolan, the prisoners' delegate for approving the provisions, examined. 
The Committee having examined the bread, exc., proceeded to the Labour Wing, 

entering the ward of which, they passed to the Labour Yard. 
Of the prisoners there,— 

John Lynch, and 
John Galahan, having expressed a wish to be heard, severally examined. 

Of the other prisoners in the yard,— 
George Williams, and 
William Collins, severally examined. 

The Committee re-entered the Labor Ward. 
Thomas Harvey, prisoner, examined. 
The Committee next visited the Solitary Cells occupied by insubordinate prisoners 

from Cockatoo Island, and remarked upon the defective ventilation of the corridor. 
William Henry-, prisoner, examined. 
The Statement of Robert Alexander, then received. (Vide No. 34, Separate Appen- 

dix 1.) 
The Committee proceeded to the Trial Wing. 
George Swan, there confined, examined. 
The statements of certain prisoners, severally received, viz. :— 

(35.) George Taylor, 
(36.) John O'Brien, and 
(37.) Hugh Craddock. ( Tide Nos. 35 to 37, Separate Appendix I.) 

Question asked upon the Statement of G. Taylor (No. 36.) 
From Cell No. 7 in the same wing,— 

Alfred Young; 
Edward Chalk; 
George Tagg, and 
JoheMulholland, alias " The Cadger," severally brought up and examined. 

The several Statements of 
Charles Oxburgh, and 
James Nancy, received. (Vide Noe.'38 and 39, Separate' Appendix I.) 

Of other prisoners in the Trial 'Wing,— 
James Wade, 
John English, 
Thomas Brown, alias Laniger, and 
Louis Sims, severally examined. 

The Statement of George Davis received. (Vide No. 40, Separate Appendix I.) 
Certain inquiries made in reference thereto. 
,The Committee next inspected the wall in rear of the Blacksmiths' Sheds, and then 

prOceeded to the Lumber Room. 
Having also visited the room occupied by the shoemakers and tailors, they crossed 

the yard to the Hospital. 
One of the patients,— 
Charles Rogers, at his own desire, examined. 
Statement from Patrick Murray, also a patient, received. (Vide .Aro. 41, Separate 

Appendix I.) 
Questions put thereupon. 
Question No. 864, also put to Murray. 
The Committee next visited the Women' s Ward. 
Mrs. M. Cullen, Priticipal Female Turnkey, examined. 
Of prisoners in the Female 'Ward,— 

Mary Bellamy, 
Christina Watson, and 
Sarah Neal, severally examined. 

During the examination of M. Bellamy, the attending turnkey interposed a remark. 
Committee received the Statement of Ann McIntyre. (Vide No. 42, Separate 

Appendix I) 
Question No. 897, also put to her. 
Of remaining prisoners in this ward,— 

Sarah Johnson, 
Mary Riley, 
Mary Ann Richards, and 
Hannah Nunn, severally examined. 

After the examination of M. A. Richards, the attending turnkey interposed further 
remarks. 

The Committee proceeded to a Cell in which were three females, one of whom, Mary 
Ann Rutter afforded information (following 938, page 24). 

Mary Ann Mulhern examined. 
The Committee having left the Women's Ward, proceeded to inspect Cell No. 24. 

• Question asked of the attending turnkey. 
As the Committee were leaving the gaol, Statement of Barnett Levi handed to the 

Chairman. (Vide No. 43, Separate Appendix I.) 
The Visit terminated. 

. 	.1 
THURSDAY, 
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THURSDAY, 14 FEHR FARY; 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

II. Parkes, Esq , in the Chair. 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
H. C. Beverley, Esq., Principal Gaoler, Darlinghurst, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Messrs. Macpherson and Howarth, Overseers, and Mrs. Cullen, Principal Female 

Turnkey, Darlinghurst Gaol, summoned, and attending, this day—examinations severally 
postponed. 

[Adjourned.] 

'VISIT OF INSPECTION, PARRAMATTA GAOL. ' 

[Report, authorising insertion, 8 Marc/i.] 

FRLDAY,15 FEBRUARY, 1561. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., Chairman. 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Morris, ; 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

The Committee Met at-6.45 am, at tie Railway Station, Sydney. 
The Short-hand Writer, in attendance 
It was Resolved :— 

That for the purposes of the inquiry among the prisoners, whenever a majority of 
the Committee are present, it shall be considered that a majority have deter-
mined to take evidence, unless any one of the Members present shall dissent. 

The Committee proceeded to Parramatta, and thence to the Gaol, where they arrived 
as a gang of twenty-one men, who had been employed outside the prison, entered the gate. 

Mr. T. Harrison, engaged in searching the prisoners, examined. 
Mr. P. Mtormiek, examined. 
The Committee visited the Stone-cutting Yard, and afterwards Wing No. 1. 
The Committee inspected the several Cells. 
Inquiry made of prisoner in No. 9 .  (preceding 1475, page 41). 
John Wilkes, examined. 
John Driscoll, having expressed a wish to make a statement, examined. 
The Committee then proceeded with Mr. Mtormiek and other Turnkeys to Cell 

No. 1. 	 • 
Mr. P. Mtormick further examined. 
Cell No. 19 visited. 
Thomas Chew examined. 
James Collins, having stated that he wished to make a complaint, examined. 
James Pearce brought forward and examined. 
William Williams, having said he wished to make a statement, examined. 
Statement received from Martin Kenny. (Fide No. 44, Separate Appendix I) 
The Committee inspected a cell in the first story. 
Camille Valenti, brought in and examined. 
Inquiry made of turnkey, in attendance. 
James Taylor, requesting permission to make a statement, examined. 
Thomas Nagle examined. 
Patrick O'Heir, having requested to be heard, examined. 
The Committee next visited the Cook-house. 
John Passmore, Cook, examined. 
The Committee then proceeded to the Female. Yard. 
Mrs. Freeman, Principal Female Turnkey, examined. 
Prisoners, Elizabeth Parker, and 

Mary Ann Perry, severally examined. 
In the course of the former examination, remark interposed by Mr. Allen, the Gaoler. 
The Committee next inspected the Female Cells, on the first floor. 
Mrs. E. Freeman, Prinetpal`FeinFtle Titrnkey, further examined. ' 
The Committee then proceeded to the Solitary Cells, beneath the Women's Wing. 
Caleb George, a prisoner in the cells, examined. 

Edward 
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Edward Power examined. 
John Connor, having complained of his treatment when on Cockatoo Island, 

examined. 
The Committee next visited the Yard where the Joiners' and Blacksmiths' Shops are 

situated. 
Mr. R. Godson, Overseer of Carpenters, examined. 
John Kelly, a prisoner working in the Blacksmiths' Shop, examined. 
Members of the Committee having stated that it had been intimated to them by 

various prisoners that they had complaints to make, but were afraid to do so in the presence 
of their turnkeys,— 

ft was Resolved :— 
That it is necessary for the satisfactory prosecution of these inquiries, that in 

certain cases, the Committee receive Statements from the Prisoners in the 
absence of the Prison Authorities. 

On the motion of Mr. Lucas, the Committee then examined the following 
prisoners, in succession, viz :— 

Alfred Baker, 
Matthew Britton, 
Nicholas Burns, 
Hugh Downing, and 
John Rowan. 

The Visit terminated. 

FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Cowper, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Votes, No, 24, 21st instant, Entry 10, referring the Petition of Thomas Harrison—

before Committee. 
Original Petition produced. 
Mr. T. Harrison (late Principal Turnkey, Darlinghurst), Petitioner, called in and 

examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. F. Peer. (formerly Turnkey, Darlinghurst), called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 

[Adjourned.] 

THURSDAY, 28 FEBRUARY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Windeycr. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Reports of certain Visits of Inspection (3) by the Short-hand Writer attending same 

(Mr. Palmer),—laid before the Committee. 
On the motion of Mr. Hart, It was Resolved:— 

That the Evidence, together with the accompanying Statements of Prisoners, and 
other contents of the MSS., be printed. 

Committee deliberated relative to the ticket-of-leave system, as exemplified in the 
ease of certain prisoners on Cockatoo Island. 

Mr. S. Whiddon (late Turnkey, Darlinghurst), called in and examined. 
'Witness withdrew. 
Mr. W. Olson called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. W. Macpherson, Overseer of Carpenters, Darlinghurst, called in and further 

examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. S. Howarth, Of1871SCOP of Blacksmiths, Dartinghurst, called in and further 

examined. 
Witness withdrew. 

Mrs. 
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Mrs. 11. Cullen, Principal Female Turnkey, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Committee deliberated. 

[Adjourned.] 

VISIT OE INSPECTION, DARLINGIIIIRST GAOL (SMOND). 

[Report, authorising insertion, 8 March.] 

FRIDAY, 1 MARCH, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT 

Parkes, Esq., Chairman. 
Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Walsh, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

The above Members of the Committee having assembled at Darlingburst at 0.15 A.M., 
proceeded to the Gaol Gate, which having been opened by the Gatekeeper, they, in company 
with Mr. Inspector Read, Acting Principal Gaoler, visited the Hard Labour and Confine 
Wings and Yards. 

The Short-hand Writer, in attendance. 
While the Committee were in the Hard Labour Yard,— 
The Statement of George Singleton received. •( Vide Ho. 45, Separate Appendix I.) 
Prisoner questioned thereon. 
The Committee inspected the Stockade, Exercise Ground, and wall in rear of the 

Hospital [whence the seventeen prisoners recently escaped]. 
They then returned to the Gaoler's house, on their way, tasting the bread which had 

just been brought in by the contractor. 
The Committee having entered the Office, the Chairman took the Chair. 
Mr. J. C. Read, Inspector of Police and Acting Principal Gaoler, examined. 
Mr. James Callaghan, Turnhey, called in and examined. 
Mr. A. Elliott, T«rnkey, examined. 
The Committee removed from the Office to the Stockade Yard. 
John Williams, having desired to make a statement, examined. 
The Acting Gaoler informed the Committee that the Cockatoo Island prisoners had 

chosen two of them number, !Tames Arnott and Henry Clarke, as delegates to represent their 
alleged grievances. 

It was resolved to hear their statements. 
.Tames Arnott and Henry Clarke successively brought from their cells and examined. 
In examining the latter, the Chairman retired a short distance, and having spoken 

to the Acting Gaoler, returned and resumed. 
Examination concluded. 
Edward Power, having wished to speak, brought from his cell and further examined. 
The Committee next proceeded to the Hospital, and examined the windows [whence, 

as stated by Mr. Whiddon and Mr. Olson, communication had been carried on with the 
prisoners in the Exercise Yard]. 

It having been stated to the Committee that some of the prisoners desired to give 
information of a very serious character,— 

They proceeded to the Lower Hospital. 
Frederick McGregor, alias Lawry, called in and examined. 

Also, George Jones, 
James Scope, alias Williams, and 
William Thomas McGregor, severally examined. 

The Visit terminated. 

FRIDAY, S MARCH, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 
H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Walsh, 

Mr. Wilson. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
And deliberated. 
The Chairman reported that upon the 1st instant he had addressed a letter to the 

Honorable the Secretary for Lands, applying on behalf of Committee for the temporary 
assistance of a competent Draftsman to prepare plans of Cockatoo Island, Darlinghurst, 
and Parramatta Gaols. 

Letter of the 6th instant, in reply, stating that the expense to be incurred did not 
appear legitimately chargeable to the Lands Department, no sum being available for the 
purpose, but that there might be in the "Parliamentary Contingencies, under the Honorable 
the Speaker" ; and concluding with an offer of such Plans as the Government possess—read. 

Having 
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Having deliberated upon communicating with the Honorable the Speaker, 
Draft of letter by the Chairman read, viz. :— 

" Legislative Assembly, 	• 
" Aro. 3 Committee Room, 

" Sir, 	 " 8 March, 1861. 
" As Chairman of the Select Committee on Public Prisons, I am instructed 

" to apply to you for the assistance of a competent Draftsman to prepare plans of the prisons 
" they have visited, which are consid red to be necessary for the purposes of their inquiry. 

" On behalf of the Committee, I have already applied to the De; artment of Lands 
" for this assistance, and have been referred to you, on the ground that the necessary expense 
" would more properly come under the head of Parliamentary Contingencies.' 

" To the Honorable 	 " I have, &c.,  
" The Speaker 	 • 

" Of the Legislative Assembly. 	 " Chairman." 
Same agreed to. 
Committee then deliberated in reference to a formal authentication of the general 

records of the several Visits of Inspection, prepared by the Short-hand Writer, and adverting 
to the Resolution agreed to on the 28th ultimo, as regards the printing, considered the 
order in whieli the contents should be arranged, with a view to the ultimate form of 
Report to the House. 

On motion of Mr. Morris, It was Resolved :— 
That every Visit of Inspection made by this Committee to any Gaol or Penal 

Establishment, be reported pro forma, by the Chairman, at the next meeting 
thereafter. 

On motion of Mr. Wilson, It was Resolved 	• 
That from the Record furnished by the Short-band Writer, comprising the Pro-

ceedings of, and Evidence taken before the Committee, Statements received 
from prisoners, and general observations of the state of the establishments 
the Clerk be authorised to extract entire the Proceedings of the Com-
mittee, and the (separate) Statements received from prisoners; the former for 
insertion under the proper head, and the latter to form a Separate Appendix 
to the Report. 

The several Visits of Inspection made by the Committee, reported by the 
Chairman, viz. :— 

To Cockatoo Island, on the 1st February ; 
Darlinghurst Gaol, on the 8th ; 
Parramatta Gaol, on the 15th; and 
Darlinghurst Gaol (second time), on the let instant,— 

The Statement of Richard Ainsworth, a prisoner in Darlingliurst, under date 5th 
instant (forwarded through the authorities)—before the Committee. 

The Chairman stated, that having had the opportunity of speaking with Capt. 
ThLerie, the Inspector General of Police, it would appear, that the prisoner's account 
should be received with certain reservations ; as his "Police History," which would be 
forwarded by Capt. M‘Lerie, represented his career less favourably. 

Statement read, and ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Mate. (Vide Ho. 
46, Separate Appendix I.) 

The Chairman produced a letter, forwarded by the Acting Principal Gaoler, 
Darlinghurst, addressed by prisoner wardsman Mackie, to that officer, On the 1st instant, 
relative to the accessibility of further information from certain prisoners on the subject 
of unnatural offences at Cockatoo Island. 

Same read, and ordered to be appended. ( Vide Separate Appendix IL A.) 
Mr. John Callaghan, Turnkey, Darlingliurst, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. W. Walsh, Dispenser, Darlinghurst, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. J. O'N. Brenan, Sherif, a witness ;summoned this day, not attending,— 

explained per note, as in consequence of indisposition. 
[Adjourned.] 

VISIT OF INSPECTION, SYDNEY WATCIDHOUSES. 

[Report, authorising insertion, 19 March.] 

TUESDAY, 12 MARCH, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Hart, 
Mr.-Lucas, 
Mr. Mate, 

Mi. Morris, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Walsh, 

Mr. Wilson. 
The above Members of the Committee met at 3-45 Km., at the Royal Hotel (Sydney). 

• The Short-hand Writer, in attendance. 
It was Resolved :— 

• That the Committee proceed to visit the several Watch-houses in the City. • 
The 
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The Committee then visited the Water Police Watch-house', Circular Quay, the gate 
of which was opened by Lewis Griffiths. 

Mr. L. Griffiths, Constable, examined. 
The Committee entered the cell in which the only prisoner was confined. 
Mr. S. Haggerty, Constable, having. relieved Griffiths, examined. 
The Committee then entered a second cell. 
Mr. E. Cowell, Inspector, having :joined the Committee, examined. 
Mr. P. F. Little, Constable, coming forward, examined. 
Mr. E. Cowell, Inspector, further examined. 
The Committee next visited the Solitary Cell. 
Examination continued. 
Mr. L. Griffiths, Constable, further examined. 
Mr. E. Cowell, Inspector, further examined. 
The Committee left the Watch-house, and proceeded to the Police Station in 

Cumberland-street. 
Mr. Lee, Sergeant, having admitted the Committee, examined. 
The Committee visited a cell. 
Mr. P. Sweeny, Constable, examined. 
Examination being continued, 
The Committee entered other two cells— 
And examination concluded. 
Having then proceeded to the Female Watch-house, Erskine-street- 
Mr. Levy, Uonstabk, examined. 
Mrs. 31. Levy, hating been summoned, conducted the Committee to the cell in which 

the only prisoners (2) were confined. 
Examination of Constable Levy concluded. 
Mrs. M. Levy, examined. 
The Committee next visited the Central Watch-house. 
Mr. 31. McClure, Constable, examined. 
A loud rapping being heard on the door of one of the cells,— 
The Chairman directed the cell, whence the sound proceeded, to be opened, and 

entered it with the Committee. 
Ann Flynn, the prisoner therein, examined. 
The Committee inspected the cell for male prisoners and also a smaller cell. 
Mr. M. McClure, Constable, further examined. 
The Committee next visited the Watch-house, Darlinghurst. 
Mr. W. Cook, Constable, examined. 
The Committee inspected two cells. 
Examination continued. 
Mr. N. Ryan, Sergeant, examined. 
Mr. IV. Cook, Constable, further examined. 
The Committee then proceeded to the Watch-house, Parramatta-street, and visited 

the cells ordinarily occupied by prisoners. 
A Member (Mr. Lucas) called attention to the offensive smell arising whilst the first 

cell was being washed. 
Mr. Allan MeDiarmid, Sergeant, in charge, examined. 
The Visit terminated. 

TUESDAY, 19 MARCH; 1861. 
MEMT1ERS PRESENT :- 

U. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Mate, 

Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Sutherland. 

  

Mr. Wilson. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
J. O'Neill Brenau, Esq. (Sheriff), attended, pursuant to a further summons since the 

8th instant. 
Mr. Brenan, by leave, informed the Chairman, that, prior to being examined, lie 

wished to draw attention to the circumstance of his official suspension ; and, although quite 
prepared to submit himself to the Committee, to request a consideration of the desirableness 
.1)f postponing thc examination until after the Government had decided upon his case. 

Mr. Brenan withdrew. 
Consideration deferred. 
In accordance with the Resolution arrived at upon the 8th instant,— 
The Chairman reported the following Visits of Inspection to the several Watch-

houses in Sydney, on the morning of Tuesday, the 12th instant, viz. :— 
Watch-house, Water Police Court, 

Do. 	Cumberland-street, 
Do. (Women's) Erskine-street, 
Do. 	Central Police Court, 
Do. 	Darlinghurst, 
Do, 	George and Pitt Streets (South). 

157—A 4 	 The 
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- The Chairman'llaving caused a communication to he addressed to the Honorable 
the Secretary for Lands, dated the 12th, requesting that the Committee might be 
furnished with the Plans tendered in the last paragraph of letter before Committee on the 
8th instant,—now produced a reply from the Lands Department promising attention, of 
date the 13th. 

Same read. 
The " Police History" of prisoner Ainsworth, forwarded by the Inspector General 

of Police, whose Statement had been received on the 8th instant,—before the Committee. 
Ainsworth's " History" read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Wilson. (Vide Separate Appendix JIB.) 
Letter received through Mr. Lucas, a Member of the Committee, being the statement 

of Charles Rogers, a prisoner in Darlinghurst, Under date 18th instant,—read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Morris. (Vide .111o. 47, Separate 

Appendix I) 
Statement of Henry Carroll, a prisoner in Darlinghurst, under date 22nd February 

last,—read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Mate. (Vide No. 48, Separate 

Appendix I) 
Statement signed by John Holland and Henry Carroll (prisoners)—read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Mate. (Vide NO. 49, Separate 

Appendix I.) 
Statement of George Walter Rowe, a prisoner in Darlinghurst, under date 21st 

February last,—read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Sutherland. (Vide No. 50, Separate 

Appendix I) 
Statement of Laurence Powell, a prisoner in Darlinghurst, under date 21st February 

last,—read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Wilson. (Vide No. 51, Separate 

Appendix I) 
The Chairman produced a letter addressed to him by Mr. C. Rispen, with referencu 

to his removal from the office of Turnkey, at Darlinghurst, under date 9th instant. 
Letter read. 
Ordered, on motion of Mr. Wilson,— 

That Mr. Christopher'Risp'en be examined at a future sitting of the Committee. 
The Chairman brought under notice, a hitter 'from Mrs. M. Cullen, accompanying 

the return of Evidence given on the 28th ultimo, requesting the omission of certain 
answers relating to private circumstances, and the allowance of certain alterations in the 
Evidence as written. 

Committee deliberated. 
Ordered, That the Evidence stand as taken by the Short-hand Writer, but that the 

corrections desired by witness, be shewn by notes, extracted from the letter. 
I.  Memorandum (furnished as an Appendix to his Evidence) shelving the successive 

employments as Turnkey, since 1851, of Mr. John Callaghan, examined on the $th instant—
before Committee. ( Vide Appendix A.) 

Committee deliberated in reference to taking the evidence of J. Page, recently a • 
prisoner on Cockatoo Island. 

Ordered, on motion of Mr. Mate,— 
That Mr. John Pagobe examined to-morrow. 

Referring to the Statements made by certain prisoners from Cockatoo Island, patients 
in the Hospital at Darlinghurst, when visited by the Committee upon the 1st instant, 
touching the occurrence of unnatural practices in the Penal Establishment. 

Committee considered the nature of such evidence, and the expediency of further 
investigating the matter. 

It was Resolved :— 
That, for the purpose of pursuing the inquiry as regards unnatural conduct among 

the prisoners, the Committee hold a special Visit upon the Island at an early 
opportunity. 

Letter addressed to the Honorable the Speaker on the 8th instant, with Minute 
thereon, conveying Mr. Speaker's reply—to the effect, that the expense of a Draftsman's 
services might be borne by the Department, under the 47th Standing Order,—before the 
Committee. 

In reference thereto, the Chairman sought an opinion respecting the employment of 
a Surveyor to prepare plans in furtherance of the general object. 

Committee deliberated. 
On motion of Mr. Morris, It was Resolved:— 

That the Chairman be authorised to engage the services of a competent Surveyor, 
to furnish plans of the Darlinghufst and Parramatta Owls. 

The Short-hand Writer (Mr. Palmer) having applied to the Committee, in 
respect of his responsibility for the accuracy of the descriptions and remarks, on the 
condition of the different buildings visited by the Committee, inserted in the Evidence 
it being explained that, in recording them at the instance of the Committee,—in the midst 
of other duty and frequent interruption, he was sometimes guided so unauthoritatively as 
perhaps to mistake their views,— 

It tofls Resolved :— 
That the Committee will, subsequently adopt the several notices in which they 

concur. 
'Oemmittee 
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Committee then (recalling the subject of, taking his Evidence) deliberated whether 
to examine Mr. Brenan, having regard to the imniediate reireuinstunces of that gentleman's 
official position. 

It was Resolved :— 
That Mr. J. O'N. Brdiaan, Sheriff Of the Colont, be not examined, pending the 

action of the Executive Council in regard to his suspension from office. 
Mr. Brenan called in and informed accordingly. 

[Adjourned till to-morrow, 20th instant, at half-past One (P.m.) o'clock.] 

WEDNESDAY, 20 MARCH, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 

Mr. Wilson. 
Mr. J. Page called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Committee deliberated. 

[Adjourned.] 

VISIT OF INSPECTION, COCKATOO ISLAND (SECOND). 
[Report, authorising insertion, 12 April.] 

THURSDAY, 11 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., Chairman. 
Mr. Hart, Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Lucas, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

The above Members of the Committee] aving met at the Circular Quay, at 6.30 A,M., 
proceeded to Cockatoo Island, and assembled in the Office of the Superintendent. 

The Short-band Writer, in attendance. 
The Chairman stated, that in consequence of the absence of Mr. Cowper from the 

last several meetings of the Committee, he had explained to him, as a Member of the Com-
mittee, the nature of the evidence taken from the men in the Hospital at Darlinghurst Gaol, 
on the subject of immoral practices at Cockatoo Island, and had put in Mr. Cowper's 
possession the transcript of the evidence. That he (the Chairman) was subsequently 
visited by the Police Magistrate, Capt. Scott, who stated that he had come from Mr. 
Cowper, to obtain the Chairman's concurrence in an investigation to be conducted by him 
(Capt. Scott) into these charges. That he (the Chairman) replied,—he could not express the 
feeling of the Committee, and could do notions without consulting them ; but that his own 
impression was, that the course proposed would seriously interfere with the investigation of 
the Committee,—and asked Capt. Scott particularly to request Mr. Cowper to do nothing, 
until the Committee had concluded their inquiry into this branch of the matter. That, 
yesterday, to the surprise of him, the Chairman, Mr. Cowper placed in his hands, a copy of 
depositions taken by Capt. Scott on the island, relative to the subject. The copy of the 
depositions he now laid before the Committee. 

On motion of Mr. Lucas, the depositions read. 
On motion of Mr. Windeyer, It was Resolved :-- 

That the course taken by Mr. Cowper, in making use of the evidence, was incon-
sistent with his duty as a Member of the Committee, and calculated to inter-
fere with the prosecution of the inquiry intrusted to them. 

Prisoner, Frederick McGreger called in and farther examined. 
Prisoners, Henry Carroll, alias James Hogan, 

James Neal, and 
Gilbert Isaacs, severally called in and examined. 

Prisoner, Edward Power called in and further examined. 
Prisoners, Michael Doran, 

John Mason, and 
John Smith, severally called in and examined. 

G. K. Mann, Esq., Capt., RE., Superintendent, Penal Establishment, called in 
and examined. 

Mr. W. A. Cahill, Principal Foreman of Works, called in and further examined. 
The Visit terminated. 

FRIDAY, 
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FRIDAY; 12 APRIL, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Mate, Mr. Sutherland,• 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Wilson. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
In accordance with the Resolution agreed to on the 8th March,— 
The Chairman reported a second Visit to Cockatoo Island, yesterday, seven Members 

being present, when the Committee had specially investigated the crime alleged to be 
practised ; the examinations being confined to prisoners, with the exception of the Superin-
tendent and Principal Foreman of Works. 

Letter received through Mr. Lucas, a Member of the Committee ; being Statement 
signed by James Arnott and George Thurston, prisoners in Darlinghurst, under date 19th 
January last,—read. 

Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Sutherland. (Vide No. 52, Separate 
Appendix I) 

The Chairman informed Committee that Ile had caused a communication (dated the 
10th) to be addressed to Sir A. Stephen, C. J., in order to ascertain the earliest day on 
which His Honor might be able to attend the Committee. 

His Honor's letter (10th instant), in reply,—read. 
Ordered to be appended. (Vide Separate Appendix IL C.) 
Committee deliberated in reference to extra sitting days. 
Ordered, on motion of Mr. Morris,— 

That the Chairman be requested to move in the House, for leave to sit on 
Saturdays and Mondays. 

Letter from Turnkeys, Darlinghurst Gaol, of date the 2nd instant, applying for 
Committee's consideration of their position and several duties, as set forth in List annexed 
thereto,—read. 

Ordered to be appended. (Fide Separate Appendix IL D.) 
Committee deliberated upon taking the evidence of the Colonial Secretary 

Cowper.) 
It was 1?csolvcd :— 

That the Honorable C. Cowper, Esq., be examined at the next meeting. 
The Chairman laid upon the Table the Statements of certain prisoners on Cockatoo 

Island, forwarded this morning by Capt. Mann, the Superintendent. 
When, Committee deliberating on the expediency of a further Visit to that establish-

ment, with a view especially to afford any prisoner an opportunity of submitting such 
matters of penal discipline as might be conceived oppressive,— 

It was Resolved:— 
That the Committee will again visit the establishment at Cockatoo Island, and for 

such objects as shall be previously expressed, through the Superintendent, to 
the prisoners. 

The Chairman requested to prepare a letter for the purpose—to be considered by 
Committee before dispatch. 

Of the documents from Cockatoo Island abovementioned,— 
Statements of Henry Carroll and Barnett Levy (latter dated 24th ultimo) severally 

read and considered. 
Statement of Patrick Byrne, under date, 24th ultimo,—read. 
Ordered to be appended, on motion of Mr. Wilson. ( Tide No. 53, Separate 

Appendix I.) 
Statement of William Smith, under date 10 February last, read and considered. 
Further letter front the Lands Department, dated yesterday, forwarding plans (to be 

-returned) of the Gaols at Darlingliurst, Parramatta, and Cockatoo Island,—with the same, 
before the Committee. 

Committee inspected the plans. 
Deliberation then, as to the other Gaols in the County of Cumberland, and the 

prospect of visiting those at Windsor and other places. 
Mr. T. Harrison (late Principal Turnkey, Darlinglturst Gaol), Petitioner, called in 

and further examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. C. Rispen (late Turnkey, Darlinghurst Gaol), called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. J. ..AL May to be examined at the next meeting. 

[Adjourned till Tuesday, 16th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

TUESDAY, 16 APRIL, 1861. 

MENIBERS PRESENT :— 
EL Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Cowper, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson. 

The Honorable C. Cowper, Esq., Colo tial Secretary, a Member of the Cormittee, 
examined in his place. 

3. 
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J. M. May, Esq., Superintendent, Destitute Children's Asylum, Randwick, called in 
and examined. 
t.a.a 	Witness withdrew. 
• • 	• Committee deliberated. 

Motion to be made in the House for Message to the Legislative Council, requesting 
leave for the Honorable E. fleas Thomson, C.B., to attend and be examined. 

The Acting Principal Gaoler, Darlinghurst, and the Inspector General of Police to 
be examined. 

[Adjourned till Thursday, 18th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 18 APRIL, 1861. 

By reason of the adjournment of the House until to-morrow, the Meeting called 
this day, lapsed. 

Witnesses attended. 
[To be convened to-morrow, 19th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

FRIDAY 19 APRIL, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Hart, 	 Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. INTIndeyer. 
Committee met pursuant to summons. 
Votes No. 54, 16th instant, Entry 29, granting leave to sit on Saturdays and 

Mondays—before the Committee. 
In reference to the further visit to Cockatoo Island, when prisoners might have a 

special opportunity of representing any matter which they may regard as grievances, with 
a view to their consideration,— 

The Chairman's draft of Letter to the Superintendent (Capt. Mann), authorised on 
the 12th instant, read, viz.:— 

" Sir, 
" I am requested by the Committee of the Legislative Assembly on Prisons, 

a  to inform you that, in order to afford the prisoners on Cockatoo Island the fullest 
" opportunity for any well-founded complaints they may have to make, the Committee 
" will visit that Island specially to receive such complaints, on Monday, the 22nd instant, 
" at 9 a.m. 

" This communication is addressed to you, that the prisoners may be informed 
" beforehand of the Committee's intended visit; and the Committee desire that you will 
" make it known to them accordingly. It will be well, however, to let it be clearly under-
" stood, that the Committee cannot enter upon any consideration relating to the sentences 
" of the Courts, and that all complaints must he confined to the prison accommodation and 
" food, and to the treatment and discipline of the establishment. 

"1 have, R:c., 

" Gother K. Mann, Esq., 	 " Chairman." 
" Superintendent of the Penal Establishment, 

" Cockatoo Island. 
Same agreed to. 
The Honorable E. Haas Thomson, Esq., C.B., M.L.C., attending by permission of 

the Legislative Council, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
T. Allen, Esq., Gaoler, Parramatta Gaol, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Committee deliberated, referring to the Gaols at Campbelltown, Penrith and Windsor, 

as yet unvisited. 
[Adjourned till to-morrow, 20th instant, at Ten o'clock.] 

SATURDAY, 20 APRIL, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 
H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 

Mr. Mate, Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Wilson, 

Mr. Windeyer. 
Committee sat pursuant to leave granted by the House on the 16th instant. 
The Honorable Sir A. Stephen, Knight, Chief Justice, called in and examined. 
His Honor withdrew. 

Committe 

" Legislative Assembly Chamber, 
" 19 April, 1861. 
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Committee deliberated generally, on the possible adaptation of Country Gaols to 
purposes of penal discipline.- 

Subsequently, .71 was Resolved :— 
That it is desirable to visit the Gaols at Penrith, Windsor, and Campbelltown. 

Certain witnesses then named for future examination. 
[Adjourned till Thursday, 25th instant, at Ten o'clock.] 

VISIT OF INSPECTION, COCKATOO ISLAND (THIRD). 
[Report, authorising insertion, 25 April.] 

MONDAY, 22 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

Mr. Mate, 	 Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Wilson. 

The above Members of the Committee met at 8.30 A.M., on the Circular Quay, 
whence they proceeded to Cockatoo Island, and assembled at the Office of the Superintendent. 

The Short-hand Writer, in attendance. 
In the absence of the Chairman, J. B. Wilson, Esq., called to the Chair, pro tempore. 
G. K. Mann, Esq., Capt. R.E., Superintendent, Penal Establishment, called in and 

further examined. 
A list containing the names of about ninety prisoners who desired to see the Com-

mittee, having been handed to the Chairman,— 
Committee deliberated. 
And the men having been assembled in the yard according to their respective wards,— 
The Chairman, attended by the Committee, proceeded thither and addressed them to 

the following effect :—That the Committee had received a list of ninety-six men who desired 
to be examined ; that it would be utterly impossible for the whole of them to be heard by 
the Committee, and that if the occupants of each dornitery selected two men as their 
delegates they would be heard That the new regulations were receiving the full consideration 
of the Committee, who were anxious to do something during the present Session of Parlia-
ment, which must close in two or three weeks,—and that the Committee would be willing to 
receive any evidence on the subject of general treatment, food, and accommodation. 

The Committee then returned to the Superintendent's Office. 
Prisoners, Henry Clarke, and 

James Arnett, delegates from Ward No. 1, severally called in and 
examined. 

Prisoners, Frank Somerville, and 
Edward Power, delegates from Ward No. 2, severally called in. 

The latter examined. 
Question asked of the former. 
Prisoners, Gilbert Isaacs, delegate from Ward No. 3; 

William Simpson, and 
Henry Carroll, delegates from Ward No. 4; 
William Thomas M Gregor, and 
Lawrence Cowan, delegates from Ward No. 5, severally called in. 

G. Isaacs, and 
W. Simpson severally examined. 
L. Cowan, and 
W. Simpson made statements respectively. 
The latter further examined. 
L. Cowan made a further statement, and examined thereafter. 
W. T. McGregor made a statement, and examined thereafter. 
The Visit terminated. 

THURSDAY, 25 APRIL, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Mute, Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Wilson. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
In accordance with the Resolution agreed to on the 8th March,— 
Mr. Wilson, as Chairman upon the occasion, reported a third Visit of Inspection to 

Cockatoo Island, on the 22nd instant, when ten prisoners, as delegates from the five wards, 
were examined respecting the general treatment, food, and accommodation upon the Island. 

The Chairman submitted a memorandum forwarded by His Honor Sir A. Stephen, 
in reference to the evidence given by His Honor, on the 20th instant. 

Ordered to be attached thereto.. ( Vide Appendix A) 
3. McLerie, Esq., Almelo). Geneool of Police, called in and examined. 
Witness undertook to furnish an Appendix relating to the improvement of prison 

discipline and buildings. (Not furnished)* 

•fitxmo (Appended to MS. Evidence):—The suggestions relating to the erection of a prison will he 
sent as soon as my other duties will allow me sufficient time to do so. 
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J. C. Read, Esq., Principal Gaoler, Darlinghurst, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
IL Parkes, Esq., being about to leave the Chair for the remainder of the sitting,—
S. B. Wilson, Esq., called thereto, pro import. 
G. K. Mann, Esq., Capt. RE., Superintendent, Penal Establishment, Cockatoo 

Island, &c., called in and further examined. 
Witness withdrew. 

[Adjourned.] 

VISIT OF INSPECTION, PENILITTI GAOL. 

[Report, authorising insertion, 3 May.] 

SATURDAY, '27 APRIL, 1861. 

1■IEMBERS PRESENT :- 

II. Parkes, Esq., Chairman. 
Mr. Lucas, Mr. Mate, 

Mr. Sutherland. 
The above Members of the Committee having assembled at Penrith, proceeded to the 

building used as a Court Rouse and Gaol. 
The Short-hand Writer, in attendance. 
After inspecting the prison accommodation,— 
Mr. IL Libman, Acting Ganicr, examined. 
The Committee visited the new gaol in course of erection. 
Examination continued. 
The Committee crossed over to the Court House, and inspected the cells referred to 

by the witness. 
Examination concluded. 
The Visit terminated. 

Fl?/DAY, 3 HAY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :- 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Mate, 	 Mrs. Walsh, 
Mr. Morris, 	 Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Sutherland, 	 Mr. Windeyer. 

Committee met pursuant to summons. 
And Mr. Brenan (Ex-Sheriff) being in attendance for the purpose of being 

examined,— 
Committee deliberated upon the expediency of restricting the examination within 

the limits of the general inquiry. 
In accordance with the Resolution agreed to on the 8th March,— 
The Chairman reported that on the 27th instant, a Visit of Inspeation to the Gaol 

at Pcnrith had been made by a Quorum of the Committee; their intention to visit the 
similar establishments at Windsor and Campbelltown, respectively on the 29th and 30th, 
having been interfered with by the inclemency of the weather. 

Plan of Cockatoo Island, furnished by Capt. Mann, the Superintendent (Vide 
Evidence, 4477)—produced. 

Colored lithographs required. 
J. O'N. Brenan, Esq., late Sherif, called in and examined. 
The Colonial Architect also attending pursuant to summons, and public duties 

urging his early attendance elsewhere,— 
Mr. 13renan, by request, retired. 
A. Dawson, Esq., Colonial Architect, called in and examined. 

Parkes, Esq., temporarily vacating the Chair,— 
.3. B. Wilson, Esq., called thereto, pro tempore. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. Parkes returned and resumed the Chair. 
J. UN. Brenta', Esq., called in and further examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Messrs. Cahill, Fitzgerald, and (Inspector) Lane attending as witnesses-a-not 

examined. 
To be called on Tuesday. 

[Adjourned till Tuesday, 7th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

TUESDA', 
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TUESDAY, 7 MAY, 1861. 

MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Mate, 
Mr. Morris, 

Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Wilson, 
Mr. Windeyer. 

 

Pending the attendance of the witnesses summoned this day,— 
Committee deliberated as to an early Report upon the Evidence. 

It was Resolved :— 
1. That the Chairman be requested to prepare draft of a General Report, 

embracing only the broader features exhibited in the Evidence. 	• • 
2. That such draft be first handed to the Printer, in order to its readier considera-

tion in proof at the following Meeting. 
Mr. W. A. Cahill, Principal Foreman of Works, Cockatoo Island, called in and 

further examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. H. Fitzgerald, Foreman of lltirks, Cockatoo Island, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
Mr. Lane, inspector of Police, Cockatoo Island, called in and examined. 
Memorandum front Mr. Fitzgerald, the previous witness, respecting certain answers—

allowed as n addendum to his Evidence. 
Witness (Mr. Lane) withdrew. 
E. Bell, Esq., MICE., City Engineer, called in and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
The Rev. P. P. Agnew, Chaplain, Darlinghurst Gaol and Cockatoo Island, called in 

and examined. 
Witness withdrew. 
The Rev. S. A. Sheehy, ORB. (formerly Chaplain, Darlinghurst Gaol and 

Cockatoo bland), called in aud examined. 
Witness withdrew. 

[Adjourned till Thursday, 9th instant, at Eleven o'clock.] 

THURSDAY, 9 MAY, 1861. 
MEMBERS PRESENT :— 

H. Parkes, Esq., in the Chair. 
Mr. Cowper, 
Mr. Hart, 
Mr. Mate, 

Mr. Morris, 
Mr. Sutherland, 
Mr. Walsh, 

 

Mr. Wilson. 
Committee met to consider Draft Report. 
Copies (in proof) upon the Table. 
Proposed Report read 1 0. 
Read 2°, paragraph by paragraph. 
Paragraphs 1 to 7 severally read and agreed to, with or without verbal amendment. 
Paragraph 8 read. 
Amended, line 7, after "indulgence," by omitting " and" ; and inserting "which 

" was done principally in consequence of the abuses of the system previously existing, and, 
" as stated in evidence by the Colonial Secretary, as a temporary expedient." 

Then agreed do. 
Paragraphs 9 to 22 (first part) severally read and agreed to, with or without verbal 

amendment. 
Recommendation 1, read, viz. :— 

"The regulations of the 1st June, 1858, should be revoked, as they are at variance 
"with an admitted principle in sound criminal treatment—that the prisoner 
"should be encouraged to good conduct and should not be shut out from the 
"prospect of self-redemption," 

Amended by substituting the following, viz.:— 
" In carrying out the sentences of the Courts, good conduct should be taken into 

" account by the Executive, so as to encourage the prisoner to accomplish his 
" own redemption by a reformed course of lift." 

Then agreed to. 
Recommendation 2 read, verbally amended, and agreed to. 
Recommendation 3 read. 
Amended, line 2, after " gaols," by omitting and." 
Further, line 3, after " prisoners, ' by adding " and greater facilities or religious 

" teaching should be afforded." 
Then agreed to. 
Recommendations 5 to 9 severally read and agreed to, with or without verbal 

amendment. 
New 
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New recommendation (10) read and agreed to without amendment. 
The Chairman submitted the following Schedule :— 

EXIT/ins incurred on Visits of Inspection. 

DATE. 	ON WHAT VISIT. 	NAME op PARTY. 	 OP Pam snox ort 	Pnancomits 

CONDIWON. 	SERVICE RENDERED. 	El 

150 Peb. 15 	Parramatia Gaol 	 
Sydney Welch-houses,— 1 viz :— 	i Water Police Court ......... 

Central Pollee Court 	 
Darlinghurst  	I  George and Pitt Streets 	 ) 

Feb. 15 	Parramatta Gaol 	 James Hugh PaImo 	/ 	to 	Legislative 	to ram 

1801. 	 L s. 	C. 
Fcb, 8.. 	Darlinghunt Gaol 	..... 	James Curtis 	 Cab proprietor, &e. 3 carriages, 51 hours, at 25s. .... , 	3 10 	0 

Asscnibl) 	 

klar. 11 	Cumberland-street 	.........II William Hudson.... 	..j Hotel-keeper 	7 beds, at 4e.; refreshment, Ns. 	2 	4 	0 I[or. 12 	ErskIne-street (Women's) 	1 Timothy Shaughnessy ` Cab proprietor 	 2 carriages, 44 hours,say atlas.,.. 	8 10 	0 

kpl. 27 	 1. Williams ...... .........1li I 	otel-keeper . ..... 	(0 Members) Refreshment, &c.... 	1 	0 	0 
k pl. 27 	Peurlth Gaol 	  191. 30 	 J. Williams 	, Motel-loeper 	 (5 Members) RefreshinentAc.... 	2 	a 	0 I 

Shorthand .writer 	Travelling Expoons, Sydney 	 7 	7 	0 
unatta, and back 	

1 
 

( 	Omnibus hire from Parramatta 1 	 i 	Station, and back 	 

Tolls, 5s.; sundry services, 9s, ... 	14 	0 

	

I
15 18 	D 

M.Bmo.*—No account received from Mr. Surveyor Weaver. 
On motion of Mr. Morris, the several sums therein set forth—agreed to. 
Payments awarded. 
Referring then to the Resolution which the Committee came to upon the 19 March, 

in regard to the adoption of the remarks and notices contained in the Evidence, respecting 
the condition of the different Gaols, &e.,— 

Oil motion of Mr. Wilson, It was Resolved :— 
That the Committee adopt, as agreeing with their own observations, the several 

Notes, descriptive of the construction, accommodation, cleanliness and 
general appearance of the Prison Buildings,'—interspersed with the Evidence 
taken upon the Visits of Inspection. 

Committee resumed the consideration of the Report. 
On motion of Mr. Morris, Draft Report, a.s amended, agreed to. 
Ordered, to report, with the Proceedings of the Committee, Minutes of Evidence, 

Appendix, and Plans. 

LIST OF WITNESSES. 
(And others, whose Remarks or Answers are inserted in brackets.) 

Agnew, The Rev. Philip Peters 	•• 	 .. 	229 
PAGE. 

Allen, Thomas Esq. 	•• 	•• 	 • • 	48, 156 
Bell, Edward, Esq., M.I.C.E... 	•• 	 • • 	 • • 	.. 	277 
Beverley, Henry Clements, Esq 	• • 	 •• 	24 
Brenan, John O'Neill, Esq. 	.. 	.. 	 • . 	•• 	194, 200 

.. 	 • • 
Cahill, Mr. William Augustine 	 • • • • 	6, 132, 219 
Callaghan, Mr. James .. 	_ 	 • • 	•• 	93 
Callaghan, Mr. John 	.• 	.. 	.. 	 • • 	.. 	101 
Cook, Mr. William 	.. 	.. 	.. 	 • • 	.. 	116 
Cowell, Mr. Edward 	.. 	.. 	_ 	 • • 	111, 112 
Cowper, the Hon. Charles, Esq., M.P. 	 •• 	.. 	141 
Cullen, Mrs. Margaret 	.. 	 • • 	• • 	.. 	22, 86 
Dawson, Alexander, Esq... 	 • • 	•• 	.. 	• • 	.. 	197 
Elliott, Mr. Alexander.. 	_ 	 • • 	— 	.. 	94 
Ferris, Mr. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	 •• 	•• 	•• 	•• 	 • • 	3 
Fitzgerald, Mr. Henry., 	.. 	 •• 	•• 	• • 	.• 	220 
Freeman, MM. Ellen 	.. 	.. 	_ 	.. 	_ 	 • • 	.. 	47, 48 
Godson, Mr. Richard 	_ 	.. 	_ 	.., 	.. 	.. 	•• 	52 
Griffiths, Mr. Lewis 	_ 	.. 	.. 	_ 	_ 	• • 	• 6 	 lii, 112 
Haggerty, Mr. Samuel_ 	.. 	_ 	.. 	_ 	 .. 	_ 	111 
Harrison, Mr. Thomas (Turnkey, Parratnatta Gaol) 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	40 
Harrison, Mr. Thomas (Late Principal Turnkey, Darlinghtirst Gaol) .. 	56, 132 
Howarth, Mr. Shepherd 	.. 	— 	.• 	_ 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	II, 83 
Lane, Mr. John Francis 	_ 	_ 	_ 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	... 	222 
Lee, Mr. (Sergeant) 	_ 	_ 	.. 	_ 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	_ 	113 

Levy, 

£55 0 0 
2. Commissioner for Railways—Fares to Parramatta (16 February) 	.. 	 I 13 6 
3. Mrs. Bird-4 days Carriage hire (27 to 30 April) 	 8 8 0 

157—A 5 

• Accounts subsequently received :— 
1. Thomas Weaver, Licensed Surveyor—For Plans of Darlinghurst and Parmmatta 
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Levy, Mr. (Constable).. 	.. 	•. 	— 
Levy, Mrs. Margaret .. 	— 	.. 	.. 	.. 
Little, :ND. Prince Francis 	.. 	.• 
Macpherson, Mr. William 	.. 	_ 	— 

.. 

... 
•• •• 

PAGE. 

00 	 114, 115 

•• 	111, 112 

Mann, Gather Kerr, Esq., Capt. R.E. 	.. .. .. 	130, 165, 181 
May, Mr, John Matthews 	.. 	.. 	— 	.. .. 	.. 	147 
McClure, Mr. Matthew 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. .. .. 	115, 116 
McCormick, Mr. Patrick 	me 	me 	ae 	*0 a/ 	.. 	40, 42 
M•Diarmiil, Mr. Allan ( Vide Errata, Question 4026) 
McLane, John, Esq. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. .. 
Olson, Mr. William 	.. 	mf 	ay 	ME 

Page, Mr. John .. 	.. 	 04 	OS 	.10 IP* 

Pegg, Mr. Frederick 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. . • 	• . 	G6 
Read, John Cecil, Esq... 	.. 	.. .. .. 	89, 94, 178 
Hispen, Mr. Christopher 	 .. 
Ryan, Mr. Nicholas 	.., 	.. 	.. 	.. 	•• .. 
Sheehy, The Rev. Samuel Austin, O.S.B. .. 
Stephen, The lion. Sir Alfred, Knt... 	.. 	OM .4. o. 

Sweeny. Mr. Philip 	.. 	. • 	.. 	.. 	.. .. .. 
Thomson, The Hon. Edward Deas, Esq., CB., PS.L.C. .. P. 

Tubman, Mr. Henry 	.. 	.. ..  ea EN  .. 	192 
Turnkey, The (Darlinghurst Gaol) .11 	.• 	.. 40 pa — 	22, 23, 21 
Turnkey. The (Parramatta Gaol) 	., 	.. 	.. fie • • 
Walsh, William. Esq. .. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 
Whiddon, Mr. Samuel .. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	i. 

• 

LIST OF PRISONERS. 
(Whose Statements appear in the Minutes or Separate Appendix I.) 

Ainsworth, Richard 	.. 	.• 
Alexander, Robert 	.. 	Me 	OM 

Arnott, James 	Oa 	.0 

Baker, Alfred 	.. 	— 
Banks, Robert 	 a . 
Barrett, George 	.. 	.. 	— 
Bellamy, Mary 	.. 	.. 	.. 
Binney, James 	.. 	Om 	40 

Bland, Hugh Montgomery .. 	.. 
Breton, Louis 	.. 	.. 	.. 
Britton, Matthew 	.. 	.. 	.. 
Brown, alias Laniger, Thomas 	_ 
Burns, Nicholas 	.. 	.. 	.. 
Byrne, Patrick 	.. 	.. 	— 
" Cadger, The" (John Ifulliolland).. 

.. 

PM 

.. 
.41 

em 

.. 
— 

be 

Me 

.. 

Me 

am 

.. 

.. 

Oa 

.. 

•• 

am. 

.. 

.. 

• • 

OW 

• • 

em 

.. 

.. 
e• 

.. 
.. 

• • 
.. 

• • 
eM 

.. 

.. 

.0 

.. 

.. 

PAGE. 

.. 	241 

.. 	239 
95,167, 246 
*a 	 52 
.. 	238 
• • 	9 
.. 	22 
•• 	240 

235 
239 

53 
21 

— 	55 
.. 	248 
•• 	20 

Cantwell, Michael 	.. 	.. 	.. .. .. .. 236,239 
Carnegie. James Edward 	.. 	.. .. .• .. 	239 
Carroll, Henry, alias James Hogan •• .. 	122, 241 
Carroll, John' 	om 	ma 	.0 Me Ma 	11, 15 
Chalk, Edward 	.. 	.. 	— .. .. 	20 
Chew, Thomas 	a* 	re 	me Me ea 	 42 
Clarke, Henry 	.. 	.. — .. 	95,166 
Collins, James 	— 	— .. .. .. 42 
Collins, William 	.. 	.. ae 40 re 17 
Cook, The (Darlinghtirst Gaol) .. .. 16 
Corner, John 	.. 	— — .. .. 51 
Cotton, James 	dm 	0* 	a* .4. me WO 13 
Cowan, Laurence 	.. 172 
Craddock, Hugh 	.. 	.. 	.. Me am. Oa Do .4 240 
Craig, William 	.. 	.. 	.. .. •• 239 
Crofton, Michael 	.. 	 ego Oa 60 •• 	238 
Daly, James 	.. .. .. 00 13 
Davis, George 	.. 	.. . • . • • • • • ea 	240 
Doran, Michael 	.. 127, 	238 
Douglass, Alexander .. 	.. .. .. .. .. .. 	236 
Downing, Hugh .• 1: 55 
Drew, George .. .. 8 
Driscoll, Sohn 40 es ea ea 	 41 

Dwyer, William 	.. em me Ow 1,2 
English, .John .. 	.. •• •• 20 
Evans, William 	 .. .. 9 
Fitzgerald, Thomas 	be 0 • 239 
Flynn, Ann 	.. 	.. .. .. 115 
Prayne, Michael 	.. 	*0 MP DO 236 
Frazer, James,, 	 Of 0. •• 8 
Galahan, John.. •• •• — • . 17 
Geogehan, Edward 	 .. .. 00 es 00 all. 	 8 
George. Caleb .. 	 .. .. .. .. .. 	49 
Hall, John 	.. 	 .. .. .. roe Oa 15 
Hampton. Thomas 	.. .. • • • • 8 
Hanson. Richard .. .. .. 239 
Hart, Richard _ .. 	239 
Harvey, Thomas 	 .. 00 AO 17 
Bassett, John .. 	.. 40 40 06 .0 MO 	238 	. 

Hawkins, 
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num 

Hawkins, John 	.. 	.. 	.. .. .. . . .. • • .. 	236 
Head, William.. 	.. 	_ .. .. .. .. .. .. 	233 
Henry, William 	wg 	DO .. 0% ea se 	 18 
Hogan, James, aliaa Henry Carroll .. Me Ow • • , • 122,244 
Holland, John _ 	• . 	_ _ 2. om — 	244 
Isaacs, Gilbert 	a.• 	me Oa 06 .. .. 125, 169 
Jobson, David,. 	_ 	_ _ *0 mi. 0, • • ma 	s 238 
Johnson, Sarah 	DM 	.O. DO •• V • D. 	23 
Johnson, William 	• . 	.. _ .. .. .. .. 	236 
Jones, George,. 	.., 	.. _ .. .• O. 	98 
Kelly, John 	.. 	.. 	_ _ • • ild • • • • 	52 
Kenny, Martin 	s• 	60 66 om. .me e• • • 	241 
Laniger, alias Brown, Thomas _ .. .. .. .. 	21 
Lawry, alias M.Gregor, Frederick .. 4P PO Ow •• _ 	96, 120 
Levi, Barnett _ 	.. • 	— _ .. .. he 	240 
Lynch, John 	.• 	_ 	_ _ .. 6W1 44 .0 	16 
Mason, John 	.. 	_ 	_ .• .. .. .. 	129 
Mearthy, Henry 	_ 	.. .. .. .. • • • • 	9 
MGregor, alias Lawry, Frederick .. .. .. • . .. 	96, 120 
31'Gregor, William Thomas .. .. se be mO ww .. 100, 173 
M'Intyre, Ann.. 	_ 	.. .. .. .. 	23, 240 
MLaren, James 	• • 	••• a. 46 • . 	239 
MISTahon, John 	.. 	.. .. .. • • • • 	10 
MIMalion, Martin 	• • 	.. Of 0. mO 11 

311`Spadden, John 	.. 	PS Ow 238 
Moran, Francis 	.. 	40 e• 1.4 238 
Morton, William 	.. 	.. .. .. 9 
Mullion, Mary Aim .. 	Of ilf ma Oa •• 24 
Mulholland, John ("The Cadger ") mf 40 4.0 se 20 
Murray, Patrick 	.. 	.. .. .. • • 22, 240 
Nagle, Thomas 	ed. 	00 • do 66 • • • • 45 
Neal, James 	.. 	_ 	w• .0 • 0 • • 123 
Neal, Sarah 	.. 	.. .. .0 23 
Nixon, Charles 	.. • • .. 236 
Nolan, Matthias 	., 	66 16 
Bunn, Hannah 	om 	... • . 23 
O'Brien, John _ 	.. • • 	240 
O'Halloran, Joseph 	.. .. .. .. .. .. .. 	235 
O'Heir, Patrick 	.. — wih eh • . 	46 
oxburgli, Charles 	.. .. .. 	240 
Page, John 	.. 	.. • • • . •. (117) 235 
Parker, Elizabeth 	.. Pe M0 ea ow 0. 	 48 
Passmon John 	.00 • • • • • a mm he 	 46 
Pearce. James _ 	OP 	ea DP .6 1,0 •• .. 	43 
Perry, Mary Ann 	.. • . .. 48 
Power Edward.. 	.. .. ..50, 96, 127, 168 
Powell, Laurence 	.. .. • • • • 	245 
Richards, Mary Ann .. .. .. ma 	 23 
Riley, Mary 	.. 	— .. .. .. • • • • 	23 
Rogers, Charles 	.. 	., • .6 00 21,243 
Rowan Joln• 	_ 	_ 	.. 60 O4 56 
Rowe, George Walter.. 	.. .. .. 245 
Rutter, Mary Ann 	_ 	_ .. .. 110 24 
Scope, alias Williams, James .. .. 99 
Serimes, Fredrrick William 66 00 •• 	238 
Simpson, William 	— 	• • • • .. .. me 172 
Sims, Louis 	.11 	••• .• OA 	 21 
Singleton, George 	.. 	.. .. .. • • • • 	241 
Smith, .lames 	SO 	.4. 06 00 06 .f 	 12 
Smith, John 	.. 	.0 km we • . 129;239 
Somerville, Frank 	.. 	O. Om .0 • • • • 	169 
Somerville. Frederick 	• • .. • • • • • • 	235 
Sullivan, Daniel 	.. 	.. • • • • 	238 
Swan, George 	.. 	46 4* ma 

.• 	
18 

Tagg, George 	.. 	.. .. 00 Ile 20 
Tarlington, 'Edward .. .. • • 15 
Taylor, George 	• . .. .. .. • • •• 	239 
Taylor, James 	.. 	.. .. 45 
Thompson, James 	.. 	Of ibm. lik .. 7,8 
Thompson, William _ 	.. .. .. 238 
Thurston, George 	.. 	.. • . 	246 
Trindall, Francis 	,. 	6. Ow SE .9 .6 ibe FE 11 
Valenti, Camille 	• . .. • • .. 44 
Wade, James 	E.* 	se • • • . 20 
Wagner, Charles 	_ 	.. Of • • • • 237 
Washington, William.. 	.„ .. • • .• 	236 
Watson, Christina 	.. 	.. .. m• *0 os .0 4. 	 22 
Watson, John _ 	.. 	.. .. •• . • • • 235 
Wilkes, John 	.. 	61 SP eel 41 
Williams, George 	.. 	.. •• ... .. .• 	17 
Williams, alias Scope, James •• .. .. 99 
Williams, John 	.. 	.. .. .. .. 	91 
Williams, William 	.. 	...... • . • • • • .. 	44 
Young, Alfred 	.. 	.. .. .. .. 	19 

LIST 
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LIST OF VISITS OF INSPECTION. 

[UDE' TO NOTICES.] 

DATE. WHERE. PREDISES OR BCILDINGS VISITED. 

DESCRIPTIONS OR 
NOTICES OP 

CONDITION, &C. 

Page. No. of Question 
preceding. 

1 February •. 

February .. 

15 February 	 

1 	March., 	 

12 March „ 	 

11 April 	„ 

22 April 	 

27 April 

Cockatoo Island .... 

Darlinghurst Gaol .. 

Parramatta Gaol .. 

Darlinghurst Gaol 

SydneyWatch-hous 

Cockatoo Island._ • 

Cockatoo Island.., 

Penritb Gaol 

pfess-romn. 
I Dormitories. 
I Hospital. 

{ Solitary cells. 
Exempt ground. 

I Yard in rear of Police Barracks. 
(police Barracks. 

Carpenters' workshop 	 

Smaller do. adjoining 	
Blacksmiths' workshop ...... 	 
Smaller do. adjoining 	.. ...... 	 
Cook-house 	.... .......... 	 
Labour wing, ward, and yard 

, Solitary cells 	  
"I Trial wing. 

(Cell No. 7.) 	........... 	 
Other cells ... .......   
Wall in rear of blacksmiths sheds. 
Lumber-room .. ............   
Shoemakers' and tailors' rooms 	 

Female ward, cell 	  
Leen No. 24, and those adjoining 	 

(Stone-cutters' yard. 
Wing No. 1 	  
Several cells (No.9  ) 	  
No. 1 cell 	. 	...... 	..... 
Cells on the ground floor, (No. 19.) 	 , 
Cell in the first story 	 
Cook-house .. 	  
Female yard 	 
Female cells, on first floor. 
Solitary 	cells, 	beneath 	Women's 

wing. 
Yard containing joiners' and black-

smiths' shops. 
The shops. 
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Report, Page 9, Paragraph 17, line O. Omit "D ;" insert "E" (Division). 
line 4 (margin). Insert " Vide List of Visits of Inspection, page SO." 

Minutes of Evidence, Page 1. After " Minutes of Evidence," insert (in parentheses) 'comprising 
Statements of Prisoners." 

After Note following " Chairman," insert further (within the bracket) 
" viz. : the Mess-room, also used as a Chapel, the Dormitories, 
" Hospital and Cells." 

Page 3. After Note following Question 70, insert further (within the bracket) 
" —The Committee returned to the Dormitories and examined the 
" bars of Nos. 4 and 5, which had recently been strengthened in eon-

sequence of an attempt to saw them through—The Committee 
" having proceeded to the Exempt Ground, Mr. Byron stated that 
" there were then 27 men exempt—The Committee visited the 
" yard in the rear of the Police Barracks, inspecting a boat 
" which had been built by one of the prisoners (Landells), and 
" concealed by him in the roof of the Carpenters' Shop." 

Page 9. After Question 282, insert (in brackets) "Mr. Hart called attention to the 
" fact, that when the Committee entered the Joiners' Shed there 
" was no one in charge of the men." 

Page 22, Question 865. Omit " Mary ," insert "Margaret." 
Page 24, Question 950. After "Henry," insert " Clements," 
Page 40, Question 1459. Before "Thomas," insert "Mr." 
Page 89. In Note preceding Question 3082, after "Committee," insert 

" inspecting the Stockade, Exercise Ground, and wall in rear of the 
" Hospital, whence the seventeen prisoners recently escaped, returned 
" to the Gaoler's House, tasting the bread just supplied by the Con- .  " tractor, and" 

Page 91, Question 3137. In blank, insert " two feet." 
Page 96. Before Note fallowing Question 3291, insert (within the bracket) " Tho 

" Committee proceeded to the Hospital, and examined the windows 
" whence, as stated by Mr. 1Vhiddon and Mr. Olson, communication 
" had been carried on with the prisoners in the Exercise Yard"— 

Page 101, Question 3474. Before a John. " insert " Mr. " 
I'agc 112, Question 3866. Before "Lewis," insert " Constable. " 
Page 113, Question :3904. In " Phillip," omit second" 1," 
Page 117, Question 4026. Insert (above) "Sergeant Allan MIDiarmid (in charge) 

" examined :—" 
Page 130. After Answer 4477, insert (in parentheses) " Vide Second lithograph. 

following Separate Appendix." 
Page 165, Answer 4880, last line. Omit " nine:" insert " six." 
Page 176, Answer 5049. After "(Not furnished)," indicate the following foot-note, 

" viz. :—" ItIntio (Appended to XS, Evidence) :—The suggestions 
"relating to the erection of a prison will be sent as soon as my other 
" duties will allow inc sufficient time to do so." 

Separate Appendix I, Page 235, lines 4 and 5. After " NOTE," omit " Examinations &c." ; insert 
" Questions put to certain prisoners in reference to their 
" Statements are included.' 

Page 241. After the Statement of G. Singleton, omit paragraph meeting Com-
mittee (nut pertaining to the Appendix.) 



1060 



1061 

1861. 

11cgiotatibc aooemblii. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 

TAKEN BEFORE THE 

SELECT COMMITTEE 

S 	
ON THE 
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Na. SUTHERLAND, 
31a. WALSH, 
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• HENRY PARKES, ESQ., CHAIRMAN. 

[The Committee having assembled on the Circular Quay at 9 o'clock, A.M., proceeded 
to Cockatoo Island, and inspected various arrangements of the Penal Establishment.] 	Cockatoo 

Island Prison. 
William Dwyer, a prisoner confined in the cells, called up and examined :— 	1 1eb.,1861. 

I. By Mr. Cowper : Row long have you been on the island ? Two years and eight months. W. Dwyer. 
2. What were you sentenced here for ? Five years. 
3. For what crime? For a horse. 
4. For stealing a horse ? That is what I was charged with. 
5. What district do you come from ? Bathurst. 
6. What Judge tried you? Judge Derry. 
7. Were you ever convicted before ? No. 
8. How long have you been in the Colony ? Twenty years. 
9. What districts of the Colony have you been in ? In Sydney part of my time, and I had 
a good character from many gentlemen. 
10. By the Chairman : Are you a married or a single man ? Single; both my parents are 
living. 
11. By Mr. Cowper: You must have come to the Colony very young? Yes; I was eight 
years old. 
12. Have you been punished here Wire? Yes, once, fourteen days for the same thing. 
1$. By Mr. Walsh: Did you come out with your father ? Yes. 

Mr. Byron, Principal Warder, examined :— 
14. By the Chairman: Will you refer to the record book, and state the nature of this Mr. Byron. 
man's offence ? 

31r. Byron referred to the book, and read as follows :—" 4th January, 
1861.—Insubordinate conduct, refusing to go to work, and disobedience of orders." 

15. What was the nature of this man's insubordination ? Falling out from the body of Men; 
refusing to go to work when a number of the men also refused. 

157—B 	 16. 
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Cockatoo 16. At what time in the morning was that ? At nine o'clock. I reported the circumstance 
Island Prisn.4561.-  to the Superintendent, and be ordered the men to be confined. Fcb  17. Did they allege any reason for their refusal ? Yes; the men who were under the regu- 

Th. Byron. lotions of the old Act, and those who were under the new regulations, were working together. 
Under the old regulations a man is allowed half a day's remission of sentence for every day 
ho works, but, under the new, each day's work is counted only as one day. 
38. By 3L.. Lucas: That is to say, the work under the old Act is task-work, and according 
to the old regulations all work over a certain quantity is carried to the credit of the prisoner, 
and lessens the term of his imprisonment? Yes. 

IV. Dwyer further examined :- 
IV. Dwyer. 19. By the Chairman: Let us hear your version of the matter-will you explain the reason 

of your refusal to work ? Because half the men working on our side get half a day for 
every working day, and wd get nothing-no matter how a man behaves he gets the same. 
20. By Mr. Lucas : You mean some men under the old system who are on task-work ? 
Yes. If we do not get that work done, we are put in the cells. 
21. Whatever over-work you do does not reduce the term of your sentence ? It does some 
of the-I./tents, but. not ours. 
22. What you complain of is, that no matter how well you behave, or what quantity of 
work you do- ? We are treated all the same, we have got to do our time. 
23. By the Chairnian: Can you not explain definitely the circumstances of this refusal to 
work-how many men were working together. You say the men on one side were working 
at task-work-what work had these to do as compared with those who were not at task-work ? 
They had got to work as much as the old. The new Act had goteto work as well as the 
old. 
24. If a man under the regulations previous to the passing of the new Act performed a 
certain day's work, it counted as more than one day in the term of his sentence ? Yes; 
a day and a half. 
25. You know what it is you have to complain of, will you state it to us as you would to 
any one else? Because we get no indulgences, no marks, nor nothing. 
26. You say "we," whom do you mean ? All the new Acts-all who came here since 1858. 
27. flow many men were working with you when you refused to work ? There were a 
h undred. 

S. Working with you ? Where I was working-I was working in the lumber yard. 
29. How many were there ? Sixteen. 
30. How, many of these were getting more than six days a week ? Six. 
31. How many were getting only six days? Eight or nine. 
:32. About eight or nine out of this sixteen came after a certain date and got no indulgence, 
and about six or seven came before that date and got indulgence ? Yes. 
33. During the time you have been in that cell how have you fared-what sort of food 
have you had ? A pound and a half of bread a day, nothing else. 
24. The whole time ? Yes. 
35. You have never had anything but bread during the time you have been in the cell? 
No. 
36. Have you been in a good state of health during that time ? Yes-only my head. 
87. Do you feel the place hot sometimes ? Yes. 
38. As compared with the place where you usually sleep ? A good deal worse, a man's 
head is always bad here. 
39. Would you rather sleep where the other men sleep? Yes. 
40. By Mr. 'Fuson: Suppose you had a bed in the cell, would you prefer sleeping there, 
to sleeping in the dormitory with the other men ? I would as soon sleep there as where 
the men sleep, and sooner. 
41. By the Chairman: How long have you been on the island 	Since June, 1858. 
42. During that time you have been punished once? I got fourteen days for the same 
thing ; all the men fell out, and I fell out. 
43. When you were sleeping in the common dormitory did you ever notice the occurrence 
of immorality ? No, I never did, for I always kept myself to myself; I never kept company 
with anybody in the ward or out. 
44. Did you hear obscene conversation at night? No. 
45. How many persons slept in the dormitory where you were? 70 or 80 in one, and about 
58 or 48 in the one I was in before I came here. 
46. What have you generally worked at since you have been on the island? In the lumber 
yard and blacksmith's shop. 
47. All the time? No, I was six months in the quarry. 
48. And you have had good health all the time? I have never been off my work, only four 
days. 
49. When do you come out of the cell ? To-day. 
50. Are you going back to work? Yes. 
M. By Arr. Walsh : You have some books in your cell ? Yes. 
52. What-are they ? Novels. 
53. What are their names? I do not know the name of the one I have got now, I only 
tocik it yesterday. 
Si. Have you had books all the time you have been there ? Yes, any time you asked you 
would get it. 
55. What books have you been reading? Chambers' Journal for a bit, and others. 

56. 
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56. Have you seen any clergyman since you have been there ? No, I have seen no person Cockatoo 
till I saw you this morning. 	 Island Prison. 
57. You have not been out to prayers in the chapel ? I have never been out of the cell but 1 Feb., MI. 
three times, and that was to come up here to shave, 	 W. Dwyer. 
58. By Mr. Con:per: What do you suppose you will gain by refusing to work,-do you 
suppose the Government will give way to you,-do you think that possible ? I do not know. 
59. You know that you came here under certain regulations then in force which were 
announced to you by the Judge hhen he passed your sentence ? There are many who have 
been here before, and before that again, who have got two years less than I have. 
60. That has been by the sentence of the Judge ? Yes. 
61. You do not suppose that it can be left to you to decide upon the sentences of other men ? 
They were sent for the same charge. 
02. Of which they have been convicted by a Jury, and for which they have been sentenced 
by a Judge. You do not suppose it can be left to the men on this island to revise the 
sentences of the Courts, and to decide whether they are just or not ? No. 
63. By Mr. Hate: How did you plan it that you should all refuse to work at the -ame time? 
We did not all strike at the same time-there were two days between. 
64. By Mr. Lucas : You were all sentenced on the same day ? Yes, but there were some 
men fell out one day and more on another ; they fell out on different days. 
65. By Alp. Couper : Whose horse was it you were charged with stealing? I do not know. 
66. Who prosecuted you ? No one prosecuted me. 
67. Who were the witnesses against you ? The witnesses saw me buy the horse, they swore 
first one thins-

b 
 and then another, because they knew the man I bought the horse of better 

than they did me and they wanted to get him out of trouble. 
GS. By Mr. Walsh: The horse was found in your possession ? No, it was sold to five or six 
people. 
69. Was it not proved by some person that the horse had been in your possession 1 Yes, I 
owned to having had the horse myself. 
70. By Mr. Ceduper: Had it been the subject of much discussion among you before you 
came to the determination to resist these regulations? I never spoke to a MR in the yard, 
but all the men called out, and shouted out to me at different times. 

[Mr. Ferris, in answer to a question from Mr. Lucas, stated that Dwyer was [Mr. Ferris.; 
not a badly-behaved man, and that he seldom spoke to any of the men.] 

[Committee having entered the Police Barracks, the*Chairman took the Chair,-] 

Mr. Byron called in and further examined :- 
71. By the Chairman: What office do you hold on the island ? Principal warder. 
72. What are your duties ? To muster the men, and to see that the place is kept clean. 
73. Are you responsible for them-are they in your charge during the night? They are in 
no way tinder my charge during the night. 
74. You merely superintend their muster ? Yes, in the day time. 
75. Are you responsible for their safe keeping during the day? No, I have merely to 
muster them at meal times. 
76. You were with the Committee when we visited the sleeping apartments? Yes. 
77. Did we go through all the apartments ? Yes. 
78. Of which there are five in number ? Yes. 
79. Can you state how many berths there are in each ? Yes. In Nos. 1 and 2 wards there 
arc 88 in each ; in No. 3 ward, 48; Nos. 4 and 5, 52 each; altogether there are 328 sleep-
ing berths. 
SO. Have you ever had all the berths full ? Yes, and have had men sleeping on the top, 
over the two tiers of berths. 
81. Has that occurred often ? No. 
82. TIow long have you been on the island? Nine years next month. 
82. What is the greatest number of prisoners you have ever had on the island at one time? 
490 or near 500. 
84. When was that ? Shortly after I came here. 
35. Can you state how many slept in the dormitories last night? Yes. In No.2 ward, 63; 
No. 3, 18; ,No. 4, 36; No. 5, 29. 
86. How many altogether in these wards ? 146. 
87. Can you state how the 146 who slept in these places last night are disposed of to-day ? 
67 on the works, 20 in the stockade, 10 tailors and shoemakers, 5 constables, 16 servants, 
1 gardener, 5 cooks, 3 confined in cells, 8 in hospital, 3 in attendance on hospital, 
27 exempt. 
88. Will you supply the Committee with a daily return ? I tvill. (Vide Appendix A.) 
89. You were present when the Committee examined Dwyer, one of the confines in the cells? 
I was. 
90. About how long has that man been on the island ? More than a year. 
91. What has been his conduct ? Very good till this late affair. 
92. Without respect to this net of insubordination ? Flo has been a very quiet, inoffensive 
man. 
93. Was he a man who mixed himself up with the other prisoners ? I cannot tell. He is 
a passionate man, but it is over in a minute. 
94. What is the character of the other two men in the cells whom we did not see ? Ferris 

is 

Mr. Byron. 
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Cockatoo is a man who tried to escape from the island one night, and the other man is named Johnson, 
Island Prison. 
1 Feb.,1861. who also tried to escape. 

95. Have you ever gone into these dormitories in the dead of night ? Never. 
Mr. Byron. 96. Have you ever gone to the gate? Yes, when any one has been sick. 

97. When the dormitories have been full ? Yes, I have been to the gates. 
98. Was the atmosphere very oppressive ? It was. 
99. What kind of utensils have they ? Tubs. 
100. Do they use those tubs for all purposes ? Yes. 
101. Is there any system of requiring these men to go to any place for the offices of nature 
before they go to bed, or are locked up? Yes, there is a closet for that purpose in the yard. 
102. Are these tubs ever filthy in the morning ? Yes. 
1.03. Do the men smoke inside these places ? Yes. 
104. Are vermin often found in the berths ? Sometimes. 
105. How often ? We fumigate the wards three times a year, there are %lbs. of brimstone 
used 
106. What is the practice adopted in cleansing these places ? The tubs are carried out, 
emptied, and whitewashed, and then the rooms are cleaned out. 
107. Are they washed with a broom or bosom? They are washed out with a mop, and 
afterwards the berths are whitewashed. 
108. Only that ? They are scraped if the whitewash is too thick. 
109. Do you frequently go to the gates at night ? 
110. Do you frequently go to the gates at night ? No, it is my duty to go at about ten 
minutes to eight, to see that the lights are put out. 
111. Probably you have gone to the gates at different parts of the night ? No, unless a 
man wants to be sick, and then we !et him out. 
112. Have you ever noticed obscene conduct or heard obscene language ? You mean in the 
berths ? No. 
113. By ifs. Wilson: Where do the men get tobacco ? There is a shop at the North Shore, 
Mr. Clarke's. 
114. Do they send for their tobacco through the Government officers ? Yes. 
115. By Hr. Cowper: They receive some gratuity for extra work, and are allowed to spend 
it 	Yes, in tobacco. 
116. By Mr. Wilson : Have they the means of washing or bathing themselves every 
morning ? No, they get leave front the superintendent to bathe every Saturday in the duck. 
117. What means have they of bathing themselves in fresh water ? There are tubs in the 
barrack square in the yard. 
118. Are they found with towels ? 
119. By Mr. Morris : Have they any means of washing allowed ? Not without they go in 
the decks. 
120. By Mr. Wilson: They have no means of washing in fresh water ? None, except what 
I have stated. 
121. The man Dwyer stated that he had novels in his cell? Yes, there:is a general library 
which is provided by the Rev. Mr. Agnew. 
122. Who selects these books ? Mr. Balls gives them out. 
123. Any book a prisoner pleases ? Yes. 
124. Is there a Bible in each cell? No, if a man wishes for a Bible or a Prayer Book he 
call get one by applying for it 
125. By  Ab.. Lucas: You say it is your duty to go to the gates at ten minutes to eight 
to see that the lights are put out, what lights do you speak of? Candies. 
126. Are the men allowed candles in the wards ? Yes, till eight o'clock, to read, or to 
amuse themselves, after that there is a lamp in each ward. 
127. By Mr. Wilson: Do you insist upon silence after the lights are put out ? Yes. 
128. By .Mr. Lucas: How many cells are there on the island? Twelve. 
129. By Mr. Mate: You say the men can buy tea, sugar, and other luxuries ? Yes, tea, 
sugar, and white bread. 
130. Do they get these things at reasonable prices ? At Sydney prices ; they are served out 
twice a week. 
131. By Mr. Wilson: Certain persons are promoted on the island for good conduct? Yes, 
to what are called sub-overseers or constables. 
132. Who promotes them? The superintendent. 
133. That is to say the superintendent promotes them on whose recommendation ? On the 
recommendation of the free officers. 
134. What are the grounds upon which a man's promotion is generally recommended ? Good 
conduct and short sentence. 
135. No previous conviction, is that taken into account ? Yes. 
136. By Mr. Cowper: What do you do with the men in wet weather ? We put them 
inside. 
137. Where ? In the wards if it is very heavy. 
138. Not merely in the dining hall, but in the sleeping wards ? Yes. 
139. By Mr. Lucas : Suppose it rains for two or three days ? They are kept in the wards, 
and brought out at meal times. The mechanics come out in wet weather, the others do not. 
140. Do the men who are sentenced to work in irons work with those who have not irons ? 
Yes, so many to each gang. 
141. Do the men ever complain of the rations ? They do. 
142. Is it generally with regard to their quantity or to their quality ? To the quality. 
143. By the Chairman: What is your opinion of the quality of the rations ? It is generally 
very good. 	 144. 
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144. Is the bread always as good as that brought in the mess room ? Not always. 	Cockatoo 
145. By Mr. Wilson : What do you call "good bread "—do you refer to its fineness ? Yes • Island Prison. 

Feb..1861. sometimes it is sour, although fresh in the morning before. 
146. By the Chairman: There is a man named Hawkins on the island, who has Lad his leg Mr. Byron. 
broken ? Yes. 
147. What is his conduct ? His conduct has been generally good. 
148. Quiet, respectful, and obedient ? Yes. 
149. There is another man named WEpadden ? Yes. 
150, A murderer ? Yes. 
151. Have you noticed any signs of insanity in that man ? I have. I have seen him when 
he Ins been confined in the cell, when he has said they have been going to murder him or to 
shoot him. 
152. During the whole time of his confinement has he evinced signs of insanity ? Yes; 
sometimes he has been very well, and he is a very good working man too. 
153. Do you believe him to be insane ? I do not know; I am no judge, but from his 
expressions and his actions I think myself he must be insane. 
154. By Mr. Walsh: At the times you refer to does be speak of any particular persons who 
are going to kill him ? No; he says half-a-dozen people with bayonets are going to kill 
him, or to poison him. 
155. By Ns. Cowper: Is he with the other prisoners ? Yes. 
156. By the Chairman: You have no charges against most of the prisoners ? No. 
157. How many are here for murder ? I do not know. 
158. By Mr. Walsh: Have you heard WSpadden complain of any particular class of 
persons—of persons of any particular religion ? No. 
159. By 31r. Lucas: Do you know a prisoner of the name of Scrimes ? I do. 
160. What is his conduct? He is a very well conducted man. 
161. Has he ever offended in any way, or been put in the cells for any offence ? No. 
162. What has been his character—I mean simply since he has been on the island ? Very 
good. There was a man here who for a long time acted as though lie was insane, and there 
were two or three doctors who examined him, but Dr. West found out that Ile was only 
malingering. 
163. By the Chairman : Who were the worst among the insubordinates ? I could not say ; 
but I believe there were twelve picked out in Sydney. They were all mixed up together. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 
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6 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

Cockatoo 	 Mr. William Augustine Cahill called in and examined :- 
1
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. .164 . By the Chairman: What office do you hold? Jam principal Foreman of Works. 
- 	165. How long have you been on the island ? Nine years. 

MT. W. A. 166. In the discharge of your duty have you to overlook the prisoners while they an Calla working ? The mechanics • in particular the masons, stonecutters, carpenters, and engineers, 
&c. The erection of all buildings comes under my province. 
167. Can you state under what circumstances Hawkins had his leg broken ? Yes; in 
fitting a piece of the machinery-a large wheel-a prop which was put under in a careless 
manner, which was touched by him, fell, and smashed his thigh. 
168. Was the careless manner in which the prop was placed attributable to him or to others ? 
To him and others. 
169. Was the leg badly broken ? Yes, across the thigh ; it was completely broken. 
170. What was the character of that man, generally ? Very good; he is a very well 
conducted man. 
171. Can he work now ? Ire could until lately. Ile is a painter by trade. The other day 
he took up a carpenter's adze, and accidentally cut himself on the ball of the toe, which has 
again incapacitated him. 
172. You were present when the Committee visited the dormitories? Yes. 
173. Can you furnish the Committee with the dimensions of those rooms, their length, width, 
and height ; the number of windows in the walls, the number of berths, how they are 
situated, and their size ; also the space occupied by the passages ? Yes. (Vide First 
lithogrgph following Separate Appendix.) 
174. Will you state how the two systems operate upon the minds of the men ? There were 
men who had received their sentences previously to the 1st July, 1858, working with those 
who had been sentenced subsequently to that period, and who, under different regulations, 
were working side by side. 
175. Will you state, distinctly and candidly, what effect this system had upon the minds of 
the men ? This has been the grievance, and the sole cause of the insubordination of the 
men. One man received half a day in addition to the current day if he performed the task 
required by the Government, while the other had the same task to do, and received no 
indulgence of time. 
176. \nes time could the more healthy and industrious men make over-time-those who 
were under the regulations in force prior to June, 1858? Half a day each day. 
177. Then a man who came here prior to June, 1858, could make nine days a week against 
the other man's six ? Yes; and those men who wear blue jackets are entitled to half a day 
for Sundays. 
178. Practically the working of the system may be this-that two men may work together, 
one of whom may be working off his sentence at the rate of nine days a week, while the 
other, who stands much higher as to conduct, is working off but six ? It may be the ease, 
and frequently is. 
179. The man of better character, who came after June, 1858, is making but six days 
a week, while the other, of bad character, is making nine ? Yes ; I have known several 
such cases. 
180. What I want to ascertain from you is whether your opinion, from observing the 
working of these two systems together, is that it creates a general feeling of insubordination ? 
It is. 
181. Whether it breaks out or not that is the feeling ? There is no mistake that that is the 
great cause of insubordination. 
182. By Mr. Cowper: Flow many men of the old class are there now on the island ? About 
fifty or fifty-one. If these men were kept at work by themselves the others would not feel it 
so much, but when they see them working by their sides it excites a feeling

a 
 of insubordination. 

183. By Mr. Lucas: Are they not paid for any over-work they do? Yes, for all they do 
over and above their task. 
184. How are they paid for stonework ? The man who does 12i feet of stonecutting is 
entitled to 3d. per day. Some can do more than that ; one man did 17 feet. 
185. And they get paid extra for that ? Yes, they get paid once a fortnight. 
186. They get nothing for the task itself ? No, they do that for Government. 
187. How much per foot are they paid ? It is divided into a number of quarters ; their task 
is 7 feet draft work. 
188. How are they paid for what they do over 7 feet? If they do 54- feet over that they 
are entitled to 3d. a day. 
189. In addition to this, under the old regulations, a man could work off nine days a week, 
so that one who had been sentenced for three years would be set at liberty at the end of two 
years ? Yes, under the old regulations. 
190. And was paid 3d. a day also ? Yes, so long as he did as much work as entitled him to 
that above his task. They are only allowed to draw 3d. a day, if they earn more than that 
it is put into the Savings' Bank. 
191. Is that paid to them on the island ? Yes, before they leave. 
192. When they leave the island what clothing do they get ? I believe they are allowed to 
buy clothing. 
193. By Mr. Wilson: Suppose a man does nothing more than his task-work, but performs 
that, is he allowed to calculate seven days a week? He must do more than his task-work 
for that. 
194. By Mr. Lucas: Do you know John Mason ? Yes, he is a man in the hospital. 
195. Do you know anything of him as to his conduct on the island ? I do not know much 
as to his conduct. 

196. 



1 06 7 

ON THE ,  PUBLIC PRISONS IN SYDNEY AND CUMBERLAND. 

Cockatoo 
Island Prison. 
3 Feb., 1861. 
- 

Mr. W. A. 

1913. I believe he was same time in the blacksmith's shop ? Yes. 
197. Do you know &limes ? Yes. 
198. What has been his conduct? He is a well-conducted man. 
199. Has he been in trouble ? I am not aware-he has been in the carpenter's shop. 
200. Is he a carpenter ? Yes. . 
201. He is employed at present as a carpenter on the island ? Yes. 
202. His conduct has always been good ? Very good indeed. 
203. By Mr. Cowper : Do you gather from the convicts that they have any other ground of 
complaint than the alteration of the regulations in June, 1858 ? I have heard they cannot 
get their petitions forwarded. 
204. By the Chairman .• You must have a good deal of experience of the island, having 
been overseer of works so many years ? Yes, I should have. 
205. Has it not often occurred to you that it would be much better if there were a greater 
variety of employment according to the strength or adaptability of the prisoners ? I think as 
far as their capability is concerned they are pretty well classified; those who are unable to 
undertake mechanical employment are generally selected for the camp. 
206. What employment is there for weak men The hand carts, which is considered light work. 
207. Drawing hand carts is not light work ? It is considered so. 
208. By Mr Cowper: A. good many of the men are employed as servants and attendants? 
Yes. 
209. By the Chairman: Does not the want of a sufficient variety of employment lead to the 
employment of a larger number of the men as servants than is required ? I cannot speak to 
that correctly. The requirements of the camp are considerable; the washing is very heavy, 
as each of the men have two clean shirts a week. 
210. How many persons are employed in cooking to-day ? Five. 
211. By .111r Sutherland: How much a foot is a man paid for extra work-you say 7 feet 
a day is the task ? 7 feet a day is the task, and they are allowed 3d. a day if they do 12i feet. 
212. How do you do with the carpenters and blacksmiths? When they are upon any fixed 
work, there is a scale for them in like manner; but they are seldom employed upon fixed 
work. It is very bard to define the blacksmith's work as it is chiefly jobbing, as tools to be 
sharpened, some two or three hundred chisels and picks; and there is the current work for 
the fitting shop, such as making bolts and nuts, so that it is very rare to keep a man 
constantly at the same work. 
213. How do you pay them ? They are paid at the same rates, at the recommendation of 
the foreman, according to their industry. 
214. By Mr. 'meta: Do you not think it would be desirable to have the best behaved men 
here ? I should be glad to have none but men of the best character here. 
215. Suppose twelve or fourteen of the ringleaders were removed ? I should take it as a 
great boon to have them removed. 

FRIDAY, 8 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

UttOrlit :- 
Ma. HART, 	 MR. PARKES, 
Mn. LUCAS, 	 Na. SUTHERLAND, 
MR. MATE, 	 Na. WILSON, 
Nit. MORRIS, 	 Ma. WINDEYER. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., CHAIRMAN. 
[The Committee having met in No. 1 Committee Room at 10 o'clock, A.11 ., proceeded to 

Darlinghurst Gaol.] 	 Darlingburst  
Mr. William Macpherson examined :- 	 8 Feb.. 

216. By the Chairman You are appointed overseer of the carpentering department here ? Mr. William 
Yes. 	 Macpherson. 

217. How long have you filled that office ? Since the 1st of January, 1860. 
218. How many men have you generally at work here ? From nine to twelve; the average 
is about nine. 
219. Can you state anything about the sentences of the men who are working here ? They 
are generally short sentenced men, from two to six months ; except one or two. 

[Of prisoners working in the carpenter's shop,-] 
James Thompson examined:- 

220. By the Chairman: What is your sentence ? Two years. 	 J. Thompson. 
221. Are you a carpenter ? Yes. 
222. How long have you been working in this prison ? Fourteen months, and twelve 
months at my trade. 
223. How have you generally been employed ? At all sorts of work. 
224. What are you making now ? I am making spoons for the men; I was employed in 
putting the roof on the new hospital-that was the first work I did. 
225. What is the work on the bench ? It is the frame-work for sofas or seats in the Domain. 
226. How long does it take you to make one of those spoons ? Two or three minutes. 
227. How long does it take you to make a dozen ? A couple of hours. 

Thomas 
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Darlinghurst 	 Thomas Hampton examined:- 
Gaol. 

3 Feb., 1861. 228 . 135 the Chairman : What is your sentence? Five years. 
- 	220. On what charge ? Shooting a bullock at Shoalhaven. 

T. Hampton. 230. Shooting a bullock out of malice ? No, I was going through the bush and shot it 
accidentally. 
231. What was the offence you were tried for ? T. was found guilty of shooting a bullock 
with intent to steal it. 
232. What is your age ? Seventeen. 
233. How long have you been working in this shop ? Four months. 
234. Had you worked at this trade before you came here ? No. 
225. Was this the first time you had been before a Court ? Yes. 
236. By Mr. Laces: Who was with you at the time ? My stepfather, and my father's 
brother-they both received sentence for five years, and are on Cockatoo. 
237. By Mr. Windeyer : Were you sentenced to Darlingliurst Goal ? To the public works. 
238. Are you one of those who mine from Cockatoo the other day ? No. 

J. Thompson. 239. _By Mr. Lucas (to Thompson): Is this man getting on pretty fair with his work ? Yes. 
T. Hampton. 240. By  Mr. Windeyer (to Hampton): How came you to be put to this work ? My father 

taught me to carpenter before I came here. 
J. Thompson. 241. By the Chairman (to Thompson).. Do you obtain any extras for working at your trade ? 

No. 

George Drew examined :- 
George Drew. 242. How long have you been in Darlinghurst Gaol ? About six months. 

243. What was your sentence ? Six months. 
244. It will soon expire ? Yes. 
245. What was it for ? A charge of robbery. 
216. Have you been working at your trade ever since you have been here ? Yes. 
247. What do you do generally ? I made a lot of these seats for the gardens-these arms 
are for seats. 
248. Do you make any portable articles such as chairs ? No. • 
249. Tables ? No. 
250. What is the kind of work you have been generally employed upon ? For the gaol. 
251. Joiner's work for the additional buildings ? Anything that was to be done. 
252 Do you obtain extras for working at your trade ? Tea and sugar are allowed. 
253. Do they all get tea and sugar ? Some do not get tea; some of the labouring men. 
254. When will your time expire ? I shall be out the 2nd of next month. 
255. By Mr. Hart: What do you do with your tools when your work is over ? Go to the 
shop with them, and see them locked up. 
256. Who takes them there ? Each man takes his own. 
257. By Mr. Mauer Are you searched before you are locked up ? No. 
258. By the Chairman What are the hours of work ? Seven in the morning till four in 
the afternoon. 
259. Out of that you have a dinner hour, I suppose ? Yes. 
260. From twelve to one ? Yes. 

Edward Geogehan examined :- 
E. Geogehan. 261. By the Chairman: How long have you been here ? Getting on for ten months. 

262. Tinder what sentence ? Two years. 
263. Charged with what ? I was brought in for a concern I was not answerable for-my 
wife's deeds-I was in oulburn, and a reward of £500 was offered to any one who would give 
information about the bank robbery, and they gave me a sentence of two years as a com-
pensation. 
264. I do not understand you ? If you will understand me I was promised a reward of 
£500, and I was done out of my reward for fulfilling the ends of justice. I gave information 
about the bank robbery, and then after I was in prison my wife became loose and was married 
to another man, and Capt. Scott would not take my evidence; he said I could not prosecute 
the woman, and I am rewarded with a sentence of two years. 
265. What occupation were you following before you came here ? Sawing. 
266. Are you a sawyer ? Yes. 
267. Have you worked in this shop all the time you have been here ? I was stone-cutting 
until I had a little sawing. 
208. What work are you doing now ? Merely rough carpentering-assisting other tradesmen. 

James Frazer examined :- 
J. Frazero 269. By the Chairman: How long have you been here ? About two weeks. 	• 

270. What is your sentence ? Six months. 
271. What is the charge against you ? Stealing from Mr. Malcolm, of Darling Point. 
272. Who was the Judge that tried you ? Mr. Justice Cheeke. 
278. Are you a cabinet-maker ? No. 
274. What trade are you? I have been working at the carpentering trade lately; by 
profession T am a seaman ; I have been master of a vessel in this Colony. 
275. Of what ship were you master? The "Rival" barque. I have also been chief mate 
of heveral ve,sals, but I came to work on shore. 
276. What are you doing now ? Carpentering. 

277. 
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277. What are you making at this particular moment ? tthink it is for a wardrobe. 	Darlinghurst 
278. For whom:?  I du not know. 	 Gaol. 

279. Who gave you orders to make it? There is another man making it ; putting it 8 Feb. '  1861. 
together ; I am trying the stuff ready for him. 	 J. Frazer. 
280. Which is the man ? (The witness pointed him out to the (Jommittee.) 
28. You have been here only about a fortnight ? Yes. 
282. What other work have you seen since you have been here ? I saw a chest of drawers 
made. 

Henry McCarthy examined :- 
283. By the Chairman .• How long have you been in Darlinghurst ? A fortnight. 	H. M•Carthy. 
284. What was your sentence ? Two months. 
285. For what ? I was charged with a misdemeanour in the public streets-indecent 
exposure-but it was not in a street at all. 
286. What trade are you ? A carpenter and joiner. 
287. Did you serve a regular apprenticeship to that trade ? Yes. 
288. Have you been employed in that way since you have been here 7 Yes. 
289. What have you been doing during that time ? Making a wardrobe for some person. 
290. Is that a wardrobe you are making now ? Yes, part of it. 
291. Is that the only work you have done ? Yes ; with the exception of a box, which I 
believe was for the prison. 
202. A cedar chest do you mean ? Yes. 
293. An ordinary cedar chest, with hinges, for holding clothes ? I do not know what it 
was intended for. 

George Barrett examined :- 
291. By the Chairman: How long have you been in this place ? Four weeks were done of a 	0- _arre__. 
my sentence when I came here. I have served four months altogether. 
295. What was your sentence ? Eighteen months. 
296. Who tried you ? Judge Cary. 
297. For what offence ? For obtaining goods under false pretences. 
298. What is your trade ? Rough carpenter. 
299. How have you heen employed since you came here 1 In one thing and another-
different sorts of work. 
300. Have you been employed in this workshop all the time ? Yes. 
301. What are you doing now ? Assisting in making spoons. 
302. Cannot you inform us of any particular kind of work you have done ? In different 
carpentering working-making door studs, drawers, and boxes, and anything that came into 
the shop. 
303. Arc many articles manufactured to go out of the prison ? That I cannot tell. 
:304. Are many portable articles, small articles of furniture, and things of that kind made ? 
I never take notice in regard of that. 
305. You must know what is made in the workshop-have you never seen fancy articles 
made, such as tea caddies ? There have been some odd ones made in the shop. 

William Evans examined :- 
306. By the chairman: Are you a cabinet-maker or a carpenter by trade ? Carpenter. 
307. How long have you been in Darlinghurst ? Three months. 
308. What is your sentence ? Six months. 
309. What was the charge against you ? Felony. 
310. Who tried you ? I am sure I do not know their names; I was tried at the Police Office. 
311. During the time you have been here how have you been employed ? I have made ,a 
large chest of drawers for the hospital; I have made another chest of drawers, and have 
worked at door frames and doors for the building. 
312. Have you never made or seen any small articles made, such as work boxes, tea caddies, 
desks, or anything of that kind ? No. 
813. J3y Mr. Lucas : With reference to these two chests of drawers, do you know what 
became of them ? I do not know who they were for. 
314. You do not know whether they are in the prison ? I cannot say. 
315. What sort of drawers were they ? Cedar. 
316. Large chests ? Regular sized chests. 
817. Have you seen any other drawers made by any other of the men, or any other cabinet 
work ? There was one chest of drawers made, I think, for the clergyman, Mr. Agnew. 

[The Committee left the main joiners' workshop, and entered a smaller one 
where were three men.] 

W. Evans. 

William Morton examined :- 
318. By Mr. Lucas : How long have you been here ? A year and ten months. 
319. 'What is your sentence? Five years. 
320. Were you any trade when you came here ? A baker and confectioner. 
321. How came you to take to carpentering ? I asked the superintendent to put me to it. 
322. Are you making these doors?. Yes. 
323. Can you make one of these doors now ? Yes. 
324. Can you make sashes ? Yes. 
325. Have you made them ? Yes, for the new hospital. 

I57-C 	 326. 

IV, Morton. 
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Darlinghurst 326 .  Have you made any panel doors since you have been here ? Yes, for the new wing. 
5 Feb. 	 Have you made any furniture of any description ? No. 

328. Have you been engaged in any work of that kind ? Yes, I have been making stools. 
W. Morton. 329. What sort of stools ? Plain stools for the gardens, I think. 

330. Do you like the trade of a carpenter better than that of a confectioner ? I am a 
thorough tradesman as a confectioner. 
331. When you go out of this prison, will you follow carpentering ? No, I shall return to 
my own trade. 
332. By Mr. Windeyer : Have you any objection to state what you were tried for ? Horse-
stealing. 
333. Was your sentence imprisonment in Darlinghurst ? I had two sentences, three years 
and two years. 
334. One after the other ? Yes. 
335. With hard labour ? Yes. 
336. Do you get anything in the way of privileges according to the work you do-any extra 
rations ? Yes, we get tea and sugar, and extra bread. 
337. According to the work you do ? For doing more work. 
338. By ilk. Lucas Have you any piece-work here ? No. 
339. By the Chairman You cannot shorten your time or earn money by extra work ? No, 
there is no chance of it. 
340. By Mr. Windeyer Where do you come from originally? Melbourne. 
341. Where were you tried ? At Goullurn. 
342. By the Chairman How long have you been in the Colony ? I was born in the Colony. 
343. In what part of it ? Melbourne. I believe I am one of the oldest natives. 
344. By Mr. Windeyer What is your age ? Twenty-four. 
345. By Mr. Hart : What do you do with your tools at night ? They are left in the 
workshop. 
346. Are you searched before you are locked up ? No. 

John M‘Mahon examined :- 
J. M'Mahou. 347. By the Chairman: How long have you been here ? Seventeen months. 

348. What is your sentence ? Eighteen months. 
349. You will be out of this place then in a month ? In three weeks. 
350. What was the charge against you? Stealing a saddle and bridle. 
351. Who tried you ? I do not know

' 
 I was tried at the Police Office. 

352. Are you a carpenter by trade? No, a cooper. 
353. What have you worked at since you have been here ? Partly at keeping the articles 
in the prison in repair. 
354. Have you worked at your proper trade ? Part of the time I have. 
355. By Mr. Sutherland Keeping the utensils in repair for the use of the prison ? Yes. 
356. And in making articles for the use of the prison ? The greater part of the articles 
used in the prison are supplied by contract. 
357. You have not made many articles ? No, I make articles for the turnkeys sometimes. 
358. Buckets and things of that kind ? Yes. 
359. Washing-tubs ? Yes. 
360. By the Chairman: When did you make the last articles of this kind ? A short time ago. 
361. Three months, three weeks, or three days ? The last articles I made about three weeks 
ago for the use of the Gaol establishment. 
362. What did you mean when you said you made articles for the turnkeys, did you mean 
articles for the household use of the turnkeys? Yes. 
363. When did you make the last article of that kind ? About three months ago. 
364. Who was it for? Mr. Graham. 
365. Did you ever make any article of a similar kind for any other officer Of the eslablish-
ment ? Yes. 
366. For whom? One for Mr. Lee, and one for Mr. Callaghan, and articles for Mr. Wallis. 
367. Who else ? I do not well know. Mr. 11•PCoy has a list of all I made. 
368. By Mr Sutherland: Who is Mr. APCoy The next officer to Mr. Harrison. 
369. By the Chairman: What have you done in this particular workshop-have you assisted 
the carpenters ? I have been sharpening the tools ; I do not do any particular work here. 
370. You do not work at the trade of a carpenter ? No. 
371. By Mr. Hart : How many prisoners usually work in this workshop ? Two and some-
times three. 
372. Was there any one in charge this morning before we came ? Yes. 
373. Was any one present here in charge of you ? Yes, Mr. Macpherson. 
374. Was he here at the moment we came ? Not at the moment. 
375. Were you by yourselves at that time ? Yes, 
376. By the Chairman : At what time were you and the other men working in this shop 
unlocked ? About half-past six I might be. 
377. Did you come direct to this workshop ? We had our breakfast partly first before we 
came-some hominy. 
378. Did you come after breakfast here ? Yes. 
379. Have you been working here ever since ? Yes. 
380. Has Mr. Macpherson been in the workshop in the morning ? Yes. 
381. Several times ? Yes. 
382. Have you been working here ever since you turned out after getting your breakfast ? Yes. 

Martin 
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Martin Mth'alien examined :- 	 Darlingburst 
Gaol. 

383. By the Chairman : flow long have you been here ? Four months. 	 8 Feb., 156L 
384. Under what sentence 7 Six months. 	

_ 
 

385. What was your offence ? Pledging some tools in a carpenter's basket. 
386. That had been stolen ? I did not 	that they had been stolen. 
387. That was proved in Court ? Yes. 
388. Are you a carpenter ? Yes. 
389. Have you worked in the Colony as a carpenter ? Yes. 
390. How long have you been in the Colony ? Six or seven years. 
391. Where have you worked ? At different buildings in Sydney. 
392. Have you always worked in Sydney ? All but three mouths. 
393. Are you well known in the trade ? Yes. 
394. Do you know this gentleman (referring to Mr. Sutherland)? Yes. 
395. Do you know Mr. Sutherland as a builder in Sydney ? Yes. 
396. Were you ever in this position before? No. 
397. The offence for which you came here was your first offence? The first in my life. 
398. What have you been employed at during the four months you have been here? For 
the last few days I have been at work on these doors. 
399. How were you employed when you first came, and, as far as your memory serves you, 
how have you been employed since? I was at work at the fence outside, putting it up, that 
was my first job, then I made a gate for the fence I then made a door for the yard inside. 
I cannot exactly recollect what other work I had; I have had several small jobs. 
400. Surely you can recollect what you have done from then till now-it is not a very long 
time ? I was making pick handles part of my time. 
401. Have you worked generally upon joiners' work for the new buildings in the estab-
lishment? Yes. 
402. Are these doors for the new building ? Yes. 
403. Carpenters' work for the new building has been the work upon which you have generally 
been employed ? Yes. 
404. Have you made any fancy articles during the time you have been here-writing-desks 
or anything of that kind ? No. 
405. Is there any reason for three men being in this shop separate from the others? I am 
not aware. 
406. You are not inferior or superior workmen ? Not that I am aware. 
407. By Mr. 17indeyer. Have you always worked in this shop? I worked in the other 
until some more men came, and then I was shifted into this. 
408. By Mr. Hart: Was that at your own wish? No. I was exempted for a few days, 
and when I went back to work I found, during my absence, another man had been put to my 
bench, and I was put in here. 
409. Why were you exempted ? I was not well. 
410. Is there any overseer over this and the next shop ? Mr. Macpherson. 
411. Does he instruct the men how to perform their work ? Yes. 
412. By the Chairman Have you ever known any other overseers since you have been 
hero ? No. 
413. Mr. Macpherson has had charge of this department ever since you have been hero ? 
Yes. 
414. By Mr. Hart: Are any lads instructed by the overseer ? Yes. 
415. By Mr. Windeyer .. Who tried you? I was tried by the Sydney Bench. 

[The Committee next visited the blacksmith's shop, a building about 20 feet 
by 15, with a sloping roof varying in height from 7 to 10 feet. Six men and an 
overseer were in this shop at two forges.] 

Mr. Shepherd Howarth examined:- 
416. By the Chairman.. Are you an overseer? Yes. 
417. How long have you been so ? Since January, 1859. 
418. Are there any other workshops of which you have charge besides this? Yes, three 
altogether. 
419. How many men have you at work ? Eight. 
420. Are they all at work now ? Yes. 

Mr. S. 
Howarth. 

[Of prisoners working in the blacksmith's shop,-] 

Francis Trindall examined :- 
421. By the Chairman ; How long have you been here ? Between ten and eleven months. 
422. Under what sentence? Under sentence of two years. 
423. For what offence did you come here ? For uttering bad money. 
424. What trade are you ? A blacksmith. 
425. Were you apprenticed to that business? I worked at that trade with my father at 
West Maitland. 
426. Are you a native of the Colony ? Yes, of Maitland. 
427. Were you ever in this position before being convicted of this offence? No. 
428. You were never before convicted? No. 
429. How long have you to serve? A little better than thirteen months. 
430. What judge tried you ? Judge Dickinson. 

431. 

F. TrindalL 
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Darlinghorst 431. How have you been employed during the time you have been in Darlinghurst ? 
(tad.  8 Feb 1861. Working at my trade. ..  432. All the time you have been here ? Yes. 

F. Trindall, 433. What have you generally model:what are you making now ? I am making these 
things (a handle for a well bucket). 
434. What are these buckets used for? I cannot tell you. 
435. Are they to be used in gaol ? I cannot say. 
436. How many of these bucket handles are you making now ? I made, I think, two 
besides this. 
437. How many have you to make ? I do not know. 
438. Have you not orders how many to make-they are not ordered one at a time ? No; 
still I go on till I am told to stop. 
439. Should you go on the whole week with them if you were not told to stop ? Yes. 
440. That is finished-have you another in hand now ? Yes. 
441. When that is finished will you make another ? I do not know ; if I am told I will 
make it. 
442. By Mr. Windeyer : When did you begin making these bucket handles? Yesterday. 
443. By the Chairman : That is the third you have made ? Yes. 
444. By Mr. TVindeyer : When you began this what were you told to do? Make bucket 
handles. 
445. By the Chairman: How many were you told to make ? I could not say now whether 
I was told to make any particular number. 
446. You do not know what they are to be used for? I do not. 
447. You do not know whether they are to be used in the gaol or not ? I do not. 
448. What was the last thing you made previous to the bucket handles ? That I could 
not say. 
449. Why it was only yesterday you commenced making these? Yes. 
450. Surely you can recollect what you made yesterday ? No, I could not. 
451. What did you make the day before that ? I could perhaps in the course of a few hours 
remember. 
452. What did you make the day before that ? That I could not tell you unless I was left 
to consider for a few hours, then I might be able to say. 
453. What do you suppose you will make to-morrow-do you suppose you will make more 
bucket handles? I could not tell you ; what is sent to the shop I do. 
454. Can you inform us any single thing you have made in the week besides bucket handles ? 
I could not say at once what I have been working at. If I had a little time to consider I 
dare say I could mind the most. There are so many things, sharpening tools, and such 
things as these. 
455. By Mr. Mate : How long does it take to make one of these ? About an hour, or an 
hour and a half. 
456. What do you do at night when you have done your work, do you leave the shop in this 
state ? As it is. 
457. Are you not searched? No, we are not searched in the evening. 
45S. By Mr. Hart : How often do you change your clothes here ? About once a week. 
459. When did you put that shirt on ? Last Saturday. 
460. And your trousers? And my trousers. 
461. And you have not had any change since ? No. 
462. How long have you been wearing that handkerchief round your neck ? Almost ever 
since I have been in gaol. 
463. That is, between ten and eleven months ? Yes. 
464. Did you wash yourself to-day ? Yes, in the morning. 
465. How ? I washed myself in the tub. 
466. Do you ever wash in a bath ? No, I do not. 
467. You never wash thoroughly in a bath ? No. 
468. Is that the case with the rest of the prisoners in this workshop ? I believe it is; we 
do not know where to do it. 
469. Is there no place for that purpose here ? I have never seen any place. 
470. Is your skin in a dirty state now ? It is not in the cleanest state, still I wash my 
body. 
471. Would you wish to have a bath ? Yes ; as this shop is a dirty place to work in. 
472. When was your hair out last ? I could not say what day it was ; it was on the last 
day that we had hair-cutting here. 
473. How long since was that ? It might be a month or better. 
474. More than a month ? It might be, I would not be certain. 

James Smith (a man of colour) examined :- 

James Smith. 475. By the Chairman: How long have you been here ? A month. 
476. For what time were you sentenced 	A month. 
477. What was your offence? Taking a pair of boots. 
478. You were convicted of theft ? Yes. 
479. Have you been working here as assistant to the blacksmiths ? No; I was brought 
here this morning. 
480. You never worked here before ? No. 

James 
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James Cotton examined :- 	 Darlinghurst 
Gaol, 

r481, By the Chairman: Are you a blacksmith by trade ? No, a nailmaker ; but I can do 8 Feb., 1861. 
•other work. 

Howdong have you been here? Eleven weeks. 	 Cotton. 
483. What was your sentence ? Three months. 
484. For what offence ? Larceny. 
-4E5. Were you sent here by the Sydney Police Bench ? Yes. 

• 486. How long have you been in the Colony ? Ever since 1833. 
487. Have you worked in Sydney ? Yes ; till my trade got that bad by so many nails 
-coming from home, that I could get no work. 
488. What have you been doing in gaol ? Working as a blacksmith. 
-489. What have you been doing ? Sharpening chisels and picks, and anything the overseer 

• of the shop told me to do. 
490. Have you ever made things of this kind (bucket handles)? No; in fact, I could not 
work very much when I came here, but by the instructions of the overseer, I did as well as 
d could. 
491. At what time did you come here this morning ? Directly the bell rang, the first thing; 

'limn we went to breakfast at eight, stopped half an hour, went to work again; we go to 
"Inner at twelve, stop an hour

' 
 come back again, and knock off at four. 

492. Who is your overseer ? Mr. Howard. 
• 498. Has lie been overseer all the time you have been here ? Yes. 
494. By Mr. Hart : When did you last change your clothes? Last Saturday. 
495. Is that the day on which the prisoners usually change their clothes ? Yes. 
-496. Have you washed yourself all over since you have been here ? Yes, I washed myself 
up by. the well in the tub. There is a great trough there, and if a man likes be can wash 
himself there. 
497. How often have you done that ? Oftentimes since I have been here. 
498. Are the men searched when they leave here after work. Sometimes, I think ; at least 
I have been searched once or twice, I think. 

. 499. Is that all ? Yes. 
600. Is it a rule to search the prisoners? Yes, I believe it is. 
501. Are you searched every day ? The overseer, when we go out, keeps a strict eye on us, 
so that we cannot take anything out. When we get there, sometimes we are searched. 

James Daly examined :- 
502. By the Chairman : How long have you been in this prison ? Nearly four months. 	James Daly. 
603. What is the term of your sentence? Three years, with hard labour. 
504. For what offence ? A market robbery. 

. 505. Breaking into a stall? Yes. 
506. Were any other persons sentenced with you? Yes, one to Parramatta, and the other 
to Cockatoo. 
507. What is the name of the man who was sent to Cockatoo ? John Owen. 
608. Who tried you ? Judge Holroyd. 
509. What have you been employed at during the time you have been here ? I have been 
twisting at blacksmith's work. 
510. Did you take to it of your own choice? I was put to it. 
511. You were not at this trade before you came to prison ? No, I was never at any work. 
512. What occupation were you before you came here ? A jockey. 
513. Are you a native of the Colony ? Yes. 
514. What is your age ? I was sixteen last anniversary day. 
515. By Mr. Windeyer : Can you read and write ? No; I never had the opportunity, I 

' ;lost my friends when I was very young. 
616. Have you any opportunity of learning to read and write in the gaol ? No, not now. 
517. Was there at one time ? Yes, when Mr. Callaghan was here. 
-518. What was be ? The schoolmaster. 
519. There is no schoolmaster now ? No. 
520. By Mr. Hart: Was be a prisoner ? No. 
521. By Air. Windeyer : What clothes did you get when you came into the gaol ? I had 
my trousers when I came from Cockatoo, a jacket, and shirt. I wore them for two months, 
and then I got another shirt the other day. 
522. By the Chairman: Were the articles you were charged with stealing out of the market 
jewellery 	No. 
523. What were they ? £13, a pair of boots, and a basket. 
524. By Mr. Windeyer : When did you last change your clothes ? On Saturday last. 
525. By the Chairman: Have you ever washed all over your body since you have been in 
-the gaol ? Several times ; I generally wash myself in the yard. 
526. From head to foot ? Yes. 
527. By Mr. Hart: Do other men wash in the same water, or is the water emptied? Some 
of the men do not wash, they do not like stripping in the yard. 
528. When you wash, do other prisoners wash in the same tub after you ? In the same 
tub, but not with the same water. 
529. By Mr. Windeyer : Are any combs allowed ? No. 
-530. By Mr. Hart: What religion are you ? A Catholic. 
631. How often do you receive religious instruction? No further than I go every Sunday 
to it. 	 • 

532 
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Darlinaurst 532. Does the clergyman visit the gaol every week ? I never see him. 
G" 1.361. 533. What does he do on Sunday ? Just a mass in the morning, and sometimes in the 

evening. 
James Daly. 534. Has he spoken to you individually at all ? When first I was committed Father 

Sheehy spoke to me. 
535. Do you know your catechism ? I know some of it. 
536. Are there any other Catholic convicts? Yes ; I am about the smallest in the place. 
537. Are the Catholics taught their catechism by any one ? No, except by one of the 
men in the yard. Some of the men study and learn it. 
538. By Mr. Lucas: You say you change your clothes every Saturday ? Yes. 
539. How can you change if you have only one shirt ? Some of the men going out may 
give you a shirt, or you may get a man to lend you one. 
540. If you have only one you do not change your shirt at all ? No, you cannot unless you 
get some person to lend you one. 
541. By the Chairman : Where are you locked up ? In No. 19 cell, hard labour wing. 
542. Is it a single cell ? No. 
543. How many are there in the cell ? Four besides me. 
544, Do you know their names ? One is Arabian, who came by the mail-boat ; another is 
George Stephens. I do not know the others' names. 
545. Are they young or old? Older than me-one is a middle-aged man. 
546. .By MS. Hart .• Before you came here used you to attend church ? Yes, I used to go 
of a night. 
547. By the Chairman How many boys of your age are here ? Only one in our yard. 

[The Committee next visited a small blacksmith's shop adjoining, in which 
three men were employed.] 

John Carroll examined:- 
John Carroll. 548. By the Chairman : Are you a blacksmith by trade ? No, a tin and copper smith. 

549. Did you ever work at smiths' work before you came here ? Yes, I had a little insight 
into it. 
550. When did you come here ? On the 1st April I was tried. 
551. What was your sentence ? Two years, with hard labour. 
552. What was the charge ? Uttering a forged cheque. 
553. By whom were you tried. By Judge Dickinson. 
554. Where ? At the Court House. 
555. During the time you have been here how have you been employed ? In working at 
any trade, sometimes as a tinsmith, at other times working for the gaol as a blacksmith. 
556. Can you state to us with any degree of {order the course of work upon which you have 
been engaged from the time you came here ? You get such a variety of work that it would 
puzzle you. 
557. What was the first work you did ? I was working at my own business as a tinsmith. 
558. What did you make ? Several things for the gaol, pots, pannicans, tin dishes, kettles. 
559. How long did you continue to be employed in that manner ? Three months. 
560. Did you do any coppersmith's work ? Yes, I made some copper tea-kettles. 
561. The usual copper tea-kettles? Yes. 
562. Did you do any other coppersmith's work ? No. 
563. How many copper tea-kettles did you make ? I made one, and repaired several. 
564. Then what work did you do ? Then I made some half-dozen baking dishes, eullenders, 
and wash-band basins. 
565. Since you have been working at the forge what kind of work have you generally done ? 
General work for the stonemasons in the gaol, sharpening and repairing their tools. 
566. Have you over made any articles complete in themselves, as bedsteads, children's cats? 
Yes. 
567. Any other articles of a portable character ? Yes, I have been assisting to make such 
things. 
568. Will you state what things in particular you have made ? A cot, I may mention, I 
assisted to make. 
569. Did you make any other articles for domestic use ? I assisted in making out-door 
work. 
570. What do you mean by out-door work ? Such as Government orders as we were told. 
571. What articles were they ? I assisted in making a branch to hold a lamp for the 
Victoria Military Barracks. 
572. Has there been much work done for the Military Barracks ? Yes; there has not been 
so much done lately as there was six months ago. 
573. Are you a native of the Colony ? Yes, a native of Sydney. 
574. What is your age? Twenty-four. 
575. Arc your parents in Sydney ? My mother and sisters are, but, unfortunately, my 
father is in a similar place to myself. 
576. Were you over in a similar position to this before you were convicted of this offence ? 
No, I was here once before for an assault on my wife, that is all. 
577. You are married thou? Yes, and have one child 
578. How long have you been married ? Six years. 
579. You married then at the age of 18? Yes. 
580. Does your wife ever visit you hero? Yes, every visiting Sunday, every opportunity 
when she can she comes to see me. 

581. 
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581. What regulations are you subjected to in the gaol as to cleanliness-are you required to Darlinghnrat 
wash at any particular period ? No, we have to wash our own clothes, and clean our own 	Chml * 8 
cells. 

	Feb., 1861. 

582. If you had not chosen to wash to-day, would you have been allowed to neglect ? I John Carrot 
never saw an instance of a person having been punished for not doing it. 
583. You are never directed to wash yourself from head to foot ? We are never asked. 
584. 1101V often have you a change of linen ? We get half a day a week ; on Saturday we 
knock off at twelve, and have the remainder of the day for washing. 
585. Have you any clothing from the prison ? We are allowed only one shirt. 
586. By Mr. Sutherland What is the class of work generally done for the Military 
Barracks? We have made a stand to hold the lamp over the gate-we have also made 
staples and bolts for the new building. 
587. Is this the kind of shirt usually given? Yes. 
588. Have they all these words upon them ? Yes, " Darlinghurst Gaol." 

Edward Tarlington examined :- 
589. By the Chairman How long have you been here ? Going on for three months. 	E.Tarlington. 
590. What is your sentence ? Two years. 
591. On what charge ? Horse stealing. 
592. Where were you tried? At Singleton. 
593. By whom ? Judge Owen. 
594. Are you a native of the Colony ? Yes. 
595. What is your age? 17 in May. 
596. You were about 16 when you were tried ? I was tried in November-I was then 
turned of 16. 
597. Are your friends living at Singleton ? No; I do not know where my friends are-the 
last time I heard of them they were goinr,

° 
 to the Snowy River. 

598. Where were you born ? At the Glebe, Sydney. 
599. Did you go to Singleton with your parents? No, I went up the country stock-keeping. 
600. How long is it since you went up the country ? Getting on for two years. 
601. Since you have been here how have you been employed ? Striking. 
602. Have you been accustomed to this before ? Yes, with my father ; my father is a 
blacksmith. 
603. Can you read and write ? Yes. 
604. You received some education in Sydney ? Yes. 
605. What school did you go to ? I went to several schools; the first school I went to was 
close to the Scots Church, Mr. Donald 31aepherson's. 
606. Can you write pretty well? Yes. (The witness wrote his name.) 
607. How many boys arc there in the gaol of your age? I do not know. 
608. Are there others ? Yes, there is one in the other shop. 
609. Do you ever have conversation with them ? Yes. 
610. Do you know whether they can read and write ? No. 
611. Is,there any public instruction in the gaol? Not that lam aware of. 
612. What regulations are you subjected to as to cleanliness-are you ever required to wash 
yourself ? I wash myself before my meals. 
613. Suppose you neglected to do so would you be required-are you ever asked ? No. 
614. It is left to you as a matter of choice either to wash or to go unwashed ? Yes. 
615. In point of fact when were you washed last ? This morning. 
616. Do you wash every morning ? Yes. 
617. That is, your hands and face ? Yes. 
618. Do you ever wash your body all over from bead to foot ? Yes, in the yard. 
619. Do you often change your linen ? Once a week. 
620. Are you supplied with the necessary means of keeping your hair clean ? I had a comb 
when I came here, and I afterwards asked Mr. 3PCoy for one, and he gave me one. 
621. Do you who work in these shops got any extra rations, or any privileges? Yes; besides 
what we have at our dinner time we are allowed extra bread, and tea and sugar on Saturdays. 

[The previous witness, John Carroll, said they had half a pound of bread daily, £3. Carroll.) 
a quarter of a pound of tea and a little sugar weekly.] 

John Hall examined :- 
622. By the Chairman : Of what place are you a native? Liverpool, in England. 
623. How long have you been here? About a year and eleven months. 
624. Under what sentence are you ? Three years. 
625. For what offence? Horse stealing. 
626. Who tried you ? Judge Dickinson. 
627. Where ? At Goulburn. 
628. How have you been employed since you have been here ? I have done different things 
since I have been in gaol. When I first came into the gaol I was exempted by the doctor 
from hard work. I have been piling stones and taking away the dirt from the yard, and 
different things. 
62.9. What are you doing in here at this moment? I came here to take the dirt away. 
630. You are not assigned to this workshop? No. 
631. Can you read and write ? Yes, a little. 
632. What is your age ? Twenty-two. 

633. 

John Halt 
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Daningliurat 633. Have you any books to read during your leisure time ? Yes. Gaol.  
8 Feb 1861 634 What books have you been reading? Different books, Chambers' Journal and History-., 	. 	_ 	 c • 

IMO. By Mr. Mate : Do you get any books you like on Sunday ? Yes. 
John mil, 636. What do you do on Sunday ? On Sunday there is church or chapel at the usual hours?, 

that is regular every Sunday, and is about the best point there is in the place. 
637. By Arr. Hart: What religion are you ? A Roman Catholic. 
638. Bow often do you see your clergyman ? Once a week, except sometimes he may come 
to bear confessions on Saturday, or to visit the sick. 
639. Have you had private conversation with him since you have been here ? Yes. 

[The Committee having left the blacksmiths' shops, proceeded to the cooking-
house, where the cook was engaged in serving out dinner to the various messes in-
kids.] 

The Cook examined :- 
The Cook, 610. The Chairman : For how many men is this the allowance (pointing to one of Mr 

kids)? For six men. 
641. Of what is it supposed to consist ?2& lbs. of meat when cooked. 
649. What do you put into the soup ? Potatoes, carrots, and a few parsnips. 
643. Always about the same ? Yes; we want a few more vegetables; there are too =lip 
potatoes. 
644. With what is it thickened-with rice ? No, with a little hominy. 
645. Can you state what quantity of vegetables in proportion to the meat you have for the -
entire mess ? The quantity of meat served out to-day was 256 lbs.; of potatoes, carrots, and. 
parsnips, 157 lbs. Of this there was used for the messes-put into the copper-140 lbs. 
vegetables and 230 lbs. meat. 
646. You think the quantity of potatoes is disproportionate ? Yes. 
647. How many men are to be supplied with that boiling of soup ? I have to supply to-day 
193 males, 32 females, at hard labour, and 115 male and female confines. 
648. By fir. Hart : Is the diet always the same ? Yes. 

Matthias Nolan, stating that he was the delegate appointed by the prisoners, and coming, 
forward-examined:- 

M. Nolan. 649. By Mr. Sutherland: Is the bread similar to what is hero? Yes. 
650. By Mr. Hart: Do you consider to-day's bread wholesome or not? Some I do. 
651. And some of it do you think unwholesome? Yes, some of it is very heavy. 
652. Who has the duty of seeing whether the bread is wholesome or not ? There is a dele-
gate appointed every day. I are the delegate for to-day. 
653. Did you approve of the bread to-day ? Yes, I did; it is better than it has been for-
some time past. 
654. Are the prisoners satisfied with what the delegate decides ? Sometimes they are, more 
times they are not, for it is very seldom we have good bread. If I had sent it back thitats 
morning it would only have been sent back again. 
655. By Mr. Sutherland : Then you do not keep it because it is good ? It is better-this. 
morning than it has been for some time past. 

[The Committee having examined the bread, itc., proceeded to the 'about, 
wing, entering the ward of which they passed to the labour yard, where the pritoners 
were crowded beneath a narrow shed, as a shelter from the rain, which was fidlinp 
heavily.] 

John Lynch corning forward and requesting to be heard-examined :- 
John Lynch. 656. By the Chairman: When did you come here ? I received a sentence for forgery, and 2  

came here from Cockatoo Island nine months ago to serve a second sentence in this gaol. 
657. When did you receive your sentence ? In February, 1858. 
658. By whom were you tried ? By Judge DieltInson, in Sydney, at the Criminal Conn. 
659. You were sentenced to Cockatoo ? Yes, for five years. 
660. How long have you been here ? Going on for ten months. 
661. How have you been employed ? Cutting stones over there, earning at the rate of tem 
shillings a day for the Government. 
662. Did I understand you that you wished to make a' complaint to these gentlemen-plebe-
are a Committee of the Legislative Assembly as to the usage you receive here ? Of the • 
bedding here. 
663. You can state what you like ? I have only had one blanket from the time I Same in-
till now, it has never been changed, and the bedding is wretchedly dirty and filthy. 
664. Do I understand you to say that there are vermin in the cells ? Yes; I have had re. ,  
dean myself several times, and throw my clothes away. 
665. Are there any means of personal washing? There are means of washing these blanket. ,   
if they were taken out and washed. 
666. Am there means of bathing ? There is a bath, but it is not for us, we never get it. 
607. You have been hero nearly ten months; supposing you had neglected to wash year. 
self would you have been compelled to do so ? No. 
668. Are there no regulations to compel persons here to wash ? NO. 
669. You must have some knowledge of what is going on here; are there any instances. int 
which persons have never washed during the time you have been here? I believe them/ 

gas: 
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are sonic who do not try to look after themselves properly-men can wash if they like, DarIinghurst 
there is water to wash here in the yard. 
670. Do you always get good bread? Not always; sometimes it is very indifferent; and 

PeGha11.861. .,.
0  

when we refuse it it comes back again-we may take it or go without. 	 John Lynch. 
671. By Mr. Ilart : Bow is the water supplied? From a tank, when there is a scarcity 
in the pipes. 
672. Is it from the water works? Yes; I understand the pipes are from the water works 
on Lachlan Swamps. 
673. Is there anything else you wish to state? No; only as to the way we have rations, 
our rations are sometimes very inferior. 
674. Is this your first offence ? Yes ; I was a builder in Sydney for years. I got.a 
sentence of twelve years from Judge Dickinson ; lie mitigated it down to two fives and two 
ones. I ant now earning at the rate of lOs a day for the Government. 
675. By the Chairman : What are yin doing ? Cutting octagonal shafts for the 
Telegraph Office in Sydney. Here is my clothing, one shirt. 
676. How long have you had that hat ? It is the only thing I have had since I came here, 
and I got that from a man who was going out, Nine mouths ago I asked the superintendent 
for a hat, and I could not get one. 
677. What is your cell ? No. 24. 

John Calahan, having also expressed a wish to be heard, was examined :- 
678. By the Chairman : You wish to say something to the Committee-how long have you J. Galahan. 
been here ? Twenty months.  
679. Under what sentence ? Two years. 
680. What judge gave you that sentence ? Judge Stephens. 
081. What was the charge against you ? Assault and attempt to commit a rape. 
682. You can make what statement you wish ? It is with regard to the rations-we End 
very bad bread one day at dilater, we objected to it, and sone were locked up in conmquence 
during the dinner hour. I was afterwards sent down to the quarry, and in consequence of 
the heat of the weather, drinking a quantity of water, and having no food from breakfast 
until the evening, f had a bad attack in my inside. 
683. Have you any complaint to make about the state of your cell ? No. 
684. Are there vermin in your cell ? No ; unless bugs. 

George Williams examined:- 
685. By the Chairman : How long have you been in the prison? Six months. 	 G. 
686. What was your offence ? Horse stealing. 
OWL Who tried you ? Mr. Callaghan, at Albury. 
688. What was your sentence? Three years, with hard labour. 
689. What have you been employed at during the three mouths you have been here? In 
the stone yard, mast of my time, assisting in cutting stone. 
690. You are in irons now ? Yes. 
091. When were you put in irons? When I went over to the Iland. 
692. Are you one of the m.11 who came from Cockatoo Island? Yes, and I have been in 
the other wing most of my time; I am now in a cell as lousy as a bai.dicoot, and I have no 
means of keeping myself clean ; I am picking them off me every day. 

William Collins examined:- 
093. By Mr. Hart: What is your age? Eighteen. 
694. How long have you been here? Eleven months. 
695. What is your offence? Uttering. 
696. Are you in a cell with other people? Yes. 
097. Have you intercourse with the people who are here for hard labour-can you speak 
when you like ? Yes. 
698. B Air. 1Vmdeyer : How often do you change your clothes? Once or twice a week. 
699. By .16...11,rris: How many shirts have you? Some have three or four, others have 
only one. 
700. How many have yen? Two or three. 
701. How gid you get them ? Asked Mr. Harrison for them. 

[The Committee re-entered the labour ward.] 

Thomas Harvey examined :- 
[The prisoner's throat was frightfully swollen, and he appeared to speak with extreme 

difficulty.] 
702. By the Chairman : How long have you been here? Four years next month. 
703. What is your sentence? Twenty-two years. 
704. What were you tried for ? Highway robbery. 
705. Who tried you? Mr. Justice Therry, at Bathurst. 
706. Had you one sentence ? There were two charges. 
707. 'What was the other charge? They were both for highway robbery. My sentences 
were fifteen years and seven. Since I have been in trouble here I have been very bad. 
708. By Me. Wilson .• What is the matter with "'on? My throat is very bad ; I can 
scarcely swallow anything. 

157-D 	 709. 

W. Collins. 

T. Haney. 
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Thriiithurit. -1(19. What does the doctor say is the matter with you ? He says he can do nothing for me 
• G1/4“:11 .  8 Thib..; 	Ofr. Wilson examined the prisoner's throat.) The rations I am now getting I cannot make 

use of; this brown bread I cannot swallow ; I have asked the doctor to give me white bread, 
1 1.kHarrey. and he has refused. 

110. Is there any of the other food you object to? Bread is the only food I can eat, and 
since the doctor stopped my white bread, which was allowed me for a short time, 1 have 
scarcely been able to take anything. 
711. Has that swelling in your throat become worse ? Yes. 
712. May not the difficulty of swallowing arise rather from the increased swelling than from 
the nature of the bread ? I think it is the bread. 
713. That brown bread is better for you than white ? I cannot get it down ; white bread 
will crumble, but this will not. I was brought from Cockatoo to undergo an operation, and 
I was willing to bear it; Dr. Nathan, Dr. West, and I think Dr. Greenup, examined me, 
find they thought it should not be performed. They said it would kill me, and I have been 
here ever since. 

• [The Committee next visited the solitary cells, in which the insubordinate 
prisoners from Cockatoo Island were confined, and remarked upon the ill ventilated 
state of the corridor, the window at one end of which was closed with panes of glass.] 

William Henry examined :— • 
IV.Henry. 714. By the Chairman .• When were you tried? In September, 1800. 

715. Where ? At Bathurst. 
710. For what offence ? Stealing. 
717. Who tried you ? Judge Wise. 
718. What was your sentence ? Six years on the public works, with hard labour. 
719. When were you sent to Cockatoo Island ? In December. 
720. Did you not join in the insubordination which took place there ? Yes. 
721. Will you state what led you to do so? There were regulations existing by which each 
prisoner could shorten his sentence more than half. In the first instance he had half his 
time reduced by the ticket-o6leave system, and he could shorten it one-third less by the 
mark system fur extra work and good conduct. That was an inducement to good conduct 
and hard labour. When I arrived on the island I find that system done away, and no 
remuneration or reward held out for good conduct or hard labour. The full sentence was 
carried out indiscriminately, no matter for what crime. Moreover, we were put to labour 
with men sentenced under the old regulations, we were put to the same labour and to the 
same task, so that a casual observer would imagine we were all labouring under the same 
system. About eighteen months ago I heard that the prisoners made a similar movement or 
insurrection, and that some Members of the Legislative Assembly visited the island, and pro-
mised an amelioration of their condition. I am not aware whether those gentlemen paid their 

•visit officially, but under their promises the men went to their work. Now, finding that nothing 
has been dune, that no alteration has been made, we have determined to refuse to work till 
we have some means of shortening our time, or some rewaal for good conduct. We are all 
aware that in every prison under the British flag, every prisoner has some means of 

•mitigating his sentence, and we conceive that we are very hardly treated under the present 
system, in being deprived of that privilege. We arranged together on the lst of January 
that we would refuse to work ; we talked the matter over in our wards, and we carried out 
our intention on the following day. 

[The Committee then proceeded to the trial wing, where was confined,—] 
George Swan examined:— 

George Swan. 722. By the Chairman: When were you sentenced ? On the 12th September, 1860, on 
a charge of murder. Judge Milford tried me at Maitland, and sentenced me to death. 
723. Your sentence was afterwards commuted ? Yes, to life imprisonment, the first three 
years in irons. 
724. You were removed from Maitland to Cockatoo Island ? Yes, I arrived there the latter 
part of November. 
725. What kind of work were you set to do ? Drawing a hand cart, to assist in the quarries. 
726. How long did you continue working? I was unwell when I first went there, under 
the doctor's hands. I then went to work to build a wharf for the steamer to come to, on 
one side of the island. I was taken into the hospital by Dr. West. 
727. What was the matter with you ? Rheumatism. 
728. How long did you continue to work before the offence for which you were removed 
here ? I was under the doctor's hands some weeks. 
729. You did refuse to work ? Yes, on the 2nd January. 
730. Why did you refuse to work ? Because I had been up to the office to ask to be allowed 
to write to the Government and was refused. I wanted to know if they would bring Mr. 
Fitzgerald, the publican, face to face with me, that I might ask him some questions relative 
to the occurrences that happened in his house on the morning of the 18th April. 
731. What do you suppose he would prove? He might know the man's name that was in 
his house on that morning of the murder, and if he knew that man's name, and the man 
eould be produced, he could prove that I was at Lochinvar. 
732, By Mr IVindeyer You believe this man could prove that on the morning when this 
man was killed you were at Lochinvar, and could not have been at Stoney Creek Yes, at 
the time of the trial I wanted Mr. Fitzgerald to be brought forward, as I thought that as 
this man was a carrier he might know his name, and he could prove that I was at Looli[ilnovurar. 
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[Four lads, named Alfred Young, aged 14 years 6 months, Edward Chalk, aged Daelingbitrit 
15, George Tagg, aged 15, and John Mulholland, alias the "Cadger," aged 9, Imp, 8. ism  
brought from cell No. 7 in the same wing.] 

Alfred Young examined:- 

733. By M. Hart : What is yourage ? Fourteen years, the 6th last June. 	:•vAlfredYoung. 
734. What was your offence? I was charged with horse stealing. 
735. What was your sentence?' Twelve months. 
736. How long have you been here? Four months all but a week. 	 I . 
737. What part of the gaol are you usually put in? This part, down in the committed yard. 
738. Do you mix with the convicted prisoners ? No, I am kept separate. 
739. Can you read and write? Yes 
740. Do you ever read? Sometimes when we get books. 
741. What books do you get? Some out of the library-some novels. 
742.. Can you recollect the name of any novel you have read here ? I have read ono of the 
name of Margaret Catehpole, Harry Mowbray, and Valentine Vox. 
743. Who supplies you with the.ie books ? Mr. Ainsworth. 
744. Is he one of the turnkeys? No, a prisoner. 
745. Has be charge of the library ? Yes. 
746. Do you ever write? No, I have not been awriting, that was a privilege I bad ; 
have not got it now. 
747. Have you any opportunity of practising writing if you wish to do so? Yes, if Mr. 
Beverley will let us. 
748. What religion are you ? A Protestant. 
749. How often do you sec the clergyman ? Twice a week sometimes. 
750. What, does he do when he comes ? Preaches. 
751. On what days? Wednesdays and Sundays. 
752. Does he give you any private instruction ? No. 
75$. What clergyman have you seen ? I never heard his name ; he is a one-armed 
gentleman. 
754. Has any other clergyman who you thought belonged to this gaol visited it ? No. 
755. Have you seen the Protestant bishop here ? No, and I would not know him perhaps 
if I did see him. 
756. Have you heard that lie has been here? No. 
757. Have you heard of any other clergyman but Mr. Agnew being here? I have heard of 
the priest being here. 
758. What do you do during the day time ? We do nothing now, we used to write. 
759. Would you be desirous of learning a trade ? Yes, Jam sentenced to be bound out. 
760. To what trade ? I was not told that. 
701. 11ztve you any parents? I have got a mother. 
762. Where is she? In Sydney. 
763. What is she? I do not know; I have not seen her for a good while before. 
764. How long was it before you came here that you saw your another ? Three years. 
765. Have you done any work in the gaol? No; Mr. Holroyd ordered that ! was to be 
kept separate from any other prisoners. 
766. Are you kept separate? Yes; there are three other boys in the cell with me. 
767. Bow often have any of the boys with you been sentenced befere? The smallest one 
has been twice during my time. 
768. The other, Chalk ? I have never seen him before. 
769. Has Tag; ever been here before? Once before. 
770. What do you talk about when you are in the cells together ? About various little 
things. 
771. About the novels you have been reading? Yes. 

4772. What did you think of Margaret Catelipole? I liked it very much. 
773. Have you been telling your companions what a nice book it was? Sometimes. 
774. What did you during the three years in which you did not see your mother ? I have 
been up the country with this man. 
775. What man ? The man I took the horse from. 
770. What were you engaged in ? Ile learned me to farm. 
777. Have you had any religious books supplied to you to read? Yes, I had a Bible. 
778 How often have you had the Bible? I had it till the Cockatoo men came here, and 
then I lost it. 
779. What part of the Bible used you to read? Almost any port of it. 
780. Has any particular part struck you? Yes, about Joseph and his brethren. 
781. Can you tell me in a few words 'Joseph's history-what occurred to Joseph? He was 
sold by his brethren, and bought by the Egyptians. 
782. What did he become after? He got in prison, and then afterwards he interpreted 
Pharoah's dream; and then lie became the governor of the country. 
783. What inference do you draw from that? I thought a good deal of it. 
784. Suppose you were to get out now what would you think of doing? I would go and 
step at home, stop with my another, or go up the country again. 
785. Would you know where to find your mother? Yes. 
780. Is she in service? She is living either with any brother or sister, I do not know 
which. 

Edward 
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Darling-burst 	 Edward Chalk examined:- 
Gaol. 

S Fob., 1861.787% By Me. Hart: What is your age? Fifteen. 
- 	788. What were you sent here for? 1 was sent on suspicion of stealing. 

F.. Chalk. 789. What is your sentence? Three months. 
790. Have you been here be5me? Once. 
791. What for ? On suspicion of taking an oil-skin coat. 
792. Are your parents livatg? My stepfather and my mother are living in Sydney. 
793. Are you a native of the Colony? I am. 
794. Have you been engaged in any business? I was at shoemaking for a month, and 
I have been shepherding up the country, in New England. 

George Tagg examined:- 
George Tagg. 795. Bel Mr. Hart : How old are you? Fifteen. 

796. What is your sentence? Three months. 
797. What were you sent here for ? On suspicion of stealing a watch. 
798. Have you been engaged in any business? I have been at sea for three years. I had 
been on shore about six weeks when I was sent here. 
799. Do you get any bunks to read ? Yes. 
800. When did you get the last ? Last Saturday. 
801. 'What is the name of it ? " Woman's Love.' 
802. Have you that book ? No, I lent it to the man in the next cell, 

John Mulholland, alias "The Cadger," examined :- 
aulholland. 803. By the Chairman: What is your age? Going on for ten. 

804. What were you sent here for ? A till. 
805. For robbing a till? Yes. 
806. How many times have you been here before ? Twice ; I was in for a till and for 
Lair oil. 
807. Have you a father or mother? Yes. 
808. When you come out again will you keep away from these tills? I don't knew. 

[Of other prisoners in the trial wing,-] 

James Wade examined:- 
James Wade. 809. By the Chairman: Under what sentence are you labouring ? Seven years. 

810. For what ? ['kiting a lady's pocket of 2s. 4*d. 
811. Were you sentenced to Cockatoo Island? Yes, on the 4th June last. I was tried 
before a Magistrate, and wished ti have the case summarily dealt with; but having a 
lawyer I left the matter in his hands, and be had it brought before a higher Court. 
812. By whom were you tried ? By Mr. Justice Holroad, and he gave me seven years. If 
the case had been dealt with summarily I should not have had more than three or six 
months. Certainly I had been in gaol nce before. 
813. What were you in gaol for before? A similar thing. 
814. What sentence did you get then ? One month. 
815. That was given you by a Magistrate ? Yes. 
816. You were never tried before a Court until this occasion ? No. Another thing was 
that a policeman swore that he knew me to be sent to Hobart Town, which I was never 
nearer than at present. I have been in the Colony three years; I landed at Adelaide, and 
could have proved that I was a hard-working man. 
817. By Mr. hart: Have you sent any petition to Government? No. 
818. By Mr Wilson: Have you asked leave to send any petition to Government? No; if 
Iliad it would have been all the same ; for a rod many asked and wore not allowed, and I 

. did not think it was of any use asking. That was the reason of my falling out, I thought 
was very unjustly deatt with. What is the god of my b:ing there for seven years working"' 
my life out ? I might as well be here as go there for seven years, and have no hope of 
anything. 

John English examined :- 
John English. 819. By  the Chairman: What country are you a native of ? Ireland. 

820. You were in the army ? Yes. 
821., When did you enlist ? In January, 1851. I came out in the 11th regiment, and 
deserted from it when it was going home. I was afterwards taken and handed over to the 
12th regiment. I was tried by a district court martial, and got three mouths' imprisonment. 
While I was doing the three months-I had done two out of the three-I complained to 
Captain Miller of the cell being damp, and he called me a damned impertinent puppy, and 
said I should not go on with my tricks in that regiment. I told him I was no poppy: he 
ordered me to silence. I then raised my hand and struck him in the face, but I never 
marked - 
822. You were tried by court martial? Yes, and was sentenced to transportation for the 
term of my natural life. 
823. You were sent to Cockatoo Island ? Yes. 
824. How long were you on the island before this insubordination took place ? Seventeen 
months. 
825. You refused to work ? Yes. 

826. 
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'826. On what ground ? I fell out with the rest of the men, till something was done by the Darlinghurst 
Government to alter the regulations, so that we might shorten our time. 	 Gaol. 

8 Feb., 1861. 827. By Mr. Hort Is that oakum fur you to pick (pointing to seine  e pieces of old rope n 
the prmontr's cell)? Yes. 	 John English. 
828. Why is it not picked ? Because I am bad in my inside. 
829. How long have you been ill ? Since yesterday. 
830. Has the doctor been to see you ? Yes. 

Thomas Brown, alias Laniger, examined:— 
831. By Me Chairman : What is your sentence ? Five years. 
832. For what offence ? Stealing from a dwelling. 
883. Who tried you ? The Chief Justice. 
831. How long were you on Cockatoo Island before the insubordination took place ? About 
eighteen months. 
835. What is the statement you widi to make? Thlatiyo to the new Act. In the first 
place, when ,non are sentemed and rm.:etre a stntence, as they did in former years when 
transportation was in vogue ; and at the time that Act was repealed in June, 1858, there 
was some provision made by the Executive Government and the Judges that prisuners should 
receive a commutation of sentence at the Bar; so that the seotencts now and formerly 
should be proportionable to each other, which 1 believe has never taken place, for I myself 
have made inquiries from ninny prisoners. 
836. Will you state simply the ground of complaint which has led the men to refuse to 
work ? This is one portion of it : men sent there are without hopu; and, in the second 
place, working under prisoners like themselves, placed in authority as sit-overseers—men 
who are generally s lected from the worst class of men. The worst men are Vie beat to suit 
for Government purposes. Another ground of objection is dm want of classification. All 
the men are huddled together without regind to their convictions, or their general conduct. 
First, second, and third sentenced tnen are all huddled together, youth with the old veteran 
in crime, and so forth. The next is the very °Idly state of the wards they sleep in. The 
dormitories are crowded with vermin, bugs; you could fill a barrow after the ward has been 
stoved. 
837. Are there any other vermin besides bugs ? Yes, plenty. 
838. Common lice ? Not many—fleas and bugs. The place is stoved twice a year, but the 
blankets are never washed. 
S30. Did you ever notice any obscenity in these dormitories ? Except in the conversation, 
nothing unnatural ; but there might have been for aught I know to the COI] truly. Then also 
they complain of the way in which the gratuity money is divided among the men, some 
receiving a treble portion to others, without deserving it. 

(The oalcurn in this cell was not picked: in reply to a question from Mr. Hart, 
the prisoner said it was because Ike was suffering Bum diarrlicea.] 

T. Brown. 

Louis Sims (a man of colour), examined :— 
840. By Me Chairman : Were you sentenced to Cockatoo? Yes. 	 Louis Sims. 
841. On what charge ? A charge of horse stealing. 
842 By whom were you sentenced ? Judge Callaghan. 
843. When ? The I9th October, 1859. 
841 Op to what lime did you work at Cockatoo ? The 2nd January. 
S45. Were you then removed with the insubordinate prisoners ? Yes. I am at a loss to 
understand what I tin here for. In the fi.st, instance I got fourteen days, but I never fell 
out. I got it, so they said, for saying 1 would fail out and agitating the men. • 
846. Did you refuse to work ? No. 
847. Did you identIfy yourself with those who did ? I never did. 
.848. Are you willing to go back to work ? I am quite willing ; I never refused to do so. I 
expected to go back when Iliad completed these fourteen days, and was completely astonished 
when I was told I was to remain here 
849. By Mr. Wilson : Of what country are you a native ? I am a native of New York.. 
850. Can you read and write ? Yes. 

[The Committee next inspected the wall in rear of the blacksmiths' sheds, and 
then proceeded to the lumber-room, formerly devoted to the purpose of a surgery, 
in which were a cheat of drawers, a cabinet with twenty drawers and compartments, 
the top of a wardrobe, and two well-buckets. Having also visited the item 
occupied by the shoemakers and tailors—a largo airy room above the lumber-room-
they crossed the yard to the hospital, where, at his own desire, one of the patieuts—] 

Charles Rogers, was examined :— 
e51. By the Chairman: How long have you been in the Colony ? Nine years. I am a C. llogera. 
house painter by trade, and am known to Mr. Lucas, the Member of Assembly, for whom I 
have completed several contracts in my own trade. 
852. Be Mr. Laces : Where? At Gamperdown. I was partner of 	. In the 
year 1300 1 was tried at the Criminal Quarter Sessions, before Mr. Holroyd, for 
obtaining money under false pretences, the amount betng five shillings. At the time of 
the trial I made application to Justice Holroyd to get my trial postponed ; he asked mermen 
what grounds; I told him that it was such a short time from my committal to the time of 

trial 
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Darlington-se trial that the authorities of Darlingliurst Gaol had not been able to get the subpconas served. 
Owl-  

Pe 	Mr. FIolrov I overruled that, and placed me on my trial, without any witnesses or counsel. n, 1861. 	 ' t  I wish you would call Mr. Harrison as a witness in this case. The prosecutor in this case, 
C. Rogers. or the man that was the chief cause of my being apprehended, was Patrick Erwin, and 

besides him was Joseph Noble. I had a contract with them to complete a certain portion of 
house-painting and when it was nearly finished a quarrel took place between me and the 
prosecutor-r may say a fight-and he refused to pay me, and gave me in charge for 
receiving 5s. under false pretences. This 5s, he had lent me during the time I was working 
for him. 
853. By the Chairman: Supposing the trial had been postponed ? I would have produced 
witnesses who would have established my innocence. 
854. By Mr, Leans: In what way, did they see him lend you the money? Yes, there were 
two witnesses, Ellen Jaques and the barmaid of the public house where the money was lent. 
855- By the Chairman: What was your sentence ? Four years, and I was never teied 
before in a Criminal Court. 
856. Have you a family ? No. 
857. Have you sent. in any petition to the Government ? I applied when I was on Cockatoo 
to seek redress, and I found it in vain ; on the last occasion when I applied, and spoke of my 
good conduct, I was told by the clerk of Cockatoo Island and by the superintendent, that 
the character of a prisoner during incarceration -was of no value, that maintaining a good 
character on a renal establishment was mere policy on the part of a prisoner. 
858- By Mr. Hart .• That is not what is referred to-did you represent that you had been 
accused unjustly, and that you were in a position to prove your innocence ? I had not an 
opportunity. 
859. Were you not supplied with paper ? No. 
860. By the Chairman Since you have been here have you applied to the Governor of the 
Gaol? Yes, and Mr. Beverley granted me permission. 
861. By Mr. Lucas .• Are you one of the men who came to me when I visited Cockatoo 
Island ? Yes. 
862. How often does the Governor of the Gaol visit here? Once a day. 
863. How often does Mr. Agnew come be-re? Once in two or three days. 

P. Murray. 804. By Mr. Hart (to Patrick Murray): Bow often are your bed-clothes changed-your 
sheets? Once a week. 

[The Committee next visited the women's ward, where a number of the 
prisoners were engaged at needlework.] 

Mrs. Mary Cullen, head female turnkey, examined :- 
-Airs. M. 	865. By the Chairman .• Is this bard labour (referritw to the needlework)? Yes. 
Cullen. 	806. What are three women making ? Articles of clothing. 

867. What other kind of labour is there? Cleaning the wings, attending the hospital, and 
keeping the prisoners' clothing clean. There are now 26 under sentence for hard labour; 
there are 81 in the prison altogether to-day. 
868. By Mr. Hart.• Who arc the caps being made for? The prisoners-they are all obliged 
to wear caps. 
869. How is it that some of the girls have not their caps on? They have washed them, and 
this being a wet day they are obliged to dry them on the ranges. 

[Of prisoners in the female ward-) 

Mary Bellamy examined :- 
31. Bellamy. 870. By the Chairman.• What is your sentence ? Six months. 

871. What was your offence? I was charged with theft. 
872. Are you a married woman 	Yes. 

Turnkey.] 	 [The turnkey stated that the prisoner had had three children at a birth.] 
873. You have a family ? Yes, I have two alive. 
874. Two alive of these three children ? Not of them. 
875. Are the dormitorici-the places where you sleep here-sufficiently clean? Quite clean. 
876. Are there no vermin ? No vermin. 
877. Are the bed-clothes clean ? Yes. 
878. Are you quite satisfied with the general usage of the gaol ? Yes. 
879. Have you sufficient body clothes ? Yes. 
880. What are you making? The collar of a shirt. 
881. Who is that for ? I do not know; we never make any inquiry. 

Christina Watson examined :- 
C. Watson. 882. How old are you ? Seventy. 

883. What is the charge against you? Stealing. 
881. What is the sentence ? Six months, with hard labour. 
885. Who sentenced you ? I do not know. 
880. Where were you tried ? At the Police Court. 
887. Were you sent here by the Magistrates? Yes; I am a very industrious woman. 
888. Have you ever been here before? Yes. 
889. How often? Once or twice, I believe. 
890. Not more? I do not know. 

Sarah 
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Sarah Neal examined :- 	 Darlinghurst 
Gaol. 

891. What is your age ? Sixteen. 	 8 Feb., 1861. 
892. What are you here for ? I am committed for trial. 	 - 
893. What are the other two here for ? Iiisorderly conduct; kicking up a row. 	Sarah Neal.  
894. Are you troubled with vermin in this cell ? Yes, there are some-only bugs. 
895. Are those marks we see on the ceiling the marks of bugs? Yes. 
896. How often are the bed-clothes taken out to be aired ? I have been here only three 
days; they have not been taken out. 
897. By the Chairman (to Ann McIntyre): Are these places dean and free from vermin ? A. M'intyre. 
There are a great many bugs. 

Sarah Johnson examined :- 
898. How long have you been here ? Only one day. 	 S. Johnson. 
899. What was your sentence ? Two months the Magistrates gave me. 
900. For what ? A drop of drink. 
901. Was that all ? That was all. 
902. Were you ever here before for that offence? Yes. 
903. How many times have you been here before ? Indeed I do not know ; for a drop 
of drink two or three times. 

Mary Riley examined:- 
904. How long have you been here ? Three weeks, and I have to stop another. 	Mary Riley. 
905. What were you sent here for ? A drop of drink. 
906. Are you married ? Yes. 
907. Have you a family ? I had three boys ; they are all dead. 
908. Have you ever been here before for the same thing ? Yes. 
909. Do you not think it terrible for a young woman like you to be taken from her 
home for indulgence in this ? Sometimes the constables take me when I am no more 
drunk than I am now. I merely stepped out of the rain in York-street, and the constable 
said I was drunk and took me up. 
910. By Mr. Bait: Where do you wash ? In that tub. 
911. How many towels have you? Two for the three of us; sometimes we get two, some-
times three, sometimes four. 

Mary Ann Richards examined :- 
912. By Arr. Hort: What have you in your hand ? The share of meat I got for my dinner, 
I heard you gentlemen were coming and thought proper to keep it to slim you. 
913. Is that all your allowance of meat.? Yes, from day till to-morrow at twelve o'clock. 
914. How many meals a day have you? We have hominy in the morning and evening. 
915. How much bread have you? We have a loaf cut up into three for three women. 
916. By the Chairman: Is that your allowance of bread, and your allowance of meat for 
the day ? Yes. 
91.7. Is the bread good ? It is sometimes-sometimes it is not. 
918. You are a married woman, are you not ? Yes. 
919. You have been accustomed to keep house? Yes. 
920. Have you ever made your own bread ? Yes, when I was up the country. 
921. You know good bread then ? Yes. 
922. Have you ever had bread that you believed was made of bad flour ? Yes. 
923. Bread that you could double up like putty ? Yes; I have tried it so, and have often 
done that with it in my hand. 
924. Where do you take meals ? Sometimes in the yard ; when it rains we eat our meals 
in the cells. 
925. You are supplied with plates, knives, and forks ? No, with spoons. 
926. Are the cells cleaned? Thoroughly cleaned, everything is kept thoroughly clean-
yesterday was a general cleaning. 
927. Was there a general cleaning of the cells yesterday ? Yes. 
928. You knew we were coming here to-day ? I did not till you made your appearance. 
929. When did you see 1.13 make our appearance ? Just as you came into the building. 
930. You say you kept this from dinner time ? I kept it because I did not want it. 

[The turnkey here remarked that the prisoners kept their meat to eat with [Turnkey.] 
their tea. 

There is no tea nor sugar allowed.] 

Mary Ann 
Richards. 

Hannah Nunn examined :- 
931. By the Chairman : What is your sentence ? Three months. 
932. For what offence ? I was charged with drunkenness, and have been in here a week 
last Tuesday ; I am subject to epileptic fits, and had two fits on the day I was taken up. 
At about half-past eleven o'clock I was sitting at my door waiting for my husband, and that 
was the last I recollect before I was taken by the constable; I do not feel the fits coming 
on. The last fit I had was a day or twe ago. 
933. Where were you sentenced ? At the Sydney Police Office. 
934. Do you know the name of the constable who took you? I do not, and I should not 
know the man again. 

93 . 

H. Thum. 
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Darlinghorst 935. What did he say ? He said he took me from my door about half-past eleven o'clock. 
Gaol.  

s Feb., ISM 	• 936 B-V - • 	" 1177 eet ' • Your husband keeps a shop in Elizabeth-street ? Yes; there is g another woman lives in the &title house with him, and I wanted hint to put her away, because — 
H. Nunn. it is hard to have another woman put over me. I had taken the pledge last year for twelve 

months, and I had taken no drink front before Christmas to the time 1 was taken up. 
937. By Mr. Hare: Is the bread pretty good ? Yes, it is pretty good, but there is very 
little of it. I have no complaint about that. 
938. Have you ever been here before ? Yes, I have, and I deserved it then. 

[The Committee proceeded to a cell in which were three females, the eldest 
between 30 and 40, the second about 20, and the third, Mary Ann Rutter, who stated 
that she was eleven years of age, her parents live at Morpeth ; was sentenced for six 
months' inn risonnient for robbing a till; was going out on the following day, and 
believed she was to be sent home.] 

Mary Ann Mullion] examined:— 
Mary Ann 939. By Mr. Mania : What is your sentence ? Two months. 

Mull' 940. For what offence ? Ruble v. 
941. Were you ever hero before ? No; I am going out to-morrow; my master is coming 
to meet me. 
942. Who is your master ? Dr. McKay, of Phillip-street. 
943. By 31r. Hare: Has this little girl been here the whole time you have been here ? No, 
she was removed from another cell. 
944. Is she a well behaved girl ? Yes, very well. 
945. By Mr. Sutherland: how long have you been in the Colony ? Not long, I came here 
last August. 
946. By AL. Morris : Did you come with your father and mother ? They are not alive. 
947. What putt of Scotland do you come 	Inverness. 
948. Were you. tried at the Police Court ? Yes. 
949. Were you living at Dr. iI.PKay's at the time you were convicted ? Iliad left threw 
days when I was put in here. I left there against their will. 

[The whole of the cells in the upper portion of the women's wards were 
swarming with bus; about the ceilings, the walls, the hinges of the doors, they 
were in masses of an inch or more in diameter. 

The Committee having left the women's ward, proceeded to inspect No. 24 
cell, occupied by — Lynch ; this with the adjoining cells were undergoing the 
process of whitewashing, and a large number of blankets were piled up in the centre 
of the cell. 

[Turnkey.] 	 In reply to a question from a Member of the Committee the turnkey in 
attendance said he could not point out Lynch's blanket, as it had no distinguishing 
mark, but that the men knew their own from folding them up and putting them in a 
particular place.] 

THURSDAY, 14 FEBRUARY, 1561. 

Vrcoent:— 
MR. H ART, 
Nit. LUCAS, 
Na. MATE, 
MR. MOWS, 

Mn. PARKES, 
Mat. SUTHERLAND, 
Mn. WALSH, 
Na. WILSON, 

  

Mat. WINDEYER. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Henry Beverley, Esq., called in and examined:— 

R. Beverley, 250 .  By the Chairman : You hold an office under Government in this Colony ? Yes. 
Esti ' 	951. Will you be good enough to state the proper designation of that office ? Principal 

es—&---t gaoler of Darlinghurst Gaol. 
14 Feb., 1861 ' 952. How long have you held that office ? Within two months of seven years. 

953. Who was your immediate predecessor ? Captain Webster. 
954. I think he died? He died quite suddenly. 
955. Was he the successor to Mr. Keck ? No, to Captain Mterie; he was there about 
eleven months. 
956. Captain Webster was there between Captain Mterie and yourself ? Yes, I think 
about four years. 
957. What is the staff of officers, both male and feitale, at the present time—will you be 
good enough to state the name and grade of office of each ? With the exception of Mr. 
Harrison, the chaplains, the hurgeon, the dispenser, the clerk, and messenger, they are all 
of the same grade—( Vide Aipendix A, subsequently furnished)—they are called warders; 
formerly they were called turnkeys. Mr. Harrison is the principal turnkey. 

958. 
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958. How long has Mr. Harrison been there? He took charge on the same day as Captain H. Beverley, 
Esq. 

BPLerie-about twelve years ago. 
959. Was be not a turnkey under Mr. Keck? No. 
960. He first entered the service in that establishment when Mr. Mterie did ? Yes, on 14 Fob., 1561. 

the same day. 
961. 'What are the other officers under Mr. IIarrison ? They are all warders. 
962. All of the same rank, receiving the same pay, and having to perform the same duties? 
Yes, with the exception of the gatekeeper. 
963. How many are there ? Fifteen. 
964. I suppose these warders are distributed over different periods of the twenty-four hours, 
-that some are night and some are day warders ? Yes. 
965. Do they take these services turn and turn about,-first one set of men taking the 
night service and then another ? Yes; there is a circular form, and on this is the name of 
each warder, and each warder as his name comes round has to perform the duty of the man 
whose name precedes his; so that wo can always tell the name of a warder on duty upon a 
particular date, in case of anything happening. 
966. You say there is a gatekeeper ? Yes. He receives pay as a turnkey. 
967. Is there only one? Yes. 
968. Then there are sixteen, exclusive of yourself? Yes, and the surgeon, the dispenser, 
three chaplains, and a clerk. 
969. Are there not some overseers ? There are four overseers. 
970. What are the three chaplains? The Rev. Mr. Fordo is the Roman Catholic chaplain 
now, we have had the Rev. Mr. Sheehy ; the Rev. Mr. Agnew is the Protestant, and the 
Rev. Robert Stewart the Presbyterian minister. 
971. What are the names of the overseers? Mr. Macpherson, over the carpenters; Mr. 
Howarth, over the blacksmiths; Mr. Peters, over the stonemasons; Mr. Bryers, overseer at 
the quarry; and Mr. Ryan over the tailoring department, who ranks as a turnkey. 
972. How are they remunerated ? They get ten shillings a day. 
973. Have they any extras of any description ? Nothing whatever. 
974. They have no interest in the work of the prisoners over and above their salaries ? Not 
the slightest. 
975. What are their hours of attendance ? From six in the morning till about half-past 
four ; the warders from eight to six. 
976. Can you state with any kind of precision when these gentlemen respectively took 
charge ? Twelve months on the 1st of last month. 
977. Did they all take charge about the same time ? Yes, when the new arrangement took 
place. 
978. What instructions did they receive at the time of taking charge of this industrial 
department ? I think they received instructions from the Colonial Architect's Department, 
under whose department they work ; he has charge of them. 
979. Do you know whether they received any written instructions ? I do not think they 
did. 
980. Was their position this-that they had charge of the labour of the prisoners and 
directed them in the prosecution of that labour, without in any way interfering with the 
penal discipline-the prisoners for all penal purposes being still under you ? Under me. 
The intention was, when this alteration was made, that these four men, although overseers, 
should also act as turnkeys during the day, and watch the prisoners. 
081. Do they so act ? Yes, of course, they exercise a proper vigilance over the men. 
982. Can you state how many men were turned out this morning respectively to the four 
industrial departments of the prison ? I could not positively without reference to my books. 
083. How many do you suppose are in the carpenters' shop, for instance ? Eight. 
984. How many in the blacksmiths' ? Five. 
985. Tailors' ? At present I think only five. 
986. Shoemakers' ? Three. 
987. How many at the stone yard ? About thirty. 
988. Are the shoemakers under any overseers ? They are in the same building with the 
tailors. 
989. There is no shoemaking overseer ? No. 
990. Do you know whether the overseers are competent tradesmen in their respective call-
ings? Yes, they bear a very high character, I believe. 
991. They produced high testimonials to obtain these appointments ? Yes ; Mr. Dawson 
was very particular about it. 
992. Will you explain as clearly as you can in evidence the plan of the gaol ? The original 
intention of the gaol was that there was to be a tower in the centre of seven wings. 
993. Wings radiating from a tower? Yes, and between the wings the yards for exercise, 
classification, and so forth. The tower was intended to communicate with each of these 
wings. There was to be a balcony from each wing to the tower. One was to have been a 
schoolroom, another a chapel, and so forth. I believe at the top was to be a sort of observa-
tory for the principal gaoler, and when there be could see every individual in every yard. 
994. Were all the wings to be uniform ? All the wings were to be uniform. 
995. How many wings have been completed out of the seven originally designed? Four. 
996. How are those situated ? A is what is called the committed wing-that is, where 
prisoners for trial are put; the next is the hard labour wing ; on the opposite side is the 
new wing of single cells; next to that is one occupied by females. The workshop occupied 
by tailors is square at present, but is to be extended the same as the other wings when 
complete. 

I57-E 	 997. 
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B. Beverley, 997. During the last two years a good deal of stonework has been carried out by the prisoners 
Mg. 	in enlarging the wings ? Yes. 

', 998. In carrying out those works has the original design been to some extent departed from? 
14 Feb., 1861 * The only departure from it is in the alteration of the new wing which is now all single cells. 

Originally it was intended that they were to be of the same size as the other cells. That 
was altered before the building was proceeded with. 
999. Are there not some separate buildings in the yard,-are they included in the plan of 
the gaol ? The bath-house is, but not the dead-house. 
1000. How many prisoners were there in the gaol this morning ? 400. 
1001. How many of these are males? 313 males and 87 females. 
1002. Of this 313 how many are committed for trial, and how many are under sentence ? 
12 for trial. 
1003. Can you state how many of the men under sentence are under summary sentences 
from the Police Office ? I have them down in the memorandum before me as confines, but 
they would not all be under summary sentence,-I should say, 40. 
1004. Then there will be about 270 under sentence from the higher Courts ? Yes; 137 
labour men. 
1006. What are the longest sentences of any of those men ? The longest I have ever had 
has been four years. 
1006. Are there not some there for life ? At present, but not what we consider as our own 
prisoners. 
1007. But the longest sentence, according to the usual commitment to Darlinghurst, is four 
years? Yes; there is one here for five years, the man who spoke to the Committee the 
other day and said he considered his sentence illegal. 
1008. How many sentences are accompanied by labour ? 137. 
1009. Do these include the Cockatoo Island men ? Without them. 
1010. How many Cockatoo Island insubordinates are there? 99. 
1011. How long have they been in Darlinghurst Gaol? 83 came in on the 2nd January, 
and the others on the 4th. 
1012. Can you tell us how many of the 87 women are under committal, and how many are 
under sentence ? There are 52 confines, and 25 labour, sentenced to labour from Courts of 
'Quarter Sessions and Police Offices. 
1013. What are the offences against the female prisoners chiefly ? The mass of them for 
using obscene language; they are women who are so frequently brought before the Police 
Office that the magistrates sentence them for six months, twelve months, and even two 
years. 
1014. For obscene language and drunkenness ? Yes, that is the principal offence,-nine-
tenths of those you saw the other day were sentenced for that. 
1015. You were present when this Committee visited the gaol last week ? Yes. 
1016. It was noticed that a large number of the prisoners were women advanced in years ? 
Yes. 
1017. Can you state with any degree of certainty whether these represent a class repeatedly 
in prison for drunkenness ? Yes, with great certainty. 
1018. What are the regulations of the gaol with regard to the safe keeping, cleanliness, 
moral discipline, and industrial operations of the prison,-will you be good enough to give 
us by way of example what would be done by a prisoner arriving at the gaol under a sen-
tence of four years' imprisonment,-what would be done with him as soon as he had received 
his sentence ? As soon as he had received his sentence he would come into the gaol, his 
hair would be cut, he would be shaved, cleaned, and have clean clothes put upon him. If 
his sentence were labour he would be put into the labour yard. 
1019. Will you give us these particulars minutely,-suppose he were received at five in the 
evening what would be done to him that night ? He would merely be locked up in the hard 
labour yard. 
1020. Would this shaving go on that night ? No; he would have the prison dress

' 
 and be 

washed and shaved the next morning. I mean by that that he would have to wash himself, 
and that the barber would shave him and cut his hair, and he would have a clean suit of 
prison dress, according to the season

' 
 either the summer or the winter dress. 

1021. Would any bedding be furnished to him ? Yes. 
1022. Would he be told how long that was to last, and whether be was to keep it clean? 
Yes, they are obliged to do so. 
1023. Would he be told that? Yes, by the warder who takes him in charge. 
1024. Then what would be done with him when he was caused to wash, and to put on this 
dress ? According to his trade, if be were a carpenter he would be put into the carpenter's 
shop. 	 • 
1025. They would ascertain his trade? Yes; all these particulars are ascertained in the 
office, into which they are taken when they are brought into the gaol ;-the height, descrip-
tion, religion, and trade or calling are all taken down, and then they are passed through. 
1026. Then if he were a blacksmith or a carpenter he would be sent to one of those depart-
ments of the gaol ? Yes. 
1027. Suppose he -were a labourer ? He would be put to cut stone in the rough, or sent to 
the quarry. 
1028. At what time would he go to work on the second day ? He would be sent out with 
the other prisoners. 
1029. Will you describe the daily routine of the gaol ? In the morning at a quarter to six 
the bell rings; that, of course, is done by the warder who leaves his post at six o'clock. As 
soon as the prison is opened, at six o'clock, the prisoners are let out of their cells, and have 

to 
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to bring down and empty their night-tubs; between that and seven they get their breakfast, B. Beverley, 
and they are then rung out to work-their work being either at one of the four trades 	Esq.  
already alluded to, or such labour as is required in the gaol. At twelve the bell rings and t.  
the men come into the wing, where a table is got ready by the wardsmen, and they sit down "Feb, 1861. 
to dinner. 
1030. What is their dinner, generally? Boiled beef, bread, and soup. 
1031. Were you present when the Committee were in the cooking-house last week ? Y.es. 
1032. Was that, which they then saw, the ordinary fare ? Yes, the very same invariably. 
1033. Week-day and Sunday ? Yes, every day. 
1034. The year round ? Yes. 
1035. Both as to kind and quantity ? Yes. 
1036. Then what is the next step ? At one o'clock they go to work again till the ring of 
the bell about half-past four. 
1037. You say, "about half-past four,"-do they not always leave off work at exactly the 
same time ? We cannot always be exact if a number of fresh prisoners come in. The great 
object is to get the men in, so as to have the muster properly conducted at five. 
1038. What should you suppose is the variation in the time of leaving off work-five 
minutes, or half-an-hour ? Not more than five or ten minutes. 
1039. At all events they are mustered at five ? 1 must remark that they are mustered at 
five if there arc not three van loads from the Police Offices. If we have a van load from 
the Water Police Office, another with men from the Central Police Office, and another with 
women, that delays the muster, as we cannot muster until we have the complete number 
that have come in. It has happened that, in consequence of this, the muster has been as 
late as half-past six. 
1040. Has it ever been dark when the muster has taken place ? Not exactly very dark, 
except in winter time. 
1041. How is this ceremony of mustering performed ? The men are brought into the yard, 
through the small side door, in the presence of the turnkeys on each landing where the cells 
are; the names are then called over from the muster book, and every prisoner must come 
in, in his turn, one by one, and he is then taken up to whatever range he belongs to, and is 
locked up. 
1042. Are you ever present at the mustering? Frequently. 
1043. Not uniformly ? Not uniformly. 
1044. You do not consider it to be your duty ? No; for the first three years I never 
missed a muster ; but I have not attended so regularly since that time, for reasons I have 
explained. 
1045. The accommodation of the cells consists chiefly of cells built for three prisoners to 
sleep in ? Yes. 
1046. Can you give us the dimensions of those cells? The larger cells about ten or twelve 
feet. There are only two kinds of cells, those and the cells in the new wing. 
1047. Are they square ? As nearly as possible, the smaller are eight feet. 
1048. What does the bedding consist of? Two blankets, a bed-tick filled with straw for a 
mattress, and a pillow of the same kind. 
1049. Is this bed placed upon anything-does it rest upon the stone floor, or upon a board ? 
It is placed on a board raised about five inches from the flags. 
1050. Is there any regulation by which the blankets are washed, and the bedding examined 
and cleaned at any stated period ? When the bedding is dirty it is taken away and other 
bedding is supplied as fast as it can be obtained from the storekeeper's department. 
1051. Is there no regulation by which the blankets are washed ? No. 
1052. Do you think it may be the ease that blankets in some instances have been used by 
prisoners for more than twelve months without washing ? Yes, I think it may. 
1053. What steps are adopted to keep the walls clean and free them from vermin ? The 
walls are whitewashed. 
1054. How often are they whitewashed ? Whenever the cells are dirty. 
1055. When the Committee were in the gaol last week there was some whitewashing going 
on in one of the wings; do you recollect that ? I did not see it. 
1056. You did not know about the whitewashing that was going on in one of the wings ? 
No, I did not see it. 
1057. What regulations are there for enforcing personal cleanliness-suppose a dirty person 
comes into the gaol, who does not wash himself from one month's end to another, what is 
done in such a case ? The prisoners have half a holiday on Saturday for the purpose of 
washing. 
1058. Are they compelled to do it? I think they always wish to do it. 
1059. Do you think it possible there are prisoners in the cells who have not been washed 
for a week ? I think not. 
1060. You think it would be surprising if prisoners were found who had not been washed 
for a month ? Yes, I should. 
1061. By Mr. Morris : What do you mean by washing-do you mean washing all over ? 
I suppose the Chairman means washing all over. 
1062. By the Chairman: The Committee were told that it was very probable there were 
prisoners in the gaol who had not been washed for a year ? I do not believe it. 
1063. There is no regulation for enforcing personal cleanliness? No. 
1064. If a person chose to neglect himself he might do so for a very long time ? I do not 
think the other prisoners would themselves allow it. 
1065. But is there a regulation by which, whether the other prisoners wish it or not, he 
would be compelled to wash himself ? No. 
1066. With regard to the prisoners who are working in the shops, what care is taken to 

prevent. 
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IL Beverley, prevent their secreting their tools when they retire to their cells at night ? My instructions Esq. 

	

	are that they shall be all searched. Every thing is taken from them before they come in. 
1067. Do you think these instructions are uniformly acted upon, and not only acted upon, 

14 /1aq 1861 . but with such strict scrutiny that there can be no concealment ? I think so. 
1068. Have you ever seen this search carried out ? Frequently. 
1069. Were you satisfied that it was effective ? Yes. 
1070. What kind of work is done in these shops ? The principal part of the blacksmith's 
work is for the balustrades and iron doors for the new wings. The carpenter's work is for 
the Colonial Architect, or for any person who wishes to have any thing made, and for which 
they send all the materials. 
1071. Have you had much custom of that kind-have many persons seat in materials for 
articles to be made? Very little. 
1072. Not much either in the blacksmiths' carpenters', or tailors' ? More in the tailors' 
room than in the other shops. 
1073. What class of persons send in tailoring to be done ? Principally tailors send in the 
work cut out, and we make it up in the gaol. 
1074. When the Committee were at the gaol last week, there were several articles of 
cabinet furniture in one of the vacant rooms, which you said were for Mr. Agnew, the 
Church of England chaplain ? Yes. 
1075. Could you state on what terms these articles are made ? All the materials are sent 
in by Mr. Agnew, even to the varnish and spirits of wine, locks, hinges, and so forth, and he 
will have to pay £3 for the making of the cabinet. 
1076. What would he pay for making the chest of drawers? The chest of drawers will be 
charged 17s., he finding all the materials. We have no materials at the gaol. 
1077. There was also a cornice, which you stated was for a wardrobe ? It was for Mr. Coles, 
of the Colonial Architect's Department. It was evidently intended for the top of a wardrobe, 
but the work was stopped. I asked the carpenter about it, and he said he had got instruc-
tions, for some reason, not to go on with it. Whether the work was for Mr. Coles himself, or 
for the Colonial Architect's Department, I could not say. We have done a great deal of 
work for Government House. 
1078. In what kind of work are the female prisoners employed ? There are very few 
needlewomen. 
1079. What kind of work are they employed upon ? Whatever work is sent to be done. 
1080. Some ladies send different articles to be made ? Yes. 
1081. We saw some half-dozen women working at a table-were these all the needlewomen 
you had ? These were all the women who could bold a needle. They all have a shake in 
the hand after they have been at the gaol a few times, and unless they have long sentences 
they do not, while they are there, come round sufficiently to work with the needle; they 
are, therefore, employed in picking oakum. 
1082. Do the books of the gaol represent accurately all the work executed in the stone yard, 
blacksmiths', carpenters', tailors', and shoemakers' departments ? Every item. 
1083 Do the books represent for whom the work is executed ? Yes. 
1084. Whether for the gaol or for private persons ? Yes; for the military barracks or 
otherwise. 
1085. Is there a valuation made of the work executed for the gaol, so as to skew what 
amount is earned by the prisoners when so engaged ? Yes. 
1086. Then the Committee can see what amount of work has been executed in a year ? Yes. 
Every Monday morning I furnish a return to the Sheriff of all the work performed by the 
different trades. 
1087. Is there not a good deal of work done for the military barracks ? Yes. 
1088. What does that consist of ? What are called punishment buckets; they are very 
heavy buckets, and I suppose the soldiers are kept working with them as a punishment, and 
hence they are called " punishment buckets." They wear them out very fast. 
1089. Do you make any thing else for the military barracks ? Very few things, except 
ironwork. 
1090. Is any account opened for the military barracks ? No; we do not charge them. 
1091. All this work is done without charge ? Yes. 
1092. With regard to the Sheriff-how often does the Sheriff visit Darlinghurst Gaol-how 
often has he visited it since the 1st January ? I dare say twenty times. 
1093. About what hour of the twenty-four does he make his appearance there? At all hours. 
1094. Did you ever see him there at 12 at night? No. I have seen him come at 3 
or 4 o'clock in the afternoon; at 10 in the morning ; but more frequefttly at about 
11 o'clock. 
1095. Is he ever there before 9 o'clock in the morning or after 4 in the afternoon? Rarely, 
unless the Court happens to be on. 
1096. Do you recollect his ever being there either before or after these hours ? Yes. 
1097. Does he remain there long when he attends? About an hour. 
1098. Does he personally examine the cells and the various departments of the gaol ? Yes. 
1099. Does he see the prisoners ? Yes. 
1100. Does be make it a point at all in any manner to make himself acquainted with the 
characters of the prisoners after the sitting of the Criminial Court-does he see specially the 
new prisoners who have been added to the gaol by the result of the sitting? I do not think 
he does. 
1101. They are mustered for his inspection, I suppose ? Yes. 
1002. By Illr. Morris : Does he not go to the cells? Yes. 
1103. By the Chairmen: There are some confined to the cells for insanity ? Yes. 

1104. 
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1104. Under what circumstances are they confined ? The usual way is, that, for some act 11. Deveries, 
Esq. they have committed, some one complains at the Police Office, and they are sent to gaol, for 

want of sureties, for a fortnight, in order that the doctor of the gaol may have an opportu- r-)Lm  
nity of deciding whether they are insane from drink, or fit subjects for Tarban Creek. 	14 Feb., 1861: 
1105. How long are they detained there ? If a man were found to he insane from drunken- 
ness and were sentenced for fourteen days, he would remain for fourteen days and would 
then be discharged. 
1106. Who has charge of him ? The warder of the wing. 
1107. Does the party in charge of these people ever complain of not having sufficient pro-
tection? Two men are locked up at night in the cell with these prisoners. 
1108. Neither the keeper of the male or female prisoners suffering from insanity complain of 
insufficient means of protection ? Once or twice there have been some complaints. 
1109. There was a person in the female cells last week when the Committee were there ? 
Yes, she has gone to Tarhan Creek. 
1110. How long had she been there? Only from the previous Tuesday. 
1111. You have never had any serious complaint ? No. 
1112. There is a female prisoner in the cell, named Catherine Read, under a sentence of 
fifteen years ? Yes. 
1113. What has been this woman's conduct during the time she has been in gaol? She is 
the best behaved woman I have ever seen since I have been there. 
1114. Generally ? Yes. 
1116. Have you no exception ? None whatever; she has never undergone the slightest 
punishment since I have been there. 
1116. How is she employed ? As one of the nurses in the female hospital. 
1117. She has some responsibility then ? Yes. 
1118. And is thoroughly trustworthy ? Yes. 
1119. Is she well-regulated, and kind as a nurse? Yes. 
1120. Have the prisoners ever complained to you of a want of protection from the weather 
in the yard ? Yes. 
1121. In the men's yard, for instance, there is only one very small and insufficient shed to 
protect them in wet weather ? Yes; but, they suffer more particularly from the heat in 
summer, and I have often had to strike them off from working in the middle of the day, 
having in fact seen them fainting from the heat. 
1122. Have the women any protection from the sun and rain when in the yard ? No; we 
were to have had sheds, but the plans were withdrawn. 
1123. Will you have the goodness to state the routine of your duties as principal gaoler-
when do you first go through the gaol ? In the morning at daylight I generally get up and 
see all the men come on duty to their posts. 
1124. Are you out before any of the prisoners are unlocked ? Yes. 
1125. Generally you see them all turned out ? Yes. After the men have gone to work I 
go round the prison-go among the men and see what they are doing. 
1126. Do you see them locked up-I think you said you are not always at the muster ? I 
wait till the keys are banded up. I walk up and down while they are mustering the 
prisoners. 
1127. Do you ever endeavour to make yourself acquainted with the history, and, from the 
history, with the character of the prisoner, with a view to classification ? No; I have no 
means of classifying them. 
1128. You do not make many inquiries of that kind-you do not consider it within your 
duty? I often speak to them. 
1129. What kind of library have you-you have some few books ? (The witness handed 
in a list. Vide Appendix B.) 
1130. How have these books been accumulated? The larger number has been sent by 
persons outside without any name being given. 
1131. By Ms. Hail: Are there any books in your library not down in your list ? No. 
1132. By the Chairman : Do many private persons, ladies or gentlemen, visit the gaol from 
motives of philanthropy ? Very rarely. 
1133. You are aware no doubt from reading, if not from personal knowledge, that, in the 
mother and other countries, it is a common thing for benevolent persons to visit gaols? Yes; 
I may almost say it is a rare occurrence. 
1134. Has Darlinghurst Gaol during the last year been visited by any person with that 
object ? No. 
1135. Persons sometimes visit it from curiosity, I presume ? Yes. 
1136. You have never seen a Mrs. Fry or a Howard there ? No, I do not think the public 
take much interest in them. 
1137. Will you be good enough to state to the Committee the particulars of the escape of 
prisoners a short time ago from the gaol? Last morning week about four o'clock I was 
awoke by the warder on duty knocking violently at the door. I immediately ran down 
into the stockade with a revolver, and there saw from No. 4 cell, in the top range 
of the new wing, a piece of blanket rope. On going round the gaol, I found a plank with 
another portion of a blanket rope attached to it, in the north-east corner,by which evidently the 
prisoners had escaped from the gaol over the outer wall. I immediately reported the case to 
the Sheriff. 
1138. What were these prisoners' names? Clarke and Cavanagh. 
1139. What were their respective sentences? Clarke was sentenced for life, for highway 
robbery with fire-arms, and Cavanagh was a prisoner who had only six months of his sentence 
to serve. 

1140. 
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H. Beverley, 1140. What is the height from the window to the ground? Thirty feet. 
Esq. 	1141. Did you measure the space through which they forced their bodies? Yes; it is seven 

r•--"1/4--••• inches and a half. 
Feb., 1861. 1142. I believe nothing has since been heard of those prisoners? This morning a police-

man came with the shirt of one of them-at least, I presume it was. It was found at 
Newtown. 
1143. In what condition was the shirt ? It was not torn in any way. 
1144. Not stained with blood ? No, there was not much blood came from them. 
1145. Ought not the warder, who was in charge that night, to have seen them after they 
got into the yard, and before they sealed the wall ? Yes. 
1146. There must have been remissness on the part of the warder on duty that night ? The 
warders I allude to are those who had charge of locking them up, neither of whom would 
have been on duty when the men escaped. 
1147. Some warder was on duty, was there not? Yes, one. 
1148. Ought be not to have seen them when they were in the yard ? He was very atten-
tive, for I heard him call "Three o'clock" a short time before, and my instructions are, as 
soon as they call the hour, to go round every part and see that all is safe. 
1149. Will you state at what time the respective chaplains attend the gaol? On Sunday 
morning, at half-past eight. 
1150. Do they preach? Yes. 
1151. Do they attend at any other time ? Yes; the Roman Catholic chaplain comes at two 
o'clock in the afternoon. 
1152. Do they make personal inquiries amongst the prisoners ? Yes, both of them. 
1153. Do the chaplains manifest any solicitude for the instruction of the prisoners? Yes; 
they are very much among them. The chaplain of the Church of England attends of a 
Wednesday morning also. 
1154. Do you mean that they take a good deal of interest in the discharge of their duties ? 
Yes. 
1155. That remark applies to all of them ? Yes. 
1156. By Mr. Morris : What is the nature of the ablutions required when a man is first 
received ; you say he is washed-how is he washed ? In the bath-house. 
1157. There is a house, then, containing baths ? Yes, hot and cold baths, and a shower-
bath ten feet high. 
1158. Are the men required to bathe in this regularly ? They do bathe in them very 
frequently. 
1159. By Mr. Wilson: They always have access to them ? Yes. 
1160. By the Chairman: I may inform you, at this stage, that the prisoners stated to us 
that they never used the bath-house, that there was a bath in the gaol, but that it was not 
used by the prisoners ? They should have it. 
1161. By Mr. Morris : Are the men required to wash every morning ? No. 
1162. Not even their faces ? No; Saturday afternoon is the only time that has ever been 
the rule, they then get a half-holiday, and the other prisoners wash the clothes in one of 
these baths. 
1163. Is there sufficient employment for the carpenters in the public service ? Yes, plenty. 
1164. Therefore it would not be necessary in order to give them employment to take in 
private work ? Certainly not ; and it is the same with the blacksmiths-we have plenty 
of work for twenty of them. 
1165. Does the Sheriff, at any time, visit the whole of the cells ? Yes, every cell. 
1166. What was the reason that the cells in the women's ward, those particularly on the 
eastern side, were in the condition in which we saw them with regard to vermin ? Probably 
there was no lime at the time sufficient to whitewash them. We generally get a cart load 
of lime, but it is sometimes difficult to get. When it is whitewashed the men come in, and 
we first have one side whitewashed and then the other. 
1167. How often is that done ? Not very frequently. 
1168. Once a year ? Yes, I should say twice a year. 
1169. Are the yards lighted in all parts at night ? No. 
1170. It is, therefore, easy for a prisoner who has made his way into the yard to elude the 
warder and get over the wall ? Yes, and I do not think it is high enough. 
1171. After the five o'clock muster bow do the prisoners employ themselves ? They are 
confined to their cells after five o'clock, and the hard labour men are generally tired enough, 
and soon go to sleep. A little later they are so quiet you might hear a pin drop. 
1172. By Mr. Lucas : Have you any control over the industrial department at all with 
reference to the quantity or description of work ? No. 
1173. The Colonial Architect appoints the overseers ? Yes, and the overseers, being the 
practical men, are the valuers. 
1174. Taking the number of prisoners at present in the gaol, can you give the number of old 
and new offenders? I should say three-fourths are old offenders. 
1175. Do you find that is the usual proportion ? Yes, they come in and out till they die. 
1176. After they have come in a second time, you expect to have them frequent inmates of 
the gaol ? Yes; unless by chance they go up the country, they are in and out till they die. 
One woman, who is now in the Refuge, has been in the gaol seventeen times in one year. 
1177. Why do you find it difficult to obtain lime ? At times we have found it difficult ; 
the Colonial Architect has sent word that he has not got any. 
1178. Are you particular in searching the blacksmiths? Yes. One of the prisoners, who 
built a boat at Cockatoo, was near manufacturing an iron ladder, which I have in my office. 
1179. By the Chairman : When you say he was near doing so, what do you mean ? I mean 

to 
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to say that it was discovered before it was completed. It was made of a bar of iron, with H. Beverley, 
notches ,in it, and a shifting step to fit into the notches. If you went into the shop, you saw 	Esq. 
nothing but a bar of iron lying on the ground. 
1180. By Mr. Lucas : By what scale is the value of the -work fixed? The order is that it rFe" 1861. 

 

shall be charged at half the price it would be done for outside. 
1181. By Mr. Walsh : In the event of any of the men becoming ill, when they are confined 
in the cells during the night, what means of communication have they ? They call out, or 
knock at the iron door, which makes a great noise ; the warder asks what cell it is, and, if 
he finds a prisoner is ill, he sends for the dispenser, who lives near the gaol. 
1182. Are there any night-tubs in the cells ? Yes, in every one. 
1183. This weekly washing, does it take place in the bath-room ? Yes, and some outside 
the bath-room, there are such a number. 
1184. What vessels have they to wash themselves in outside ? Buckets and tubs. 
1185. I see in the list of books you have handed in, the books are classified as Protestant 
and Catholic library; in the list of books under the head of Protestant library, I see neither 
Prayer Books nor Bibles ? Bibles and Prayer Books they get regularly at prayers on Sunday. 
1186. By Hr. Wineleyer : Have they Bibles at any other times ? No. 
1187. Is there not a Bible in every cell ? No. 
1188. By Mr. Walsh : Under the head of Catholic library, there are Bibles and Prayer Books 
-arc those only used at the time of service ? Yes. 
1189. They are not for circulation? No; many of the prisoners are fond of reading, and 
the clergymen give them any of the books they choose. 
1190. Does the chaplain act as librarian ? He is the person who has them under his charge. 
1191. By Mr. Wilson : Which chaplain ? The Rev. Mr. Agnew. 
1192. By Mr. Walsh : Ile has the Protestant library under his charge ? Yes ; and the 
Rev. Mr. Fordo has the other. 
1193. By the Chairman : A prisoner has died since we were at the gaol the other day • I 
saw a notice of that. Will you state the circumstances under which the death occurred ? 
She was a woman of about forty years of age, and absolutely died of inanition ; her palate was 
gone, and she could swallow nothing, and grad-ually died of starvation ; I suppose I could 
have taken her up in my hand. 
1194. In that case was a change of diet made ? They got every thing they call medical 
corn forts. 
1195. What do medical comforts consist of in Darlinghurst Gaol? Wine, if necessary, and 
brandy; these are under the doctor's charge. 
1196. What is the food-the nutriment they get in place of bread ? Eggs and butter, and 
raw meat cooked-arrowroot, and every thing ; the dispensary is nicely fitted up. 
1197. How often does Dr. West visit the gaol ? Every day. 
1198. How long has he been Medical Visitor to the gaol ? He was there just before I went; 
he has been there seven years. 
1199. Can you state of your own knowledge whether he is kind and considerate to the 
prisoners when sick ? He has been most attentive. 
1200. You have never seen any reason to infer that he has in any way neglected them? 
On the contrary, I think he manifests great anxiety, and particularly if they are seriously 

1201. Is the dispenser equally attentive to his duties ? He is the best I have ever seen. 
1202. By Mr. Hurt: Before you were appointed to your present office had you any 
experience either as to prisons or prison discipline ? None whatever; I had never been in a 
gaol in my life, before my appointment. 
1203. Do you consider that your duty now is principally the safe custody of the prisoners, 
or their reformation? Their safe custody simply. 
1204. By the Chairman : Are you supplied, as the head officer of the gaol, with any works 
on prison discipline, any reports upon the improved prisons of Europe, or any of the many 
works that have been printed on the general subject of prison management ? No, I have 
not been supplied with any, but I have read a great many-the Brothers Mayhew on 
Prisons I got from Mr. MacDonald, and also the Adventures of a Gaol Chaplain. 
1205. Have you read Recorder Hill's Charges ? No. 
1206. Lord Brougham's Papers on the subject of Prisons and Prison Discipline ? No. 
1207. Any Reports of the National Association for the promotion of Social Science ? No. 
1208. You have then neither in your private possession, nor have you been supplied by 
Government with any of these works ? No. 
1209. Have you any books.of that description ? No. 
1210. By Mr. Hart: Is there a matron of the gaol ? Yes. 
1211. Who is the matron ? Mrs. Beverley. 
1212. Does she exercise any personal superintendence over the female prisoners ? Yes, she 
goes round the cells and looks after them. 
1213. Have you any rules provided by the Government as to the custody and management 
of prisoners in gaol ? Yes. 
1214. What are the rules? I think they were framed in 1848. 
1215. By Mr. Walsh : Is it not an Act of Council ? .Yes, a Gaol Act. 
1216. By Mr. Hart: Do you allude to the rules promulgated from the Colonial Secretary 
in 1841, which were produced before a former Committee of the -Legislative Assembly ? 
Yes. 
1217. Have any subsequent rules been made? No; but from time to time, as circumstances 
have arisen in the gaol, I have issued written orders, which have been posted up. 
1218. Do you keep a journal ? Yes. 

1219. 
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H. Beverley, 1219. What does it contain ? The number of peoNe that go in and out of the gaol every Esq. 	day, and what has been done. 
1220. Do you ever inflict any punishment on your own authority ? Yes. 

14 Feb., 1861, 1221. Does that journal contain a record of the punishments inflicted ? Yes. 
1222. And of the punishments inflicted by the Visiting Justices ? Yes ; it is kept in a 
separate book. 
1223. Are there any other occurrences mentioned? Yes. 
1224. What are the occurrences you principally note in your journal? Every thing that 
occurs that is not an every day occurrence. 
1225. For instance, if a prisoner proves insubordinate, do you enter that in your journal ? 
Yes. 
1226. Have you made any entries of that kind, or had any cause to do so lately ? Yes, I 
think about every second or third day. I find by punishing them on the instant it has the 
most beneficial effect. 
1227. Do you visit each cell yourself daily ? Not each cell ; at one time the new wing, at 
another time one of the other wings. 
1228. When you omit to do so do you enter that in your journal ? No. 	 • 
1229. You keep a record of the visits of the Visiting Magistrates, and of the surgeon and 
chaplain ? Yes ; every one that comes into the gaol, whenever he comes, enters his name 
in the book. • 
1230. Will you be good enough to state what course you pursue with respect to the 
prisoners' clothing when the prisoners are first admitted ? When first admitted the clothing 
is taken off, and made into a bundle, ticketed, and put away in a cell which has shelves built 
round for the purpose. 
1231. Do you fumigate or purify the clothing before it is put away ? No; we have but very 
recently had a fumigating place erected ; it is the last building put up. 
1232. Then the clothing is delivered to the prisoners when they go out in the same state as 
when it is received ? No; it is constantly opened, for it would of course be destroyed if the 
prisoner had a long sentence, unless that were done. 
1233. Who has the charge of that particular department? There is a man on the wing who 
has charge of it-his name is Lee-or whatever warder happens to be there ; he comes on 
from time to time. 
1234. Is the room in which the clothing is contained under the charge of any particular 
warder who may be there? They are under the charge of the warder who is there at the 
time. The things are put into a stone cell, for in the building they used to be kept in I 
found that a quantity of the clothing was eaten by the rats ; then I had shelves put into 
the cell. 
1225. Who regulates the clothing of the prisoners ? I do. 
1236. Do you send requisitions to the Government for the clothing that is required ? Yes. 
1237. Do you make any distinction in the clothing of those prisoners who are committed for 
misdemeanour and those for felony ? Yes ; those who are committed for misdemeanour in 
the confine yards wear their own clothes, and the hard labour men get the prison dress. 
1238. Will you .describe the prison dress to the Committee-in respect to what it consists 
of? The summer prison dress consists of a wide jacket, branded trousers of the same 
texture, a cheek shirt, and a handkerchief about the neck. 
1239. By 111r. Windeyer : What is their head-dress? The bead-dress which ought to be 
worn, as best suited to the climate, is a straw hat; but, unfortunately, we cannot get half the 
number required. 
1240. Is there any bat prescribed? Yes. 
1241. Is there a prescribed time to get them ? No; We get them whenever we can. 
1242. A prisoner shewed the Committee a Jim Crow hat, filthy and greasy, and said be had 
had it for upwards of twelve months, and that it was given to him by a prisoner who was leaving 
the prison-can you state why he was not supplied with a proper head-dress ? From the 
difficulty of getting it. 
1243. Have you made a requisition for hats ? Yes ; to the Storekeeper. 
1244. When did you make the last ? At the beginning of the year. 
1245. When before that ? Six months. 
1246. What was the answer to your requisition made six months ago ? They had not got 
them, but would send them as soon as they could. 
1247. Have you communicated the fact to the Sheriff ? The Sheriff is aware of the fact. 
1248. Have you officially communicated it ? I have frequently spoken of it. 
1249. Are you aware whether he has taken any steps to remedy it ? I do not think he has 
taken any. 
1250. As to boots or shoes, in what way are you supplied with them ? In the same way ; 
we make a requisition for them. 
1251. Have the requisitions been complied with for these articles ? Yes, pretty well ; by 
degrees we get them. 
1252. When you make a requisition do you find that it is generally complied with ? I have 
made many private communications; I have written repeatedly private notes to the Store-
keeper begging shoes-some of the men were in bare feet-and then perhaps a few would 
come in. I do not believe there is a proper supply in the store. 
1253. What is the winter dress of the prisoners ? A grey jacket, waistcoat, and trousers. 
1254. Is there any distinction made in the dresses of prisoners who are sentenced to hard 
labour for long periods, and those who are confined for lighter offences ? No. 
1255. Is there any party-coloured dress used in the prison ? No. 
1256. Is there any dress of yellow and grey combined 	No, that is peculiar to Cockatoo 
Island, and to the men being in irons there. 

1257. 
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1257. If you look at the 18th regulation of the gaol you will find this direction-" No n. Beverley, 
" prisoner who has not been convicted of felony shall be liable to be clothed in a party- Esq. 

" coloured dross, but if it be deemed expedient to have a prison dress for prisoners not con- 
" victed of felony, the same shall be plain." Now do you state to the Committee that there 14 Feb * ,  1861. 

is no party-coloured dress for men convicted of felony ? Certainly not.  
1258. Is it not a fact that that dress was formerly used in Darlinghurst Gaol ? Never since 
I have been there, but only when the men were sentenced to irons-to be worked in irons 
at Cockatoo. 
1259. During your time were men, who were convicted of felony and sentenced to be worked 
in irons, clothed in party-coloured dress? No, I never saw a prisoner in party-coloured 
dress since I.have been there. 
1260. What steps are taken to keep the cells properly cleaned and ventilated each day ? 
The doors are opened, and then there is a draught of cool air through the door. 
1231. Are there any other steps taken for ventilation ? No; the bed clothes are rolled up, 
the tubs are taken out and aired, and returned again ; for washing, at night, a can of water 
is placed in the cell. 
1262. Is the bedding taken out daily ? No. 
1263. Or weekly ? No; except that it is aired in the cells. 
1264. Is any other mode taken for promoting cleanliness? Or on the balcony that 
goes round. 
1265. Are the cells swept daily ? Every day; there are two men on duty for the purpose 
every day. 
1266. Are the cells washed ? No. 
1267. The floors are not washed ? No. 
1268. Do you observe any distinction as to cleanliness between the wing in which the 
women are confined, and the wings in which the men are confined ? I think our wings are 
much nicer and more cleanly ; I think the wornen are naturally more dirty-they have got 
things hanging about which gives their wing a dirty appearance. Still, whenever there is 
an opportunity, the cells are whitewashed, In consequence of the great number of bugs in 
the plaster of the walls. 
1269. is there any disinfecting fluid used ? Yes. 
1270. What fluid ? Whatever the doctor called disinfecting fluid; we have had to use it 
very largely since so many Cockatoo prisoners have been in twenty-eight days. Some of 
them are giving Way-their heads are becoming affected. 
1271. Is there any classification in the f male ward ? No; there is but the one building. 
1272. Is there not a distinction made b -tween debtors and others confined for contempt on 
civil process, prisoners committed on charge of felony, and prisoners convicted of felony-
I speak generally now ? Yes. 
1273. Is that classification observed in the women's wing ? No. 
1274. By Mr. Walsh: Suppose you had a female debtor, would the female debtor have to 
go into the convicted wing ? Yes. 
1275. By 1/,-. Hart : If a female prisoner is committed on charge of felony or misdemeanour, 
and another is convicted of felony, is there no distinction made in the confinement of these 
prisoners ? None; they are all the same. 
1276. By the Chairman : Are any of the prisoners allowed to have their food-those who 
can pay for it-brought in ? Yes-that is the confinces not sentenced to hard labour-if a 
woman has any friend3 outside. But then the rule is they must maintain them altogether ; 
they can't have hominy for breakfast, and a piece of roast beef from outside for dinner. 
1277. We visited a cell in which were two old women undergoing sentences for drunkenness 
according to their own account, and another young, robust woman, who, according to her 
own statement, was committed to trial for robbery ; the latter stated that she was supported 
by a gentleman who lived outside ? Then she is supported in tote. 
1218. By Mc. Bratsk: If convicted and sentenced to hard labour, would she be allowed to 
receive her load from outside? Yes,* that has ever been the rule of the gaol, that persons 
may have their food sent it) to them. The reason I always understood was, that it saves the 
expense of their maintenance. 
1279. By Mr. Hirt: Do you know who made the rule-is it a written rule ? Yes. 
1280. Where do you find it? It was one of the written rules when I went into gaol, as 
regards debtors and persons confined without hard labour. 
1281. By Mr. Walsh: A person convicted for a terni of imprisonment without hard labour, 
if fed by the gaol, has a different ration from one sentenced with hard labour ? Yes. 
1282. Who has the most ? The hard labour man, of course; he gets half a pound of bread 
more.t 
1233. By  Mr. Hart: Can you state the extent of ground upon which the present gaol is 
built ? Three acres three r ods. 
1284. By the Chairman: Can you band in a plan of the gaol ? Twill get a plan and send 
it

' 
 there was one made by Mr. Wells. 

1285. Will you then hand that in ? I will. (Mt farnishedt 
1236. Bs Mr. Hut: Considering the number of prisoners you now have under your charge, 
and the classification you think it is desirable to make, can you say whether that extent of 
ground is sufficient ? I do not consider it anything like sufficient. 

1287. 

• NOTE (correction by witness on revision) ; -No ; if sentenced to hard labour they are not allowed 
to support themselves. 

NOTE (correction hy witness on revision);- ;If  lb. bread and lb. meat more. Seale annexed. ( Vide 
Appendix C.) 

NOTE.-Stated to have been mislaid. 
157-F 
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BeverleY, 1287. Is there any room for proper workshops to be constructed ? Yes; they are in course 
Esq. 	of erection now. 

e-s1/4-Th 1288. In what part of the gaol ? The old building, where the blacksmiths' shop is left 
14 Feb., 1801. standing; the foundation of the new one is just adjoining that, and it will go completely 

across the gaol. 
1289. If any further buildings are erected there, will it not seriously interfere with the 
ventilation of the whole place ? No • on the new plans I do not think it will be nearly so 
bad as with the old stone buildings :hat are there, when they are cleared away. The new 
sheds are all to be open, that one man walking up and down can sec all the men at work. 
1290. As to the site of the gaol, what is your opinion as to the advisability of retaining 
dangerous and long-sentenced prisoners in the present building ? I am very much averse to 
it. I do not think it is a fit gaol to have persons of that kind, situated as it is now in the 
middle of Sydney. 
1291. When that gaol was first erected, are you aware if there were many buildings in that 
locality ? I am aware there were not any buildings to be 'seen. 
1292. What is the case now ? It is surrounded by terraces and public-houses, which keeps 
me in a great ferment for fear they should throw rum in ginger-beer bottles over the wall, 
and if the men were all armed with tools something serious might happen. 
1293. Has that occurred in any instance ? Never but on two occasions have I had spirits 
'thrown over the wall ; but I have had spirits brought in clandestinely by the turnkeys, who, 
of course, were dismissed on the instant. 
1294. Can persons see the interior of the prison from private houses erected around ? Yes, 
from the terrace along the side of the gaol. 
1295. Is it your opinion that the gaol should be removed to a more remote locality ? Yes; 
I have often and often spoken of it. I think if it were knocked down, and the same stone 
were used in the gaol towards Randwiek, you might sell far more than would pay the 
expense. I think the site of Darlinghurst is beautiful for building. 
1296. Who did you make these suggestions to ? To many persons who, when speaking of 
the gaol casually, had complained of the gaol being where it now is. 
1297. Have your complaints been in writing 	No. 
1298. Considering that prisoners have frequently escaped from gaol, is it not rather dangerous 
to citizens who reside in that locality, if they come in contact with them ? If the prisoners 
now in gaol chose to rush at the wall, they might easily escape-there is nothing to prevent 
them. 
1299. By ilk. Windeyer : What is there to prevent the outbreak ? There is nothing worth 
speaking of. 
1300. By Mr. Hart : You mean that if a simultaneous rush were made upon the men, they 
might escape ? I am certain that if forty men took one of the building poles, and used 
it e the wall, it would go down, as it is badly built, weak, and quite rotten in parts; 
but I have heard the prisoners make the same remark, and that keeps me anxious. I have 
heard the Cockatoo men say, " If we arc to be here, what is to prevent our knocking the 
wall down ?" 
1301. Have you made any arrangement with the police authorities to aid you in the event 
of such a rush taking place. We have them close by, but not in any number. We called 
in a few the other day, and we were under arms for the first time. Captain 31'Lerie sent 
some of his men, when the Cockatoo men refused to come forward. 
1302. Have you any persons in gaol accustomed to the use of arms ? Yes ; nearly all the 
turnkeys have been soldiers. 
1303. Are they provided with firearms and ammunition ? Yes ; we never shew them, as I 
do not think it advisable for a few men to walk about the gaol with arms loaded. 
1304. Where do you keep the ammunition ? In the gateway ; there is a lodge in the gate-
way, where they are all kept clean, in the same way as in an armoury. 
1305. By Mr. Windeyer : Have you any revolvers ? Yes ; we have lately been supplied 
with revolvers, and have got sixty rounds of ball cartridges. 
1306. By Mr. Hart : Sixty for each man ? No ; sixty altogether. It is dangerous to 
show firearms. 
1307. By Mr. Windeyer : Suppose an attack to be made on any warder or turnkey, what 
would you do ? They would overpower us in a moment. What could we do ? 
1308. By Mr. Hart : Do you consider your force sufficient for the safe custody of the pri-
soners ? No. 
1309. Have you made any representations to Government ? Yes ; very recently. 
1310. By Mr Wilson : Suppose there were watch-towers or turrets at each corner of the 
prism, and a warder placed there with firearms, do you think it would add to the security 
of the place ? I do not approve of firearms except in numbers, for it leads the prisoners to 
look with distrust at the warders. 
1311. Are the warders who are on duty at night supplied with firearms or any other means 
of defence ? I have since this escape, given a musket to each. 
1312. Are they supplied with hangers ? They have half a dozen of what are called hangers 
or swords. There ought to be a chevaux-de-frize all over that top wall. 
1313. By Mr. Lucas : Would not broken bottle-glass on the top be better ? Better than at 
present; but I should think that one of those large bars would be much better. 
1314. Would it not be easy to throw a rope over for them to haul themselves up with-
would not glass be better ? They would not have the same means of making a rope fast if 
it were covered with glass. 
1315. By Mr. hart: Have you had any complaints from the inhabitants of Darlinghurst as 
to the cesspools in the gaol, and the matter flowing from them ? Yes. 

1316. 
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1316. Are you not aware there is a dreadful stench occasionally-in the locality 1 Yes, from 11.11everky, 
the front of the gaol. 	 Esa. 
1317. How is that occasioned ? From the sewers throughout the gaol. 
1318. Where are your principal cesspools, or how many are there in the gaol ? There are 14  E411- 
-none in the gaol ; there is a grating here and there in the gaol, and underneath runs the 
sewer. The sewers came out under the front gate, and that was the place complained of. 
We had it opened about two years ago; we had the whole thing opened in consequence 
of the complaint-that was the only time I ever saw them. 
1319. Then the matter is emptied upon the persons in the lower part of Woolloomooloo-
where are the night-buckets emptied ? Some in the ashpit, others in the privies. 
1320. Where are the night-buckets emptied ? Into the privies; that goes into the sewers. 
1321. Into the same sewers? Yes. 
1322. What accommodation have the men during the day time? They have the stone 
places in the yard at the end of the hard labour shed-on the off side there are a set of 
privies. 
1323. These also, I presume, run into the sewers? Yes. 
1324. Has the officer for the health of the city paid you any visits ? He did some time 
ago. 
1325. Did he take notice of these facts? I do not think he did ; he merely walked in, and 
asked some questions. 
11326. By 31?.. Sutherland : Are you aware that he has reported upon the matter several 
times ? Yes. 
1327. By Mr. Hart : Who has the supervision as to the food supplied to the prisoners ? I 
have, and the turnkey with the prisoner as a delegate. The turnkey has the daily supervi-
sion, he being deputed with a prisoner, on the arrival of the food every morning, to satisfy 
himself that it is good. The prisoners have an opportunity of refusing the food, which was 
done this morning. 
1328. Have you many complaints of the food ? Not many; more so with regard to the 
vegetables. Sometimes we have letters from the contractor saying he can't get particular 
vegetables. If the prisoners choose to be rusty they say they should have carrots or 
turnips. 
1329. Prisoners, when the Committee visited the gaol, complained that there was a greater 
proportion of potatoes than of other vegetables ? It is a fact that it is so; but I at once 
wrote to the contractor asking him to substitute leeks for onions; his answer is that it is 
impossible to get them, and that, therefore, he had sent a greater quantity of potatoes. 
1330. By Mr. Wilson : Could he not substitute barley or rice? 1 asked him to do so. 
1331. By Mr. Han: When the contractor refused did you purchase articles at his risk ? 
No. 
1332. Do you think you would have been justified in doing that? No; I could not under 
his note purchase what he said be could not get. 
1333. That was his statement-did you satisfy yourself that his statement was correct ? 
I presume, as he has been contractor so great a number of years, that it was correct. 
1834. Did you take any steps to ascertain whether his statement was correct ? No further 
than that I have bought bread. 
1335. I believe there have been constant complaints as to the quality of the bread? But 
they will complain, they say themselves, for nothing but wickedness. 
1336. By .111r. Lucas : With regard to the bread, is the bread we saw when we were at the 
gaol a fair specimen ? Sometimes it is better, sometimes worse. 
1837. By Mr. Hart : Is there any reception room for the prisoners when they are first 
brought to gaol ? None but the office. . 
1338. What office? The office below stairs; as they come in they enter an under-ground 
passage, and the first room is an office where all particulars are taken, and then they are 
passed away into the yard. 
1339. After that is done what is the next step ? They are then taken up, cleaned, and 
fresh clothes put on them. 
1.340. Can you state to the Committee the particular mode in which that is performed ? 
When the prisoner comes in his warrant is read; all the particulars are taken down in a 
book. If he is a man for trial he is taken to the trial wing. 
1311. Does lie undergo a thorough cleaning ? Yes. 
1342. Is he put into a bath and washed ? Yes. 
1343. Is that done in each ease ? I will not say in each case. 
1344. You don't consider it your duty to see that done ? I could not see it done 
1345. Do you give directions that it should be done ? Yes, that is the direction. 
1346. Is the same course pursued with the women ? The women have great objection to the 
bath, as Mrs. Cohen will tell you. They are all washed and cleaned; I do not mean to 
say all go into the bath. 
1317. You do not compel them to do so-there is no compulsory regulation on the prisoners, 
as to washing themselves daily ? No. 
1348. Nor as to changing their clothing? No. 
1349. Is the ventilation of the gaol good ? I think so-I never beard it complained of I 
think the health of the prisoners, taking the number in gaol, is wonderful. 
1350. Is there any provision for warming the cells in winter? None. 
1351. Is it not excessively cold ? Yes, the building being all stonework. 
1352. Have the prisoners complained of the cold? No. 
1353. How do you promote the warmth in winter? In no way at all, except by an addi-
tional blanket. 

1354. 
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H. Beverley, 1354. Or by increasing the number of prisoners in each cell ? We never do that if we can 
Esq. 	avoid it. We have sometimes seven in a cell ; they do not complain of cold. 

r"--\--Th 1355. What is the average amount of sickness you have in the gaol ? Taking one year with 
14 Feb., 1861.  another, I do not think I have ever known a larger number than eight. I have on occasions 

entered in my journal, not a single male or female sick in the whole establishment. 
1856. What is the sickm ss to which they are generally liable? Such as people bring in 
with them-such as sore legs, which take a long time to cure; but, as regards a prisoner's 
health in gaol, it is seldom a man is sick at all. 
1357. The sickness is principally that arising from intemperance? Yes; chiefly arising 
from sore legs. 
1358. What is the average of insane patients you have in the gaol ? I think we have on 
the average from two to three in a week sent in from outside. 
1359. By Mr. 11.-alsh: Lunatics, or for good behaviour ? A large number for drunkenness, 
and they go out again in a few days. 
1360. By Mr Hurt: Are any of the female prisoners employed as servants to yourself or 
any of the turnkeys ? There is only one turnkey besides myself living in the gaol. 
1361. Are ft male servants employed in your house as domestic servants ? Yt S. 
1362. How many at the present time ? The housemaid, making up the bed-rooms, the 
pantry-woman, and cook. 
1363. What are they confined for ? Generally sentenced women, for three months. 
1361. Are any male prisoners employed in the domestic arrangements of the gaol.? No. 
1365. Is there any mode of communication between the male prisoners and those females 
employed as domestic servants ? No; whenever a prisoner has occasion to come to the house, 
be is attended by a turnkey. For instance, if lie comes from the cook-house with the 
women's food, he is attended by a turnkey. 
1366. Has that always been the case ? Yes ; it always takes a great deal of the turnkey's 
time. 
1.367. Was it not a source of complaint some time ago, that there were irregularities 
respectinf. the female prisoners in the gaol, attributed to the male prisoners ? Yes ; in the 
case of Dr. Lang's servant; at that time there was a pantry-man. 
1368. Then the rule you alluded to has not always been in existence? No, it has been 
altered from that time. 
1369. Have you made any application to the Government for books to supply your library ? 
Application was made by the Sheriff, I think, some time ago, and £20 for each library, the 
Protestant and 0.1tholie, was granted; I think it was last session. 
1370. Has that money been expended? I think it has; the Bev. Mr. Sheehy bought the 
books fur Ids library. 
1371. In the list you have handed in, I observe in the department of the Catholic library a 
large number of Bibles and Prayer Books, and none in the Protestant library-how do you 
account for that? There are plenty of Bibles and Prayer Books, they are not put down in 
that list; I presume because it was supposed that a list of them was not required by the 
Committee. I received a large number of Bibles and Prayer Books, and marked them all 
myself "Darlinghurst Gaol.' 
1372. Is there any Sunday school in the gaol ? No. 
1373. Is there any means taken to promote morality or education among the prisoners by 
instructing them in reading and writing? We 'tad for a short time ; but the man who acted 
as schoolmaster was sent away to 13errima; since that there has been no school. 
1374. You have nothing of that kind in the gaol at present ? No. 
1375. When we were visiting the gaol the other day, we were told by one of the prisoners 
that he had been reading Valentine Vox, Margaret Catchpole, and Woman's Love-can you 
state whether those books are in the library ? I can state that Woman's Love is in my 
possession, for I got it immediately after the Committee left. 
1376. Do you know any thing of the other two books ? They are all books furnished from 
outside. 
1377. I do not observe the books I allude to-Margaret Catchpole and Valentine Vox-in 
the list you have handed ? Then they are books that have been smuggled in by the 
friends of the prisoners. 
1378. You do not doubt the correctness of the statement made by the prisoner? No. 
1370. By the Chairman : Have you read this book, " Woman's Love " ? No; I just looked 
into it ; I have it in my drawer. 
1380. Is it a book of a moral tendency ? Yes; but 110 book should be given to tile prisoners 
except by the clergyman ; he should have an opportunity of judging whether the book was 
or was not a fit one for the particular prisoner. 
1381. By Mr. fleet: How often does the Catholic chaplain visit the gaol for the purpose of 
instruction ? He comes to prayers on Sunday at half-past 8 and at 2 &clock. Mr. Sheehy 
used always to go over the gaol on Saturday afternoon. 
1382. By Mr. Wilson : Does he do so 110w? He is promoted in the church, and there is 
another chaplain. 
1383. Does the present chaplain do the same? He will do the same. 
1284. By Mr. Bart : Then be does not visit the prison daily for the purpose of instruction ? 
No, neither of the chaplains do so. 
1385. If he were willing to do so, would you afford him facilities for that purpose ? 
Certainly. 
1386. Is the prison visited by any other Catholic clergyman ? Yes, I dare say by a dozen 
different clergymen ; for instance, our Catholic chaplain has often been away, and then 
other clergymen have taken it in turn. 

1387. 
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1387. Then their visits are on Sunday ? Yes. 	 H. Beverley, 
1388. I ask whether the prison is visited on week days by other clergymen ? No. 	 Esq.  
1389. Have you had visits from the Archbishop ? I never recollect seeing him but twice ; r-k-ar 
but I think the Archbishop came specially to see a particular prisoner then. 	 14 Feb., 1861. 

1390. By the Chairman: Does the Bishop of Sydney ever visit you? I have never seen him. 
1391. By Ilfr Thrt : Is the gaol visited by Episcopalian clergymen, or by clergymen of 
dissenting congregations, besides the chaplain ? No ; the Rev. Mr. Stewart, a Presbyterian 
minister, has lately been appointed one of the chaplains at £50 a year. 
1392. Then the clergy who visit your gaol are persons who are paid for that purpose ? Yes. 
1393. By  the Chairman: During the time that Goodsir, the last who was 'executed, was 
lying under sentence, was he visited by any one except the chaplain ? There were two 
persons who came and sang with him, preached to him, and read prayers to him ; they came 
frequently. They did a'so in the previous case when a man was under sentence. There was 
also a lady, a Mrs. Forster, who attended the young sailor, Noyes, who was hanged ; but it 
was carried to such an extent at last that it seemed to be objected to, and on going to the 
Sheriffs Office one day, I said she must bring an order from the Sheriff or I could not admit 
her, and it was stopped. The rule in such cases being that a prisoner is entitled to see any 
clergyman or other religious person be wishes or asks for ; so when it was found that the 
prisoner did not want the services of Mrs. Forster, the minister of our church did not con-
sider it right she should come. 
1394. Then Moyes did not wish for Mrs. Forster's attendance ? He used to laugh as soon 
as her back was turned, and I was much horrified to see a man in his condition act as he did. 
1395. By lir. hart: What denomination did he belong to ? He was a Protestant, or in 
fact he was nothing. It was a most horrible sight to see that man brushing up his hair as 
he was ascending the scaffold. When he was in gaol he used, as soon as Mrs Forster had left 
him, to begin to whistle a jig. He had been-a sailor, had run away from home, and said he 
had never been to church. He stabbed a man on horrid ship. 
1395. Is there a desire manifested on the part of the public, or of any portion of it, to 
witness capital punishment ? Very little; there are not, generally, above half a dozen 
applications for admission on such occasions. When the last man was executed there were 
very few present-some of the jury and a few policemen. 
1397. What do you do with the bodies of prisoners who die in the gaol ? They are sent 
away in a cart to be buried. A requisition is sent in for a coffin for so-and-so, giving his 
length, and mentioning what church he belongs to. After the inquest, if he has any friends, 
they are allowed to take him away. 
1398. Is there any record of what is done with the body ? There is a printed form furnished, 
which has to be filled up. 
1399. By Mr. 	How is the jury selected fur an inquest on a patient who dies in 
gaol ? If it is any particular case a jury is summoned from outside of twelve people; if not, 
one or two of the prisoners, one or two debtofs, who are intelligent men, and one or two of 
the warders, form a jury. 
1400. What medical witnesses are examined ? The dispenser and surgeon of the gaol. 
1401. No others ? No others. 
1402. These are the medical officers who have been attending the patient ? Who have been 
attending the patient throughout; and there is also the coroner, who is pretty nearly a 
doctor himself. 
1403. So that, if a prisoner should die from negligence, the dispenser and medical officer 
would be the only persons to give evidence ? You can have no better evidence than the 
evidence of people who are in daily attendance. If any person dies in gaol the fact is known 
to four hundred people. 
1404. These four hundred people are not aware of what medicine has been administered, or 
how the patient has been attended ? No. 
1405. If 1 patient were to die through the negligence of the dispenser, or of the medical 
officer, there would be no means of discovering it ? No; the administration of the medicine 
is confined to them. 
1406. By AP. Hart: You stated, in a previous part of your evidence, that the dispenser 
lived out of the gaol ? Yes; he should live in it though. 
1407. Who is the dispenser ? A young man named Walsh ; he was on Cockatoo Island in 
that capacity, and was transferred to me; my dispenser being sent there. 
1408. Is he a chemist by profession-has he been brought up to it ? Yes. 
1409. Does he prescribe for the patients? I think not, except under Dr. West. 
1410. He is not allowed to administer any medicine except under the direction of Dr. West ? 
No, 
1411. How far does he live from the gaol ? It is no distance; a little further than the end 
of the terrace. He is sent for almost every night. 
1412. What is the object of sending for him ? If a man knocks and says he is ill, he is 
sent for. 
1413. Is he entitled to prescribe without the authority of Dr. West ? No; but if he saw 
the man was really ill he would send for Dr. West. 
1414. Then it is left to his judgment to decide whether a man is ill or not ? Yes. 
1415. If he decides that he is well there is nothing done for him ? Yes. 
1416. By Ilfr. Walsh : You say the last man who was executed was attended by two persons 
who sang and prayed with him ? Yes. 
1417. Do you know who they were ? I do not know, but I can easily find out ; they were 
two common looking men, and they became so obstreperous at last that I would not let 
them in. 

1418. 
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B. Bp:fel:Icy, 1418. Did they attend at his execution ? No; I would net allow them in. 
Esq. 	1419. Who did attend them ? The Rev. Mr. Agnew. 
'Lea 1420. You say you would not allow these men in-did you ask the convict if he desired 

A Feb., 1861.  their attendance ? Yes. 
1421. Did he say he desired their attendance ? Yes. 
1422. Was it after that you prevented their visiting him 	Yes ; but there was a 
particular reason. It was OD account of the clergyman, who conceived that he had got the 
man into a state of mind that would be interrupted if they interfered. 
1428. Are you aware whether those persons represented themselves to be Primitive 
Methodists ? I do not know-in my country they are called Banters. 
1421. By Mr. Wart: Arc their names entered in your rhino's hook ? I think they arc; 
they got leave to come in. 
1425. By Mr. Walsh : Their proceedings, you thought, were characterised by a great deal of 
fanaticism and enthusiasm ? Yes; I did not say anything till I found it necessary to apply 
to Mr. Agnew, and Air. Agnew said he had administered the saerament to him, and did not 
wish to have him interfered with. 
1420 Bad not the prisoner told you, on a former •casion, that he wished to see them 
Yes. 
1427. On a previous occasion you say a man was visit d by the name persons ? Yes. 
1428. What was the convict's name ? Noyes ; it was IM account of their conduct at the 
execution of Moyes that I would not allow them to .,:re the priioner on this occasion. 
1429. Did these men attend Moyes at his execution ? Ye, imel they made a dreadful 
scene of it. 
1430. What occurred that was so dreadful at that execution 'They threw np their hands, 
and began bawling out just as the man was about to drop. 
1481. What was the subject of their cry ? I do not know 1 thought it very unseemly. 
1432. What was the subject of their cry ? I suppose it was .0 pray for him. 
1433. You did not think they were praying in the right WayF I did not think it was a 
proper scene for a private execution. 
1434. On account of their conduct on that occasion yon i,had to exclude them from subse-
quent executions? Yes. 
1435. Had Noyes expressed any desire to see those nom : 	la. was asked if he would 
like to see them. 
1436. He had seen them while tinder se.ntence ? 
1437. By the Chairman: Will you ascertain the name, oi tieee men, and send them to the 
Committee? Yes. (Hot furnished.) 
1438. By Mr. Walsh: Do you recollect a man of the nano of boxier being executed about 
five years ago-two men were executed at the same time 	llogers was one of the two men; 
he was executed for murdering a man, with a fruitcm r, 	Parramattus 
1439. Do you remember the name of the other ? No, I do nor. 
1440. Do you remember what denomination Rogers belonged to:' I think the two men 
belonged to different denominations. 
1441. Do you remember the man who was executed harlots hero attended by Mr. Watsford, 
the Wesleyan Minister ? Yes, I think so; that isa good Ain- ago. 
1442. Had you any opportunity of observing Mr. Wataford;, intercourse with the prisoner ? 
No; when a prisoner is under sentence of death I never go with the clergyman, but go by 
myself at night. 
1448. Did you hear Mr. Watsford pray with that pris met. at all ? No; he would pray 
alone with him in his cell. 
1444. Did you bear him exhort him to prayer as they approached the scaffold ? I forget. 
1445. Is the gaol visited by the Sisters of Charity? Ys. 
1446. How frequently ? I do not sec them so frequently now as formerly-I think about 
once a week. There was a lady, who has now gone home. a Mr,. di' Lacy, who often visited 
the gaol. 
1447. Do they visit all the prisoners 	No; only on the female side. 
1448. Do they visit all the female prisoners? Al! the priioners who wish come forward to 
speak to them. 
1449. Are they admitted to the gaol under any order 	Ye: they have free ingress. 
1450. Have you ever had any direction from the Sheri11 to admit them ? No; they are 
never refused admission. 
1451. Have they ever seen the male prisoners ? They went to .-fai one, but not under the 
circumstance of being condemned. 
1452. What was the prisoner's name ? Butler. 
1453. They can see any prisoner upon asking for him ptrtieularly 	Yes; if they come to 
the male side it is for the purpose of seeing some particular prisoner. 
1454. Did I understand you to say you are a member of the Cimach of England? lam. 
1455. By the Chairman: What situation did you fill under Government prior to your 
appointment to the one you now hold ? I was fifteen years in the Attorney General's Office. 
1456. Did you fill the situation now occupied by Mr. V. E. Plunkett? Yes. 
1457. By Mr. Hart : Are any steps now being takep to vontplow the gaol according to the 
original design? Yes, as fast as we can go on with the number of men we have. 
1458. By the Chairman: Have you anything further to communicate to the Committee? 

APPENDIX. 

• NOTE (by witness on revision):-Sarra. I wii(mxviu. the other. 
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APPENDIX. 

RLINCHURST GAOL. 

ESTABLISHMENT. - 

39 

H. Beverley, 
Esq. 

14 Feb., 1861. 

EI41Cipia ,zwidr, 
1 Visiting ergeon, 
3 Chapls i ns. 
1 Clerk. 
1 Dispenser, 
1 Principal Warder, 

15 Warden, 
1 Messenger. 

-- 
24 Male Officer-. 

1 Matron, 
3 Female Warders. 

4 Female Officers. 

B. 
LIST OF BOOKS Fit? USE OF PRISONERS IN DARLINGHURST GAOL. 

1 The Christian Miscellany, 1st 
2 	 Ditto 	3rd a 
3 	 Ditto 	4th a 
4 	 Ditto 	5th ,. 
5 	 Ditto 	7111 
6 Chambers Papers for the Penpld. e di vol. 
7 	 Ditto 
8 	 Ditto 	 eth 
9 French Revolution, 1st wol. 

10 	Ditto 	2nd ., 
11 	Ditto 	3rd „ 
12 Tales from Blackwood, 1st yol. 
13 	Ditto 	2nd „ 
14 	Ditto 	3rd 
15 The Illustrated Family Novelist 
16 Tower of London 
17 Roman Antiquities 
18 Memoir of Sir Henry Havelock 
1.9 Sunny Memories of Foreign Lanus 
20 Nearer and Dearer ; a Tale out uf 4efinnl 
21 Hele's Private Devotion 
22 Curse of Gold 
23 Nellie of Truro 
21 Wild Sports of the West 
25 The Chancellor's Chaplain 
26 My Brother's Keeper 
27 Lectures on Gold 
28 Lives of Public Character - 
29 Henry Masterton 
30 	Ditto 
31 Crohoore of the Bill Hook 
32 Chambers' Miscellany, vol. 2 
33 	Ditto 	• 4 
34 	Ditto 	„ 
35 The Bachelor of the Albany 
36 Christmas Evening Legends 
37 The Flitch of Bacon 
38 Matilda, or the Memoirs of a To. ig Woman 
39 The Cottager's Monthly Visitor 
40 A Series of Tales and Sketches 
41 The Clarinnet, &e. 
42 John Marston Hall, or Little Bill of tire 
43 The Military and Political Life or Wellington 
41 Uncle Tom's Cabin 
45 Lives of British Physicians 
46 Selections from British Poets 
47 The Parent's Poetical Anthology 
48 A Tour through South Holland 
49 Scottish Art and National Encouragement 
50 Roscoe's London and Birmingham 
51 Walkingbamers Arithmetic 
52 Memoir of the Life of Earl Marniugtnn 
53 The Leisure Hour for 1657 
54 The Saturday Magazine 
55 Sunday at Home for 1856 
SG Agincourt: A Romance 
57 Anti-Sccpticism, or an Inquiry 
.58 Uncle Tom's Cabin 

Bates on the Divine Attributes 
Smith on Presbytery 
Statutes of the Order of St. Patrick 
Watts on the Mind 
Sense and Sensibility 
The Book of the Church 
Woman's Love ; or Smiles and Tears 

	

Memoir of a Physician, vol. I 	• 
Ditto 	 2 

Supplement to the Fourth Book of Lessons 
Life's last Hours 
Life of John Bunyan 
The Evidence of Prophecy 
A Guide to acquaintance with God 
Life of the Rev. John Newton 
The Miracles of Christ 
The Two Cottagers 
Life of Mrs. Magdelane Althans 
Life of John Howard, Esquire 
Life of Archbishop Leighton 
Gertrude of Wyoming—Poems 
Sermons and Homilies 
Evelyn ; or a Heart Unmasked 
Margaret Maitland of Sunny side 
The Farmer of Inglewood Forest 
My Novel 
Louisa Egerton 
Monthly Series 
Life of Napoleon Bonaparte 
Life of John 'Caspar lovator 
Life and Times of John de Wieliffe 
Eminent Medical Men 
Caves of the Earth 
Blights of the Wheat. and Remedies 
Glimpses of the Dark Ages 
Volcanoes and their History 
Life of Cranmer 
The Atmosphere 
James Watt and the Steam Engine 
Switzerland, Historical and Descriptive 
Life of Alfred the Great 
Life of Martin Boos 
Life and Times of Charlemagne 
Life of Lady Russell 
Life of Sir Isaac Newton 
Idmea. 

CATHOLIC BOOKS. 
Prayer Books 	  10 
Reeve's History 	 10 
Holy Bibles 	  16 
Think well out 	  23 
Poor Man's Catechism 	 34 
Lives of the Saints 	 12 vols. 
Douay Bibles    3 
Hymn Books   5 
Peach's Practical Reflections 	 1 
Reeve's History of the Church I 

59 
60 
61 
62 
63 
64 
65 
66 
67 
65 
69 
70 
71 
72 
73 
74 
75 
76 
77 
78 
79 
80 
81 
82 
83 
84 
es 
86 
87 
88 
89 
90 
91 
92 
93 
91 
95 
96 
97 
98 
99 

100 
101 
102 
103 
104 

C. 
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H. Beverley, 
Esq. 

11 Feb., 1861. 

C. 

DARLINGHIIRST GAOL. 

RATIONS AND ALLOWANCES. 
Ration No. 2, authorized to be issued to Warciarnen 

in Gaol, to Prisoners detained as witnesses, or 
for want of bail, is composed of the following 
articles, viz.:— 

20 ounces Wheat Bread 

	

8 „ 	Maize Meal 

	

16 „ 	Fresh Meat 

	

„ 	Salt 

	

I „ 	Sugar 

	

" 	Soap 

Ration No. 4, authorized to be issued to Prisoners 
sentenced to imprisonment, and hard labour in 
Gaol, is composed of the following articles, 
viz.:— 

16 ounces Wheat Bread 

	

„ 	Maize Meal 

	

16 „ 	Fresh Meat 

	

,, 	Salt 

	

1 „ 	Sugar 

	

,, 	Soap 

Ration No. 5, authorized to be issued to other 
Prisoners not in Cells, is composed of the follow-
ing articles, viz, :— 

12 ounces Wheat Bread 

	

10 „ 	Maize't cal 
Fresh Meat 

	

„ 	Vegetables 
Salt 
Soap 	•  

Ration No. G, authorized to be issued to Children 
of Female Prisoners, is composed of the follow-
ing articles, viz.:— 

Ration No. 7, authorized to be issued to Female 
Turnkeys, consists of.— 

24 ounces floor 

	

16 „ 	-Fresh Meat 

	

„ 	Salt 
„ Tea 

	

„ 	Sugar 

	

„ 	Soap 
Ration No. 8, authorized to be issued to Prisoners 

confined in solitary cells, consists of,— 
21 ounces Wheat Bread, or 

	

20 „ 	Flour. 
The following are the authorized allowances of 

Fuel and Light for the Sydney Gaol, viz. 

Summer daily 
Allowan e. 

Winter daily 
Allowance. 

a5 c7a go 6 0  

Mtbly Mtbly 
Transportation Ward 	 

7411m. 7 	32 fibs 
reeking* 	. 	. 1,41 33 
Apartments in which there 

are fire-places, 	(5, each 
32Ihs.)    	 . hoc 

Lights in Apartments, to 
burn 2 hours each, when 
occupied (4, each V, gill) 

Largo Passn:Fe La ep 	 11,5 
For Prisoners seutentra to 

death, and other contin-
gencies   2 2 

Dispenser 	  
Prolate Turnkeys 	....... 32 
For t he use of the hospital 79 
For Debtors 	  73 11b. 341 73 511,5 

ounces best Wheat Bread 
4 „ 	Fresh Meat 
I pint Milk 

ounce Soap 	• 

'The allowance of coals for co kingis 211.s. f ir each prisoner 
and for each of the children of emale prisoners condi) d in 
gaol. 

The winter months are June, July, August And 
September. 

In addition every Prisoner actually at hard labour is allowed 4  lb. bread ; and 100 lbs. of vegetables 
supplied daily for the whole number of prisoners. 

FRIDAY, 15 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

Oran-a:- 
MR. HART, 	 Ma. PARKES, 
MR. LU JAS, 	 Ma. SUTHERLAND, 
MR. MATE, 	 N a. W A LSIT, 
MR NORRIS, 	 MR. WILSON, 

MR. WIN DEYER. 

HENRY PARKES, Esq., CHAIRMAN. 
Parramatta 	[The Committee having met at 6.45 A.M., at the Railway Terminus, Sydney, proceeded 

Gaol. 	to the Station at Parramatta, and thence to the Gaol, arriving there as a gang of twenty-one 
15 Feb., 1861. men, who had been employed outside the prison, entered the gate.] 

Thomas Harrison examined:— 
[Engaged in searching the prisoners.] 

T. Harrison. 1459. By  the Chairman: Do these men work outside under guard? Yes, they have just 
come in to breakfast. 
1460. What sentences are they under ? They are men whose sentences have nearly expired. 
1461. Do you take only men of that description outside? Yes. 
1462. How many men are there? Twenty-one in this party. 
1463. What is the longest period of the unexpired term these men have to serve? I am 
not aware—that is the parson in charge. 

[The witness pointed out Mr. McCormick, and proceeded with the searching of the 
road party.] 

Mr. Patrick McCormick examined :— 
Mr. Patrick 1464. By the Chairmen: The men who are mustered here are a road party? They work in 
31.C°Tflaielcc the quarry, and Sometimes on the road. 

1465. Under what regulations? Under escort—they quarry stones. 
1466. Who directs their work ? The overseer of the hard labour. 

1467. 
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1467. At what time do the men turn out ? At eight o'clock, except when they are engaged Parra 
in taking stones out of the yard. 15' Feb., 1.861. 
1468. Under what guard do they work ? Four men form an escort. 
1469. How is the selection of prisoners made for these road parties ? The men with the Mr. Patrick 
shortest sentences are chosen. M'Cormick. 
1470. Those whose sentences are nearly expired ? The men who have the shortest time to  
serve. 	 . 
1471. They may be men with long sentences. There are no long.sentenced men. 
1472. What are the sentences of the prisoners ? They may be ten or twelve months. If a 
man has a three years sentence, and he remains here two, he then goes away. 
1473. I saw several men searching the prisoners just now ? Yes, that is their duty. 
1474. TS that the usual practice ? Yes; they are searched when they go out and when they 
come in. 

[The Committee visited the stone-cutting yard. They next entered No. 1 
wing, on each side of which were ranged the prisoners. One of the turnkeys called 
over their names from a muster-roll, and they then dispersed to the cells on the 
ground floor to breakfast. 

The Committee inspected the several cells. In No. 9 was a mall suffering 
from a had leg, of whom the Chairman inquired whether he had the same food as 
the other prisoners. Be replied in the affirmative, but added that his general health 
was good.] 

John Wilkes examined :— 
1475. By the Chairman: How long have you been here ? Two years and eight months. 	John Wilkes. 
1476. How are you employed ? Hat-making. 
1477. Your cell seems very clean ? Yes, I take pains in keeping it so as well as l ean. 

John Driscoll examined :— 
[Having expressed a wish to make a statement.] 

1418. By the Chairman : How long have you been here ? Nine months. 
1479. Under what sentence ? Twelve months. 
1480. For what offence ? Embezzlement. 
1481. By whom were you tried ? By Justice llolroyd. 
1482. Hard labour ? Yes. 
1483. You say you have a grievance to complain of ? I have certain facts to state which 
I should wish to mention to you. On the Sandy we Protestants are locked up immediately 
after breakfa-t in these culls, as many as eight or nine of us together, where throe men sleep. 
1484. What ore these cells called ? Sleeping cells. They are at the top of the middle 
landing. We were locked up there, and there was all sorts of beastly and obscene language 
going on ; it was disgusting to a man to hear it : then if we have come down here there has 
been no closet to go to, but a place six or seven feet long, the same as this cell, with a num-
ber of night-tubs ; I have seen as many as fifteen men in that place at a time, and when it 
is known that many of the men who come here are guilty of sodomy and other crimes, it is 
di.vusting for a man to have to go to ease himself; he cannot even make water without 
thrusting his penis in a man's nose or mouth ; when you are going to make water there is a 
man sitting on a tub. In the next place I have to state, that of the nine months I have 
been here I have, with the exception of two months, been under the dieter's hands ever 
since I have been here. I have worn out my shoes, which are supposed to last thin 
months, but which are knocked out in much less time, when you have to walk over the 
sharp stones in the quarry, and I have not been abhi to obtain new ones. 
1485. What did the doctor attend you for ? A loathsome disease caught from the women in 
Sydney ; but we are all liable to that, and may have the same misfortune, and it is not 
because a man is in prison, and has that cornplaint, that he should be so treated. In the 
next place, although I have only been in the cells twice since I have been here for being too 
candid to the visiting magistrate, I was put in the cells for twenty-four hours. 
1480. Who is the visiting magistrate? Dr. Greeaup. I had also my tea and sugar stopped 
for a month, and my extra half-pound of bread. 
1487. What did you say to Dr. Greenup ? I told him that as we were going out I looked 
at Mr. M'Cormick, who treats the men more like dogs than anything else, and he said, 
" What are you looking at ?" I said I was lo king at nothing. If I had said what suggested 
itself to any mind—" A cat may look at a king "—I should have been insolent, for that was 
in my mind. 
1488. Was it for that you were put in the cells—did you say anything more in his hearing ? 
Yes; I told Dr. Greenup I was looking at and admiring Mr. aPCormick. For that I was 
put in the cells for four and twenty hours, and was stopped nay tea and sugar and extra bread.. 
1489. 139 fife. Mar/en: Are tea and sugar extras ? Yes, and I was at hard labour. 
1990. What food do you get ? One pound of bread, two ounces of tea, and two pints of tea 
the same as this (producing a tin pot of tea.) 
1491. Are these rations what are understood to be hospital rations ? Yes; I get two pieces. 
of bread like this (producing a piece of bread) and that allowance of tea for the morning and. 
evening. 
1492. Is that what you have had for breakfast this morning ? Yes. 
1493. By Mr. Hurt: Do you get any portion of the food in the kid (alluding to a quantity 
of hominy contained in a kid in the cell)? No, that belongs to the other men. 

157—G 	 1.494.. 

John Driscoll. 
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PaTraimatta 1494. By the Chairman: Have you anything to complain of with regard to the general Gaol. 
15 Feb., 1861.  management of the prison-you have complained of being locked up in the cells, and 

also of indecency ? Yes, I complain of the closet more especially. 
Sohn Driscoll. 1495. Have you anything else to complain of ? Perhaps I should not be able to substantiate 

any other charges; and it is of no use making a complaint without I could do so, as I should 
only be punished. 
1496. Have you ever noticed any improper conduct on the part of the prisoners ? No, 
never ; but instead of hailing the Sabbath as a day of rest it is anything but that. 
1497. Is there not service on Sundays? Yes, and those who are Protestants are locked up 
in the morning. 
1498. Is there no Protestant service ? In the afternoon. 
1499. By 31r. Lueaa : And then the others are locked up? Yes. 
1500. You said that during the time you were locked up eight or nine were in one cell-
were the tubs removed? No; one tub remains the whole time. 
1501. Are not the tubs taken out in the morning ? Yes, they are emptied; but one tub 
remains the whole day. 

[No. 1 cell, referred to by the preceding witness, was an ordinary cell, and 
contained three night-tubs. The Committee having proceeded thither,-] 

Mr. Mtormick further examined :- 
Mr. Patrick 1502. By the Chairman: 13 that the place where all the prisoners go? It is, when the men It'Cormiek. are locked in. 

[In nearly all of the cells on the ground floor were three or four men, seated 
either on a form or on the stones, with a kid before them containing hominy ] 

1503. How many men sleep in this cell (No. 19)? Only ono; the men from the upper 
cells eat in these lower ones. 
1504. Whose bed is that ? Peter Heenan's. 
1505. Is he in the cell ? No. 
1506. Do the men go into any of the cells ? Wherever the breakfast is laid out. 

T. Chew. 
Thomas Chew examined :- 

1507. What is the food you have for breakfast? Hominy. 
1508. Have you eaten any ? Yes. 
1509. Have you eaten all you intend to eat? (Afore than half the quantity provided had 
been left in the kid.) Yes. 
1510. Are you satisfied with the food? Yes. 
1511. Is it good? Yes; this is very good. Sometimes it is had. 
1512. What do you get for dinner ? Beef and potatoes we are supposed to get. 
1513. How long have you been in this prison ? Three years within a month. 
1514. What is the period of your sentence ? That is the period-three years. 
1515. You will soon be out ? Yes. 
1516. What were you sent here for ? An assault on my wife. 
1517. Where were you tried ? At Bathurst. 
1518. By whom ? Judge Dickinson. 
1519. Have you been in Parramatta all the time? Yes, 
1520 How have you been employed during the time? Sometimes in the hospital, and for 
sixteen months I have been sent on a road party, to which I was not sentenced. 
1521. Are you generally satisfied with the food you have-is it good uniformly ? I have  
no reason to complain of the food, only once now and then. 
1522. [-lave you ever noticed ob-cenity in the conduct of the prisoners, anything offensive 
to you? I have no complaint in that way. 

James Collins examined :- 
[Having stated that he wished to make a complaint.] 

J. Collins. 1523. By the Chairman : How long have you been here, who sentenced you, and for what 
offence ? I was tried by Mr. Justice Dickinson, now Chief Justice in Sydney; I got a 
sentence of two years with bard labour, for felony. 
1524. When did you receive that sentence ? On the 8th June, 1860. 
1525. You have some statement you wish to make to the Committee ? Yes, it is concerning 
the people having to wash their linen. 
1526. State as clearly and as fully as you can the nature of your complaint ? The tubs 
that you see in the cells, and likewise that are used throughout the night by men that are 
taking medicine, and are under the doctor's hands, are fetched down, and we have to wash 
our flannels and other clothes in them. 
1527. Anything else ? Yes; I was sent here, I believe, for reformation. I was put in the 
yard stone-cutting, and was stone-cutting there for some eight months. I was taken out of 
that and sent out to the roads. I was working here at the back, at the cesspool which is 
made to take the drainage from the gaol. I was working from morning till night in the 
water and refuse of the gaol, and Mr. Flinders, one of the turnkeys over us, as I was 
finishing the flagging, told me to put the flag over the top; as I was putting it on, the water was 
working the ground into mud. While I was doing this the bell rang, and I stopped behind 
the other men to finish setting it. He afterwards reported me to Mr. Mtormiek for not 
setting it properly, and Mr. Altorrnick's answer was, ".Put him in the cells?' I was kept 
in the cells six days, till the magistrate came, and then I got forty-eight hours. He did 

not 
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not find fault when I was setting it, though he saw me at work, but went and reported it; Parramatta Gaol. and yet these men are pat here to see that the prisoners reform. 15 Feb„ 1861. 1528. What magistrate were you brought before ? Dr. Greenup; he likewise stopped my 
tea and sugar for two months. 	 J. Colima. 
1529. When was this? About three months ago. 
1530. You do not know in what mouth it occurred? No; between three and four 
months ago. 
1531. By Air. lYindeycii : During the six days before the magistrate came were you in 
solitary confinement ? Not on solitary rations. 
1532. But before the magistrate came you were in solitary confinement ? Yes. 
1533. Were you deprived of your tea and sugar as part of your sentence ? Yes. 
1584. Did you hear the statement made by Driscoll as to obscene conduct in the closets? 
Yes; of course everybody is aware that the refuse of the world comes into places of this 
description ; but there are some who are not altogether discarded by society who are obliged 
to mix with the others. 
1535. Ilave you observed anything of this kind? As regards obscene language, you can hear 
it every minute of the day. 
1536. Have you witnessed obscene exposure? You cannot help it. 
1537. As a man, have your feelings been shocked in any way by what you have seen ? I 
have turned my head and walked away. 
1538. Were you ever in a place of this kind before ? Yes. 
1539. Arc you a married man ? Yes. 
1540. What were you tried for ? Felony-robbing the post office at Kempsey, Mackay 
River. 
1541. Of the four men now in this cell does either sleep in it at night? No, neither of us. 
1542. Are your rations generally good ? Sometimes for weeks, I can say on my oath, the 
bread has been like vinegar. 
1543. That seems pretty good? That is first-class bread; that is hospital bread. 
1544. By Air. Wilson : When you get bad bread cannot you complain and have it changed? 
Sometimes it is changed, sometimes it is not. I have sometimes been out all day without 
tasting a mouthful, it has been so bad. 
1545. Are you aware who decides whether it shall be changed or whether it shall not ? 
believe Mr Allen. 
1546. By the Chairman: Are you all locked up separately at night? Those that are in the' 
lower tier cells are locked up singly, but in the upper cells there are three in a cell. In the 
other wing I have slept with as many as five in a cell. 
1547. Who sleeps in this cell ? James Pearce. 
1548. By Oh . Wilson : Will you state how you wash your body here ? Since I have been 
in gaol all I have been able to wash has been my feet and legs, and sometimes I have-
got another man to wash my back. 
1549. Is there any bath here ? No. 
1550. By Mr. Illtuleyer : Are you made to wash every day ? No. 
1551. By the Chairman : Is there any regulation by which, if you were disposed to be dirty, 
you would be compelled to wash ? As far as clean shirts are concerned- 
1552. But with regard to your persons, have you ever been required to wash your persons ? 
Never, since I have been in gaol. 
1553. Suppose this case,-that there were a person here of very dirty habits, who would never 
wash himself from one month to another ? He would remain dirty, so far as the authorities 
were concerned. 
1554. Ili Air. 1Vindeyer : Have you ever seen a man washed? I have seen people washed 
who have been deranged. 

James Pearce brought forward and examined :- 
1555. By the Chairman : Did you sleep in this cell last night ? Yes. 
1556. How long have you been in the gaol 	Eighteen months. 
1557. What sentence are you under ? Five years. 
1558. For what offence? Robbing.

b 
 a publican. 

1559. Who tried you ? Justice Callaglian. I was sentenced to Cockatoo. 
1560. For what reason were you removed here ? For the benefit of my health. 
1561. Were you removed under the direction of the medical officer ? Yes. 
1562. How long have you slept in this particular cell? I think about five months. 
1563. How are you employed during the day ? Hat-making. 
1564. Will you bring out your bedding, and let us look at it? (The witness brought his 
bedding, blankets, &c., from his cell) 
1565. When did you receive these blankets? Eight or nine months since. 
1566. When were they last washed ? They have never been washed since I had them. 
1567. You have two of them ? Yes. 
1568. Have you any other covering ? A rug. (The witness produced the same.) 
1569. Did you receive that at the same time ? Yes. 
1570. When you turned out this morning, what steps did you take with regard to putting 
your cell right ? I doubled up my mattress, and folded my blankets and rug up, in accordance 
with the instructions. 
1571. In the manner in which we saw them just now ? Yes. 
1572. They are not aired in any way ? No. 
1573. Is the folding up-of your bed-clothes the first thing you do ? Yes. 

1574. 

James Pearce. 
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Parramatta 1574. Does it remain so all day ? Yes. 
Gaol. 

15 Feb., 1661. 1575. All the prisoners sleep on a board of that kind (pointing to a deal board, about sir 
feet by two, raised three or four inches front the ft  or by battens)? Yes, 

Jaw:brew:ea. 1575. When was that cell last, whitewashed ? Two months ago. 
1577. Can you state when it was whitewashed on the occasion previous to that ? Not since 
I have been in the cell. 
1578. Are there any vermin ? There are a few bugs, but it is swarming with fleas. 
1579. Any other kind of vermin ? No. 
1580. A/ Afi.. 11/i7son: Did you get the straw for that bed new when you came here ? Yes, 
it is generally altered every three or four months. 
1581. Has it been altered since you have been here ? Yes. 
1582. You are an invalid DOW ? Yes. 
1583. Have you hospital rations? 1 lb. bread, 2 oz. rice. 
1584. What is your CM plaint ? Diseased liver, and palpitation of the heart. 
1585. Is that the complaint for which you were sent from Cockatoo here ? Yes. 
1566. Do you find yourself getting better here ? No; worse. 

William Williams examined :- 
1TTaving said he wished to make a complaint.] 

W. Williams.  15S7. By Me Hart: What are you here for ? At the time yin were elected at Armidale I 
received some money, and was tried at Maitland for receiving this money knowing it to be 
stolen. I got two years for it. 
1588. By whom were you tried ? Judge Owen. 
1589. How long have you been here ? Twelve months; I was kept at Maitland Gaol 
twelve months for the good of Government. As I am a tradeStnan I was kept there to do 
some work, and after that was done I was sent to this gaol. 
1.590. What trade are you ? A bricklayer and plasterer, but I understand building 
generally. 
1591. You have some complaint to make respecting your treatment in this gaol ? Yes; 
about four months ago I was working outside at the palisading wall, and when I err me in to 
breakfast, I saw that our hominy was all covered over with dust, and was just like water. 
We tasted it, and it was very bad. Some of the men put up a murmur, and I asked to see 
Mr. Allen ; Mr. M'Cormiek sent for him, and when he came we asked him how it was the 
breakfast was so bad, and said we could not work upon it ; he gave us no satisfaction whatever. 
1592. What was the immediate cause of complaint ? Many mornings we are shoved out to 
work without breaking our fast. 
15'•3. Is that in conseepence of the badness of your food? Yes. 
1594. By Air. Wilson : Do you mean the badness of the way in which it is prepared? No; 
I mean that the meal is of bad quality, it comes here so that the men cannot eat it. 
1595. Does that complaint refer to the hominy, or to the food served out for dinner ? To 
the hominy, hut the meat is sometimes disgusting, not fit for any man to cat. When I Caine 
in from my work some of the men sent for a magistrate-at least I believe he was here-and 
after the awn spoke to Mr. Allen, I went into the cell and sat down, but I could not cat any 
breakfast. I was afterwards fetched out and put into a cell. 
1596. By order of the magistrate ? I cannot say, but twelve men and I were put in a cell. 
1597. When was that? Four months ago. 
1598. Was any investigation held by the magistrate? There was, which was a dear one 
to me. 
1599. When that was held were the proceedings taken down in writing ? I cannot say 
about that. 
1600. What did the magistrate do to you ? When Mr. Allen came round at night, I said 
to him, " Mr. Allen, what did you put me here for ?" " I will shew you in the morning," 
said he. The next morning he fetched Jim out and charged me with mutiny, and I got 
fourteen days solitary. 
1601. Do you mean to say that you had fourteen days solitary confinement without any 
evidence against you ? Just so; but there was evidence enough against me to speak falsely. 
1602. Evidence was taken ? Yes; but the thing will shew that there was no attempt at 
mutiny. 

[The Committee inspected a cell in the first story, about twelve feet by seven, 
and eleven feet high, lighted by two apertures guarded by iron rails. In the cell 
were three mattresses, which, with the blankets and rugs, were folded and placed 
against the wall. It being observed by the Chairman that one pair of blankets 
appeared very dirty, one of the occupants of this cell,-] 

Camille Valenti, brought in and examined:- 
C. Valenti. 1603. By the Chairman : How long have you been here ? Seventeen months. 

1604. For what offence ? Fraudulent insolvency ; but I gave all my property to my creditors, 
and my wife robbed me. 
1605. When were you tried ? In April, 1858. 
1606. What was your sentence? Three years. 
1607. Who tried you? Judge Dickenson. 
1608. How have you been been employed during this time ? I have been assisting as wards-
man in the hospital. 
1.609. That is your bed, is it not ? Yes. 	

1010. 
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1610. Win you open it ? (The witness opened his bed and blankets.) 	 Parramatta, 
1611. When did you receive these ? (Referring to the blankets) Six months ago. 	 Gaol. 
1612. When were they washed ? About five months ago, they have not been washed since. 15 Feb.. 1861.  
1613. Have you good health it Yes, very good health. 	 C. Valenti. 
1614. Do you get good food ? Yes 
1615. You have no complaint to make about the gaol? Not the slightest. 

[The Chairman observing a Bible in this cell inquired of the turnkey whether [Turnkey.] 
there were Bibles in all the cells. The turnkey replied that there were not, in all.] 

James Taylor examined :- 
• [Coming forward and requesting to be allowed to make a statement.] 

1616. By the eltairthan: What is your sentence? Two years. 
1617. For what ? Forgery. 
1618. How long have you to remain here ? Twelve months and three weeks, as nearly as I 
can (mess. 
16197 You have been in the army, I believe? Yes, in the Xith. 
1620. You would be glad to volunteer to enlist to go to New Zealand? Yes. 
1621. How did you leave the army ? I deserted. I have been here ten months and I have 
only got tea and sugar three times. They have got into the fashion of making the men 
work, and not allowing them tea and sugar. 
1622. B y  Mi.. Morris : Have you bad any sentence since you have been in prison ? I have 
been in the cells. 
1623. What for? Nothing at all that I am aware of-because one of the turnkeys said I 
made sonic noise, which I never did; I got four days in the cell. I have been gagged and 
put naked into my cell. 
1624 What for ? Only for asking Mr. Allen for a book; it was by his orders if was gagged, 
and left with nothing on but my shirt, and all night it was raining. I had no blankets, 
nothing but the stone walls. 
1625. Bj Mr. Hirt: Were you violent ? No ; I never said a word improper that I am 
aware of to Mr. Allen, or to any one else. I was seized by one of the wardenen, Mr. 
Williams and Mr. M'Cormielc, and handcuffed and gagged. 
1626. When W.19 this ? Two or three months agi, I cannot tell the exact time. 
1627. 13j Mr. Sutherland: Were you not making a noise ? I never said a word, hut asked 
Mr. Anna for a book, and he said I was not conducting myself like another man ; he told 
nee to mind myself, and I never made an improper reply. He said he would gig me, and 
send me into a cell. 

James Taylor. 

Thomas Nagle examined :- 
1628. By Mr. Windeyer : How old are you ? Eighteen. 
1629. You are in here for an assault ? Yes. 
1630. Who sentenced you ? Justice Holroyd. 
1631. What is your sentence ? Eighteen months, with hard labour. 
1682. Since you received that sentence, has it been mitigated ? Yes, to nine months. 
1633. Do you sleep alone ? Yes. 
1631. At other times have you to associate with men whn have been in gaols before ? Yes. 
1635. How often are your clothes washed ? Once a week. 
1636. Where ? In the yard ; in the night-tubs, and sometimes in the other tubs. 
1637. Sometimes they have no other tubs than the night-tubs to wash in ? No. 
1638. By Mr. Morris : Do you wash yourself all over ? Yes ; every Saturday, in the shop 
where I work. 
1639. By ..1/r. Trindeyer : Do you do that of your own accord, or are you made to du it ? 
I do it of my own accord. 
1640. Is there any regulation by which the people are obliged to wash themselves ? Yes; 
if they did net, they would be checked and put in the cells for being dirty. 
1641. Have you ever seen that done ? Yes ; I have seen a man taken on Saturday morning 
and put in the cells. 
1642. Do you refer to the washing of clothes or the washing of the person ? Clothes. 
1613. Is there any regulation by which prisoners are compelled to keep their skins clean ? 
No, I do not know of any. 
1644. What are you doing here ? Shoemaking. 
1615. Was that your trade before you came here ? I am no trade in particular ; I was with 
a stonemason for a time. 
1646. How has your health been since you have been here ? My health has been very' well. 
1647. Have you made any progress in shoemaking ? I can close a boot, and am getting on 
very well. 
1648. Do you think the trade will be of any use to you when you get out ? Yes. 
1649. By Air. Morris : Is the food you get here pretty good? Yes. 
1650. You have no cause to complain ? No, I have not much cause to complain. 
1651. By Mr. Windeyer : Is the hominy good ? Yes; it has been since I have been here. 
1652. The bread? The bread has been bad once or twice. 
1653. When did you come here? In September, 1860. 
1654. By Mr. Bert: Can you read and write? Yes. 
1655. By Mr. Windeyer : Is there any teaching in gaol? Not that I know of. 
1656. By Mr. Burt: Have you had any visits from clergymen ? Yes; a clergyman conies 
every Sunday. 

1657. 

T. Nagle. 
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Farramatta 1657. By Mr. Aforris : Does he come on week-days ? Yes, sometimes on Saturdays. 
Sad '  15 Fe 1861 1658. By Mr. Windeyer : Has he ever spoken to you privately ? No. . h.,  1659. What are you? A Catholic. 

T. Nagle. 1660. By Mr. Hart: When the clergyman comes on Sunday I suppose he says mass ? Yes; 
and when he conies on Saturday thtse who wish to see him can. 
1661. Does he visit the cells? Not that I know, unless where a man is in solitary confine-
ment, 
1662. By  Mr. Morris: Have you had any solitary confinement? Yes, the first week every 
six months. 
1663. By Mr. Hort : Have you ever been to confession ? No; I have never spoken to the 
clergyman since I have been here. 
1664. By Mr. trodeyer : What do you intend to do when you go out ? I think of going 
to my brother, who is up the country; he is a shoemaker; it I cannot better myself I shall 
go to him. 
1665. By Mr. Hart: Have you any books ? Yes. 
1666. Can you get what hooks you please, or are they supplied by the gaoler ? There are 
two libraries-catholic and other books. 
1667. By Mr. Iffirrdeyee: Have you had any books ? Yes; I have got books from the 
librarian, and hooks from Mr. Dalhunty. 
1668. Who is Mr. Dalktutity 7 Ile is vied; to the priest. 
1669. How did you get them ? I asked for them. 
1670. By Mr. Hurt : What books have you read? The Leisure Hour, and the Home 
Friend, and different other Looks. 
1671. Have you rend any religious hooks? Yes; I have read Butler's Lives of the Saints. 
1672. have you a Prayer 13o0k ? Yes. 
167ff A Bible ? No; I have my own Prayer Book ; I got my mother to fetch it. 
1674. How often are you at liberty to read it ? Every night. 
1675. Do you keep it in your cell ? Yes, in my bag • and I fetch it up every night. 
1676. By Al,. Windeyer : Are there any vt min in 

bag; 
 cell you sleep in ? No. 

1677. By  Mr. Morris: No hugs? I have not seen any. I believe turpentine is put on the 
boards every week. 
1678. Are combs supplied in the gaol ? I have got my own, but I believe they are supplied. 
I never asked for 00C. 

Patrick O'Heir examined :- 	- 
[Having come forward and requested to be heard.] 

P. <Mein 1679. By the Chairman: What is your sentence ? Two years. 
1650. For what offence? Perjury. 
1681. By whom were you fried? Justice Holroyd. 
1682. How long have you ken here ? Four months this month. I wish to be removed to 
Darlinghurst in Ms,  quenee of my health being so bad. I am suffering from lumbago, and 
sitting plaiting in this wing does not agree with me. In the winter here the cold goes 
through me, and if I am not removed I. do not think I can survive the next winter. 
1683. By Mr. Wilson : What is the matter with you ? I am suffering from lumbago, and 
being deformed I suffer much, and am afraid of the cold of winter. 
1684. Do you feel generally a pain about the cheat? I am very weak. 
1685. You complain of the coldness of your cell in winter ? Yes. 
1686. In summer you do not feel so much pain ? No. 
1687. In Sydney did you enjoy better health ? Always. 

[The Committee next visited the cook-house, a long narrow building, clean and 
and well ventilated. Two sets of coppers were fitted up, one for the general use of 
the prisoners and the other for hospital purposes. The cook and his assistants had 
just cleaned out the coppers and was preparing to cook the dinner.] 

John Passmore examined :- 
J. Fassmore. 1688. By the Chairman : Have you charge of this place ? Yes. 

1689. Will you state the course of one day's proceedings? The first thing done is to light 
the fire about six o'clock ; the contractor generally comes about half-an-hour after that, and 
we receive the rations for the day. Meantime my mate is getting the hominy for the men. 
We keep the hominy boiling over-night, and at eight o'clock it is served out. 
1690. How much is served out for each man ? A kid holds the allowance for four. 
1691. How many pounds do you suppose there are in a kid? About 8 lbs. in each kid; 
amply sufficient for all the men. 
169'3. Ts there generally some of it left ? Yes, there is more than they eat at times. 
1693. What is done with the refuse hominy ? I do not know. 
1694. After the hominy is served out what do you do? My particular duty is to see after 
those who are on hospital diet-that takes up all the muster-time at eight o'clock. After 
that we cut up the bread for the men; lib. of bread is a full ration, and ill). extra for indul-
gence. I speak of indulgence by hearsay, any instructions are to send out a certain quantity 
of rations. 
1695. What do you do then? Get the soup ready. 
1696. What do you cook for dinner? Beef and soup. 
1697. How ? In this copper. 	

1698. 
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1698. How much meat do you receive per head ? I received this morning into the kitchen Par&amatta 
1681 lbs. of beef, 235 lbs. of bread, 89i lbs. meal, 91 lbs. potatoes, 10 lbs. sugar, 87 ozs. salt, 15 Feb., 186 . 
for the general rations of the establishment. 
1699. By  Mr. Wilson : Do you receive no other veocretables but potatoes ? No. 	 J. Passmore., 
1700. Never ? Not since I have been here; when I first came into the gaol they used to 
receive pumpkins. 
1701. By the Chairman : How many men will the quantity you have stated supply ? The 
men who are rationed to day are :-155 hard labour, that is to say, full ration of 1 lb. 
of bread; 13 confines-they have lb. of bread each ; 7 solitary confines, entitled to 4 lbs. 
bread; cooks and extra men in the establishment-7 of us altogether. 
1702. How do you prepare the soup ? By boiling-directly the meat is cut up, which is 
generally about half-past eleven, and we keep the soup boding from a little after eight till 
half-past eleven. 
1703. How is it thickened ? Generally speaking there is some of the hominy remaining, 
and we put that in. 
1704. By Mr. Wilson : What do you do with the potatoes? Serve them out at the rate of 
three to one man. 
1705. Are they put into the soup ? Yes. 
1706. What means have you of dividing the quantity ? By weight, into messes of four, 
except in certain cases. 
1707. How often do you clean out the boilers 	Every day. 
1708. Is there any cooking after dinner ? No, except putting on the hominy for the next 
morning. 
1709. How often do you clean the floor of this place ? Thoroughly once, and it is swept up 
once or twice besides. 
1710. What are you cooking now 	I am cooking for the officer on duty. 

[The Committee then proceeded to the female yard, where a number of prisoners 
were engaged at needlework, seated on forms protected from the weather by a shed 
about 40 feet long by ten deep.] 

Mfrs. Ellen Freeman examined :- 
1711. By the Chairman: You are the principal turnkey ? Yes. 
1712. How long have you held that situation ? Over two years. 
1713. How many female prisoners are there in the gaol ? Forty-five. 
1714. How are they classified as to their sentences ? Fifteen years is the longest sentence, 
and there are some who have four years and three years. 
1715. Who is the prisoner who has fifteen years? Mary Ann Perry, the woman who was tried 
for the murder of her husband, Mary Ann Brady three years, and Mary Ann Burns four years. 
1716. What are the lightest sentences ? From a month to three months. 
1717. What were Brady and Burns convicted of ? Brady of murder, and Barns of attempting 
to poison her husband. 
1718. And they are all associated together ? Yes. 
1719. How are they employed to-day ? Some at needlework, and some as servants. 
1720. How many are employed at needlework ? Fourteen at fine needlework. 
1721. What description of articles du you include under the term of fine needlework ? All 
ladies' and gentlemen's wear. 
1722. What is the second class of work ? Making clothing for the children in the orphan 
school-pinafores, trousers, and articles of that kind. 
1723. How many are employed in that kind of work ? Twelve or fourteen. 
1724. How are the prisoners lodged ? Three in some cells, three and a child in some, four 
in some, and two in some, according to the number we have in. 
1725. By Mr. Windeyer : Is your husband employed in the. gaol ? No. 
1726. By Al,. Hart: How many women are usually here ? I have had as high as sixty. 
1727. By Mr. Windeyer: What is the smallest number you have had ? Forty. 
1728. Bt ilk. Bart: What is the age of the youngest you have here ? Fifteen. 
1729. What is she here for? Stealing from her master .-and we had quite a little girl 
here before her. 
1730. What was her age? About fifteen. 
1731. By Mr. Lucas: What is the number of those who have been convicted of their first 
offence? About four or five; all the rest have been convicted more than once. 
1732. Is that the usual average ? It is more than I have had generally. 
1733. By Mr. Windeyer: How do you manage with the young people who come here? 
They have a cell for themselves, because they used to disagree with the others. Mary Ann 
Brady sleeps in a separate cell, because she used to disagree with the others. 
1731. By Mr. Lucas: How many cells have you? Eighteen. 
1735. Which will hold four prisoners in each, and not be at all crowded ? There will be 
quite enough in a cell, but not over-crowded. 
1736. Have you any single cells? Not any, but solitary cells. 
1737. I suppose you have had some confines who have spent the principal part of their time 
in the gaol ? Yes. 
1738. By  Al;'. Windeyer : What is the name of that young woman with a child? That is 
not her child, Mary Fowler is the mother. 
1739. What was her sentence? Eighteen months. 
1740. Was the child born in the gaol? Yes. 
1741. How long has she been in? Over twelve months. 
1742. When was the child born ? Six months after she came in. 

Mrs. Ellen 
Freeman. 

Elizabeth 
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Parramatta 	 Elizabeth Parker examined :- 
Gaol. 

35 Feb., igoi. 1743. By the Chairman: What is your sentence ? Twelve months. 
- 	1744. For what offence ? Bad conduct. 

E. Parker. 	 [Mr. Allen stated that the prisoner was convicted of keeping a brothel.] 
1745. What is your age ? Seventeen. 
1746. How lung have you been here? Twelve months. 
1747. Was any one sentenced at the same time? Yes, this person (pointing to a prisoner 
sitting with her). 

Mary Ann Perry examined :- 
IL A. Perry. 1748. By the Chairman: How long have you been here ? A year and nine months. 

1749. What discipline are you subject to here; fur instance, at what time do you turn out ? 
At six o'clock. 
1750. What have you to do then ? I am employed to keep the hall clean, to see that the 
benches are right? I was at the fine needlework table once. 
1751. How long have you filled your present situation ? I think about four months. 
1752. Have you had pretty good health since you have been here ? My health is failing me 
greatly ; it is not half so good as it was when I first came here. 
1753. By Afr. 	: What do you complain of ? Severe pains in my back, rheumatic 
pains, with sitting a long time; I was ten months at needlework. 
1754. Were you suhjact to rheumatism before you came here ? No. • 
1755. Have you a sufficiency of bedding? Yes. 
1750. You never complain of being cold at night ? No. 
1757. Do you eat your food pretty well 	No, I cannot; I have been a good bit in prison 
Dow. 
1758. Your principal complaint is rheumatism in your back ? Yes, and in my head. 

[The Committee next inspected the female cells on the first floor,-] 

Mrs. Freeman further examined%- 
lifis.Preeman. 1759 .  By  the Chairman: Have you noticed any failure in Mrs. Perry's health ? No, she is 

pretty quiet. 
1760 Does she appear to have any tendency to despondency ? No, I have not noticed 
anything particular. 
1761. By are. ivindeyer : Is the bedding taken out of the cells ? Yes, once a fortnight. 
1702. By the Chairman : When are the cells unlocked in the morning ? At six o'cluck. 
1763. What do the women then do ? They wash and go down into the yard. 
1764. They have some time to themselves ? Yes. 
1765. When d they go to work ? About half-past six. 
1766. When do they breakfast ? At eight ; they have an hour from eight to nine. 
1707. They then go on with their work ? Yes, until the dinner-hour; the dinner-hour is 
from one to two. 
1768. Then they work until about four ? Yes, or five; they then come up here and walk 
about till they are mustered, and then, when the roll is called over, they turn into the cells 
and are locked up. 
1769. When is the roll called ? At half-past five. 
1770. So that they are out Aunt eleven hours and a half ? Yes. 
1771. Bi Ale. Hart: Is there any light in the wings ? No; there is no light. 
1772. By the Chairman: Is there no watch, kept here ? No, we sleep in the end cell. 
1773, What regulation have you for euforaing personal cleanliness ? They wash every 
Saturday, if they choose, themselves. 
3774. I mean as to their personal cleanliness ? They are all very clean. 
1775, What ngulation is there for enforcing personal cleanliness; suppose. a woman is 
dirty in her habits ? Of course I see to it. 
1776. It is left to your discretion ? Yes; if a woman is not able to clean herself I see 
another do it. 
1777. I wish to know whether, at a certain hour or day in the week, a woman is compelled 
to wash herself? Every morning every woman is supposed to wash herself. 
1778. By Mr. Hart : Is there any bath-room ? No. 
1779. By the Chairman: Have you any prisoners in the hospital ? Yes. 
1780, Who is the medical visitor of the gaol ? Dr. Grecnup. 
1781. Has he visited the young girl who is in fits in the yard ? Yes. 
1782. Has he prescribed for lice? Yes, several times. 
1783. Can you state whether the medical visitor has given any opinion as to the cause of 
that girl's fits? From what the girl has told the doctor, she was born with fits. 
1784. They do not arise from an ill course of conduct? Not at all; she was quite quiet 
at lier work when she was taken so. 
1785. Is she generally well-behaved ? Yes, in the prison. 
1786. Have you much insubordination? Not much; sometimes they are rough. 
1787. What has been Elizabeth, Parker's conduct ? Latterly since she has been here it has 
been better; at first her conduct was very lightsome arid troublesome. She was very 
troublesome when she came here at first, and was put into a cell by herself. They upbraid 
one another with the crimes they have done outside. 
1788. You have been here two years? Yes. 

1789. 



1109 

ON THE PUBLIC PRISONS IN SYDNEY AND CUMBERLAND. 	 49 

1789. During that time have many of the ladies about Parramatta visited the female naramatta  
Gaol. prisoners ? Not many; there have been a few, 

1790. Persons often visit gaols, as I dare say you are aware, from motives of curiosity ; I do 15 Fe_11.,1851. 

not allude to such visits, but to visits dictated by a desire to produce reformation among the 3irs.rreeman. 
prisoners ? There have not been any of that kind ; people have just come in and looked round. 
1791. By Mr. Hart: Is there any record kept of the visitors to the gaol? Not that I am 
aware of. 
1792. During the whole two years you have been here, do I understand that the female 
prisoners have never been visited by ladies, who have gone among them to inquire into 
their habits and character ? Not that I am aware of. 
1793. I suppose there is a chaplain to the gaol? Yes. Father Ambrose is the Roman 
Catholic chaplain, and sometimes Parson King comes, and sometimes Parson Lumsdaine. 
1794. Do they come hero often ? Yes. 
1795. Is divine service performed on Sunday? Yes. 
1796. Do the male and female prisoners attend together ? Yes, all in one wing; the male 
and female turnkeys sitting between the women and men during divine settee. 
1797. By Mr. Windeyer: There is a woman here whose husband is also in the gaol? Yes. 
1798. Are they permitted to see each other ? Yes. They have seen each other only once 
or twice since they have been here-when they asked. 
1799. By the Chairman : I suppose you have a number of women here, who have husbands 
and families? Yes. 
1800. Do the husbands come to see their wives? Yes. 
1801. Do they come as often as they can to see them ? They come on the first Sunday of 
every month. 
1802. Are the cells free from vermin, other than fleas? There may be fleas-anything else 
the gaol is very free from ; for, when any prisoner comes in, we take her into one of the 
cells, and make her change her clothing. 
1803. By Mr Hart : As a general rule, do the women shew any shame or regret at their 
crimes ? Some do-some do not; some seem to say they are better off here than any where 
else. 
1804. Do they appear to be careless as to their condition ? Some do-others do not. 
1805. Do you allude to those who come here as vagrants, or to those who are sent here for 
stealing and other offences? There are a few who seem to rather regret it when they come 
at first, but not those who come frequently. 
1806. Do young persons, or those who are more advanced in years, appear to suffer the most 
from regret ? The young persons do not like to be confined. 
1807. By Mr 1I7ndeyer : During the two years you have been here, have you found young 
people come here more than once? Some of the young ones have been here four times since 
I have been here. 
1808. For what kind of crime-bad conduct or stealing ? Both. 
1809. Ey Mi.. Sutherland: What kind of work is done here ? It goes to the school-what 
is called slop work ; the other, the fine work, goes to the party who sends it; we make a 
bill out for it. • 
1810. Who values the work ? Mrs. Allen. 
1811. Is there any valuation put upon the work that goes to the Orphan School ? No. 

[Proceeding to the solitary cells beneath the women's wing,-] 

Caleb George examined :- 
[A prisoner in one of the cells.] 

1812. By  the Chairman: What is your sentence ? Two years with hard labour. 	Caleb George. 
1813. How long have you been in gaol ? Four months. 
1814. How do you come to be in irons? I had a row the other morning with one of the 
turnkeys. He is a new band, is a great tyrant, and treats the men very badly. He got my 
temper up, and I made a rush at him ; I did not strike at him, but caught hold of his shirt. 
For that I was sentenced to 28 days solitary, and three months in irons. 
1815. Who did you receive the sentence from ? From two magistrates in the gaol-one 
was Dr. Greeoup, and the other was a little man-I do not know the other gentleman's 
name. I have a very poor prospect before me, for there is now a warrant in the Detective 
Office to have me tried for bigamy when I leave this. I should have gone on quietly if it 
had not been for this-but I am innocent of the charge. 
1816. Are you innocent of the charge of bigamy ? No; but I am quite innocent of the 
charge for which I got this two years. 
1817. You say you made a rush at the officer ? Yes. 
1818. What induced you to do that ? The bad treatment I received. 
1819. What did the bad treatment consist of? The refusal of any little indulgence. 
1820. You have no bed hero? No. 
1821. Have you had any bed since you have been here? No, I am doing solitary now. 
1822. How many days have you been here ? Since Sunday. 
1823. And you have no bed nor anything else except what we see here? No, but two bits 
of blankets. 
1824. What is this ? A kid of water. 
1825. What is underneath ? The night-tub. 
1826. When is that emptied ? Every morning. 
1827. Do you undress at night? No, I am not able to get my trousers off till I get them 
altered, on account of my irons. 

157-II 	 1828. 
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Parramatta 1828. Have you been washed since you have been in the cell ? Yes, I get a wash every Gaol. 	morning. 15 Feb.. 1861, 1829. Are you allowed books? Yes, any book in the library. 
Caleb George. 1830. What countryman are you ? An Englishman. 

1831. How long have you been in the country ? Between eight and nine years. 
1832. What food are you allowed daily in solitary confinement ? One pound and a half of 
bread a day. 
1833. Anything else ? No. (The witness produced his bread.) That, is better than we 
have had ; we have had very bad bread. 
1834. You have water I suppose ? Yes. 
1835. Plenty of water ? Yes. 
1836. How often is your night-tub emptied ? Every morning. 
1837. Once in twenty-four hours ? Yes. 
1838. Are there any vermin in this cell ? No; this is the first time I have been in the 
cells since I have been here. These cells are not so clean as the others. 
1839. By Mr. Haft: If the tub is used during the day, does it remain till the following 
morning ? Yes. 

Edward Power examined :- 
E. Power. 1840. By the Chairman : What is your sentence ? Five years. 

1841. For what offence? Burglary. 
1842. Where were you tried ? At Bathurst. 
1843. By whom ? Judge Therry, on the 24th September, 1858. 
1844. Were you sentenced to Cockatoo? To the roads and public works of the Colony. 
1845. When did you reach Cockatoo ? On the 26th October, 1858. 
1846. Are you a tradesman ? Yes, a cooper. 
1847. flow were you employed at Cockatoo ? For a while at stone-cutting ; I was then 
made overseer of the cook-house. 
1848. How long did you continue in that capacity ? Nine months. 
1849. What led you to be removed? This affair. 
1850. You were in that situation at the time of the insubordination ? Yes. 
1851. It is right to inform you that we are a Committee of the Legislative Assembly appointed 
to inquire into the state of the prisons of the County of Cumberland-can you state to us 
whether there was any consultation at Cockatoo prior to the refusal to work? No, I never 
heard of any. 
1852. Did you ever consult with others as to the best means to take to remedy the evils 
complained of ? Yes. 
1853. How many persons were there in any consultations in which you took a part ? I 
never took a part ; there was a rumour among the men. 
1854. I want to know whether there was, at any time, a consultation at which it was 
suggested that you should refuse to work ?. Yes. 
1855. Can you state how many there were at these consultations ? Sometimes three or four, 
sometimes ten or a dozen used to meet altogether. 
1856. When they came to the conclusion that they would refuse to work ? Yes. 	. 
1857. Were the probable results of such a refusal started as an objection ? Yes; the feeling 
of the men at the time was, that they did not care what came up foremost to them. We 
were promised from time to time that something should be done for us, and nothing was 
done, and we did not care what we did ; and we thought what we did might as well be done 
at once, and be known to the authorities at Sydney. 
1858. Did you ever hear men express sentiments of this kind-that they would sooner lose 
their lives than continue in that state 	Yes, I have, time after time. 
1859. You are sure of that ? Yes, positive. 
1860. What have you heard them say ? I have heard them talk of making their escape ; 
they said, they might as well be shot at once as remain there the term of their natural life. 
1861. The complaint arose out of the regulation that certain of the prisoners, who arrived 
at the island before a certain date, were allowed to make overtime as much as nine days a 
week, while those who arrived after that date, although they worked as hard as the others, 
only made six days a week ? Yes; besides there was a great deal of complaint about sleeping 
places. 
1862. What do you refer to ? Obscene conduct. 
1863. Will you state in what that consisted? The way they carried on their obscenity ; 
they were worse than brute beasts. 
1864. Will you state plainly what it was ? Cohabiting with one another. 
1865. Are you stating a fact of which you have been a witness? I have not been a witness; 
it has been reported at the office time after time, and it has always been cloaked ; it has 
never been brought to public light. 
1866. The sleeping compartments are in tiers, one opposite to the other, so that the men 
have to creep into them on their hands and knees; the wardsman goes up and down the 
passage during the night, does he not? He is supposed to do so. 
1867. Can you state whether the prisoners ever leave their berths during the night ? Yes. 
1868. Have you seen them get into each other's berths? Yes, I am positive of it, and often. 
1869. Have you heard obscene language ? Yes, constantly. 
1870. Are you a married man ? Yes. 
1871. Have you any children ? Yes. 
1872. Have you heard language that has shocked you as a husband and father ? Y es ; the 
whole of the language from once they got in till they got out in the morning was disgusting. 

1873. 
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ramatta 1873. In hot weather were not these places very oppressive ? Most oppressive ; in the Par 
morning you can't breathe, and almost faint when you come into the open 	air. 	 35 Frli861.  

1874. You have said that unnatural crime was committed, what led you to think that was 
the case if you never saw it ? The conversation that went on between one and another when E. Power. 
they got into the bunks. 
1875. What age are you ? Thirty-four. 
1876. How long have you been in the Colony ? I came here in 1860. 
1877. Have you been all your life mixing with working men ? Yes. 
1878. What part of the world are you a native of? America. 
1879. You arrived here before the gold discovery ? No, I came from California in 1850. 
1880. Were you induced to come here in eortsequence of the discovery of gold ? Yes. 
1881. When you said you judged unnatural crime to have been committed, I understood you 
to say that it had often been committed in Cockatoo Island-did you infer this from con-
versation and inuendocs among the men just as you would infer other facts from inuendoes 
and indirect expreksions among men of the same class ? Yes; but on one occasion in the mess-
shed I saw it with my own eyes. 	 • 
1882. Will you state what you did see ? It was on Sunday, in the mess-shed, just after 
dinner, and I was, I suppose, about a dozen feet away from two men, and was reading a 
book, and I saw one of these two sitting on the other, and the other loosing him with 
his hands; I was disgusted and walked out. I reported it at the time, but never heard 
anything of it afterwards. 
1883. Was one sitting down on the other's lap ? No; one was working the other with 
his hands. 
1884. In fact, one was indecently fingering the other ? Yes. 
1885. With regard to these sleeping apartments at Cockatoo Island, what state have they 
been in as to the night-tubs in the morning ? Very bad ; they are lying under our nose 
all night ; of course every man when it comes to his turn must use them. 
1886. Were you always able to sleep ? No. 
1887. Could you sleep generally ? No. 
1888. What prevented you? The foul atmosphere, and the tremendous noise all night. 
1889. Imprecations and singing ? Yes; the language is frightful. 
1890. And you say the men were going in and out of each other's berths ? Yes, it was as. 
common as anything in the world. 
1891. They did so almost regularly ? Yes. 
1892. Without any limit or any hindrance ? Yes. 
1893. Were they shifting about in a state of nakedness ? Yes. 
1894. At the time you were there were the berths full? Yes. 
1895. Have you seen them sleeping on the top of the berths? ,There may have been one 
or two sleeping on the top of the berths. 
1896. Since you have been here what have you been doing ? I have been in solitary 
confinement all the time. 
1897. Are you willing to go back ? Not to go back to Cockatoo Island ; I would sooner 
work here or anywhere. 
1898. Where is your wife ? At Bathurst. 
1899. Has she ever visited you ? I receive letters monthly from her, or nearly so. Those 
worst men who are on Cockatoo Island are receiving indulgences, while those who have never 
been convicted before have no indulgence. 
1900. When you told us just now that you had no doubt that unnatural crime took place 
in the dormitories on Cockatoo Island, did you mean what you saw in the mess-room, or did 
you mean the act of sodomy ? Sodomy in these dormitories. 
1901. Have you heard it acknowledged? Time after time. 
1902. There has been something more than more inuendoes? Yes; 
1903. Were you ever punished during the time you were on the island? Never. 
1904. Till this act of insubordination ? No. 
1905. Suppose all the prisoners were treated alike, would you be willing to go back ? In 
fact I would not like to go back ; I am disgusted with the place; there is no place to get by 
yourself, you are all huddled up like sheep in a pen, and you can't close your eyes and your 
ears to what goes on. 
1906. Did you marry in this country ? Yes. 
1907. Is your wife a native ? Yes. 
1908. You have no bed here, I suppose ? No, only a blanket. 
1909. What food do you get ? A bit of bread and water. 
1910. How often is your night-tub emptied ? As often as I like. 

John Corner examined :- 
Playing complained of his treatment when on Cockatoo Island.] 

1911. By the Chairman : What is your sentence? Five years. 
1912. What is your offence ? I was accused of highway robbery. 
1913. Who tried you? Judge Callaghan. 
1914. Were you sentenced to Cockatoo Island ? Yes. 
1915. When did you enter upon the island ? On the 8th September, 1858. 
1916. Were you ever punished for bad conduct during the time you were on the island 
before this last act of insubordination ? No; I fell out once before, and got 14 days-that 
was the only punishment. 
1917. How were you employed on the island ? Always at work. 

1918. 

John Corner; 
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Par&amiatta 1918. At what work ? With the building gang. 
1919. You complain of the state of ihe sleeping apartments there, and of your general treat-15 Feb, 1801 . 
ment? The berths we slept in-the dirt under them was never cleaned out from one year's 

John Corner. end to another. The boards-you can scrape off the filth. 
1920. Do you mean bugs ? Bugs and filth both. The rats ran about the place in dozens. 
1921. Had you any body vermin there ? No, I never did. 
1922. Are you a married man ? Jam. 
1923. Have you a wife and children ? I have one son alive. 
1924. Did you ever witness conduct in that place shocking to your feelings as a husband 
and a father ? I never did. 
1925. You never witnessed obscene conduct?. The discourse of the men sometimes is 
disgusting. 
1926. Is not disgusting conduct shocking to your feelings ? Yes. 
1927. What am I to understand from your previous answer ? I understood you in a different 
light ; I thought you meant unnatural crimes ; but the language of the men I did not like 
to hear. 
1928. Did you ever hear language thatled you to think unnatural crime' had been committed 
there? Yes. 
1929. What is your opinion as to whether the crime of sodomy has been committed there-
do you think it has or has not been committed there? From what I have heard, my humble 
opinion is, that it has been, but not lately. 
1930. Were the prisoners in the habit of going from one sleeping berth to another at night ? 
Not to my knowledge. 
1931. You had to creep into your berth on your hands and knees ? Yes. 
1932. Did you ever experience any ill effects from the state of the atmosphere, in consequence 
of the dormitories being overcrowded ? Yes. 
1933. Were those berths full during the time you were there ? Yes ; I have known them 
to be so full that they have been three deep. 
1934. Was there much noise there during the night ? Yes; if I had my choice I would 
rather stop here in this cell than go back to the island. I have no one here to trouble me; 
I am here in peace and quietness. 
1935. Have you any books here ? I have. I would sooner do the remainder of my time 
here than go back to the island again. 

[Visiting the yard where the joiners' and blacksmiths' shops are situated,-] 
Mr. Richard Godson examined :- 

1Kr.R.Godson. 1936. By the Chairman : You are appointed as overseer of the carpenters ? Yes. 
1937. When did you receive that appointment? On the 9th November, 1859. 
1938. From whom ? The Sheriff, on the recommendation of the Colonial Architect. 
1939. How many men are under yon ? I have thirteen just now. 
1940. Are any of them carpenters by trade ? Only one. 
1941. What work are they generally employed upon ? Making wheelbarrows, handcarts, 
and some of them clog soles. 
1942. What are the clog soles ? They have leather uppers put on them by the shoemakers, 
and the magistrates think they will last longer, and be cheaper and better than the shoes 
they wear at present. 
1943. Is any work done for persons outside ? No, it is all public work ; we have now some 
handcarts making for Darlinghurst Gaol, and a dozen barrows went down to the Architect's 
Office. 
1944. I observe one of the men working in irons ? Yes, that is one of the men first sent 
from Cockatoo Island. There is also work done for the Lunatic Asylum. 

John Kelly. 
• 

John Kelly examined :- 
[A prisoner working in the blacksmiths' shop.] 

1945. By the Chairman : What do you work at generally Anything that has been to be 
made. Since I have been here I have done all the work. 
1946. What have you been making ? Palisading for the front of the Government House 
1047. Do you ever make any articles to go outside ? No, only the iron-work for wheel-
barrows, that is all; there have been axles made for three go-carts. 

[The Committee having resolved to hear certain prisoners in the absence of 
the prison authorities,-] 

Alfred Baker examined :- 
Alfred taker. 1948. By the Chairman: How long have you been in this prison ? Nine months. 

1849. For what term was your sentence? Twelve months. 
1950. For what offence? An assault was sworn against me. 
1051. Who sentenced you? Mr. Justice Holroyd. 
1952. You wish to make some statement to this Committee ? Yes. 
1953. Will you proceed to do so-you may speak quite unreservedly here, only adhere strictly 
to facts ? The fact is, that, since I have been here, I have witnessed the treatment of the 
people here-our victuals, when it is cooked in the sort of way it is, is more fit for pigs. 
When it is put down for you it is in a tub, which four or five have to eat out of, and you 

have 
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have to take it with your fingers and teeth the same as cannibals. Four or rive of you rarramatta 
are put into a cell, to eat it together, where a man has slept all night. Another thing is ' 15 Feb 1861 
that the men who are working here, I have seen there punished for getting a drop of 
clean water to wash their face ; they have been sent to the cells for twenty-four or forty- Alfred Baker. 
eight hours. 
1954. Have you ever been punished ? I never gave them any occasion, but I have seen 
many ; they are sent to the cells, and have two dirty pieces of blanket which I have often 
seen over the lime; these I have seen taken away from them, and their board, and they had 
to lie on the stone. Very often the men have to make complaints about the bread they get. 
Three or four were punished the other day for doing so; though the bread was that sour 
they could not eat it. 
1955. The bread is very good to-day, is it not ? It is good enough at times. 
1956. Do not you consider it very good to-day ? I have not seen it yet. 
1957. Did you not consider the bread you received yesterday good ? Yes, it was sweet 
enough yesterday. They are taken out of the yard for the most frivolous offences; if an 
officer speaks to them and they turn round, that is made a complaint of. 
1958. You say the meat is served up in a filthy state ? Yes ; the meat and potatoes are 
cooked, and the potatoes with their skins on are put into the soup. 
1959. Are you allowed spoons ? Horn spoons. 
1960. Is the bedding good? Yes, the bedding I have got is good enough; a straw mattress 
and two blankets. 
1961. By Arr. Windeyer : Are the men made to wash at all ? Yes, they are made to wash 
themselves ; they can do that every Saturday. 
1962. By the Chairman: Are they compelled to do that ? No, they are not compelled 
unless they choose. 
1963. .735 Afr. Windeyer : Are you in a cell by yourself? No; I asked for one, and had it 
for sometime, but I was taken out the other day to let a man go in that was in irons. I am 
now in a cell with four others. You have to mix here with people who have committed all 
sorts of crimes. 
1964. Do yotiknow whether the men complain at all of not being able to shorten their 
time by doing extra work ? No, I never heard any complaints in that way. 
1965. By Al,. Walsh: You say that, sometimes, men are put into the cells, and their bedding 
and boards are taken away ? Yes. 
1966. Can you remember any particular person who has been so treated ? Yes, there was 
one put in last Sunday-Nicholas Burns. 
1967. How do you know that that was done in his case-did you see the board and bedding 
taken away ? I saw it outside the cell when I went to take the lime from the cell beyond 
his. He was there from Sunday till Tuesday before ho was tried. 
1968. He was not tried, then, at the time he was in the cell ? No; he was in from Sunday at 
dinner-time till Tuesday. 
1969. He was put in on Sunday, and you saw the bedding outside on Monday morning ? 
Yes. 
1970. Is he still in the gaol ? Yes. 
1971. Is he in the cell now ? No, he is in the carpenters' yard working with the black-
smiths; he has done his forty-eight hours. 

• 
Matthew Britton brought in and examined :- 

1972. By the Chairman : How long have you been in this gaol ? Twelve months the 7th of M. Britton: 
next month. 
1973. What is your sentence ? Two years. 
1974. For what offence did you receive that sentence ? I was charged with robbing Mr. 
West. 
1975. Who tried you? Judge Dowling. 
1976. How have you been employed during the time you have been here ? About six 
months out of that I was at the stone-cutting. 
1977. Are you a mason ? No. 
1978. Are you a labourer ? Yes. 
1979. You are in irons now ? Yes. 
1980. How came you to be in irons ? I received a sentence of six months here. 
1981. What for ? Striking an officer. 
1982. When did that occur ? Six months on the 24th March next. 
1983. Have you ever been punished before during the time you have been here ? Nine or 
ten times. 
1984. What were you punished for those different times ? I cannot speak to you in that way 
you are speaking to---( The witness here appeared to be confused.) I could explain myself 
if I were allowed to speak out straight, Sir. ( The witness here handed a slate to Mr. Hart, 
who read the following :-) "Sir,-I would wish to make various complaints to you now, but 
" my inability renders me incapable of doing so. I wish to bring under your notice, that, if 
" a man makes a complaint, he incurs the displeasure of Mr. Allen, and if Mr. Allen does not 
"annoy you in a direct way he does so in an indirect manner. I know that although you 
" promise me your protection that any order you may leave here concerning my future treat- 
" ment will be violated in your absence. There are plenty of men would be glad to make 
" complaints were they not frightened of the after-claps. I am aware that what I am doing 
" now will cause me to lead the life of a dog during the remainder of my sentence, if I have 
" to finish it in Parramatta. Were I able to explain to you the manner in which the officers 

"of 
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Parnmatta 	of this establishment carry out their duty, you would scarce give credit to all. I regret 
Gaa   15 Feb 1861. " that it is my inability will not allow me to explain the truth of those cases, but plenty of .,  

" the men would and could, if they were not afraid of the after -punishment while in this 
M. Britton. " gaol." 

1985. What do you mean by your inability to explain ? That is how it was wrote. 
1986. You say you have been punished nine or ten times ? Yes, recently. 
1987. What were you punished for ? If you will allow me to speak I will state the reason. 
1988. So long as you adhere strictly to the facts, you can speak to us without any reserve ? 
I have a complaint to make against Mr. Allen first. 
1989. Will you explain to us why you have been punished these nine or ten times? Yes, 
I will. I was punished last week for coming here and speaking about the bread, when the 
men in No. 2 said it was sour. 
1990. What sentence did you receive ? A week in the cells. 
1991. Can you remember what was the first punishment you received before you were put 
in irons ? The first was forty-eight hours solitary. 
1992. What was that for? It was when I came from Bathurst. I would not go to load a 
cart with stones with no shoes on. 
1993. Can you recollect what you received your second punishment for ? No. 
1994. Were the seven, eight, or nine punishments inflicted for offences similar to these ? 
I got forty-eight hours for telling one of the officers he was drunk, and I proved it. in the 
office that he was beastly drunk, and that he was so also on Saturday and Monday. 
1995. You say you received a sentence of six months in irons for striking an officer ? Yes. 
1996. How did that arise ? I had just come out of the hospital after being in six weeks for 
a disease of the heart, and I would not go into No. 2 cell with two cranky men; and because 
I would not he sent to Mr. McCormick the next morning, and he came where I was lying 
on the bunk berth with two blankets over it. He said, " What is the matter with you—
you are a damned liar, there is nothing the matter with you ?" I said, " If nothing is the 
"matter with me, I must get up, but, if nothing is the matter with me, what did the doctor 
"send me to the hospital for six weeks for ?" He said, "Up you get or I shall drag the 
blankets away." With that the officer pulled away the blanket, and shoved me. I hit 
him, and he knocked me down ; ray head fell against the stone. For that I got six months 
in irons. 
1997. You said you wished to make a charge against Mr. Allen, what is it ? The charge 
I have to make is this. The men in No. 2 wing refused to eat the bread ; they said it was 
sour, and all the men would not work in the stone yard. The officer came up and said, "Britton, 
are you going to work ?" I said, " I do not intend to refuse to work, nor is it my intention 
to say that I will not." I said to the men, " Let us go up and speak to Mr. McCormick 
in a proper manner." Mr. Crawford said, "What do all you men want—I shall only let half-
a-dozen men go up." They said, "We all want to see Mr. McCormick." I was the first man 
at the gate, and said, "I want to speak to Mr. McCormick about my rations for myself." 
With that the gate was opened, and half-a-dozen men were let out, and the two delegates 
and cook came in with the bread. Mr. Allen came in and handed me half a loaf, and said, 
"Is this bad bread." I said, "This is sour." With that he caught hold of me in a violent 
manner. I abused Mr. Allen, and he said, "Take him to the cells like a dog," and gave 
me two shoves. When I got out, I turned round and abused Mr. Allen in a violent manner. 
I do not deny that I did. That-is the complaint I have to make. 
1998. And what became of all that bread? It went to Mr. Allen's pigs. 
1999. By Mr. Hart: Who sentenced you to six months in irons for striking the officer ? 
The old gentleman that comes here, and another magistrate. 
2000. Were regular proceedings taken against you, and the evidence taken down in writing ? 
Yes. 
2001. By the Chairman: What evidence? Mr. McWilliams swore that Mr. McCormick never 
said anything of the kind, calling me a damned liar. In fact, it was no good my speaking 
when Mr. McCormick and the other officer swore against me. I had nothing to say, and 
only pleaded guilty. I said it was no good my speaking. Just before that, I bad another 
complaint to make — 
2002. Are there pigs kept in this gaol ? No; but pigs are kept outside, and fed upon 
prisoners' rations, and fowls also fed upon hominy. I have a few words to speak against Mr. 
McWilliams. One Saturday nearly six months ago, Mr. McWilliams came into the yard—
we were all ranged up in the yard, and were counted man by man; Mr. McCormick came 
into the yard, and said, "low many men are there ?" and the officer said, "Thirty-three 
men." There were forty-seven men before breakfast, and forty-eight after breakfast. Mr. 
McCormick said, "Well, how many men have you got ?" "Thirty-three." "You ought to 
have more than that" said Mr. McCormick. The officer went and counted them again. 
Mr. McCormick said, "Have you made them correct now ?" There was "13" marked on 
the wall, and he said, "The men must be correct, for this is the e  number of them." Mr. 
McCormick had then to call the men into the yard, and Mr. Armstrong found the men 
correct; and Mr. McCormick had to report the officer for being drunk. I got forty-eight 
hours for telling him he was drunk. On Monday morning be was fetched before the magis-
trate, and fined 10s. or was reprimanded for being drunk in the gaol. 
2003. Has your bunk berth been taken away from you at any time during the night? No. 
2004. By Mr. Wilson : Why are you without shoes ? I asked Mr. McCormick for a pair 
of shoes, and he said, " When you are due for them you shall get them." 
2005. Have you no shoes ? It is just the same as if I had none; the bottoms are all gone, 
and they hurt me more than if I had none. 
2006. By Mr. Hart : Are those the heaviest irons worn in the gaol ? I had a heavier pair 
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on, bat when the Sheriff came he ordered another pair for me, and mine were given to one Parramatta 
of the Cockatoo men. I was a long time before I could get a belt to support the irons. I 	Gaol. 

61 Fe 1861 - have done twelve months here, and I would rather do two years at Darlinghurst than another 	b.,  
twelve months here. 	 M. Britton. 
2007. Can you take your trousers off? Yes. What I have been punished the Lord only 
knows. I have a very bad disease, and I have been put in the cells. 
2008. What is your disease? Palpitation and pain at the heart. I have been very bad. 
The magistrates ordered my irons to be taken off on the first of last month, and I spoke to 
Mr. Allen in the wing, and said, the magistrates had been so good as to knock my irons off. 
He said he had received no orders, but that if he had been present my irons should have 
come off. He said, " On account of your committing yourself the way you have, you shall 
" wear your irons, but if your conduct is good you shall not do the seven days solitary." 
2009. When was the order given by the magistrate? Either on the Wednesday or Thurs-
day preceding the 1st February. 

Nicholas Burns brought in and examined. 
2010. By 111r. Walsh: How long have you been here ? About five months. 	 N. Burns. 
2011. Under what sentence ? Three years. 
2012. For what crime ? Robbery. 
2013. Have you been punished here lately ? No, I have not. 
2014. Were you in the cells lately ? Yes, I was in the cells five days. 
2015. When was that? Since last Sunday. 
2016. When were you first put in ? On Sunday. 
2017. At what time of the night ? About nine o'clock in the morning. 
2018. Did you remain in the cells during the night ? Yes. 
2019. Had you a bed there? No. 
2020. Had you first of all bed clothing or blankets ? Two old blankets during the night. 
2021. Had you aboard?  No. 
2022. You had to lie on the stones? Yes. 
2023. When you went into the cell at first, was there a board there? Yes. 
2024. Was it removed upon your going into the cell ? Yes, it was removed when I went 
into the cell. 
2025. Who removed it ? One of the turnkeys, 
2026. What is his name ? Armstrong. 
2027. Were you obliged to lie upon the flag-stones during the time you were there ? Yes, 
all the time. 
2028. By Mr. Wilson: Have you been tried-were you sentenced to the cells by the 
magistrates? Yes, I had forty-eight hours. I was there three days before I was brought 
before them. 
2029. Are those the best boots you have ? Yes. 
2030. By Mr. Walsh : At the time this board was removed from the cell, did the turnkey 
say why he took it away? No; be never told me why he took it. 
2031. Had you had any misunderstanding with that turnkey before ? No; I never had any. 
2032. Was that the only time you had been punished 1 Yes. 
2033. What were you punished for ? The blade of a knife I had on tue. 
2034. By M.. Bart : How did you get it ? I made it. 
2035. By Mr. Lucas : What did you make it for ? To cut my meat with. We have no 
knives in this place, but have to take the meat in our hands and tear it in pieces. 
2036. You have a spoon ? Yes. 

Hugh Downing brought in and examined:- 
2037. By  Mr. Lucas : How long have you been here ? Two years and eight months. 
2038. 'What is your sentence ? Three years. 
2039. What did you come here for ? Robbery. 
2040. Have you been punished since you have been here ? Yes. 
2041. How many times ? Two. 
2042. For what period ? Once I was in for between two and three months. 
2043. Was that solitary confinement ? Part of it. 
2044. How often were you let out of the cells? Not at all. 
2045. What bedding had you? Part of the time two blankets. 
2046. The rest of the time ? Nothing else ; I had no board at one time, and no blanket, 
and water was thrown over me. 
2047. By whom ? One of the turnkeys. I was in handcuffs part of the time-I had no 
use of my hands. 
2048. What were you put in there for ? Not giving information that two men were going 
to escape. 
2049. Did the men make their escape? No. 
2050. How have you been treated since that ? Very well. 
2051. Have you not been punished since that ? No; I have been tried since, but discharged. 
2052. You have only once been punished ? Yes. 
2053. Have you any other complaint to make ? Of bad rations. 
2054. Just state the whole of your complaint as briefly as you can ? The arbitrary manner 
the officers of the establishment exercise authority over the prisoners. 
2055. Have you asked at any time to see the magistrates ? No, never ; because I knew it 
was of no use, for it is all cut and dried before you come in. 

2056, 

H. Downing-. 
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Parramatta 2056. Have you known any men, who have asked to see the magistrates, punished 	Yes. 
Gaol.  

15 Feb 1861 2057. When was that ? At the time the men were tried here for mutiny. .., 	r  208. When was that? The men felt aggrieved, and they complained to Mr. Allen, and 
H. Downing. said they wanted to see the magistrates, and he went and took their names down, and they 

received from fourteen to thirty days solitary. 
2059. You did not wish to give this evidence ? No; for I know that if a man gives evidence 
here, he will lead the life of a dog after—I know it from experience. I have been so treated 
that I have not the use of either of my arms. I was in the cells six weeks before! was tried. 

John Rowan brought in and examined :— 
John Rowan. 2060. By Hr. Lucas : How long have you been here ? Five months. 

2061. What for ? Horse stealing. 
2062. Where were you tried ? At Yass. 
2063. What was your sentence ? Two years. 
2064. Have you any complaint to make of the treatment you have received? When these 
gentlemen leave the gaol severity will fall upon me. I had not been in the gaol ten days 
before I was taken up. I did not know the regulations of the gaol, and some of the men 
said it would be best to see the magistrates about them, and they said they would do so. 
Mr. McCormick came in, and one of the men fell out, and said, "I beg pardon, we want to 
see Mr. Allen." "What do you want to make a complaint about ?" "The rations." Mr. 
Allen came and said the men who complained were to send in their names ; about ten sent 
in their names, and we were all locked up. We were fetched- from the cells next day one by 
one and tried for mutiny—some had a month and some fourteen days. I did not know it 
was against the rules of the gaol, it was the first time ever I was in the gaol for any crime. 
If there is a knife, or a bit of tin, or iron to cut the meat with—which is sometimes brought 
up half-cooked—found upon a prisoner, he gets twenty-four or forty-eight hours, and his 
tea and sugar and extra bread is stopped. 
2065. Is your tea and sugar stopped ? Yes, my tea and sugar and extra bread is stopped 
for two months. 
2066. What for ? One of the officers swearing falsely against me. He said he was sitting 
alongside me in the necessary, and saw me throw a note down the necessary. I had a witness 
that I wanted to bring forward, who saw me there, but the magistrate would not allow me. 
The same officer was pulling at me again ; I had a stone on the banker ready for the dray-
man to put on, and this man came to me, began to domineer over me, and said, why had I 
not got a stone ready ? I said, I had got one. He said," You had better not give me a chance." 
I said, "I will not leave myself in any man's power, I will do my duty, and I intend to 
prosecute you before the Sheriff fur perjury." I got four days in the cells for that, where 
I had two dirty bits of blanket. 
2067. You do not have the blankets which belong to your cell ? No. 
2068. Are the blankets you have in your cell washed ? No; I have heard men who have 
been here two years say that there blankets have not been washed all the time. 

FRIDAY, 22 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

proent 
Mu, COWPER, 	 Mat MORRIS, 
Mn. LUCAS, 	 Mn. WALSH., 
Mn. MATE, 	 WINDEYER. 

H. PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Mr. Thomas Harrison called in and examined :— 
Mr- T. 	2069. By the Chairman : You are principal turnkey at Darlinghurst Gaol ? Yes 

Harrison. 2070. Did you petition the Legislative Assembly ? I did. 
'end.'" 2071. Will you look at that petition (handing a paper to witness)—is that your petition ? 

22 Feb., 1861 . That is my petition. 
2072. In that petition you state you have been dismissed from the service ? Yes. 
2073. When was that ? Some eight days ago. 
2074. Do you know on what day you were dismissed ? I really forget the date. 
2075. Did anything take place before your dismissal ? There was an inquiry by Captain 
Mterie. 
2076. Were any steps taken with reference to yourself? None whatever ; I was told of 
no charge whatever. 
2077. Were you suspended first ? Yes. 
2078. How many days after your suspension were you dismissed ? That inquiry took place 
on Saturday, and I expected to be called up on Monday. I was told there was no charge 
against me—the Sheriff then suspended me. 
2079. When did this suspension take place ? On the Monday following the inquiry. 
2080. Do you mean that the inquiry concluded on the Saturday ? No; Captain Mterie 
stated that he should adjourn to Monday ; and on Monday, when be came again, he went 
on with the case of the Cockatoo prisoners who escaped. 

2081. 
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2081. What Monday was this when you were suspended, was it a fortnight or a week ago 	mr, T. 
last Monday ? I made a memorandum of it—I think it was last Monday week. 	 nantson.  
2032. When did your dismissal take place after that? The dismissal took place at the 22711/4"—tb., 1801.  
time the Sheriff was suspended—about a week after that, last Monday or Tuesday. 
2081 Was any letter addressed to you when you Were suspended ? No. 
2084. Was any letter addressed to you when you were dismissed ? No. 
2085. How long have you been in the public service ? Twenty-three years last September. 
2086. You have not been all that time at Darlinghurst? No; I went there when Mr. 
Reek was removed; when Captain Mterie went there in 1849. 
2087. What situation did you hold previously ? I was appointed by Sheriff Young, and 
placed on the gate as assistant principal turnkey. 
2088. Did you hold that all the time prior to your appointment as principal turnkey ? Yes. 
2099. What were you before you were appointed to Darlinghurst ? I was at Newcastle, 
and held the office of lock-up keeper and principal bailiff of the Court of Requests, on the 
recommendation of Dr. Brooks, and — 
2090. Since you have been appointed principal turnkey have you resided within the 
prison walls? Yes. 
2001. Will you state to the Committee what have been your duties as principal turnkey, 
and what amount of responsibility you consider yourself to have borne in that office ? During 
the time Captain Webster was principal gaoler my duties were properly defined. 
2092. Ire was the first gaoler after you went there? No; he was principal gaoler when I 
was principal turnkey. My duties at that time were to receive and discharge prisoners—
to muster the men—to see the cells properly secured after the men were locked up—to pre-
vent any irregularity that might come within my notice, or that might be reported by the 
turnkeys—and to report such irregularities to Captain Webster. 
2093. Anything more ? No; I think that is all. 
2094. Could you describe to the Committee how you perform these duties, or, in other 
words, will you state the day's or the week's routine in the gaol at that time? In the morn-
ing my first duty was to deliver the keys of the prison to the respective turnkeys in charge 
of each wing, at six in the morning. After seeing the whole of the turnkeys on duty—some 
of them sometimes would be late, and then my instructions were not to unlock the outer gate 
of the prison till such time as such turnkey was on his post. After claim ,

° 
 that I got my 

breakfast, and then I used to visit Captain Webster at his office, at eight o'clock precisely, 
to report anything that might have happened during the night. After that the discharge of 
the prisoners took place, at ten o'clock—those prisoners whose time had expired. Directly 
on the discharge of the prisoners Captain Webster and I used to visit every cell in the 
whole establishment, and also the yards. 
2095. Male and female ? Not the female. The matron did that duty. Then we used to 
see that the prisoners were at their work, and very frequently we used to visit the prisoners—
four or five times a day, perhaps oftener—as occasion might require. The next duty would 
be to receive prisoners from the police offices, or perhaps during the day and night from 
different country stations; and after the prisoners had been received, and their hair had been 
cut, and such like, then came on the muster—the ration return being made out first, as a 
cheek for the general muster; and then Captain Webster used invariably to go with Inc to 
the muster, and directly the men were called out and put in the cells, the turnkeys locked 
them up, and I examined to see that they were properly locked up. I then took away the 
keys with me to my bed-room, where they remained. 

- 2096 Then you would not be called out at night unless there were some unusual occurrence ? 
Invariably I was called out. There was hardly a night that I was not, either on account of 
receiving prisoners from country stations

' 
 or on account of sickness. In ease of sickness the 

turnkey in charge calls me out. I send him to the dispenser, and I take the turnkey's post • till he returns. 
2097. If all went on uninterruptedly, you would not be disturbed during the night ? No. 
2098. Hew long was Captain Webster gaoler ? I think about four years. 
2099. Do you remember in what year he died ? 1853, I think. 
2100. Did your office as principal turnkey extend over the female department ? No; I had 
nothing whatever to do with the female department. 
2101. In no way ? In no way. 
2102. Who was the next gaoler? Ur. Beverley. I was acting about seventeen days, and 
then Mr. Beverley was appointed. 
2103. 1 think you said, in the earlier part of your evidence, that your duties have not been 
properly defined since Captain Webster's death? No; they have been so mixed up I really 
cannot properly understand them. 
2104. Can you give us a specimen of your day's duty since that time ? My day's duty has 
certainly been a great deal heavier; but, with respect to orders being issued, I have frequently 
seen orders stuck up about the boxes—I presume by order of the Sheriff—of which I have not 
known anything about until a day or two after they have been issued. When I have issued 
orders

' 
 carrying out Captain Webster's principles of gaol management, those orders have been 

contradicted. • 
2105. What do you mean by Captain Webster's principles of gaol management? Every-
thing with reference to the discipline and management of the gaol passed through my hands 
at that time, but since then the turnkeys have invariably known the orders before I have 
known them myself. 
2106. I suppose you have stated and definite duties now ? The truth is I have to do the 
whole of it ; everything lies upon my shoulders, and has done for a considerable time. 
2107. Do you mean that you have to do the whole of the work of the principal gaoler 1 

157—I 	 There 
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Mr. T. 	There is no use mincing the matter : I have to do everything with the exception of signing Harrison. documents. These, of course I reserve for Mr. Beverley's signature. 
ir'•••-• 2108. Were any works carried on  in the gaol during Captain Webster's time? No; there 22 Feb., 1861 ' was a little stone-cutting for building the bath-house. 

2109. Have the workshops been opened since then ? They have been opened since his death. 
2110. The tailoring, blacksmiths', and carpenters' shops ? Yes. 
2111. None of these shops existed during his time ? There were shops, but no work 
systematically came out of them for private Individuals. 
2112. Do you remember about what time they were introduced ? About nine years ago, or 
shortly after Mr. O'Neill Brenan was appointed Sheriff. 
2113. Had you, as principal turnkey, anything to do with the works ? I had charge of the 
works for eight years, independently of my ordinary duties as principal turnkey. Under my 
superintendence the new wing, part of bath-house, the debtors' prison, the completion of 
front entrance, and dead-house, were built, besides several minor works. 
2114. When did this charge cease ? On the 1st January, 1860; then it was handed over 
to the Colonial Architect. 
2115. What has been the character of the work that has been executed in your shops ? 
There has been a great deal of ironwork done for the Government Offices. The lightning 
conductor at the Military Barracks was manufactured under my superintendence, and many 
other kinds of ironwork. 
2116. Is any work done inside the gaol for private families? Yes. 
2117. In all the shops ? Yes. 
2118. Is there any large proportion of work of that kind ? No; the larger proportion is for 
Government. 
2119. What are the articles made in the blacksmiths' shop for persons outside ? Chiefly 
repairs of bedsteads and other articles-axles made. 
2120. Any farming implements ? Yes. 
2121. Do you recollect any particular instance ? There was a great deal of work done for 
Mr. Ryan Brenan, in farming implements. 
2122. About what time ? I think his account has been standing over some four years ? I 
am not aware whether it is settled or not yet. 
2123. Are all the articles made for private persons entered in the books ? Yes. 
2124. On what calculation is the work priced ? The general charge has not been so much 
for the work as tradesmen would have charged outside; there is no scale laid down. 
2125. You have no data upon which you calculate the price ? It appears in the book. 
2126. How do you arrive at the price you fix ? For some time past I inquired of one or 
two tradesmen what would be the cost, and then fixed an average price with the sanction of 
Mr. Beverley. 
2127. What particular articles have you made for Mr. Brenan ? Harrows, ploughs, and 
iron railings. 
2128. Were the ploughs made throughout, woodwork and all ? I think they were all made 
of iron. 
2129. Has any cabinetwork been made for any body ? Some cabinet was made the other 
day for the Rev. Mr. Agnew, and a handsome chest of drawers was made for one of the 
turnkeys. I suppose it is the overseer's province to charge for them. 
2130. These things are all entered in the book ? They are all entered in the book, or 
should be. 
2131. Do persons having work done in these shops send in the material ? They send in the 
material; 	will not find it. 
2132. 	 hen articles are made by the blacksmiths, the material must be sent in ? Yes. 

• 2133. You only charge for the work ? Yes. 
2134. Whose duty was it to keep this book ? Mr. Wickham,the clerk of the gaol ; he had 
-charge

' 
 and still has charge. 

2135. Are the books accessible to you at all times ? Yes. 
2136. Do you consider, from your own knowledge, that they represent accurately what work 

• has been done ? I think every item is down there, up to the time it was under my charge-
of the appointment of the overseer. 
2137. You think every job executed for private parties has been entered in these hooks? 
I think so-I am almost sure. 
2138. Have you any doubt of it ? No; for when a turnkey has made a return at the end. 
of the week, I have looked at the book. 
2139. Is there much work done at the tailors' shop ? No; that is not a paying establish-
ment, and I have repeatedly spoken to the Sheriff about it. 
2140. Is there much work done there for people outside? There is a good deal done, but 
not enough to pay the man for overlooking the prisoners. 
2141. Is there much done for the prisoners there? Yes, in making up slops. 
2142. Do the officers of the gaol frequently employ the prisoners ? Through the overseers, 
they have to gain permission. 
2143. Have they had many articles manufactured in that way ? I think not; they have 
had tubs and buckets, and perhaps they might get some things done that no one would 
know anything about. I have frequently gone to the carpenters' shop and seen little boxes 
about, and have broken them up. 
2144. Are you aware that there was a large article of domestic furniture being made when 
the Committee visited the gaol, which was afterwards stopped ? There was a wardrobe, 
I believe, in progress. 
2145. It was being made for some gentleman in the Colonial Architect's Office ? Yes. 

2146. 
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2146. Was that stopped the following day ? I do not know ; that is entirely in the hands 	Mt. T. 
of the Colonial Architect's Department. I have never interfered since the Colonial Architect Harrison, 

took charge of the work. 
2147. In describing the manner in which you have performed your duties as principal 22  Feb. , 1841.  
turnkey, you have not told us in what way you came in contact with the Sheriff-in what 
way does the Sheriff appear in the management of the gaol? Since, what I must call the 
bad system of introducing work for private individuals-the mixing of Government work 
with private work-there has been a bad tendency. 
2148. I want to know when the Sheriff appears at the gaol, at what hours, and in what 
degree he has an influence upon the management of the gaol ? It was his own proposal to 
hand the whole of the works to the Colonial Architect. 
2149. Does he ever come to the gaol ? Sometimes. 
2150. How often ? Sometimes twice a week ; sometimes it may be a month before he 
comes, and I have known him to be there three times a week. His visits all appear in the book. 
2151. What does he do when be comes to the gaol ? He invariably goes into Mr. Beverley's 
office. 
2152. Does lie go through the gaol ? Yes. 
2153. What do you mean when you say he goes through it ? The plan I have taken upon 
myself to adopt is, when the Sheriff comes into the gaol, to allow him to go through the 
stockade and prison by himself before I go to him, so that he may see what is going on. 
2154. Does he ever go into the cells? Ile has been into some of the cells. 
2155. Frequently ? No. 
2156. You say he has sometimes been in the gaol only once a month-how long has he 
remained in the gaol when he has visited it ? Sometimes two or three hours-sometimes 
one hour. 
2157. Did he make any inquiries ? No, not particularly. 
2158. Are we to understand that he just simply walked through the yard where the men 
have been at work, and has then walked back ? Yes ; he may sometimes speak to the 
overseers about what work they were doing, or what they were going to do with the stone 
they were cutting, or he may ask the overseer of the blacksmiths' shop what work the men 
are about. 
2159. Are you speaking of the practice of any lengthened period, or only of last week ? I 
am speaking from the time he was first appointed Sheriff, before and after the overseers were 
appointed. 
2160. Did he not appear at the gaol more frequently before the work was handed over to 
the Colonial Architect? No, be did not. 
2161. Then the visits you have now been describing to the Committee are his visits as they 
have been made during the whole period that he has been Sheriff ? Yes. 
2162. What regulations have you had during the time you have been principal turnkey, and 
how have they been enforced ? They have been so numerous that I could not tell you unless 
I had them here, They were one on the top of another, so that I hardly understood what 
was my duty. 
2163. Can you tell us what regulations were enforced with regard to the daily routine of 

• the gaol, with respect to the management of the prisoners ? They are released from their 
cells at six in the morning and get their breakfast; at seven they are turned out to work ; 
at twelve they come in to get their dinner, and go out again at one. When I had the 
management of the works I never used to allow the men from their work till a quarter-past 
five, but now they leave their work at four. 
2164. How do you enforce cleanliness among the prisoners? On many occasions when I 
have found that men have been dirty, that they would not keep themselves clean, I have 
ordered them to be put in a large stone cistern, and have had them scrubbed. That is chiefly 
among the men sentenced to imprisonment without hard labour. 
2165. Are they required to wash at any period of the week ? They are. 
2166. When are they required to wash? livery day ; and any man that does not wash 
himself the turnkey reports to me, and I report him to the principal gaoler. 
2167. Do you recollect any case where a man was punished for not keeping himself clean ? 
I know a great many ; only three weeks ago, a man of the name of Parker - 
2168. Were you present when some of the prisoners spoke to this Committee about the 
want of any regulations to enforce cleanliness ? No. 
2169. It was stated to us, when we were in the gaol, that, if a prisoner chose to neglect 
himself for a twelvemonth, he would not be forced to keep his person clean ? That is wrong; 
there is a bath-room with a good supply of water there, and a tank overhead. 
2170. Is that bath ever used by the prisoners ? It is. 
2171. By the prisoners in a state of health ? Yes. 
2172. Can the prisoners, after they have done their work, avail themselves of that bath ? 
They can. 
2173. And, in fact, do they ? Some do ; some wash in the yard; there is a large stone 
cistern in the yard where they wash. 
2174. During the last week you were there acting as turnkey did any prisoners wash in 
that bath ? Yes. 
2175. Any prisoners in a state of health ? Yes. 
2176. More than one? I think four or five. 
2177. There has never been any obstacle to their using the bath ? Decidedly not. 
2178. Then, if the prisoners have stated that the bath was of no use to them, they have 
stated what is not true ? It could not be true; for the instructions to the turnkeys in each 
wing are, that the prisoners can go and have a bath or a shower-bath when they wish it. 

2179. 
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Mr. T. 	2179. They are not required to use it? Not so long as they have this stone cistern in the 
Harrison. yard to wash in on Saturdays. 

\ 2180. Are they required on Saturdays to shave and have a wash ? Yes, to shave and 
2- Feb., 1861. h ave a wash .  

2181. That has always been done ? Yes; the turnkey in charge of the wing sees that it 
is done. 
2182. On what day in the week, at what hour, would all the prisoners in the gaol be in a 
perfectly clean state ? On Sunday morning they should be. 
2183. They mould be or should be? They would be. 
2184. On any Sunday morning during the time you have been turnkey have all the prisoners 
been perfectly washed ? Yes. 
2185. By Mr. Morris: All over ? I would not say all over. 
2186. By the Chairman : In speaking of washing have you had reference to the face and 
hands only ? To the face and hands. 
2187. Referring to the question I put just now, supposing a prisoner chose to leave his 
person dirty, could he do it ? No, he could not do it, for one prisoner would tell upon 
another. 
2188. Suppose one prisoner did not tell of another ? The turnkey would report it, as he 
has done on several occasions. 
2189. There is not any way in which they are compelled to thoroughly cleanse themselves ? 
They are not compelled, but they have the opportunity. 
2190. How often is the bedding cleaned ? The blankets are sometimes washed ; and if it is 
found necessary, through so many dirty men coming in

' 
 we have had to stove the blankets; 

at other times to wash theta, and fresh straw is supplied every time a bed is requited. 
2191. At the time this Committee visited the gaol were there any of the blankets that had 
been in use more than twelve months without being washed ? No. 
2192. You say positively there were not? Yes. 
2193. If it has been represented to us that such has been the case, we have been misin-
formed? I do not think it possible. I have myself seen the blankets washed repeatedly. 
2194. Do you recollect that a man named John Lynch slept in cell No. 24, in the hard 
labour wing ? Yes. 
2195. If that man represented that his blankets had not been washed for thirteen months 
did be state the truth ? No; to my certain knowledge he could not, for we had to change 
that man from one cell to another. 
2196. Were you not in the cell with the Committee, and did you not notice that the blankets 
looked very dirty ? The blankets looked dark. 
2197. At the time the complaint was made the men were under the shed, at the back of the 
hard labour wing, and the Committee then went to the female department • at the expiration 
of about two hours they returned to the hard labour wing, and visited celiNe. 24, of which 
the complaint had been made, and found persons whitewashing it ? Yes. 
2198. Had these men been employed during the time we were in the gaol ? They were at 

•work before you came in. 
2199. It was an accident then that they were employed in whitewashing that cell at that par-
ticular time? Yes. I have all the cells gone through every three months, regularly. They 
were whitewashing the cells at 7 o'clock in the morning. 
2200. If this prisoner Lynch represented to us that he could not keep himself free from 
vermin, did he represent the truth ? It is false; Lynch is as clean as any man in the gaol. 
2201. How often do you say the cells are whitewashed ? livery three months. 
2202. Have you men regularly employed to whitewash the cells ? Yes. 
2203. Have you men always employed in whitewashing one part or other of the gaol ? 
Continually, more especially in the cells of the men sentenced to imprisonment without 
hard labour, for they are the dirtiest, and it takes one man continually to keep all those 
cells clean. 
2204. Is there any kind of vermin in the cells ? There are a few bugs. 
2205. Are they there to any extent? Not in the male; in the female department I believe 
there are; some cells are worse than others, but generally they are pretty clean, and as we 
see little holes in the wall we have them stopped up. 
2206. In the hard labour wing are there any persons confined for debt? No. 
2207. There is no one confined in the hard labour wing except men under hard labour sen-
tence? Yes; there are some who are sentenced, without bard labour, to fine or imprison-
ment. 
2208. Where were the Cockatoo Island prisoners kept-the insubordinate prisoners ? In 
the new wing; there are 78 there, and I think 14 or 15 in the single cells in the trial wing. 
2209. Are any of those men confined in the same story with prisoners confined for debt ? No. 
2210. Are there any men confined for disobeying orders of magistrates to make certain 
payments ? Yes. 
2211. Confined where the men under long sentences are confined? No, with men sentenced 
to imprisonment without labour, in the confine•wing. 
2212. In what you call the hard labour wing, when you get to the second story going 
upstairs, the first cell on the left-hand side, were there not two men confined ; one for 
disobeying an order to pay wages, and the other for disobeying an order to support an 
illegitimate child ? I think these men were under remand for these offences. 
2213. They were there ? They were there, and all remanded men are put upon that 
landing. Upon that landing all men in transit to Cockatoo are put. 
2214. On both sides? On both sides. 
2215. Was not a man from Cockatoo there ? Yes. 

2216. 
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2216. Was not Swan, who was convicted of murder, there ? Yes. 	 Mr. T. 
2217. On the opposite side of the same landing, so that when the doors were open they Earth'. 
could talk together if they chose ? Yes, they could. 
2218. Do you remember two young men being in one of those cells, either in that wing or 22  Feb. , 1261 - 
in the adjoining wing, who were runaway sailors from the "Iris"? Yes. 
2219. Do you remember how long those men had been there under remand ? I think 
nearly if not quite three months. 
2220. Had one been there six months? One had been six months nearly, if not quite. 
2221. Have those men been confined with prisoners charged with felony ? No; they were 
with men awaiting trial for felony, at their own request. 
2222. Was there not, on the day we visited the gaol, a man in the cell with them, who was 
charged with felony? I cannot say. 
2223. Have persons charged with felony been with them at any time ? In the yard ? 
2224. In the cell ? I could not be certain without I saw the muster book. I rather think 
not, but I could not be positive. 
2225. How many turnkeys are there in the gaol ? Thirteen. 
2226. Is that the number that has been there for some time past? Yes; we had that 
number in Captain 'Webster's time; after that we had an increase, and then a reduction took 
place, from 1st January, 1860, of six men. 
2227. When did these prisoners come to Darlinghurst Gaol from Cockatoo Island? I think 
somewhere in January ; I have a memorandum of the date. 
2228. How many of them are there ? 98 men altogether-the insubordinate men from 
Cockatoo. 
2229. Was there any change made in the arrangement of the turnkeys on their arrival ? 
No. 
2230. Was the number of turnkeys employed at the time of their arrival sufficient to look 
after the prisoners already in the gaol ? I think not-I should have expected an increase. 
2231. In what way did their arrival increase the work of the gaol ? In this way-that the 
number being greater, a greater number of men were required to guard them. 
2232. How were they disposed of? They were searched and drafted off, each man to his cell. 
2233. How did they behave themselves ? 	They behaved very quietly. Of course, they 
used to get up to the windows, and shout to the people outside, but they were very submis-
sive to the officers in charge. 
2234. Was the same arrangement of turnkeys preserved without any alteration whatever ? 
No ; we had to appoint a second turnkey over what we call the new wing, to assist the 
turnkey then in charge. 
2235. Were they confined to separate cells ? Yes, they were. 
2230. All of them ? All of them. 
2237. Had you sufficient room for the separate confinement of that large number, without 
interfering with the prisoners already in the gaol ? No. 
2238. How did you make room for them? We had to put five in a cell. 
2239. Five of the others ? Yes. 
2240. For how many were the cells made ? I think all in the labour wing will contain five. 
2241. Were they built to contain five ? No, three. 
2242. Are the Cockatoo Island prisoners there now ? Yes. 
2243. Two escaped? Yes. 
2244. Will you describe how those two escaped? They got out through the window of the 
cell, by means of the bed-boards. There are three bed-hoards go on two stretchers, and they 
made this a sort of landing to stand on, while they worked away at the window-sill. 
2245. What had you, as principal turnkey, to do with the safe custody of these prisoners on 
the night they escaped ? The men in solitary confinement were locked up before, and one 
of these men who escaped was one of thirty-two whose sentence of solitary confinement had 
expired. About ten minutes or a quarter to four it came on dark and began to rain, and I 
ordered the turnkey to take them into the yard, to count them into the wing and see that 
all was correct. He counted thirty-two and one was taken from that thirty-two to go over 
to the trial wing with the other men as there was not sufficient room in the wing for that 
man. Then I shut the door, and while the locking up was going on I stood outside for the 
safety of the entrance gate. After they were locked up, I went round and saw the locks 
and bolts all shut, and the outer door also locked. 
2246. Was there any change of turnkeys that night ? No, there was a change of turnkeys 
a day or two previous to that. 
2247. Was a turnkey named Whiddon in the gaol ? Yes. 
2248. And another named Fallon ? Yes. 
2249. Were either of these men on duty that night ? Fallon was on duty, but not at 
night-he leaves directly the muster is over. 
2250. Was Whiddon in any way replaced by Fallon that night? No; when the Cockatoo 
Islanders came there first I wished to put the sharpest man I could to assist the turnkey in 
charge of the wing, and I placed Whiddon there. He was there some days, and the Sheriff 
told me he wished Fallon to be placed on day duty ; as I had no other post I removed 
Whiddon, and put Fallon in his place. 
2251. Did you consider this man Midden to be superior to Fallon ? Yes, decidedly. 
2252. Has he had more experience ? Considerably more. Fallon had only just come from 
Mr. Brenan's place a few days before. 
2253. What do you mean by Mr. Brenan's place ? He was a servant to Mr. Brcnan. 
2254. What was the precise duty be was performing that night ? To look after these 
thirty-one prisoners when they came in, that was his duty. 

2255. 
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Mr. T. 	2255. Do you consider that he was a fit man for that duty ? No, I do not by an means; 
Harrison. neither is he fit to be there now. 

2256. Do you think the escape of the prisoners is in any way attributable to the circum- 
22 Feb, 1861. stance that this inexperienced man was employed as a turnkey? That, and allowing the 

bed-boards to be in the cell; if it had not been for the bed-boards they could not have got 
to the window. 
2257. How did the inexperience of this turnkey contribute to their getting out ? Only HI 
allowing one man to get to the cell of the other in the way they did. 
2258. How do you suppose one man got from his cell to the other ? One man going up the 
staircase might have run right up, and instead of going to his own cell might have gone to 
the cell of the other without being noticed. 
2259. That is to say, this inexperienced man, Fallon, did not keep a sufficiently strict watch 
over the prisoners while they were being locked up, so that one escaped his observation and 
got into the other's cell, and he locked them up without noticing the second man in the cell? 
Yes; in going round one side of the win ,' the doors all open to you, but by going the other 
way they open from you ; and he must have gone round so as to shut the door and never 
look in to see who were in the cells. I have often warned him of that. 
2260. If this man Whiddon had been discharging this duty, do you think the same thing 
would have occurred ? Certainly not, for he took the course I pointed out. I gave him 
repeated orders not to allow one of the prisoners to have any of the keys. 
2261. Whiddon had been in the gaol some time ? Lie was there before Fallon came. 
2262. Was he a vigilant man ? Yes. 
2262. Do you consider him a sharper man than Fallon? I consider him a very sharp man 
indeed. 
2264. If you had carried out your wish Whiddon would have been there ? Yes. 
2265. Fallon was there by the interference of the Sheriff ? Yes; the Sheriff said I was to 
put him on day duty, and that be was* to escort the prisoners to Darlinghurst. 
2266. There were some turnkeys discharged about twelve months ago,-six-during the time 
that Mr. Forster was Colonial Secretary? Yes. 
2267. Do you recollect why these men were discharged ? For the purpose of appointing four 
overseers to take charge of the works. 
2268. Were those the turnkeys latest employed who were discharged ? No. 
2269. Were some of them old servants, who had been there a long time ? Yes. 
2270. Was any reason given for their discharge ? No. 
227L Some of the men were discharged with very high characters ? Yes; every one had a 
good character. 
2272. It has been stated as a fact that the men who were discharged were all Protestants, 
and that the men who were retained were all Catholics ? I believe that is the case. 
2273. Do you state that that is the case ? With the exception of one; I believe five out of 
the six were. 
2274. Were the men Pegg and Johnson good men ? Yes, two as good men as I ever wish 
to have in the establishment. 
2275. Do you know what Johnson is doing now-is he office-keeper to Mr. Darvall ? Yes; 
it was very much against my wish that Johnson was ever discharged. 
2276. Is he a very respectable man ? He is. 
2277. Had he been in the gaol a long time ? Yes. 
2278. Did you see the character given to him by Mr. Beverley when he was discharged ? I 
did ; it was a very high character. 
2279. Were some of the turnkeys who were retained very young bands compared with those 
who were discharged ? Yes; and very old men, too, some of them. 
2280. Some of the oldest were discharged, and men who had been there but a short time 
were retained ? Yes. 
2281. And yet the men who were discharged had very high characters from the very persons 
who discharged them ? Yes. 
2282. You say they were all Protestants ? One I am doubtful about, but I think he also 
was a Protestant. 
2283. Are you aware that the men believe they were discharged because they were Pro-
testants? They all told me so, and taxed the Sheriff with it. 
2284. By Mr. Walsh : Did you bear them say so to the Sheriff? I did not, but I am aware 
they did so for Mr. Beverley told me so himself. 
2285. By Ihe Chairman: With regard to the prisoner Polack, has lie received different 
treatment from the other prisoners-you state in one of the paragraphs of your petition to 
the Assembly that, "With regard to the treatment of the prisoner Polack your petitioner 
"is prepared to prove, on the evidence of eight or nine different witnesses, that the said 
" prisoner has not been indulged in any way contrary to the discipline of the prison, and 
" that he has not been treated in a manner different from other prisoners"-do you maintain 
that? Yes; not only the free officers, but gentlemen from outside who have visited Polack 
in prison, can state that they have invariably seen him in the dress that has been ordered by 
the Sheriff. 
2 -286. By Mr. Mate: Is that the ordinary prison dress, the same as that worn by other 
prisoners ? Yes. 
2287. By the Chairman: You are prepared to prove that allegation if you are allowed the 
opportunity? Yes. 
2288. Was the charge against you, and upon which you were dismissed, as far as you under- 

stand 

• Non ( Correction by witness on revision):TO be escort constable. 
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stand it-I put the matter so, because you say you do not clearly understand the charge- 	Mr. T. ison. was it because you had treated Polack in a manner different from the other prisoners 7 I Harr  
believe so, and something the Sheriff said about the escape of the prisoners. 22 Feb., MM. 2289. You have never been told the ground of your dismissal? Not directly. I was down 
town at the time Mr. Uhr was there, and he left the message with Mr. Read, who was in 
charge

' 
 that I was dismissed. 

2290. You said just now that these Cockatoo Island prisoners escaped through the men 
being allowed to get together at night, in the manner you have described, from want of 
vigilance on the part of the turnkey, and from being allowed bed-boards-did you caution 
Mr. Brener, against the men from Cockatoo Island being allowed bed-boards ? On one 
occasion the turnkey in charge of the wing, Whiddon, expressed a wish to have the bed-
boards removed, and the Sheriff said he would not have them removed. When Whiddon told 
rne I said Ile was quite right, and I thought it was necessary to have them removed; but 
before I could speak to the Sheriff he had passed out of the gaol. 
2291. Was Fallon dismissed after the escape ? He was suspended and afterwards reinstated. 
2292. Is it within your knowledge that any one interceded with Captain M'Lerie on his 
behalf ? I believe Mr. Ryan Brenan did. 
2293. He has been reinstated ? Yes. 
2294. Are any of the turnkeys given to habits of intemperance ? I have reported them on 
different occasions. 
2295. You have seen them drunk ? In liquor ; T will not say drunk. I have reported it to 
Mr. Beverley. They have been reprimanded three or four times, and in some cases, when I 
have insisted upon their being dismissed, they have been dismissed. 
2296. Will you state whether any complaints have ever been made against yourself, of 
intemperance ? Never. 
2297. No report has been made to Mr. Beverley ? Not that I am aware of. If there had 
been he would have reported it to me. 
2298. Have you .any objection to state to the Committee at what time Mr. Beverley appears 
in the prison in the morning? He sometimes goes round the prison. 
2299. At what time is he first seen ? Some mornings at six, some mornings at seven, and 
some mornings at eight. 
2300. Have you frequently seen him at six ? Yes; I have seen Lim. 
2301. By Arr. Walsh : You say the cells were systematically whitewashed every three 
months ? Yes. 
2302. Had you ever any difficulty about carrying out that arrangement ? No; the regula-
tion is to whitewash every three months, and that is invariably done, but the whitewash gets 
so thick upon the walls that sometimes we simply wash them with water, and that answers 
all purposes, and cleanses the cells as well. 
2303. You have a regulation for whitewashing the gaol once in three months ? Yes; and 
when these dirty men come we have to keep a man continually at work. 
2304. During the time you have been in the gaol has that regulation been carried out ? Yes. 
2305. Have you had any difficulty in procuring material ? We have sometimes had to wait 
for lime. 
2306. Has that occurred frequently ? Not more than three or four times. 
2307. Within what period ? Within the last two years; it may have occurred oftener than 
that. 
2308. If these bed-boards had been removed from the cells would the prisoners have been 
obliged to sleep on the stone floor ? They would still have had their straw mattresses. 
2309. During the time that the men from Cockatoo Island were in the prison were any 
charges of insubordination preferred against any of them ? No. 
2310. Do you remember any charge being preferred against some twenty-five of them, by 
the turnkey, of their all refusing to leave the dinner table at a particular time ? Those 
were never reported to me; I never heard of it. 
2311. Nor of any inquiry in reference to it ? No. 
2312, You have a prisoner of the name of Landells in the gaol ? Yes. 
2313. He belonged to Cockatoo Island ? Yes. 
2314. Was he employed at any work at the gaol ? He was before he was sent to Cockatoo 
Island. The Colonial Architect wished to keep him there as being a clever tradesman. He 
was almost clever enough to make an iron ladder in the gaol, but he did not complete it. 
2315. 'Who detected that ? One of the prisoners gave information of it, and I requested 
Mr. Beverley to send him to Cockatoo. 
2316. By Mr. Lucas : Are the tradesmen searched before they go into their cells at night ? 
No ' • but the overseers muster all the tools and lock them up. 
2817. But they are not searched after they leave the workshops ? We would not have 
time to search every man. 
2318. Are you aware that it is done in Parramatta Gaol? They have not the fluctuation 
of prisoners we have here. We would not have the opportunity before dark of carrying that 
regulation into effect. 
2319. Do you not think a blacksmith may make tools and secrete them about his person ? 
Ile may do so, and has done so. 
2320. Under whose charge are these men-the mechanics ? Under the charge of three 
overseers, stonemasons, carpenters, and blacksmiths. 
2821. Have the other officers of the gaol anything to do with them ? No; not since the 
work has been under the Colonial Architect. 
2322. What department are they under? They are nominated by the Colonial Architect, 
and are appointed by the Sheriff. 

2323. 
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Mr. T. 	2323. By the Chairman: Has the Sheriff ever given any orders affecting the general 
Harrison. discipline of the gaol ? No, nothing definite; one order tumbled over on the top of another. 
r—A—Th There arc some printed regulations, but they have been so altered and varied that no one 

22  Feb, 1861 . knows what they are. 
2324. Has he ever, from first to last, in his visits, caused any alteration to be made in the 
discipline of the gaol ? He has made no alteration whatever. I beg pardon with respect 
to the change of the duties of turnkeys, and, of course, that is discipline. When Captain 
Mterie first took charge, there was a rule carried out that three turnkeys should be on night 
duty, and that each turnkey should alternately take his night duty. That was carried out 
strictly by Captain Mterie and Captain Webster until, I think, about twelve months ago, 
and then it was changed by the Sheriff from that, that the men should take night duty 
fortnight about ; from that again it was altered, and the men were to take night duty 
alternately ; but only two men were to go on duty at night, one at the gate and the other at 
the stockade and north wing. Now, if there had been, as there was atfirst, three men on 
duty at night, the two men would not have escaped the other night. 
2325. Do you recollect a turnkey named Rispen ? Yes. 
2326. Has he been dismissed? Yes. 
2327. When was he dismissed ? I think the day before yesterday. 
2328. Was a charge ever made against him of stealing anything out of the gaol ? The 
overseer gave him a piece of waste iron plate, and he toot it out of the gaol. It was reported 
to the Sheriff, who investigated the matter and censured him. 
2329. It was given him by an overseer ? Yez;, that is what was stated. 
2330. Do you remember an attempt to escape from Darlingburst Gaol being made about a 
year ago by three prisoners? There was no attempt made; from the situation of the 
ladder it was impossible; the ladder was 32 feet in length, and it was in front of the new 
hospital ; and they must have got it round the corner of the building to let it fall upon the 
wall, which they could not do without being observed. There was an old man on the post 
at the time. 
2331. Were not the men punished for trying to escape? That was a different case entirely; 
that was an attempt made to break the padlock off the trial gate. 
2332. Do you remember my putting a question in the House to Mr. Forster, when he was 
Colonial Secretary, about the attempt to escape from Darlinghurst Gaol ? That was an 
attempt at the trial gate, and the men were punished. 
2333, Was there any attempt to escape about twelve months ago, for which the prisoners 
were removed, and one was sent to Maitland Gaol ? I remember that circumstance; the 
man was not sent to Maitland Gaol for that purpose; he was sent there because they 
required a mason to put up some buildings. 
2334. Who was the turnkey you alluded to who was on duty at the hospital ? John 
Donald. That was the report, that Mr. Beverley had given Bowen permission to go home to 
his breakfast, and Donald took his post while he was away ; Mr. Beverley stated that to the 
Sheriff. 
2335. Was not Bowen often away on leave ? No; Mr. Beverley gave him leave sometimes. 
2330. Is it not the fact that he was often away on leave ? No; he has had leave for a day, 
half-a-day, or a few hours. 
2337. You wished to say something about a man named Banks; this man has given evidence 
before Capt. Mterie, in the late investigation ? Yes. Banks stated in his evidence that 
Polack had a dressing-case and a lot of jewellery in his cell, which I am prepared to con-
tradict and Say is false. If such things were in the gaol they must be there now. With 
respect to the deed-box, that was allowed in for Polack to take out some deeds for Messrs. 
Johnson & Johnson, and for Dr. O'Brien, and, after that was done, the box was locked and 
sent away. I was present at the time, but the box was never in the cell; it was in my own 
office. 
2338. Do you wish to say anything more about Banks ? lean state his general character ; 
he is a runaway from Van Diemen's Land, and has been twice convicted of perjury. 
2339. Is he at large ? No, at Cockatoo; his ticket,—(The witness handed in a number of 
statements. Vide Appendix A.) 
2340. What are those statements ? They are the statements of a number of the prisoners 
in the gaol with reference to Polack and this man Banks, and I can bring free officers, and 
different solicitors in the town, to contradict the statements of Banks. 
2341. The memoranda you hand in have been made by prisoners in Darlinghurst Gaol ? Yes. 
2342. With respect to this allegation that Polack was treated like the other prisoners, do 
you mean that he was secured in the same manner, that he wore the same kind of dress, and 
lived upon the same kind of food ? Yes. 
2343. Do you state, as an officer of the gaol, that such was the case ? Yes, such was the 
case, and I am prepared to prove it. 
2344. Do you mean that you will prove it by the persons signing these papers ? Yes, and 
by some of the free officers. 
2345. Would the testimony of any officers of the gaol be in opposition to yours ? I am not 
aware. 
2346. If it has been represented to the Government at any time that you were in the habit 
of drinking with the other turnkeys at public-houses in the neighbourhood of the gaol, is 
there any truth in such statement ? I have occasionally gone in, but I have not exactly 
been drinking with them; I may have had a glass of ginger-beer. 
2347. When you say you have occasionally gone in, do you mean that you have just taken a 
glass of liquor and gone out again ? Yes. 
2348. You have not been in the habit of drinking for a long period together—of sitting in 

one 
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one of these houses for hours ? I remember on one occasion when a turnkey was leaving, 	Mr..T. 
his asking me to,go in with him, and the whole lot of them, with the exception of those who Damson. 
were on duty, went in. 
2849. If it has been represented to the Government at any time that you, the principal 22 Feb., 1861. 

turnkey, have been seen drunk in gaol, is it true ? No. 
2350. Have you ever heard of such a charge ? No; in feet, I could not be without being 
seen; for there is first one clergyman and then another, besides other parties, constantly 
visiting the gaol. 
2351. If any representation has been made from the same quarter that you have a con-
siderable quantity of furniture in your house which has been made in the gaol of Govern-
ment material, is that true ? That is grossly false. 
2352. You can disprove any such statement ? Of course I can. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

1. Edward Crasser :—I am a ;yardman in the committed wing ; for some time Polack was con-
fined here; lie was employed picking oakum, and have frequently taken him the material and 
returned it when finished; there was nothing in his well different to another prisoner; I have repeatedly 
supplied him with a broom to clean his cell ; his clothing was the same as other prisoners, and such as 
he continued to wear when he left the wing ; I have daily seen him since, and never observed any 
change. 

EDWD. CUSSER. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

• 11th February, 1801. 

2. Edward Cheetum :—I am wardsnmn of the committed wing ; for some time Polack was con-
fined there, and I had regularly to enter his cell for the purpose of seeing it had been cleaned, and 
when he was sick I cleaned it myself : I never saw anything there different to the cell of any other 
prisoner ; J have repeatedly taken him Ids rations, and on some occasions, when he was unable to 
cat them at the time, I have taken them to the cook-house and warmed them, and at the same time 
procured him hot water for Isis tea.; he was always dressed as other prisoners; and since he left the 
wing I have observed no change in him. 

his 
EDWD. x CHEETUM. 

Darlinghurst Gaol, 	 mark. 
11th February, 1801. 

• 
3. William Tomer 	have been employed for the past few months over the mess picking 

oakum ; during this period I have regularly supplied Polack with oakum, the usual material for the 
day, and it has always been returned to Inc finished; the quantity has been the same as that given to 
others ; I daily saw him, mid never observed him in any other than prison clothing ; I have repeatedly 
been in the cell myself for his oakum, and I never saw anything there different from the cell of other 
prisoners. 

WILLIAM TANNER. 
Darlingburst Gaol, 

11th February, IS61. 

4. Thomas Smith :—I am a barber to the gaol, and have regularly shaved Polack ; for this 
purpose I have visited him in his cell, where I have repeatedly found him sick ; his cell was in no wise 
different from my own ; and he was invariably in prison clothing. 

THOMAS SMITH. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

11t4 February, 1861. 

5. Dory Samuels :—I was for some time assisting James M'Donald with the ironwork of the 
new wing, and in doing this had every opportunity of seeing and conversing with Polack ; I always 
observed bins dressed in prison clothing; I have frequently been in his cell ; I am a Jew, and during 
Polack's repeated sickness I have been allowed to visit hint and read to him, and clever saw anything 
in his cell different to that of any other prisoner ; I know the man Banks, who has been brought from 
Cockatoo Island ; I was partial to this loan ; and on the morning of Ids departure from this place 
I remarked to him, I was sorry he was going ; he replied, Yes, this is Mr. Harrison's doings, and 
It crush him yet. 

Darlinghurst Gaol, 
11th February, 1861. 

6. lames 21PDonald:--For some months past I was employed completing the ironwork in the 
new wing—of course I was obliged both to see and speak to Polack, as also to see into his cell; I never 
saw anything about his cell different to the other prisoners ; and, as to himself, I always observed Inns 
in prison clothing ; I frequently conversed witliahim, and had full opporttmity of observing all about 
him. 

JAMES 11PDONALD. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

11tA February, 1861. 

7. William 	am a ;yardman in the wing where Polack is confined ; I have been in the 
habit of taking him his work, and taking it from Ishii when completed, viz., picking oakum ; 1 take it 
to him in his cell, and, in doing so, have never seen any difference there from my own ; I have also 
taken him his rations; and hero and elsewhere, whenever I have seen him, - Ise has always appeared in 
prison clothing. 

his 
Darlingleurst Gaol, 	 WM. x SMITH. 

11th February, 1861. 	 mark, 

157—K 	 8. 

MON. II. SAMUELS. 
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Mr. T. 	8. John Lynch :.--For fifteen months I was acting in the capacity of overseer on Cockatoo Island, 
Harrison. and well knew Banks ; he was employed as servant to the taskwork clerk ; he was there about two 

months, when, in consequence of his endeavouring to make mischief by false statements, he was 
22 Feb 1861discharged, and returned to his work ; subsequently he was appointed camp constable ; he pursued the 

• same course of conduct as he did towards Mr. Ball, and he was dismissed, and again returned to work ; 
he afterwards made a false statement in the case of Gordon and Barlow, letting out a man in the day 
for the purpose of distilling; it was afterwards proved that Banks gave a false statement:, and Barlow 
and Gordon were acquitted ; his character is notorious for falsehood, and not fit for belief; he was over 
ready for any purpose in the shape of conspiracy, but none would trust him. 

J. LYNCH. 
Darlinglatrat Gaol, 

11th February, 1861. 

9. Thomas Harvey 	know the man Banks, and was first acquainted with him at Norfolk 
Island ; I am aware he was there punished on a charge of perjury, or something, like it ; a man was 
charged with having tobacco secreted in his bed, Banks supported this, and the man was punished ; 
it so happened a free man had seen Banks' treachery, saw him put the tobacco there himself, and then, 
with the chief constable, prosecuted the man ; ho had the case again brought forward, and Banks, for 
this offence, got six months in chains, and the chief constable was dismissed ; I have since known him, 
and his character is well understood as one not to be believed on oath. 

• ROBT. T. HARVEY. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

llth February, 1861. 

10. Hugh O'Donnell :-I well know the man known as Banks ; I first became acquainted with 
lam in 1542, in England, in Preston Gaol, ho was then in the 72nd Regiment ; in 1814 I again met him 
in the Millbank Penitentiary, he was then under orders for Norfolk Island; I next saw him in 1846, at 
the Probation Establishment, Impression Bay, V. D. Land; I am positive he had a long sentence ; to 
the best of my belief it has not yet expired. 

his 
U. x O'DONNELL. 

Darlinghurat Gaol, 	 mark. 
11th February, 1861. 

11.. .To/an Graham 	know Robert Banks ; he was tried at the same court with mc, viz., the 
December Supreme Court, 1857; I know him on Cockatoo Island, to be broke in the first place from 
Mr. Balls employ ; and secondly, from being camp constable, dte.; in fact I could not believe that man 
(Banks) upon his oath-to prove what I say : the morning or two previous to his removal to Cockatoo, 
he has come to where I had been at work, and told me that by fair or font means he would get Ifs. 
llarrison broke ; this he told mc in the presence of several men, which I am ready to bring forward 
if required. 

JOHN GRAHAM. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

11th February, 1861. 

Mr. Frederick Pegg called in and examined :- 
Mr. F. Pegg. 2353. By the Chairman : Have you resided long in Sydney ? I have been in Sydney about 

nine years. 
22 Feb., 1861. 2354. What occupation do you follow now ? I am carter now to Luker's steam-mill. 

2355. Where do you reside ? Behind the steam-mill on the South Head Road. 
2356. Have you a family 1 Yes ; three children. 
2357. Were you ever employed by the Government in any capacity ? The first time, I was 
in the Sydney Police, three years and two months, under Captain Mterie. 
2358. When did you enter the police ? I came from Moreton Bay in January, 1851 ; and 
in February, I joined the Sydney Police. I stayed in three years and two months-the greater 
part of the time sergeant, and left it at my own request. 
2359. What did you do after leaving the police ? I went into the gaol within a few months 
after. 
2360. What do you mean ? I was appointed turnkey in the gaol in August, 1855. 
2361. Did you apply for the appointment ? Yes ; to the principal gaoler, Mr. Beverley. 
2362. Bow long did you remain there ? Four years, four months, and twelve days. 
2863. When were you discharged ? Last New Year's Day twelve months, I had to retire in 
consequence of four overseers going in, 
2364. Did any others retire besides you ? Five more besides me. 
2365. Mr. Forster was Colonial Secretary then ? Yes. 
2366. Can you recollect whether any attention was paid to the length of time that the 
turnkeys had served, in discharging you ? There was none. 
2367. The newest men were not those who were discharged ? No. 
2368. Did you receive any testimonial from the gaoler ? I did. 
2369. Have you got it with you 7 Yes., 
2370. Will you hand it in ? (Produced. Vide copy, Appendix A.) 
2371. At the time of this discharge, how many turnkeys were retained ? Eighteen turnkeys, 
I believe, were employed. 
2372. So that twelve were retained ? Yes. 
2373. Do you recollect how many of these twelve who were retained, received their appoint-
ments at dates subsequent to your appointment 7 Three. 
2374. Three younger officers than you ? Yes. 
2375. Were they younger men than you? Two of them were old enough to be my father ; 
they are sent now to Berrima Gaol-Smith and O'Callaghan; one was a young man. 

2376. 
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2376. Can you say whether there was any feeling generally entertained among the men Mr. r. Pegg. 
that were discharged at that time, that they had been discharged on religious grounds ? 
Yes, there was. 	 22 Feb., 1861. 
2377. Were they in fact all Protestants ? Yes, every one. 
2378. What were the three younger officers who were retained ? One Protestant and two 
Roman Catholics were retained-the youngest turnkeys. 
2379. Is Johnson one of the discharged Protestants ? Yes, an older turnkey than me, who 
had been there about six yeara. 
2380. Did you ever see the testimonial be received from Mr. Beverley ? Yes. 
2381. Is it similar to yours ? Much the same wording. 
2382. During the time you were turnkey, did one of the female prisoners have a child ? 
Yes. 
2383. Can you remember about the time this woman was delivered of a child? In about 
fifteen months, as near as I can state, from the time of her reception into the gaol. 
2384. How was this woman employed ? As laundress to Mr. Beverley. 
2385. Is the woman in the gaol now ? I cannot say ; she was a long sentenced woman. 
2386. Do you remember her name ? Harriet Stephenson. 
2387. Do you remember what her sentence was ? Somewhere from four to five years. 
2388. Who was the alleged father of the child ? It was reported by Mr. Beverley that it was 
Chambers, one of his servants. 
2389. 'Was he also a prisoner ? Yes. 
2390. How was he employed? As house servant ; a sort of butler I should call him. 
2391. Was the child in the gaol at the time you left ? Yes. 
2392. How old was it then ? About two years. 
2393. You do not know whether it is there now ? No. 
2394. What number of prisoners were employed in Mr. Beverley's house as domestic servants 
at the time this interesting event took place ? Two men-a cook, and Chambers the 
butler; a black man was the cook, but I cannot say he was there always ; and about four 
women servants. 
2395. Had Mr. Beverley tiny free servants? No; he has never had a free servant, I believe, 
since he has been in the gaol. 
2396. Had you anything to do with the female department of the gaol while you were 
there ? Nothing more than going across with a prisoner when anything was going to them, 
to see them there and back. 
2397. Thomas Harrison was the principal turnkey all the time you were in the gaol, was 
he not ? Yes. 
2398. How was he brought into relation with you in the discharge of your duties-how did 
you COMO in contact with him during the day ? I never got any instructions from him at 
all. I did not see that he had any influence over the prisoners, for sometimes we would not 
see him for a day ; be would never go among theta; the first time we saw his face would be 
about nine o'clock in the morning. 
2399. Did he not appear at six o'clock every morning, to deliver the keys up to the turn-
keys? Not one morning I was there. 
2400. Who did you get your keys from ? I was not in charge of a wing; I very seldom 
had keys to lay hold of, except when I was in charge of a wing, that would be once in 
eight days. 
2401 'When you were did you receive the keys from Harrison when you unlocked the 
doors? I used to fetch them from Harrison's house, the door was left undone for the pur-
pose; the keys were banging on a hook at the back, on purpose that any one could fetch 
them, so that he should not be disturbed. 
2402. Was that the way you got possession of the keys when you unlocked the cells ? Yes. 
2403 Where was Harrison In bed; he never used to turn out till about eight, and the 
first thing he did was to send me or one of the other turnkeys for two glasses of rum for 
him ; that was the first salute we got regularly every morning. 
2404. Then you had to give him the keys? Yes. That was his regular dose every morn-
ing-either a glass of gin or two glasses of rum. 
2405. Do you mean to say you ever brought spirits into the gaol for him ? Yes, I have 
been sent many times. 
2406. When you say many, how many do you mean ? Half a score of times and more. The 
first thing was-" fetch me so-and-so," and be would give me a little flask I have fetched 
two glasses of rum and seen him drink the whole of it at once. 
2407. Did you ever take rum yourself of a morning ? Very seldom. 
2408. And still Harrison would appear perfectly sober throughout the day ? No, he would 
not; he would frequently go out with the turnkeys to a public-house and drink, or send 
turnkeys out for it and drink it at the box-at least I have scan him do it dozens of times. 
2409. You have never seen him incapacitated from drink ? I have seen him under the 
influence of drink several times. 
2410. By Mr. Morris: Not so that he could not do his duty ? Yes, I have on one or two 
occasions, which I shall mention before I go away. 
2411. By the Chairman : If his duty was confined to lying in bed he could lie in bed and 
drink ? Yes he could, for there was no one to call him to order. 
2412. Do you say you have seen Harrison, during the time you have been there, drank ? 
Yes, on one occasion. 
2413. Will you state the circumstances under which you saw him drunk ? One night when 
I was on duty at the gate, between twelve and one o'clock, his wife and he had been out, and 
when they came in he was so far under the influence of drink that his wife had to bold him 

up 
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Mr. F. Pegg. Up coming in at the gate. Previous to that a turnkey of the name of Horton, who was on 
duty at the wing—I was at the gate—goes to the box and catches Smith with a female 

22 Feb., 1861. prisoner; lie came and told me what he had done, and he said, "If I tell Mr. Beverley, 
Smith will be dismissed," be then took my place and I went and fetched Mr. Beverley, who 
was just going in. The turnkey was found in one of the boxes with the female 
prisoner, Mary Bellamy. Some time after Mr. Beverley called Horton to him, and he 
said it was the case, be did catch them there. Well, Mr. Harrison went over 
to the gaoler, and they had some warm words—I could hear at the gate. Next 
morning both men were suspended; he got Horton suspended for telling an untruth ; that 
never was brought to light again. I met the female prisoner, Mary Bellamy, and she told 
me it was the case—Smith was with her, and Horton caught them. 
2414. This woman told you after you left the gaol ? Yes. 
2415. You mean cohabiting together ? Yes. 
2416. How did the female prisoner get there ? Through being employed as Mr. Harrison's 
servant. 
2417. She had permission to go out ? She was not locked up at all. 
2418. Except that she was locked within the gaol walls ? That was all. It was between 
ten and eleven o'clock. 
2419. Could the servants employed by Mr. Beverley and Mr. Harrison walk about where 
the shrubbery is ? They could in the dark; there was no turnkey on the front to see them, 
only the two. 
2420. Then they were pretty much like free persons? Just the same. They would even 
come out and smoke before your face and defy you to take the pipe from them ; they would 
say they got leave from Mr. Harrison. 
2421. Dave they ever demeaned themselves that way before you? Yes, and I have gone 
and taken the pipe out of their mouth and broken it before them. 
2422. They braved you to do it? Yes, because they were Mr. Harrison's servants. 
2423. You said when you went for the keys of the different wards in the morning., you 
could go and open Mr. Harrison's door and take them off the peg ? Yes, the door was left 
undone on purpose. 
2424. Could these persons, who were almost as free as free persons, get the keys ? Yes, at 
any time from six at night till six in the morning. 
2425 Could they in fact have unlocked the wings? Yes, when a man's back was turned. 
2426. Suppose one of these ladies had entertained the turnkey on guard, could the other 
have gone in the mean time and unlocked the wing? Yes, the key was at their disposal at 
any time. 
2427. Have you ever seen any of the turnkeys drunk ? Yes, I have, many times; 
Mr. Beverley even found them drunk one Sunday himself, and sent them home, and he has 
never reported them at all. 
2428. Speaking with reference to the eighteen turnkeys who were there while you were 
there, were any of the men retained given to habits of intoxication ? Yes, three. 
2429. As far as you recollect were the six who were discharged intemperate men ? Not 
one. 
2430. Putting yourself out of the question, were the other five men some of the best turn-
keys ? The best and soberest. There is a man of the name of Lee there now who has been 
fetched up many times for being drunk in the box, and drunk in the gaol in the middle of 
the day. Armstrong is another drunkard who has been sent home three or four times for 
drunkenness; and Milligan I have known three or four different dines drunk on duty. 
2431. These men are all there now ? Yes. Thomas Lee was even accused by a prisoner 
of stealing rations, and he showed it in Lee's basket to Mr. Harrison, and he would not take 
notice of it ; it was then reported to Mr. Beverley, and he said be would not believe it. I 
have seen 80 lbs. of beef stowed away at a time, salted in the cook-house and the bones 
taken out ; and 60 loaves of bread, and 30 loaves of bread, and onions, stowed away to be 
carried away. 
2432. By the free people who lived outside ? Yes. 
2433. Was it carried out? Lee was reported by a prisoner. 
2434. Do you believe that rations have been carried away ? I firmly believe it; I know 
Lee myself. I have seen him have prisoners' rations cooked and taken to the wing to make 
his meals of;—the same man that is now in charge of the hard labour wing. Since I left the 
gaol I have seen him two or three days drunk in a public-house. 
2435. Did you ever see Harrison drink in public-houses ? Scores of times. 
2436. Have you seen him standing any length of time with persons drinking? Yes, I saw 
him drink with a discharged prisoner. 
2437. You have seen Mr. Harrison do that while principal turnkey? Yes, with a man named 
Campbell, formerly the clerk saw him drinking at the Queen's Arms after the man was 
discharged. 
2438. Have you ever heard that turnkeys borrowed money from prisoners ? Yes, a man 
named Carthy was accused of it. 
2439. Was there any investigation ? None that I have seen. Prisoners, when discharged 
from gaol, go and visit his house. I have seen him at night smoking in the box with the 
prisoner clerk. The prisoner clerk had the indulgence of smoking, and I have seen him 
smoking in the box with Christopher earthy. It was of no use for a man to make a report, 
for the less reports be made the better he was liked. There have been all sorts of imple-
ments made and taken out by the turnkeys. I reported it at first to the gaoler, and it was 
stopped afterwards by the Colonial Architect, to whom I reported it also. 
2440. With regard to the workshops in the gaol, have you known turnkeys to have articles 

made 
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made there which were not paid for ? I have known them to have them made of Govern- Mr. E. Pegg. 
meat material; I could not ascertain whether they were paid for. 
2441. Which of the turnkeys had articles made in that way ? Rispen, a man who is sus- 22 Feb., 1861. 
pended lately. 
2442. Who else ? McCoy, Harrison, Lee—he used to have wood and iron the same as if it 
were his own ; he had a cheffonier that was made of Government cedar that was sent, for 
the gates at the bottom of Palmer-street going into the Domain, by the Colonial Architect. 
A man named Walter Raleigh made a cheffonier to fit in his fire-place. 
2443. Out of the wood sent in for constructing the Domain gates be contrived to have a 
eheffonier made for himself ? Yes. 
2444. By Mr. Morris : Is that prisoner in Darlingburst now ? No. I recognised the 
wood, and saw it being done day after day—some days a good deal, other days not much; 
it was done piece by piece; • the boards covered it, and the man would go and work under 
these boards to prevent its being seen. 
2445. By the Chairman: It was made to a great extent secretly ? Yes, it was. 
2446. Were many articles made secretly ? Yes, he had a child's carriage made in the gaol, 
and made it away outside to some one; I could not say whether it was given or sold—a 
child's carriage, I daresay,sworth 
2447. With regard to the tailoring shop, was there much work done there ? Yes, they 
smuggled away a good deal. 
2448. Did any of the officers of the gaol have work done there ? Yes, they had the work 
made, but it was in the wing where this clandestine work between Rispeu and Lee took 
place ; no other man had anything to do with them but these two men, and I have known them 
to have prisoners at work on Sunday—trousersinaking, shoemaking, watchmaking. 
2449. Have you ever known shoes carried out for the family of any turnkey ? I have 
seen Rispen with a pair of Government shoes on his feet wearing them, and I have seen a 
great many females' shoes cut to waste to golosh shoes that were made. Milligan and I went 
there, and found ten pairs of shoes that were cut all to waste, soles and everything, to be 
worked up afresh. Turnkeys used to get cloth boots goloshed. 
2450. Did you ever report these things ? I did frequently report them to the gaoler till I 
saw it was no use. 
2451. It does not appear very clearly what you mean by cutting to waste ? I went into the 
shoemakers' shops along with the principal turnkey and Milligan, and we found ten pairs of 
Government shoes, males' and females' shoes, the uppers all =stitched and the soles cut, 
everything cut to bits, on purpose to be worked up afresh in a-more decent manner. 
2452. That is, that by working them up anew they might not appear as prisoners' shoes? 
They would not. 
2458. Do you suppose that these were worked up anew by prisoners for some of the officers 
of the gaol ? I believe they were worked up for officers of the gaol; several of them were 
cloth boots. 
2454. During the time that you were turnkey in Darlinghurst Gaol had you any knowledge 
whether luxuries were at any time brought in to prisoners through the connivance of 
officers of the gaol ? I am well aware of it. 
2465. You have no doubt that was the case ? I am sure of it, for I found them; there was 
a man named Tesshnond, a prisoner in the gaol, he was worth money, and his wife kept 
a shop outside in the town ; he was put into what is called the bath-house, and while he had 
charge of that—what charge he had I could not say—nearly nothing or next to nothing—I 
went there one day, and saw seine luxuries on a shelf—vinegar, pickles, bacon, cheese, some 
eggs; I saw that the stock was pretty nearly run out, and I did not say anything at that time, 
but waited a little bit longer—I knew the turnkey at the gate, Burke, did get bamboozled, 
and that things were taken in unknown to him, so I waited, and when I thought be had got 
a fresh supply, I told Burke to go there; accordingly, he went and found there had been a 
fresh supply brought in, and took them up to Mr. Beverley. 
2456. By Mr. Cowper In what month was this? In 1859, while Tessimond was in prison; 
he brought them up. The Sheriff knew of it, and Mr. Beverley knew of it. There was 
nothing more about it. Soon after that, the principal turnkey wanted to know from Burke 
who gave him the information; Burke would not tell him, and then there was a down upon 
one man for telling. 
2457. By the Chairman : Then, in fact, the persons who were considered the chief offenders 
were those who attempted to correct these improper practices ? Yes; they were the persons 
that were blamed. 
2458. Was any attempt ever made with you to induce you to connive at the introduction of 
articles of this kind ? Prisoners have done it till they found it was no use. 
2459. Did you over see any other instances of it ? Yes; • I have known a man of the name 
of Rispen, who is outside this morning, to go on errands for prisoners. 
2460. You mean to purchase articles for them ? Yes. There was some prisoners going to 
be shifted to Cockatoo Island or Parramatta; he goes to Woolloomooloo for these same 
prisoners, and tells a person to bring up a bundle of clothes for him—that was for a man 
confined in Rispen's wing. A man that has money, whether inside or out, can get whatever 
be likes. 
2461. By Mr. Lucas : That is a man if confined in the gaol, can get anything he likes ? 
I have known them to take bladders off  rum from men in the debtors prison. 
2462. How do you suppose it got in ? I believe it went through the gates. 
2463. Are articles of this kind thrown over the wall ? 
2464. By Mr. Cowper : How could the man at the gate be bamboozled, as you term it ? • 
There are turnkeys in there that he could not stop ; for instance, a man of the name of 

Rispen 
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Mr- F. Pegg. Rispen carries in a basket every morning, and he does not search him; if he has any 
suspicion he has to report it, and then the principal turnkey will stop him. 

22170)., 1861. 2465. ITow do you know Rispen does what you assert ? I do not know whether he does it; 
I say he carries in a basket every morning. I have seen prisoners' hominy taken by him 
regularly for breakfast. In fact I have seen that man take half a side of leather in, sole 
and kip, and have prisoners to work for him week after week, unknown to the authorities-
at least, I do not know whether it was unknown, he never paid anything for it; and I saw 
him carry boots out-more than he could wear during his life. 
2406. Was he supposed to be much in the confidence of Harrison ? Yes; be was one of the 
foremost men in the gaol-that is, a man in charge of a wing. Rispen had more boots made 
there on the sly than he could wear during his life. He kept prisoners at work for him, in 
the wing, week after week, and month after month. 
2467. By the Chairman : During the time you were there, how often did you see the Sheriff 
there ? Sometimes he would come up once a week ; sometimes he would go to Mr. Beverley 
and no farther; sometimes he would take a walk round the yards into the workshops, and 
take no note of the prisoners. 
2468. Did he ever examine into the condition of the cells ? No. 
2469. Or give orders as to the treatment of the prisoners ? No; I have seen him go a time 
or two into Rispen's wing, or into Mr. Beverley's house, or, perhaps, into two or three cells, 
out and away. 
2470. Were the cells kept perfectly clean ? Some of them-in fact, pretty well. 
2471. Have the prisoners ever been in a state of personal filth ? Yes. 
2472. Was there any regulation by which they were compelled to wash themselves from bead 
to foot ? There was no regulation ; they could wash themselves or leave it alone. 
2473. If it has been stated by Mr. Harrison that the prisoners are compelled to wash and 
shave at the end of the week, and to appear perfectly clean on Sunday-is that true ? It 
is not. 
2474. Have you seen men in a state of filth on Sunday ? They have never shaved nor washed, 
and, in the confine yard, I have seen vermin crawling on them as large almost as rice-
disgraceful. 
2475. Suppose a man of filthy habits were sent to the gaol, and did not wash from year to 
year, would be be interfered with ? No. In the confine yard the dirtiest and filthiest men 
are here, and you see vermin creeping over their shirts. I saw one shirt hanging on the 
wall that was all alive ; if it had been on the road they could have dragged it after them. 
I made a report of it, and that shirt was fetched away and burned. 
2476. You cannot give any information to the Committee respecting the female department 
of the gaol ? What I can say about that is that two of the female turnkeys used to wear 
prisoners' underclothing and shoes. 
2477. How did you get the chance of seeing their underclothing ? I saw it plain enough ; 
I could see the skirts and shoes month after month ; they never wore their own shoes. 
2478. What turnkeys were these? Mrs. Hanlon and Mrs. Cullen. 
2479. By Al,-. Cowper: Are they there now ? They are there now. The other turnkeys 
noticed it as well as I did. There is not a turnkey that was in the gaol when I left but 
knows what I say to be correct. 
2480. By the Chairman: Had you the opportunity of observing the conduct of the female 
prisoners ? Yes, I bad; I have heard them go on with all manner of blackguard language 
-filthy language. 
2481. In the presence of the female turnkeys ? Yes. 
2482. In the presence of the male prisoners who were there for some of the purposes of the 
gaol ? Yes. I have gone there to take hot water, and I have heard them going on in the 
presence of the female turnkeys with the most filthy language. 
2483. Do you think any irregularities ever occurred in the gaol besides those in connection 
with the houses of the officers ? I cannot say, for they were only certain days that I had 
the opportunity of going across to the female gaol. Drunkenness was a prevalent thing in 
the gaol-the turnkeys going out to get drink, as well as drinking in the box. 
2484. By Mr. Morris : Do you remember some prisoners trying to escape from Woolloo-
mooloo Gaol some time in 1859? Yes, it was while I was there. 
2485. Did they try to escape ? Yes. 
2486. In what way ? They were building the hospital on the south side of the gaol, and, 
during the breakfast-time, the turnkey that should have been on duty never came; all the 
prisoners were with the ladders and tools, and, during the breakfast-time, they got a ladder, 
and two or three of them were creeping up it, when another turnkey came by accident and 
discovered them. 
2487. Was the ladder placed against the outer wall ? Yes. 
2488. How did they manage to get the ladder ? They were building the new hospital. 
2489. Did they remove the ladder from the hospital to the wall ? Yes ; it was only a few 
yards-they pushed it Over. 
2490. What became of the prisoners who attempted to escape ? One was sent to Maitland, 
and the other to Parramatta; and the turnkey that should have been with them, came in 
and out as lie liked. 
2491. Who was he ? Bowen; he was a pal of the principal turnkey's (Harrison). He has 
been away two or three days together. 
2492. Is Bowen at the gaol now ? Yes, he is up at Yass; he was one of the men who had 
to leave so they got him this appointment. 
2493. When he was absentfor two or three days, was it by permission of the governor of the 
gaol ? No, by no permission at all. 

2494. 
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2494. By Mr. Mate: flow do you know lie had no permission from the governor of the Mr- F. ragg. 
gaol ? He used to stop away without. 
'2495. Might he not get permission from the gaoler unknown to you ? He might have done 22 Feb., 1661. 
it, but I fully believe he never did, on account of the intimacy between him and the principal 
turnkey. 
2496. Were any complaints made against you yourself to the gaoler, or principal turnkey, at 
any time ? No. 	• 
2497. Have you never been censured at all ? No. 
2498. Have you and Mr. Harrison ever had any quarrel ? We never used to have any 
quarrel, but I reported him several times to the gaoler for misconduct. 
2499. Was any investigation made by the gaoler in consequence of these reports ? No ; ho 
had that influence that it was all settled. 
2500. You said you thought that the reason why the six turnkeys who were discharged, 
were selected, was, that they were Protestants ? Yes. 
2501. Were the greater part of the turnkeys who remained, Catholics ? Yes, the majority 
of them. I reported a man named Thomas Lee for some stuff that went in for the Botanic 
Gardens, to make seats. The wood went in to make eleven, but there were only nine made; 
Lee had one made for his own purposes, and the Government battens were planed and cut, 
and nailed on it, which I saw with my own eyes. I reported that to the gaoler, and I never 
heard any more of it, except that Mr. Beverley said he paid for the making of it. 
2502. .By Mr. Morris : What time in the morning did Mr. Beverley appear in the gaol ? 
We might see his face about ten o'clock, when the prisoners were being discharged. 
2503. It was not his habit to appear at six or seven o'clock ? Neither of them. 
2504. If Mr. Harrison says his general habit was to appear not later than eight o'clock-six, 
seven, or eight-is that statement incorrect ? Quite incorrect. Unless there was some 
special cause we never saw his face till half-past nine. 
2505. What time did Mr. Beverley generally shew himself? At ten o'clock, as the principal 
turnkey was about to discharge the prisoners lie would stand by. 
2506. Did he not generally attend at the muster of the prisoners at seven ? Never. 
2507. Or at half-past four ? Never ; not one time in a month. I have seen the prisoners 
mustered when they have both been absent. Mr. Beverley's face was not seen round the 
gaol once in a month, nor through,-I mean in the workshops. I have been on duty in the 
gaol seven days, and have never seen his face until the seventh morning, and that was going 
out of his own door. 
2508. By Mr. Cowper: Did you ever see the Sheriff make a general inspection in all the 
wards and cells ? I cannot say I ever did. The Sheriff did not call so long as he got what 
he wanted done in the gaol himself; lie used to send carts and drays- 
2509. Arc you aware whether any work was done in the workshops for persons out of the 
gaol other than the Government ? Yes; a good deal. 
2510. Can you state any particulars of these cases ? The Sheriff had two drays made. 
2511. The whole of them ? The frame came in and the shafts, and they were made there 
and painted. 
2512. Was the timber sent in ? Yes. 
2513. And the iron ? Yes. 
2514. Was anything else made for him ? There was a water-truck made. 
2515. Any farming implements ? Yes. 
2516. What were they ? Both harrows and scuffles were made-new ones; at the time I 
am speaking of there were two or three old ploughs to be made up afresh, and the Colonial 
Architect said he would be very glad if he would take them out, and they were taken out. 
And a water cistern he had lined. 
2517. Has the Sheriff had any work done since the workshops were placed under the 
Colonial Architect ? No. 
2518. Do you know any other persons who have had work done besides the Sheriff? Yes, 
a man named Kidman, a contractor on the South Head Road, had gates and posts made-
while Government work, the roofing of the hospital, would stand still-to take to his own 
place at Randwick ; the men at work at the new wing let the roof stand still while they 
were doing this work. 
2519. Was there not an officer of the Colonial Architect's department specially authorized 
to see that these men did the work of the gaol ? Yes ; Mr. Sharkey. 
2520. This work could not have been done without his knowledge ? He was in frequently 
and saw them; I never heard him tell the men to stop from doing them. 
2521. Although the roof of the building was standing still while this private work was 
being done ? Yes. 
2522. .By Mr. Morris : What was the name of the publican from whom you used to get the 
rum and gin for Mr. Harrison of a morning ? I used to fetch it from O'Neil's. 
2523. By Mr. Cowper : Did you ever remonstrate with Mr. Beverley, or the Sheriff, upon 
anything you saw that you considered a breach of the regulations ? Not with the Sheriff, 
but I have gone in to Mr. Beverley. 
2524. By Mr. Incas : Have you ever heard any complaints made by the prisoners of the 
bread rations ? I have, frequently. 
2525. What has been done? I have sent it back several times to the contractor and got 
fresh ; but at the same time the principal turnkey, Harrison, was very thick with him. 

.2526. By Mr. Cowper : Was Mr. Kidman the contractor then ? Yes ; I sent it back to 
Mr. Kidman on several occasions, and took the responsibility on myself. A turnkey goes 
every morning to see that it is of proper weight and good quality. 
2527. Do the turnkeys take regular days, so that the contractor may know what turnkey is 

likely 
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Mr. F. Pegg. likely to be on duty on a particular day—is there a regular roster ? There is a roster ; he 
could ascertain that very easily. 

22 Feb., 1861. 2528. Rdee you ever known a board to be called to survey the bread ? I do net think 
there was while I was there. I know the potatoes, bread, and everything of that kind was 
bad. 
2529. When you sent it back was there always a good article sent in return ? Yes. 
2530. With reference to correspondence, is there any way in which prisoners can get paper 
and writing materials ? Yes, anything they want; but the prisoner clerk does all the 
writing in that gaol; I have known Mr. Wickham not to be there for three or four days. 
2531. Who is Mr. Wickham? The free clerk. 
2532. You have known him to be absent three or four days ? Yes, and a prisoner doing 
his duty, making out ration returns. 
2533. Can any prisoner in the gaol, if he has money, obtain writing materials, and get any 
correspondence out of the gaol without being examined by a turnkey ? Yes, he can; and I 
can state why he can do it; there is a prisoner clerk, and that office is very nearly, you may 
say, always left to himself; he has pens, ink, paper, envelopes—anything he likes to take 
with him, and he can associate with any prisoner in the gaol. 
2534. Can this man go over the gaol and have correspondence with all the prisoners in the 
gaol ? Yes. 
2535. Is he locked up with the other prisoners or left to roam where he likes ? Left to roam 
about. I have known him to be locked up drunk when I was in ; 1 reported it to Mr. 
Harrison. 
2536. What happened ? There was no notice taken of it. It was a man named Peters. 
2537. When you have a report to make to whom is it your duty to report ? Chiefly to the 
principal turnkey. 
2538. Of course it is his.cluty to report to the gaoler ? Yes. 
2539. Did you ever make any report to the gaoler ? Yes, frequently. 
2540. Will you tell us any one occasion ? When the principal turnkey would not tell him 
the truth of it then I had occasion to go to the gaoler. 
2541. Will you give us instances of the offences that you reported to the gaoler ? One occasion 
was with reference to Swan; a man who was sentenced; I had to put him in a cell for black-
guard language; he would not go, and dared me to try my hand, and I called upon Rispen 
to assist me, and he would not; I reported him to the principal turnkey, and it was not taken 
notice of; then I had to go to the poler ; the man did go in at last, but instead of locking 
him up in a cell, lie put him in the wing to roam about in the corridor at large. 
2542. He was locked up in consequence of your making a complaint to the principal gaoler ? 
Yes. The turnkey at the gate often did it ; he would not make a report to the principal 
turnkey because he would not tell the truth to Mr. Beverley. The clerk, Mr. Wickham, 
would come in at twelve in the day, and sometimes never come at all; this prisoner Wilson 
did all the work. Mr. Beverley would sign the ration return in blank, and it was made up 
between the prisoner cook and this prisoner clerk what rations were to come in ; he would 
put in what he thought fit, and it would be sent off by the messenger without Mr. Beverley 
seeing what it was. 
2543. By  Arr. Lucas : Then Mr. Beverley signed in blank and allowed these people to make 
it up? Yes, the prisoner cook and the prisoner clerk would fill in the quantities, and neither 
Mr. Beverley nor the free clerk would know what came in ; everything was trusted to these 
prisoners. 

ADDENDUM. 

I caught Rispen stealing Government iron; he was reported ; I appeared before the 
Sheriff against him, but the Sheriff overlooked R.—FREDERICK PEGG. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

FEEDER/CR PEGG, 
Having been directed by the Sheriff to inform you that yonr services as an officer of this 

gaol will not be required after the 31st day of December next, I now give you due notice of the same, 
and, whilst expressing my regret at your losing your situation, I have to add that I shall be glad to 
assist you in any way in my power to procure other employment. 

It appears that this notice to you is in consequence of some proposed alterations, to take effect 
from the 1st of January next, over which I have no control whatever, I take the opportunity of 
expressing my regret that your services should be done away with here, because I can bear testimony 
to your uniform good conduct and vigilance during the time you have been in this gaol. 

(Signed) 	R. C. BEVERLEY. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

Sydney, vs November, 1869. 

THURSDAY, 
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THURSDAY, 28 FEBRUARY, 1861. 

Dracut :- 	• 
MR. HART, 	 Ma. MORRIS, 
Mn. LUCAS, Mn. SUTHERLAND, 
MR. MATE, 

	

	 Mn. WALSH, 
MR WILSON. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Mr. Samuel Whiddon called in and examined :- 

Mr. 

	

2544. By the Chairman: You have been employed as turnkey in Darlingburst Gaol 1 I 	S.  
‘Thidelon. have. 

2545.. How long have you been so employed? Just upon six months. 
2546. Do you remember when you were first engaged ? I think it was somewhere in the 26 Pcb" 1861 ' 
month of September. 
2547. How long have you been in the Colony ? About six years. 
2548. What were your previous occupations ? I am a builder by trade. 
2549. Have you followed that employment in this Colony ? I have. I have erected many 
buildings here, among others the row of houses on Church Hill, built for Mr. Gm A. Lloyd. 
I have also built part of Belgrave Terrace and many other buildings. Previous ,  to that I 
was nine years in Messrs. Peto's firm, as chief overseer. 
2550. In what part of England ? In London. My father was there twenty-five years before 
me, in the time of Messrs. Grissell and Pete. 
2531. At whose instance were you appointed to Darlinglmrst Gaol ? By the Sheriff. 
2552. Bad you testimonials from the parties in England under whom you had served? 
Testimonials were sent to Mr. Cowper by me from Sir Morton Peto. 	I came out to this 
Colony as schoolmaster on board the ship, and I have here testimonials from the passengers 
on board. 	I used to conduct divine service on board ship, as well as perform my duties as 
schoolmaster. 	(The witness produced several testimonials and handed the some to the 
Chairman.) 
2553. What were your duties in Darlinghurst Gaol ? When I first commenced the duties 
they were the same as the other turnkeys'-night and day. 
2534. Cannot you describe them to us-give us a day's routine ? For instance, if I was on 
the gate, which is considered the first post, I was in company with the gatekeeper, and if 
there were any message I had to convey it, If any visitors came to the gaol I generally 
accompanied them, either to the gaoler' or to the deputy gaoler. Of course my duty con-
tinued at night-to open and shut the gates, and so forth. You go on duty at six this 
morning and keep on duty till six to-morrow morning, if you have day and night duty. 
2555. Do the Committee understand that you were employed upon the gate, as you call it, 
regularly ? No. You asked me to give you a day's routine, and I have done so. The next 
post I had to go to was, perhaps, upon the north wall. 
'2556. What would be the nature of your duties there ? All you are supposed to do there 
is to see that no prisoners come round that way ; that there is no communication with the 
prisoners in the yard. 
2537. Would that be twenty-four hours also ? No, twelve hours; from six to six. 
2558. Bo Mr. Wilson: You are not On duty there when the prisoners are locked up in the 
cells? NO, until after muster is over. 
2559. By the Chairman: Is there a warder on duty at each wall of the gaol ? Yes, except 
the front wall; and there is a man on duty at the east wall, and another man takes the front 
of the workshops, called the stockade. 
2560. What are his duties? Ile is supposed to see that all the prisoners go in at meal times. 
2561. Does he walk backwards and forwards like a sentinel? Generally; sometimes he sits 
down. 
2562. Is be armed? No. 
2563. Is he required to parade the place, or does he do what he likes ? Almost what he likes. 
2564, Can he sit down and talk with the prisoners ? That has been done very frequently. 
2565. Yon have stated two days' duty-what is the third? The next duty would be on the 
stockade. 
2566. That would be similar ? Yes, that would be similar, with the exception that on that 
post you remain on night duty. 
2567. The stockade is the place where the prisoners cut stones ? Yes. The night duty has 
been commenced since the escape took place. 
2568. Which escape? The escape of the two men. 
2569. What would be the fourth day's duty ? Since the Cockatoo men have come it would 
be to go on the wing. 
2570. When you say "on the wing," do you mean to say at the door of the wing ? When 
on duty you have to be at the two wings, the committed and the hard labour wing, to go 
from door to door. 
2571. What would be the fifth day's duly ? That, as at present constituted, would be in 
the garden, where the Cockatoo men escaped from last time, called cast wall. 
2572. Would that be for twenty-four hours? No, for twelve hours. 
2573. The turnkey "upon the wing," as you call it, would be there twenty-four hours? Yes. 
2574. That has been only since the two men escaped? Yes; previous to that the man at. 
tho stockade was at night-time up at the wing on duty. 
2575. Are the men arnied at night? Since the escape took place they have been. 

157-L 	 2576. 
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Mr. S. 	2576. flow are they armed ? With carbines. 
Whiddon. 2577. Then do we understand that all the turnkeys who are employed have the same rotation 

of duties at regular stated times-that the same duties come to all of them ? No • there 
23 Feb., 1861 . has been an exception made with sonic of the men ; there was an exception made with ' a man 

named Fallon some time since. 
2578. By the general system maintained in the gaol, did the turnkeys go in regular rotation 
upon the same class of duties in their turn ? Unless there were a special order from the 
Sheriff to the contrary. 
2579. Were you not the turnkey appointed to the wing which the two men escaped from ? 
I was the first inan in charge of it, in conjunction with M'Coy. 
2580. When was that? 1 do not remember the date. I remember the morning when it 
occurred. 
2581. Did it come to your turn in the order of this rotation to be on this wing ? No, I was 
specially appointed there. 
2582. Why were you specially appointed there ? I do not know. Mr. Harrison put me 
there, and gave me special instructions, and said, he should hold me responsible if they were 
not carried out. 
2588. At what time of the twenty-four hours was it you received these orders ? I think it 
was in the morning after the Cockatoo Island prisoners arrived in the evening. 
2584. On the first morning after their arrival there ? Yes. 
2585. At what time did you receive the order 7 About seven o'clock in the morning. 
2586, How long did you continue to discharge that duty 7 Eight or nine days. 
2587. Every day 7 Every day. 
2588. Till they were locked up ? I saw to their being locked up, and that closed my duty 
for the day. 
2589. What occurred then ? After that, Mr. Harrison came to me one morning early, and 
said, " Whiddon, I am very sorry I am obliged to shift you from this post." I said, "I ant 
" not at all sorry, for I consider it a very e:Tonsible one, and I shall be glad to be released 
"from it." Ile said, "I should not shift you from it, but the Sheriff wants to put another 
"man on day duty, and this is the only post I have for him." 
2590. Were you then shifted ? I was then shifted to my usual duties as before, and Fallon 
was placed in my place. 
2591. Had Fallon been long in the gaol? No, he had come there very recently. 
2592. Do you know what situation he had held before ? He told me he had been a jobbing 
man for the Sheriff and his father. 	• 
2593. What do you meau by a "jobbing man"? He had done jobs of bricklaying and white-
washing about his estate. 
2594. You say that when you were placed in the wing with the Cockatoo Island prisoners 
you received special instructions from Mr. Harrison, will you state what they were ? The 
instructions chiefly were that I was to allow no prisoners to touch the keys or locks unless I 
was present. 1 had two men to go round with buckets in order that they might wash every 
morning, and I went round with them on every occasion ; Mr. M'Coy took one floor, and I 
the other. In the same way when the men went round with the bread, they called me to 
attend them, so that while I was with them no prisoners were allowed to touch the keys. 
2595. Were they all searched when they were locked up at night ? They were in solitary 
confinement at that time. 
2596. Did the prisoners escape on the first night that Tallon had charge ? No, I think two 
or three nights after. 
2597. Can you explain how they effected their escape ? Two men got into one cell. 
2598. Will you explain how one of the prisoners got into the cell of the other ? I believe 
that they arranged it in the exercise yard. 
2599. They had been released from solitary confinement, then? Yes ; I believe that when 
the prisoners were admitted into the wing two of them rushed up stairs into one cell, and 
that the man in the next cell to the empty one, as he passed by the empty cell, closed the 
door. 
2600. It has been stated to the Committee that if you go round the wing in one direction 
the doors open from you, while if you go in the opposite direction they open to you; so that 
in closing the doors when going in one direction you would not see the inside of the cell ? 
Going from the entrance doorway the doors open in front; if you go the other way, the doors 
open in front again. 
2601. Will you state positively that your instructions were, that you were to go round the 
wing so as to close the doors to you, in order that you might see the inside of the cells? 
That was part of my positive instructions; and another was, that I was never to shut the 
door unless I saw the man in the cell. 
2602. You uniformly acted upon this instruction? Yes. 
2603. Can you say whether on this occasion the turnkey went the other way ? I was not on 
duty. 
2604. Have you heard so? I think he must. 
2605. Have you had any conversation with Fallon as to this escape? Yes; at the time 
Capt. Mterie was there, making this inquiry into the case, several of the turnkeys who were 
standing by advised Fallon not to say he had anything to do with it, but to put it on M'Coy; 
and Fallon said, "I looked the two floors, and it is no use my denying it." 
2606. Who advised him ? Several of the officers standing by said, "Do they know that you 
shut them? if they do not, I would not admit it, if I were you." He said, " I locked the 
two floors, and its of no use my denying it." The bed-boards in the cells I complained of 
several times, I spoke to the Sheriff about it-not that I contemplated an escape being 

attempted, 
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attempted, but on account of the annoyance, for I found that some of the men were hallooing 	Mr. 8. 
and hooting out of the windows. I found out the cell that the sounds came from, and found whiclaen. 
that the men had formed a sort of scaffold by means of their bed-boards, by means of which es--1/4—sai 
they reached the windows. I spoke to Mr. Harrison about it, and he said, "I know it is 28 Feb., 1861. 
wrong, but I cannot help it, for the Sheriff Swill have them there." 
2607. Did you suggest that they should be removed ? Yes, a dozen times. I spoke to each 
party who had the control. 
2608 Was it your suggestion that they should lie on the stones ? 	They had straw 
mattresses. 
2609. The mattresses would be on the stones? Yes; but the stones in that wing are 
perfectly dry. 
2610. Do you suppose that the prisoners had possession of implements to assist them in 
making their escape ? I furnished a report an that subject. On Friday last, I went on duty 
with a prisoner to Tarban Creek, a man named Sharp, who had been a prisoner at Darling-
burst, but was removed to the Lunatic Asylum, in consequence of insanity ; he was insane 
only on one point—religion. Ile informed me, that sonic time previous to the escape taking 
place, he had seen three men, whom he named, who were wardsmen in die hospital, 
constantly in communication with the Cockatoo Islanders; that he had seen one of these 
wardsmen bring up a hammer similar to the one found, and also a large bundle of tarred 
twine, and several small pieces of iron. He told me that these were wrapped in a gaol towel, 
and placed in the washing place of the hospital for two or three days previous to the escape; 
that these Cockatoo men in the hospital were constantly in communication with prisoners in 
the exercise yard outside, underneath. Be described to me how they had communication; 
be said the Cockatoo Island prisoner in the hospital lowered a piece of thread down to the 
men in the exercise yard, who fastened on a piece of paper, and then it was pulled up to the 
hospital, and that the man above would then write something on a piece of paper and throw 
it out into the yard. I think that was the chief substance of the conversation. 
2611. When you returned to the gaol, what did you do? I repOrted it to Mr. Callaghan, 
who was then acting chief turnkey, and after that I went to Mr. Inspector Bead, who is now 
acting as principal gaoler. Mr. Callaghan told me I had better make a written report of it 
and give it to Mr. Read, and I did so. 
2612. When did you do so? On the same evening that I came back from Tarban Creek, 
on Friday last. Mr. Read took the report from me, and said, "It's all right." 
261t.t. By Mr, Hart: Did this man Sharp state where the prisoners had got their writing 
materials ? They are kept in the hospital for the use-of the wardsmen. 
2614. Would the prisoners have the means of writing ? They had pencils; and the 
prisen6rs in the hospital can lower anything into the yard below—pens, ink, and paper are 
in the hospital. 
2615. By the Chairman: Did you ever see any of the turnkeys in a state of intoxication ? 
No, I have not; I have seen one man the worse for liquor—only one. 
2610. More than once? Yes. 
2617. Have you any objection to state who that was? A man named Elliott. 
2618. have you ever seen any of the turnkeys asleep when on duty ? I have seen this man 
asleep on one occasion. 
2619. What duty was he on when asleep? In charge of the Cockatoo Island men, in the 
exercise yard. 
2620. In this very yard where a system of signals with the men in the hospital was kept 
up ? In the same yard. 
2621. Will you state under what circumstances you saw him asleep 	I was on duty at the • 
stockade, and the prisoner who acts as clerk in t he gaol said, "Mr. Whiddon, come up in 
the hospital, and I will shew you something." I went up, got on a bedstead, and looked out 
of the window into the yard, and there I saw this man asleep, and the prisoners pelting him 
with pieces of potato. I said to the men, " Don't do that;" and then I went round to the 
yard, which is a long way round from the hospital, and by the time I got there he had been 
waked up, I suppose by a piece of potato hitting him, and was walking about. 
2622. Did you report him ? Yes. 
2623. When did this occur ? On the 8th February. I must state that the next morning a 
prisoner, John Connor, a Cockatoo man, came to me while I was on duty at the same post 
that Elliott had had on the previous day. He said, " You will excuse me, sir, but what I 
am going to tell I hope you will not let my mates know, otherwise they will murder me." 
I promised him I would not. He then went on to say that an escape was contemplated. " If 
" they get away," he said, "it only makes it a damned sight worse for us who are left behind; 
" and if we go we are almost sure to get caught; but I have overheard some of my mates say 
"just now that if they catch that cove," to use his own words, "asleep again, they will try it 
" on." I went to Mr. Beverley, and made a full report of the circumstance to him, and in 
consequence he wrote out a notice, which was posted in the stockade sentry-box, cautioning 
all the turnkeys on the post to be more vigilant for the future, as the Cockatoo Island pri-
soners had been overheard contemplating an escape. 
2624. You have been suspended from duty yourself? Yes. 
2625. Will you state under what circumstances you were suspended, and when it occurred? 
Ever since Mr. Read has been there, from what motive I do not know, whenever I have made 
a report to him of any irregularity, he has always appeared to treat it with the greatest con-
tempt. In fact, he has made a point of watching me, to endeavour to find some fault with 
me. On Saturday morning last I was on duty at the gate- 
2626. This would be the morning after you had made the report to which you have referred? 
Yes. I was on duty all day, and had a good deal of running about, and the day was exces- 

sively 
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Mr. S. 	sively close. At night I stayed on duty, and it was raining heavily the greater part of the 
\Whiddon. night, so that it was impossible to walk in the gateway without being drenched. About ten 
e—A---■ o'clock Mr. Read came down to the gate, walked into the lodge, and put the gas up to its full 

28 Feb., 1861. height, in addition to which there was a fire which is kept constantly burning at all times. 
The room is only about ten feet square and the ceiling is very low. It is the duly of the 
night-watchman to call the half-hours from nine o'clock, and I called every half-hour up to 
half-past two. About a quarter of an hour or twenty minutes after that I sat and read the 
paper 
2627. That would be on Sunday morning ? That would be on Sunday morning. I then 
thought I would have a lounge on the seat a bit and wait till the clock struck three, for I 
felt excessively fatigued. While lying waiting there I must have dozed off, because I did 
not hear the clock strike three, About three minutes after this Inspector Read came down, 
called me, and told me he would dismiss me. I told him I could not have been asleep two 
moments as he must have been aware, lie told me he did not want any damned explanation, 
go I should. He afterwards came back again and told me, "I will suspend you only till I 
see the Sheriff." That was all that occurred on that occasion. 
2628. Is this lodge within gates ? Yes, it is between the outer and the inner gates. In fact 
the turnkeys call it an indifferent post ; there is a bar to go across the gates, which is pad-
locked; I put the bar across the gates about ten o'clock, and fastened the back and front 
gates, and took all the keys inside with me. 
2629. How is that post regarded—is it regarded as a post where great vigilance is required ? 
No, there is scarcely a man on duty there who may not fall into a doze in the twenty-four 
hours. It is very different when you are on the stockade, there you are obliged to be very 
vigilant. 
2630. If there had been any one approaching the gate would you, sleeping or waking, have 
heard thorn ? Yes, the slightest noise I should have heard. 
2631. By Mr. Hart: Could you have been approached without the gates being unlocked by 
yourself? No. . 
2632. By the Chairman: Would you have heard any attempt to force the gates ? Yes, the 
slightest noise is heard there in a moment. 
2633. Is this the distinction between that and any other post in the gaol, that here the 
officer can only be approached through an iron gate, which is locked, while in all other places 
he is open to attack ? Yes. In fact since the escape of Cavanagh and Clark the officers 
never think of sitting down at night, except at the gate. 
2634. Did you continue on the post that night, or did some other person relieve you? Mr. 
Read would not allow me to stop a moment. 
2635. Were you sent away then ? Yes, at three o'clock in the morning. 
2636. Did you return to the gaol on Sunday morning ? No, I was not there. 
2637. Did you return to the gaol on Monday morning ? Yes. 
2638. When did you get to the gaol on Monday morning ? About ten o'clock. 
2639. Did you remain there ? Yes; first of all I went to see the Sheriff. 
2640. Were you there when the seventeen prisoners escaped on Monday ? Yes; I was in 
the gate waiting for the Sheriff. 
2641. Can you state to the Committee what occurred, as far as you have any knowledge, of 
the escape ? I was sitting in the gate two or three hours, and while I was there, Mr. Read 
went out to 0' Neil's public-house. About an hour or an hour and a quarter after that, Mr. 
Read came rushing back to the gaol, with both hands up,—" My Cod! my God ! all the 
prisoners are gone. I immediately started off to see what it was was the matter. 
.2642. Do you mean that you started off outside the gaol ? I started out to the Court TIouse. 
I came back and found no firearms except the guns. I then went up to Mr. Harrison to get 
Ids revolver. 
2643. By Mr. Hart : Where was that ? In the gaol. I got the revolver, but there were no 
bullets that would fit it, so I immediately went off without it, and succeeded in capturing 
one of the prisoners at the back of Mr. Roberts', in Botany-street. I then went on further 
across the Sand Hills, by the cottages, and materially assisted the police in capturing a second. 
2614. By the Chairman : You were present among those who captured him when he was 
captured ? I was the first to lay hold of him. After that, I got information that prisoners 
had been seen round Rushcutter's Bay ; I started in pursuit, and learned that two men had 
been seen going into a shed opposite the White Conduit House. I went over to the place, 
and when the men saw rue, as they knew me perfectly well, they started off. They had 
turned their trousers inside out, and were changing their shirts. One had got his shirt off, 
and in His fright, left both it and his shoes behind ; the shirt I brought back to the gaol. 
2645. By Mr. Windeyer : Did you follow them up any further ? No; after that I went to 
Inspector Harrison, at the police station, and gave him the information. 
2646. By the Chairman : Had you any communication with Mr. Read during these 
occurrences on Monday ? After I came back from the Surry Hills, I wen t on to the stockade, 
and he was in the midst of the prisoners who were left ; I called him on one side, and he 
said, "Do you want me particularly ?" I said, "If it was not particular, I would not have 
troubled you at this moment." He then came on one side, and I told him I had just got 
information that some of the prisoners had gone down Rushcutter Bay way, should I go in 
pursuit of them with Callaghan. Callaghan was the man who was waiting at the gate to 
see the Sheriff. "Oh," he said, "Callaghan, go to the devil, and you can use your dis-
cretion in the matter ; let the police look after them." 
2647. These particular expressions you have given at different times—are you quite certain 
that they are exactly what he used? Yes, quite certain ; if I were to speak strictly to the 
fact, they would be worse. 

2348. 
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2648. Had you any further intercouhre with Mr. Read ? Not on that occasion. 	 Mr. g. 
2649. Did he know that you had actually captured one of the prisoners and brought him \Midden. 
back ? I do not know. 
2650. Was it after you had captured one of the prisoners you saw him ? Yes. 	 23 Feb., 1861. 
2651. You said just now that you made a report of what you wore told at Tarban Creek to 
Mr. Read ? Yes. 
'2652. Have you a copy of that ? Mr. Read has. 
:2653. Could you get it from him ? I have applied to him twice for it, the first time 
verbally. I asked him if he would be kind enough to furnish a copy of the report I gave 
him last Friday, that I wanted to present it to a Committee of the Legislative Assembly. 
He said, "Damn the Committee; I have nothing to do with the Committee, or the Com-
mittee with me." 
2654. Are you sure he said, "Damn the Committee" ? Yes, I am quite positive. " I do 
not know anything about it at all;' he said, "where it is now." 
2655, You did not get it ? No. Be seemed very much annoyed, followed me up to the 
gate, and gave the man at the gate instructions not to permit me inside the gates again. 
2056. Did he say anything more than this? Not to me. 
2657. You said you applied in writing for it? Yes; on the following (Wednesday) 
morning, fearing he might deny a verbal statement, I sent in a written application. (The 
witness produced a paper.) 
2658. Is that a copy of it ? This is the one I sent him. 
2659. How did you get it ? He sent it back again. He said he did not know where it was, 
and not to bother him again. (Witness read the letter. Vide Appendix A.) 
2660. At this time, I infer from what you have already said, and also from the language of 
this letter, that you intended to apply to be examined before this Committee ? I did. 
2661. Do you suppose that this last escape was in any way facilitated by this system of 
signalizing, which you have previously described ? Yes. There are several gentlemen, and 
I believe there is one here now, who saw the signalizing going on on Monday when he was 
waiting on the South Head Road fur a 'bus. 
2662. I asked you whether you supposed this to be the case-I now ask you, whether you 
have any positive evidence of it ? I have positive evidence that communication took 
place. This gentleman will tell you, that while he was waiting he saw what resembled a 
piece of iron or dark wood pass from the window of the hospital down below. 
2663. You refer to Mr. Olson, who has been summoned ? Yes. 
2664. During the time you were turnkey at the gaol, it would, I presume, he your duty 
sometimes to unlock the wings ? That was the special duty of the man who was on the 
wing. 
2665. Did you not perform that special duty in the rotation of your duties ? No. 
2666. I have understood from you, and from previous witnesses, that every turnkey had 
the same kind of duty to perform in rotation ? What we term the ordinary turnkeys have 
to assist, when it is their turn, on the wing, but there are•regular turnkeys for that special 
business. 
2667. You have been present when the wings have been unlocked ? Yes. 
2668. Do you know where the keys were obtained to unlock the wings ? Yes, they were 
generally obtained from Mr. Harrison. 
2660. How were they obtained ? Mr. McCoy, who lived with Mr. Harrison, generally used 
to bring them down in his hands. 
2670. Have you ever seen any person go into Mr. Harrison's house-the door being open-
and take the keys off the peg or hook on which they hang ? No, unless it were McCoy. 
2071. Did you over see those keys hang on a peg or hook behind the door ? Yes, frequently ; 
but I think that was when Mr. Harrison was engaged, and the 'warder hung them up till 
Mr. Harrison would remove them. 
2072. When did Mr. Harrison appear ? Sometimes at half-past six ; sometimes at six. 
2073. Have the cells in Darlinghurst Gaol been regularly kept clean ? I think in the male 
wings they have been kept cleaner than in the other portion. 
2674. Was there any difference in the treatment of the walls and floors of the cells after 
this Committee visited the gaol as compared with the treatment of them prior to the 
Committee's visit? Not any particular difference, except in the female wing. 
2675. Has there been any difference there ? Yes, two or three men have been engaged 
whitewashing. 
2676. There has been more whitewashing done since than before ? Yes; I never saw it so 
much before. 
2677. Has the gaol been more vigilantly looked after in other respects since the Committee 
visited the gaol ? Since the new officers have been there. Whether it has been from their 
not having a knowledge of their duties or what, I do not know, but the whole place has 
been in a state of fermentation. 
2678. Did you ever hear any singing or loud noises in the yard ? In the confine yard, 
sometimes they will hum to themselves. 
2679. You have never heard any disorderly noise ? No. 
2680. By Mr. Walsh : The information you received from Sharp, and reported to Inspector 
Read, referred to the escape of Clarke and Cavanagh ? Yes; how they obtained implements 
was by allowing the hospital windows to remain unfastened. 
2681. Have you over been in Mr. Harrison's house after the prisoners have been locked up 
in the evening ? Yes, frequently. 
2682. Have you had any opportunity of observing where be kept the keys ? He generally 
kept the keys on pegs, for they were in ccinstant request for the debtor's prison till it was 

locked 
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Mr. S. 	locked up at half-past seven, and then the lamplighter wanted them to go into the wings. 
Whiddon. So that the keys were in constant request till after eight o'clock. 
r"-1"-,  2683. After eight o'clock have you seen the keys ? They were removed after that-where, 

28 Feb., 1861. I do not know. 
2684. Have you been to Mr. Harrison's house early in the morning ? Yes. 
2685. Have you observed where they were then ? No, because Mr. McCoy would bring them 
down to the cells with him ; if he were not well Mr. Harrison would bring them down 
himself. 
2086. They were not on the peg ? No. 
2687. By the Chairman: Was Pegg in the gaol during the tune you were there ? No. 
2688. 13y Mr. Walsh: When you were upon this gate duty on the night you were suspended 
you say you were obliged to call the half-hours? Every half- hour after nine o'clock. 
2689. You were expected to do that throughout the night ? Yes. 
2690. Was that practice observed before 51r. Read had charge of the gaol ? Yes, with this 
difference, that after twelve o'clock we used to call the hours only, instead of the half-hours. 
2691. In the course of the week how often were you on night duty ? livery third night. 
2692. That would be two nights in the week ? Yes. 
2693. Would you be on duty the entire day before as well ? Yes. 
2691. That is, you would have twenty-four hours' duty without intermission ? Without the 
slightest intermisi.ion-we were not even allowed to go to our meals. 
2695. By Mr. 	adeyer : Suppose you had been on duty all day did you remain on duty 
all that night ? Yes. 
2696. When did you go on duty next day ? We were then off duty till five the next 
evening, when we were expected to attend muster. After that we went home till the next 
morning. 
2697. By Mr. Lucas : You had twenty-four hours on and twenty-four hours off, with the 
exception of a short time about five o'clock when you were expected to attend muster? Yes. 
2698. By Mr. Mate : I did not understand you properly about taking round the buckets to 
the cells-did the prisoners wash in the buckots? Yes; a bucket was taken round to each 
cell fur the prisoners to wash in. 
2699. By Mr. Lucas : Is each prisoner compelled to wash in the bucket? He is supposed 
to do so. 
2700. Is there a bucket taken to each man ? No; one bucket has to do for about three 
cells, and then we change the water. 
2701. What buckets are used ? Large horse-buckets. 
2702. Are the buckets used for any other purpose? No, only for fetching hot water, or 
anything of that kind. 
2703. By Mr. Mute: Are you aware whether Mr. Harrison has any servant to attend on 
him ? Two female prisoners have been there to attend on the house. 
2704. By Mr. Windeyer : He is a married man is he not ? Yes. 
2705. By Mr. Mete: Are the servants allowed any liberty to roam about the place ? No, I 
never saw them away from the house. 
2706. Can they get away from his house ? Not without being observed, I think. A male 
prisoner is never allowed to approach there unless in company with a turnkey. 
.2707. By Mr. Burt: Do you consider that the official staff in the gaol is sufficient to secure 
the safe custody and management of the prisoners? No, not now, and much less so when 
the escape of Clarke aud Cavanagh took place. There have been four or five turnkeys 
engaged since then. At that time there was only one man in the whole establishment inside 
at night besides the man at the gate, and that one was unarmed. 
2708. Is there a sufficient supply of firearms to arm all the warders? There may be, but I 
have not seen them. 
2709. Were you usually furnished with firearms ? Not until that escape took place. 
2710. By Mr. lirindeyer : Suppose there were a rising up of the prisoners, are the firearms 
and ammunition in such a place as to be ready at once fur the arming of the turnkeys ? 
There are only six carbines in the lodge.* 
2711. Is the ammunition there? The bags hang beside the guns, but there is ammunition 
for only three.t 
2712. Are you supplied with hangers? No. 
2713. Then, supposing a rising oIthe prisoners to take place, you could get arms for only 
three persons? Yes ; and on the side of the north wall it is so dark that you cannot see 
your hand before you, so that in passing by the dead-house a number of prisoners might be 
concealed behind, spring upon you and take away your arms. 
2714. By Hr. Morris : Are the turnkeys accustomed to the use of firearms ? No, I think 
not. I believe some have never fired a gun. 
2715. By Mr. Wincleyer : There is no drill of any kind for the men? No. 
2716. When you are in this lodge are you there alone? Not 
2717. Then no one from the inside can get the keys and open the gates? No; Mr. Read 
was obliged to wait till I fetched the keys and unlocked the gate. 
2718. 13y Mr. Ha,-t: Can you state whether any muster of the prisoners takes place before 
their meals? There is no muster before meals. 
2719. With respect to the gangs who work outside, are they mustered every evening? They 

are 

• NOTE (Added by witness on revision) :-That I have seem I have since been informed that there 
are thirteen carbines locked up in the lodge, tho' not seen by turnkeys. 

T NOTE (Added by witness on revision) :-So far as I have observed. 
NOTE (Correction by witness on revision) :-Yes. 
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are mustered every evening; and, more than that, they are counted when they are let into the 	Mr. S. 
gate from the bard labour yard. 
2720. Are they searched each time they come in to their meals? No. 

F 2721. Are they searched before they retire to their cells ? Not the ordinary prisoners. 	28 eb., 1861.  
2722. I am speaking of the gongs? No, they are not searched. 
2723. By Mr. Windeyer : Are not the hard labour men searched when they come in? When 
they were at work at the quarries they were. 
2724. Are not these blacksmiths and carpenters searched? No. 
2725. By  Mr. Hart : 1 lave you beard any conversation among the prisoners as to the condi-
tion of the wall that surrounds the gaol ? I have heard the Cockatoo men say they would 
damned soon get out of that if they could get over the other part ; in fact, they looked upon 
the outer wall as nothing to accomplish. 
2726. Did they mean that they would scale the wall or knock it down ? Scale it. 
2727. Have you heard any of the prisoners say it would be easy to knock it down ? 
No, I never heard that. 
2728. Do you consider that that could be done ? In some portions of it, if a stone or two 
were to be taken out, and it were to be undermined, the wall would fall in. 
2729. By Mr. frivdcyer : Do you not think, if the prisoners got a piece of scantling, or 
scaffolding, such as is lying about, and were to use it as a ram, they might easily knock the 
wall down ? Since this escape I find that the wall is built of ashlar ; the stones on the 
inner and outer side are, many of them, not more than three inches thick, and the space 
between is filled with rubble and mortar. Now, it would be easy to get out a piece of this 
stone on the inner side, and then to force out the other. 
2730. By Al,.. Lucas : Is not ashlar generally at least one-third the thickness of the wall? 
Yes. 
2731. Wns not this wall composed of stones more like flag than ashlar ? Yes. 
2732. And the whole of the inside is filled up with mortar and small stones? Yes. 
2733. The headers are-how many feet apart 7 1 suppose about every five feet. 
2734. I suppose there are about two ashlars and one header? Yes. 
2735. By Mr. Hart: Did you observe that any part of the wall was in a tumbling condition? 
The front wall is ; in fact, the whole wall. 
2736. Do you mean the eastern wall ? No; the western wall overhangs very.much, and, 
more than that, the wall is crippled ; there appears to have been a settlement at one time or 
other, although it has been stopped. 
2737. You have stated that whenever you have made reports of irregularities to Mr. Bead he 
has treated them with contempt-can you give any other instances of having made reports 
to him other than that you made to him on your return from Turban Creek ? Yes, I have 
spoken to him several times about the hospital windows. I pointed out to him that that was 
the means by which the prisoners communicated before Clarke and Cavanagh escaped. He 
said, "Attend to your own duty; I will atiend to mine." 
2738. Can you mention any other instances ? There were several others, but I cannot call 
them to mind at this moment. In fact, from what motives I do net know, but any suggestions 
I made he treated with the most profound contempt. 
2739. I want to know what suggestions you have made? With respect to the prisoner in 
the front I suggested that there ought to be a turnkey in the front, for the box of the 
prisoner is in close proximity to Mr. Harrison's house, and the male and female prisoners 
have thus the means of constant communication. 
2740. Are there any female prisoners occupied as servants to the principal gaoler ?. Yes. 
2741. Is there any guard outside the walls of the gaol ? None whatever. 
2742. Was there not a guard placed there, some time since, after the men escaped ? There 
was, on the northern wall. 
2743. Why was he removed-have you heard any cause assigned ? I believe the Sheriff 
thought it more beneficial to have the man inside than outside, consequently the box, which 
was outside, is now inside the wall. 
2744. By Mr. Lucas: You said an exception was made in reference to Fallon's duty as a 
turnkey ? Yes; when he first came, instead of taking duty as an ordinary turnkey, he was 
put to convey the prisoners from the gaol to different parts. 
2745. Previous to his coming there how was that duty performed? By another man, named 
Donald ; he was employed whenever this duty occurred. 
2746. Then this man Fallon was put in Donald's place ? Yes. 
2747. Was Donald looked upon, originally, as one of the turnkeys ? No. 
2748. Then Fallon was not a turnkey ? He was a turnkey when there were no prisoners to 
convey • he was put on day duty at the wings. 
2749. Ile was exempted from night duty and no other turnkey had been exempted ? He 
was stationed on the wings entirely.* 
2750. Are letters, sent out by the prisoners, opened by any one ? They are generally 
supposed to be opened by the gaoler or deputy gaoler. 
2751. By Mr. Hurt: And initialed by them ? Yes. 
2752. By Mr. Lucas : Do you know whether that is always done? I believe it is, 
2753. Have you known any other officer of the gaol to open letters ? No. 
2754. You said, at the time these seventeen prisoners escaped, Mr. Read was up at Mr. 
0' Neil's public-house 7 Yes. 
2755. Are you sure of that ? Yes; for he went away about an hour or an hour and a 
quarter before the prisoners escaped. 

2756. 

• Non (Added by witness on reation):-Whon an escort was not required. 
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Mr. S. 	2756. Did you see him at O'Neil's public-house yourself ? ild said he had been there. 
Whidd°' 2757. You know nothing further of it ? No. 

2753. Do you know whether he lived at O'Neil's public-house-whether he lodged there 
28 Feb., 1861. while he was at the gaol ? I think not; he is a married man and lives at home.* 

2759. Both Mr. Harrison and Mr. Beverley have several servants there ? Yes; Mr. Har-
rison has two, I think, and Mr. Beverley four. 
2760. Are those servants locked up at night ? Yes. 
2761. At what time ? About seven ; when I have been on night duty I have seen them ga 
over. 
2762. How far are these women allowed to go from Mr. Harrison's or Mr. Beverley's house? 
I have never seen them further than the trees by the house, playing with the children. 
2763. Are any of the male prisoners allowed to go near these trees ? No, unless a turnkey 
is with them. 
2761. Is there always a turnkey on that part of the prison, so that if a prisoner does go 
there lie can see ? No prisoner can come there except through the opening of the wing. 
The turnkey immediately he sees a prisoner going that way stops him. 
2765. What duty does the prisoner perform who is stationed near Mr. Harrison's house ? 
He attends upon the gatekeeper in ease any provisions come in. 
2766. Is that near where you say the women play with the children ? The box where he 
sits is near the garden where they play. 
2767. Is there any fence between this box and where the women are ? No. 
2768. The women can go up to the box ? Yes ; only last Friday Mr. Mir found the man 
stationed there in conversation with a female, and complained of it. 
2769. What has been done since ? A free man has been stationed on the front, but the 
prisoner still remains. 
2770. Then actually a free man has been stationed there to look after a prisoner ? Yes. I 
may state that Elliott, the man I have spoken of, was on duty at the exercise yard last 
Monday when the prisoners escaped. 
2771. By the Chairman : Elliott., the man whom you say you have seen drunk, and who was 
asleep in the exercise yard ? Yes. 
2772. By Mr. Hart : Do you believe there was any communication with persons outside to 
facilitate their escape ? It is quite possible there might have been. 
2773. Have you reason to think such was the case ? Tobacco, hats, and all manner of things 
come over the wall ; in fact, I have myself picked up bundles, generally tied to a stone, 
which have been flung into the labour yard. 
2774. By Ale. Lucas : Any prisoner when let out of the gaol can thus communicate with 
those he has left ? Yes, that has occurred several times. 
2775. By the Chairman When you were in pursuit of these escaped prisoners last Monday, 
did you meet with any manifestation on the part of any portion of the public in favour of their 
escape ? There was only one man who did so to my knowledge; that was the man who 
assaulted the publican who guarded the bole to prevent the prisoners escaping. I would 
state that, on the night Cavanagh and Clarke escaped, they took planks from the back of the 
cook-house to facilitate their escape. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

To Mr. Inspector Read, Acting Gaoler, Darlinglaurst Gaol. 
Sir, 

In consequence of the ungentlemanly and insulting answer given me by you last evening, 
on my respectfully asking you for a copy of my written report to you on Friday last, relating to the 
escape of the prisoners Cavanagh and Clarke, I now again most respectfully ask you for a copy of the 
above-mentioned report. I may also state that I require the same for presentation (on my examination) 
to the Committee of the Honorable House of Assembly. 

I have, Zze., 
reby. 27/61. 	 SAML. WHIDDON. 

Mr. William Olson called in and examined :- 
Mr. W. Olson. 2776. By the Chairman : What situation do you occupy ? I am out of situation at present. 

I have been with Messrs. Levicks and Piper the last four years, until the first of last month, 
28 Feb., 1661. as assistant ironmonger. 

2777. Where do you reside ? In Short-street, Surry Hills. 
2778. Have you resided there any length of time ? About eight months. 
2779. Do you frequently pass Darlinghurst Gaol ? Yes. 
2780. You are aware that on Monday last a number of prisoners escaped from that gaol ? Yes. 
2781. It has been represented to this Committee that you have a knowledge of some facts in 
relation to that escape-if you have will you have the goodness to state them ? On Monday 
morning, between nine and ten o'clock, I was waiting for the omnibus to go to town. I was 
on the South Head Road, near the Happy Vale Hotel, when I saw something from a building 
in the yard, like 50110C one from inside letting.down papers and drawing them up again with 
a cord. 

2782. 

• NOM (Correction by witness on revision) :-Lodged at the gaol. 
.1- NOTE (Added by witness on revision) :-And within a few yards of MICatty, the man on duty. 
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2782. Will you describe the situation of the building from which you, saw this string work- Mr.W. Olson. 
ing ? I saw it from the building inside, let down inside. 
2783. You were standing near the Happy Vale public-house? Yes. 	 28 Feb., 1861.  
2784. Will you describe the situation of the building where you noticed this occurrence ? 
About the centre, at the back of the Court House-the building with large windows-I saw 
some one at the window throw out some paper, and then I saw some drawn up with a cord 
to the window. After that I saw what I took to be a piece of iron, it might have been a 
piece of dark wood, let down. 
2785. How long and how thick was it ? I cannot say-it was some distance off. 
2786. How thick do you suppose it was-two inches? I suppose something like that, and 
about two feet six inches long. 
2787. It was not aboard?  No, it was something like an iron bar; it was let down and 
drawn up again-it was drawn up again faster than it was let down. 
2788. Did you see anything else? No. 
2789. Did you take the omnibus and proceed to Sydney ? Yes. 
2790. Did this strike your mind as something remarkable ? Yes; I mentioned it the same 
evening,„ after the escape. 
2791. Did it strike your mind before you beard of the escape ? Yes; I intended to have 
mentioned it to Mr. Whiddon. 
2792. Where were you when you heard of this escape? At home; I had just arrived home. 
2793. I suppose you immediately recollected this occurrence which you had noticed in the 
morning ? Immediately I heard of the escape. When I came out of Short-street I saw a 
man taken prisoner, and I saw three men afterwards on the Sand Hills. 
2794. You know nothing further than you have stated ? No. 
2795. By Mr. Male: Do you know Mr. Whiddon ? Yes, I am acquainted with him ; I live 
close by him. 
2796. By the Chairman: How long have you known Mr. Whiddon ? Ouly since I have 
resided in Short-street. 
2797. Six months ? About that time. 
2798. When you say you are acquainted with him, do you mean that you are on friendly 
terms with him ? Yes, I visit his house frequently. 
2799. Is he a sober man ? What I have seen of him. 
2800. You never saw him otherwise ? No. 
2801. By lib% Havt : To whom did you mention this occurrence? To Mr. Whiddon, in the 
course of conversation about the escape in the afternoon. 
2802. Did you mention it to any one else? Yes; I mentioned it to one of the Farises, who 
keep the Queen's Arms Inn, and I mentioned it to Mr. lronside, senior. 
2803. Can you state whether the bar was being let down from the hospital window, or 
whether it was being raised to that window ? After I saw the paper or letter drawn up, I 
saw this bar let down from the window, and I saw it drawn back quicker than it was let 
down. 
2804. What was the last you saw of it ? The last I saw was its being drawn back to the 
window. 
2805. Was it taken in at the window ? I think it was, I lost sight of it then. 
2806. What time was it when you saw it ? Twenty minutes to ten, or half-past nine. 
2807. By Mr. lVindeyer : When did you mention it to Mr. Ironside ? Yesterday, I think. 
2808. I3g Mr. Morris : After you mentioned it to Mr. Whiddon? Yes. 

Mr. William Macpherson called in and examined:- 
2809. By the Chairman : You are overseer of the carpenters' shop in Darlingliurst Gaol ? 	Mr. W. 
Yes. 	 Macpherson. 
2810. How long have you filled that situation ? Fourteen months, since the 1st January, 
1860. 	 28 Feb., 1861. 
2811. How many men have you had under your direction generally during that time ? The 
average number has been nine or ten-sometimes I have had twelve. 
2812. What are the men employed upon ? Upon finishing that new hospital most part of 
the last year. 
2813. What other work ? Upon general repairs through the prison. Lately, within the 
last two or three months, there was some furniture made there for private parties. 
2814. Who has the furniture been made for chiefly ? All for parties connected with the 
establishment, except in one instance, and that was only three verandah posts. 
2815. What kind of furniture has been made? Two or three chests of drawers. I have 
here a list of all the furniture made since I took possession there. 
2816. The list you produce gives the particulars of the furniture which has been made during 
the time you have been overseer, the names of the parties for whom they have been made, 
and the prices charged ? Yes. 
2817. The prices charged are simply for labour ; the parties in every case have supplied the-
material ? Yes. (The witness handed in the list. Vide Appendix A.) 
2818. How do you come in contact with the management of the gaol, in relation to the 
prisoners; have you any.power over them, or any control over them, more than you would 
have as an ordinary employer over the men under you ? All the control I have over them. 
is, when they are counted out in the morning to the stockade, to put those in my department. 
totheir work ; to keep them at work all day; and to instruct those who are not very proficient-
2319. If any of them were refractory, you would call in the officers of the gaol ? Yes. 

157-M 	 2820. 
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MT. W. 2820. You have nothing to do with that ? No. 
Macpherson ' 2821. Is there any plan by which they are regularly searched on leaving the workshops ? 
rAm No. 

28 Feb., 1861. 2822. Could they carry away tools in their pockets or concealed in their clothes? I believe 
they could if they were disposed to do so. 
2823. Do they leave the workshop just as ordinary workmen, without any interference ? 
No

' 
 they have to clear up all the tools, and I see them looked up. 

2824. They are not searched before they go out of your workshop ? No. 
2825. What hours do the men attend the workshop? From seven to four. 
2826. Have you had any opportunity since you have been in the gaol of noticing the general 
management of the gaol-the control exercised over the prisoners? My business very seldom 
led me out of the stockade, unless I were culled by some officer of the gaol. 
2827. Have you ever been to the gaol as early as six o'clock ? No. 
2828. You never saw the cells unlocked ? No. 
2829. You have never been in the wings? No, unless on business, to see repairs done, or 
anything like that. 
2830. When the Sheriff has visited the gaol has he generally visited your workshop ? Yes, 
be has always done so. 
2831. What took place on the occasion of those visits-what did he do or say ? Nothing 
particular ; he asked how we got on. If he wanted any particular work done in connection 
with the gaol he would request me to see it done. 
2832. Did Mr. Beverley frequently visit the workshop ? Yes, he went through the yard 
very often-not into the workshops. 
2833. Did the officers of the gaol visit the workshop during the hours the men were employed 
there ? None, unless Mr. Beverley or the Sheriff. 
2834. You are a carpenter by trade? Yes. 
2835. And served an apprenticeship to it ? Yes. 
2836. How were you engaged in Sydney before you accepted this situation ? I was fifteen 
years in the employment of Mr. Spence, the builder, in Sydney. 
2837. By Mr. Sutherland : You were foreman for Mr. Spence, I believe, most of that time ? 
Yes. • 2838. By Mr. Windeyer : How often did Mr. Beverley visit the workshop ? It might be 
once or twice a week that he would visit the workshops. He would pass through the yard 
oftener than that. He would see me outside the shop, but he would not go into it. He 
would speak to me as he went by, because the directions that the overseers have are, that 
they are to take instructions for the work from the Colonial Architect's Department, so that 
if the Sheriff, or Mr. Beverley, had given me any orders I should have first consulted the 
Colonial Architect before performing the work. 
2839. Did the Colonial Architect ever come there? Yes. 
2840. How often ? Sometimes two or three times a week ; sometimes not once a fortnight ; 
but Mr. Sharkey, Mr. Cole, and other officers were often there. 
2841. How often did the Sheriff come and see the work going on ? Sometimes once a week, 
sometimes oftener. 
2842. How do the men generally seem to work ? They have been very willing to work 
indeed, all that have come under me. I have had no occasion to punish them once since I 
have been there. 
2843. You went to the gaol before the system of shortening time by labour was abolished ? 
No, it was done away with before I was there. 
2844. By Mr. Mate : Who has the fixing the price of this work ? I have. 
2845. How do you come at the price ? My instructions were from the Sheriff when he 
authorized me to do these articles, to charge half the price that would be paid outside for 
free labour. 
2846. Do you ascertain from cabinetmakers what the prices are for these works ? Yes, and 
I can judge of these matters myself. 
2847. By Air. Hart: Do you consider the workshops are in an efficient state as regards their 
construction and size ? No, they are not. 
2848. What do you consider necessary to render them so? We have a row of new work-
shops in progress, almost from one side of the yard to the other ; the foundation part is in, 
and the doors and sashes are making for these workshops. 
2849. Are these works in progress ? Yes. 
2850. Who has the superintendence of them? Mr. Dawson, 
2851. They are being carried out under his direction ? Yes. 
2852. What provision is it intended to make ib them for carpenters and joiners ? A large 
shed is to be appropriated to them ; a large open shed, open in front. 
2853. Is there any provision in them for the men working separately ? No. 
2854. They will still be all together ? Yes. 
2855. Do you consider that it is desirable they should be all placed together ? That I could 
not answer. 
2856. By Mr. Windeyer : Do the men converse much together when they are at work ? If 
they were allowed to do so they would do it. 
2857. Is talking at work forbidden ? Yes. 
2858. By Mr. Hart: Who has the immediate control of the prisoners while they are at 
work? The overseer. 
2859. Are you aware whether he places any limit upon discussion between the prisoners ? 
know none of the overseers will allow the prisoners to be conversing together; if they see 

2860. 
it they always put a stop to it. 
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2860. Have you made any representation to the gaoler or any other person as to the con- 	Mr. W. 
dition of this present workshop ? No. 	 Macpherson.  
2861. Have any lads who have been convicted of larceny or felony been apprenticed from 
gaol during the time you have been there ? No, n 	m one that I a aware of. 	 28 Feb., 1861. 
2862. You are aware, I suppose, that under the provision of an Act of Parliament, lads under 
a certain age may be apprenticed ? No, I ain not aware of it. 
2863. By Mr. Lucas : I see in the list of work you have banded in, "3 large boxes," 
what sort of boxes were they ? Rough boxes that were made for the Sheriff, to hold some 
manure that he contracted to take from the Abattoir-some blood he wanted for his garden ; 
they were about three feet wide and six feet long; they were rough boxes. 
2864. By the Chairman: Have you noticed whether the men working in your shed, during 
the time you have been overseer, have been dirty-unwashed from day to day ? No; there 
were one or two there once that did require to keep themselves clean ; but I consider it 
was their Own neglect. 
2865. When this Committee visited the gaol, there was the top of some large piece of fur-
niture in course of being made-we understand from a witness who was examined before the 
Committee that that piece of furniture was afterwards abandoned - that item does not 
appear in this list ? No, it has been abandoned. 
2866. What was it ? The top of a wardrobe. 
2867. How far did you proceed with it ? Only the cornice was made, and the gentleman 
for whom it was made has paid for the work. 
2868. By Mr. Walsh : That article does not appear in this list ? No, but the book will 
show it. 
2869. By the Chairman: How are the entries made in the book ? They are caused to be 
made by the overseers. They send a daily report to the architect. 
2870. By Mr. Lucas: Is it usual to commence the cornice of a piece of furniture first ? It 
might be. I have seen a cornice done first. 
2871. It is your duty to be in constant attendance upon the work ? Yes. 
2872. By Mr. Windsor: Who was this wardrobe for ? Mr. Coles, of the Colonial 
Architect's Department. He sent me a note to discontinue the work. 
2873. By Mr. dilate: Had you the timber, for the whole at the time ? Very nearly. 
2874. That was taken away ? That was taken away. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

£ s. d. 
1 bedstead 	.. 	.. • • 0 10 0 
1 washstand .. 	.. • • • • 0 1 0 

Mr. Wallace 	1 writing desk 	.. i • • 0 2 0 
1 table 	.. 	.. .. • • 0 6 0 
2 band stools 	• • • . • • 0 2 0 

Mr. O'Neil -3 verandah posts 	.. .. • • 0 10 0 
Mr. Brenan (Sheriff J-3 large boxes .• • • 0 15 0 
Mr. Ryan - 	1 chest drawers 	. • .• • • 0 17 0 
Mr. Rispen -1 chest drawers 	.. • • • • 0 17 0 
Mr. Agnew-1 cabinet 	.. 	.. • • 3 0 0 

Mr. Shepherd Howarth called in and examined :- 
2876. By the Chairman: You are overseer of the blacksmiths' shop at Darlinghurst Gaol ? 	Mr. S. 
Yes. 	 Howarth. 

2876. How lnng have you filled that situation ? I was appointed there I think on the 3rd r -A--",  
January, 1860; but during that time I have been eighty days suspended. 	 23 Feb., 1861. 
2877. How did that occur ? Mr. Dawson dismissed me on a charge of insolence, because, 
on one occasion, when he said that he and me should part, I said I thought we bad parted 
a long time ago, believing at the time that I was under the orders of the Sheriff, having 
received my appointment from him. 
2878. Was that all you said ? Yes. 
2879. That was the insolence for which you were suspended ? That was the cause for which 
I was dismissed. 
2880. But eventually you were suspended for eighty days? Yes. 
2881. Who performed your duties during the time you were suspended ? I believe it was 
Mr. Macpherson. 
2882. The carpenter? Yes. 
2883. What does he know about blacksrnithing ? I do not think he knows anything 
about it. 
2884. There was no blacksmith in your stead ? No. 
2885. How many prisoners are employed under you-what is the average number ? I have 
generally got eight. 
2886. How are they employed ? In jobbing work ; in different kinds of work. 
2887. Cannot you tell more definitely ? Sometimes they have worked for the Victoria 
Barracks-mounting buckets, repairing tools, chisels, picks, and stonemasons' tools, or any-
thing that may be required for the barracks. Sometimes they work for Tarban Creek. They 
also did some work for the guard-house, where the soldiers' guard is. 

2888. 



1144 

84 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

Mr. S. 	2888. The Commissariat Stores do you mean ? The guard-house at the lottom of George- 
Hoivartb. street-the Connnissariat Stores. 
r---`1 2889. Is the work done in your shop entered in any book ? Yes. 

28 Feb., 1861.  2890. All of it ? Yes. 
2891. Does the account shew what work is done for the barracks-for the Commissariat 
Stores-for the Government generally-and what is done for private persons ? As I get 
orders from the Colonial Architect for the different departments, they are entered daily in 
the book. 
2992. The orders are entered ? The work is performed and forwarded according to the 
orders I receive. 
2893. By Mr. Windeyer: Then the book does not shew for what place the work is done, or 
for whom ? Yes it does. 
2894. By the Chairman: Do you keep the book ? No; a prisoner acts as clerk. 
2895. Do you give him the material from which he makes the entry ? I make the entry on 
a slate ; take it into the office; and see that he enters it. I sign my report daily. 
2890. In the bock ? No; my report, which is forwarded to the Colonial Architect daily, is 
signed by me. 
2897. Do you do any work for private persons ? Not without an order. 
2898. Do you do work for private persons ? :No; I have had many jobs sent to me, but in 
consequence of not getting an order I have refused to do them. 
2899. From whom have they come ? I believe Mr. Harrison sent a stove, but he never said 
anything to me about it. 
2900. To be repaired ? To have a new grate put into it, but I got no instructions about it. 
2901. What else was there sent to you? A bedstead was sent in by a man of the name of Tyne. 
2902. What was wanted to be done to the bedstead ? It wanted some repairs and alterations. 
2903. At what time do the prisoners come to the workshops ? At seven o'clock. 
2904. At what time do they leave ? At four. 
2905. Are they searched before they leave ? No, they are never searched. 
2906. Does any officer of the gaol search them ? I do not know. 
2907. Did you ever see them searched ? No. 
2908. Could they carry pieces of iron or tools in their clothing ? I do not think they could. 
I stand at the door as they come out. 
2909. Do you not think a person could carry away a chisel or a piece of iron in his clothing 
unless he was searched ? I do not think be could. 
2910. Why not ? Because I am in the shop and see them at work. 
2911. Your eyes cannot be everywhere-you have three shops to attend to ? Yes, but I keep 
the iron in the principal shop. I have a store to keep the iron, except what I am using at 
the time. I never had any orders to search them. 
2912. You really have nothing to do with them except to direct their work ? Nothing in 
the discipline way-nothing more than to see that the work is done properly. 
2913. Did the Sheriff, Mr. Beverley, or any one else visit your shop ? Yes. 
2914. Often ? Yes, frequently ; the Sheriff seldom came to the yard that he did not visit it. 
2915. Have you ever noticed any of the men in your shop in-a dirty, filthy condition ? They 
could not be in my shop without being dirty. 
2916. You must know what I mean-have you seen them in a filthy condition otherwise than 
from the dirt contracted while engaged in their labour during the day ? I have no orders as 
to cleanliness, but if I saw a man have a dirty shirt on I have often allowed him time to go 
and wash it. 
2917. By Mr. 1Vindeyer : Were they dirty in their persons ? I have always seen them with 
their faces and hands clean in the morning. 
2918. Do you know, as a fact, that a little time ago some of these men partially succeeded 
in manufacturing an iron ladder ? I think that was previously to my going there-I heard 
of it being made in the workshop. 
2919. By Mr. Hart : What is the condition of the shops under your charge as regards clean-
liness, ventilation, and other matters ? There is very poor ventilation ; for the work that is 
done the shops are large enough, but I do not approve of the plan of having three separate 
shops. I think if the shops were all in one it would be much better. 
2920. Are they not in a very dilapidated condition ? Yes; a portion of the roof has had to 
be taken off to let in a little air, and when it rains the rain comes through. 
2921. When it rains where do the men go? It does not come through sufficiently to prevent 
the men working. The men outside go into the labour yard, under the shed. 
2922. What persons are usually placed at the forges under your charge-are they men who 
have been previously brought up to the same business ? If they can be got; if there are 
smiths in the gaol we get them, but if not we get men and teach them. I have two boys 
who are learning the trade. I have one tinplate worker, one watchmaker, one fitting-smith, 
one general-smith, and two harnmermen. 
2923. Do you teach any boys who are sent into the gaol that business ? Yes, I have two 
boys now, teaching them. 
2924. How many have you taught during the time you have been there ? These two are 
the only ones I have had. 
2925. How long have you had them ? One of them was in the shop when I went back after 
my suspension, and the other, I think, I have had about two months. 
2926. How do they happen to be placed under your charge ? That I cannot account for-
the men are sent to me. 
2927. Did you apply for them ? No. 
2928. Have you ever suggested to any officer of the gaol that it would be desirable to place 

prisoners 
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prisoners with you, whom you could instruct and make useful after they left the gaol ? I 
do not know that I have. 	 Howarth.  
2929. Has the gaoler ever spoken to you on the subject? The gaoler was in company with 28,--4-sFebo  
the Sheriff when the Sheriff spoke to me about these boys I have now in charge. 
2930. Have they ever conferred with you as to the desirableness of instructing the prisoners 
who are sent there ? Yes, when visiting the shop. 
2931. What was the result arrived at ? I had instructions to give them every instruction, 
and to see and get them on as well as I could, so that they might be able to get a living 
when they got out. 
2932. Have you known any prisoners discharged whom you have taught ? Yes. 
2933. How many ? One man went out yesterday, of the name of Cotton, who had been 
under my instructions three months. When he came in be could make only a poor hand of 
sharpening tools but before he went out he made six dozen of stonemason's tools. 
2934. As he only went out yesterday, of course you cannot say what was the result of your 
instructions ? No. 
2935. Have you known the men to make chisels and knife blades ? No, except chisels for 
the use of the establishment. 
2936. By Mr. Morris : Did you, in the course of your duty, come in communication with 
Mr. Harrison, the principal turnkey, in the morning ? Yes. 
2937. Early in the morning ? No, not early in the morning. 
2938. Did you always find him out of bed when you wanted him ? I never wanted him 
early. 
2939. Were you ever at the gaol at six o'clock ?' I do not think I was; seven is my hour. 
2940. By  Mr. Sutherland: Do the prisoners who have been in the gaol some tune get any 
money when they leave it ? They used till lately. I recommended this man Cotton to Mr. 
Read for something; but it appears there was no money, and he got nothing from the gaol. 
2941. Has any one got any money on your recommendation ? I believe so, from what I 
have heard. I have never beard ft om the parties going out that they got it. 
2942. You have recommended that certain parties should get money on going out of the 
gaol ? Yes. 
2943. Can you state the amount you hava recommended ? I never recommended any amount. 
2944. What have you recommended ? I have recommended them for anything that Mr. 
Beverley might think they deserved for their services. 
2945. When you have recommended them to Mr. 13everley have you not recommended what 
they should get ? No. 
2946. What has been the recommendation you have given them? According as they 
behaved. I have recommended them as behaving well; if they have 'been industrious, I 
have recommended them as industrious; if they have improved, as improved under my charge. 
2947. It has been the practice in the gaol to give those parties who have been industrious 
while there an amount of money on leaving? I believe so. 
2948. How many parties have you recommended since you have been there ? I could not 
state. 
2940. Are there any records to shew the number ? I think not. 
2950. By ilk. lion: Where does the money go that is received for the articles made in the 
gaol ? I do not know. Any work I do is for the Government departments. 
2951. Are you aware whether the money is kept apart as a fund to be distributed among the 
prisoners? No. 
2952. Have you inspected the new works in course of erection ? The foundation only is laid. 
2958. Have you seen the plans of them ? Yes. 
2954. What are the main features of the workshop for your department, according to the 
plan? A double bob at each end of the shop, with two fires each, an open front, and the 
back closed, with a ventilator at the top. 
2955. How many anvils ? Four. 
2956. Will that be sufficient ? That is one more than I have at present. 
2957. Do you think the provisions of the new workshops will be sufficient for the men likely 
to be placed under your charge? I think so. 
2958. For eight prisoners? I could employ eight at the fire and two or three vicemen, 
according to the way that the bench might be fitted up. 
2959. Is the yard likely to be cramped for room by reason of. the erection of these work-
shops ? I think not. 
2960. Are they near the outer wall of the gaol ? Not so near as the present workshops. 
2961. What will be the space between the back of the workshops and the outer wall? That 
I have never measured, but I think about eighteen or twenty feet. 
2962. Would it not be comparatively easy for prisoners to escape by placing a plank from 
the back of the present workshops to the coping of the wall? I believe it would be, for 
they have effected an escape in that way from what was formerly used as a dead-house. 
2963. What is the space between the present workshops and the wall ? I do not think it 
is more than six or eight feet. 
2964. What is the distance from one of the chimneys to the top of the wall? Not more 
than a couple of feet more; but the chimney is made of oil drums, it is not a brick chimney. 
2965. From the rubble part what would be the distance The rubble part does not come 
as high as the roof. ( Vide Addendum.) 
2966. By placing a plank from the top of the workshop to the wall it would be easy to 
escape ? I think so. 
2967. Is any warder on duty at night there ? There is one man, I think ; there used to be 
one man. 

ADDENDUM. 
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Mr. S. 	 ADDENDUM. 
Howarth. 	 (Answer No. 2965.) 
„...‘...A..„, 	Since giving the above evidence I have examined the workshop, and find there is a portion of 

28 Feb., 1801. rubble work above the roof ; but this would in no way facilitate the escape of prisoners, as it rises 
perpendicularly from the wall of the building. 

Mrs. Margaret Cullen called in and examined:- 
Mrs. M. 2968. By the Chairman : You are principal female turnkey in Darlinghurst Gaol ? Yes. 

2969. How long have you held that situation ? About six years last December. 
2970. Have you held the situation of principal female turnkey all that time ? No, I have 

28 Fob., 1861. had that five years. 
2971. You filled some other situation in the first instance ? Yes, I had charge of the top 
ranges which the other turnkey has now. 
2972. Are you married ? Yes. 
2973. Is your husband living ? Yes. 
2974. Do you live outside of the gaol? No, I live in the prison; I have not been living 
with my husband the last eight. years. 
2975. Have you a family ? Yes, three children. 
2976. Are your children living with you in the prison? Yes. 
2977. What are their ages? The youngest going on of nine, my little boy going on twelve, 
and another girl going on fifteen; she is not quite right in her intellect. 
2978. Is she living with you? Yes. 
2979. What are your duties as principal female turnkey ? The principal duty is to look 
after the work of the female prisoners. The work that is not cut out I have to cut out and 
prepare for the female prisoners to work ; I have to keep an account of that, and give a 
return to the clerk of what they do, and the prices charged for the work. I have also all 
the prisoners' clothing to cut out, and get made for them. 
2980. Are not you responsible for the general supervision of the female ward ? No; there 
are two free turnkeys who have charge of keeping the place clean, attending the prison, of 
locking up the prisoners, and unlocking them in the morning. 
2981. There are two female turnkeys ? Yes; they have charge of each range, and of 
keeping the wards clean. 
2982. As principal turnkey, are not these other turnkeys under you ? No, not with regard 
to that duty. 
2083. Do I understand then that you have nothing to do with the safe custody of the 
prisoners ? Yes, I am bound to see them all locked up, and the other turnkeys give me the 
keys. 
2984. But the female department is under you as chief turnkey, is it not ? No, I have no 
charge of the other two turnkeys. Mrs. .Beverley sees that they do their duty in the upper 
ranges; I have charge of the female clothing, and charge of the stores. 
2985. Is Mrs. Beverley the matron of the gaol ? Yes. 
2986. But do not you occupy in the female department a corresponding position to that of 
Mr. Harrison in the male department ? No, I do not; I have no more salary than the 
other turnkeys. That is my charge-the work of the prisoners, cutting out for them, and 
keeping them employed. The other two turnkeys have charge of keeping the place clean, 
and also of seeing that the women are quiet, and walking among them during the day. 
2987. Then you are more forewoman of work than principal turnkey ? Yes. 
2988. What have you to do with the prisoners-have you anything more to do with them 
than receiving the key in the evening ? That is all; if I saw the others not doing their 
duty, I should report them to Mrs. Beverley. 
2989. Arc you responsible for the cleanliness of the cells ? No. 
2990. Have you anything to do with locating female prisoners in particular cells ? No; I 
might be six months without going to the top range, unless a person were violent, and then 
we should all assist. 
2991. Then what you are virtually is forewoman of the work ? Yes, that is what I have to do. 
2992. Just the same as a forewoman in any other work-room ? Yes; I have to cut out the 
female clothing, or any of the public work I have to prepare for them. 
2093. Is there much work done in the prison ? Yes. 
2994. What kind of work is it ? I have brought my book that the Committee may see it. 
I keep this book, and make a return of the work to the clerk every Saturday. (The witness 
handed in the same.) 
2995. This (referring to a week's entries) does not appear to be initialed ? No; that is kept 
by myself, and is given to Mr. Wickham every Saturday, and he enters it in his book from 
mine. 
2996. Are not these charges very low-two shillings to make a muslin dress? Yes; that is 
a little girl's dress-they are charged according to the work on them. 
2957. By Mr. Mate : What is the charge for making a gentleman's shirt ? We made one 
set, for which we charged Is. Od. each. 
2998. By the Chairman Is this your handwriting? Yes. 
2999. The work is entered by you, and you take this book to Mr. Wickham, who enters these 
items in his book, and then strikes them out in yours? Yes. 
3000. He does not initial it in any way ? No. 
3001. All the work done is entered in that book ? Yes. 
3002. How many women have you got in your department working now at needlework ? 
Bevan. 

3003. 
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3003. How many prisoners are there altogether ? About eighty-four to-day. 	 Mrs. M. 
3004. Are there only seven out of eighty-four able to do needlework ? Yes. 	 Conn. 
3005. You have nothing to do, then, with any but the seven ? Yes, I have all the clothing 
to give out, and to take in. Before I came out this morning I had to give out clothes to 28  Fob. , 1861- 
fourteen. I have to take an account of these, and see that I have them all back when they 

o out. 
8006. You have charge of the stores? Yes; I have charge of all the prison clothes, and 
when they run out, I have to make out a requisition, and Mew it to Mrs. Bentley, to get 
materials to be made up. 
3007. What are the names of the other two turnkeys ? Mary Barry and Mrs. Hanlon, who 
has charge of the top ranges. 
3008. Are there many of the female prisoners drafted off as servants to the officers of the 
gaol? Not at present. Mr. Harrison and Mr. Beverley used to have servants, four and five 
at a time, until be left-until about a fortnight before he left. 
3009. Do you remember one of the female prisoners having a child in the gaol ? Yes. 
3010. Was that woman's name Harriet Stephenson ? Yes. 
3011. Is she in gaol now ? No. 
8012. When did she leave ? I forget the day. 
3013. Not very long ago-six months ? More than that-she left on Good 'Friday morning. 
3014. How old was the child when she left ? I think about eighteen months. 
3015, During the time you have been in the gaol have any other similar irregularities 
occurred, to your knowledge ? Never, to my knowledge, in any part of the establishment. 
3016. This woman was servant in Mr. Beverley's house at the time ? Yes. 
3017. By Mr. Mate: Are any women employed at laundrywork? No, unless for the 
females in the prison. All the women do their own washing in the yard every Saturday. 
They have no work to do and are allowed Saturday to wash their clothes. 
3018. Those women who cannot use the needle have then no work to do ? Yes, the women 
who can do so pick oakum. 
3019. Do you not think they might do laundrywork? If we had a convenient place those 
who could not do needlework might do laundrywork. 
3020. By Mt. Hart Who receives the female prisoners when they first enter the gaol ? 
The principal turnkey. 
3021. What does be do with them ? Ile takes down their names and he sends up a return. 
I do not know what he does, for I am not in the office; but he sends up a return, with the 
names of each person, and then we find whether she is for fourteen days, three months, or 
whatever it is. 
3022. I want to know what is done with a female prisoner when she enters the prison ? She 
is searched by the other two turnkeys. 
3023. What is the first step taken after she leaves the charge of Mr. Harrison ? She is 
searched by the two female turnkeys. 
3021. Where is she taken to? To one of the solitary cells on the lower range. 
3025. Are you present there ? No. 
3026. That is not part of your duty. ? No, I am perhaps below receiving work. 
3027. What is done with her afterwards ? She is put into her class, whatever her class may 
be, whether labour or confine. 
3028. Is she not washed or subjected to any other mode of cleansing ? Not unless she is a 
person we see is not in a fit state to go in among the others; if she is such a person she is 
put into a bath and has clean clothing. 
3029. As a general rule there is no ablution of the prisoners when they are admitted ? No, 
unless the person coming in is so dirty as to need it. 
3030. Generally speaking, are the female prisoners clean ? Yes, except a few of the older 
creatures; some of these we are obliged to put in a bath, have their heads shaved, and clean 
clothes put on. 
3031. Where is the bath-house ? There is a large bath in such eases which we send for 
from the male hospital, and we get hot water. 
3032. It is a tin bath? Yes; we have no convenietice in our department for it. 
3033. You have no convenience for washing the female prisoners in the yard? No, except 
what we get from the male hospital. 
3034. What do you do with the clothing that prisoners have on when they enter the gaol? 
We keep them. 
3035. Is the clothing taken by any particular warder or turnkey ? By me ; I take their 
clothes and put them into the store, and I give them prison clothes, except the women are 
allowed to wear their own clothes. 
3036. Do you do anything to the clothes before you put them away ? The women wash 
them, and have them clean for me to put into the store. I put their names on them, and 
give them to them when they go out. 
3037. Is the laundry sufficient for all the purposes you have ? We have no laundry for the 
female prisoners; they are obliged to wash their clothes in tubs in the yard. 
3038. What kind of tubs ? Washing-tubs which we have for the women. 
3039. How many have you? Only four at present; but some of these women are going 
out of the gaol every day, and some of them wash one day, and some another, to get their 
things ready when they go out. Saturday is the regular day for the washing of the women 
who remain in. 
3040. While the prisoners remain in the gaol, what convenience have they for washing 
their persons ? They have a large trough in the yard, and they wash there if they please; 
they have also kids in their cells, two towels, a comb, and brush. 

8041. 
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Mrs. M. 3041. 
Colimh 	3042. 

3043. 
26 Feb., 1861. 8044, 

Never. 
3045. Do you think it necessary? I have spoken of it sometimes, and Cho women have 
refused; they said they would clean themselves when it was necessary. We only compel 
them when we see that they are in a dirty state. 
3046. How do you know whether they are dirty? Of course we would see them, and the-
other women would report them if they saw anything dirty or improper. 
3047. Have you any complaints? No, except about two old creatures that we are obligeel 
to keep in separate cells. One of them has been in Tarban Creek three or four times. 
3048. Are you a needlewoman by trade? No. 
3049, have you always had the duty since you have been in the gaol, of cutting out for, 
and of inspecting the needlewomen ? No; I was not quite twelve months there when the 
woman who was in that place left, and then I took her's. 
3050. What do you do with the female prisoners who are unable to do any needlework ? 
They remain in the yard. 
3051. Are they compelled to do anything ? No, with the exception of cleaning the place ; 
some are employed in cleaning the place. 
3052. Have you found that the female prisoners frequently return to the gaol? Yes, 
generally, nearly every one. 
3053. Does the system of confinement they are subjected to seem to have any moral influence 
upon them ? I think it would be best if they were sent in for a great deal longer, they 
would be less trouble to the public. Now they are sent in for fourteen days they do nothing, 
and we are obliged to keep other women to clean their cells and clothes. If they were sent 
in for a longer time they would have an interest in keeping their cells and clothes clean. 
3054. You think women should be sent there only for long sentences? I do think so, that 
they might be made useful. 
3055. Do you believe that the establishment of a separate House of Correction to which 
younger offenders could be sent would be beneficial ? I do; I do not think a lot of little 
girls should be sent in to mix with these old creatures. 
3056. Is there any classification ? No; we are only allowed one yard. 
3057. For instance, women who are sent there for crimes-revolting crimes-have an 
opportunity of mixing with young girls who are in for short sentences ? Yes; we have no 
yards to separate them. 
3058. Do you believe their morals are corrupted by means of that communication? I could 
not exactly say that,-sometimes an innocent good girl comes there who has never been in 
a prison before, and when she has gone to Court she has been discharged from prison, and I 
have often thought it was not right to have these mixed up with the other prisoners. These 
women all sit at the needle-table together. 
3059. Is there any system of religious instruction given to these women other than the 
ordinary services performed on the Sunday ? Yes; the clergyman, Mr. Agnew, comes there 
every Sunday and Wednesday; and the Catholic clergyman comes there every Sunday, 
twice, forenoon and afternoon. 
3060. Are the female prisoners visited by any clergyman individually? No; they come into 
the class amongst them, both Mr. Agnew and Father Sheehy, the Catholic clergyman, and 
there they see any one who wants to see them separately. 
3061. Is the catechism taught to the younger girls F When the school was there it was, 
but not at present, except when the Sisters come. 
3362. Is there any school at present? No; when there was school the catechism was 
taught, but that has dropped off. 
3063. How long since? Three months. 
3064. How did it happen that that was abandoned? I could not exactly say. 
3065. Had you any official intimation made to you ? *No; only I heard that Mr. Beverley, 
or the Sheriff thought it a very inconvenient thing, having a number of little children and 
girls at school. When they had no other work to do,* they used to be taught two hours a 
day, but Mr. Callaghan the schoolmaster was sent to Berrima, and since that time there has 
been no teacher, either for male or female. 
3066. Have you a library ? Yes. I have books given me by Mr. Agnew for the Protestants, 
and by Father Sheehy for the Catholics. 
3067. Is there not a Vote of Parliament for buying books? I do not know. I think the 
clergymen got them themselves. I cannot exactly say to that. 
3068. Do you find that ladies visit the gaol from motives of philanthropy ? No. 
3069. By the Chairman : During the six years you have been in the gaol has any lady ever 
visited the female department of the gaol from solicitude for the welfare of the prisoners ? 
Yes. I remember Mrs. Alexander and another lady came there to see and take away 
three girls that were in. 
3070. They came specially to see some particular prisoners ? Yes, who had been in 
the Refuge, I believe. 
3071. Do you recollect any case of ladies visiting the gaol with the view to the promotion 
of the general welfare of the whole body of prisoners ? Not one, except the Sisters of 
Charity. 

3072. 

* NOTE (By witness on revision):-My answer was, " The authorities might have had, but we 
" thought it a very inconvenient thing to have the schoolmaster removed, having a number of girls at 
" school when they had no other work to do." (They) &e. 

How often are the towels exchanged? Every week they have clean towels. 
How many prisoners are there in each cell ? Generally three. 
Then they have two towels for three persons? Yes. 
As a rule, do you compel female prisoners to wash themselves from head to foot? 
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3072. By Mr. Hart: Row often do they visit the gaol ? Once a week, unless it is very 
wet or bad weather. 
3073. Have they visited it lately ? Yes. 
3074. What do they do when they go there ? They instruct all the women and all the 28 ra-
children. 	

1861. 

3075. Are the women collected in any place ? In the lower hall There is a chair placed 
for each of the ladies, and the girls go to one and the women to the other. They instruct 
them for half-an-hour, and give them books to read. 
3076. I presume these are the children only of their own denomination ? No, only them, 
unless some of the poor women require them to go to the Asylum to see their children. 
3077. Generally speaking do you find the women careless of their position, or do they reckon 
the gaol good quarters ? They really do—some of them. 
3078. By the Chairman: That observation does not apply indiscriminately—all the women 
do not like being in gaol ? No, except the poor old women, who prefer being there to being 
at the poor-house. 
3079. By 31.1-. Hart : Generally speaking are the women careless of being there ? No. 
Some of the women are not—these, I do not think, ever return. 
3080. What class of persons are they? People who have never been committed before; 
some of these, when they have served their time, never return again. 
2031. Is there any female prisoner in the gaol at present who has been sent there for keeping 
a bad house ?* do not think there is in our prison. They generally get their sentences 
from the Court to Parramatta, on account of our getting 60 many from the Police Office; 
we get eight and ten at night. 

FRIDAY, 1 MARCH, 1861. 

%Irani :- 
Mn.. HART, 
Ma. LUCAS, 
MR. MATE, 
Mat. MORRIS, 

MR. SUTHERLAND, 
Nit. WALSH, 
Blit. WILSON, 
MR. WINDEYER. 

 

HENRY PARliES, ESQ., CHAIRMAN. 
[The Committee having assembled at Darlinghurst at 615 a.m., proceeded to codiughurst 

the gaol, when, the gatekeeper opening the gate, they visited the hard labour and 	Gaol. 
confine wings, and yards, in company with Mr. Read, the acting principal gaol er. 1 Mar., 1861. 
Some of the prisoners were in the act of leaving their cells, and removing their night- 

— 

tubs to the privies connected with the several yards, while a portion at the tap, in 
the confine yard, and others at a stone trough, in the hard labour yard, were washing 
their faces and hands.] 

[The Committee having entered the office, the Chairman took the Chair.] 

Inspector John Cecil Read examined :— 
3082. By the Chairman': You are at present Acting Cooler at Darlinghurst Gaol ? I am'. 
3083. When did you take charge of the gaol, and by whose orders ? On the 15th of 
February, at half-past five in the evening, by order of Captain 'lathe, which was confirmed 
by Mr. Uhr, the Acting Sheriff. 
3084. You have been in that situation since that period ? I have. 
3085. Without any further instruction that would in any way modify your position, you 
have still been acting gaoler in a temporary capacity ? Yes. 
3086. In what condition did you find the gaol when you took charge ? I found it almost 
in its present condition. 
3037. As to its general appearance ? I have done but little or nothing since I have been 
here. 
8088. The same rules are observed now as were when you took charge with respect to the 
management of prisoners and the general discipline of the gaol ? Yes. 
8089. There has been an escape of several prisoners since you have been here—perhaps you 
will state to the Committee when that escape took place, on what date, and at what hour of 
the day ? On the 25th February, about ten minutes before two o'clock. 
3090. Perhaps it would he most convenient if you would go on and detail the circumstances 
under which you were apprised of that escape ? Being here without my family, I boarded 
at O'Neil's public-house, opposite the Court House. I was there that day as usual to dinner, 
and on my way back to the gaol, I saw a number of prisoners running across the Court 
House green, and jump over the fence into the road. I gave them immediate pursuit, know-
ing them to be prisoners, but at that time having no idea of the means by which they had 
escaped. 

3091. 

• NOTE (By witness on revision) 	made a mistake in my answer to the last question. There is a 
woman in gaol for the offence alluded to in the question; she came from Mailland, and I did not think 
of her at the time. 

I57—N 

Inspector 
J. C. Read. 
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Darling  ghi urst 3091. The pursuit of the prisoners was your first act? Yes. 
3092. At what particular distance between O'Neil's public-house and the gate of the gaol I Mar., 1861. 
were you then ?I was not more than three or four yards from O'Neil's public-house. 

Inspector 3093. And you instantly started in pursuit ? Yes. 
.T.C. Read. 3094. Did you catch any of the prisoners ? I caught one at the Sand Hills, a man named 

Lacey, near where the old turnpike was. I saw eight of them ; they turned to the right 
there. I followed, and as soon as they got on the heavy ground, I closed on thent, caught 
one, and soured him. 
3095. Then I presume you returned ? I did not wait to handcuff him, but returned 
immediately towards the gaol. I met a policeman round the corner of the gaol, gave the 
prisoner into his charge, came into the gaol, and gave the alarm. It was unknown at this 
time to any of the turnkeys. 
3096. The first time you came to the gaol was after you had caught this prisoner, brought 
him back, and delivered him into the charge of a policeman ? It was. 
3097. What time elapsed from your first seeing the prisoners escaping till you reached the 
gaol ? I do not think it could have been more than seven or eight minutes from the rate at 
which we went. 
3098. What took place then? I confined the whole of the priooners to the cells, 	• 
3099. That was the instant order when you came in ? Yes, from the stockade yard; that 
was done as the most direct means of stopping any further escape. I also called the roll of 
these particular men from Cockatoo Island, who were confined here. I managed to get them 
inside the new wing, but they refused to go to the cells for me, and I had to arm the turn-
keys and myself, and force them in at the point of the bayonet. 
3100. Had you any difficulty then ? Yes; they tried to get close to me, I suppose to get 
hold of the arms. 
3101. They still resisted? Yes. 
3102. What was the next step? As the prisoners were coming in, in order to get a descrip-
tion of the men who had escaped, I mustered the men, sent to the Convict Office and 
obtained the minutest description, which was forwarded to the police stations. 
3103. You had ascertained who had actually escaped, by the names being absent from the 
muster 7 Yes. 
3104. The absent ones being the escapes? Yes. 
3105. A few minutes ago you silenced the Committee the place in the wall through which 
the prisoners escaped 7 Yes. 
3106. Is that the yard which is called by some of the officers, of the gaol the exercise yard? 
It is. 
3107. It is called so in consequence of prisoners being sent there for exercise? From the 
hospital. 
3108. State how many prisoners were in that yard when you went to dinner? Eighty-two. 
3109. Were they placed there by your orders? By my orders; but they were put there 
before I came to the gaol. 
3110. You were carrying out a regulation which existed before you came to the gaol? Yes. 
3111. Who was the turnkey in charge ? Elliott and Graham. 
3112. At what time in the morning were they placed there ? Before seven in the morning. 
3113. And, up to the time you speak of, these two men had been in charge of them? Yes; 
these men are never relieved for twelve hours. 
3114. You would, of course, require an explanation from the turnkeys, how the men had 
succeeded in getting these stones out ? I did. 
3115. What did they say ? They could give no explanation; they said they knew nothing 
of it. 
'3116. Did you find any implementPwhich might have assisted their escape? I beg to call 
your attention to those lying on the floor. (The witness here Arectfd the attention of the 
Committee to two iron stays, about two feet and a half long by an inch square, two 

pieces of iron hoop, and a knife.) 
3117. Have you since ascertained how these men carried on their work to excavate this 
stone ? From observation, I have no doubt in my mind it was taken out with these 
implements. 
3118. Have you succeeded since in satisfying yourself how they did all this without being 
observed by the turnkeys ? Yes; there being eighty-two of them in the yard, the greater 
part of them stood before the hole so as completely to screen it from the observation of 
the turnkeys. When I came into the yard, knowing there was a breach in the wall, I had 
to look along twenty or thirty yards before I found the exact spot, they had it so well concealed. 
3119. You had this difficulty in consequence of the manner in which the prisoners wore 
disposed ? Yes ; and they had several pounds of oakum which they were picking, in order 
to put down before this place. 
3120. The breach made in the wall communicates with the yard immediately at the back of 
the Court House 7 By the side. 
3121. From which they have no difficulty in getting to the green in front ? No; there is 
only a small wooden railing outside. 
3122. What class of prisoners did the eighty-two men consist of who were in this yard ? 
They were convicted of almost every offence in the shape of highway robbery, cattle stealing, 
housebreaking. There is little difference as regaids Cockatoo Island prisoners, they are 
either sentenced to hard labourer to solitary confinement. 
3123. Did these eighty.two men consist of drafts from all these classes ? Yes; they were 
from Cockatoo Island

' 
 they were men who had been let out of solitary confinement, and 

were willing to pick oakon. 
3124. 
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3124. But do I understand that this was a mixture of the prisoners ? No; they were all Darlinghurst 
from Cockatoo Island ; and the order was, that they were not to be allowed to have any 	Gad' 1 Mar.. 1861. 
communication with the other prisoners in the gaol. 	 - 
3125 How many of the prisoners who escaped have been retaken ? Fourteen. 	 Inspector  
3126. Then three are still at large ? Yes. 	 J. C. Bead. 
3127. Fourteen were taken the first day ? Thirteen were taken the first day, and one the 
next. 
3128. Who are the three who have succeeded in effecting their escape so far ? Nicholas 
Hand, Henry Robson, and George Williams, are still at large. 
3129. Do you know the sentences of any of these men ? No ; not without referring to the 
books. 
3130. Were any steps taken with regard to the turnkeys in charge of the yard that day ? 
No; they were merely questioned about it. 
3131. You considered that there was no very great blame attached to them ? Yes ; from 
the very fact of my coming into the yard, knowing that there was a breach in the wall, and 
the difficulty I had to find the breach, I was not inclined to attach much blame to them. 
Another circumstance in favour of the turnkeys was the easy manner in which the thing 
wds effected. 1 have heard from the conversarions of the prisoners that they did not 
expect to do it for two hours, and I am satisfied that there were among the eighty-two 
prisoners themselves some who did not know anything of it. 
3132. Have you been able to satisfy yourself what time they were engaged in this operation ? 
It was after one o'clock they commenced-not more than ten minutes. 
3133. Have any of them stated ? They have statedthat they were a very few minutes. 
3134. What appearance did tins bole present when it was examined at first ? It appeared 
as if it were all done from the inside. There were marks inside where the iron bars were 
inserted. 
3135. Is the inside of the wall sound? It is scarcely sound; it was filled up with rubble 
and mortar inside. 
3136. By Mr. Sutherland: Was tbe wall hollow inside ? I could not say. 
3137. Is that the stone that came out (referring to a stone about one foot by 	and 
about three incites thick)? Yes. 
3138. Is that the outside stone ? That is the stone that was knocked out last. I should 
say the inside-the centre-of the wall was quite rotten. I found it crumbled in my fingers; 
it appeared to be filled up, in a great measure, with what is called rubble and mortar. 
3139. Was the stone that came out of the wall hard? No, quite soft, it crumbled in my 
fingers. 
3140. By the Chairman : Since you have bad charge of the gaol, have you had any occasion 
to complain of the conduct of any of the turnkeys acting under you ? I have. 
3141. More than one instance? In two instances; two or three I have had to check. 
3142. Will you state in what instances you have had to find fault ? One I found sitting 
down in friendly conversation with two prisoners. 
3143. Who was this ? A man named Whiddon. 
3144. In what part of the gaol was he situated ? In the stockade. 
3145. Sitting on a bench ? On a form, and a prisoner named Garsed sitting beside him, 
and a prisoner named Mayne standing before them, apparently in friendly conversation. I 
mentioned the circumstance to the Sheriff; but no steps were taken for a few days, until I 
caught him asleep on his post at three o'clock on Sunday morning. 
3146. What post was be 	? On the gate. 
3147. Will you describe in what position you found this man Whiddon when he was asleep ? 
I noticed at first, about nine or ten at night, that he seemed very dilatory. He had the gas 
turned down, and was lying down at that early hour. I said that was not a fit position for 
him to be in, that I should expect him to be very much on the alert, and I turned the gas 
on. He had previously turned the gas nearly off, as, I believe, so that be might not be seen 
by me lying down. 
3148. That was at nine o'clock ? Between nine and ten. I also noticed that the gate was 
not properly bolted. 
3149. Describe in what way it was improperly bolted ? The gate was locked, but the cross-
bolt was not drawn, and alao the cross-bolt of the outer gate was not fastened, but the door 
was locked. I had them bolted immediately. I took no more notice of him till three o'clock 
in the morning, when I missed him calling the hour. I beard the other two sentries, but I 
could not hear him call three o'clock. I went down immediately, and through the window 
saw the man lying asleep. I could not waken him, and called the sentry off his post to assist 
me. In attempting to awake him the gatekeeper, Burke, who sleeps in the lodge, was 
awakened. 
3150. Then you had these two persons present besides yourself? Yes, and Mr. Beverley 
has told me since that he was looking from his window at the time. 
3151. Whiddon was fast asleep ? Ile was fast asleep. 
8152. 'What did you do in this case? I suspended him, put another man in his place, and 
told him to go, as I would not trust him with the charge of the place. 
3153. Is the lodge of Burke, the gatekeeper, between the outer and inner gate? He sleeps 
over the gate-his lodge looks into the gate. Ile looked out if the window and said, "Is 
rinything wrong, Sir." I said," Yes, Burke; dress immediately and come down." 
3154. Did any altercation take place between you and this man at the time? No, only I 
said, "I wonder after all the caution I have given you-if you had done this in the army 
you would have been shot for it." When he wanted to excuse himself, I said, "It is of no 
use trying to excuse yourself, if you had done this in the army you would have been shot." 

3155. 
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Darlinghurst 3155. Do you recollect whether you swore at him—whether you used any oaths? No, I am 
1 

MGaol.  St not in the habit of doing so. 
3156. You say there were some other officers ? Yes; Fallon, the turnkey, and Burke. 

Inspector 8157. You say there were some other. officers against whom you had had cause of complaint ? 
J. C. Read. Rispen; the complaint was not from me. There was a letter brought to me by Burke, and 

he said, "I think I know this writing—I think I have seen it frequently come to Mr. 
" Harrison, and it is now directed to Rispen, as Harrison is gone; I believe it is intended for 
" a prisoner named Polack." I enclosed the letter directly and sent it to the Inspector 
General of Police, and have since been informed by him that it was for the prisoner Polack. 
3158. But you have not seen the letter since you sent it ? No. 
3159. By Mr. Hurt: Is it not the practice to open letters coming to the prison ? To 
prisoners; not to free officers. 
3160. This then was addressed to Rispen, but Burke had a suspicion that it was really in-
tended for Polack .? Yes. 
3161. Ile thought letters in a similar handwriting had come, through Harrison, for Polack 
formerly ? Yes. I have since heard Rispen spoken to by the Under Sheriff upon the 
subject; and he acknowledged that he had previously received a letter from Polack's wife 
intended for the prisoner, and that he went to her house to ask her why she wrote to him. 
I consider the excuse made to the Under Sheriff a very bad one; the going to her house 
shows duplicity. 
3162. With regard to the other turnkeys, are you satisfied with their general character, 
judging from the conduct of the officers since you have been here ? From the short time 
they have been under my charge I should not like to give any positive opinion. 
3163. Have you seen any traces of insobriety ? No. I consider Mr. Callaghan, who is 
acting as principal turnkey, a very good man ; and also Burke, the gatekeeper, I think a good 
man. These two I have had a great deal of assistance from. The other men I am not so 
well able to speak of. 
3164. Are they men of fair intelligence and activity ? Yes. 
3165. Men in the prime of life, or advanced in years ? Yes, I should say Burke is under 
forty years of age. 
3166. Speaking of the whole of the turnkeys ? Some of them are rather elderly men. 
There is one named Armstrong. 
3167. My former question—whether they were men of fair intelligence and activity—
applied to all ? I cannot say anything against them. In fact, my observation has been so 
little that I should not like to express an opinion of them. 
3168. Are they men not likely to be deceived by artifices ? I should not like to give an 
opinion. I should confide a great deal in two of them; bat the others I should not like to 
give an opinion of at present. 
3169. Have you caused any mew regulations whatever to be enforced since you have been 
here ? Very little, with the exception of keeping the turnkeys more on the alert. 
3170. You have not attempted to introduce any new arrangements ? I have not. 
3171. In consequence of being under the impression that you are here only from day to 
day ? That is it precisely. 
3172. Have you any reason to believe that the prisoner Polack was treated differently from 
the other prisoners, previous to your arrival here ? I have heard he was. 
3173. He does not get any different treatment now ? Not the slightest; he is kept in the 
bard labour yard, and has got his oakum to pick the same as the other prisoners. 
31.74, You say you have heard that he was differently treated before you came here—have 
you any objection to say from whom you heard that? From Mr. Callaghan. 
8175. By it. Hart: Have you had any changes in the turnkeys or warders since you have 
been here ? Yes ; I have had two or three new turnkeys since I have been here, and I have 
had an additional one. 
3176. Do you consider that the present staff of the gaol is sufficient to take care of the pri-
soners ? Not with the Cockatoo Island prisoners; and I believe the present staff is, under 
any circumstances, under that they would have in Europe. 
3177. Do you observe any laxity in the conduct of the warders—anything in the conduct of 
the warders different from what you have observed in European prisons ? I think the 
warders are not so smart ; they are rather slovenly. 
3178. By Mr. Tiqndeyer : Were you ever in the large prisons in England? I used to visit 
all the gaols in London. I was inspector of police for seventeen years. 
3179. By the Chairman : What capacity did you fill prior to being appointed here ? 
Inspector of the Sydney Police, in charge of the B division. 
3180. flow long have you filled that situation ? Going on for six years. Ever since I 
have been in the Colony. 
3181. Were you engaged for the police service here ? Yes, I was appointed in London an 
Inspector of Police for New South Wales. 
:3182. Prior to that what situation had you filled? Inspector of the London Police for 
-upwards of fifteen years, for which I receive a pension. 
3183. By Mr. Hart : Do you consider that the practice of the warders being compelled to 
anis with the prisoners, on the same floor, has a demoralizing effect upon the officers ? Cer- 
tainly not, if the warders do their duty—if the warders keep their proper place. 
3184. Would it not be better if they had a raised platform on which to patrol? They might 
watch the prisoners better by that means, and it would also be a means of safety if they 
were armed; but at present I should be timid of giving the warders arms, lest a number of 
the prisoners should close round them and disarm them. If they were on a raised platform 
they could not do that. 

3185. 
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3185. Suppose a platform were made to run round the wall outside, would that be an . Darlinghurst 
improvement ? I do not think it would; it might possibly be made a means of escape. I  
think there might be raised watch-boxes in the yard, which would answer the purpose 
better. 	 Inspect

- 

or 
3186. Is there ally watch kept outside ? None by the gaol authorities. 	 J. C. Read. 
3187. Would it be desirable that there should be? I have known at the gaols in Ireland a 
guard of soldiers to be kept, and sentries to be placed outside to prevent escapes, or any com-
munication being made with the prisoners. I may mention that at Darlinghurst three men 
were apprehended by the police for throwing things into the gaol. 
3188. Of course that has an injurious effect on the prisoners ? Certainly ; I have no doubt 
they throw over these implements which are found upon the prisoners daily after being 
continually searched. This (producing a small parcel) was thrown over the wall last Sunday, 
and contains a pipe, tobacco, a reel of cotton, and some paper for writing. (The witness 
produced various tools.) 	 • 
3189. By Mr. Ilrindnyer: What is this little article ? A saw; it was found on a man 
named Lee, a Cockatoo Island prisoner. He was searched, and these two saws and a part of 
a file were the result. He is one of the most desperate men here. 
3190. By Mr. Hart: When was lie searched ? About half-past nine in the morning, 
yesterday. 
3191. Do you make a practice of searching the prisoners before they go to their meals ? 
Sometimes they are searched in the morning, but more frequently at night When they are 
being locked up. 
8192. How do you describe these instruments which were found upon Lee ? Portion of a 
frame saw and part of a file. 
8193. By Mr. Windeyer: Where did be keep such an article as this large saw ? It was 
found in his cell in a corner. He has been in solitary confinement. 
3194. How long do you suppose he might have had that saw with him ? I think he got it 
the day before. 
3195. Front some other prisoner ? My impression is that he got it in his soup. I noticed 
some wardsmen carrying up soup to this prisoner, and I cautioned the warder, Armstrong, 
to be very careful of this prisoner. Yesterday I had his cell searched and found these. 
3196. By Mr. Hart: Are the cells searched periodically ? Yes. 
3197. Are the prisoners searched each day ? When there is time-sometimes there is not 
time. 
3198. Would you recommend that a sentry or patrol should be employed outside ? If these 
prisoners were removed I think there might be a couple of policemen outside. 
3199. On.the north and south sides ? On all sides it would be desirable ; but I suppose 
they could not afford four men to watch these walls, as these four would mount up to twelve, 
having three reliefs. I have here the leg-irons which were worn by Barnett Levi (the witness 
produced the same), they are partly sawn through. The prisoners are allowed to wear a, 
strap to keep the irons from the ground, and he managed to put the strap so as to conceal 
the part that was sawn through. I had his irons very carefully examined and found 
out this. 
3200. What is he in here for ? For repeated acts of robbery. 
3201. By Mr. Windeyer : What do you suppose he effected that with ? With a saw file. 
3202. Have you found that since ? No; this has been done sonic time. I think his reason 
for doing this has been to enable him to take off his irons at night. Many of the prisoners 
slip off their leg-irons. One of the prisoners who escaped was in irons, which he left 
behind, 

Mr. James Callaghan called in and examined :- 
3203. By the Chairman : You are a turnkey in this prison ? Yes. 
3204. How long have you been so occupied ? About ten or eleven days. 
3205. Who appointed you ? 
3206. On the 25th February what duty were you upon ? 3Iy post was the south wall in 
the garden. 
3207. Is that in the yard at the back of the hospital ? Yes. 
3208. How many prisoners were there in the yard at that time ? I think there was ninety 
some odd. 
3209. Did anything take place that day ? I did not know until the men-they shouted out. 
3210. Did anything take place that day ? They were dancing, some picking this rope-yarn, 
some singing, some reading, some lying down. 
3211. Nothing else took place ? Not at that time. 
3212. And at night I suppose you locked up all your prisoners as you received them in the 
morning ? No, not as I received them in the morning. 
3213. Were there any short ? Yes, there was, but I forget the number. 
3214. If nothing took place during the day, what became of them ? They made their 
escape. 
3215. Surely that was something remarkable-will you tell us how this escape was effected 
in your own way, as briefly as you can? Between the hours of two and three, or twelve 
and two. 
3216. Did they scale the wall, or how did they escape ? They made a hole at the bottom 
and got out ; they did not go over the wall. 
3217. Who told you they were making this hole-how did yob, as the turnkey, become 

aware 

Mr. 3. 
Callaghan. 
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Dar1inghurat &ware that they were escaping through a hole in the bottom of the wall? Mr. Read came 
owl: 	in and ordered the prisoners all to be locked up. 1 Mar., 1561. 3218. And you knew nothing about it until Mr. Read came into the yard ? Not a ha'p'orth; 

there was such a load of men in the yard that we could not see what they were doing. 
Callagiran. 3219. By Mr. Windeyer: Were you in the yard ? I was in the sentry-box at the big end 

of the wing. 
tilt Read.] [Mr. Read said, One thing I did not state, when I was examined just now,- 

that I visited these men at one o'clock, and that I also looked from the window of 
the wing overlooking the yard, and that everything seemed then correct, and in the 
usual state.] 

  

a , 

 

Mr. Alexander Elliott examined :- 
Mr.A.Elliott. 3220. By the 'Chairman: You are a turnkey in this gaol? Yes. 

3221. How long have you been engaged as a turnkey ? Between three and four months. 
3222. Who engaged you? The Sheriff. 
3223. Mr. Brenan? Yes. 
8224. What situation did you fill before you came into the gaol ? I was a shoemaker. 
3225. Working as a journeyman shoemaker? No; working for myself on the Botany Road. 
3226. Were you on duty on the 25th February ? Yes. 	 • 
8227. What duty were you charged with ? With the men in the yard at the back of the 
hospital, on the south side of the wall. 
3228. How many men were in the yard on that day ? Eighty-two. 
3229. Do you count them when you take charge of them, or have you some return of the 
number ? The men who have charge of them in the wing count them out. 
3230. Do you get the numbers by word of mouth, or in writing ? By word of mouth. 
3231. How were the men employed during that day ? In picking oakum. 
3232. Were you in charge during the day till four o'clock in the afternoon? Yes. 
3233. Did you return eighty-two men ? No, seventeen short. 
3234. Did any thing remarkable occur during the day ? Yes, the same as every other day, 
singing and whistling and all like this. 
3235. What did you do with the seventeen men? The men all escaped, as I believe, through 
a hole at the bottom of the wall. 
3236. How did you become aware that they had made this hole and were escaping ? By 
Mr. Bead. 
3237. You knew nothing about these men escaping till Mr. Read came in and told you ?' 
No. 
8238. At that tune their number was lessened by seventeen ? Yes. 
3239. You had not noticed these men escaping ? No. 
3240. Was this hole on a level with the ground ? Yes. 
3241. Would not the men have to lie down to creep through it ? I believe they would very 
near have to do it. 
3242. Would it be possible for any man to creep through that bole without lying at his full 
length on the ground ? No. 
3243. Does it not seem singular that without your seeing it these men could lie at their 
full length on the ground, and project themselves through this hole ? I will explain that. 
I was at a distance away from these men at the bottom end of the yard, at the east end, 
and it is a fashion these men have got when they come into the yard at first to put their 
bags at the top of this little fence, there may be an inch or not an inch between the battens 
of this fence; and then the men have a fashion of getting their hacks against this fence, 
and they will commence talking and playing marbles, and more picking oakum; and then 
another lot got in the middle of the yard between the fence and where this hole was made, 
and then a lot was sitting round by the hole, and more was on a form, and a whole lot were 
standing up and a man was standing out reading to them-and this was the way I was taken 
in by them. a. 3244. fly  Mr. Windeyer : You were outside the fence ? Yes. 

, 3245. By Mr. Burl: Are you on duty at night ? Yes. 
3240. Are you supplied with firearms, or any means of defence ? Yes, with firearms; a 
carbine and bayonet. 
3247. Did you ever fire it off? Never. 
3248. By Mr. alforris : Do you know how to use firearms ? Yes. 
3249. By Mr. Hart : Have you ever tried them ? I never tried any of the firelocks here. 

[The Committee visiting the stockade yard,-] 

John Williams examined :- 
[ITaving desired to make a statement.] 

J. Williams. 3250. By Mr. Windeyer : You are one of the men who were sent here from Cockatoo ? Yes, 
seven months ago. Me and six men came here in the month of August. 
3251. You are not one nf the men who were sent here for the late general disturbance? No. 
8252. What was your original sentence to Cockatoo ? Fifteen years with hard labour, and 
three years in irons. 
3253. You wish to make some statement ? For the time I have been on Cockatoo I have 
been very unfol tunate, I have received a deal of punishment-this has all originated from 
oppression. I have been on Cockatoo seven years, and I have received some six years 

addition, 
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addition, all in extension to my original sentence. This prejudices my position in two ways,Hat15,Thellu9t 
first by the probation that I have to do for it, and then it acts in extension to the judge's Mar. Gaol. 
sentence. I believe I have been represented as a bad character, and one who could not keep 
out of trouble; but for the time I have been in this establishment, I believe, I have conducted J. wifitatas„ 
myself to the satisfaction of the authorities. I have been now eight years in bondage, and 
I have got, from the way they will bring these charges against me, seven years to do. 
3254. How do you wash yourself? I generally steal a wash in the cell in a kid. 
3255. Why do you wash in that way ? As a preventive against vermin. One day. I was 
washing in this yard after another man, and I felt an itching in my neck, and caught two 
lice. It is a customary thing.. It is a dangerous thing for a man to wash according to the 
system they have. 
8256. Who tried you originally ? Judge Stephen, on the 6th February, 1854, in Sydney. 
3257. What for ? Highway robbery. 
3258. With violence ? Yes. 

[The Cockatoo Island prisoners having chosen two of their number to represent 
their alleged grievances,—] 

James Arnett examined 
• 	 [Brought from his cell in the new wing.] 

2259. By the Chairman : I may state that this Committee is appointed by the Legislative J. Arnott. 
Assembly to inquire into the state and management of gaols, and not into the justice of 
sentences. We understand that you have been selected by your fellow prisoners as a dele-
gate to make some representations to us; if you have, therefore, any statement to make, with 
reference to the discipline and management of the gaol, we are willing to hear you? I wish 
to know first if a statement forwatited from here were received or suppressed. It was sent to 
the Sheriff; one communication was addressed to Mr. Lucas, and the other to Capt. Scott. 
When we had completed our fourteen days solitary, we received permission from Mr. Lucas 
to write to him, and we did so, and the principal of our grievances were contained in that 
statement. 
3260. That was addressed to Mr. Lucas, but was received by him only yesterday, and has 
not been communicated to us? Would it not be possible for that statement to be forwarded 
to the Committee ? 
3261. Does that include all you have to say ? Nearly all. 
3262. You do not wish to add anything now? Any more than that I hope the Committee 
will try and do something for us. This system is a most oppressive system. 
8263. Is there anything else you wish to say ? No; I think I will not encroach upon your 
time, when you are going to get the written statement from Mr. Lucas, 
3264. It does not appear to have come into Mr. Lucas' hands till yesterday ? It was about 
the 20th January when it was sent to Capt. Scott, in one statement, for his perusal. 
3265. By Arr. Hart: Have you any objection to go to work ? No; I think the generality 
of the men would have no further objection. As the Committee have taken up the thing, 
we think something will be done. 
3266. By Mr. Lucas: You think they will not object to go back to the island? No; we 
have been put under a piece of oppression for the last three days, in consequence of some of 
the men trying to get away. 
3267. By .1Ifr. Hart : Do you consider .it to be a greater punishment to be at Cockatoo 
Island than here ? There is no difference in either place. 
3268. Is there more discipline here than at Cockatoo? I think not. 

Henry Clarke examined :— 
[Also brought from his cell.] 

3269. By the Chairman : Are you one of the men who came from Cockatoo Island ? Yes. H. Clarke. 
3270. The gentlemen who are here constitute a Committee of the Legislative Assembly, 
appointed to inquire into the state and management of the gaols, and they understand that 
you wish to make some statement? Yes. I do not know whether you received some papers 
from me last week; I wrote a statement and handed it to the Sheriff, to be forwarded to 
you. 
3271- To be forwarded to the Committee or to me? To the Chairman of the Committee. 
8272. I have not received any such statement? Will you call the gaoler, I handed it to 
him. 

[The Chairman retired a short distance, and after speaking to the acting 
gaoler, returned.] 

3273. The gaoler has forwarded the statement to the Sheriff's Office, but we have not received 
it yet ? I sent these papers about ten or eleven days ago. 
3274. We will obtain the statement if it be in the Sheriff's Office—does that contain all you 
wish to say ? Yes. 
3276. Have you anything you wish to state now ? I have been on the island four years the 
15th of this month, and of all the grievances we have there, the greatest thing is the par-
tiality shown to one class of individuals more than others. There were two hundred men 
employed for a period of ten months at the building of a house on the island. Not one 
man was at work at the dock ; only about thirty—that was one day in June, there was a 
Committee on the island that day ; and about thirty men were put to work at the dock that 
day. The moment the Committee left the island, both men and tools were ordered up to 

the 
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Darlinghurst the Superintendent's house. This house was commenced in August, 1859, and was not 
Gaol. 	completed for the Superintendent to go into until the 4th October, 1860. 1 Mar., 1861. 3276. By Mr. Hart: Was the fact of the Committee going over to the island signalled ? 

B. Clarke. It was known on Saturday evening that the Committee was to be there On Monday. 
3277. What is the substance of your complaint? The partiality shewn to the prisoners on 
the island, principally by the chief warder and the Clerk of Petty Sessions. 
3278. Is it to certain individuals or to individuals of a certain class ? To certain individuals. 
One man came to the island-Handcoek-in 1857 ; he was not long there before he was 
placed as a servant to Mr. Keilor; while he was there one of the children falls into the river, 
and he, of course, as any other man would have done, saved the child, and claims the reward, 
which he gets. He is then sent on the public works for a. fortnight, and is transferred to 
the clerk-to Mr. Taylor-he is there for a few months, gets beastly drunk, makes use of 
the most filthy and obscene language, and is placed in the cell for one night; next morning 
be is released from the cell, sent back to Mr. Taylor, and is never brought under the Police 
Magistrate's notice; he remains with Mr. Taylor four or five months, till they are sick of 
him, and can keep him no longer

' 
 and he is then sent to the works ; he is then sent to the 

dispenser, and remains with Mr. Macdonald till he obtains his ticket.of-leave. He abuses 
his ticket-ofleae, is sent back, and Mr. Macdonald takes him again. That is one of the 
instances. Another man, of the name of Alexander Gibson- 
3379. Are these things in your written statement ? Yes. 
3280. By -Yr. Hart : Have you made any complaint in your statement of the remission of 
sentences and non-remission of sentences ? I am not under that system; I am under the 
old system ; I ought to have obtained a ticket-of-leave before this. 
3281. By the Chairman : You have been on the island some time ? Four years. 
3282. State, without reserve-without any suppression of the truth-what is the conduct 
of the prisoners in the dormitories, where they sleep at iight ? I never saw an instance of 
immorality. I have heard several little rumours concerning the like. 
3283. Have you ever heard obscene language ? I have repeatedly. 
3284. Arc not the men, more or less, kept awake in the night through the crowded state of 
the place ? Yes. The bugs are a great nuisance-a most terrible nuisance ; in fact, the 
ward has to be stoved four, five, and six times, and whitewashed, during the summer. 
3285. What is the state of the atmosphere in the ward at night-how -have you experienced 
it ? I have been lying with nothing but my shirt on, and all of a muck sweat. 
3286. Have you felt oppressively bad smells ? Dreadful, especially the first thing in the 
morning. 
3287. Do the men ever get out of their berths ? Yes, to walk about. 
3288. Naked ? Naked; nothing, only their shirts on. 

G. Power. 

Edward Power examined :- 
[Brought from his cell, having expressed a wish to speak to the Committee.] 

3289. By the Chairman : lYbat is it you wish to see us about ? About the irons, and being 
confined in the cell. Last Tuesday week I was brought down from Parramatta, and was 
picking oakum in the yard until last Monday, and since that time I have been ironed, and 
kept in a cell. I know no reason for it, unless because I saw other men going through the 
hole, and I could not prevent that without having my head broke, or being killed perhaps. 
3290. You were one of the prisoners in the yard at the time ? Yes. 
3291. You did not attempt to escape ? No, it woukd not answer my purpose. I have a wife 
and family to see after. 

[Certain prisoners desiring to give information of a very serious character, 
Committee proceeded to the lower hospital.] 

Frederick WOregor, alias Lawry, called in and examined :- 
F. M'Gregor. 3292. By the Chairman : You are one of the prisoners who came from Cockatoo Island ? 

Yes. 
3293. The Committee understand that you wish to make some statement to them ? Yes, I 
want to make a complaint about the men on the island. 
3294. When did you go to the island ? Two years and six months ago. 
3295. For what offence ? Horse stealing. 
3296. Who tried you ? Judge Callaghan. 
3297. At what place ? Bathurst. 
3298. How were you employed during the time you were on the island ? In the building 
gang. 
3299. Doing what ? Drawing stone and winding the windlass. 
3300. You mean you were employed in getting the stone ready for building ? Yes. 
3301. Where did you sleep ? In No. 1 ward. 
3302. How many persons slept in that ward during the time you were there ? Sixty or 
seventy. 
3303. You have stated that you do not wish to go back to the island-on what account is. 
that ? Vice-sleeping with one another like man and wife, and all sorts of beastliness. 
3304. Do you state unhesitatingly, and of your own knowledge, that the men have slept. 
together ? I am confident of it. I have seen it too often ; it has made my blood run cold. 
I have never been used to such things. I have been in the bush all my life. 
3305. Do you mean that you have seen acts of sodomy committed ? Yes; there are only a 
few battens between us, and men around us, and I could not help seeing it. 

3306. 
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3306. Will you describe what you have seen on any one occasion-describe what particular Darlinghnrst 
occurrence you saw at any particular time, or what you have witnessed during the whole 	Gaol. Mar., 1861. might ? I was a wardsman for eight months on the island, and I was supposed to stop up 
all night, and the men, when I turned my back to go down the passage, would get out Of F. 11PGregor. 
their berths and go into others. 
3307. Tell us what your duty was as wardsman ? To sit up all night, and parade up and 
down between the berths. 
3308. What have you seen during the time ? They have been running into one another's 
bunks, and I could not stop it ; they have threatened to knock my brains out with the boards 
if I attempted to stop them, or to report. 
3309. What have you seen them do-speak plainly ? Go into one another's berths-and all 
Forts of bad language-I have taken a light and caught them in the act of sodomy. 
3310. By Mr. Wilson : You have yourself caught them in the act of sodomy ? Yes. 
3311. By the Chairman : You have taken a light to the berth and seen men in the act of 
unnatural connection ? Yes. 
3312. You have no doubt about it 	No, not the least. 
3313. Have you seen that on more occasions than one ? Yes. 
3314. What have you said ? I have said I would report them, and they have said if I did 
they would knock out my brains with a board. 
3315. Would conduct of an unseemly nature be going on all night-I do not mean such 
conduct as you have described, but talking about such things ? Yes ; talking about it all 
night. 
3316. Were the men exposing their persons ? Yes, and going about stark naked in the wards. 
3317. Making obscene displays of their persons ? Yes. 
3318. Do you recollect what particular prisoners they were who did those things ? Yes, I 
remember several :     wm one, and a man who has gone away;   
was another. 
3319. You say that when you were wardsman you have gone with a light to a berth, and 
seen prisoners in the act of unnatural connection ? Yes, I have. 
3320. Do you remember who these prisoners were on any occasion when you have caught 
them ? Yes. 
3321. Will you state who they were ?  	and a young fellow named 	 
3322. Is be in the gaol just now ? Yes. 
3323. How long has 	 been on the island ? Twelve or thirteen months. 
3324. Who was the aggressor in any act of that kind-which was the passive and which was 
the active party ?   is a filthy beast of a man; perhaps three or four men go 
into his berth in a night. 
3325. You understand my question-which was the active and which the passive party? Yes. 
3326. You say   is "a filthy beast of a man "-what do you mean by that ? 
The men are going with him all night; as one man gets up another goes. 
3327. You are thinking of the serious import of what you say ? Yes. 
3328. Have you known others besides  	who have gone with 	  as 
if he were a woman ? I do not know his proper name, but he is nicknamed 
His nose is all on one side of his face. 
3329. Any one else ? Yes; one man who has gone away, -- 	-. I believe he 
is away. 
3330. Any One else ? Yes; a man of the name of 	; he has lost two fingers 
on one hand. 
3331. Is lie here ? No; he has gone with his ticket. 
3332. Have you seen these men with   ? Yes. 
3333. Have you seen them committing acts of sodomy with 	 ? Yes. 
3334. Have you seen any one else ? Yes; there are others, but I forget their names at 
present. 
3335. Have you seen the same kind of criminality between other men where 
was not concerned-where some one else was the submitting party ? Yes; plenty. 
3336. Can you mention any names ? A man of the name of 	  
3337. This person,  	, also submits himself to the improper liberties of these 
men in the same way ? Yes. 
3338. Prostitutes himself to them ? Yes. 
3339. Are both these men,  	and 	 , young ? Yes, very young. 
3340. How old is    ? One or two and twenty. 
3241. How old is     ? About nineteen. 

	

3342. I should gather from what you say, that    is a complete prostitute in 
the hands of these people ? Yes, he is. 
3343    in the same way, but to a less extent ? Yes. 
3344. Do you know of any other cases ? Yes ; a man of the name of 	 , who 
was brought over here some time ago. 
3345. Who also submitted in the same manner as  	, who acted as a common 
instrument for the bestial gratification of the other prisoners ? Yes. 
3346. Is he here now ? I think he is in Parramatta, he came over with eight rnen who 
were brought from the island some months ago. 
3347. Have you yourself seen men having connection with 	 or 	  
Yes ; I have seen a man named frequently with even on the 
works in the daytime. I have seen them on the works in the daytime, with their clothes 
down, and one having connection with the other. 
3348. In that ward ?as the conduct of the prisoners generally very obscene and . repulsive ? 

157-p 	 Yes, 
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Garlinghurst Yes, very much so. I took some of them to the office at one time-four of them for obscene 
1 martlisoi.  conduct-but before I got to the office, they threatened that, if I prosecuted them, they 

would knock my brains out. So that when I got to the office I was afraid to make the - 
F. meGregor. complaint. 

3349. When was that 7 Fifteen or sixteen months ago, perhaps more. 
3350. I suppose these enormities you have just mentioned are limited to a certain number, 
only a few comparatively indulge in these beastly practices ? Yes. 
3351. All the prisoners do not ? No. 
3352 Speaking of the whole of them, are obscene language and obscene displays of the 
person common among them ? Yes, very common. 
3353. You say you have seen them run about naked in the place between the berths? Yes. 
3354. Is that done by many ? I have seen four or five different men at a time. 
3355. By Mr. Hart: Were any overtures ever made to yourself ? No, they kept all at a 
distance from me; none of the men like me ; they threatened to knock my head off. 
3356. How did it happen that the men did not see you when you were coming up with the 
light ? They would not move; they did not care whether I came or not; they knew they 
could bounce me. 
3357. Did you ever report any of these circumstances to the authorities? No, I was 
frightened. 
3353. Is this the first time you have made any statement ? Yes, and I would not do so now 
only I do not want to go with them or to associate with them. 
3359. You would sooner be in this gaol ? I would sooner be anywhere. 
3360. Did you ever see any clergyman at the island ? Yes. 
3361. What clergyman ? Mr. Agnew. 
3362. Did you state any of these circumstances to him? No, I never spoke to him on the 
island ; I was afraid to speak to him, or to any free man, for fear they should think I would 
speak about them. 
3363. By Arr. Walsh: Were you on the island before  	came there ? Yes. 
3364. How soon after 	came there did you observe anything ? About a week 
or ten days. 
3365. By the Chairman: Are you a native of the Colony ? Yes. 
3366. Where do your parents reside ? They have both died since I came to Cockatoo. 
3367. What occupation were you following at the time you were apprehended? Horse-
breaking. 
3368. You are not any trade ? No; my proper name is Lawry. 
3369. You have been brought up to horse-breaking ? Yes; I have been among horses and 
cattle all my life. 
3370. Were you ever in a place of this kind before? No. 
3371. Were you ever arrested on any charge ? No; and my prosecutor told me that when 
I had done my twelve months he would come and try to get me off. 
3372. Who was your prosecutor ? Mr. John Linton, of Murrumbidgee. 
3373. You had five years sentence ? Yes. 

George Jones examined :- 
George Jones. 3374. By the Chairman : You came here from Cockatoo Island with the insubordinate 

prisoners ? Yes. 
3375. Under what sentence are you suffering ? Five years. 
3376. For what? Forgery. 
3377. Who tried you ? Judge Callaghan. 
3378. When were you tried, and where ? On the 8th November, 1859, at Albury. 
3379. You wish to make some statement to this Committee ? Yes; I wish to know if they 
will allow me to remain in this gaol; I do not want to be mixed up with the people on the 
island any more, for I have had to see things there that it is not fit for anybody to see. 

[The Chairman requested the witness to be specific in his statement-the 
witness proceeded.] 

I have seen 	  go into a man named 	 bunk, in No. 1 ward, and 
there commit sodomy-it is about seven months ago now. 
3380. Did you ever see that crime committed more than once by those two persons ? Yes, 
once or twice. 
3381. Did you ever see that crime committed by any other prisoners ? No, not on the island. 
3382. You have no doubt that you saw    commit that crime on the person of 
	? No; I am ready to swear to that. 

3383. You would swear to that on oath in a Court of Justice ? Yes. 
3384. How long ago was that ? About seven months ago. 
3385. Yon are aware of all the consequences if you swear falsely-you know the penalty of 
the crime of perjury ? Yes. 
3386. Have you ever seen immoralities in the ward which have fallen short of sodomy, such 
as obscene exposure of the person-obscene talking ? Yes; there is always obscene talking 
in the wards at night. 
3387. Have you ever seen the men running up and down the ward naked ? Yes. 
3388. Obscenely displaying their persons ? Yes; just before we came here I have seen the 
men running about the ward naked. 
3389, If it has been stated to the Committee that the men are confined to their berths 
during the night, and never come out in the space between the berths, that statement is 
not true ? No. 

8390. 
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3390. They do frequently come out of their own and go into other berths? Yes. 	Darlinghurst 
Gaol. 3391. Have you frequently seen the men go into other berths? Yes. 	 1 Mar., 1861. 

3392. You have no doubt of that ? No; I have seen it every night in the ward. 
3393. It would be impossible for men to go into each other's berth naked without their Georgelonet 
persons coming into close contact, in consequence of the smallness of the space ? It would. 
8394. The one entering the berth would, in fact, have to pass over the other ? Yes. There 
is one man in the gaol now, who was removed from the island because it was reported 
people went into his berth. 
3395. What is his name ? I do not not know his name. The lad had an uncle on the 
island, and he tried to stop it, but could not ; and he was removed over here in consequence. 
8396. By Mr. Lucas : Was he removed from the island some five or six months ago? Yes. 
3397. Have you seen him since you have been here ? No; but I believe he is in the gaol. 
8398. By it.. Mate: He had an uncle on the island ? Yes; an old man of the name of 
	 ; he was sent for horse stealing. 

• 8399. Has he not a father on the island ? A father-in-law. 
3400. By Mr. Windeyer : Have you seen any others besides 	 end this young 
fellow whose name you do not know ? I have not myself, but plenty have seen it besides me. 
3401. By Mr. Sutherland : They have told you so? Yes. 
8402. Can you name those who have told you? Whitaker is one. 
8403. By Mr. Hart : Were you on good terms with 	  ? Yes. 
3404. Were you in the habit of speaking to him? Yes, I was on friendly terms with him. 
3405. Did he ever make any overtures to you? So; but 	wanted me to comply 
with his wishes, and I repulsed him. 
3406. By the Chairman: What did you say to him ? When we fell out about the bread, 
we were put into No 3 ward, and there were so many of us that there was not room for all 
the men in the bunks; the consequence was, that some of us had to lie on the top. I had to 
lie alongside of   , not knowing his character, and he wanted to come into my 
bed, and I repulsed him. 
8407. By Mr. Wineleyer : Is the man Whitaker you mentioned here now ? Yes, 
8408. By the Chairman: Is there anything else you wish to state ? No, only that I wish 
to remain in the gaol. 

James Scope, alias Williams, examined :- 

3409. By the Chairman: You were at Cockatoo Island, were you not ? Yes. 
3410. What sentence were you undergoing there? Five years. 
3411. For what offence? Housebreaking. 
3412. 'Where were you tried, and by what judge? At Quarter Sessions, by Mr. Holroyd. 
3413. When did your sentence commence ? On the 25th May last. 
3414. Were you removed to this gaol among the insubordinate prisoners in January last ? 
Yes. 
3415. We understand that you wish to make a statement to this Committee ? Not a state-
ment. I wish simply to stay here, aped to state my reason for doing so. The reason that I 
fell out with the mob of insubordinates was the bestiality that was carried on among the 
men assembled in the wards at night. (The Chairman requested the witness to be explicit in 
his statement.) The only statement I can make, as the reason why I should not like to go 
back again among the men, is, because I have seen some acts of bestiality at night-acts of 
unnatural connection. 
3416. Have you seen that ? Of course I could not swear that the thing was going on; I 
can mention the name of one-it was  	; and the maclime of the other was 
3417. Are those bath here ? Yes; after we got our first sentence for fourteen days, this 

and   had gone back again, and were sleeping on the top of the bunks. 
These men were a short distance from me ; we were allowed to smoke there, and there was a 
light at the end of the place. I went down to get a light; I looked down; I saw this man 
pretend to be asleep, and this other ore shook himself. I stooped down and pulled the 
blanket off them, and saw this man   with his posteriors in the other man's fork. 
3418. Have you seen other acts of a similar character ? I have seen others. 
3419. About what date was this? About the 23rd of January this year. I had only been 
about two mouths in the gaol, for I was kept a portion of my time here, as my friends had 
petitioned that I might be allowed to stay in this place, and I do not know many of the 
men's names. 
3420. Did you see any other similar act ? I never saw an act like that; I have seen other 
acts, but I do not know half or a third of the men's names. 
3421. As to the general conduct of prisoners in the wards at Cockatoo Island, is it obscene 
and repulsive ? It is beastly. 
3422. Do men go about the ward naked ? Yes. Of course people of our class are not much 
given to religion, but if you take up a Bible, or any other book, you cannot read with any 
degree of pleasure; you are annoyed by three or four men in the other bunks. These things 
I have spoken of I have seen through my bunk. All sorts of obscene conduct in one bunk, 
and in another bunk another nice scene going on. 
3423. By Mr. 3141sh : Have you observed, when you have been shut in your wards during 
the day - ? No, I have never seen any of those acts in the day. 
3424. Have you never been shut up in the wards in the day' during wet weather ? No. 
3425. By the Chairman : Have you heard it mentioned among the prisoners that this boy 

was in the habit of submitting himself to the beastly use of the prisoners ? 
Yes. 

J. Scope. 

3426. 
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Darlingborst 3426. Have you ever seen prisoners pointed out who submitted themselves in this manner ? 
 1 Mar 1861. nave, but these are ones I could not prove. There is one by the names of 

- or 	 
. J. Scope. 3427. By Mr. Morris : Is he an old or a young man ? A lad, or a young man, two or 

three and twenty years of age. Another one-this is an affair I did not see, hut it was related 
to me by three or four of the men, when I was in the hospital last week 
and a young man were standing together. I do not exactly know how to express myself, but 
he was working the other; he had hold of his person, and worked it sons to cause his seed 
to flow forth, and there was a mob of people round him. In fact, one of the men up-stairs 
in the hospital saw it, and one of the men has been down to me and told me about it. 
3423. Are you a married man ? No. It is quite a common thing to hear these people called 
Judy This, and Lady That, and Miss So-and-so. It is quite a common thing to see the men 
called "dustmen" catching hold and kissing them before the men publicly. 
3429. That you have seen ? That I have seen. 
3430. What is 	  called ? He goes by the name of" Spot." 
3431. Has lie any feminine name ? No. 
3432. Can you state what is the name of 	 ? Lady Godiva. 
3433. Have you ever seen any prisoner kiss 	 ? Yes, I have seen two or three. 
3434. What prisoners 	I have seen 	 and 
3435. Is this 	  mho was appointed as a sort of delegate? Yes, the delegate 
for the old Act men they term it. 
3436. Have you ever noticed that the men who are supposed to be in habits of unnatural 
association with these treat them more kindly? Yes, they give them everything they require. 
3437. Treat them the same as they would girls ? The same as if they were women; in fact, 
they will almost go without anything themselves to let them have it. The names these 
people are called are only used by those they associate with-they only are allowed to call 
them. For instance, if I or any other man were to call them so we would most likely be 
mobbed-so that it is not exactly public. This C 	 is called Miss 	 
3438. By Mr. Walsh : Do the other prisoners know them by these names ? Yes; I have 
been there 'only two months, and when I, who have been there only two months, know, they 
must know them. The principal reason for my having anything to do with this falling out 
affair was chiefly that I might get away from the island, for my friends have a promise of 
mitigation of sentence. 
3439. Were you ever in a position of this kind before ? Yes, but not in a place of that 
description. 
3440. By Mr. Hart: Are you fond of reading ? Yes. 
3441. What do you usually read ? Almost any book that comes to hand. 
3442. The Bible ? Yes, occasionally. 
3443. Are you given to the study of religion ? No. 
3444. By the Chairman : Are Bibles common on the island ? If you take them or your 
friends send them to you. I had not a Bible for a month till I had a Bible sent from Sydney 
by my friends. 

William Thomas McGregor examined :- 
W. T. 	3445. By the Chairman : You came from Cockatoo Island here in January, along with the 

P4 Grego*. insubordinate prisoners ? Yes. 
3446. How long have you been upon the island? Two years and four months. 
3447. Under what sentence ? Six years. 
3448. Who tried you ? Judge Stephens. 
3449. Where ? At Goulburn. 
3450. Of what offence ? Obtaining money under false pretences. 
3451. During the time you were on the island how were you occupied ? As a shipwright 
and boatman. I had charge of the dock. 
3452. What ward were you in 	No. 5. 
3453. How many slept there ? Forty to fifty. 
3454. The Committee understand that you wish to make some statements with regard to 
immoral conduct on the island-you are in no *ay connected with another prisoner in the 
hospital named McGregor? No, I have not spoken to Lim three times since I have been 
here. 
3455. Are you a married man ? Yes. 
3456. Have you a wife and family? Yes. 
3457. How many children have you ? One. 
3458. Have you had more ? No. 
:8459. Were you living with your family at the time of your apprehension? Yes. The 
statement I have to make is, in the first place, the obscene language and bestiality carried 
on on the island-the acts I have seen on Cockatoo have been more generally by the 

-" Derwenters," the old hands. As soon as a good-looking young man comes on the island 
-they are all after him-they will do This for him, and they will do that for him, so-and-so. 

have seen them run into their berths naked in the night time in No. 5 ward. 
3460. You have seen one man go into the berth with another naked ? Yes. 
8461. Have you seen anything more than that ? No. 
13462. Have you frequently seen the men go into one another's berths? Yes, at night-time. 
3463. As a man somewhat advanced in years, and a man with a family, just state to us what 
was your experience on a given night, after you were locked up; try and describe-so that 
we 'may realize, as well as people can who have not been in the ward-what was the conduct 
of the prisoners, the state of the atmosphere, whether there were bad smells that were 

oppressive 
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oppressive to you, state whether you could sleep, or, if you could not sleep, state what Darlinghurst,  
noises you heard, or if you witnessed unseemly exhibitions on the part of the prisoners— MGarl°11861. 
give us, as exactly as you can, the history of one night ? I cannot state the day of the 
month, but previous to our coming here, I should think it must have been three nights 	W. T. 
before, — 	, a young man, and 	, commonly called Curly, and 	 M'Gregor. 
were sleeping on the top part of the bunks—the ward being so warm, there being so many in 
it. I sleptveryli ttle, and this 	says to 	, "We will see by and by, I think 
he will stand it." I said, " This is disgusting language • I see what you mean, what you are 
up to • I shall shift from here." I did so, and about twelve, or between eleven and twelve, I 
saw these two men go to this man's 	bed, and there they were naked the whole three 
of them. What was carried on I cannot say, you may judge for yourself what the result 
war. I went away with disgust to the other side of the ward. 
3464. Did you ever see any similar occurrence on any other occasion ? I heard of them, 
and it was known to be the fact that a man named 	  had connection with a 
man named  	, on the island. 
8465. By Mr. Walsh : Was 	  a young man ? Yes. 

.3466. By the Chairman: Was the conduct of the prisoners in the ward, without going to 
the extent you have just spoken of, very obscene—eharacterized by obscene displays of the 
person ? In general, I think most of these men were third or fourth convicted men. There 
is no classification—if a man wishes to become a good member of 'society afterwards, he goes 
there and his morals are corrupted by the manner they go on. 
.3467. Are you aware whether there are any young men on the island, prisoners, who are 
known by feminine names, such as Miss So-and-so ? Yes, there is one here, Lady Thursting. 
8468. Are you aware whether some of the prisoners display an unnatural kindness towards 
•others—whether they try to get little delicacies for them, and treat them as women ? Yes, 
I have actually seen it, even in this yard. 
3469. By Mr. Thindeyer : Do you remember any other cases of men being called by feminine 
names ? Yes, this 	  
3470. What is his name ? He has some other name, but 	 is called "Long Sal." 
3471. By the Chairman : What have you noticed with regard to their conduct to these 
prisoners ? I have known them to give them tea and sugar, and handkerchiefs, anything 
they could provide for them. 
3472. Have you seen anything in their personal demeanour—have you seen any of the 
prisoners kiss them ? No, I have not; if I said so, I should not tell the truth. 
3473. You do not want to go back to the island ? No, I do not. 

FRIDAY, 8 MARCH, 186L 

prevent:— 

I 
HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

John Callaghan called in and examined:— 
3474. By the Chairman: You have been employed for some years in Darlinghurst Gaol F J. Callaghan. 
Yes. 
3475. How long ? Nine years and ten months. 	 8 Mar., 1861. 
3476. Who was gaoler when you were first employed there ? Capt. Webster. 
3477. What situation did v fill when you were first employed • in Darlinghurst Gaol ? I 
was employed as turnkey day and night. 
.3478. As ordinary turnkey ? Yes: 
3479. How long did you act as ordinary turnkey ? For three years. 
3480. Without any variation or change ? Yes. 
3481. After the expiration of these three years or thereabouts, how were you employed ? I 
was sent to take charge of the working men in the stockade—masons, stone-cutters, and 
labourers. 
3482. You were, in fact, overseer of the stockade ? Yes. 
3483. That describes you correctly ? Yes, so far as relates to the masons and stone-cutters; 
not to carpenters and smiths. 
3484. But in the place called the stockade ? Yes. 
3485. tow long did you continue in that capacity 	Four years and a half. 
3486. That is seven years and a hail out of the nine years and ten months ; what did you 
do then ? As soon as the works were given over at the Colonial Architect's Department I 
was sent to the south wall, when Mr. Farley was sent there. 
3487. You were removed from the situation of overseer of the stockade when Mr. Farley 
look charge ? Yes. 
3488. Did this person—Mr. Farley—take the same charge as you had previously? Yes. 
3489. He was in just the same position as you were? Yes. 
3490. Were his duties in any way distinguished from the duties you had been discharging 
No. 

3491, 
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7. 911.1111Whaq. 3491. Tie seemed to be doing just the same? No; I had charge of the work. 
3492. Was any reason given for your being removed? No reason. He was sent from the 

8 Mar., 1861. Colonial Architect's to take charge of the works. 
3493. Are you sure that this Mr. Farley took charge under the orders of the Colonial 
Architect? Yes. 
3494. Can you recollect any circumstance that would fix the time when he took the charge? 
I could not exactly say how many months he was there previously to the other three men 
Coming. 
3495. Do you feel pretty sure that it was about seven years and a half after you first went 
into the gaol ? Yes, I should say between seven and eight years. 
M96. Where is this person-Mr. Parley-now; is he in the gaol now ? Not in the gaol. 
3497. Where is he ? After he was removed from the charge-sometime after the three 
overseers catue-he was overseer of the quarry, over the prisoners. 
3498. However, when this Mr:Farley came to take charge of the stockade, you were 
removed to some other duty-what was that ? I was removed to the south wall, convenient 
to where the prisoners escaped. 
3499. How long did you remain stationed at the south wall without any interruption to 
your duty ? May be eight or nine months; between seven and nine months. 
3500. From seven to nine months? Somewhere about that. 
3601. What did you do then ? I received an order to relieve these men alternately every 
fourteen days-Mr. Lee and Mr. Rispen-on the wing, and fourteen days on the south wall. 
3502. Your next duty was of this character,-that you were a fortnight on the two wings, 
and then a fortnight on the south wall ? Yes. 
35113. How long did you continue employed in that manner? About three months. 
3504. What followed upon that? I was ordered to take charge of the new wing from that. 
3505. You then left the south wall altogether ? Yes. 
3506. You left the hard labour and committal wing altogether? Yes. 
3507. And you took charge of the new wing? Yes. 
3608. Is that where the Cockatoo Island prisoners have been confined lately ? Yes. 
3509. How long did you continue in charge of the new wing ? About three weeks, I think. 
3510. What followed upon that? I received an order when Mr. Harrison was suspended. 
3511. We have not got to that by a year-we have a year to account for yet ? I am sorry 
I .  have not the dates; that is particularly the way I was employed, only I am at a loss to 
give 	exact time. 
3512. You say you have been in the gaol nine years and ten months-about three years a 
turnkey, and then four years and a half overseer of the stockade, which is seven and a half 
years out of the nine years and ten months, leaving two years and four months to be accounted 
for-the duties you have described did not take up a year of the remaining time-when you 
can tell us so exactly that you were three weeks on one duty and three months on another, 
how is it that you cannot speak more precisely as to this longer period? I did not keep 
the dates. 
3513. Is it possible that you were more than three years overseer in one place-you might 
have been four years? I might have been four years. 
3514. You cannot remember exactly ? No. 	 • 
3516. You are sure of these etsi-that first you were turnkey, then overseer, then stationed 
for a time exclusively on the south prison, then alternately on the hard labour and committal 
wings, and the south wall, and then on the new wing, and were performing that duty when 
Mr. Harrison was suspended? Yes, I was performing it. ( Vide Appendix A.) 
3516. What took place on Mr. Harrison's suspension? Since then I have done duty as 
principal turnkey. 
3517. You are now acting as principal turnkey ? Yes. 
3518. You performed that duty this morning? Yes. 
3519. Will you describe to the Committee what you did prior to coming here ? In the 
first place, this morning at six o'clock I had the keys from the offlec--Mr. Read's office; 
I came from the office to the wing; I saw the warders were present ; I gave the keys of the 
committal wing to the warder in charge of that wing; I gave the keys of the bard labour 
wing to the warder in charge of that wing; I gave the keys of the new wing to the warder 
in charge of that wing; and then went round the gaol to see that each man was on his post. 
When I had pirfortned that duty   
3520. Who were the men on the several posts round the gaol when you went round? 
Graham was on the gate, 13ickhato on the wing, Elliott on the stockade, Gregory on the 
south wall, Agnew on the north wall, Callaghan on the front, and Canby on the east fence. 
3521. By Mr. Hart: Is that the memorandum in which you record each man's daily 
attendance? This is the memorandum I keep of the duty. I make my entries in the 
evening of the duties to be performed on the following day. ( Witness handed a small 
mtmorandum-book, without cover, to Mr. Hart.) 
3522. When did you make this entry ? Yesterday evening. 
3523. Is there any other book kept by you, as principal turnkey, in which . you record the 
daily ditties of each man-your entries in that honk are made in pencil ? Yes, at present. 
3524. You keep that for your own private information? Yes; and I copy that, when I 
get time to do so, into another book. 
3525. I asked you whether there is any record in the gaol of each man's daily attendance to 
his duty? No record at present. 
3526. Are you sure there is DO hook? No book. 
3527. Where is the book kept now ? I will have a book for my own information. 
3528. That is a private book ? Yes. 

3529. 
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3529. By the Chairman : Will you state to the Committee whether the arrangement which Y. Cannel/in, 
you have just stated is the same as has existed for the last twelve months in the gaol-the 
arrangement of these men at their various posts for the night ? No. 	 S Mar., 1.801. 
3530. Some new arrangement, is it ? Yes. 
3531. Made when ? Since I have been appointed, and Mr. Read came there. 	, 
3582.. Made in consequence of the attempted escape, I suppose? Yes. 
3533. Will you proceed to explain the rest of your duties to-day ? After that the next duty 
was-there were fifty men slept in the new wing last night-I mustered fifty men yesterday. 
evening for the new wing, this morning I mustered the same number, calling the names,: 
and I mustered them into the hard labour yard from the new wing-that was the next duty 
I did. Then was the next-the prisoners for discharge at nine o'clock. I discharged the 
prisoners-at least Mr. Read discharged the prisoners-previously to my coming here at ten 
o'clock this morning. 
3534. During the time you have been in the prison, have you ever had any opportunity of 
observing how the keys of the gaol were kept, prior to your taking charge as principal 
turnkey, at night ? The keys were kept in the charge of the principal turnkey at night. 
3535. Was it ever your duty to get the keys in the morning ? No. 
3536. You never applied for the keys in the morning ? Never. 
3527. Do you know where the keys were kept ? No. 
3533. You did not know whether the keys were kept up stairs, or below stairs, during all 
these nine'years ? No, during the nine years I never did. 
3539. Did you ever hear they were kept on a peg behind the door at Mr. Harrison's? No. 
3540. Did you ever see any of the turnkeys drunk ? Yes. 
3541. Which of them ? I have seen Lee drunk. 
8542. Any others-did you ever see Harrison drunk ? I have seen him very stupid looking. 
3513. You mean stupid looking from the effects of drink ? Yes. 
3544. You have no doubt about it ? No. 
3515. Did you ever know him drink with prisoners outside the gaol? No, I have not. 
3546. had you ever anything to do with a prisoner named Polack in the gaol-did your 
duties bring you into contact with him-was he under your charge ? He was four days, 
under any charge, when I was in charge of the committal wing. 
3547. Is it within your knowledge that he received different treatment from other prisoners? 
Not when he came under my charge; he received treatment the same as the other prisoners. 
3548. Was his dress the same ? Yes. 
3549. Did be eat the same ? Yes. 
3550. Was his cell in the same order ? Yes. 
3551. Did you ever hear of any distinction made in his case ? I did not. 
8552. Did you ever observe any signs of distinction recently 	Regarding clothing-I did 
not see him till latterly. 
8553. Did you see him in other clothes than the rest of the prisoners? Yes. 
3554. What clothes have you seen him in? A plain coat and waistcoat. 
3555. A black coat? A sort of blue coat. On another occasion I saw him in a suit of 
plain clothes. 
3556. Dressed in the usual manner? Yes. 
3557, Did you know him before lie was received as prisoner? No. 
3553. You have seen him in a dress which would not distinguish him from any other foot-
passenger in George-street? On one occasion I saw him in a dress that could not distinguish 
him from a free person. 
3559. Similar to your own ? Yes, plain clothes. 
3560. There was nothing more in his dress to indicate that he was a prisoner than there is 
in yours ? No. 
3561. Where was he when you saw him next ? He was standing at the wing. 
3562. When was it ? About four or five months ago I saw him standing at the wing in 
pin in clothes. 
3563, Du you think the Sheriff must have known this-the Sheriff visited the gaol some-
times, did he not? Yes. 
3564. And Dr. West, the medical attendant ? Yes. 
3565. They must have known this ? I could not exactly say. 
3566. Was it not their duty to visit the part of the gaol where he was . ? It was the duty of 
the Sheriff to visit the gaol. 
3567. Could he have been in the state you describe without the authorities of the gaol 
knowing ? Ile could not. 
3568. Would it have been possible for him to have received that indulgence without the 
principal turnkey or principal gaoler knowing it ? He could not have received the 
indulgence without the knowledge of the principal turnkey. 
3569. Might he have received it without the knowledge of the principal gaoler ? He might. 
3570. Did you ever hear any complaints made of the treatment be received-complaints 
made to the head authorities of the gaol ? No. 
3571. During the time you have been in the gaol, what steps have been taken for keeping 
the wards clean-keeping the cells clean ? The prisoners in the cells are supplied with 
rubbing stone,,and they rub the floor with that stone ; and there are wardsmen appointed to 
each wing, for the purpose of cleaning the passages, railing, and so forth. 
3572. How often where the cells whitewashed ? Whitewashed F-I believe that the labour 
wing has not been whitewashed for some time. When I say some time, perhaps two months, 
perhaps three months, 
3573. What regulation was there for cleansing the bedding, washing the blankets, keeping 

the 
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3. Callaghan. the bedding of the prisoners clean ? No regulation that I am aware of, till these few days ;• 
the blankets are given to the women to wash now. 

8 Mar., 1861. 3574. That is very recently ? Very recently. 
3575. Do you remember this Committee visiting the gaol first ? I do. 
3576. Is it since then that the blankets have been given to the female prisoners to be 
washed ? Yes. 
3577. You never saw them given to the prisoners before to be washed ? No. 
8578. Has there been much whitewashing going on lately ? We shall finish the new wing-
to-day. 
3579. Has there been much whitewashing going on since the Committee visited the gaol ? 
Yes ; the female wing has been done since, and the labour wing will be done to-day. 
3580. What regulation has there been to compel the prisoners to keep themselves clean ?' 
On Saturday now- 
3581. Formerly-I am speaking now with reference to your nine years experience ? In 
Captain Webster's time, the prisoners paraded every Suuday morning ; they were clean 
shaved, had their hair properly out, clean linen shirts on, trousers turned up above the 
knees, and jackets above the elbows ; they held out their hands, and extended their arms 
full length, and they had shoes on their feet. Captain Webster inspected them on Sunday 
mornings. 
3582. That regulation was in order to enforce personal cleanliness ? Yes. 
3583. Was that regulation allowed to be discontinued after Captain Webster's diath ? It 
was discontinued after his death. 
3584. After Captain Webster's death, up to the recent change-of course I allude to the 
suspension of Harrison and 13everley-was there any regulation to enforce personal clean-
liness I No. 
3585. Can you state to the Committee, having had so long an experience in the gaol, 
whether there were cases where the prisoners allowed themselves to become quite filthy in 
person ? I have beard of cases where prisoners were marked out as dirty-vermin. 
3586. Lousy you mean ? Lousy, I mean. 
3587. I suppose you are the father of a family ? I have no family. 
3588. Do you think that the prisoners were in a proper state of cleanliness all that time- 
that they were washed sufficiently frequently from head to foot ? Not properly. 
3589. You must know how necessary it is, for the preservation of health and strength, that 
persons should be kept clean ? I do. 
3590. Do you consider that there were sufficient regulations in force to preserve health and 
physical strength among the prisoners by cleanliness ? I think not. 
3591. Was it the case that if men of filthy dispositions chose to neglect themselves from 
one year's end to another, there was no regulation to compel them to clean themselves ? 
There was no regulation; but it was the duty of the warder in charge of the wing to see if any 
case of that sort came under his observation, and it was his duty to point the man out to the 
principal turnkey-not even so-to have him removed and cleansed. 
3592. Was there any such regulation as the one ordered by Captain Webster, by which 
cleanliness would be enforced without its resting upon the discretion of a warder ? Yes. 
3593. Without giving such an extreme case as that just now, suppose a prisoner chose to 
neglect to wash himself for months-were not even to wash his hands and face; if he com-
plied with the other rules of the gaol, would he be liable to punishment ? No; unless the 
warder chose to take notice of it; he could give a clean shirt and have him washed. 
3594. Did it ever occur to you as a serious piece of neglect ? Yes. 
3595. You who have seen this praiseworthy regulation of Captain Webster-did it not strike. 
you as a grave defect-did you ever mention it ? No, Mr. Harrison was principal turnkey-
he was well aware of this regulation. Cleanliness is the principal means of keeping health 
in the prison. 
3596. Could this state of things have existed without the knowledge of the Sheriff ? It. 
may be possible ; the principal turnkey is the principal man in the gaol. 
3597. Did not the Sheriff visit the gaol ? Yes. 
3598. How often ? He was there once a week, sometimes oftener; he has recently been 
oftener than once a week. 
3599. What was the character of his visits-what did he do when he came in ? He visited 
the different wings, when be came in at meal time, or would see them at their dinner, or 
would go into the different workshops if in working hours, or go into the new wing, and all 
round the gaol-the different parts of it where men were employed. 
3600. By Mr, Hart: What is Polack confined for-what is his offence? His offence was 
something in the shape of a fraud. 
3601. Is there any regulation by which prisoners, who are confined for matters that are not 
felony are allowed indulgences, either in the shape of food or clothing, if their friends 
outside can support them ? There is a regulation to that effect. 
3602. What is the regulation ? If a man is in for trial, he can support himself; if sentenced 
to imprisonment he can support himself, or his friends can. The exception is, if a man is 
undergoing hard labour he is not allowed. 
3603. Is Polack undergoing hard labour ? Yes, he is. • 3604. Is there any other prisoner in the gaol at present who is not compelled to wear the 
prison uniform ? There is a man named Garsed, be does not wear the prison uniformi, be, 
is undergoing imprisonment. 
3605. Without hard labour ? Yes. 
3606. Is there any periodical examination of the prisoners from head to foot, denuded of 
their elothin ? Not at present. 

3607. 
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3607. Do you consider that that would be a salutary course ? Yes, I do, very much so. 	1:1211ag1ian. 
3608. When the prisoner is first admitted to the prison, is he examined by the surgeon from 
head to foot ? He is examined by the dispenser-at least drunkards are-in case a man got 8 Mar., 1861 
other punishment-imprisonment or hard labour-if he has complained of anything they 
doctor those persons. 
3609. Is he denuded of his clothing ? He is taken to the bath-house and washed. All 
prisoners, with the exception of the drunkards, are removed to the bath-house, washed, and 
then from that brought to the barber, shaved, and have their hair cut. 
3010. Have you heard any complaints of there not being sufficient facility for using the bath 
in gaol ? No; they come now on the Saturday afternoon ; they work till twelve; from one 
o'clock they are removed by sixes, commencing with the confine yard, till that is completed; 
then the fiord labour, and then the committed yard. So that each man is washed every 
Saturday afternoon now: 
3611. By Mr. Walsh : Is the entire body washed ? Yes ; the man strips, and goes into the 
bath ; there are two baths there. 
3612. By Ms. Hart : is there a plentiful supply of water ? Yes. 
3613. How often is the water in the bath changed ? It can be changed after every six 
men-after every two men. 
3614. In point of fact, when is the water changed ? When six men have washed in it, the 
bath- 
3615. As the principal turnkey, what is your opinion as to the propriety of changing it 
oftener ? I would change it for every two men. 
361B. Would you like to wash in a bath after five men had been in it ? Not in one; there 
are two baths-three men. 
3617. Is the water in each bath changed after the sixth man leaves it ? It can be changed 
after each man. 
3618. I am not speaking of whet can be done ? I was not present-I am not able to answer 
that question-I will tell you the number taken there, but I was not present at the washing. 
3619. Is the duty of seeing these men washed confided to a certaio warder ? 'To the warder 
in charge of the hard labour prisoners. 
3620. Is he permanently on that wing ? Yes. 
3621. What is his name ? Thomas Lee, 
3622. Do you consider that the warders or turnkeys, who are under you now, are fully 
competent for their duties ? I consider there is an exception. 
3623. Will you state it ? That exception is-there has been a man of the name of 
Callaghan ; I consider him not sharp enough, because when our prisoners are in motion, their 
action should call the attention of men who can form an opinion of their motives. 
3024. By the Chairman : That one WS on duty when the seventeen prisoners escaped ? 
Yes ; prisoners' movements should draw the attention of the turnkey, for they always have 
some object in view by their actions. 
3695. By Mr. Hari : Has it occurred to you that the warders and turnkeys appear, in some 
instances, to be dressed very shabbily ? No. 
3096. Have they the privilege, or is it their duty, to wear any particular dress, or can they 
dress as they like ? They can dress as they like, so long as they are respectably dressed. 
3627. What would you consider if they were compelled to wear a decent uniform, either 
similar to the police, or similar to that of ally other force ? I would consider it very good. 
3628. Would it not give them an air of authority ? Yes; and they would be remarkable 
-they would be known by the prisoners as such-that they were in authority over them. 
3699. Do you know anything about the competencyof the female turnkeys? No; nothing at all. 
3630. You do not feel competent to speak on that subject ? No. 
3631. By Mr. Walsh : Persons sent in for drunkenness, I understood you to say, were not 
washed ? They are not ; they considered that it would not be safe to the health of a man 
brought in for drunkenness to put him into cold water ; under that impression they are not 
washed. 
3632. They are generally confined for forty-eight hours ? Twenty-four hours and forty-
eight hours. 
3633. Do you not find that they generally come into the gaol in a great state of filth 7 
Very dirty. 
3634. Are they sent out in the same way? Yes; putting them into cold water it is thought 
might endanger their health. 
3035. After the lapse of forty-eight hours they are sent out as they came in? Just as they 
came in. 
3636. By Mi.. Hart : Could they not be washed in a warm bath ? There could be a warm 
bath prepared there. 
3637. Do you not think that a ducking would do them good before they went out? I think 
they would be all the better for it; but the feeling was that danger might follow it, the man 
having been indulging in drink. 
3638. By the Chairman : Do you remember that on the occasion of the Colonial Architect 
assuming the superintendence of works in the gaol, there were a number of turnkeys 
discharged? Yes. 
3639. How many turnkeys were there left? I think eighteen, including the six who left. 
3640. Six were discharged, leaving twelve? Yes. 
3641. Can you tell the Committee upon what principle these men were discharged-whether 
they were the men who had been there the shortest time, or whether they were peculiarly 
incompetent men ? Among the men who were discharged there were some who were fully 
competent to do duty, who were good turnkeys, and who had been longer in the gaol than 
those who were retained-men who had carried out the discipline to its fullest extent. 

157-P 	 3642. 
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Callaghan. 3642. On such an occasion we should generally presume that if it was found necessary to 
discharge some of the officers, those who had been there the shortest time would have been 

8 Mar., 1881. discharged, unless there were some reason of inefficiency for the discharge of the others—
that would be a general rule according to your understanding ? Yes. 
3643. Is it a fact that sonic of the oldest turnkeys were discharged while some of those 
recently appointed were retained ? Yes. 
3644. And those men who were discharged were men against whom there was no complaint ? 
Not that I am aware of. 
3645. Do you remember a man named Frederick Pegg ? Yes. 
3646. He was discharged then, was he not? Yes. 
3647. Was lie a man who generally conducted himself well ? Yes; a most competent turnkey. 
3648. A man in the vigour of life, able and strong ? Yes; strict and regular in his habits 
and attendance. 
3649. Were men retained who had been appointed much later than be had received his 
appointment ? Yes. 
3650. Do you remember another man named Thomas Johnson ? Yes. 
3051. Had he been a turnkey several years ? Yes. 
3652. Was he a man who conducted himself well ? As far as I can recoltect I never heard 
a fault against him. 
3653. You never saw him drunk ? No. 
3654. You never saw anything in his conduct —? That I could be prepared to say 
was faulty. 
3655. Was there a feeling of dissatisfaction, as to the manner in which these people were 
discharged, among those old turnkeys who remained ? Yes, that was the feeling. 
3656. You, as turnkey—could you understand the principle on which they were dis-
charged—looking at it in this light, that it was necessary to discharge some in consequence 
of their numbers being too great—could you understand the rule on which they were 
discharged; some of them having been there many years, being men of good conduct, and 
yet they being discharged, while others who had been there only a short time, and were in no 
way more efficient, were retained ? I cannot understand why they were discharged—
the principle; or, at least, what I heard there was that they were discharged for the 
purpose of their pay going to pay three overseers. 
3657. That is not what we are driving at, but what was the reason for selecting these 
particular men—you say you have been there nine years and ten months—do not you 
consider that if you behave yourself that should give you a title to preference over a man 
who has been there only ten months ? I do. 
3658. Suppose you were discharged to-morrow, and a person was retained no way better 
than yourself, who had been there only ten months ? Yes, I should feel aggrieved. 
3659. Was not that the case with some of the men, only not in so great a degree ? Yes. 
3660. Was not this man Johnson discharged after he had been six years there ? Yes. 
3661. Did you hear that he had a high character from the gaoler ? I did not hear that; 
but from my knowledge, I consider him a worthy man. 
3062. Among the twelve turnkeys retained, were there not some in no way remarkably 
efficient, who had been there only a short time ? Yes. 
3663. While among those who were discharged, were several very efficient? Yes. 
3664. Did not that appear very capricious on the part of the authorities ? Yes. 
3665. You never heard any reason assigned for selecting those six men ? No. 
3666. Do you recollect the names of any others besides Pegg and Johnson ? A man named 
Donald. 
3067 Can you state to the Committee whether among any of the men more recently 
appointed, and who were retained, there were those who were not SO sober as they ought to be ? 
I cannot say. 
8608. You are now principal turnkey ? Acting principal turnkey. 
3669. Therefore you have more authority than usual—if you had authority to discharge six 
men out of eighteen, were there any of recent appointment retained, whom you would have 
selected to discharge on account of their inefficiency ? I would have selected some of those 
who WPM discharged as compared with those who were retained. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

MEMORANDUM showing how Mr. Callaghan, Tnnikey in ELM. Gaol, Darlinghurst, was employed 
from the year 1551, tO the present time. 

From fly, 1851, to February, 1836 ..... 

From February, 1856, to May, 1859 ........ 

From May, 18.59, to August, 1860 .. 

f As ordinary turnkey; two (2) months of which was 
I over Insane men. 

Over the works in Stockade. 
(On South Wall. In August, 1860, I was shifted 

from South Wall to do duty in the Wings, viz :— 
▪ 14 days on Committed Wing; 11 days on the 
• Labour Wing ; and L4 days on the South Will, al-

ternately relieving Turnkeys Lee and Rispen. I 
t was also employed 14 days on the Gate. 

In the beginning of February I took charge of the New Wing, in which was confined the 
Cockatoo insubordinates. and remained in charge until the 12th February, 1861, when I was ordered by 
the Under Sheriff to du Principal Turnkey's duty. 

Mr. 
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Mr. William Walsh called in and examined :- 

3670. By the Chairman : You hold some situation in the establishment of Darlinghurst 
Gaol ? I am dispenser there. 
3671. Are you a surgeon ? I am not a member of a College, but I was educated for a 8  Mar, 
surgeon. 
3672. Will you state what experience you have bad ? I was apprenticed to a qualified sur-
geon in London, for five years. I attended lectures. I never succeeded in passing a Coll e 
as I never applied, yet I have acted as surgeon to carious ships and public institutions. 
3673. What were the ships ? Two ships-one a whaler and the other a merchant ship. 
For five years I was apothecary to the Bath United Hospital. I was also dispenser on board 
H. M. S. " Defence," which had 700 prisoners. 
3674. Prior to receiving your present appointment what situation were you filling ? I was 
two years dispenser on Cockatoo Island. 
3675. During the time you must necessarily have had a good deal of intercourse with the 
prisoners ? Yes, I had. 
3676. Did you ever hear any allegations that unnatural crime was perpetrated among the 
prisoners ? I have heard such a report. 
3677. At different times ? Once or twice I have had men pointed out to me as given to 
those crimes. 
3678. Were these reports made to you under circumstances, or accompanied by corroborating 
facts which led you to believe there was any truth in them ? I have received them with 
doubt. The only case where I had reason to believe such a thing did exist, was this : About 
two years ago a man named Collins stabbed a man in the head, of the name of Malloy; they 
were both prisoners, and this occurred between eleven and twelve at night. Collins was 
tried at the Central Criminal Court in January, I think two years ago, and in his defence 
he stated that the reason he stabbed Malloy was to resist an attack made upon him. There 
were two men of the name of Malloy on the island-one named John, who escaped some 
time ago; that is not the man I refer to. That is the only case I know. 
3679. This statement was made in Court ? Yes. 
3680. Have any circumstances come to your knowledge, professionally, that would lead you 
to the conclusion that unnatural crimes were committed ? No. I have seen two men 
pointed out to me in the yard as given to that practice;   and 
3681. Do you know a prisoner who was recently in the hospital at Darlinghurst Gaol, named 
Frederick Macgregor ? I do. 
3682. Has he ever made any revelations to you of this kind ? No, never. 
3683. How long has he been in the hospital ? He came over with a gang of men for 
punishment, and was in the hospital seven or eight days. 
3681. Is he in the hospital now ? No, he went away to Cockatoo when the men were sent back. 
3685. What was the general conduct of this prisoner when under your notice ? I have 
seen him both at Darlinghurst and at Cockatoo, and he seemed quiet and well conducted-
I never beard of his being punished. 
3686. Do you know a prisoner who was in the hospital about the same time, named George 
Jones ? I do. 
3687. Is he still in the gaol ? Ile is still in the gaol, but is not in the hospital. 
3688. What is his general conduct ? I have no knowledge of the man, because he arrived 
on the island after I left. I have only seen him while be has been in the hospital. 
3689. From the little knowledge you have had of him while he has been in Darlinghurst 
Gaol? The man's conduct is quiet. 
3690. Has he ever made any statement to you of this character ? No. 
3691. Do you know a prisoner who was in the hospital about the same time, named Scope, 
orWilliams? I know a prisoner of the name of Williams, a native of the Colony. 
3692. Have you had any opportunity of observing his conduct ? Yes, both at Cockatoo and 
in the gaol. 
3692. What do you think of him ? I believe the average of his conduct is good and quiet. 
3694. Did he ever make any statement to you of the nature I have alluded to ? None. 
3695. Was there another prisoner in the hospital at the same time, William Thomas 
Macgregor, an older man ? Yes. 
3696. I lad you any opportunity of observing his conduct? Yes, both here and at Cockatoo. 
3697. Have you had any opportunity of observing his conduct? No, these men were quiet, 
and remarkably well conducted men. 
3698. With reference to all these four men I have named, have you any special reason for 
doubting their truthfulness ? None, that I am aware of-but I should receive these reports 
with caution. 
3699. I wish to know whether there is any special reason to receive their statements with 
more than ordinary caution ? Not that I am aware of, no special reason; but if I might 
be permitted, I would suggest these men have an object to gain, namely, that they may not 
be sent back to the island. 
3700. Do you know a warder* named Mackie ? He is a warder* in the hospital at the 
present moment. 
3701. Is he a prisoner ? Yes. 
2702. How long has he been a warder there ? About fourteen months, I think. 
3703. How long have you been there yourself ? About eighteen months. 
3704. What has been the conduct of this warder, Mackie ? Very correct, I consider, for a 
prisoner. 

3705. 

• Query (By witness): Wardsman. 
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Mr. W. Walsh. 3705. Do you think him a man of respectable character, using the word in its application to 
a prisoner? I believe his conduct has been generally very good-his time will expire 

Man, 1861. to-morrow. 
3706. By Mr. WhIsh: While you were upon the island did you hear any of the men there 
called by femi oink; names, as Lady So-and-so, Miss Su and-so ? I have not heard it on the 
island, but on board H.M.S. " Defence," and in London particularly so. 
3707. Is the assumption of a name of that kind indicative of the person to whom it is 
applied being addicted to those abominable practices ? I should consider so. I know such 
practices do exist in London. I have known cases of persons assuming the female dress. 
3708. Are you referring to a ease in Beck's Medical Jurisprudence ? No, to cases I have 
known myself. While I was on the "Defence" a young man received seven years trans-
portation for the offence. 
3709. By Mr. Wilson : Do you prescribe medicines? Yes. 
3710. Will you be kind enough to tell the Committee under what circumstances you pre-
scribe ? In the morning when the men fall out, or give their names as complaining of being 
ill, they are brought over to me, and if it is a ease which requires it, I prescribe or exempt 
the party and leave him for the inspection of the visiting surgeon. 
3711. Bow often does the visiting surgeon visit the gaol ? Every day, and Cockatoo 
Island twice a week. 
3712- Of course these men who are exempted by you are brought under the inspection of 
the visiting surgeon ? Yes. If it is a case which is not likely to involve anything serious 
I exempt a man for a day or two, and give simple medicines; if he do not get better I then 
place him under the surgeon. 
3713. You do not in all cases where you exempt a man place him under his inspection ? 
Not in all. 
3714. Does the medical attendant prescribe hospital diet, or do you ? If the case were left 
for Dr. West he would prescribe the diet. 
3715. In exempted oases? They are only on prison rations, they are not on hospital diet ; 
they do not get hospital diet unless they are taken to the hospital. 
3716. How often did the medical attendant visit Cockatoo Island when you were there? 
Twice a week-Tuesdays and Saturdays are the days for Dr. West to attend. 
3717. Is that left to the option of the medical attendant, or is the time specified by the 
Government? The time is specified by the Government; formerly it used to be Saturdays 
and Wednesdays, but it was altered in consequence of some fresh arrangement about the boats. 
3718. Do you not think it as necessary that he should visit Cockatoo Island every day, as 
that he should visit Darlinghurst ? Sometimes accidents happen at Cockatoo, and of course 
in those events he goes immediately. 
37 19. Ian' alluding to the necessity of his daily attendance ? I scarcely think it is quite 
so necessary, for in Darlinghurst there is a constant shifting of persons, apd there are also 
almost every day lunatics received who require immediate inspection and providing for. 
8720. Are these lunatics taken into hospital ? In any case where there is the slightest 
disposition to illness. 
3721. On the day when we visited Darlinghurst Gaol, we found a female prisoner said to be 
labouring from epilepsy, lying in one of the cells in the wing, and not in the hospital? 
That would be a case where the woman was extremely violent, and where it would have 
been dangerous to have put her with other patients. 
3722. Have you not a lunatic cell ? I am sorry to say we have not. 
3723, Do you think such a cell as that highly necessary ? Yes, I think so. 
3724. Are you aware whether this woman I allude to was violent ? I think I remember 
the case, and that she came in extremely violent. 
3725. By Mr. Hari: Was it not from the treatment she received rather than from any 
defect in her constitution ? I believe she had been ill-treated outside by her friends. 
3726. By Mr. Wilson : Do you inspect those lunatics who are unwell and confined in the 
cells in the wing ? I inspect them immediately they come in ; I get their names and 
histories, so that I may give them to Dr. West. 
3727. Is t heir general treatment under your superintendence? Not at all; they are under 
Dr. Wrest, for the object is to get them certified and taken to the Lunatic Asylum as soon as 
possible. 
3728. They are left under the charge of a particular wardsman ? Under a wardswomam 
3729. Of course, in the case of a woman, but a man under similar circumstances, would be 
under the charge of a wardsman ? Yes. I am supposed to visit these people in the cells 
every day at nine in the morning; if I see they are likely to be ill or dangerous, I some-
times, on my own responsibility, order them into the hospital. 
3780. You think it absolutely necessary that there should be a lunatic cell connected with 
the hospital ? Yes. 
8731. Have you any baths attached to the hospital ? Not attached to the hospital, but so 
close that they can be made use of. 
3732. Are they in the same building? Within two or three yards of it, but not attached 
to it. 
3733. If you have a patient very sick who requires a warm bath, have you any means of 
giving him one ? Yes, we have a shoe bath, and we have both shower and plunging 
baths close to the hospital. 
3734. You have only a shoe bath for the hospital ? Yes. 
3735. By Mi.. Walsh : In case a patient is not able to go to the bath ? We use the shoe 
bath. 
8736. By Mr. Wilson : Do you think, as a general thing, sufficient attention is paid to 

personal 
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personal cleanliness in Darlinghurst Gaol? Generally I do not; both men and women come Mr.W.Walsh, 
in in such a state of extreme filth, that it is difficult to get them clean for a period. 
3737. Does that arise from an inherent love of filth ? I believe so. 	 8 Mar., 1861. 
3738. Are the regulations sufficiently stringent to cause them to bathe themselves ? I do 
not know whether the rules are sufficiently stringent to enforce cleanliness. I believe a 
good deal rests with the men, but they must undergo a certain ablution daily. 
3739. That certain ablution being the washing of the hands and face? Yes. 
3740. Are you aware of the number of baths altogether in Darlinghurst Gaol ? 	think 
there are six in the bath-house ; two of which are generally kept for the private use of Mr. 
Beverley and his family. 
3741. Then there would be only four for the use of the prisoners ? Yes. 
3742. Have the prisoners access to these baths every day if they choose ? I do not think 
that has generally been so. I think there has been a difficulty about the baths being brought 
into use on account of the Government not allowing a sufficient quantity of eral to enable us 
to beat water for the warm baths. No coals have been allowed for the use of the bath-house. 
3743. Do you think coals are necessary for the ordinary bath ? No, for warm baths only. 
3744. But I am talking of cold bathing-the general ablution of the inmates of Darlinghurst 
Gaol-do you think the prisoners have sufficient facilities for that description of bathing ? 
No, there is not sufficient, for it takes a long time to wash all the men. 
3745. You state that there are only four of these baths ? Only four of common access. 
3740. You are not aware whether they are in general use among the prisoners ? They are 
not in general use; when a man comes in particularly filthy he is taken to the bath. 
3747. By Mr. Hurt: Do you reside in the gaol ? I do not. 
3748. In the event of a prisoner being taken ill at night, is there not a danger of his 
suffering very much by not being able to communicate with you ? I am in such close con-
tiguity to the gaol that I can be there in a few minutes. 
8749. Have any eases occurred where it has been necessary to send to you? I am con-
tinually sent to, sometimes two or three times in a night. I do not think a week passes 
without some such cases. 
3750. Are there greater facilities for the ablution of prisoners at Cockatoo Island than at Dar-
lingh urst Gaol? Yes, lately there have been, because they have been allowed the use of the dock. 
3751. With respect to the practices which have been alluded to at Cockatoo Island-do you 
know if any means were taken by the authorities to ascertain the truth of these allegations 
by watching the prisoners, unobserved, from the roof, or some other portion of the wards ? 
As the wards are arranged at present I think it is almost impossible to do so. 
3752. Suppose it is now alleged that there are persons there who are passive agents, could 
the truth of that statement be ascertained by surgical examination ? No, I think not; 
unless there were disease among them. 
3753. Then as the wards are constructed there are no means of ascertaining officially whether 
these crimes are committed or not? No, for the wards are patrolled by prisoners who might 
connive at such practices or be afraid to give information, and there is no possibility of the 
officers seeing them. 
$754. Why are not free warders employed in these passages instead of prisoners? I do not 
know ; it was always the ease at Home. I think prisoners require more supervision in the 
night than they do in the day time. 
3755. Are the wards lighted up at night? There is a lantern at the end of the ward, but 
very often the lamp is partially out. I have seen the place in total darkness when I have 
been called at night. 
3756. Did you report that to the authorities? I have made a complaint that there has not 
been sufficient light. 
3757. To whom did you make the representation? I have merely told the head turnkey, 
Mr. Brown, since dead. It did not come within the catalogue of my duties. I merely had 
to look after the light in the hospital. I have spoken to the warder of the dormitories. 
3758. Is there any light communicated to the cells of Darlinghurst Gaol at night? Not 
singly to the cells, but the corridors are lighted up. 
3759. Arc not the doors of each cell closed so as to exclude that light ? Yes. 
3700. Have you seen any of the prisons at Home recently ? Not recently. I have been in 
tins country about five years. 
3761. Are you in a position to state whether the cells of prisons recently erected are lighted? 
Yes, I believe each cell is lighted up. 
3762. In winter at what hour are the prisoners locked up at Darlinghurst ? About five in 
the winter and six in the Balmer. 
3763. At what hour are they let out in the morning? At half-past five in the summer and 
half-past six in the winter. 
3764. Then they are in total darkness the whole of that time? Yes. 
3765. Might not that tend to depress the mind very much ? I have no doubt that upon 
many men it has an injurious effect. 
3706. Is the same system pursued on Cockatoo Island ? No; they sleep in dormitories in 
classes, and every man's bed-place is partitioned from his neighbour's by battens, and in the 
centre is a passage lighted by lamps in the way I have spoken of. There may be as many 
as fifty or sixty men in a ward there. 
3767. Have any of the prisoners who have been sentenced to solitary confinement shown 
symptoms of insanity in consequence of their incarceration ? I never saw an instance of 
that kind. 
3768. Do you recollect a soldier imprisoned for life, and now in Darlingburst Gaol, for 
striking his officer ? No, I do not remember the case. 

3769. 
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Do you remember a prisoner named England or English ? Yes. 
Was not he a soldier ? I believe he was. 
When did you see him last ? This morning. 
Did he present any symptoms of insanity ? I did not notice it. 
Of fatuity ? No; I did not take any particular notice of the man. He complained 

stipation. 
Is he in solitary confinement? Ife is separate the same as the others undergoing 

punishment. 
3775. Is he sentenced to hard labour ? Yes. 
3776. With respect to prisoners under medical treatment, and yet under hard labour, have 
they only hospital diet ? They have hospital diet only when they are taken into the hospital. 
3777. There is a man in the gaol at Parramatta who complains that, although he is per-
forming hard labour, yet he is compelled to exist on hospital diet-bread and tea; is that 
according to the gaol regulations? No; bread and tea is only a portion of the diet. The 
full diet is 12 ounces of meat, 12 ounces of bread, oatmeal, sago, arrowroot, rice, and 6 ounces 
of vegetables. 
3778. If he received only bread and tea for his constant support, do you consider that fair 
treatment ? No; no man could do hard labour on bread and tea. 
3779. By Mr. Walsh: Have you many malingerers ? Yes, many. The disposition of many 
men is to malinger if they can. 
3780. Have you discovered any plan among them to produce sickness? The most frequent 
attempt is to induce bad legs. 
3781. That they do by the application of copper ? Yes ; sometimes by binding a piece of 
coin on their legs. The similation of fits of epilepsy is also very common-some men do it 
extremely well. 
3782. Of course these malingerers are punished when they are detected ? There is no actual 
punishment, except sending them to work. I have reported them for attempting to impose 
upon me, and the order has boen to send them to work. 
3783. Do they not get solitary confinement for that ? 	; I do not think there is any law 
to that effect. 
3784. By the Chairman: How many patients have you in the hospital this morning ? I 
am happy to say we have no more than two. 
3785. Have the men Scope, or Williams, and the elder ill'Gregor gone back to Cockatoo 
Isl and ? Yes. 
3786. Jones is the only man of these four still in prison ? Yes. 
3787. By Hr. Hart : What is your salary? £130 a year, of which I have to pay £40 for 
rent-so that leaves me but £90 a year to support a wife and family, and, of course, I cannot 
maintain the appearance it is desirable I should to command respect. 
3788. You consider that salary inadequate ? I do. 
3789. Have you applied to the Government for an increase ? I have not. 
3790. Do you devote the whole of your time to the duties of dispenser ? I am there when 
called upon, whether at day or night. 
3791. Are you frequently called out at night ? Yes. 
3792. You say you are unable to keep up a respectable appearance on your present salary? Yes. 
3793. You, I presume, suppose it is necessary for you to keep up that appearance in order 
to maintain the respect due to you ? Yes. 
3794. What is the salary of the visiting surgeon ? £200 from the gaol, and £150 from 
Cockatoo. 
3795. Does he hold any other appointment under Government ? Not under Government, 
but he has a good private practice, I believe. 
3796. By the Chairman : At what time do you attend the gaol in the morning ? At eight 
o'clock. 
3797. At what time do you leave ? At twelve ; I go again at half-past two, and keep there 
till five, when the vans deliver their prisoners. I am also frequently called out at all hours 
of the night. 
3798. By Mr. Hart: I presume you have to keep proper entries, such as are made by 
medical men, of all the eases that come under your notice ? Yes; I have also to keep books 
shewing the expenditure of the stores, and to serve out the tea, sugar, soap, and candles. 
3799. Is it the proper duty of a dispenser to serve out tea, soap, and candles ? No; but it 
appears to have found its way in among the duties there, although I cannot help saying I 
think it is rather infra dig. 
3800. Who assigned these duties to you ? They were there as part and parcel of the duty 
when I came. I have had no assigned duties since I first came, they have been left for me 
to find out for myself. I do not know that any one can specify the exact duties of a dispenser. 
3801. By Mr. Walsh : Do you know of your Own knowledge what dispensers get in other 
positions ? Yes, I believe the dispenser at Parramatta gets £150 a year, and at Turban 
Greek the same. 
3802. Do you know what the dispenser gets at the Benevolent Asylum ? I believe there 
he lives in the house. 
3803. Do you know what salaries are paid to the principal assistants in chemists' shops in 
town ? I do not. I have never been in a chemist's shop; I have either been in a public 
institution, or on board ship. I may state that the storekeeper at Cockatoo, who is a young 
man, and whose duties consist chiefly of writing copies of official letters, serving out paint, 
carpenters' tools, &c., has a salary of £190, with house and rations, and i do not consider 
that his berth involves the responsibility that mine does; for if a man, while under my care, 
were to lose his life through maltreatment I, perhaps, might lose my liberty. 

Mr. W.Walah. 3769. 
r-A---N  3770. 
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TUESDAY, 12 MARCH, 1861. 

tirennt 
Mn. HART, 
Mat. LUCAS, 
NR. MATE, 
MIL. MORRIS, 

Ma. PARKES, 
Mu. SUTHERLAND, 
Mn. WALSH, 
Mu. WILSON. 

  

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., CHAIRMAN. 

[The Committee having assembled at 3.45 A.m., at the Royal Hotel, Sydney, Water Police 
proceeded to the Water Police Watch-house, the gate of which was opened by Lewis Watch -house. 
Griffiths.] 12 Mar., 1861 - 

- 
Constable Lewis Griffiths examined :- 

2804. By the Chairman : Were you on duty when we came ? Yes. 
3805. What is the nature of your duties during the night ? We have two hours each to 
watch round the premises. 
3806. When were you relieved ? I was just about to be relieved ; I was now calling the watch. 
8807. 14 Mr. Hart : Is this the charge book (referring to a book lying on a desk)? It is. 
2808. How many prisoners are here ? Only one-a woman charged with drunkenness. 

[The Committee entered the cell in which the prisoner was confined. It was 
about ten feet by twelve and twelve high ; across one end was a platform raised about 
two feet from the floor.] 

Constable Samuel Haggerty examined :- 
[Having relieved Griffiths.] 

3809. Are there different cells for males and females ? Yes. 	 Constable 
3810. How many females are usually confined here ? It is not often we have anyone here. S. Haggerty. 
I have had seven or eight prisoners altogether ; sometimes I have had twenty in the other coll. 
3811. By Mr. Lucas : How many are the most you have had iu here in one night 	Not 
more than eight. 
3812. Were those females ? No, we have never had more than two. 
3813. By Air. Hart: Do you ever confine females indiscriminately with men ? No, never. 
2814. By  the Chairman: When did the present confine come here ? About three o'clock 
yesterday afternoon. 	 • 
3816. And she will be kept here until she goes before the Bench this morning? Yes. 
3816. By  Mr. Hart : In case of sickness has the prisoner any means of communicating with 
the person in charge of the lock-up ? Yes, the person who would be on the watch-on his 
round-would communicate with me. 
8817. Are the persons confined here very noisy at times ? Sometimes. 
3818. Have you to use very stringent means to keep them quiet ? No more than bounce 
them a bit. 
3819. How do you act when you bounce them ? Threaten to put them in a worse place if 
they do not behave; I threaten them that I have got a place underground, where I will put 

em. 
[The Committee then entered a second cell, about fourteen feet by twenty 

and twelve high ; the walls of both this and the cell previously visited were very 
dirty, and covered with writing.] 

Inspector Edward Cowell examined :- 
[Having here joined the Committee.] 

3820. By the Chairman : You have been in the Water Police many years ? Since April, Inspector 
E. 1841; but I left and then came back again. I have been in fifteen years the last time. 	Cowell.  

3821. What situation in the police do you occupy now? Inspector. 
3822. How long is it since this watch-house was built ? About three years and a half. 
8823. Have you been here all the time ? Yes. 
3824. Has this been whitewashed daring the time ? Yes, they have been whitewashed 
about three times. 
3825. What means are adopted for cleansing the floors ? They are cleaned every morning. 
3826. Washed every morning ? Yes. 
3827. In a similar manner to a ship's decks? Yes. 
3828. They are never holy-stoned, I suppose ? No, the floors are sanded; this place is 
obliged to be whitewashed because the men write names on them. 
3829. This cannot have been whitewashed within the last twelve months? It has been. 
3830. The woman who is now in confinement was brought here at three o'clock yesterday 
afternoon-in such cases are prisoners ever visited-is any attention paid to them if sick, 
or are they allowed to live any food or nourishment ? Nothing is allowed but watch-house 
rations-bread and water. 
3831. What kind of bread is it ? Dark bread. (The witness produced a loaf) If a prisoner 
is brought here in the afternoon, he is not entitled to receive bread till the following morning. 
3832. Has he water ? Yes, the man on duty is supposed to look in during his watch. 
3833. Who apprehended her ? One of the men who is here. 

[Constable Prince Francis Little came forward and said, I arrested her on the Constable 
charge of being drunk, and Mr. Ebsworth at the wool stores opposite complained of R. F. Little. 
herconduct. I raised her up that she might go home, and net being able to go hone 
I brought her here.] 

3834. 

Constable 
L. Griffiths. 
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Water Police 3834. (To Constable Prince Francis Little):-Are felffifies frequently confined here fo 
Watel"b"se• drunkenness? Very seldom; I do not think above four or five at the outside during the 12 Mar., 1861. year. 

Constable 3835. Was the woman making a disturbance at the time she was apprehended ? She fell 
P. P. Little. down, rolled over, and exposed her person. 

3836. Did you ever see her here before ? I do not recollect seeing the woman befure in 
my life. 

Inspector 3837. (To Inspector Comc11):-Male prisoners are generally confined in this cell ? Yes ; 
E. Cowell. always.  

3838. Can persons who are confined here have food supplied by their friends outside, if their 
friends apply ? Yes; anything but drink. 
3839. They can have coffee or anything of that sort ? Yes. 

[The Committee next visited the solitary cell.] 
3840. You sometimes use this for desperate characters ? Yes. 
3841. By Mr. Hart : Have you any rules guiding you as to the kind of prisoners to be taken 
in here, and as to the class of offences for which they are liable to be confined ? No. 
3842. Then what have you to guide you as to the propriety of taking in prisoners here ? 
There is nothing to guide me further than my own judgment-to know what is to be done 
with them, whatever offences they commit. 
3843. By Mr. Walsh : You are bound to take any prisoners the constable brings here ? 
Yes. 
3844. No matter what the charge, you take them in ? On some charges I do not take them 
in, because they have brought men in and said they were drunk when they were not. 
8845. You decide whether they are drunk or not ? We have in cases in the old Water 
Police Office, but not here. 
3846. By Mr. Lucas : Do you mean to say that if a man were brought here on a charge of 
drunkenness, you would take him in if he were not drunk ? No, I would not take him in 
if be were not drunk. 
3847. Suppose a private party brought a man on a charge of any offence, would you take 
him in for any offence ? I would not take him in for drunkenness if he were not drunk. 
3848. Would you do so if it were for using obscene language in the street ? We are bound 
to hear it. 
3849. Suppose a person brought another here and said, " This person said so-and-so" ? 
Not unless it were a constable who brought him 
3850. Do you not know that you are bound, under the Vagrant Act, to take such a chaige, 
even if brought by a private party ? I am not aware that the Act says so, and I often read 
it too. 
3851. Suppose a private person brought another here, and charged him with committing an 
assault in the street, would you take him in ? No; we are not allowed to take a person in 
on a charge of assault unless we see the assault committed-unless the person is taken upon 
warrant or summons. 
3852. By the Chairman : Suppose the assaulted party were to come here with marks of 
having been beaten-bleeding We can if we saw the party bleeding, but in other cases 
he would have to take out a summons next morning. 
3853. By Mr. Hart : Do you take bail for prisoners ? Yes. 
3854. For what offences ? I only take bail for drunkenness. I do not for assault, without 
a magistrate's authority. 
3855. Have you any rule as to what cases you should take bail in ? No, no further than I 
receive from the magistrate personally. 
3856. By the Chairman : Do you often apply to the magistrate during the night to see 
whether you shall take bail for a particular prisoner ? I have done so. 
3857. Does that often occur ? Not often. 
3858. In what position of life have these persons been respecting whom you have asked 
whether you should take bail ? If I know the person, I go to the magistrate and ask if I 
shall take bail. 
3859. By Mr. Lucas : Would you take bail for using obscene language ? Yes. 
3860. Bail for anything but felony or assault? Yes, that is magistrate's bail. 
3861. By Mr. Hart: Have you a book in which the bail was last entered ? Yes. (Mr. 
Hart referred to a book lying on the desk.) 
3862. Is this the bock? Yes. 
3863. Lime the last bail entered here is dated 16th February, for throwing stones in the 
Domain • has bail been granted to anyone since that entry ? No. 
3864. Ay the Chairman: Was that because the book was worn out? No, if there is any 
bail I send up to Cumberland•street watch-house for the bail-book till I get a new one. 
3865. Has there been any bail for felony lately ? I do not think there has. 

L. Griffiths. 8866. (To Lewis Griffiths):-How long have you been here ? Two years this month the 
last time, and I was here three years before. 
3867. During the time you have been here, have the cells at the back ever been white-
washed? Not to my recollection. 
3868. How many have been confined in the largest cell at one time? I think twenty-three. 

Inspector 3869. (To Inspector Cowell) :-Does any one live in these premises with his family? Yes, E. Cowell. there are four - 
3870. Where is the Water Police Barracks? Over-head. 
3871. How many of the Water Police constables are married? All but one. 
3872. How many families live here ? Four. 

3873. 
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3878. Suppose any female prisoner is taken ill so as to require the attendance of women, Water Polite 
Watch-boost can she get it ? Yes, they used to have it from my wife before she died. 12 Mar., MCI. 3874. If a female prisoner required the attendance which can only be rendered by a woman 

could she get it ? Yes. 	 Inspector 
3875. Are females searched by any female when they come here ? No, they are not; WO E. Cowell. 
have no female searcher ; we may feel their pocket to see if they have a knife about them. 
3876. Has any suicide ever been committed here? Never since I have been here. 

[The Committee left the Water Police Watch-house and proceeded to the PoliceStation, 
Police Station in Cumberland-street.] Cumberland- 

street. 
Sergeant Lee examined :- 

[Haying admitted the Committee.] 
3877. By the Chairman: How long have you been in the police force ? Nearly six years. Sergeant Lea. 
3878. By Mr. Walsh: Did you expect a visit from us ? No, not so early. Indeed I did 
not know you were coming. (The witness produced the charge book.) 
3879. By the Chairman: There has been no entry made in this book since Saturday ? 
Since before Saturday. The entries are made on a rough sheet, and afterwards copied into 
this book. 
3880. Have you the rough short? Yes. ( The witness produced the same.) 
3881. There appears from this to be no prisoner in the watch-house ? There is only one, 
who has been remanded since yesterday ; there was one other, but she is bailed out. 
8882. I3y Mr. Lucas : You say there is one who has been remanded since yesterday ? The 
one in now is a man of the name of Cullen, who has been in custody some time. 
3883, By whom was he remanded? By the magistrate at the Water Police Office. 
3884. I thought when they were remanded they went from the Central Police Office to the 
gaol ? Yes; but this case we knew would be finished to-day, as we only wanted the doctor's 
evidence. This is the first case of the sort we have had that has been remanded to the 
watch-house. 
3885. By Mr. Hart : What is the average number you have here of a night? From eighty 
to a hundred a month ; latterly we have not had so many. 
3886. By Mr. Walsh : How long has the man in custody been remanded? From yesterday 
morning; he has been in custody about six weeks. 
3887, Has he been remanded during the six weeks to the lock-up? No, he was brought 
from the gaol and remanded yesterday morning. 
3888. Has he ever been more than three days in your custody? No, he has never been 
more than a day, or from the time he was first locked up until he was sent to the magistrate. 
At a quarter to ten the prisoners are marched from here to the Central Police Office, and 
they are conveyed from the Police Office to the gaol in the van. 
3889. At what hour of the day are they sent by the van ? . At two in the day sometimes. 
3890. What is the average number of prisoners brought to this watch-house each night ? 
From eighty to a hundred a month. 
3891. is that independently of what come from the Water Police Office? They do not 
come here; we take them there to be dealt with. 
8892. Is this watch-house for males only ? No; if we have females we take them from 
here to the female watch-house if they wish it, or if they are refractory. 
3893. By the Chairman : You never confine them here against their wish? No; if they 
are drunk, we confine them until they are sober. 
3894. Is there any female to search them, or to attend to them ? We send them to the 
female watch-house to be searched. In cases of felony they are sent to the female watch-
house, and are left there. 
$895. I presume you have charge of this watch-house ? Yes. 
3896. flow long have you had charge ? Ten months; I was previously in the P division. 
3897. By Mr.. Walsh : Which is that ? Near Christ Church. 
8898. Do you look upon this as promotion ? It was so to toe-I was acting sergeant there. 
3899. By Mr. Hart: What division of the city is this prison used for ? The C division. 
3900. By the Chairman: What part of the city does that embrace ? The whole of the 
Rocks, from the north side of Hunter-street. 
3901. Miller's Point ? Yes. 
3902. The watch-house there is not used ? No, the inspector in charge lives in that. 
3903. Are there any printed regulations for the watch-house ? No. 

[The Committee visited a cell nine feet by eight and twelve feet high, with a 
grated opening about three feet six by twelve inches: a prisoner was lying on the 
floor wrapped in a rug.] 

Constable Phillip Sweeny examined :- 
3904. How long have you been in the police? Two years and eight months. 	 Constable 
3905. How many prisoners have you known to be at one time in this cell? Some nights P. Sweeny. 
four or five. 
3906. Did you ever see more than five here? Yes, I have, six. 
3907. All males, I suppose ? - 
3908. Did you never see male and female prisoners confined indiscriminately in this watch-
house ? No. 
3909. Where are females confined? In the other cell. 

157-Q 	 3910. 
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PoliceStation, 3910. Have you ever known this cell to be whitewashed? Yes. 
Cumberland- 3911. When? Six months ago. street, 
12 Mar., 1861. 	 [The Committee entered a cell similar to the preceding.] 

Constable 3912. Is this where the females are confined ? Yes. 
F. sweetly. 3913. Has it been whitewashed since you have been here ? No. 

[A third cell was then visited, having h barred window about four feet by 
three, and two grated openings about three feet six by about twelve inches.] 

3914 This is not occupied by prisoners ? No. It is used as a lumber-room. 

[The two front rooms were lighted by windows about three feet by four, and 
well ventilated. The Committee next proceeded to the Erskine-street Female Watch-
house.] 

Female 
Watch-house, 

Erskine-st. 

Canstable 
Levy. 

Constable Levy examined:- 
3915. By the Chairman : What situation do you hold? I am in charge of the watch-house. 
3916. You are the watch-house keeper ? I am. 
3917. How long have you been in charge ? Four years. • 
3918. Do you reside here with your family ? I do. 
3919. What family have you? I have no young ones at present. 
3920. You have a wife? Yes. 
3921.. tHave you any persons confined in the watch-house totnight ? Yes. 
3922. How marry ? Two. 
3923. Where is the charge book ? (The witness produced the some.) 
3924. How many had you on Sunday night ? One, I think. 
3925. Between Saturday night and Monday morning? One, I think. 
3926. Howtmany have you had on any one occasion during the four years you have been in 
charge ? Twenty-four. 
3927. At once ? Yes. 
3923. Is that the greatest number? Yes. 
3929. How long is that ago ? About a fortnight, I think, after I came here. 
3930. Have you subsequently had amumber at all approaching to that ? No. 
3981. What is the largest number you have had since the first of January ? I think about 
five. 
3932. Never more-than five during this year ? No. 
3933. During last year how many had you? As near-as I can recollect about five or six on 
the average. 
3934. Do you entan:throughoutnhe year-every.night ? Yes. 
3935. What is:the largest number you-havehad ? Six; fromte to six during the whole 
year. 
3936. You appear to have had a falling off-what du you attribute that-to? We have had 
a falling off. 

- 3987. Have the ladies in the neighbourhood been better behaved ? That I cannot say. 
3938. What do you attribute the falling off to ? Probably to the dying off of the 
characters-a great number have died. 
8989. By Me. Morris: The same people were constantly here? Yes. 
3940'. By Mr. Lucas : Do you:think, owing to•the scarcity of money, there is not so much 
drunkenness as formerly ? A good deal is attributable to that. 
3941. By Me. Milsh : Then, as I understand you, during the last year the Same persons 
were frequently here? Pretty many of the same characters. 
3912. The saIDC individuals? Yes. 
3943. By it.. Hart: On what occasion were these twenty-four all here-were they all for 
one offence ? For different offences. 
3944. By the Chairman : Was there any particular occurrence at the time in the community 
to account for this large number ? I cannot answer that question. 
3915. By Mr. Lucas : Are the whole of the women taken up in the City of Sydney lodged 
here, or are they confined in-other watch-houses? They are confined in other watch-houses. 
3946. Why is this called the females' watch-louse? It is principally for this division. 
3947. Is there any male watch-house for this division ? Yes, the central. A great number 
of fenOcs are detained at the central station, -and are not brought down here. 
3948. By the Chairman : Have you ever:received •these prisoners   and. 	 
before ? Yes, frequently; particularly 	 
3919 By Mr. lit!: How many persons have you here in charge of this establishment? 
Two; myself and wife. 
3930. Is your wife the female searcher ? Yes. 
3931. Has your wife a salary for that? £10 a year. 
3952 Does she search every female who comes in ? Particularly all for felony. 
3953. By the Chairman: Do you adopt means to see that they have no means of committing 
suicide concealed upon them ? Yes. 
3954. You go through the-same search with all of them ? Yea. 
3955. By It-. 	Have you found instruments of destruction concealed ? Pocket knives. 
:1956 Has suicide been attempt d by any of the prisoners since you: have been here ? No. 

[Mrs Levy, having been summoned, conducted the Committee to the cell in 
which the-two prisoners were confined. It was ten feet by nine and twelve high, 
lighted by a barred window three by four feet, and ventilated by an opening about' 
three feet six inches by twelve inches. The walls were damp and dirty, and the 

atmosphere 
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atmosphere close and foul. The floor was wet in various parts, although the cell was Female 
furnished with a night-tub. Besides this there were two other cells of the same Wtsekth:hrnimtei 
dimensions, but supplied with air and light by means only of an aperture of the same 12 Mar., 184. 
size as in the cell first visited.] - 

3957. By the Chairman : With reference to the cells we have just visited, when were they  
last whitewashed ? About six months since. 
3958. How ninny times have they been whitewashed since you have been here? About 
twice a year. 
3959. What means are adopted for keeping the floors clean ? Soap and water. 
3960. Every morning ? Every morning. 

Mrs. Margaret Levy examined:- 	 Mrs. M. Levy. 
3961. Do you net as female searcher in this watch-house ? Yes. 
3962. Do you search every prisoner who enters this watch-house ? Yes, for felony. 
3963. Do you adopt any kind of search to see whether prisoners have any instrument upon 
them by which they might injure themselves ? No, except in the case of persons who are of 
unsound mind. 

[Constable Levy (to his wile)-Understand Mr. Parkes' question-do you 
search every prisoner to see whether they have any instrument upon them to injure 
themselves? Oh, yes.] 

3964. By the Chairman : Have the women any bedding at all allowed-the females we have 
just seen were sleeping upon something, is that allowed them by the gaol, or is it furnished 
by you ? They have rugs. 
3995. Were they sleeping upon the stones ? No, upon boards. 
3966. Are their bed-clothes ever changed? They have nothing but rugs. 

[The Committee next visited the Central Watch-house.] 	 Central 
Watch-house. 

Constable 
Levy. 

Matthew M‘Clure examined :- 
3967. By the Chairman : Are you in charge of the watch-house? Yes. 
3908. How long have you had charge? About twelve mouths; there are two in charge. 
3969. You have charge alternately for twenty-four hours? Yes. 
3970. Who is the other person in charge ? Acting Inspector Bremner. 
3971. Have you the charge book ? That is the rough charge book (handing the same to the 
Chairman). 
3972. I see you have four prisoners in the watch-house to-night ? Yes. 
2973. By Mr. Morris: Is Ann Flynn, who is here to-night, very often here ? Not very 
often. Some come here two or three times a month, after they have been here that number 
of times we bring them before the Court as vagrants, and they have three months. 
3974. Were you on duty on Saturday night last ? Yes. 
3975. You had nine prisoners here then I see ? Yes, we generally have from nine to 
fifteen or twenty, and sometimes five-and-twenty. 
3976. By Mr. Morris: Has the number been less during the last few mouths than previously ? 
We have had more during the month of January of the present year than during the 
corresponding month of the past. 
3977. By Mr. Wilson : What are the principal charges ? Generally drunkenness and 
assault. We had forty-five charges more in January, 1861, thsn in January, 1860. 
Generally our females are taken to the female watch-house. 
3978. By Mr. Bart : Have you a list of the offences for the COMmiSSiOn of which persons 
are liable to be taken into custody ? No. 
3979. Then you have nothing to guide you as to the propriety of receiving persons who are 
brought here ? No. 
3980. By Mr. Lucas: If any man were to come here, and give another into custody, would 
you take him in ? Yes. 
3981. Would you receive a person on a charge from any one ? Yes, if it were a proper 
charge. 
3982. For drunkenness ? Yes; if a man were drunk I would receive him from a citizen. 
3983, If a man brought up another on a charge of using obscene language would you 
receive him ? Yes, if the language were used in a public place. 

[A loud rapping being beard the Chairman directed the cell, whence the 
sound proceeded, to be opened, and entered with the Committee. It was occupied 
by a female prisoner, Ann Flynn, and was about sixteen by twenty feet, and twelve 
or thirteen feet high. Although there were two openings into the hall, and a 
ventilator in the ceiling, the stench in this cell was sickening.] 

Ann Flynn examined :- 
3984. By the Chairman : Have you been locked up all night ? Yes; I was capable of 
going home if I was allowed. 
:3985. You were rapping at the door just now ? Yes. 
3980. What for ? A drink of water. 
3987. Had you no water in the cell ? No; there was no water in the kid, and not even a 

.night-bucket. It was not the water I wanted, it was the night-bucket. 
2988. You had neither water nor night-bucket until you knocked for them ? No. 

M. M'Clurc. 

Ann Flynn, 

[After 
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[Aftar the cell for male prisoners, which vas himilar to that last described, 
the Committee inspected a small cell about set-en feet by four and a half. It was 
lined with slabs, and in the floor was a large rat-hole. The atmosphere in this 
cell was almost stifling, the only means of ventilation being two small plates of 
perforated iron.] 

Mr. M'Clure. 3989. By Mr. Hart (To Mr. Al'Clure);-Are those rats I hear ? Yes. 
3990. Is that a rat-hole? Yes. 
3991. Do the prisoners complain of rats ? Yes, this place is swarming with rats. 
3992. How long are prisoners confined here at any one time ? Sometimes they are confined 
for twenty-four hours. If they come in on Saturday they are sometimes confined here till 
Monday morning. 
8993. Do you consider this a fit place for the confinement of prisoners ? I consider it very 
unhealthy. 
3994 Considering the annoyance prisoners must receive from vermin, do you think this a 
fit place ? I do not. 
3995. Is there any ventilation here when the door is shut ? Yes, there are these. (The 
witness pointed to the perforated plates above referred to.) 
3996. Is there any space between that ventilator and the wall ? Merely six or nine inches. 
3997. Where does the other ventilator lead to (referring to a perforated plate at the top 
of the cell)? To the top. 
3998. There appears to be a very bad smell here? It is impossible there should be any 
other. 
3909. What does it arise from ? From the prisoners who are kept here. 
4000. From any other cause ? I do not know of any other cause. 

Harlinghurst 	 [The Committee next visited Darlinghurst Watch-house. On the walls of this 
Watch-house. 

	

	lock-up were hung four placards, the first headed, " Hours on Duty"; the second, 
" Instructions in ease of Fire"; the third, "Day Duty and Night Duty"; and the 

Constable William Cook examined :- 
Constable 4001. By the Chairman: Are you in charge of this watch-house ? Yes. 
W. Cook. 4002. How long have you had charge? Since January, 1860. I have it only alternately, 

day about• 
4003. How many men have you had here ? One last night. 

[The Committee inspected two cells, the first about ten by nine feet and 
twelve feet high, having two barred openings, about three feet and a half by twelve 
inches, and the second with similar openings and of the same height, eleven by sixteen 
feet in extent.] 

4004. What means of cleansing the cells do you adopt? They are washed out every 
morning. 
4005. To what division does this watch-house belong ? To the 1) division. 
4006. What does the division include ? It is bounded by the Woolloomooloo Bay, from 
that round the Heads, thence to Botany Bay, and parallel with Bourke-street. 
4007. By whose directions were these rules hung up (referring to the rules on the wall)? 
By the inspector in charge, Mr. Singleton. 
4008. When were they hung up ? About March last year. 
4009 Are you acquainted with the other watch-houses in the City of Sydney-do you 
recollect any rules of a similar nature hanging in them? I have seen the like. 

Sergeant 
N. Ryan. 

Mr. Cook. 

Sergeant Nicholas Ryan examined :- 
4010. How long have you been in the police force? Going on for seven years. 
4011. Are you aware whether rules similar to these hang in other watch-houses ? There are 
several rules. 
4012. Have you seen rules as explicit as these in other watch-houses ? 1 think not. 
4013. How do you account for that ? It is owing to the inspector in charge. 
4014. How long has Inspector Singleton been in charge of this division ? About sixteen 
months. 
4015. Who is in charge of the A division? Inspector George Read. 
4016. Do you know how long he has been in charge of that division ? About the same 
time. 	• 
4017. Who is in charge of B division ? Inspector John Cecil Read, now absent in charge 
of the gaol. His duties are performed by Acting Inspector Foran. 
4018. What portion of Sydney does that include? The southern portion. 
4019 Which is considered the head quarters? The central A division. 
4020. Who has division C? Mr. Ryland. 
4021. Which is the head quarters of that ? Cumberland-street. 
4022. (To Mo. Cook):-How ninny prisoners have you had at one time in this watch-house ? 
Six or seven ; we have had ten, but not lately. 
4023. Do you ever have women here ? Yes, more women than men. 
4024. On charges of drunkenness ? Yes 
4025. How long is it since this place has been whitewashed ? 	It has been whitewashed 
three times within the last three years to my knowledge. It is generally whitewashed about • 
once a year. 

[The 

Central 
Watch-house. 
42 Mar., 1861. 

fourth, " Duty for Out Stations."] 
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[The Committee then proceeded to the watch-house in Parramatta-street, Parrionatta-
and visited the cells ordinarily occupied by prisoners-one about twelve feet square, strechtou1sVeatS 
two smaller ones, respectively four and a half feet by seven or eight feet, and four 12 mar., 1861.  
and a half feet by twelve. Besides these was a cell eighteen feet by twelve, having - 
three openings in the wall, well ventilated, occupied by a quantity of hay and achaff- 
cutting machine. A tuan was engaged in washing the first cell, and the attention of 
the Committee was called by Mr. Lucas to the offensive smell arising therefrom.] 

4026. By Me. Lucas: Whose hay is that ? It belongs to the inspector of this division. 
4027. Who cuts that chaff? The inspector has two sons who come here to do that; his own 
boy generally comes with his horse. 
4028. By the Chairman : Has that cell been used lately (referring to the largest cell)? No. 
4029. Is it not desirable to use the largest cells for the confinement of prisoners ? It is. 
4030. By Mr. Lucas: How often does Capt. Mterie visit this watch-house ? Generally 
once or twice a week. 
4031. Does he go through the whole watch-house ? No. 
4032. How long is it since he has been here ? I do not know of my own knowledge. 
4033. Who is the inspector of this division ? The inspector of this division is at present in 
charge of the gaol. Mr. Foran is the acting inspector. 
4034. Whose chaff-box is that-Inspector Foran's ? No, Inspector Read's. 
4035. By the Chairman: At what time of the twenty-four hours do you wash out the cells? 
In the morning about this time (six o'clock)-after we get the prisoners away. 
4036. I notice that there is a very strong stench in the cell just washed out ? That is 
where the men were last night, and the man has not finished washing it. 
4037. Have they utensils for cleanliness in the cell ? Yes. 
4038. Do they ever dirt the floor ? Yes, frequently; there is seldom a morning that we do 
not find the floors dirty. 
4039. How do you wash the floor-just with a mop ? Just with a mop. 
4040. Is it ever scrubbed ? It is often scrubbed too. 
4041. When were the cells whitewashed ? About twelve months since to the best of my 
recollection. 
4042. How many prisoners have you had at a time in your watch-house since you have been 
in charge ? On Sunday mornings we may have as many as fifteen or sixteen. Between 
Saturday and Monday we have had eighteen, but we do not keep them here; they are taken 
on Sunday morning to the central watch-house. 
4043. For what class of offences are these people chiefly confined ? Mostly for drunkenness. 
4044. Where are the drunkards chiefly picked up ? Most of them in George or Parramatta 
streets. 
4045. How far does the B division extend ? That I cannot say exactly. Very near to 
Parratnatta-to Cook's River and George's River. In Sydney it extends to Liverpool-street. 
4046. By M.. Lucas: Do you take bail for drunkards ? Yes. 
4047. For obscene language ? Yes. 
4048. For anything but felony ? Yes, and warrant assaults. 
4049. By the Chairman : In such cases as this do you ever apply to the magistrate to allow 
bail ? Nu, I do not ; but I allow the friends when they come here to do so if I know the 
parties. 

WEDNESDAY, 20 MARCH, 1861. 
infant 

MR. LUC AS, 
Mkt. MATE, 	

I 	MR. MORRIS, 
MR. SUTHERLAND, 

Ma. WILSON. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Mr. John Page called in and examined :- 

4050. By the Chairman: Do you possess any trade ? I worked as a carpenter on the island. jun  j. rage, 
4051. Are you a carpenter by trade? Yes. 
4052. How long have you lived in Sydney ? I never lived in Sydney above a week or so 20 m„,.. , 1861. 
before I went to Maitland-it was in Maitland I lived. 
4053. How long did you live there? About two years. 
4054. You were convicted of an assault ? Yes. 
4055. Upon whom ? A woman, with attempt. 
4056. Who tried you ? Judge Milford. 
4057. What was your sentence? Two years. 
4058. Were you removed at once to Cockatoo ? I was tried on the 15th of March, and on 
the 26th I was sent to Cockatoo. 
4059. Have you served out your full sentence of imprisonment ? Yes. I was disehargrd 
on the 15th of this present month. 
4060. Are you a married man ? Yes. 
4061. Where is your wife ? At - Melbourne. 
4062. Have you any family ? Yes. 

4063. 
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Mr. J. Page. 4063. How many children ? Three. 
4064. Were your family living with you at the time of the assault ? No, I came here for 

20 Mar., 1861.. the good of my health. 
4065. You have complained to the Committee of the loss of some clothes—will you state 
the particulars of that complaint? I came on to the island. in March, 1859, and brought 
two suits of clothing, one of cloth and the other of drill. 
4066. What did the cloth suit consist of ? A shooting frock !of black cloth, a black satin 
waistcoat, and Parramatta tweed trousers. 
4067. Do you remember how often you had used them ? I never wore them but two days 
previous to my arrest ? I had recovered my health and was preparing to go home. 
4068. They were in a manner new ? I have proof to shew that they were new. 
1469: You had some other clothes, what were they ? Drill trousers and a drill .frock. 
this is the drill frock or blouse that I have on. I delivered these clothes with a cabbage-
tree hat I had to the chief warder, Brown ; and I missed them previously to Brown's leaving 
the island. I reported it to Captain Mann, the superintendent, and he referred me to 
Captain North, the visiting magistrate. Captain North after investigating the case requested 
Captain Mann would see Mr. Brown and arrange with him about the clothes, as they were 
proved to be stolen, and told him that if not he would hold him accountable, or words to 
that effect. Mr. Brown left there about a week after, and Captain Mann never called me 
in or spoke any further about the clothes to me. I again brought the subject before Captain 
Mann and asked him, as my clothes were stolen, if I procured clothes would he allow 
the Government tailor to alter them for me so as to fit me, that I might not have to go out 
in Government clothes. This he refused, and asked Mr. Taylor, the Clerk of Petty Sessions, 
if there were any clothes in the store not claimed that he could make me out a rig of 
—that was the expression he used. Mr. Taylor said there were clothes unclaimed; but when 
I applied on the 16th February last, I was refused altogether, and was told I might go the 
best way I could. 
4070. You never did get your clothes then ? Not a ha'p'orth. I got the trousers I have 
on from one of the prisoners. 
4071. During the time you were on the island, what ward did you sleep in ? In every ward 
on the island. I was shifted from ward to ward, but I was principally in No. 4 ward. 
4072. How many slept in No. 4 generally? Generally about 48 or 50. This is a very 
small ward, there are only sixty berths in it. 
4073. Did you ever sleep in one of the large wards ? I did. 
4074. What state were those wards in when they were filled—as to the atmosphere ? Most 
wretched ; if the nights were anyway warm, they were the most unwholesome places that ever 
men were put into. The berths are in two's, one above the other, about twenty inches wide 
and six feet six inches in length. 
4075. Do the men, when the time arrives, all turn in and go to sleep—do they make no 
noise ? They are supposed to turn in at eight o'clock, and then some of the bad characters 
begin making noises and rioting, and using blackguard language unfit for any father or 
husband to express, until ten or eleven o'clock at night. 
4076. Do they ever continue to make a noise all night ? Several times they have done so. 
4077. Have you ever been kept from sleeping ? Repeatedly, since the men came back from 
Sydney—for two nights successively they made a great noise. 
4078. Have you ever seen any bestial conduct on the island ? I have not seen it myself, for 
I never associated with the men ; I kept myself as much to myself as I could. 
4079. Have you ever heard any conversation about it ? I have heard it of them that have 
seen it ; and they were men as respectable as any on the island. 
4080. And you believe it ? Before my God I do. 
4081. You never saw it yourself ? I never got in the way. 
4082. Do you know of your own knowledge whether there were young lads on the island 
who went by feminine names, such as Miss So-and-so—Judy So-and-so ? They have been 
regularly called the same as a woman or wife, So-and-so. 
4083. You have heard that ? Repeatedly. 
4084. Could you mention any names of those who have been so designated ? Yes ; there is 
a fellow who has gone out this last time, named 	 
4085. Was he called Poll 	 or Miss 	? Miss 	 he was sometimes called, 
but he generally went by the name of 	. There was another fellow, a very bad 
character, he seemed to he guilty of the Same offence

' 
 his name is 	  

4086. You have heard him called by feminine names? Yes. 
4087. Have you ever noticed whether any of the prisoners paid unusual attention to others, 
such as are bestowed on women, such as getting choice things for them ? Yes, repeatedly ; 
there is quite a young chap in the carpenter's shop, and I have beard a blackfellow who is 
there as a cooper talking to him. 
4088. What is the lad's name ? 
4089. Is this lad one of those who has received unusual attention from others ? Yes. 
4090. Lle is treated as if he was a girl ? Yes; I have heard the expression, "I have found 
you in eggs, and butter, and everything, and then"—using the name given to common prosti-
tutes—" you have turned round on me now." I have heard the blackfellow say that to 
him. 
4091. Who was the blackfellow ?  	, a cooper by trade. "After having given you 
"eggs

' 
 and butter, and you took everything from me the same as"—begging your pardon-

" a whore in Sydney, you now turn out ungrateful." I said, "Oh, you beast ! only my time 
" is short on the island I would not hear you use such expressions to a man." I heard no 
more of it after that. 

4092. 
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4092. I will read to you a passage from evidence that has been given by one of the prisoners Mr- 3. Page. 
onCockatoo Island. 

[The Chairman read extracts from the evidence given by Frederick M‘Grregor, 20 Kar.,1861. 
and continued.] 

He then goes on to date deliberately one act of unnatural crime which be himself witnessed, 
by taking a light to the berth and seeing the men together ? I have heard it, and I have 
beard a man-say that he had seen it with his own eyes. 
4093. Can you recollect the name of the person who said-he had seen acts of this kind? 
Yes, he is a Jew namecliTarris. 
4094. Is he on the island now ? I think so; and several others. 
4095. Do you recollect their names? Another man named Murphy said he had seen an apt 
of the kind:in the closet in the day time. 
4096. Is that man in Sydney ? No, he is up at.Williams River. 
4097. Do you recollect any one else? There were others but I do not recollect their names. 
I kept myself away from the prisoners. I repeatedly heard conversation- about it. 
4098. Recollecting the serious character of what you are saying, and endeavouring to satisfy 
your mind as to the truth, do you think the statement I have read is true ? I think it is 
all true except -as to theiraleeping as man and wife, from the slight sketches I heard of it. 
4099. The man, simply means that they lad connection of that nature? I believe that. 
4100. Not liking to say the thing in unblushing terms, he made use of that form of expres-
sion? I believe, before my God, that it is acted in every ward 411k the island, from what 
I have heard, and what 1 have known from conversation with men who were striving to offer 
prayer for their misery and crime. It is no place for men that-desire to reform. 
4101. How often were the wards whitewashed during the time you were there ? They were 
never to say whitewashed, there was something of a dab of whitewash supposed to go over 
them. 
4102. Did you suffer from vermin in those wards? They were repeatedly stoved, and then 
we got a week or a fortnight's ease from fleas and bugs. 
4103. What means were adopted to keep the places clean ? 'That was all. 
4104. I suppose they were washed out every morning ? Yes, a little lime was used along 
the boards-a little whitewash was smeared over. 
4105. The effluvia-from the night-tubs, was not that very offensive? Yes, and when they 
began to smoke at nicht. I was touched in the lungs and could never sleep till eleven or 
twelve at night. I had a bunk-under a window, and I used to keep that open, as I was 
almost suffocated; there was no ventilation in therward. 
4106. Was there not a wardsman whose duty it was to see that every thing was going on 
correctly ? There were two prisoners. 
4107. Did the prisoners go out of one berth into another, or walk about in the passages 
between the berths ? Yes, they used to get to the night-tabs to evacuate, sometimes three 
or four times. 
4108. Did they go from one berth to another ? There was;no hindrance in life. 
4109. The wardsmen did not prevent them ? No, they could not, for they were generally 
asleep. The sentry comes in twice or three times during the night, and the moment - he goes • 
away the wardsman generally sits down and goes to sleep, and we never hear him stir, so 
that the men can go where they like and rob one another. There have been plenty of 
robberies in Nos. 1 and 2. 
4110. Were you satisfied with the men who were appointed to petty offices about the 
place-were the best men generally selected in your opinion ? Quite the reverse; the.men 
who had some little interest with the chief warder got billets. • 
4111. _By Mr. Lures: You say you missed your clothes before Mr. Brown left the island-

understood you to say that you gave them over to Mr. Brown to keep-where did 'he put 
them-in the store ? Yes. 
4112. How could you have an -opportunity of missing them before Mr. Brown left the island ? 
I e to give a man named  - a shirt for nothing, as he was going away, 
and T went with Mr. Brown to the store to my carpet bag; the first thing when I opened my 
carpet bag I missed my coat ; and as soon as I spoke of it, Mr. Brown made me shut it up. 
There were some of the men going away the next morning, and Mr. Brown said that before 
they went he would overhaul them, but he did not do so. 
4113. If you gave your clothes into the charge of Mr. Brown, or any other person, how 
could the men get to these clothes ? They could not unless when another prisoner 'is going 
away to give him some article. 
4114. Us Mr. Sutherland : It was only when 'Mr. Brown permitted you that you could see 
your clothes at all ? Yes. 
4115. By 21.1.r. Lucas: There is a wardsman in each of these wards? Two. 
4116. If it has been given in evidence that these people walk the passage in the ward ll 
night, it is not true ? It is not true ; they are supposed to do so. 
4117. According to your evidence they go to sleep the same as the others ? They sit down, 
and generally in the empty berths, and go to sleep. Not more than a week or two since 
the policeman came in and called out for - Waters and another man named Mins, and they 
were both asleep in bed, and remained there fur a long time. 
4118. It is not even usual for them to walk the wards all 	? _No; they may walk for 
an hour or so when the constable °ernes in. 
4119. How many times during the night do the police in charge of the island visit the 
wards, or do they visit them at all? I do not know. I have known the police come in there 
nearly every hour to the door if the lamp was-not kept in. 
4120. Then the ,policeman do not come to the ward door and see the wardsman on 'duty ? 

- Ile 
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Mr. 3. Page. He is supposed to come to the passage perhaps once or twice in the night, or every hour or 
two ; be is not very regular. 

20 Mar., 1861. 4121. Have you heard many of the prisoners complain of losing clothes ? No; two or three 
men who have been goino

b 
 away have brought forward their cases. There was a man named 

Doran lost £10 worth of clothes, and he had £11 sewed up in them ; all was gone. 
4122. To whom did he give them ? The chief warder. They are obliged to give up every 
stitch of clothes, to their shirts, to him, and he serves out the Government clothes. 
4123. By Mr. Wilson : Are the overseers, who are prisoners, treated like the other prisoners, 
and locked up with them? They have not been for the last twelve months; they have a 
ward to themselves. 
4124. By Mr. Lucas: Do the prisoners generally object to their fellow prisoners being 
selected to overlook them ? Generally ; it is one of the greatest faults they have. There 
have been several instances whore they have objected to it. One of the men, about six 
months since struck the overseer and broke his nose. 
4125. Was he a prisoner 	Yes, a man of the name of Stone. 
4126. You say it is not the best characters who are selected for petty officers ? No; if Mr. 
Taylor puts in a word for any man be is chosen. 
4127. By the Chairman : Were you ever in prison before ? Never in my life. 
4128. Were you ever arrested before ? No, nor any belonging to me. I never stood before 
a judge before, except as a juryman. 
4129. Has your wife ever known that you have been On the island ? Not at all. I came 
here for the good of my health. 
4130. What was the value of the clothes you lost ? At the very lowest, £8 15s. 

THURSDAY, 11 APRIL, 1861, 

lffirtøtnt 
Mn. HART, 
Ma. LUCAS, 
MR. MATE, 

Ma. MORRIS, 
Mu. P ARKES, 
MR. SUTHERLAND, 

MR. IVINDEYER. 

H. PARKES, ESQ., CHAIRMAN. 

Cockatoo 	 [The Committee having met at the Circular Quay, at 6.30 a.m., proceeded to 
Island Prison. 	Cockatoo Island, and assembled in the office ; the Chairman took the Chair.] 
11 April, 1861. 

Frederick McGregor called in and further examined :- 
F. kretregor. 4131. By the Chairman: You were examined by this Committee in Darlinghurst Gaol ? 

Yes. 
4132. You were then in the hospital ? Yes. 
4133. Are you in the hospital still ? Yes. 
4134. What is the matter with you ? Disease of the heart-all of a shiver ; whenever the 
least thing excites me my heart beats very heavy-I get all of a tremble. 
4135. You gave certain evidence before this Committee in Darlinghurst Gaol, to the effect 
that gross immoralities were committed among the prisoners, and, if I remember right, that 
you yourself on one occasion were witness to an act of sodomy between two prisoners ? Yes. 
4136. Do you adhere to that evidence now in every particular ? Yes • I told it to you for 
the truth, and it is nothing but the truth. J am not the only man, if?  he liked to speak the 
truth, that would say so. 
4137. You stated to the Committee that you yourself had gone with a light to one of the 
berths in one of the wards on this island, and saw two men whom you named in the act of 
sodomy ? Yes. 
4138. You still adhere to that statement ? Yes. 
4139. You said just now that you are not the only man on the island who can say so if 
others would speak the truth ? Yes. 
4140. Could you mention the names of any ? It is hard to say; plenty of men know it. 
4141. Could you mention any of their names ? They might afterwards blame me for 
fetching them into it at all. 
4142. There are men on the island who know the same thing, but you decline to mention 
their names? Yes. 
4143. Why do you decline ? I do not like to bring any man into it; it is a disgraceful 
thing, and they might blame me for it. 
4144. Have you yourself experienced any ill effects from having made the statement you 
did make before this Committee ? I hear the men railing against it. They saw something 
in the papers, and threatened to Sod out who had done it. 
4145. They have not connected you by name with it ? No, they do not know who it is 
4146. As far as you are concerned, you still believe the crime is committed in this penal 
establishment? Commonly committed in the wards. I have no doubt, before the Committee 
go away, there will be men come and speak about it. I wish to say that while I am here 
the Government may protect me, but after I get out I do not know what the men may do 
to me 	 
4147. After your liberation ? Yes. I cannot stop in the town but must go into the country. 

4148. 

• 
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4148. By Mr. Lucas : You t•ay you have no dutibt tbat before the Co:nmittec g, awny men Cockatee 
will come forward and make statements-have you heard any of the men say so ? I believe Island Prls".- 
three or four men Bane brought up More the magistrate, and it was reported that they 11 Apr11,16111_ 
disowned about the thing; and there are other men who said they would conic up and F. McGregor: 
speak to the magistrates about it. 
4149. Who are they ? Jein Hogan and Hugh Bland. I hear it rumoured among the men. 
4150. Any other men ? No. 
4151. Have you heard them say so? No; I have beard other men say that they said so. 
4152. Yon sere not asked to come up and give evidence before the magistrates when they 
were here ? No. 
4153. By M.. Windeyer: Do you know bow, the men who came up were chosen ? By the 
free overseers. They were most of them wardanen. Many of these men had the name of 
being guilty of the same actions. 
4154. By the Chairman : Most, of them were men in the condition of prisoners ? Yes. 
4155 By Mr. D'art: Do you know a man named Gilbert Isaacs? Yes. 
4156. What is he ? An overseer. 
4157. Is he free? No, a sub-overseer of the works. 
4158. Suppose he says he knows nothing of these practices, is that true? He may not 
have seen it, but he must have heard it, for it is always talked of among the men. 
4159. Do you know a man named Samuel 	a wardsman ? Yes. 
4160. Is he acqulinted with any irregularities, do you know yourself? It has been rumoured 
that he is one of the same kind of men. 
4161. Who have you heard say so? Not one, but several-it is the common talk. 
4162. Do you know George May ? No. 
4163 Do you know Robert McCoy? No. 
4164. Is the lad  	on the island, whom you spoke of when you were in the 
hospital ? No, he is over in the gaol; he is one of the men who got out of the wall. 
4165. Is there any means in the wards of detecting these immoral practices, if the free 
overseers thought proper to do so? I do not know that there is. 
4166. Is there any means, by supervision or tact, by which persons could be found guilty of 
these acts ? I do not know that there is. I was here six months before I saw anything of 
the sort, but it was common talk among the men. • 
4167. Are there any persons on the island now who go by female names ? Yes, there is 
young 	 
4168. By the Chairman: He is on the island now, John 	 ? Yes. 
4169. Is 	 on the island now ? No. 
4170. Is - 
4171. 
4172. 
4173. 

   

No. 
? No. 
? He is one of the men shifted away. 
? No. 

   

   

   

   

4174. Is 	 on the island now ? No. 
4175. Is a man named 	 on the island? Yes. 
4176. Is a man of the name of 	  on the island? Yes, 
4177. Is a prisoner named 	  on the island now ? Yes. 
4178. Is 	  on the island now ? No, he has got his ticket. 
4179. By Mr. Hart : Do you know a man named  	, a wardsmau? Yes. 
4180. Is he a prisoner? Yes. 
4181. Has he the reputation of knowing anything of this matter ? He is blamed for being 
one himself. 
4182. Have you any ground yourself for believing that ? No; it is commonly spoken of 
among the men. 
4183. Have you been present at any time when he has been accused of it ? Never before his 
face, but you must hear of it. 
4184. How does this conversation arise ? They get talking of things, and then they call 
these names. 
4185. Is it not more for the purpose of annoying the men than with the view of accusing 
them of any offence ? They have nothing else to talk about. 
4186. By Mr. Windeyer : Do you think it is done without any foundation for the charge? 
I have known the men to be on good terms, and talk in this way. 
4187. By the Chairman: You have heard them talk behind the backs of each other of these 
things, when there could be no object for annoying 	Yes. 
4188. By Arr. Hart: When you became acquainted with these circumstances, why did you 
not report them to the authorities? For a good reason-I would have had a knife in me, or 
a piece of wood about my head. 
4189. Even if you had exposed yourself to clanger, do you consider it was your duty to 
expose such practices, instead of concealing them by your silence? I knew that; but still I 
was not going to run into danger ; I was ashamed to tell the truth or speak about it. 
4190. To speak about it to whom ? To any person. 
4191. Why have you spoken about it now? I have thought better of it. I think a man 
ought to tell, to put a stop to it as much as possible. 
4192. Suppose you had evidence of the fact again, would you report it ? Yes; but I would 
not come into the yard among the men • and you do not know where you may meet men 
again when you leave this island, and they may do you an injury. 
4193. By Mr. Windeyer: How long have you to remain here? Two years and five months. 
4194. By Mr. Lucas : You took the first opportunity you had of reporting it to this Com- 
mittee? Yes; if I had reported it to the authorities of this island it would never have been 

157-B. 	 beard 

sl 
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Cockatoo heard of again. On one occasion I reported to Mr. Brown that a man had been to 
IslanaThis°11. - berth, and was shifted. It got among the men that I had U Apri1,1861. 
pm,  reported it, and the man came in front of my bunk with a knife, threatened Inc, and called me 
Jr. liSmanagor. everything to aggravate me. 

4195. You know the names of the persons who made the statements before the magistrates ? 
1 know some of them-and others came up to make other statements. 
4196. Do you think these men had an opportunity of knowing what took place ? They 
are in the wards. 
4197.  	, for instance, do you think that be, being a wardsman, the prisoners 
would be afraid to say anything against him ? Yes. 

Henry Carroll, alias James Hogan; called in and examined:- 
U. Carroll. 4198. By the Chairman: You are confined on this island for some offence against the laws 

of the Colony ? Yes, a rape was sworn against me. 
4199. What was your sentence ? I was cast for death, but I got fifteen years. 
4200. Where were you tried ? At Bathurst. 
4201. By whom ? Judge Dickinson. 
4202. When ? In 1856; the crime was committed in 1850, going on eleven years ago. 
4203. How long have you been on the island ? Seven years and a half yesterday. 
4204. Were you among the insubordinate prisoners removed to Darlingburst in January? 
I was removed from here to Darlinghurst. 
4205. With that exception have you been on the island all the time ? Yes, only when I 
went to Bathurst to be tried. I got five years for taking the law in my own hands. 
4206. What do you mean by taking the law in your own hands? There was a horse stolen 
from my master, Major Innes, and I saw another man riding it and flung him off it. 
4207. While undergoing that sentence you were charged with this crime of rape? Yes. 
4208. And you were then removed to Bathurst to be tried ? Yes. 
4209. Altogether you have been on the island seven years and a half? Yes. 
4210. We want to know from you whether, during the time you have been on the island, 
you have known any immoral practices, such as unnatural crimes between prisoners in the 
wards on the island ? Yes, I have seen it, and I intended to tell you of it. 
4211. You are fully aware of the magnitude of a charge of this kind-that it is a most 
serious offence not only in the eyes of God, but against the laws of the country? Yes. 
4212. And that the consequences must be most serious to any one charged with the crime ? 
Yes. 
4213. You are also aware that we shall have taken down every word you say ? Yes. 
4214. Being fully aware of the circumstances under which you are going to make the state-
ment, will you state-without any reserve, confining yourself strictly to the fact, and 
without any fear of the consequences-what you know of these practices? I will speak the 
truth, I have seen it more than once. 
4215. Will you detail what you have seen ? It is the general practice here ever since I 
have come on the island-when I came here at first it was more carried on than it is now. 
4216. By Mr. Hart : What ward did you sleep in ? No. 2, chiefly. 
4217. By the Chairman : I suppose you have

' 
 at different times, slept in all ? In all but 

one on the island. I was in the overseer's ward for many years ; and, in fact, if a man was 
not one of the same sort he was not likely to get a billet. When I came at first they were 
all Norfolk Island men, and if there was a boy came they used to manage some plan to get 
him shifted into the overseer's ward, and there they used to commit this crime-they used 
to get into the boy's bunk. There was one instance of it tried in the office-it was in the 
bunk opposite mine,   and a soldier chap, 	, but they did not fetch it out 
in the right form ; they bubbled it up. They gave the man seven days for it. 
4218. By Mr. Hart : Was that for getting into the bunk, or for the offence ? They bubbled 
it up, they did not want to fetch it up right, but I saw it with my own eyes; I saw him in 
the young chap's bunk. There have been several men brought up for something of that 
sort of crime; but.they have always been slightly punished and let go. 
4219. By the Chairman : Have you yourself witnessed this crime? I have, more than 
once. I can mention a married man that has been in another man's bunk. 
4220. Can you mention the time you witnessed this ? I could not mention the time. 
4221. Two years, or eighteen months ? It is more than eighteen months since 	  
was tried. 
4222. Can you mention the names of the parties ? 	 and 	, and an old 
man named 
4223. Did you see these men in the act of sodomy ? Yes; I was on the top of the bunk. 
4224. Describe in language that we can understand what you saw ? I slept in the top bunk, 
and there was a boy in the top bunk just opposite-in a line-and I saw this man get into 
the bunk of the other and use the lad the same as a woman. 
4225. What did he do ? There was a blanket over them, and he was in the bunk the same 
as if he was with a woman. 
4226. Can you say what he did ? I believe, sodomy. 
4227. Can you tell whether his body moved ? Yes. 
4228. And he worked it as if he were in the act of copulation with a woman ? Yes. 
4229. You saw that with your eyes? Yes, with my own eyes. 
4230. Was he on the top of the man ? No, sideways like. 
4231. Did you ever see any other ease while there of similar conduct ? I saw , 	--- and 
a sailor boy, I forget his name, in the same ward. 

4232. 
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4232. How long was that ago? I should say a ample of years ago Or better-I could not Cockatoo 
say to a few months. There is a servant who is over at Mr. Ball's, he had to be shifted Ys lananiwn- Apra,1.861. out of the ward for another blackguard affair. 
4233. What is his name ? John Smith ; and there was another chap, now in the hospital, if. Carroll. 
a foreigner-I forget his name. 
4231. Is be a Spaniard or a Portuguese? A Portuguese, I think. There was a blackfellow 
that he wanted to have connection with against his wilt ; and the blackfellow got seven days 
for an assault; he blackened his eyes and everything; and the injured party was never 
brought up to prosecute the other. 
4235. Did you ever report these things to the authorities? I have often told the free 
overseers about such things, that it ought to be put a stop to ; but it was tolerated on several 
occasions, and then we durst not report it for fear we would get punished, and there would 
be a down upon you. There is Tern Neal, on the works now, who is a married man, and bas 
got a large family at Bathurst, saw it not many weeks ago I believe. 
4236. Do you know a prisoner on the island of the name Of Power ? Yes. 
4237. Have you ever heard that prisoner say anything about it? lie knows it is carried 
on ; I do not know whether he ever saw it himself; I have often heard him speak of it. 
4238. Do you know a prisoner of the name of Gilbert Isaacs? Yes; he is on the exempt 
bank. 
4239. He has given evidence before the police magistrate that nothing of the kind has 
occurred? I do not know about that. I swear on my oath that it was so-I have seen it 
with my own eyes. 
4240. You mean that you would be prepared to make affidavit as to the truth of what you 
state? Yes. I do not see why me or any other young man who is here should get classed 
up and bear the blame of these things when we are not guilty of them, all for five or six 
scoundrels. This going about the country is not very pleasant for us. 
4241. By Mr. Han : Has any attempt been made by the free overseers to detect and punish 
this crime? No; it has been hushed up more than trying to keep it down. 
4242. Do you think it is more prevalent here than in other prisons? I was never in such 
a place before I came here. It is very bad here, more than I can tell you. 
4243. Would there be any means of detecting this crime by watching the men ? Not 
without you had proper honest men as wardsmen-they could stop it. 
4244, That is not the question, I ask you if there were any means of detection? Only by 
the \yardmen at night; if the wardsmen did their duty it could not be committed. But 
when the men can get up and rob their fellow prisoners, of course they can do other things. 
4245. By Mr. 1Vindeyer : Does that happen ? Yes;_ I have been robbed myself in the 
place, not many months ago of my gratuity money-Os. 2d. was taken out of' my pocket. 
4246. By Mr. Morris : What are you doing-you are not a wardsman ? No; I never had 
a billet on the island, though I do not consider that I have committed a crime since I have 
been on the island, and I have been here seven years and a half. 
4247. By the Chairman; If you wish to make any further 'statement you can a, so? 
had a statement written when I was at the gaol, and I wish to know if you have received it. 
I presented it to the Sheriff, and he said he would see that it was delivered to you. 

James Neal called in and examined:- 
4248. By the Chairman : You are a prisoner upon this island? Yes. 
4249. For what offence are you imprisoned? I was found guilty for murder. 
4250. Where were you tried? At 13athurst. 
4251. When ? About thirteen months ago. 
4252. By whom ? Mr. Justice Milford. 
4253. What was your sentence? Fifteen years. I was cast for death. 
4254. YOUT sentence was commuted? Yes. 
4255. Any portion of your sentence in irons 	Yes, three years. 
4256. Have you a family ? Yes, I am the father of eight children. 
4257. You have wife and eight children ? Yes. 
42.58. All children by the same mother? Yes. 
4259. Was the crime of murder for which you were tried accompanied by robbery or any-
thing of that kind? .  No, it was a neighbour came and ordered some bags - 
4200. Did it arise out of a quarrel? No, there was no quarrel. I knew nothing about it. 
The woman was killed about fifty or sixty yards from my house, and I was passing the road 
with some bags where she was found. 
4261. Were you ever in prison before you were tried for this crime ? Yes. 
4262. How often ? Only once. 
4203. What was that for ? A dispute I had concerning a constable. 
4264. Was it for an assault upon a constable? Yes. 
4265. During the time you have been on the island hnve yen ever become acquainted with 
immoral practices in the wards, including unnatural crime between the prisoners? Yes, I 
have seen a little of it. 
4266. As a father of a family you must be aware that that is a horrible offence? Yes, I 
believe it is; that is no new story at all at Cockatoo. 
4267. No new story ? Not in the least. 
4268. What do you mean by that ? Because they generally make a practice of it-a 
regular habit of it. 
4269. Do you mean to ray that it is common among the prisoners? Yes. 
4270. Have you ever been an eye-witness to a crime of this kind ? Never till I came here. 

4271. 

James Neal. 
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**armee 4271. Have you been an eye-witness to the crime on this island ? Yes. 
ltd.Prmut 4272. You have feen the act committed with your own eyes? Yes, and shown it to the 

.-Mi-kfrd ' 1561, wardsman of the ward and asked him would he report it. 
Janes Neal. 4273. State when it was? At furthest about eight months ago. 

€74. What did you see ? I saw a man going into the bunk with him, and I saw another 
man waiting at the bunk. 
4275. What man was this? I do not know. I was a stranger at the time, and did not 
know their names. 
4276. Did you know either of the parties-there must be two parties to an act of this kind? 
I do not know; oue of them came from Maitland, and the other has been at Woolloomooloo 
since. 
4277. What did you see? A man going into the bunk of another man, and another man 
waiting till one came out again. It was a most rascally affair. 
4278. Will you state distinctly what you mean; as every word you say is being taken down. 
You say you saw a man go into a bunk ? I saw a man going into a bunk to another man. 
4279. Did you see one prisoner go into a berth where another prisoner was lying ? 
Yes, and he had connection with the other the same as man and wife. I saw another Man 
waiting till he came out, and he went in and had connection with him, and then another 
man went in and he would not stand it, and the man said be was in good order and would 
not be long. I asked the wardsrnati did he hear that word passing, and be said he did not 
care, and walked away. 
4280. Who was that wardsman ? He got his ticket and went away. 
4281. Did you know none of those four men ? I know the wardsman of No. 2 -- 
4282. You say there were four men, one the submitting party-the one who acted as woman, 

• 

	

	 and then there were three men who went to this man-do you know none of the four ? 
Yes, I know two of the four men-the four have gone with their tickets. 
4283. 'What were their names ? I am blessed but I forget his name. 
4284. Did you ever see a crime of this kind on any other occasion ? I would not say what 
ward is most guilty of this crime-they counted No. 2 the most correct word. 
4285. By Mr. Lucas : You were going to say something about one of the %yardmen ? Yes ; 
one of the No. 2 wardsmen, a man of the name of Yorkey-he was the wardsmau at the 
time; I asked him did he hear the conversation. 
4286. Is he the wardsmen now ? Yes. 
4287. By Al,. 1Vindeyer : What did lie say when you called attention to it ? He said he 
did not care. I said it was a most sinful affair-it was a most rascally affair; and I went to bed. 
4288. By the Chairman: Arc there young men upon this island   ? Old men are 
worse than young.men. 
4289. Are there young men on the island who go by female names-are they called Miss 
This, or Lady That ? Yes, some used to he called the Bleeding Nuns; they have gone away. 
4290. Why used they to call them that? Because the men used to be with them. 
4291. You said just now that the old men were worse than the young ones? Many of them 
were called the " Sprigs of Fashion." They fought regular for them. If you say anything 
to one of them their fancy-man takes their part. 
4292. The men treat them as they would treat prostitutes ? The very same. 
4293. Do they get choice things for them, little presents ? I believe so; they are very 
little presents they can get here. 
4294. If they could get delicacies for them would they give them to them ? Yes, if they 
could. 
4295. Fruit ? If they had the opportunity of getting it they would give it to them. 
4296. You have seen them treat these men as if they were women ? Yes, and plenty besides 
me. 
4297. Who else ? Power. 
4298. Who else? Jem Hogan, George Hyland, and plenty more besides, only, they are 
frightened to tell of it for fear of the authorities of the island. 
4299. By Mr. Hart : Are there any men at present on the island who prostitute themselves? 
Not our men, we have cleared out our ward from them, we would not have them. 
4300. Does any improper conduct go on in the day time when the men have opportunity ? 
I believe there was some time ago something about it in the mess-shed, but I did not pay 
any attention to it. 
4301. Did you report any of these things to the authorities ? No, I did not. 
4302. Why did you not? I left it to the wardsman, I thought he was the fittest man to do 
so. 
4803. That was to the wardsman you reported it to two years ago ? No, it was not eight 
months ago. 
4304. By Mr Lucas: How long have you been on the island? A little better than twelve 
months. 
4305. Did you not live near Orange ? Yes, I did. 
43116 By Mr. Morris : Were you at Da rlinglanst ? Yes, I think I saw you there. 
4807. 13a the Chairman : Do you know a person named Bland? Yes. 
4808 Have you ever heard him speak of these things ? Yes. 
4309 Do you know a person named Byrnes, a boy ? No. 
4310. Do you know a person named Brennan ? No. 
4311. By Mr. Morris : Do you know a man named 	 ? Yes, he is a wardsm an 
Bow. 
4812. Did you ever hear him speak of these things? No, I believe ho was concerned in the 
same thing. 

4313. 
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11 April, 1861. 
- 

James Neal. 

4WI. I0 which he was connected? IN0)  lie was kicking up a row about it. 
4314. By Mr. Lucas: Where was that? I did not pay any attention to it. 
4315. In the ward where be was wardsman ? Yes, in No. 4 or No. 5. 
4310. By the Chairman.: Do you know a prisoner named  	? Yes. 
4317. Is he here now ? Yes, he is stone-cutting. 
4318. Did you ever hear that 	 was implicated in these things? Yes, I 
believe Hogan was taxing him with it. 
4319. Do you know a man named 	 ? Yes. 
4320. Did yOu ever bear him spoken of ? No. 
4321. What is he doing now ? Stone-cutting. 
4322. Do you know a man named 	 ? Yes,  	, he is in the next 
bunk to me. 
4323. Did you ever hear him spoken of ? No. 

Gilbert Isaacs called in and examined:- 
4324. By the Chairman: Are you a prisoner on this island? Yes. 
4325. For what offence are you here ? I am here for taking some cheques in the Post 
Office at Kempsey. 
4326. What is the sentence you are suffering ? Four years. 
4327. How much of that have you done? One year and ten months. 
4328. How are you employed upon the island ? As a sub-overseer at present. 
4329. What are the duties prescribed to you as sub-overseer ? I have no work to do; I 
look after a gang of men at their work to see that they do their work, and report them if 
they do not. On Saturday and Sunday I have to be on duty at the gate of the yard. 
4330. What avocation were you following at the time of your arrest ? I was postmaster at 
Kempsey. 
4331. in what part of the island do you sleep? In ward No. 3. 
4332. How many are sleeping in that ward? Sixteen at the present time, merely the sub-
overseers. 
4333. They are all together ? Yes. 
4334. Are there sixteen sub-overseers? No, there are two wardsmen and a servant besides, 
a servant who is placed there for protection from the other men. 
4335. Then there are thirteen sub-overseers, two wardsmen, and a servant in that ward 
Yes. 
4336. Are all these thirteen sub-overseers similarly appointed to yourself, and have they 
similar duties to perform ? Yes. 
4337. They are placed over the men in the different gangs ? Yes. 
4338. How many men have you under you at the present moment? I have sixteen to-day, 
but there are more in my gang. 
4389. When they are all at work how many have you? Twenty-four. 
4340. Where are the other eight? They are invalids. 
4341. One-third of your gang are exempt? Yes. 
4342. Have these eight men been exempt many days? Yes, some have. 
4343. Were they at work yesterday 	None of those who are exempt to-day. 
4344. Have any been at work this week ? Yes. 
4345. How long have you been sob-overseer? Seven months. 
4346. Out of how many ? One year and ten months. 
4347. For the first fifteen months were you eniployed as the other prisoners? Yes, at 
stone-cutting. 
4343. Were you berthed with the men in the same manner as the others? Yes. • 
4349. Did you ever notice any immoral conduct on the part of prisoners during the time 
you were berthed with them in the night time ? I never witnessed any. 
4350. Did you ever hear it talked of? I did, to a very great extent. 
435L Was there frequent conversation about unnatural crime? Not only frequent, but 
daily, and hourly. 
4352. I should infer from what you say that it was a common topic of conversation? It 
was a common topic among a certain class. 
4353. What is the conclusion you arrived at from hearing this conversation-have you 
arrived at the conclusion that the crime is committed? I have arrived at the conclusion 
I stated to the magistrate, that both from the association I see of certain men, and the 
language I hear, I am convinced it is so. It was from what I have heard outside, that I 
wished to be examined. It was stated to me that I had said before the magistrate I was 
prepared to swear that such crimes were not committed. If that appears in the deposition 
before you, it is quite in opposition to what I have stated. 

[The Chairman read the statement made before the Pollee Magistrate.] 
4354. I should not gather from what you have said here that the conversation to which you 
have referred was in jest. What I should gather is, that the conversations in which 
unnatural crime formed the subject, were so continuous, that you inferred the crime was 
committed ? That was what I stated to Captain Scott. He put the question, if I did not 
think these conversations were in jest, and I said I did not think there could be such an 
amount of it unless there were some earnest. 
4355. Your evidence will now be taken down word for word; the questions, as I ask them, 
and the answers too, by the short-hand writer ? Yes, I am aware. 
4356. You said that on account of something that had been reported to you, you wished to 
come before the Committee and make a statement ? Yes. 

4357 
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Coe.lute 4357. You are now at liberty to make what statement you think proper ? It was through 
hiniPliwn• this man saying you had made this remark, which he miwrnstraed, that I .wished to tell 11 Stprit1861. you I believe the crime is committed- 

•G‘Isaaes. 4358. You say in your statement that men are called by women's names on the island, and 
treated as women ? Not exactly treated as women, they are spoken of as such among a par-
ticular Hass of men 
4359. By Mr. TVindeyer : Do you mean a particular set of men ? A particular set. Of 
course there are men above associating or joining in the .cooyersation ; but being mixed up 
as they are in one yard, they cannot be deaf to it. 
4360. By Ale. Hart: Do you think there are persons on the island now, who are passive 
agents in this crime—upon whom this crime is committed ? I do. 
4361. By the Chairman : Who are they ? One man whose name has been mentioned to 
me is a lad of the name of , if be can be termed a lad, for! believe be 
is a married man. 
4362. A married man ? I believe he is married, which maims it 	 
4363. Who else have you heard of? No one else I should like to mention. 
4364. Have you ever heard of — 	? Yes, as in connection with 	 
4365. Have you heard of 	 ? Yes,! have heard his name mentioned, but I 
was speaking of those who submitted themselves to the act. 
4366. By Mr. Hurt: Is there no means of stopping this practice by keeping watch and 
detecting the guilty parties? If yen will allow me, before answering that question. After 
the examination took place before Captain Scott., the subject was spoken of among the man; 
and, among other things, it was•mid that men had been known to take the place of ;yardmen, 
appointed to keep watch, for the purpose of committing this crime. Therefore, so far as the 
watchmen are concerned, they are of little use where the men are determined to commit it. 
4367. Then it would be better, I presume, to havefree men as wardsmen ? I can hardly be 
supposed to judge. 
4368. Bayou suppose the wardsmen arenfraid of the consequences if they were to make these 
things known? Yes, I stated that before the Visiting Magistrate when he asked me if I 
thought any respectable person seeing the crime would conceal it. I said, not only that, but 
many persons were deterred from reporting these circumstances from fear of the prisoners. 
About eight months ago I WAS is-apposed to have been concerned in giving information to the 
authorities about the man who attempted to make his escape from the island, and I was 
beaten within an inch of my life. I had ray head split open with a stone. 
4369. Do you know instances of undue favour, or of severity, on the part of the authorities 
towards particular pfisoners ? I know of none lhat I can bear testimony to myself since I 
have been here. 
4370. Are there any well grounded eomplaints by the pri.soners generally? I do not belong 
to the men who fell out at the last meeting. I therefore do not know what they fell out for; 
but I wish to bring under the notice of the Committee the manner in which the gratuity 
money is distributed here. I have not to complain of it myself, for while I was at work I 
was at stone-cutting, but it relates to the men who are employed at the hand-carts. I have 
first and second class men in my gang, mixed up together, and they are placed on a task. 
The first-class task is admitted by the free orerseem to he morn than the men can poibly 
do, still it is imposed. There arc not more than three or four men -who can do it. The work 
is returued in the number of feet they cart -away in the day ; this is sent up to the office. 
The first-class have to cart 115 feet, and the secundt61. This entitles the men to nogratuity; 
it is called the Government task. They allow nine feet to as eat for a load; it is therefore 
necessary for four men to 'cart fifty loads a day, and in order to get a gratuity of three-half-
pence, it would be necessary to put out siventy loads. Now it is possible for four men to do 
it for one day, but to follow it up and work at it frnm year's and to year's end is not possible. 
The third-class man's task is so much reduced, that he can do the Government task by 
eleven o'clock, and earn three-pence ever. 
4371. Who has the arrangement of this work 7 The free overseer places lits men upon task- 
work, and desires me, as ml sub-overseer, to keep the tally O' the number of carts put out in 
the day, and which he enters in the office If you infer to Mr. Fitzgerald, the overseer, Ire 

inform you that the 'first-e'ass men, working in the hand-curt under me, received ouly' 
two-pence gratuity for a fortnight's labour. 
4372. By -Mr. Stab rla mg 7 What Aid the second class men receive ? One second-class man 
working at the same cart received nine-pence half-penny. 
4373. Hare you any third-elass men in your gang, ? Nut in my gang; they are men 
entirely by themselves, called the invalided men. 
4374. You say these third-class nen 'could earn three--pt nee before eleven o'clock ? Yes; 
the stone-cutters have at system of' berthing, mill the nan rive allowed so lunch for all they 
cut over their task ; and this, at the end of a fortnight, amounts sometimes to Is. 9d., 
sometimes to 2s. We is plaited at the tramk to the coedit of' the party, and he receives it 
when be leaves the island. Before I er0110 bete, when this dock was being made, men have 
banked as much as 30s. or £2 in the fortnights Now the men come to this conclusion as to 
where this baulting.money came Lawn—not that lr entertain it myself—they say we cannot 
get our gratuity, we think this money is totained14 refunding to the hank, and they just 
crawl along and have irto heart to wich. This money, paid for extra work, goes to supply 
the men with tea and sugar for their evening meal ; but if they receis.e truly two-prime in a 
fortnight, Gary' can have only celd water to fir - ink. 
4375. You think this ought to be reformed ? Yes 
4376, Who has the arrangement of abas —is i the superintendent of the i laud, or he task-
work overseer? The task-work overseer is Mr. 'Balls. 

4377. 
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4877. Has he the arrangement of the payment to the first and second class men ? He is Cockatoo 
supposed to have ; for the orders are, that every man, where practicable, shall be placed on hula Pris"- 
task-work, and then the duty of the free overseer is merely to return the quantity of work 11APItaLla  
done ; and, by a scale in the office, the task-work master returns the amount of gratuity the G. Isaacs. 
men have earned. 
4378. How are they divided into first and second classes ? According to their physical 
capabilities. 
4379. You complain that men of different classes are put upon the same cart ? Yes; on their 
arrival here they are classed by the medical man. A man named Fahey, who had been here 
before, and who was then a first-class man, on his arrival here under a freah conviction, was classed 
by the medical officers as a second-elassinan ; but when he was sent to the office to he assigned 
to a gang he was asked by Mr. Fitzgerald to what class be belonged, and he said that be had 
been on the first class. His register has, therefore, been allowed to stand good in the office, 
and his work is returned as a first-class man though be is in the second-class gang. 
4380. What is done with the money placed to the prisoner's credit ? It is placed to his 
credit and he receives it when he leaves; but there is only one class that can bank, and that 
is the second. 
4381. There is no reward for the others? No; in fact a man may as well be misbehaved 
as good. 

Edward Power called in and further examined :— 
4382. By the Chairman: You were examined before this Committee at Parramatta Gaol E. Power. 
some time ago? Yes. 
4383. You were then in solitary -confinement ? Yen 
4384. While you were under examination you stated that immoral practices, amounting tto 
sodomy in some eases, were carried on on Cockatoo Island ? Yes. 
4385. The Committee desire to know whether you still adhere to this statement'? Yes; 
since I have returned from the gaol these things have been carried on again. 
4886. Have you been an eye-witness? Not an -eye-witness. 
4387. Have you been an eye-witness to anything preliminary -to, or connected with, the 
crime itself ? No. 
4388. Will you state what has come within your own knowledge ? 'Since I returned from 
Woollen:thole° there have been two or three instances in the ward where I sleep. My 
attention wasealled one night by a man named Hogan. I was asleep at the time, and when 
I got out of my bunk to witness the action, the party left the bunk and went to his own 
again. Since then I have laid awake several nights to see if Ieould catch the parity. They 
have got information that I intend to put it down if possible, and they hare got their eye en 
sue and I have got my eye on them. 
4389. What were-the names of these men ?    and 	 
4390. Were these old or young men? Both young men. 
4391. I suppose, from what you say, that you have notloubt this crime does take place? Not 
the least doubt. This is a second Sodom and Gomorrah for any men of feeling to be here • 
and sleeping with men, whose chief subject of conversation, from the time they go into the 
ward till they come out again, is nothing but sodomy. 
4392- This is the thief topic of conversation? Yes, this is the home of many of them, and 
a man who has never been here before his mind is never at ease with them. You cannot 
rest or do anything with them. You. cannot close your ears to them, for you are all 
huddled together. There was a ease brought before the magistrate yesterday or the day 
before. I do not know how it was got over. There was a man called a boy a "bloody 
Irish whore," and then a "bloody Pentridge whore " ; and at was brought before the 
magistrate, but it was hushed up. 
4393. What magistrate ? Captain Scott. In fact, three or four instances have been fetched 
to this office, but they have always been bushed up. 
4394. You have never been an eye-witness to the crime itself ? No; .but a man on the 
ground has then it from time to time 
4395. Who is that ? Michael Doran. 
4890 Have you anything you wish to state to the Committee ? I wish to be shifted off 
this ground. I do not care where it is BO long as it is of this place. I am a man with a 
family, and half my time is done, and I would sooner remain in a solitary cell than stop the 
rest of my time here. 
4397. I think you stated that when you were at Parramatta.? Yes. They are going to 
break out here inunediatelyiand a man is in clanger of his life. they say they are only 
waiting to see whether the Council will do any thing for them. Only the day !before 
yesterday there was a man stabbed in his arm. 
4398. Who was he? Patrick Byrnes. 
4399. Who stabbed him ? This man, Michael Doran 
4400. Why did he stab bitn ? He said Byrnes ,girve information against him. 
4401. Is Byrnes hart? Yes; the knife went right through the muscle of his arm. 
4402. Has Doran been tried? Byrnes dedined prosecuting when the magistrates were here. 

Michael Doran called in -and examined :— 
4403. .By the Chnipman : You are a prisoner upon this island? Yes. 
4404. How long have you been here ? I came here the 28th day of May lad two years. 
4405. You have been here nearly three years? Yes. 
4406. For what offence did you come 'here? For a horse. 

M. Doran. 

4407, 
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Cockatoo 4407. For stealing a horse ? No, not for stealing him. 
illand Fri"' 4408. That was the charge ? That was the charge. M. A pri1,1861. 

4409. Where were you tried ? At Maitland. - 
M. Doran. 4410. By what Judge ? By Judge Callaghan. 

4411. During the time you have been confined on this island have you ever seen acts of gross 
immorality among the prisoners ? I have. 
4412. You have seen them yourself? I have been called in the middle of the night by a 
man of the name of Neal. 
4413. In what ward were you at that time ? No. 2 ward. 
4414. How many prisoners were there sleeping in that ward? I dare say there may be such 
a thing as sixty; there may be more or less. 
4415. HOB long age was that? Better than two years. 
4416. You say that Neal called your attention to something? Yes • he called my attention 
to look at such parties, naming them; not merely me, but a great deal more men as well as 
me; and I have seen frequently two and three persons going into one bed; it was quite 
usual in that place ; be got his liberty to Moreton Bay afterwards. There was another case, 
quite similar to it, that was brought up for it. 
4417. What did you see on that occasion ? I only saw two men in the bunk ; it was night, 
and that was all 1 could see-their nakedness-anything more I could not see. 
4418. You did not see them in the act of sodomy? No, I would not go so close to them, 
but they were both together under the blanket. 
4419. Did you see them acting in any manner indecently towards each other ? Yes. 
4420. What have you seen-you must speak out in plain terms, fur your language is being 
taken down as you speak 	1 have seen one man on the top of another. 
4421. Treating him as though he were a woman 	Yes, 1 have seen that. 
4422. Have you seen that more than once ? Yes, and more than half-a dozen times. 
4423. Will you state the names of any of the men thus acting? Yes, I will ; a man of the 
name of 	 
4424. Is he on the island now ? No, he was invalided from here to Parramatta. 
4425. Who else ? He was with a man named 	, be got his liberty from this 
island by Dr. West, for the good of his health. 
4426. Anybody else ? Yes, a man of the name of 	, and quite a young boy-a 
growing up slip of a man-quite a youngster-bad connection with him. 
4427. Did you see that ? Yes; Neal called me to watch both these parties, and with that 
I did. 
4428. You have seen the men having connection with this boy ? Yes. 
4429. Do you mean that you saw them in the act ? I see him lay on the top of him, that is 
all lean say any further about it, in that uncertain time of the night. 
4430. What was the boy's name ? His name was Jemtny something. He was sent to 
Moreton Bay to a ticket-of-leave better than two years ago now. 
4431. How long is it ago since you saw the last act of this kind? I have not seen it since 
I left No. 2. I left it about two years ago. I was in the mechanics since then, in the 
blacksmiths' shop. 
4432. That ward is better conducted? Yes; I am in a small ward, No. 4, where there is a 
proper wardsman-a man of the name of Macdonald; he would not allow such a thing at all, 
by no means. The greater run is among the old prisoners, aiding one another and increasing 
such a thing; for if a man wanted to put it down, and exposed it, I do not know what would 
become of him. There is a youngster who is a servant of Mr. Balls at present, I was not in 
No. 2 when he was shifted, but I know We was threatened by the wardsman what he would 
do if be would not stand it, and the youngster was shifted out of his ward and the man was 
left in his billet as wardsman, and this treatment is allowed. There are other people on this 
island, if they were closely examined, would tell that they reported these circumstances to 
free people, who took no notice of it. There is another man named Mason that I am in-
formed has reported these things to some free people on the ground. 
4433. By Mr. Hart : Supposing the authorities had been desirous of repressing this crime, 
and had kept the same watch as you did, would they not have been able to have detected this 
crime ? If free people would bring these parties to justice it would not take place so often 
as it does; but when men are pulled to this office, for justice, to be tried, they would not 
try for such a case, they would try for a different light, and book it in a different light. I 
went to Sydney Gaol in another ease as a witness, in February two years, and for telling 
the truth in Sydney I got punished. I got three months solitary confinement for it every 
night; and another man when he saw the treatment I got for telling the truth would not 
do it. The bigger the ruffian the more encouragement, the more fair play he gets. That is 
the treatment I got, and every free man on the ground would shew me a cold reception. 
4434. Was a court held on your conduct when you came back ? No; but the superintendent 
said he would bring me to trial, and he took it upon himself. Mr. Forbes was the Visiting 
Magistrate at the time, and when he knew it he said he had no business to punish rne for 
giving evidence in a court of justice. On the Queen's Birthday afterwards I got liberated, 
after going on for three months solitary confinement. 
4435. Would it not be a satisfaction to you to have solitary confinement instead of being in 
the company of these men ? Yes; but the vermin is eating a man in some seasons of the 
year. 
4436. Are the cells dirty? Yes, for there is wood there that has been there for twenty 
years, and it is eaten with all sorts of vermin, and on the wall you will see the vermin, 
half-a-dozen in one spot, and when a man wants to lie down at night they swarm about him. 
There are other parties I have seen taken to sleep in the cell for having to do with a native 

black 
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black of this Colony-a man of the name of    He was confined for some time to Cockatoo 
the cells, and was never fetched out to justice. They do not want these things under the Ts 14"(1 :1; 11 .'88(411 . 

Apri .1 	. notice of the magistrates, and when they bring a ease it is not as such they try it. From 
what I have known of it it is more encouraged by the authorities than tried to be kept M. Doran. 
down. I do not know this man Mason, but some one says that he reported to the free 
people that he caught two men in the act and they told him to shut his eyes. What are 
the prisoners to do if the free people who are paid to put a stop to it will not look at it. 

John Mason called in and examined :- 
4437. By the Chairman : You are a prisoner on this island ? Yes. 
4438. For what offence are you here? Stealing a horse. 
4439. How long have you been here ? Since August, 1858. 
4440. During the time you have been here, have you ever had occasion to report to the 
authorities immoral conduct on the part of the other prisoners ? I have. 
4441. You have made reports of this kind ? Yes, I have. 
4442. The Committee wish to know the nature of the report, when you made it., and to 
whom you made it ? I believe it was in May, 1859, that a boy received some injury or 
assault from a person in the ward, and in the morning when he came out he was crying. 
Several of the men asked him what he was crying for, and I beard the boy tell Mr. Brown 
that a man had made an attempt to beastly assault him ; in fact, the boy wept most of the 
night. Mr. Brown said, " Why can't you men let one another alone ? it is very odd you 
men will not let each other alone"; and no in .re was said about it.. The boy was shifted 
out of No. 2 to No. 4; there was no more about it. The boy is here now. 
4443. What is his name ? I believe, John Smith'; he is servant to Mr. Balls. 
4444. Have you ever noticed acts of immorality ? I have never seen them. 
4445. Have you ever heard of them ? Plenty. 
4446. Are you yourself a married man ? I am. 
4447. Have you a wife and children living ? Yes. 
4448. Are you of opinion; from what you heir, that sodomy is committed on the island ? 
I am almost certain, although I have never seen it, that it is very common. 
4449. It has been represented to us that it is the chief topic of conversation among the 
prisoners in some of the wards ? The conversation goes when they fall out; the tirst words 
are "you whore," or "you so-and-so," something of that sort-in fact one will publicly 
before the whole call others such names as these. 
4450. Have you any other statement you wish to make? I have a little to say with regard 
to myself. Seine time since I wrote to Mr. Justice Callaghan, asking him if he would be 
kind enough to look at the heavy sentence I had-I had a higher sentence than any other 
man for the same offence; and I prayed that I might have the same sentence as another 
prisoner. Ele answered me nod said, he would recommend me to the Government for a 
commutation of sentence, and to make my sentence seven years. I came here to Captain 
Mann, and he read the recommendation to me, and advised me to write to the Colonial 
Secretary and enclose this recommendation. I wrote, but I do not know whether the 
recommendation went or not, and received an answer that no part or portion of the sentence 
would be remitted. Now I think this is unusual where a Judge makes such a recommen-
dation. 
4451. Was this your first offence ? Yes. 
4452. Where were you sentenced ? At Parramatta. 
4453. You say Mr. Callaghan actually recommended a commutation of sentence? Yes. 

John Mann. 

John Smith called in and examined:- 
4451. By the Chairman : How long have you been on the island ? Nearly fifteen months. John Smith. 
4455. For what offence were you sent bore? On account of some jewellery. 
4456. You mean on a charge of stealing jewellery ? Yes. 
4457. What sentence did you receive? Two years. 
4458. What Judge sentenced yen? Judge iNlilford. 
4459. Have you over had occasion to complain of an indecent assault having been made 
upon yen by any pritoner ? I have; when I first came here, a man attempted to come into 
my bunk one night. 
4400. Will you state to us what took place-make your own statement, adhere strictly to 
the fact, disguising nothing, abating nothing-state where you were when the assault was 
made, in what manner it was made, who made it, what you did afterwards, and what was the 
consequence ? The only thing that took place was this-after I had been on the island a 
few days the wardsman in No. 2 came to my bunk about one o'clock in the morning. 
4461. By Mr. Ilin , leyer : Whet was his name ? I forget his name; but he had the name 
of Spring-heel Jack. While I was asleep he came to my bunk and began to feel in the 
blanket. I felt him feeling in the blanket, and accused him of it. I awoke all the men, 
and told Mr. Brown, the Assistant Superintendent, of it. 
4462. By the Chairman : What did Mr. Brown do? He removed me out of that ward into 
another, 
4463. 'This person who interfered with yOu in the manner you have described was acting as 
wardsmn ? Yes. 
4461. When you say he commenced feeling about the blankets, did he place his hands M an 
indelicate manner about you ? He did. 
4465. Under the blanket, in an indecent manner, as if you were a female? Yes; and I 
jumped up and accused him of it before all the men. I disturbed all the men. 

157-S 	 4466. 
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Cockatoo 4466. Have you heard of similar conduct on the part of others ? I have, several times. 
ThlandPrison. 4467. Have you ever seen anything ? I have not. Aprii,1861. 

4468. Do you suppose from what you have seen that unnatural crime is committed on the 
John Smith. island ? That I could not say. 

4469. I only want to know what your impression is ? My impression is that such things 
are done. As soon as I came on the island I was told to be aware, and of course I took care 
of myself. 
4470. How old are you ? Just about twenty. 
4471. By Mr. liar!: Have any overtures been made to ypu since then ? No. 
4472. By the Ciairman: Did this man say anything to you when he attacked you in this 
way ? He never spoke. 
4473. Was he an old or a young man ? An elderly man. 
4474. By Mr. lrindeyer : Did you ever hear young men called by female names? No. 
4475. By Mr. 	 Was the man you speak of still kept on as wardsman ? Yes, 
until he went to his liberty; that was some mouths afterwards. 

Gother Kerr Mann, Esquire, called in and examined:— 
G. K. Mann, 4476. By the Chairnzan: Is there any general map of the island with winch we can be 

Esq. 	supplied ? Yes, there is; but it was made some time ago, and since that the general outline 
of the island has changed by filling in, and by the progress of the works. 
4477. Can you and the officers under you prepare a map shevring the outline of the island, 
its features generally, and all the buildings upon it, which can be conveniently folded with 
a foolscap publication ? I can. I will see that it is forthwith put in hand. 
4478. This Committee has been appointed with unusual powers, such as the power of visiting 
public prisons, and also of receiving any statements from prisoners, and we are anxious to 
know whether statements from any prisoners add' essed to the Committee have been forwarded 
to you, which have not reached us? I have some statements which have been forwarded 
from prisoners. They have come up to me in the first instance, and asked permission to 
write to the Committee, and I have given it. These statements should be in the office—but 
I do not know that they are at this moment—in order to be handed in. 
4479. Perhaps you will forward them to us to-morrow morning? I believe they are here at 
this present tnomeut. (The witness referred to some papers lying on the table.) I know 
these are some, but I am riot quite sure whether these are the whole. 
4480. Was there a prisoner on the island named David Clarke, recently tried before the 
Chief Justice, whose case has attracted some attention ? There was. 
4481. Do you recollect whether a letter was received on the island from Sir Alfred Stephen 
with reference to the prisoner, as he himself alleged in the dock ? I am not aware of one.. 
4482. Did you read the statement published in the newspaper, where the Chief Justice, 
Sir Alfred Stephen, acknowledged having sent a letter of that kind, and explained to the 
prisoner why he sent it ? I have no recollection—but so many letters come here of a similar 
description. I think I can answer positively that no letter came in my time. There may 
have been a remark on the warrant, but Clarke's character was well known at this establishment. 
4483. Is it customary for you to receive letters from the Judges, relative to persons they 
have sentenced ? No, it is not customary, nor do I believe a letter was written ; but in the 
warrant there is a column for remarks, and the Judge's remarks are generally entered in 
that. I know of no instance of a letter having been written directly to the establishment 
respecting any prisoner. 
4484. Is this man David Clarke on the island ? He is not. After the disturbances that 
were going on here, I recommended that a certain number of those who are urging the men 
on to misbehave should be removed from this establishment, as there were no means of 
separation, to come establishment where they could be placed by themselves, and among 
them this same man, David Clarke. 
4485. Then he will undergo his sentence in some other prison? I am not aware of that. 
I reminded the Government, when I heard he was sentenced, that he was one of the 
twelve men who were included in the list to undergo his sentence at another establishment. 
While here he made a desperate attempt to escape, but by keeping all the free officers on 
guard night and day for some days we frustrated the intention. 
4486. The greater number of the men who were sent from Cockatoo Island for insubor-
dination have been returned? Speaking from my memory nearly all; some two or three are 
still at large. Another man who was tried in company with Clarke, a man named Cavanagh, 
is not recommended to be removed. 
4487. Is he here ? He has not returned to the island. 
4488. Have the amen behaved in a more orderly manner, or, in other words, have they showed 
any signs of insubordination since their return from Darlingliurst to the island ? There has 
been only one instance of overt insubordination, but the men are in a very unsettled state— 
their demeanour is not what I conceive the demeanour of prisoners ought to be; still, lean- 
not say they have committed any actual act of insubordination. On Sunday morning they 
refused to receive their bread; I examined it, and was satisfied I should not be justified in 
condemning it; I therefore ordered them to receive it. I heard that, although a great many 

'ate it, many did not receive it, or threw it about the yard. The next morning, at six 'o'clock, 
when they were rung out, they said they could not go out of the yard to work as they were 
hungry. I went down to the yard and ordered the men to fall in. I then ordered a man 
from each gang to come forward, and told him they might speak to me as to their cause of 
complaint. I heard what they had to say about this bread, but still refused to condemn it. 
I said if I had considered the bread bad I would have condemned it; 'but, as I considered 
it good, I was bound to protect the interest of the contractor. The men then spoke to me 

in 
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in a remarkably orderly manner, and, if I may use the term—the only one that will express p?..riv?0 
my meaning—there was no rowdyism about them ; they were perfectly civil ; their riturfirit 
demeanour was correct towards me. 	I said, on account of their demeanour being correct, I 
would allow them to have their breakfast of hominy, and they must then turnout immediately. G. K. Mann, 
They had their breakfast at seven o'clock, and they then turned to their work. 	 Esq. 
4489. All has gone . on smoothly since ? All has gone on smoothly since. 
4490. We understand that there was an assault committed yesterday, when a man named 
Michael Dorm 11 stabbed another man named Byrnes ? I think it was on Monday the occur-
rence took place. • 
4491. We are told that this man Byrnes was stabbed right through the fleshy part of the 
arm ? Yes. 
4492. The knife went in on one side and came out of the other? Yes, I believe the intention 
was to inflict a mortal stab, and that it was the IMO 'S arm that saved his life. 
4493 Were no steps taken in the matter ? It was brought before the magistrate yesterday. 
The man Byrnes came up, but would not give evidence, and the ease was dismissed. It was a 
very serious stab indeed. 	I itnmediately reported the circumstance to the Visiting 
Magistrate, and stated that I had placed the man in the cells, waiting his next visit. 
4494. Is this man Byrnes in the hospital ? Yes. 
4495. Receiving treatment for his wound ? Yes. 
4496. Is the wound going on all right? Yes, it is merely a flesh wound through the 
muscles of the arm. 
4497. Have you held an inquiry on the island, in consequence of the inquiry conducted by 
this Committee, to ascertain whether the crime of sodomy existed on the island? The 
Visiting Magistrate did so at his last visit. 
4498. Did you sit ? I am not a magistsate. 
4499. Were you present ? I was present among others who were present; I was not aware 
that it arose out of the visit of this Committee ; Captain Scott came with a list of names of 
men on the island, and a large number were taken indiscriminately before him and examined. 
4500. Was Mr. Agnew examined on the island? Yes, he was mesent. • 
4591. Have you seen his deposition? I think I was present when he made it; it has not 
made any great impression upon my mind, for 1 was part of the time engaged on the 
business of the island and was running in and out. 
4502. You did not pay much attention to what he said? No, I could not speak positively 
as to the facts be stated. 
4503 Was there not some charge brought before the Visiting Magistrate a day or two ago 
of immoral conduct? Not of immoral conduct, one of the men accused another of using very 
obscene and disgusting language to him. That case was brought before the Police Magistrate. 
4504. What was the result—was the case dismissed ? I think the case was dismissed. I 
think the man who had made use of it had never been punished on the island. 
4505. By Mr. flare: Do you apprehend an outbreak on the island ? I am very careful to 
look out to prevent it. I cannot say that it amounts to an apprehension, but I should not 
be at all surprised if the men did strike work again in the same way that they have done. 
They have threatened violence to me, and say that the only thing to do is to knock the 
superintendent on the head in the same way that they did at Melbourne, and that then they 
should get their rights. I do not think anything of that circumstance. 
4506. By the Chairman : Do your family live on the island ? Yes; I have no fear in that 
way • the only object of the men would be to gain their liberty. 
4501 By Mr. llart: Have you applied to Government for liberty to use other coercive 
measures than at present you have power to use ? I have applied for additional sentries, and 
have recommended in my general report that I should be allowed to inflict a certain punish-
ment upon the men. At present I have no power to punish the men at all ; all I can do is 
to put a man in the cells, awaiting the visit of the magistrate. I have the power, as every 
officer in my position should have, of taking summary steps in case of violence being sbewn 
to me, and I have told the men clearly—and I believe on a former occasion I saved my 
life by it—that if they showed me any violence I would shoot them immediately. 
4508. Have you applied to the Government for permission to flog the men ? I have not, 
4509. By Mr. Windeyer : How often are the sentries changed ? I am speaking now from 
hearsay, for I have nothing to do with the police; I know nothing of the details. Since the 
police guard has been here I believe the police sentries are on four hours. I do not know; it has 
been given into the hands of the inspector, and be reports directly to the Visiting Magistrate. 
4510. By Mr. Morris : That would have been just the same if the soldiers had been here ? 
But the soldiers never changed any sentries without my knowledge, and when the soldiers 
were here there was a portion of the police force, consisting of one sergeant and thirteen 'nen, 
exclusively belonging to the island. These men reported directly to me. They are now 
-placed under an inspector, who is under the control of the Superintendent of Police, and 
who reports direct to the Visiting Magistrate; and unless I bear indirectly of some irregu-
larity through him I am kept in ignorance of what goes on. It is a matter I have COM -
plained of. 
4511. By Mr. Sutherland: Do you mean irregularities on the part of the prisoners, or on 
the part of the police ? Of any irregularity that occurs in the course of the police duty. I 
think there ought to be an island guard—an island police—they were here formerly, even 
with the military. 
4512. Are they paid out of the police funds ? They are paid by this department. I pay 
them myself—their abstracts come before me. 
4512. By Mr. Windeyer : What was the old military guard ? An officer, two non-com-
missioned officers, and thirty or thirty-one men. 

Mr. 
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C Jekatoo 	 Mr. William Augustine Cahill called in and further examined:— Island Prison. _ 
11 Apr 1,1661. 4014. By the Chairman: It has been alleged to us that there has been considerable misap-
- 	propriation of material, especially in the construction of the dock, and we want to know from Mr. W. A. you whether you have seen any kind of material which has come here for the dock applied Cahill. 	• to another purpose? It is difficult to tell whether there has been any misappropriation or 

not, for timber is used indiscriminately for anything that may be wanted—if 3ou allude to 
timber. 
4515. Or any other material—lime, or iron ? They ail, used indiscriminately, as they are 
wanted; they are not laid by, for any particular place. 
4516. It has been alleged to us that rilarge quantity of material sent for the construction of the 
dock, and buildings in connection with the dock, have been, in reality, applied to the erection 
of private aecommodatien of the family of the superintendent ? There has been a groat 
amount of timber used for it, no doubt ; but I cannot say whether the timber vas specially 
ordered for it. I made out the calculaimis of the quantity that would be required, and 
supplied Captain Mann with them; but whether more than that has been supplied I have 
not the means of knowing. 
4517. You are overseer of the works? Yes, I am principal foreman of works. 
4518. Have you served your time to any trade? Yes, to a carpenter and joiner ; I was a 
contractor in Sydney for many years. 
4519. Then I suppose you can state what really has been done in the preparation of 
accommodation for the superintendent ? A house has been built consisting of ten rooms. 
4520. Since Mr. Ormsby left ? Yes, the house is 84 feet in length by 35 in width, and 
consists of nine or ten rooms, I am not certain which—not b•ss than nine—with two 
kitchens under one roof, but detached from the attain building. There has been a good deal 
of work besides in connecting the new building with the old one, in breaking through the 
walls for doors and windows, and making them good again. 
4521. The material and labour also, 1 suppose, have been used indiscriminately for this 
-private dwelling, and for public works on the island ? Yes, for a period of twelve months. 
4522. That is, the material has been used in common for all pqrposes on the island ? Yes. 
4523. Has anything been done during this time for the accommedation of other officers 
on the island ? There may have been some trifling repairs. The accommodation, in gener al, 
of the other officers is very bad. 

FRIDAY, 12 APRIL, 1861. 

3recient :— 
MR. MATE, 	 MR. SUT IIERLAND, 
Nit. MORRIS, 	 MR. WILSON. 

IMMIX PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Mr. Thomas Harrison again called in and further examined 

Lamson. Yes, there are some matters I left ouf. 
4524. By the Chairman : You desire to supplement your former evidence in some particulars ? 

4525. Before you go more particularly into what you wish to state, I understand you have 
12  A1)111,1861 - a diagram by which you desire to represent tc the Committee bow the turnkeys were placed 

in Darlinghurst Gaol by you? Yes; that is one I made when I was first appointed principal 
turnkey. (Tire witness produced the same. Vale Appendix A.) 
4526. Will you explain the intention of the diagram before you ? There were three posts 
for night duty; one the gate, one the stockade, and one the wings. Three men were on 
these posts every day and night for twentpfour hours. The man who was on day duty at 
the gate, we kept the name and date that he was on that particular post; and by turning 
that man's name to that post you would at any number of years aft r tell who was on any 
post, if anything occurred. Suppose a man was on each of these pests; the following day, 
when the centre of the circle was turned round, they were off duty, having been up day and 
bight for the previous twenty-four hours. Then the following day they would come nu to a 
post for day duty for twelve hours. That would leave them two nights in bed. On the 
following night, after doing twelve hours day duty, they would come on to the wing, that is, 
twelve hours day duty and twelve hours at night.. I will commence with a man named 
Armstrong. He is on the wing; he is off duty the next day, in consequence of having been 
on duty the previous night. The following day be goes to the north wall (a day post) for 
twelve hours; from that he goes on to the stockade, that is as a post for twenty-four hours ; 
that is night duty again. After the stockade he gets off duty again ; then he gets on to the 
bell for twelve hours ; from the bell he goes on to the front of the gaol inside for twelve 
hours, and then he comes back to the gate again; so that he has three nights in bed. 
4527. Were there any printed regulations issued to the turnkeys during your time ? Yes, 
they were written by me; they were revised, and were afterwards printed and posted up. 
4528. About what time was that ? As nearly as I can recollect, about two years ago. 
4529. At whose suggestion? I was asked by the Sheriff to make some regulations; I did. 
so , and they were modified by him. 
4530. They were written by direction of the Sheriff? Yes. 	

4531. 
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4531. And were posted up in the gaol ? Yes. 	 Mr. T. 
4532. Do you hand in a copy of those regulations? Yea. (The witness handed in the same. Harrison. 
Vide Appendix B.) 
4533. When do you say those regulations were posted up ? As nearly as l ean recollect 12 Apri1,1861.1  
About two years ago or better. 
4534. You can now make what statement you wish to the Committee ? It is in consequence 
of a question that was put to me when I was last before the Committee, that I desire to 
relieve myself of what would be considered a great dereliction of duty. It is in reference to 
the statement that I have been off many occasions drunk in gaol. That would have been 
almost impossible, from the number of gentlemen who visited the gaol daily, hourly, and 
almost half-hourly. 1 beg to hand in some documents from various gentlemen, some of whom 
have known me for the last twenty-three years, and others from gentlemen who have known 
me tince I have been in 8ydney, and who have visited the gaol at all hours and s. assorts, and. 
not one of them will charge me with ever having been guilty of such a gross dereliction of 
duty. 
4535. You wish to hand in these testimonials of character ? Yes. 
4536. I !presume you will be satisfied if the names atm enumerated—if they are admitted as 
testimonials of, good character ? Yes. 

[The witness then handed in testimonials from W. V. Wild, barrister-at-law ; 
D. IT. Denielly, solicitor ; Jas. Greer, solicitor ; Jas Carroll, solicitor ; W. B. Dailey, 
barrister-at-law ; W. P. Moffatt, solicitor ; Robt. Burdett Smith, E. J. Cory, 
solicitor ; George Hill, itIL C.; also from Frederick Backe, Clerk of the Bench, 
Newcastle, 1845; George Brooke, Newcastle, 1845; A. W. Scott, Newcastle, 1846; 
J. Reid, Newcastle, 1845 ; Wm. Brooks, Lochead, 1845; Simon Kemp, Newcastle, 
1845 ; J. Lawson, Newcastle, 1845.] 

4537. Do you wish to make any other statement ? With respect to the manner in which the 
inquiry was conducted by Captain 1PLerie, at Darlinghurst Gaol. When the man Banks 
gave evidence about Polack's ease, he said another prisoner, named Cheatem or Chisholm, 
would corroborate his statement. Captain I'd Lerie had this man brought to the office, and be 
was then told to make Ids statement. LIe did so, and when his statement was opposed to Banks' 
statement:1( . 1 asked Captain Mini° to call some witnesses, some of the turnkeys, as evidence 
for me

' 
 and he refused to do so. I was then prepared to disprove the charges. 

4538. Do you say that you were not allowed to bring evidence which would have invalidated 
this man's testimony against you ? Yes; the clerk will prove that. I was repeatedly told 
by Captain APLerie that there was no charge against me. Dr. West said he made no charge 
against any one. 
4539. Is there anything else you wish to state ? There is another matter—I have heard 
that it has been said I was too lenient towards the prisoners in the gaol, that I did not do 
any duty in that respect. For that reason, I got a copy of the entries in the hook in the 
gaol, from which it will be seen that, from January, 1860, to February, 1861, I punished 
113 prisoners ; 50 of these prisoners the principal gaoler wished to have put on bread and 
water, but, :18 Captain MO-aerie did not attend, they were released. 
4540. When you say that you punished the prisoners, do you mean that they were punished 
by your sole direction, or at your instance, in consequence of your having appl.ed to the 
principal gaoler—what I want to know is whether you had power to punish without 
reference to Mr. Beverley, the principal gaoler ? If I saw them committing a breach of the 
regulations of the gaol, I locked them up, and reported them to the principal gaoler ; and it 
was at his option whether he would release them or keep them in separate confinement till 
he got the Visiting Magistrate's authority to punish them. 
4541. Do you wish to hand in that list ? Yes. (The witness handed in the same. Vide 
Appendix C.) • 
4543. Have you any other statement you wish to make ? With reference to Pulaelt, I believe 
that a very different opinion was given by Dr. West of Polack's health in 1854, from what 
he has lately given. That is the affidavit which he then gave. (The witness produced a 
paper.) 
4543. Is this the original certificate? No, it is a copy from the Supreme Court. 
4544. This is inconsistent with the last certificate Dr. West gave as to the state of Polack's 
health ? Yes. (The witoess handed in the same. Vide Appendix D.) I was asked when I 
was hero before as to the duties of the turnkeys after the change took place. 	I got this 
paper from the clerk, shewing how the duties were conducted. That is now replaced by my 
own system. 
4545. Does the paper you wish to hand in shew the alteration in the system as to the duties 
of turnkeys explained in the first part of your evidence ? It does. 
4546. Up to the period when this change took place the turnkeys were placed as you have 
described to the Committee? Yes. 
4547. Then they were altered and were appointed according to the statement which you 
now hand in? Yes. (The witness handed in the same. Vide Appendix E.) 

APPENDIX. 

• NOTE (Insertion by witness on revision) :—Mr. Mtorie would not take it, and the Clerk tore it up. 
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Hr. T. 
Harrison. 

12 April, 1861. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

ExPLANATION. 

The names are supposed to revolve within the outer circles : the inner portion of the diagram being 
attached at the centre. 

B. 
DUTIES OP THE TURNKEYS 

AT 

1f. GAOL, 

I.—They are to obey all the orders of the Principal Gaoler and the Deputy Gaoler. 
2.—They must not give to, or take anything from a prisoner, or allow any person coming into the Gaol 

to communicate with the prisoners without the knowledge of the Principal Gaoler or Deputy 
Gaoler ; neither are they to employ any prisoner without the consent of the Principal Gaoler or 
Deputy Gaoler being first had and obtained. 

G.—They am to be regular in their attendance from 6 o'clock in the morning until G o'clock in the 
evening daily—te keep a strict watch and due surveillance over the prisoners, and not hold any 
communication with them further than duty requires: they are to keep the hard labour prisoners 
diligently at their work, and to report any prisoner who idles. or does bis work in a careless or 
slovenly manner, immediately to the Principal Gaoler or his Deputy, and they are not to allow 
any prisoner into the cook-house or workshops excepting those employed there. 

4.—They will not be allowed, when on duty, to read or employ themselves in any way likely to draw 
their attention from their duty. 

6.—Whilst on duty, at night, they must call the hours and the half-hours from 9 o'clock RM. to 6 o'clock 
Am. ; the Turnkey at the Gate is first to call, to be answered in succession by the Turnkey at 
the Wing, and the Turnkey in charge of the Stockade ; should either neglect to call or answer 
in his turn, one or other will proceed to ascertain the cause, and report such omission to the 
Deputy Gaoler. 

6.—The Turnkeys in charge of' the Wings and Stockade are to walk round every half-hour, and should 
they hear any unusual noise, or become acquainted with any ease of sickness, or any other 
unusual occurrence, they must report the same immediately to the Deputy Gaoler. 

7.—They must challenge all persons walking through or about the Gaol after dark. 
S.:—The watch-boxes are only to be used in rainy weather, and then in such a manner that the Turnkey 

may have a view of the Wing Gates, the Stockade, and the Yards, respectively. 
9.—Any Turnkey sleeping on his post will be reported to the Sheriff. 

10. 
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10.—The Turnkeys in charge of each Wing are to examine daily the Cells, Cell-doors, and Windows, in 	Mr. T. 
order to ascertain whether any attempt has been made to escape; and should any of them discover Harrison. 
such attempt, or any tool or implement likely to be used for that purpose, he must report it 
immediately to the Deputy Gaoler. They are to make all the prisoners attend Divine Service 12 A„6 0861.  
on every Sunday, in a clean and becoming manner, and to report to the Principal Gaoler or his 	v 
Deputy, any prisoner who absents himself; and who does not attend in clean attire. They are 
to carry out, to the fullest intent, the 5th, 6th, 7th, 8th, 9th, 14th, and 24th clauses of the General 
Rules for Gaols, which are to be hung up in each Wing. 

11.—All the Turnkeys for the day duty are to be present when the prisoners are let out in the morning. 
12.—When occasion requires that a Wing should be opened at night, two Turnkeys should always be 

present, one is to go in and the other to remain outside to lock the Gate. 
13.—The Turnkey on duty at the Gate must not open the wicket after 9 o'clock at night, without first 

ascertaining who it is that seeks admission, and must report to the Principal Gaoler any Turnkey 
who is half-an-hour late in the mornings, and under no pretence to allow any Turnkey to enter 
the Gaol upon duty while under the influence of drink. 

11.—Any Turnkey leaving his post of duty, either day or night, without leave of the Principal Gaoler 
or his Deputy, will be reported to the Sheriff ; and no Turnkey, under any pretence, is to absent 
'himself without sending word to the Principal Gaoler as to the cause of his absence. 

15.—The Turnkey at the Gate is not to allow any Turnkey td pass through the Gate after going on 
duty, without leave of the Principal Gaoler or Deputy Gaoler. 

IA—The Turnkey on duty in the hard-labour yard is not to leave tlie yard, during the hours of work, 
without special permission from the Principal Gaoler or Deputy Gaoler. 

17.—It is the especial duty of every Turnkey to report any and every irregularity he may see or hear 
of on the part of any prisoner or Turnkey, and should it he discovered by the Gaoler that it 
Turnkey has neglected his duty, in this particular, he will be instantly suspended and reported 

• 	to the Sheriff. 

By order of the Sheriff; 	
Gaoler. 

C. 

LIST OF PRISONERS locked up for offences committed in her Majesty's Gaol, Darlinghurst, 
from the 1st January, 1861, to 11th February, 186L 

No. NAME. OFFENCE. DATE OF 
PUNISHMENT. 

DATE OF 
RELEASE. 

January 9 

„ 	17 
Ten days. 
January 23 

„ 	31 
February 3 

„ 	a 

1 
2 
3 
1 
5 
G 
7 
8 

John 	........ 
John Cl anis( ..... . 
john Sullivan 	 
Charles T. Winslow 
Jonny — ...... 

Idling 	. ......... 	............ ....... 
Ditto 	.. 	.... 

From the " Herald' . 	  
Idling 	  
Refusing work 	_ .. _ .. „ 	  

Ditto 	 .. 	. 
Fighting 	........ ............... 	

Ditto 	..... ...... .......... 	 

January 5 

„ 	9 
„ 	18 
„ 	25 
,, 	25 

:: 	831 

William Mackey 	 
Jrils. Clifford 	...... , 	, 
John Fitzgerald 	 
John Murphy 	. ...... 

10 H ury 	  Refusing work 	....... ........... 	... Febuar ry 1 „ 	 10 
11 John Sullivan 	 Disobedience of orders ................ a 
12 Thomas Watson 	....„ • . Refusing work    	 G 
13 Roderick ill'Gregor 	 Fighting 	..... .......... ...... .. ..... 7 9 
14 Ditto 	........... ...... . 	.......... 7 9 
1-5 Alexander Boyd 	.. 	Assuming madness 	..... ...... .. ..... 9 13 
16 John Geary 	.. :  	Idling during work hours ...... ........ . 14 18 
17 William Thompson  	Striking a prisoner 	. 	....... ...... ... 16 18 
18 Moses Benson  	Concealing tobacco 	..... . ...... .. 	... 16 16 
19 Edward Dunn  	For drunkenness 	  18 „ 	19 
20 Henry Heyman 	Refusing work 	_ _ 	  20 
21 Alexander Smith Idling 	  21  „ 	25 
22 Charles Rodger ......... Obscene language .....• ... ...... 	 23 „ 	25 
23 Richard Dyers 	.......... Singing in the cells 	... ...... .... 	 24 „ 
24 Ditto 	ditto 	,... 	  21 „ 	25 
25 Thomas Knight  	Ditto 	ditto 	....... ......... • • .. 21 „ 	25 
26 Thomas Fairbrother Ditto 	ditto 	....... ........ ..... 24 „ 	25 
27 JSmes Baker 	  Ditto 	ditto 	....... ...... .. ..... 
28 Gelirge Cummins 	 Refusing work 	......... ......... „ .. march 	5 Marth 	10 
29 Henry Hughes 	 Ditto 	ditto 	  6 „ 	20 
30 Thomas Watson 	 Ditto 	ditto. ...... ........... 	..... 9 „ 	16 
31 John Burch 	  Shouting, Sc.c 	  11 „ 	13 
32 George CliniMinS 	 Fighting 	..... ................ ....... 15 „ 	20 
33 John Thomas 	 Ditto 	  15 „ 	16 
31 Thomas Watson 	........ Refusing work 	..... 	  „ 	16 „ 	Cl 
3.5 David Ring Light in his cell 	  „ 	22 
36 
37 

John Burtenshaw........ 
Edward M`Gee 	 

Stealing hooks 	_ _ _ 	  
Refusing work 	.. .... 	...... 	 :: 	222  77  1-  

„ 	29 
„ 	31 

33 Thomas Watson 	..... Ditto 	ditto 	  April 	2 April 	6 
39 Ohnrles Seymour ..... Ditto 	ditto ............. ........ 	 ,, 	13 
40 Joseph Bridle 	 Leaving his work .... 	  „ 	16 „ 	20 
41 Patrick Brady Obscene language . 	... ............. 	 „ 	23 „ 	26 
42 Charles Seymour ........ Refusing work 	, 	....... 	  . „ 	24 „ 	29 
43 Henry Prescott... ...... . Fighting 	............ .. ...... 	 May 	2 May 	3 
44 Charles Abbott ..... Ditto 	......... ...... ..... 	.... -. 	 „ 	2 

Refusing work 	  „ 	25 „ 	29 
46 William Dally Refusing ta go to Church 	  „ 	27 „ 	28 
47 James I1PManus ..... Insolence ......... ....... ......... 	 „ 	30 June 	8 
48 Jaekey Weymouth 	 Refusing work 	... ...... ..... ........ June 	5 „ 	s 
49 John Gallagher_ Disobedience of orders ...... 	 „ 	16 „ 	26 
50 William l'ikc 	.......... Absent from his cell 	  „ 	21 „ 	26 
51 William Mackey Obscene language ...... .... —. 	 „ 	28 July 	1 

Lisa. 
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11r. T. 	LIST OF PRISONERS—continued. 
Harrison. 
•••••—•‘..-•-•. 

NAME, OFFENCE, DATE OF 	DATE OF 
PUNISHMENT.1 	RELEASE. 12 April,1861. TiNc).  

52 
53 
54 
35 

Thomas Thornton 	..... 
Edward Dunn 	 
George Stevenson 	 
Geo. Edwards 	 

... 
1 f Drunkenness 	  

Refusing work 	. ...... , . ...... 	 
Ditto 	ditto.................  	 

	

July- 	9 

	

„ 	17 

	

„ 	21 

„ 	13 
„ 	19 
„ 	24 

56 Alexander Smith ........ Refusing to pick oakum 	  ,, 	25 „ 	26 
57 	Patrick Kelly 	,... ,...., Refusing work 	. ............ ... 	 August 	1 August 	6 
58 	James White ....., „ .... linocking Mr. Beamish's hat 	 „ 	6 „ 	6 
$9 'James Daley . ...... ... .. Idli n g 	  „ 	6 
60 William Thompson .. ,... Ditto 	.... ........... 	  „ 	6 
61 William Reilly 	 Striking a prisoner 	  Sept. 	4 Sept. 	6 
62 William Almack ..  	 Fighting 	..... ................ ....... ,, 	5 II 
63 

' 
Thomas Thornton 	...... 
Nathaniel Poole 	 

D . 
... „ 	5 9 

65 	Alexander Smith ........ 
66 	John Davies ... 	 ... 

i Breaking. out of gaol  
I 

67 Edward 11'Kenzie 	 
68 	Geo. Stevenson .......... j Fighting 	....  	....... • • • • • • • • • „ 	 11 
69 	James II'Donald 	........ Insolence (Hr. Peters) .. ...... ........ „ 	13 18 
70 Robert Hunter 	 For being at the back of bath-house ..., „ 	13 18 
71 	John Nichols ....... ..... Fighting 	. .............. .. , 	.......... ,, 	18 20 
72 	Golub (Chinaman) ...... Stealing bread.. ...... ................ „ 	24 
73 Charles Seymour ........ Striking prisoner with stone 	..... ..... 26 „ October 	5 
74 	Coss 	 ,Thomas Refusing work 	..... ........... 	..... October 	2 „ 

	
$ 

76 Rohn Pole 	....... , 
76 William Palmer 	 

„ .. Ditto 	ditto. ........... ........ - .. 
Absent from work ..... ......... ...... 

5, 	 2 
„ 	13 

„ 	10 

77 	James Reilly 	...... Giving a light into the yard 	.......... 23 27 
78 	Patrick Roach . 	 No religion 	... ....... .. ......... • .... 	Nov. 	7 Nov. 	10 
79 (Rai es Seymour Lies.. 	............ ........ ...... 	.... 	„ 	7 10 
80 William Holstein 	 Having a light in his cell... ......... .. „ 	11 11 
81 Henry Smith 	 15 19 
82 
83 

William Smith 	...... 
olin Booth „ 

Concealing tobacco 	  
Disobedience of orders . 	  

20 

84 	John Jones 	......., .... 	Ditto 	ditto 25 , 	28 
85 	John Williams 	...... Ditto 	ditto 
86 	Robert Hunter ....... Refusing work 	  Doe. Dee. 	10 
87 Joseph Clarke , 	Ditto  	 11 
88 ;Nicholas Swan .......... 
89 	Richard Rutter .. Refusing to pick oakum 	  19  
90 	Patrick Ringwood 	...... ) 
91 Edward Cooney Cursing and improper conduct 11 
92 lope (Chinaman) 	 Refusing work 	...... 	...... 14 

You ch 	ditto „ Refining to pick oakum 	......... 19 „ 	24 
91 Hugh O'Donnell Refusing 	ditto 	......... 19 „ 	21 
96 'Joseph Clarke Refusing work 	, 19 „ 	21 

1861. 
96 Joseph Clarke .......... Ditto 	ditto ....... ...... 	• ...... „ 	27 February I. 
97 'John Harrington 
98 Patrick Ringwood 

„ Noise in his cell.. 	  
Fighting, 	.............. . • • 	• 

„ 	20 
„ 	29 

„ 
1 

1861. 
99 Alexander Smith . ...... • Throwing his dinner away 	  January I 

100 George Edwards Refusing, work 	...... 	...... January 16 
101 John Jones 	 8 „ 	16 
102 Hugh O'Donnell Ditto 	ditto., 	....... ....... 10 
103 Edward Farlington Breaking 	garden fence 	and 	stealing 17 18 
101 John Cousins 	 J 	fruit 	  
105 John Carroll 21 24 
106 
107 

Daley ..... 
Thomas Allen 	 

FiDgl ii tttiloag ........... 	...... 

26 25 
108 John 	 • • / 
109 Francis Press 	 Refusing to work 	........ ..... „ 	30 
110 James Reilly ...... False representation . ..... February 2 February 4 
111 John Reilley . ...... . Abusive language 	.................... „ 	5 
112 John Seymour 	 Striking prisoner well a kid 	 „ 	5 13 
113 William Alma& Refusing to pick oakum 	........ " 	9  

15 

D. 
In the Supreme Court of New South Wales. 

Criminal Jurisdiction. 
TEE QUEEN against ABRAHAM POLACK and WILLIAM }JEERS \\TELLS . 

ON this fifth day of October, in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four, George West of 
Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, Doctor of Medicine, being duly sworn, malted' oath and 
saith as follows :—I hold the situation of Surgeon to Her Majesty's Gaol at Darlingburst, in the said 
City of Sydney ; I have seen the ahovenamed Abraham Polack, almost daily, since he has been confined 
within the said Gaol, under the conviction against him herein, and I have been on several occasions 
consulted by him, and find that he is afflicted with lumbago, which I am inforined is of long standing. 
and also that be is of a very gouty diathesis; in consequence thereof, as well as from his age and general 
debility, I am of opinion that ho is an unfit person to undergo a sentence of hard labour without seriously 
injuring his health, and that the undergoing such a sentence would, in all probability, materially 
endanger his life. 

GEO. WEST. 
Sworn by the Deponent, on the day first abovementioned, 

at Sydney, aforesaid, before me- 
AUGUSTUS CARTER, 

A Commissioner for Affidavits. 

B. 



1197 

ON THE PUBLIC PRISONS IN SYDNEY AND CUMEMILAND. 	 137 

Mr. T. 
Harrison. 

12 April, 1861. 

(August 1st, 1860.) 
Riapen 	Gate 
Bourke .. 	_Front Wing 
Lee 	 Labour Wing 
O'Callaghan 	Assisting at Wing 

(August 15th.) 

Callaghan _ _Front Wing 
Rispen .... _Labour Wing 
Bourke ..... . South Wing 

(August 29th.) 
Callaghan .... _ Gate 
ilispen 	 South Wall 
Bourke 	Labour Wing 
Lee 	 Front Wing 

(September 12th.) 
Rispen . ...... .Frnnt Wing 
Callaghan ..... .Labour Wing 
Lee 	 South Wall 

(Suotember 26th.) 
Lee 	 Wing 
Rispen ..... 	Wing 
Callaghan _ 	 South Wall 

(October 0th.) 
Lee ..... 	_Labour Wing 
Callaghan 	Front Wing 
Rispen ..... 	 South Wall 

(October 24th.) 
Callaghan 	Front Wing 
Rispeu 	Labour Wing, 
Lee ....... 	South Wall 

(November 1st.) 
Milligan 	Gate 	I  "Night 
M'Carthy 	Stockade f Sentry. 
Whitblon.. 	Quarry West 
Smith 	North Wall 
Keogh 	Gate 
Wallace . 	 Stockade 
Armstrong and} tangly Graham 	 

(November bith.) 
Rispon 	 Trial Wing 
Lee 	 1  ahem Wing 
Callaghan _ 	Wall 

(November 21st.) 

Callaghan ......Labour Wing 
Rispen 	South Wall 

(December 5th.) 
Lee 	...... . South Wall 
Rispen 	_ 	Labour Wing 
Callaghan .... 	Wing 

(December Pith.) 
Rispen 	Trial Wing 
Lee _ 	Labour Wing 
Callaghan 	South Wall 

(January 2nd, 1861.) 
Callaghan.. 	Trial Wing 
Lee 	 Wing 
Rispen 	__South Well 

(January 16th, 1561.) 
Callaghan _ 	Trial Wing 
Ilispen 	Labour Wing 
Lee 	 _ South Wall 

E. 

Mr. Christopher Rispen called in and examined:— 
4548. By the Chairman : How long have you been in the Colony ? I came here in 1841. Mr. C.Ilispen. 
4549. What employment have you followed since? I was first in the Parramatta police 
five years. 12 Aprit1861. 
4550. Have you been in. the Government service all the time? Nearly.  
4551. You were turnkey in the Darlinghurst Gaol lately? Yes, I had been for twelve years. 
4552. You were dismissed lately ? Yes. 
4553. I believe you have petitioned the Legislative Assembly, have you not, for redress of 
what you consider a grievance in your dismission ? Yes. 
4554. And have also applied through me, as Chairman of this Committee, to be examined 
respecting the same subject ? Respecting my own subject. 
4555. You wish to hand in to the Committee some testimonials of character, do you not ? 
Yes. 
4556. Do you hand them in ? I hand them in to the Committee. These are some I brought 
from home; others I have collected from time to time in this country. 
4557. They represent your conduct over a long series of years ? I may say from my 
childhood. (The witness handed in the following testimonials :—) From John Henry, 
dated July, 184 1, Riehardstown Castle, Dunlear, County Louth, Ireland, stating that he had 
" known Rispen for many years to be a regular, well-conducted young man." From Thomas 
Parkinson, Vicar of the united parishes of Stabannon and Richardstown, dated July, 1641, 
stating that " Rispen has always lived in my parish. I have known him from infancy, and 
" I can say he has always been a sober, quiet, well-conducted person, the son of respectable 
" parents." 

The Chairman stated that the other testimonials, which he had read through, 
described general good conduct on the part of Rispen. They were as follow :—From Gilbert 
Elliott, Police Magistrate, 1647; W. A. Miles, about the same date ; George Langley, 1847; 
John Ryan, Chief Constable, Parramatta, 1847; Gilbert Elliott, 1355; James Greer, no 
date; Henry Beverley, Gaoler, Darlinghurst, 1855 ; Gilbert Elliott, Police Magistrate, 
1846; Francis Maearthur„ Goulburn, 1849; John M•Lerie, 1850; William Forster, 
Gaoler, Goulburn, 1849; and one from Henry Beverley, 14th February, 1861, stating that 
" Eispen as a turnkey has uniformly been attentive to his duty, and has given satisfaction 
" to both the Sheriff and myself. He has been employed in various offices of trust, such as 
" escort duty, taking prisoners on habeas to the Courts, and so; and he ever acquitted him-
" self perfectly well." 
4558. You may make what statement you desire to the Committee, as to your dismissal ? 
My dismissal was on account of a letter that a prisoner's wife sent to her husband. Mr. Polack 
was a prisoner in the gaol, and his wife was in the habit of sending letters regularly to her 
husband while Mr. Beverley and Mr. Harrison were there. When they were suspended she 
sent a letter to me. This letter, as her writing was known at the gate, was sent to Mr. Read, 
and from him it was sent to Captain APLerie. I believe that was the course it took. The 
first I heard of it was my dismissal from Mr. Cowper on account of this letter coming. 
4559. Were you dismissed without any inquiry ? Without any inquiry. 
4560. Has there been any inquiry ? There came a letter on Friday directed to my wife. 
I got this letter at the gaol, and brought it to her. She said, "This letter I will destroy, 

- and make no use of; there is enough got into trouble on account of this man and his wife." 
157—T 	 . 	That 
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Mr. C. Mapco. That evening I was determined to go out to see her and to stop her writing; but the evening 
was so bad that I could not go out. The next morning, Saturday, I went ; and it appears 

12 April,1661. that before I went she sent another letter, and this letter was detained and stopped at the 
gate. I went to let her know the nature of the harm she would do to me. If the Committee 
would be pleased to hear her, I suppdse she would give the same declaration herself. 
4561. Had she sent letters to you or your wife before ? Never.* 
4562. Had you any personal knowledge of her ? Yes, from seeing her come to the gaol. 
4563. Except from her coming to the gaol ? No. 
4564. The only knowledge you had of her was obtained from her coming to see her husband? 
Yes. 
4565. How did you know where she lived ? From seeing letters coming out to her from her 
husband. They would come to Mr. Beverley or Mr. Harrison, and would be given to me to 
forward to her if I was in. 
4566. Was it explained to you when you were dismissed that it was for allowing these letters 
to be addressed to you clandestinely ? Yes. 
4567. As I understand you the letter was really intended for Polack, but was addressed to 
yourself? The first letter was addressed to my wife. 
4568. And the other was addressed to your wife with the intention of its being conveyed to 
Polack ? lea; the last letter I never saw at all. 
4569. You never saw the letter for which you have been dismissed? No. 
4570. Do you deny distinctly that you ever communicated the substance of any letter to 
Polack from his wife ? I deny distinctly that I ever conveyed any communication between 
Polack and his wife. 
4571. Do you deny that you ever in any way, directly or impliedly, gave permission to 
Mrs. Polack to address this letter to you ? Yes. 
4572. You never had any communication with her upon the subject ? I did not see her for 
six months previous. 
4573. You knew nothing about it till you were dismissed ? I knew nothing about it till 
the Under Sheriff came and brought my dismission. 
4574. Have you represented this to the authorities ? I have represented it to Captain 
Mterie ; I laid my statement before him. 
4575. What did Captain Mterie say ? He said I had better see Mr. Cowper and explain. 
I went to Mr. Cowper

' 
 and he said, "Well, what do you want now ?" I said, "I have my 

" grievance of being dismissed on account of a letter, and I have a very large family, and 
" have been a very long time in the service—nineteen years." I explained all this and he 
said, " Well, I can do nothing for you ; for, besides this, the Sheriff says you deceived him." 
I said, "II you believe Banks' evidence, given in gaol"—Banks is a man who came from 
Cockatoo to give evidence relative to Polack's clothing—" If you believe Banks' evidence 
you must, of course, believe I have deceived him." Because I gave evidence some three or 
four months ago, when there was a talk of Polack's wearing his own clothing, that I never 
saw him, from the time of his leaving the debtors' prison, wear any clothing but the prison 
clothing, except an outside coat. It appears that Banks gave evidence that he wore his own 
clothing, so that if Mr. Cowper believed that evidence before mine, he might suppose that 
I had deceived the Sheriff. As he had such confidence in me, had known me so long, and 
as I had been recommended by Captain Mterie, Mr. Gilbert Elliott, and many more others, 
if I deceived him it would be very strange. So, in the latter end, by explaining these 
circumstances, Mr. Cowper said he would look into it, or give me a thoughtA—he would 
consider me. I was there twice previous to that, and could not see him. I managed to see 
him this time, that was all. 
4576. By !IL . . Morris : Have you had no communication from Mr. Cowper, or from Captain 
Mterie since ? No. 
4577. You knew Mrs. Polack's handwriting, I suppose, well ? I do not know. This man 
on the gate knew her handwriting well, for she was sending letters two or three times a week. 
I did not see the insides of the letters, I only saw the directions on the outside. 
4578. Did Mrs. Polack send her letters addressed to her husband, or to Mr. Beverley, or to 
Mr. Harrison ? She used to send direct to Mr. Beverley or Mr. Harrison ; at times without 
Mr. Polack's name on the letter, and Mr. Harrison has sent the letter by me to Polack. 
4579. Mr. Harrison would send these letters by you to Mr. Polack without sending them 
first to Mr. Beverley ? He would if Mr. Beverley were out at the time, but if he were in 
lie would send them to him. 
4580. By the Chairman : During the time you were turnkey was any complaint made against 
you ? Yes, there was one. 
4581. What was that for ? It was on account of a piece of sheet-iron. 
4582. What was the circumstance ? I wanted a piece of sheet-iron for the back of a fire-
place, and I spoke to the man who was in charge of the blacksmiths' shop, and said, "could 
you let me have a piece of sheet-iron for the back of a fire-place ?" and be said, "Yes, there 
are plenty of waste pieces, you can have any that will suit you." 
4583. Was it old sheet-iron ? It was waste iron. 
4584. Had it been used ? No ; the part required for use had been cut off, and this was a 
piece that remained. I carried this out when I was going to my dinner at twelve o'clock, 
and when I came back the man at the gata said they had reported against me to the Sheriff. 
The Sheriff came up in an hour or two, and I then explained to him that I had had the 
piece of iron given me by Mr. Altoy. He said he did not see that I had any felonious intent, 

but 

• Non (Addition by witness on revision) :—And the one letter sent addressed to my wife I reported. 
to the chief turnkey, as was my duty. • 
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but that I had no business to take it away, and that the other had no business to give it Mr.e.rtispen. 
to me. 
4585. Were you punished ? No. 	• 	 12 Apri1,1861. 
4586. Is that the only complaint that has been made against you ? Yes. 
4587. Has there been any complaint of drunkenness at any time ? No. 
4588. You say "No," sharply, as if you were indignant at the suspicion ? Yes. 
4589. Are you a very sober man 	Yes, exceedingly so. 
4590. A teetotaller ? No. I do not think any one in the Colony ever saw the appearance 
of drink upon me. You must consider tha1I have lived for nine years within the walls of 
that gaol with any family. 
4591. What family have you ? Six children. 
4592. Were you married in the Colony ? Yes, in Parramatta. 
4593. By Mr. Morris : Were you aware that the prisoner Polack was treated differently 
from other prisoners ? No. 
4594. Were you not aware that he received comforts, and different kinds of food from the 
outside ? He has received nothing that I know of When he came from the debtors' prison 
I suppose he was about three weeks under my charge, during this time his clothing was got 
ready, and then he was removed over to the new wing, and then he was away from me. Of 
course I saw him pretty often. 
4595. You had no charge of the wing in which Polack was placed ? Not chiefly. I had 
charge of lam, I suppose, for three weeks after he left the debtors' prison. 
4596. Then Polack might have been treated very differently from the other prisoners without 
your having been aware of it ? Yes. 
4597. 13g the Chairman: Some time ago you addressed this letter to me, dated the 9th 
March (handing a letter to the witness). 
4598. Is that your handwriting? It is not my handwriting, it is writing I got done. 
4599. That letter states your complaint at some length ; do you wish to have it appended to 
your evidence ? If you please. ( 'Tide Appendix A.) 
4600. During the time you were turnkey, how did you obtain the keys to unlock the 
wing in the morning ? I several times got them from Mr. Harrison ' • at other times when 
he would not be on foot, I would go to his door, and he would come down and hand me the 
keys. 
4601. Did you ever take them off a peg behind the door ? I did ; I took them off a peg 
behind the door some few mornings that he was up, and had not the opportunity of handing 
them to me; he told me to take them. 
4602. Was Mr. Harrison's house ever in this state that you could open the door and take the 
keys ? No, he always bad the door fastened. 
4603. Did he always unfasten the door himself? Yes. 
4604. You never found the house in that state that any one could have gone in and taken the 
keys of the wings off the peg behind the door ? Never. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

23, Denham.street, Surry Hills, 
Sydney, 9 March, 1861. 

Sir, 
The great anxiety I feel in my present predicament (being the father of alarge and helpless 

family) will, I hope, be a sufficient excuse for thus intruding myself on your notice. 
lain now nineteen years in Government service, and have never been one single day off duty for 

a fault, or under the displeasure of my superiors. On the contrary (as you may see by the accompanying 
testimonials), wherever I have been stationed I won the respect and esteem of those whose duty it was 
to be intimately acquainted with my character and conduct. 

About six years ago I was appointed principal gaoler at Moreton Bay vice Sergeant-Major Feeny 
dismissed—but who (through the intervention of the Governor General, then passing through Moreton 
Bay) was reinstated. I was afterwards appointed principal turnkey in Darlinglnust, in room of Mr. Har-
rison, who was appointed to Goulburn. In this I was also disappointed, and had to return to my former 
position. 

I have frequently applied to the Sheriff for promotion, but the invariable reply was that, under 
Responsible Government, the appointments lay entirely with the Prime Minister. Now, under all these 
disappointments, and this want of acknowledgement for past services performed with uprightness, 
sobriety, and steadiness, I was still content as long as I could rear my family in respect ; but, at the 
eleventh hour, to be dismissed from a service in which I have spent the best years of my life is heart-
rending—is maddening. 

Leaving myself entirely in your hands, and frosting to your generous consideration and advocacy, 
and also hoping you will pardon the great liberty I have taken,— 

I have, dm., 
Henry Parkes, Esq., M.P. 	 CHRISTOPHER RISPEN 

TUESDAY, 
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TUESDAY, 16 API?a, 1861. 

flaunt :— 
MR. COWPER, 	 MB.. MORRIS, 
MR. MATE, 	 MR. WILSON. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE Crtkm. 
The Honorable Charles Cowper, Esq., M.P., examined in his place in the Committee:— 

The Ron. 4605. By the Chairman : You are Colonial Secretary ? Yes. C. Coirper, 4000. And, with the exception of a short interval when you were out of office, you have 
been so for some years ?' Yes. 
4601. How many years? Four years next September, with an interval of about five months. 16 April,1861. 40.r.  6 You have been a Member of the Legislature for some seventeen or eighteen years ? 
Yes, since the first introduction of representative institutions, with some short intervals. 
4009. Previous to your taking office in the government of the country, you had paid con-
siderable attention to the subject of prison discipline ? I had. 
4610. You have been Chairman, I think, of two Committees, at different times, to inquire 
into the subject ? Yes; besides investigating the state of the Darlinghurst Gaol and 
Cockatoo Island with other Committees. 
4611. Soon after your assumption of office, you issued certain regulations affecting the 
treatment of prisoners at Cockatoo Island principally or exclusively—will you be good 
enough to state to the Committee what those regulations were, under what circumstances 
and from what considerations they were issued ? For some time previous to my being called 
to office, very general complaints were made as to the ill cffeet of the operation of the 
regulations then in force for the remission of the sentences of the Judges Papers printed 
by order of the Legislature will show that the Judges had thought it necessary to remonstrate 
upon the subject to the Government, and had drawn attention to the unsatisfactory operation 
of what were called the ticket-of-leave regulations. There were also other modes in which 
public opinion was expressed as unfavourable to these regulations. Their working may be 
forcibly put in this way :—An individual practically guilty of murder, but from some 
technicality found guilty of manslaughter, or having judgment of death recorded against 
him, or if reprieved from the gallows, would be sentenced to Cockatoo for fifteen years. 
But by these regulations be would get a ticket-of-leave in four years; that again could be 
reduced, by marks and other modes, to about three years and three months. It was felt 
that this system of remission—of, in fact, sending back into the community these men who 
had been convicted of such serious crimes, was having a most mischievous operation. The 
subject was brought by me under the consideration of the Chief Justice, and of Captain Mterie, 
then Inspector General of Police. I also consulted Captain Mayne, who had been Inspector 
General of Police, and whose opinion upon such matters was I thought entitled to weight. 
'The subject was also frequently matter of conference between His Excellency Sir William 
Denison, who himself was an authority upon the subject of prison discipline. The result 
was, that we arrived at the conclusion that it was desirable at once to put an end to the 
existing system. There did not appear to be in this course any injustice to any criminals, 
because the notice expressly guarded any promises that might have been supposed to have 
been conveyed by existing regulations to those convicts whose sentence had been subject to 
remission previous to this date. The notice runs thus :— 

" Colonial Secretary's Office, 
" Sydney, In June, 1858. 

" REMISSION OF SENTENCES. 
" HIS Excellency the Governor General, with the advice of the Executive Council, has been 
" pleased to direct that the Regulations now in force for granting Tickets-of-Leave, and for 
" shortening the periods of servitude of Prisoners under sentences of Courts of Justice, by a 
" system of Task Work, shall be cancelled from this date. 

" 2. Those Regulations will, however, be acted upon in the cases of all Prisoners 
" now undergoing sentences passed while they were in force. 

" 3. Visiting Magistrates, and Superintendents of Gaols, or other Penal Establish-
" ments, will not in future forward to the Government Petitions or applications from 
" Prisoners in their charge, unless some fact is brought forward which was not produced at 
" their trials, or some special circumstances unconnected with their conduct in Gaol." 
It will be seen that the hopes of remission of sentence of these convicts sentenced previous to 
that date were not in any way affected by these regulations. An intimation was also given, 
before their publication, to their Honors the Judges, and to all others invested with the 
power of passing sentences, in order that they might, if they thought it right, be affected by 
the new system to come into operation from that date. The last clause of the regulations 
had reference to what had become a very serious grievance. Persons either in the gaols, or in 
the neighbourhood of gaols, were in the habit of writing petitions by the half dozen at 
least, sometimes by the half score, and these, although refused, were constantly coming into 
the Government, and were generally referred to the Judges. This not only kept up a bad 
system among the prisoners, but caused great labour to the Judges, as well as a considerable 
amount of additional labour among the public offices. A rule, therefore, was laid down, 
that unless there were some new features in the history of the case these petitions should 
not be forwarded. That rule has not been very rigidly adhered to, I believe, but it has had 
so far a beneficial influence as in some degree it keeps down the immense number of 
petitions previously sent in. I might state, too, that while it has been objected to the new 

regulations 
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regulations that no hope is held out to the convict, the exercise of the prerogative &Add The Iron, 
always step in, and it has done so whenever, either from the recommendation of the Judge, 
or other consideration, the Governor thought a case was made out for such interference. Perhaps 
I may also say that the regulations were not passed with the determination of their being  

1G Apri1,1861. final, hut more with the view of enabling the Executive to consider and determine whether 
come modified system of remission might not afterwards be introduced. The question 
was a very difficult one to decide, and there did not seem to be any serious hardship in 
leaving those convicts who were sentenced by the Courts to such remissions of their sentences 
only as the Governor in the exercise of the Royal prerogative might, from time to time, 
determine. And when we consider that the very large proportion of these men are 
sentenced for not longer than three or five years, and a comparatively small number only 
for longer periods, and those only for the most serious crimes—cotinnitted too by hardened 
offenders—it can hardly be objected that there was any great severity in introducing the 
system even though no more lenient system were introduced. 
4612. These regulations have been in force now nearly three years ? Yes. 
4613. Have you taken much trouble to ascertain the practical working of these regulations 
by inquiry or otherwise—what I desire to get from you is, whether your opinion, at the time 
of issuing these regulations, has been in any way modified by your experience since, or 
whether you consider that these regulations have been completely successful ? I think the 
principle laid down in these regulations is a correct one, and I have no ground for thinking 
that the time for issuing them was inopportune. They, no doubt, as might have be expected, 
have created a good deal of dissatisfaction, and one great evil was that the convicts under 
the old system had to be kept in the same establishment with the convicts under the new ; but I 
am not quite satisfied that the officers intrusted with the management of these convicts have 
acted as faithfully as they ought to have done, in carrying out the views of the Government. 
There seems to have been rather a leaning on the part of some of the chief officers to the 
objections of tlie prisoners, and I think the prisoners have understood there was that leaning, 
and this has perhaps increased the feeling of opposition which has given the Government, 
more especially of late, a very considerable amount of trouble. 
4614. I believe the mutiny, if it may be so called, on Cockatoo Island at the beginning of 
this year, was avowedly in consequence of these regulations ? It was. 
4015. 1Vere there other reasons stated for the insubordination of the prisoners in general ? 
I am not aware of any, at least none were stated with any force. There have been occasional 
suggestions that the officers themselves were capricious, and that partiality existed; but I 
have never heard these complaints urged on the part of many. 
4616. You say that the judges remonstrated against the old state of things prior to the 
issue of these regulations—can you state at about what time, and in. what form, these remon-
strances were put forth ? You will find a letter from Sir Alfred Stephen, dated 24th May, 
1855. addressed to the Board of Inquiry, in the Votes and Proceedings for 1856-7, vol. 1, 
p. 1050. 
4617. Can you find the passage in his letter which refers to this subject? Tie says, "One 
" of the objects in sentencing desperate or abandoned criminals for long terms is the neees-
" sity of keeping them for the stated period from repeating crimes. Another object is, the 
" inflicting of wholesome warning and dread on those who might. otherwise (if tempted to 
" suppose that criminals of that character escaped with a slight or short punishment) follow 
" their example. Both these objects are defeated, exactly in proportion as you remit 
" part of the term awarded, and enable the criminals to return to their old residences among 
" their companions, and in the immediate neighbourhood of the persons whom they have 
" robbed or otherwise injured. Another mischief is, that the sentence of the Court itself is 
" brought into contempt, and regarded as an unmeaning threat. As things now stand it 
" does not express the truth to the criminal ; be may nominally be sentenced to ten years, 
" but he knows that, unless he very much miscon ducts himself, be will be set free in five or six." 
4618. You also say that the Judges were notified of this change in the general discipline of 
prisoners ? Yes. 
4619. Are you aware whether the Judges took that into consideration sufficiently in awarding 
sentences ? I have understood they did, although Captain Mann, the Superintendent 
of the island, bra written a communication to the Governnient, in which he considers, from 
a calculation of the sentences passed before and since their publication, that that is not 
manifest. I am not, however, prepared to admit the force of Mr. Mann's reasoning, or the 
conclusion at which he has arrived by his figures. 
4620. Have you any objection to give the Committee this communication of Captain Mann ? 
No. I will furnish a copy to the Committee. ( Vide Appendix A.) 
4621. If the facts should show that there were similar sentences for similar crimes after-
wards as before, that would go a long way towards establishing the fact that 110 difference 
was made, would it not ? A great deal would depend upon the .Ggures which may shew 
different results from taking a series of years. I am not prepared to say that Captain Mann 
does show accurately the result, As far as I can see, there is little to complain of. The 
return is only a comparison during a short period previous to the new regulations coming 
into force. With regard to the number of sentences exceeding five or six years the number 
is very small indeed. I do not see much force in the objection that has been urged that the 
insisting that sentences shall be carried out leaves no hope to the prisoner ; because if the 
judge considers that according to law a crime requires the punishment of three, four, or five 
years, upon the principle laid down by the Chief Justice, that it is desirable such a criminal 
should be kept away from the people be has been in the habit of associating with, and with 
whom he has been in the practice of committing evitnes—that for a serious crime the term is 
not so long as to justify the objection that "the door of hope is closed." 4622. 
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The Hon. 4622. Do you not think the reason of the ill working of the mark system which existed at 
Cockatoo Island, especially before the issue of your regulations, might be attributed to the q.. ... inefficiency inefficiency of the persons in charge of that penal establishment, and the consequent liability 

16A 11861. to abuse of the system from persons being able by various sinister influences to awaken pri,  interest on their behalf, apart altogether from the merits of their ease—the inefficiency of 
their gaolers assisting that abuse ? I do not understand that the system of marks of itself has 
been so much objected to, hut there was a regulation by which very long sentences—sentences 
of ten or fifteen years—could be practically put an end to by tickets-of-leave in four years 
or less, and that that time could again be reduced by the system of marks, which made the 
objection to the system the more forcible; but the system of marks itself was not so much 
objected to. 
4623. With regard to the principle involved in your regulations, I think, so far as I am 
acquainted with the subject, that the general opinion of persons in England is, that the measure 
of the sentence is more properly labour than time—that opinion is the opinion of thoughtful 
men, who have thought a great deal on this subject ? Yes ; but if you make it merely a 
question of labour, a very clever convict of bad character, with physical capacity, may be 
enabled to claim a remission sooner than a better man who does not possess his physical 
strength—unless you attach the condition of good conduct. 
4624. I was going on to say, taking labour as the main measure of the sentence, would it 
not be necessary to combine with it some system of arriving at good conduct on the part of 
the prisoner. The writers to whom I have referred argue thus : two men might meet at the 
same Assize, be indicted for the satue offence in point of law ; they might be at the saute point 
of age—say forty ; one of them might, up to that period, have never offended against the law, 
but have been driven by a combination of circumstances to this offence; while the other 
might have been a violator of the law all his life—yet, they would stand OD a level before 
the Judge who tried them on this occasion, for the same crime, with the same evidence against 
them. And the persons who take this view go on to argue—if one had, up to that period, 
been a good citizen, and showed a desire to retrace his steps, and shelved a desire of obedience 
to those who were placed over him, and wished to redeem himself as early as possible, while 
the other continued to manifest an ill frame of mind, it is evidently unjust to treat the two 
alike if any means could be devised for opening the door for the reformation of the one, while 
it was closed, for the protection of society, against the other ; and they have arrived at the 
conclusion that the most just and the safest mode is to measure the sentence mainly by 
labour, taking conduct in connection with labour. I think this is the opinion of Mr. Hill, 
of Lord Brougham, and a good many persons in England who have paid great attention to 
this subject ? No doubt the whole question of secondary punishment in this Colony is in a 
very unsatisfactory state, and it is, perhaps, one of the most important questions to which 
any public man could devote his time and attention, but it is surrrounded by great difficulties. 
Practically, I do not think so much injustice arises, as appears from the case you have put 
of the position of two culprits ; because, as a matter of fact, I know that in sentencing par-
ticular persons for the same offence the Judges endeavour to ascertain, and they generally 
do learn with some accuracy, the previous history and character of the men who come before 
them, so that while they would give one, two, or three years punishment only to a man of 
previous good character, to the other person who had been convicted before, and who had 
pursued a long course of crime, they would give the longest sentence the law would allow, 
and the law does generally allow a discretion to a Judge. There is another point to be taken 
into consideration, that these unhappy men generally have friends, and they are unquestion-
ably, as I have reason to know, very active in their behalf. If there is any mitigating cir-
cumstance, the case is in a short period brought under the consideration of the Executive, and 
the application goes to the Judge almost invariably. Good conduct is never lost sight of, 
when these petitions are considered by the Executive, even though there is no particular 
date fixed under the present system, when the prisoner can. claim remission. The great 
difficulty in the way of treating prisoners is no doubt the want of proper buildings, and the 
peculiar circumstances of the Colony. For instance, if a Judge sentences a man to imprison-
ment, he is sent to the gaol; if to hard labour on the public works of the Colony, he is sent 
to Cockatoo Island; and the Government of this Colony have always kept in view, in 
addition to the punishment of the criminal, the completion of that great public work the 
Fits Roy Dock. So that men, instead of being sent to hard labour on the roads or other 
public works, are sent to that island, which was never intended to be permanently used as a 
prison, but has buildings of only a temporary character, and it was hardly desirable to go to 
a large expense for prison buildings in a locality which it is intended to appropriate at no 
distant period exclusively to another object. Therefore, while it is absolutely necessary, in 
treating criminals, to have the means of classification, those who go to Cockatoo Island can 
never be treated effectively, with a view to their reformation or their punishment. 
4625. With regard to the discretion of the Judges, does it not strike you that it is manifestly 
wrong, if it could be avoided, that the Judges should exercise this discretion; the crime being the 
same in the eye of the law, as well as upon moral principle. Take the case of burglary, for 
instance: two men break into a dwelling-house in the dead of night and rob the inmates, the evi-
dence is clear and conclusive. Is it right that the Judges should exercise a discretion in such a 
case as that, even though it may be shewn that one Than was a much worse character prior 
to his conviction than the other ? Does it not seem more reasonable that the question of 
character should be determined by the behaviour after, rather than by that before the trial, 
that the proportion of punishment ought not to be measured at the time of the sentence, 
when both prisoners are fresh from crime—when there has been no intermediate period to 
test their character—when there is nothing to shew that although one may have borfnaecta 
good character up to that period, he may not for the future be better than the other—that 
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fact can only be proved by subsequent conduct ? I am hardly prepared to admit the The Hon.  
principle. As a close observer of the proceedings of Courts in different parts of the world, C. Cowper, 
with a view to make myself practically acquainted with their operation, I have remarked, Esq., M.P. 

both in the smaller and larger Courts, that the previous history of the individual is taken 'Ars" H AprH1861. into consideration. You will find a Judge sentencing two criminals—as in the case 
you have supposed, where one has been convicted for the first time, having, perhaps, been 
seduced into it by his more experienced and depraved eompaniou—thc one for a longer and 
the other for a shorter term, and it has never struck me that the principle is incorrect. 
4626. Have you never been struck, on referring to the annals of crime in this country, with 
the amazing inequality in the sentences passed ? I have, and that has been especially 
manifest since the establishment of District Courts—I have observed that, since that period, 
the difference in the sentences has been startling. 
4627. I may say, that while making some inquiries, particularly at the gaol at Darlinghurst, 
I think every member of the Committee was startled by what appeared to them to be the 
shocking inequality in the sentences, and I think it was principally with regard to the 
sentences-of the District Courts ;Judges, as you have observed ? Yes ; at the same time, it is 
difficult to determine such eases. To enable you to do so, you should know all the circum-
stances at the time in the mind of the Judge, you must almost be in a position to try 
the case over again before you can do it. 
4628. Going back to my former question : do you think it would be possible to determine 
safely the history of a prisoner—whether he deserved a mitigation of sentence, or whether 
he did not, by good conduct—unless we hail a very different system of classification in the 
gaol so as to enable every man to follow the bent of his own disposition   ? Without 
means of classification we can have no efficient prison discipline, or system of secondary 
punishment. 
4629. Must not this entire absence of the means of classification, which I believe characterizes 
all our gaols, greatly interfere with the prisoners behaving even as well as they otherwise 
would do? No doubt it is a great drawback to their pursuing what in their calmer and 
more sober moments they would desire to do if they were cut off from their depraved companions. 
4630. Supposing we had a large model prison, erected at great cost, even say £50,000, or 
£70,000, with workshops and Means of thorough classification, and an industrial system 
were established, by which these persons, according to their physical strength and previous 
habits and training, would be appointed to different kinds of labour—do not you think such 
an establishment might be made, to a very great extent, self-supporting as well as reformatory 
in its effects 1 I have no doubt it might; and I have thought of such a plan as the 
following :—Supposing the present site of Darlinghurst Gaol were considered unobjectionable, 
there is vacant ground where a prison building such as you speak of could be erected. It 
was for some time under my consideration whether we might not remove all the females 
from Darlitaghurst to Parratnatta, and put all the males at present at Parramatta into the 
Darlinghurst Gaol, near which there is a large quarry. In this quarry the men might be 
employed, as well as in other works necessary for the completion of the buildings on the 
plan you have suggested. I believe in that way the labour of the prisoners might be turned 
to as much account as if Government received money for what they do ; and I have also 
been of opinion that the best mode of employing the convicts would be in the completion 
of this building. When you see the fine buildings erected within the walls of Darlinghurst 
Gaul by convicts, it is a proof against the assertion that we do not get value from the 
labour of these men. It is true that Government do not get money, but these 
buildings have been erected in a very creditable manner, without any great cost, and 
I think the men have been better employed than the convicts at Parramatta, who have been 
engaged in making barrows and hats for sale. By the latter means a certain sum of money 
has been produced which has been quoted in favour of this mode of employment; but I 
believe if these men where employed in stone-cutting, building, in completing the gaols, you. 
would make them valuable mechanics, and that it would be a better anode of carrying into 
effect their sentences than plaiting hats and making hand-barrows and articles for sale. 
What we do want now is one gaol that could be used as a model gaol. 
4631. You are aware, I presume, that there are loud complaints against this system of 
making articles in the gaol to come into direct competition with the tradesmen of Parra-
matta ? Yes. 
4632. These complaints you will think with me are just ? I have often thought, while so 
much has been said in favour of the system at Parramatta, that the one adopted at Darling-
hurst is better

' 
 that the labour is more suitable to the sentences of convicts, although the 

money earned did not tell as in the ease of Parramatta. 
4633. With regard to Cockatoo Island, I should think that a most eligible site for a gaol, 
considering its isolation, and the additional means of security that isolation supplies, and also 
the healthiness of the site, and that it might be carried on beneficially in connection with 
the docking establishment for long future years ? I have always looked upon that as the 
proper site for a naval arsenal, and should be sorry to see that appropriation interfered with; 
and I am of opinion that a better site might be found for a model prison. I am not pre-
pared to say, except that the town has extended towards it, that you could have a better site 
than Darlinghurst; a large sum of money has been laid out upon it, which would have been 
uselessly expended if its present purpose were abandoned. It is certainly better than the 
site of the Parramatta gaol, which is low, and I should think unhealthy. 
4634. Has your attention been called to the fact, that very few persons in Sydney interest 
themselves in the condition of the gaol and prisoners; that very few private ladies and gen-
tlemen visit them ? Very few indeed. I ascribe it to the fact that almost every body is 
occupied with some business which engrosses his time. 

413b5 
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The Hon. 4635. More especially as respects female prisoners, they do not appear to be visited by honeys-
0i907 'IP lent ladies ? No ; I think the position of those females is very lamentable. 

4636. By Mr. Wilson : You are aware that other benevolent institutions are visited by 
r —1  ladies ? I am afraid not to any extent. I believe the Benevolent Asylum and Infirmary 16 ApriL1861. are very little visited. With regard to the women confined in Darlinghurst Gaol, it should 

be borne in mind that a large portion are abandoned drunkards, who are sent in for short 
sentences only, who come and go rapidly; they are sent to the gaol, and after a short time 
they come back to town, where they remain but a few days, perhaps, and then return again. 
I am afraid there is very little hope of doing any permanent good with them. 
4637. By the Chairman : There are a number of young girls also ? Some small number. 
4638. llave you any personal knowledge of the condition of the gaols in the eountiq—at 
Berrima, Goulhurn, and Bathurst ? Of Goulburn and Bathurst I have not; Berrima I 
examined the other day when I was passing by, but it is only just re-occupied. The gaol 
itself is a fine building, though some of the work is disgraceful. 
4639. You are aware that there is no attempt at classification in those gaols ? I believe 
none whatever ; I doubt whether the formation of the gaols admits of it. Although the 
gaol at Berrima is a large building, there is no means of keeping one set of prisoners away 
from others. There are no yards or means of classification, and then I believe it is the 
general system, where the men are under long sentences, to send them down to Parramatta or 
Darlinghurst. There is a great deal of difficulty in attempting any system of reform except 
with long sentenced men ; and when you come to take out the long sentenced men from the 
others in this Colony, the number is not very great. 
4640. By Mr. Wilson : Have you paid any attention to the necessity of educating prisoners, 
principally the juvenile portion of them, in gaols? Yes; there is the means of carrying on 
a school, but then again the number of juvenile convicts is very small. 
4641. Do you not think even adult prisoners might very beneficially be instructed and 
educated in gaols—that a general spitem of education might be established, and every man 
who goes to gaol be made to go to school? I think that would be very desirable indeed ; 
but 1 would rather attract than force them. That might be one of the features of good 
conduct, that might entitle them to consideration for remission of sentence. I may perhaps 
here remark, that I have been very much surprised to find so few re.convietions in this 
Colony. Mr. Mann has supplied me with a return shewing this, which I beg to band in to the 
Committee. (The Colonial Secretary handed in the same. Vide Appendix B.) 
4649. By the Chairman : With regard to the establishment of a large central gaol, is it 
your idea to have a gaol to contain the whole of the men undergoing sentence from all parts 
of the Colony—all sentenced for a certain period ? Yes ; I think that would be desirable, 
but it should be confined to prisoners sentenced for not less than six months. 
4043. It is exceedingly difficult to subject these men in the country gaols, with short 
sentences, to any industrial discipline ? Very. 
4644. For that reason it seems desirable that all should undergo some process of labour ? 
It has been suggested to me, that attached to Darlingliurst Gaol might be a building called 
the House of Correction, to which short sentenced men—men sentenced for three or six 
months—or juvenile offenders, might be sent. For instance, there are a large number of 
sailors who, from time to time, have to undergo short sentences, and if there were a particular 
wing set apart to them, we should find the total number of prisoners very much reduced. 
4645. I apprehend there should be a combination of utility and profitableness with the 
labour inflicted upon the prisoners, and that they should not only be punished, but that their 
labour should be profitable to the State ; that could not be effected unless they could be 
assembled in one place where, by a division of labour, they could have employment suited to 
their tastes, habits, and stamina. Their labour would be greatly wasted unless it were 
brought under some general system, where it could be turned to account, according to the 
character of the prisoner ? Yes ; if Cockatoo Island were so far completed, that it was 
necessary to provide for these convicts, then I think the whole question would be fairly 
before the Government ; but there is such a desire to get every able-bodied man to that 
island, to complete the work, that the question of reformation, and even of punishment to 
the prisoner, is quite secondary to that of the completion of this dock. With reference to this 
subject I may say, that I am by no means favourable to sending these men to he worked on 
the coast, at the various harbours. I think there is plenty of employment for them close at 
hand, where they are subject to more inspection and supervision. 
4646. By Mr. Wilson : When do the Government expect the dock at Cockatoo Island may 
be finished ? I should suppose the convicts may be removed in a couple of years ; still so 
long as Government think it desirable to employ them, there is a good deal of work to be 
done. I think, however, it is very desirable to remove them so soon as the dock is so far 
completed as to be generally occupied by ships. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

The Enginer-in-Chief and Superintendent of Cockatoo Island to the Principal Under- 
Secretary, reporting on that Establishment. 

Cockatoo Island, 10 September, 1860. 

It is now twelve months since I assumed the entire control of this establishment, and the 
inlight thus afforded me of the detail of the penal department, coupled with the many years' experience 
derived from my previous duties as Engineer-in-Chief of the important public works of this island, com- 
prising the construction of a Dry Dock and the erection of extensive workshops and machinery by 

means 

Sir, 
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means of prison labour, places me in a position to lay before the Government the following 'Report and The Hon. 
suggestions. 	 C. Cowper, 

2. I find that this establishment was originally formed during the Government of the late Sir Esq., M.P. 
George Gipps, for prisoners undergoing minor punishinents, or such as might have completed satisfac- 
torily a probation at other penal settlements; it has, however, gradually become the extreme penal 	. 
establishment of the Colony, and for some years past culprits of every diversity of character, and for 16 April • 1861. 
every grade of offences, have been sent hero to serve their penal sentences. 

a It !night from this be inferred that the prison accommodation was sufficient  to meet this new 
order of things, but such is far from being the ease ; these buildings, originally primitive, incomplete, and 
defective in design, remain to this day with no material change, the same as when first erected for the 
more lenient purpose. 

4. The dormitories, hospital, and cook-house, intermixed, form three sides of a quadrangle, the 
fourth side being closed in by the mess-room, and an iron palisading ; on the northern front there are 
two wards, each 52 x 19 x 14 feet, fitted with sleeping bunks, separated merely by open batten 
partitions, together capable of containing one hundred and fom• prisoners ; the cook-house forms a por-
tion of this face; on the east front there are two wards, 53 x 20 x 11 feet, with bunks similarly fitted, 
capable of holding one hundred and seventy-six ; on the south front there is a similar ward for forty-
eight prisoners, and a hospital fur fourteen patients ; making in all, room for three hundred and 
forty-two m•isrmers. 

5. Besides these, there are twelve punishment cells ; but these are so badly constructed that the 
confines therein can communicate with one another through the drains, or by calling out. There is ene 
mess-room and one yard for all indiscriminately. 

G. Each sleeping-bunk contains 47 cubic feet of space, and the average of the total space of the 
dormitories gives 152 .66 cubic feet to each prisoner, or a little inOrg than one-third of that of the 
Pothill Fields cells, and only about one-sixth of the model cells at Bentonville, in the Mother Country. 

7. It will thus be seen that the accommodation here detailed is totally inadequate for the present 
purpose; in no instance does it possess any of the modern gaol improvements Or appliances ; it has no 
proper provision for coercion, nor does it afffird any means whatever for separation or classification. It 
thus follows, that from the time a prisoner arrives on the island to the time of his leaving it, he is 
necessarily mixed in the one common lot—has not a moment to himself for reflection, but, en the 
contrary, is subject to the full blast of demoralization, and may as a matter of course lie expected to 
pass from under control, at the expiration of his sentence, a more debased and depraved man than when 
first apprehended. It is distressing to contemplate the evil arising out of this fact, a prolific source of 
second and repeated convictions. 

S. By regulations of the 30th August, 1851, the Government sanctioned the introduction of a 
general system of task-work, by which means prisoners were enabled, by extra labour, to shorten the • 
period of probation required to be served by them for the indulgence of a ticket-of-leave, and also to 
earn a small money gratuity, a portion of which is allowed to be expended for the augmentation of 
their ration, and the remainder placed in the Savings' Bank for their use when leaving. 

9. I here note, under the impression that a misunderstanding exists in this respect, that this 
system did not absolutely reduce time period of sentence of a prisoner. but only his period of probation 
at the penal establishment for a ticket-of-leave, and that in districts having efficient chief constables, 
and where the ticket-of-leave holder was properly looked after and kept up to the Government regulations 
by the magistracy, he remained under complete control and surveillance during the whole period of his 
sentence. 

10. By the Regulation of the 1st dune, 1858, prisoners are required absolutely to serve their 
entire sentences, the system of probation and ticket-of-leave being thereby rescinded. 

H. The abolition of this indulgence has had a most marked effect on the general conduct of the 
prisoners; they argue amongst themselves that it places those men who are disposed to work on the same 
footing with those who are not, and that it holds out no inducement to industry and good conduct ; the 
hitherto industrious man now only exerts himself to an extent that will avoid punishment, and the 
en time energies of others appear bent upon devising means fid effecting escape ; the result is an inordinate 
amount of insubordination, and that work requiring care and skill cannot as heretofore be intrusted to 
them, it having become altogether impossible to perform some description of labour, such as diving 
operations for instance, and the like, which cannot he coerced. 

12. It is the impression or inany, and the same has been stated in the public prints, that the Judges see Appendix A. 
have of late passed more lenient sentences in consideration of the existing regulations. An analysis of 
the records of this department does not confirm this statement, the average duration of punishment to 
every prisoner being, under the old regulations, 5 years, 3 months, and 28 days ; and since the new, 6 See Appendix B. 
years, 2 months, and 2 days. 

13. I have hitheA•to always found a proportion of the prisoners disposed to conduct the.mselves 
well, and desirous of performing their allotted task, and many others who might be induced to do so if 
they could be separated from the contaminating influence of the more depraved. Amongst the firmer 
class are generally to be found many noxious to be taught some trade as a means of obtaining a 
livelihood on their discharge. I need hardly say that it is my invariable practice in this respect to afford 
them every encouragement and assistance, and I have the satisfaction of knowing that these endeavours 
have not been without beneficial results. I note this desire to learn as an important element, and one 
that should be taken full advantage of in any penal regulations. 

14. It will be readily perceived that under these eircumnstances the inadequacy of the prison 
buildings of this establishment becomes pressingly inure apparent. 

15. I advert to my previous communications bearing on this subject, particularly to that of the 14 Sept.. 1 539. 
17 October, 1859, as the opinions therein recorded were penned in perfect ignorance of those of Captain ?)etoblesrs,31.639. 

Whitty, Governor of Pembroke and Director of Public Works, expressed as follows, pages 5 and G—
Colonel Iebb's Report, 54 and 55 :— 

" Hitherto the moral influence of the system in force, by which reward for good conduct and 
" improvement has been combined with due punishment for the reverse, has enabled the prison authorities 
" to employ the convicts on the public works with confidence and good effect ; but if the fear of punish-
" ment alone is to be the motive to obedience and exertion in the mind of the convicts so employed, as 
" entirely new system of guarding and coercing the prisoners will become necessary, and it is much to 
" be apprehended that any such system, though necessarily expensive in its machinery, would be unpro-
" fitable in all its results. 

"Time amount of labour performed by large bodies of convicts associated on public works must 
"depend on the willingness with which they engage in it. It may not be very difficult to compel an 
" individual prisoner at crank labour, or a certain number of prisoners on a treadwheel, to perform a fixed 
" amount of daily work without the motive of any reward ; but it would be next to impossible to carry 
" on the varied labour of many hundreds of associated criminals on public works on such a principle 
" with any effective result, and it would be hopeless to expect to produce, by such means, habits of 
" industry, or individual moral improvement—each prisoner would rise from his hammock in the morning 
" in an irritated state of mind, which would be kept alive throughout the day by the driving and urging 
"that would be inevitable under such circumstances, and at the end of four or five years (or more, 
"according to his sentence) he would be discharged. in all probability, with a hatred of work and 
" regularit'y, which he would regard as the characteristic of a prisoner, instead of being led (as under 
"the present system) to regard them as the means of obtaining an earlier liberation and a future 
"respectable livelihood." 

157—V 	 • N. 
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The Hon. 	16. The Ticket-of-Leave and Task-Work Systems, fully in force up to the 31st of May, 1858, 
Q. Cowper, were, doubtless, open to objections. In many instances, I think, too much was required of the Ticket- 
Esq., M.P. of-Leave holder—petty offences that would have rendered a free man liable to a fine of five shillings at 

the utmost, subjected the former to re-imprisonment for an indefinite period ; and, again, the system could 
16 A . 1 1861  not be effectively and fairly worked without the cordial co-operation of the magistracy throughout the pri , 	 . Colony, which it had not, and which perhaps never can be relied on ; a revision of the system became 

consequently a matter of necessity. 
17. It is my firm opinion that it is quite practicable to devise, and put in practice a system of 

prison discipline that shall be capable of deterring and reforming the criminal, and rendering his labour 
profitable to the State, and I sketch the following as an outline of such a system. 

18. Every convict, during the term of his sentence, should be required to pass through flute 
di 	

during
stinct grades of punishment—the first period must be served under most stringent and extreme 

regulations, during which no indulgence whatever is to be permitted, the culprit being removed only 
on the completion of the allotted term served without punishment. The second grade should comprise 
employment on certain public works ; still, however, under strict confinement, but with moderate indul-
gences, such, for instance, as the allowance of a gratuity for extra work, as at present, and power to 
reduce the term of probation fixed for this grade, within prescribed limits, by a system of credit in time 
for extra work performed beyond a penal task. In the third, or last grade, the prisoner is still to be 
employed exclusively on the public works for the remaining portion of his sentence, and under surveil-
lance, with a fixed amount of wages, below the current rates, but sufficient to support him; this class 
to be allowed full liberty, within certain limits, and their wives and families to be permitted to dwell 
with them; any breach of discipline or disorderly conduct subjecting the offender to be degraded to the 
first or second class, there to undergo repeated probation, as in the first instance. 

19. Proper and efficient prison arrangements are necessary to insure success in any penal system, 
and indispensably so in particular for the first class here proposed, which would need the means for 
perfect separation and coercion. 

20. The second grade prisoner might be employed on works such as are in progress at this 
establishment, and the like ; and the third, or last grade, on the roads, bridges, and harbour improve-
ments; and where it is necessary to employ 'nen in detached bodies. 

21. As a rule, labour, to be reformatory, should be useful; of a description, if possible, to engage 
the mind and attention of the convict ; but this des i aeration would not always be attainable in the 
prison arrangements for the fresh grade, where, for punishment, crank and other irksome employment 
would have to be enforced. 

22. It will be observed that this scheme makes employment on the public works a reward for 
steady conduct, and such employment might be made the means of imparting instruction in some 
useful trade. 

23. 'Under the impression that this island is destined to become a dockyard and arsenal, for which 
it is so admirably adapted, I do not feel justified in recommending an expenditure on the present 
buildings, sufficient to put them into a perfect state of efficiency for prisons, for which neither they nor 
the locality are adapted ; but as there is much work here upon which prison labour could be profitably 
employed for many years to conic, I again draw attention to my recommendation to provide a properly 
fitted-up prison hulk. 

I have, 42c., 
°OTHER K. MANN. 

P.8.—A similar Report has been furnished to the Secretary for Kblic Works. 

APPENDIX to Report, 10th September, 1860. 

A. 
• 

COMPARATIVE RETURN of Punishments of Prisoners at the Penal Establishment, Cockatoo Island, prior 
and subsequent to the Regulations of the 1st June, 1858. 

NUMBER OF PIIIMSIDIENTS. 

NATURE OF OFFENCE. From 1st June, 1857, From 1st June, 1859, 
to 31st May, 1858. 	to 31st May, 1860. 

Insubordinate 	and disorderly 	con- 
duct ... ........ ........ ...... 111 

13 
24* 
10 	• In the column for 

Attempts at escape 	....... 6 	1859-60, 	only 	those 
Refusal to mirk 	  8 73 	prisoners serving under 

the new regulations are 
Total for the 12 months 132 113 	taken into the account. 

Average daily number of prisoners 	 308 143 

The ratio of increase of punishments since the 1st June, 1858, being as 1 is to 2*. 

GOTHER K. MANN. 

10 September, 1860. 

B. 
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B. 	 The Hon. 
COMPARATIVE RETURN of the Sentences of Prisoners received at the Penal Establishment, Cockatoo C. Cowper, 

Island, prior and subsequent to the Regulations of the 1st June, 1858. 	 Esq., NP. 

16 April, 1861. 
NUMBER OF PRISONERS RECEIVED. DURATION OF SENTENCE. 

From 1st June, 1357, to From 1st June, 1859, to Passed in Period 1857 Passed in Period 1859 
31st May, 1858. 31st May, 1860. and 1853. and 1860. 

Years. Years. 	Months. 
.... 1 .... .... 	a 

1 • • • • .... 	6 •• • • 1 .... 1 .... 	.... 
.... 1 ....  1 	G 

6 5 2 2 
29 25 3 0 

6 5 1 4 
30 32 5 5 

3 1 6 6 
16 11 7 7 

1 2 8 8 
6 4 10 10 
1 .... 13 .... 
1 • • 	• • 11 • • 	• • 
3 1 15 15 

• • •6 1 .... Life.* 
* Taken as 20 years in his calculation. 

Average duration of Punishment of each Prisoner, 1857-58=5 .31 years ; 1859-60=523 years: 
the difference of period, .08 being no more than what may be attributable to ordinary fluctuation. 

GOTHER K. MANN. 

B. 
NUMERICAL RETURN of Prisoners on Cockatoo Island, under Sentence to the Roads or Public Works, on 

the 11th of October, 1860. 
Colonial Prisoner s. 

Serving Sentences under 1st Convictions at this Establishment 	  213* 
Serving Sentences under 2nd Convictions at this Establishment  	32 
Serving Sentences under 3rd Convictions at this Establishment .. 

	

" • '''''' • " " '''''' 	1 
— 219 

Imperial Prisoners. 
Serving Sentences under 1st Colonial Conviction  	3 
Serving Sentences under 2nd Colonial Conviction 	8 

— 11 
— 

Total number of Prisoners on the island 	....... 	........ 	260 

Of those under Colonial Sentences, the following have been returned to the island with Tickets-
of-Leave cancelled :— 
Serving Sentences under 1st Conviction ......... 	........ ............ ...... 	 16 
Serving Sentences tinder 2nd Conviction 	  
Serving Sentences under 3rd Conviction  	1 

19 
Imperial Prisoners serving Sentences under 1st Colonial Conviction ....... ...... 	 1 

20 
• Many of these men arc known to have served sentences at other establishments, which of course the records of 

this cave do not show. 
GOTHER K. MANN. 

Cockatoo Island, 11 October, 1860. 

Mr. John Matthews May called in and examined :— 
4647. By the Chairman : You fill some situation in connection with the Asylum for Destitute Mr.J.M.May. 
Children ? I am at present Superintendent of that institution. 
4648. What are your particular duties ? I have the immediate charge of the institution, 16 Apri1,1861. 
under the orders of the Directors. 
4649. You have nothing to do with the education of the children ? Nothing whatever ; 
merely exorcise a general supervision. 
4650. Do your duties as Superintendent extend to the complete care and management of 
the children, with the exception of their education ? With the exception of their education; 
still I have a general supervision over the schoolroom ; the schoolmaster and teachers are 
also under my orders. 
4651. How long have you been in the Colony ? I have been in Sydney nearly six years. 
4652. You arrived, I think, from Tasmania ? Yes. 
4653. What situation did you fill there ? Superintendent of the convict establishments ; 
that was my designation in Hobart Town. 
4654. What were your duties in connection with that situation ? I resided at the Male 
Penitentiary or Prisoners' Barracks, which comprised also the House of Correction ; and I 
bad the supervision of the female prisoners at the Cascades about two miles from Hobart 
Town ; and also the Backfields House of Correction for females. 

4655. 
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Mr.J.M.trry. 4655. You had the superintendence of those three institutions ? Yea. 
4656. Were there any other officers holding analogous positions to yours on other parts of 

April, 1881. the island ? Not similar to mine. 
4657. You had not under you all the prisoners who were in confinement? Iliad charge of 
all the prisoners in Hobart Town. 
4658. By Me. Cowper: That is, within the city ? That is, within the city. The penal 
establishment at Tasman's Peninsula I had nothing to do with ; that was under the Com-
mandant ; nor had I with the gaol at Launceston or at Hobart Town. 
4659. By the Chairman: How long did you hold that situation ? Three years in Hobart 
Town. 
4660. Was that the last situation you had previous to arriving here ? Yes. 
4661. What was the system of discipline observed under you when you were in that 
situation-state how the prisoners were accommodated, how employed, and then what 
discipline they were subject to ? At this establishment a uniform system of classification 
was adopted; the prisoners were employed upon the public works of the Colony, about 
Hobart Town; and, as far as practicable, they were kept under separate1reatment when not 
at labour. 
4662. What do you mean by a uniform system of classification ? According to a prisoner's 
sentence, when he came in, he was sent to a certain division of the prison, and clothed in a 
distinct dress. Each prisoner wore a dress which shewed the class to which he belonged, 
and you could distinguish by the dress whether he was under remand, or awaiting trial; 
sentenced to solitary confinement, or to hard labour. 
4663. Were the men worked together, and was there classification confined to their dress? 
As far as practicable they were housed in separate apartments. 
46(34. Do you mean in separate cells ? In separate cells. 
4665. Each man in a separate cell? Each man in a separate cell. 
4666. By Mr. Cowper: How many convicts had you in the establishment at the time? 
Between seven and eight hundred. 
4667. Had you 800 cells ? No. They were not all in separate cells. Separate treatment 
was only adopted as far as it could be carried out, but some *ere under association, but not 
more than half. 
4668. Had you 350 cells ? Yes, in Hobart Town. 
4669. By the Chairman: You say some were under associated treatment, what do yotimean 
by that? We endeavoured as far as possible when the prisoners entered to bring them under 
separate treatment when they were not at labour, and if their conduct was good they were 
removed from separate treatment to association-that is, instead of taking their meals and 
sleeping in separate apartments, they took their meals in the general day room, and slept in 
wards with others. Each ward accommodated from 100 to 150 men. Each berth was sepa-
rated entirely from the others; it was battened off, and perfect silence was observed in the 
Nrirds, as if the men had occupied separate apartments. 
4670. By Mr. Cowper : What sort of cells were these 850; describe them ? There was a 
front range, a cell at the front, and another at the back. They were not double cells, but 
two tiers top and bottom. 
4671. By Mr. Morris : What was the size of these cells ? Seven feet by four or five, and 
about ten feet high, with arched ceilings. 
4672. By the Chairman: How were they situated in the building-was the building more 
than one story ? They were separate apartments ; there were two wings. 
4673. Were all these cells on the ground floor ? No, they were in double ranges top and 
bottom. 
4674. By Mr. Cowper : What was the building ; stone or brick ? Stone. 
4675. Substantial ? Substantial; but much had been added to it. It had never been regu-
larly laid out as a prison, but from time to time it had been added to. 
4676. By Mr. Morris : What was done with the cells under Trinity Church ? We seldom 
made use of them ; they were recently broken into, and turned into washing apartments. 
That was our reception room. 
4677. Were not those cells extremely small ? Yes. 
4678. Not more than three or four feet in height-some were not ? Some were not. 
4679. By the Chairman : Since you have been in this Colony has your attention been turned 
at all to the subject of prison discipline ? I may say I have always taken a deep interest in 
the subject. Before I had charge of the convict department at Hobart Town I was superin-
tendent of the convict establishment at Launceston. 
4680. How long were you at Launceston ? About five years. 
4681. Was your situation there similar to the one you held at Hobart Town ? Yes. 
4682. Was the mode of treatment of the prisoners similar ? Very similar; the separate 
system of treatment was carried out as far as it could be. 
4683. You say you have taken an interest in the subject-have you ever visited the gaols in 
this Colony ? I yesterday visited Darlinghurst for the first time. Since I received the sum-
mons to attend this Committee I also applied for authority to visit Cockatoo, but had not 
time to visit it. 
4684. What is your opinion of Darlinghurst Gaol ? What particularly struck me was seeing 
the prisoners classed together ; they were not individually classed, and the non-employment 
of a great many I saw. 
4685. You refer to their being together without classification-messed together? Yes, 
messing together, and amalgamating in the different yards. 
4686. You could not arrive at any definite conclusion as to the state of the gaol? I could 
scarcely venture to do so from such a hurried visit. 

4687. 
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4687. By Air. Morris: Have you visited Tasman's Peninsula ? Yes, and am aware of the Mr-J.M. 316Y-
perfect system of separate treatment there carried out. 
4688. Is it found efficient as a reformatory establishment ? Yes. 	 16 April, 1861. 
4680. 13y the Chairman : What do you mean by "separate treatment" ? Prisoners on 
admission would not be shut up in a yard, but removed to a separate apartment where he 
would be locked in, and he would then he allowed an hour for exercise during the day, but 
would take his meals and sleep in this apartment. 
4690. The prisoner could not be employed in this apartment ? I am speaking of prisoners 
sentenced to imprisonment, without employment ? It appeared in Darlinghurst that prisoners 
sent to be imprisoned, without employment, were allowed to assemble in the yard. 
4691. By Mr. Morris : Have you ever had any opportunity of observing at Tasman's 
Peninsula the effect of imprisonment in the cell from which light is totally excluded ? That 
is solitary confinement. 
4692. There is one cell from which the light is entirely excluded ? That is used only for 
very insubordinate and refractory prisoners. There is what are called " dumb cells," for the 
very insubordinate; they are put in these dumb cells till their tempers are tamed down. 
4698. Have you been in this one peculiar cell ? Yes. 
4604. What have been the effects produced by putting prisoners into that ? They have 
been very glad to get removed from it. It was very seldom necessary to send a person to it; 
they had a dread of it. 
4696. By Mr. Wilson : Were they kept there long? A few days, probably, if the prisoner 
were a very violent inan. At Darlingliurst. Gaol, I may observe that the cells I visited were 
only light cells, and not cells adapted for solitary confinement.. If man misbehaves there 
he can only be shut up in one of these; there are no dark cells which are generally used 
elsewhere as places for solitary confinement. 

FRIDAY, 19 APRIL, 1861. 

°remit :— 
Mn. HART, Mn. MORRIS, 
Ant. 39ATE, 

	

	 Ma. WILSON, 
Ma. WINDEYER. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

The Honorable Edward Dees Thomson, Esq., C.B., M.L.C., attending by permission of the 
Legislative Council, examined :— 

4690. By the Chairman: You filled the office of Colonial Secretary for some years ? I did, The Hon. E. 
for a number of years. D. Thomson, 
4697. Do you recollect at this moment the number of years you filled that office ? Nearly EsalCoat 
twenty, including a period of twenty-three months I was absent in England. 
4698. Your attention would necessarily be a great deal directed to the subject of the 
management of the criminal population of the Colony during that period ? Very constantly. 19 April, 1861. 

it was always a subject of great difficulty. 
4699. Do you remember the circumstances and considerations which led to the establishment 
of what is known or what was known, as the mark system, on Cockatoo Island ? I do. 
4700. I think the system was established in November, 1851, or about that time? Yes, I 
have a tolerably distinct recollection of the circumstances under which that system was 
introduced. I had occasion to make a visit to the neighbouring Colony of Tasmania for the 
benefit of my health, and I took the opportunity of visiting several of the penal establish-
ments in that island. My attention was particularly directed by the then Governor of the 
island, Sir William Denison, to a system that had been established there. It was formed 
upon a scheme originally introduced, I believe, into Bermuda, and which had been found to 
operate very beneficially there. I examined into the scheme, obtained the general regula-
tions, and on my return here the matter was submitted to the Governor, and by the Governor 
to the Executive Council, and a code of regulations, founded upon the same principle, was 
established and carried into effect at Cockatoo Island. I think myself that the principle of 
those regulations was a sound one, if they had been perfectly carried out; but the great 
difficulty we always experience in prison discipline is its due, and just., and complete admin-
istration. There was no question, during the whole period of my tenure of office as Colonial 
Secretary, that I found more perplexing or difficult to place upon a satisfactory basis. To 
establish a system of penal discipline which shall adapt itself to all the wide ramifications 
into which the question extends in its effects upon the criminal population, as well as upon 
society generally, is one of the most difficult problems that have engaged the attention of 
statesmen, legislators, and philanthropists in all countries, from a remote period to the 
present time, and one which can scarcely be m  said to have been satisfactorily settled by any 
of the numerous systems, so various in their principles, which have been introduced into 
Great Britain, America, or any of the Continental States. One of the greatest difficulties 
arises from the variety of human character to be dealt with. It may appear just to fix an 
equal amount of punishment for each particular offence, but the effect may he very different 
indeed upon different individuals. What may operate most severely on one class of prisoners 
may not he felt as a punishment at all by others. The degradation consequent upon a con-
viction operates very differently upon an offender who for the first time has incurred the just 

penalty 
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The Han. a penalty of the law, from its effect upon the hardened criminal who has frequently been 
11 Thomson, convicted and punished. So, in carrying out sentences, some consideration must be given to Esq., C.B., the character of the individual in order to place criminals of different character upon an 

equal footing. In this point of view classification becomes most important. No more 
19 April, 1861. degrading or severe punishment can be inflicted upon a convict who has committed a first, 

and comparatively trivial, offence against society, than to associate him in undergoing his 
sentence with men of hardened character—whilst in many instances it may have the effect 
of demoralizing rather than reforming the individual. 
4701. Could you state succinctly what were the main features of that system. I will explain 
to you if you will allow rne, that my object is to get from you, in as few words as possible, 
what the system was—we know generally, from the printed papers, what the features of the 
system were ? The truth is, that the short period that has intervened since I was summoned 
to attend the Committee, and the important public business to which I have had to attend, have 
not left Inc sufficient time to prepare myself so fully as I could have wished. I have had time 
only to refer to certain documents connected with the subject, but not to read them over ; 
and in a complicated matter of this kind, involving a great variety of details, I should 
scarcely trust my own memory to give a correct account of it. But I can refer you to docu-
ments that will give you full information on the subject. They were all printed and laid 
before the late Legislative Council, and will be found in a volume of the proceedings of that 
body, the second volume of the Session of 1851, pp. 443 to 461. I can state in very general 
terms what was the object of the regulation. It has always been found in forced labour 
almost impossible to carry it out, unless some expectation was held out to the prisoner 
himself, that he would benefit by it. You must operate upon his mind to induce him to 
labour ; that being merely watched and supervised by an overseer has never been found 
efficient for the purpose. The general principle of these regulations was, that by means of 
labour, and an overtask of labour, the prisoner was enabled to shorten the period of his 
sentence. The means adopted for that purpose was this : there was a Board appointed, 
consisting of the Superintendent, of the Visiting Magistrate, and of the Medical Qfficer; it 
was their duty to classify the prisoners according to their physical strength, and according 
to their skill in a particular species of labour; then a certain task was assigned to them—
a fair day's labour—a note was taken of all the labour performed above that, and under 
certain limits the excess beyond the regulated task was carried to their credit. At the end 
of the month it was summed up, and according to their skill and industry they were allowed 
credit for so many days in reduction of their sentence. The obvious operation of that regu-
lation was beneficial, because, suppose a man had a period of eight years to serve before he 
would be entitled to a ticket-olleave, if be laboured most industriously during the whole of 
that period, sons to reduce his sentence perhaps by several months, he must have acquired. 
such a habit of labour that there would be a guarantee to society, when he should be thrown 
loose upon it again, of two things : first, that he had learned to be industrious himself, 
and would be able to acquire the means of subsistence without having recourse to habits of 
vice as he had done before; and secondly, that society would not again be exposed to a 
repetition of the depredations committed by him. I believe that, on inquiry, it will be 
found that the system of marks proved practically so efficient as a punishment, and so refor-
matory in its effects, that very few prisoners who passed their servitude under it were 
reconvicted. The system would have been still more beneficial if it had been properly 
administered and fairly carried out; but there were occasionally great abuses. The Ticket-of-
leave Board sometimes recommended a man for special services, and that upset the whole matter. 
If it had been fairly, justly, and properly carried out from beginning to end, I am quite sure 
the objections to it in the public mind, the objections made to it by the press, and by public 
men, would not have arisen, and the system would not have been set aside. lam quite sure it is 
necessary, in any system of prison discipline, that hope should be held out to the prisoner. 
If you put him in a perfectly hopeless condition you make a wild beast of him. 13e recoils 
against society and becomes perfectly reckless. Reformation under such circumstances is 
impossible. We have seen the fruits of that in the recourse to the system now in operation, 
and which has superseded the mode of discipline which I have now very briefly described. 
I would by no means wish it to be understood by the Committee that I have given a full 
and perfect account of the whole of that system, and therefore I would call their attention to 
the details which will be found in the documents I have mentioned. 
4702. Did you experience much abuse in the administration of this system, arising from per-
sons of influence exercising that influence with Government, in the mitigation of sentences, 
without reference to the merits of the individuals concerned ? I am not aware of any. I do 
not call to mind at any time any such influence being attempted to be exercised upon the 
Government. 
4703. I mean more particularly by way of memorial—where the memorial has arisen from 
special knowledge of the prisoner and sympathy for his misfortune, rather than any desire 
to promote his case on any ground of justice or merit in his case ? I ant not prepared to 
say such eases may not have arisen, but I do not recall them to memory at the present time. 
It is possible, or not improbable, there may have been such cases, but they cannot have been 
numerous, because I should, in that case, have a recollection of some of them. I do not-
recollect one at the present time. 
4704. By Mr. Windeyer: I thought you said just now that abuses arose in that way; that 
the Government made exceptions in special cases ? No; from the Board recommending men 
who bad made themselves exceedingly useful on particular occasions. I recollect a particular 
ease, that I consider rather a flagrant one. A man who had committed the awful crime of 
murdering his wife was sent to Cockatoo Island. Ms life was just spared by one of those 
considerations which can only be understood by those who have the painful duty to deter- 

mine 
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mine in cases of this kind, on the condition that the next greatest punishment should he The Eon. E. 
s  inflicted ; that was fifteen years penal discipline, with the first three years in irons. 	I D TITBsou,E' 

forget the period, but a very short one after that, he made himself very useful indeed upon  
the island, by building some chimneys for the steam boilers, and other works of that kind, 
and he was recommended for a ticket-of-leave. I think perhaps scarcely caution enough was 19 Aprii,1561.  
used in acting upon the recommendation of the Board, for I was as much shocked as 
any one could be when I found that the man was liberated. The remission of the sentence 
after so brief a period of servitude was entirely contrary to the regulations, and subversive of 
their principle. 
4705. By the Chairman : You are aware that regulations were issued by the Government, 
dated 1st June, 1858, entirely abrogating this system ? I understood there were, and I 
recollect seeing them in the newspapers. I anticipated from that measure an outbreak 
amongst the prisoners to whom it would be made to apply, and, in fact, I publicly stated that 
I believed that would be the effect. 
4706. Do you not recollect those regulations that came in force at that date ? No; I read 
them at the time. The truth is I know of no subject on which so many regulations have 
been made, and so many views have been taken, both in England and in America. My 
attention was first called to the subject in America, in the year 1826. 
4707. In pursuance of the regulations all prisoners sent to Cockatoo Island since June, 1858, 
have had no consideration whatever for good conduct or for labour ; their sentences are to be 
strictly carried out, in the case of good and bad alike, strong and weak alike, and they are 
left to work alongside of, and intermix with, those who received sentence prior to that date, 
and who are still under the mark system—what is your opinion of the state of things where 
two sets of prisoners are working together at the same kind of work, and the one who is the 
best-behaved, in many cases, gets no mitigation of sentence, while the other, who, in some 
cases, is not so well-behaved, makes eight or nine days in a week ? It must necessarily 
create great discontent, and not only that, but a sense of injustice which makes them reckless. 
As I said before, a system that holds out no hope—one in which neither good conduct, nor 
industry, nor labour, can tend to mitigate the sentence, or mitigate the circumstances of their 
position—must be an erroneous one, and lead to very unfavourable results. (The Chairman 
handed a copy of the regulations to the witness.) 
4708. Will you notice the last paragraph of that, in which you will see that persons in 
authority are directed not to transmit petitions from prisoners to the Executive ? I think 
that is scarcely consistent with the usual practice of the British Government, not to receive 
a statement from every one, whether suffering from penal servitude or otherwise. I think it 
is the duty of Government always to receive remonstrances, complaints, or petitions, and to 
examine into them—it does not follow that they are to be acceded to. 
9709. I should infer from what you have stated that you are in favour of what I believe is a 
very prevalent opinion among persons who have attended to this subject in England, that 
penal sentences should be measured more by labour and good conduct than by time ? Yes; 
but there should always be sufficient titne as a terror to evil doers, and an efficient manner 
of carrying out the sentence for the protection of society. 
4710. I find in a treatise on prison discipline in America, by Francis C. Gray, some 
propositions which appear to me to be exceedingly correct, and well expressed, will you 
have the goodness to read them and see if they have the sanction of your experience ? 
" That stinted food, constant confinement, total privation of social intercourse, should form 
" no part of any system ; that all systems should provide for entire separation at night, and 
" for vigorous exercise and useful labour, instead of the fatiguing and unprofitable toil of the 
" treadmill, by day; and that no more nor greater punishments should be inflicted than are 
" necessary for the attainment of these objects, and for the preservation of order ; these and 
" other propositions, once doubted or even strenuously denied, are now admitted by all." I 
think the result of my experience enables me to give my entire adherence to these proposi-
tions—I am totally opposed to treadmills and punishments of that kind. 
4711. You are decidedly of opinion, without any qualification, that the system of manage-
ment should admit that the prisoner might by good conduct and industry emancipate 
himself in course of time ? Undoubtedly, I think it is the very essence of every good 
system of penal discipline, and that without it none can be carried out with success. 
4712. You will be acquainted with the locality of Cockatoo Island? Yes. I have not 
visited it since my return from England, but I am very well acquainted with it. 	I first 
suggested that the Dry Dock should be formed there. 
4713. You have inspected the dormitories? The dormitories were entirely altered on my 
return from Van Diemen's Land, and put upon the system I saw established there. 
Previously, the men were huddled together like pigs—I can compare it to nothing else—they 
were lying on platforms all together without the slightest separation. 
4714. By Mr. Wine/eller: Like the places in soldiers' guard-rooms ? Yes, on platforms, 
without the slightest separation. 
4715. By Mr . Morris : As they are in the watch-houses ? I do not know whether they 
have such platforms in watch-houses in the present day—I hope that is altered. I had the 
system adopted which I had seen in Van Diemen's Land—a separate compartment for each 
prisoner, so that he could not communicate with Ids neighbour, and of course it put an end 
to all those frightful crimes which were said to exist—whether they did exist or not it is 
difficult to say. At all events it was quite impossible, under the old system, that there could 
be any feeling of penitence. Men cannot become penitent or pray in a position such as they 
were placed in; it was perfectly impossible, if a man desired to fall back upon better thoughts, 
by isolation from his bad associates, to do so. There were lights suspended in these dormi- 
tories, and watchmen were stationed there, so that the men never could leave their particular 
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The Mon. E. beds. The discipline was maintained more perfectly in that way. But owing lo the climate 
II's"' a very considerable inconvenience arose, and I feared at one time I should be compelled to Esq., an., 

M.L.C. 	abandon the arrangement. It was the creation of vermin to a degree that it became almost 
a plague; the men complained most bitterly that they could not sleep at night. I tried 

19 Apri1,1861. chloride of lime, chloride of zinc, and various other remedies, but in vain. It so happened 
that at the time there was a very intelligent surgeon resident on the island, and I recent-
mended him to try the fumes of sulphur. All the windows and doors were closed up with 
blankets, and a quantity of sulphur was burned. The result was, as it was described to me, 
that buckets full of bugs and other insects were taken out from the bed places in the dormi-
tories. They were completely destroyed, and the men were so well pleased with this, that 
they no longer made the slightest complaint against the separation ; on the contrary, they 
fouud the great advantage of it. Of course it was necessary, after a time, to have the process 
repeated, so as to keep the insects down, and now there is not the slightest difficulty in doing 
so. l ain quite certain that separation at night is necessary ; of coarse I should desire a 
more perfect separation if it could be carried out—as separation in cells—that each man 
should be locked up in a cell—in a perfectly solitary cell. I think that would be more 
calculated to lead men to reformation and repentance than any other system which 
could be devised ; but I see great difficulty in acting upon a suggestion of that kind, from 
the very heavy expense that it would entail upon the public treasury. To carry out penal 
discipline in a proper, philosophical, humane, and Christian manner must be attended with 

• most enormous expense to society in general. I am certainly opposed to the silent system; 
in fact, it was found it could not be carried out properly. I was at first much taken with the 
papers I read upon the subject of the solitary system, ltnd thought a great discovery had 
been made at last; but I believe from the accounts I have received subsequently that it was 
a failure. Men in solitude become reformed because they have no temptation, but when 
they return to the social world, and temptation is offered to them, all they have learned in 
solitude will not enable them to refrain from a return to those evil ways that have brought 
them into disgrace and trouble. 	 • 
4716. In fact, though deprived of their liberty, and punished for the crimes committed 
against society, prisoners should still be treated as human beings, and upon those general 
principles by which human beings are governed ? Yes, and it is the duty of every 
Government to see that while they are punished means of reformation are held out to them. 
4717. It may be as well you should know that this Committee have visited Cockatoo Island 
on two occasions since their appointment, and that we find, unfortunately, there has been a 
want of administration in carrying out what you intended in these dormitories; there is no 
effectual watch, nothing to interrupt promiscuous intercourse, and we have a very serious 
amount of evidence before us to show that crimes of the most enormous character—unnatural 

• crimes—are still perpetrated on the island ? That could not have been if the regula-
tions I established bad been fairly and properly carried out. That leads me to recur to 

• what I have said before, that the best regulations are useless unless you can have a proper 
and efficient administration of them, 
4718. If you recollect the particulars of these dormitories—which possibly you do not, at 
this distance of time—in scone there are eighty berths, forty on each side, the berths being in 
double tiers, the ends of which only are exposed—something like coffins—so that the prisoners 
have to creep into them on their hands and knees ; and it has been stated to the Committee 
that, on some occasions, prisoners have had to sleep on the top, above this double tier of berths, 
so that more than eighty men were crowded into one ward, and that the state of the 
atmosphere from such a number of human beings close together, and also from the disgusting 
effluvia arising from the night-tubs, is most painful and oppressive, especially in summer 
time—and it can be easily imagined to be so. I think you will see, in such a state of 
things as that, there could be no effective sptem of classification carried out? Quite 
impossible; and I think that is one of the first things that ought to be done, 
to classify the prisoners. Referring to that subject, there is one class of prisoners most 
difficult to deal with. They are persons who have been for a long period of 
their lives forming part of the criminal population ; they have gone through a 
great number of punishments, and arc almost hopelessly irreclaimable. I allude more 
particularly to those who commit robberies with violence, burglaries, and other crimes 
dangerous to society, and who, from the violence of their characters, ought to be placed in a 
position where they cannot again commit similar depredations. It is necessary that they 
should be removed to some distance, far apart from society. I do not think Cockatoo Island 
is suitable for them. When Cockatoo Island was first thought of, it was the desire to 
establish a dock there for the benefit of the port, and of the shipping and commercial 
interests, and it was thought a desirable mode of employing the prisoners. It was this that 
induced the Government of that day to select Cockatoo Island as a penal establishment, but 
I do not think it a proper place for men of desperate character, such as I have now described; 
as already explained, I think they should be removed to a distance. The difficulty of 
disposing of prisoners of hardened and incorrigible character was so strongly felt by 
Government, that means were taken, about ten years ago, to ascertain whether a penal 
establishment at a distance could not be formed, and a communication was made to the 
neighbouring Governments to ascertain whether they would be willing to join in the 
formation of such an establishment, to which incorrigible prisoners from all the Colonies 
could be sent, so that there would be perfect security that they would not again he thrown 
loose on society. Capt. Denham, who was then in command of II. M. S. "Herald," and 
employed upon the hydrographical survey of the neighbouring seas, was requested to under-
take the examination of Howe Island, with a view to ascertain its fitness for a purpose of this 
kind. He visited the island, made plans of it, and gave a most interesting and elaborate report 

upon 
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miles EN E. from Port J'ackson, and alnut 300 miles from the nearest land, which is at 

upon its position, upon its capability, and its size—upon everything, in fact, that it was The Hon. E. 
desirable to know, in order to determine the question. The island is situated about 400 P.iTitn". " ,  

Port Macquarie. It measures seven statute miles in length by one-third to one and three 
quarter mile in width, and presents, independent of its mountain slopes, 2,500 acres of land 19 Apri1,1861. 
capable of culture. A portion of it is now under cultivation by settlers, who have gone 
there without the authority of Government, but of course there was DO intention, and I hope 
there would not be now, so long as the island is net required for any purpose of Government, 
to disturb them. The island is represented to be very fertile, to possess an abundant supply 
of water, and to be otherwise remarkably well suited for the purposes of a penal establishment. 
The papers relating to the subject, with full particulars, will be found in volume 2 of the 
proceedings of the late Legislative Council of - 1833, at page 715, to which I would beg to 
refer the Committee. If that question should be again mooted, I think all the necessary 
information could be found in the paper to which I refer. No proceedings were taken by 
the Government at the time. I myself proceeded to England in the January following. 
When I say no proceedings, I mean nothing further was done than to bring the matter 
before the Executive Council, who recommended that the whole of the documents, relating 
to the subject, should be laid before the Legislative Council on its re-assembling at the next 
Session, with a view to the appointment " of a Select Committee, to report on the expediency 
"of forming, at Howe island, a penal settlement for the reception of such convicts as it may 

	

" be considered prudent to transport thither from this Colony, and from the neighbouring 	
I. " Colonies of Victoria and South Australia." I am not aware whether that Committee was 

appointed, but I believe the matter was allowed to drop. I believe till some such measure 
is established no perfect system of penal discipline can be carried out in this Colony for that 
particular class. 
4719. You said, I think, in the course of your evidence this morning, that you had paid 
attention to this subject as it is treated in America ? I did, a great many years ago. 
It is now some thirty-four or thirty-five years since I was in America, but the subject 
was then exciting a great deal of attention among the Quakers at Philadelphia, which place 
I visited. The system of solitary confinement was then underMiscussion, and I believe very 
much good has arisen from improvements in that system, although it has not been carried 
out in its entirety. 
4720. Did you visit any prison in the State of New York ? No, I did not visit Sing Sing;  
but I visited the prison at B m altimore, where the silent system was in operation, and where the 
prisoners had their beads half-shaved. It was a barbarous system, I consider, and could only 
result in failure, as it did. 
4721. The system in Sing Sing, and Auburn, is mainly distinguished by its industrial 
character, by appropriating the prison labour on economic principles, apportioning to those 
of weak constitutions such labour as they earl physically undertake, and to those who are 
stronger, labour where greater physical strength is required ; turning their labour to 
account and advantage, and bestowing among the prisonerssotue means of earning their living 
when liberated 7 I think that very necessary in all systems of prison discipline. 
4722. Here is a rough plan of Sing Sing, showing the different industrial compartments, 
from which you will see the great variety of labour carried out in that prison. You will 
perceive that there are the means of carrying on nearly all kinds of trade, including stone-
cutting, burning lime, Sze.? 	(Handing the same to witness.) I think it would be found 
very difficult, if not impossible, to carry out such a system here ; and it would be found 
extremely expensive, because mechanical overseers must be found, who would require to be 
paid at a very high rate to undertake a duty of this kind. I do not think the number 
in this Colony sufficient to enable you to carry out a system such us this. I would not 
employ any man, as a mechanic, unless lie had been bred up OS a mechanic originally, except, 
for instance, at stone-cutting, and things of that kind, obviously useful, and particularly 
within the means of being carried out in a penal establishment. - At Cockatoo Island, many 
men have been taught trades in that way, and also in the gaols. 
4723. In Darlinghurst Gaol, at the present time, there is an attempt at a division of labour, 
and there are overseers ; for instance, there is BD overseer of the carpenters' shop, an overseer 
of the blacksmiths' shop, and an overseer at the stone-cutting stockade? Generally speaking, 
they were to overlook the mechanics who were employed at those several trades. I am not 
aware that these trades were taught—they were not in my time. 
4724. To seine extent they have been taught ; so far as stone-cutting is concerned, nearly 
the whole of the workmen are taught ? I made that an exception ; I think they may be 
taught stone-cutting. 
4725. Even in the blacksmiths' shop, if I remember rightly, there are persons who have not 
been reared to the business of the forge who are now following it ? They might learn to 
sharpen picks, and to do some other operations of that kind, but I think it would be very 
difficult to teach them the real art of a blacksmith ; they are seldom in prison a sufficiently 
long time. With respect to the employment of persons in prisons, some useful suggestions 
were given to the Government some years ago by Mr. David Forbes, when Police Magisti ate 
at Parramatta and Visiting Justice of Parramatta Gaol. He introduced a system there 
which I believe was attended with considerable advantage.. I would refer to the Votes and 
Proceedings of the Legislative Assembly, volume 1,1856-7, where a number of very valuable 
documents will be found in reference to this subject, and particularly the reports of Mr. 
David Forbes to which I have referred. He lays down certain rules, in almost all of which 
I concur, for the classification of prisoners, and founded on the mode of conducting prisons 
on the English and Scotch systems. I think it would be very desirable, with reference to 
gaols, if some means could be devised for having a gaol for women, where long sentences 

157—X 	 passed 
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The Ron. l. passed upon women should be carried out. But I do not believe myself that a proper 
D. Thomson, system will ever be carried out in gaols unless you have a paid inspector; some person of Esq., 

	

	h igh character, and also of experience and knowledge in matters of the kind, whose duty it 
should be to visit the gaols, to inspect them periodically and frequently, and to make reports 

19 April ,1861. to the Government on the subject ; to assure himself that the subordinate officers carried out 
the instructions of the Government in all respects, and to see that no abuses occurred, such 
as have recently, and no doubt formerly have occurred. 
4726. Do you not think, if we had a large central prison in this country, sufficiently spacious 
to accommodate all the prisoners of the Colony, and where workshops might be erected, 
that, in the case of long sentenced men in particular, their industry might be turned to so 
much better advantage than at present; that instead of being an expense, they would to a 
large extent become self-supporting ; and that while the Government would thus possess 
better means of classification and of testing the character of the prisoners, they might, by 
teachine. these men seine trade, give them the power of acquiring an honest livelihood when 
they leg the prison ? It would be mast desirable if it could be carried out, but such a system 
would be extremely expensive, and great jealousy would he created as to the productions of 
the prisoners, as coinin g  competition with the productions of free labour: Even the 
small amount of manufintctured articles that were made at Parramatta created quite a sensation 
in the town when offered for sale there. 
4127. That is the casc now, as we are aware that the tradesmen of Parramatta complain 
loudly of articles being made in the gaol and sold at a much less price than that at which 
they could he produced by free labaur, iind it seems hardly just that such articles as shoes 
and boots, for instance, should be made by prison labour, and sold at a price which a trades-
man, under ordinary circumstances, cannot meet ? I think it would create great dissatis-
faction, and is scarcely just. 
4728. Might not many articles be made by prison labour which cannot be made in the 
Colony otherwise, so as to obviate this ground of complaint ? No such articles at the present 
moment occur to me. 
4729. A great many articles pre now imported because they cannot be produced here on 
account of the wages which generally rule ? Some of these might. 
4130. Domestic utensils which are now imported from America, and are made in their 
prisons, might be produced in our gaols without coming into competition with our own 
artisans ? I think they would come into competition rather with imported articles, and the 
feeling woudisbe against it. I du net say that that would he a just end proper feeling—I 
believe that fooling was shewu in America with respect to the productions of their prisons, 
and exportation was therefore resorted to. I do not say that it is an insuperable difficulty, 
but I point it out as one likely to create discontent. 
4731. The present state of thine

r
, is one that requires sotne alteration with reference to the 

state of our gaols. No doubt of it; although I ought not to speak too confidently, as I have 
not visited the gaols lately. I speak merely from general rumour. 
4732. You are aware from public reports that there has been a riot, or something approaching 
to it, at Cockatoo Island ? I am quite aware of that, but I said before that I attributed that 
in a great measure to the regulations. 
4733. There do nut appear to be means of clasification in any of the country gaols; for 
instance, at Bathurst and Goulburn, persons committed for grievous offences may be confined 
with persons taken up for drunkenness, or some ttiffing offence? I think that creates grave 
injustice. Men who commit trifling offences are put in gaol with men hardened in crime, 
and I think it injurious to society, for when criminals meet together they are not likely to 
reform each other: The man who is a bad and hardened character is more likely to corrupt 
the other than to be improved by associating with one not so corrupt as himself. 
4731. fly 2k. lion: With respect to prisoners who have been sentenced to death for the 
greatest crimes, would you afford them the opportunity of emancipating themselves under 
any system of discipline ? I must answer that question somewhat cautiously. If I found 
he belonged to the incorrigible and hardened class, I would not; but it sometimes happens 
that the most serious crimes against society are committed by men who are by no means had 
characters, who give way to feelings of revenge, commit murder from some sudden impulse, 
and who are, perhaps, as repentant of the crime as any man can he; they are not the most 
hardened men, but feel as great a horror cf the crime, when they have time to fall back 
upon their own consciences, as society itself does. I think such men as these ought to have 
an opportunity of retrieving their position after sufficient punishment; but, at the same 
time, the interests of society must not be disregarded in this matter. While humane to the 
prisoner, we must not be cruel to society at large—we must ace that it is duly protected ; 
still we must temper justice with mercy in cases of that kind. 
4735. Might not that view he carried out by granting them tickets-of-leave, so as to leave 
them, during the term of their natural life, under the surveillance of the police? I think 
they might have tickets-of-leave for a long period before they were absolutely emancipated; 
but I think there ought to be hope even then that a long period of good conduct, whilst 
holding a ticket-of-leave, should entitle the man to consideration in acquiring a conditional 
or absolute pardon. 
4726. By Mr. Winder/cr. : From what you have said I should infer that you consider the 
reformation of criminals the real and great object society should have in view in framing its 
punishments? No. I think there is a double purpose to be kept in view. The severe 
punishment of the criminal as a warning and terror to the evil-doer; and, combined with 
that, it becomes the duty of the Government to see that there are proper means of reformation. 
4737. I presume you hold that that end ought to be kept in view at all times? Most 
assuredly. I say it is one of the main features that ought to pervade every fiystem of penal 

discipline. 
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discipline. It is the bounden duty of every Government to see to the reformation of The Dom V. 
offenders, and I think it is also to the interest of society that they should do so 	 D..Thomson, 

Rsq., 4738 By Hr. Hun : With respect to your suggestion as to the appointment of an 	M.L.C. 
Inspector of Prisons, do you think, in the event of Government obtaining the services of 
a competent individual, the whole management of gaols might be placed in his hands irrespee- 19 April, 1861. 

"Rye of the Sheriff ? I think the law is faulty at the present time. In a paper which I was 	- 
requested to draw up, on the subject of administrative arra ngemen Is, I suggest( d that the 
Sheriff should be relieved from all duty connected with prisons. "Resident in Sydney, he 
" can only exercise a nominal control over the establishments. It would be far preferable, 
" I think, that the Visiting Justices should be constituted the legal custodians of the prisoners, 
" and that the establishments should be placed entirely under their direction and control." 
I still think, in country districts where they have no Sheriff, and where a Sheriff is not likely 
to be appointed for a number ef years to come, and where it is necessary there should 
be some resident Visiting Justice, it would be desirable to carry out that arrangement ; but 
I think that should be supplemented by the appointment of a General Inspector, whose duty 
it should be to visit all the gaols periodically, to sec that the rules were properly carried 
out. 
4739. The jurisdiction which the Sheriff exercises over gaols is, I believe, by virtue of a 
provision in the Charter of Justice which was issued in the re4da of George the Fourth, and 
I presume the custody and control of prisoners was committed to the Sheriff in this Colony 
by reason of the analogy his position was supposed to hold to that of Sheriff in the mother 
country ? No doubt that was the ease. 
4740. Do you sec any reason for the analogy ? None whatever. The analogy does not 
hold ; the position is totaliy different. There you have local Sheriffs, who reside in the 
immediate vicinity of the gaols where the prisoners for whose custody they are responsible 
are confined. 

• 4741. Might not the duties of Sheriff be advantageously confined to the execution of 
civil processes ? I am scarcely competent to answer that question, as it involves so wide a 
departure from the present practice; nor am I so well acquainted with all the duties of the 
Sheriff as to say they should be confined simply to the matters you propese. Prima facie, I 
think it desirable ; but I find a difficulty in answering the question. 
4742. By the Chuiernatt : A Committee of the Legislative Assembly, appointed last Session, 
and that reported upon a very similar subject to the present, recommended that in the case 
of all the country gaols the Government should appoint Visiting Committees consisting of 
persons of known repetation in the localities, whose position should be honorary, TO insure 
the inspection of gaols ? I am not favourable to a proposition of that kind; I think it would 
entirely fail. In the first place, I think it would be extremely difficult to find any number 
of persons qualified and willing to undertake a duty of that kind; and secondly, wherever 
the system has been tried in other matters it has failed. For instance, the supervision of 
schools by local committees is not., I believe, so satisfactory as it ought to be, although there 
are exceptions, no doubt. There is a great deal of technical knowledge necessary with 

• reference to prison discipline, and a great deal of experience necessary. I think you would 
find a sort of interference with the regulations likely to occur from the establishment of 
local Boards of that kind, of persons little qualified to understand or carry them out. I 
think the system would not be found an advantageous one as regards the public interest. 
4743. Are you aware of what appears to be the fact, that no persons in the Colony appear 
to interest themselves in the condition of prisons—no one appears to visit the Sydney gaol ? 
I believe'very few. 
4744. It is the case in England that benevolent ladies and gentlemen make it their business 
to visit the varieus gaols in the country ? I think visits of that kind to the gaol are the 
exception and not the rule. 
4745. There appear not to have been any, DB far as we can learn? There were none in my 
time, as far as I am aware. 
4746. There were none who took an interest in the welfare of the prisoners ? No. 

• 4747. We have found even in the case of Darlinghurst Gaol that there were no regulations 
to secure the cleanliness of prisoners since the death of Captain Webster—if a prisoner 
thought fit to go in a state of personal filth from one month's end to another, or even from 
one year to another, there was nothing to prevent, except the complaint of his fellow 
prisoners—do you not think if there were such a Visiting Committee as I have 
suggested, such a state of things would be prevented ? It is to be supposed they 
would interfere in a matter of that kind. 	I think it is the duty of the Visiting 
Justice to see a regulation of that kind carried out, and certainly if there were an Inspector 
of Prisons such a state of things could not last for a day. I lay great stress upon the recom-
mendation that there should be an Inspector of Prisons. I have thought the matter over 
very frequently, and I am satisfied we shall never have a proper system of prison diicipline 
until we have a properly qualified Inspector of Prisons. The great difficulty would be to get 
a suitable man for that office. 
4748. I was going to say it would be of little use without we got a properly qualified man ? 
All depends upon that. 
4749. By Ms. Hart : Would it not be possible to get a properly qualified man from the 
mother country ? I am certain that, for a moderate salary, you might get a person of great 
experience, and of character, who would be invaluable. 
4750. One who would have had an opportunity of making himself acquainted with the 
reforms which have been carried out in prisons in the mother country ? No doubt that 
would be another great advantage. 

• 

Mr. 
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Mr. Thomas Allen called in and examined:- 
Mr. le- Allen. 4751. By the Chairman: You are gaoler of Parramatta Gaol 	Yes, Tarn. 

.4752. How long have you filled that situation ? Nineteen years. 
19 Apri1,1961. 4753. You have been nineteen years over the same prison ? Yes; this is my twentieth year. 

4754. How many prisoners have you in the gaol at the present time-how many had you 
this morning ? Two hundred and thirty-six. 
4755. Of what classes do they principally consist, with regard to the sentences under which 
they are suffering and to their criminal character ? With regard to their sentences there 
are only two classes, those who are sentenced to hard labour, and those who are confined 
without labour. 
4756.' What length are their sentences? From twenty years downwards. 
4757. You have prisoners of all classes? Yes. 
4758. By  Mr. Ilart : You have some for life, have you not ? *No; for twenty years, that 
is the longest. 	 • 
4750. Have you not a man named Macdonald ? Yes; he is for twenty years. 
4700. By the Chairman: Have you a copy of any regulations? No. 
4761. Hava you any regulations for your prison ? t No. There was a small blue book we 
had containing about half-a-dozen leaves; but the regulations are so often changed. 
4762. Is there at the present time any set of regulations posted up in the prison ? I have 
those referred to posted up, but there are no standing regulations to go by. When the 
Sheriff visits the prison and directs certain regulations to be observed, they are posted up; 
but there are no specific prison regulations at all. 
4763. Are there any regulations for the turnkeys ? Yes; the regulations made from time 
to time by the Sheriff. 
4764. At this time are there any ? Yes; written regulations which are posted in conspicuous 
places. 
4765. In what parts of the gaol ? In two or three parts-at the entrance gate and in the 
office. 
4766. What, are those regulations? As to the different duties of the turnkeys. 
4767. By Mr. Hart: Are they not the regulations of 1853? They areT the same. 
4768. By the Chairman : Will you explain to us the duties of the turnkeys-how they are 
appointed, and how many are appointed ? They are appointed by the Sheriff. 
4769. To what duties are they appointed ? To the regular routine duties; every turnkey 
takes them alternately. He commences at No. 1 and goes round the whole establishment; 
taking a separate duty every day-doing duty in a prison to day and 1n a yard to-morrow, 
and so on. 
4770. When does he come back so as to repeat any one duty ? Generally about once a week. 
4771. How many turnkeys are there? Thirteen. 
4772. Then there must be about two upon every kind of duty every day to look to the same 
duty once every week ? Yes. 
4773. What means do you resort to in Parramatta Gaol in the treatment of prisoners 
for the due suppression of turbulent or insubordinate prisoners-do you. resort to physical 
punishment ? To solitary, or separate confinement. 
4774. Are the prisoners ever struck ? On very rare occasions, unless in self-defence, or 
something of that kind-it is very rare indeed. 
4775. The means of punishment within the discretion of the persor.s in charge do not 
extend beyond solitary confinement ? Solitary, or separate. 
4776. For what length of time do you ever confine prisoners for unruly conduct ? The 
utmost I can confine, without the authority of the Visiting Magistrate, is three days. 
4777. Who is the Visiting Magistrate ? Dr. Greenup. 
4778. Any one else ? No. 
4779. I suppose he is sometimes accompanied by other magistrates? Frequently. 
4780. How often does he visit the gaol in the capacity of Visiting Magistrate ? Generally 
twice a week ; he is sent for if anything serious arises between his regular visits. 
4781. How often have you to bring any prisoners before the -Visiting Magistrate for im-
proper conduct ? There may be about a dozen refractory men who generally keep the 
prison annoyed, some of which are, in consequence, generally undergoing punishment. 
4782. What number of cases are brought before Dr. C recoup, as an average? Perhaps 
from three to four per week. 
4783. Are these cases confined to this dozen of refractory men ? Chiefly. 
4784. Then I presume your books would slim these men's names, and the number of times 
they were brought up ? Yes, the books would show ev„erything, and by referring back it 
could be seen how many times any man had been punished-every punishment is entered. 
4785. What is the order of treatment of the prisoners in the gaol-at what time are they 
let out in the morning? At six in the morning the bell rings, the turnkeys all assemble, 
their names are called out, and their various posts of duty assigned to them. The prisons are 
then unlocked, and the prisoners allowed to wash themselves. After they have washed they 
are sent to the separate work they are told off to ; at eight o'clock the bell rings for breakfast. 
4786. What different kinds of work are carried on in the gaol ? Stone-cutting, wheel-
wrighting, carpentry work, blacksmiths' work, shoemaking, and hatmaking; and needle-
work for the female prisoners. 

4787. 

• NOTE ( Correction by witness on revision) :-Yes, one. 
t Non (Revised thus) :-There are regulations which have been framed from time to time as 

occasions required such, but these regulations are often changed. 
I NOTE (Revised thus):-Not (the same.) 
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4787. By Mr. Morris: Tailoring? I have no tailors now; when I had tailors they were Mr. T. Allen. 
employed to make clothing for the Orphan Schools, and Lunatic Asylum. At eight o'clock 
the bell rings for breakfast, for which the prisoners are allowed an hour, while the turnkeys 19 Apri1,1861. 
go home to their breakfasts. At nine the bell rings again to resume work; they then work 
till one. At one o'clock the bell rings again; they then get an hour for dinner. At two the 
bell again rings, when they resume their work, which is continued until 6 P.m. in summer, 
and until 5 P.m. in winter. 
4788. By the Chairman: How is the work of the prisoners, in excess of what is required 
for the Orphan Schools and Lunatic Asylum, disposed of? There is no other needlework 
done, except for private individuals, which is paid for according to a fixed scale, and of 
which proper accounts are kept. 
4789. Is not some of the work sold? Boots and shoes and hats are sold. 
4790. flow are they sold? By auction. 
4791. In Parramatta? They are now sold in Parramatta; they were sold in Sydney until 
the last few months, but the Visiting Magistrate made application to the Colonial Secretary, 
and got an order to sell them in Parramatta. Formerly the Parramatta people objected to 
their being sold there, and they were then sent to Sydney. 
4792. Have the people of Parramattlt withdrawn their objection to these articles being sold 
in the town ? I have heard no objection lately. 
4793. When the Committee visited Parramatta Gaol, a prisoner named Driscoll made com-
plaints of beastly conduct on the part of some of the prisoners, and also of not having proper 
means of attending Divine Service on Sundays ? There are two services performed there 
every Sunday: the Protestant portion is locked up in the morning, whilst the Catholic 
Priest holds service ; and in the afternoon, at two o'clock, the Protestant Chaplain holds ser-
vice, the Catholics being locked up. 
4794. I am speaking from memory, but if I recollect rightly, the prisoner's statement was 
that, they were locked up, four or five men in, and that all kinds of noises were made during 
the greater part of Sunday ? Such is not the fact; there is the strictest silence observed, 
not a word is heard ; and if any man made a noise, and it were noticed, he would be at once 
put in the cells. The general behaviour of prisoners is strictly proper. 
4795, With regard to the other part of the man's statement that there was beastly conduct 
in some part of the prison—beastly exposure—what hove you to say with reference to that ? 
There was one case made known, and the man accused of the offence was kept in separate 
confinemen t. 
4796. What kind of character is this man Driscoll? He is very troublesome, and is fre-
quently punished for bad behaviour. He is a very fluent spoken presuming fellow, who has 
put himself forward as spokesman for other prisoners who conceived they had cause fur com-
plaint, or suffered under any grievance. 
4797. Bq Mr. Winfluor : Do you attend either of the services yourself ? Yes. 
4798. Which ? The Protestant. 
4799. There is no noise at that time ? Not the slightest. 
4800. By the Chairman : What regulations' have you for enforcing personal cleanliness 
among such of the prisoners as are not disposed to be cleanly ? They are brought before Inc 
on a charge of neglect to keep their persons clean, when they are compelled to clean them-
selves, and warned that neglect to attend to cleanliness for the future will be followed by 
punishment, with which they are visited should occasion require. They have clean clothing 
twice a week, and they have half of every Saturday for mending their clothes and cleaning 
themselves. In the middle of the week a gang is told off to wash all the prisoners' clothes, 
so that the remainder shall not have to leave their ordinary work. 
4801. Suppose a prisoner chose only to wash his face—to keep his face apparently clean—
but neglected to wash his body, from one year's end to another, until he was in such a state 
of filth under his clothing as to be unhealthy, what regulations have you that would step in 
and prevent his continuing this neglect? Personal examination. When a prisoner is 
brought to the gaol be is deprived of his own clothing, is stripped naked, his hair is cut, 
and he has to wash himself all over; he then has two suits of clothes given to him, one for 
working days, and one for Sundays. 
4802. Is he ever inspected afterwards? Every Sunday. 
4803. Let us know what course of inspection you pursue on Sunday? The prisoners are 
all ranged in the ward at eight o'clock A.M., and I go round and inspect every man. I stop 
short at each, examine him, and make him pull up his trousers. 
4804. How far ? Above their knees. 
4805. Have they to turn up their sleeves? Yes. 
4806. Is that done every Sunday ? Every Sunday, except when I may have been unwell. 
4807. And that regulation applies to all the prisoners without exception ? To all the 
prisoners. 
4808. Is any similar means adopted with regard to the females? Yes, the very same. 
4809. Generally speaking do you believe this is quite effective to preserve a pretty good 
standard of personal cleanliness ? Yes ; unless I had means to stove the clothes I could no 
make them more cleanly. There are large tubs for the prisoners to wash in. 
481.0. How often do you cause the floors of the cells to be cleansed .? Two or three times 
a day. 
4811. How often are the walls whitewashed? Once a month, perhaps oftener. 
4812. By Mr. TVilson: It was stated to the Committee that in some cases night-tubs were 
the only utensils in which the prisoners could wash their clothes? It is quite false; there 
were upwards of fifty large wine hogsheads supplied some years ago, which were cut in two 
and then bound and eoopered newly, and they must wash in them and in nothing else. 

4813. 
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Mr. T. Allen. 4813. Is it their bodies you allude to? To their bodies and clothes both. 
4814. It has also been stated that they have had to wash not only their clothes but their 

DApril,1861. bodies in the night-tubs? I heard them state that, but I did not think it was my place to 
contradict them then. 
4815. Such is not the ease? Quite the contrary. 
4816. You say that every Sunday morning you examine their persons to see that they are 
in a state of cleanliness ? Yes. 
4817. Is there any regulation by which the men are obliged to wash their bodies whether 
apparently clean or not F There is not. 
4818. 13y Arr. Windeyer: When prisoners arc in solitary confinement, is it ever, as a mode 
of punishment, the practice to take away their beds from them ? Yes; if a marl when he 
is so confined shouts, curses, or swears, as prisoners frequently do, he is cautioned if he does 
not conduct himself he will be deprived of his blanket. 
4819. Sometimes they have a board to sleep on ? Yes. 
4820. Ts that ;Also sometimes taken away ? Yes; because by means of it they climb up to 
the window, and call out to the people in the yard. When they do so, they are cautioned 
that if they do not desist their boards will be taken away. 
4821. By Arr. Wilson : In cases such as these you have &laded to, have you known water 
to he thrown over the flour of their cells by way of punishment ? Never. 
4822. You do not think it can have taken place without your knowledge ? No; they often 
spill water for the purpose of annoyance; in fact, they even upset their night-tubs, and 
smear the filth over the walls from downright wickedness. 
4823. How is Parratnatta supplied with water ? There is a large tank, from which the 
water is conveyed all over the gaol by pipes. 
4824. Is that sufficient for the sapply ? Not in dry weather. 
4825. Then it must be a consideration with you to see that too much water is not used ? 
Yes; I do not let any go to waste if I can help it. 
4826. By Mr. Morris : Could you collect more water if you had larger tanks? Yes. There 
have been so many buildings erected within the walls that the place is too confined-there 
is not half sufficient room to carry out the labour system-the yards are altogether too small 
for the purposes required. 
4827. By Alr. lirffideyer : Is there any stream in the neighbourhood of Parramatta from 
which water could be laid on to the gaol? Yes; the river is close to the back-about 200 
yards off. 
4828. Is there a constant supply of water ? Yes. It was intended to supply the establish- 
ment with water from the dam at the Rocks, but the work there is in abeyance. 
4829. How far is the dam from the gaol ? Nearly a mile. 
4830. By the Chairman: What do you think of the healthiness of that gaol ? I think it 
one of the most wholesome places I ever heard of. 
4831. Are all your family there ? Yes. 
4832. Have they good health? Yes. I never saw prisoners kept in so small a place so 
healthy. 
4833. What is the sentence of the man Wilkes, who is confined there for murder ? Life. 
4831. Is that the only life sentence there ? Yes. 
4835. By Mr. Plindeser : What is Mrs. Perry's sentence? Fifteen years. 
4336. By the Chairman: Is your prison ever visited by ladies, who are induced to visit the 
establishment from motives of benevolence ? I am sorry to say very seldom. Formerly the 
Sisters of Charity visited it regularly, and sometimes other ladies. Lately the Sisters of 
Charity have only visited it a few times. 
4837. If I recollect rightly, the female turnkey, Mrs. Freeman, stated that there had been 
no visit paid by any lady during her time, with the exception of the Sisters of Charity ? 
No, lately there has not. 
4838. You have a number of female prisoners? Yes. 
4839. Some very young-girls confined for prostitution, and such offences? Yes. 
4840, Girls whose condition should naturally enlist the sympathies of benevolent ladies for 
their reformation ? Yes. 
4841. But they are never visited by any? Never, except by the Sisters of Charity. 

SATURDAY, 20 APRIL, 1861. 

linftent 
MR. SUTHERLAND, 

MR. MORRIS, 	 Na. WILSON, 
MA. MATE, 

Ma. WINDEYER. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
Sir Alfred Stephen, Knt., CJ., examined :- 

SirA.Stephen,4842. By the Chairman : How many years, Sir Alfred, have you been a Judge of the 
Supreme Court ? Nearly twenty-two. 
4843. A considerable period of that time you have been Chief Justice ? Ever since 1844, 

20April,1861, Chief Justice. 
4844. Your attention must necessarily, from the nature of your duties, have been directed 
to the general management of the criminal population during that time ? It has. 

4845. 
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4845. Piave you had occasion to consider the system known, I believe, as the mark system, SirA.Stephen, 
which prevailed principally on Cockatoo Island for a number of years—for about six years I Knt.,  
think—by which the prisoners, according to conduct and the amount of labour they got "—A's% 
through, were enabled to abridge their sentences? I have. 	 • 	 it 20 Apri1,4861. 
4846. Would you be kind enough to state to the Committee the conclusions at which you 
arrived with respect to the working of that system ? My opinion was that it was a had 
system. 
4847. The system arose, I think

' 
 in November, 1851; perhaps you do not recollect under 

what circumstances it arose? I do not know the dale of the initiation, nor its reasons. I 
have no recollection on the subject. 
4848. Could you state to the Committee in what way this system presented itself to you, to 
lead you to the conclusion that it was bad in its working ? My objection to the system was, 
and is, that the main test and guide, in respect of remissions, was simply the convict's success 
in the performance of work, and that considerations (if real or apparent reformation of 
character became subordinate, if at all inquired into, which I doubt. If the convict had 
been punished, then no doubt that circumstance operated adversely to him, but I mean that 
the great question of reformation of character was lost sight of. Whereas I am of opinion 
that the amount of work done by a man is no test whatever of good conduct, or of his fitness 
to be let loose again on society. My further objection was, and is, that it brought all the 
Convicts under one general system and set of rules, whereas I :an of opinion that no system 
of convict discipline can be good which does not individualize, that is to say, distinguish man 
from man, and case from ease. I know the difficulties and expense of carrying out such a 
system, but I am quite sure that no other can be depended upon. A further objection was, 
that every sentence passed by the Courts became a mere nominal thing, the term of sentence 
never being carried out; but all persons who had done the prescribed amount of work, 
without extra punishment, were sent out among the community, however unsafe in 
particular instances it might be. Thus, I have known a murderer, under the most barbarous 
circumstances, released because of excessively useful workmanship as a bricklayer; and I 
have repeatedly noticed, and have given in former times the instances, that men whose 
sentences have been thus remitted have returned very speedily, and net unfrequently before 
the terms of their original sentences have expired, to exactly the same course of crime. 
4849. I understood you to say, that you.should consider no system good that did not 
individnalize, or, in other words, distinguish man from man, and case from ease, in the 
treatment of the persm under punishment ? I do not think I said the treatment of the 
man under punishment. 
4859. I use those words, as I think that is what you must have intended—do not you 
think the system introduced by the regulations of 1st June, 1858, which abolished this 
mark system, by which the time of sentence is indiscriminately and inexorably adhered to, 
is more opposed to that which you indicate as the only good one than even the system 
previously existing, because there is no discretion allowed, if these regulations are strictly 
adhered to without reference to reformation of character, goodness of conduct, or any 
consideration ? I did not know that the new system involved as a consequence the absolute 
enforcement of every sentence without any exception whatever, and I should have hoped 
that such was not the system. I think, that however hopeless the reformation of a convict 
is in the vast majority of instances, hope should never be atatdoned, and if there be good 
reasons for belief that a man is really reformed, the prerogative of mercy should generally 
be exercised in his favour. I understand the system to lay down a general rule in exact 
opposition to the former general rule, but I did not understand that it was one to be 
rigorously adhered to under all circumstances, and I do not wish to be understood that I 
think a separate treatment of each man is practicable, for there must always be seine general 
system; but what I meant was, that every man's ease and character will be found to differ 
more or less from that of another, and that there should be discrimination exercised. 
4851. What I should understand from the general expression of your opinion, in your 
answer last previous to this, was, that this discrimination should be carried out by a 
judicious classification of prisoners, not that men should be treated individually, but that 
they should be classified according to their general character ? I think, no doubt, that there 
should be minute classification, and that as a matter of course very many rersons will be 
classed together. But I mean something eveniurther than this, I mean that each man's 
character, and habits, and hopefulness, or the like, will be found to differ from those of others, 
and that as far as is possible there should be on individualization of eases. 
4852. Supra's° a case, Sir Alfred, of two persons appearing in the dock at the same Assize 
convicted of the same crime in the eye of the law, by evidence equally clear, ought not the 
Judge to award the same sentence in each case, though it may appear that one of these men has 
been habitually, from the cradle almost, an offender against the laws, and the other has never 
been known to commit an offence before—still, as they appear there offenders against the 
in the same particular, with the same degree of crime, with the same evidence against them, 
should not the Judge, having to attend to the evidence brought before him in the Court, 
and to nothing else, administer the law with strict inexorable justice in the same way in both 
cases; and if that were so, and he were to administer the law in that manner, ought there 
not to be some means by which the man who became, from some combination, an offender 
against the law in this one case, and who afterwards manifested a desire to reform, who 
evirleed this by uniform good character—when this was proved in the only way in which it 
could be proved, by his subsequent conduct, could abridge his sentence. If that were 
necessary, would it not be an indispensable condition of any prison management that there 
should be some means of remitting the sentence in such cases? There are two questions 
here, the one as to the duty of the Judge, and the second as to the duty or power of the 

Executive. 
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BirA.Stophen, Executive. They are, of course, quite distinct. I say as to the first, that, as a general rule, 
C.J. two men convicted of the selfsame crime in all its features should receive the same punish-

anent; but I think that the object of punishment would not he duly met by such a course, 
20 April,1861. and that it is not, and never has been, the practice a Judges to disregard the prisoner's 

previous character and habits. Quite the contrary. One principle may safely he laid down: 
that each man is liable to the maximum punishment prescribed by the law, and where there 
is a discretion left in the Judge, I think that his discretion should be exercised by 
Making a decided distinction between the hardened and desperate offender and the 
man who may be shewn to have been probably led into crime, or whose character 

- up to that period has been uniformly good. I think that the exercise of a wise 
discretion in that way has a beneficial operation upon the community. I think 
further that it is almost a necessary discretion to be vested in a Court. I conceive the 
difficulty to he, to be quite sure of the truth of the case as to the previous character. And 
here is often the great practical difficulty. I endeavour, in any own case, to overcome it 
by examining persons on oath. 
4853. As to character ? As to character, which the Judge has clearly a right to do, before 
proceeding to punishment; and I believe that Judges will be found generally to have a 
remarkable faculty of discriminating aright in such eases. Secondly, as to the power of the 
Executive. I have already expressed my opinion, by implication, that the power of pardoning 
should be occasionally exercised by the Executive in such cases as this suggested. All that 
I protest against is, a general rule of pardoning without any efficacious or sound test of 
reformation. I could give illustrations easily of the kind of process which I refer to, in 
ascertaining the truth on this point. 
4354. In the case I supposed, it does not appear to me that the consideration that should be 
paid to good character so much depends upon what the conduct had been previous, as to 
what it shall be subsequent to the sentence, and that is a thing that can only be proved after 
the sentence of the Court is ay:aided. Thus, there may be a person who has been a uniformly 
good character up to a certain period, and he may have fallen away altogether, and become 
an abandoned character. We know abundant instances of such cases, and it cannot be 
proved whether a person has entered upon a course of crime which he will still pursue, or 
whether he will retrace his steps, till after the period of sentence ; and thus it seems 
necessary that this prerogative of remitting a sentence should be exercised by some power 
after the sentence of the law has been passed upon the prisoner. The Judge, it is certain, 
cannot have the experience which can only be gained subsequently ; he can only be guided 
by what the character of the prisoner has been up to that time, and therefore is not in a 
position to consider the case. To illustrate further what I mean, instead of two, I will 
suppose that there arc three prisoners, one who has been a hardened offender up to the time 
of trial, and who continues a hardened offender ; the second, one who has been a good 
artisan up to the time of trial, but who has fallen away into a state of crime, and who con-
tinues to follow an abandoned course ; the third, one who in like manner offended against 
the law, but who is afterwards anxious to retrace his steps, and to retrieve his position in 
society. I think those three cases illustrate actual occurrences which will be familiar to you 
as a Judge. In the last ease, the real character of the prisoner cannot be ascertained till 
after the sentence, and therefore no Judge can consider his case properly; it is morally 
impossible for him to do so ? Tim real character of an offender is much more 
difficult to ascertain after punishment than before. The instances of ptetended reformation 
accompanied by hypocrisy are numerous; and it has often been found that the most hardened 
offenders are those who impose readily upon the persons in charge of them. The men are 
here in a state of coercion from which they wish to escape ; but the same men when at 
liberty follow the bent of their propensities, whatever they may be ; and I cannot admit 
the principle that a Judge is to sentence three men exactly in the same manner, of whom he 
can almost certainly predicate that one will continue a ruffian to the end of his days, while 
another may probably be safely sent into society again in a short period. The hardened 
offender, moreover, in point of justice, deserves a severer punishment, and the interests of 
the community require that severer punishment. If the Judge is not to discriminate 
between the cases of prisoners, I do not know why he should be allowed to discriminate at 
all. as to the extent of the term of punishment in any case. His discretion is always 
exercised by reference to, first, the circumstances of the crime, and then by other circum-
stances attaching to the prisoner as an individual; although Ids great object should be, in 
every case, by adequate punishment, whatever the character of the prisoner, to deter other 
men from committing the same crimes. 
4855. My questions have Oct so much applied to whether the Judge should or should not 
exercise a discrimination in awarding sentences, as to whether there should or should not 
exist the power to mitigate those sentences afterwards, according to the conduct of the 
prisoner ; and I think I gather from your evidence that you think, in eases where they are 
wisely and well considered, such power should exist. If I have not mistaken you, you are 
of that opinion ? I think that, as a general rule, sentences should be carried out ; but I 
distinctly think, as you suppose, that there should he occasionally, though rarely, instances 
of remission of punishment, founded upon real change of character ; the great difficulty will 
always he, to know when that change has taken place. 
4856 Coming back to this regulation of the 1st of June, 1858, you will see, if you will be 
good enough to read them, that they do two things of a tremendous character as affecting 

• prisoners; and, at the same time, they bring into existence au entirely new, and, as I think, 
very anomalous consideration. They do away at once with the system which previously 
existed, without any qualification whatever, leaving in its place an inexorable adherence to the 
time of sentences; and they then prohibit the Visiting Magistrate, the Superintendent, and 

all 
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all persons in authority over the penal establishment, from forwarding petitions from prisoners, SirA-SloPht 11, 
so that they shut the gate to every statement, tvell founded or not, that the prisoner may Kat" CA • 
make. We know that gaolers, in all cases, are not desirous to have more trouble than is 
necessary, and the Government, by these regulations, really prohibit person,  placed i n  20 Apri1,18Gi. 

authoritylike these fromlorwarding petitions to the Government. While these great changes 
are made the regulations continue the mark system to prisoners who have received sentences 
previous to that date, and leave these men to work side by side with prisoners sentenced 
after that date, whose sentences are inexorably carried out. This Committee found at 
Cockatoo Island men working side by side excavating rock, and engaged in other work, 
some of whom make nine days a week, while others could Make only six—some of 
those making nine days a week not so well-behaved as others who were making only six 
days a week. This, if, under any conceivable circumstances, we • ourselves were placed in 
such circumstances, would irritate us almost to insubordination ; and the result—and, as I 
think, the natural result—has been insubordination on that island. I think, if you look over 
these regulations, and see that they do these three things—that they make this change, revoke 
the systhm which previously existed, without any qualification in any case—that they shut 
the door of hope, stifle the voice of complaint, whether well founded or not, of every man in 
the condition of a prisoner, and, at the same time r create two classes who work in the same 
gangs in the manner I have stated, under such vastly different circumstances—I think you 
must be of opinion that it is a most undesirable state of things 7 I cannot, of course, tell 
what may have been the cause of irritation in the prisoners' minds; but, as a matter of 
justice, nothing can be clearer than this, and it might have been explained to the prisoners, 
thatthose men who were sentenced, and, probably, with additional severity, nominally because 
this remission system was in force, and who were entitled by existing regulations to remissions 
under certain conditions, could not he subjected without oppression to an ex post facto law. 
They were sentenced on a system of indiscriminate remission, the test of which was task-
work, and they were entitled to have the benefit of that system continued to them. To 
have acted otherwise would have been worse than to have repudiated a contract of an 
ordinary kind. 	It ' was a contract with the men. 	The Courts sentenced prisoners 
knowing that, after a certain period, they would probably obtain a ticket-of-leave, 
or the like, but the moment that that system was put an end to, the men who 
came under the new system had no right to complain that justice was done to their 
predecessors in crime. It was easy to tell them that they had been sentenced under a 
different state of things, known to the Judges, and that they could have no claim, merely 
because others had a claim. If it he the fact that every sentence passed under the new 
system is carried out inexorably, I unquestionably think it bad, because it destroys hope in 
every mind; but I have always regarded it as merely establishing a general rule, admitting 
of exceptions, though in rare cases, and I then understood that prisoners were not to be 
allowed to scud in petitions for remission unless there were new circumstances of some kind 
to be represented worthy of inquiry, such as the discovery of new evidence, or of excessive 
good conduct, and probable reformation in the prisoner ; and, as a matter of fact, there are 
now petitions before Inc from persons sentenced under the new regulations, which I have yet 
to consider and report upon. 
4857. The Colonial Secretary, who was examined before the Committee, has handed in a 
return carefully prepared by Captain Mann, shewing that sentences have been as severe 
since ;he change as previously; he has carefully compared the sentences awarded to certain 
classes of crimes, and shewn that the Judges have awarded as severe sentences since the date 
of these new regulations as before ? I cats of course only answer for myself individually, 
and during the whole of the last year I have been absent from the Colony; but during the 
time of my passing sentences, since the commencement of the new regulations, I have always 
borne them in mind, and have endeavoured to pass sentences for less terms than formerly. 
I may have departed from my intention unconsciously, in some instances, but. it has been 
unconsciously if at all ; and it is possible that severer sentences have of late been passed, 
because it has been found that former sentences have had no apparently beneficial effect, 
and so the Judges may have been led to think that long terms—in other words, severe 
punishments—are imperatively called for. It is a well known principle, that as the object 
of punishment is the prevention of crime, severer punishments are always inflicted whenever 
the offences to which they are applied are common in the community. In other words, if a 
severe punishment will not deter men from crime, as experience has shewn, then the Judges 
resort to a still severer one. • 
4858. During your recent residence in England, did you pay any attention to this subject, 
as it is considered in the Mother Country—what I mean more particularly is, did you come 

• in contact with any of those public men who have paid attention to prison discipline in the 
Mother Country so as to be led to discuss the question ? I did not. With the exception of 
a short correspondence with Captain Maconochie I had no communication with any person 
on the subject of prison discipline. 
4859. I believe, among men who have paid great attention to the subject for years past in 
England, including Mr. Recorder fill, who is quite an authority on the subject, and I think 
also Lord Brougham—Mr. Thompson, a Scotch gentleman who has paid great attention to 
prison management—they appear to have arrived at the general conclusion that sentences 
should not be measured by time, but by labour, combined with the consideration of conduct 
under a wise and effective system of criminal administration. The conclusion whiCh seems 
to have been arrived at by public men in England who have paid the most attention to the 
subject is clearly stated in the work Ithave before me in a number of simple propositions. 
Perhaps you will have the kindness to read them, and see if you assent to them? (The 
Chairman handed to the Chief Justice a treatise on prison discipline, by Francis C. Gray, 

157—Y 	 referred 
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SirA.Steyhen, referred to in the evidence of the Honorable E. Deas Thomson. The Chief Justice read the 
1:Cnt- L. A. extract.) I do not receive as certain the statement that these general conclusions have 

commanded universal assent. That is the statement of the pamphlet here. 
20Apri1,1861. 4860. Do you, yourself, generally concur in the propositions there laid. down ? I will take 

them separately. I do not think that " stinted food" should take part in any system, because 
I regard that as simple cruelty ; and, on the other hand, full feeding, accompanied by the 
concomitant comforts, will be highly prejudicial, as leadiog the struggling, and hard working, 
and honest poor to envy the condition of the well-fed convict; and I think there have been 
errors in this direction. There is a medium. As to " constant confinement," if that implies 

• the perpetual shutting up in a cell of a prisoner, without labour in the open air, that I con-
ceive to be equally injurious to mind and body, and to answer no useful end, although as a 
portion of severe punishment and for short periods I do not think it could safely be 
abandoned. "The total privation of social intercourse;' I also think undesirable in any 
system; but this social intercourse should be restricted to working in company with strict 
silence, except at stated times. I believe that the conversation which takes place between 
prisoners generally is more demoralizing to the less hardened individuals than any other 
source of deterioration. Every writer on prison discipline I observe notices this: that 
prisoners comparatively innocent, or disposed to reform, are demoralized, and often shamed 
out of their repentant dispositions by more hardened criminals conversing with them. With 
the rest of the propositions I agree, qualifying my statement by this, that I acknowledge the 
wisdom of no universal rule as applicable to all individuals, and insist upon this; that there 
must be occasional deviations from a general system in particular instances, although those 
instances may be rare. 
4861. Have you visited Cockatoo Island at any time ? Yes. 
4862. Frequently ? No. 
4863. Is it long ago since you visited the island ? I never was at Cockatoo Island more 
than twice. I was there several years ago, when I had more leisure than I have had during 
the last three or four years. 
4861. Have you visited Darlinghurst or Parramatta Gaol ? It is also several years since 
I have inspected, or visited for the purposes of observation, either of those gaols. I used to 
visit them several years ago fegularly and examine the prisoners, but my judicial duties of 
late years have fully prevented me from doing anything of the sort. 
4865. I might mention one or two facts discovered by this Committee as to the state of our 
prisons, with a view of getting your opinion upon the subject in evidence. It does not appear 
that, for some years past, there has been any regulation which would compel the prisoners 
to observe bodily cleanliness, nor does it appear that there are any means of instruction 
for adult or juvenile prisoners. With respect to the first allegation it would appear from 
the evidence given before this Committee, that if a prisoner otiose to neglect washing his 
skin from one month's end to another, or even for three or six months, he would not be 
compelled to do it, unless it were from the complaints of his fellows ? Few things can be 
worse in any convict establishment, in my opinion, than permitting personal uncleanliness. 
I look upon habitual cleanliness, in all classes, as of great importance, in every point of view. 
I believe it has a moral effect. 
4860. With respect to the absence of any means of instruction ? It is impossible to estimate 
too highly the importance of instruction and the means of intellectual employment, in the 
case of every person. However hopeless the case of a man may be, I conceive that effort 
should still be made to improve him, and that one great means of improvement will be 
inspiring or encouraging a habit of reading, and not always, or, as a matter of course, 
religious books. I think that one great evil in any system is short punishments. I think 
it is far better not to punish at all than to punith by a very inadequate short term of punish-
ment. And I think further, that no system of convict discipline, or improvement in a convict 
system, can be deemed complete, which leaves unprovided for the great want of having some 
kind of refuge for the prisoners when they come out of confinement, or some means of imme-
diately resorting to honest employment. I have seen, with pain, in scores of instances, that 
persons are discharged from gaol, who are almost driven into crime again, because they have 
no means, when they come out of gaol, of getting honest employment. 
4867. You will have noticed in these propositions, to which your attention was directed just 
now, that stress was laid upon the entire separation of prisoners at night. In Cockatoo 
Island the dormitories have no means of separating the prisoners at night; for instance, in 
the largest dormitories there are berths fitted up for eighty persons ; there is a kind of 
passage down the middle of the dormitories, and on each side there are two tiers of berths, 
one above the other ; and the prisoners have literally to crawl on their hands and knees into 
their bed-places? The berths are like a ben-coop. 
4868. It has been given in evidence that these dormitories have sometimes been so full that 
the prisoners have had to sleep on the top, above the second tier. The means of ventilation 
are very inadequate; I think there are only four small windows to each dormitory, two on 
each side; and it has been represented to us, that in the slimmer months the stench arising 
from such a number of human beings, not over clean probably, crowded together, and from 
the heated matter in the night-tubs, was so intolerable that sleep was quite impossible; and 
that in consequence there were all kinds of noises, singing, and frequently the most disgusting 
immoralities. You will, I presume, be of opinion that such a state of things is calculated to 
prevent, almost to render impossible, reformation ? Few things can be worse than the state 
of things described, which certainly I know to have prevailed at Cockatoo Island, and also 
in the gaols to some extent, within my own observation. 
4869. Within the gaols the cells are built for three prisoners, and although it appears that 
five are sometimes crowded into them, still, there are something like the means of decency, 

which 
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which absolutely do not exist at Cockatoo Island. Some of the prisoners whom this Corn- SirA.Sterthen,  
mittee have met with, and who have described themselves as having wives and children, and Knt., C2.  
who, although in that condition, as fathers of families, express themselves as greatly shocked 
at the proceedings there; and several have preferred only one prayer, to be removed to some 20Aprd,1861. 
other prison on account of these indecencies; they do not complain of their sentences, or 
seek for any other mitigation, than to be removed to some other place where they may escape 
these enormities? I remember well the appearance of these places at Ct chute° Island, 
and the state of the gaol rooms both at Bathurst and Sydney before the recent improvements, 
and nothing could be more shocking. I conceive that the ribald conversation, and worse, 
which goes on in these places, must be highly deteriorating, and that separate confinement 
at night, or of not more than three in each cell, would seem to be an almost indispensable 
improvement. The frightful stench which must arise from such a congregation of many 
persons in one room, not perfectly ventilated, is shocking to think of. I know that in one 
of the long rooms at Cockatoo Island, there are open gratings at each end, and a lantern or 
two in the centre of each room, and forty or more men are confined within the same apart-
ment, with no restriction upon their intercourse beyond that of the palings between the 
various berths, and it is quite possible for one man to enter his neighbour's berth, or even a 
berth two or three distant, without much chance of observation. 
4870. I wish to state to you, Sir Alfred, .the nature of some very startling evidence given 
before this Committee, nearly the whole number of the Committee being present, eight or 
nine out of the ten, and they were much impressed with its truthfulness—I state it not in 
the form of a question, but to hear your opinion upon it as Chief Justice of the Colony. 
This evidence, given with all the appearance of truth and concurred in by six or eight 
different persons, who, as far as ITC can form an opinion, had no means of concocting the 
story, goes to the effect that acts of sodomy are constantly committed. Some of these 
persons stated that they were eye-witnesses of this act, that they saw men go into a berth 
and act with other men just as man and wife ; and they state that there are young men on 
the island who are known among their fellow prisoners by female names, who are treated as 
men treat prostitutes, anything they can get in the form of delicacies is carried to them, and 
they are treated as females with whom they have general intercourse, and that in the case 
of two or three of these persons they would appear to be passive instruments almost in 
common to those who choose to traffic with them. I may as well state that I have made 
this statement to you after having obtained the concurrence of the other members of the 
Committee ? Then the question is whether I have ever beard of it. 
4871. 1 state the information we have received to hear what you think of it, leaving you 
perfectly free to say what you choose, or nothing ? My evidence on your former question 
has already intimated that I think these horrible acts of unnatural crime may be committed 
without much chance of detection, and I have before heard that such things are said to be 
not uncommon on the island. I certainly know that the same things were said, and I believe 
were true, of Norfolk Island. I was intimate with the chaplain of the latter place, and I 
have heard from him that such eases as you speak of were undoubtedly well known and 
authenticated at Norfolk Island. Such dreadful practices which can only send a man out in 
society a demon in human shape can only be restrained by the constant presence of a sentinel 
or by a system of separate confinement, either of one man in each cell or of neither 
more nor less than three men in each cell. Now at Cockatoo Island, and at the stockades 
in this Colony which I have visited in former days, observation by the one or two sentinels 
in each apartment is quite out of the question ; a man cannot be, and is not expected 
to be, always looking into the apertures leading to the apartments ; and as a matter of fact, 
the men pass out of and into the bed-places of others without the possibility of observation, 
unless some fellow prisoners happen to be awake and observing, or unless the sentry 
happens at the moment to be passing by. 
4872. At Cockatoo Island there does not appear to be any sentry near the prisoners at 
night ; and it is the fact that the wardsmen of these large dormitories are prisoners ; 
prisoners also are appointed to act as sub-overseers ? The wardsmen of whom you speak are 
not the same of whom I speak as sentries. I inquired, and was told one or two men were 
appointed to these places, and that their business was, now and then, as officers in charge, to 
peep into the dormitories, and that they would at all times go into them. 
4873. By Mr. Wilson : At Cockatoo Island these wardsmen are locked up in the dormitories 
with the prisoners ? These are not the people I speak of; there used to be, at the time I 
went over there, sentries. 
4874. By the Chairman: At the present time the arrangement appears to be this: the 
dormitories form three sides of a square, and I do not think there is any sentinel in the 
square—. within the dormitories there is a wardsman, who is supposed to pass up and down 
this passage ; but he is a prisoner; and the question I wish to ask you is, whether you 
consider it right or safe, that prisoners should be appointed to a post of that kind, or to the 
post of sub-overseer ? I do not think, under any circumstances whatever, a prisoner should 
be appointed sub-overseer or wardsman ; and I think it impossible to expect good results 
from a system of observation by a fellow prisoner within the sleeping apartment itself. 
There should be the means of observation from without, and there should be few in each 
apartment ; but nothing will be effectual but the system I have already spoken of. 
4876. Having glanced at the actual state of our prisons at the present moment, and keeping 
in view the great importance of the proper management of the criminal population, are you 
of opinion that it is necessary for the Government to go at once to a large expense, for the 
purpose of having some great general prison, where the proper means of classification, where 
the proper means of applying the labour of the prisoners to the best and most profitable ends, 
could be secured, and where all other necessary steps in order to make the establishment 

self-supporting 
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Sit.A.Stephen, self-supporting, at the same time to preserve morality, to carry out an effective punish- 
c.J. ment, and if possible to restore the prisoner as a reformed man to society could be provided. 

20 April,1861. If you look at the plan which I hold in my hand of the great prison at Sing Sing, 
in the State of New York, you will see that there is in that prison provision made for 
carrying on nearly every description of labour, 5o that persons physically weak could be put 
to light employment, persons of greater physical strength to work for which they were fitted, 
persons who had acquired some trade to follow that trade, and persons who shelved an apti-
tude for a particular trade to learn that trade, and thus have a means of earning all honest 
livelihood on leaving the prison ? This is a question of policy, upon which I do not know 
that I am competent to give an opinion. Its solution will depend upon the estimate formed 
of the enormous cost of a natural and efficient new system, as compared with the results to 
be gained by it, contrasted with the present bad and incomplete system. On this every man 
will entertain his own opinion, but I will say that I think the question of the profitableness 
of labour in a prison which is, I know, one great end of economists, and is one grand feature 
in most of the American systems, is in my mind a matter of comparative unimportance. I 
value not the profitableness of such an establishment at one straw as compared with the grand 
end of benefit to the community, which might reasonably be hoped for in a really good 
system. But a really good system, which would single outclasses and cases also, would cost 
much more money than any economical Government, in these days will care to expend. 
4876. Would you be in favour of the creation of a new office, such as that of an Inspettor of 
Prisons, with the view of securing some person well fitted for the business, to inspect the whole 
of the prisons in the Colony, instead of having them as at present under the Sheriff ? As to 
the Sheriff, I conceive that he has so much to do in the civil department of his office, and in 
executing writs, civil and criminal, that he cannot possibly exercise any more than a very 
general and loose supervision over any gaol, even if one alone be intrusted to him, and I dare 
say that much good might result from the appointment of a competent and highly energetic 
person as an Inspector of Prisons. But a vast number of useful reforms might be carried out' 
without any such officer at all ; as for instance, labour might be provided in most of 
the gaols, whereas in some of them I certainly know there is no labour provided what-
ever, so that the men remain- in a state of idleness, which is the worst state next 
to that of actual abomination which a prisoner can be left in. I think that much good 
might result from the occasional visits and inspections of the Judges, either of the Supreme 
Court or of the District Court, or both, if they have time to devote to such a duty, because 
they are the men who would be most likely to have formed a sound opinion on the subject 
generally. 
9877. Ion desire, I think, to recur to the subject of the regulations issued by Mr. Cowper ? 
I perceive that the regulations of the 1st June, 1858, do not prevent the recommendation 
of prisoners on grounds connected with conduct after conviction, but merely prevent petitions 
from the prisoners themselves on that ground, and this strengthens my impression that it 
never was intended that no conduct after sentence, however good, should be considered. It 
is one thing for a prisoner to apply, stating his good conduct, and a very different thing 
indeed for the chaplain or superintendent to make such an application on his behalf, on 
the ground of good conduct. What I mean here is good conduct, not tested by the old, 
incorrect, and unsatisfactory mode, of so much labour done. 
9878. By Mr. Wilson : It has been represented to this Committee that the prisoners on 
Cockatoo Island receive, in some instances, pecuniary rewards for extra work done; this 
money they are allowed to spend as they choose; and we find that it is generally expended 
on tobacco, so that the unlimited use of tobacco is allowed on the island, more especially in 
the dormitories at night. It has been stated to this Committee that it is sometimes carried 
to such an extent that the lamp hanging in the dormitory is not to be seen. Do you think 
such a state of things should be allowed, or that tobacco should be allowed to the prisoners 
at all? I am by no means prepared to say that indulgence should not be allowed to the 
prisoners for good conduct, and I suppose that the use of tobacco, to some extent, is not ft 
vicious indulgence, but its excessive use in the way spoken of I should certainly think was 
very undesirable; and I think, further, that if a prisoner has time, he should, as a general 
rule, employ it in something better than mere work, with the object of getting indulgence 
for it. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

MEmOnA.Nntm. 	 Monday Evening, 22 April. 
In reference to the evidence given by him before the Committee on PrisOns, Sir Alfred Stephen 

solicits permission to supplement what he said by the following paper :— 
1. The sole object of all punishment by the law for crime is, as he conceives, the protection of the 

community at large from similar outrages. And with that view, he thinks two things are—in deter-
mining the sentence—to be chimed at in all cases. First, adequate terror to the ill-disposed ; so as to 
deter others from committing the like crime. Secondly, the prevention of ally repetition of it 
(absolutely, or for some considerable period) by, at all events, the mine individual.• 

'2. Bearing in mind the one principle here enunciated, the sentence in each ease will depend on 
various considerations. The nature of the crime, the aggravations or any) attending it in the particular 
instance, the consequences of such a crime to society, if extensively prevalent, and the degree, therefore. 
in which it is important to the general safety, or the general welfare, to prevent it : the probability of 
the recurrence of the crime, the temptations to it, and the facilities which exist for its commission. 
Lastly, with respect to different individuals, convicted of the same species of crime, or of precisely the 
same crime, regard should be had to the antecedents, and, so far as they can be ascertained, the 
tendencies of each prisoner ; since the probabilities of its recurrence, in each instance, will vary 
according to those circumstances. 

3. 
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E. On no other principle than the one announced, it is conceived, can the punishment of death be SirA.Stepheo, 
justified. As the preservation of life, and the security of the person from gross and brutal outrage, arc hut., ail. 
the most important objects in every community, murder, rape, wounding with intent to murder, and 
robbery on the highway, or burglary, accompanied by injury to the person, are subject to that punish- 90 ADril 1861. mint, as the One most likely to inspire terror—and therefore to deter other men from such crimes ; 	• ' 
while it is the only known punishment, which can with emtainty prevent their repetition, by the same 
criminal. Such at least, we must infer, are the grounds on which this awful penalty is prescribed. 
lint, in any event, the considerations for the Judge, in determining whether its actual infliction ought 
to ensue, in any given instance, will be those which have been indicated. 

4. It by no means follows from what has been advanced in this paper, that the task of attempting 
to reform the criminal (in every ease, but especially in cases where it is contemplated, or is possible, 
that he may one day again return to society) ought not to be undertaken, or that it is not a duty, 
equally to the prisoner himself and to the public. All that the writer maintains is, that the object 
neither is nor can be one aimed at by, or connected with, any end or aim of legal punishment. Nor, as 
he apprehends, is that reformation properly the end or object (in any other than a very subordinate 
degree) of convict discipline. If the object of punishment for crime be that which has been stated, 
convict discipline—which is only the carrying out of the punishment—should be so regulated as best 
to effect that object. And in whatever proportion you ditninish the dread and terror of punishment, 
CS such, in the minds of those who may be tempted to crime, in that same proportion will you inflict 
evil on the community. 

5. Nevertheless, if the dicipline be such as continually to inspire that dread which is its object, 
the reformation of each criminal will be of vast importance, even on the principle contended for. 
Much will have been accomplished, in the way of' protection from the recurrence of crime, by those 
who beim° released from the state of suffering, if they return with changed tendencies mid (Rope-
sitions—no longer the unwilling violators, but the supporters of decency and the laws. The difficulty 
lies, on the part of the authorities, in not being deceived; in haviog some safe test of this change; 
and, above all, in reconciling the two objects, ol rewarding a criminal for gem( conduct by indulgences, 
and finally by remitting his punishment, and Stet affording by that punishment the necessary warning 
and dread, which, if endured, it was calculated to inspire. 

MONDAY, 22 APRIL, 1861. 

tutotne-- 
MR. MATE, 	 MR. SUTHERLAND, 
Mu. MORRIS, 	 MIL WILSON. 

J. 73. WILSON, ESQUIRE, CHAIRMAN pro. temp. 

Cockatoo Island, and assembling at the Superintendent's Office, the Chairman (Mr. Wilson) Island Prison. 
took the Chair.] 	 22 Ap,  

[The Committee having met at 8.30 am., on the Semi-circular Quay, proceeded to Cockatoo 

ril lo61. 

Gother Kerr Mann, Esq., called in and further examined :— 
4379. By the chairman: You received last Saturday a letter from this Committee in a K. Mann, 
reference to taking the evidence of certain persons selected from the body at Cockatoo 	Esq. 
Island, as to any grievances of which they might consider they had cause to complain ? I 
received a letter from the Committee here at nine o'clock, of their intention to examine and 
hear any complaints that any prisoner might wish to make, provided these complaints were 
confined to their general treatment, their accommodation, and the quality of their provisions; 
that the Committee would not entertain or enter into anything relative to their judicial 
sentences. A paragraph of this letter I read to the body of men, in accordance with the 
request of the Committee, this morning at six o'clock, when they were turning out to work. 
4880. By  Mr. Morris : Did the letter say it was to he read this morning? No; the letter 
said to inform the prisoners if I considered it judicious to do so, or words to that effect. 
4881.. By the Chairman : There was no mention in the letter that prisoners should select 
certain individuals of their number to represent them ? No, I think not. (The letter was 
here produced.) 
4882. What followed the reading of that letter ? The men proceeded out to work quietly 
and orderly, and at the usual hour of eight o'clock they were called in to breakfast. When 
the bell rang at a quarter to nine, the principal warder came up to me and reported that the 
men had refused to go out to work, because they wanted to see the Committee in a body. I 
immediately went to the yard, and ordered them to fall in in their gangs, which they did. I 
then addressed them, saying that they had committed an not of insubordination, and that it 
rested entirely with the Committee how they would see them, and that if they persisted in 
their insubordination I should know what steps to take, and that it was my impression that 
when the Committee heard they had been guilty of such insubordination they would get into 
their boat and go away without hearing one of them. Some of the men called out that they 
wished to see the Committee in a body ; but at length one or two spokesmen Caine forward 
and said they wanted to see the Committee about this new Act alluding to the recent regu-
lations of the island. I told them I would not stand parleying with them—that it was their 
duty to fall in forthwith, and if they did not I should take other steps. I then ordered the 
wardsmen to tell the men to go to work, which they did. I gave directions to the free 
officers of the gangs to take notice of any men who wanted to see the Committee and to bring 
the names up to me in order that I might lay them before them. 
4883. A list has been handed to you of certain persons who wished to communicate with 
the Committee? Yes. (The witness handed the list to the 'Chairman.) 
4884. I see there are about ninety names in this list ? Yes. If the Committee would 
allow me to suggest, I think it would be well that I should muster the men in the yard and 
order them to fall in according to their ward muster. Perhaps the Committee would then 
explain to them the utter impossibility of examining the whole of them, and direct them to 
select two delegates from each dormitory for examination. 

[The 
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[The men having been assembled, the Committee proceeded to the yard,— 
inviting the occupants of each dormitory to select two delegates. having returned],— 

James Arnett and Henry Clarke called in. 
[Delegates from No. 1 Ward.] 
Henry Clarke examined :— 

H. Clarke, 4885. By the Chairman : What we wish to get from you is any evidence you may have to 
give with regard to the treatment you receive on the island, or as to food, or accommodation. 
On the general subject we have as much information for our guidance as you can give us? 
There is one observation I wish to make—one great complaint—the men being detained 
on the island after the Judge's warrant has expired ; and another complaint I have to make 
of men receiving the indulgence of a ticket-of-leave, and for merely leaving their district to 
go to see their wife or family, being sent back here under the new system, which it might 
be only four months, or it might be four years ; so that a man who is sent back for four 
years is punished twelve times worse than the other. Here is another thing. Two men 
receive a sentence from a Judge. They both receive a sentence from the same Judge. One 
man will receive a sentence of fifteen years, with die first three years in chains; the other 
man will receive a sentence of fifteen years, without any chains. The man that received the 
fifteen years—not considering the real period of wearing these chains for three years—his 
probation is not allowed to commence until his chains are struck, which will take ?Ids man 
two years and two months, with ten months credit for extra work ; which will cause the 
man to do eight years actual time, with three years credit for actual work. The other man 
who received no punishment of chains, will get the indulgence of a tieket-of-leave at the 
expiration of five years and eight months. There are some of these men who are allowed 
by a little meritorious conduct, as it is termed here—that is, by giving up Ids fellow 
prisoners; first, he is the man that gets up any little plot; then, he gives information to t he 
authorities of what is going on, and he may have the indulgence for this of having his chains 
taken off, and get his ticket-of-leave; but the man who does not give information may stop 
here till his whole sen tence is expired. For instance, I received a sentence from Mr. Justice 
Merry, in 1857, of eight years, the first three years to be served in irons. I came on the 
island and completed two years and two months. My chain time was struck then, and I had 
to commence a probation for eight years, whereas, if a man had come on the island for eight 
years without any irons, he would have to serve three years and three months, with fifteen 
months et edit for marks. I have got 569 days credit, making, in all, five years and nine 
months, where a man would only have had probation for only four years and a half. I have 
not committed the slightest offence on the island, and was never brought to the office previous 
to the 23rd !January last, when I fell out with the mob to represent the old system, thinking 
to see you if I was sent over to the gaol. I ought to have had my ticket-of-leave last June, 
which they tell me in the office—which they even tell Capt. Scott. Capt. Scott says when 
he was here, "What is the reason he has not got his ticket"; they said, "Because be received 
the punishment of chains." Now the Government are not aware of this punishment of 
chains higher than Capt. Mterie. When Capt. fitted° was here I complained to him, and 
he said, "Well, send a petition to me." I did send a petition, but I have no doubt the 
petition did not go to him. I was the only plasterer then on the island, and I was plastering 
the house of Capt. Mann. 
4886. Try and make your statement as general as you can ; the Committee do not wish you 
to go into these particulars ? I wish to shew you how many are detained on the island after 
the Judge's warrants are expired. There are several men kept in this way; there is one 
man by the name of William Thomas; he receives a sentence of five years in the year 1848; 
he obtains his ticket-of-leave; he receives a similar sentence of five years in 1851; he 
obtains a ticket-of-leave for that sentence ; he then receives a sentence of three years in 
March, 1857 ;—the whole of these three sentences expired in March, 1860. The man comes 
up here to know the reason he is detained on the island, and they tell him at this office that 
be is not free till the 29th July, 1861, making him do seventeen months after his Judge's 
warrants are all expired. I can quote more cases of the same description. There are several 
more on the same system as myself, with respect to the iron time—twelve or fourteen—
who have selected me to represent them. 
4887. By Afr. Sutherland: Is a man named John Torpey on the island ? He has gone ; 
he was kept here fourteen days after his sentence expired. 
4888. Is there a man named Conolly ? Patrick Conolly ; he has left. 
4889, How did Conolly get away before his time? He did not get away before Ids time, 
he went away when the Judge's warrant was expired. He received a sentence of fourteen 
days solitary for the outbreak, similar to the rest. One man is allowed to leave the island, 
Patrick Conolly, when his two years sentence has expired ; the other's two years expires in 
about a fortnight afterwards—he comes up to the office, is taken into the store, and has 
put on part of his clothes, when the Clerk of Petty Sessions, Mr. Taylor, says, " You are 
not a free man, you had fourteen days in the cells." The man says, "What is the reason 
Jam detained, and the other men let go ?" "Oh, it is a mistake," and he receives 
fourteen days. No only Conolly is let go, but an aboriginal that committed a rape at 
Bathurst; he received six weeks solitary, and he was allowed to go when the time was 
expired. They will let any man go that they like, and will keep any man from going they 
think fit. 
4890. By the Chairman: Have you any other grievance to complain of? Concerning the 
sleeping apartments, they are very bad. indeed. Such a night as last night several men had 
to leave their sleeping bunks and get into any they could get into. The place is very bad. 
4891. Is it leaky ? Yes, the rain comes through. Not only the sleeping apartments, but 
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the mess-shed ; it looks very well such a day as this, but on a wet day you cannot stand in it Cockatoo Island Prison. for the rain coming through. And the ration is very bad at times. 22 Apri1,1861.. 4892. Is the ration generally bad, or is it the bread of which you complain ? Generally the — bread ; where the meat is bad once, you will find the bread bad four or five times. 	 H. Clarke. 
4893. Who examines the bread ? The delegate who is appointed every Monday morning. 
4894. Is his recommendation generally acted upon by the authorities on the island ? It is 
not. There is a sort of what they term a Board—the superintendent, Mr. Taylor, and the 
dispenser, they will sit upon it—and if the delegate says, "I do not wish to take this bread," 
Capt. Mann will perhaps say, "I think it is fit for use," and will make the man take it. 
Two or three times after it has been taken Capt. Scott has come and condemned it, and the 
superintendent has written about it to the contractor ; but what is the good of that if he 
does not represent it to the Government. If he was to do so it would soon be put a,stop to. 
It is the ration causes a good deal of disturbance on this island. 
4895. Do the men complain much of the manner in which the food is served to them—for 
instance, of the meat being placed on the boards ? There is a great rumour amongst them 
of it, and it looks some way unnatural to see the meat taken out and placed on the table 
without plates, knives, and forks. If a man has not a pocket-knife, he must gnaw it like a 
dog; he is supplied with a spoon and dish for soup, but the messmen will throw it down on 
the table if they have not got a fork. At Darlinghurst, the men have plates, knives, and 
forks. • 
4896. By Mr. filets: Are the men allowed to have pocket-knives ? If they have got them. 
4897. By Mr. Morris : Is the bread good this morning? We do not see it till dinner time, 
when it is served out. There is another thing—I do not know whether it is worth while 
bringing it under your notice—the way the men are discharged ; some of them are sent out 
destitute, with Government slops on them, branded with a felon's brand, without a penny 
in their pockets, just the way this man (pointing to his fellow prisoner) is now branded. 
Now I would ask you gentlemen, even if a man was reformed, would you give a man employ-
ment if he came to you in that suit—would you not sooner call a constable and give him 
in charge, thinking he was coming to rob you. If a man leaves in that state, will it not 
cause him to commit a crime that he had not the least thought of doing, in order to supply 

. himself with other clothes. There are several men who have brought good clothes with. 
them to the island, and they have been abstracted from the stores. 
4898. By Mr. Morris: Has that occurred since Captain Mann has been superintendent? 
No; because no prisoner could have recourse to the stores without a free officer being with 
him—but it used to be so. 
4899. By Mr. Sutherland : You say you arc the only plasterer on the island? I am not at 
the present moment ; there is another man now, of the name of Knowles; he came here on 
the 23rd of January last, but I had been the only one on the island for four years. 
4900. You have been employed in plastering Captain Mann's house ? Yes. 
4901. How did you get materials for that work—lime, laths, and so on ? It was forwarded 
over here, the same as other stores that came to the island. 
4902. There was no difference between the materials that came for that and for any other 
work? - No; the lime was all shell-lime for the plaster. I think there was about sixty 
weight of plaster, just enough to run the cornice. In fact, I did not have sufficient for it. 

James Arnott examined:— 
4903. -By the Chairinan: Have you anything to add to what has just been stated by Clarke? J ames Arnett 
The bedding here is never washed ; a man receives his blankets when he comes here, and 
they last the whole of the time without seeing any water ; there are no facilities for cleanli-
ness in any way. 
4904. What is the size of the utensils you have to wash in ? They are very small ; I should 
say about two feet six by fifteen inches. 
4905. Are they of stone or of wood? They are stone sinks; it is very probable that only 
two or three times a week clean water goes into them. On Saturday afternoon we are kept 
on the works till two o'clock, contrary to the Government regulations. 
4906. By Mr. Sutherland: Without getting any dinner ? We have no dinner till we come 
out; it is merely done to enable the men under the old system to get their half-mark. 
4907. By the Chairman: Have the new-sentenced men no benefit from it whatever ? No 
benefit whatever. Some of the men have not time, from two to five o'clock, to get shaved, 
and they have to shave on Sunday morning. 
4908. By Mr. Sutherland : What time have they to wash their clothes? There are washer-
men on purpose, who are supposed to wash their shirts. 
4909. By the Chairman : How many of these washing basins are there ? Six, in the yard. 
4910. And these six have to be used by all the prisoners ? With the exception of the 
servants. 
4911. By Mr. Morris : Would the whole of the men in the dormitories have to use these 
basins for their ablutions? On Sunday morning they bring two or three tubs of dirty water 
front the well at the back. 
4912. On week.days ? Some of the men wash on the works. 
4913. By the Chairman: Is it fresh water or salt? It is fresh, but it is very dirty, being 
taken from the old tank where they are extending the works. The troughs are filled on 
Saturday night, and some of the men there wash their feet in it and it is left for the men to 
wash in on Sunday morning. 
4914. The water in these troughs is not renewed every day ? I can answer for Sunday, by 
being all day in the yard and it is not renewed then. 

4915. 
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mCockatoo 4915. By Arr. &garland : These troughs are in the open yard ? Yes. I on. 
22 Apri1,1661. 41916. There is no place for a bath ? No, except the hospital. 

4917. By Mr. Morris: How have you to wash on a rainy day ? There is no place to wash 
JamesArnott. in when it is raining, there is TIO place under cover. In fact, the yard is a filthy place 

altogether. The water-closets are close to the cook-house, and there are no doors to them or 
anything else, and in hot weather the smell is filthy. Another matter is the distribution of 
the gratuity money here. If a man gets severely injured here, and is sent to the hospital, 
from that he is sent to the exempt bank, and he may be kept there from six to twelve months. 
All that time his gratuity money is stopped, and he has no means of getting tea, sugar, or 
tobacco. 
4918. Will you state what is the amount of the gratuity? I understand it is threepence a 
day, but there are only a few men on the island who receive threepence; there are men who 
receive as low as a penny or a halfpenny, and what is curtailed from them goes to the bank 
for the stone-cutters. They receive threepence a day for cutting twelve feet six inches, and 
for any over they get a halfpenny a foot. So that a penny from one, and a halfpenny, 
enables the stone-cutters to bank money, and they alone are allowed to do so. Again, there 
is a great deal of partiality shewn on this island; the oftener a man has been on the island—
the greater scoundrel he is—the more fair play will they shew him. In fact these arc the 
only men who can do any good. 
4919. HQ1V do you account for it ? I cannot account for it. Since I got my six weeks 
addition for insubordination, since I came back here, there was an application made for me 
to go as toolman to the gang to which I belonged and I was not allowed, for having done 
six weeks. A few days after Mr. Broderick made an application for a man of the name of 
Johnson, and there was no objection made to him ; he was allowed to go, although he had 
done six weeks. 
4920. By Mr. Mate: Was he a mechanic ? He is a painter by trade, but he was wanted in 
the capacity of a servant. 
4921. By Mr. Sutherland : Does he continue in that capacity ? He does. I spoke to the 
superintendent and requested to see the Visiting Magistrate about it. I saw Captain Scott, 
and he said he had nothing to do with the internal management of the island. The super- 
intendent said he would use his own discretion as to whom he placed in billets, The only 
reason I can assign for it is my seeing the Committee at Darlioghurst Gaol; there is nothing 
else against me in the office. 
4922 Is that against you in the office? Yes. 
4923. By Mr. Morris: Were you applied for ? I was, by Mr. Easton. 
4924. By Mi.. Mate : You say that was against you in the office—giving evidence before 
this Committee ? That is my supposition, because there was nothing else against me in 
the office, only my six weeks solitary confinement. The conduct of the freo officers to the 
prisoners generally is sarcastic and taunting; there is no incentive to industry or good 
conduct. If you speak of good conduct you ars only laughed at. 
4925. By the Chairman: Do the prisoners generally object to prisoners being placed over 
them as overseers ? They do. 
4926. Are there many overseers prisoners now? Yes, a great many. 

Frank Somerville and Edward Power called in. 
[Delegates from No. 2 Ward.] 

Edward Power examined :— 
E. Power. 4927. By the Chairman: Will you state what complaints you have to make against the 

general management of the island, the nature of the food, or of the accommodation ? With 
regard to the sleeping dormitories we have, they are very badly ventilated, and also the rain 
comes in. The last shower a good many of us had to remove from our allotted posts, taking 
our beds and blankets, and trying to get a dry place to lie down upon. Likewise, these roofs, 
you can see daylight through the whole of them. The bedding and blankets we get are very 
dirty, they are never washed; and likewise the eating place. Yesterday, when the Catholics 
were there at church, all the men had to stand outside in the rain when they came from prayers. 
Likewise, about the way we get our grub served out to us. The provision b at present we 
cannot complain of them; they are served out in a very bad way—thrust on the table without –
any knives, or forks, or plates. We have dishes to get our soup in, that is all. 
4928. By Mr. Mate : A dish to each man ? Yes. 
4929. By the Chairman : A soup dish only? A soup dish. And there is another affair 
they have got up there lately. On the original system, I believe, at one time the men were 
allowed to work till twelve o'clock on Saturdays ; but, in regard of there being an alteration 
some years back in the system, they have altered the time to two o'clock, so as to give these 
old Act men dvertime, which we have to work the same time and get no benefit at all by 
this. Likewise, if a man gets accidentally hurt upon the works, he has to see the doctor 
and is put upon the bank; perhaps be is kept there two mouths, and his pay is stopped all 
that time, and Ile is obliged to drink water at the water-cask at night. His gratuity money 
is stopped. There is a gratuity served out here, and the men are not classified; they are 
huddled all up together, the first, second, and third-class men ; and a second and third class 
Than is perhaps working with a first-class man, and they do not any of them get their pay. 
Plenty of men do not get a farthing, while other men, stone-cutters, are allowed to bank 
money here. Likewise the manner the men are discharged from this place—they are 
discharged destitute, without clothing or money; they are sent away in Government clothing, 

! branded—they have no way of getting away, some of them, but with convicts' clothing on 
them. At times here, we want to see the superintendent or the Visiting Magistrate, and we 

cannot 
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cannot get to see him without we put down our name to see him before Saturday, we cannot Cockatoo 
2I2slArmayi nson. sec him till the Saturday following, if we want to see the Visiting Magistrate, we cannot 

	

see him unless we tell the superintendent what we want to see him for ; then it is at the 	Pr' 11861.  
superintendent's option whether lie will allow us to see the Visiting Magistrate or not. The E. Power. 
general 'body of these new Act men object to act under prisoner overseers. 
4930. By Air. Morris : Why do they object ? They seem to say they have no right to work 
under the jurisdiction of another prisoner. It is not at all times the best characters are 
appointed to be overseers ; the biggest part get appointed by rascality and roguery, which 
the records of this office will certify. 
4921. Have you anything to complain against the fairness of these overseers, either as 
regards the measuring of work, or the recording of good conduct ? A good many do not 
know the nature of this work—they never worked a day in their lives; they want to get 
unnecessary work out of the men, and they tantalize you to say something ; and then they 
take you to the office and get you punished for it. 
4932: By .fifr. Sutherland They do not understand the work ? They do not understand 
the work at all. There may be one or two that do. 
4933. Can you giro any instances of men who have been punished, and then placed as an 
overseer over the rest Yes ; there is au instance just lately, six weeks or two months ago. 
One of the overseers had been broken by the magistrate for communicating with the 
prisoners in confinement, and giving them provisions not allowed ; and a day or two after, 
lie received his blue jacket. Another instance, there was a man in this office of the name of 
Townsend, as a clerk or messenger, he commits a felony by taking some clothing and. 
making away with them. Well, he is discharged from here, and then some time after he is 
placed upon the work here. He is at present in a situation here. 
4924. The prisoners believe that it is not good conduct that gets a prisoner into a billet ? 
Yes. 
4935. And they object to working under them on that account ? Yes. 
4936. By the Chairman : Have the prisoners any complaints to make with regard to the 
means afforded them of keeping their persons clean ? Yes. 
4937. Have they not proper facilities for washing their bodies ? There is no place at all 
for keeping a person clean here. 
4938. When you are allowed to wash, have you invariably clean water to wash in ? No ; it 
is nasty, thick, scummy water. 
4939. Are two men allowed to wash in the same water ? It is only a tub, and a hundred 
men are all rushing to see who shall get the first to it and wash themselves. 
4940. Have you anything else to state ? No, I do not think of anything. 
4941. CM Frank Somerville.) Have you anything you wish to add to Power's statement? F. Somerville. 
No, I think not. 

Gilbert Isaacs [Delegate from No. 3]; William Sampson and Henry Carroll [Dele-
gates from No.4]; William Thomas Macgregor and Lawrence Cowan [Delegates from No. 5 
Ward] called in. 

Gilbert Isaacs examined :— 
4942. By the Chairman : What we wish to get from you is, any complaints you may have G. Isaacs. 
to make as to the general accommodation, the food, and treatment you receive here. Wo 
wish you to keep yourself to principles and general statements, without instancing any 
particular cases; particular cases we cannot enter into? When I was before the gentlemen 
Oil a previous occasion, I was speaking in reference to the appropriation of the gratuity 
money, and though I gave some information upon that head, I did not enter into it so fully 
as I wduld wish to do, I am now seven months an overseer, having had charge of men 
and seen how they have been treated in the gang, and I am sure, if you will listen to 
me, you will say the money is appropriated in a manner the Government never intended. In 
the first place, when the cabbage-tree was taken away from the prisoners the pay money was 
substituted, and the prisoners always understood they were to receive threepence a day—all 
the men on the works. The men are all classed here when they arrive by Dr. West, 
according to their physical strength, and not according to their character, in the first, second, 
and third classes. In my gang I have first and second class men, men mixed indiscriminately. 
Now there is a scale of task-work used here—mine is a band-cart gang—by which the first-
class men are required to put out 115 cubic feet of stuff a day, 100 yards—for this no gratuity 
is allowed; the second class have to put out 64 feet, and the third class 32 feet. These are 
facts which can be corroborated by the free officers. I have two classes of men in my gang, 
the first and second mixed together. The men of the second class have just about . harf the 
work to do that the men of the first have, and the consequence is, that the second-class man 
may earn 2.d. a day, while the first.class man will not have completed his Government task ; 
therefore, at the end of the fortnight, when the gratuity money is paid, the second-class man 
receives in proportion to the work done, and the first-class man receives nothing. Ile is not 
placed in a gang where he can work with men classed with himself, but in a gang where he 
cannot do more than the men who are working in the same cart with him. The last pay 
we received, a first-class man, working with my gang, for ten days' labour received two-
pence, and a second-class man, working in the same cart, received Is. 20. This first-class 
man was under the old system, receiving marks, and his marks were stopped, in addition to 
his pay being stopped, because he had not performed his Government task. This 115 
feet of stuff, it is admitted by the free officers themselves, to be more than the men can do, 
and yet it IS imposed. There are a class of men who receive threepence a day ; these are the 
cutters; they have to perform the Government task of seven feet a day, and five feet four 

157—Z 	 extra 
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_sCockatoo extra entitles them to threepence a day; and for anything above that they receive at the 
rate of a halfpenny a foot. This is banked for them, and when they receive their pay they 2EApt-DORI. 	ri  get os. 3d. for thirteen days' labour, besides so much in the bank ; and when they were on 

G. Isaacs, the dock they were known to have banked as much as 25s. or 30s. in a fortnight. Now 
these men received their threepence-a day for doing this twelve feet four, and if any other 
man is exempt from illness, he gets no gratuity; but if a cutter is exempt for six days, and 
during the remaining six goes to work, and chooses to do double quantity of work, he will 
get paid for those days when he was exempt through illness. Now if a man is ill in any 
way, slightly indisposed, the custom is, when the men are mustered in the morning, to call. 
upon those who are sick to fall out and go to the hospital to receive a dose of medicine, and 
they are then sent on to the works. In nine cases out of ten these men arrive at the works 
by going a shorter road, before the men are done washing their hands and faces, and yet 
a halfpenny is deducted for staying to take medicine. In wet weather there is no gratuity 
allowed; on a • foggy morning, when the men are kept in, the pay is deducted for 
that ; when there is any irregularity in serving out the rations, in consequence of 
their having been bad and rejected, and the men are rung in before twelve o'clock; 
when a vessel is going out of dock, and the men are rung in for safety, they deduct a 
halfpenny for that, although only ten minutes may be lost. So that it actually appears 
to the prisoners that the island iauthorities strive in every possible way to impose 
upon them for these odd halfpence, which is their maintenance ; for they receive meals 
only twice a day, and there is no provision made for supper ; this gratuity provides 
them with it, and unless they receive it they must take cold water for supper after a hard 
day's work. If any man were to go to the yard in the evening, when they knock off work, 
he would find fifty or sixty men standing there with a piece of crust, the remnant of his 
dinner, in one hand, and a pint of cold water in the other. There is another subject I 
should wish to speak upon. We have the indulgence of writing to our friends once a 
month, and we are made to pay for these letters ourselves. Now I have been here myself 
two years; and during the whole of that time I can safely say with truth that I have paid 
but for three letters, and each time one penny each. My letters have always gone regularly 
and reached my wife in safety; other men have paid for their letters, and this makes me 
think—finding that my letters go regularly, and having no difficulty about it—that we are 

• not bound to pay for them. It is not so in Government establishments ; it is not so in 
the gaol ; during the time of my committal, I was always supplied with stamps. Now if 
a man has to pay for his stamps here, and only has two-pence to receive for a fortnight's 
labour, if be wants to send a letter to his friends in England, he has to wait six weeks before 
he can send it. Not only that, but letters that are written on the Sunday do not go away 
till the middle of the week following. Sonic time ago I wrote to my wife one Sunday, 
and she was here to see me on the Sunday following, and my letter was not received by 
her till the following Monday. I have received letters three weeks after date which have 
been posted in Sydney. The rations we receive are very inferior; in fact, during the last 
month there have been incessant complaints, and it has been a constant occurrence for 
had rations to come here and to be refused. 
4943. By Air. Mate (handing, a loaf to the witness): What do you call that ? This is rather 
better than frequently comes here. If you had not been here no such bread would have 
come. It is a common remark here that we can know when any one is coming. There is a 
mess-shed ; I dare say some of the gentlemen have seen the line of tables there. One side 
is used for dining off, and the men have only the table to place their meat on; and after 
they have finished, a couple of buckets of water are thrown over it to wash it down ; but on 
Wednesday, when we expect the Visiting Magistrate, the clean side of the table is turned 
up and the dirty side is turned down. Then again, the boards in the dormitories are 
particularly well-cleaned out on Wednesday morning, for the magistrate's visit, and this 
cleanliness consists in rubbing over a coat of whitewash ; if he took the trouble to look 
underneath the bed-places he could find cart-loads of dirt. Washing convenience we have 
none; there are about four or five stone troughs in the yard, about two feet long, and 
eighteen inches wide, for a number of men to use. The water is not brought from the 
tanks, but from the coppers in the cook-house, and sometimes the men turn up their trousers 
and wash their legs there, and that water remains the remainder of the day. 
4914. Have the men any towels? Twelve or eighteen months ago they were each supplied 
with a towel, and having once been supplied, that towel may be supposed to last for ever ; 
the same with our frocks, the men are allowed only one duck frock, and all through the 
summer they are never supposed to have that washed. We are allowed two pairs of duck 
trousers, which are supposed to be washed once a month, but they are occasionally thrown. 
Our shirts get a sort of wash twice a week, and come back as dirty as ever, as may be 
supposed when I state that the whole of the shirts for 250 men are washed by four men in 
one day. If men who wear flannel shirts or flannel socks wish to have them washed, they 
must pay the prisoners who do the washing a penny or two-pence for them. Then as regards 
the beds, the straw we are supplied with is supposed to last for ever, and the ticks are never 
washed, and during the two years I have been here I have had only one pair of blankets. 
4945. Are they never washed ? No such thing is known, you must pay sixpence to a fellow 
prisoner if you want them washed. 
4946. By the Chairman : With regard to the dormitories, are there many vermin in them? 
Yes. In summer time to keep them properly clean they require to be stoved once a month. 
4947. Are these dormitories ever fumigated? Yes, once in the summer with brimstone, 
and by the wards, if I may use the expression, torturing the chief warder with our com-
plaints, he will promise to see about their being stoved again. This "seeing about it" 
occupies a month, and during the whole of that time we have sleepless nights. I myself have 

taken 
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taken my bed off my bunk, and dragged it on to the flags, and then I have had the bugs drop Cockatoo 
from the ceiling on me. If you could see the men when they come out of the wards in the I2g2Irarriircni: 
morning you would say that they were more like men who had been out drinking all night P.  
than men who had had rest ; they look more haggard coming out than they do going in at G. Isaacs. 
night from work. There is no ventilation; the men are confined in a ward constructed for 
eighty-eight men sleeping on the top of one another, their breaths mingling, and the smell 
from the eonveniencies for nature, three or four of diem in each ward, without any cover, 
and men performing the offices of nature, if in any way indisposed. Another complaint : in 
wet weather if it should rain for a week, as it has done for three days successively, we are 
confined the whole of the time in the wards, which are as bad as the yard; the floor is worn 
into holes, and the roof leaks like a sieve. 
4948, These wards are also the dormitories ? These are the dormitories. The last wet 
weather we had we were in a dreadful state; going into the mess-room we bad to turn up 
the bottoms of our trousers, the room was under water, the table and the forms we sat upon 
were wet. The men wanted the superintendent to come down and look at them and to see , 
them while they were in that state—for it is all very well for people to come down on a fine 
day to see them when they are expected—but the superintendent did not come down when 
they wanted him. The next morning, when the rain had ceased, he came down and the 
ward was sliewn to him. He said, " I am sorry for yo.u, but all the free officers are just as 
bad." Shingles arc continually coming here, but they never go on our ward. 
4949. By Mr. Sutherland: Where do they go ?I do not know where they go. A long 
time ago the state of the reef was spoken of, and shingles have everlastingly arrived, and 
some little patching has been done from time to time, but the shingles have been on so long 
that patching is not the thing. A most flagrant act of injustice in my mind, and I think 
it must be in yours, was committed here. I refer to the treatment of two prisoners who 
lately left this place—one man being sent away at the expiration of his warrant, and the 
other having an addition of fourteen days. The men were Conolly and Torpy. In fact, 
the men were inclined to refuse work till this thing was settled, for the men could not 
but feel that it was unjust. 
4950. Who was this man Conolly ? He was a sawyer, and the other man during the whole 
time I have known him has never been punished once. He is a quiet; harmless, inoffensive 
little fellow. When the men are sent away from here there is no provision made for them, 
and if they have no friends to look after them, the only description of clothing 
they can depend upon when they go is either a shirt or a coat, or something from the 
prisoners arriving, or else they have to extort money from others to get a few articles of 
clothing ; men have been even refused a blue jacket belonging to the Government to go 
away with. Another remark I wish to make. I am a sub-overseer, and have a gang under 
me, and it,is the custom of the free officers to throw the work as much as possible upon the 
sub-overseers. One of them will come to me and say, "Isaacs, get so-and-so done," and then 
go away to a little distance; if he sees one of the men idle, he does not complain to the men, 
it is only the sub-overseer he looks to. During the time the large number of men were 
at the gaol for insubordination, I was required to draw a number of stones from the quarry, 
and, as I had not enough men in my own gang, I had to take fifteen men from different 
overseers to perform the work. As it was a very hot day, the men worked very slowly ; my 
overseer never Game down to them, but I saw him at a distance looking on. At the end of 
the day lie called me to him, and said, " These men have done very little to-day:" I said 
the day had been very hot, and lie replied, a man would be damned to enter anything for 
these men—that was his expression—" I will enter nothing, I will leave them for Mr. 
Broderick." Mr. Broderick might not have been there and have seen the men at work, and 
therefore he might have decided against them, but, on the representation of the free 
officer, lie might have been disposed to enter the work. " Mr. Fitzgerald," I said, "if you 
" will not go down among the people, I will not abuse or bully them into work ; I have only 
"to see that they do not leave off their work, and I shall not subject myself to the abuse of 
" the men. You see one man has been struck by another and mutilated for abusing him, and 
" I shall not expose myself to the same thing." He said, "I never heard you abused, and if 
I heard you abused, it would only shew you were doing your duty." So that a prisoner is 
constantly placed between the other prisoners and the free officer, and lie keeps on the safe 
side. On Saturday the men have to work till two o'clock, to enable the men under the old 
system to get half a mark, and it is very hard upon men, who have only had a few ounces of 
hominy in the morning, to be kept working five hours without their dinner. Then again the men 
employed in the lumber yard, in the carpentering sheds, and engine-house, have to work during 
wet weather ; they are under cover, and go out to work while the others are confined in the 
wards the whole time. In fact the whole of the regulations want reforming, everything is done 
in the most slovenly and careless manner. The officers shew a great amount of partiality. 
Some men are allowed to do anything they like, and the officers will stick to him ; while if 
another does not please a free officer he will say, "Place him at the jumper," and there he 
will keep him. At one time they will joke and talk with you, at another you must not look 
at them. If I may be allowed to judge, they hardly know their duty, or they would treat all 
alike, and keep all the men at a distance. It is very hard if a man is playing at chess or 
draughts, which are harmless games, to be ordered to put them away from him, and then for 
him to see another allowed to play with them. One of the men spoke of the Clerk of 
Petty Sessions as " bloody Taylor," the free officer in charge only said, " Don't talk in 
that manner;' and took no further notice of it ; if another man had said it he would have 
been taken up and punished. Further than this I do not know that I have anything to 
complain of. 

William 
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Cockatoo 	 William Simpson examined :— Island Prison. 
22 Apri1.1661, 4951. By the Chairman : Have you anything to add to what Isaacs has stated ? One thing 

— 	I have to complain against. If the free officer has a down upon one man, he punishes the 
W. Sampson. whole gang; if lie finds one man idle he stops the pay of the whole gang, and that is a 

punishment for men who are getting only 2d. or 3d. a day. 
4952. By Mr. Morris: Are the whole of the men punished, although the rest of them are 
all at work at the time ? The whole are punished. There is a great deal of class favour 
among the officers; there are some five or six, or nine or ten Inca who receive favours from 
the free officers, and become pets, because they run and tell all little tattling tales, and these 
men get billets. Men who arsine On the island, and who it is known will tell all the little 
occurrences, get billets directly. There is the case of White; he came here the other day, 
and he had not been on the island twenty minutes before he got a billet as a painter. Other 
painters have been on the island for years who have not got billets. 
4953. By Mr. Sutherland : What is White doing now ? He is painting the police boat. 
Another thing with regard to Captain Mann. If you have any complaints to lay before him 
with regard to the free officers, 5Ir. Byron will ask you what you want to see Captain Mann 
about, and unless he is satisfied with your statement he will not put your name down. There 
is more difficulty in seeing Captain Mann, under general circumstances, than in seeing Queen 
Victoria. 
4954. Do you not see Captain Mann every day? You arc not allowed to speak to him, if 
you speak to him on the works you are punished. He is only to be seen on Saturday. If 
you wish to see him on Saturday you have to place your name down on Friday, unless you 
do that, however important it may be, you cannot see him till the following Saturday. 
4955. By 2ffr. Morris : If the complaint is frivolous, is there any punishment for making a 
frivolous complaint ? No, I never knew a man to he punished for making • a frivolous com-
plaint. It is seldom a man gets redress here for making any complaint. In the ease of 
Cowan he complained to Captain 3Iann about Mr. Fitzgerald not measuring his work properly, 
and Captain Mann turned round to Cowan and said, "I will not have complaints brought 
against the free officers by the prisoners," and he turned away without listening to the 
grounds of the complaint. 

	

L. Cowan. 	 [Laurence Cowan said : I am about the best stone-cutter on the island if I am 
fairly dealt with, and when I made a complaint to Mr. Broderick about the free officer, 
Mr. Fitzgerald, and said he did not bring out the work right, and Mr. Broderick 
imposed silence and said, if I made a complaint he would have ine sent to the cells.] 

	

W, Simpson. 	 [William Simpson said : It is almost a moral impossibility to lay a complaint 
at times unless you have the ear of the authorities.] 

4958. By the Chairman (to Simpson): If the gratuity is not given to a man for a par-
ticular days work are his marks stopped ? He has to do the Government task independently 
of the work for the gratuity; if he does only the Government task he has the mark but not 
the gratuity. 
4057. By Afr. Morris : 'flow is it possible for the overseer to know whether a first-class man 
has done the amount of work allotted to him if he is mixed up with second-class men, and 
supposing the total amount of work done by the men when the average is struck is not 
sufficient ? The overseers have been told by Captain Mann, in my presence, when complaints 
have been brought here about the gratuity, when they have spoken about the quantity of 
work done that they had nothing to do with the task or gratuity, that all they had to do was 
to return the quantity of work done, and the task-work overseer was to make it up. 

L. Cowan. [Lawrence Cowan said : There is a lot of self-taught stone-cutters here, one 
learns the other. There is one by the name of Mr. Fitzgerald, a free officer, he 
never served an hour to the trade iu his life; be was in the police boat before lie 
was placed over Us, and he does not know whether a stone is cut right or wrong, 
unless he is told by a prisoner in the gang. When an order is given for a stone for 
the building, there is one or two spoiled by each man before be can get it right, or 
fit for the building. When he finds the stone is wrong, he gives an order for it to 
be broken up and cast into the sea, so that no one shall see it. I wish to shew that 
the labour of all bands on the island is lost on this stone. There is the quarryman, 
he has to jump it and quarry it; the hand-cart mob have to drag it from the quarry 
to the stone-cutter's gang; then there is a man a day or two or three cutting this 
stone; there is the blacksmith sharpening picks, jumpers, and crowbars; so that all 
this work is destroyed. There is never one building put up on this island that has 
not had the material for two buildings spoiled on it, and all this for want of a free 
man that understands the trade, to give the lines to the men. The men may learn to 
draft, but take them off from ashlar or a header and they will spoil the stone. This 
is the way the work has been carried on for years, and thousands and thousands of 
feet of stone have been destroyed. There are thousands of mouldings now destroyed 
not fit to put into the building, and condemned on the wharf, and all this destruction 
for want of a free officer to show the men how to do the work. If there was a man 
like this, the prisoner would get his pay. This .man gives orders to out a stone 
well, when he sees it on the bank he finds it will not do, and he gives orders to break 
it up, and the man loses his pay.] 

4958. By Mr Morris : Does be lose his marks as well as his pay ? No he does not lose his 
mark but his pay. When you go to him and ask him the reason, telling him it is unfair, 
he tells you to be off to your work. If you complain to Mr. Broderick, he says, "Bring it 
under Captain Mann's notice." 
4959. By Mr. Sutherland : Have you no free officers to teach the men? No, there is not 
a free officer on the island now that knows how to take the stone out of the winding; 

and 
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and dozens of feet are broken every day. There are scores of poor men who come to this Cockatoo 
island who take a fancy to the business, and who would earn an honest livelihood when they Is land.Pris". 
go outside if they had any one here to teach them, but they never get past a header or ashlar. 22 Aprd,1861. 

4960. Were you under the old regulations ? Yes. L. Cowan. 
4961. Are you now ? No, I am under the new. 
4962. You are serving a second sentence ? Yes. I knew that man when he was taken out 
of the police boat, and if there had not been some men like me, who do know a little about 
.stone, he could never have got on at all. 

[William Thomas Macgregor said : Since I have been on the island I have 	W. T. 
placed all the bedding and beam-work for the engine, and I have placed all the pulleys, Mttregor. 
brackets, shafts, &c. I have known Mr. Broderick to come into the room, and say 
to me, "You can put three inches under this pulley." I have done so, and I have 
had eight bolts fitted for it ; he has come and tried it, and it has been wrong ; I have 
put nine inches under it, and it was wrong ; then I have put half an inch plate in. 
I have known upwards of fifty bolts destroyed under one pulley. Then there is the 
bedding of the new pump, which is not solid; the beam is wedged up with slips of 
iron. This was done while I was ill, by a man of the name of Scrimes. While I was 
working on the dock I have seen thousands of feet of shoreing cut up for Mr. Mann's 
house ; likewise, I have seen deals come for planking to go round the ships for making 
stages; I have seen 10,000 feet of that out up.] 

4963. Has that been replaced by other ? Not that I am aware of; there had been no 
draught for it. Another thing I wish to draw attention to—I invented a serving machine, 
for serving ships on blocks; it is for getting them on the blocks; it is a tell-tale, and as soon 
as the ship gets on the block it Haas a bell. I showed this to Mr. Broderick, asking him if 
be would slimy it to Mr. Mann, and haveit sent to the Government for their approval, but 
he would not hear tell of it. I have also invented a patent block, which would save the 
Government from seven to eight hundred feet of plankina. every time a ship comes into the 
dock; it would be a saving to - the Government of £500°  a year if ships were continually 
coming in. ' 
4964. Is the block to be seen ? No; I gave the design to Mr. Brenan, at Woolloomooloo 
Gaol. 
4955. By Mr. Sutherland: Were you working in the carpenters' shop at the time the boat 
was made ? No, I was sick at the time. 
4966. [lave you been in the habit of repairing private boats for the officers of this island? 
I have. 
4967. Will you state when, and how often, and what you have. done to them ? I have 
repaired a boat for Mr. Broderick. 
4963. For any other officer ? Yes, for Captain Mann, four or five times. 
4969. By the Chairman: Where did you get the material ? In the boat-shed here ; it was 
boat planking belonging to the island. I put seventy feet in Mr. Broderick's boat the last 
time I repaired her. Likewise I built a punt in the dock, and I was given to understand 
that a sum of money was granted for two punts for the island. She did not cost the 
Government above c£22, if she cost that. 
4970. Including timber ? Including everything. 
4971. By  Mr. Sutherland : Have you done any private work for the officers at their houses ? 
I never go to their houses; lain not a joiner. 
4972. When you say you have repaired Mr. Broderick's private boat, does he keep any boat 
now ? I have not seen any lately. I believe there is one moored off the landing-place; but 
it used to be hanging on the davits, 
4973. How many boats had he at any one time ? Only one that I am aware of. 
4974. Had his son any ? His son had a small boat, which the prisoners got away with. 
4975. Did prisoners get away more than once ? No, I think only once. 
4976. Were boats allowed to come at any time to the island ? Mr. Broderick could come at 
any time. 
4977. Then I suppose it would have been easy for a prisoner to get away at night ? At 
that time. 
4978. Is that regulation altered now ?- Yes, the boats are all moored off at the buoy. 
4979. Are you aware who altered the regulations ? No, I am not. 
4980, Do you know anything of the punt belonging to the diving bell ? Yes; she was 
wrecked here by the neglect of the officer. I broke her up. 
4981. There was a punt and a small schooner called the " Bell" ? Yes; she, by 
negligence, got ashore. The punt got adrift from the dock. I believe it was made 
fast to the wharf by a piece of spun-yarn—a piece of an old brace. Mr. Kelleher made it 
fast. A breeze of wind came from the south-west, and she broke away and went ashore by 
the landing-place on the other side, and before they got to her she was on a rock. They got 
her off, and moored her off here, and she then broke away again. Likewise the "Bell" 
was brought up there and moored with her stern-post about two feet off the rocks a 
breeze of wind came from the southward, she heeled round, and struck upon a rock, knocked 
a hole in her bottom, and settled down. They never troubled themselves about it, and I 
received an order to break the pair of them up. 
4982. Without trying to raise them ? We tried to raise the "Bell," but we could do 
nothing with her. 
4983. Who had the charge of the "Bell," and of this punt? Mr. Kelleher. 
4984. What was he on the island ? A free overseer. 
4985. Is he on the island now? Yes. 

• THURSDAY, 
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THURSDAY, 25 APRIL, 1861. 
Mutat :— 

Mn. MATE, 	 Mn. SUTHERLAND, 
MR. MORRIS, 	 MR WILSON. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
John Mterie, Esq., called in and examined :— 

John 3PLerie, 4056. By the Chairman: You are Inspector General of Police? I am. 
Esq. 	4987. And have been for some time ? Yes, upwards of five years. 

4988. You have been connected with the police of the Colony for a longer period? Since 
254111 , 1861 . the beginning of 1847. 

4989. What was your first office? Paymaster and Adjutant to the Military Mounted Police. 
4990. Your next ? Governor of Darlinghurst Gaol. I was appointed after the investigation 
by the Committee of the late Legislative Council. 
4991. Yoe? succeeded Mr. Keck ? Yes. 
4992. What was the next office you held ? I was appointed from the gaol to be the Metro-
politan Superintendent of Police. 
4993. And then Inspector General ? Yes, which office I have held since October, 1856. 
4994. You were requested a short time ago to hold some inquiry at Darlingliurst Gaol 
arising out of the dissatisfaction with the state of that prison entertained by Government ? 
I was. 
4995. Did any other gentleman act with you ? The Sheriff took a part in the investigation 
to a certain extent. I was appointed by the Government, at his request, to hold an investi-
gation, and he was to be present and assist. 
4996, Did not that examination result in his dismissal ? Ire has been dismissed, but there 
was nothing in the proceedings recommending his dismissal. - 
•4997. Practically the examination was conducted by yourself, singly ? By-myself, in the 
presence of the Sheriff. 
4998. Can you state to the Committee what course you adopted in that examination—
whether the officers were permitted to be present while it was going on, whether they were 
called upon for any explanation at any point of the examination, or in other words, whether 
the officers had an opportunity of explaining anything that arose, or of adducing evidence to 
disprove statements made against them ? The first witness I examined gave such evidence 
as, in my opinion, reflected very much upon the conduct of the principal turnkey. Finding 
that to be the case, I saicIto the Sheriff, "It is but fair to this officer that he should be 
present, as t hose statements are prejudicial to his official character." The Sheriff concurred 
with me, and Mr. Harrison was called in, and remained during the whole investigation. 
4990. What witness was this—the first witness? I think Dr. West was the first witness. 
5000, What was the nature of his evidence—of that part which reflected upon the principal 
turnkey ? Relaxation of the discipline of the gaol, as regarded one of the prisoners confined 
there—Polack. 
5001. Favouritism towards the prisoner Polack ? Precisely. 
5002. Did Dr. West say anything of Mr. Harrison's general conduct, as to his sobriety or 
punctuality in the discharge of his duties? He said nothing relative to his sobriety, but in 
the course of the statements made before me he said he had on more than one occasion called 
the attention of the principal gaoler to the lax manner in which, in his opinion—from his 
experience, having been surgeon in a gaol in Ireland many years—the discipline of the gaol 
was conducted. He also said that he had cautioned Harrison himself. 
5003. What other witnesses did you examine? I examined the gate-keeper, Burke ; I,also 
examined the principal gaoler, Mr. Beverley, the gaol dispenser, and also a prisoner of the 
name of Banks, who had been confined in the goal. 
5004. Was the evidence of this man Banks of an important character ? It was. 
5005. What was the nature of the evidence he gave ? Rh evidence went to show the undue 
indulgence given to Polack, as to his dress, his having the use of two cells, one of which 
cells was set apart for keeping his stores in, as he called them, as tea, sugar, pickles, and 
other indulgences which the gaol regulations do not admit, and also as to Polack being 
in possession of certain articles of valuable jewellery-. 
5006. Was your inquiry directed chiefly to the relaxation of discipline in the case of Polack ? 
No. I was also instructed to inquire into the escape of two prisoners, and in the course of 
our inquiry as to their escape we examined other witnesses. 
5007. Your inquiries were confined to those two heads ? Entirely. 
5008. Where is this man Banks now? On Cockatoo Island. 
5009. Do you know his character as a prisoner—for what offence he is confined there? At 
present for cancellation of his ticket-of-leave. 
5010. Do you know what character he bears? I am not aware that his character is of a 
more atrocious kind than the characters of prisoners on Cockatoo Island generally are. 
5011. I presume they are not all on a level there—that there are some much worse than 
others ? He is an old English prisoner, and they are generally the worst ; be is either a 
Van Diemonian or an English prisoner. 
5012. You are supposed to have the police history of most of these men ? Yes, of all. 
can furnish the police history of Banks to the Committee. (Vide Separate Appendix, 
II. E.) 
5013. Do you not find from the police histories that some of these men are much better than 
others? Yes; but I find from the police histories of those who are what I may call the 
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sediment of the old convict population of 
and from Pentridge—that the lives of these 
5014. Was Banks a man of that kind ? 
reference to his police history. 
5015. He belongs to that class? Yes. 
5016. Did your report to the Colonial Secretary attribute blame to any particular persons 
for the escape of the prisoners? It did, to a turnkey named McCoy, and to the lax system 
which prevailed in the prison generally. One of the principal duties of the principal turnkey 
of the gaol was to see every cell locked. 
5017. Did you censure any person ? I simply reported the facts that came out during my 
examination. 
5018. When you were principal gaoler at Darlinghurst, after Mr. Keck, eau you at this 
distance of time recollect what system of discipline you established? I took charge of the 
gaol under peculiar circumstances, and everything was in a state of disorganization. 
5019. flow long were you there ? Twelve mouths; and the nature of the duties I per-
formed there was of that kind, that during the whole period I was only three times out of 
the gaol on my own business. 
5090. I presume you found the gaol in a very bad condition? 
in a state of disorganization. 
5021. Do you remember whether you established any regulation for enforcing personal 
cleanliness among the prisoners ? We did ; but we had not the same means of enforcing it 
as there arc now, there being no baths in the gaol at that time. 
5092. What I mean is, had you any periodical muster to inspect prisoners, to see whether 
they were in a state of cleanliness ? During the whole twelve months I was in the gaol 
I saw every prisoner daily. In giving that answer, I mean to show that I had an opportunity 
of seeing the state of cleanliness in which the prisoners were. 
5023. Was there any regulation by which each prisoner would be compelled to cleanse 
himself, if he were disposed to go in a state of filth ? Of course, if I found a prisoner did 
not perform n his ablutions like his fellow prisoners, I had him forcibly cleaned. There were 
many instances of old crawling creatures who would not wash themselves unless they were 
compelled by force. 
5024. There was no periodical inspection of them all at once? Not at once; except on 
Sunday morning, when I saw them before they were marched in to Divine service. 
5025. In what manner were they inspected? They were all paraded in a rank, and I saw 
that they had clean shirts on. 
5026. Were they required to turn up their trousers or sleeves, or had you any means of 
inspecting them to see that their skins were clean ? They shewed their hands, necks, and 
faces. I cannot at this distance of time recollect whether I made what is called the mili-
tary inspection and required them to turn up their trousers. 
5027. Was there any system of prison labour at that time ? Merely stonework. 
5028. Has it been any part of your duty since then to visit any of the prisoners ? Not to 
visit the prisoners. I am at the present moment Visiting Magistrate of Darlinghurst Gaol, 
but I have no control there. I have no right to go there except to punish refractory prisoners. 
I am appointed merely to carry out two clauses of the Gaol Act. 
5029 Have you in any way been called upon to visit Cockatoo Island or other prisons ? I 
was Visiting Magistrate to Cockatoo Island for five years. 
50:30. Were your duties the same there as at Darlinghurst? No, they were more responsible. 
I visited the island twice a week. All the accounts of the establishment passed through my 
bands, and all the correspondence with the Government passed through me. 
5031.. Ifa:1 you anything to do with the discipline of the prisoners at. Cockatoo Island? I 
received all complaints against the officers, and complaints against the prisoners, and if 
necessary I punished them. I also made a monthly report to the Government of the state 
of the establishment. 
5032. That would be during the time that Mr. Ormsby was superintendent ? 	Yes, he was 
there the whole time I filled the office. 
5033. Did you ever inspect the prison buildings during that time ? 
time I went over. 
5034. Was it not the fact that during that time a large number of the prisoners had no 
beds to sleep upon ? No; at that time every prisoner on the island had a bed. 
5035. When did your duties as Visiting Magistrate cease ? When I was appointed to my 
present office. 
5036. How long is that ago ? It was in 1856. 
5087. You say all the prisoners had beds ? I can explain that. From the time when I 
took charge of Cockatoo island until a few months before I ceased to be Visiting Magistrate 
the prisoners were allowed to make cabbage-tree hats, by the sale of which they made money, 
and every prisoner was then in a position to provide himself with a mattress. I found so 
many abuses arising from this hat-making that I suggested to the Government that it should 
be discontinued, and my suggestion was acted upon. After it was discontinued the prisoners 
had not the means of providing themselves with mattresses, and it was found after I had 
ceased to be Visiting Magistrate that many df the prisoners had no mattresses. The Colonial 
Secretary mentioned the circumstance to me. I explained how it arose, and recommended 
that they should be provided with them. 
5038. It is only a few months since that that was 
ago. 
5039. Not more than ten months ago ? It may be perhaps ten or twelve months ; it was 
after a visit of the Committee. 

5040. 

men—from Van Diemen's Land, from England, John3lEcric, 
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Johnrerie, 5040. At all events, the sleeping apartments Vette 	the same state as now ? Yes ; the 
11 ' 	fitting up of the bunks was done just before I took charge of the island. 

6041. Did it ever attract your notice that the sleeping apartments were very insufficient ? 
2"-Prilt 1861 . It could scarcely escape the notice of any one—I have always looked upon that establish-

ment as being of a temporary kind, and liable to be broken up in a short time. The 
Government were perfectly aware of their condition. Before I took charge, the prisoners had 
a long sloping sort of guard bed. 
5042. Similar to that used in the watch-houses ? Precisely ; the present mode of fitting 
up the dormitories was introduced from Van Dieu -mils Land. 
5043. Did you ever represent to the Government the state of these dormitories, and the 
extent to which they were calculated to increase, unreasonably, the discomfort of the 
prisoners ? The Government were perfectly aware of it ; the place was frequently visited 
by a member of the Government. 
5044. Were complaints made to you of immoralities practised on the island ? During the 
five years I was Visiting Magistrate, I had two complaints made of prisoners who were 
suspected of being addicted to disgusting practices ; but I can remember only two cases. 
50-15. Whit became of those cases ? There are three places as you enter the main dormitory, 
for the confinement and separation of those who are supposed to be addicted to disgusting 
and unnatural practises, and these men were kept in two of those places. 
5046. During the long period in which you have been connected with the police of the Colony, 
has the subject of prison discipline generally attracted your attention—in the absttact I 
mean ? It has, very frequently. 
5047. Are you satisfied with the system which prevails in this Colony ? Far from it. 
5048. Will you have any objection to state, at your own leisure, and with that deliberation 
with which a man thinks when he sits down to write, what improvements you suggest 
in the prison discipline of the Colony, and what arrangements in respect to buildings, and 
otherwise, are necessary for carrying out such improvements ? I will do so. (Not 
Ann/shad.) 
5040. By Mr. Morrie: Were you satisfied by the evidence of Banks alone, as to the laxity 
in the discipline exercised towards Polack ? Certainly not ; if his evidence had not been 
otherwise supported, I should not have relied upon it. I took his evidence in connection 
with evidence derived from more reliable sources. 
5030. By the actinnun : Do you think it would be a prudent course for the Government, 
whatever the cost might be, to erect a large central prison, with sufficient buildings for a 
proper division of labour, so as to apply the labour of prisoners according to their previous 
habits, physical strength, and in which those who had previously had no trade might be 
taught trades, so as to be fitted to obtain a livelihood for themselves when they left the 
prison ? I am quite satisfied, until such a building as you allude to has been constructed, 
the prison discipline of the Colony will never be carried out effectively either for reformatory 
or deterrent purposes. 
5061. I mean a prison where tbe whole of the prisoners above three or six months' sentences 
should be assembled, where they should be classified according to their conditions in life—
their reputed characters—their means of labour—and their physical strength—and where 
their labour could be turned to the best account towards their own support, and also they 
themselves be managed so as to secure the best means of reformation ? I think the erection 
of such a building most desirable. 
5052. Bs Mr. Sutherland:, Cockatoo Island is under the charge of the police, properly 
speaking, now, is it not? No, certainly not; it is under the charge of the Visiting Magis-
trate, and the superintendent of the island. The police are merely an auxiliary force to 
carry out the discipline and security-of the prisoners. 
5033. They are under Captain Mann and Captain Scott ? They are under Captain Scott and 
Captain Mann, for all purposes of the island; I do not interfere with them except in matters 
affecting their own discipline. There is a code of instructions approved by the Government 
for their guidance, by that they are bound to act. 
5034. They are under your charge so far as their own discipline is concerned, but not as 
relates to the discipline of the island ? Yes, there is a code of instructions, and these the 
police are bound to see carried out 
5055. By Mr. Morris: Suppose the police observed any breach of the regulations, either by 
the prisoners or by the officers, would they report these breaches to you or to the superin-
tendent? Breaches of prison discipline they report to the superintendent direct, but I call 
upon them for a periodical report, and all these incidents are mentioned in my report. 
That report is merely a check upon the manner in which the duty is carried on by the 
police. I do not interfere at all in any infringement of the rules by the free officers. 
5056. Is it or is it not the case that there is some difference between yourself and the 
superintendent of the island, as to the management of the police? No difference at all that 
I am aware of. The superintendent claims the right, or did claim the right of entire control 
over the police; I of course reported the matter to the Government, and represented that as 
long as they formed part of the body of police for whom I am responsible, they must be 
under my control. 	• 
6057. You exercise no greater control over then than the commander did over the soldiers 
when they were there ? For all purposes of island duty they are under the surveillance of 
the island authorities, Captain Scott and Captain Mann. Captain Mann, since his appoint-
ment, has assumed - a control the previous superintendent never attempted to assume. It 
appears to me, that Captain Mann tries to act to a certain extent independently of the 
Visiting Magistrate. 
5056. By the Chairman : Since you held the inquiry at Darlinghurst Gaol, Mr. Beverley, 

the 
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the principal gaoler, and Mr. Harrison, the principal turnkey, as well as Mr. O'Neill Brenan, John florin, 
who was then Sheriff, have been dismissed from office ? Yes. 	 Esq. 
5059. Who has been appointed principal gaoler ? Mr. John Cecil Read, formerly one of r• A---• 
my inspectors. At the time of the suspension of Mr. Beverley, I was called upon by the 251111111,1861 ' 
Government to select some responsible person. 
5060. And you recommended Mr. Read? I recommended Mr. Read. 
5001. Before the final•decision for his permanent appointment, were you again consulted as 
to his fitness for the office? I was asked by the Chief Secretary as to my opinion of Mr. 
Read as a public officer, and as to his experience. 
5062. With a view to his appointment? As principal gaoler ; and Mr. Cowper told me 
that, among all the applicants, he considered him to be the most eligible. I told him what 
I knew of him as an officer of police. 
5063. Did Mr. Cowper tell you how many applicants there were for the office ? He did not. 
5064. And you never heard ? No, 
5065. Will you state what experience you have had of Mr. Read ? He came out here in 
the " Exodus," six years ago, with the rank of inspector, having been appointed by the Colo-
nial Agent in London, and on the passage out he, with the other inspector, who has since 
died at Queensland, had charge of a notorious offender from Melbourne, who was apprehended 
in London ; and the manner in which he performed the duty on the passage out gave me 
so high an opinion of him that I took the first opportunity of confirming his appointment as 
inspector. Subsequently, when the charge of a division became vacant, I gave him that; 
and during the whole time he has been connected with the Sydney Police, 1 have never oil 
one occasion had reason to find fault with him. I have found him a man in whom I could 
place the most implicit confidence. I have given my orders to him, and no matter what 
they have been they have been carried out. 
5066. He obeys orders ? He obeys orders. 
5007. That is a military virtue, at all events ? It is everything in discipline. 
5068. an you state what were the principal features in Mr. Read's character that attracted 
your attention, besides his obedience to orders and trustworthiness? His general intelli-
gence, Lis coolness, and firmness. 
5069. Is he a man of good judgment ? I have always found him so. 
5070. Has he ever been placed in difficult circumstances, where he has had to decide :upon 
one Course out of several that have presented themselves? Yes, he has, in the course of his 
police history in Sydney. 
5071. Do you think he has acted wisely, discreetly, according to sound discretion and judg-
ment? Yes. 
5072. Has he ever exercised a responsibility apart from instructions from bead.quarters? 
Yes; at the time the rush took place to Rockhampton I was called upon to select one of the best 
officers I could find, and he was sent down there, and was under the orders of Captain 
O'Connell, who gave both officially and privately the most undeniable character as to every 
thing that constitutes a good police officer. 
5073. Are you aware whether Ile is a man who has seen much of the world ? I saw among 
the despatches which accompanied the body of police from London, one having particular 
reference to Mr. Read, written by one of the Under Secretaries, giving him the highest 
character as an inspector of the London Police, in which he had served fifteen years, and 
from which he draws a pension ; and stating that he was a man of good family. 
5074. By Mr. Sutherland : He is a married man and has a family ? Yes, he has a large 
family ; his eldest son commenced in the lowest grade at the railway, aud he is now station-
master in Sydney, having bad some previous experience in England. 
5075. By the Chairman : You believe Mr. Read to be a man of high moral character ? 
None more so that I know. 
5076. What was Rispen at the gaol ? A turnkey in charge of the wing—he was there when 
I was there. At the time Mr. Keck was dismissed he was brought up from a country gaol. 
5077. Was it in consequence of evidence taken before you that he was dismissed ? I took 
no evidence in relation to Rispen at all; I took action afterwards with respect to him. 
5078. Was it what came out afterwards that caused you to take action ? Mr. Read sent one 
evening to my house a letter addressed to Rispen

' 
 with a statement that it had been stopped 

by the turnkey at the gate, who had informed Mr. Read that two nights bufore a letter 
addressed in the same handwritin g 	been brought by a postman ; and that letters in the 
same handwriting had previously been brought to the gaol, but addressed to Mr. Harrison, 
who was then under suspension; that the turnkey at the gate had reason to believe that the 
letter was intended for a prisoner, Polack. On looking at the letter I could see nothing of a 
suspicious nature ; but from the statement of the turnkey I took upon myself to open the 
letter, and found it was intended for Rispen, but was written by the wife of Polack to her 
husband. On looking at the envelope I saw that the handwriting was Polack's; that he 
had, in feet, addressed the envelope to Rispen, and had sent it out of the gaol for his wife to 
enclose a letter in it to him. The next morning, as the Sheriff was under suspension, and 
an officer had not been appointed in his place, I at once placed the letter with the report in 
the hands of Mr. Cowper, who took action jn the matter, and I believe dismissed Rispen. I 
have reason to know he did. 	 • 
5079. Have you beard anything of Rispen since? I may state that Rispen called upon me 
afterwards, denied most positively that he knew anything of this letter, and said that it was 
sent to him without his knowledge. I said I was sorry he was in such a position, as I had 
known him so many years, and had entertained a high opinion of him, but that I could not 
see how he could reconcile the fact of this envelope being addressed by the prisoner in the 
gaol to his wife without his connivance. He had admitted previously that he had received 
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Thlin3PLerie:  a letter two nights before, and I asked him why he had not placed it in the bands of the 
Esq. 	gaoler at once ; however, he still persisted in his denial. That is how the case stands, and 

Mr. Cowper thought the case so fisgrant that he dismissed him. 
25  A Frit 1861.  5080. By Air. Wilson : What did be do with the letter he had received two nights previously 

—did he state ? He said he had taken it back to Mrs. Polack, but that [ had no proof of. 
He admitted that he had done wrong, and that he ought to have taken it to the gaoler. 
5081. By the Chairman : He denied that he knew anything of either, letter, and denied also 
that he had communicated with Polack ? He could not deny that he had received the 
previous letter. 
5082. He denied that he had delivered it to Polack? Yes; but he did not do what he 
ought to have done. He should have given it to the gaoler. 
5083. There is no proof that lie did deliver it to Polack ? No. The Government are 
inclined to reconsider his case as a man of large family. The proof is not strong again, and 
I shall be glad if they again give him employment, and send him to a country gaol. There 
is another fact in connection with this case : the turnkey says that when ltispen saw the 
letter he said, "This should not have been delivered here; it should have been taken to my 
house." 
5084. .By Air. Sutherland : Is it not likely that this man did not do this with any bad 
intent—that there had been lax discipline in the gaol, and that, therefore, he thought he 
might do this? I should scarcely admit that as an excuse for a man who had been so many 
years in a gaol. Instead of allowing the laxity of discipline to influence him in that direc-
tion it should have made him more vigilant. 

Mr. John Cecil Read called in and examined :— 
Mr. J. Cid cad. 5085. /3e the Chairman : You are at present principal gaoler of Darlinghurst Gaol ? l am. 

5036. When did you receive this appointment ? On Friday last I received the official notice 
25 April, 1861. of it. 

5087. You have been in charge of that establishment for some time ? Since the 15th 
February last. 
5088. Had you any intimation before Friday last that you would be permanently appointed? 
A few days before I received the official communication I partly expected I should get it. 
5089. Have you, during the time you have been in charge of Darlinghurst Gaol, taken upon 
yourself to make any more than temporary alterations in the management of the gaol ? Yes, 
I have, with the approbation of the Sheriff. 
5090. Will you be good enough to explain to the Committee in what state you found the 
gaol when you took charge, more especially in reference to the discipline of the establish-
ment, and also explain what altnutions you have made, at what time these alterations were 
made, and what is the present condition of the gaol ? I do not know that I shall be able to 
tell the exact duties of the various alterations, but they were made from day to day. When 
I first took charge of the gaol I noticed that some of the officers of the gaol—the warders—
were rather slack in the performance of their duties, and I also found that two of them had 
been in communication with the prisoners, bringing them different things that were contra-
band, and against the prison regulations. These men have since been dismissed from the 
gaol. 
5091. What are their names? One is Whiddon. I found he had got money and a coat from 
a prisoner named Mayne in the gaol, and I also caught him sitting down in familiar conver-
sation with a prisoner named Garsed. These things I brought under the notice of the 
Sheriff. I afterwards found that man asleep on his post, for which I suspended him, until 
he Sheriff gave him permission to resign. There was also a man named Rispen, who was 

dismissed. A letter washrought to me by one of the turnkeys at the gate, who told me he 
knew the writing, and that he believed the letter came for the prisoner Polack. I imme-
diately impounded the letter and sent it to the Visiting justice, under cover. The letter 
was opened, and I have understood since that this letter contained information for the 
prisoner Polack. Rispen said, when he was brought before the Sheriff to answer for this, 
that the letter was sent for him but that he had no knowledge previously of its contents. 
He acknowledged at the same time that he had received a letter previously, from Mrs. 
Polack, and said that although he did not report it to the autherities at the gaol, he went to 
the house of Mrs. Polack to ask her why she had sent the letter in that manner to him for 
her husband. 
5092. Did he say what he did with the letter ? He said he gave it back to her. 
5093. It has not been traced to Polack ? No; but on his own acknowledgment he had 
received the letter without reporting it. 
5094. Still it does not appear that he need to have acknowledged it ? I should consider it 
my duty to report any warder if I found he had received such a letter without reporting it 
to me immediately. 
5095. No doubt it was very wrong not to report such a circumstance to you, still it would 
appear to tell in his favour, as to his innocence of complicity in the matter that he voluntarily 
acknowledged receiving the letter—unless it cat be proved that he was an assenting party ? 
The reason he acknowledged it was, that Burke said that he noticed the last letter because a 
similar letter had come to Rispen previously. Rispen then said, "That letter I took to Mrs. 
Polack." The evasive manner in which he admitted that he had received the letter struck 
me. 
5096. Have you heard anything about wino being conveyed to the gaol in which Rispen was 
concerned ? Thera was a report that bottles of pickles had been brought in by Rispen in a 
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basket, but that was before I took charge. I do not think he has done anything of the kind Mr.J.C.Read. 
since I have been there. I think tobacco has been brought in. I believe Gibson, a prisoner 
from Cockatoo Island, received tobacco from turnkey Whiddon, because he offered money to 23April,1661. 
another turnkey to bring him more, and when Whiddon was spoken to about this, he said, 
" For God's sake do not tell anything about it inside the gaol." 
6097. There is no material alteration in the general discipline of the gaol? I have altered 
some of the duties. I have told the men off to particular posts in the gaol, and at nights in 
particular ; I have numbered the posts, and I intend after this to enter in a book each day 
the name and number of each warder. 
5098. For better security ? Yes. I give each man a particular post every night and make 
him responsible for a certain distance. Formerly they walked indiscriminately about the 
yard, and passed each other on their posts at night. 
5099. My question had reference to the discipline of the prisoners—you understand it as 
having reference to the discipline of the officers—have you made any alterations in the 
treatment of the prisoners ? Yes, so far as cleanliness is concerned; there are now baths 
for the whole of them, and every man gets fresh water. 
5100. How often do they bathe ? Every week unless they are in delicate health, and are 
exempted by the medieal man. 
5101. You see once a week that they are thoroughly and perfectly clean ? Yes. Every 
Sunday morning I have their legs bared, and see that their breasts, necks, and arms, are 
thoroughly washed and cleaned. In fact last Sunday I put a inan in the cells for being 
dirty after having told him to clean himself. He treated the matter lightly when I told 
him he was dirty, and as he did not clean himself I put him into the cells as a punishment 
5102. In what condition did you find the cells as to cleanliness ? I found some of the cells 
very dirty, the female wing in particular ; in fact they were swarming with bugs. 
5103. What have you done in that respect ? I had them thoroughly cleansed and white-
washed, and I am now having a great deal of the whitewash removed ; there had been so 
many coats laid on that I_ believe it afforded a harbour for bugs. 
5104. When the Committee visited the gaol we found a great want of discrimination in the 
confinement of prisoners; for instance, in the hard labour wing we found some of the 
insubordinate prisoners from Cockatoo Island confined opposite to prisoners confined simply 
for debt, or men who had been taken up for running away from Her Majesty's ships, and 
who stated that they had been confined on repeated remands fur six months—shut up in cells 
with men charged with larceny or felony ? That is not so much in the hard labour as in 
the confine yard. 
5105. T am talking now of the building—is there any better means of separation now ? 
There is about to be, there is to be another yard in which the boys are to be kept. 
5100. Are those sailors still in the gaol ? No; they went away sometime ago, about a 
month, I think. 
5107. Have you paid any attention, since you have taken charge, to the better classification 
of the prisoners, so far as the accommodation afforded by the building will permit ? I keep 
those who are committedsfor trial in the centre of the wing when the other prisoners are in 
the yard, and I am obliged to allow them to take exercise in the yard for an hour or two. 
5108. Are there any boys of tender years there now ? I have two boys at present who were 
sentenced yesterday to six months each at Parramatta Gaol. 
5109. Where have you confined them ? I have been obliged to keep them in the same place 
in that instance. I regret that I have not another yard to put the men into, but in this 
case the boys are as wicked as the men. I have often thought it was a great pity the boys 
should be allowed to be in the same department with hardened criminals, but it is difficult, 
as there are hut three yards—the trial, the confine, and the hard labour yard—to make a 
separation. The prisoners for trial I shut up two hours a day, while the Cockatoo Island 
prisoners take exercise in that yard. 
5110. Since you have been in gaol, have you found that the rations have been generally 
wholesome and good ? I have returned a great deal to the contractor. 
5111. Who is the contractor? Mr. Kidman. 
5112, What part of the rations have you returned? Bread in particular ; I have also 
latterly returned five chests of tea. 
5113. You inspect the bread? Yes. 
5114. You are, of course, aware, that bad bread is a very unwholesome thing? Yes, Mr. 
Kidman does not now supply the bread, and the new contractor has given us excellent bread, 
except on one occasion, and the men were then willing to make allowance; they sent their 
delegate, who said, that the bread had been so invariably good since this man had had the 
contract, that they would not require it to be changed. I had a great deal of trouble also 
with Mr. Kidman about the vegetables. By his contract he has to supply half potatoes and 
the remainder of other vegetables, as cabbages, onions, turnips, or carrots; but he sent 
at one time potatoes only, and I bought mixed vegetables to the amount of 17s. 6d., and 
afterwards stopped it from his account. I have also had the hominy bad on two mornings. 
5115. Have you looked over the collection of books in the gaol? Yes; they are a very poor 
collection indeed. 
5116. Does it embrace chiefly books that ait suitable to prisoners? No, they are not the 
sort I should select. 
5117. I suppose you would not confine their reading to religious books? Certainly not ; I 
think books of a similar chatacter to Chan:Owes Educational Tracts would be very suitable ; 
they arc moral, without being religious, and would be a very appropriate style of literature. 
5118. How are the books distributed ? Under the direction of the Rev. Mr Agnew; a 
prisoner named Ainsworth acts as librarian and as clerk on Sunday. 
5119. Does the prisoner Ainsworth act as clerk ? Yes. 	 5120. . 
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Mr.J.C.Read. 5120. Do you know anything of his police history ? I have beard a great deal of it; I 
have heard he is a very bad man. I believe he has been in gaol the greater part of his life. 

23Apri1,1661. 5121. Have you any means of instruction for the younger prisoners, or for those who desire 
instruction? None whatever. 
5122. Since you have been in charge have you tried to make yourself acquainted with the 
characters of the various prisoners? I have known the greater number of them before they 
came into the prison; the greater number of the lads. 
5123. Do you think if there were any means of instruction the men would avail themselves 
of it as well as the children? I think they would; I have known several instances where 
they have attempted to instruct themselves by writing on a slate. 
5124. Would it not be a means of employing their minds and thus keep them from con-
cocting mischief? I think a great deal of good might be done; the chief difficulty would be 
to cultivate a taste among the prisoners; I think thefirst difficulty overcome they would 
progress very rapidly. 
5125. Supposing there were any means of imparting instruction in the gaol, what hours 
could be devoted to that purpose ? I think from half-past four to half-past five. 
5126. Could not a longer period be allowed ; would there be any objection to continuo the 
instruction up to the time of locking up ? They are now generally locked up at half-past 
five ; it would be dangerous to leave it to the last minute. 
5127. Suppose ass hour were taken from their labour time, do you not think if that hour were 
devoted to their mental improvement, they would do as much work in the shorter as they 
now do in the longer period? Yes, and those who took a delight in it might be given to 
understand that they would be expected to make up the time bygreater application to their work. 
5128. I suppose there is room in the gaol for a school? The place where they go to church 
would, I think, be very suitable for it. 
5129. How often is Divine service performed? Once a week for the men, and twice for the 
women. 
5130. Have any private persons visited the gaol, while you have been in charge, from motives 
of benevolence? I am not aware of any. I think those who have visited it have come from 
motives of curiosity more than from anything else. 
5131. Have any ladies visited the female department of the gaol ? No. 
5132. Have you a visiting book ? Yes. 
5133. Do you inspect the visiting book ? Yes; daily. 
5184. Have you looked back for any period prior to your appointment? Yes. 
5135. Have you seen any ladies names down ? No. Two clergymen's wives visited 
the prison; one was a Presbyterian and the other of the Church of Eniland ; they merely 
walked round the gaol, but they did not appear to interfere in any way. I do not think 
they looked into the female wing. 
5186. Did they go into the wings where the prisoners were? Yes. 
5187. Bad they any conversation with any of the prisoners ? They merely passed two or 
three words. 
5188. Were they in charge of gentlemen ? Yes; of their husbands. 
5139 By Mr. Morris : You said that the prisoner named Ainsworth was a very bad cha-
racter; I believe he has been in a great many prisons during a large portion of his life ? I 
have heard so. 
5140. What is his character while he is in prison ? He is a most excellent person, and is, 
I believe, a very clever man. 
5141. Ife conducts himself in every way satisfactorily ? Yes. I have also noticed that many 
female prisoners, who are excellent characters in gaol, are the most dreadful characters when out. 
5142. By Ms. Wilson : Could the confines—those who are not at hard labour—be kept at 
school the greater part of the day ? Nearly all day; those who are fed under the prison 
regulations have only 2 lbs. of oakum to pick, and a great many of the hard labour prisoners 
are exempt by the medical man from hard labour ; so that they have the whole day in the 
yard. If religious people would not make any objection, a great deal might be dune with 
them on Sunday. 
5148. Suppose a schoolmaster were appointed, his time might be occupied the whole of the 
day ? I think if he were able to lecture it might tend to cultivate their taste. I remember 
a person who used to lecture at Egyptian Hall, in London, and many boys from the Ragged 
Schools went to hear him, and he exercised a good influence upon many wicked boys. 
5144. Do you find among many of the prisoners a great desire for instruction? Yes, several 
have applied to me for slates. 
5145. And this desire might become snore general ? Yes. It depends upon the skill of the 
schoolmaster ; the first thing is to cultivate their taste by amusing them. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

ON the 1st of the month I cruised a school to be established in the corridor of the new wing, under the 
tuition of a German prisoner, named Holstein, alias Myers, who seems to be a man of some ability, 
and what is very desirable, he seems to have a limy for this sort of employment. The scholars 
I allow one hour each from work ; from (10) ten to (11.) eleven o'clock every day ; and from to 
one p.m., to (2) two p.m., their attendance is voluntary ; and for the short time that it has been 
established it seems to progress. Its numbers are increasing daily. 

I stated before the Committee that the gaol was not visited by ladies, except two. I should have 
made an exception to the Sisters of Charity, two of whom attend once a week, or once a fortnight, and 
remain for about half-an-hour. Very few of the female prisoners attend them, and they do so very 

JOHN C. READ, Principal Gaoler, 
4/A May, 1861, 	 EX. Gaol, Harlinghurst. 
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(if Parkes, Esg., hen vacated the Chair, and J. B. Wilson, Esq., was moved thereto.) 

J. B. WILSON, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Gother Kerr Mann, Esq., called in and examined:— 
5140. By the Chairman : You are Superintendent of Cockatoo Island ? I am, and Engineer- G. K. Mann, 
in-Chief. 	 Esq. 
5147. How long have you held that situation ? Not quite two years. 
5148. Will you be good enough to state to the Committee what was the general condition 25Apri1,1861. 
of the island, with regard to its prison discipline, when you took charge? I had for some 
time previously had charge of the engineering works there, which were carried on entirely 
by prison labour, and it was only so far as the labour of the island was connected with the 
works that I can speak of my own knowledge. The penal department I had nothing what-
ever to do with. The establishment, if I may express an opinion, always appeared to me to 
be a very incomplete one, arising from the accommodation that was required for such an 
establishment, and also from its having grown up from a mere stockade into, in fact, the 
penal establishment of the Colony. I do not think the improvements, or any attempts at 
improvement, the buildings, or that the general arrangements of the island have kept pace 
with the growing importance of it. When I first took charge of the works there was no 
general system of working the prisoners. I had to go down and chew what work was to be 
done, and it was left to the authorities of the island to carry it out. Subsequently I was 
appointed to take more immediate charge, and to direct the work of the prison labour, and 
then I proposed a system of task-work, which was put into practice as a trial for a short 
time. I afterwards prepared a general scale of work which was authorized, and the prisoners 
have been working upon that scale to the present time. 
5119. Has any improvement taken place in the accommodation afforded to the prisoners 
since you have taken charge of the island ? There has—a slight improvement. When first 
I went to the island the prisoners slept upon one large platform, similar to a military guard 
room bed, there was no dining hall for them ; they all dined and took their other meals 
in an open wing, which now forms one of the wings of the prison. Subsequently I drew a 
plan by which each man might have a separate sleeping cell; that was submitted to the 
Executive, and approved of; but, at the same time, I should remark that Ilis Excellency 
the Governer General, Sir Charles Fitz Boy, wished to try the plan which had been followed 
out at Van Diemen's Land, and which I had obtained from that Colony, of having separate 
bunks for the prisoners—the old sleeping places were therefore taken down, and the arrange-
ment which the Committee have seen was adopted. These separate bunks were put up, the 
dining hall was built, and the old dining hall converted into a ward. The new arrangement 
took up more room than was originally required, and an additional room was thus provided. 
5150. Were there any improvements suggested by you with regard to prison discipline ? I 
have mentioned about the task-work, that has remained in force up to the present time. 
There were no other official suggestions of mine till lately. Shortly after I took the entire 
charge of the island I wrote a report recommending that the system of task-work, of 
remission of sentence, and of reward for good behaviour should be continued, and that at 
the same time the scale should be reduced, so that a man should be required to perform a 
1arger amount of work than formerly. 
5151. That he should be required to do a larger amount of work before he should be 
entitled to consideration ? That he should do a larger amount of work, and get a less 
allowance of time than was permitted under the regulations that were annulled by the order 
of the Executive in 1858. By those regulations the men were enabled to shorten their 
time, provided they did the work required by the scale, to the extent of half-a-day. I con-
sidered halfa-day, as a maximum, was too much, and proposed that it should be reduced to 
a quarter of a day, as a maximum, although I recommended that they should still be paid 
the gratuity in money for the full work they might perform over their task. 
5152. Do you not think it would be an improvement to allow every prisoner on the island a 
small sum of money daily, for good behaviour, which might be banked for him, so that when 
he left the prison he might have a small sum to take him to any part of the Colony, and. 
not be turned loose upon the world without means—to become a thief and a vagabond ? I 
think it is very desirable that prisoners should have some means when they leave the 
establishment. Under the old system a large proportion of the men used to bank considerable 
amounts. I have paid as much as £6 from the Savings' Bank to prisoners on leaving. I 
may explain what that system was. The prisoners were required to do a certain amount of 
task-work per day that was set down as a penal task, and for all beyond that they were 
entitled to be paid at a certain rate, so that if a man did, within a day, as much as two 
days' task be was paid for one day; if he gained two-quarters lie got two-pence, if three-
quarters threepence. The men were not allowed to expend more than threepence per diem, 
the remainder if any was banked for them. Many of- the stone-cutters, setters, and 
men who worked hard, at that time banked in a month as much as five or six shillings 
after having received the small gratuity which they were allowed to expend in tea, sugar, and 
tobacco. At the present time, the regulatiol with respect to the money allowance is still in 
force, though that which refers to time is not ; but the men do not work as they used to do. 
5153. Are not some of the prisoners, on, account of their poverty, obliged to leave the island 
in their prison clothes ? I have never seen any instance since I have been there. 
5154. If they had no plain clothes of their own, they would have to leave the island in the 
prison clothes—there is no arrangement on the part of the Government to find them in other 
clothes 1 There is not ; but I have never seen an instance of a man leaving in prison 
clothes, excepting, perhaps the trousers, which have been given him. The clothes they have 
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R. Mann, on when they come in, are tied up in bundles and given to them when they fro away ; and Esq. 	sometimes, if a man has not a jacket, a comrade on his going away will give him one. 
5155. The buildings in which the prisoners are accommodated at Cockatoo Island are, I 

25 AP11,1861 . believe, in a very bad state, and admit the rain ? The roofs are in a very bad state of 
repair. I put on the estimates last year, or two years ago, a sum of £200, for re-shingling 
them. I have lately hai authority to expend that £200, and part of the shingles for 
repairing them are now on the island. In fact, if the men had not struck work, 1 believe 
the buildings would have been re-shingled by this time. 
5156. If part of the labour of the island were applied to the extension and improvement 
of the prison buildings, would it not have a beneficial effect upon the prison discipline ? I 
think the buildings on the island are so defective in construction and arrangement, that i 
would be throwing labour away to attempt to improve them. 
5157. Might not other buildings be erected, even of a temporary character, to improve the 
accommodation ? I do not think the island is properly situated for a penal establishment, and 
therefore it becomes a question whether it is advisable to expend money in improving the 
buildings. That question made me, in two or three reports I have sent in, suggest the 
propriety of fitting up a bulk to lay alongside the island. I was of opinion that one of the 
old men-of-war might have been got from the Home Government, brought out here perhaps 
with immigrants, and be fitted up very efficiently for a prison. It would have been capable 
then of being moved to any part of the harbour in the event of prison labour being required 
for the erection of forts, or for other improvements. 
5158. It has been stated to the Committee, that in all probability the improvements on 
Cockatoo Island will take several years to complete; is it not your opinion that something 
should be done to improve the accommodation of prisoners during that length of time ? 
Yes, but I think not the buildings ; it was that opinion made Inc recommend the fitting 
up of the hulk. 
5159. Do you think the present system of lodging prisoners, so many in one ward, is not 
only demoralizing to them, but injurious to their physical health ? I think it is exceed-
ingly wrong in every way, and must demoralize the men. It is a decided bar to efficient 
discipline, and, with regard to health, I believe that, were not the situation of Cockatoo 
Island most healthy, serious illness among the prisoners would have shown itself before this. 
It is my firm opinion that no proper system of prison discipline can be carried out that does 
not provide a separate sleeping place for every prisoner. I have always entertained the opinion 
that each prisoner should be locked up by himself at night, and my experience confirms me 
more on that point. 
5160. Are there any regulations on Cockatoo Island making personal bodily cleanliness 
compulsory on the prisoners? It is not mentioned in the general regulations; but it is 
carried out, as far as possible, as a matter of course. The men's hair is kept cut close, and 
the men are obliged to be properly shaved; there are barbers for the purpose of shaving 
them twice a week. • 
5161. I was alluding more particularly to the washing of the body as a sanitary arrange-
ment ? The washing arrangements are very defective indeed; and since I have had charge • 
I have on several occasions, when I could do it without risk, permitted the prisoners to 
bathe in the dock ; but there are really no proper arrangements for washing. The men are 
allowed ten TS mutes to wash after they go out upon the works, five minutes are allowed when 
the bell rings to dinner, and a quarter of an hour in the evening before leaving the 
works. 
5162. Have they a plentiful supply of fresh water ? On the works they have, but not in 
the prison; there is a large supply there, but not as I conceive sufficient. There is no proper 
lavatory. 
5163. Could not a plentiful supply of water be obtained upon Cockatoo Island for this large 
number of prisoners? Not at all times ; water has been scarce there at times; and, in fact, 
I remember some time ago seeing water brought from Sydney to the island. 
5164. Still a great deal might be done to improve the present state of matters in that 
respect? I think so ; the establishment has not any modern appliances or arrangements; 
in fact, the prison was originally a stockade, and it has remained a stockade. 
5165. When the Committee were at Cockatoo Island a few days ago we examined several 
prisoners—men who were sent as a deputation from the general body of prisoners—as to any 
complaint they had to make as to their general treatment; and the first complaint made 
was with regard to the chain system, or iron time; it was stated that a man sent for ten 
years under the old regulations, the first three years to be worked in irons, did not com-
mence his probation time till he had worked out his three years in irons ? That is the 
case, and that is the regulation. (The witness produced the some. iTzde Appendix A.) 
5166. Do you not think the additional punishment of causing a Than to work three years in 
irons is sufficiently severe, and that his probation time, if he is to have probation time, should 
commence from the beginning of his sentence ? I am not prepared to say that, the punish-
ment of irons is one which is generally given only for some serums offence, and shonld carry 
a very serious punishment with it. If the men know beforehand that it entails this aN tl a 
service with it, I think it more deterrent than it would be otherwise. Many of these men 
get accustomed to the irons, and in a little time think very little of them. 
5167. Another grievance of which the men complained was, that several men were kept on the 
island after the Judge's warrants committing them fo the island had expired; they also com-
plain that favouritism was shewn to some of the prisoners—that supposing two mcn bad been 
sent to the cells for solitary confinement for fourteen days each, when the Judge's warrant 
expired in one ease the man was set free, while in the other he was retaiMed on the island until 
he had served out the additional time for which he had been confined ? I do not think there 

is 
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is any ground for making that charge of favoutWithregardtodetentionttheregula - a nnn,  Esq. tions prescribe the following scale as an addition to the time to be served as probation :— 
For a sentence of 2:1 days, an additional probation of 60 days. 

21 days, ,, 	 PI 	 45 days. 	 25April,1861. 

	

14 days, ti 	30 days. 
10 days,  21 days. 
7 days, JP 

4 days, 	
15 days. 

tt 	 JP 	 7 days. 
I believe the Classification Board have always acted upon that. When a prisoner is due for 
a ticket-of-leave, the whole detail is forwarded to the Classification Board, of which Mr. 
Anode, the Principal-Superintendent of Convicts, is Chairman. The matter is then con-
sidered, and recommended to the Executive, as the case may be. If there have been instances 
of men going away before their time, they have arisen out of some special recommendation. 
There is, however, one instance which I may mention, and which, perhaps, has given rise to 
this assertion. A short time ago there were two men duo to go away, they were neither of 
them really bad behaved men on the island, but they had each received fourteen days 
punishment for one of these recent outbreaks. The time of one of these men was up, and 
be was forwarded to Sydney to the inspector General of Police; by some mistake the fourteen 
days punishment had not been noted on the return, but it had been bookcd against him, and 
he thus escaped the extra fourteen days detention. I found out the mistake, reported the 
circumstance to the Government, and asked for authority to send the other man away upon 
the same terms; however, I did not get the permission, and the one man remained fourteen 
days longer than the other. That is the only case of the kind I recollect. Torpy was 
the man who remained fourteen days .after lie came up and claimed to be sent away. 
When he came to me I said I did not feel justified, because I had made one error, in com-
mitting another without the authority of the Government. 
5163. Another grievance complained of by the men was this—they stated that the prisoners on 
the island Were divided by the Visiting Magistrate, the medical man, and yourself, into 
three classes ; that the first-class men in the hand-carts had to draw 115 feet a day ; in the 
second 64 feet ; and in the third 32 feet ; that it was customary to work men of the first and 
second classes in the same gang, consequently, that the men of the first class could not do 
more than the second, for which amount of work the second class received indulgences, while 
the first received none? It is not customary to put men of different classes together to work 
in that way. In fact, my strict orders are to work the men of each class as much as possible 
together. It does occur, nevertheless, sometimes, that men of different classes do work 
together; but far from its militating against the advantage of the men, it very often turns out in 
their favour. For example, to take hand-eart labour, each man has to move a certain number 
of cubic feet in a day to a certain distance; the aggregate labour required of a gang if 
composed of men of the second and third classes is so much less than when composed 
entirely of first or second class men ; and an average is struck of the labour of the whole, 
credit being given for the difference. 
5169. It was stated that unless a first-class man moved his 115 feet of stuff, although working 
with a second-class man, he got no indulgence? Not unless the men averaged the necessary 
amount. 
5170. It was stated that it was impossible, from the circumstances in which he was placed, 
for such a man to do his task ? That is not the case; the amount of work required at the hand-
cart can he done by any men if they choose to work ; and men can and do earn a very good 
gratuity at it. 
5171. Do you think any good results from putting prisoners upon a stinted allowance of food—
by giving them only two meals a day, breakfast and dinner, and not giving them supper ? 
I think the men are exceedingly well fed at Cockatoo Island, and that they have no reason 
to complain of the quantity of rations they have. I go further on that point, and I 
think if any system could be devised, making the amount of food depend upon the amount 
of labour the man perforated, it would be a correct one for prison discipline. 
5172. It is stated that at Cockatoo Island the men receiving no supper are often obliged to 
go from dinner-time of one day to breakfast the next without food—I am alluding to men 
who receive no indulgences, and who can lay out no money in providing food for themselves ? 
The rations* the men get is 1+ lbs. of bread, and, I believe, it is quite the exception where 
men have not some of that left from their dinner. The men who are industrious, and who 
earn a gratuity, have always the means of purchasing sonic little addition of tea, sugar, and 
tobacco, and, in some instances, they purchase extra bread. 
5173. If a man is supposed on the sick list, even though he is not confined to the hospital, 
but is merely exempted from work, he is not allowed any gratuity whatever ? That is, he is 
not in the way of earning any gratuity, and, I think, it would not be advisable to allow him 
any gratuity ; for there is, no doubt, a large amount of malingering, and this would tend to 
increase them. It often happens that when a man is ordered to do a particular work he does 
not like, he goes ;bout it sulkily, and says, "Take me to the doctor." The doctor is, perhaps, 
puzzled, and puts him on the exempt bank, when I am convinced the man is malingering. 
If the men, in such cases, received gratuities, it would be an extra inducement to evade work. 
5174. It was also stated to the Committee that the prisoners had very great difficulty in commu- 
nicating with the authorities—that they were only allowed to see the superintendent, what- 
ever the complaint might be, once a week; therefore, a case might arise on Monday, and on 

the 

• Nora (by witness on revision) :—Daily ration for a prisoner on Cockatoo Island :-13. lb. bread, 
1 lb. of meat, fib, maize meal, 1 oz. sugar, h oz. salt, h oz. soap ; vegetables, if ordered by the Medical 
Officer, not to exceed h lb. per man. 
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It. Mann, the Saturday, following, when they saw the superintendent, it might be too late ? That 
Esq . 	statement is wrong, and very highly coloured indeed. The regulation I have established 

'‘ since I have been superintendent is, that any man who wants to see me is to put down his 
23April,1841. name, and that I will see him, as a rule, on a particular day in the week, when I am prepared 

to take down all their complaints in writing. I make a practice of taking down the names of 
all persons making complaints, and opposite their names to set down their complaints. I 
have also informed the men that in any case of emergency, they are to be brought up to me 
at once ; but I have opposed, and it is necessary that I should do so in order to carry out my 
duties on the island, the reception of complaints at all hours when I am engaged upon other 
duties. It was the practice, formerly, to take the officers off their duties in order to accom-
pany a prisoner to the office to make some frivolous complaint which might have stood over 
until the proper time for hearing them. 
5175. The prisoners also state that even when they offered to make complaints against the 
free officers, and they especially alluded to Mr. Broderick, they were threatened to be sent to 
the cells—has any such complaint reached you ?No man has ever made such a complaint 
to me. I have never heard it before, and I do not believe it. I am sure Mr. Broderick never 
threatened to send a man to the cells for making a complaint to me; he has no such authority. 
5176. You think every facility that is required is given to prisoners for lodging complaints? 
I am thoroughly convinced of it, that every facility has been given them. I do not allow 
them to come up to me and make complaints on the works, that Is Contrary to the regulations; 
their duty is to give their complaints to the free officers, and they are bound to send them up 
to me, and in no instance has that been omitted. 
5177. Have you any means of informing the Committee what proportion of the men on the 
island have been re-convicted, after receiving tickets-of-leave? I have prepared a return, 
which I beg to hand in. (The witness handed in the same. Vide Appendix B.) 
5178. From this return it would appear that out of 258 prisoners now on the island, only 84 
are fresh convictions under tickets-of-leave? Yes, exclusive of those who have been returned 
in consequence of the cancellation of their tickets.of-leave. 
5179. Looking at the small proportion one would at first sight suppose that system must 
have worked well ? It is difficult to say that. I have no means of knowing what proportion 
there may be at other penal establishments. 
5180. It shows, so far as Cockatoo Island is concerned, that the bulk of your prisoners are 
not those hardened offenders who are constantly in prisons ? It is 14.L. per cent., exclusive 
of those returned by cancellation of tickets-of-leave. 
5181. Are there any other papers or returns you have prepared which you think will be of 
service to the Committee ? I have been asked for a return of the comparative sentences 
passed by the Supreme Court, and the Courts of District and Quarter Sessions, prior to and 
subsequent to the 1st of June 1858. I beg to hand them in. (The witness handed in the 
Caine. Vide Appendices C and D.) It has been currently stated that the sentences passed 
by the District Courts and Supreme Court have, been lighter in consequence ef the more 
stringent regulations of the Executive. I think these returns will hardly bear out that 
assertion. 
5182. By Mr. Sutherland: What is the duty of the Assistant Superintendent Clerk of 
Works under you? He has the management of the machinery and current works; he 
superintends the works in progress on the island, under my direction. He is Assistant 
Engineer in fact. 
5188. The whole of the works are more immediately under his control, and being clerk of 
the works I suppose he is constantly on the works? Yes. 
5184. By whom are the plans drawn for the works ? He assists me in preparing plans, and 
has the general management, under my directions, with regard to the works. 
5185. He gives instructions to the various foremen under him for carrying out the works? 
Yes. 
5186. Now many foremen have you on the island ? I have four, one senior foreman and 
three others. 
5187. What I wish to know is, what particular branches they are over ? I have a senior 
foreman, who is a practical man, and I have placed him over the general building arrange-
ments; he has charge of the carpenters, mechanics, and building arrangements ; then the 
other foremen are employed superintending such works as may be going on. They each 
have a certain number of prison gangs under them, and it is their duty to record the work 
of each prisoner. 
5188. What is the name of the foreman over the buildings you refer to ? Mr. Cahill. 
51.89. Is Mr. Cahill a practical man ? He is a carpenter by trade, and was engaged as a 
builder before be came to me. He has done his work very efficiently, and has been eight 
years on the island, I believe. 
5190. What is the name of the foreman over the masons and stone-cutters? I think the 
foreman over the stone-cutters at the present moment is Mr. Fitzgerald. 
5191. How long has he been on the island? He has been in my departmknt, I think, about 
seven years. 
5192. As foreman of works? Yes. Re was on the island before in some capacity—not 
under me. 
5193. Are you aware what office he held on the island before ? I think he was a sergeant 
in the police. 
5194. Is be a practical mason or stone-cutter ? lie understands it very well. He is a very 
good man at keeping the record. 
5195. What I wish to know is, whether be is a practical man who can direct other men 
bow to do their work ? I think so; he never takes any bad work from the men ; he turns 
out very good work. 5196. 
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5190. The greater part of the men are those who have learned what they know on the G. E. Mann, 

	

island—is there a tradesman among them? There are some tradesmen; but the majority 	Esq. 
of the stone-cutters have been taught on the island. 
5197. Do you think the foreman capable of teaching them ? Quite capable of teaching 25 Apri1,1261. 
stone-cutting; it is plain work. All his duty is to take charge of the men, to measure the 
number of superficial feet of work done, to record it, to see that the stones are cut square 
and not in wind, and not to accept them if they are. 
5198. Is it his duty, if the men are not able to take lines, to shew them how to get the 
lines ? Yes, he sliews them. 
5199. Is there not a quantity of wrought stone lying on the island now that is condemned 
for the purpose for which it was prepared ? I do not think there is a single stone. If the 
stone is improperly cut, or cut into wind, the man who cuts it is not allowed measurement 
for it. They know that, and they are very particular about it. 
5200. Has it come to your knowledge that a quantity of stone has been improperly cut by 
these men, and that they have not been paid for it ? There have been occasionally 
complaints •made to me on Saturdays that the foreman in charge of the stone-cutters 
has not allowed for work done; but it is not always Mr. Fitzgerald's duty. I have 
gone down in those eases and examined the stones myself, and in some instances I 
have refused to allow credit unless the men faced over the stone again, which they have done. 
In other instances I have conceived that the work might have been passed, and have passed 
them. 
5201. What I wish to know is, whether it has not come to your knowledge that stones have 
been cut wrong and broken up at various times ? No, it could not have taken place without 
my knowledge, and I have never heard of it. I remember an instance of one particular bed 
of stone which after it had laid a little while began to laminate, and that was condemned as 
not being fit to go into the building, but that was not the fault of the cutter, and be had 
been paid for it. 
5202. What is the name of the third foreman, and what is his duty ? Mr. Easton, he is 
superintendent of the quarry gang at this present moment ; and there is Mr. Kelleher, who 
superintends the gangs that are employed more generally in moving timber, moving stones, 
and in other general work. 
5203. How long has Mr. Easton been on the island ? Ile has been many years upon the island 
as superintendent of the quarrymen. He was employed in former times under the Ptoyal 
Engineer Department. He afterwards came to the island in the same capacity as an overseer, 
and when I took charge be was transferred to any department as a foreman. 
5201. Then he has practical knowledge of quarrying, or of whatever duty you require of 
him ? Of excavation and quarrying, a very good knowledge. 
5205. By what means did the prisoners Johnson and Ferris escape from the island ? A 
man-of-war was in the dock, and they were employed at night at the engine, pumping the 
dock dry ; about twelve o'clock they slipped away from the island. I was not on the island 
at the time, but I understand that they went to the police wharf, unhooked a boat that 
happened to be there, and went away in it. 
5206, To whom did the boat belong? To Mr. Broderick. 
5207. Was Mr. Broderick or the officers of the island allowed to keep boats for their private 
use ? Yes. There was nothing in the regulations against it. 
5208. Do they keep boats now ? For the last eight years, since I have known the island, 
boats have been kept there, but have lately been removed. 
5209. You say the prisoners were pumping at night—is it usual for prisoners to be kept 
working at night? This was a special case, and a special authority had been given to keep 
out prisoners in cases of emergency of this sort. Since then no prisoners have been kept 
out. 
5210. Was it not frequently done before that time? Yes. 
5211. Could not the dock be employed in the daytime ? If we had time to do it, but in 
this ease I believe they were anxious to have the ship dry early in the morning. 
5212. Are the pumps you have in working order, and fit for the work they have to per-
form ? They ...are double-action pumps, and they have been working unsatisfactorily, but I 
have new pumps in course of erection; one set is already completed, and the other is nearly 
ready to be erected. These I shall work in addition to the double-action pumps, and we 
shalt then have very increased facilities for pumping the dock. 
5213, When will the pumps now in course of erection be completed ? One set is completed, 
the other is in a forward state, and I should hope that in from two to three months it will 
be completed. 
5214. Where were the prisoners Landells and Hughes concealed at the time they were 
missing for two days or more ? We found them in the store, for the engine work, over the 
engineer's office. There is a door leading from the passage into the engineer's office; this 
had been locked, but the key had protruded a little way through, and Landells with a pair 
of pincers had seized hold of the end of the key, unlocked it, and gone in. The pair of 
pincers was found in the store over my office. 
5215. Where was the boat made in which they attempted to escape from the island ? It 
was made in the carpenters' shop over the beams j it was a small boat—called a boat because 
there is no other name to apply to it—formed of a number of half-inch planks which the 
sawyers were cutting at the time, and which were being stowed over the beams in the car-
penters' shop. Landells was employed to stow it away, and he spread them out so as to hide 
what he was doing from the view of any one in the shop below, and there be constructed this 
boat. At that time nearly all the carpenters were employed in putting the roof upon the 
other wing of the large workshop, and Landells was in the shop by himself for some time. 

157-2 B 	 Mr. 
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G. K 	Mr. Cahill was also a good deal engaged about the roof, and only went into the shop from 
l' 54' 	time to time, and during this time Landells knocked this boat together in the way you saw. 

r—A--•• 	5216. Who had charge of that shop when this boat was made? It was under Mr. Cahill's 
25 Apn1,1861. charge, but he was engaged among the mechanics who were putting on the roof. 

5217. Was Landells in Mr. Cahill's charge at the time ? He was one of the mechanics 
under Mr. Cahill's chai-ge. 
5218. What has become of the vessel you had for your diving bell ? She is partly broken 
up. 
5219. And the punt belonging to her ? And the punt belonging to her is also 
partly broken up. I bad a Tote to build a new vessel and some new punts, these being 
entirely rotten and unsafe to be used, and I propose to use as much as I can of the old 
material in the construction of the new punts. 
5220. In whose charge was the vessel at the time it was broken up, or how came it to be 
broken up ? She was in my charge. 
5221. I mean the person under you? Mr. Kelleher. 
6222. By whose negligence was she lost ? I can hardly say she was lost by negligence at all; 
I do not consider that the vessel is lost. The vessel was taken round there and intended to 
be hauled up as high as she could be, for the purpose of breaking her up. I think she might 
have been got up higher. I think Mr. Kelleher had charge of her at the time. She went 
down in deeper water than I intended; she was a very rotten old vessel, not fit to be con-
tinued for a diving craft. 
5223. Then I understand from your answer that you bad decided previously to her being lost 
or wrecked to take her there and break her up ? I had decided previously to break her up. 
5224. Then she was not in working order or fit to be used ? Not at all, she was unsafe; in 
fact, I was afraid she would not have held out to let me complete the operations at the 
entrance of the dock. 
5225. Was there a vessel employed to lift her ? I tried to lift her, and to put her up on 
higher ground. 
5226. What did it cost, or about what did it cost to try to lift her ? I do not think it cost 
anything at all. The vessel with which I tried to lift her was one I borrowed for the 
occasion. 
6227. There was nothing paid for the vessel ? Nothing. 
5228. Nor tothe men working her ? It was convict labour we used. 
5229. Who has charge of the stores belonging to the engineer's shop? I have a clerk there 
in charge. Mr. Broderick superintends it principally ' • and there is a clerk and storekeeper 
there who issues the stores, and keeps an account of the details of the expenditure. 
5230. Have not stores been often given out by prisoners without a free man having been 
there? That was the case formerly; but I represented it, and I think for some years past 
nothing has been given out by the prisoners. 
6231. Upon whose recommendation was the old system altered ? I believe upon mine. I 
do not remember at this present moment—at all events, I saw the necessity of having a free 
officer as a storekeeper, and also as clerk to check the gratuity payments, instead of a prisoner 
clerk as formerly. I have not employed a prisoner clerk since I have had the control of the 
island. With regard to the issue of stores, I believe the stores are as carefully issued and 
recorded as in any department of the Government. In issuing oil, no doubt the clerk 
employs a prisoner, but I believe every item issued is recorded by him. 
5232. Can you furnish a return of the number of prisoners now on the island? I beg to 
band in a statement of the number on the island this day. (The witness handed in the 
name. Vide Appendix E.) 
5233. Have you not sent a number of men to Berrima lately—men who are not fit for hard 
labour ? There are nine now on the island who are to go, but they have not gone yet. 
There were five or six sent to the Darlinghurst Gaol at the time of the insubordination, and 
I understand to-day, from Mr. Read, that they have gone. I have had some correspondence 
with the Inspector General lately, to learn when he will be prepared with an escort to 
convey them, but it is not yet decided. There are nine under orders, but there is a larger 
number who, in my opinion, ought to go. 
5231. Will you furnish the Committee with a return shewing the number of men on the 
island during the past month, how they have been employed, the quantity of work they 
have done, the amount of gratuity they have earned, and the number of days they have 
obtained credit for ? I will. ( Vide Appendix IP.) 
5235. By the chairmen: Can you explain what appears to be a discrepancy in the paper 
you have handed in (Appendix E)--in the day description you say "cells 1," and in the 
night muster "cells 10"? In the night muster, the men referred to are those who sleep 
over the cells, not for punishment. 
5236. With regard to the supervision of the police—are the police of the island under your 
supervision or control ? Not at all. 
5237. Have you no authority over them ? None. 
5288. Have you no authority, as far as the discipline of the island is concerned, to see that 
they do their duty ? I have not; they do not report to me in any way. Formerly there 
was a police force which was considered an integral part of the establishment, consisting of 
a sergeant and twelve men. Since the military guard has been replaced by a detachment of 
the metropolitan police, I as superintendent have ceased to have any control whatever over 
these police; they have been removed entirely from under me, excepting that I pay them; 
they are nominally under the Visiting Magistrate according to the regulations, and are 
ordered to report to the superintendent, and all orders to be issued to them by the Govern-
ment or Visiting Magistrate were to go through the superintendent only. That has not 

been 
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been the ease of lath, since the military guard has been replaced by a detachment of the G. K. Mann* 
metropolitan police. 	 Esq. 
5239. You think it would be an advantage to the discipline of the island if that were the 
case? Jam thoroughly convinced it ought to be the case, that is, the permanent island 26 April,1861.  
guard of one sergeant and twelve men. My opinion is, that the establishment ought to be 
placed under one head ; under one officer, who should be responsible for the due performance 
of the duties of the establishment. Until that is done the establishment can never work 
smoothly and properly. 
5240. By Mr. Mate: Suppose anything occurred on the island, which, in your opinion, 
rendered it necessary that the police should be called upon to act, should you feel that you 
bad authority to call upon them ? I should call upon them, and I have no doubt they would 
act ; but if they said, "No, we do not choose to act," I could not order them. The regulations 
of the military were, that I was to apply to the officer when I wanted their assistance, and 
they were bound to give it. I suppose they would have used their own judgment in such a 
case, but I always found them most ready. In fact I have no complaint to make against the 
police ; the men are apparently very willing to do their duty, but I think the inspector takes 
more authority upon himself than he ought to do. I have had occasion to report the 
inspector, who does acts which I consider exceedingly wrong, and without my knowledge. 
In fact I am kept in ignorance of what he is doing. Reports are made to the Visiting Magis-
trate, of which I know nothing until two or three days after, reports which ought to be made 
tomcat once that no time might be lost. In fact 1 consider that the superintendent ought 
to be responsible for the entire establishment, and if he does not do his ditty the Government 
know what to do with him. At present the establishment is under the Visiting Magistrate, 
under the superintendent, under the Inspector General of Police, and I may say under the 
inspector of police in charge. All appear to have something to say, though I must say that 
the Inspector General has not interfered, beyond removing the permanent island guard from 
under the control of the superintendent. 
5241. .By Mr. Sutherland: What was the nature of the cases you had to report against the 
police ? In one instance I ordered •a sentry to be placed upon the prison yard gate, on 
Saturday afternoon and Sunday, when the men were locked up, in order that they might be 
some assistance to the free officers in charge, and also to prevent the prisoners coming out 
without due permission. That order has never been carried out. That was one of the 
instances in which I reported them. 
5242. Have you police regulations, or regulations for the general government of the island ? 
There are the regulations that were published I think in 1855, before the dock was com-
pleted, and which, in my opinion, are quite inapplicable to the present state of the island. 
5243. Are you working under those regulations at the present time? Yes; they are 
obsolete, and there are consequently constant misunderstandings. 
5244. By the regulations then the police are properly under your charge ? The regulations 
say they—the island police,.viz. : 1 sergeant and 12 men—are to be under the Visiting 
Magistrate and the superintendent, and that they are to report to the superintendent, but 
the regulations are not distinct and clear. I have sent in two codes of regulations for the - 
sanction of Government. 
5245. They have not been acted upon ? They have not been sanctioned. 
5246. Did the inspector on the island give any reason why he did not accede to your order 
with respect to the police being placed on the gate ? No, I do not think he did; he wrote 
me a peremptory note, of the tone of which I complained to the Government, that his 
policemen were not to be put there to shut the gate when prisoners came out, and that if I 
did not put a free man there be would remove the sentry. I wrote to him not to remove 
the sentry without instructions, and then I reported the matter to the Government, and the 
sentry has never been there since. There are two warders inside the yard whose attention 
is taken up by the prisoners, and some of the prisoners were in the habit formerly of 
slipping out of the gate and roaming over the island, and I placed a sentry there and gave 
orders that no prisoner was to be allowed to pass without the permission of the principal 
warder inside. 
5247. The men, I believe, are now kept at work on the island until two o'clock on Saturday 
afternoon ? Yes. 
5248. Is that in accordance with the regulations of the island? That, I believe, is the 
general regulation of the island, as far as I can remember. 
5249. Your instructions are, that they are to do so ? Yes, I think I have instructions ; it 
has been the custom, I think, for some years. 
5250. By the Chairman : Did the men work until two o'clock on Saturday before the new 
regulations were issued? As well as I can remember for the last six or seven years they 
have worked until two. 
5251. It has been stated by the prisoners that before the new regulations were issued they 
worked only until twelve o'clock, and that now they are kept at work until two o'clock to 
enable the men under the old system to get half-a-day ? I think in former times they 
did work till twelve o'clock, and that then when the system was adopted of allowing them 
to earn half-a-day's remission, they were kept on until two o'clock to enable them to do so 
much work as would entitle them to a mark. 
6252. This is a grievance which the men under the new system say they labour under ? It 
is a very recent idea, they never complained to me of it as a grievance, excepting one man 
who, just before the last strike, said they had no right to work after twelve o'clock. I think 
myself they are bound to work until two. 

APPENDIX. 
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) The full unexpired term of the 
sentence. 

4 „ 
„ 

2 	„   11 „ 	....... . . . . . . . . 	. ...... 

6 	 ........... 
3 	„ 	...... 	...... 

I 
 No reduced period of probation. 

2 „ 

4 years. 
„ 

„ 

24 „ 

2 
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G. K. Mann, 	 APPENDIX. 
Esq. 

A. 
25 April, 1861. 	 CODE OF IZEGIMATIONTS. 

• 
I. The periods of probation to be served by prisoners to entitle them, in the first instance, to 

tickets-of-leave, and subsequently to conditional pardons, will be proportionate to their sentences 
according to the following scale:— 

2. No portion of the time during which a prisoner may be worked in irons will be counted as part 
of his period oftprohation, Mit on his release from irons Ito will be required to serve the full period of 
probation :tinned to his sentence by the foregoing rule. 

3. The period of probation to he served for a ticket-of-leave can be shortened by extra work under 
the task system, but not the period of the original sentence. By extra work under the task system a 
prisoner will be able to shorten the period of his servitude in irons, and also the period of his probation 
for a ticket-of-leave, but the term of the sentence passed on a prisoner cannot be shortened otherwise 
than by the pardon of the Governor General. 

4. Prisoners under cumulative sentences will be required to serve for their tickets-of-leave a 
period of probation equal to the sum of the periods of probation fixed for each sentence according to the 
above scale, and a similarly prolonged period of probation as ticket-of-leave holders to entitle them to 
conditional pardons. Thus, a prisoner UndOt two sentences the one of fifteen and the other of ten years, 
will have to serve a probation of thirteen and a half years for his ticket-of-leave, and a probation of six 
years as a ticket-of-leave holder for his conditional pardon. 

5. Prisoners received on the island under second sentences for felony or any transportable offence 
will have one-fourth added, and prisoners under a third or any subsequent sentence of the same nature 
will have one-third added to the period of probation fixed for sentences of the same length by the above 
scale. 

6. A prisoner sentenced for a period not exceeding twelve months will only- be able to shorten his 
confinement on the island by extra work under the task system. On the completion of such extra work 
of the time computed to be equal to that of his sentence, he will receive for the remainder of the actual 
term of the sentence a ticket-of-leave. 

7. In order to prevent the interruption which it has occasioned in the progress of the works, the 
prohibition to work under the task-work system shall no longer be imposed as a punishment under 
magisterial sentences for offences committed on the island ; but, in lieu thereof, the Magistrates or 
Visiting Justice shall be empowered to add to the offenders' period of probation for a ticiiet.of-leave, 
according to the following scale:— 

For a sentence of 26 days, an additional probation of 60 days. 
21 	„ 	 45 	„ 
14 „ 30 o 
10 „ 
7 „ 15 „ 
4 „ 7 „ 

8. A sentence passed upon a prisoner by the Supreme Court or Court of Quarter Sessions whilst 
he holds a ticket-of-leave will be added to the unexpired portion of his original sentence, and the 
probation which he will be required to serve will be in proportion to the duration of these sentences 
combined. 

9. The forfeiture of a ticket-of-leave for breach of regulations, without an additional sentence, will 
subject the holder to serve a probationary period, for the renewal of his ticket, of not less than six 
nor more than twelve. months ; such period to be fixed by the Classification Board at their next meeting 
after the prisoner's admission on the island. 

10. Prisoners serving under sentences passed in the Mother Country will have the benefit of these 
rules, as far as they can be applied to their cases without interference with Imperial regulations. 

11. The periods of probation to be served by Home prisoners shall be fixed by the Classification 
Board at their monthly meeting, in accordance with the recommendations of the Magistrates by whom 
they shall have been sentenced. 

12. The police history of every Home prisoner, from the date of his arrival in the Colony, shall be 
forwarded with him to the island from the office of the Principal Superintendent of Convicts, and shall 
be placed on the records of the establishment as a guide to the Classification Board in fixing the 
prisoners' probation when not provided for by the regulations. 

B. 
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B. 	 G. II. Mann, 
A NUMERICAL RETURN of Prisoners discharged under the Provisions of the Regulations prior to June, 	Esq. 

1858, and who have been returned to this Establishment Re-convicted, or with Tickets-of-Leave 
cancelled, to serve their Sentences under the subsequent Regulations now in force. 	 25 Apri1,1861. 

Tickets-of-leave cancelled 	 24 Present strength of the prisoners on the 
Fresh convictions 	......... 	...... 	31 Establishment 	. ...... ............... 	258 

58* 258 

• Being 22 -5 per rent, of the present confines. 
Cockatoo Island, 	 GOTHER K. MANN. 

25 April. 1861. 
C. 	 • 

A RETURN of the Comparative Sentences passed upon Prisoners at Cockatoo Island by the Supreme 
Court, and Courts of Quarter Sessions, from the let of June, 1855, to the 31st of May, 1858. 

SUPREME COURT. COURTS OF QUARTER 
SESSIONS. 

YEARS OF SENTENCE. YEARS OF SENTENCE. 

IA213 

1 
3 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

1 

1 

2 

7 

7 
6 

•• 
4 
•• 

11 69 2068 
I 	I 

1:3 	3 	8 
„ 11.. 

4 

4 
8 
1 

•• 	• 	• 

5 

2 
•• 
•• 

9 
5 
2 

23 
15 
2 

22 
1.. 

7 8 9 1015 I 4 2 3 

1 

1.. 
79 

2 
1 

456 

26 	1 
10.. 

 

1 

78 

•. 
. • 
•. 
•. 
•• 

1 

4 

11.. 
1.. 

9.. 

•• 

•. 	• 	• 
•• 	• 	• 
. • 	. • 
•• 	• • 
•• 	• • 
•• 	• • 

	

91015 	1 

•• 
•• 
•• 

2.. 

II • 

4 
3 
8 

39 
27 

1 

Murder and manslaughter 
Administering poison 
Rape 	  
Assault with intent to commit 

	

rape......... 	  
Indecent assault 	...... , 
Attempt at unnatural crime 
-Violent assault, 	 • 
Burglary 	  
Assault and robbery 	...... 
Horse 	stealing, 	cattle 	steal- 
Stealing and larceny „ 
Mail robbery 	  
Embezzlement 	 
Fraud and false pretences 	.• 
Receiving stolen property 
Perjury 	  
Arson 	  
Forgery and uttering 	 
Court Martial 	• ...... , 	• 

1 

2 
14 

1 

•• 
•• 
•• 
2 

•• 
2 

•• 

1,.. 
13 8 

1 
1 

61 

1 	12 

410 	13 
1 	1 
21 	4 

5 	13 
2 • . 	52 

1.. 
15 12 

•, 
•• 

4 
2 

1 	16 
6 

54 

•• 	1 

1 

2 
27 

3 
230 	:. 	6 19 .. 38 	1116 	6.. 	85 

Cockatoo Island, GOTHER K. MINN 
25 April, 1361. 

D. 
A RETURN of the Comparative Sentences passed upon Prisoners at Cockatoo Island, by the Supreme 

Court and Courts of District and Quarter Sessions, from 1st ofJune, 1853, to ths 24th April, 1861 :— 

SUPREota COURT. 

•• 

COURTS OF DISTRIET AND 
QUARTER SESSIONS. 

Murder and manslaughter 	 
Assault 	with 	intent 	to 

commit a rape 
Indecent assault 	 
Attempt 	at 	unnatural 

Violent assault, Asc... 
Bigamy 	. ...... 
Burglary 	  
Assault and robbery 
Horse 	stealing, 	cattle 

stealing, 	..... 
Stealing and larceny 
Mail robbery 	  
Embezzlement 
Fraud 	and 	false 	we- 

Receivng stolen property 
Perjury 	..... ......, 
Arson. ...... 	 
Forgery and uttering 
Courts Martial 	 

YEARS OF SENTENCE. 

678  

• • 	• . 

9 101 15 1 

YEARS OF SENTENCE. 

.. 	3 

• 

7 

I 

•• 	• • 
10 
14 

60 
32 

2 

7 

I. 
4 

135 

14 2 3 4 . 5 
1 

14 2 314 	5k 6 7 8 9 10 10 1 

.. 1.. 

1 

2 

1 

2 

$ 

2 

1 
1 

1 

10 

• 

• • 
4 
1 
1 

• • 

a 
2 

4 
• • 
1 
1 
6 

• • 

26 

.. 

1 

1 

• 1 

1 

55 
'26 

1 
4 

13 27 

6 
2 

3 

76 

4 
1 

1.. 

•• 

1 

• • 

.. 	5 

237  

1 

4 
3 

6 
11 

1 
2 

7 
• • 
1 
2 

5 

5 104 

2 

2 

1 

1 

is 

8 

1 

12 „ 

1 

37 3 

. 	• 	• • 
1.. 

13 	1 1.2 
.... .. 	. 
1 	. 

1 

1 

2 

4 
1 

1 

Cockatoo Island, 
25 April, 1861. •••■•■ mm•••••■••■ 

GOTHER K. MANN. 

E. 
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G. Ii. Mann, 
Esq. 

25 April, 1861. 

E. 
STATE of Cockatoo Island, 25 April, 1861. 

DETAIL 

IV
IL(0

100
 

'01X1012( 

TOTAL. RELIGIOUS DENOMDZATIONS, 

Under Sentence to the Roads .... 212 0 221 Protestants 	  133 

Ditto 	Transportation .. .... .... ..... Roman Catholics 	 111 

Ditto 	to Irons 	........ 10 .... 10 Presbyterians ...... 	 5 

Ditto 

Ditto 	Tickets Cancelled 21 3 27 Pagans .. 	  7 

Ditto 

_ 

246 12 258 258 

NIGHT MUSTER, 24 Aram, 
1861. DISTRIBUTION, 25 APRIL, 1861. 

1 Ward 	 

3 	 ...... 

4 

5 

Hospital 	 

Cook-house 	 

Cells 	 

Passage 

 	66 

G5 

16 

11 

12 

3 

10 

4 

8 
2 

cl 

?,4  

o c.) 

p Mechanics 

iGateman 1, Messenger 1 .... 	  
I 	Overseers 	.. .... 	 

LMmumm 	.... . 	...... ................ ..... 
Light hand-carts 	 i 	 ..... ..... ... ....... 	.. 

....... 	• 	.• • . 	.............. 	• • - • 

r Hospital 13, Attendants 3 	  

Cooks 4, IVardsmen 10, Servants 18, Watermen, &c., 4 
Repairing Clothing, Shoes, &e. 	  

Sweeper and Shedmen 	  
iWashermen. ...... 	...... 	• • • • • ......... • • 
Exempt by Surgeon ...... ....... .......... 	 
Signal Staff and Barbers 	...... 	...... 
Constables 	........... 	........ 	 

2 
10 
87 

6 
41 

146 

112 

JO 
1 

36 
6 

5 
37 

4 

258 258 

There arc also now in the Gaol 13 prisoners belonging to this establishment. 

F. 
A RETURN showing the number of Prisoners on Cockatoo Island during the month of March, 1861, 

how they have been employed, the work they have done, the amount of gratuity earned, and the 
number of days obtained as credit. 

—
  

Pe
na

l D
ep

ar
tm

en
t-

-  
Ef

fe
c t

iv
e.  

In
  H

os
p

ita
l- 4 

..!: 0 
.,.. 02 
gi=" 

rh1  

g 

- r; 

d 

1.  
2 
G 

( 

... 
1. 

- 
a 

= 

4ress Number during this Period ........ , 	 

lolly Average 	„ 	„ 	,, 

Coto] Amount of Gratuity paid during this 
Period................ 	.......... ... 	£ 

4aily Average to each Man .. 	  

1,297 

59 

5 	8 	1 

ld. 

219 

n 
Nil 

Nil 

845 

38g% 

Nil 

Nil 

48 

2f1  

Nil 

Nil 

	

. 2,984 	! 	119 

	

135 ic 	5.1z  

	

31 11 	4i 	Nil 

	

2frd. 	Nil 

5,512 

250i°, 

Number of Prisoners earning time by Task-work „ 	 30. 
Average time earned by each man during this Period 	  10i days. 

VA IME 



£ S. d. 
9 19 7 
3 17 0 
1 15 9 
1 19 
1 17 g 
064  
0 12 7 
O 17 6 
O 3 10 
O 10 0 
060  
010  
080  
0 10 0 

13 4 0 
4 80  
020 

Quarrying. 693 cubic yards Rock and Earth removed 400 feet, 3 Cs. ..... 173 5 0 
Stone sized up, 715 feet, rp,, 	 7 9 0 
Ditto cut, 1041 feet, at 94... ............... ............... ...... 	39 0 9 
Ditto set, 7 perches, (th Ct 	2 2 0 

Engine Fitters, 3 	 , 22 days, 	 19 16 0 
„ 	Driver, 1 man. 22 days, 3  7s 	 7 11 0 

Fireman, 1 man, 22 days, @, 5s 	 0 0 
--- 

Docking H.M.S. " Cordelia" 	 5 0 0 
-- 	 

Miscellaneous Labour, 1311 men for 1 day=61 1\ for 22 days, a 3s. 	 201 12 0 

   

Penal Department. 

Fifty-nine men, for 22 days, 3  35. each—(employed as wardsmen, cooks, 
water-carriers, was-11ounce, barbers, ite., ate.) . ............ 

 

210 14 0 

   

   

Gross Total earnings by 250 men, for 22 days 	......... 	..... 

Average daily earning per man, including Invalids and all classes 	 
cost per man, with Military Guard ....... ...... ..... 

Police Guard 
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900  
2 14 0 
O 15 0 
600  
06 0  
612 0 
0 10 0 
176  
0 12 0 
240  

10 11 3 
1 10 0 
150  
050  
100  
I 15 0 

916 

2 4 10 

1 15 0 

VALUE OF THE PRISON LABOUR. 

Blacksmiths' Work, 

Repairing and re-steeling 2395 Picks, a 	  
924 Chisels, a 	........ 	  

DP 	143 Jumpers. 9 3d. 	  
79 Wedges. a 6d... 	 •4 • 

Making 74 Screw Bolts, 3  6d........... ........................... 
„ 	39 Nuts, a 2d. ............. ............ 	................ 
„ 	151 Spike 27ails, 3  ld... ....... . . ........ .............. 	 
„ 	35 Drills and Turning Tools, 3 Gd 	  
„ 23 Linchpins and Keys, ® 2d. 	 ... 
„ 	4 Spanners and Tap Wrenches, e 2s 6c1 . 	 : . 
„ 	12 Bars, Stop Ladder, a Gd.. 

12 Washers, a Id 	 .... 	. . 
Repairing and re-steeling 3 Malls, a Is. 	................. 	 

„ 	Smiths' Tools 	 . . 
Rivetting Buoys, 2 men 	  
Heating Rivets, 1 man 	 ... 
Heating Irons for fumigating, 1 man, k  day 	  

Carpenters' Work, 4c. 

Making Gutter Bearers for New Workshop, 30 days, e Gs. ...... 
„ 	Patterns for Machinery, 9 days, a 65 
„ Pump Wedges and Boat-hook Handles, 2 days, 3  Gs. 
„ Pick and Maul Handles, 240 3 61 	  
„ 	Water-buckets, 2 a 3s. 	 .. 

Covering Roof of Prison for fumigating, 33 men, 3  4s. ......... 	 
Making Covers for New Pumps ....... ... . .................... 	 

„ 	Coal-box • repairing Bread-box, 5+ days, a 5s. 	...... 	 
„ Straight Edges and Squares, 3 days, 3 4s 	  

Staying Pumps and fixing Girders, 11 days, a 4s. . 
Making Frame for Cupola—New Workshop, 42i days, Cs.  	 

„ • new Ladder, 6 days, ® 5s...... ................... 	 
„ 	new Door for free Officers' Quarters 	  

Repairing Roof of Boiler-house and Coal-shed, 1 day, 0 5s 	  
„ 	Wheelbarrows, Sentry-box, and Berths in Cells, 4 days, a 5s 	 
„ 	Forge Bellows, 7 days, a 5s. 	  

Painters, 304. days, 3 Os 	  

Sawyers, 610 feet, a 75. W 100 . ........... ....... .......... 	 

Plastering, 60 yards, 3 coat, a 7d. 	  

G. K. Mann, 
Esq. 

25 April, 1661. s. d. 

40 13 1 

46 6 9 

91 6  

2 4 10 

1 15 0 

221 16 9 

33 0 0 

50 0  

201 12 0 

561 9 11 

210 14 0 

772 3 11 

O 2 9i 
O 1 11 
O 9 7 

GOTHER K. MANN, 
Engineer-in-Chief. 

SATURDAY, 
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SATURDAY, 27 APRIL, 1861. 

tirrstnt 
MR. LUCAS, 	 MR. PARKES, 
Mn. MATE, 	 MR. SUTHERLAND. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., CHAIRMAN. 
Penrith Gaol. 	[The Committee having met at the Railway Terminus, Sydney, proceeded via Parra- 27April, 18E1. matta to Penrith, whore they visited the Court House and Gaol. The latter is a log 

building, faced with weather-boards, shingled, the ceiling being formed of logs, about forty-
two feet long by eighteen wide, and' divided into four compartments, which are entered from 
a passage about four feet and a half wide, lighted by an aperture over the gaol, protected by 
iron bars. At each end are apartments about eighteen feet by eleven and eleven feet high ; 
running across these and let into the floor are iron bars, to each of which are attached three 
rings; one of these rooms is at present occupied as a store. The two central apartments 
are each about eight feet by ten, and eleven feet in height, and have also three iron bars 
sunk into the floor with two rings attached to each. In neither of the divisions is there 
any aperture for the admission of light and air.] 

Mr. Henry Tubman examined :- 
5253. B7 the Chairman: You are in the police force? Yes. 
5254. How long have you been in the force? Nearly twenty years. 
5255. You at present hold the appointment of lock-up keeper? Of lock-up keeper and 
acting gaoler. 
5256. How long have you held that office ? Since last October twelve months. I was not 
appointed acting gaoler till the 1st of November, 1859. 
5257. What class of prisoners is this building chiefly used for ? All prisoners tried at the 
Courts at Bathurst on their way down to earlinghurst Gaol, or Cockatoo Island, stop hero 
one night and sometimes two, if the weather is not favourable for sending them on. 
5258. Sometimes more, I suppose ? They have not been detained more than two nights. 
5259. What is the largest number you have received in transit 7 Seventeen. 
5260. Do you remember whether they were detained one or two nights ? I can tell from 
the book. (The .witness referred to his book.) Only one night. 
5261. Do you recollect how they were confined during the night, whether in one room or 
two? Thera were ten detained in the large room, and the remainder in the two smaller 
ones. 
5262. Were they at all refractory-had they to be chained ? They are brought down on 
the chain, and the chain is left on one hand. 
5262. Were they secured to these iron bars ? That gang was not. 
5264. Were they accommodated with blankets or any kind of bedding given to them? They 
had a couple of dozen blankets given to them. 
6265. And they had to sleep in the best way they could, covered with these blankets ? Yes. 
5260. Had they any utensils during the night to make use of? Yes, tubs. 
5267. Do you recollect whether the numbers that have been detained here, en route to 
Sydney, on other occasions, have been at all approaching that number ? No, we have 
seldom had more than twelve. 
5268. Have you ten or twelve often ? No, not very often. The next gang was ten. 
5269. What system do you adopt on receiving these men-how are they committed to your 
charge ? On a warrant signed by the Sheriff that accompanies them, directed to all gaolers 
and lock-up keepers. As they come in here I search them, not taking them off the chain, 
and I then supply them with tea and anything they require in that way-never with any 
spirits, unless they are allowed by the doctor. 
5270. How often do you receive prisoners in transitu? Very often; once every three 
months we receive a chain gang, but other prisoners in transitu from Bathurst, Mudgee, and 
other places almost every week. This day we had one from Bathurst and one from Mudge°, 
lunatics. 
6271. Have you had many who appeared turbulent refractory characters ? Not many. 
5272. Do you chain them to these rings ? Sometimes, when they are very bad characters. 
5278. In cases where you have considered it necessary for their security ? For their security 
only. 
5274. How are they supplied with food when they are detained here ? They are allowed a 
2-lb. loaf of the best bread, and 1 lb. of the best beef. 
5275. Do they generally arrive by the snail? No, they are marched down. 
5276. Do they arrive here at all hours ? They generally arrive here about two or three 
o'clock in the afternoon-they come on here from Eighteen-mile Hollow. 
5277. They arrange their marches so as to ho in in good time? Yes; it takes them seven 
or eight days to come from Bathurst, and they arrange their stages so as to stop at the 
various watch-houses on the road at night. 
5278. I suppose prisoners are confined here who are sentenced by the Bench sitting here? 
Yes, for all sentences not exceeding a week; where a sentence exceeds a week, if for 
fourteen days, the prisoner is sent to Parramatta. 
5279. All sentences under seven days, whether passed upon males or females, are carried out 
here ? Yes. 
5280. Where do you confine your female prisoners ? If there are no male prisoners here 
we confine them here; if there are male prisoners we confine the females in a cell in the 

Court 

Mr. 
Tubman. 
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Court House. There are three small cells at the end of the Court House where we sometimes l'enrith Gaol. 
confine females; but if they are quiet and do not give any annoyance we put the males in 27 Ap_ri1,1561.. 
the large cell and the women in a smaller one. 	 Mr. H. 
5281. Have you, during the time you have been acting gaoler at Penrith, had male and Tolman. 
female prisoners in this building ? I have. 
5282. Often ? I have, on several occasions. 
5282. What means do you adopt on such occasions for securing the separation of the male 
from the female prisoners ? We have no means of preventing their speaking to each other, 
but there can be no other intercourse. 
5284. When there are any prisoners in the gaol is there any one in charge all night ? Yes; 
there is a man on duty all night. 
5285. Where does he discharge the duty ? He remains in the yard between this and the 
Court House. (Some twenty yards distant.) 
5286. There is an outside sentinel in fact ? Yes. 
5287. You have of course in your book entries showing the number of sentences awarded 
by your local Bench ? Yes. 
5288. Will you furnish the Committee with a return sbewing the number of prisoners 
sentenced by the local Bench since the 1st of January last, and the length of time for 
which they were confined ? I will do so. ( Yids Appendix A.) 
5289. What means do you adopt of cleansing this place after a number of prisoners have 
been in it ? It is mopped out. 
5290. I suppose it is very filthy sometimes ? No. If I have any here under sentence I 
sometimes make them clean it out. 
5291. When do you expect the new gaol will be finished? The carpenter told me he was 
to have finished it on the 25th of this month, but I expect it will take him another month. 

[The Committee entered the new gaol, which is a brick building consisting 
of two rooms, each about sixteen feet by twelve and ten feet six inches in height, 
and two cells, respectively ten feet by twelve and ten by thirteen, of the same height 
as the rooms. The cells form wings on each side of the house, and are entered by 
doors opening into the front room; abundant light and air are admitted by two 
ventilators about nine inches by two feet, protected by iron bars.] 

5292. What is this central front room intended for ? I have been told by the contractor 
that it is for the accommodation of the lock-up keeper; this room, and the one of the same 
size at the rear. 
5293. The intended cells are on each side of this ? Yes. 
5294. Do you think this building, when it is completed, will serve the purposes of the 
wooden building we have been in? From my experience since I have been here, I think it 
would not. 
5295. Do you think it a good arrangement for the lock-up keeper to live here with his 
family, having prisoners in the cells on each side of him ? I do not think it by any means 
a good arrangement; it may be a very good arrangement as far as the security of the 
prisoners is concerned. 
5296. Would you like to live here yourself ? I should not like to bring my family with me. 
5297. For what reason ? There are a number of drunkards in this neighbourhood, and 
when they are brought in drunk they use the most filthy language I have ever heard since 
I have joined the police. 
5298. Which would be heard by your wife and children if they were here ? It might be 
heard on the other side of the read. 
5299. You stated to me just now that you believe this building was erected here by mistake, 
and that it was intended for St. Mary's ? Only from what I heard. I heard Mr. Robert 
Jamison say, it must have been a mistake to have put it here. 
5300. You mean Mr. Jamison, the late Member of the Legislative Assembly ? Yes. 
5301. Is a watch-house badly wanted at St. Mary's? Yes. 
5302. I row many constables are stationed there ? Two. 
5303. How long have they been there ? Only a couple of months; they were stationed 
there on account of the number of disorderly men at the railway, who caused a great deal 
of disturbance. 
5304. If a constable apprehended a prisoner there at night time, what could he do with 
him ? Bring him here. 
5305. A distance of three miles ? Four miles. 
5306. He would have to bring a drunken, disorderly man a distance of four miles ? In 
some cases now they are marched here, in others they are brought in on a cart. 
5307. Do you consider that a watch-house is required at St. Mary's. I do. 
5308. By Mr. Lucas: The only entry to these cells is through the living-room of the lock-up 
keeper ? Yes. 
5309. And when the cells are cleaned out all the filth from them must come through this 
room? Yes. 
5310. And prisoners going from the cells to the yard in the rear must pass through the 
bedroom of the lock-up keeper? They must. 
5311. There is no other way into the yard? No. 

[Leaving the new gaol, the Committee crossed over to the Court House, and 
inspected the cells referred to by the witness. At the end of the Court House is a 
small door pierced with fourteen one-inch auger holes; this opens into a passage 
about three feet wide. On the left hand side are three cells, each about seven feet 
by four, lined with slabs, having no openings for the admission of light and air 
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Penrith Gaol. 
27 April, 1861. 

— 
Mr. 11. 
Tubman. 

except ten one-inch auger holes, five respectively at the top and bottom of the door, 
and a small aperture in the ceiling. There was a most offensive, close, and musty 
smell in these cells, and when the doors were closed they were almost totally dark.) 

5312. That is where you have confined females ? Very seldom—only one or two during the 
last. n inetcen months. 
5313. Are they locked up when they are not occupied ? Not always. 
5314. Is the outer door left open for the purposes of ventilation ? I leave it open sometimes 
during the day, but I have now some gunpowder in one of the cells. 
5315. How many confines have you had in the cells during the time you have been acting 
gaoler ? I think I have had four altogether. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

Rcrung showing the number of Prisoners received at Penrith Lock-up, from 1st January to 
30th April ;  1861. 

HENRY FURMAN, 
Penrith, 3 Nay, 1861. 	 Acting Gaoler. 

FRIDAY, 3 MAY, 1861. 

Prt5int 
MR. MATE, 	 MR. WALSH, 
MR. MORRIS, 	 Mn. WILSON, 
Mn, SUTHERLAND, 	Ma. WINDEYER. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CRAM. 
John O'Neill Brenan, Esq., called, in and examined :— 

John O'Neill 53I6. By the Chairman: You held the office of Sheriff of the Colony for some years ? Yes, 
Brenan, Esq. and I consider that I am Sheriff now. 

ze---A--1 5317. Something has taken place which, of course, the Committee do not wish to enter 
3 May, 1861. into, but there has been some action on the part of the Government with respect to your 

office ? Yes. 
5318. You still consider yourself Sheriff? I do. 
5319. Are you still in the active discharge of the duties pertaining to that office ? No, I 
am not. 
5320. When did you cease to perform the active duties of the office ? On the 15th February 
partially, and, absolutely, on the 16th or 17th of April. 
5321. How long is it since your appointment to that office? I was appointed on the 2nd. 
January, 1851. 
5322. You have expressed a desire to be examined before this Committee? Yes; I 
expressed it to you. 
5328. You were, I believe, previously summoned to give evidence, but in consequence of 
some objection raised by you, in which the Committee concurred, you were not then 
examined ? Just so. 
5324. It was part of your duty to inspect the prison at Darlinglaurst during the time yon 
were Sheriff ? Yes ; it was part of my duty. 
5325. Did this inspection also extend to the prison at Parramatta, and to the establishment 
at Cockatoo island? No; to Parramatta and the gaols generally, but not to Cockatoo Island. 
5826. You considered it within your province to inspect the gaols throughout the Colony ? 
Yes, as Sheriff, of course. 
5327. Did you understand by the term "prisons," inferior establishments, such as the 
country lock-ups and places of that kind? No; these have been only lately established. 
I visited very few of them, and I exercised no control over them. The lock-ups were pro-
claimed gaols for a particular object, as I understood it, and that was to legalize the custody 
of prisoners awaiting trial at Quarter Sessions, otherwise the lock-up keeper would have no 
authority for their detention. I state that of course, knowing the object of Government, and 
in justice to the Government, because the idea of calling these lock -ups gaols is otherwise 
quite absurd. 
5328, The Committee think it best that you make whatever statement you desire to make, 
without the usual interrogations by which these examinations are generally distinguished; 
and it appears to them, as well, that I should state to you, in general terms, the result of 
their inquiries on the spot, as to the state of the prisons at Darlinghurst and Parramatta, 
more especially of Darlinghurst. Of course I cannot go into details in any informa- 
tion I give to you. I only state the general results of our inquiry within the walls 

of 
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of the prison. 	The Committee have visited Darlinghurst Gaol twice, and they have John O'Neill 
discovered, to their satisfaction as to the fact, that there has not existed any regulation 13"11311,  Esq. 
compelling personal cleanliness among the prisoners for years past; they found some of the 
cells, especially in the female wing, very filthy with vermin; they also found that the 3  MU, 1861 . 
bedding used by the prisoners was, in their judgment, very far from clean, according to the 
statements made by some of the prisoners, and corroborated by other statements ; the 
blankets, in some instances, had not been washed for very long periods, more than twelve 
months; they also found that, in their judgment, there were not sufficient regulations in the 
conduct of the workshop to prevent the melt frdm secreting tools to promote their own 
escape ; there did not appear to be any means of search after the men left the workshops. The 
Committee were also surprised to find that there was no attempt at a school, or any means of 
instruction for the younger, or for any of the prisoners, and the general impression left upon our 
minds—I use the term "general impression" because, as you are aware, the Committee 
have not yet reported, and I believe I interpret the impression correctly—was, that thrre was 
a great want of vigilance in the general management of the prison, in the disposition of the 
wardsmen, in the regulations established for the good conduct of the prisoners, and for the 
purposes of their health and safe custody. I have given you this information out of what 
appeared to be fairness to you, so that you might be the better enabled to make any state-
ment you chose to the ,Committee? With regard to regulations for personal cleanliness, 
there is no doubt no rule for compelling prisoners to wash themselves, or to keep themselves 
clean—no written rule ; but it is the especial duty of the warder in charge of the particular 
wing to which the prisoner belongs, in the first place to see that the prisoners are not 
objectionable to each other for want of personal cleanliness; it is also the duty of the 
principal warder to see that the warders in charge of the wing, or of the wings, do their 
duties in this respect; it is also the duty of the gaoler to sec the prisoners once a day, aud 
if he perceived any want of cleanliness on the part of any prisoner that rendered him 
objectionable to his fellow prisoners, it is his duty to remark it, and to see that it is remedied. 
Therefore, as in a regiment, the corporal, the sergeant, the subaltern, and the captain, have 
each their particular duties, so it is in the gaol, or ought to be. A person visiting, as I 
could only do, occasionally, seeing the prisoners at a distance—not examining their persons—
could not ascertain whether they were personally clean or not, unless his attention was drawn 
to it; and I may here inform the Committee that my attention was never drawn to it but 
once, and that was by a Cockatoo Island prisoner. I remember now there were two. I 
think the name of one was Williams; he spoke to me about some men who were placed in 
his cell, whose persons were objectionable to him on account of want of cleanliness, They 
were short sentenced people. I ordered their removal from the cell, and directed them to 
be put in another cell by themselves. That is the only instance in which the matter was 
brought under any particular notice. Therefore, if such a thing has exisred—and 1 presume 
it must have clone from what the Committee say—all I can say is, that the warder in charge 
of the wing to which the prisoner belonged neglected his duty in the first instance ; the 
principal warder, secondly; and the gaoler, thirdly. I as visitor once in ten days or so, as 
a general supervisor of the working of the establishment, could not be supposed to know all 
these things, unless my attention was drawn to it. With respect to the cells :—In the 
women's cells I certainly knew there were bugs, and I saw them also in the men's cells. 
The reason of their being in the state they were in when the Committee saw them was 
this :—Early in January, or at the latter end of December, 105 Cockatoo Island prisoners 
were sent to Darlinghurst Gaol for solitary confinement, and they were obliged to be placed 
in the wing next to the female wing. Their confinement entailed a great deal of extra duty 
upon the effacers, and it was not safe or practicable to send—as I was informed when I spoke 
to the matron and gaoler about it—the men to whitewash the female wing, as the warders 
could not be spared from their duties, to watch the prisoners while they were engaged in 
whitewashing the cells. That the cells were not in such a state some short time before, I 
am personally aware, because I saw them ; but the Committee will bear in miud, that the 
influx of prisoners who cannot be clothed in the prison dress, who cannot be washed except 
by the positive directions of the medical officer, who have not even the power, if they were 
willing, to wash themselves, or even to comb their hair,—that such women corning in from 
the dens of Sydney almost daily,—must bring in vermin in immense quantities into the 
gaol; and therefore it is very difficult for prisoners of that class to be kept clean, or the 
prison in which they are confined. To the immense number of that class who go into the 
Sydney Gaol, I ascribe almost all the irregularities, and the deficiency in the general 
management and cleanliness. In 1856 there were of this class 2,571 males and 2,484 
females, making a total of 5,055, sent for 24 or 48 hours, and 3 days; women most filthy 
in their persons, women that would not be washed, whom we dared not wash or put in the 
bath without the doctor's orders, who, when they come into gaol, are barely able to walk 
into their cells from tremor, the effects of drink and dirt. These numbers include prisoners 
for solitary confinement and imprisonment without labour, and are all short sentenced 
prisoners generally speaking. In 1857 there were 1,998 males and 2,201 females, making a 
total of 4,199. In 1858 there were 2,275 males and 2,079 females, making a total of 4,354. 
So that this will, to a certain extent, excuse the officers for not keeping the women and 
their cells so clean as they ought to be. (The witness handed in a return. Vide Appendix AO 
5329. I may here state to you that the vermin more particularly alluded to is the common 
house-bug, which were noticed in some of the cells in nests consisting of hundreds, forming 
dark patches of an inch or two inches on the walls and ceilings, and in the hinges of the 
doors, and in all the cells they were noticed to be more or less numerous ? With regard to 
the female wing it certainly did not come under my notice, because I had not visited that 
branch of the prison on account of the Cockatoo men. My attention was more particularly 

drawn 
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:John O'Neill drawn at flint time to the 105 men from Cockatoo Island, who were extremely troublesome, 
Brenan, Esq' extremely noisy; their language was sometimes dreadful, and disgusting in the extreme, and it 

es-1---■ was will' the greatest difficulty I could prevent their speaking to the women and gesticulating 
3  May, 1861 . to them from the windows of their cells. The women had previonsly occupied the yard next 

to the wing occupied by these prisoners, and they were obliged to be removed and confined 
in the wing. That was the reason the cells were in that state when the Committee saw 
them. A short time before the Cockatoo Island prisoners came in I directed that a custom 
which had been previously adopted should be discontinued, that of driving nails into the 
walls, and making nail holes, as I considered that these holes formed receptacles for bugs and 
vermin, I directed that the nails should be taken out, that the holes should be stopped up 
with putty, and whitewashed over. I also directed the warder to get a particular kind of 
nail or hook made, to be driven into the wall for hanging the prisoners' clothes upon, and to • 
have the holes well stopped up with putty, so that no crevices might be left to enable the 
bugs to squeeze themselves in. As to the hinges of the door, of course that was a thin* I 
might not notice in a casual visit, but it is the duty of the warder who has charge of the 
wings, and who is bound to see that the cells are cleaned every day, to bring that under the 
notice of the matron. 
5330. We noticed that ? J am quite aware of that, and those who go specially to look into 
such matters may discover what others paying merely casual visits would not. It was, no 
doubt, the duty of the warder to report it. 
5331. .By Air. Morris: Would you expect persons who had been extremely negligent to 
report their negligence to their superior officers ? I had no reason to suppose they were 
extremely neigligent. The particular duty of the warder is to see that these cells are kept 
clean; and, as I said before, I certainly did not visit the female wing for some fortnight or • 
three weeks before that, and that accounts for my not seeing it in the state in which the 
Committee saw it. What drew my attention to them in the cells, both in the male and 
female wings, was the practice of killing the bugs on the wall with the fingers. 
5332. By the Chairman: Perhaps it is as well to state here, that it has been given in 
evidence—though it is not before me to refer to—that the cells had not been cleaned fur the 
previous six mouths at the shortest.? That is whitewashed. 
5333. Yes ? I was not aware that it was so long as that; the regulation is,.that they shall 
be whitewashed twice a year, and there is no necessity for doing so oftener if the cells are 
kept clean, still it is better to whitewash them every three mouths. In fact it is as well to 
do them often, but the gaol regulation is, that it shall he done at least once or twice a year. 
Now if the prisoner wardsmen were made to do their duty, and to keep the cells clean, it 
would not ho necessary to whitewash them so often. With reference to the bedding not being 
clean, of course, the same remarks apply ; but I am not aware, nor has it ever been reported 
to me, nor have I ever heard that the blankets were so very dirty as that, or so long unwashed. 
No doubt the prison was short of blankets, and my attention was drawn to it a short time 
ago when the Cockatoo Island prisoners were sent there, for one of the prisoners—and only 
one of them—spoke of his blankets being dirty. I examined his blankets, and they were no 
doubt dirty, and I directed that the prisoners should have other blankets; the reply was that 
they had no others. 
5334. Some of the prisoners complained in very positive language of their bedding being lousy, 
but the Committee did not notice any filth of that kind ? Such a state of things was never 
brought under my notice, for if it had been I should have directed the blankets to have been 
removed and scalded. I May mention that I had a fumigatingroom put up for the purpose of 
fumigating the clothes of the prisoners, and though I was constantly among the prisoners they 
never made a complaint of the kind except in one instance. Had they done so I should have 
given directions to have it remedied as far as the authorities could do so; certainly it was not 
brought under any notice by my subordinates, as such a state of things ought to have been. The 
gaoler should have told me of it, as it his particular duty, being resident in the establish-
ment, to see to these things himself personally. lie should see each cell at least once a day, 
or every second day ; therefore, such a state of things could not have existed without his 
having neglected his duty, I must say, most grossly. When I visited the gaol I saw the 
blankets and bedding were folded up and piled upon the top of each other, and *I 
was not in the habit of taking them down and examining them* ; and on the only 
occasion when I saw vermin I gave the orders I have just alluded to. With regard to 
the workshops and the searching of the men coming out of the workshops, it is the particular 
duty of the trade overseers to see the tools counted out to the prisoners and to see them recounted 
on their return, and particularly in the blacksmiths' shop. The overseer of that shop is 
supposed to be with the prisoners almost the whole day unless called away for some special 
purpose. It is also the duty of the principal turnkey to see that the officers do their duty 
in that respect when the prisoners are mustered, and to stand by as they pass into the wing. 
Before the trade overseers were appointed, which was in 1860, that duty was allotted to 
Mr. Harrison, the principal warder, and to the officers appointed to assist him ; but since 
the appointment of the trade overseers, all the tools and all the materials are in their special 
charge, and they are accountable to the Colonial Architect for them. Since January, 1860, 
that branch has been entirely under the control of the Colonial Architect. 
5335. By Arr. A/minis: The workshops are not all under the same roof; for instance—the 
carpenters' shop is separate from the cabinetmakers, so that the overseer has to go from one 
part of the establishment to another to inspect the work going on, and during his absence 
men may secrete anything upon their persons, not the tools they work with, but tools they 

may 

* NOTE (Correction by witness Oar revision) :—I did not order them to be unfolded and examined, 
because I had no reason for doing so. 
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may make themselves or pieces of old iron, which it is impossible for the overseer to observe. John O'Neill 
Such things have been taken away, and for that reason search is necessary ? To remedy 33"'"' Esc!' 
that I proposed that the workshops now in progress should be all under one roof, and that 
proposal is now being carried out. I say it is impossible to carry out a proper system, and 3  May' 1861,  
that is a branch of a system, unless the accommodation of a gaol is such as to enable the 
authorities to do so. While upon that branch of the subject, I may mention, that in 1854, 
shortly after I was made Sheriff, I represented to the Government the imperfect state of the 
gaols, and I may say, that I have endeavoured to push on the improvements at Darlinghurst 
as fast as I could, and urged the Government, on several occasions, to put sums of money 
upon the Estimates to enable um to get these improvements made which were absolutely 
necessary to enable the authorities to carry out a proper system, or to conduct the gaols 
properly. I have, over and over again, spoken to those in power upon the subject, and it is, 
perhaps, a disadvantage to me now; but the Committee will, perhaps, take any statement as 
as though it were a written one. I have, over and over again, visited every Minister that 
has come into power and specially drawn his attention to the state of the gaol, and to the 
impossibility of carrying out a proper system, and I have always beeumet by the Minister, 
" We will consider that subject presently; it is one of the subjects we will take up imme-
diately, and go through with it." It is very difficult and sometimes very unpleasant for a 
Government officer, after such an intimation, to continue to write to a Minister, reminding 
him of these things. Such an officer would, perhaps, in the end, be his own friend, hut 
certainly he will be a great pest to the Minister. In 1.8541 wrote to the Government-
5330. There was no Responsible Minister in power then ? I know that, but I mention it to 
show that the subject then occupied any attention, and that I pointed out to the Govern- 

. • ment the imperative necessity of putting the gaol into a proper state, to enable a tolerably 
efficient system to be carried out. I would also refer to one document on the subject of the 
work done in gaols, and I may here say, that my object was not then to make money for the 
Government by the labour of prisoners ; my chief desire was, to improve the gaol itself 
first, and then to let these men make money for the Government afterwards. In 
one of my letters, dated 13th October, 1856, addressed to the Colonial Secretary, I 
say, with reference to some comments that had been made by Mr. Forbes about the 
working of the men in 'gaol, "At the same time denying, in tab, that Mr. Forbes 
" has introduced any new system of prison discipline into Parramatta Gaol ; he has, no 
" doubt, got employment for the prisoners from the people of that town ; but I have yet to 
"learn that a number of men cooped up in a small yard cutting stone, and fifty-four seated in 
" the corridor of one of the wings of the gaol, cabbagetree hatmaking, and sleeping four or 
" five in a cell at night, is a new and improved system of prison discipline, for, as I regard the 
" subject, I apprehend that employment is but one of the very many important branches of the 
"'system, viz. :—classification, separate confinement during the hours of rest, education, 
" religious and secular, most of which are defectively carried out in the gaols of the Colony, 
" owing in a great measure to the establishments being wholly unfit for carrying out a proper 
" system ; therefore, I think it would have been much better had Mr. Forbes exerted the same 
" energies to get the Government to obtain funds to enable them to carry out the improve-
" ments so much required in the establishment of which he is the Visiting Justice, and with-
" out which no proper system of prison discipline can be introduced, with good results, in that 
" establishment." 

(At the Chairman's request witness temporarily retired.) 

Alexander Dawson, Esq., called in and examined :— 
5337. By the Chairman : You are Colonial Architect ? I am. 	 A. Dawson, 

E 5338. Can you inform this Committee the number of prison buildings in the Colony, their 	sq.  
extent, what state of repair they are in, and whether they are occupied or not ? 1 under-
stood from the note I received, that the Cmmittee required the information only for the 

r"--"--" 

gaols in the County of Cumberland; but I will submit the additional information to the 	
1861. e 	3 MaY 1  

Committee. 
5339. We do not want plans, but merely particulars as to the means of accommodation 
afforded by these buildings, and the other details I have mentioned ? As far as Berrima, 
Bathurst, and Goulburn are concerned, I could simply say built of brick, consisting of so 
many cells. I will, however, submit to the Committee the additional particulars required. 
5340. Perhaps you will supply the Committee with a return showing the number of the 
principal gaols—I mean exclusive of common lock-ups—the areas they occupy, where you 
can, the number of cells, the accommodation they are capable of affording prisoners, what 
materials they arc built of, the state of repair they are in, whether they are occupied or not 
at the present time for prison or other purposes; and, where you cannot give us these 
particulars, such particulars as you can give ? I will do so. ( Vide Appendix A.) 
5341. Perhaps you had better send in two returns, one shewing the number of principal 
gaols, and the other showing the number of lock-ups proclaimed as gaols ? I am not aware 
what lock-ups are proclaimed gaols. 
5342. Can you state to us whether the new lock-ups erected under the District Courts Act, 
for which there have been two grants voted by the Legislative Assembly of .425,000 each, 
are on the same plan as the lock-up at Penrith now in course of erection ? Not at all, they 
are varied in plan; hi some of the districts I have to convert existing buildings and add. 
cells to them. There arc a great many on the some plan. 
5343. When you say a great many, how many do you mean ? I should say half-a-dozen 
have been built; and there are some now being built. 

5344, 
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A. Dawson, 5344. How many are there in course of erection ? I should say from twelve to fifteen. 
Esq. 5345. The lock-up now in course of erection at Penrith is a brick building consisting of a 

"'Le.,  dwelling room for the lock-up keeper, with a cell on each side, the doors for entering the 
3  may, 1361 . cell going out of the living-room, with a bedroom in the rear ? In the rear of the lock-up 

keeper's living-room. 
5346. You say you have built several on that plan—a dozen or more? Quite that number. 
5347. By Mr. Walsh: The twelve lock•ups you have spoken of are principally for police 
purposes? Exclusively for transit purposes. 
5348. The money voted for the extension of gaols to meet the requirements of the District 
Courts Act, has any part of it been devoted to building these lock-ups? No; the £25,000 has 
been confined to gaols and Court Houses only. 
5349. The enlargement of existing lock-ups where District Courts have been proclaimed ? 
Yes; and although not perhaps a competent authority in such matters, in all probability 
new lock-ups will have to be erected if the present ones are to be considered or converted 
into gaols. 
5350. For instance, the lock-up at Yass has been enlarged ? Yes, that is one; but it is 
proposed to build another watch-house there for night casualties. 
5351. By the Chairman : Will you be good enough to state upon what plan the gaols are 
built under the District Courts Act ? *There are three rooms in front ; two for the use of 
the gaoler, and one for stolen property, and a series of cells to form a quadrangle in the 
rear.* The plans are designed to be capable of future extension. 

(H. Parkes, Esq., here left the Chair, and .1. B. Wilson, Esq., was moved thereto . 
pro. temp) 

J. B. WILSON, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
5352. By Mr. Wets: Is the plan you have just described that upon which the gaol at 
Albury is erected ? tilo, this is a third-class gaol, such as is erected at Wollongong:1' At 
Albury there is a first-class gaol of two stories. 
5353. By Mr. Morris : What class gaol is the building at Penrith ? troll may say it is a 
th i rd-class gaol 
5854. By the Chairman : Have you received any specific instructions from the Government 
as to the size of the cells ? No, the Government have left that entirely to my discretion. 
I have erected a great number of gaols, I am sorry to say, and the capacity of the cells is 
chiefly guided by the climate in which they are built. There has been, of late, much con-
sideration about the capacity of cells, and since the Crimean war the capacity of cells, 
especially for military prisoners, has been much increased. Of course it depends entirely 
upon climate and proper ventilation of the cell. Here and in Tasmania I have generally 
constructed cells containing gm§ cubic feet, and in military cells, upon recent instructions, 
the Imperial Government have allowed each man about 60011 cubic feet. 
5855. I think the Government allows between eight and nine hundred feet ? That is 
recently, and especially in hospitals it extends to 900 cubic feet. 
5356. Is there any reason why we should restrict them to a few feet? No, except the 
expense. In England, where the climate is severe, it is necessary to keep away any excessive 
draught, and they warm the cells with heated air ; but here they have sufficient ventilation 
and warmth without artificial heat. 
5357, Perhaps you will be kind enough to inform us the size of the cells you are erecting in 
this Colony ? They are generally about nine feet by six, and ten feet high. That is upwards 
of GOO cubic feet. 
5858. By Mr. Mate: Will you describe the difference between the first, second, and third 
class lock-ups generally I beg to state that I designed a series of Court Houses and gaols, 
which I estimated at .C90,000. The Government, I believe, would not meet that expense, 
and these plans were all curtailed. It was thought by the Government of the day that 
£50,000 Ivas sufficient, and this sum was again reduced to £25,000 by the succeeding 
Government. I consider the means now voted much too small to erect proper gaols through-
out the Colony. I am not yet aware what the Government intend to do with the last vote 
of £25,000. I presume I will receive instructions so soon as the Appropriation Act is passed 
for then services. I have not as yet received any instructions. 
5359. By Mr. Sutherland : Then the gaols are not carried out according to your plans ? 
No, not upon the original designs r submitted to the Government, but upon plans subse-
quently prepared- 

APPENDIX. 

° NOTE (The above omitted and following substituted on revision) :— There are three classes of 
gaols, which have been authorized by the Government, the designs of which may be seen by a 
reference to the plans. 

NOTE ( The above omitted on recision.) 
NOTE ( The above omitted and following Substituted on revision) : —That building is a lock -up, rot 

a gaol. 
§ NOTE (Corrected on revision) :--600. 	 Non (Corrected on revision) :-800. 

NOTE ( By witness on revision) :—I presume you mean gaols, not 4 ' lock-ups "; they are shown by 
the plans submitted. 
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APPENDIX. 	 A. Dawson, 
A. 	 Esq. 

RETURN shelving the accommodation of the principal Gaols in the Colony of New South Wales. 	,.. 

Occupied by prisoners. Built of cut stone, and Cells laid with flagging. The buildings are all in 	

y. 1801. 
DARLINGHURST GAOL. 

a good state of repair, and consist of 4 cell ranges, 3 stories each, gaoler's quarters, debtors' prison, 
turnkey's quarters, hospital, bath-rooms, keeper's quarters at gate, and dead-house. This gaol is 
constructed to accommodate 432 prisoners, viz. :— 318 Male. 

114 Female. 

432 

ft in. 	ft. in. 
Cells : — No. 1 range contains 21 cells .. 8 0 by 6 0 

	

do. 	24 do. .. 12 0 by 83 
2 	do. 	42 do. .. 12 1 by 8 1 
3 	ch. 	36 do. 	12 2 by 8 1 

	

do. 	C do. .. 8 1 by 50 
4 	do. 	78 do. .. 8 1 by 5 1 

Gaoler's quarters :—consisting of 10 rooms, besides basement 
It in 	ft. in. 

Debtors' prison contains :-0 cells 	.. 12 0 by 8 6 
1 store-room.. 12 0 by 8 6 
1 room 	.. 23 0 by 18 0 

Turnkey's quarters contain:-2 rooms 	• • 16 6 by 13 0 1 used as office. 
2 do. 	.. 16 G by 15 6 

Hospital contains :— 	2 wards 	.. 25 3 by 22 3 Male. 
1 do... 25 3 by 22 3 Female. 
1 surgery .. 25 3 by 12 0 
1 nurse-room 13 3 by 0 0 

3 Bath-rooms. 
Keeper's quarters at Gate contains 4 rooms 10 0 by 10 0 
Dead-house, consisting of 1 room 	. 11 6 by 12 6 
Drying-room, 	do. 	 0 by 5 0 
Old hospital, now used as a store, 3 floors.. 31 8 by 31 8 each. 

PARRAMATTA GAOL. 
N ow occupied by prisoners. Built of stone, and in good repair ; constructed to accommodate 156 

male and SC female prisoners, in 56 cells 12ft. Sin. by Sft. tin., three to each, and 71 cells 8ft. by Oft., 
one to each. 

The detached buildings and offices consist of— 
Gaoler's quarters and office, 6 rooms in all. 

ft. in. 	ft. in 
Male hospital, consisting of-1 ward 	$1 3 by 11 3 

1 do. 	.. 16 11 by-  11 Band 
Surgery 	 14 0 by 11 3 
Female hospital. 2 wards .. 	 31 3 by 11 3 each. 
Turnkey's quarters, consisting of 1 rooms 17 0 by 13 0 at Entrance Gate. 

BERRIMA GAOL. 
Now occupied by prisoners. Consisting of 3 cell ranges, 1 story high ; the outer walls built of 

cut stone, and the internal walls, out-buildings, and boundary wall of brick. The buildings are all in 
tolerable repair. 

The prison is adapted for 65 male prisoners, in- 

14 cells .. 	• • 	 4- 
ft. in. 	it: in. 

	

6 	.. 	
8 0 by 	0 for 1 prisoner, each. 

1°  ° l'Y 5 ° I for 31 ) "son s do 
do.  

. .. 	 ri 	er , ellcl 1. 7 0 by 6 6  20 
The out-buildings consist of- 

Cook-house 	.. 	.. 	• • 	.. 20 0 by 15 0 
.. 15 6 by 15 0 

Turnkeys' rooms (2) .. 	 .. 12 0 by 15 0 
15 0 by 15 0 
10 0 by 15 o 

And 2 rooms in building at north-east angle, each 15 0 by 15 0 the present appropriation not 
known. 

BATHURST GAOL. 
Now occupied by prisoners. Built of brick, and in tolerable repair; consisting of 1 cell range, 

3 stories high, and adapted for 101 male and 63 female prisoners. 
rt. in. 	ft. in. 

Ground floor 	 11. cells .. 8 0 by 5 0 1 prisoner to each. 
Second do. 	 21 do. .. 11 6 by 8 0 3 	do. 	do. 
Third do. 	 21 do. .. 11 6 by 5 0 female prison, 3 to each. 
Hospital 	 1 ward .. 15 0 by 12 0 

2 do. .. 11 0 by 8 0 
GOULDURN GOAL. 

Now occupied by prisoners. 	Built of brick, and in tolerable repair ; consisting of 1 cell range, 
3 stories high, and adapted for 101 male and 63 female prisoners. 

ft. 	in. 	ft. 	in. 

Ground floor 41 cells 	.. 8 0 by 	5 0 {1 prisoner to each; 	3 	of 
these used as stores. 

3 prisoners to each ; 	1 of 
Second 	do. 21 	do. 	.. 11 6 by 	8 0 	these used 	as turnkey's 

quarters, and 1 as store. 
Female prison, 	3 to each 

Third 	do. 21 	do. 	• • 11 6 by 8 0 	cell ; 1 cell used as female 
turnkey's quarters. 

Hospital 	.. 1 ward 	.. 15 Shy 10 10 
2 	do. 	.. 8 2 by 10 10 

Gaoler's quarters and buildings, near Entrance. 
Guard-room 	.. 	• . 	.. 	.. 	... 14 0 by 14 0 
Office 	.. 	.. 	.. .. 	.. 	.. 14 0 by 13 0 
Store 	.. 	.. 	.. .. 	.. 	.. 14 0 by 13 0 	 • 

ALEXR. DAWSON, 
Colonial Architect. 

(The 
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(The Chairman having returned,—) 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 
John O'Neill Bream, Esq., recalled and further examined:— 

John O'Neill ( Mines.? resuming : Answer No. 5336 ?) I might refer to several letters addressed by me to 
Brenan, Esq. the Government upon this subject, but I do not wish to detain the Committee. I would, 

r—A---;\ however, beg to refer to one written on the 20th March, 1859, on account of some letters 
3 May, 1861. that appeared in the public press about the working of the gaols. I say :—" It is hardly 

" necessary for me to remind the Colonial Secretary that I never said, or pretended, that 
" there was what could be called prison discipline carried out in any of the gaols of the 
" Colony, and, as I stated in former communications to the Secretary, that my only reason for 
"opposing the employment of able-bodied prisoners at Darlinghurst for private individuals-
" to the obstruction of the building in course of erection, and so much required—was my desire 
" to get the establishment built and remodelled as speedily as possibly, to enable the authorities 
" to carry out.the proper system of prison discipline. As I am not desirous of wearying the 
" Colonial Secretary by here entering into a comparison of the mode of working, or the MU (Mint 
" of work performed by the prisoners in Darlinghurst and Parramatta Gaols respectively, and 
" should not have troubled him thus much did I not feel bound to do so in justice to all 
"parties, on account of the letter written and published in the herald, by Mr. Forbes. I 
"shall conclude by assuring the Colonial Secretary that I am quite alive to the defects, or 
" rather want of prison discipline, in all the prisons ;  and that I should have long since 
" written to him on the subject had I not been assured by him, personally, that as soon as 
" the Session (which has been a very harassing one) was over, he would enter with me into 
" the whole- subject most fully and minutely, in order to ascertain the best and most expo-
" ditious mode of dealing with this very difficult and complicated question." Nothing, I 
need hardly say, has been done since then. Now, to sbew that I have turned the labour to 
account ; and I admit that *I may have lost sight of many* things which, if the gaol had 
been in a proper state, would have attracted my attention at once—my great anxiety was to 
have the gaol remodelled and improved. When I took charge of Dartinghurst Gaol there 
was the letter A wing built, called the committal wing, but in it are confined 
prisoners awaiting trial, prisoners on remand, and prisoners sentenced to imprisonment only ; 
letter B wing, in which, though styled the hard labour wing, are confined both hard labour 
prisoners and confines. On reference to the return I have handed in, you will see that of 
confines under six months, in 1856, there were 517 males ; in 1857, 740; and in 1858, 
631. Six months, and under twelve—in 1856, 56; in 1857, 37; in 1858, 33. Twelve 
months, and under two years—in 1856, .30; in 1857, 15; in 1858, 7. Two years, and 
under three years—in 1856, 34; in 1857, 22; and in 1858, 9. Three years and upwards 
—in 1856, 9, of which there were several invalided Cockatoo men, 6 I think ; in 1857, 6; 
and in 1858, 5. Now I refer to this at this moment, to show the Committee the material 
with which I had to make these improvements. I had no prisoners there whose sentences 
were sufficiently long to enable me to make tradesmen of them. They were all rough 
hands, and short sentenced men, a class of men most difficult to manage, most difficult to 
supply with work on account of many of them being sailors or vagabonds about town; men 
sent in for drunkenness, dissipated characters. I suppose the majority of these prisoners 
were confined for a mouth, a fortnight, ten days, and so on. Then when I took charge, the 
third wing, E, was allotted to females of all descriptions, both hard labour, and those who 
were sent in for imprisonment only, or for solitary confinement. Now, seeing the state of 
the gaol when I took charge, any attention ISMS most particularly drawn to the want of 
accommodation, the want of means of classification—there were only three yards for the 
male prisoners, and two yards for the females. The rest was an open stockade. There 
were only these three wings erected, the fourth or 1) wing had only the ground floor built, 
and it consisted of cells of the same size as those in the B wing—large cells. I had these 
divided into single cells, and the wing completed to contain 78 prisoners in separate cells. 
The bath-house was partly finished; I got that completed. The foundation of the debtors' 
prison was merely commenced — 
5360. Was that ever used as a debtor's prison ? Yes ; there have been several debtors there. 
5361. Is not that the place where Mr. Harrison lived ? No; he had only the front portion 
of the building ; the back is the debtor's prison. I also had the dead-house, fumigating 
house, and hospital built, which the Committee no doubt saw. I may have overlooked 
many little matters that would otherwise have attracted my attention ; but as I 
said before, my great anxiety when I visited the gaol was to see that the men were at 
work at these buildings and improvements, which I pushed on as fast as possible. 
When I took charge I found that the men were in the habit of taking their meals, some 
sitting on the ground, and others under the hard labour shed, and as I wished to humanize 
them a little, I introduced tables for them. At the same time they had but a few dishes, and 
nothing but wooden or horn spoons supplied to them to eat their meals with ; and I have 
often seen the men obliged to tear the meat with their fingers. I sent in a requisition for 
knives and forks, and it was sent back to the Auditor General with a minute from the 
Colonial Storekeeper, stating, that it was a most unusual application, that knives and forks 
were never allowed in gaols. From the Auditor General the letter was sent to the Colonial 
Secretary, who made a minute upon it, and the application was refused. I then wrote the 
following memorandum to the Colonial Secretary. (The witness read the some. Vide 
Appendix .8.) The application was then granted, and that was the origin of the intro- 

duction 

*Non ( Correction by witness on revision) ;—I may have lost sight of things which, &c. 
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auction of knives and forks. Now my opinion has been most fully confirmed, as the men John O'Neill 
have ever since been most orderly at their meals. In one instance a fork was missed, and Brent" Esq. 
the warders, by my direction, told the men that if it was not forthcoming the knives and r —Ai--Th 
forks would be stopped for nine or ten days; that fork was returned the next day, shelving 3  Man 1881. 
that the prisoners appreciated the indulgence and confidence placed in them. I merely  
instance this to slim my anxiety to improve the condition of the men, and also to show 
the difficulty of getting these things granted by the Government. With regard to the 
trade overseers, I have not, unfortunately, with me here, the rules* I drew up for their 
guidance, as they have been mislaid at Darlinghurst, but I have requested that a copy of 
them may be sent from Parramatta, where they are pasted upon a hoard. When the trade 
overseers were appointed, they were selected by the Colonial Architect and appointed by roe; 
and I may here mention to the Committee that I gave up six warders in order to get these 
four trade overseers, to press on the buildings and improvements of the establishment. 
These men were to be specially Under the direction of the Colonial Architect. And while I 
am upon this subject I may state, that I have heard some very unhandsome and deliberate 
untruths have been told by some of the witnesses with respect to the discharge of these 
six men. I was accused, first, of discharging them on religious grounds. 1 will take that 
first, and in reply I assert that I did not know their religion. 
5362. I may state that sonic evidence has been given before this Committee with respect 
to the discharge of the six warders in January, 1860, to whom you have referred ; and 
according to that evidence, it would appear that the persons discharged were all of one 
religion ; that the persons retained were of another ; and no evidence has been given before 
us, that the discharge of those men was determined by any intelligible principle, as some of 
the men were discharged who were unquestionably men of good character—for they have 
the highest testimonials from the gaoler, Mr. Beverley, and they had been employed in the 
gaol a length of time—while persons, for no obvious reason, who had been only a short time, 
in comparison, were retained. Now,I have always understood it to he a principle universally 
acknowledged in the public service, that length of service should be considered in any 
capacity, unless there were some good reason countervailing that recommendation, and it does 
appear to be unquestionable that some of the men, who were discharged, had filled 
their situations for six or more years, while men were retained who had not been employed 
one-sixth of the time. I do not believe the Committee attach more weight to the circum-
stance stated by one of the witnesses, that the men who were retained were of one religion, 
and the men who were discharged of another, it probably was the result of accident ; but, 
to say the least of it, it looks suspicious, and as it has been stated in evidence, I mention it 
to give you an opportunity of making what explanation you please ? The principle I went 
upon was the one which has just been stated by you ; and 1 .  may inform the Committee, in 
the first place, that I did not select the men who were to leave, but directed my gaoler to 
select them, and I. particularly impressed upon him the necessity of discharging those who 
had been most recently appointed, unless he had some special reason for discharging those 
who were of longer standing. 
5363. Did you give this instruction in writing ? I am not sure whether I did or did not, 
but Mr. 13everley cannot deny it. I have not his note now, but I know be sent me the 
names of those be wished to be discharged. It having been stated that these men were all of 
one religion, and though, as the Chairman has said, that that might have been the result 
of accident, yet it may have struck the mind of the Committee, that I selected to retain all my 
own appointees, and that I disCharged those appointed by my predecessors. Now, I was 
appointed Sheriff in 1854; and, from the list of the warders which I have before me, I find 
that every warder who was discharged was appointed during my time. 
5364. Did you appoint a warder named Johnson who was discharged ? Mr. Beverley 
appointed him. 
5365. Was he appointed in your time? The date of his appointment was 1855. I have 
here a return, which I obtained from the gaol, shewing the names of the warders and the 
dates of their appointments, and I will take the names in the order in which they occur. 
The first is John Macdonald. That man was appointed in 1854; he was the oldest officer 
discharged ; he was a man advanced in years, but a man of the highest character, and one 
whom I regretted to be obliged to discharge. He was recommended to me by Mr. Icely, 
from whom he got the highest character; which character he sustained from the day he 
entered the gaol till the day he left it. Nothing pained me more than to be obliged to 
discharge that man, but it was solely on account of his advanced years. The next man is 
Thomas Johnson ; the date of his appointment is May, 1855. Mr. Beverley selected that 
man to be discharged on account of being deaf; he was a very good man in other respects, 
a man of very upright and very good character. 
5366. Johnson is not very deaf? Mr. Beverley represented to me that it was on account of 
his deafness, and I am aware that he is hard of hearing, as the term is. 
.5367. He is now office-keeper to Mr. Darvall ; I always speak to him in the tone of voice I 
ordinarily use, and he has not any difficulty in hearing me ? He was selected by Mr. 
Beverley on that ground; he was not selected by me. After he bad selected these inen I 
had a consultation with him, and that was the reason he assigned to me for wishing him to 
go. The next man on the list I find is Frederick Pegg; now that man was appointed by 
Mr. Beverley himself, and I must candidly admit to the Committee very much against any 
wish and desire. He applied to me for a situation at Darlinghurst, and I refused him. I 
was absent on circuit when a vacancy occurred, and Mr. Beverley gave it to Pegg. I asked 
Mr. Beverley when I returned why he had appointed that man, and he said be was such a 

very 
NOTE : —Subsequently furnished. Vide Appendix C. 
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John 0*Noill very respectable and smart-looking man that he thought he would make a eery good officer. &ellen. Esq. • 	I told him that I did not approve of the appointment. 
5368. Did you know anything of him ? Yes, I heard he had been dismissed from the 

a 11411't 1561 ' police force, and that was my reason for refusing him when he applied to me; but as he had 
got the situation I allowed him to remain. 
5369. Do you know why Pegg was dismissed from the the police force ? No. Captain 
finerie can tell you the particulars; he knows the man, and can give you his character. 
I know nothing more of him than that I heard he had been dismissed by the police. 
5370. By 31i.. Morris : De you think that after having heard the man had been'clismissed 
from the police, you did your duty in allowing the man to remain without making some 
inquiries ? I knew it was nothing very serious, and that was the reason I did not inquire. 
5371. By the ellgirMal2 : Are you quite sure be was dismissed? I think so. I heard so. 
However, that was my impression at the time, and that was my reason for refusing him—that 
Captain M'Irerie would not give him a good character. His appointment was in 1855. 
5372. By Mr. 	: What was the man's character as a warder in gaol ? I heard nothing 
very much against him ; he was a quarrelsome man, and an ill-tempered man. 
5373. By the Chairman : Do you mean that he indulged in drink ? No, I do not mean 
that he drank; I mean to say that he was ill-tempered and quarrelsome. 
5374. A cross-grained man ? Yes, and Mr. Beverley selected him to go on that account ; 
he was continually in hot water with the other officers of the gaol. The next man, Henry 
Ellis, was appointed in 1856. lIe was discharged, but has been appointed since. Every 
one of those who were dismissed whom I considered well-conducted men, and fit for officers, 
as situations became vacant I offered them to them. I offered Johnson a situation at Yass, 
and he refused it; Henry Ellis accepted a situation at Wollongong—he is now warder there. 

(The Chairman read from the evidence of Frederick Pegg to the witness.) 
5375. With regard to Pegg, of whom you speak as a person who had been dismissed from the 
police force, and against whom you had a prejudice in consequence of this dismissal, it would 
appear from Pegg's own evidence that, so far from that being the case, for the greater part of 
his time he held the position of sergeant in the police, and left at his own request? All I can 
say to that is, that I was under the impression that he was dismissed, or if not dismissed 
that he had to resign, and that he was a person I would not select as an officer of the gaol. 
1 had no personal prejudice against the man ; I did not know him ; and when Mr. Beverley 
appointed him I did not feel justified to rescind that appointment, and so I left him in the 
establishment. However, if there is any conflict between this man's testimony and mine, 
Captain fileberie will be able to explain the matter. I am not sure whether Captain DPLerie 
told me lie was dismissed, but he told me he was a most troublesome character. 
5376. By Mr. Windeycr: When did he tell you that ? Some time ago. 
5377. Since Pegg has been dismissed? Yes. 
5378. 'Mien the only conversation you recollect with Captain finerie is the one you have 
had since Pegg was dismissed ? That is the only conversation I have bad. No; I had a 
conversation with Captain Mterie before Pegg was dismissed, but it was not from Captain 
finerie I heard that lie was dismissed, or had to leave the police. However, he was selected 
by Mr. Beverley, and not by me. With one exception none of the officers who were ap-
pointed by me Were retained, a man of the name of Jeremiah O'Callaghan, DOW removed to 
Berrima. That is the only officer I told Mr. Beverley to retain and my reason for that was, 
that he was the schoolmaster. At the same time I directed Nt. Beverley to offer the situa-
tion to any of the officers he was about to discharge who were capable of taking that office. 
He was the only officer who could teach the prisoners reading, writing, and arithmetic, and 
I had selected him at the time of his appointment on that account. I was not allowed by 
the Government a salary for a schoolmaster, but being anxious to introduce a school into the 
prison, I directed him to be made schoolmaster, and he was so from the day of his appoint-
ment until be left. 
5379. Was it an adult school ? Yes. 
5380. Any prisoner who wished could learn ? Yes. It was merely a class. I wanted to 
make a beginning. 
5381. Did the prisoners shew any disposition to learn ? Yes; particularly Germans and 
foreigners. There were some Germans in prison who got on very well. He also taught the 
females and young girls. I especially allude to him because be was appointed in 1857, and 
he happened to be a Roman Catholic. Pegg and some others spoke to me about it, and I 
said, "Very well, if you can take his situation he shall go ; I cannot do fairer than 
that." 
5382. By the Chairman : Before we leave the subject of the appointment of these turnkeys, 
it has been stated to the Committee that several of the turnkeys have been appointed directly 
from your own service, or from the service of your family ? .There is but one. 
5383. Do you remember who was the turnkey on duty in the exercise yard when a number 
of prisoners, seventeen I think, escaped through the wall? That was after any suspension, 
and it was what I had prognosticated. 
5384. Do you know a turnkey of the name of Callaghan? Yes. 
5385. Was he ever in your service ? No. 
5386. Or in the service of your father ? No. 
5387. Was he appointed on•your special recommendation ? No. 
5388. You know the man ? Yes. He was appointed in 1861. 
5389. It is not John Callaghan who was temporarily appointed to act as head turnkey that 
I mean, but another person of the same or similar name, but younger? I do not remember 
any man of that name being in my service. 
5390. I suppose this turnkey to whom I allude, and who, it appeared to the Committee, 

was 
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was a very inefficient man, must have been appointed since you left, as you do not appear to Jail O'Neill 
know anything of him ? Yes, unless you are mistaking the name. 	 Brenan,  
5391. The person I allude to was on duty at the time these men escaped through the wail? 
A man with reddish whiskers and hair. I do not know his name. I know the man now from 3 May, 1861 . 
the fact of his being on guard when the prisoners:escapecl. He was a discharged soldier from 
the 12th regiment, and was highly recommended to me by the then Administrator of the 
Government, Colonel Kempt, and I directed his name to be put upon the book, and called 
the attention of the then Under Sheriff to him, and lie was appointed by Mr. Uhr, the Acting 
Sheriff, on the dismissal of one of the officers after I was suspended.. 
5392. I understood you to say that only one person was ever appointed to the office of 
turnkey from your own service, or the service of your family ? Yes, John Fallon. He is a 
stone-cutter by trade, and he was in the service of our family, or of my father, between five 
and six years. Ile is a very good tradesman, and a man of the strictest integrity. I should 
not have appointed that man but that he was a man of such good character and a tradesman, 
and I told the gaoler that Ile could be of great assistance in teaching the prisoners stone-
cutting. He was our overseer for some time, and lie is the only man I ever appointed who 
was in my father's service—he was not in my service, but in my father's. Trevor Turner was 
appointed in 1859; he afterwards got a situation at Yass. John Bowen vas appointed in 
1858; he got an appointment afterwards. So that the only juniors who were retained were 
Smith, Maeleay, and O'Callaghan ; all the others who were retained were the seniors of those 
who were discharged, with the exception of Ryan, who was kept because he was a master 
tailor, and he was the overseer of the tailors. That disposes of this matter. 
5393. Is there anything else you would wish to say ? With respect to the disposition of the 
warders, I presume you refer to the disposition of their duties. That was under the control' 
of Mr. Beverley and the principal warder, and was a matter with which I rarely interfered. 
5394. Mr. Harrison has given direct evidence before this Committee that his arrangement 
was interfered with by your instructions, and that if his arrangement had been carried Out 
the turnkey Fallon would not have been on duty where he was on the night when David 
Clarke and another prisoner escaped. He has represented that they-eseaped principallyfain the 
inexperience and negligence of the persons in charge of the wing—firstly, as I understood, by 
allowing the bed-boards to be in the cell contrary to his wish ; and secondly, by not being suffi-
ciently vigilant in locking up the prisoners, by going round the corridors the wrong way, by 
which the doors shut out the apertures and enabled the prisoner concealed behind the door to 
run into the cell devoted to a second prisoner ; whereas if they had gone round the corridor in 
the Other direction they would have had the open door before them, and would have been 
enabled to see into the cells. He attributes that to the carelessness or inexperience of the 
turnkey, and says he never should have appointed this person to the task of locking up 
these desperate prisoners, and that his arrangements were interfered with by direct instruc-
tions from you, by which Fallon and another man were on duty that night That is quite 
untrue. Mr Harrison had the selection of the men himself. He appointed, or rather left in 
charge of that wing, the officer who had been originally in charge of it, his own father-in-law, 
M'Coy, an officer of thirteen years standing. He himself selected Fallon, not with my 
concurrence, but rather the reverse ; but he stated, when he mentioned the matter to me, 
that as he was such an honest, decent man, he wished to have him to assist McCoy, and so 
be selected him for that office. If my wish had been followed, or any opinion asked what 
officer would be most fitted for it, I certainly should have selected another officer, because I 
wished that particular officer, John Fallon, to be over the stone-cutters, being a stone-cutter 
himself. 
5395. 111 1 Coy is Harrison's father you say ? Yes, and an old officer ; and Fallon was 
appointed by Mr. Harrison to assist M'Coy. I had upon several occasions, upon going in, 
seen the stone-cutters dawdling over their work, and I had directed Mr. Harrison to bring 
them more particularly under the direction and notice of the warders, so that when the 
working overseer was absent on special duty they might see that they kept steadily at their 
work. That was the only change I made in the disposition of the warders. The night duty 
was changed no doubt, but it was after consultation with Mr. Beverley and Mr. Harrison. 
These are the rules drawn up for the guidance of the officers of the establishment (producing 
a copy of Rules. Vide Appendix B to Al,-. Harrison's further Evidence, at page 139); and I 
wish to draw the particular attention of the Committee to No. 17, and a portion of the 13th 
rule, which I drew up personally. I added these words to the 13th rule—" and under no 
" pretence to allow any turnkey to enter the gaol, upon duty, while under the influence of 
" drink." Iaddcd that in consequence of some of theefficers having come to the gaol under the 
influence of drink. The 17th rule is as follows:—" It is the especial duty of every turnkey to 
"report any and every irregularity he may see or hear of on the part of any prisoner or turnkey; 
" and should it be discovered by the principal gaoler that a turnkey has neglected his duty, in 
" this particular, he will be instantly suspended, and reported to the Sheriff." Now the cause 
of the introduction of that rule by myself was this—I found that the officers were in the habit 
of taking notes of every little occurrence that took place in the gaol, and then, when they 
fell out with their brother officers, or the principal turnkey, or when the gaoler annoyed 
them in any way, they went to Members of this House and reported to them any irregulari-
ties that took place. 
5390. What officer in particular adopted this practice ? I Chink his name was Jones. It 
was to prevent officers noting down every little irregularity of his brother officers, without 
reporting them to the authorities, and storing them up to make use of after, perhaps, the 
expiration of years, that I made this rule. 
5397. But you could hardly prevent a turnkey keeping a journal of all that took place ? 
No, I would not object to that ; my objection was to their noting down every little irregu- 

larity, 
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John O'Neill larity, and keeping these memoranda by them perhaps for years, without reporting them Prenan, -F-5(1: to me, or to the gaoler. If these things were reported to the gaoler, of course he would be 
e"---A—as responsible, and would be bound to report to me. 

2  May, 1801. 5398. I should gather, from your observations, that you consider the proper discipline of a 
gaol almost wholly dependent upon the existence of certain buildings ? No, I do not say 
wholly. 
5399. I say almost wholly ? Yes, because discipline cannot be carried out. 
5400. You say that, so far back as 1854, you represented the state of the gaol to the 
Government, and urged upon them the necessity of extending the buildings ? Yes. 
5401. And in several parts of your evidence you have read from letters addressed to the 
Colonial Secretary, in which you state that you cannot say there is anything like discipline 
in the gaol? Not what I consider discipline—no regular system—in fact, the system that 
has been carried out in all the gaols of this Colony has been merely to keep the prisoners 
safely, to keep them employed, and to keep them clean. 
5402. They do not appear to have been kept clean ? That appears to have been neglected, 
certainly, to a certain extent. 
5403. You have in your evidence attached great importance to the existence of proper 
buildings? Yes. 
5404. You consider that absolutely necessary to anything like a due discipline among pri-
soners—I should gather that from your evidence, and from the letters from which you have 
quoted ? You cannot classify the prisoners- 
5405. Then, again, you have represented that the workshops in Darlinghurst Gaol are 
under the Colonial Architect? Yes, they are. 
5406. You made this representation in reply to some negligence pointed out by the Com-
mittee to you with regard to the tools ? Yes. 
5407. Could not discipline be carried out, however imperfect the buildings, so far as instruc-
tion went, and so far as the establishment of proper regulations went; for instance, could not 
the prisoners be mustered—let the buildings be what they might—periodically, every 
Saturday night or every Sunday morning, and be compelled to expose part of their persons, 
and, to shew that they were clean, to expose their arms, legs, and so on—could not that be 
done whether there were proper buildings or not? Of course. 
6408. Could not the clothing be washed and kept clean—could not the walls and floors of 
the cells be kept clean, whether there were proper buildings or not ? No doubt. 
5409. These are matters not depending upon the completion of the prison buildings ? No. 
5410. Then again with regard to the workshops—though the labour of these prisoners is 
under the direction of the Colonial Architect, is it not the fact that the management and 
safe custody of them is just as much under you as that of any other prisoners ? It is under 
the gaoler. 
5411. I mean under the gaol authorities ? Under the gaoler—by the gaol regulations he is 
responsible for them. 
5412. What I mean is, whether the prisoners are appointed to work under the Colonial 
Architect or not—have not the gaol authorities control over them—are they not all in 
the same manner subject to prison discipline? Yes. 
5413. Sc that they are just as amenable to any regulations that may exist for the proper 
conduct of the discipline of the gaol, as if their labour were not directed by the Colonial 
Architect? No; lie has the charge of them during working bourn, and I never interfere 
with the trade overseers; for instance, they can direct a prisoner to go to a particular part 
of the yard, to work in a particular manner, and at a particular time. The gaol authorities 
have directions not, to interfere with a trade overseer, unless he gives such an order as to 
interfere with the safe custody of the prisoners. The safe custody and control of the prisoners 
is given into the hands of the trade overseers while they are working, and they are respon-
sible for these men during working hours. The warders are put upon certain beats to see 
that no prisoner makes his escape or secretes any tools or materials, but the direction of 
these men is still in the hands of the overseer—he directs them, and, in fact, has the 
the entire management of these men during working hours. They arc handed over to the 
overseer in the morning, and are counted back in his presence by one of the warders. 
5414. I do not clearly understand what you mean, when you say that the working overseer 
is responsible for the safe custody of the prisoner ? Not for the safe custody. 
5415. Those are the words you used, and, at the same time, you say there are warders 
appointed so as to see that none of them escape. Now the appointment of these warders 
would appear to confirm my idea that the prisoners, though working under the trade 
overseers, are still in the custody of the gaol authorities. That the trade overseer has the 
power of sending a prisoner to any part of the gaol I can readily understand, for unless be 
had, he could not direct his work ; but I cannot understand how he can be charged with the 
safe custody. I apprehend that, if there were any attempt to escape, the prison authorities 
would soon interfere ; that, in fact, the prisoners are just as much subject to the ordinary 
rules of the gaol, when they are working under the trade overseers, as they would be if they 
were kept doing nothing, though their labour is being directed by these overseers of the 
Colonial Architect's Department ? "Safe custody" is, perhaps, too general a word to use. 
What I mean by the expression'is, that these men are counted over to the overseers in the. 
morning, and, if any of them absent themselves from work, or cannot be accounted for by the 
trade overseer, be should immediately report it to the warder nearest to him on duty. We 
have not sufficient warders for each shop, therefore, if a prisoner slips out of a workshop, 
unknown to the overseer, he is bound, the moment he discovers it, to give notice to the 
nearest warder. So far, the overseer is responsible for the safe custody of the prisoners, and 
only to that extent. 

6416. 
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6410. What I »tabled to arrive at was, whether it was not exclusively your duty as inspector John O'Neill 
of prisons for only in that capacity I presume you visit them ? I visit them as Sheriff. Brenta' ,  Esq. 
5117. Still you were practically inspector of prisons, you were not gaoler nor Visitina  
Mat

°
istrate ? No. 

5418. Your duty must have been the general inspection of prisons ? Yes. 
5419. Was it not exclusively, or almost exclusively, your duty to see that these other 
people did their duty—the gaoler and warders—by the issue of instructions and the 

3  May, 1861. 

establishment of necessary regulations ? No; I had DO power to make regulations. Certain 
rules and regulations were made by the Government for the rule and guidance of the gaol, 
and these were printed. 
5420. But your visits to the gaol were of no use except in so far as they had the effect of 
keeping the officers in charge to their duty, and enforcing their efficiency ? Yes, whenever 
inefficiency was brought under my notice. 
5421. This reminds me of the question put to you by Mr. Morris—do you think it likely 
that men who were negligent of their duty would bring that negligence under your notice ? 
I could not presume that they were negligent from the gaoler downwards. How was I to 
discover that unless I discovered some gross irregularity when I went to the gaol. 
6422. Is not that the difference between one man and another, that one man will discover 
what another will not—is it not that which distinguishes the qualities of men, that one will 
easily discover a thing which another will not discover in a lifetime ? That may be. 
5423. It must have been your particular duty to see that the Darlinghurst Gaol was properly 
managed, that the prisoners there were subject to the most just and salutary discipline with 
regard to due punishment, to due custody, and to the most beneficial and profitable employ-
ment? As far as I undertook it, but not as Sheriff. 
5424. It must have been your duty to see that the gaol was well managed ? Not as Sheriff. 
5425. Will you state what you conceived your duty to be as Sheriff in relation to these 
gaols ? The Sheriff's duties with regard to gaols are very limited, he is answerable only for 
the safe custody of prisoners. 
5426. How can lie insure their safe custody except by vigilant and cautious management; 
if he is answerable for their safe custody, does not that imply their proper custody ; nnt safe 
custody by chaining them down to bolts, for instance, and delivering them up alive or dcad; 
it means their proper custody, their being kept in a state fit for human beings ? Of course. 
5427. How is that to be done if the person responsible for the charge of prisoners does not 
see that the persons immediately in authority over them do not discharge their duties 
properly—is not that involved in safe custody if we understand safe to be proper custody? 
Then comes the question, what is proper custody ? 
5428. That is a large question, but I would ask is it proper custody to allow prisoners to 
remain unhealthily unclean—is it proper custody to keep them without clean blankets or 
bedding—is it proper custody to allow them to use tools of a formidable character, either 
for the purposes of personal violence or for the purpose of prison-breaking, without any 
examination from one night to another as to what becomes of those tools? With respect to 
that question, if you will allow me, the gaoler is responsible, under the gaol regulations, for 
the safe custody of prisoners; the Sheriff has only the general control over the prisoners, 
but the Visiting Magistrates have the more immediate control over the gaols. It is the 
duty of the Visiting Magistrate, DO doubt, to see that the gaol regulations are carried out ; 
that is especially provided for by the Act of Council—the Gaol Act. 
5429. What I wanted to arrive at was, the extent to which you are to blame for not dis-
covering a state of things such as you have described. Was it not your duty to examine the 
state of things actually existing, and to enforce proper discipline by your powers of instruc-
tion ? As far as powers of instruction go, I conceive that I have given ample instructions to 
enable a proper system of discipline to be carried out, if these instructions had been obeyed. 
For instance, the bath-house was built purposely by me, to enable the prisoners to be 
regularly washed ; but, no doubt, there were no regulations compelling any particular prisoner 
to wash himself often ; but as I said before, it was the particular duty of the warder in charge 
of the wing to see that the prisoners kept themselves clean ; and also, of course, it was the 
gaoler's duty, because he saw them every morning, or was supposed to see them every 
morning and several times during the day. 
5430. By Al". Mate: Is not he responsible to you ? Ile is responsible to me for their safe 
custody ; and he is generally responsible to me, no doubt. 
5431. For the management of the gaol? No doubt. 
5432. By Afs. Sutherland: Was it upon your recommendation that the bath-house was put 
up ? No; when I took charge merely the shell of a building was erected, and it WM under 
my supervision that the baths were constructed. The bath-house itself was partly erected 
when I took office. 
5433. Did you over give instructions to the gaoler to see that the prisoners made use of that 
bath ? Yes, on several occasions I did. 
5431. And you believe your instructions were carried out? Yes, I directed that every 
Saturday afternoon the prisoners should wash themselves, except those under the charge of 
the doctor. There was a time when the baths were out of order and Dr. West spoke 
to me about it ; and I gave directions to the principal warder to see that they were 
put in repair immediately. It was done, and I presume that the prisoners, or the 
great body of them, washed themselves every Saturday. They were allowed half-a-day 
on Saturday to enable them to wash their clothes. They always knocked off work at a 
quarter to twelve on Saturdays to enable them to do this; and it was a rule, that every 
prisoner should be properly dressed and clean on Sundays, when he attended Divine service, 
and that rule the gaoler was bound to see enforced. I may be permitted to mention, that on 

the 
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John O'Neill the 9th July, 1860, I wrote a letter to the Government, requesting they would allow me a Braman, Esq. certain sum of money to enable me to put the officers in an uniform, and the reply I received 
was, that that subject of the management of prisons, and of prison discipline generally, would 3 May, 1861. come under the consideration or the Government almost immediately, and that, therefore, 
the matter should stand over. In sending the estimates for 1869 I put a sum of money for 
this purpose, but it was disallowed. With the permission of the Committee, as I do not 
desire longer to intrude upon their time I will append to my evidence the particulars of my 
removal from office. ( Vide Appendix .1).) 
5435. We have some evidence before us that the keys of the various wings in Darlingburst 
Gaol were very loosely kept. Some witnesses state absolutely that they were simply hung 
up on a peg behind Mr. Harrison's door, and that frequently the turnkeys who unlocked the 
wings went, the door being open, and took them off the peg ; that at one time, when 
prisoners were employed as servants to Mr. Beverley, they could have gone to Mr. Harrison's 
house, taken the keys off the peg, and unlocked the wings at night but it is only right to 
say that other witnesses say that they always received the keys from Mr. Harrison himself, 
or from some one who lived with him—his father-in-law ? MiCoy. 
5436. Do you know anything about the manner in which these keys were kept ? They are 
delivered over, after the wings are locked up, to the principal warder; he has the special 
charge of them. 
5437. It appears that they were kept in a most loose manner ? No doubt, if that were the 
case, it was not proper for Mr. Harrison to put the keys in that insecure place, but it does 
not follow that even the gaoler could know that, unless it were brought under his notice, 
because they were supposed to be locked up. It was never reported to me. I wish to hand 
in a letter, dated 9th March, 1859, containing some suggestions. (The witness handed ia 
flee same. Vide Appendix E.) 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

NU3IBER of Persons sentenced to Darlinghurst and Parramatta Gaols, respectively, during the years 
1856, 1837, and 1858. 

DARLINGHURST GAOL. 

SENTENCED TO 

1856. 1857. 1858. 

Male Fern. Male. Fero. Male. Fern. 

- 
Solitary Confinement 	..... 	 ................ ........... 2,058 1,781 1,307 1,406 3,587 1,380 
Imprisonment without labour 	........ .... ...... ........ 613 703 691 805 688 699 
Hard labour, viz.:- 

15j6. 1857. 18o& 

Under 6 months* 	 517 171 110 631 CO
  

1-1  C
O

  
• 

6 months and under 12 	 , 56 33 20 I 33 
12 months and under 2 years 	 30 10 3 	I  7 
2 years and under 3 years 	 34 .. 

C
O

 2 9 
3 years and upwards .  	 9 1 1 5 

646 215 820 136 685 108 

TOTALS 	 3,217 2,699 2,618 2,347 2,960 2,187 

* The majority of these arc seamen, under the Mercantile Marine i‘c!, whom sentenees never exceed twel 	coke he 
reldom serve the whole of th t period. 

PARRAMATTA GAOL. 

SENTENCED TO 

1856. 1857. 1858. 

Male. Fem. Male. Fern. Male. Fem. 

Solitary Confinement . ....... .. ...... ........ 	... 	 55 45 41 67 51 
Imprisonment without labour 	  63 50 51 71 73 
Hard labour, viz.:— 

1856. 1807. 3858. 

F. 
_ 

Under 6 months ..... ...... . 30 
6 months and undei 12 .... .. 14 
12 months and under 2 years.. 

1—
 I. 

t-
 

oo 17 

C
a 

2 years and under 3 years 	.. .. 
3 years and upwards ........ 1 

175 60 139 155 57 

TOTALS.— 293 155 231 159 296 181 

J. H. BEVERLEY. 
Principal Gaoler. 

13. 
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13. 	 John O'Neill 
MEMO. 	 Brenan, Esq. 

I am aware that this application is a novel one. Heretofore prisoners in gaol have, here and 
elsewhere, in regard to the mode in serving them with their meals, been treated more like brutes than 3 may.  1861 .  
honffin beings. As I understand the subject, there are two objections which have always been made 
against such an allowance; first, the cost ; secondly, the risk of placing dangerous weapons in the 
hands of prisoners. To this objection, which I regard the more important of the two, I answer thus:— 
Do we not daily and hourly place in the hands of prisoners far more dangerous weapons than the 
conunon dinner knife; viz., picks, axes, hammers, 	whilst scattered in an open space, where, if 
they were so disposed, they could much more easily injure each other or the officers, than they could 
when locked lip in a wing of the gaol whilst at dinner? 

Until I took charge of the gaols, the prisoners never had a table to take their meals at. In 
DaiTingffinst Gaol about 150 men sit down to dinner like soldiers, and are quite as orderly. Into 
instance that I have heard of has any disturbance arisen during dinner ; and I take it, that if we wish 
to direct the mind and reform prisonent, we must first shew them that we regard them as human beings, 
and as such place some confidence in them. We do so when we want their labour, by trusting them 
with tools, some of which are most deadly weapons, but are startled at the danger when expense is to 
be incurred in ameliorating their condition. 

I have heard them say, " We have to tear our meat like beasts." 
The knives and forks might be chained to the table. 

JOHN O'NEILL BRENAN. 
Sheriff 's Office, Sydney, 24 October, 1860. 

C. 
'tomes for the guidance of the Working Overseers nominated by the Colonial Architect to superintend 

. 	the Government Work being carried on in H. M. Gaol, Parramatta. 
1st. That in all matters appertaining to the discipline of the establishment each overseer must 

be subject to and carry out the rules of the gaol, in the same manner as the officers of the establishment, 
and he is so far to he regarded as an officer of the establishment. 

2nd. That in all matters appertaining to the works over which the overseer may be placed, be is 
to take his instructions from the Colonial Architect, or from some person appointed by that officer for 
such purpose. 

3rd. That all directions respecting the work are to be given by the overseer. 
4th. That each overseer is to instruct the prisoners placed under him in the trade to which he 

belongs. 
5th. That, whenever it may be necessary, from the want of prisoners understanding the trade to 

which the overseer unify belong, such overseer is to work himself, taking care to select the most intel-
ligent of the men under him to work with him, and thus prevent the work being retarded for the want 
of mechanical labour. 

6th. That the overseer is to furnish weekly returns of all work performed, showing the number 
of prisoners under his control each day, the number of feet of stone cut by each man, the number of feet 
of stone set during' the week. 

7th. That the overseer is to receive the prisoners at bell-ring in the morning, and to count them. 
8th. That the overseer is to remain at the work until bell-ring in the evening. 
9th. That the overseer is to hold no conversation with the turnkeys during working hours, except 

such as may relate to the work. 

D. 
Os Saturday, the 9th of February-, I met Captain Mterie at Darlinglmrst Gaol, to inquire into the 
escape of the prisoners Clarke and Cavanagh, when that gentleman produced to me a letter from the 
Colonial Secretary's Office directing him to inquire into the statements contained in Dr. West's report 
upon Polack's petition for a remission of sentence, in which Dr. West alleged, that although he had 
given a certificate stating Polack was fit to undergo hard labour, yet that he was not aware he had 
been put to it, or, indeed, that he had ever been clad in prison dress—and to report the result of his 
inquiry to the Government. 

Of this I had no official intimation, nor had I been called upon for any report thereon. 
Captain ifiterie, instead of entering upon the inquiry for which we had met by previous appoint-

ment, at once commenced the investigation into Polack s case. The statements of Dr. West, mid those 
called at his instance, as also Mr. Beverley, having been taken, I suggested that in fairness to 
Mr. Harrison, against whom the most serious charges were levelled, he ought to be afforded an oppor-
tunity of meeting them, and producing evidence to contradict the prisoner Banks, and such other of 
the witnesses as he could; but Captain Mimic refused, stating that his instructions were to inquire into 
the allegations contained in Dr. West's report, and not to inquire into the conduct of any of the-officers 
of the gaol, and so closed the ease. 

On Monday he re.opened the inquiry at the instance of Mr. Beverley, to explain some of Iris 
former evidence, and upon again being asked, he refused to hear any evidence on part of Mr. Banison, 
upon the same grounds as before. 

However, as the ease then stood, I deemed it my duty to suspend Mr. Harrison, and should have 
taken the same step with Mr. Beverley but for the large nmnber of Cockatoo men in the gaol. At the 
same time I informed Mr. Harrison that he should have full opportunity afforded him to clear himself, 
and with this object, as well as of affording Mr. Beverley the same, I wrote the next morning to the 
Colonial Secretary the letter of the 12th February—annexed hereto. 

On the following day, Wednesday, the nth, I had occasion to call at the Secretary's Office, when 
1 was shown one of Mr. Cowper's minutes upon may letter of the previous day, expressing an opinion. 
as well as lean recollect, for I have not since seen it, that I should have suspended Mr. Beverley, as I 
could have easily have obtained a /scum tettens; however, as this, as well as the other minutes, of which 
there were several, were to be communicated to me by letter immediately, I took no action on it. 

I heard nothing more, nor received any communication until Friday afternoon, the 15th, when 
1 got a note from Mr. Cowper, requesting me to call upon him, and upon my doing so he informed me 
that he wished to communicate to Inc personally what he had already written, width was, that he felt 
it his duty to suspend me as well as Mr. Beverley, stating at the same time that his principal reason 
for taking that'course was for my not having suspended Mr. Beverley on seeing his minute, and upon 
my replying that I understood I was not to act until I got the official letter, he stated that no doubt he 
did intend I should have received it, but that in the hurry of business Mr. Elyard had forgotten 
it ; however, since then he had received Captain Mterie's report, and after maturely considering that 
report, and my letter of the 12th, he came to the conclusion that it was his duty to take that step. 

Feeling I had been very unjustly treatedby Mr. Cowper, I wrote the letter of the 16th—annexed. 
I heard nothing more of the matter until the 2nd March, when I received a letter dated the 1st, 

enclosing me allinute of the Executive, dated the 18th ultimo, calling upon me to shcw cause why I 
should not be removed from the.public service by reason of the matters charged against me therein. 

VP • 
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Sohn O'Neill 	Up to this period the Committee will see that there was no opportunity afforded me of testing 
Brenan, Esq. the accuracy of the statements upon which Captain APLerie based his report. 

The minute of the 18th, after setting forth tho charges seriatim, the substance of each of width 
is given below and answered, goes on to say—'• These facts disclose a state of things which the Council 

3 MaY' 1"'• . " cannot but regard as the result of incapacity or sheer neglect, and in either case equally discreditable 
"to the Sheriff and principal gaoler. 

" They are prepared to admit that in some of these matters both officers appear to have been 
" betrayed and deceived by their subordinates, although, with ordinary vigilance, this could not long 
" have escaped detection ; but, in others (of which the confinement of Polack in a separate cell apart 
" from the other hard labour prisoners is a flagrant instance), the positive instructions of the Colonial 
" Secretary, supplemented by the Sheriff's own order, has been departed from, certainly with the 
" knowledge and sanction of the principal gaoler, and as far as the evidence goes, with that of the 
" Sheriff." Now, the Committee will perceive, from the way in which this minute was drawn up, and' 
any being debarred of the benefit of sheaving upon an inquiry that such portion of' the irregularities as; 
might have existed were unknown to me, and that no vigilance on my part would have discovered 
them, I was compelled to take up the several charges and meet them by argument, and by analysing 
the evidence given by Dr. West and Ids witnesses, and so took up the charges seriatim and answered 
them. In fact, that my officers were denied that fair and impartial inquiry that every Govermnent is 
bound to afford the humblest of its officers, and although them may have been gross negligence on their 
part, yet they were found guilty on one-sided evidence, and without a bearing ; and I have been, I submit, 
most unjustly held responsible for their negligence or misconduct. 

Although the fact of Pulaek's being allowed to pick the oakum in the wing or cell would not, in 
itself, be a breach of discipline unless done for some improper purpose, and particularly when done 
occasionally, as I was informed, because he complained of the effect of the summer sun on his head in 
the yard, yet I was not aware that he had been continuously worked so; and had I supposed for a moment 
that he had been put to work there from any wish to extend undue leniency towards hint I should have 
put a stop to it. 

mr. Cowper refused to allow me to go before the Executive Council for examination upon all 
these points, so t was obliged to meet the case as well as I could in writing. 

In support of my statement, I appended the evidence of Harrison, Rispen, Callaghan, and Lee, by 
declarations, copies of which are appended hereto, and the only link wanting was that of lalLioy's, which 
was sent to me too late, and not drawn up as a declaration—so it was not sent ; but I add it as I got it, 
and let it be taken for what it may be worth. However, it mustbe borne in mind that the evidence of 
the prisoner Banks, which, in many respects, is uncorroborated, was a mere statement. I have been 
informed that my statement was not deemed satisfactory by the Ministers, as it was too much in vindi-
cation of my officers. All I can say, I did not mean it as such ; but I was fully aware that if I had left 
a point unanswered that Mr. Cowper would have laid hold of it, and commented on any omission. 
and, perhaps, designate such as a most flagrant dereliction of duty. However, as I did not do this, r 
am told " that it is unnecessary to comment on my explanation in detail," and " that the Ministers did 
" not pause to consider whether the state of facts (as they designate them) arose from incapacity or 
" negligence." 

I feel from the unjust decision arrived at, that they could haveneither paused nor considered, and 
that their comments would have been of little weight unless they refuted my arguments, and proved my 
statements to be incorrect, and so they deemed it more prudent to abstain from giving reasons. 

STATEMENT OF THE SHERIFF'S CASE. 

I STAVE the honor to request that any letters to the Honorable the Colonial Secretary of the 12th and 10th 
instant may be first read, the better to understand the following case. [See Appendix for letters.] 

As to the escape of Clarke and Cavanagh, I can only say that Captain Mierie has taken an 
entirely erroneous idea of what Mr. Beverley said. Mr. Beverley did not—nor could he, in truth—say 
that he repeatedly represented to me the insecurity of the gaol at night, in consequence of the with-
drawal of the night watchman from the stockade, as it was after a consultation with himself and Mr. 
Harrison that we all agreed that that night turnkey could be dispensed with—being one and all of 
mahatma, that once the prisoners were locked up, it would be impossible for any one of them to get out ; 
and, to use Mr. Beverley's own expression, " his mind was at ease after the prisoners were locked lap." 
But he did complain of the reduction of the six warders for the four trade overseers, which reduced his 
staff for day duty. However, being well ;Mare that if I proposed the trade overseers as an additional 
charge for the establishment, it would catch the eyes of the economical members, create opposition, and 
lessen the chance of getting them, and as the enlargement of the accommodation was my great object. 
I thought it wiser to make a virtue of a necessity, and give up six for four, which ilia not increase the 
cost of the establishment, and to trust to circumstances to enable me to get back such of the six as 
should afterwards be found indispensable. 

1st Charge :— 
" That -Polack was confined in a separate cell, in a different wing of the gaol to the other bard 

labour prisoners." 
In answer to this allegation I submit the following facts :— 
Polack, on being removed from the debtors' prison, where he had been placed to net as wards' 

man, was for three or four days confined in the committal wing, from thence removed to the old hard 
labour wing, and afterwards drafted, with other hard labour prisoners, to the New HARI) LABOUR 
wise, where he remained until removed with others, by my orders, and for no other reason than to 
make room for the refractory Cockatoo prisoners. He was then confined  for a few days in the committal 
wing, until room could be made in the old hard labour wing, which had been overcrowded by 
bringing back the prisoners from the new hard labour wing. He was then removed to the old, hard 
labour wing, where he now is. 

It is not, theaefore, the case that Polack was confined in a separate cell, in a different wing of the 
gaol to the other hard labour prisoners, with the exception of the few days he had been confined in the 
committal wing, inasmuch as the new wing, as it is styled, was expressly built for hard labour 
prisoners, and has since its completion been occupied solely by that class. This wing is composed of 
single cells, and every prisoner confined therein had a separate cell. Mr. Harrison had my directions to 
thin the old hard labour wing, according as he got the cells in the new one fit for the reception of 
prisoners. 

It is not the case that I ever specially visited Polack in Ids cell in that wing ; but I did see him 
there on several occasions. On one of these I recollect he was walking on the upper landing, and, it 
being a little after three o'clock p.m., I asked Mr. Harrison (Mr. Beverley being present) why he was 
not picking Ids oakum. Mr. Harrison replied, lie had done his task ; whereupon I said it would be well 
to give him a little more to keep him employed during the working hours. The fact of Polack's being 
in that labour wing, and picking his oakum there, was no relaxation of prison discipline, nor a breach or 
any gaol rule or regulation, but, on the contrary, as I shall hereafter shew, it is regarded by the Gaol 
Act in the light of a punishment ; and separate classification is positively directed by the first of the 
Gaol Rules in ALL cases where the buildings will admit of it. Moreover, his is only one of many 
instances of hard labour prisoners picking oakum in the wing, there being at present no less than 

twenty-six 
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twenty-six hard labour prisoners picking oakum in their cells and the wings ; and this has been the John O'Neill 
CASE with respect to other prisoners both in Darlingburst and Parramatta Gaols. 	 Diens n, Esq. 

Now, in order to see if any ENDUE relaxation of discipline has been made in favour of the prisoner r_-_-•__‘„ 
Polack in respect of separate classificationfor that is essentially the charge—it will be necessary to  3 May 1861. 
ascertain his rights as a hard labour prisoner, convicted of a misdemeanour, under the Gaol Regulations, 	• ' 
and then see if he has been favoured in violation of them in regard to separate classification. . 

GENERAL RULES FOR GAOLS. 
I. In all eases where the building will allow of separate classification, - the prisoners arc to be 

divided into three classes :— 
1. Debtors and others confined for contempt on civil processes. 
2. Prisoners committed on charges of felony, or misdemeanor, or for want of sureties, and 

prisoners convicted of misdemeanors. 
3. Prisoners convicted of' felony. 
Now, under this rule, Polack, beyond all doubt, belongs to No. 2 class, and therefore was entitled 

to be placed in the committal wing, and associated with prisoners of No. 2. Bat it may be said that 
he is a hard labour prisoner. That does not alter his position or his rights, so long as the buildings 
will allow of separate classification. As the rule says, " In all cases," cBc., the word convicted embraces 
the verdict and sentence ; and, moreover, in 	are punishable with or without hard labour. 
Was he so classed or associated ? No I But when he was associated, it MS With felons, 	; therefore, 
instead of the rules of the gaol being relaxed in this respect in favour of Polack, it appears they have 
been carded out to his prejudice. 

Now, the fact &Nitwit having been for a portion of his time confined in the new hard labour 
wino. does not show a vMlation of any ride or section of the Gaol Act. By the latter it is treated more 
in the light of a punishment than an indulgence. 

4th Vie., No. 29, Sec. 10.—" And be it enacted, That in order to prevent the contamination 
" arising from the association of prisoners. any prisoner May be, by order of the Sheriff or Visiting 
" Justice, separately confined don ng the whole or any part of Ids or her imprisonment, and such separate 
" imprisonment shall not be deemed solitary confinement within the meaning of any Act forbidding the 
" continuance of solitary confinement for more than a limited time." 

By this section such is regarded not as an indulgence, but rather as a punishment, as it provides 
that it shall not be deemed solitary cmthnement. 

It may possibly be said that some would regard it as a favour. Even so, would not such a prisoner 
feel that by associating him with the lowest and worst class of prisoners that he was unjustly treated by 
unnecessarily and unduly increasing his punishment, and particularly so when don't: in violation of the 
Gaol Regulations ? Therefore, in truth, there has been no relaxation in this regard towards the prisoner 
Polack. 

2nd Charge :— 
" That Polack had the use of ttyo cells, in one of winch lie kept stores of tea, coffee, 3:m" 
If such a state of things existed, sinless reported to me by my officers, I could not by any inspec-

tion have detected it, inasmuch as all unoccupied cells are kept locked ; and I insist say I was astounded 
on lwaring the statement of the prisoner Bu, Its on this subject bsit it must be burn° in mind be is 
uncorroborated, and 1 am informed it is denied by all the officers, and Mr. Harrisdn states that Banks' 
statement is wholly untrue. 

3rd Charge :— 
" That Polack was allowed by the chief gaoler to wear an unbranded coat belonging to the 

" gaol, but not of the description usually snpplied to other prisoners, and did not even wear this 
" except when visited by the Sheriff in Ids cell." 

I never saw the coat alluded to on Polack after Ile left the debtors' prison, and such is borne out 
by the evidence. Mr. Beverley stated that it was with his knowledge Polack wore the coat in question 
early in the morning and late in the evening, because he complained of chronic lumbago, from which he 
has IMen soft-ming for many years, but that lie never saw him out of prison dress during the day, viz., 
white duck jumper and grey trousers, which he also stated, did 110 t. appear to have been branded, nor 
did he consider it necessary that they should. It WAS in this dress I saw him, and I have been informed 
by five of the wardens that he always wore it except in the morning and evening, when he wore the 
coat above alluded to, and which, as I am informed, was provided by the Government. 

It will be seen by the dispenser's evidence that he does not consider a prisoner dressed as a 
prisoner unless dressed all in grey or white, mid the clothes branded with the broad arrow and Darling-
burst Gaol, and Warder Burke takes the same view. Now, let the 18th Rule be read, and see what it 
says on this point :— 

PRISONERS '  CLOTHING. 
IS. No prisoner who has not been convicted of felony shall be liable to be clothed in a party-

coloured dress ; BUT IF IT isiS DEF,MED expedient to have a prison dress for prisoners not convicted of 
felony, the SANE SHALL BE ahaix. 

There is no role directing what description of dress is to be worn by prisoners not convicted of 
felony. THE FELONS' dress for summer wear is white duck jumper and trousers, branded with the broad 
arrow, and the name of the prison or establishment in which he may be confined in on the front and 
back of each garment ; and for winter, a grey suit—jacket, waistcoat, and trousers—branded in a 
similar way. 

But it may be said that when a prisoner convicted of a misdemeanor is punished with bard 
labour, he should be dressed as a felon. That is not so. The rule not only implies, but says, in so 
many words, you shall not dress any prisoner who has not been convicted of felony in a felon's dress, 
thereby directing dint there should be a marked distinction between the dress of those convicted of 
felony and those convicted of other offences, anti such is lint justice. As to the signal stated by Banks 
to have been given by • Warder M`Kay, I can only say I do not believe it, anti the statement of others 
confirms me in that belief. 

4th Charge :— 
" That on one occasion articles of ordinary clothing were introduced into the gaol for Polack's 

" use, by the principal turnkey." 
My answer to this is,—the principal gaoler communicated with Inc by memo., to know if 

Polack was to be sent to the Police office under a writ of Indices in his prison dress, or to be allowed to 
put on his own clothes. To this I answered by indorsement:, " Let the usual course be pursued." I 
subsequently heard that Mr. Beverley permitted him to wear his own clothes on this occasion, and, to 
enable him to do so, the clothes referred to by the warder awl gatekeeper, Burke, were sent into the 
gaol for that purpose; and I am informed by Mr. Beverley, that they were only used on that occasion 
by the prisoner. 

5th Charge :— 
" That, with the knowledge of the principal gaoler, Polack was allowed to take exercise before 

" the usual hour of opening the gaol and in the eompany of Tnrnkey 
In answer to this I can only say, there was no permission given by me to exercise Polack in 

any exclusive way, so I could not be reasonably expected to know if such was the case, unless reported 
to me; and the hour it was alleged to have taken place is an additional reason for my not knowing it. 
However, I presume Mr.Beverley will be able to explain this. 

157-2 E 	 6th 



Sentence. 	c 	Employment. Offence. No. 	Name. 

1 George Kemp .. 

2 George G. Mayne 

3 William Holstein 
4 John Mackie .... 
5 Frederick Howard. 
6 John Pole... ..... 
7 Edward Cousins .. 

S. Edward Cilmetham 
9 Charles Turton 

10 William Smith 
11 Patrick Ryan .... 
12 George Davis .... 
13 James Everett..., 
14 John Campbell . 
15 Thomas Smith_ .. 
16 William Conroy .. 
17 Stephen Allen .. 
18 Robert Hilliard 

'19 Thomas Brophy 
20 hines Denny 
21. William Murphy.. 
22 Thomas Burns_ 
23 I homes Cartwright 
24 Jenne Friend .... 
25 I Artl.mr Gore__ _ 
26 Patrick Eelleglicr 
27 Henry Smith .... 
28 George Turner.... 
29 Hugh Clen 

Obtaining money on false pre- 
tences ...................... 

Obtaining money on false pre- 
tences 	  

Larceny 	  
Horse stealing......... 	 
Forgery 	  
Robbery 	  
Obtaining money on false pre-

tences _ 	...... 	 
Stealing from a dwelling-house 	 
Cattle stealing 	  
Vagrancy 	.............. 
Horse stealing_ .. 	 

Stealing in a dwelling-house 	 
Forgery....... ..... ......... 
Uttering a forgery 	  
Larceny 	.............. 
Violent assault 	  
Assault with intent 	  
Assault 

Ditto 	................ 
Ditto 	  
3lanslaugh( Cr . ........ ......... 
Stealing 	  
Stealing from a dwelling-house 	 
Manslaughter 	...... 
Stealing from the person 
Escape from police 	  
Manslaughter 	 

2 years' labour . Clerk in office. 

2 years' labour .! Clerk, overseer's office. 
2 years' labour .1 Letter writer. 
2 years' labour . i Hospital wardsmen 3 years' labour ./ 
3 years' labour. 	and attendants.  

2 years' labour . 
2 years' labour . 
3 years' labour. 

12 months' labour 
3 years' labour . 
S yea's' labour. 
2 years' labour . 
3 years' labour . 
2 years' labour. 
2 years' labour. 
3 years' labour . 
2 years' labour. 
3 months' Inborn 

12 inonthslabour 
2 years' labour. 
6 months' impt, 
2 years' labour. 

IS m on ths' labour 
2 years' labour. 
3 years' labour. 
2 years' labour. 
6 months' labour  
8 years' labour. 

I Wardsmen, commit- 
tal wing. 

Wardsmen, labour 
wing. 

Wardsmen, new 
5 wing. 
} Cooks. 
1 Barbers, and with 

lunatics at night. 
1 

r irardsmen. 

Lamplighter. 
Cleans lodge 
Bath-house. 
Weighs oakum, Ssu. 
} Gardeners. 
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN BEFORE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

John O'Neill 6th Charge 
&ellen, Esq. 	" That Polack was not searched on being removed into the gaol, in conformity with the 18th 

" gaol rule ; or, if su, was allowed to retain in his possession money, watiffies, jewellery, and other 
Mav, 1861. " articles of considerable value." 

These statements affect the principal turnkey, Mr. Harrison, and nothing stated therein was 
reported to Inc by that or any other officer, nor did it at any time come to my knowledge until I heard 
the statement of " B inks" when 1 instantly went to Polack's cell, accompanied by the principal gaoler, 
and had a search made. No watches, jewellery, money, or valuables were found. I then interrogated. 
Polack as to those things, and he denied ever having anything in his possession except a presentation 
wateb, which he had for a short time, and returned it to his son. This was the first time I ever heard 
of this watch. 

I think I have good reason to complain of Doctor West's conduct in this matter ; for if Ile, 
being a high and responsible officer in the department of which I was the head, bad reason to suspect 
the existence of the alleged relaxation in the gaol discipline towards Polack, it was his duty to give me 
some information of it,—more particularly when he must have seen by my minute on his certificate 
(see Appendix) that it was not my desire that any undue leniency should be extended to this prisoner. 
He must also have been aware, from conversations I have had with him, that, had he done so, it would 
have been well received by me, and that I was not so over-confident in my own management as not to 
take a suggestion, or even advice, when well meant. 

Now, upon a review of the above facts, I would respectfully put it to the Executive Council 
whether the prisoner Polack has been more leniently dealt with, or the gaol regulations unduly relaxed 
in his favour, taking into consideration that Ile is a man now about sixty-eight years of age, convicted of 
a misdemeanor, and whom Dr. West certified in October, 1851, to be then labouring under chronic 
lumbago, of a very gouty- diathesis, and from his age and general debility, to be unfit to undergo a 
sentence of bard labour—and, in fine, that the infliction of such a punishment would in all probability 
endanger his life. This was not an ordinary or hasty certificate, but on oath, and after long and 
careful examination made for the purpose, and that, too, in the gentlemen's official capacity, as appears 
by the following affidavit :— 
In the Supreme Court of New South Wales, 

Criminal Jurisdiction. 
The Queen against Abraham Polack and William Henry Wells. 

On this fifth day of October, in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four, George West. 
el Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, Doctor of Medicine, being duly sworn, maketh oath and 
slab as follows :—I hold the situation of Surgeon to Her Majesty's Gaol, at Daffinghurst, in the said. 
City of Sydney. I have seen the above-named Abraham Polack almost daily since he has been confined 
within the said gaol, under the conviction against Min herein (convicted 9th August, 1854; sentenced 
the 6th October, 18-51); and I have been on several occasions consulted by him, and find that he is 
afflicted with lumbago, which I am informed is of long standing; and also that he is of a very gouty 
diathesis ; in consequence thereof, as well asfrem his AGE and general debility, I am of opinion that he is 

upfit person to undergo a sentence of hard labour, wit/mist seriously injuring his health, and that the 
undergoing such a sentence would in all probability materially endanger his life. 

GEO. WEST. 
Sworn by the deponent, on the day first above mentioned, 

at Sydney aforesaid, before me, 
AUGUSTUS CARTER, 

A Commissioner for Affidavits. 
Or whether Ids position has been better than, or equal to, that of any one of the following so-called 
billetted men, all of whom are his juniors by thirty years, and most of them felons ? 

Prisoners employed otherwise than at Hard Labour in Dorlinghurst Gaol, February, 1361. 

Or has his position been better than, or equal to, that of the hundreds of hard labour prisoners who 
appear, by the following .eturn, to have been employed cabbage-tree bahmak ng, and earning money 
and indulgeneies of tea a id sugar, and who have been, while so employed, always placed in the corridor 
of a wing ? 

RETURN 
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RET131314 of all money earned by Prisoners in H. M. Gaol at Parramatta during the years 1856-7, and John 
part of 1858. 	 13rentin, Esq. 

EM 	T' PLOYMEN. 
1856. 1857. To SlstJuI 	1858.. 3 May, 1861. 

Nmalict 	Amount. employed.' 
Truinber 

employed. Amount Number 
employed Amount. 

Stone-cutting 

	

All other work 	...... . 

	

Total 	....... 

Monthly Average... 

600 
1519 
125 

1,017 
680 
220 

S. 
1 
3 

19 

d. 
10 
11 	i 

1 

592 
412 
151 

£ 
7155 
614 
279 

s. 
15 
11 

d. 
3 
3 
3 

9 

1 312 
206 

66 	I
I 

581 

374 
206 

66 

. 
'8 

17 
2 

. 
7 
3 
8 .  

1,241 1,954 4 10 1,155 1,650 12 681 8 

103 	162 17 0 96 137 11 0 97 113 11 5 

In order to test the value of, and the reliance to be placed ipon, the evidence and statements of 
Doctor West, it will be necessary to analyze both :-01 the 5th of October, 1854, Doctor West, having 
almost daily seen the prisoner Polack from his conviction, viz., 9th August, up to that time, and having 
been several times consulted by him, pronounced upon oath that Polack was subject to chronic lumbago, 
to be of a very gouty diathesis, and, from his age and general debility, that lie was not only unfit to undergo 
hard labour, but that the undergoing such a sentence would in all probability materially endanger his 
life. Now, let us see what Doctor West certified in February, 1860. Ile pronounces Polack fit for bard 
labour, notwithstanding what he swore upwards of five years previously, and knowing the very nature 
of the diseases he then swore Polack was labouring under to be ehrimie, adding, in the said affidavit, 
that at his age hard labour would " endanger his life." This certificate so surprised the gaoler, knowing, 
as he did, from previous knowledge of the prisoner, that he was quite unfit for hard labour, that he sent 
it to me for my directions. I wrote the following minute on the certificate, viz.—" Unless Dector West 
sees reason to alter his opinion, Polack must be put to bard labour." Then Mr. Beverley wrote the 
memorandum in red ink, which drew from Doctor West the following amended certificate :—"I consider 
"Polack to be in good healthier or man of his age, and quite capable of picking oakum, scouring cells, or 
"any other labour not requiring to lift heavy weights." It will be seen that even muter this amended 
certificate the gaoler might have halt the prisoner to out stone in the stockade; and, had be done so, 
looking at the affidavit of Doctor West, the result might have proved fatal to the prisoner ; but the-
same humane motives that induced Mr. Beverley to press upon the attention of Iloctor West the 
unfitness of the prisoner to be pid to bard labour, prompted him to adopt the less objectionable portion 
of Doctor West's certificate, and the prisoner was consequently appointed a wardsman in the committal 
wing, and there the duty of scouring cells devolved upon bim. But this light labour was found too 
laborious for the prisoner, for the very causes assigned by Doctor West in his affidavit of 1854, viz.. 
lumbago of many years standing; and it was reported to mc by Mr. Beverley that he himself is. as 
obliged to assist a wardsman to raise the prisoner Polack on his legs when he was endeavouring to 
perform the work of scouring cells ; therefore, in carrying out this modified form of Doctor West's 
certificate, if persisted in, might have produced serious consequences, if not shortened the life of the 
prisoner—adopting Doctor West's view of his ease in 1851. In consequence of this report, I appointed 
the prisoner to be one of the wardsmen in the •debtors' prison. When removed, in deference to the 
Colonial Secretary's decision, I ordered him to pick oakIlin, being the first description of labour men-
tioned in Doctor West's certificate. I use the words " in deference to the Colonial Secretary's decision," 
because the prisoner Polack was appointed to that billet, which was always, and is now, tilled by hard 
labour prisoners. 

Now let us see how far Doctor West is coned in his statements. The first, though not of any 
great importance in itself, is one of the many instances in. which Doctor West has made ill-considered 
and incorrect assertions. It is as follows—'' Polack was brought before me by order of the judge, to se n tsased the 
know if he was fit for hard labour." This is not the ease ; it was Mr. Beverley who, called for the certi- 6th lieh, 1S60. 

of eert16- • 	ficate. Doctor West states,—" I saw very little of Polack until he was removed from the debtors' f °  iotb Feb., prison back to the wing ;" " on the 23rd of March Polack sent a message to me that he was very ill, 136p.  
and wanted me to see him in his cell," ttc.; and, after describing the difficulty be had in getting the 
prisoner to the hospital, he goes on to say, "He then bad on black kerseymere trousers, black waistcoat, 
his own hat, and a pamper, with a Milifier round his week." Doctor West then states,—" I don't think 
I saw Polack afterwards until his petition was referred to tne in January, 1861.'"The first portion of 
Doctor West's statement is as follows —'I saw very little of Polack until he was removed from the 
debtors' prison back to the wing" If this statement be true, Doctor West must have seen the prisoner 
Polack after the 28th of June, 1860, for that was the day he was removed from the debtors' prison. Now 
let us see what Dr. West further states. 'On the 23rd of March, 1800, Polack sent a message to me to 
say lie was very ill, and wanted me to see him in his cell," dm. In alluding to this circumstance, Doctor 
West states he did not see the prisoner afterwards until he saw him in reference to his petition, in 
January, 1861. As to this latter statement, lain inhumed it is quite correct ; indeed it must be so, lig, 
doubtless, the Doctor referred to the hospital journal before making it. Now, with regard to the former 
portion of the foregoing statement, respecting the occurrence of the 23rd March, this most have been 
before, and not after (as he states), the removal of Polack from the debtors' prison, inasmuch as Polack 
was not sent to time debtors' prison for seven weeks after that date, viz.. the 12th May, and not removed 
from there until the 28th June. So much for the correctness of this statement. I should notbe disposed 
to take such notice of this statement, were it not manifest that, by the great particularity and eiremn-
stantial In:Inner in which the Doctor related it, he wished to convey that, notwithstanding the decision 
of the Colonial Secretary, which caused Polack's removal from the debtors' prison, he was still permitted 
to wear his own clothes. Now, as to the clothes stated by Doctor West to have been worn by Polack 
when he saw him in reference to his petition in January, 1861, is it not likely the Doctor is as incorrect 
in this as he has shown himself to be in his other statements, particularly when he speaks of the 
prisoner as being better dressed than he was, admitting at the same time that the prisoner had on a gaol 
jumper ! Besides, be is contradicted on this point by two or three warders. 

Doctor West goes on to say,—" I never gave any instructions that Polack was to be treated 
differently to the other prisoners sentenced to hart' labour." How does Doctor West reconcile this with 
the fact of his having given first a general cert;ficate, consigning this prisoner t.o the hardest labour; then 
giving an amended one, allotting him light labour, viz., picking oalthim, dte.? How well this accords 
with Doctor West's affidavit of October, 18541 and I would ask, was there over such an order as the one 
he gave the gaol dispenser, viz., that he should never prescribe for the prisoner, even though he should 
be taken ill at am/gut? I venture to assert there never was such an order given with respect to any other 
prisoner in Darlinghurst Gaol. 

Now, with respect to Doctor West's pronouncing the prisoner a malingerer, and consequently 
giving the dispenser the order just alluded to—this, indeed, appears very unaccountable, when we look 
at another portion of Doctor West's statement, wherein he states he had only seen the prisoner for a few 
times, which, by his own showing, were during the first five weeks of his imprisonment, viz., from about 
10th February to 23rd March, and admits not haying seen him at an from the 23rd March, 1560, to 
January, 1861—a period of ten months. 

It appears by the records of the Darlinghurst Gaol, that, in 1854, Doctor West ordered the 
prisoner Polack both wine and cigars, considering that a man of his years, habits, and constitution, 

required 



1272 

212 	 MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN I3EFORE TUE SELECT COMMITTEE 

John O'Neill required these extra, and unusual allowances. Polack was thus treated from his conviction, viz., the 9th 
Bream], Esq. of August. 1654, to 8th October following, when he Wag transmitted to Parramatta Geol. 

Again I would ask, how can this be reconciled with his course of treatment and conduct towards 
this unfortunate prisoner in 1860? If Doctor West's entire statement be carefully considered, I eon- 

Ma tirt 1861 ' fidently submit that it will be found to be replete with so many contradictions and inconsistencies that 
it cannot be considered as reliable evidence. 

Mr. Walsh's statement is of little value, he having paid but slight attention to Polack, and OS he 
considers a prismier not dressed as a prisoner unless he be dressed all in white or grey, according to the 
seaso», and branded with the broad arrow and Darling,hurst Gaol. 

Michael Burke takes the same view. They therefore did not consider Polack dressed as a prisoner, 
because he ivore the grev tmusers and white juniper, neither of which appears to have been branded. 

The reason of Polack's not wearing an entire snit of white dock was that, being of such a. very 
gouty habit, he could not bear the cold fithem. And the same reason, in addition to his being subject 
to chronic lumbago, induced Mr. Beverley to sanction his wearing the coat before alluded to, not having, 
as he assures me, another in the gaol to suit, and which Doctor West seems now to make so much of, 
regadlless of his having sworn that Polack had chronic lumbago, was of a very gouty diathesis, aged, 
and labouring under general debility. 

Now, at the close of the inquiry, on Monday, the 11th instant, T considered it my duty, in con-
sequence of the statements made during that inquiry, to suspend Mr. Harrison, but 1 abstained from 
taking a similar step with regard to Mr. Beverley for the reasons stated in by letter of the following 
day, the 12th instant, namely, " I have for tile present abstained from suspending the principal gaoler, 
" considering that it would be extremely inconvenient under the present circumstances of the prison, if 
" not dangerous, to suspend both the principal officers of the establishment at the same moment." 

On the next day, Weduesdny, the 13th, I saw one of Mr. Cowper's minntes on my letter of the 
12th instant, which, as vell as I can recollect (having hail but a cursory glance of it), expressed an 
opinion that I ought to have suspended Mr. Beverley as well as Mr. Harrison, and that I could easily 
have procured a locum. tenons ; and, kfore I liad read any of the other minutes, Mr. Elyard said that he 
would send Inc the official letter after seeing Mr. Cowper ; and I certainly understood that I was to wait 
until I received it, as it was to he sent to me immediately, and the more so as I understood the Minute 
to express an opinion and not a direction. Thursday Caine, and no letter—Friday morning, and no letter; 
but ill the afternoon I received a note from Mr, Cowper, requesting me to call upon him, when to my 
utter amazement he informed me that, having read and carefully considered the reports of the result of 
the investigations, and also my letter of the 12111 instant,' he could not arrive at any other conclusion 
than that It was his duty to suspend me as well as Mr. Beverley. 

It appeared then (as I supposed) that the principal thing, laid to my charge was want of decision 
and of determination, as was said, in not at once suspending Mr. Beverley as well as Mr. Harrison. 
Let us see how far that charge is well founded, or whether I did not take the more prudent course in 
writing the letter of the 12th, and waiting for instructions. 

Hero was an establishment with 105 of the most desperate Cockatoo convicts, in addition to its 
ordinary inmates, =minting to upwards of 300, the principal warder under suspension, four of its 
warders very recently appointed, and I being in possession of information, through the principal gaoler, 
that 50 of the Cockatoo convicts, whose solitary confinement had expired, and who were necessarily at 
large during the day time in the gaol yard, were planning an escape over the wall behind the work-
shops. 

*Now, with all these facts before me I am told ItMewed want of moral cc:swage:because I did not 
suspend the two principal officers of the establishment, and intrust it to the charge of a stranger. 

Now let the converse be looked at. Suppose I had done so, and that a number of these despera-
does either escaped, or that in their attempt to escape some of the officers lost their lives, what, I would 
ask, would be said of my taking such a course and exposing the establishment to such consequences? 
Doubtless I would be told thus, and, I admit, rightly—" Mr. Beverley was not shown either dishonest or 
" unfit to be intrusted with the charge of the establishment for a few days longer, and from your want 
" of discretion those serious consequences have resulted." Then, indeed, there would be good reason 
for suspending me.* 

I am told that Mr. Cowper said he did not think I possessed sufficient judgment and discretion 
to manage such an establishment as Darlinghurst Gaol—at the same time speaking of Inc in the very 
kindest terms. 

I do feel unwilling to tnimpet my own praises, but the very serious character of the pending 
inquiry will plead my excuse. On a very recent disturbance in the above gaol, during the last Criminal 
Sittings, I was soddenly called upon by my officers to attend in the gaol, and deal with a large number 
of the Cockatoo Island prisoners who were then disturbing the whole establishment by howling at the 
top of their voices, and using very improper language, and exciting Hot other prisoners to snob an extent 
that the business of the Court was likely to be very znneh interfered with. I went into the gaol, and 
desired my officers to call silence, and inform the prisoners I (the Sheriff) was about to explain to 
them their true position respecting the cause of the complaint, namely, the removal of the bed-boards 
from each cell. My officers, Callaghan and Wallace, assured me that they tried every way to appease 
them, but in vain. They were like madmen, threatening all sorts of things. Yet I proceeded to the 
wing, and called to the men to be silent. They instantly obeyed, and I then referred to their complaints 
as to the bed-boards being taken from them, and their being obliged to sleep on the flags. I told them 
they bad to blame their fe'llow-prisoners, Clarke and Cavanagh, for the removal of the bed-boards, as 
they used them to aid them in effecting their escape, and I told them they were removed by my order. 
I addressed those unfortunate and deluded men in my usual style on such occasions, remonstrating with 
them, and assuring them that such violence and disorder would only bring on themselves still greater 
suffering and privations, at the same time impressing on them the necessity of obedience to 
my orders, and that I should, although very reluctantly, enforce them, and then appealed to 
their common sense and self-interest. I have found from experience that admonitory appeals to such 
men before resorting to punishment rarely failed to produce at least obedience to my orders, and in this 
instance it had the desired effect. Silence and perfect order were restored, and my officers reported to 
Inc that those men from that day forth were most orderly and obedient up to the day of my suspension. 

Mr. Imacs, the barrister, and Mr. Williams, the Crown Solicitor, were within hearing, and both 
expressed their astonishment at the effect produced by my address to these men, and observed that my 
lecture had a talismanic effect on the men. 

To refer to those unfortunate men would indeed be out of place, but I contend that their respect 
for an officer and great deference to his orders prove that they are satisfied at whatever he may be 
obliged to do in carrying out gaol discipline, and even punishments that may be inflicted when fairly 
investigated and proved to be deserved, and of this I have had various instances, and my subordinate 
officers can bear testimony to this. 

Mr. Cowper is aware of the extensive improvements and additions I have made to the Darling- 
horst Gaol, and that solely by prison labour ; and that in the erection of the new single-celled labour 
wing, it is admitted that I have effected a saving to the Government of at least twenty thousand 
pounds (£20,000), and that in the short space of three years, exclusive of the debtors' prison and a 
spacious hospital ; and I beg to remind Mr. Cowper of the many difficulties I had to contend with in 
procuring the materials to keep the men constantly at work. All these usefal additions were not 
accomplished without the constant attention and exertions of myself and officers, as until the year 1860 

there 

• This was written before the escape of the seventeen Cockatoo prisoners from Darlingburst Gaol. 
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there were no overseers of works, and this duty was performed by Mr. Harrison without additional pay, John O'Neill 
and the style and durability of the works speak for themselves. 	 Bretton, Esq. 

1 am seven years in charge of that establishment ; there have been no serious irregularities Or 
disturbances amongst the prisoners ; indeed, on the contrary, good order and attention to the work was 
inaiutained throughout, notwithstanding the great influx and reflux of prisoners, and notwithstanding 3  Mays 186-1 ' 
having the disadvantage of female confinees in the same establishment, which is not allowed in the 
largo prisons in England. Are all these exertions and attentions or mine and any officers to be over-
looked because it is now alleged that some comparatively slight gaol discipline has been relaxed in the 
ease of this old and ailing man, Polack ? 

Now, do any antecedents justify Mr. Cowper in the opinion that I do not possess sufficient moral 
Courage and determination to grapple with the difficulties of managing an establishment like Darling-
hurst -Gaol? 

• It is always painful for a man of right feeling to eulogize his own capabilities, but in the present 
case it becomes necessary for me to prove that Mr. Cowper's estimate of soy official abilities is not 
well founded, as I shall now proceed to show that in the discharge of my public duties as Water Police 
Magistrate, so far back as ten years ago, I showed myself to possess great moral courage and a deter-
mination to carry out the maritime laws, notwithstanding the powerful mercantile influence arrayed 
against Inc. 

It may be within Mr. Cow -per's recollection, as it is a matter of record, that several of my 
decisions as Water Police Magistrate were not only foiled fault with, but reprobated by a great motion 
of the merchants of the city, and that they employed the ablest legal assistance to control my decisions 
in my own Court, and that in several instances they appealed to the Supreme Court against them, but 
ill every instance without success. Notwithstanding this justification of my conduct by the Supreme 
Court, the most wealthy and leading merchants in the city combined together, and many of them, then 
members of Council, determined to get rid of me by an indirect and, I should say, unconstitutional 
proceeding. 

A resolution was moved and carried ill the then Council, supported by those mercantile members 
and those whom they had enlisted in their cause, recommending the Government to remove me as 
Water Police Magistrate and to appoint me to some other situation, as Mr. Wentworth was pleased to 
say that there were many other situations which I was eminently fitted to fill. Mr. Donaldson. in his 
place in the Douse, said that I exercised my authority and discretion most unwisely and unfairly ; and 
he then instanced the case of the ship "Ranger," at that dim lying, as lw said, rotting in the harbour, 
because I would not compel her crew to take her to sea upon a mere assumption on any part that she 
was not seaworthy, when in fact it was no assumption of M ine, as she was reported to use unseaworthy, 
and a survey demanded by the men, which was Ts:fused by the ship's agent. What were the 
consequences? 

The ship no doubt lay for several months in the harbour without a crew, when at length the ship's 
agent prevailed upon Captain Hunter and his crew to volunteer to take her to London, and I felt bound 
to permit them to do so, having first given them a full history of the case. 

This ship, as I anticipated, never reached London ; she foundered at sea, and all hands were lost 
but four seamen. 

Notwithstanding the powerful interest brought to bear by the mercantile body in the Council, 
the then Governor, Sir Charles Augustus Fitz Roy, refused to act upon their recommendation, having 
first satisfied himself by his Law Officers that any decisions were legal, and that I shcwed that I did 
possess moral courage to carry out the law in its integrity against the most powerful body in the com-
munity ; and IEs Excellency observed that he would not remove me from the Water Police Bench until 
be had an opposstunity of appointing Inc to something better, which led to my appointment as Sheriff. 

Now, upon a review of the war& ease, I respectfully but confidently submit that, regarding Doctor 
West's affidavit to be true, as We are bound to do, and his certificate of 1860 as untrue, it being in 
direct contradiction to his oath; and having regard to thc true position of the prisoner 'Polack under 
the gaol regulations, and to his right to be treated like any other prisoner of his age, health, clime, and 
sentence, and not to be dealt with in furtherance of carrying out any undue severity, which would, in 
his ease, have amounted to a positive cruelty and iffinimanity on part of the gaoler; and, further, 
regarding the proper discretion to be used by the gaoler in carrying out the sentences of the law, that 
such shall not be made the instrument of torture by any one, who, having the power, nmy have the desire 
to use or cause it to be so used ; and I do therefore most confidently hut respectfully contend, that 
whatever slight deviation from the general practice there may have been made, and for which I can at all 
be accountable, in the ease of Polack, it was on the side of, and induced by, humanity alone. 

I am sure that the Honorable Colonial Secretary, on carefully looking at the farts of this case, will 
see how much he has been misled by Doctor West and the witnesses Ile produced in support of Ids 
statements ; and I can well understand why; the Honorable Colonial Secretary saw no reason to doubt 
the correctness of those statements, coming as they did from a gentleman holding so high and important 
an office in my department. 

Ill conclusion, I have the honor to assure the Executive Council that I have every confidence in 
their giving a fair and impartial consideration to my case, and that they will agree with me that 
throughontithe whole matter I have been blameless, and I trust that they will deal with this case on its 
own merits. 

[Appendix to foregomy Statement.] 
No. 61-29. 	 Sheriff's ()Mee, 

Sydney, 12 February, 1861. 
Sir, 

I have the honor to inform you that on Saturday last the Inspector General of Police 
produced to me yonr letter of the Sth instant, directing hiln to inquire into curtain statements commu-
nicated, as I understand, by Doctor West, Visiting Surgeon of the Gaol, in reference to the treatment of 
and discipline enforced towards the prisoner Polack, and directing the Inspector General to inquire 
into, and to report upon, the allegations contained in the statement of Doctor West. 

2. I beg respectfully to observe that I thought this direction to the Inspector General of Police 
was an imusmd course, until I had been apprised of the nature of the statements made by Doctor West, 
and called upon to inquire into, and report upon, the discipline or want of discipline enforced by my 
subordinate officers in Darlinghurst Gaol with respect to this prisoner. However. I am willing to 
regard this proceeding as a nwre oversight of the usual prior communnication with the head of the 
department, it haying probably arisen from the fact that Mr. MiLerie was appointed at that time, at 
my own suggestion, to assist Inc in an inquiry into the circumstances of the escape of the two prisoners 
named David Clarke and Michael Cavanagh. I, therefore, permitted Mr. TELmie to proceed with the 
inquiry touching the allegations of Dr. West with reference to the prisoner Polack. I did, so rather 
than allow it to appear that I would interfere in the slightest degree to shield my subordn,otes in any 
alleged neglect of duty on their parts. 

3. I find, however, that the Course which Mr. MtLerie felt himself compelled to take is such as 
I cannot consider quite fair towards my officers, inasmuch as lie has refused to bear evidence in contra-
diction to the allegations of Doctor "West and the witnesses examined at his instance; and notwith-
standing this impression, as it appears to me, a prbna .fatie case of neglect of duty and disregard of my 
positive orders has been shown on the part of the principal warder, I have deemed it expedient to 
suspend that officer, with a distinct understanding that I would afford him every opportunity-  of relieving 

himself 



1274 

214 
	

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE TAKEN DEFODE THE SELECT COMMITTEE 

John O'Neill himself from the consequences of a disregard of my orders and neglect of duty, which the evidence, so 
Bretton, Esq. far taken, tends to prove. 

4. Under these circumstances, I have the honor to request that the Inspector General of Police 
may be directed to assist me in entering into a full investigation of the treatment of Polack by my 3 May, 1861. subordinate officers, with a 'View of affording them every opportunity of explaining and accounting for 
their neglect in carrying out my peremptory orders with reference to this prisoner. 

5. I am particularly desirous that this course should he adopted, as it will be in your recollection 
that on a former occasion complaints were made with reference to a lax discipline in favour of this 
prisoner, when I gave a positive order that he should be removed front the duties of woodsman in 
the debtors' prison to the hard labour yard, to be there dealt with as any other hard labour prisoners, 
and which order has not been by me relaxed in the slightest degree. [See Memorandum annexed hereto, 
No. 60-472.] 

C. I have the honor further to state—[" I have for the present abstained from suspending the 
" principal gaoler, considering, that it would be extremely inconvenient, under the present circumstances 
'of the prisou, if not dangerous, to suspend both the principal officers of the establishment at the same 
"moment "1—although so far as the evidence has been taken in reference to Mr. Beverley personally, I 
will feel it my painful duty to suspend that officer, unless he can, upon the further inquiry, relieve 
himself of the apparent neglect of his own duties. 

I haw, dic., 
JOHN 0'.NEILL BRENAN, 

To the Honorable 	 Sheriff. 
The Colonial Secretary. 	 — 

Moto. No. 60-472. 
Let Polack be put to pick oakum in the hard labour yard. 
Let Dr. Beamish be placed in the trial or confine wing, and have a cell to himself. 

J. ON. B., Sheriff. 
2 July, 1860. 

The Principal Gaoler, Darlinghurst. 

Garryoteen, 16 Fe5rucoy, 1861. 
Sir, 

I have the honor to draw your attention to my letter, as Sheriff, of the 12th inst., No. 61-29, 
having reference to your letter of the 8th inst., directing the Inspector General of Police to inquire 

in reference to the treatment and discipline enforced towards a prisoner named "Polack," now confined 
into certain statements communicated to you by Doctor West, the Visiting Surgeon of Darlinglturst Gaol, 

in that gaol, and directing hint to report upon the allegations contained in Doctor West's statement made 
in reference to the treatment of that prisoner. 

Not haying received any official reply to this communication places me in a very embarrassing 
position, as I am really at this moment in ignorance of your opinion and decision on my appeal to yoll, 
contained in that letter, notwithstanding my having called at your office on other business, on Wed-
nesday, the 13th inst., and Mr. Elyrtrd having shown me one of your minutes, being the last on my 
letter of the 126, which, by the way, I found a difficulty in deciphering, and was assisted in so doing 
by Mr. Elyard, when be then said he would communicate your official answer to me as soon as he 
could speak to you on the subject. I understood lain then to say (and am now under the same 
impression) that I was to bold my hand, and not act upon your minute, thus imperfectly understood by 
me, until he should sec von on the subject, and then communicate officially to me your decision ; and 
von will doubtless recollect that, on a subsequent interview with yourself, when you first intimated 
to Inc your intention of suspending me as Sheriff, for not having taken action on the minute referred 
to, I pledged my honour as a gentleman, in presence of Mr. Elyard, that I understood him to say that I 
Was to wait until I received your official answer to my said letter, which was, in fact, the cause of my 
not having immediately carried into effect your opinion of what ought to have been done by mc with 
reference to Mr. Beverley. 

Prior to my having received your official announcement of my suspension as Sheriff, I made 
several inquiries with reference to the subject contained in my letter of the 12th instant, and I am led 
to the conclusion that, from the surrounding circumstances, it will be found on inquiry that a very 
different state of facts existed in reference to the treatment and discipline adopted towards the prisoner 
Polack thou that reported by Doctor West, 

Now, having reference to your letter of the 8th inst., addressed to the Inspector General of 
Police, and Ins construction of his duties under that letter, it is quite clear he did not consider himself 
justified in inquiring into the conduct of my subordinate officers—as he himself said, and, in fact, as I 
lad ieve, it was intended that I should co-operate with the Inspector General in that inquiry, as well as 
the inquiry into the circumstance and cause of the escape of Clarke and Cavanagh. At the close of the 
inquiry touching the irregularities in the treatment of the prisoner Polack, which affected the conduct 
of my subordinate officers, I suggested to the Inspector General the necessity of affording my officers an 
opportunity of producing such evidence as they might see necessary in exculpation or explanation of 
their conduct, or, as I am informed, to prove a very different state of facts from that shewn by Doctor 
\Vest and his witnesses ; but I was immediately met by the Inspector General's decision that he was not 
inquiring into the misconduct of any of my officers, and he felt bound to strictly confine his inquiry 
as to the correctness of the representations made by Doctor Vest in his report; consequently, my 
officers have had no opportunity of proving those statements to be incorrect. I therefore respectfully 
submit that my officers have been dealt with without a hearing, and consequently that I have been 
visited with the consequences of their alleged misconduct, which may be yet proved to be without 
foundation in a great degree, and, as I am informed, can be so proved ; and 1 , too, am visited with 
the severe treatment of a suspension upon an assumption that my officers have been guilty of some 
gross dereliction of their duty, which, in point of fact, even if true, has been already proved was wholly 
unknown to inc. 

In conclusion, I have the honor to submit that experience has shewn to me that the office and 
duties of Visiting Justice are incompatible with. my office as Sheriff', and the distinction is pointedly 
drawn by the Gaol Act ; they aro, in fact, distinct offices ; and even supposing my subordinate officers, 
as Sheriff, have been guilty of a breach of gaol discipline (and if known to me), I should be treated in 
this instance as Visiting Justice, and not in my capacity of Sheriff, as it is clear that the duties and 
liabilities are distinctly marked and provided for by ; and I therefore submit that the duties of 
Visiting Justice should not have been put upon me as Sheriff. 

Under these circumstances, I very respectfully trust you will re-consider your suspension of 
me as Sheriff; and, in reference to my subordinate officers, I presume they will take such a course as 
will enable them to satisfy you that they are not guilty of any very grave dereliction of duty or departure 
from the gaol regulations ; and I unhesitatingly assert I have not detected any of the irregulari-
ties complained of by Doctor West, and that there has been no want of vigilance on my part ; nod I may say, in truth. that I have felt the most anxious desire to establish the most perfect system of prison 
discipline at Darlinghurst Gaol that the building and accommodation enabled me to do. 

I have, &c., 
JOHN O'NEILL BRENAN, 

Sheriff. 

In 
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In the Supreme Coonof New South Wales, 	 John O'Neill 
Criminal Jurisdiction. 	 Brenan, Esq.  

The Queen against Abraham Polack and William Henry Wells. 
On the fifth day of October, in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four, George West, 3  Mays 1561- 

of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales. Doctor of Medicine, being duly sworn, maketh oath 
and smith as follows :—I - hold the situation of Surgeon to Her Majesty's Gaol at Darlinghurst, in the 
said city of Sydney. I have seen the above-named Abraham Polack almost daily since he has been 
confined within the said gaol under the conviction against him herein, and I have been on several 
occasions consulted by him, and find that he is afflicted with lumbago, which I am informed is of long 
standing, and also that he is of a very gouty diathesis ; in consequence thereof, as well as from his age 
and general debility. I am of opinion that he is an unfit person to undergo a sentence of hard labour 
without seriously injuring his health, and that the undergoing such a sentence would in all probability 
materially endanger his life. 

Sworn by the deponent on the day first above mentioned, at Sydney aforesaid, before me, 
Auousrus CARTER, a Commissioner for Affidavits. 

GEO. WEST. 

H. M. Gaol, DarlingIturst, 
' 16 February, 1860. 

Sir, I have this day carefully examined the prisoner Abraham Polack, and am of opinion his 
health is sufficiently good to perform hard labour. 	

I have, ste., 
GEO. WEST, 

To — Beverley, Esq., 
Governor of H. M. Gaol, Darling,hurst. 

	 Visiting Surgeon. 

Unless Doctor West sees fit to alter his certificate, Polack must be put to hard labour.—J. ON. B. 

As this is a particular case, I request Doctor West will state what 
Polack is to be put to—H. C. B. 

I consider Polack in good health for a man of his age ; he is quite 
-scouring the cells, or any other labour which does not require lifting heavy 

23 February, 1860. 

description of hard labour 

capable of picking, oakum, 
weights. 

GEO. WEST. 

     

Darlinghurst Gaol, 19 January, 1861. 

Sir, I have the honor to report to you, for the information of His Excellency the Governor 

has frequently attempted to deceive me by feigning illness, and by other unjustifiable means to impose 

to the effect of hard labour on his health, and, if his statement was true, it would he a contradiction to 

comma tail, in bad health, in fact he is stronger and looking better now than on his admission. Prisoner 

upon me ; and although (when called on by the Judge after his committal) I gave a certificate stating 
that I considered him fit to undergo hard labour, I am not aware that up to the present moment he has 
been put to it, or indeed that ho has ever been clad in the prison dress. 

General, that the prisoner named in the margin [A. Polack; is not, nor has been at any time since his 

These facts distinctly contradict his assertion in the third paragraph of his petition, relative 

his fourth paragraph, because prisoners undergoing hard labour have no right to be kept in close con-
finement. 

1 consider Polack a determined malingerer, and his ease one that ought not to receive any 
mitigation of sentence on the plea of ill health. 	

I have, &c., 
G]iO. WEST, 

Visiting Surgeon. The Honorable 
The Colonial Secretary. 

In the Colony of New South Wales,} 
Sydney, to wit. 

I, John Callaghan, of Sydney. in the Colony of New South Wales, acting principal warder at Dar-
linghurst Gaol, do solemnly and sincerely declare that I have been a warder in this gaol nearly ten 
years ; the prisoner Abraham Polack was ia my charge for some short time while I was in charge of the 
committal wing ; I was then relieved by Warder Rispen ; he was in prison clothes wliile he was in my 
charge—that is, a white jumper and grey trousers, he picked his quantity of oakum while he was in my 
-charge; front my own knowledge I am not aware of his receiving any luxuries ; on my handing over 
charge of the wing to Rispen Tread him the order from Mr. Beverley, that he was to pick oakum and wear 
prison clothes ; while he was in my charge he was treated in a similar way to other prisoners, and 
received no indulges-16es that I am aware of; and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of an Act, &s.e. 
Made before Andrew Lonehan, Esq., J.P. 	 JOHN CALLAGHAN. 

In the Colony of New South Wales, 
Sydney, to wit. 

I, Thomas Lee, of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, warder at Darlinghurst Gaol, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare Dualshall have been awarder ten years on the Elth of Maynext ; Abraham 
Polack was in my charge, as warder of the old hard labour wing, after he was removed from the 
debtors' prison, for some time during which period he picked oakum in the hard labour yard, and wore 
a jumper cut up the front, prisoners grey trousers and shoes ; I never know, nor heard, of his getting 
any additional diet in the way of indulgencies, and afterwards, when he was in the new bard labour 
wing, I weighed out his quantity of oakum, sent it over to hint, and got it back picked ; I am not 
aware of any favouritism or unfair leniency towards this prisoner, beyond any other, whilst in my charge ; 
I snake this solemn declaration believing the same to be true, ste. 
Made before Andrew Lenehan, Esq., J.P. 	 THOMAS LEE. 

Donald 
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	Donald 31•Koy, late warder in Darlingburst Gaol, states 	have been a warder in the gaol for 11 
BreIlan, Esq. years; I had the prisonePolaek under my charge five months; he wore the same clothing as the hard 

lithotm prisoners wore ; he alwon picked his oalt.um ; I never saw anything in his cell more than was 
3 May, 	any other prisoner's cell ; I did not receive orders to treat him differently from other prisoners ; when 1361 ' 	' Polack was removed to the new wing, I was told lie was to pick oakum there, and which he did as 

stated before. 
DONALD M`ROY. 

In the Colony of New Smith Wales, I 
Sydney, to wit. 

Thomas flair/son, of Paddington, in the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New South Wales, late 
principal turnkey of Darlingluoist Gaol, do solemnly and sincerely declare, that on or about the twenty-
fourth day of March, one thousand eight hundred and sixty, Dr. George West, Visiting Surgeon to 
Darlinglnirst Gaol aforesaid, requested use to bring Polack (who was then, and is still, undergoing a term 
of imprisonment for three years with hard labour in Darhnghurst Gaol aforesaidA from his cell to tho 
surgery ; I went to Polack, who was ill in bed in his cell ; I found him in a fearful state of perspira-
Con ; 1 then went to Dr. West and informed him of the state Polack was in, and asked him whether he 
thought it advisable to bring Into down ; Dr. \Vest said—yes, I will have him down ; 1 then went to 
Polack and told him that Dr. West declined to attend him in his cell, and that be must come down 
to the surgery ; Polack said he, could not go—that if he did it would be the death of him ; I said you 
had better put a blanket round you, which he did, and went down with me to Dr. West, to the surgery, 
and he was then ordered to go into the hospital. and from thence he VMS discharged on the twenty-sixth 
day of the same month of March ; at that time the said Abraham Polack had on a pair of block trousers 
of his own, but the rest of his clothes wen: prison clothes; at that time there were about thirty other 
prisoners wearing, their own trousers and shoes in consequence of there being no prison trousers or 
shoes of any doicription at that time in the gaol store ; a requisition bad been sent in for slop cloth lug 
for the prisoners, but the said clothing did ztot arrive until the latter end of June, and after Polack left 
the debtors prison I gave directions to hive two pairs of prison trousers made into one for Pnlaek, as 
there Were none large enough for him ; they were made and he wore them ; I never saw him afterwards 
without tItent on, and I was in the liablt of seeing film daily in taking my rounds through the different 
prisons and cells; I never knew Polack to have luxuries of' any kind in his cell, as stated by the prisoner 
Banks in his examination before Captain alterie, at the gaol, on or about the ninth February, one 
thousand eight Imutired and sixty-one ; I am not aware of any signals being passed to Polack when the 
Sheriff' arrived, nor am I aware of Polack's haying any stores or luxuries in his own or any other cell ; 
I recollected when Polack complained of lumbago 1: gave him the only coat that was in the stores, such 
as the prisoners once wore, and was furnished by Government; Polack was allowed to be exercised in 
the morning and evening in consequence of being principally worked in the wing; the same as all other 
exempt or pirtially exempt prisoners: the prisoner Polack frequently complained of being ill to me, 
but said he would rather die than call in Dr. West, in consequence of his treatment to Into ; I have 
myself repeatedly seen him unable to eat his dinner, and have occasionally ordered it to be reheated two 
or three times.for him ; in the month of January last I was present in Darlinghurst Gaol when Dr. 
West came to visit Polack; I had just completed my rounds and had seen Polack when Dr. West was 
coining up the staircase in the hard labour wing; Dr. 1Vest asked me where Polack was, and I pointed 
Polack out to him ; at that time Polack was dressed in grey trousers, jumper, shoes, and hat, all prison 
clothes : And I m ike this solemn declaration conscientiously believing, the same to he true, and by 
virtue of the provisions of an Act made and passed in the sixth year of the reign of His late Majesty, 
intitnled, " An Act to repeal on Act of the present Session of Parlianzent intitaled ' An Act for the more 

effectual abolition of oaths and affirmations fakm and made in varions departments of the State and to 
" substitute declarations in lieu thereof and for the moss entire suppression of voluntary and extra 
" 'judicial oaths and nflitht pits and to make other provisions for the abolition of unnecessary oaths,'" and 
also by virtue of the provisions of an Act of the Governor and Legislative Council of New South Wales 
made and passed in the in uthi year of tlie reign of Her present Majesty, intituled, "An Act for the more 
" effectual abolitirm of oaas and affirmations taken and made in various departments of' the Goy aim cat 
" of New South Wales mid to substitute declarations in lieu thereof and for the suppression of voluntary 
" and exlra judicial oaths and affidavits." 
Declared, 8:- e, 

In the Colony of New South Wales,' 
Sydney, to wit. 

Christopher Riven, of Denbatn-strect, Surry Hills, in the City of Sydney, in the Colony of New 
Sonth Wales, late warder at Darlinghurst Gaol, do solemnly and sincerely declare, that Abraham 
Polack, a prisoner now undergoing the punishment of three years hard labour in Darlinc;hurst Glad, 
wore, the prison doffing shortly after he left the debtors' prison, winch was on time twenty-nighith June, 
one thousand °int hundred and sixty, and came under my charge in the trial wing of the gaol ; up to 
that time he wore his own trousers—there being neitherltrousers or shoes in the gaol store at that time 
for the prisoners; when the prison clothing was supplied, there were no trousers large enough for 
Polack, and I was ordered by Mr. Harrison, the then principal turnkey, to have two pairs of trousers 
made into one for hint ; I gave orders accordingly-, and Polack never wore any other but prison clothing 
from that time until 1 left the prison, to the best of my belief; 1 did see Polack occasionally with a 
long coat on, which I ant informed was a prison coat ; Polack was about a month under my charge, and 
then removed to the now hard labour wing of the prison under the charge of Mr. M'Coy, who was at 
that time a turnkey in the gaol ; I never knew him to have luxuries of any description while in the 
gaol, nor did I ever convey any to him; when Polack came into the prison, I received him, I searched 
him, and took from him a penknife and a small sum of money—he had nothing else on him at that 
time ; tins money was as usual handed over to 11r. Harrison, the penknife was labelled and put by in 
the usual way ; I never gave any authority to any person whatever to address letters to Inc or to my 
wife for Polack or nay other prisoner ; and I do not know anything about the contents of a letter which 
I am informed was intercepted by Burke, the gatekeeper at Darlingiburst Gaol, and said to be 
addressed to my wife ; I never passed any signal to Mr. Polack, or to any other prisoner, upon the 
arrival of the Sheriff at the gaol, nor did I know of any one else doing so, and I de not believe such 
was done; while Polack was under my charge he frequently complained of being ill, but refused to 
consult Dr. West ; Polack was employed picking oakum under my charge, on one occasion he appeared 
to be so ill, that although he begged me not to report it to Dr. West, I thought it my duty to inform 
Mix Harrison, as I really thought he w-as going to die; he was then in a profuse perspiration, and 
shivering all over ; I never saw a man in such a state of illness before, and as Dr. West did not visit 
him in his cell, he was removed by Mr.11arrison's order to the hospital, rolled up in a blanket ; the 
prisoner said let me die hem rather 04111 be taken to Dr. West. And I make this solemn declaration 
conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of an Act made and 
passed in the sixth year of the reign of his late Majesty, intituled,''Aim Act to repeal on Act of the 

Prese'nt Session of Dirliament intitaled An Act for the more effectual abolition of oaths and affirmations 
taken and 'nude in various departments of the &ate and to substitute declarations in licit thereof and .for 

" 'time 
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the more entire suppression of voluntary and extra judicial oaths and affidavits and to mediccother provi- 
sions for the abolition of unnecessary oaths,'" and also by virtue of the provisions of an Act of the B 

Governor and Legislative Council of Now South Wales, made and passed in the ninth year of the reign 
of Her present Majesty, intituled, "An Act for the more effectual abolition of oaths and affirmations (akin a  
" and made in various departments of the Covernment of New South lihtle,s and to substilute declarations in 
" lieu thereof and for the suppression of voluntary and extra judicial oaths and affidavits." 

Declared, &e. 

Sherirs Office,. 
Sydney; 1 May, 1860. 

Sir, 
In acknowledging the receipt of your letter :f the 25th offline, convoying to one the-

decision of the Executive Council upon the Report of the Board appointed to inquire into certain irregu- • 
larities in the Parramatta Gaol, into the conduct of the gaoler, and other officers, and to report on the-
general discipline carried out in that establishment ; also upon certain correspondence relative to the 
case of a female prisoner having bean delivered of a child in the Sydney Gard, she having been an. 
imnate thereof for more than twelve months; and referring to the undue detention of William Wallicg 

lunatic,-1 have the honor to submit as follows :— 
1. That the Executive Council have, unintentionally no doubt, done me a great injustice by 

importing into their decision on the Report of the Board specially appointed to investigate into irregu-
larities in the Parramatta Gaol, two totally distinct matters, which, I respectfully submit, have been 
already dealt with by the Government of the day. (See Colonial Secretary's letters, dated 6th Decem-
ber, 1859, and 6th March, 1860.) 

2. That the Executive Council have, unintentionally, done Me an injustice by acting upon: 
a Report before giving me an opportunity of seeing it and the evidence upon which it N17:19 based. I 
was the first witness examined, and was not afforded an opportunity of hearing the evidence of tho 
several witnesses subsequently examined ; and I was, consequently, deprived of the right, Os it is-
called, of cross-examining those witnesses whose evidence tended to show that it was the appointment 
of persons of indifferent character which was in a measure, if not altogether, the cause of the alleged 
irregularities; and I was thus deprived of the right of calling other witnesses to sustain my views, 
upon the subject, should I have felt called upon to do so-  

s. That the Executive Conned allege that I have committed a grave mistake in advancin-
damaging imputations against a subordinate, which I did not sustain by clear and indisputable proof_ 
In answer to this portion of the censure of the Executive, I beg to observe, that I made no imputatioor 
against Mr. Allen. The imputations, or charges, made against that officer, were made by third pat•ties, 
wholly w Wynit my knowledge until they reached me officially ; and that I only founded my opinion, 
and crone to conclusions from the evidence taken upon the inquiry I held into the cause of the alleged 
irregularities; and I was influenced in arriving at the conclusions I did from the evidence taken upon. 
that inquiry, strengthened by the failures of Mr. Allen in supporting counter-charges against other 
subordinates, and Ins manifest.  zeal and exertion in supporting those counter-charges which obviously 
tended to exonerate himself. I allude to John 13owen's case, and the attempt to slimy that Mr. Dudgeon-
was all accessory, if not a principal, in the larceny of the cabbage-tree hats. I may here observe, that 
evidence taken before the Boards of Inquiry into Mary Murphy's and John Bowen's cases was of suelt 
a character as to elicit from the Colonial Secretary the expressions in the annexed letter. 

4. In reference to the observation that a great portion, if not all the irregularities were attri-
butable to the appointment of persons of indifferent character to the subordinate offices. T beg to state 
that, since the dismissal of Mr. Moxhnun, who was principal turnkey when I became Sheriff, and who, 
in 1857, brought charges of immorality against Mr. Allen—it appearing on that inquiry that the-
subordinates were divided into two parties—I felt called upon to appoint strangers to all parties who 
were represented to be of good character. Mr. Moxham's successor was Mr. Phegan, who had strong-
recommendations from Major Twist. RE., Captain 6Pliay, 15th Regt., and Captain Kelso. Inspector of' 
Penal Establishments. Mr. Phegan had been an overseer over prisoners in Hobart Town. Mr. Phegan's 
successor was Mr. Maguey, who had high testimonials from several gentlemen in Melbourne; he was-
unknown to myself, and only a short time in the Colony. Mr. Maguey's successor, Mr. Dudgeon, was 
selected for the office by Captain alterie, at my particular desire. Mr. Dudgeon's successor, Mr. 
M'Cormack, the present principal turnkey, was also appointed upon the reconunendation of Captain., 
M'Lerie. 

In conclusion, I beg the Colonial Secretary will be pleased to lay this communication before the 
Executive, with the view alone of shewing that the eenclUSiOnS arrived at by the Board were not 
confined to the evidence on which I formed my former opinions of the conduct of Mr. Allen ; and 1 beg - • 
to assure the Government that, had I been present at the inquiry before them it would have afforded 
Inc sincere pleasure to hear any evidence that would justify MC in changing my opinion of the conduct 
of that officer, and I am now glad that Ile has succeeded in placing before the Board such evidence as. 
induced them to come to so favourable a conclusion as to the conduct of Mr. Allen ; nor do I now desire 
to disturb that conclusion. yet I most solemnly assure the Government I was solely actuated in the 
view I had taken of the evidence before me, and the course taken by me thereon, by a sense of duty, 
and to secure the efficient discharge of the public service in the establishment under Mr. Allen's charge; 
and I was fully aware that Mr. Allen was surrounded by highly respectable and influent•iaErelations and 
friends, and that the recommendation I then felt bound to make would naturally bring upon one their 
displeasure, and perhaps their censure ; even so I could not be turned aside from what I considered an 
imperative duty. 

Under all the circumstances herein relent(' to, I do feel the view taken by the Executive of my .  
conduct in reference to Mr. Allen was nnt in accordance with the dictates my- own conscience justified; 
and the censure of the Executive, and what I am to expect at their hands in future, leaves on my mint 
a very painful impression. 

I have, &c., 
To the Principal Under Secretary, 	 JOHN O'NEILL BRENAN, 

&ea 	&C. 	 SinedfiLO 

Darlinglaerst. 
26 February; 186ffin Iva  

My dear Sir. 
'I have the pleasure to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated the 25th instant, curt 

also copies of your letters to the Honorable the Colonial Secretary of the dates 12th, 16th, and 19th2 
February, 1661. I also acknowledge the receipt of a document headed— Statementof the Sheriff's, 
case." 

I have attentively considered these several papers, and proceed, according to your request, to,- 
make such observations as occur to my mind on the perusal of them. 

Though I ever carefully abstain from intruding may opinions on the notice of Her Majesty'E 
Ministers, I will, nevertheless, deviate on this occasion from my practice Because I have the same 
confidence, as you express at the end of your statement, that Her Majesty's Executive Council will give 
a fair and impartialconsideration to your case. 2nd. Because I have always considered, during the seven 
years you have been Sheriff, that you have performed the duties of that arduous office in a highly satisfact 
tory manner. In volunteering this testimonial, you will be kind enough to understand that I refer to that 

157-2 	 portiew 

JoTta efalfartla 
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John O'Neill portion only of your duties which have devolved on you as an officer of the Supreme Court, and not in 
Brenan. Esq. respect of those discharged by you as a functionary of the Executive Government. 

With respect to the indulgence exhibited towards Polack, I do not perceive that you have been 
Ata,,, 1861.  blamable in that matter. As far as I can collect, you neglected no visitation that you ought to have 

made. On your visitations you appear to have been deceived by gaol officers. The indulgence imparted 
to Polack was not communicated to you ; you could not he omnipresent, and, therefore, could not be 
aware how Polack was generally treated unless you were told of it, which it appears you were not. I 
therefore venture to hope that, on consideration of this matter of Polack, the Honorable the Executive 
Council will hold you entirely blameless. 

With respect to your not suspending Mr. Beverley, the question involves very delicate considera-
tion, and it is a matter upon which the honorable the Colonial Secretary is far more likely to form a 
correct judgment than I can pretend to offer. Assuming that you were wrong in not suspending Mr. 
Beverley, I am strongly inclined to think that if I had been in your place I should, under the circum-
stances:have done as you did. I think you took a correct course, and that if you did not do so you only 
committed a mistake in judgment on a point of no ordinary difficulty. If a gentleman should make a 
mistake upon such a point, and be deprived of his office for it, I am afraid that very few eligible persons 
would be desirous to enter into the public service. However this may be, as I sun sure your conduct 
will receive the just and even lenient consideration of Her Majesty's Ministers, I conclude this letter by 
expressing my earnest hope that you will lung continue to be employed in Her Majesty's service. 

Believe me, 55c.. 
John O'Neill Brenan, Esq. 	 J. N. DICKINSON. 

*Phis should La - 	P. S.—I have this day perused my letter to the Sheriff dated February 26th, 1860 0 ; I have also 1361.- read the printed "Statement of the Sheriff's case." Having read the printed statement, I see no reason 
to recede from what I said in the letter referred to. I entertain still the same hope which I expressed 
at the conclusion of my letter to the sheriff. 

J. N. DICKINSON. 
15 Mare', 1861. 

Supreme Court, 
21 March, 1661. 

My Dear Brenan, 
I have read the correspondence and statement shewm me by you, touching your suspension, 

together with Sir John Dickinson's letter ; and I cordially agree with the opinion which he expresses 
respecting your services as Sheriff, in all things which have come under our judicial observation during 
your long tenure of office. 

Until the duties of the Bench increased so overwhelmingly, I used periodically to visit and 
inspect the gaols; but, for some years past, I have been unable to continue that practice. I cannot 
form any opinion, therefore, from personal knowledge, as to your merits in that department. I can 
say, however, from frequent conversations with you on the subject of prison discipline, and similar 
matters, that I have always believed you to be very zealous, as well as minutely observant, in that 
portion of your many duties ; certainly not in any degree lax, or disposed to undue leniency. 

On the particular questions now before the Executive, my position makes it desirable for me to 
express no opinion to yon. I must content myself by recording here my sincere and earnest hope that 
you may speedily be restored to office. 

I am, 6m., 
ALFRED STEPHEN. 

E. 
Sleeriff's Office, 

Sydney, 9 Match, 1859. 
• Sir, 

As it appears to Inc that no definite decision and recommendations are likely to emanate from. 
the Select Committee upon secondary punishments, at least for some very considerable time, I have the 
honor to submit the following suggestions for the consideration of the Honorable the Colonial Secretary. 

1. That the Act 11 Victoria, No. 34, be repealed and re-enacted, substituting He words "penal 
servitude " for bard labour on the roads or public works. 

2. That the female prisoners be removed from Parramatta and Darlinghurst Gaol, and that they, 
excepting the old irreclaimable reprobates, be sent to the buildings in Parramatta known as the 
Military Barracks, as already suggested by me, and that this establishment be styled " The Female and 
juvenile Female Penitentiary," and be placed under the management of two or three ladies belonging 
to some religious order. 

3. That a common gaol and House of Detention should be established in or near Sydney, where 
• all short-sentenced mole prisoners (viz., under one year) and the old female reprobates from the police 

offices, Sm., should be sent, and thus relieve the Parramatta and Sydney gaols of such inmates. At this 
place the prisoners might be employed breaking stones for the city. A hulk might also be fitted up, 
and prisoners whose sentences exceeded six months and under two years be employed on Garden 
Island, or elsewhere in the harbour, forming earth embankments in front of some of the proposed 
batteries. 

4. That no more prisoners be sent to Cockatoo Island, and as soon as those there or a largo 
'majority of them have served their sentences, that the remainder be sent to some prison in the country 
districts, and free labour be substituted. 

5. That immediate steps be taken to enlarge and remodel Parramatta Gaol so as to make it 
capable of accommodating say two hundred prisoners in solitary confinement under the system of 
primary prisons of the " Irish convict prisons." This might be done by the erection of two wings on the 
space of ground on the Parratnatta side of the Parramatta Gaol Establishment, and which it is proposed 
to enclose by a wall of equal height with the present wall. That these wings should contain one 
hundred cells each-at least eight feet by nine and ten feet high, with four patent water-closets on each 
landing. 

6. That Darlinghurst Gaol should be enlarged as a reformatory establishment, similar to those in 
Dublin. 

T. That all the prisons be under the management of a Board of three paid Directors, and that the 
Irish Act be adopted. This need not be done until the gaols at Darlinghurst and Parramatta are fit for 
the reception of prisoners under the new system, which they ought to be I think in two or three years, 
according to the number of prisoners employed upon the works. Parramatta ought to be the first, as 
there would not be any of the prisoners then confined under the Irish system eligible for removal to the 
reformatory establishment at Darlinghurst until they had undergone nine months solitary confinement, 
so that the improvements, 8:e., in Parramatta Gaol ought to be pushed on AS much as possible, and, if 
necessary, free labour should be employed to erect the wall for enclosing the additional groundproposed, 
and while the well is being erected the Colonial Architect and myself can plan the new wings proposed 
for that gaol. 

8. To carry out these improvements with vigor and effect the Government ought to ask for, and 
the House to place at its disposal, a sum not less than ten thousand pounds. 

I have, &c., 
Principal Under Secretary, 	 JOHN O'NEILL HEENAN, 

ttc., 	&c. 	 Sheriff. 

TUESDAY, 
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TUESDAY, 7 MAY, 1861. 

arisent :— 
Mn. HART, 	 1 	MR. SUTHERLAND, 
MR. MATE, 	 Mn. WILSON, 
MR. MORRIS, 	1 	MR, WINDE YER. 

HENRY PARKES, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Mr. William Augustine Cahill again called itn and further examined :— 
5438. By Mr. Sutherland : Are you clerk of works, or foreman of works, on Cockatoo mr, W. A. 
Island ? Principal foreman of works. 
5439. Is there a clerk of works on the island ? There is a man under that designation there. 
5440. Do you know by what means Johnson and Ferris escaped from the island ? There 7 May, 1861. 
were some men employed at night in the engine-house, for the purpose, I think, of pumping 
out the dock, and these were two of the men who were employed. There was a boat moored 
at the wharf, and which, it appears, they had cognizance of, and they slipped away from the 
engine-house to the wharf, and got away by this boat. The boat belonged to the present 
clerk of the works; he was then foreman of engineers. 
5441. Was it loft in such a manner that the prisoners could have access to it at any time ? 
It appears so j on that occasion it was, for it was moored close to the landing wharf. 
5442. flow many boats were there belonging to the island at that time, or was every one 
allowed to keep a boat ? No other person than Mr.Broderielc was allowed to keep a boat. 
5443. Then, if I have been informed that it was the practice to. allow any or all of the 
officers to keep as many boats as they liked, and as long as they liked, is that right ? No 
officer of the island was allowed to have a boat except Mr. Broderick. He had permission 
from the Government to have a boat for his use. 
5444. Had he more boats than one ? Yes, two ; one for his son's, and one for his own use. 
5445. Were these boats allowed to pass backwards and forwards, to and from the island at 
any hour of the day or night ? I believe they did come at late hours as well as at early. 
5446. Do you remember the prisoners Landells and Hughes escaping from the island ? I 
recollect an attempt being made by them to escape from the island. 
5447. Where were they concealed at the time they made that attempt ? In the store where 
the Government supplies are kept, ironmongery, ropes, paint, canvas, and other things of 
that sort. 
5448. Who has charge of that store ? Mr. Duff, I think; he is the Government storekeeper 
there. 
5449. Is Mr. Duff a prisoner or a free officer ? A free officer. 
5450. Could they be concealed there without his knowledge ? Yes; I suppose they were—
that is where they were found when they were detected. 
5451. Where was the boat made by some of the prisoners ? It was made in a loft over the 
carpenters' shop. 
5452. Who made that boat ? A man of the name of Landells, I think, made it ; he was 
working in the carpenters' shop. He was employed there in making patterns for Mr. 
Broderick's purposes, for the fitting or engineers' shop, and he therefore was not removed 
when the other men were taken away to fix the roof of the new building—continuation of 
workshops. Although he was working in the carpenters' shop, he never received any 
directions from me, but always from Mr. Broderick, and as he was not working under my 
instructions, I had not removed him to put the new roof up. During this time be contrived 
to make this boat, and he had every facility, as he had the shop to himself, unless when a 
free man went in or out, and there was scarcely halfan-hour in a day that some one was not • 
in the shop. 
5453. Was he under your charge at that time ? Yes, be was under my charge, but I could 
not be accountable for him at that time, not being in the shop, unless occasionally when I 
went in and out, but at these times I always found him at his work—that is, the work he 
should have been at. 
5454. What has become of the vessel used for the diving-bell and the punt belonging to her? 
The vessel is lying a wreck opposite the prison, at the present time; the punt that belonged 
to her has been taken to pieces, because she was useless. 
5455. How was that vessel wrecked, can you tell ? I have some recollection of the manner 
in which she was lost, at least of the manner in which the punt.was lost. I think it is now 
about two years, if not better, since she was lost. One day the sea was very rough, and the 
punt, being lashed to her by a rope which was not sufficient to keep, she broke away and 
drifted over to the opposite shore, to the west side of Balmain. The police made an attempt 
to come up with her before she went on the other side, but were not in time enough, for she 
thumped on a rock and went down. Then an attempt was made to raise her by this vessel, 
with which the diving-bell was usually worked, and after some time the punt was raised and 
taken towards the prison to beach the punt; they did SO, but after beaching the punt, I 
believe they did not moor the vessel sufficiently far from the land, and she consequently 
drifted in on the land, her sternpost got on a ledge of rock, where she remained till the tide 
went down. There was a great quantity of loose ballast in the vessel, which ran forward as 
she sank and this plunged her immediately into deep water, where she lay. 
5456. Was the vessel in good working order at the time ? She had been in good working 
order up to that time. I think Mr. Broderick and Mr. Kelleher were the persons principally 
in charge of that diving-bell, and they could give the Committee better information respecting 
its loss than I could. 

5457. 
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Alan 5457. Is it the fact that the prisoners have been allowed to issue the Government stores 
without a free man being present ? Not lately. 

.01—°1/4—• 5458. What I refer particularly to is the issue of the stores belonging to the Engineer's 
4.1§ 'Its. ABM Department—had the prisoners access to the stores where files, powder, and such things are 

kept without having a free overseer with them? They have had, on some occasions, but not 
recently. I do not think that has been the case within this year. 

.5450. Then that system is discontinued on the island ? Yes. 
5460. Do the carpenters who are in your department work by piece-work the same as the 
masons ? They seldom work by piece-work ; it is difficult to get them on piece-work, there 
is such a variety of work that they are seldom kept any length of time on the same job. 
They are mostly paid according to their industry; where we can get anything done by 
piece-work we do. 
3161. Then if a man is industrious he gets so many marks for time and money ? Very few 

-men receive any benefit by time—they get money. None of those men who have been 
sentenced since June, 1850, get any benefit by time. 
.5462. Is it principally those men you have in your department? The greater number of 
theta are what are called long sentenced men—men who do not receive the indulgence of a 
ticket-of-leave. 
5463. Can you give the Committee the work done in the new buildings on the island—that 
is, the number of perches of stonework, and the number of squares of roofing, joisting, &c. ? 
I will furnish it to the Committee. ( Vide Appendix A.) 
-5461. Do you make the plans and specifications? No, unless for the direction of the men 
-who work under me. I make the plans for my own use—for all that I superintend—my own 
cworki ng plans. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

QUANTITY of Work performed in New Building. 
Continuation of Workshops. 

Excavations for foundations ., 	.. 	 .. 	.. 9,740 cubic feet. 
Foundations, rough hammered .. 	a4 	.e 	.. 	305 perches. 
Cut work over smface .. 	.. 	.. .0 	.. 1,025 perches. 
Mould cornice .. 	.. 	.— 	de 	de 	do 1,086 superficial feet. 
Framed truss roofing .. 	.. 	.. 	 DO 	.. 	804 squares. 
Gutter boarding and bearers .. 	.. 	.. 	 .. 	932 superficial square feet. 
Flooring joist 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	.. 	 .. 	1.5 squares 12 feet. 
Ceiling joist 	.. 	.. 	„ 	.. 	.. 	 .. 	15 squares 12 feet. 
Circular head frames and sashes (9).. 	 .. 	10 feet x it feet. 
Boxed frames and sashes (3) .. 	.. OD 	Oa 	0. 	6 feet 8 inches x 3 feet 6 inches. 

_Solid frames and sashes on pivots (6) 	.. 	.. 	.. 	4 feet x a feet G inches. 
The greater portion of foundations were set under water, as the tides would permit. 

WILLIAM A. CAHILL, 
Principal Foreman of Works. • 

Mr. Henry Fitzgerald called in and examined :— 
Mr-lintrit 5465. By the :Chairman : What are you on the island ? Foreman of works. 
Clikr2erilli  5466. What is your particular duty? I am generally occupied in measuring stone, and 

sizing stone to be cut. 
Mikt1C. 293- 5467. What is the difference between your situation and the situation of Mr. Cahill, the 

:witness who has just left ? He is a carpenter; he is a tradesman. 
5468. What is the difference between the situation held by you and that held by him? He 
Ins blacksmiths and carpenters under his control. 
5469. He is a foreman of works, and you arc a foreman of works ? Yes. 
5470. Is this the difference: that you have charge of the stone-cutting gangs, and that he 
Las charge of the men working at other businesses ? He has; but previously I had a gang 
tinder me engaged in building. 
6471. I should understand that you have charge of the cutting of the stone, until it is 
taken away to be used in building; and that Mr. Cahill has charge of the men working in 
the blacksmiths' and carpenters' shops; and also, of the men engaged in the erection of any 
liuilding ? Yes, at present he has. 
-6172. You have charge, exclusively, of the men engaged in the cutting of the stone ? 
'Yes. 
'5473. By Mr. Sutherland: Mr. Cahill gives you the dimensions of the stones he requires, 
.and you see that your men cut the stone according to those dimensions? Yes. 
-5174. You have charge of the gang—that is, of the whole of the stone-cutters ? Yes. 
.(Vide Appendix A 1.) 
6475. Are you a stonemason by trade? No; Tam not a tradesman. 
5476. How long have you had charge of the masons ? I have been on the island since the 
3ear 1851, and I have been in the employment I am now engaged at since February, 1854. 
• 4477. You have had charge of the stonemasons since 1854? Yes ; I have. 
-.5478. Can you direct the stonemasons, not being a tradesman ? Yes, as well as any man, 
I think. 
.5479. If the Committee have been informed that through your wrong directions a quantity 
of stone has been destroyed on the island, is that correct? It is incorrect ; there may have 
leen one or two instances, where a stone has -  been broken ; such a thing may accidentally 
Jaappen, but such cases have been very trifling. 

5480. 



1 281 

ON THE PUBLIC PRISONS IN SYDNEY AND CUMBERLAND. 	 221 

5480. Do you give the lines to the men, or do they take their own lines from your Mr. Henry 
direction? They take my lines. I have a sub-overseer under me, and he gives them their Fitzgerald. 

lines; when moulding stones are required, they are cut to a certain length. 
6481. You have a working overseer under you? Ile does not work more than to apply the 7  May, 1861.  
square to the stones, and I generally do so myself. 
5482. Is he a free man? No; he does not work, but sees that the work is carried out as 
you direct him; he assists me in carrying out the work. 
5483. Is ho a tradesman ? No; be has learned the trade of stone-cutting while a prisoner. 
5484. He has learned the trade from you on the island ? Under my superintendence; 
among fifty or sixty others, I should say. 
5485. A quantity of stones are lying on the wharf which have been condemned as not fit 
for the purposes for which they were cut ? Are they moulding stones ? 
5486. Cornices ? I am aware of that. If you will look over these papers it will explain 
more than I can. (The witness handed some papers to Mr. Sutherland.) 
5487, I want to know whose fault it was that those stones were destroyed ?* I generally 
at the end of each month sent in a return to the Engineer's Office of the lineal, superficial, 
and cube measurement of the work done during the month, and those papers will explain 
this matter. 
5488. The men are paid then by the quantity of stone you return fortnightly ? Yes; the 
quantity of work performed during that number of days. The work is divided by the 
number of days the men are employed in cutting it, and the task-work clerk makes up the 
account for them. 
5489. It has been given in evidence before this Committee, that a large quantity of stone, 
not once or twice but very often, has been wasted through wrong lines having been given to 
the men ? Such is not the case. ( Vide Appendix A 2.) 
5490. And that these stones are broken up and cast into the sea? Such is net the ease—
only one stone was brought under my notice, it was only an insignificant matter, it 
measured two feet five and a half, it was for the arch of the tank. There was no chiselling 
whatever upon it. 
5491. What reason do you give for the quantity of cornices and other stones lying on the 
wharf without being used ? They were cut in the square by my men, and I was told there 
was a sufficient compliment of them cut. 
5492. By Mr. Morris : Why are these now wasted? They are not required at present; if a 
similar building were put up they would be used. 
5493. Do the men themselves, notwithstanding the lines you give, spoil much stone? They 
do not ; if they did they would be at the loss of them, and they take good care of that. I 
have known stones to be broken up, that were not fit for another useful purpose, and to be 
sold as ballast, years ago, but that has not been done lately. 
5494. By Mr. Sutherland : Sold as ballast ? Yes, stone not adapted for any purpose on 
the island. 
5495. How was it sold ? At so much per ton, 2s. ed. per ton. 
5496. What quantity was sold at that time ? I did not keep any account, it was an officer 
of the Penal Department generally attended the boat. I have seen from the papers that 
the prisoners wished to injure me and my character, but if you read the paragraph here 
(handing a document to Mr. Sutherland) you will see the grounds upon which they wish to 
do so. I have been very badly treated. 
6497. By Mr. hart: By whom have you been badly treated ? I could not bring it home 
to my employers, but I have a shilling a day under men I think inferior to me in ability. I 
have to attend to the unloading of the boats, and have a great responsibility. 
5498. Do you make proper entries in a book of the amount of work, done under your 
direction? I enter entirely the complement of the workmen. 
5499. Do you make the entry in any books kept for the purpose, or merely on scraps of 
paper ? There was n. time when I put down the unloading of boats on scraps of paper, but 
afterwards an order was made that it should be entered in the day book. 
5500. I wish to know if you enter the work in a book kept for that purpose ? I enter in my 
day book every occurrence that is worth notice. I tally the number of loads in a memorandum 
book, and then enter them in the register. 
5501. By Mr. Sutherland : Then there is a register of the work done ? Yes. In fact, 
myself and the other foreman have nothing else to do than to keep an accurate return of the 
work performed by the labourers under our charge. 
5502. By the Chairman : Are you in any way brought in contact with the prisoners except 
while they are in the gangs No, I have nothino. to do with the internal management of 
the prisoners whatever, more than that I go with them to Divine service. 
5503. Have you heard of any immoral conduct in the sleeping places ? I have heard the 
men cursing, and have threatened to take them to the office if they did not discontinue it. 

ADDENDUM. 
I beg leave to state that I do not line out every stone that is cut ; there are gauges as to 

width for that purpose, and I see they are cut exactly to the required sizes. But in eases where stones 
of difficult workmanship are required, such as circle or angular, I always line them and mark them out 
to the given scale, to which I see them properly prepared. 

I also give directions to those learning to cut. 

APPENDIX. 

* Non (By witness on revision) :—No stones have hoen destroyed. ( Vide Appendix Al.) 

IL FITZGERALD. 
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3R. Henry 	 APPENDIX. 
Fitzgerald. 

A. 
7 May, 1861. 	1. Answers No. 5474 and 5487:—I should have added—excepting mouldings and cornices, dic.. 

Every single stone of these were prepared by Taylor, Barry, and Norris, who belonged to Mr. Cahill, 
and done under Ms own superintendence. These stones arc not "destroyed." but will answer in a similar 
building intended to be erected contiguous to the one recently put up. They are perfectly sound, free 
from injury, and are left in a safe condition when cut. 

2. Answer No. 5489 :—This question, I think, has reference to some parapet stone which I had 
prepared according to a " templet" with which I was furnished—I2' by 12—but was afterwards 
given to understand there Inman error in its dimensions—that it should helve been 15' by 12'. This 
I was accordingly supplied with, and to which I had the proper stones prepared. 

Many of these, although not answering the purpose for which they were at first intended, have 
been used in the present building ; others lie upon the wharf, and will be found to answer other purposes. 

HENRY FITZ GE BALD, 
Foreman of Works. 

Inspector John Francis Lane called in and examined :— 
Inspector 5504. By the Chairman: You are an Inspector of the Metropolitan Police ? I am. 
J. F. Lane, 5505. You have charge of the detachment of police stationed at Cockatoo Island ? Yes. 

6500. How long have you held that charge ? Since the 8th April, 1860. 
7 may, 1551. 5507. What number of police have you on the island ? Forty-one, including myself. 

5508. What are your particular duties in charge of the penal establishment—I mean not 
your own personal duties, but what is the routine of the police force? To do sentry duty, 
to guard the prisoners, and to take charge of them during the night. 
5509. Can you explain the duties for twenty-four hours ? At six o'clock in the morning 
the sentries are posted round the island upon the main guard. 
5510. At points in sight of each other ? Yes, each sentry can see two other men from his 
own post. They are so situated that they can observe anything transpiring between them. 
The men of the landing guard take the boat at six o'clock in the morning, and lay out at the 
buoy till they are relieved. That is continued until six o'clock in the evening, and the 
prisoners are then counted into the wards by the chief warder. The police are kept round 
the water's edge until the men are in the gaol, and they are then withdrawn. Previous to 
that the night duty men take charge of the prison—there are five night duty men stationed 
at the sentry-boxes round the prison. 
551.1. After the prisoners are locked up for the night, are there any sentinels on the beach ? 
No, they are withdrawn at six o'clock, 
5512. What guard is there round the prisoner's barracks during the night ? There are ten 
men for night duty, five for each relief. 
5513. How are these five men stationed ? One at the back of the prison, one on each side, one 
at the front of the prison, and one in the yard, who is locked in. The duty of the last 
named constable is occasionally to visit the dormitories. 
5514. That is to say, to go to the gate ? To open the door—there are cheek doors, or iron 
gates, on each side, and it is his duty to look through the inner door to see that the wards. 
men are up and doing their duty—that is, the prisoner wardsman ; the free officers have 
nothing to do with the prisoners during the night. 
5515. How are the police armed? With a rifle, The sentry who is inside I have armed 
with a revolver, as I found it was very inconvenient for him to carry a rifle, because lie had 
to put it out of his hand whenever he had to unlock the door ; for instance, if the doctor or 
dispenser were called to see any prisoner, the revolver would be mere convenient if he had to 
come to close quarters with the prisoners. 
5510. 13y Mr. Sutherland : Will you inform the Committee the number of escapes, or 
attempted escapes, from the island, that have been made since you have been in charge? I 
think about ten attempts have been made since I have been on the island. 
5517. State to the Committee the nature of those attempts, and make any observations you 
may see fit on any of them? I may state that there have been about ten attempts to escape 
since I have been there, but no prisoners have effectually carried out their design. A few 
weeks previously to my arrival on the island two prisoners escaped from the island; but I 
know nothing of the circumstances but what I have beard. 
5518. We want to know the cases that have occurred since you have had charge ? The first 
case that occurred was that of Robert Landells and John Hughes; they were missed from 
the muster at one o'clock midday on the 11th April, and were found concealed in a store-
room 4 four o'clock p.m., on the 13th of April. Information was given by a prisoner that 
they were secreted in a store-room near the engine-house; and it appears that at no time 
during the search was this store-room thoroughly examined, as the storekeeper made it a 
practice to carry the key of the room about in his pocket. I, with a number of the police, 
was searching about for the prisoners, but the door of the store-room being locked, it was not 
thought they were secreted there. 
5519. By Mr. Morris : They were not able to get out of this store, being locked in? Yes, 
they could have got out. 
5520. 13.y Mr. Wincleyer: Upon what did they live during the time? Biscuits are some-
times supplied to the prisoners when the supply of soft bread is short, and these men when 
they try to escape save their-biscuits and get a bottle of water to take with them. 
5521. By Mr. Sutherland : State bow they were found in the store-room ? On the morning 
of the 13th April I received information that it was likely the prisoners would turn up in 
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the course of the day. I made inquiries, but I could find out no parties who could give me Inspector 
any particulars. I was not informed by the superintendent as to how these prisoners were J.  
to turn up, or where they were to be found; but about dinner time one of my sergeants came  
to me and said one of the men had informed the superintendent that about four o'clock they 7  nlY, 1861. 
would be found, and at that time they were found, and we took them away. 
5522. By Mr. Windeyer ; How do you suppose they got into this store if it was kept locked? 
It was about one o'clock, at dinner time, that the men were mustered in the yards, but were 
previously missed from their gangs, and by some neglect were allowed to get into the store-
room. At one o'clock the storekeeper may have turned the lock of the door and taken away 
the key. 
5528. Were they ironed ? I think not. 
5524. By Mr. Sutherland: You have stated that the superintendent had information from 
a prisoner some time in the day that they would turn up at four o'clock ? Yes. 
5525. Did the superintendent give you any information upon this matter ? No I received 
no information from the superintendent. 
5526. Did you get any assistance in any of these cases from the superintendent or officers 
upon the island in finding these prisoners ? No, I think not. 
5627. By Mr. Winrleyer : Did you see the superintendent when you got that information ? 
I never saw him in the course of the day. 
.5528. Did you go and speak to him with reference to this matter ? No, I did not. When 
a prisoner is missed, the other prisoners are kept locked up, because some of them may 
know the secret place where he is hidden, and convey provisions to him, and the only way 
to secure him is to starve him out. They do that by keeping the prisoners locked in. 
5529. If you heard that the superintendent had got information, why did you not ask him ? 
I do not consider that it is my place to go to the superintendent. I have in some important 
cases gone to give him information, and he has not received it. 
6530. On tins occasion do you know whether lie had received information ? I am not 
aware. 
5531. Did he give you any reasons for declining to give you the information ? I did not 
ask him. I received the information from the sergeant. When I first went to the island 
there was some misunderstanding about landing, and Mr Mann contended that I had nothing 
to do with the landing guard. He had a sergeant there whom he termed his own sergeant, 
and any duty he wanted to have performed, instead of directing the orders to me, he gave 
to the sergeant. 
5532. By Mr. Wilson: If any instructions were given by the superintendent, did you 
consider yourself bound to attend to them ? Any instruction in writing. 
5533. As to the disposal of your men ? In some measure; but perhaps I might not have 
sufficient men to carry out his orders. 
5534. If you do not act up to his wishes, do you consider that you are bound to give a satis-
factory reason for not doing so? Yes, most decidedly. 
5535. Suppose his instructions, and those of Captain Mterie, should clash with regard to 
prison discipline, whose instructions should you consider yours.elf hound to obey '? The 
orders of the Inspector General of Police ; but, in fact, Captain Mterie has nothing 
to do with the prison discipline on Cockatoo Island. 
5530. You consider the Inspector General of Police your commanding officer, and would 
obey his instructions in preference to those of the superintendent of the island ? I should, 
certainly. 
5537. Have you received written instructions from the Inspector General as to the conduct 
of your duty on the island ? I have received some instructions. 
5538. In those instructions, has he stated that it is necessary for you to act up to any 
request or instructions from Captain Mann ? The Inspector General has always wished me 
to carry out the instructions of the superintendent as far as possible, consistently with the 
number of men at my disposal ; at all times he has been most particular in making that 
remark. 
5539. Was there not some request made by Captain Mann, as to a sentry being placed at 
the gate of the yard, which you either did not or could not accede to? There was one 
there some time. 
6540. And you took that sentry away ? I did. 
5541. Contrary to his express wish ? Yes. 
5542. What was your reason for doing so ? Perhaps I may begin with the statement, that 
when I went there I found no military sentry provided for the post in question. He 
requested that I would place a sentry at this gate, and I told him I could not do so unless I 
made an application to the Inspector General of Police ; he said, be did not want a sentry 
there with arms, but merely as a civilian, to sec that no more prisoners left the yard than 
were allowed by the free overseer. 
5543. Do you think it would have been unsafe for a constable to have been stationed there 
without arms ? I did not consider it necessary for a sentry to be there. 
5544. Then you were acting upon your own judgment, and not upon the instructions of 
Captain Mann ? I may state, that I allowed this sentry to remain for some considerable 
time, when he could be spared. 
5646. By Mr. Windeyer: What was your real reason for not placing a man there—was it 
because you objected to his being there without arms ? I had not sufficient men on the 
island at the time, and I did not consider this man was required at the gate, as there was a 
sentry already posted within a few yards of this place. I allowed a man to be there at first 
to oblige Captain Mann; he said he wanted a man to be there as a check on the prisoners 
leaving the yard, and I said, a sentry would be useless without arms. At first, there was a 
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Inspector sub-overseer, named Garbutt, stationed at the gate, to open and shut it for the prisoners, and 
J. F. Lane. then I allowed a sentry to be there occasionally; but when Garbutt left, the men complained 
r-11/4—.Th that they were subject to the taunts and insults of the prisoners, and that they were 

7  May, 1861 . performing the duty of gatekeeper rather than that of police. Captain Mann took no 
notice of the matter, and 1 then made a written request to him to place some party there to 
open and shut the gate, as I could not allow the Sentry to be there as a porter, and that, 
unless be did so, I should withdraw the constable. 
5546. By Mr. Wilson: Did you report the matter to the Inspector General before you with-
drew the man ? I am not positive about that. 
5547. By Mr. Sutherland : Did you report the matter at all to him ? I think so. 
5548. By Mr. Morris : Did you receive the approval of the Inspector General as to the 
course you pursued in the withdrawal of the man ? I made a written report of the circum-
stance, informing him that I had no men there for the purpose. It was only on 
Saturday afternoons and Sundays that the men were required, and sometimes I would 
allow them to be there for two or three hours, but I had no men fur the duty, and I did it 
more out of respect to Captain Mann than from any other reason. 
5549. 1.3y Arr. Sutherland: Do you consider that there is strict discipline carried out in the 
penal department of the island? No, T do not.. 

• 5550. Can you state in what way it is not ? In many ways ; for instance, I have reported 
a number of warders, that is, prisoner overseers, for neglect of duty, who have not been 

• brought before the Visiting Magistrate. 
5551. Neglect of duty on the part of the warders? Yes; such as being asleep instead of 
up on their posts, and allowing lights in the wards after eight o'clock at night, contrary to 
the regulations. A number of cases have been reported that have not been brought before 
the Visiting Magistrate. In one easel reported a wardsman, and he got seven days in the 
cell ; and 1. reported another wardsman for a similar offence, two different times, yet he was 
not brought up before the Visiting Magistrate. 
5552. To whom did you make the report ? To Captain Mann, I will mention the cases I 
have reported, if necessary. ( 7the witness referred to a memorandum and read as follows :) — 

" Sergeant Lawlor reported the wardsmati for having a light, contrary to the regulations, 
" burning in No. 5 ward, at 9 o'clock, p.m., on Sunday, 7th July, 1860. This ease was not 
" brought before the Visiting Magistrate. Sergeant Lawlor reported the wardsrnati for 
" allowing two lights in No. I ward, at 9 o'clock, p.m., on Sunday, 7th July, 1860. This 
" case was not brought before the Visiting Magistrate. Constable Cochran reported the 
" wardsmen of Nos. 4 and 5 wards for being asleep during their watch, Wednesday, 25th July, 
" 1860. 	This case was brought before the Visiting Magistrate, admonished, and dis- 

charged. 	Constable Cochran reported that a prisoner made use of the most obscene 
"language towards him when he was calling the wardsman who was asleep while on duty 
" on the night of the 25th July. The \yardman told the superintendent that prisoner's 
" name was Booth, who made use of the obscene language, but he never was brought before 
" the Visiting Magistrate to answer the charge ; and on the 28th of the same month he 
" attempted to escape by taking up some large flags from the floor of the dormitory." I 
suppose the wardsman was asleep at the time, but that is only any supposition. He made a 
very large excavation, and had taken up a quantity of heavy stones to get to the mouth 
of the drain. 
5553. How was that found out ? It was found out in the morning—one of the prisoners 
gave information when they were going out at six o'clock in the morning—" Inspector 
"Lane reported card-playing in Na 2 ward, at 7 o'clock p.m., on Saturday, 8th September, 
"1860." This was witnessed by a sergeant and myself; a number of prisoners were sitting 
round a stool, in the centre of the dormitory, playing at cards. It was reported by me, but 
was not brought before the Visiting Magistrate. " Constable Lynch reported the wardsman 
"of No. 4 ward, Daly, for being asleep while on duty, at 345 a.m., on the 25th September, 
"1860. This case was not brought before the Visiting Magistrate, as I heard that the wards-
" man working at Mr. Taylor's garden the day previous." Mr. Taylor is Clerk of Petty 
Sessions, and Daly is now gardener to Captain Mann. 
5554. By Mr. Mon-is: Have you any reason to believe that the complaints you made to 
Captain Mann never reached him ? I could hardly think that any reports do not reach him, 
as I send theth direct, by one of the police, to his office. Of course if the clerk liked to put 
them away he might do so. 
5555. By Al;'. Windeyer : Have you any reason to believe that the clerk would do so—have 
you observed anything in his conduct that would lead you to suppose so? I have made some 
requisitions and reports to Captain Mann, which be has said he has never received; and 
unless they were put aside by the clerk, I do not know how he could have failed to receive 
them. • "Sergeant Sweeny reported the wardsman of No. 2 ward, for allowing a light at 
" 9 o'clock p.m., on the 13th December, 1860. This ease was not brought before the Visiting 
" Magistrate." The cases I now mention I have not the least doubt were all placed before the 
superintendent; in some instances the sergeant, the constable, or myself, have been sent for, 
and the superintendent has heard the complaint. " Inspector Lane reported the prisoners 
singing in No. 2 ward, the whole night, on the 1st January, 1861." This is the time when 
they first determined to fall out on the following morning from their work. I explained this 
matter, and stated that I did not believe it was the wardsman's fault, as I had heard him 
during the night call upon the prisoners to give over singing. The \yardman was brought 
-up before the Visiting Magistrate, and I stated, on oath, that I did not believe it was his 
fault, as he had done all he could to advise them to be quiet; he was discharged. 
" Sergeant Sweeny reported sub.overseer Hyland for standing on a ladder and tampering 
"with prisoners confined in the cells, on the 11th January, 1861." This 
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was at the title the prisoners refused to work, and this man was put over those who were Inspector  
confined in the cells to prevent there receiving tobacco or any thing of that kind. "Sergeant J' F.  Lane' 
" Sweeny also ieported the sub-overseer Hyland for asking one of the prisoners in the cells 
"to sing him a song, on the 16th January, 1861." This case was not brought before the 7 May, 1861.  
Visiting Nagistrate on Court day, but I requested that it might be put before him. The 
superintendent .said that he had inquired into it and that there was no case. The 
Magistrate said he thought there was a case, and recommended Hyland's removal. The 
sergeant said that he beard Hyland ask a prisoner, in the cells, this day, to sing him a 
blackguard song, not a sentimental one. This sub-overseer by the Visiting Magistrate's 
direction was removed from the cell and is now on the works as a sub-overseer. He lost his 
appointment for a few days, or a week ; for some very short time. 
5556. By the Chairman : Have you ever heard of unnatural crimes being committed in the 
sleeping apartments of Cockatoo Island? No more than that I have heard the prisoners 
talking the matter over at night. I have sometimes spent hours in listening to them. 
5537. What is the impression you have arrived at from that ? I think some of them are 
guilty of committing almost any crime you can think of ; but there are some very respectable 
wen among them. 
5558. What I desire to ascertain from you is, whether the conversation that takes place is 
of such a character as to imply the commission of these acts ? The conversation that I 
have generally heard has been remarks passed to one and another. I do not t hink  any men, 
let them be ever so depraved, would stand up and tell others any transactions of the kind in 
which they had been engaged. What I heard was one calling another "a bloody whore," 
and such things as that—" an Irish whore," mentioning the prisoner's name. 
6559. Have you ever heard prisoners address others or seen them treat others as men treat 
women? No, I have net. 
5560. I mean by using terms of endearment, calling them female names ? That I believe 
was behind their backs. I believe that was only slang they used. 
5561. You say that you have listened for hours to the conversation of the prisoners—was 
their language often obscene ? It is very bad at times. 
5362. The Committee would gather frotn the evidence they have received on the subject, 
and from the examination of the sleeping apartments, that the atmosphere must be in a very 
impure state at night in those places ? Yes; sometimes when I visit the dormitories in 
summer's evening at 8, 9, 10, or 12 o'clock, the smell is intolerable. 
5563. Intolerable to you at the outside ? Yes; I do not know what it must be in the inside. 
The sentries complain very much of having to go to the wards, and they only go to the hall. 
There are tubs placed down the wards, and the prisoners all make use of these tubs, and in 
the hot tveather, when these have to remain in the dormitories ten or twelve hours, the smell 
must be dreadful. I wonder how the men live there. I have seen dozens of them running 
about naked, at all hours of the night. They are supposed to be in bed at eight o'clock, but 
on these very hot nights I never attempt to force them in, for I hardly think I should be 
justified in do so, and when I have gone round at ten or twelve o'clock I have seen twenty 
men breathing, as it were, out of the bars of the prison. 
5564. By Mr. Morris : Trying to get a little fresh air ? Yes. 
5565, By the Chairman: You mean that they come to the grating to try to get fresh 
air ? Yes. I have sometimes spoken to them, and said, " How is it you men are not in 
bed " ? and they have said, "It is impossible, sir, to sleep here." Sometimes, when it is wet, 
you see the Men running about to find a dry place, and the rain coming down upon them 
through the roof. I have a servant attached to my place, and one morning he came with his 
clothes nearly wet through. 
5566. By Al,'. Hart: With respect to the crimes imputed to the prisoners at Cockatoo 
Island, do you think you would have been likely to have detected them in the act, if the 
crime had been actually committed ? I have no means of detecting it. 
5567. You say you have. spent many hours in listening to their conversation ? Yes; but 
of course I was out of sight of the prisoners—I was underneath the walls. 
6568. Do you think the kind of conversation in which they indulge is more from a morbid 
desire on their part to use filthy language than as referring to the commission of these acts 
by them ? I think the conversation arises from a kind of bravado on their part, from what 
they term " fiashoess," as the man who is the greatest blackguard is the man they look up 
to be is the man to lead them anywhere. 
5569. Is it desirable to employ prisoners as warders—would it not be an improvement to 
employ free men in the wards ? You could never do that—it would be impossible; the 
man who would go in there would be in danger of his life. Under existing circumstances, 
as the dormitories are placed now, I do not believe one free man would dare go in there to do 
the duty. 
5570. You think with respect to the prison warders they connive at what is said or done? 
No doubt. 
5571. Do you think these wards are fit for human beings to live in ? Cockatoo is not what 
I expected to find it. 
5572. By M-r. Morris : Is it much worse ? Yes; as soon as I went over and saw it I 
compared it to some very large workhouse, and not to a prison. (Vide Appendix A.) I do 
not think it would be possible to get free men to act as warders, to be locked up with these 
prisoners, as they might unawares kill a man instantly, and they do now sometimes attack 
these warders if they speak. I think if the prisoner warders were paid, or had some induce-
ment held out to them they would do the duty better. At present, all the men get a penny 
a day, and Some of them get—four or five—quarter a day on the works, while the warders 
receive only a penny a day the same as all the rest. The prisoners now say they can buy 
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Inspector the warders over to anything; and as these men are generally great gamblers, they are always 
J. F. Lane. gambling, and the warders connive at it. 
"--A—al 5573. By Mr. Hart : Are they allowed to have money in their possession ? Yes, I remember 

7  May, 1861. a circumstance where a prisoner had two halves of .C5 notes, on the island; it is a frequent 
occurrence for them to have money. 
5574. By Mr. Sutherland : Sent to the island ? Yes. 
5575. By Mr. TVindeyer : Do they gamble for money ? Yes; with cards, at tossing, and 
all kinds of gambling. It is only occasionally those who are outside can see them. 
5570. By Mr. Sutherland : Do you remember the case of a prisoner named Williams who 
was brought up for stating that a son of Mr. Broderick supplied him with spirits on the 
island? Yes. 
5577. State what you know of that case to the Committee ? I do not think I could supply 
you with the date now ; but there was a prisoner of the name of Williams, or Itenthall, 
living with an overseer of the name of Jones. This prisoner one day complained that Mr. 
Broderick's son had supplied him with grog, he went up to the office taking some grog in a 
bottle with him. Shortly afterwards, while I was at the landing guard visiting the men, Mr. 
Broderick's son came to the sergeant and had some conversation with him. I asked 
the sergeant what it was about, and he told me that Harry Broderick had been to 
him and informed him that he had got into a mess for giving a prisoner some grog, 
and that he had asked him, " Do you remember my getting two bottles of grog 
for Jones ?" He said, " Yes, some two or three months ago." He said, " Well, I 
want you to go up and say, it was brandy or rum, or one of them." The sergeant 
said, " No, I will do nothing of the kind ; it was Old Tom you brought, for I took it 
out of the basket to look at it." I may state here that any person on the island requiring 
to get grog has to obtain an order from the Superintendent or Visiting Magistrate, and that 
anything brought on shore is examined by the officer at the landing. The next Court day 
this case was brought before the Visiting Magistrate, when, instead of the boy being brought 
before him, the prisoner was placed in the dock for making the charge. Mr. Broderick gave his 
evidence, and in that evidence he admitted that, from statements made to him by his son, he 
knew his son had given the prisoner some grog. The magistrate then denounced the pro-
ceedings, ordered the prisoner out of the dock, and directed that young Broderick should be 
brought before him on the next Court day. 
5578. By the Chairman : Who was the magistrate ? Captain Scott. 
5579. What was the result ? I never heard anything more of it from that day to this. 
5580. Was he ever brought up ? No. 
5581. The matter was shelved ? Yes. 
5582. By Hr. Sutherland : Will you state to us how the island boat was managed at the 
time you took charge—and if there have been any alterations made, what are those altera-
tions? I found, upon taking charge of the landing guard, that the guard-boat was employed 
more for the special purposes of parties resident on the island than for the actual service of 
the prisoners. I made a communication to that effect to the superintendent, who said he 
was going to place some documents before the Colonial Secretary, and he would have it 
altered. I waited month after month, and finding these frequent attempts at escape being 
made and nothing done, I pressed the superintendent to make some alteration, but he never 
gave me any satisfaction. I then applied to the Inspector General, and he wished me to put 
on paper what I suggested. I did so, and he recommended that I should lay it before the 
Visiting Magistrate. I beg to hand in a copy of this communication. (The witness handed 
in the same. Vide Appendix B.) 	I should state that the alteration was made, and, 
according to this regulation, the guard-boat is not allowed to leave the buoy till the prisoners 
are off the works. A week or a few days after this alteration Was made, a boat was found, 
14 feet long by 3 feet 6 wide, in the carpenters' workshop, quite convenient to 
where this boat is supposed to remain, and had the guard-boat plied at the usual 
hours, from twelve to half-past one, as it would have then been full of women and 
children, the prisoners might then have launched this boat, and got off to the other 
side. I may state, as regards the attempts at escapes, and the assistance I got from the 
superintendent, one case in particular, that of David Clarke, a most notorious character, 
with sentence for life. He secreted himself on the island at 12 o'clock noon, on the 
28th June, and was discovered at 6 o'clock, a.m., on the 2nd July, by a sentry. 
5583. By the Chairman: Is that man on the island now ? No; he is at Darlinghurst. I 
was at the Inspector General's Office on that day, and on my return to the island the 
superintendent informed me that Clarke was gone. I asked him how it was possible he 
could get away. He said he had left his clothes at the hole where he had been sawing 
timber, and that he believed he had swam from the island. I went to the spot where he 
had left his clothes, and came to the conclusion that it was a ruse upon the man's part to 
throw the police off the scent, and told the superintendent I did not believe the man was 
off the island. The following day the superintendent sent for me, and said that as Clarke 
was a man of great tact, he believed he had watched the tide, and had got a piece of timber 
to drift to the opposite shore; that he had then taken the opportunity, when the guard-boat 
was being relieved, to swim across. On Sunday night, when visiting the sentries, I saw a 
free officer named Balls, who informed me that when he accompanied Mr. Agnew to the 
prison in the morning, he received information from a prisoner that Clarke was secreted in 
the big wall, which information he immediately gave the superintendent, at same time giving 
the name of the prisoner who gave the information. The following morning Clarke was 
discovered getting into the water by one of the sentries as he relieved guard at six o'clock. 
I may state that the superintendent in this ease never informed me that the man WM 
supposed to be in this wall. 

5584. 
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spector 5584. What do you call the big wall ? The wall facing the landing wharf. In 
5585. The wall built up where Captain Mann's garden is—you say he was in the wall— J. P.Lane. 
are there any crevices in it in which a man could conceal himself ? There was a patch of M ay, for the children of Mr. Ormsby, who was formerly there, and the wall ran in a 7 luayi 1861-  
triangular shape. Since Captain Mann has been there, rubbish has been thrown here, and 
the place is overgrown with weeds. 
5586. It appears very surprising to me that no one should have looked in this place ? 
When I went round to visit the sentries a few hours after Clarke was found, to my surprise 
I saw this wall being taken down by an overseer and a gang of men. 
5587. By Mr. Sutherland : The prisoners have complained to the Committee that they have 
been treated with partiality, that some have been punished for slight offences, while others have 
committed more serious offences without any notice being taken of them ? I have mentioned 
several cases illustrative of that where some wardsmen have been punished for breaches of the 
regulations while others have escaped. I may also mention that some of the prisonerscomplain 
that they cannot obtain paper for the purpose of writing. A servant I have applied for paper 
to write, and was sent only half a sheet; he said he wanted to write to London to his friends, 
and that it was not sufficient ; they refused to give him any more, although, he states, that a 
prisoner called the Marquis of Townsend was allowed to write his life in the office, and to use 
a hundred sheets of foolscap. I hardly thought it was possible; but, upon asking some of 
the free overseers, I was told it was the fact. 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

Angus,' Ar0. 5572 :—My reason for comparing the prison to a workhouse is the great liberty 
enjoyed by the prisoners, they being allowed to say and do, in Many instances, just as they like, there 
being no place on the island sufficiently large or separate for the confinement of prisoners committing 
themselves, as the late outbreak has shewn ; they are also allowed to purchase tea, sugar, coffee, tobacco, 
candles, he.; they make use of very improper language in the presence of the chief warder, who takes 
no notice of them. On the 1st January a number of prisoners refused to be searched before being put 
into the cells, stating to the chief warder that no bloody man should search them ; they were put in 
accordingly, the guard not being called to enforce compliance. I have also seen the chief warder order 
prisoners from the camp to the exempt bank, which order they refused to comply with, and no further 
notice taken of them. On one morning the prisoners were called off the works, it having commenced to 
rain, but the rain ceased before they arrived at the camp ; they were ordered back by the chief warder, 
which they refused to comply with, and rushed into the camp, and allowed to remain until after 
breakfast. 

B. 
Hain Guard, Cockatoo Island, 

2 November, 1860. 
Sir, 

I have the honor to state that I have the sanction of the Inspector General of Police to 
submit for your approval a proposed alteration to further the efficiency of the police guard-boat. 

The daily routine of this boat is as follows :—Leaving the landing 'wharf at from 8 until 9*; 
from 12 until I ; from 4 until 6—for the purpose of conveying to and from the off shore the residents on 
the island, their friends, and visitors. 

I beg to bring under your natice that, under this system, the guard-boat is employed on the 
above duty three-quarters of an hour in the morning, one hour at noon, and one hoar in the afternoon, 
during the time the prisoners are actually employed at labour on the works. 

I beg leave to point out that I consider this system to be bad, as, in the event of an attempt to 
escape being made from off the works while the guard-boat is at the opposite shore, perhaps with several 
children in it, very serious consequences are likely some day to arise. 

To remedy this, I beg leave to propose that the police guard-boat should only leave its station 
as follows :—From 8 to 9, morning ; front 1 to 2, midday ; from 5 to 5, afternoon—during these hours 
the prisoners are not on the works. 

Under this arrangement the guard-boat will be ready at all times, while the prisoners aro on the 
works, at a moment's notice, in the event of a prisoner taking the water, or using other means to effect 
his escape. 

I also bog to suggest, that under no ordinary circumstances should the guard-boat be permitted 
to leave its station while the prisoners are on the works, unless to convey an officer of the establishment 
to the opposite shore on some special public duty, or to look after the safe mooring and custody of all 
boats arriving and departing from the island. 

I have, itc,, 
Captain D. C. F. Scott, P.M., 	 JOHN F. LANE, 

Visiting Magistrate, 	 Inspector in charge. 
Cockatoo Island. 

Edward Bell, Esq., MICE., called in and examined :— 
5588. By the Chairinan : You are the City Engineer under the Municipal Council of Syd- Edward Bell, 
ney ? Yes. 	 Esq.,M.I.C.E. 
5589. You attend here, I believe, in compliance with a summons, to give evidence with 
regard to the expediency of the employment of prisoners in stone quarries ? Yes. 	7 May, 1861. 
5590. By Mr. Sutherland : Have you made any estimate of the cost of working these stone 
quarries ? Yes. 
5591. By the Chairman : To what stone quarry does the estimate refer ? Any quarry. 
559'2. Have you reference to any one in particular ? The data are taken chiefly from the 
Pennant Hills quarry. 
5593. By Mr. Sutherland : Will you hand in the statement to the Connnittee ? Yes. 
This is a report I wrote at the time to the City Council; it originated in a minute sent down 
by late Governor General. (The witness handed in the same. Vide Appendix A.) 

5594. 
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Edward Bell, 5594. By the Chairman: This shows, I presume, what would be the advantage, in an 
F'sq" MIC-E " economical point of view, of working the stone quarry by prison labour ? Yes. 

e—L—Th 5595. The stone being excavated and broken for the purpose of metalling the streets of 
7 May, 1861. Sydney? Yes; it shews the cost to us per ton of the metal from Pennant Hills quarry, and 

then it goes on to shew what would be the cost if prisoners worked in that quarry, and-the 
metal were brought down by railway. 
5596. Have you anything to say as to the propriety of so employing prisoners, independently 
of the economical results; have you considered the subject as to whether it would be safe 
for the interests of society that prisoners should be ompinyod on such works ? I think if 
they were employed at sonic distance from the city, to woria quarry, it would be no nuisance 
to the public, and might be very profitable to the city, to the Government, and to the rail-
way also. 
5597. By  Mr. Sather/and: Do you not think it would be better for the prisoners themselves? 
I think so, if they were allowed something for breaking the stone, which Might be given them 
at the termination of their sentence. 
5598. By the Chairman: Do you not think the guard necessary to prevent their escaping 
would be very costly I I think it would be, butI think the remuneration derived from the 
metal would more than cover it. 
5599. Does it occur to you that the prisoners would escape, in spite of any guard, however 
vigilant ? No; I think that might be prevented. 
5600. By Mr..Sutherland : That would depend upon the class of prisoners sent to the 
quarry ? Yes; it was never contemplated to send the worst kind of prisoners to these works. 
5601. The principal part of the metal now used by the Corporation is broken by old men—
men not fit for other work ? Yes, that is within the city. The stonebreakeis at Pennant 
Hills are strong active men, boys, and some women. 
5602. By the Chairman: Could the stone be quarried in blocks, brought down to Sydney, 
and broken in the gaol ? Yes, but that would increase the cost by 2s. a ton. It would cost 
2s. a ton to take it to the gaol and to bring it away. 
5603. That would be the difference in the cost ? Yes, we reckon every time we move it 
it costs is. a ton. 
5604. By Mr. Windeyer: Is there any place besides Pennant Hills where such a quarry 
could be opened, and the work carried on by prison labour ? I think so; at Concord, about 
two miles and a half off the line of railway. 
5605. By Mr. Wilson : What kind of stone is it ? Bluestone—basaltic rock. 

APPENDIX. 

A. 

Sir, 
In compliance with your instructions,—First, to report to you upon the present cost of 

procuring blue metal from the Pennant Hills quarry, delivering it upon the wharf, and carting and 
spreading it upon the streets of Sydney; Secondly, to report whether any other means can be adopted 
by which a sufficient quantity of blue metal may he supplied to the city at a cheaper rate than the 
present,— 

I have now the honor to state, that the quantity of blue metal quarried at Pennant Hills, 
-between the 10th November, 1858, and the 4th January, 1859, was— 	 Tons. 

Unbroken metal.... 	...... 	...... ............ ..... 	1,480 
Partly broken do. ....... .............. ................. 	2,168 

3,648 

Pence per Ton. 
The coat of quarrying the above quantity, inclusive of 

overseer's wages, was £281 Os. Md., or nearly 184d. per 

Carting rubbish from the quarry during the same time was 
£43 12s., or 24d. ....... ........ 	...... .......... 	2 86 

Repairing and sharpening tools, powder, fuze, do. do., £15, 
or Id. 	........., ......... . ............. 	-......... 	099 

Superintendent's wages, and expenses at whatf, Pennant 
Hills, £38 13s., or 2id.  	2964 

Breaking 1,480 tons, at 4s. 
Do. 2,168 	is. nd. = £487 19s. 2d.  	32. 1 

Making together 5617 pence per ton, or Is. 9d. nearly. 

Cost of metal 	. ........ . ...... ............... ...... 	4 	9 
Cartage from quarry to the wharf 	...... 	..... 	4 0 
Boating, inclusive of loading and discharging  	3 0 

--- • 

	

Total cost on the wharf, Sydney .    11 9 

Per Ton. 

The average cost of cartage to the streets which are now 
metalled is 	............ ............. ...... ......... 	1 	9 

Spreading 	 ....... 	.............. . ...... 	0 3 

	

Wharfinger, weighing, and expenses at wharf, Sydney .... 	0 3 

2 3 
Together with 	 11 9 

Total cost when laid upon streets 	14 0 

City Engineer's Office, 
28 March, 1859. 

1848 

For Ton. 

The 
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£6,000, would reduce the cost of transport 2s. per ton. 	 Esq.,M.I.C.E. 
The contemplated construction of the railway from Pennant Hills to the river, at an outlay of Edward Bell, 

Hence the total cost upon the wharf might be reduced to 9s. 9d. per ton. 
Since I commenced the preliminaries for preparing this report, I had the honour to submit the 7  aray 1861- 

foregoing data to the highest authority in the Government of this country, and to receive in return the 	
, 

 
following memorandum relative to the procuring of blue metal from "Prospect," and delivering it by 
the railway in Sydney. 

This communication is so interesting to the Corporation and inhabitants of Sydney, and to the 
country generally, that I fed honoured in being in a position to submit it to the oonsideration of your 
Worship and the Municipal Council before the contemplated outlay for a railway from Pennant Hills is 
incurred. 

" From the foregoing data it may be seen that a man may quarry 21 tens of metal daily, and 
" would break about 14 ten of all sorts, large and small. If, then, the Government were to establish a 
" prison at " Prospect," upon a good quarry of metal, where the short sentence men might be employed 
" in breaking stone, any quantity of good metal might be delivered at the railway station at less than 
" half the price for which it is now delivered at the wharf, and the calculation is as follows :— 

" 400 prisoners, @, £23 cad:, pei annum, or say LBO ends 	 1:12,000 
" Of these, 16 per cent. might be sicker unable to work, or otherwise employed, leaving 340 available 
"for breaking or quarrying stones. Of this number 115 would be employed in quarrying stone, IS in 
" clearing away rubbish, SOO in breaking stone, and the remainder in keeping tools, tae., in repair. 115 
' 1  men would quarry 326 tons daily, and 200 inen would break rather more than that quantity daily, 
" which would give 96,000 tons yearly, which, at a cost of £12,000 annually, as before mentioned, would 
" be 2s. 6d. per ton. If a railway from the prison were connected with the Western Railway, the stone 
" would have to be brought about 20 miles, and this, at a charge of 2d, per ton per mile, would give for 
" carriage :3s. ld. per ton, making the cost of the metal, delivered at the station, Os. 10d. per ton, instead 
" of Its. 9d. There would also be the advantage that the stone- would be delivered at the high level 
" instead of the low one, and that if the station were moved to Hyde Park, or the railway continued 
" down Pitt-street, Gm stone might be delivered at various parts of the city, with very little cost for 
" cartage. The saving to the city would be 50 per cent, upon the cost of the stone ; the saving to the 

Government, or the community generally, would be that of the maintenance of 100 prisoners, or about 
" £10,000 or £12,000 per annum in addition to the profit arising from the conveyance of about 100,000 
" tons for 20 miles per railway, which, if taken only at 25 per cent, of the cost of conveyance, would 
" amount to £4,000 per annum." 

With reference to these remarks, I conceive it to be the interest of the Government to, and it 
would, doubtless, make the connecting link of railway between the quarry and Western Railway, m 
the city will not, for several years to come, require so largo a quantity as 100,000 tons of blue metal, 
but Sydney will require ore long 50,000 tons annually, whilst the remainder will be readily taken by the 
suburban Municipalities and Hamlets, Liverpool, Parramatta, and other towns and villages along the 
line of railway. 

I have no hesitation in stating, that if metal can be brought into this city at the rate of 6s. per 
ton, it will be more economical to form the whole of the streets of the city with that material than with 
any other, and hence the annual consumption would be increased from 24,000 tons to 50,000 tons. 

And taking the supply at the present standard of 21,000 tons annually, the saving to the city, 
which would accrue for that quantity, would not be less than £7,000 per annum, and should the demand 
and consumption reach 50,000 tons, the saving to the city will be about £10,000, whilst the cost of the 
50,000 tons will be barely more than you are now paying for 21,000 tons. 

I would venture to submit to your Worship and the Municipal Council that this work would be 
fraught with so much benefit, not only to the city, but to the community at large, that I conceive the 
Government could not treat a suggestion for such an arrangement unfavourably. 

I have, dm, 
EDWARD BELL, 

City Engineer. 
The Right Worshipful the Mayor. 

The Rev. Philip Peters Agnew called in and examined :— 
5606. By the Chairntan : You have been Chaplain of the Church of England at Darlinghurst The Rev. 
and Cockatoo Island for some time ? Yes, of both. 	 P. P. Agnew. 
5607. For how long? At the gaol about five years, and at Cockatoo Island something over 
four. I was attached to Darlinghurst many years before. 	 7 May, 1861. 
5608. With regard to Cockatoo Island, how often do you visit the penal establishment there ? 
Generally twice, sometimes three times. I always consider myself bound to attend if 
required. 
5609. Every Sabbath I suppose ? Yes. 
5610. Is there Divine service there every Sunday? Every Sunday. 
5611. In the forenoon or afternoon ? In the forenoon at present. 
5612. Performed in the same manner as in an ordinary church—are the services as full in 
all particulars ? Not in all part iculars; I read the Litany on one Sunday* and the Com-
munion on the next. The service is similar to that generally performed by the military. 
5613. It is concluded, I suppose, by a sermon ? Yes. 
5614. Are the prisoners compelled to attend? Yes; I think it is necessary for them to 
attend. 
5615. They are required to attend ? They appear to attend very willingly. 
5616. Are they attentive? Yes; I always consider it one of the most attentive congregations 
in Sydney. For Cockatoo Island I prepare something as I would for an intelligent 
con c rogation . 
5617. Is the behaviour of the prisoners decorous in all particulars ? Yes; they take their 
regular part in the service standing up, and sitting down, and responding. 
5618. That is not very common in the Church of England ? No; it was not very common 
when I first attended, till it was remarked, and they were requested to pay more attention. 
5616. Do you, on Sundays or week days when you visit the island, have frequent conversa-
tions with prisoners as to their prospects in life ? Invariably when I visit. 
5620. Are you of opinion that the discipline to which they are subject on the island at 
present has a salutary effect ? No, I think the contrary. 
5621. What, from your experience of the management of prisons, do you think should be 

the 
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The Bet the chief features in prison discipline ? I think two principal things ought to be attended 
1'. P. Agnew. to—first the reformation of the prisoners, and then profitable labour for the Government—

both might be effected. 
/ May, 1861 ' 5622. I presume you include the safe custody and proper punishment of them also? Certainly. 

5623. Combined with those objects, you think the management should be direcCed to 
the reformation of the prisoners, and also, to the employment of their labour so as to 
contribute as much as possible towards their maintenance ? Yes; I think all expenses 
might he covered by their labour. 
5624. You are aware that at present the prisoners at Cockatoo Island are under two sets of 
regulations, by one of which they are subject to a kind of task-work by means of which they 
can shorten the terms of their sentences ? Yes. 
5625. Do you think that right ? No ; I think it very wrong to mix the classes together, 
and it bas led to a great deal of discontent, and many manifestations of insubordination. 
5626. You have, I believe, some written statements in your possession, addressed to you 
by prisoners, making serious complaints against the authorities ? Yes. 
5627. Are you willing to hand them in to the Committee, for the purposes of this inquiry 1 
Yes, I will do so ; but I wish the names of the prisoners to be suppressed, as they were 
handed to me in partial confidence.* 
5628. There has been some evidence given before this Committee which, 1 believe, in the 
judgment of every member—two or three members being professional men, and therefore, 
accustomed to examine evidence very closely—is of a very serious character, having the 
features of consistency, which are generally taken as the ingredients of truth in evidence, to 
the effect that unnatural crime is committed on Cockatoo Island frequently—have you, in 
the course of your ministrations, had occasion to inquire into this painful subject ? Yes ; I 
have made very strict inquiry on that subject particularly, and I feel convinced that it has 
not taken place really ; and that there is only one attempt of the kind that can be remem-
bered. There are many prisoners on Cockatoo Island who, I think, would tell me the truth, 
and I have asked them personally and particularly. 
5629. Do you know a boy on the island named Smith, a servant to Mr. Balls ? Yes. 
5630. 'What is his character generally ? I really cannot say. 
5631. Have you any reason to suspect he would invent a story of this kind ? I could not 
pick him out, certainly. 
5632. By Mr. Hart : The instance you refer to relates to him, does it not 1 Yes; I was in 
the Court when the matter was brought before the magistrate, and I do not believe there was 
the slightest foundation for the statement. 
5633. Do you know a man named Frederick WOregor ? I can only recollect one man of 
that name, a man who has been brought back recently on account of the loss of his ticket-of-
leave. I know him particularly. 
5634. Have you observed anything in his tonduet that would lead you to suspect him of 
fabricating a story of this kind ? No. 
5635. Have you any reason to doubt his being as well conducted as the prisoners generally ? 
I think I should generally trust that man. 
5636. Do you know a man who acted as one of the warders—a young man ? I thought 
favourably of that person. 
5637. Ms conduct appeared to this Committee to be that of respectability, if we may apply 
that term to a person in his condition. These two persons have stated, in the most consistent 
and positive manner, having been cautioned beforehand, as to the serious nature 
of the statement, that they have been eyewitnesses to offences of that kind ? It is 
unaccountable to me. It would render them very unpopular if the prisoners knew such 
statements had been made. 
5638. Do you know a man named Power ? Only by name. 
5639. By Mr. Hart: With respect to the letters referred to in your evidence, do you think 
there is any foundation for the complaints made by the prisoners who have written them ? 
The letters are generally merely written for my information. I ask them to tell me how 
they spend the night when they are locked up, and also as to bow they spend the various 
hours of the day. 
5640. I understood, from the questions put to you by the Chairman, that they had reference 
to complaints against the authorities ? Yes. 
5641. Is there any foundation for those complaints, so far as your knowledge extends ? I 
think what the prisoners have stated in those letters was the truth ; the facts were before 
their eyes at the time. 
5642. What facilities have you for giving instruction to the prisoners, both at Darlinghurst 
Gaol and at Cockatoo Island—is there a separate chapel ? There is almost everything that 
is desirable at Darlinghurst, but the accommodation is very limited at Cockatoo. In fact, 
we have service in the dining hall, and it serves both for the Roman Catholics and for our-
selves. I can scarcely see any of the men in private, and there is no encouragement for the 
men to attend to their religious duties. 
5643. Immediately you have celebrated service in the place, is it opened for the Catholic 
clergyman ? Yes, if I happen to be first, but he generally conducts the service before me. 
5644. And the prisoners have their meals in the same place, both before and immediately 
after ? Yes. 
5645. Do you think the effect of that is to demoralize the prisoners, with respect to religious 
instruction—do you think the instruction under such circumstances can have any beneficial 
effect ? We must remember that it is not a religious community at all on Cockatoo Island. 

5646. 

• Nom—Statements referred to mislaid by the Chairman. 
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5646. I understood you to say that the prisoners were very intelligent, and respectful, and The Rev. 
paid attention to the formalities prescribed by the rubric ? Yes ; I should have no F. P. Agnew. 
objectionto hold Divine service where the prisoners take their food. 1 have held service in ea -A—% 
the open air in the bush, in rooms of inns, in Courts of Justice, and in other places; but May, ISM 
what-I complain of is, the absence of any means of speaking to the prisoners in private ;  
they can scarcely speak to you alone; they are generally in the hearing of others. 
5647. What do you think of allowing the prisoners one week in each year, during which 
time they should be exempted from work, and be attended by a clergyman, who should 
instruct them in the principles of their religion ? I think if a couple of hours in a month 
were devoted to hearing a kind of scientific, interesting, and instructive lecture, it would be 
very beneficial, and would be appreciated by the men. 
5648. By the Chairman.: With regard to your last reply—do you thing it would be right 
to afford such prisoners as desire it the means of instruction while they are confined during 
their imprisonment ? Of course, I think so. 
5649. I put my question in this form because I, for one, conceive that though society have 
the right to deprive persons who offend against the law, of their liberty ; they have not the 
right to deprive them of all there prerogatives as human beings; they have not the right to 
deprive them of the means of health, or of moral and spiritual improvement ? Or to 
morally debase them as the present system surely does. 
5650. What I want to elicit is, whether it ought to form part of prison discipline to afford 
the means of instruction for such prisoners as desire it ? Yes. 
5651. Suppose the men worked an hour a day less to afford them a fair opportunity of 
receiving this instruction—do you think that would be so appreciated by them as to induce 
them to do a larger amount of work in the shorter time ? 1 think you could scarcely trust 
so much to their honour. The time could not be properly occupied without a resident school-
master. 
5652. How then would you impart instruction to them ? I would begin gradually. I have 
now some books, a small library, which they appear to appreciate and enjoy, and I believe 
that has prevented them from running into many evils. I think if a lecture could be 
established, to be delivered once a month in the presence of the chaplain, it would make an 
opening for the general improvement of the men. 
5653. By Mr. Wilson : Do you not think a resident schoolmaster an absolute necessity in 
such an establishment? No doubt. 
5651. 13y Mr. Windeyer : Do the men ever ask to see you alone? Yes, I never visit them 
without having these requests; very often they are connected with secular matters, to 
request me to open up communications with their friends, or with thousands of little things 
they want. 
5655. Then it is not generally from any earnest desire to receive advice or assistance ? In 
many cases it is; there are many hopeful characters, and I verily believe many innocent 
men there. 
5656. Did I understand you to say that you approve or disapprove of remitting punishment 
in any way by a system of task-work, or would you have the sentences rigidly carried out ? 
I think it is desirable to return to the old system; I saw its operation formerly. The men 
worked willingly, and did not require half the superintendence—not half the people pre-
tended to be sick—and they were in better order in many respects than they are at present. 
5657. By the Chairman : Do the remarks you have made with reference to Cockatoo Island 
apply to Darlinghurst, as to the decorum of the prisoners in attending Divine service? Yes. 
5658. And also with reference to the system of discipline? It is essentially different. 
5659. Is there any special recommendation you would desire to make ? I beg to hand in a 
copy of a letter addressed by me to the late Governor General, containing my ideas on the 
subject; I never received any answer to that communication. (The witness handed in the 
same. Vide Appendix A.) 
5660. Does the statement you have banded in relate to Darlinghurst Gaol as well as to 
Cockatoo Island ? No. 
5661. Are there any observations you desire to make specially with reference to Darling-
hurst 

APPENDIX. 
A. 

Fort-street, II August, 1860. 
To His Excellency Sir William Denison,— 

I beg, most respectfully, to call your Excellency's attention to the present state and condition 
of the Penal Establishment at Cockatoo Island. 

I had the honor, some time since, of stating personally my opinion in reference to the imprac-
ticability of the new penal regulation, and the doubtful operations which would evidently result in its 
entire enforcement. 

My doubts have been painfully realized, and I consider it my ditty to request that your 
Excellency may at once take the matter into consideration, or, at least, allow the prisoners a hearing 
on the matter of such vital importance. You may think the subject worthy of attention, when I say, 
that the prisoners, who, under the old regulation, were so peaceable and so easily and profitably 
governed, are at present in a most unsatisfactory and dangerous state, being, almost to a man, openly 
or sullenly disordered ; that within the last few months there have been not less than eleven attempts 
at escape, and two or three open combinations to resist authority ; and that from what I know of the 
minds of several of the prisoners, it is my opinion, that the manner of working the existing regulation 
must lead to most unhappy and disastrous consequences. 

I would call your attention to two or three things connected with this establishment, which will 
show, that whilst similar institutions in England have received the deepest attention from the highest 
Ministers in the State, and most salutary reforms have been wrought out, yet here we have gone 

steadily 
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The Rev, steadily backwards until our most important penal establishment is at least sixty years behind the age 
P. P. Agnew. and the requirements of the people. 

1. Although the Island of Cockatoo has every natural advantage and desirable requisite for a rojL■•••, 

7 Ma 	penal establishment for the reception and profitable working of all the prisoners in the Colony, whose y , USW. sentence may exceed onq year—having sites for accommodation and material for building ; being 
situated near the capital, and having demand for labour and a market for produce; being broadly 
surrounded by water, and easily guarded, it might be rendered a most suitable depfit for prison labour 
generally, and at half the amount which is now sought to put the prisons of the interior in proper 
condition—yet this establishment remains in a most primitive and inefficient condition, affording neither 
security for the prisoner nor satisfaction to the Government. 

2. No classification whatever exists at Cockatoo Island. The whole of the prisoners are 
together, from the first to .  the last day of their sentence. The youth for his first offence, and the 
hardened veteran in crime are inseparably connected at once. Year after year they work at the same 
cart, sleep side by side, walk in the same yard, and eat out of the same tin dish. No prisoner is 
allowed to be alone one hour during his whole Imprisonment, and the difficulties and discouragements 
by which he is legally surrounded renders it utterly impossible for him to attend to his necessary 
religions duties, or that others can assist him in working out any hopeful reformation. 

3. The sleeping accommodation is both indecent and brutalizing;  The men are herded together 
in fifties and sixties, not having private space to undress. They sleep in open racks, one above another, 
separated merely by rude and open woodwork. The heat, in summer, is described as intolerable. All 
the offices of nature are attended to openly in the place where they sleep. The rustic fittings give safe 
refuge to vermin of must offensive kind, which at intervals are fumigated and swept away in incredible 
quantities. 

4. No prisoner placed in the cells is allowed to attend Divine service on the Sunday. This 
reasonable and necessary indulgence has been objected to, both by the authorities on the island, and by 
the late Government. There is not a prison in England where religious instruction and consolation is 
denied to a prisoner under any circumstances. I see no reason for objecting to this privilege, as the 
men front the cells could be brought to Divine service without taking up the time of the officers or 
communicating with other prisoners, by having the first seat in the chapel appropriated to their use, 
and by coming in last, and being conducted away first. 

• 	5. The last thing to which I would call your attention is, the recent abolition of the ticket-of- 
leave, which compels the prisoner to work out his full and entire sentence irrespective of all good and 
meritorious conduct. This has at once put the good and the bad on the same footing. Bad conduct 
makes a man's ease no worse, good conduct, no better. A sentence of seven, ten, or fifteen years, is, 
in many eases, equal to life; and as men under the old and new system are still working together, it 
has occasioned very much dissatisfaction, and connected with many other objectionable features in the 
present system, which marks no distinction of character, and cuts off all hope, and has resulted in the 
present disturbed and unsafe state of things at Cockatoo Island. 

I am afraid, that if an impartial and enlightened inquiry was made into the present working of 
the system, it would he found as ill adapted to the general good as anything of the kind in Her 
Majesty's doutinions. 

P. P. AGNEW, 
Chaplain, Cockatoo Island. 

The Rev. Samuel Sheehy, 0.S.B., called in and examined :— 
The Rev. 5662. .By the Chairman : You are Chaplain of the Roman Catholic Church at Cockatoo 
S. Sheehy, Island, I believe ? Yes.* 

S B. 	5663. Do you attend any other penal establishment besides Cockatoo Island ? I do not 
"—I',  attend the island now, It is sonic time since I attended Darlinghurst Gaol. 

7  May, 1861. 566.1. You do not attend any prison at the present time ? No. 
5665. How long were you attending Cockatoo Island, or Darlinghurst Gaol ? I cannot say 
how long I attended the island, but I attenddd the gaol over a period of eight years; some-
times both places. 
5666. Was it near the same period you attended the island ? No, I suppose not more than 
two years of that time. 
5667. How often did you visit the island ? I attended once on Sundays, and some time in 
the course of the week—when I say I attended, I mean that I either went myself, or had a 
substitute. 
5668. What was the course of service—the same as in the ordinary chapels ? Yes; instruc-
tion and mass, the same as in church. 
5669. The service of mass was the same as in the churches ? Yes. 
5670. How often did you preach to the prisoners? Public instruction was given every 
Sunday. 
5671. What was the conduct of such prisoners as attended upon you when you were 
performing Divine service ? I have not seen anything bad in their conduct. In my 
experience of Cockatoo Island, I have seen as well behaved men as in any church. 
5672. Was the assembly generally as orderly as other congregations? I would not expect 
the same from them as from other congregations. 
5673. As a matter of fact was it ? I have nothing to complain of in my experience of 
prisoners in that matter. 
5674. Did you ever have occasion to examine the system of discipline prevailing at Cockatoo 
Island or Darlinghurst Gaol at the time you acted as chaplain—that is to consider it? Yes, 
I frequently considered it, and made representations to the authorities—not with regard to 
Cockatoo Island. I may have spoken with regard to Cockatoo to the Sheriff. 
5675. Did you feel satisfied with the discipline ? No; if by discipline you mean the oppor-
tunity of attending religious instruction, I was not satisfied. 
5676. I mean more than that, I mean the whole treatment to which the prisoners during 
the time they were working out their sentences were subject in its moral effects upon them, 
and also in its relation to cleanliness, general health, and so on ? There was much to 
complain of in that matter. With regard to the place in which the prisoners sleep, on the 

island, 

NOTE (Corrected by witness on revision):—Not at present. 
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island, I do not think there is sufficient supervision exercised. The dormitory is, I believe, The Rev. 
left without any one to watch .  over the prisoners except one of themselves. S. Sheehy, 

0.S.R. 5677. Were complaints ever made to you of the accommodation—by the prisoners 
themselves ? They complained of it to me as one of the difficulties in the way of a man  

	

7 	 8). 

5678, 	
186T. doing any good on the island—general treatment was complained of. 

5678, You refer to the difficulty of attending to their religious duties ? The annoyances 
those who were inclined to do good were exposed to from their companions. 
5679. Did similar complaints reach you at Darlinghurst ? Yes, but not to the same extent. 
5680. The sleeping apartments are very different there ? Yes. 	• 
5081. The cells are large and roomy there? Yes. 
5682. Have you ever been able to trace the subsequent career of any of the prisoners whom 
you have attended during their imprisonment? Yes, I know several who came under my 
notice in Darinighurst who have done very well. I cannot say I know any who have been 
at Cockatoo. 
5083. You know several who were in Darlinghurst Gaol who have behaved themselves well 
since they have left? Yes, and who have got on very well. 
5684. Have you any statement you wish to make to the Committee? My difficulty with 
regard to Cockatoo Island, and I have found the same complaint made by those who went 
before me and by my successors, is, the want of a suitable place in which the prisoners could 
meet, and where instruction could be imparted. I think the building in which they now 

. meet, and where they have been accustomed to meet, is not at all an appropriate one; and 
assembling in such a place tends to destroy any sense of religion the men might have. It 
is used as a place of recreation and as a•refectory, and when men meet together in a place 
for Divine service immediately after having used it for such purposes, the circumstance is 
calculated to produce a want of respect. It is difficult to produce the same feeling of 
religion in the minds of these men in such a place, as might be called into existence if there 
were a building set apart for the purpose. I have spoken to the authorities of the island 
on the subject. 
5685. You think there should be a chapel ? Yes. I would of course suggest that there 
should be one for Protestants 'and one for Catholics, or that at least there should be one 
building set apart for Divine worship. 
5680. You think that in a large prison establishment there should at least be a Protestant 
and Catholic Chapel? I think it would be better, for we know that prejudices are strong 
among such men as we meet there. 
5087. Do you think from your acquaintance with the character of the prisoners at Darling-
burst and Cockatoo that many of them would avail themselves of the means of instruction 
if there were educational classes established ? I do not know with regard to Cockatoo 
Island; I know that at Darlingliurst Gaol it was tried, and very little good was done. I 
think with the younger prisoners it might be done; but when all were allowed to go to the 
classes very little good was done. I believe that in the gaol advantage was taken of it, as it 
gave the prisoners the means of coinmunicaling with one another. 
5688. By Mr. Hart : Do you think it would be desirable to have a school both at Cockatoo 
Island and Darliughurst, where the children, buth lads and girls, could be taught ? I do 
think it desirable. 
5689. Do you think it absolutely necessary at Cockatoo Island, where there are a good many 
people whose parents are free connected with the establishment ? I do not think a school 
would do which should be established both for the prisoners and the children of the free 
overseers.. 
5690. I do not mean that, but that there should be a school established for the purpose of 
giving instruction to the children of the free officers on the island ? A school would be 
requisite for them, but 1 imagine if such a school were established the prisoners would not 
attend it, as there would be an objection on the part of the free population. I know that 
at present there is an objection to attend at the services that take place, and that only those 
who are required attend. 
5091. You complain of want of accommodation for celebrating the services of the Roman 
Catholic Church ? Yee. 
5692. Do you consider that those services are of so sacred a character that where they are 
performed nothing else should take place if possible? Yes. 
5693. Is there any place for the clergyman to robe and unrobe, to hear confessions, and to 
give instruction privately to the prisoners? Not that I am aware of; when I did give 
instructions privately, or hear confessions, it was in tins dormitory—a very unbecoming place. 
5694. Are you aware whether these places have been visited by His Grace the Archbishop ? 
I cannot say for certain. I think they have. 
5695. Do you know whether he has expressed great dissatisfaction with the system pursued at 
both places, and that he considers it would seem to give the weight of his authority to the 
present system were he to visit them? I am aware those are his sentiments with regal d to 
Cockatoo. I know be has visited Darlinghurst Gaol during my chaplaincy, but I am not 
aware whether he has visited the island. 
5690. Do you think it desirable that a certain portion of time, say three days or a week, 
once or twice in a year, should be set apart exclusively for religious instruction ? Very 
desirable, I think. 
5697. In which the prisoners should be wholly exempted from work, and be attended by 
their clergymen? I do not know that it would be necessary to give them the whole day. 
I think they might have an hour in the morning and evening in order that they might have 
some consecutive instruction. Many require instruction in the rudiments of religion, and 
we have no opportunity of giving it. 

157-2 H 	 5698. 
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The I 'ev• 5698. Have you applied for permission to give instruction to the prisoners occasionally ? 
0 

S. Sli
.S.B.

ech3-, I have not made that application, but I believe it has been done, and it has been refused at 
Corkatoo. In Darlinghurst I have always had the opportunity of seeing the men whenever 

7 May 1861. I wished to see them individually. 
6699. Do you think the system I have alluded to would be attended with great moral benefit 
to. the prisoners ? I think great good would result from it. It was the system pursued 
here formerly with regard to prisoners coming from Home. A week was given at the 
commencement of the year in which instruction was given every day, and I believe great 
benefit resulted from that. 
5700. What do you think of lectures being given to the prisoners—of allowing any one who 
had the ability to do so, to give information upon different subjects to be approved of by the 
chaplain ? The lecture to be by a prisoner ? 
5701. Either by the clergyman, or by a prisoner, with his permission ? I have never 
thought of that, but I do not think any good would result from one prisoner lecturing the 
others. I think the prejudices of the prisoners would prevent their listening to one of 
their own class. 
5702. Suppose the lectures were given by the clergyman, or by some other person connected 
with the establishment, upon moral subjects and other matters, would it not relieve the minds 
of the prisoners from their constant daily task, and elevate them ? No doubt good would result 
from it. I know many who would be benefited by it, as there are many well disposed 
persons in both places. 
5703. Have they a library on Cockatoo Island ? I am not aware—I believe they have in 
both places, but the library is confined to works of a religious character, and I do not think 
that is sufficient. 
5704. It is not so at Darlinghurst ? I think the books provided for the library wore of a 
religious character. 
5705. Do you not think it desirable that they should have books upon general subjects ? I 
think so. 
5706. How is the money expended that is voted by Parliament for books for the gaols? In 
buying Prayer Books, Bibles, and books of that sort—religious books. 
5707. Had you any difficulty to get that money after it was voted by Parliament? I think 
there was some delay. 
5708. Do you consider that it is injurious to the welfare and future prospects of the prisoners 
to allow them to mix together as they do, indiscriminately, at Darlinghurst ? I think that 
is a great obstacle to their reformation, and I have always strongly urged upon the autho-
rities that it should be done; but I believe one cause of its not having been done was the 
state of the building. I have some examples now in my mind, of young people who have 
been ruined by having been sent among prisoners who have been a long time under sentence. 
5709 Does that apply to male or female prisoners ? The examples I refer to are males—
young boys—but I think in both cases there is the same result. 
5710. Are there any instructions in the catechism given in the gaol at this time ? I think 
so. It is usual to give a discourse on some moral subject in the morning, and in the evening 
eatcelictical instruction. That is the custom in our church, and I believe that is the custom 
there. 
5711. By Mr. Trindeller : Could the men who came under your notice read and write? I 
know many did read and write—they applied to me for books, which I lent them. 
5712. You have said that some of them required instruction in the first elements of religious 
teaching ? Yes; • some of the prisoners in the gaol. I had generally one to attend me, who 
took charge of the vestments belonging to me; if he could read and write, he generally 
instructed the children or others—this was before the appointment of a schoolmaster. I 
found some of the people benefited by it, and learned to read. 
571.3. By Ur Chairman: At the time you were attending Cockatoo Island, did you ever hear 
of the perpetration of unnatural crimes upon the island ? The prisoners have complained 
of such ; it was to that I alluded as having been said to have taken place in the sleeping 
places. 
5714. The prisoners have complained to you, as a clergymen? Not under secresy of course; 
they have said it was impossible to do good on account of their associates. 
5715. Have any of these complained of the actual commission of the crime ? Not as being 
the subjects of it. 
5716. They believed that it took place ? I cannot say for certain. I know the complaint 
has been made to me. 
5717. By Air. Morris : The complaint was made to you that these crimes had been com-
mitted ? Yes. 
5718. By ihe Chairman: I should understand that frequent complaints were made to you ? 
Men have told me such was the ease. In such a nose of course I would not enter into any 
particulars, for I concluded from the class of men there and the state of the place in which 
they slept, the thing was quite possible, and even probable. 

SEPARATE 
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SEPARATE APPENDIX. 

PART I. 

SEPARATE STATEMENTS RECEIVED FROM PRISONERS. 

).TOTE:—Examinations obtained by certain prisoners, presenting only *personal statements, are 
included. 

(On first Visit to Cockatoo Island Prison, 1 February, 1861.) 

1. 	 JOHN PAGE. 
Complained that when he went to the island, Ile had a good suit of clothes, which had been 
stolen from the store. 

2 (written). 	 JOHN WATSON. 

Banded in a statement, as follows :— 
I arrived in Sydney, 26th January, 1859, from Goulburn ; on the evening following, 

was taken in charge by Detective Adderly and another, after picking a lady's pocket of .1:15 
in notes, and £24 in cheques. I was committed to the Quarter Sessions, and tried by Mr. 
Cheelte on the 20th of the following month, February, and sentenced to twelve months 
in Sydney Gaol. After niy release from gaol, a man named Henry Foy, came up to meet ane 
at the gaol gate, and took me to his home, telling me that I could stop there until I could 
better my condition. On the same day I had occasion to go to the South Head Road with 
a message for a man who was in the gaol ; but, unfortunately, I went into a public-house, 
and getting drunk, got confined in the watch-house, opposite the gaol, for the first time in my 
life, never having been drinking to excess before, and for which I got twenty-four hours. 
In consequence of this friend of mine not knowing it, I had to serve it, not having where-
with to pay the fine of 10s. I was thus discharged from gaol on the 22nd February, and 
being totally destitute, I was much depressed in health and spirits ; and not liking to 
trouble my friend, I wandered about the town all day until midnight, when, going down 
Market-atreet, fearing every minute I should be arrested for being out so late at night, I came 
to a house, at the door of which I found a woman preparing to go to the Market with coffee ; 
I asked her to lei me stop there till morning ; her son being at the time in the house she 
objected, but said she would allow me to stop at her stall, in York-street, till morning. I 
availed myself of her offer, and laid on a box which she had there till daylight, when 
thanked her, and went about my business. I walked about all the forenoon in search of 
employment, but found none. During the day, I was stopped in George-street, in company 
with another man; the prosecutor pointed to me saying, I looked like one of the three men 
who choked and robbed him on 'Wednesday night. I have not any recollection of what he 
said to the other man, being too much engrossed about myself being accused of a thing of 
which I AVM entirely innocent. The policeman, who was with him, asked him four or five 
times if he would give us in charge, but lie appeared very doubtful ; upon which, the police-
man was inclined to let us go about our business, but a sergeant coming up, insisted on the 
case being taken to the watch-house; when, on being examined, I did not like to tell the 
police I had just come out of the gaol, thinking it would tend to injure me, but said I had 
just come down the country, or words to that effect. We were then confined in separate 
cells, and the following morning, the other than was examined privately, and was able to 
give a satisfactory account of himself ; after which, I was subjected to the same process, 
when I told them as I told them before. After which, we were both tried before the Bench 
(having been charged on suspicion the night before), and remanded. On the deposition of the 
policeman, I was charged with robbing the man, and the other on suspicion for being in my 
company ; this was Friday. We were remanded till the Tuesday following, on which day 
the prosecutor swore to me, but the other man was acquitted. I was committed to the 
Quarter Sessions in March, and upon that evidence was found guilty, and sentenced to ten 
years to Cockatoo Island. I have protested my entire innocence ever since, and have written 
two statements, in which I have set forth the whole of the above facts, but have been unable 
to obtain any redress; and not having been allow6d to see the magistrate since, I consider 
myself seriously aggrieved. I declare that I had neither band, act, or part, in the robbery, 
neither did I know such had been committed. 

JOHN WATSON. 
[In reply to a question from Mr. Cowper, he stated that he was tried by Mr. Holroyd.] 

3. JOSEPH O'HALLORAN. 
Complained that he had been detained on the island sir months beyond his term. 

4. HUGH MONTGOMERY BLAND. 
Made a similar statement. 

5. 



1296 

236 	 SEPARATE APPENDIX. 

5. MICHAEL CANTWELL. 
Tried by Court Martial three years since—Complained that he had forwarded a petition to 
Captain Lovell, who had acted as Judge Advocate, and by whom hope of a remission of 
sentence had been held out seven months since, and that he had received no reply to his 
petition. 

6. WILLIAM JOHNSON. 
Complained of over sentence. 

7. MICHAEL FRAYNE. 
Stated that be came to this Colony a prisoner in 1837. In 1866, he obtained a ticket-of-
leave for Moreton Bay, having, as he believed, according to the English regulations, but six 
months to serve before be would be entitled to his emancipation. After his departure, his 
mother petitioned the Government, and obtained an answer that he was to obtain his 
emancipation at the end of six months. Being anxious to see his mother, who was very 
aged, he, after residing two years and a half at Moreton Bay, returned to Sydney, where he 
married, and entered into business as a licensed coach-proprietor. In this capacity was under 
the notice of the police, having four coaches, a license for each of which was taken out in 
his own name. Having acquired other property, to the value of £500 or £600, was appre-
hended as an Imperial prisoner illegally at large. 

8. WILLIAM WASHINGTON. 
Complained of over sentence. 

9. CHARLES NIXON. 
Made a similar complaint. 

10. JOHN ITAWKINS. 
Under seven years sentence, ten months of which were served—Desired to petition for miti-
gation of sentence, in consequence of having had his leg broken while on the works. 

11 (written). 	 ALEXANDER DOUGLASS. 

Had written a statement of his case, which he desired to lay before the Committee, viz.:— 

The Statement of Alexander Douglass, at present a prisoner on Cockatoo Island,— 
Respectfully sheweth :— 

That your Memorialist is now undergoing a period of three years on the public works, 
on a charge of uttering, and in extenuation begs respectfully to submit the following state-
ment for your consideration :— 

James Cameron stated to the Sergeant :— 	• 
I sold my horse and saddle to a man named T.A. Rouse, on the Bathurst Road, in 

coming from Dubbo, for the cheques in question. 
On oath he stated :— 

I met Douglass on the Monday morning; he took me to a house where he gave Inc 
those cheques, and told me whatever money was over I was to return to him ; he did not 
know my real name, nor had he ever seen me previously ; the name on those cheques is my 
proper name ; my reason for passing as Frederick Bellies is to prevent my parents ascer-
taining that I had emigrated ; Douglass did not write those cheques, nor was he out of my 
sight to write those cheques ; I had nothing left out of those cheques; I never had any 
dealings with Douglass previously. 

On the following morning Cameron stated to the magistrates :— 
Twill confess the truth ; I received those cheques from a constable in the town of 

Bathurst ; I mentioned his name yesterday to Captain Bettye. 
Mrs. Doyle stated on oath :— 

Douglass told me that he saw Cameron sell his horse and saddle for those cheques. 
On the trial James Cameron stated :— 

I know nothing of Douglass, nor had I ever any dealings with him ; I did not receive 
those cheques from him ; I came by those cheques in a dishonest manner ; I stole them from 
a person, from a pocket-book containing two more notes and some silver ; this person was 
coming from the village of Peel to Bathurst ; my reason for stating that Douglass gave me 
those cheques was, that Captain Battyc told me if I would swear so he would let me go free, 
and get me a situation in the police—that is, if I would swear to having obtained those 
cheques from Douglass, and that Douglass got them from Sampson ; I never saw Douglass 
before the 4th May, 1859, it was in a booth on the racecourse at King's Plains, where he 
was engaged to play music, and I declare that Douglass is innocent of the charge. 

N.B. This man (James Cameron) was let at large for a few minutes, but subse-
quently brought back, placed on his oath, when he swears the very words required of him 
by Captain Bettye, and he was then committed along with me. 

Alexander Douglass states:— 
I never to my knowledge saw Cameron previous to being apprehended on my road 

home from King's Plains; I was remanded from the 8th May until the following December, 
whereas, had the law deemed me guilty, they would have tried and sentenced me before, for 
I subpoenaed seven respectable witnesses who could have proved my innocence; but my 
subpcenas were never served, and consequently I received the sentence of three years to hard 
labour on the public works, which I am at present undergoing. I beg to state that Sampson 
was an inmate of the gaol from the 23rd March up to the time of my trial in December, 

when 
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when he received a sentence of four years to Cockatoo ; but after four months servitude he 
went to his liberty, his case having been tried iti Banco. 

Trusting that your Honorable Board will take the above facts into consideration, 
as well as my having previously resided in Bathurst, where I was well known as a man 
obtaining an honest living, both as a bricklayer and plasterer, or a painter, and being well 
known to the authorities as an honest tradesman about the town—and so far enter into the 
merits of my case as will result in my obtaining my liberation. 

ALEXANDER DOUGLASS. 
Alexander Douglass, per " Abdallah," was received here on the 7th January, 1860, under 
a sentence of three years bard labour on the roads, passed upon him at the Quarter Sessions 
at Bathurst, on the 8th December, 1859, for uttering a forgery, since which period his con-
duct has been good. 

Nothing recorded. 	 Cockatoo Island, 
6 February, 1861. 

GOTHER K. MANN. 

12 (written). 	 CHARLES WAGNER. 
Had also written a statement, which he had forwarded to the office, viz.:— 

The Statement of Charles Wagner, a prisoner on Cockatoo Island, undergoing the sentence 
of five years for stealing, in a dwelling, the sum of one hundred sovereigns :— 

I was tried on the 25th day of April, 1860, before His Worship the Chairman of 
.Quarter Sessions, at Sydney, and received the above sentence. 

I am not guilty of the above crime, inasmuch as I had but recently arrived from 
Melbourne, with the view of investing my small capital in trade in New South Wales, and 
bad taken lodgings in a respectable house in Gloucester-street, where I had occupied the 
same room for five weeks; three weeks I was the sole occupant of the room, but the last two 
weeks was conjointly with a sea-faring man, who subsequently became my prosecutor. 

I being a foreigner, and speaking very bad English, was totally ignorant of all law 
matters, and unprepared at the time of my trial to prove satisfactorily my innocence, having 
been committed on the 19th and tried on the 25th of the same month, and was most ineffi-
ciently defended by Mr. Moffat, be only arriving in the Court at the close of the evidence 
for the prosecution, when he only asked a few questions of trivial import, although I had 
-feed him to be further defended by a barrister-at-law. 

I was convicted simply on my prosecutor swearing to one sovereign, of a whitish 
cast, out of £176 10s., taken from me when arrested. 

The arresting constable took my money while in the lodging-house, and spread it on 
the table in the presence of the prosecutor, thereby giving him an opportunity of seeing the 
whitish severeign,,which is not uncommon amongst gold specie, for he had no other mark 
whereby he could swear to any of the money. 

I would now beg to submit points which were not brought forward by my counsel at 
the time of trial. 

The landlady of the boarding-house had three daughters, the eldest being twenty-two 
years of age, to whom I was under engagement of marriage, and was not aware at the time 
that the prosecutor, who occupied the same bed-room, was my rival, as, on the preceding 
evening to my arrest, he asked me my intentions respecting marriage to the daughter, and 
how much money I had (stating that he made these inquiries at the request of the young 
lady and her mother). I at once told him £200, in gold, at the same time opening my box, 
and :Mewing it to him. The following evening, on my return home from a walk, about 
8 o'clock, the prosecutor stated he had lost one hundred sovereigns, which he said he had 
drawn from the bank in the morning, and placed in his chest, leaving the lid open. Ile at 
once gave me in charge, when I told the apprehending constable that it was easy for prose-
cutor to lay such a charge against me, his having seen my money the previous evening, at 
the same time telling him the exact amount of money in my chest, and giving him a 
memorandum-book from my pocket, containing a confirmatory account. The prosecutor 
admitted that his box, and the door of the bed-room, was always, day and night, unlocked 
and open, and that the master, mistress, the three daughters, and male boarders, had equal 
means of access; yet he singled me out, and gave me at once in charge. 

I had left Melbourne but the month previous, having in gold £209 and 5s. when 
leaving, £100 of which I received from Mrs. O'Brien, green-grocer, Flinder's-lane West, 
part of money lent on mortgage, and £100 from Mr. Rolls, the coach proprietor, of that 
city, for a Hansom safety cab, which I sold him. I have written to the aforesaid parties, 
and also to Messrs. Muttlebury and Costar, solicitors, who negotiated the mortgage for me, 
for the receipts of the above money, and also for certificates of an unimpeachable character 
.since my sojourn in the Colony. 

I am now labouring under a disease of the heart, brought on by premature depression, 
in consequence of my incarceration; I therefore beg that your Committee will be pleased 
graciously to cause such investigation and inquiries as shall seem fit and necessary. 

CHARLES WAGNER 
The petitioner, Charles Wagner, per "Juanita," was received here on the 28th April, 

1860, under a sentence of five years to the roads, passed upon him at the Quarter Sessions 
at Sydney, for stealing money ; since which period his conduct has been good. 

Nothing recorded. 
Cockatoo Island, 

8 February, -1861. 
GOTHER K. MANN. 

13. 



1298 

238 	 SEPARATE APPENDIX. 

13. DAVID JOBSON. 
Stated that he had petitioned, but received no answer. 

14. MICHAEL DORAN. 
Stated—I came to the island on the 28th May, 1858. I had at that time clothes to the 
value of £9 14s. 6d. with me, for which I have the tailor's bill. I had also a pair of boots, 
not included in the bill, which cost me £1 5s. I had also two rings in my pocket, to the 
value of £3 7s., and £9 in money stitched in the breast of my waistcoat. I never men-
tioned this to any man until I had been eight months here, when I told Mr. Brown, in the 
presence of five men, to take the two rings out of my pocket, and so much money. In the 
month of July, 1859, four men were going away from the island to their tickets-of-leave, and 
one of them named Edwards, who had been a constable here, took away my clothes. I 
received information of this from Thomas Lenehan. 

15. ROBERT BANKS. 
Complained that he had been sent to the island, and to work in the quarry, because, having 
a ticket-of-leave for Bathurst, he had been found in Yass. 

18. 	 FREDERICK SOMERVILLE. 
Stated that in November, 1849, he had received a sentence for four years, and in 1850, a 
sentunee for seven years. That he had received a ticket-of-leave for the Yass district. That 
he was, for two years, in business at Adelong, where he was well known, as an auctioneer, by 
the name of Frank Templeton ; and that he was seized at Kiandra as an absentee from his 
district. The warrant under which he was apprehended, stated that he would be free on the 
3rd November, 1860, and he was now informed that under the present regulations he would 
have to serve two years longer. He was under the impression that when Ids seven years 
sentence had expired he was free to leave the district, as he believed that that sentence had 
been concurrent with his former one. During the two years he had been off the island he 
believed his conduct had been satisfactory, and while at the diggings he believed that no 
one there had been more anxious to suppress crime. A petition had been forwarded to the 
Governor General by the residents at Kiandra on behalf of the prisoner, and be begged to 
refer to Charles Cowper, juur., Esq., M.P., Mr. Shadforth, and other gentlemen in the 
Taunt district as to his general character. 

17. FREDERICK WM. SCRIMES. 
Begged to bring his case under the notice of the Committee. In 1848 he separated from 
his wife, by mutual consent, being then in England, In 1851 he Ca1110 to this Colony, and 
remitted money to his wife, the receipt of which was not acknowledged*  by her, and be 
concluded that she was dead. Married a second time. Some two years after his second 
marriage Ids first wife came out to the Colony, and having discovered her husband, demanded 
a maintenance from him. He then furnished a cottage for her at Pyrinont, and allowed her 
£2 a week. After a time she increased her demand, and as he could not comply with her 
exorbitant requirement, she brought the charge of bigamy against him, upon which he was 
sentenced to three years imprisonment upon the island. His wife had been in the Colony 
four years before she brought the charge. Ile had been in the service of Messrs. Wilkinson, 
Brothers three years and a half. Could refer to Mr. Williams, of that firm, as to Ids general 
character, and believed, if the Superintendent of the island were called upon, that gentleman 
would bear testimony to his good conduct. Had never before been charged with any 
offence. 

18. DANIEL SULLIVAN. 
Complained that, being legally free, he had been apprehended for being out of his district. 
Had a ticket for Moreton Bay, and was apprehended in Sydney. 

39. 	 MICHAEL CROFTON. 
Had lest his ticket while at Ipswich; had served his time within seven months, and had 
been well conducted while on the island. 

20. /TORN WSPADDEN. 
Charged with murder, and sentenced to fifteen years imprisonment—Complained that he was 
detained over his sentence, which had expired eighteen months ago. 

21. FRANCIS illonAN. 
Complained that his ticket-of-leave had been cancelled for drunkenness. 

22. WILLIAM TIIOMPSON. 
Sentenced to ten years imprisonment, the first twelve months in irons—Complained that he 
had to serve twelve months longer than a man who had received the same term of sentence, 
but without irons. 

23. JOHN HASSETT. 
Complained that he had been detained on the island over his proper time. Was sentenced 
to fifteen years—the first three in irons. Had been six years and six months on the island, 
and served the first three in irons. Had petitioned, but received no answer. 

24 
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24. 	 JOHN SMITH. 
Complained of cancellation of ticket-of-leave, which he had received for Moreton Bay ; but 
coming to Sydney to see his wife and family, was apprehended as a prisoner illegally at 
large. 

25, 	 ROMS BRETON. 
Complained of having been sent to the island for losing his ticket-of-leave. 

26. WILLIAM HEAD. 
Complained of having been detained on the island seven months beyond the expiration of 
his sentence. 

27. JAMES EDWARD CARNEGIE. 
Stated—I came out to this Colony in the " Hashemy," in April, 1849, under a sentence of 
exile for seven years; I did not land in Sydney, but was sent to Moreton Bay. There I 
remained some time, and met a number of my Scotch friends; I then came to Sydney, 
remained about six weeks at the Royal Hotel, and then proceeded to California. In the 
beginning of 1857 I came to Melbourne, and was employed on the press; I wrote a number 
of scientific articles in the Argus. I was also the proprietor of two papers—The Evening 
Mail and The Evening Bulletin—both of these failed. The Green Room was my entire 
property, and I was the only editor. I arrived in Sydney in March, 1859, and acted as 
agent for the Nelson Family, whom I was the means of introducing to the Colony. I was 
also agent for Signor 13ianchi, from whom, as well as from Mons. Coulon, I have testimonials. 
During • my residence in Sydney I was constantly in places of public resort, and my em-
ployment was of a public nature. I believed that I had fulfilled the terms of my sentence. 
I was under the impression that the conditions of my exile was, that I was not to return to 
the United Kingdom during seven years, and this condition I had fulfilled. As to my 
conduct and character, while I was in Sydney, I confidently refer to Sir Daniel Cooper, Mr. 
John Fairfax, Mr. O'Connell, brother of Captain O'Connell, the Honorable Mr. Merewether, 
Mr. Duns-inure, and Major 011auvel ; and I believe the Superintendent of the island would 
speak favourably of my conduct since I have been here. 

28. RICHARD HART. 
Complained that he was kept on the island for having lost his ticket-of-leave. 

29. JAMES MLAREN. 
Stated that he had lost a finger. 

30. • 
	

THOMAS FITZGERALD. 
Complained that he bad been sentenced for five years for passing a coloured half-penny, which 
was a minor offence of the lowest order. 

81. 	 RICHARD HANSON'. 
Eighteen years of age—Complained that he had been sentenced to five years imprisonment, 
of which he had served eleven months, for breaking into the market; was tried by Judge 
Erolroyd; other cases of a similar hind had been sentenced to a month or two months 
imprisonment; had been twice before in gaol for stealing clothes—the last time about six 
or seven months before. 

32. WILLIAM CRAIG. 
Sentenced for five years, of which lie had served two years and four months, for obtaining 
goods under false pretences—Stated that he had never been tried before ; had sent in a 
petition to which he had received no answer. 

33. MICHAEL CANTWELL. 
Stated that be had been on the island three years ; when be arrived received two blankets 
which had never been changed or washed from that time to the present. 

(On first Visit to Darlinghurst Gaol, 8 February, 1861.) 

34. R013ERT ALEXANDER. 
Stated that he was tried at Braidwood on the 27th December last, and sentenced to two 
years on a charge of robbery; that at the time he was apprehended he was gazetted as a 
runaway from Tarban Creek. He asserted his innocence, and stated that he was illegally 
imprisoned, having been sentenced by the Braidwood Bench and not by-a Judge. 

35. GEORGE TAYLOR. 
Stated—I was convicted at ROckhampton for uttering forged notes, and sentenced for five 
years by Judge Milford; two years of which have expired. On the 10th of January last I 
refused to work. The ground of my refusing to work was in consequence of being working with 
other parties who wore reaping a great benefit, whereas we were reaping no benefit whatever, 
and were compelled to perform the same work. I would be most willing to return to work 
to-morrow—indeed I am doing so now—if I could shorten my time. I have a wife and 

family, 
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family, and would be prepared to work eighteen hours a day at anything if I could shorten 
my time. 
By Mi. Windeyer : Are you prepared to return to work if your period of labour is not 
shortened ? I know it is folly to refuse to work against Government. 

36. JOHN O'BRIEN. 

A contractor under the Corporation of Sydney—Complained that for disobeying an order to 
pay wages he was confined in this wing, directly opposite the cell of a murderer (Swan). 
In the cell with O'Brien was- 

37. El UGH CRADDOCK. 

Stated that he was confined for disobeying an order to support his children. 

38. CHARLES 031BURGII. 

A runaway from rms. "Iris"—Complained that be had been apprehended on the 1st of 
August last, and was detained in prison until the return of his vessel to the port. 
89. 	 JAMES BINNEY. 

Made a similar complaint: he stated that he was apprehended on the 4th last November ; had 
been remanded from fortnight to fortnight, as there was no one to bail him out; and that 
such as he were thought no more of than the basest murderers or felons in the prisons. 
During the time he and his companion in the cell, Oxburgh, were obliged to mix, in the 
committed yard, with men charged with all sorts of offences. 

40. GEORGE DAVIS. 

Sentenced at Tansworth on the 18th June last, for horse stealing, to five years imprison-
ment in Darlinghurst—Complained that his sentence was illegal, inasmuch as the Judge had 
no power to sentence him for a longer period than three years. • • 
By the Chairman: Have you made any application to the Government on the subject? 
I spoke to Mr. Harrison. 
What did you hear from Mr. Harrison was the result of your application ? He said he had 
not heard anything of it. 
When was that application sent ? About six months ago. 

41. PATRICK MURRAY. 
A patient in the hospital—Stated, I came over on the chain with the last of the prisoners 
from Cockatoo. When I came in here, and the gates were closed on us, Mr. Singleton came 
up and shook me by the arm, while Mr. Harrison, the deputy governor of the gaol, was 
counting us. I told Mr. Singleton he had nothing to do with me, as I was under the gaol 
authorities. He said, "I will let you know I have something to do with you," and he drew 
his sword and cut me here (pointing to a sear over the right eye), and I was put in the cell 
that night. 
13y Mr. [last: Did you not strike him first? No, I was in handcuffs. 
Did you not hustle him ? No, I could not. 
Your wound does not appear to be very serious? If his sword had not caught against a tree 
he would have cleaved me down. 

42. ANN MINTYRE. 

Stated that she lives at Richmond, and was taken up on a charge of being drunk in Sydney-
streets, and was sentenced to three months imprisonment; was married to John Fletcher 
two years ago, and her house and family were going to destruction. 

43 (written). 	 BARNETT LEVI. 

The following statement handed in, viz.:— 
The humble Statement of Barnett Levi, tried at the Sydney Quarter Sessions in May, 

1853, for petty larceny (picking pockets), and sentenced to ten years on Cockatoo 
island,— 

Sheweth :— 
That prisoner completed a sentence of five years and ten months on Cockatoo Island, 

and emerged with a ticket-of-leave to Ipswich, Moreton Bay district, in a suit of Govern- 
ment branded slops, without a shilling, when he was ordered by the Police authorities to 
leave the town and proceed to the country, notwithstanding he had a friend in Ipswich, who 
offered to place a suns of money at his disposal to enable him to enter into business, which 
was explained to Colonel Gray, Police Magistrate, but without effect. Unaccustomed to the 
bush, or agricultural employment, and without any definite knowledge of the boundaries of 
the district, he proceeded to Tentertield diggings where he opened a store, and for four 
months was obtaining a honest livelihood, which Commissioner Masterton can vouch for. 
Through the agency of one of the police, prisoner received information of a warrant being 
issued against him for being illegally at large, and he, afraid of returning to Cockatoo, sold 
off and immediately set out for Melbourne, paid his passage in the "Great Britain" with 
the view of returning to his friends, and was unfortunately apprehended and forwarded to 
Melbourne Gaol, where he remained for six months, and was returned to Cockatoo to 
complete the unexpired portion of his original sentence and two years additional from other 
sources. Now, prisoner feeling there is something so unjust in detaining him in custody 
for a number of years without trial by Judge or Magistrate, humbly entreats your Excellency 

to 
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to investigate and take the subject into consideration, for as all sentences of solitary confine-
ment, &c., are extension, a man who is disliked may be kept many years in chains and 
bondage. 

P.S. Some six months since the Visiting Magistrate permitted me to petition. I did 
so, but it was returned from the Chief Inspector's Office. 

(On Visit to Parramatta Gaol, 15 February, 1861.) 

14. 	 MARTIN KENNY. 
Sentenced to three years imprisonment for gold robbery at the diggings—tried at Bathurst 
in 1859,—Stated that he had been advised by the Judge who tried him (Mr. Dowling) to 
send in a petition to the Government, but had been prevented doing so by the rules of the 
prison. 

(On second Visit to Darling karst Gaol, 1 )Iiarch, 1861.) 

45. 	 GEORGE SINGLETON. 
Made the following statement :—I was sent here by the Sydney Magistrates for refusing to 
obey an order of the Court to pay ten shillings a week for the support of my wife and four 
infant children. I have a freehold in Petersham, upon which my wife is living, and for a 
portion of which she is receiving rent. My eldest daughter is sixteen years of age, and has 
been living in service at Balmain for more than twelve months. I was at work at Mr. Bolt's 
three weeks before I came here, at 25s. a week. One week I worked three days, one four, 
and another six days. 
By Mr. Lucas: 1-lad you nothing besides the twenty-five shillings a week? No. 
What are you ? A carpenter. 
What induced you to take such wages ? It was my last resource. 
How much did you receive during Ihd time you were at Mr. Holt's ? 53s. 7.0. 
Where were you boarding and lodging during this time ? She had taken everything out of 
the house, even the bedding, and would not allow me to stay there, so I took lodgings close 
to Mr. Holt's. 

The Committee inspected the stockade, exercise ground, and wall in rear of 
the hospital, whence the seventeen prisoners recently escaped. They then returned 
to the gaoler's house, on their way tasting the bread which had just been brought in 
by the contractor. 

(At Sitting, 8 March, 1861.) 

46 (written). 	 RICHARD AINSWORTH. 
The Honorable the Chairman and other Honorable Gentlemen of the Select Committee on 

Prison Management, &c., &a, ice. 
Gentlemen, 

T have to express my gratitude in allowing me to lay before you a statement 
of the circumstances under which I am placed, and at the same time humbly to solicit you 
will not be deterred in your perusal, from the painful recital which most appear at the com-
mencement. 

I have been tried on three charges in the Colony :— 
1st. At the Criminal Court, Bathurst, in September, 1848, for uttering a 

forgery, and sentenced to seven years on the roads. 
2nd. At the Criminal Court, Bathurst, in February, 1852, for receiving and 

detaining a letter, containing a money draft, and sentenced five years to the 
roads. 

3rd. At the Court of Quarter Sessions, Maitland, in January, 1854, charged 
with stealing a horse, and sentenced five years to the roads. 

On the last occasion I stated to the Court that the sentence passed upon me was, 
under the circumstances, a most severe one, when the Chairman was pleased to remark, 
" Though five years is the period, it is not so in effect, since you well know, by good conduct, 
" you will receive a ticket-of-leave in half the time by the regulations of the task-work 
" sytemn." Was immediately removed to Cockatoo Island, where I remained ten weeks, 
then returned to Darlinghurst, forwarded from thence to Parramatta Gaol, and in that 
establishment completed the last mentioned five years. It will be seen the two first sentences 
lapsed while serving the latter, and that this was the opinion of the authorities at Parra-
matta, for on the 2nd January, 1859, I was discharged free. I at once returned to Sydney, 
and within forty-eight hours afterwards suffered a severe attack of dysentery, which continued 
near four weeks. This affliction completely exhausted my finances, and on becoming con-
valescent, considered the most prudent step for me to take was to use my endeavours to pro-
ceed into the interior. To this end I attended the office of the Honorable the Coloniat 
Secretary with a letter, addressed to that gentleman, praying him to grant me a free passage 
to Moreton Bay, where I had friends, or to some other settled district. 'Mr. Elyard handed 
in my note, and in a few moments afterwards I was informed by the messenger that Mr. 
Cowper was writing a reply, which I should receive immediately. It turned out that this 
messenger, at that very period, bad received orders to call in Constable Singleton. That 
officer appeared with him, and informed me he was desired to take me to the Convict Office 
to know if I was free. I at once accompanied him, and was there told I had been illegally 
discharged from Parramatta Gaol. That evening I was lodged in Darlinghurst, at the end 
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of four days forwarded to Cockatoo Island, and after twelve days more returned to Darling-
hurst Gaol, where I have been confined for the past two years and upwards. 

t would here remark that, on three occasions, I have been advised my detention here 
is illegal, that there was no provision in the Road Act to make these sentences cumulative, 
since they had not been so ordered, and consequently forwarded two statements to the 
Honorable the Attorney General, for the time being, but received no reply. I then, at the 
request of the Sheriff, wrote a third, which was intended to be laid before his Honor the 
Chief Justice, but nothing more was heard of it In March last, assuming my imprisonment 
legal, was eligible for a ticket.of-leave in accordance with the Classification Regulations, 
and although that system ceased to exist in June, 1858, there was an order of His Excel-
lency the Governor General posted in this and all other prisons, to the following effect, 
VIZ.,- 

2. Those regulations will, however, be acted upon in the cases of all prisoners now 
" undergoing sentences passed while they were in force. 

" CuntEs COWPER." 
I therefore brought this matter also before the Sheriff, who desired me to write a statement 
showing the prescribed period of probation and when it expired. This document was 
forwarded to the Chairman of the Board of Classification, and some time after a letter was 
received by the Sheriff, from the Colonial Secretary, inquiring why my name had been 
submitted to the Board. I believe that gentleman replied, it had been forwarded the same 
as in all cases Of a similar nature, when a further letter was received purporting I was not 
to receive a ticket-of-leave at all, but must serve the whole of the sentence in gaol, which is 
said not to expire till September, 1805. I am well assured if Mr. Cheeke had known, 
when passing the sentence of five years upon me at Maitland, that I should have been 
differently affected to other prisoners he would never have ordered me to Cockatoo Island, 
but consigned me to confinement in gaol, and that by law could not have exceeded three 
years for one offence, in confirmation of which I beg to refer you to the second case in the 
annexed list; therefore what the law could not do other authority did, and I have 
consequently served since that period near two years more than a prisoner on the island 
would have endured from the same time with a sentence of fifteen years. 

In January last I again appealed to the Sheriff, and requested Ids permission to 
petition His Honor Sir J. N. Dickinson, in the hope of receiving a favourable recommendation 
prior to the departure of His Excellency the Governor General, and I cited a case which 
occurred last April, when a man made a similar request to petition the Judge who tried 
him This man had been convicted of two charges of highway robbery in June, 1850, and 
sentenced to fifteen years roads and ten years roads; be was permitted to forward his 
petition, His Honor took a merciful view of the case from the man's advanced age, Sim., and 
be was discharged free on the 24th May. The Sheriff replied to my request as follows :— 
He could not allow me to petition, there was so strong a prejudice against me that it would 
be useless, for he had been brought to account for even forwarding my statement to the 
Classification Board last year. 

Further,—If it be urged I have committed some offence which ought to shut me out 
from the privilege granted to other prisoners, surely my punishment has been already severe, 
for had I been allowed the benefit of credit for labour I should have possessed a ticket-of-leave 
three years ago ; but I emphatically declare I have done nothing to place me in so fearful a 
position, and although three charges specified at the head of this paper blacken my history, 
there is no man breathing who has ever been injured by me to the loss of one shilling. I 
am compelled to add, my punishment is greater than that of the murderer, the highwayman, 
or others who have committed serious outrage upon society, all of whom to this very hour 
are receiving the benefit of the order previously referred to, and atnongst this number there 
are several who have committed repeated offences since my incarceration, and after all are 
again at large. I herewith annex the history of three of this character, each of whom have 
been discharged at no very distant period. 

I am aware I am considered guilty of .causing the discharge of a prisoner from 
Cockatoo Island in 1851, by means of false certificates or something of the kind, which 
was intimated to me by the Visiting Magistrate, but I had no opportunity afforded me 
of shewing the contrary. Had this privilege been granted, I could have proved that 
the man so discharged was subsequently apprehended through my information, and it is not 
likely I should have assisted in tracing his whereabouts had I been a principal or actor in 
that improper movement. The honorable gentleman now at the head of the Government 
was the Chairman of a Select Committee in 1852, to inquire into the discipline and manage- 
ment of Cockatoo Island. On that occasion this charge against me became public ; to it, 
and the improper replies to questions put by the Committee to Mr. Ormsby during his 
examination, I attach the prejudice which exists against me; from that time it commenced, 
and continues to the present as powerful and keen at the end of nine years as though the 
act was that of yesterday. I verily believe that Mr. Ormsby, on that occasion, made state- 
ments unconscious of what be said, for I observed all be had been asked relative to the duties 
of the office and keeping of the books, his replies were fearfully incorrect, and this I pointed 
out to him, but he had gone too far to recede. Whatever, therefore, may be urged against 
me, there is this evident fact—I have now been in gaol seven years and upwards, and I 
would beg to add, whatever the past, I trust I am a changed man, and only anxious for an 
opportunity of proving the sincerity of my regret. I have been for some time past acting 
here in the capacity of wardsman, and also attending upon the Rev. P. P. Agnew. Under 
this gentleman's observation for molt than two yea's, I have no hesitation in affirming he 
would speak favourably of me, and I believe I may also include the whole of the authorities ; 
but as my case at present stands, all appears hopeless, and nothing remains but the fearful 
looking for of a further unjust and, I believe, illegal imprisonment, until my powers become 

prostrated ; 
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prostrated ; and, should it please the Almighty to spare me, I must, under these circum-
stances, be sent adrift in the world, bereft of the ability to provide for the future. But as 
Heaven takes out of account repented crime, so earth should, and thus lead to the renewal of 
a right spirit within us. In perfect confidence, therefore, I leave the.whole in the hands of 
your Honorable Committee, beseeching your merciful interposition, and praying at the same 
time you may be guided by Him before whom all hearts are open, and from whom no secrets 
are hid. 

RICHARD AINSWORTH. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

5 March, 1861. 

1st. Henry Burns was tried for robbery in 1849; sentenced three years to the roads; 
forwarded to Newcastle Breakwater ; absconded ; apprehended in Sydney attempting pocket-
picking, identified as a runaway, and sentenced a further twelve months. August, 1852, 
received a ticket-of-leave; in November following absconded from his district; again appeared 
in Sydney, stole from a little girl in Pitt-street a £20 note, who had been sent by her father 
for change; apprehended and sentenced four . years to the roads. This man, in February, 
1853, had entered into a scheme with a fellow prisoner to escape from the island; a sort of 
boat or raft was put together for the purpose, and just as the arrangements were completed 
he betrayed his companion, who was already on the water

' 
 and immediately captured; for 

this service he considered himself entitled to his freedom ; Captain M'Lerie thought other-
wise, and had him removed to Darlingburst Gaol. On jumping ashore at the wharf he 
atternted to escape from the constable, who fired after him and shot him near the shoulder. 
Some time after his arrival at Dal lingliurst he was accused of an unnatural offence, and 
removed to l'arramatta ; he was then allowed the benefit of probation, which expired in Sep-
tember, 1855, when he was again allowed a ticket-of-leave for Goulhurn ; committed a num-
ber of offences there, and reached Port Phillip • there be was identified as a runaway, and 
sentenced to six months in irons; again ordered to Parramatta Gaol, during which the 
authorities in the Convict Department sought to compel him to serve the full period of the 
various sentences passed, but it was found illegal (a case similar to my own), and he was 
discharged. In less than three weeks afterwards be committed another robbery, and sen-
tenced three years to the roads; and since my confinement here he has been again discharged 
to a ticket-of-leave. 

2nd. Frederick Barlow, in 1848, received a sentence of eighteen months in irons, 
for a robbery in Parramatta. This man committed two offences on the island, and did not 
receive a ticket till June, 1850; six months afterwards he was tried in Sydney for robbing 
his master, and sentenced four years roads ; in 1853 he received a ticket-of-leave for 
Singleton, was there committed for trial for robbing one of his master's lodgers, but was 
acquitted, and the Chairman ordered him to be escorted to his district. The night of his 
release he lodged in a public-house in Maitland, and got in the room where two gentlemen 
were sleeping, whom he robbed of £30; was again committed for trial, and as the Chairman 
was about to pass a sentence of seven years, after his trial and conviction, he craved the con-
sideration of the Court, and prayed not to be sent to Cockatoo Island, as he had been pre-
viously mixed up in some charges against the authorities there ; he was therefore ordered to 
three years hard labour in Parramatta Gaol ; this be served during any stay, and was dis-
charged in August, 1857. In January, 1858, was ordered one month to Parramatta Gaol, 
from Windsor, as a vagrant; in March following convicted of another robbery in Sydney, 
and sentenced to seven years roads; and in January last was again discharged to a ticket-
of-leave. 

3rd. Richard Hart sentenced, in 1848, to three years roads for robbery, remitted 
in 1850; in the same year received two years as a vagrant; at the expiration of this com-
mitted another offence, again allowed a ticket; and in 1856 received a sentence of seven 
years on some other charge; and in July last again released with the usual indulgence. A 
few weeks past this man was ordered here for one month, for attempting to pick the pocket 
of a female in the theatre ; he had absconded from his district, and was not four hours in 
Sydney when he committed this offence. He arrived here in an assumed name, and it was 
clear to me lie had not been recognized. I, therefore, take the credit of saving the citizens 
of Sydney from further depredation by him for some time, as I acquainted the authorities of 
his being a notorious pickpocket, gave his history, which was immediately inquired into, 
and Ile was returned to the island. 

(At Sitting, 19 March, 1861.) 

47 (written). 	 CHARLES ROGERS. 
Darlinghurst Gaol, 

— Lucas, Esq., M.Ljt 	 13 Mara, 1861. 
Sir, 

Agreeable with permission received from you, I sent a petition praying for a 
remission of any sentence, which was four years to the roads, which was passed on me at the 
Quarter Sessions held at Sydney, on the 23rd of February, 1.860, by Mr. Justice Holroyd. 
I now take the liberty of addressing you, sincerely trusting yon will cause it to be brought 
before the Executive Council, and use your interest in nay behalf to obtain for me a remission 
which I have so long prayed for. Sir, you will remember that I was a house painter at 
Camperdown, and completed many contracts of house painting for you and many other ' 
Members of Council for the last ten years; and in this case I was completing a contract of 
work fur the prosecutor, and at the finishing of the work he wanted me to do more than I 

had 
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bad agreed to do, and we had some words about it, and he afterwards gave ine in charge in 
his own house for obtaining money under false pretences—the amount of the money, five 
shillings. When in gaol, waiting for trial, I subpoenaed two witnesses, which would have 
established My innOcence, but -the subpoena was not served on the time of trial. On those 
grounds, I asked Mr. Justice Holroyd to postpone ivy trial; he refused to do so, and I was 
tried and sentenced without witnesses or counsel. I trust I may be fortunate enough to 
obtain a favourable reply. 

I aro, &c., 
CH. ROGERS. 

Cad, 
22 Februray, 1861. 

To the Chairman of the Select Committee now sitting on Prison Discipline. 
Sir, 

In the years 1859 and 60, a quantity of planks were; sent on to the island 
for the express use of the Dry Dock for coping for the blocks. There were about one 
hundred of them from about 18' to 22' long, 14' deep, and 4' thick. Likewise about a 
dozen large logs from about 50 to 75 feet long, and about two feet square. The whole of 
the above timber, instead of being applied to the use for which it was sent, was all cut up 
and used in the building of Captain Mann's house. In addition to the above timber, there 
were likewise 27 other shares removed from the dock for the same purpose, as well as several 
other planks. I cut the whole of the timber myself by the order of Captain Mann. When 
there were 100 feet used for the dock, I was ordered to book 300; the same way with 
the wedges. There is another complaint I have to make. This is one which so many of 
my fellow prisoners also feel aggrieved at; and that is the conduct of Mr. Taylor, Clerk of 
Petty Sessions, who takes upon himself more than the Superintendent, in fact he is the 
actual Superintendent, as he leads Captain Mann—for whatever he says, it is sure to be 
carried out. It is he that puts all the men into the different billets, such as wardsmcn, cooks, 
servants, &c., and they are nearly the worst characters, such as those that have twice or thrice 
been convicted, who are always corning back to the island ; in fact, unless he is a scoundrel 
of the deepest dye, he has no chance of getting on on the island, for a quiet man is nowhere. 
If he is an informer or such like, he is looked up as a good man, and the first opportunity 
he is put into a situation where there is no work, and eventually Mr. Taylor will get him 
his liberty, as he has done several. I can name several eases should you require it. I have 
been a prisoner on the island seven years. I never held a billet, yet I can defy any one to 
say that I have ever misconducted myself; and what I have stated in this letter I can prove. 

F . 	I remain, &a., 
HENRY CARROLL. 

•• 	 . 
49 (written). 	 JOHN HOLLAND AND HENRY CARROLL. 

To the Honorable Gentlemen now sitting on the Board of Inquiry. 
Sirs, 

We take the liberty of laying before you a statement of our grievances, hoping, 
from your sense of justice, a kind consideration of them. Sirs, we, the prisoners John 
Holland and Henry Carroll, received each the sentence of fifteen years; the first three years 
of that sentence to be worked in chains on the roads or public works of the Colony. When 
we had completed the three years in chains, the authorities on the island then told us that 
we should then have to commence the probation for fifteen years ; that the time that we 
wore our chains lay dead. Gentlemen, if there is au Act that we should do a sentence 
equal to twenty-one years we are satisfied ; but never bearing of such an Act, and doubting 
the validity of a letter produced by the Clerk of Petty Sessions of Cockatoo Island, and 
signed by some person unknown, which he asserts that he received from the Colonial 
Secretary's Office, now, gentlemen, we wish you to see that letter, and see on whose authority 
a prisoner is detained three years after he is eligible for a ticket-of-leave. Gentlemen, a 
prisoner by the name of Clarke represented his case to the Colonial Secretary, on Cockatoo 
Island, and Mr. Cowper said he did not understand the regulation that compelled a prisoner 
to do an additional probation for a ticket-of-leave on account of the iron time he received; 
which makes us believe this regulation arose on the island. Gentlemen, we wish to shew 
you distinction made between the rich man and the poor man. When we committed our 
crimes we were but boys; our respective ages being, Holland 154-, and Carroll 17 years of 
age; besides our utter ignorance of the laws of our country. Gentlemen, had we known the 
danger of the crime that we committed we would not have committed it. Now, gentlemen, 
I will shew you difference. We were both sentenced to suffer the extreme penalty of the 
law, which sentence was commuted to fifteen years, with the first three years in chains. 
Shortly after the prisoner Holland was tried, a man by the name of Lakeman was tried and 
found guilty of the same crime, and the sentence of death passed upon him. His sentence, 
in the first instance, was commuted to ten years, without chains; and on his arrival, on the 
island he received the best situation on it, and before he had completed his second year he 
obtained his free pardon. Now, gentlemen, a man arrived at the age of understanding, and 
knows that he breaks the laws of his country in committing a crime in defiance of the laws; 
he received a remission of his sentence, and two boys committing a crime of the same nature 
in their ignorance of the laws, must pass the best of their days in a prison. Gentlemen, we 

have 

Sir, 

48 (written). 	 HENRY autuoti. 
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have heard great boasting of English Justice
' 
 but we wish to know if it was just to allow 

Lakemau at large; if so, it. must be unjust to keep us in prison for a number of years. 
We remain, &c., 

JOHN HOLLAND and 
HENRY, CARROLL. 

• • 
50 (written). 	 GEORGE WALTER ROWE. 

Darlinghurst Gaol, . 
21 February, 1861. 

To the Chairman of the Select Committee now sitting on Prison Discipline. 
The Petition of George Walter Rowe,— 

A prisoner who was sentenced in the year 1847, in England, So =11;A:in:cur Sen ,y eaea, add, 
in consequence of getting into trouble in this Colony, I am still considered as an Imperial 
prisoner. I received a sentence in this Colony, in 1857, of ten years; the probation for that 
is six years and eight months, whereas a Colonial prisoner's probation for the same sentence 
would be five and a half years. In the year 1851 the Government formed a just regulation 
by which a prisoner might shorten his probation by extra labour, which enabled a Colonial 
prisoner sentenced for ten years to obtain a ticket-of-leave in four years, and even in three 
years and eight months; whereas an Imperial prisoner has to do the same amount of labour to 
obtain the marks which are placed on the board, but he derives no benefit from them. 
On the 16th of last May I was sentenced by the Visiting Magistrate to work twelve months 
in irons, the probation for which is eight months, at the end of which time I applied to the 
Superintendent to have my irons removed, but he could not tell me whether I was due or not ; 
the Superintendent then made inquiry of Mr. Taylor, the Clerk, but he either could or would 
not tell. Captain Mann then asked me if I ever knew any similar ease ; I mentioned one 
in which an Imperial prisoner had his irons removed. 'Upon examining the books he found 
my statement correct. I was then referred to the Visiting Magistrate, and ultimately 
learned that Captain Mann had written to the Superintendent of Convicts, from whom he 
received a reply that my irons should be struck. After waiting a fortnight without them 
being struck I refused work. I was taken before the Visiting Magistrate, who did ask 
my reason for refusing work, which I stated—to which Mr. Mann replied that ray irons 
would have been struck before had I not refused to work. After then completing a sentence 
of fourteen days solitary I was directed by Captain McLerie to write to him, giving a full 
statement of my case which, if he found correct, he would cause my irons to be struck. I 
saw him the weekfollowing, when be told me that Captain Mann had received orders to have 
my irons removed two days previous to that on which I refused work. 

gentlemen, -I beg ldaie to state, in conclusion, that if Captain Mann's orders 
had been promptly exiouted I would not have refused work, and thereby saved myself and 
the authorities a deal of traiible. Hoping you will institute an inquiry into my case,— 

tJ414.ilf I 1./li .L.1 I remain, &u, 
GEORGE WALTER ROWE. 

• 
51 (written.) 	 LAURENCE POWELL. 

Darlinghurst Gaol, 
21 February, 1861. 

To the Chairman of the Committee now sitting on Prison Discipline. 
Sir, 

I hope I shall not be too bold in asking you to spend a small portion of your 
valuable time in hearing the grievances of 16 or 17 self-taught stone-eutters. Sir, we 
believe that the Government expects the free officer in charge, Mr. Fitzgerald, to be able to 
direct and instruct those men. I can assure you, sir, he can do neither, for he has Dever 
served one hour to the trade ; he does not know whether a stone is eat right or wrong, 
unless he is told by one of the prisoners in the gang; in fact, be does not know a square 
from a straight-edge. When there is an order given for certain stones to be cut for. a 
building, each prisoner generally spoils one or two before they complete one fit to be used. 
The free officer then gives an order to have them broken up and thrown into the river, before 
any other free officer sees them. Now, sir, there is the loss of time in the quarrying those 
stones, the loss of time in dragging them from the quarry to the stone-cutters, and then the 
cutting of those stones; and all this loss of time and destruction of material is from the 
want of some free man conversant with the trade to direct and instruct us. Now, sir, the 
Government has been pleased to appoint a certain task for each man under the old system to 
perform, and by doing that task it leaves them entitled to half-a-day's credit and three- 
pence gratuity ; consequently they get the benefit of that indulgence called "task-work 
credit" up to the present day. Now, sir, we, the prisoners addressing you, are labouring 
under the new system, and are compelled to work side by side with those under the old 
system, and out foot for foot and stone for stone With them, and we get no half-day credit, 
nor threepence gratuity, only what the free overseer thinks proper to give us; sonic days he 
gives us three half-pence, and some days a penny ; and when we ask him the reason he is 
dealing so unjustly with us, he will give us no satisfaction. When we appeal to the Super- 
intendent fur justice, he will tell us to go back to our gangs, as he cannot be losing his time 
in listening to our complaints. We next see the Visiting Magistrate on the matter : he will 
tell us he has nothing to do with the Engineering Department. And this is the way our 
grievances are redressed. livery hand is raised in vengeance against us. No hope I no hope ! 

Only 
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Only work out a miserable existence, and a long sentence, under the iron hand of tyranny; 
ani these are the causes of so many dangerous and perilous attempts being made to escape 
from the island. Sir, if any of the prisoners on the island told you that they were justly dealt 
by, let me describe the class of prisoners they are—men, probably, that have never seen the 
public wolks, such as cooks, butlers, servants, and messengers; wardsmen, shedmen, police-
men, moneyed men, and informers. • Now, sir, should you take our miserable condition into 
consideration, and better our position, it is to be hoped you will take the power out of such 
free overseers hands, who take a pleasure in depriving us of our small amount of pay, when 
we merit it by completing the task that leaves us entitled to such indulgence. There is ono 
class more that I wish to bring under your immediate notice—what we prisoners call 
" Cockatoo Island convict gentlemen "—they are men whose skins are not bronzed with the 
exposure to the sun's broiling effects, nor are they ever exposed to a wet jacket, a blistered 
hand, or a hungry belly. These are men who are in positions which allow them plenty of 
time to premeditate plans of the most skilful nature, at the same time with the most unprin-
cipled, and unmanly, and foul intentions. Now, sir, like the skilful architect, they form 
their plans, point out their retreat, and thew joyously the hopes of success ; then the 
hopeless plisoners, sir, jump at the moment, seize the opportunity, and commence operations, 
with the assistance of those unpi incipled scoundrels, that get this up for the express purpose 
of getting their libet ty at the expense of their fellow-prisoners; when, within a few hours 
of its completion, these men give the names of the different men, and they are called out one 
by one, and chained and sentenced, and solitary is the order of the day. Now, sir, it is for 
you to judge how those unfortunate men will be dealt with for the remaining portion of their 
sentence; while they are in the cells the witty conccetors of those plans lay their claims on 
the Government, pointing out the danger they stand in by their not having been in cells 
where their fellow-sufferers suppose them to be. Now, sir, the Superintendent sends a 
special letter to the Classification Board, strongly recommending these informers for their 
liberty, at the same time pointing out the danger they will incur by remaining on the island. 
The fact is, sir, they obtain their liberty, or a ticket-of-leave, or some easy position on the 
island, through their very meritorious conduct; and when they obtain that indulgence they 
smile at the Superintendent's simplicity, and laugh at the Classification Board, and dance 
with their friends that night, boasting how they have outwitted the Government. Now, sir, 
this is as near their character as our abilities will allow us to express. Now, sir, if there 
were any hopes held out to us prisoners we should not be so apt to be led away by those 
prismers, superior in cunning, and who take advantage of our ignorance. 'We submissively 
await your impartial decision. 

LAURENCE POWELL. 

(41 Sling, 12 Zpr:l, 1831.) 

52 (written), 	 JAMES Anon AND GEORGE THURSTON. 

To J. Lucas, Esq.:  MLA. 
Sir, 

We enclose, herewith, a copy of our grievances for your perusal, hoping that 
you will lay them before the House of Assembly at the earliept opportunity. We are aware 
that we have not taken the proper steps but, at the same time, beg you to consider that we 
have waited in patient expectation for the last fifteen months, for the fulfilment of certain 
hopes which, it appears, have been doomed to disappointment; and that hope deferred 
has made the heart sick, the last spark has become entirely extinguished. We have become 
as men having no hope, in fine, we have become desperate. 

The records which survive of the treatment experienced by the prisoners subjected to 
the tyranny of those unfeeling monsters at Melbourne are replete with lamentatiuns; and it 
is to be hoped, that when they can be prevented, they will not be allowed to be enacted here, 
for the threshold of danger being once entered, terror ceases to exercise its grim sway. In 
bringing the various subjects of complaint under your notice, we will endeavour to be as 
brief as possible, as it would exhaust your patience to dwell at considerable length on every 
separate subject. 

The causes of the late disturbance, the many attempts to escape, as well as the out-
break of October, 1859, are these briefly, as follow :— 

First—Two codes of regulations are in operation, by which one class of men receive 
certain privileges and advantages, which the remainder are denied. The first of these is the 
mark or credit system, for extra work, by which all prisoners, tried prior to the 1st June, 
1858, are afforded an opportunity of recmeering their liberty after having served a little 
more than one-third of their sentences ; while all men tried since that period are called 
upon, nut only to do the same amount of labour, but to serve the full period of their 
sentences, without any prospect of any mitigation whatever, no matter how exemplary a 
man's conduct may be. Now this in itself would not be so bad, if the Judges, having been 
apprised of the ticket-of-leave regulations Icing abrogated, had passed sentences in propor-
tion ; but the very reverse has been the case, as we shall presently shew, sentences generally 
being hot only as severe, but evert more so than they were under the former regulations. 
This remark apiaries porticulary to the sentences at the various Courts of Quarter Sessions, 
which, on an average, are one-fourth heavier than those passed by the higher Courts ; for 
instance, cases of uttering forged cheques are rarely punished by a heavier sentence than 
three years, where in many instances a tomer conviction is proved, whereas, James Baker, 
who was convicted for the first time of this or any other offence, and who received a good 
charactir at the time of trial, was sentenced to seven years at the Sydney Quarter Sessions. 

Two 
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Two notorious wholesale horse stealers (William and ,Tolin Mackay), brothers, tried 
at the Mai[land Circuit, March, 1559, only received two years imprisonment in a gaol. 
Whereas, other men, tried for a similar offence, about the same time, in other parts of the 
Colony, receive sentences ranging from five to ten years. A party of four Inen, tried at the 
Yass Quarter Se,sions, October, 1859, for cattle killing, are disposed of as follows :—One 
gets two years, one gets five years, and the Oilier two get seven years each ; the names of these 
men are Leadbetter, James, M'Kenzie, and Fuller. As the many instances we could mention 
similar cases of gross disparity, which would fill about a ream of paper, we shall content 
ourselves by referring to only one more, which is the case of James Wade, convicted a few 
months since of picking a woman's pocket in the street ; this man was sentenced to seven 
years hard labour, though it is an offence invariably disposed of summarily at the Police 
Office, by three or six months imprisonment, and in this instance, the Bench offered to 
dispose of the case summarily, thereby acknowledging that they considered their powers 
amply sufficient to pass as severe a sentence as the offence merited (which, at the very 
outside, could not have exceeded two years) ; but, unfortunately, the prisoner had employed 
an attorney, who doubtless consulted his own interests in getting the case sent to the 
Sessions. How can we respect the laws of our country when they are administered thus. 

Secondly.—We complain of the illegality of detaining prisoners after the expiration 
of their sentence, io consequence of having incurred the punishment of a few days in the 
cells for some trivial breach of the regulations; but, as this is a subject that will sooner or 
later have to be decided by the Judges of the Supreme Court, it is not necessary to do more 
than just refer to it here as one of our grievances. 

Thirdly.—There is a system of coercion by convict overseers, the evils of which must 
be apparent to the most superficial observer, one of the most disgusting features of which is 
allowing a man named Berriman to carry a bludgeon all day amongst the men, as if he were 
in search of some stray ox. What eft., et is this likely to have on the feelings of the men, 
inclined to be peaceable and orderly if they are only encouraged. 

Fourthly.—We complain that the present money gratuity is partially and unfairly 
distributed, some men being allowed to earn as much as sixpence per day, while others can 
only get a penny; now any impartial person will be inclined to admit, that as long as a man 
conducts himself with the strictest propriety, and does as much work as his bodily strength 
will admit of, he is entitled to the maximum amount granted ; but this being a subject of 
(to us) such vital importance, we shall leave its further discussion to persons more competent 
to deal impartially with the subject. 

Fifthly.—By a course of general injudicious management our health is impaired, the 
medical returns shewing that there are always on an average about one-sixth of the whole 
convict population of the island incapacitated from labour by suffering from some malady or 
other ; this is to be attributed, more especially, to the inferiority and insufficiency of the 
Government ration, the state of the dormitories, not proper appliances for cleanliness of 
body, and to being invariably kept out in rainy weather until we are wet through. Thus, 
we are first made ill by bad management, and then driven to the hospital for a cure; and it 
speaks volumes for the skill, attention, and humanity of the doctor and his assistant, that 
considering the immense proportion of sick to the healthy (a proportion unequal in any 
place of the kind under British rule), that the rate of mortality should be as low as it is. 
It should here be remarked, that, by a money gratuity issue which is allowed to be spent for 
extra rations, the Government thereby acknowledge that the scale of provisions issued is too 
low; how then must those be off who get a penny a day or less. 

Sixthly.—We are studiously kept in ignorance of all Acts of Council specially 
referring to penal discipline, and we often think ourselves illegally dealt with, when probably 
we are not ; now, as every person ought to be allowed an opportunity of making himself 
acquainted with the laws of the country by which he is governed, in order that he may not 
transgress through ignorance, we request that copies of all Acts of Council, or extracts 
therefrom relating to the prison population, may be published from time to time, and 
suspended in some conspicuous part of the convict barracks. 

Seventhly.—i-We are not allowed an opportunity of making the slightest provision 
for ourselves by the time our sentences expire; thus the majority of the men are discharged 
totally destitute, without as much as will sometimes supply them one meal, and what is the 
consequence the records of the Court too truly tell. 

Eighthly.—We find our complaints never receive that attention we think they merit. 
The Superintendent and Visiting Justice are difficult of access, the men in a body never 
being inspected by either of those officers ; letters, for which postage is charged, never reach 
their destination, or is the postage refunded. There are no means of educational improve-
ment; no classification of prisoners; and lastly, we are compelled to work on Saturday till 
two p.m without our dinner, which is a thing unknown in any other similar establishment 
in the Colony, all labour for the week ending at twelve o'clock on that day in every other 
prison ; and it should be here explained that this alteration was made at Cockatoo Island 
for the purpose of enabling the men working under the mark system to obtain the full 
amount of credit allowed to be earned daily, a thing we derive no benefit from. 

In conclusion, we humbly beg that, should a Board of Inquiry be appointed, we may 
be afforded an opportunity of being examined and substantiating these our complaints, and 
that should you consider the foregoing statement worthy of your consideration you will take 
such steps as to you may seem advisable. 

Darthighurst, 19 January, 1831. 

We remain, &c., 
(on behalf of ourselves and fellow sufferers) 

JAS. ARNOTT. 
GEORGE THURSTON. 

68 
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53 (written). 	 PATRICK BYRNE. 

To the Chairman and Gentlemen of the Committee inquiring into Prison and Penal 
Discipline. 

Gentlemen 
the undersigned, was tried and convicted at the Assize held in Roscommon, 

on the 7th July, 1838, and sentenced to fifteen years transportion, which sentence expired 
in July, 1853. While serving the above sentence, I received solitary sentences and sentences 
to the treadmill, and eight months to a chain gang. I was tried on the 11th September, 
1854, before His Honor Mr. Justice Dickinson, and received eight years. When I received 
that sentence, some few months addition to my Imperial sentence remaining unfinished, I 
was compelled to do two-thirds of the Colonial sentence, without marks, and then go free ; 
that sentence expired on the 11th January, 1860. Mr. Taylor, C.P.S., told me, that by 
order of the Classification Board my Colonial sentence would expire on the 11th January, 
1860, and that I should receive a ticket-of-leave for the five months addition, received while 
serving my Imperial sentence; but I did not receive the ticket, according to the order he 
said he received from the Board, although any character was in gaol irreproachable, but I 
was delayed till the 24th April. In July, 1861, I forfeited my indulgence by leaving my 
district, which I did on the grounds of being a free man. I was apprehended on the 29th 
December, for being out of my district, being hard at work at the time in nay own place, 
honesty and industry being my motto, and a good prospect before me; but, alas! I was 
dragged from my home to Sydney. On my arrival in Sydney, I was brought before Mr. 
Horsey ; he told me I had two months twenty-four days to do. I objected to it, claiming 
as a matter of right the month I was on escort, which would cause me to go free on the 24th 
March. He (Mr. Horsey) told me he would not allow me the month, and would not bring 
me before a Magistrate. Since I have been here I have seen the Visiting Magistrate ; he 
requested Mr. Taylor, C.P.S., to lay my case before the Board. I have applied since at the 
office of the Superintendent, and I ant told there is no answer from the Board yet. Mr. 
Taylor has told me that I would be allowed the month I was on escort ; if so, Tam at the 
present moment a free man. Gentlemen, having some important evidence to give before the 
Committee, I hope you will give me the opportunity of doing so, by sending for Inc. 

I have, &c., 
Cockatoo Island, 24 March, 1861. 	 PATRICK BYRNE. 

• 

PART II. 

A. 
To J. C. Read, Esq., 	 1 March, 1861. 

Governor of Darlinghurst Gaol. 
Sir, 

With regard to the statement made this morning to the Committee by the - 
four Cockatoo Island prisoners in hospital, I beg most respectfully to inform you, that it has 
been since intimated to rue by one of the before-mentioned prisoners, named George Jones, 
that should the Committee require further corroboration they are referred to other two 
prisoners among the Cockatoo men, named Henry Whittaker and James Burns. I have 
every reason to believe that these two last-mentioned prisoners could not have had any 
prior communication with those in hospital ; also, being a wardsman in the establishment, 
no such proceeding could have taken place without my knowledge. 

I have thought it advisable to make the foregoing remarks in order to convince you 
of the genuineness of the information. 

J. H. MACKIE. 

I have the honor to transmit this document for the perusal of the Select Committee 
of Prison Management. 	

JNO. C. READ, 
Acting Principal Gaoler, 

4 March, 1861. 	 Darlinghurst. 

B. 
RICHARD AINSWORTH, per "Isabella," to Van Dieman's Land, 1833; was tried at London, 
July, 1832; sentence, 7 years, for felony. 

Was again tried at the Supreme Court, at Hobart Town, on the 5th December, 1839, 
sentence, life

' 
 for forgery ; arrived in New South Wales, per " Layten," 1840, from Van 

Diemen's Land ; and was forwarded to Norfolk Island, per "Governor Phillip," on the 14th 
July, 1840; was returned to Sydney on the 27th March, 1844, his sentence having been 
commuted to 14 years from the date of conviction—he having to serve a commuted sentence 
under the Act 2 Victoria, No. 1. 

Was again tried at the Supreme Court, at Bathurst, on the 20th September, 1848, 
and was sentenced 7 years roads, for uttering a forgery under the assumed name of James 

Jabez 
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Jabez Albiston; received at Cockatoo Island on the 23rd of October, 1848; discharged to a 
ticket-of-leave for Bathurst on the 22nd August, 1851. 

Was again tried at the Circuit Court, at Bathurst, on the 25th February, 1852, for 
feloniously obtaining a money letter, and sentenced 5 years to the roads ; received on 
Cockatoo Island on the 6th March, 1852 ; discharged to the. Breakwater Stockade, at 
Newcastle, on the 3rd February, 1853; discharged free on the 20th November, 1853.* 

Was again tried at the Quarter Sessions, at Maitland, on the 3rd January, 1854; 
sentenced 5 years roads, for horse stealing ; received on Cockatoo Island .  on the 16th 
January, 1854; discharged to Darlingliurst Goal on the 20th March, 18541 - ; again received 
on Cockatoo Island on the 3rd February, 1859, to. complete his sentences; discharged to 
Darlinghurst Gaol on the 15th February, 1859. Ainsworth will not be free until the 20th 
of September, 1865. 

Ainsworth was also charged with forging a petition and the signatures of several 
magistrates and gentlemen, either at Port Macquarie or the M‘Leay River, on which a man 
named John Wilkinson or Tulinbar P. Mellish was discharged from Cockatoo Island on the 
19th June, 1851, under the authority of a letter from the Honorable the Colonial Secretary, 
No. 51-113, dated 16th June, 1851; Wilkinson was apprehended, and returned to Cockatoo 
on the 14th February, 1852. 

8 March, 1861. 

Hyde Park, 
'Wednesday Evening, 10 April. 

Sir, 
The Court will sit daily from 10 till 4 or f p. 4 until the 4th May :—except 

that, on Saturdays, we meet for consultations only. • And as, during the period thus 
indicated, two Courts frequently sit, I do not see how I could possibly attend without 
breaking up the Court altogether. 

On the 6th May, Jury Causes commence :—and although two Courts will then sit 
for three weeks daily, yet one Judge can occasionally be spared. And I shall feel it to be a 
duty, to attend the Committee, whenever it may best suit their convenience to receive me. 

I could, of course, attend on any day after f p. 4. But the House sits at that time. 
In like manner, I could attend on any Saturday; by arranging to give up an evening or two 
in Chambers instead. But your Committees, 1 know, do not usually meet on Saturdays. 

l am, &o, 
ALFRED STEPHEN. 

Chas. Tompson, Esq. 

D. 
TUE TURNKEYS OF DARLINGHURST GAOL. 

To the Honorable the Select Committee of the Legislative Assembly on Prison Discipline, 
&c., &c., &c. 

Gentlemen, 
We feel assured, whilst your endeavours are exerted to place the treatment of 

prisoners on a proper and substantial basis, you will alike regard the interests of those who 
are placed in responsible situations over them. 

Annexed hereto is a recital of the duties we have to perform in the capacity of 
turnkeys, on perusal thereof it will be found no opportunity is afforded us for social inter-
course or improvement, but each succeeding day, a repetition of that harrowing spectacle the 
consequence of misery and crime. Honorable gentlemen need scarcely be informed how 
powerfully this must operate upon mind as well as body, and so render our positions little 
superior to those by whom we are surrounded. That solemn day of rest from toil, the 
Sabbath, brings to us no soothing influences, since we are shut out from its enjoyments ; and 
if at its close, we enter the hallowed precincts of a place of worship, the fatigue of the body 
overpowers inclination and shrouds it in unconquerable drowsiness. 

We beg, respectfully, further to submit that the salary for this labour is Os. 9d. per 
diem, anctif, after a lapse of years, any of our number should become incapacitated, there is 
no prospect of future benefit, however faithful the service. There are other departments in 
which provision is made for the future, and where such is the case it must ever act as a 
stimulus to increased utility and diligence, and we would beg to observe the amount of pay 
at present allowed enables us to make no provision beyond the time being; families must be 

supported, 

* This discharge from Newcastle was obtained by forging a letter, purporting to come from the 
Colonial Secretary's Office, and to be signed by Mr. B. D. Thomson. 

t Ainsworth was discharged in error from Parraxnatta Gaol at this time, on the expiration of the 
sentence of five years; he afterwards was at large for a few days, and went to the office of the Honorable 
the Colonial Secretary, where he was apprehended by the police as illegally at largo, and returned to 
Government to serve the residue of his cumulative sentences. 

157-2 K 

G. K. M. 

C. 
[REPLY.] 

141 

4 ,  

it 
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supported, and the consequent expenditure leaves little remaining as a preparation against 
debility or infirmity. We, therefore, solicit your favourable consideration of the circum-
stances by which we are affected, and at the same time humbly pray you will make such 
recommendation for our benefit as in your judgment may seem meet. 

• We are, &c., 
JOHN CALLAGHAN, 	Ain:CONY KEOGH, 
CHRIS. ARMSTRONG, JOIIN FALLEN, 
THOMAS LEE, 	 MICHAEL BURKE, 

• CHRISTOPHER CARTHY, JOSEPH GATES, 
MICHAEL WALLACE, JAMES BEACOM, 
ALEXANDER ELLIOTT, WILLIAM GRAHAM, 
PHILIP MULLIGAN, 	JOHN GREGORY, 
CHARLES PUGFI, 	MICHAEL RYAN. 
JAMES CALLAGHAN, 

ROUTINE of duty performed by the Turnkeys in the establishment of H. M. Gaol, 
Darlinghurst.- 

THE number employed are seventeen, and appropriated as follows :— 
4 permanently stationed at the three wings. 
2 at front gate, one permanent, the other changed daily. 
1 in hard labour yard. 
1 overseer of tailors. 
6 at various stations of the wall, inside the yard—east, west,.north, and.south. 
3 performing night duty for one week—their attendance being required from 5 p.m. to 

6 a.m.—after which they are relieved by three of the number perio,dically changed. 
This arrangement places each Bo employed one week out of three' as attendants for 
the night, and all others are on the spot each succeeding day from 6 am, to 6 p.m., 
Sundays not excepted. 

E. 

POLICE history of Robert Banks, per ship "Anglia" to Tasmania, in the year 1843. 	- 

WAS convicted at the Supreme Court, Sydney, on the 9th December, 1857, of burglary, 
and sentenced to five years on the roads. 

Obtained a ticket-of-leave, dated 31st January, 1860, for Bathurst; was reported 
absent therefrom in the May following, but for his assistance at the time in the capture of 
a horBe stealer, he was not deprived of his indulgence. 

Absconded from Bathurst in June, 1860, being at the time under a charge of stealing 
wearing apparel, but no conviction has followed. Was apprehended in Victoria last 
December, returned to Sydney, and his ticket-of-leave cancelled. 

Banks stated when mustered, that he was transported from India to Tasmania for 
ten years in 1843—that he is a printer by trade, and that he was formerly a soldier in the 
Hon. E. L Company's Horse Artillery. 

Police Department, Sydney, 
Convict Branch, 7 May, 1861. 

32W . WLERIE,  
Inspector General of Police. 

Sydney :Thomas RIchards,(4overnment Printer...48GL 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

PUBLIC PRISONS • IN SYDNEY AND CUMBERLAND. 
(PETITION OF THOMAS HARRISON) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 20 February, 1861. 

To the Honorable the Legislative Assembly of New South Wales, in Parliament assembled. 
The humble Petition of Thomas Harrison, late Principal Turnkey at H. M. Gaol 

at Darlinghurst,— 

RESPECTFULLY SIIEWETII :— 
That your Petitioner has been for twenty-three years in the service of the 

Government of this Colony, nearly twelve years of which period he held the office from which. 
he has been now summarily dismissed. 

That your Petitioner bas not been made fully aware of all the charges brought against 
him, and is at present actually ignorant of the precise charge upon which he has been 
dismissed from H. Majesty's Service. 

That with regard to the treatment of the Prisoner " Polack," your Petitioner is 
prepared to prove, on the evidence of eight or nine different witnesses, that the said Prisoner 
has not been indulged in any way contrary to the discipline of the Prison, and that he has 
not been treated in a manner different from other Prisoners. 

That the escape of two Prisoners from the Gaol was effected without the knowledge 
of your Petitioner, and your Petitioner most solemnly and conscientiously declares, that 
neither by connivance or neglect on his part was that escape effected. 

That a fair opportunity has not been allowed, during the late investigation, for your 
Petitioner to contradict statements made against him, and on some of which be has never 
been examined at all. 

That the principal witness against your Petitioner (" Robert Banks") is a notoriously 
bad character, utterly unworthy of belief; and that, prior to his leaving the Gaol for Cockatoo 
Island, be had threatened, in the hearing of divers persons, that he would, "right or wrong," 
crush your Petitioner, and that by "fair or foul means he would get Mr. Harrison broke," 
as the accompanying warrants will sbew. 

Your Petitioner, therefore, prays that your Honorable House will be pleased to take 
his case into your favorable consideration, and allow him such relief in the premises as to 
your Honorable House may seem fit. 

And your Petitioner, as in duty bound, will ever pray. 

T. HARRISON. 

[Price, id] 	 92— 
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1861. 

NEW SOUTH WALES., 

MILITARY ASSISTANCE TO NEW ZEALAND. 
(DESPATCIL) 

Iftrasentrb to CA POSSE% of Varliamtnt, bp Catnnumb. 

SECRETARY OP STATE FOR THE COLONIES to GOVERNOR GENERAL. 

(No. 82.) 	 Downing-street, 
13 October, 1860. 

SIR, 

I have to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch, No. 77, of the 14th July 
last, reporting the steps you had taken for complying with the Governor of New Zealand's 
request for re-enforeements to assist in putting down the Native outbreak in that Colony. 

In reply, I have to express to you the thanks of Iler Majesty's Government for the 
readiness with which all disposable troops have been spared from New South Wales, for 
sc.rvice in New Zealand. 

I have, &a, 

C. FORTESCUE. 
(In the absence of the Secretary of State.) 

{l'rice, 	 s— 
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1861. 

NEW SOUTH WALES. 

RESPECTING ARTILLERY FORCE SERVING 
IN THE COLONY. 

(DESPATCHES.) 

ipmstnttb to botb 14usts of parliomtnt, bp Commtmb. 

SCHEDULE. 
NO. 	 PAGE. 

1. The Governor General to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 16 April, 1860 (No. 48), 

respecting Artillery Force serving in New South Wales, and the repayment to the Colony 

of the cost of the passage thereof from England 	.. 	 3 
2. Ditto to Ditto, 22 June, 1860 (No. 69), on the same subject 	 3 

3. The Secretary of State to the Governor General, 13 October, 1860 (No. 89), in reply 	4 

7— 
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RESPECTING ARTILLERY FORCE SERVING 
IN THE COLONY. 

No. 1. 

GOVERNOR GENERAL to SECRETARY OF STATE FOR IE COLONIES. 

(No. 48.) 	 Government House, 
Sydney, 16 April, 1800. 

my LORD DUKE, 

In my Despatch, No. 42, dated 12th instant, relative to the despatch of 
Troops to New Zealand, I noticed generally the steps taken by me to forward as large a force 
as possible. I wish now to bring under your Grace's notice some of the circumstances con-
nected with the position of a portion, at all events, of the Military force, namely, the 
Artillery, which are likely to be productive of serious embarrassment. 

The Battery of Artillery was applied for by the Colonial Government, for the express 
purpose of aiding in the defence of the harbor and city of Sydney. The cost of the passage 
of the men and officers was defrayed by the Colonial Government, and the pay and allow-
ances of the Battery are charged altogether upon the Colonial Revenue ; the consequence is 
that this portion of the Military force is considered by the Legislature to he in a different 
position to that of the Regiment of the Line stationed here, and to be, to a certain extent, 
under the orders of the local Government. 

On a previous occasion, when my Ministers and myself were anxious to forward 
reinforcements to India, the Legislative Assembly not only refused to vote the money 
required to place the Artillery in a state to take the field, but also protested against the 
removal of the Battery from the Colony. On that occasion, as the Artillery would have 
been useless without horses, and as the Legislature refused (as was quite within its competence 
to do) to vote the money required to enable them to remove, I did not press the question of 
the right of the General in Command to direct their removal. 

On the present occasion, however, as the necessity was urgent, I did not hesitate to 
suggest to the General to act at once ; and, while I communicated to the Executive Council 
the steps which it would he necessary to take, and also to the Legislature, I did so in tehais 
which I took care should not raise the question of the right or power of the General com-
manding to dispose of the Military force in the Colonies according to the best of his 
judgment, and when any case of urgency might arise. 

In the Legislative Assembly, however, the ground which I anticipated was taken up, 
and objections were made to the movement of the Artillery as a corps belonging cfpecially 
to New South Wales ; and I am by no means certain that further steps may not be taken to 
vindicate the so-called right of the Colonial Government to the entire control of this portion 
of Dor Majesty's forces. The ground upon which this claim is made, is the payment by the 
Colony of the cost of the transport of these men from England ; and I beg to submit that it 
would be far better that this sum should be repaid to the Colony than that an opening should 
be afforded to the Legislature or the Government to claim a right of controlling the move-
ments of the Troops. I am justified in making this request bylthe statement in Sir 
E. Bulwer Lytton's Despatch, No. 39, dated 5th May, 1859, that the charge for the convey-
ance of Troops from England to the Colonies, and of their removal from one Colony to 
another, should be defrayed by the Imperial Government. 

With 
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With reference to the general question of the defence of the Colonies, which is to a 
certain extent mixed up with this of the disposal of the Troops, I beg leave to refer your 
Grace to my Despatch, No. 127, dated 14th August, 1856, and to press upon Her Majesty's 
Government the advisability of adopting the general principle therein laid down, that the 
cost of maintaining such a Military force as may be required for the defence of a Colony 
should be shared equally between the Mother Country and the Colony. 

Under the circumstances in which the Government of New South Wales has been 
placed, I have not been able to obtain any definite expression of opinion, either on the part 
of my Advisers or of the Legislature, upon the general question of the defence of the 
Colony. I therefore take this opportunity of pressing my own views, as detailed in the 
Despatch above alluded to, and in a later one, No. 156, dated 26th October, 1258 ; as 
also in sundry Minutes, addressed to the Executive Council, copies of which I forward 
herewith; and of suggesting that Her Majesty's Government should, if disposed to adopt 
the general principle, direct that the subject should be brought before the local Legisla-
tures, with a view to obtaining an expression of their opinions thereupon. 

I have, Sze., 
W. DENISON. 

No. 2. 

GOVERNOR GENERAL to SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE COLONIES. 

(No. 69.) 	 Government House, 
Sydney, 22 June, 1860. 

MY LORD Dratz, 
In my Despatch, No. 48, dated 16th April last, I brought under your Grace's 

consideration the anomalous position in which the Battery of Artillery, solving in this 
Colony, is placed, owing to the circumstance that the cost of its passage to this Colony, 
as well as the pay and allowances of officers and men since its arrival, have been defrayed 
by the Colony. 

This question has been again pressed upon my notice, under the following circum-
stances: The Officer commanding the Royal Artillery having received instructions from 
the Horse Guards to send two non-commissioned officers to England, applied to the Officer 
in command of the Troops to give the necessary instructions to provide a passage for them. 
Reference was then made to me from the Brigade Office, and my sanction was requested 
for the removal of these men ; this was brought before me by the Colonial Secretary, with a 
Minute to the effect that the request required some consideration ; and it is evident that if 
the Colony is to pay for the passage of Troops from England, which troops are liable to 
be recalled, either altogether or in small detachments, at the will of the Military autho-
rities in England, just grounds of complaint will be given to the Colony. 

I have not of course attempted to withhold my assent to the removal of these men, 
but I have caused to be noted a claim that the vacancies thus created should be filled up, 
and the passages of the men sent out defrayed by the Military authorities; and I think 
it advisable to bring again under your Grace's consideration, the desirability of the 
establishment of some definite principle, which, while it would leave the Troops in the 
Colonies completely under the control of the Military authorities, would at the same time 
define the relations between the Mother Country and the Colonies, with reference to the 
defence of the latter, in such a manner as to leave them no just cause of complaint, either 
on the ground that sufficient attention is not paid to their defence, or that they are called 
upon to defray more than a just proportion of the expense of the Military force required for 
such a purpose. 

I have, &c., 
W. DENISON. 

No. 3. 
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4 	RESPECTING ARTILLERY FORCE SERVING IN THE COLONY. 

No. 3. 

SECRETARY 01' STATE to GOVERNOR GENERAL. 

(No. 89.) 	 Downing-street, 
13 October, 1860. 

SYR, 

With reference to your Despatches, No. 48, of the 16th April, and No. 69, 
of the 2nd June, relative to the removal to New Zealand of the Battery of Artillery, which 
had been brought to New South Wales at the expense of the Colony, I have the honor to 
inform you that the Secretary of State for War has agreed with me that it will. be  proper to 
repay to the Colony the expense of the transport of this force to New South Wales. I 
have caused an inquiry to be addressed to the Emigration Commissioners, in order to learn 
whether the expense can be accurately ascertained here, in which case instructions will be 
given without delay for paying the amount to the credit of the Colony. 

I have, ke., 
G. C. LEWIS. 

Sydney : Thane Richards, Government Erinter.-18111. 

[Price, let] 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

VOLUNTEERS. 
(ESTIMATED DISTRIBUTION OF VOTE FOR.) 

Ordered by the Legislative Assembly to be Printed, 28 Maseh, 1861. 

ESTIMATED DISTRIBUTION OF VOLUNTEER VOTE. 

,6 	s. d. 
1 Inspecting Field Officer, at 20s. per diem 	... 	.•• 	... 	365 0 0 
1 Adjutant, 10s. per diem, with 2s. 6d. per diem for forage 	••• 	228 2 6 
2 Clerks, 1 at 4s. Gd.; 1 at 3s. ed. per diem 	... 	... 	•.• 	146 0 0 
1 Musketry Instructor (12th Regiment), at lOs per diem... 	..• 	182 10 0 
1 Sergeant Instructor (12th Regiment), at 5s. per diem ... 	... 	91 5 0 

ARTILLERY. 

1 Commandant, at 15s. per diem 	... 
1 Adjutant, at 10s, per diem, with 2s. 6d. per diem for forage 
7 Drill Instructors, at 3s. Gd. 
1 Clerk, at 2s. 6d. 	... 

273 
228 
447 

45 

RIFLES 

1 Sergeant Major, at 10s. per diem 182 
12 Drill Instructors, 6 at 3s. 6d., and 6 at 7s. each per diem 1,149 
1 Bugler, at 7s. per diem 	... 127 

MOUNTED RIFLES. 

1 Commandant, forage, at 2s. Gcl. per diem 45 
1 Adjutant, at 5s. per diem... 	... 91 

TOTAL, PAY 3,604 

CONTINGENCIES. 

Contribution to support of Band 300 
Clothing, 1,500 men, at .£3 10s. each 5,250 
Travelling Expenses of Inspecting Field Officer, Adjutant and 

Musketry Instructors, Targets, Medals, Stationery, Postage, 
Rent of Armouries, &c. GOO 

Incidental and Unforeseen Expenses '245 

TOTAL, CONTINGENCIES 	 X 6,395 

GROSS TOTAL ... 	••• 	 • • 	X 10,000 

15 0 
2 (3 
2 6 

12 6 

10 0 • 
15 0 
15 0 

12 6 
5 0 

7 6 

0 0 
0 0 

0 0 
12 0 

10 0 

0 . 0 

[Price, Id.] 	 168— 
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NEW SOUTH WALES. 

ANNUAL ORDNANCE RETURNS. 

Vressenteb to flab AOUONS of Parliament, kg Contmonb. 

No. 1. 

Military Store Office, 
Sydney, 8 January, 1861. 

A RETURN of all Moneys which have been received, or are now payable to Her 
Majesty's War Department, in respect of lands, tenements, and buildings, vested in the 
principal Officers of Her Majesty's Ordnance in New South Wales, under the pro-
visions of the Act of Council, 4 Victoria, No. 2. 

PERCIVAL WILKINSON, 
THE HONORABLE 
	 Asst. Nil. Storekeeper. 

THE PRINCIPAL SECRETARY. 

14— 	 Aro. 2. 
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Sydney: Thomas Richards, Government Printer.-1001. 
[Price, 


